







Cornell University Library

The original of this book is in the Cornell University Library.

There are no known copyright restrictions in the United States on the use of the text.

http://www.archive.org/details/cu31924021607118

GRAMMAR OF NEW TESTAMENT GREEK.



GRAMMAR OF NEW TESTAMENT GREEK

BY

FRIEDRICH BLASS, DR.PHIL., D.TH., HON. LL.D. DUBLIN PROFESSOR OF CLASSICAL PHILOLOGY IN THE UNIVERSITY OF HALLE-WITTENBERG

TRANSLATED BY

HENRY ST. JOHN THACKERAY, M.A.

Eondon MACMILLAN AND CO., LIMITED NEW YORK: THE MACMILLAN COMPANY 1898

Gr J.Y.

PREFACE.

Apocalypse is distinguished from John the author of the Gospel and Epistles. The first and second Epistles of Peter do not present sufficiently well-marked differences to require a distinction to be drawn between them in a grammar of this kind. The Pauline Epistles are all quoted as the work of St. Paul; the Epistle to the Hebrews is naturally not so quoted. The general position taken up by Professor Blass with regard to questions of authorship is shown by the following words: 'The tradition which has been transmitted to us as to the names of the authors of the N.T. books, in so far as it is unanimous, I hold to be approximately contemporary with those authors; that is to say, the approximation is as close as we can at present look for; and, without claiming to be a prophet, one may assert that, to whatever nearer approximation we may be brought by fortunate discoveries in the future, Luke will remain Luke, and Mark will continue to be Mark.'

The books to which the author expresses his obligations are the grammars of Winer (including the new edition of P. Schmiedel) and Buttmann, Jos. Viteau, *Étude sur le Grec du N.T.*, Paris, 1893, and Burton, *Syntax of the Moods and Tenses in N.T. Greek*, Chicago, 1893. The first-named of these works having grown to such voluminous proportions, the present grammar, written in a smaller compass, may, the author hopes, find a place beside it for such persons as maintain the opinion $\mu \epsilon \gamma a \beta \iota \beta \lambda \iota o \nu \mu \epsilon \gamma a \kappa a \kappa \delta \nu$.

The isolation of the N.T. from other contemporary or nearly contemporary writings is a hindrance to the proper understanding of it, and should by all means be avoided; illustrations are therefore drawn by the writer from the Epistle of Barnabas, the Shepherd of Hermas, the first and the so-called second Epistle of Clement, and the Clementine Homilies.

The translator has merely to add that the references have been to a great extent verified by him, and that the proofs have all passed through the hands of Professor Blass, who has introduced several additions and corrections which are not contained in the original German edition. He has also to express his thanks to the Rev. A. E. Brooke, Fellow of King's College. Cambridge, for kindly looking over the greater part of the translation in MS. and removing some of its imperfections, and to two of his own sisters for welcome assistance in the work of transposing the third of the Indices to suit the new pagination.

H. St. J. T.

May 13, 1898.

CONTENTS.

PART I.

INTRODUCTION, PHONETICS, AND ACCIDENCE.

				PAGE
§ 1.	Introduction,	-		1
§ 2.	Elements of the New Testament language,			2
§ 3.	Orthography,	-		6
§4.	Division of words, accents, breatbings, punctuation,			13
§ 5.	Elision, crasis, variable final consonants, -			18
§ 6.	Sporadic sound-changes,	-		20
§ 7.	First and second declensions, -	-		25
§ 8.	Third declension,			26
§ 9.	Metaplasmus,	-		28
§ 10.	Proper names. Indeclinable nouns, -	-	-	29
§ 11.	Adjectives,	•		32
§ 12.	Numerals,	-	-	35
§ 13.	Pronouns,	-		35
§ 14.	System of conjugation,	•		36
§ 15.	Augment and reduplication, -	-	-	37
§ 16.	Verbs in $-\omega$. Tense formation, -	-	•	40
§ 17.	Verbs in $-\omega$. New formation of a present tense,		-	40
§ 18.	Verbs in $-\omega$. On the formation of the future,	-		41
§ 19.	Verbs in $-\omega$. First and second aorist, -	-	•	43
§ 20.	Verbs in $-\omega$. Aorist and future of deponent verbs,	-		44
§ 21.	Verbs in -w. Terminations,			45
§ 22.	Contract verbs,			47
§ 23.	Verbs in $-\mu$,			48
§ 24.	Table of noteworthy verbs,			52
§ 25.	Adverbs,			58
§ 26.	Particles,			60
§ 27.	Word-formation by means of terminations and suffixes,	-		61
	Word-formation by composition,	-		65
-	Proper names,	•	•	70
÷ .	vii			

PART II.

SYNTAX.

	SINIAA.			PAGE
§ 30. Subject and predicate,		-	n	72
§ 31. Agreement,				76

SYNTAX OF THE NOUN.

§ 32.	Gender and number,	82
§ 33.	The cases. Nominative and vocative,	84
§ 34.	The accusative,	87
§ 35.	The genitive,	95
§ 36.	Continuation : genitive with verbs, etc.,	100
§ 37.	Dative, -	109
§ 38,	Continuation : instrumental and temporal dative,	116
§ 39.	The cases with prepositions. Prepositions with the accusative,	121
	Prepositions with the genitive,	124
§ 41.	Prepositions with the dative,	130
§ 42.	Prepositions with two cases,	132
§ 43.	Prepositions with three cases,	136
§ 44.	Syntax of the adjective,	140
§ 45.	Numerals,	144

§ 46.	The article. I. δ , $\dot{\eta}$, $\tau \delta$ as pronoun; the article with independent	
	substantives, -	145
§ 47.	The article. II. The article with adjectives etc.; the article	
	with connected parts of speech,	154

SYNTAX OF THE PRONOUNS.

§ 48.	Personal, reflexive, and possessive pronouns,	•	-	164
§ 49.	Demonstrative pronouns,			170
§ 50.	Relative and interrogative pronouns, .		-	172
§ 51.	Indefinite pronouns; pronominal words,			177

SYNTAX OF THE VERB.

§ 52.	The voices of the verb,				180
§ 53.	Active voice, -			-	181
§ 54.	Passive voice, -				184
§ 55.	Middle voice,				185
§ 56.	The tenses. Present tense,				187
§ 57.	Imperfect and aorist indicative,		-		190
§ 58.	Moods of the present and the aorist,	-		-	194

С	0	Λ	V2	^{r}E	λ	17	٦S.

		PAGE
§ 59.	The perfect, -	198
§ 60.	Pluperfect,	201
§ 61.	Future,	201
§ 62.	Periphrastic conjugation,	202
§ 63.	The moods. Indicative of unreality (and repetition),	205
§ 64.	Conjunctive and future (or present) indicative in principal clauses,	208
§ 65.	Conjunctive and future (or present) indicative in subordinate	
	clauses, -	211
§ 66.	Remains of the optative,	219
§ 67.	Imperative,	221
§ 68.	Infinitive,	221
§ 69.	Infinitive and periphrasis with <i>lva</i> ,	222
§ 70.	Infinitive and periphrasis with $\ddot{o}\tau\iota$,	230
§ 71.	Infinitive with the article,	233
§ 72.	Cases with the infinitive. Nominative and accusative with the	
	infinitive,	237
§ 73.	Participle. (I.) Participle as attribute-representing a substantive	
	—as predicate, -	242
§ 74.	Participle. (II.) As an additional clause in the sentence,	247

§ 75.	The negatives,	253
§ 76.	Other adverbs,	257
§ 77.	Particles (conjunctions),	259
§ 78.	Particles (continued),-	270
§ 79.	Connection of sentences,	275
§ 80.	Position of words (position of clauses),	287
§ 81.	Ellipse (Brachylogy), pleonasm,	291
•	Arrangement of words; figures of speech,	295
-	o	

INDEX.

I.	Index of subjects,	•	-	-	304
II.	Index of Greek words,		-		312
III.	Index of New Testament passages,		-		332

ix

CORRIGENDA.

- p. 3, line 28, for 'of the present day' read 'or those which they have reached at the present day
- p. 60, line 22, for our read our.
- p. 68, last line, for 3 Jo. 2 read 3 Jo. 9.
- p. 114, line 14, for κολλâσθαι read κολλâσθαί. line 29, omit the comma before τŷ πίστει. line 36, for 'for which' read 'for the dative.'
- p. 115, 12 lines from the bottom, for πλήγas read πληγds.
 2 lines from the bottom, for τινι read τινί.
- p. 172, line 14, for Mt. 24. 23 read Mt. 24. 43.
- p. 220, note 1, for A. 1. 8 read A. 1. 20.
- p. 232, line 3, for H. 13. 8 read H. 13. 18.

PART I.

INTRODUCTION: PHONETICS AND ACCIDENCE.

§ I. INTRODUCTION.

1. The special study of the grammar of New Testament Greek has been for the most part prompted by purely practical needs. In Greek literature as such the writings brought together in the New Testament can claim but a very modest position; and the general grammar of the Greek language can take but very limited notice of the special features which they present. Yet, on the other hand, their contents give them so paramount an importance, that in order to understand them fully, and to restore them to their primitive form, the most exact investigation even of their grammatical peculiarities becomes an absolute necessity.

The New Testament writers represent in general that portion of the population of the Hellenised East, which, while it employed Greek more or less fluently as the language of intercourse and commerce-side by side with the native languages which were by no means superseded—yet remained unfamiliar with the real Hellenic culture and the literature of classical Greek. How far, in this respect, exceptions are to be admitted in the case of Luke and Paul, as also in the case of the author of the Epistle to the Hebrews (Barnabas), it is not easy to decide: at any rate the traces of classical culture even in these writers are next to nothing, whereas in the next generation a Clement of Rome, with his yuvaîkes $\Delta a \nu a i \delta \epsilon_{S} \kappa a i \Delta i \rho \kappa a \iota$ and his story of the phœnix,¹ at once displays an entirely different character. Accordingly, the language employed in the N.T. is such as was spoken in the lower circles of society, not such as was written in works of literature. But between these two forms of speech there existed even at that time a very considerable The literary language had always remained dependent difference. in some measure on the old classical masterpieces; and though in the first centuries of Hellenic influence it had followed the development of the living language, and so had parted some distance from those models, yet since the first century before Christ it had kept struggling back to them again with an ever-increasing determination.

¹Clem. ad Corinth, vi. 2: xxv.

If, then, the literature of the Alexandrian period must be called Hellenistic, that of the Roman period must be termed Atticistic. But the popular language had gone its own way, and continued to do so until out of ancient Greek there was gradually developed modern Greek, which, however, in its literature—its prose literature in particular—is still very strongly affected by classic influences. The N.T. then shows us an intermediate stage on the road between ancient and modern Greek; on this ground, too, its language is deserving of a special treatment.

2. It is indeed true that for a knowledge of the popular language of the first century after Christ, as of the immediately preceding and succeeding periods, the N.T. is by no means our only source. In the way of literature not much is to be added, certainly nothing which can diminish the supreme importance of the N.T. Undoubtedly the Greek translations of the Old Testament show a great affinity of language, but they are translations, and slavishly literal translations; no one ever spoke so, not even the Jewish translators. Of profane literature, one might perhaps quote the discourses of Epictetus contained in Arrian's commentary as the work most available for our purpose. But the spoken language is found quite pure, purer by far than in the N.T. itself-found, too, in its various gradations, corresponding naturally to the position and education of the speaker-in those private records, the number and importance of which is being perpetually increased by fresh discoveries in Egypt. The language of the N.T. may, therefore, be quite rightly treated in close connection with these. A grammar of the popular language of the period, written on the basis of all these various authorities and remains, would be perhaps, from the grammarian's point of view, more satisfactory than one which was limited to the language of the New Testament.¹ The practical considerations, however, from which we set out, will be constantly imposing such a limitation; for it cannot be of the same importance to us to know what some chance Egyptian writes in a letter or deed of sale, as it is to know what the men of the N.T. have written, however true it may be that in their own day the cultured world drew no distinction between these last and the lower classes of Egyptians and Syrians, and despised them both alike.

§ 2. ELEMENTS OF THE NEW TESTAMENT LANGUAGE.

1. By far the most predominant element in the language of the New Testament is the Greek of common speech which was disseminated in the East by the Macedonian conquest, in the form which it had gradually assumed under the wider development of several centuries. This common speech is in the main a somewhat modified Attic, in which were omitted such Attic peculiarities as appeared too strange to the bulk of the remaining Greeks, such as $\tau \tau$ instead of $\sigma \sigma$ in $\theta \dot{a} \lambda a \tau \tau a$ etc., and $\rho \rho$ instead of $\rho \sigma$ in $\ddot{a} \rho \rho \eta \nu$

¹Cf. G. A. Deissmann, Bibelstudien (Marburg, 1895), p. 57 ff.

etc. As a matter of course it is the later Attic, not the older, which lies at the base of it, which explains, to take one example. the absence of any trace of a dual in this language. But as the development extended, the remaining distinctions in the language between duality and plurality were also set aside: not only is $\pi \acute{\sigma} \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma s$ abandoned for $\tau \acute{\epsilon} \kappa \acute{a} \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma s$ for $\check{\epsilon} \kappa a \sigma \tau \sigma s$, and so on, but above all the superlative is abandoned for the comparative: and this is a state of things which we find in the language of the N.T., but by no means in the literary language of a contemporary and later date, which affords no traces of these peculiarities. With this is connected the more limited use of the optative, and many other usages, to be discussed in their place. Another not very considerable portion of the alterations concerns the phonetic forms of declension and conjugation, under which may be classed the extension of the inflexion $-\alpha$, gen. $-\eta$ s to words in $-\rho\alpha$, and the transference of 1st aorist terminations to the 2nd aorist. A third and much larger class embraces the uses and combinations of forms and "form-words," in which a similar striving after simplification is unmistakable. Very many usages disappear; the use of the infinitive as the complement of the verb is extended at the expense of that of the participle, the objective accusative at the expense of the genitive and dative; the rules concerning ov or $\mu\eta$ are as simple as they are intricate for the classical languages. Of quite another order, and concealed by the orthography, which remained the same, are the general changes in the sounds of the language, which even at that time had been carried out in no small measure, though it was not till long afterwards that they reached their later dimensions of the present day. A last class is composed of changes in lexicology-for the most part the substitution of a new expression in place of the usual expression for a thing or an idea, or the approach to such a substitution, the new appearing side by side with the old as its equivalent. This, however, does not as a rule come within the province of grammar, unless the expression be a kind of "form-word," for instance a preposition, or an irregular verb, an instance of this being the present of eldov, which in general is no longer $\delta\rho\hat{\omega}$, but $\beta\lambda\epsilon\pi\omega$ or $\theta\epsilon\omega\rho\hat{\omega}$. The Hellenistic language as a whole is in its way not less subject to rules nor less systematic than Attic; but it has certainly not received such a literary cultivation as the latter, because the continuous development of culture never allowed it completely to break away from the older form, which was so exclusively regarded as the standard of what the language should be.¹

¹Since the $\kappa_{0i}\nu'_{\eta}$ had such a wide diffusion, from Italy and Gaul to Egypt and Syria, it is a priori impossible that it should have been everywhere entirely uniform, and so it is correct to speak also of an Alexandrian dialect ($\dot{\eta}$ 'A $\lambda\epsilon\xi a\nu$ - $\delta\rho\epsilon\omega\nu$ $\delta\iota\delta\kappa\tau\sigma\sigma$) as a special form of it (W.-Schm. § 3, 1, note 4). Of course we are not in a position to make many distinctions in details in this respect; yet even in the N.T. writers certain differences are well-marked, which have nothing to do with a more or less cultivated style, e.g. some writers, and Luke in particular, confuse ϵis and $\epsilon \nu$, whereas the author of the Apocalypse is able to distinguish between these prepositions. Again Hermas, undoubtedly 2. One element of the popular languages of that time, and therefore of the New Testament language, which though not prominent is clearly traceable, is the Latin element. The ruling people of Italy intermingled with the population of all the provinces; Roman proper names were widely circulated (as the N.T. at once clearly shows in the names of its authors and the persons addressed); but appellatives ($\kappa o v \sigma \tau \omega \delta i_{\alpha} \sigma o v \delta a \rho v \sigma$, $\kappa \epsilon v \tau v \rho i \omega v$) also found admission, and some phrases, particularly of commercial and legal life, were literally translated (as $\tau \delta i \kappa a v \delta v \pi o \iota \epsilon i v, \lambda a \mu \beta \delta v \epsilon v = satisfacere, satis$ accipere). In general, however, this influence remains confined tolexicology and phraseology; in a slight degree it affects the form $ation of words (Hop \delta \iota a v o i \pi a \chi \theta \eta v a = duci eum iussit), still it is$ difficult here to determine what is due to native development ofthe language and what to foreign influence.

3. The national Hebrew or Aramaic element influenced Greekwriting Jews in a threefold manner. In the first place it is probable that the speaker or writer quite involuntarily and unconsciously rendered a phrase from his mother tongue by an accurately corresponding phrase; again, that the reading and hearing of the Old Testament in the Greek version coloured the writer's style, especially if he desired to write in a solemn and dignified manner (just as profane writers borrowed phrases from the Attic writers for a similar object); third and last, a great part of the N.T. writings (the three first Gospels and the first half of the Acts) is in all probability a direct working over of Hebrew or Aramaic materials. This was not a translation like that executed by the LXX., rendered word for word with the utmost fidelity, and almost without any regard to intelligibility; but it was convenient to adhere to the originals even in expression instead of looking for a form of expression which was good Greek. The Hebraisms and Aramaisms are, then, for the most part of a lexical kind, i.e. they consist in the meaning which is attributed to a word (σκάνδαλον is the rendering of אָרָשׁוֹל in the ethical sense, hence σκανδαλίζειν), or in phrases literally translated (as πρόσωπον λαμβάνειν כָּשָּׁא כָּנִים 'to respect the person,' hence $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\omega\pi\sigma\lambda\dot{\eta}\mu\pi\tau\eta s - \lambda\eta\mu\psi\dot{a}$; these expressions, which moreover are not too numerous, must have been current in Jewish, and subsequently in Christian, communities. In the department of grammar the influence of Hebrew is seen especially in a series of peculiarities in the use of prepositions, consisting partly of circumlocutions such as αρέσκειν ενώπιόν τινος instead of τινί, προ προσώπου της είσόδου αύτου, 'before him,' partly in an extended use of certain prepositions such as $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ($\dot{\epsilon}\pi\dot{\iota}$) on the

4

a representative of the unadulterated $\kappa_{0\nu}\eta$, uses often enough the superlative forms in $-\tau \alpha \tau \sigma s$ and $-\iota \sigma \tau \sigma s$ in elative sense, whereas the forms in $-\tau \alpha \tau \sigma s$ are generally absent from the writers of the N.T., and even those in $-\iota \sigma \tau \sigma s$ are only very seldom found (see § 11, 3). Such cases must, then, go back to *local* differences within the $\kappa_{0\nu}\eta$, even if we can no longer rightly assign the range of circulation of individual peculiarities.

analogy of the corresponding Hebrew word $(\frac{\pi}{2})$; much is also taken over in the use of the article and the pronouns; to which must be added the periphrasis for the simple tense by means of $\hat{\eta}\nu$ etc. with the participle, beside other examples.

4. The literary language has also furnished its contribution to the language of the N.T., if only in the case of a few more cultured writers, especially Luke, Paul, and the author of the Epistle to the A very large number of good classical constructions are Hebrews.¹ indeed found in the N.T., but confined to these particular writers, just as it is only they who occasionally employ a series of words which belonged to the language of literary culture and not to colloquial speech. Persons of some culture had these words and constructions at their disposal when they required them, and would even employ the correct forms of words as alternatives to the vulgar forms of ordinary use. This is shown most distinctly by the speech of Paul before Agrippa (Acts xxvi.), which we may safely regard as reported with comparative accuracy. On this occasion, when Paul had a more distinguished audience than he ever had before, he makes use not only of pure Greek proverbs and modes of speech (πρός κέντρον λακτίζειν 14, ούκ έστιν έν γωνία πεπραγμένον τούτο 26), but there also appears here the only superlative in $-\tau a \tau o s$ in the whole N.T. $(\tau \eta \nu \dot{a} \kappa \rho \iota \beta \epsilon \sigma \tau \dot{a} \tau \eta \nu a \tilde{\iota} \rho \epsilon \sigma \iota \nu 5)$, and here only $\tilde{\iota} \sigma a \sigma \iota \nu$ for 'they know' (4), not oïdaoiv; he must therefore have learnt somewhere (?at school), that in order to speak correct Attic Greek one must conjugate loper love loader. So also it is not surprising if Paul writes to his pupils and colleagues in a somewhat different, i.e. in a somewhat higher style, than that which he uses in writing to his congregations. It is noteworthy that in the artificial reproduction of the ancient language the same phenomenon repeated itself to a certain degree, which had long before occurred in the reproduction of Homeric language by subsequent poets : namely, that the imitator sometimes misunderstood, and accordingly misused, Just as Archilochus on the strength of the Homeric a phrase. line: τέκνον ἐμόν, γενεή μεν ὑπέρτερός ἐστιν Ἀχιλλεύς, πρεσβύτερος δε σύ έσσι (Il. xi. 786, Menœtius to Patroclus) employed $i\pi \epsilon \rho \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma s =$ νεώτερος (a sense which it never bore)²: so in all probability Luke (with or without precedent) used $\mu\epsilon\tau\dot{a} \tau\dot{\eta}\nu \ \ddot{a}\phi\iota\xi\iota\nu\ \mu\sigma\nu$ in A. 20. 29 as equivalent to 'after my departure,' because he had misunderstood μετά την απιξιν (correctly 'arrival') της γυναικόs in Herodotus, 9, 77 The same writer has $d\pi \eta \epsilon \sigma a \nu$, $\epsilon \xi \eta \epsilon \sigma a \nu$ (from the obsolete $d\pi \epsilon \iota \mu \iota$, «ξειμι) with the force of the aorist, ἐκείσε, ὁμόσε, in answer to the question Where ? and many other instances.

¹The discrimination between the popular element and the literary element interwoven into it is very minutely worked out in J. Viteau, Étude sur le Grec du N.T.: Le verbe, syntaxe des prépositions, Paris, 1893.

² Vide the Scholia to II. loc. cit. (Archilochus, frag. 28, Bergk.).

§ 3. ORTHOGRAPHY.

1. One portion of the changes in the Greek language that have been alluded to (§ 2, 1) concerned generally the sounds and combinations of these; but in general alterations of this kind it is usual for the spelling not to imitate the new sound off-hand, and certainly not without hesitation, in the case of a word which already had a stereotyped and ordinary spelling. So, in Greek, in the time of the composition of the N.T., there was, as we know from manifold evidence of stone and papyrus, no one fixed orthography in existence, but writers fluctuated between the old historical spelling and a new phonetic manner of writing. The sound-changes, at that time not nearly so great as they afterwards became, had principally to do with the so-called a dscript in the diphthongs $\hat{q}, \eta, \hat{\psi}$ (strictly $\bar{a}\iota, \eta\iota, \omega\iota$ with *i* pronounced), which, since about the second century before Christ, had become mute, and with the old diphthong ϵ_i , which from about the same period ceased to be distinguished from long . But the writing of AI, HI, Ω I, EI did not on that account become obsolete, preserved as they were by their occurrence in all ancient books and literal transcripts of them; only it was no longer known in which cases \bar{a} , \bar{e} , $\bar{\bar{o}}$ should be furnished with the symbol for i mute, and in which cases long ishould be written as EI. Many persons took the drastic measure of omitting the i mute in all cases, even in the dative, as Strabo¹ attests, in the same way that we also find I as the prevailing spelling for $\bar{\iota}$ (though still not without exceptions) in manuscripts of the period²; others considered that in EI as against I they had a convenient means of distinguishing between \overline{i} and \overline{i} , in the same way that \bar{e} and \check{e} , \bar{o} and \check{o} were distinguished. So $\kappa \iota \nu \epsilon \hat{\iota} s$ is sometimes KINIC, sometimes KEINEIC; and even KEINIC would be frequently written by any ordinary scribe. It was not until a later date that the historical method of writing was uniformly carried out, and even then not without occasional errors, by learned grammarians, especially Herodian of Alexandria, who taught in Rome under M. Aurelius. This was in keeping with the prevailing impulse of the time, which made for the revival of the old classical language. Since then, in spite of increasing difficulties, this method of spelling has been continuously taught and inculcated in the schools with the help of numerous artificial rules up till the present day.

2. It is impossible therefore to suppose, after what has been stated, that even Luke and Paul could have employed the correct historical spelling in the case of ι mute and $\epsilon\iota$; for at that time there was nobody in the schools of Antioch and Tarsus who could teach it them, certainly not in the case of $\epsilon\iota$, though some rules might be formulated at an earlier period with regard to ι mute. We are debarred from all knowledge as to how they actually did

¹ Strabo, xiv., p. 648, πολλοί γάρ χωρίς τοῦ ι γράφουσι τὰς δοτικάς, και ἐκβάλλουσι δὲ τὸ ἔθος φυσικὴν αἰτίαν οὐκ ἔχον.

² Papyrus MS. of the poems of Hero(n)das, London, 1891.

write, and it is a matter of indifference, provided that one realizes this state of things, and recognizes that e.g. $\Delta\omega\omega\omega$ stood equally well for $\delta\omega\sigma\iota\nu$ or $\delta\omega\sigma\epsilon\iota\nu$. The oldest scribes whose work we possess (cent. 4-6) always kept themselves much freer from the influence of the schools than the later, i.e. they frequently wrote phonetically or according to the rule $\epsilon = \overline{\iota}$ (so the scribe of B), and indeed ι mute finds no place in MSS. before the seventh century. In our case there can be no question that we should follow the Byzantine school, and consistently employ the historical spelling in the N.T., as well as in the case of all profane writers, and remove all half measures, such as those, for instance, still remaining in Tischendorf, without any regard to the MS. evidence. The recording and weighing of evidence of this kind in the case of individual words, e.g. words in $-\epsilon\iota a, -\epsilon\iota a$, is the most unprofitable of tasks that a man can undertake.

3. The ι mute should therefore be supplied, as the correct historical spelling, in the following words, as well as in the well-known cases: $\mu\iota\mu\nu\eta\sigma\kappa\epsilon\iota\nu$, $\theta\nu\eta\sigma\kappa\epsilon\iota\nu$ (for $-\eta\cdot(\sigma\kappa\epsilon\iota\nu)$, $\pi\alpha\nu\tau\alpha\chi\eta$, $\pi\acute{a}\kappa\eta\eta$, $\kappa\rho\nu\eta\eta$, $\lambda\acute{a}\theta\rho\eta$, $\pi\epsilon\dot{\chi}\eta$, $(\acute{a}\nu\tau\iota)\pi\acute{e}\rhoq^{-1}$ (old dative forms); $\acute{a}\theta\phi\sigmas$, $\dot{\zeta}\phi\rho\nu$, $\pi\alpha\tau\rho\phi\sigmas$, $\dot{\tau}\pi\epsilon\rho\phi\sigma\nu$, $\dot{a}\acute{e}\iota\nu$, Tρ $\phi\dot{a}s$, 'Hρ $\phi\dot{d}\eta s$ (for 'H $\rho\omega\dot{d}\eta s$, from $\eta\rho\omega s$), $\pi\rho\dot{\phi}\rhoa$, $\sigma\dot{\psi}\dot{\xi}\epsilon\iota\nu$ (for $\sigma\omega\cdot\dot{\xi}\epsilon\iota\nu$). In the case of $\sigma\dot{\psi}\dot{\xi}\epsilon\iota\nu$, it is not yet satisfactorily ascertained how far the tenses partook of the ι , since $\sigma\alpha\dot{\omega}\omega$ interposes itself and supplies $\acute{e}\sigma\omega\sigma\mu$, $\acute{e}\sigma\omega\pi a$: in the perf. pass. $\sigma\acute{e}\sigma\varphi\pi a$: appears to be correct, like $\nu\epsilon\nu\dot{\rho}\mu\sigma\mu a$, but $\sigma\acute{e}\sigma\omega\tau a$: (A. 4. 9) on the model of $\acute{e}\sigma\dot{\omega}\eta\nu$. It is also doubtful whether an ι was ever present in the forms first found in Hellenistic Greek, $\delta\dot{\omega}\eta\nu$, $\gamma\nu\dot{\omega}\eta\nu$ (optat.), $\pi\alpha\tau\rho\sigma\lambda\dot{\omega}s$, $\mu\eta\tau\rho\sigma\lambda\dot{\omega}s$ (Attic $\delta o(\eta\nu, \gamma\nu\sigma\dot{\eta}\nu, -\lambda o\dot{a}s)$; but since ι is essential to the optative, we may insert it in those instances. As yet there is not sufficient evidence to decide between $\pi\rho\hat{a}\circ - \pi\rho\hat{q}\circ s$, $\pi\rho\dot{a}\circ \tau\eta s$. For $\epsilon\iota$ in place of $\eta\iota$ vide infra 5.

4. Et for $\bar{\iota}$ is established in MSS. and editions, being found most persistently in **Semitic** words, especially proper names, where it would never once be without use as an indication of the length of the ι , provided only that it be correctly understood to have this meaning, and not to represent a diphthong, which is fundamentally wrong. We can, if we please, in these cases assist the pronunciation by means of the symbol for a long vowel ($\bar{\iota}$): thus $\Delta a \nu i \delta$, 'A $\delta \delta \bar{\iota}$, 'A $\chi \bar{\iota} \mu$, B $\epsilon \nu \iota a \mu \bar{\iota} \nu$, 'E $\lambda \iota a \kappa \bar{\iota} \mu$, 'E $\lambda \bar{\iota} \sigma a \beta \epsilon \tau$,² 'I $\delta \bar{\iota} \rho o s$, Kis, A $\epsilon \nu \bar{\iota}$ (s), N $\epsilon \phi \theta a \lambda \bar{\iota} \mu$, $\Sigma \delta \pi \phi \bar{\iota} \rho a$,³ Ta $\beta \bar{\iota} \theta a$, X $\epsilon \rho o \nu \beta \bar{\iota} \nu$; $\Gamma \epsilon \theta \sigma \eta \mu a \nu \bar{\iota}$, 'I $\epsilon \rho \bar{\iota} \chi \omega^5$; $\dot{\eta} \lambda \bar{\iota}$, $\dot{\rho} a \beta \beta \bar{\iota}$, $\tau a \lambda \bar{\iota} \theta a$,

¹ Certainly in later times the α in $(\kappa \alpha \tau) a \nu \tau \iota \pi \epsilon \rho a$ appears to be short, since it is elided in verse, Maneth. iv. 188.

² Eleio. always in B, generally \aleph , occasionally CD, see Tisch. on L. 1. 5.

³ The MSS. (A. 5. 1) vary between ϵ_i , ν : there is no doubt of the identity of the name with the Aram. ψφ(pulchra), still it has been Grecised (gen. -ηs like μάχαιρα, -ρης, § 7, 1) no doubt in connection with σάπφ(ε)ιρος, in which the ϵ_i is quite unjustifiable (Ap. 21. 19, -ιρος BP).

⁴ See Kantzsch in W.-Schm. § 5, 13 a (Hebr. היי לעמי). The spelling with η at the end as against - ϵ_i , - ι has only the very slenderest attestation; even the η of the second syllable must perhaps give way to the a of the western tradition (many authorities in Mt. 26. 36: cp. Mc. 14. 32).

⁵ With ϵ_i Mt. 20. 29 BCLZ; so always B, frequently $\aleph(D)$.

σαβαχθανί. The proper names in -ίαs have in most cases *i*, and therefore no ει (so Μαριαμ, Μαρία), but rightly 'Ηλείαs, 'Ηλίαs 'Ιωσείαs, -σίαs -σίας, 'ΜΨ^μ, 'Οζείαs, -ίας 'Ψ^μ, Οὐρείας, 'ΜΨ^μ, 'Ελισαίος L. 4. 27 ארִרְיָה has undoubtedly *i*, and is also spelt with ει in B (only), just as B ha's Φαρεισαίοι (Mc. 7. 1, 3, 5, A. 5. 34 etc.), Γαλειλαία, -αίος (Mc. 1. 14, 16, Jo. 7. 1, A. 5. 37 etc.), Σεινά (G. 4. 24 f.), Σειών (R. 9. 33 etc.). Σαμάρεια follows the analogy of 'Αντιόχεια, 'Αλεξάνδρεια etc., and must therefore retain ει in our spelling of it,² although the inhabitant is called Σαμαρίτης, as the inhabitant of Μαρώνεια is Μαρωνίτης.

5. With regard to Greek words and names, the following must be noted for the correct discrimination between ϵi and i: $oi\kappa\tau i\rho\omega$, not - $\epsilon i \rho \omega$ (cp. $o i \kappa \tau \iota \rho \mu \delta s$, $-i \rho \mu \omega v$, which in B certainly also have $\epsilon \iota$ § 4, 2). Ίκόνιον, not Είκ. (č according to Etym. M. sub verbo, which, however, does not agree with the coins, which give ι and $\epsilon \iota$; the MSS. in A. 13, 51, 14. 1 also read ι). μείγνυμι, εμειξα etc., μείγμα. τίνω, τείσω, έτεισα. φιλόνικος, -νικία (from νίκη). πανοικεί Α. 16. 34 (NAB¹C), $\pi a \mu \pi \lambda \eta \theta \epsilon i$ L. 23. 18, see § 28, 7. There is considerable fluctuation in the language from the earliest times between -aa (proparoxyt.) and $-i\bar{a}$; $\kappa a \kappa o \pi a \theta i a$ Ja. 5. 10 (B¹P) is the form attested also for Attic Greek; ώφέλεια, however (R. 3. 1, Jude 16), already existed in Attic beside $\omega \phi \epsilon \lambda i a$. The spelling $\sigma \tau \rho a \tau \epsilon i a s$ (B) 2 C. 10. 4 cannot be invalidated on the ground that in Attic $\sigma \tau \rho a \tau \epsilon (a \text{ campaign}^2 \text{ and } \sigma \tau \rho a \tau \iota a \text{ campy}^2 \text{ are interchanged, and}$ the one form stands for the other; $i \pi a \rho \chi i a$ 'province' A. 25. 1 has for a variant not $\epsilon \pi a \rho \chi \epsilon i a$ but $\eta \epsilon \pi a \rho \chi \epsilon i os (A, cp. N^I)$. Ei is produced from $\eta \iota$ according to the later Attic usage (which converted every $\eta \iota$ into $\epsilon \iota$) in the words $\lambda \epsilon \iota \tau \circ \upsilon \rho \gamma \delta s$, $-\epsilon \iota \nu$ (orig. $\lambda \eta i \tau$., then $\lambda \eta \tau$.), which were taken over from Attic, and in $\beta_0 v \lambda_{\epsilon_i}$ (L. 22. 42, the literary word = the colloquial $\theta \in \lambda \in S$ § 21, 7), whereas, in other cases y in roots and in terminations (dat. 1st decl., conjunct., 2 sing. pass.) remained as e, and the use of the future for aor. conj. (§ 65, 2, 5) can on no account be explained by this Attic intermixture of the* diphthongs.

6. H in the language of the N.T., and also in the standard MSS., is in general far from being interchanged with ι . $X\rho\eta\sigma\tau\iota avoi$ (and $X\rho\eta\sigma\tau \delta$) rests on a popular interpretation of the word, for in place of the unintelligible $X\rho \iota \sigma \tau \delta$ s the heathen (from whom the designation of the new sect as $X\rho\eta\sigma\tau$. proceeded) substituted the familiar $X\rho\eta\sigma\tau \delta$ s, which had a similar sound; the spelling of the word with η (in the N.T. preserved in every passage by \aleph^1 A. 11. 26, 26. 28, 1 P. 4. 16) was not completely rejected even by the Christians, and

² Cp. Herodian, Lentz, p. 279, 34.

¹ W. H. Append. 155. B alone is consistent in reading Oupelou Mt. 1. 6 (the others -tou). In the case of 'Ejerin Mt. 1. 9 f. we have only the witness of D for - $\epsilon \iota$ - in the passage L. 3. 23 ff., which it alters to correspond with Mt. However, is the analogy complete? C. I. Gr. 8613 also has 'Ejerias (- χlas) beside 'Iworelas.

maintained its position for a very long time.¹ $Kv\rho\eta\nu ros$ for Quirinius L. 2. 2 may be explained in a similar way (by a connection of it with $Kv\rho\eta\nu\eta$), but B and the Latin MSS. have $Kv\rho(\epsilon)i\nu\sigma v$ Cyrino.² In L. 14. 13, 21 aváπειροs for aváπηρos is attested by quite preponderating evidence (xABD al.), and is moreover mentioned by Phrynichus the Atticist as a vulgar form.³ $\epsilon i \mu \eta \nu$ for η $\mu \eta \nu$ H. 6. 14 (*ABD¹) is attested also in the LXX. and in papyri⁴; besides, all this class of variations belongs strictly to the province of correct pronunciation [orthoepy], and not to that of orthography. It is the same with the doubtful $\gamma \nu \mu \nu \eta \tau \eta s$ or $\gamma \nu \mu \nu \iota \tau \epsilon v \rho \iota \nu \tau \epsilon v \rho \epsilon \nu$ 1 C. 4. 11, with η L al., which, according to Dindorf in Steph. Thes., is the correct spelling), and $\sigma_{i\mu}\kappa_{i\nu}\theta_{i\nu}$ semicinctium A. 19. 12 (all MSS.), with which one might compare the comparatively early occurrence of $\delta i \nu \alpha \rho_{i\alpha}$ denarii 5 (N.T., however, always has $\delta \eta \nu$.). All uncials have σιρικοῦ sericum⁶ Ap. 18. 12. The distinction made between κάμηλος 'camel' and κάμιλος 'rope' (Mt. 19. 24 etc., Suidas), appears to be a later artificiality.

7. At a much earlier time than the interchange of $\eta - \iota$ begins that of $\alpha\iota - \epsilon$ (η), appearing in passive verbal terminations already in the Hellenistic period, in the middle of a word before a vowel somewhere about the second century A.D., and soon after universally, so that little confidence can be placed in our MSS. as a whole in this respect, though the oldest (D perhaps excepted) are still far more correct in this than in the case of $\epsilon\iota - \iota$. The question, therefore, whether, in obedience to these witnesses, $\kappa\epsilon\rho\epsilon a$ is to be written for $\kappa\epsilon\rho a (a, \epsilon\xi \epsilon \phi \eta s)$ and the like, should not be raised; the following may be specially noticed : $A i \lambda a \mu i \tau a \iota A$. 2. 9 (B correctly)⁷; $d \nu a \gamma a \iota o \nu$ Mc. 14. 15, L. 22. 12 (on quite overwhelming evidence); $\rho a \delta \eta$ raeda Ap. 18. 13 (all uncials $\rho \epsilon \delta \eta$); $\phi a \iota \lambda \delta \nu \eta s$ paenula (the Greek form : strictly it should be $\phi a \iota \nu \delta \lambda \eta s$) 2 Tim. 4. 13 (ϵ all uncials except L); but $\sigma \nu \kappa \sigma \mu \rho \rho \epsilon a$ (A al. $-a \iota a$) L. 19. 4 (from $\sigma \nu \kappa \delta \mu \rho \rho \nu$, formation like $\mu \eta \lambda \epsilon a$ from $\mu \eta \lambda \rho \nu a$.

8. The diphthong v_i is already from early times limited to the case where it is followed by another vowel, and even then it is contracted in Attic Greek from the fifth century onwards into v; it reappears, however, in Hellenistic Greek, being frequently indeed

¹See Hermes xxx. 465 ff.

² Cp. Dittenberger, Herm. vi. 149. In Joseph. also the majority of the MSS. have $-\eta \nu \iota os$: to which add Mâpkos Kuphpuos C. I. A. iii. 599.

³ Phryn. in Bk. Anecd. i. 9, 22, άναπηρία διὰ τοῦ η τὴν πρωτήν, οὐ διὰ τῆs ει διφθόγγου, ὡs οἱ ἀμαθεῖs (Tisch. ad loc.).

⁴ Blass, Ausspr. d. Gr. 33³, 77 (Aegypt. Urk. des Berl. Mus. 543).

⁵ Ibid. 37, 94.

⁶ Cp. (W.-Schm. § 5, 14) σιρικοποιώs (so for -όs) Neapolitan inscription, Inscr. Gr. It. et Sic. 785, to which siricarium and holosiricum are given as parallel forms in Latin Inscr. (Mommsen).

⁷ From Αλλάμ τψη; see Enseb. Onomast. ed. Larsow-Parthey, p. 22. Yet according to Könneke (sub verbo 13) the LXX. have Αλλάμ and Ἐλαμῖται side by side.

written (in inscriptions and papyri) $v\epsilon\iota$, *i.e.* ü-i, whereas on the other hand the inflexion $-vi\alpha$, $-vi\eta$ s (§ 7, 1) implies that the ι is not pronounced. The uncial MSS. of the N.T. write it throughout; it sometimes occurs in the word-division in B that the first scribe divides $v|\iota ov^1$; A has occasionally what comes to the same thing, $\ddot{v}i\sigma$ s. The diphthong ωv is non-existent (as also in Attic it may be said not to occur); M $\omega v\sigma \eta s$ is a trisyllable, and consequently to be written $M\omega v\sigma \eta s$.

9. Consonants. $Z - \sigma$.—The spelling $\zeta\beta$, $\zeta\mu$ in place of $\sigma\beta$, $\sigma\mu$ is widely disseminated in the Hellenistic and Roman period, in order to indicate the soft sound which σ has in this position only. This ζ , however, is found far more rarely in the middle than at the beginning of a word. In the N.T. the MSS. have $Z\mu\dot{\rho}\rho\alpha$ Ap. 1. 11, 2. 8 (N, Latt. partly; but $\zeta\mu\dot{\rho}\rho\alpha$ has little support, as D Mt. 2. 11, $\sigma\xi\mu\dot{\rho}\rho\eta$ s N Jo. 19. 39); $\zeta\beta\epsilon\nu\nu\dot{\rho}\nu\alpha\iota$ 1 Th. 5. 19 (B¹D¹FG).

10. Single and double consonant.—With regard to the writing of a single or double consonant much obscurity prevails in the Roman period. The observance of the old-Greek rule, that ρ , if it passes from the beginning to the middle of a word (through inflexion or composition), preserves the stronger pronunciation of the initial letter by becoming doubled,² is even in Attic Greek not quite without exceptions; in the later period the pronunciation itself must have changed, and the stronger initial p approximated to the weaker medial ρ , so that even a reduplication with ρ was now tolerated ($\dot{\rho}\epsilon\rho\alpha\nu\tau\iota\sigma\mu\epsilon\nu\sigma$) § 15, 6). The rule cannot be carried out in the N.T. without doing great violence to the oldest MSS., although, on the other hand, in these also there are still sufficient remnants of the ancient practice to be found: thus all MSS. have $\epsilon \rho \rho \eta \xi \epsilon v$ L. 9. 42, $\epsilon \rho \rho \epsilon \theta \eta$ Mt. 5. 21, 27 etc. (always in these words, § 16, 1), see Gregory Tisch. iii. 121; αρρωστος always, αρρητος 2 C. 12. 4, χειμάρρους Jo. 18. 1 etc.; on the other hand, aρaφos Jo. 19. 23 (ρρ B), επιράπτει Mc. 2. 21 (ρρ B²KMUΓ), απορίψαντες A. 27. 43 NC etc. But while this matter too belongs to orthography, the spelling $\rho\rho$ recommends itself as a general principle. $\pi a \rho \eta \sigma i a$ is wrong, since it is assimilated from παν-ρησία (παρησ. B1 Mc. 8. 32, and passim; also *DL sometimes, see Tisch.)³; $d\rho\rho\alpha\beta\omega\nu$ (a borrowed Semitic word) has the metrical prosody - - guaranteed and the doubling of the consonant established in its Semitic form (apaß. 2 C. 1. 22 *AFGL, 5. 5 *DE, E. 1. 14 FG), cp. also Lat. arrha.⁴

In the case of the other liquids and all the mutes there are only isolated instances. $\beta \alpha \lambda \lambda \dot{\alpha} \tau \tau \iota \sigma \tau$, not $\beta \alpha \lambda \dot{\alpha} \tau \tau \iota \sigma \tau$, is shown on quite

¹Tischendorf, N.T. Vat., p. xxviii. 4. There seem to have been people who thought themselves bound, for correctness' sake, to pronounce $h\ddot{u}\cdot i\cdot os$, $m\ddot{u}\cdot i\cdot a$, in three syllables; cp. Cramer, Anecd. Oxon. III. 251.

² Even the initial ρ in Att. inscr. is occasionally written $\rho\rho$ ('E $\phi\eta\mu$. $d\rho\chi a\iotao\lambda$. 1889, p. 49 ff. β , 20 $d\rho\tau\eta\mu a\tau a \rho\rho\mu\mu o\hat{s}$).

³ Evidence for ρ from inscr. and papyri in W.-Schm. § 5, 26 b.

⁴ ἀρραβ. C. I. Gr. ii. 2058, B. 34, ἀραβ. Papyrus Notices and Extr. xviii. 2, 344 (W. Schm. *ibid.* c); but ρρ Berl. Aeg. Urk. 240, 6.

preponderating MS. evidence to be correct, and the orthography is also vouched for on metrical grounds. Φύγελος 2 Tim. 1. 15 CHD etc., $-\epsilon\lambda\lambda$ os A : the single letter appears to be the better spelling.¹ In $\mu a \mu \omega \nu \hat{a} s$ can be duplication of the μ has very slender attestation. ἐννενήκοντα, έννατος are wrong; γέννημα for living creatures is correct (yevvav, yevvaotai), for products of the field incorrect, since these are termed γένημα from γίνεσθαι Mt. 26. 29, Mc. 14. 25, L. 12. 18 etc. This rests on quite preponderant evidence, which is confirmed by the papyri.² On $\chi \dot{v}(v)v\omega$, $\kappa \tau \dot{\epsilon} v v \omega$ see § 17. ln 'Iwávys the single v is attested by the almost universal evidence of B, frequently also by that of D (nearly always in Luke and Acts); the word belongs to the series of Hellenised names (§ 10, 2), which treat the an of the Hebrew termination as a variable inflection, whereas the interpretation of Iwávvys as from Iwavav-ys (W.-Schm. § 5, 26 c) affords no explanation whatever for the $-\eta s^3$ On the other hand, "Avva דְּפָה is correct, and 'Iwávva (Aram. לַטַרְנָשָׁן, cp. לַטַרְנָשָׁן Σουσάννα, Μαριαμ = Μαριάμμη of Josephus) is also explicable (L. 8. 3 with v BD: 24. 10 with v only DL); the masc. "Avvas (for Hebr., "Avavos Joseph.) might be influenced by the analogy of "Avva.—Mutes: $\kappa \rho \dot{\alpha} \dot{\beta} \bar{a} \tau \dot{o} s$ appears to be commended by Lat. grabbatus, and the duplication of the $\overline{\beta}$ (introduced by the corrector in B) is accordingly incorrect in any case; but for the $\tau\tau$ there is the greatest MS. authority (for which \approx has $\kappa \tau$; the single τ in B¹ only at Mc. 2. 4). Cp. W. Schm. § 5, note 52. $i6\pi\pi\eta$ is the orthography of the N.T. (1 Macc.); elsewhere $i \delta \pi \eta$ preponderates (W. Schm. § 5, note 54).

11. Doubling of the aspirate.—The aspirate, consisting of Tenuis + Aspiration, in correct writing naturally doubles only the first element, $\kappa\chi$, $\tau\theta$, $\pi\phi$; but at all times, in incorrect writing, the two are doubled, $\chi\chi$, $\theta\theta$, $\phi\phi$. So N.T. 'A $\phi\phi$ *ia* for 'A $\pi\phi$ *ia* (§ 6, 7) Philem. 2 D¹; $\Sigma \dot{a} \phi \phi \mu \alpha A$. 5. 1 DE (but $\sigma \dot{a} \pi \phi(\epsilon) \mu \rho \alpha A$, 21. 19 in all MSS.); $\epsilon \phi \phi a \theta a$ or $-\epsilon \theta a$ Mc. 7. 34 nearly all: especially widely extended is Ma $\theta \theta a \hat{a} \hat{o}$ (in the title to the Gospel NBD); Ma $\theta \theta a \hat{a} \hat{a}$ A. 1. 23, 26 B¹D; Ma $\theta \theta a \dot{a} \nu$ Mt. 1. 15 B(D); Ma $\theta \theta a \theta (-aa\theta, a\tau)$ L. 3. 29 N¹B¹.

12. Assimilation.—Much diversity in writing is occasioned in Greek (as also in Latin) at all periods by the adoption or omission of the assimilation of consonants, which clash with each other by reason of their juxtaposition within a word. In the classical period the assimilation is often further extended to independent contiguous words, and many instances of this are still preserved in the oldest MSS. of the Alexandrian period; there are a few remnants of it in the MSS. with which we are commonly dealing, including those of the

¹Φυγέλιος (Gentile noun?), C. I. Gr. ii. 3027 cited by W.-Schm. ibid. d. ² Ibid. a; Deissmann, Bibelstudien, 105 f.

³ The inscription, C. I. Gr. 8613 (under a statue of Hippolytus) has 'Ιωάνης; similarly Inscr. Gr. It. et Sic. 1106 (end of fourth century); otherwise -νν- has most support in (later) inscriptions. N.T.: ėµ µέσų Ap. 1. 13, 2. 1 etc. AC, H. 2. 12 AP, Mt. 18. 2, L. 18. 20 L Δ etc.; $\sigma \dot{\nu} \mu$ Mapiá μ L. 2. 5 AE al.; $\sigma \dot{\nu} \mu$ $\pi \hat{a} \sigma \iota \nu$ 24. 21 EG al.; $\dot{\epsilon} \gamma$ $\gamma a \sigma \tau \rho \iota$ L. 21. 23 A. The later period, on the other hand, in accordance with its character in other matters (cp. §§ 5, 1; 28, 8), was rather inclined to isolate words and even the elements of words; hence in the later papyri the prepositions $\dot{\epsilon} v$ and $\sigma \dot{\nu} v$ remain without assimilation even in composition, and so also in the old MSS. of the N.T., but this more often happens with $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$ than with $\dot{\epsilon} \nu$, see W. H. App. 149 f., W.-Schm. § 5, 25^{1-} 'E ξ is everywhere assimilated to the extent that it loses the σ before consonants, both in composition and as a separately-written word; but the Attic and Alexandrian writers went further, and assimilated the guttural, so that ey was written before mediae and liquids, $\dot{\epsilon}_{\chi}$ before $\ddot{\theta}$ and ϕ . But the MSS. of the N.T. are scarcely acquainted with more than $\dot{\epsilon}\xi$ and $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa$; for $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa\gamma\sigma\nu\alpha$ 1 Tim. 5. 4 D¹ has έγγονα (i.e. eggona, not engona, Blass, Ausspr. 123³), άπεγδύσει B* Col. 2. 11; άνεγλιπτος D L. 12. 33. We naturally carry out our rule consistently.

13. Transcription of Semitic words.—In the reproduction of adopted Semitic words (proper names in the main) the MSS. occasionally show an extraordinary amount of divergence, which is partly due to the ignorance of the scribes, partly also, as must be admitted, to corrections on the part of persons who thought themselves better informed. Thus the words on the cross in Mt. 27. 46 run as follows in the different witnesses : $\eta \lambda \epsilon \iota - a \eta \lambda \iota (\dot{a} \dot{\eta} \lambda \iota) - \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \omega(\epsilon) \iota(\mu), \lambda \epsilon \mu a - \lambda \eta \mu a$ $-\lambda(\epsilon)\iota\mu a - \lambda a\mu a, \sigma a\beta a\chi \theta a\nu(\epsilon)\iota - \sigma a\beta a\kappa \tau a\nu\epsilon\iota - (a\phi \theta a\nu\epsilon\iota) (\sigma a\phi \theta.);$ in Mc. 15. 34 $\epsilon \lambda \omega(\epsilon) \iota - \epsilon \lambda \omega \eta - \eta \lambda(\epsilon) \iota$, $\lambda \epsilon \mu a - \lambda a \mu(\mu) a - \lambda(\epsilon) \iota \mu a$, $\sigma a \beta a \chi \theta$. $\sigma a \beta a \kappa \tau$. -σιβακθανει-ζα(βα)φθανει. Grammar, however, is not concerned with individual words, but only with the rules for the transcription of foreign sounds, which are the same for the N.T. as for The following are not expressed : N, T, T, y, with the LXX.² some exceptions, where π is represented by χ , as $Pa\chi\eta\lambda$ 'Αχάζ הָתָר אָקָד, Χαρράν אָקָר, πάσχα רָתָב פַּסָקא varies between 'Ραχάβ Mt. 1. 5, Paáβ H. 11. 31, Ja. 2. 25; and " by γ, as Γόμορρα , yet and Γάζα דָקָל דְּקָא; Άκελδεμάχ Α. 1. 19 is strange for דָקָל (cp. Σιραχ יייָדָא).³ and $v = \iota$ and v; the latter (a half-vowel, our w, not our v) blends with the preceding vowel to form a diphthong : $\Delta avi\delta$, Eva, Aevis, Nivevîrai L. 11. 324; cp. with this Ekevas A. 19. 14 if this two aspirates would stand in adjacent syllables, in which case the Greeks differentiate also in native words; so $\pi a\sigma \chi a$ (Joseph. has v. l. φασκα: cp. LXX. שפשהרר = Πασχώρ and Φασσούρ), Καφαρναούμ קפר נחום BD Mt. 4. 13, 11. 23 etc., later Mss. Καπερν., see

¹ παλινγενεσία Mt. 19. 28 NB¹CDE etc., Tit. 3. 5 NACDEFG.

² Cp. C. Könneke in Progr. von Stargard, 1885.

³ Reproduction of the guttural by prefixing a is seen in ἀήλι Mt. 27. 46 (see above) L (Euseb.), Ναθαναήλ μημαία, LXX. ᾿Αερμών, ᾿Αενδωρ.

⁴ Another reading Νινευή (male -ευί).

Tisch. on Mt. 4. 13), Κηφάς. But Γ is also represented by τ, as in σάββατον ΤΞΞ'; cp. 'Αστάρτη, likewise admitted into the language at an early date; ΤΞ', becomes, in L. 4. 26, Σάρεπτα in NAB'CD al., Σαρεφθα B²KLM; there is fluctuation also between Na^(apeθ), -ρετ, -ρα(θ), where the corresponding Semitic form is uncertain. Γεννησαρεθ, -ρετ in Mt. 14. 34, Mc. 6. 53, L. 5. 1, is incorrect, D in Mt., Mc. correctly, Γεννησαρ; in Έλισαβέθ, -βέτ the τ corresponds to Semitic ", τ, i while π is almost entirely absent from Semitic words. Sibilants: D = o, $i = \zeta$ (with the value of French z), but ¹ Mt. 1. 5 Boes NB, Boos C, Booζ EKLM al.; ³σσωπος. On "Αζωτος ³Αζωτος ³Α.

14. In Latin words it must be noted that qui is rendered by κv : aquilo $d\kappa i \lambda \omega v$ (§ 28, 3); Kupinios Quirinius sup. 6; likewise quiby $\kappa o: quadrans \kappa o \delta p artys. U is ou: <math>\kappa o v \sigma \tau \omega \delta i a$ Mt. 27. 65, Poûdos; but also $v: \kappa \epsilon v \tau v p i \omega v$ Mc. 15. 39.² On $i = \epsilon$ see § 6, 3.

§ 4. DIVISION OF WORDS, ACCENTS, BREATHINGS, PUNCTUATION.

1. In the time of the composition of the N.T. and for long afterwards the division of words was not generally practised, although grammarians had much discussion on the subject of the position of accents and breathings, as to what might be regarded as $i \nu \mu \epsilon \rho \sigma s$ $\tau o \hat{\nu} \lambda \dot{\rho} \gamma o \nu$ and what might not. It is absent from the old MSS., and moreover continues to be imperfect in the later MSS. down to the 15th century. Of course it is the case with Greek as with other languages—the controversy of the grammarians shows it—that the individuality of separate words was not in all cases quite strictly established : words that were originally separate were by degrees blended together in such a way that it is not always perceptible at what point in the development the separation came absolutely to an end. One indication of the fact that the blending has been completed is when the constituent parts can no longer be separated by another word: $\delta \tau a \nu \delta \epsilon$, not $\delta \tau \epsilon \delta' \delta' \nu$ is the correct expression, whereas os of $d\nu$ is employed; in the N.T. we also have $\omega\sigma a\dot{\nu}\tau\omega s$ $\delta\epsilon$ Mc. 14. 31, L. 20. 31, R. 8. 26 (on the other hand Homer has as 8' a $\ddot{v}\tau \omega s$, which is still met with in Herodotus and Attic writers)³; $\tau \delta$ δ' αὐτό, τ $\hat{\psi}$ γàρ αὐτ $\hat{\psi}$ are still retained in the N.T. On the same principle the following e.g. form one word : ortis (still separable in Attic), καίπερ, τοίνυν, μέντοι, οὐδέ, οὕτε, οὐδέποτε, οὖπω (the two last separable in Att.), μήτι and μήτιγε, ὡσεί, ὥσπερ, ὡσπερεί, in the N.T.

¹ Exception: $\sigma a \beta a \chi \theta a \nu l$ (see above) העבקחני, in which case, however, there is a reverse change by assimilation to - $\kappa \tau a \nu \iota$.

² Dittenberger, Hermes vi. 296.

³ Even as late as Philodem. μητορ. ii. 97, Sudhaus.

also indisputably oử $\delta\epsilon$ ís, $\mu\eta\delta\epsilon$ ís, where oử δ ' ὑ ϕ ' ἑνώs can no longer, as in Att., take the place of $i\pi$ ovoevos etc. A second criterion is afforded by the new accent for the combined words: $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \kappa \epsilon \nu a$ (ὑπερέκεινα) from ἐπ' ἐκείνα, οὐδείς from οὐδ' εἶς, ἔκπαλαι (ἔκτοτε) from $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa \pi \dot{a}\lambda a (\dot{\epsilon}\kappa \tau \dot{o}\tau \epsilon)$; a third by the new signification of the compound : παραχρήμα is no longer identical with παρά χρήμα, καθόλου is different from $\kappa a \theta'$ őlov, the origin of $\xi a v \tau \eta s$ in $\xi a v \tau \eta s$ wpas and of $i\nu\alpha\tau i$ in $i\nu\alpha\tau i$ $\gamma\epsilon\nu\eta\tau\alpha\iota$ is obscured. All this, however, by no means affords a universally binding rule, not even the absence of the first indication of blending; for in that case one would have to write e.g. ős ris in Attic. So also in the N.T. rovréori 'that is' is not proved to be erroneous by the occurrence of a single instance of τοῦτο δέ ἐστι (R. 1. 12), but it certainly does prove that it is not the necessary form. In most cases it looks strange for prepositions before adverbs to appear as separate words, because the independent notion of the preposition is lost: therefore we have έπάνω, υποκάτω, έπαύριον 'to-morrow,' ἀπέναντι, καθάπαξ, υπερλίαν, $u_{\pi\epsilon\rho}(\epsilon\kappa)_{\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\sigma\sigma\omega s^{1}}; still a'' a' ρτι 'from henceforth' appears to be'$ correct, also $\dot{\epsilon}\phi'$ $\ddot{a}\pi a\xi$ 'once for all,' 'at once,' cf. $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\dot{\imath}$ $\tau\rho\dot{\imath}s$. On $\kappa a\theta'$ $\epsilon\dot{\imath}s$, $\kappa a\tau\dot{\imath}$ $\epsilon\dot{\imath}s$ see § 51, 5; $\dot{\imath}\pi\epsilon\rho\epsilon\gamma\omega$ (Lachm. 2 C. 11. 23) is clearly an impossibility, as the sense is, I (subject) am so more than they (predic.).

2. The system of symbols for reading purposes (accents, breathings, etc.), developed by the Alexandrian grammarians, was in the first instance only employed for the text of poetry written in dialect, and was not carried out in ordinary prose till the times of minuscule writing.² With regard to accents, we have to apply the traditional rules of the old grammarians to the N.T. as to other literature, except in so far as an accentuation is expressly stated to be Attic as opposed to the Hellenistic method, or where we notice in the later form of the language a prosody different from that of the earlier language, which necessitates a different accent. Peculiar to Attic is the accentuation $\delta i \epsilon \tau \eta s$ etc., in N.T. accordingly $\delta i \epsilon \tau \eta s$; also μώρος for μωρός, ἄχρειος for ἀχρείος (whereas ἐρήμος, ἐτοίμος, όμοῖος were the ancient forms, and foreign to the $κοινή^3$), iμ aντos. for $i\mu\dot{a}\nu\tau\sigma\sigma$ with a different prosody, $\chi_i\lambda_ia\delta\hat{\omega}\nu$ for $-\dot{a}\delta\omega\nu$, imperat. $i\delta\epsilon$ $\lambda a\beta\epsilon$ for $i\delta\epsilon$ $\lambda a\beta\epsilon$. On the other hand we are informed by Herodian that $i\chi\theta\hat{\nu}s$ $-\hat{\nu}\nu$, $d\sigma\phi\hat{\nu}s$ $-\hat{\nu}\nu$ were the ordinary, not a peculiarly Attic accentuation. One characteristic of the later language is the shortening of the stem-vowel in words in $-\mu\alpha$, as $\theta \epsilon \mu a$, $\pi \delta \mu a$ (§ 27, 2), therefore $\kappa \lambda i \mu a$, $\kappa \rho i \mu a$ also are paroxytone,

¹ Also $i\pi\epsilon\rho\epsilon\kappa\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\sigma\sigma\sigma$ E. 3. 20, 1 Th. 3. 10 (5. 13, v.l. - $\sigma\omega$ s) always presents a single idea, and is completely held together by $i\pi\epsilon\rho$. Cp. § 28, 2.

² It is true that Euthalius already used those symbols in his edition of the N.T. writings (W.-Schm. 6, 1, note 1), and they are also found in individual uncials dating from the 7th century (Gregory Tisch. iii. 99 f.); in B they originate from a corrector of the 10th or 11th century.

³ According to Herodian's words ($\pi\epsilon\rho i$ μονήρους λέξεως, 938 L.) one would have concluded that έρημος, έτοιμος were peculiar to late Attic; however, modern Greek also has έρημος (romance lang. ermo etc., Dietz, Etymol. Wörterb. d. rom. Spr. I. sub verb.) έτοιμος, όμοιος, but άχρείος.

not κλίμα, κρίμα; but χρίσμα is not analogous to these (cp. χρίστός), and is even written $\chi \rho \epsilon \iota \sigma \mu a$ in B¹ (1 Jo. 2. 20, 27). Also $\pi \nu i \gamma \sigma s$ for $\pi \nu i \gamma os$, $\delta i \gamma os$ for $\delta i \gamma os$ are attested as vulgar forms (Lobeck, Phryn. 107), but there is no reason to infer from these that $\psi i \chi_{00}$ s is the N.T. form of $\psi \hat{v} \chi os$. Herodian informs us that the shortening of ι and v before ξ was the general rule, hence we get $\Phi \hat{\eta} \lambda \iota \xi$, $\kappa \hat{\eta} \rho v \xi$, κηρύξαι; but we have no ground whatever for extending this rule to ι and v before ψ , and B has $\theta \lambda \epsilon \iota \psi \iota s$, hence accent $\theta \lambda \iota \psi \iota s$; similarly ρίψαν (ρειψαν B) from $\dot{\rho}i\pi\tau\omega$, whereas the prosody of $\kappa \upsilon\pi\tau\omega$ is not established, and the accent of $\kappa \hat{v} \psi \alpha i$ is therefore equally uncertain. Κράζω, κράζον; τρίβω,
 $\epsilon \tau \rho \bar{\iota} \psi a$ etc. (with $\epsilon \iota$ before ψ in B and the Herculanean rolls), therefore $\sigma v v \tau \epsilon \tau \rho \hat{i} \phi \theta a i$ Mc. 5. 4 ($\sigma v v \tau \epsilon \tau \rho \epsilon i \phi \theta a i$ In $\sigma \pi i \lambda os$ 'spot' the quantity of the ι is unattested, except B). indirectly by B, which throughout has $\sigma \pi i \lambda os$, $a \sigma \pi i \lambda os$, $\sigma \pi i \lambda ovv$; this proves that it is not $\sigma \pi i \lambda o s$. In $o' i \kappa \tau i \rho \mu \omega v$, $o' i \kappa \tau i \rho \mu \delta s$, in which B has ϵ_i in almost all cases (contrary to all analogy : the words occur in the old dialects), the accent does not enter into the question. Γ aζοφυλάκιον, not -είον, is the constant form in B, and is also made probable by the analogy of such words as $\tau \epsilon \lambda \omega \nu i \rho \sigma \pi \omega \lambda i \rho v$; είδώλιον (§ 27, 3) has also better attestation in the N.T. (NAB etc.) than -ciov. In Latin proper names the quantity of the vowel in This is definitely Latin is the standard for determining the accent. fixed for Mārcus, Prīscus, quārtus ; hence Μάρκοs, Κρίσπος, Kováρτos; but Σεκούνδοs or Σέκουνδοs. In spite of everything there remains considerable doubt in the accentuation, since the accents of the MSS. are not altogether decisive; everything connected with the Hebrew proper names is completely uncertain, but there is also much uncertainty in the Greek and Grecised names.

3. The same principle must be followed for determining the breathing, yet with somewhat greater deference to the MSS., not so much to the actual symbols employed by them, as to the writing with aspirate or tenuis in the case of the elision of a vowel or in the case of $\vec{o}\vec{v}\kappa$, $\vec{o}\vec{v}\chi$. It is established from other sources as well that the rough breathing in the Hellenistic language did not in all cases belong to the same words as in Attic; the MSS. of the N.T. have a place among the witnesses, although to be sure some of these, such as D of the Gospels and Acts, are generally untrustworthy in the matter of tenuis or aspirate, and they are never agreed in the doubtful cases. Smooth for rough breathing is especially strongly attested in Jo. 8. 44 οὐκ ἔστηκεν (NBIDLX al.), which might be a newly-formed perfect of eorny, and not an equivalent for eornkev 'stands,' see § 23, 6. The rough breathing is abundantly vouched for in certain words that originally began with a digamma : ¿λπ(s, έλπίζω (ἐφ' ἐλπίδι) A. 2. 26 NCD, R. 8. 20 NB¹D¹FG, 1 C. 9. 10 in the first occasion only FG, in the second only A. R. 4. 18 C1D1FG, 5. 2 D1FG, Tit. 1. 2 D1 (év FG), 3. 7 Kat FG (Kata D), A. 26. 6 no attestation. $d\phi \epsilon \lambda \pi i (\sigma \tau \tau \epsilon s DP L. 6. 35)$ ($d\phi \epsilon \lambda \pi i \kappa \omega s$

¹ B has Kreistons, also in some places the equally correct forms $\Pi \rho \epsilon l \sigma \kappa a$, $\Pi \rho \epsilon l \sigma \kappa \lambda \lambda a$.

Herm. Vis. iii. 12. 28); there is also one example of this from Attic Greek, another from Hellenistic, the Greek O.T. supplies several.¹ —i&étv: $d\phi i \delta \omega$ Ph. 2. 23 κAB^1D^1FG , $\xi\phi\iota\delta\epsilon$ A. 4. 29 ADE, $\epsilon\phi\epsilon\iota\delta\epsilon\nu$ L. 1. 25 DW° Δ (X), $o\dot{v}\chi$ iδov A. 2. 7 κDE , $o\dot{v}\chi$ iδoντes 1 P. 1. 8 B¹ which also has $o\dot{v}\chi$ $\epsilon\delta\delta\sigma\nu$ G. 1. 19; many examples of $d\phi$, $\epsilon\phi$, $\kappa a\theta$ in O.T.² The form toos often attested in inscriptions³ exists in $\kappa a\theta'$ iδiav Mt. 14. 23 D (ibid. 13 all have $\kappa a\tau'$), 17. 19 B¹D, 20. 17 B¹, 24. 3 κB^1 , Mc. 4. 34 B¹D Δ , 6. 31 B¹ (not 32); in B¹ again in 9. 28, 13. 3 (elsewhere B also $\kappa a\tau'$). 'E $\phi\iota\sigma\kappa\tau'\sigma\epsilon\epsilon$ Mt. 5. 33^k (widely extended, Phryn. p. 308 Lob., from $\epsilon\pi\iota\delta\rho\kappa$.⁴); but $\epsilon\tau\sigmas$ ($\kappa a\tau'$ $\epsilon\tau\sigmas$ L. 2. 41, Hellenistic often $\epsilon\tau\sigmas$) does not appear in the N.T. with the rough breathing. Sporadic instances like $o\dot{v}\kappa$ $\epsilon\delta\rho\sigma\nu$, $o\dot{v}\kappa$ $\epsilon\nu\epsilon\kappa\epsilon\nu$, $o\dot{v}\chi$ $\delta\dot{\mu}\epsilon\sigma\theta\epsilon$ (Gregory Tisch. iii. 90) must be regarded as clerical errors; $ov\chi$ $o\lambda\iota\gamma\sigmas$, however (where there is no former digamma in question), is not only a good variant reading in nearly all the passages in the N.T. (A. 12. 18 κ A, 14. 28 κ , 17. 4 B^{*}, 19. 23 κ AD, 19. 24 κ , 27. 20 A; elsewhere only 15. 2, 17. 12), but is found also in the LXX. and the papyri.⁵

4. A difficult, indeed insoluble, question is that concerning the use of rough or smooth breathing in Semitic words, especially proper names. The principle carried out by Westcott and Hort appears to be rational, namely, of representing \aleph and y by the smooth breathing, \neg and \neg by the rough, a practice which gives us many strange results: $(A\beta\epsilon\lambda)$ (\neg), $(A\lambda\phiaios)$ (\neg), Eia (\neg), $(A\nu\nu a)$ (\neg), and $(A\nu\nu a)$ (\neg), $(A\lambda\lambda\eta\lambdaoua)$ (\neg), $(A\lambda\lambda\eta\lambdaoua)$ (\neg), $(A\lambda\lambda\eta\lambdaoua)$ (\neg), but $(E\beta\rhoaios)$ (y). The MS evidence, on the other hand, is deserving of little confidence in itself, and these witnesses are anything but agreed among themselves ($(H\sigma aias - 'H\sigma, (A\beta\rho ai\mu - 'A\beta\rho, 'H\lambdaias - 'H\lambda, etc.).^6$ Initial \neg must, when represented by ι , receive the smooth breathing, except where Hellenisation connects the Hebrew with a Greek word with a rough breathing: `Ieporó\lambdauµa (but 'Iepoura\lambdajµ, 'Iepuxú, in accordance with the rule). Hoaias has dropped the \neg (so also Aram. $\aleph(W)$).

5. Of the remaining symbols, the familiar signs for long and short in unfamiliar words might in many cases be employed with advantage, so $\bar{\iota}$ in Semitic words as an equivalent for the $\epsilon\iota$ of the MSS: (§ 3, 4). The marks of diaeresis, which from a very early time were made use of to indicate a vowel which began a syllable, especially ι or ν , are necessary or useful in cases where the ι or ν might be combined with a preceding vowel to form a diphthong: 'Axata, 'Axaïkós, 'E $\beta\rho a$ ä $\sigma \tau i$, II $\tau o\lambda \epsilon \mu a ts$, Fáüos (the last name was still

¹Gregory, p. 91; W.-Schm. § 5, 10 a; A. Thumb, Spir. asper (Strassburg, 1889), p. 65, 71.

² Gregory, ibid., Thumb 71.

³ Thumb, ibid.

⁴ Ibid. 72.

⁵ Berl. Aeg. Urk. No. 72; W.-H. 143. Elsewhere however, as in No. 2, ούκ $\delta\lambda$, and N.T. $\epsilon\pi$ ' $\delta\lambda$ (γa D Mt. 25. 21, 23.

⁶ Cp. Gregory, 106 f. Jerome in his explanation of Biblical names avowedly brings where we have a number one head, and never writes h for any of these letters.

a trisyllable in Latin when the literature was at its prime).¹ In Semitic names, moreover, it is often a question what is a diphthong and what is not; the use of the marks of diaeresis in ancient MSS. (as in D Xοροζαϊν, Βηθσαϊδά) and the Latin translation can guide us here, thus 'Iεσσαι Jessae (-e), 'Εφραίμ Ephraem (-em, also ×L in Jo. 11. 54 -εμ),² but Kaïv, Naïv, Hσαΐας, Βηθσαϊδά(ν), although in the case of Kaiváv, in spite of the Latin ai and of Kaïvav in D, according to the primary Semitic form (TT)) ai appears to be more correct.³

On Kai(a) ϕ as Caiphas it is difficult to make any assertion;⁴ on Muür η 's see § 3, 8. The **hypodiastole** may be employed in δ , τ i for distinction, though δ τ i may likewise be written (but $\delta\sigma\tau$ is).

6. As regards punctuation, it is certain that the writers of the N.T. were acquainted with it, inasmuch as other writers of that time made use of it, not only in MSS., but frequently also in letters and documents; but whether they practised it, no one knows, and certainly not how and where they employed it, since no authentic information has come down to us on the subject. The oldest witnesses (x and B) have some punctuation as early as the first hand;⁵ in B the higher point on the line $(\sigma \tau i \gamma \mu \eta)$ is, as a rule, employed for the conclusion of an idea, the lower point $(i\pi o \sigma \tau i \gamma \mu \eta)$ viz. AYTON.) where the idea is still left in suspense. One very practical contrivance for reading purposes, which (although often imperfectly executed) meets us e.g. in D of the Gospels and Acts, and in D (Claromont.) of the letters of St. Paul, and which Eutbalius about the middle of the 5th century employed in his editions of New Testament writings, is the writing in sense-lines $(\sigma \tau i \chi o \iota)$, the line being broken off at every, even the smallest, section in the train of ideas, which required a pause in reading.⁶ Later editors are compelled to give their own punctuation, and therewith often enough their own interpretation : this they do very decidedly when they put signs of interrogation (which in the MSS. are not earlier than the 9th century) in place of full stops. Economy in the use of punctuation is not to be commended : the most correct principle appears to be to punctuate wherever a pause is necessary for reading correctly.

¹ As proved hy Fr. Allen, Harvard Studies in Class. Phil. ii. (Boston, 1891), 71 ff.

² [pp] L. 4. 27 is Naupar (-as) in \aleph ABCDKL, hence X Nepar, Latt. (some) Neman; but Neepar EFM al. and other Latt.; the remaining Latt. Naaman.

³ Kaivaµ or -vav without the marks of diaer. both B and \aleph ; B always Byθσaiδa(v), \aleph partly (in three instances) -σaïδa(v), partly -σaiδa(v) (three instances also); Hσaias B mostly (except R. 9. 22, 29, 10. 16, 20), \aleph nine times Hσaias, ten times Hσaïas; but Naïv, Kaïv \aleph B constantly.

4 For Kataφas D and most Latt. have Katφas (Katiφ., Kηφ.); Kaïáφas is also found in Josephus. The Semitic spelling is we not complete $\pi \eta \phi as$).

⁵ Gregory, 345, 348. Tischendorf, N.T. Vat. xix. ff.

⁶ See Gregory, 113 ff.

17

§ 5. ELISION, CRASIS, VARIABLE FINAL CONSONANTS.

1. It is in keeping with the tendency to a greater isolating of individual words, which we have mentioned above (§ 3, 12) as characteristic of the language of the period, that only a very moderate use is made in the N.T., according to the MS. evidence which may here be relied on, of the combination of words by means of the ousting (elision) or blending (crasis) of the concluding vowel (or diphthong) of a word. This tendency was carried so far, that even in compound words the final vowel of the first component part was not elided (τετρα-άρχηs in the N.T., in later Greek δμο-ούσιος; § 28, 8).¹ In no case does elision take place in noun or verb forms; even in the verse of Menander, 1 C. 15. 33, there is no necessity whatever to write $\chi \rho \eta \sigma \theta' \delta \mu i \lambda i a i$ for $\chi \rho \eta \sigma \tau \dot{a} \delta \mu$. for the sake of the verse, since the writing with elision or in full (plene, the regular Latin usage) was always, even in verse, quite a matter for individual opinion with the ancients. The only case where a pronoun suffers elision is τοῦτ' ἔστι or τουτέστι (§ 4, 1); so that it is particles alone which are still coupled together with comparative frequency with other words, though here also the elision might be much more abundant than it is.² 'A $\lambda\lambda\dot{\alpha}$, according to Gregory, out of 345 cases where a vowel follows, undergoes elision in 215 (in these statistics it must, however, be remembered that the standard MSS. are far from being always in agreement); before articles, pronouns, and particles it shows a greater tendency to combine than before nouns and verbs. $\Delta \dot{\epsilon}$: $\delta' \quad \ddot{a}\nu$ frequently, otherwise combination hardly ever takes place (Ph. 2. 18 de avró sBP, d' avró ACDE al.). Ovo av H. 8. 4, ούδ' ού Mt. 24. 21, H. 13. 5, ούδ' ούτως 1 C. 14. 21, ούδ' ότι R. 9. 7; in ovo iva H. 9. 25, C deviates from the rest with ovoé ; the scriptio plena is more widely attested in ovor \$\$` A. 19. 2, ovor \$\$ H. 9. 18; elsewhere the final vowel remains. T ϵ , o $v\tau\epsilon$, $\mu\eta\tau\epsilon$, $\ddot{a}\mu a$, $\ddot{a}\rho a$, $\dot{a}\rho a$ etc. are not subject to elision. In prepositions, elision very seldom takes place where a proper name follows; even on inscriptions of an earlier time there was a preference for preserving the names independent and recognisable by writing the preposition in full. On the other hand, there was a tendency to elision in the case of current phrases, and where a pronoun followed : $d\pi' d\rho_X \eta_S$, $d\pi'$ άρτι, ἀπ' αὐτοῦ, ἀπ' ἐμοῦ, ἐπ' αὐτῷ, κατ' ἐμέ, κατ' (καθ') ἰδίαν, κατ' οἶκον, μετ' ἐμοῦ, παρ' ῶν, ὑφ' ἡμῶν (ὑμῶν), ὑπ' οὐδενός (1 C. 2. 15). 'Avrí undergoes elision only in $dv\theta$ ' δv ; elision is most frequent with διά (because there were already two vowels adjacent to each other), thus δι' ὑπομονη̂s R. 8. 25, δι' ἐσόπτρου 1 C. 13. 12; but with proper names διὰ Ἰησοῦ R. 16. 27, διὰ ἸΗσαΐου Mt. 8. 17 (before 'A $\beta \rho \alpha \dot{\alpha} \mu$ H. 7. 9 $\delta i \dot{\alpha}$ and δi ' are both attested).

2. The use of **crasis** is quite limited in the N.T. In the case of the article, which affords so many instances in Attic Greek, there

¹ See Gregory, 113 ff.

² Gregory, 93 ff. Zimmer, Zeitschr. f. wiss. Th., 1881, 487 ff.; 1882, 340 ff.

3. The variable v after i and ϵ at the end of a word became more and more firmly established in Attic Greek in the course of time, as the inscriptions show, and so passed over into the Hellenistic language as the favourite termination, though modern Greek shows us that it subsequently disappeared again. In the standard MSS. of the N.T. it is but seldom wanting, whether a consonant or a vowel follow it, or the word stands at the end of a sentence; the rule that the ν should always be inserted before a vowel and always omitted before a consonant is indeed not without a certain ratio, and receives a certain amount of early support from the usage of the papyri, but as far as we know the rule was only formulated in the Byzantine era, and the instances where it is broken are quite innumerable.⁴ The ν is wanting⁵ occasionally after - ϵ (L. 1. 3 ϵ $\delta o \xi \epsilon \approx BCD$ etc., -εν AEKSA), and in $\epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu$, somewhat more often after the -σι of the plural (χαλώσι most MSS. Mc. 2. 4, έχουσι L. 16. 29, τιμώσι twice Jo. 5. 23), most frequently, comparatively speaking, after - $\sigma \iota$ dat. plur.; $\pi \epsilon \rho \nu \sigma \iota$ 2 C. 8. 10, 9. 2 (D*FG $\pi \epsilon \rho \sigma \nu$, D^b $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota \sigma \nu$ as elsewhere in MSS.),⁶ and ϵ ikoot (12 exx. in N.T.)⁷ remain free from it.

4. The σ of ourses is also established, for the most part, in the N.T. before consonants as well as before vowels; $ovi \omega$ is only strongly attested in A. 23. 11 (NAB before $\sigma\epsilon$), Ph. 3. 17 (NABD*FG

¹ In Acts 15. 27 there is for $\tau \dot{a}$ airá a v.l. in D $\tau a \upsilon \tau a$ (as $\tau o \tilde{\upsilon \tau o}$ is sometimes read for $\tau \dot{o}$ airó). 1 Th. 2. 14 A $\tau a \dot{\upsilon \tau a}$ (with coronis). Ph. 3. 1 \aleph^* FGP $\tau a \upsilon \tau a$. 1 P. 5. 9 all MSS. $\tau \dot{a}$ airá. With conjunction, $\tau \dot{a}$ $\gamma \dot{a} \rho$ airá, $\tau \dot{o}$ $\delta \dot{e}$ airó

² The statistics are given in Gregory, 96 f.; Zimmer, l.c., 1881, 482. Kal $\dot{\epsilon}d\nu$ all MSS. in Mt. 5. 47, 10. 13 etc.; $\kappa d\nu$ 'and if' 'Mc.' 16. 18, L. 13. 9 (D $\kappa al \dot{\epsilon}d\nu$), 6. 34 D, Ja. 5. 15; more often 'even if,' as Mt. 26. 35, Jo. 8. 14 (but in 16 only \aleph has $\kappa d\nu$).

³ Nor yet of $\dot{a}\delta\epsilon\lambda\phi ol$, $\dot{a}\pi\epsilon\sigma\tau a\lambda\mu\epsilon\nu ol$, which Holwerda conjectures in A. 28. 15, Jo. 1. 24, whereas his proposals in A. 22. 5 $\kappa a\nu$ (for κal)... $\dot{\epsilon}\mu a\rho\tau \dot{\nu}\rho\epsilon \iota$ (B), Mt. 12. 21 $\kappa d\nu$ (for κal , = $\kappa al \dot{\epsilon}\nu$), L. 18. 7 $\kappa a\nu \mu a\kappa\rho\sigma \partial\nu\mu\hat{y}$ (for $\kappa al \mu - \hat{\epsilon}l$) are more probable. But D* has $\kappa d\pi\epsilon\theta \dot{\nu}\mu\epsilon \iota$ in L. 15. 16.

⁴ Kühner-Blass, i. 3, i. 292.

⁵ W. H. 146 ff.; Gregory, 97 ff.

⁶ Hermas, Vis. iii. 10. 3 περσυνη &, περισυνη αs, = περυσινη, but ii. 1. 1 πέρυσι twice (once περσι &*).

⁷ Elkooi is generally without ν on Attic inscriptions of the classical period, Hedde Maassen de litt. NT paragogica (Leipsic, 1881), p. 34, also in the MSS. of authors like Strabo, Dionys. Halic., Athen. (even before a vowel), Lobeck, Pathol. ii. 156.

19

before $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\pi\alpha\tau$.), H. 12. 21 (**A before $\phi\sigma\beta\epsilon\rho\delta\nu$), Ap. 16. 18 (*AB before $\mu\epsilon\gamma\alpha$ s). "A $\chi\rho\iota$ and $\mu\epsilon\chi\rho\iota$ generally stand, as in Attic, even before a vowel without σ , according to the majority of the MSS., but $\mu\epsilon\chi\rho\iota_S$ $a^{2}\mu\alpha\tau\sigma$ s H. 12. 4 (- $\rho\iota$ D*), and more frequently $\mu\epsilon\chi\rho\iota_S$ ($a^{2}\chi\rho\iota_S$) où Mc. 13. 30 (*- $\rho\iota$, D $\epsilon\omega$ s), G. 3. 19, 4. 19, H. 3. 13 ($a^{2}\chi\rho\iota$ M), while in 1 C. 11. 26, 15. 25 etc., the witnesses are divided. "Aντικρύs Xίου A. 20. 15 'over against' (a late usage), Att. (κατ)αντικρύ ($a^{2}ν\tau\iota\kappa\rho\nu_S$ in Attic = 'downright').¹

§ 6. SPORADIC SOUND-CHANGES.

1. General sound-changes in the language of the N.T. as opposed to Attic Greek do not openly present themselves, or at least are no longer apparent, being concealed by the older orthography, which either remained unaltered or was restored by the scribes (cp. § 3, 1). Of sporadic alterations which influenced the spelling as well as the pronunciation of words, the following are noteworthy:—

 $\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{E}$ (av - ϵv). For ap we have ϵp in $\tau \epsilon \sigma \sigma \epsilon p \Delta \kappa \sigma v \tau \alpha$ (Ionic, mod. Gk., also papyri) in all cases according to the earliest evidence; also réorepa Jo. 19. 23 NALM, Ap. 4. 6, A. 4. 9 NA etc.; but τέσσαρες, -άρων, -αρσι: τέσσερας never, but in place of it -αρες = accusative (see § 8, 2), so that we must give the regular inflection τέσσαρες, -αρα etc., to the N.T. writers (=Ionic and mod. Gk. - $\epsilon \rho \epsilon s$, $\epsilon \rho a$ etc.).² Ka $\theta a \rho i \langle \epsilon \iota v \rangle$ also frequently has $\epsilon \rho$ in the MSS. (καθαρός never; cp. also μυσερός Clem. ad Cor. i. 14. 1, 30. 1 A): Mt. 8. 3 ἐκαθερίσθη B*EL al. (ibid. καθαρίσθητι, 2 καθαρίσαι all MSS.), Mc. 1. 42 ἐκαθερίσθη ÀB*CG al. (41 καθαρίσθητι, 40 καθαρίσαι, 44 καθαρισμοῦ all MSS.); elsewhere more often with - $\epsilon \rho$ -, especially in A;³ no possible paradigm results from this, - $a \rho$ must be written throughout. Cp. further Πάτερα for -apa AC A. 21. 1.—Variation between $\iota a - \iota \epsilon$ $(\upsilon a - \upsilon \epsilon)$: $\phi_{\iota} \dot{a} \lambda \eta$, $\ddot{\upsilon} a \lambda os$, as in Attic (Ionic and Hellenistic $\phi_{i\epsilon\lambda\eta}$, $\tilde{\nu}_{\epsilon\lambda\sigma}$ Phryn. Lob. 309), $\chi\lambda_{i\epsilon\rho\sigma}$ Ap. 3. 16 only in \aleph ; vice versa, $d\mu\phi_i d\xi_i$ B in L. 12. 28 for $-\xi_i \xi_i$, The vulgar term $\pi \iota \dot{a} \zeta \omega$ 'seize' (§ 24, $\lambda \eta \sigma \tau \sigma$ - $-\epsilon v v v \sigma v$ see § 17. πιαστής Papyr. Berl. Aeg. Mus. 325, 2), is derived from the Doric $\pi \iota \dot{a} (\omega = \pi \iota \dot{\epsilon} \omega \dot{\omega} \dot{\omega})$ press,' but has become differentiated from it $(\pi \epsilon \pi \iota \epsilon - \tau \dot{\epsilon})$ $\sigma\mu\epsilon\nu$ or solution of the second down' L. 6. 38).—a and $\epsilon\nu$ at the close of a word: ένεκεν (είν.) is Ionic and Hellenistic; the Attic ενεκα (§ 40, 6) cannot be tolerated except in A. 26. 21, where all the witnesses have it (speech of Paul before Agrippa, cp. § 1, 4; on the other hand in 19. 32 - $\kappa \alpha$ is only in (AB).⁴ The Ionic and Hellenistic $\epsilon \delta \tau \epsilon \nu$ for $\epsilon i \tau a$ is only found in Mc. 4. 28 ×B*L; $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i \tau \epsilon \nu$ nowhere (according to Phrynichus 124, Lob., both words are $\epsilon \sigma \chi \dot{a} \tau \omega s \beta \dot{a} \rho \beta a \rho a$). For άγγαρεύω (a word borrowed from Persian: so spelt in mod. Gk.).

¹ Apoc. Petr. 21, 26 (κατ)αντικρύς έκείνου, αὐτῶν, 29 καταντικρύ τούτων.

² Gregory, 80. Buresch, Rh. Mus. xlvi. 217 f.

³Gregory, 82. Buresch, 219.

⁴ Εἴνεκα Hermas, Vis. iii. 1. 9 N, but 2. 1 εἴνεκεν N, ἐνεκα αδ, 5. 2 ἐνεκεν N, ἐνεκα αδ. έγγαρ. Mt. 5. 41 ×, Mc. 15. 21 × *B*. For Δαλματίαν 2 Tim. 4. 10, A Δερμ., C Δελμ.; in Latin also we have *Delm.* side by side with $Dalm.^1$ ay for εγ: έραυνῶν for ἐρευνῶν Jo. 5. 39 ×B*, 7. 52 ×B*T etc. (×B* in general, AC occasionally), an Alexandrianism accord ing to Buresch, Rh. Mus. xlvi. 213 (LXX. ×A generally, not BC).²

2. A – O, E – O. Πατρολώας, μητρολώας (§ 3, 3) were written instead of -aloías, from $d \lambda o(\iota) \hat{a} \nu$ 1 Tim. 1. 9 according to *ADFGL, on the analogy of $\pi a \tau \rho o \kappa \tau \delta \nu o s$ etc., when the formation of the words had been forgotten. Inversely, $\beta a \tau \tau a \lambda o \gamma \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu$ Mt. 6. 7 NB was written for $\beta a \tau \tau o \lambda$, cp. $\beta a \tau \tau a \rho i \zeta \omega$ (elsewhere in late writers only the form with o is found); μεσανύκτιον Mc. 13. 35 only B*, L. 11. 5 only D*, in A. 16. 25 and 20. 7 all MSS. μεσου-; cp. μεσαστύλιου Lob. Phryn. 195. Κολοσσαί C. 1. 2 is read by nearly all MSS., but the title is $\pi \rho \partial s$ Kolaggaeis in AB*K(\aleph). Of course the text and the title, which certainly did not originate with the author, should be brought into agreement; in favour of o we have the coins and nearly all the evidence of profane writers (-a- is a v.l. in Xenophon, Anab. i. 2. 6).—E – O: $\dot{\epsilon}_{\zeta}$ $\delta\lambda\sigma\theta\rho\epsilon\dot{\nu}\epsilon\nu$ A. 3. 23 $B^{3}EP$ al. (-ε- AB*CD), δλοθρεύειν H. 11. 28 (-ε- only ADE), δλοθρευτής 1 C. 10. 10 (-c- D*[FG]). Thus the evidence is overwhelming for the second o, which has arisen from assimilation with the first o (as in $\partial\beta_0\lambda\delta_0$ for $\partial\beta_\epsilon\lambda\delta_0$, this is also the popular spelling (mod. Gk. ξολοθρεύω); side by side with it $\delta \lambda \epsilon \theta \rho \sigma s$ remains constant in N.T. Buresch³ is in favour of ϵ in the N.T. and the LXX.; in the latter, where the word is extraordinarily frequent, we should write with ϵ according to NA*B*(B° -0-).-In 'Aπελλη̂s A. 18. 24, 19. IN* for 'Aπολλώς ('Aπολλώνιος D) it must be remembered that the names are originally identical: 'Aπέλλων being Doric for 'Aπόλλων. It appears in fact that in the Acts we should read $A\pi\epsilon\lambda\lambda\hat{\eta}s$ (in the a text), whereas $A\pi o\lambda\lambda\hat{\omega}s$ is an interpolation from 1 C. 1. 12 etc.; the scholia also (Cramer, Caten., p. 309) seem to assume a difference with regard to the name between Acts and 1 Corinthians.

3. E-I, I-Y. The Latin *i* in the majority of cases where the vowel was no pure *i*, but inclining to *i*, was represented by the older Greek writers not by *i* but by ϵ : Té $\beta\epsilon\rho_i$ s,⁴ T $\epsilon\beta\epsilon\rho_i$ os, $\Delta o\mu\epsilon\tau_i$ os, Ka $\pi\epsilon\tau\omega\lambda_i o\nu$ and others (but Tíros always with *i*), see Dittenberger, Herm. vi. 130 ff. In the N.T. T $\iota\beta\epsilon\rho_i$ ov L. 3. *i* is the traditional spelling, but $\lambda\epsilon\nu\tau_i o\nu$ linteum Jo. 13. 4 f.,⁵ $\lambda\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\omega\nu$ legio the majority of uncials in Mt. 26. 53 (- ι - \aleph^*B^*DL), Mc. 5. 9 (- ι - $\aleph^*B^*CDL\Delta$), 15 (- ι - $\aleph^*BL\Delta$, hiat D), L. 8. 30 (- ι - $\aleph^*B^*D^*L$). In the N.T. the best authority thus supports - $\iota\omega\nu$; both forms occur in inscriptions.⁶

¹ De Vit. Onomasticon tot. lat. s.v.

² Gregory, 81. W. Schmid, Gtg. Gel. Anz., 1895, 40.

³ Op. cit. 216 f., cp. also H. Anz. Subsidia ad cognosc. Graecorum serm. vulg. e Pentat. vers. repetita (Diss. phil. Hal. xii.), p. 363. 'Oho $\theta \rho \epsilon i o \nu \tau a \iota$ stands side by side with $\delta h \epsilon \theta \rho o s$ also in Clem. Hom. xi. 9.

⁴ Hermas, however, has Tlβεριν Vis. i. l. 2.

⁵ Ditt. 144 (Hesych.; λεντιάριος, inscr.).

⁶ Ibid. 142 (λεγιών also in Plut. Rom. 13, Otho 12).

The opposite change is seen in $\Pi \sigma \iota \delta \lambda \iota$ Puteoli (A. 28. 13), the ordinary Greek spelling ¹ (similar is the termination of $\lambda \epsilon \prime \tau \iota \sigma \iota$; the form $\lambda \epsilon \prime \tau \epsilon \sigma \iota$ would have looked unnatural to a Greek). In the Greek word $\delta \lambda \epsilon \epsilon \prime s$ it appears that if the termination contains $\bar{\iota}$ (- $\iota \epsilon \iota$, - $\epsilon \iota s$), the preceding ι becomes ϵ from dissimilation: $\delta \lambda \epsilon \epsilon \iota s$ Mt. 4. 18 f. *B*C, Mc. 1. 16 AB*L^{corr.}, 17 ×AB*CL Δ , L. 5. 2 *ACLQ.—I – Y: $M \sigma \iota \iota \lambda \prime \eta \tau \eta$ is the older spelling, $M \iota \tau \iota \lambda$. A. 20. 14 that of the later writers; for $T \rho \omega \gamma \iota \lambda \iota \sigma$ or - $\iota \alpha$ (Strab., Stephan. Byzant., Plin.) the MSS. in A. 20. 15 have $-\upsilon \lambda \iota \alpha$, $-\upsilon \lambda (\lambda) \iota \circ \nu$ (- $\upsilon \lambda \iota \circ \nu$, -os MSS. of Ptolem. v. 2. 8).

4. Interchange of short and long vowel (or diphthong).—A – Ω . άνάγαιον, άνώγαιον (cp. on $a_i - \epsilon$, § 3, 7): the spelling with a has overwhelming authority in Mc. 14. 15, L. 22. 12 (from $d\nu d - \gamma \hat{\eta}$; άνώγαιον with v.l. άνόκαιον in Xenoph. Anab. v. 4. 29).—EI before a vowel easily loses its from early times, especially in derivatives (Αρειος πάγος, but 'Αρεοπαγίτης as in N.T.); hence may be explained $\eta_{\chi\rho\epsilon\omega}\theta\eta\sigma_{a\nu}$ R. 3. 12 O.T. (NAB*D*G, in LXX. NA²), whereas axpeios does not vary. But there are instances in the simple word as well: $\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon os$ often in Attic, $\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \iota os$ N.T.; $\pi \lambda \epsilon o \nu$ also in N.T. occasionally, L. 3. 13 (- $\epsilon i \circ \nu$ C), A. 15. 28 (D - $\epsilon i \circ \nu$), elsewhere $\pi \lambda \epsilon i \circ \nu$, and always $\pi\lambda\epsilon i\omega\nu$, $\pi\lambda\epsilon i\nu\nu$ s etc. (Attic also has $\pi\lambda\epsilon i\nu\nu$ s); in the derivatives always $\pi \lambda \epsilon_{0} \epsilon_{\varepsilon} \epsilon_{\alpha}$, $-\epsilon_{\kappa} \tau_{\varepsilon} \epsilon_{\nu}$. N.T. always $\epsilon_{\sigma} \omega$ (Homer and tragedians have $\epsilon i \sigma \omega$ and $\epsilon \sigma \omega$; on the other hand, $\epsilon i \nu \epsilon \kappa \epsilon \nu$ with lengthened vowel (Ionic; єїνεκα is found in Attic Gk. as well, even in prose) is an alternative for Evenev in L. 4. 18, O.T. (also LXX. Is. 61. 1; supra p. 20, note 4), A. 28. 20 x*A, 2 C. 3. 10 (most MSS.).- $O - \Omega$: $\pi \rho \omega \mu \rho \sigma$ (from $\pi \rho \omega t$) and $\pi \rho \delta \mu \rho \sigma$ Ja. 5. 7 (o AB^*P) are comparable with $\pi\lambda\omega\mu\sigma$ s (Att.) and $\pi\lambda\omega\sigma\sigma$ (late writers). For $\chi \rho \epsilon - \delta \phi \epsilon \iota \lambda \epsilon \tau \eta s$ L. 7. 41, 16. 5 we should not write $\chi \rho \epsilon \omega \phi$. (which has less authority):² nor should we replace the correct $\Sigma \tau \omega \kappa \delta s$ A. 17. 18 hy Στοϊκός of AD al.-[Y-OY: κολλύριον Ap. 3. 18 BC, -ούριον AP does not belong here, on account of the long v; the latter form, which is found elsewhere, is certainly of Latin origin.] A peculiar word is $\delta \mu \epsilon i \rho \rho \mu a \iota$ or $\delta \mu$, which is equivalent to $i \mu \epsilon i \rho \rho \mu a \iota$ ($\epsilon \pi \iota \theta \upsilon \mu \hat{\omega}$) in sense, 1 Th. 2. 8 (in O.T. sporadically),³ but cannot easily be connected with $i\mu\epsilon\rho$. (from $\mu\epsilon\rho$); but $\mu\epsilon\rho\rho\mu$ appears to exist in this sense (Nicand. Theriac. 403), cp. (\dot{o}) $\delta \dot{v} \rho o \mu a i$, (\dot{o}) $\kappa \epsilon \lambda \lambda \omega$, and the like, Kühner, I³, i. 186.

5. Contraction and loss of vowel.—In contraction the Hellenistic language, as appears from its inflections, does not go quite so far as the Attic. Still $\nu\epsilon_{0\mu\eta\nui\alpha}$ for Att. $\nu\circ\nu\mu\eta\nui\alpha$ in Col. 2. 16 is only attested by BFG (LXX. occasionally): while $\dot{a}\gamma a\theta o\epsilon_{0}\gamma\epsilon\hat{i}\nu$ (1 Tim. 6. 18; $\dot{a}\gamma a\theta o\nu_{0}\gamma\hat{\omega}\nu$ A. 14. 17, v.l. $\dot{a}\gamma a\theta o\pi o\iota\hat{\omega}\nu$) arises from the endeavour to keep the two halves of the compound word recognisable, § 28, 8

¹ Ditt. 145.

² Herodian, ii. 606 L., has ω and o; the word is certainly not Attic (the oldest form is $\chi \rho \dot{\eta} \sigma \tau \eta s$, then $\chi \rho \epsilon \dot{\omega} \sigma \tau \eta s$); $\chi \rho \epsilon \omega - \phi \upsilon \lambda \dot{\alpha} \kappa \omega \upsilon$ and the like come from Attic $\chi \rho \dot{\epsilon} \omega s = \chi \rho \dot{\epsilon} o s$. See further Lobeck, Phryn. 691; W.-Schm. § 16, 5, n. 28.

³See W.-H. 152 a, W.-Schm. § 16, 6.

(always $\kappa \alpha \kappa o \hat{\nu} \rho \gamma o_s$, $i \epsilon \rho o \nu \rho \gamma \epsilon \hat{i} \nu$ etc.).¹ An entirely new kind of contraction is that of $\iota \epsilon_{\iota} = ii$ into ι : $\tau \alpha \mu \epsilon \hat{i} \circ \nu$ from $\tau \alpha \mu \iota \epsilon \hat{i} \circ \nu$, $\pi \epsilon \hat{i} \nu$ (pīn) from $\pi \iota \epsilon \hat{i} \nu$, see § 24, $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i \kappa \epsilon \iota a$ B* Acts 24. 4² (so also $\delta \gamma \epsilon \hat{i} a$ for $\delta \gamma \hat{i} \epsilon \iota a$, no instances in N.T.). In $\nu \epsilon o \sigma \sigma \sigma \hat{s}$, $\nu \epsilon o \sigma \sigma \hat{i} a$, $\nu \epsilon o \sigma \sigma \hat{i} o \nu$ contraction never took place, but the ϵ dropped out in (Ionic and) Hellenistic Gk.: so in N.T. $\nu \sigma \sigma \sigma \hat{s}$ L. 2. 24 ×BE al., $\nu \sigma \sigma \tau i \hat{a}$ with v.l. $\nu \sigma \sigma \tau i a$ 13. 34, Mt. 23. 37 (condemned by Phryn. 206, Lob.). In $\epsilon \lambda \epsilon \epsilon \iota \nu \sigma \hat{s}$ (Att.) for $\epsilon \lambda \epsilon \epsilon \iota \nu \sigma \hat{s}$ it must be remembered that the spelling $\epsilon \lambda \epsilon \epsilon \iota \nu \sigma \hat{s}$ (Ap. 3. 17 AP, 1 C. 15. 19 FG) may also represent $\epsilon \lambda \epsilon \tilde{\epsilon} \nu \sigma \hat{s}$, and moreover, contraction in the N.T. is improbable. The reflexives in Hellenistic Gk. are $\sigma \epsilon \alpha \nu \tau \sigma \hat{v}$ (but $\epsilon \mu \alpha \nu \tau \sigma \hat{v}$), § 13, 1; the conjunction 'if' is $\epsilon \delta i \nu$, § 26, 4, a form which is also very largely introduced to express the potential particle (ibid.)

6. Prothetic vowels.—The only points to note under this head are that $\theta \in \lambda \omega$ always stands for $\epsilon \theta \in \lambda \omega$; on the other hand $\kappa \in \delta \nu \sigma$ s never stands for $\epsilon \kappa \in \delta \nu \sigma$ s: similarly $\chi \theta \in \sigma$ s is not found, but only $\epsilon \chi \theta \in \sigma$ (also the prevalent Attic form) Jo. 4. 52 %AB*CD al., A. 7. 28 %B*CD, H. 13. 8 %AC*D*M. On $o\mu \in \delta \rho \mu \omega \nu$ vide supra 4.

7. Interchange of consonants.-The main point under this head is that the Hellenistic language did not adopt the Attic substitution of $\tau\tau$ for $\sigma\sigma$ or of $\rho\rho$ for $\rho\sigma$, though isolated instances of this were continually intruding into it from the literary language, especially as Atticising writers naturally imitated this peculiarity as well as others. In the N.T. for σσ we have: θάλασσα, πράσσω, ταράσσω, έκπλήσσομαι (ττ A. 13. 12 B) περισσός; also κρείσσων Pauline epp. on preponderant evidence (1 C. 7. 38, 11. 17, Ph. 1. 23, only 1 C. 7. 9 -ττ- NBDE), but κρείττων Hebrews (ττ 1. 4, 7. 7, 19, 22, 8. 6 [twice], 9. 23, 11. 16, 35, 40, 12. 24, there is diversity only in 6. 9, where $\tau\tau$ is read by D*K, and 10. 34 $\sigma\sigma \approx A$) and Petrine epp. (1 P. 3. 17; doubtful 2 P. 2. 21). To this corresponds ησσων, ήσσοῦσθαι in St. Paul (1 C. 11. 17, 2 C. 12. 13, 15), but the literary words $\eta \tau \tau \hat{a} \sigma \theta a_i$, $\eta \tau \tau \eta \mu a$ are read with $\tau \tau$ even in his letters, 2 P. 2. 19 f., R. 11. 12, 1 C. 6. 7; ελάσσων Jo. 2. 10, R. 9. 12 O.T.; έλάττων H. 7. 7, 1 Tim. 5. 9 (all MSS.; cp. § 2, 4); literary words, έλαττονείν 2 C. 8. 15 O.T.; έλαττοῦν H. 2. 7 (9) O.T., Jo. 3. 30. ($\tau\tau$ is also occasionally found in Hermas: Vis. iii. 7. 6 ἔλαττον; Sim. ix. 27. 4 έλάττους; 9. 6 έλάττωμα). Similarly σήμερον always takes the place of Att. $\tau \eta \mu \epsilon \rho o \nu$. With regard to Att. $\rho \rho$ for $\rho \sigma$ the usage is more evenly divided. "A $\rho\sigma\eta\nu$ Gospels, Ap. 12. 5 (but $a\rho(\rho)\epsilon\nu a \approx B$, clearly a correction for $a\rho\sigma\epsilon\nu$), R. 1. 27 [twice] (ρρ **[C]), G. 3. 28 (ρρ *), 1 C. 6. 9, 1 Tim. 1. 10; but along with θάρσος, θάρσει, θαρσείτε, which are constant, we find (in Paul. epp. and Hebr.), $\theta a \rho \rho \epsilon i \nu 2$ C. 5. 6, 8, 7. 16, 10. 15, H. 13. 6 (also mod. Gk. $\theta a \rho \rho \hat{\omega}$; but Apoc. Petr. 5 $\theta a \rho \sigma \eta \sigma a \nu \tau \epsilon_s \pi a \rho a \theta a \rho \sigma \upsilon \nu \epsilon_i \nu$; for

¹ Also in R. 13. 3 for $\tau \hat{\varphi}$ dya $\theta \hat{\varphi}$ $\xi \rho \gamma \psi$ there is a conjectural reading $\tau \hat{\psi}$ dya θo - $\epsilon \rho \gamma \hat{\psi}$, but the antithetical clause $d\lambda \lambda \hat{a}$ $\tau \hat{\psi}$ kak $\hat{\psi}$ will not suit this.

² Elsewhere always $\epsilon \pi \iota \epsilon \iota \kappa \eta s$, $\iota \epsilon \iota \kappa \epsilon \iota a$. In $\epsilon \sigma \delta \iota \omega$, $\epsilon \sigma \delta \iota \epsilon \iota s$ the analogy of the other parts of the verb prevented the fusion from taking place; on $\delta \phi \epsilon s$ from $\delta \phi \eta \mu \iota$ see § 23, 7.

the vulgar $\mu \alpha \kappa \rho \dot{\alpha} v$, $\mu \alpha \kappa \rho \dot{\sigma} \theta \epsilon v$ Lc. and Hebr. give $\pi \dot{\sigma} \rho \rho \omega (\theta \epsilon v)$ L. 14. 32, 17. 12, 24. 28, H. 11. 13 (Mt. 15. 8, Mc. 7. 6 O.T.; μακράν και πόρρω Barn. 20. 2).-Apart from these, there is hardly anything worthy of Fluctuation in the aspiration of consonants: $\sigma\pi - \sigma\phi$ (also note. fluctuate in Attic) in $\sigma\pi\nu\rho$ is, $\sigma\phi\nu\rho$ is Mt. 15. 37 ($\sigma\phi$ - D), 16. 10 (σφ- BD), Mc. 8. 8 (σφ- NA*D), 8. 20 (σφ- D), A. 9. 25 (σφ- NC, hiat D); σφόγγοs D Mc. 15. 36 (not Mt. 27. 48; σφ- is also Attic); $\sigma \tau - \sigma \theta$: μαστός Ap. 1. 13 BCP, -σθός Ν, μαζός A (ζ orig. = $\sigma \delta$, so still in N.T. "Αζωτος A. 8. 40 N. so L. 11. 27 μαστοί most MSS., - $\sigma\theta oi$ DFG 23. 29 (D*), but C $\mu a coi$ (usage also fluctuates in Attic writers, Kühner I³, i. 157). $\Phi \delta \beta \eta \theta \rho a$ is read L. 21. 11 BD for $\phi \delta \beta \eta \tau \rho a$; this suffix takes the form sometimes of $-\theta \rho o \nu$, sometimes of - $\tau \rho o \nu$, Kühner, ibid. ii. 271. 27. The π in 'A $\pi \phi i a$ ('A $\phi \phi i a$, see § 3, 11), Philem. 2, is aspirated, as in inscriptions of the regions (Phrygia, Caria) to which Appia belonged, where the name is frequent; but it is very doubtful whether this is the Roman name Appia. The Attic πανδοκείον, πανδοκεύς (Lob. Phryn. 307) occurs in L. 10. 34 f. in ** or **D*. In oùθείs, μηθείs the δ of oùδ(è), μηδ(è) has united, contrary to rule, with the aspirate of ϵ is to form θ (elsewhere $\theta = \tau + aspirate$; these forms occur from the latter part of the Attic period onwards, in writers (Aristot.), on inscriptions, and on papyri, and so, too, in the N.T. (and LXX.) occasionally: $\mu\eta\theta\epsilon\nu$ A. 27. 33 κAB; ούθενός L. 22. 35 ABQT al., 2 C. 11. 8 κBMP; ούθέν L. 23. 14 κBT, A. 15. 9 BHLP, 19. 27 κABHP, 26. 26 κB, 1 C. 13. 2 ABCD^oL (thus this spelling is by no means universal). Still égov $\theta \epsilon \nu \epsilon \hat{\nu} \nu$ is the prevalent form (as also in LXX.; only in Mc. 9. 12 BD have $-\delta \epsilon \nu \eta \theta \hat{\eta}$). W. Schm. § 5, 27, n. 62 (Herm. Mand. iv. 2. 1 οὐθέν ** Sim. ix. 4. 6; Clem. Cor. i. 33. 1, 45. 7 μηθαμῶς, i.e. μηδε άμως).

8. Insertion and omission of consonants.— $\Lambda a \mu \beta \dot{a} v \omega$ in Hellenistic Gk. retains in all forms and derivatives with the stem $\lambda \eta \beta$ the μ of the present tense: $i\lambda\eta\mu\phi\theta\eta\nu$, $\lambda\eta\mu\psi\iota$ s, $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\omega\pi\sigma\lambda\eta\mu\pi\tau\eta$ s etc., § 24, W.-Schm. § 5, 30. The addition of μ in $\epsilon \mu \pi i(\mu) \pi \lambda \eta \mu i$, $\epsilon \mu \pi i(\mu) \pi \rho \eta \mu i$ is as variable in Attic as in Hellenistic Gk. (W.-Schm. ibid.); N.T. έμπιπλών A. 14. 17 (with μ DEP), έμπιπρασθαι 28. 6 ** for $\pi \iota \mu \pi \rho \hat{a} \sigma \theta a \iota$ ($\pi \iota \pi \rho$. A; elsewhere uncertainty about the μ only exists in the case of these compounds with $\epsilon\mu$ -).—Insertion of cons. for euphony ($d\nu$ - δ - ρ ós, μ eo $\eta\mu$ - β - ρ ía) takes place in many Semitic names ("Eo-δ-pas, Maµ-β- $\rho\eta$), in the N.T. Σαμψών, i.e. Σαμ-π-σών, H. 11. 32 ('Ιστραήλ D L. 2. 32, etc.).—σφυδρόν for σφυρόν A. 3. 7 *AB*C* is unexplained. μογγιλάλος Mc. 7. 32 has no authority (μογιλάλος = ο μόγις λαλών, and so with one γ in *AB*DGK al.: also LXX. Is. 35. 6: B^{corr} is the first to write $\gamma\gamma$). The excision of a consonant (accompanied by lengthening of a vowel) appears in γίνομαι, γινώσκω (Ionic and Hellenistic); also noticeable is άρκος = άρκτος Ap. 13. 2 (all uncials), found also in the LXX. and elsewhere in the late language (W.-Schm. § 5, 31).

§ 7. FIRST AND SECOND DECLENSIONS.

1. Words in $-\rho\check{a}$ and those in $-v\hat{a}$, i.e. $-\hat{v}a$ (§ 3, 8) follow the pattern of those in $-\sigma\sigma a$, $-\lambda\lambda a$ etc., i.e. they take in G.D. ηs , η instead of Att. $\bar{a}s$, \bar{q} . (On the other hand those in $-\rho\bar{a}$ [$\dot{\eta}\mu\epsilon\rho\bar{a}$], and in true $-\iota a$ [$\dot{a}\lambda\dot{\eta}\theta\epsilon\iota a$, $\mu\iota\check{a}$] retain a throughout the sing.) $\Sigma\pi\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}\rho a$, $-\eta s$ (A. 10. 1 etc.), $\mu a\chi a \epsilon \rho \eta$ (A. 12. 2), $\pi\lambda\eta\mu\mu\dot{\nu}\rho\eta s$ (L. 6. 48), $\pi\rho\dot{\epsilon}\rho\eta s$ (A. 27. 30), $\Sigma\dot{a}\pi\phi\epsilon\iota\rho a$, $-\eta$ (5. 1), $\sigma\nu\epsilon\iota\delta\nu\hat{a}a$, $-\eta s$ (5. 2). Similarly the LXX. and the papyri.¹ Exception : $\sigma\tau\epsilon\hat{\iota}\rho a$ (adj.), $\sigma\tau\epsilon\dot{\iota}\rho a$ L. 1. 36 all MSS.

2. The inflection \bar{a} , G. $\bar{a}s$, etc. in proper names is not confined to words where a definite sound (ϵ , ι , ρ) precedes, any more than it is in Attic. Máp θa , -as Jo. 11. 1; Aúðda, -as (?) A. 9. 38 (cp. § 10, 5). To this corresponds the inflection of masc. names, N. $\bar{a}s$, G. \bar{a} (as in Doric etc.), D. a, A. $\bar{a}v$, V. \bar{a} : Ioúdas, -a (Mc. 6. 3); 'Aγρ $i\pi\pi as$, - \bar{a} (A. 25. 23). Cp. § 10, 1. (On the other hand, -ias, -iov: so Zaxapías, -ov L. 1. 40, 3. 2, beside "Avva and Kaïá ϕa ; 'H λiov , 1. 17 [-a NB], 4. 25, like Att. Ka $\lambda\lambda ias$, -ov.)

3. **Peculiarities**.— $\Theta\epsilon \dot{\alpha}$ A. 19. 27 occurs in the formula $\dot{\eta} \mu\epsilon\gamma\dot{\alpha}\lambda\eta$ $\theta\epsilon\dot{\alpha}$ "Ap $\tau\epsilon\mu\iotas$ (as in inscriptions); but ibid. 37 $\dot{\eta}$ $\theta\epsilon\dot{\sigma}s$, which is the usual Att. form.— $\Theta\epsilon\dot{\sigma}s$, voc. $\theta\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}$, Mt. 27. 46 is unclassical, occasionally in LXX.; cp. Synt. § 33, 4.

4. Contracted words in Decl. I. and II.—Boppâs, G. â, L. 13. 29, Ap. 21. 13 (Att. and later writers have $\beta opéas$ and $\beta oppâs$). The use of contracted words of Decl. II. is very limited: $\nu o\hat{v}s$ and $\pi\lambda o\hat{v}s$ are transferred to Decl. III. (§ 9, 3); $\chi\epsilon \mu a\dot{\rho}\rho ov$ Jo. 18. 1 is no doubt from $-\rho\rho os$; $\dot{\sigma}\sigma\tau\hat{v}\nu$ Jo. 19. 36 O.T., but uncontracted $\dot{\sigma}\sigma\tau a$ L. 24. 39 (D $\dot{\sigma}\tau\hat{a}$); $-\dot{\epsilon}\omega\nu$ Mt. 23. 27, Eph. 5. 30 T.R., H. 11. 22,² like $\chi\rho\nu\sigma\dot{\epsilon}\omega\nu$ Ap. 2. 1 AC, $-\dot{\epsilon}ovs$ 4. 4 ×, $-\dot{\epsilon}as$ 5. 8 × (cp. Clem. Hom. x. 8 $\chi\rho\nu\sigma\dot{\epsilon}ovs$, $\dot{a}\rho\gamma\nu\rho\dot{\epsilon}ovs$, $\chi\rho\dot{\nu}\sigma\epsilon a$, $\dot{a}\rho\gamma\dot{\nu}\rho\epsilon a$, $\chi\dot{a}\lambda\kappa\epsilon a$; xvii. 3 $\chi\dot{a}\lambda\kappa\epsilon a$, $\chi\rho\dot{\nu}\sigma\dot{\epsilon}a$); but this uncontracted form is in no passage read by all MSS., and alternates with much more numerous examples of contraction in this adj. (and in the adjectives $\dot{a}\pi\lambda o\hat{v}s$, $\delta\iota\pi\lambda o\hat{v}s$) in Ap. and elsewhere. Cp. W. Schmidt de Joseph. eloc. 491 f. $X\rho\nu\sigma\hat{a}\nu$ Ap. 1. 13 **AC is a gross blunder, wrongly formed on the model of $\chi\rho\nu\sigma\hat{a}s$ 1. 12 (?).

5. The so-called Attic second declension is wanting, with the exception of the formula $i\lambda\epsilon\omega s \sigma oi$ (v.l. $i\lambda\epsilon os$) Mt. 16. 22; cp. $i\lambda\epsilon\omega s$ v.l. - ϵos H. 8. 12 (Hermas, Sim. ix. 23. 4; $i\lambda\epsilon\omega v$ [- $\epsilon\omega s$ A] Clem. Cor. i. 2. 3). 'Av $\omega\gamma\epsilon\omega v$ Mc. 14. 15 (- $\dot{\alpha}\gamma aiov$, - $\dot{\omega}\gamma aiov$ are the best attested readings), L. 22. 12 (- $\dot{\alpha}\gamma aiov$, - $\dot{\omega}\gamma aiov$, - $\omega\gamma\epsilon ov$) is an incorrect form; $\dot{\eta}$ $\ddot{\epsilon}\omega s$ is non-existent, $a\dot{v}\gamma\dot{\eta}$ taking its place; $\lambda a\delta s$, $va\delta s$ stand for $\lambda\epsilon\omega s$, $v\epsilon\omega s$; $\dot{\eta}$ $\ddot{\alpha}\lambda\omega v$, - ωvos for $\dot{\eta}$ $\ddot{\alpha}\lambda\omega s$. 'H K $\hat{\omega}$ s A. 21. 1, acc. K $\hat{\omega}$ for K $\hat{\omega}v$ (like late Attic), is declined in this case after the manner of $ai\delta\omega s$ Decl. III.

¹ E.g. ἀρούρης Berlin Pap. 328, ii. 32; 349, 8. 'Ιδυίης 327, 15. Είδιείης (§ 3, 8) 405, 24.

² ³Οστοῦν 'Αττικοί, ἀστέον 'Έλληνες says Moeris; but many examples of the uncontracted form survive in Attic as well. Cp. W.-Schmidt, op. cit. 491.

6. Gender in Decl. II.—O and $\dot{\eta} \dot{a}\lambda \dot{a}\beta a\sigma\tau\rho os$ are recorded in Mc. 14. 3 (Att. $\dot{o} \dot{a}\lambda \dot{a}\beta a\sigma\tau os$ Aristoph.). O $\ddot{a}\psi\iota\nu\theta os$ for $\dot{\eta}$ Ap. 8. 11 (?) (\aleph omits \dot{o}). O $\beta \dot{a}\tau os$ in Mc. 12. 26 has overwhelming authority; $\dot{\eta}$ is read in L. 20. 37, A. 7. 35 (Hellenistic, according to Moeris). H $\lambda\eta\nu\delta s$ Ap. 14. 19 f. as commonly, but, according to ABCP, $\tau \dot{\eta}\nu \lambda\eta\nu\delta\nu \dots \tau \dot{d}\nu$ $\mu \dot{\epsilon}\gamma a\nu$ (cp. LXX., Gen. 30. 38). O $\lambda \dot{\ell}\theta os$ in all cases, even of the specially precious species of stones (where Attic has $\dot{\eta}$). H $\lambda\iota\mu\delta s$ (as in old dialects, LXX.), L. 15. 14, A. 11. 28 (\dot{o} L. 4. 25). H $\sigma\tau \dot{a}\mu\nu os$ H. 9. 4 (Attic: \dot{o} Doric and LXX.). O $\ddot{v}a\lambda os$ for $\dot{\eta}$ Ap. 21. 18 (cp. $\lambda \dot{\ell}\theta os$; \ddot{o} $\ddot{v}\epsilon\lambda os$ Theophrast. de lapid. 49).

§ 8. THIRD DECLENSION.

1. Accusative singular in a and v.—The late-Greek forms in av for a (inscriptions, papyri: found quite early in dialects), on the analogy of Decl. I. are frequently found in MSS., Mt. 2. 10 $d\sigma\tau\epsilon\rho av \aleph^*C$, Jo. 20. 25 $\chi\epsilon\epsilon\rho av AB$, A. 14. 12 $\Delta\epsilon av DEH$ al., $\delta\rho\sigma\epsilon vav Ap$. 12. 3 A, $\epsilon\epsilon\kappa\delta vav$ 13. 14 A, $\mu\eta vav$ 22. 2 (Tisch. on H. 6. 19); they do not deserve to be adopted. In words in - η s the accus. in - ηv is not unknown to Attic ($\tau\rho\iota\eta\rho\etav$, $\Delta\eta\mu\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon \eta v$), but occurs only in barytone words [paroxyt. or proparoxyt.]; in the N.T. the following are incredible: $d\sigma\phi a\lambda\eta v$ (faccent) H. 6. 19 ACD, $\sigma v\gamma\gamma\epsilon v\eta v$ R. 16. 11 AB*D*, $d\sigma\epsilon\beta\eta v$ R. 4. 5 ND*FG, $\delta\gamma\iota\eta v$ Jo. 5. 11 N*.—In barytones in - ιs with $\tau \delta$ in the stem, the regular Attic accus. is - ιv , and so too in the N.T. $\chi\epsilon\rho\iota v$ etc. are the usual forms : but $\chi\epsilon\rho\iota \tau a$ A. 24. 27 (- $\iota v \aleph^*$ EL), 25. 9 A, Jd. 4 AB, Hellenistic according to Moeris (papyri).¹ Cp. $\kappa\lambda\epsilon\epsilon\delta a$ in the quotation of Justin, cp. 2).

2. Accusative plural (assimilation to the nominative plural).— The old termination (ν)s in vowel stems ($\tau o \delta s \beta \delta \tau \rho \bar{\nu} s$, $\tau o \delta s \beta \delta \hat{\nu} s$) has disappeared in Hellenistic Gk., and these words are inflected with as: Mt. 14. 17 $i\chi\theta \delta s$, Jo. 2. 14 $\beta \delta s$. But $\kappa\lambda\epsilon \hat{v} - \kappa\lambda\epsilon \hat{\nu} - \tau \delta s \kappa\lambda\epsilon \hat{v}$, Ap. 1. 18 ($\kappa\lambda\epsilon \hat{v} \delta s$ B).—For -as we have -es in the MSS. (accus.= nom.: old dialects and late Gk.²) in the case of $\tau \hat{e} \sigma \tau a \rho s$ (§ 6, 1), A. 27. 29 ×, Jo. 11. 17 × Δ , Ap. (4. 4), 7. 1 A twice, P once, 9. 14 × (so still more often in LXX.). So also we have by assimilation (like ai and $\tau \delta s \pi \delta \lambda \epsilon s$, $\tau \rho \iota \hat{\eta} \rho \epsilon s$) of and $\tau o \delta s \beta a \sigma \iota \lambda \epsilon \hat{s}$ in Hellenistic Gk., and this accus. plur. is regular in N.T. for all words in - $\epsilon \hat{v} s$.

3. Relation of the nominative to the cases (inflection with or without consonant).—The inflection -as, -aos = ω s, as $\gamma\hat{\eta}\rho as$, - ω s, $\kappa\epsilon\rho as$, - ω s, has almost disappeared. $\Gamma\hat{\eta}\rho as$, dat. $\gamma\hat{\eta}\rho\epsilon\iota$ in L. 1. 36 (as in Ionic: so usually in LXX., where also the gen. $\gamma\hat{\eta}\rho\sigma os$ occurs, as in Clem. Cor. i. 63. 3; ibid. 10. 7 $\gamma\hat{\eta}\rho\epsilon\iota$, v.l. -q). Ké ρas , $\tau\epsilon\rho a\tau$ take τ (as in Attic and always in Hellenistic Gk. $\tau\epsilon\rho a\tau a$, $\tau\epsilon\rho a\tau \omega$ acc. to Moeris): $\kappa\epsilon\rho a\tau a$ Ap. 13. 1, $\tau\epsilon\rho a\tau a$ Mt. 24. 24. We have only $\kappa\rho\epsilon a$ and plur. $\kappa\rho\epsilon a$ R. 14. 21, 1 C. 8. 13 (other cases wanting).

 $^1 \, {\rm See}$ also Viereck, Sermo Graecus quo senatus populus
que R. ... usi sunt (Göttingen, 1888), p. 59.

² See especially Buresch, Rh. Mus. xlvi. 218.

There is most attestation for the consonantal inflection with ν for all cases of the comp. in $-\omega\nu$: exceptions are almost confined to the Acts ($\pi\lambda\epsilon$ éovs nom. or acc. A. 13. 31, 19. 32, 21. 10, 23. 13, 21, 24. 11, 25. 6, 14: but - $\nu\epsilon$ s, $-\nu\alpha s$ 27. 12, 20, 28. 23) and John ($\mu\epsilon$ í $\xi\omega$, \aleph - $o\nu\alpha$ 1. 51, $\epsilon\lambda$ á $\sigma\sigma\omega$ 2. 10, $\mu\epsilon$ í $\xi\omega$ ABE al. $-\omega\nu$, D - $o\nu\alpha$ 5. 36, $\pi\lambda\epsilon$ éovs 4. 41, elsewhere Mt. 26. 53 $\pi\lambda\epsilon$ íw or $-o\nu$ s).—On the other hand the δ is omitted not only in $\nu\eta\sigma\tau\epsilon$ is Mt. 15. 22, Mc. 8. 3 (Polyb. and others; like $\pi\delta\lambda\epsilon\iota$ s, wrongly written $\nu\eta\sigma\tau\iota$ s), but also in $\epsilon\rho\epsilon\iota$ s (acc.) Tit. 3. 9 \aleph^{α} AD al. ($\epsilon\rho\iota\nu$ \aleph^{*} DE al., but in the middle of words that are clearly plurals), G. 5. 20 (nom. with v.l. $\epsilon\rho\epsilon$ s sing.), 2 C. 12. 20 (ditto), cp. v.l. in 1 C. 3. 3, 1 Tim. 6. 4; side by side with $\epsilon\rho\iota$ for 1 C. 1. 11 all MSS. ($\epsilon\rho\epsilon\iota$ s acc. in Clem. Cor. i. 35. 5).—Assimilation of the nom. to the oblique cases takes place in Hellenistic Gk. in words in -is, $-i\nu\sigma$ s when $\tau\nu$ is substituted for τ s ($\dot{\rho}(\nu, \Sigma \alpha\lambda \alpha \mu \dot{\nu})$, and so in N.T., $\dot{\eta}$ $\dot{\omega}\delta\iota\nu$ 1 Th. 5. 3 ($\dot{\alpha}\kappa\tau i\nu$ Apoc. Petr. 7).

4. Open and contracted forms.—'Opéwv Ap. 6. 15 (Hermas, Sim. ix. 4. 4 etc.; Clem. Cor. i. 10, 7), and $\chi\epsilon\iota\lambda\epsilon\omega\nu$ H. 13. 15 (from LXX. Hos. 14. 3) show the widespread tendency, which is apparently not wholly foreign to Attic, to leave this case uncontracted in words in os. (But $\epsilon\tau\omega\nu$ A. 4. 22, 7. 30 etc.) On the other hand we have $\pi\eta\chi\nu$ s, $\pi\eta\chi\omega\nu$ for $\pi\eta\chi\epsilon\omega\nu$ Jo. 21. 8 (- $\epsilon\omega\nu$ A), Ap. 21. 17; ¹ $\eta\mu\mu\sigma\nu$ s (a barytone adj. in ν s: $\beta a\theta \dot{\nu}$ s etc. are never so inflected) has $\eta\mu\dot{\sigma}\sigma\nu$ s for - $\epsilon\sigma$ s Mc. 6. 23 (Apoc. Petr. 27), $\eta\mu\dot{\mu}\sigma\eta$ L. 19. 8 $\Gamma\Pi$ (D²), with the var. lect. $\eta\mu\dot{\sigma}(\epsilon)\iota a \ \approx BLQ$, $\tau\dot{a} \ \eta\mu\sigma\nu$ AR Δ (D*). 'H $\mu\dot{\sigma}\sigma\iota a$ would be a not impossible assimilation to $\dot{\eta}$ $\dot{\eta}\mu\dot{\sigma}\sigma\iota a$; $\dot{\eta}\mu\dot{\sigma}\sigma\nu$ s and $-\sigma\eta$ are attested as Hellenistic.² 'Y $\nu\eta\dot{\gamma}$ s, $\dot{\nu}\gamma\eta\dot{\eta}$ Jo. 5. 11, 15 etc. are Hellenistic (Attic has $\dot{\nu}\mu\dot{a}$ as well)

5. Genitive -cos and -cos. $\beta a\theta \epsilon \omega s$ L. 24. 1 (on preponderant evidence), and $\pi \rho a \epsilon \omega s \approx BKL 1$ P. 3. 4 are mistakes of the popular language (see Lobeck, Phr. 247) for - $\epsilon o s$ (otherwise there is no instance of the gen. of the adj. in - $\epsilon v s$).

6. Peculiarities.—'Salt' in Attic is oʻ äles, in N.T. τ ò äles, Mt. 5. 13 twice (äle [cp. τ ð γάle] × twice, D once), Mc. 9. 50 twice (äle once *, twice LΔ), L. 14. 34 (äle *D), no doubt derived from τ obs äles, and inflected like $\tau \epsilon \rho as$: äle at Col. 4. 6. This form is also characteristic of the common language, according to Herodian ii. 716, Lentz. (In Mc. 9. 49 D has äle in a clause from Levit. 2. 13 which is wanting in ×BLΔ; ibid. 50, acc. äle *A*BDLΔ, äles *^A²CN al.)—Nais only occurs in A. 27. 41 $\tau \eta \nu \nu a \hat{\nu} \nu$ (literary word = vulgar $\tau \partial \pi \lambda o \hat{\nu} \nu$..."Opvis 'a hen' nom. sing. L. 13. 34 (cp. Doric gen. $\delta \rho \nu \iota \chi os)$; for 'bird' N.T. has $\delta \rho \nu \epsilon o \nu$ Ap. 18. 2 etc. (also Barn. 10. 4, Clem. 1 Cor. 25. 2, Herm. Sim. ix. 1, 8).— $\Sigma \nu \gamma \epsilon \nu s'$, eis, dat. plur. -εῦσι (like γονείs, -εῦσι) Mc. 6. 4 (-έσιν ×^{*} [om. *]AB²CD* al.), L. 2. 44 B*LXΔΛ.⁴

¹ On the Hellenistic $\pi\eta\chi\omega\nu$, Lob. Phryn. 243 f. W. Schmidt, Jos. eloc. 498. ² Lob. 247. In dialects and in poetry a neuter plur. in - $\epsilon\iota\alpha$ of these words occurs, A. Buttmann, Stud. und Kr. 1862, 194.

³ Babrius ap. Crusius Philol. 1894, 238 (Athen. 9, 374 D, Herodian i. 44. 7 L.). ⁴ Cram. Anecd. Ox. iii. 246.

§ 9. METAPLASMUS.

1. Fluctuation between neuter and masculine in Declension II. — $\Delta\epsilon \hat{\epsilon} \pi \nu \sigma_{5}$ for $-\sigma \nu$ is only a v.l. in L. 14. 16, Ap. 19. 9 (B), 17. $\Delta\epsilon \sigma \mu \dot{\sigma} \sigma_{5}$ has plural $\delta\epsilon \sigma \mu \dot{\sigma}$ (old) L. 8. 29, A. 16. 26, 20. 23, and $\delta\epsilon \sigma \mu \dot{\sigma}$ (old) Ph. I. 13 (without distinction). Zvyós 'yoke' (in use since Polyb.) never $\xi \nu \gamma \dot{\sigma} \nu$. $\Theta\epsilon \mu \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \iota \sigma \nu$, plur. -a A. 16. 23 (Hom. LXX.; Herm. Sim. ix. 14. 6; Attic, according to Moeris), elsewhere $\dot{\sigma} \theta\epsilon \mu \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \sigma \sigma_{5}$ 1 C. 3. 11 f., 2 Tim. 2. 19, Clem. Cor. i. 33. 3 etc. (strictly sc. $\lambda \dot{\ell} \sigma \sigma_{5}$; Attic). 'O varos R. 11. 10 O.T. quot. (class. $\tau \dot{\sigma} \nu \sigma \sigma \tau \sigma_{5}$, plur. $\sigma \dot{\tau} \tau a$ A. 7. 12 HP (Att. and LXX.; $\sigma \tau \tau \dot{\sigma}$ read by NAB etc. does not suit the sense). $\Sigma \tau \dot{\epsilon} \delta \iota \sigma$ has plur. $\sigma \tau \dot{\sigma} \delta \iota a$ Jo. 6. 19 **D, and $\sigma \tau a \delta \dot{\ell} \sigma s$ AB al. with v.l. - $\dot{\iota} \omega \nu$ (both plurs. are Attic).

2. Fluctuation between Declensions I. and II.—Compound substantives with $a\rho\chi\epsilon\nu\nu$ in their second half are formed with $-a\rho\chi\sigmas$ in Attic, in (dialectic and) Hellenistic Gk. more often with $-d\rho\chi\eta s$ (Decl. I.), Kühner, i. 3, i. 502. So in N.T. $\epsilon\theta\nu\alpha\rho\chi\eta s$, $\pi\alpha\tau\rho\iota\alpha\rho\chi\eta s$, $\pi\sigma\lambda\iota\tau\alpha\rho\chi\eta s$, $\tau\epsilon\tau\rho\alpha\alpha\rho\chi\eta s$ ('A $\sigma\iota\alpha\rho\chi\omega\nu$ Acts 19. 31), also $\epsilon\kappa\alpha\tau\sigma\nu\tau\alpha\rho\chi\eta s$ centurio Mt. 8. 13 ($-\chi\omega$ $\kappa^{b}U\Delta$), and in the majority of places in the Acts ; but $\chi\iota\lambda\iota\alpha\rho\chi\sigma s$ tribunus always, $\epsilon\kappa\alpha\tau\sigma\nu\tau\alpha\rho\chi\sigma s$ A. 22. 25 and often (with much variety of reading about the vowel); $\sigma\tau\rho\alpha\tau\sigma\tau\epsilon-\delta\alpha\rho\chi\sigma s$ or $-\eta s$ 28 16, an addition of the β text (om. κAB).¹ Surferique A. 28. 8 according to Moeris is Hellenistic for $-\rho\iota\alpha$, Lob. Phryn. 518. "Hxos, δ (in L. 21. 25 $\tau\delta$, see 3), L. 4. 37, A. 2. 2, H. 12. 19, similarly stands for $\eta\chi\eta$ (Moeris).

3. Fluctuation between Declensions II. (I.) and III.—The exx. of interchange of -os masc., Decl. II., and -os neut., Decl. III., have somewhat increased in number, in comparison with those in the The Attic δ $\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda \cos$ becomes $\tau \delta$ $\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda \cos$ in LXX. and classical language. N.T. always (exc. Mt. 9. 13 ἔλεον C³EFG etc.: 12. 7 ἔλεον EG etc., 23. 23 τον ἔλεον CΛΔΠ: Η. 4. 16 ἔλεον C^bD^cEL: Tit. 3. 5 τον έλεον D^cKL), with gen. έλέους, dat. έλέει (the original forms, if we may judge from the old derivative $i\lambda\epsilon\epsilon\iota\nu\delta$ s, cp. $\phi\alpha\epsilon\iota\nu\delta$ s from $\phi\alpha\delta$ s, and the compound $\nu\eta\lambda\epsilon\eta$ s). O into a state class. and also the usual N.T. form; 70 ((nom. or acc.) 2 C. 9. 2 NB, Ph. 3. 6 N*ABD*FG, with gen. (hous A. 5. 17 only B* (Clem. Cor. i. 6. 1, 2, 9. 1 etc. τὸ; 5. 2, 4, 5 etc. δ). "Hχουs L. 21. 25 for ηχου (see 2). Ο θάμβος (ancient) for $\tau \circ$ L. 4. 36 D (θ . $\mu \epsilon \gamma a_s$), cp. A. 3. 10 $\theta a \mu \beta o v$ C. To $\pi \lambda o \hat{v} \tau o s$ (nom. or acc. sing.) 2. C. 8. 2 × BCP, E. 1. 7, 2. 7, 3. 8, 16, Ph. 4. 19, Col. 1. 27 (also $\delta \pi \lambda$, \aleph), 2. 2 (neut. \aleph^*ABC), is attested on preponderant or very good evidence; elsewhere (even E. 1. 18) ό πλ., and always gen. πλούτου. Τὸ σκότος (cp. σκοτεινός) is universally found (earlier δ and $\tau \delta$): in H. 12. 18 $\sigma \kappa \delta \tau \psi$ is a wrong reading for $\dot{\zeta}\phi\phi\omega$. Fluctuation between -os neut. and -a, - η Decl. I. is rarer : $\tau\delta$ $\delta(\psi\sigma)$ (Attic, which has also $\dot{\eta}$ $\delta(\dot{\psi}\alpha)$ 2 C. 11. 27 $\delta(\dot{\psi}\epsilon_{\epsilon})$ (δίψη B*); το νîκοs² 1 C. 15. 54 f. O.T. quot., 57, Mt. 12. 20 O.T.

¹ On the usage of Josephus cp. W. Schmidt, Jos. elocut. 485 ff. ² The usual LXX. form : Lob. Phryn. 647. quot., Herm. Mand. xii. 2. 5; $\dot{\eta} \nu i \kappa \eta \, 1$ Jo. 5. 4. Noîs and $\pi \lambda o \hat{s}$. (the latter A. 27. 9) are declined like $\beta o \hat{v} s$: gen. $\nu o \hat{s}$, dat. $\nu o \hat{t}$, as also in Herm. Sim. ix. 17. 2 (cp. § 7, 4).¹ 'H ä $\lambda \omega \nu$, $-\omega \nu o s$ Mt. 3. 12, L. 3. 17, for $\dot{\eta}$ ä $\lambda \omega s$, $-\omega$ (cp. § 7, 5). The dat. is formed from Docl. III. in words that in their other cases are neuters of Decl. II.: $\delta \dot{\alpha} \kappa \rho \nu o \nu$ (Ap. 7. 17, 21. 4) $-\delta \dot{\alpha} \kappa \rho \nu a - \delta \dot{\alpha} \kappa \rho \nu \sigma \nu L$. 7. 38, 44 (also in Attic occasionally; $\delta \dot{\alpha} \kappa \rho \nu$ is an old form occurring in poetry): $\sigma \dot{\alpha} \beta \beta \alpha \tau \nu - \sigma \dot{\alpha} \beta \beta \alpha \tau \nu - \sigma \sigma \beta \beta \alpha \sigma \nu \sigma \nu \delta M \kappa N$. 12. 1 etc. Consonantal stem of Decl. III. for -0 stem of Decl. II.: $\kappa \alpha \tau \dot{\eta} \gamma \omega \rho$ (on the model of $\dot{\rho} \dot{\eta} \tau \omega \rho$) Ap. 12. 10 only in A for $\kappa \alpha \tau \dot{\eta} \gamma \rho \rho s$ (*BCP as elsewhere in N.T.).²

§ 10. PROPER NAMES. INDECLINABLE NOUNS.

1. The Hebrew personal names of the O.T., when quoted as such, remain with few exceptions unaltered and indeclinable: 'Adau, 'Αβραάμ, 'Ιακώβ, Φαραώ, Δ αυίδ etc. The exceptions are mainly nominatives in \overline{n} , which are represented by the termination -as and declined according to Decl. I. (gen. -a and -ov, see § 7, 2): 'Ioúdas Mt. 1. 2 f.; Oὐρίas, gen. -ov ibid. 6; Ἐζεκίas, Ἡσaťas etc. (but Ἀβιά [as LXX.] ibid. 7 nom. acc., L. 1. 5 gen.). Other exceptions are: Μανασσή Mt. 1. 10 acc., Μανασσής nom., cp. inf. 3 (Μανασσή nom. N^bB); Iavvns and Iaµ $\beta p \eta s 2$ Tim. 3. 8; Acus, - $\epsilon i s$ nom. H. 7. 9 $\times^{\circ}BC^*$, the remaining MSS. - (ϵ_i) : cp. inf. 2. $\Sigma_{0\lambda_0\mu\omega\nu}$ is declined either with gen. - $\hat{\omega}vos$ (therefore nom. - $\mu \hat{\omega} v$), so Mt. 1. 6 - $\mu \hat{\omega} va$ (but ** - $\mu\omega\nu$ indecl.), 12. 42, and elsewhere: or - $\omega\nu\tau\sigma\sigma$ (like $\Xi\epsilon\nu\sigma\phi\omega\nu$, therefore nom. $-\mu\hat{\omega}\nu$): A. 3. 11 $-\mu\hat{\omega}\nu\tau\sigma$ s (DE $-\mu\hat{\omega}\nu\sigma$ s), 5. 12 ($-\mu\hat{\omega}\nu\sigma$ s BDEP); so also LXX., unless, as usually happens, the word remains indeclinable. Inoous Josua H. 4. 8. Mwion's (so, according to the best evidence, with LXX. and Josephus, instead of $M\omega\sigma$. of the ordinary MSS.), gen. always - cos as if from - cos, dat. - cî Mt. 17. 4 *BD al. (others $-\hat{\eta}$), Mc. 9. 4 AB³DE etc., ibid. 5 *ABCDE etc. (nearly all), and so elsewhere with constant variation in the MSS. between $-\epsilon i$ and $-\eta$: acc. $-\epsilon a$ only in L. 16. 29, elsewhere $-\hat{\eta}\nu$ (A. 6. 11, 7. 35, 1 C. 10. 2, H. 3. 3). The latter inflection : -η̂s, -η̂, $-\hat{\eta}$, $-\hat{\eta}\nu$ (cp. inf. 3) is that prevalent in the LXX.³

2. The same old Hebrew names, if employed as proper names of other persons of the N.T. period, are far more susceptible to Hellenisation and declension. The Hellenising is carried out: (a) by appending -os; 'Iáκωβos always, "Aγaβ-os A. 11. 28, 21. 10: (b) in words that in their Greek pronunciation would end in a vowel, by appending -s to the nom., -v to the acc.: so 'Iησοῦν, 'Iησοῦν (cp. 1), $\Lambda \epsilon v \iota s$ (also written - $\epsilon \iota s$; therefore $\overline{\iota}$) Mc. 2. 14 (acc. - ιv , indecl. **A

² So also poûs, gen. poós, in later Greek : cp. W.-Schm. § 8, 11, note 7.

² Ibid. § 8, 13: it looks as if the original nom. was taken for a gen.: the late form διάκων for διάκων is parallel.

³ In Josephus Niese and Naber write - $\epsilon \sigma$ (an impossible inflection; in the MSS. - $\epsilon \omega s$ is a strongly attested variant), - $\epsilon \hat{i}$, - $\hat{\eta}\nu$ in their text; - $\epsilon \omega s$ (with v.l. - $\epsilon \sigma s$) is found as early as Diodor. Sic. 34. 1. 3. W.-Schm. § 10, 5.

al.), L. 5. 27 (acc. -1, indecl. D), 29 (nom. -1, indecl. D); to which must be added the nom. in $-\alpha$ s, see 1; for the inflection vide inf. 3: (c) in names in -an, by the substitution of s for ν in the nom., so that the inflection follows that of 'Ioúdas: "Avvas L. 3. 4, A. 4. 6, Jo. 18. 13, 24 J. (Joseph. "Avav-os): 'lωνάθαs A. 4. 6 D,¹ a name which in Joseph. is still further Hellenised to $U\omega v \delta \theta \eta s$: so N.T. 'Ιωάνης (§ 3, 10) רוֹחָכָן or 'Ιωανάν (L. 3. 27 in the genealogy of Christ), gen. -ov,² dat. -y (-\ear L. 7. 18, 22 & AB or B*[L], Mt. 11. 4 DA, Ap. 1. 1 N*, cp. Μωυσεί), acc. -ην. Josephus also makes Kaivas out of Kaiváv and Natas out of Natav. The common name 'Iwávys is also abbreviated into 'Iwva (Syr. יַרָּכָא) LXX. 2 (4) Kings 25. 23, and so Mt. 16. 17 Σίμων Βαριων $\hat{a} = \hat{\Sigma}$. (δ υίδς) Ίωάνου Jo. 1. 42 (Ίων \hat{a} AB³ al., Syr.), 21. 15 ff. (Ίων \hat{a} AC^{corr.} al., Syr. Sin. 3, a form which also stands for the prophet Jonah L. 11. 29 etc.); 'Iwváv or $-\dot{a}\mu$ (BF, Syr.) is found in L. 3. 30 (in the genealogy of Christ). By a similar abbreviation רוסה became יוסה 'Iwons, gen. -nos (inf. 3) Me. 6. 3 BDLΔ ('Ιωσήφ κ, 'Ιωσή AC), 15. 40, 47 (with similar v.l.): cp. the var. lect. to Mt. 13. 55, 27. 56, A. 1. 23, 4. 36; in this name the evidence preponderates for the full Hebrew form without alteration, vide inf. (d) The Hellenisation is carried furthest in $\Sigma i \mu \omega v$, $-\omega v \circ s = \Sigma v \mu \epsilon \omega v$ (this form occurs for Peter in A. 15. 14 in James' speech, 2 P. 1. 1 [Σίμων B]: for others in A. 13. 1, L. 2. 25 etc.): the pure Greek name with a similar sound is substituted for the Hebrew name, after a fashion not unknown to the Jews of the present day, just as 'lá $\sigma\omega\nu$ (A. 17. 5 etc.) is substituted for Jesus, and perhaps Kudías for Xouçãs (L. 8. 3 according to the Latin cod. l). On the other hand, the following, though employed in this way, remain unaltered and indeclinable: 'I $\omega \sigma \eta \phi$ generally (vide sup.), Natavań (also the names of the angels $M\bar{\iota}\chi a\eta \lambda$ [Meix. B] and Γαβριήλ), Mavaήν A. 13. 1. Similarly the woman's name Έλισαβέτ: whereas אָרָיָם sometimes remains as Mapiáµ, esp. for the mother of Christ, and sometimes is Hellenised to Mapía (Mapiáµµŋ in Joseph.), with great diversity of reading in the MSS. (gen. Maplas Mt. I. 16, 18, 2. 11 etc.; acc. Mapián 1. 20 [-íav BL]: in chaps. 27 and 28 the form -ia for the nom. has most support in the case of the other Maries; in L Mapián 1. 27, 30, 34, 37, 39 etc., but tîs Mapías 41, ή Μαρία 2. 19 א
BD [D has also frequently elsewhere nom. -a, dat. -a i.e. -a, acc. -av]; Paul in R. 16. 9 has Mapiáµ, an unknown lady, in ABCP -(av).³ The following are declinable without further addition : "Aννα הַכָּה (nom. L. 2. 36) and Μάρθα Syr. בַרְהָא (gen. -as, see § 7, 2); the following are Hellenised by the addition of u (\check{a} ?): 'Iwav(v)a שוושר, Zovoavva שוושר (L. 8. 3, 24. 10), and there is a similar addition of η in Σαλώμη שולרם Mc. 15. 40, 16. 1.

¹ Ίωνάθας appears already on an Egyptian papyrus of the 3rd cent. B.C., Flinders Petrie Pap. ii., p. 23: ᾿Απολλώνιον...[παρεπ]ίδημον, δς και συριστι Ἰωνάθας [καλεῖται].

² Ίωάνου in LXX. 2 Chr. 28. 12.

³Cp. W.-Schm. § 10, I, note 1.

3. The declension of Hebrew masc. proper names whose stem ends in a long vowel (with the exception of those in -ias), and of the similar Greek or Graeco-Roman names which are formed by abbreviation (§ 29), follows the same pattern on the whole for all vowels, and is consequently known as the "mixed" declension. Three cases (G.D.V.) exhibit the pure stem (those ending in a, η, ω being in our spelling extended by an i mute); the nom. in all cases has s, the acc. generally ν , but this is often wanting in LXX. and N.T. with the $\eta(\iota)$ and ω stems: Mavacor $\hat{\eta}$ s, acc. $-\hat{\eta}$, vide sup. 1 (so LXX., e.g. 2 (4) Kings 20. 21, 21. 1, 2 Chron. chap. 33): Λευις, vide sup. 1, 2: 'Απολλώς, acc. 'Απολλώ Α. 19. 1 (-ων Α²L, 'Απελλην κ*, § 6, 2), cp. Kŵ acc. § 7, 5, 1 C. 4. 6 (-wr **AB), Tit. 3. 13 (-wr *DbH, -ωνα FG). Exx. (a) Βαραββάς, Βαρνάβας, 'Ιούδας, Ζηνάς (from Ζηνόδωρος), Σιλάς (=Σιλουανός). (b) (Μανασσής, vide sup.) Άπελλής R. 16. 10, acc. $-\hat{\eta}\nu$ (as in A. 19. 1 ×, vide sup.). The gen. of *Greek* names of this class, in classical Greek -oû, is unrepresented in N.T. (c) Λευις, vide sup. 2. (d) Ιησούς, -ού, -ού, -ού. (e) 'Απολλώς (from 'Aπoλλώνωs). In extra-Biblical Greek besides this declension of such names there is found a second, in which there is a similar nom. in -s, but the stem for the remaining cases is extended by the addition of a consonant (usually δ , in Egypt τ), e.g. 'A $\pi\pi\hat{\alpha}$ s, - $\hat{\alpha}\delta\sigma$ s, 'Epu $\hat{\eta}$ s, - $\hat{\eta}$ dos: the single N.T. example of this declension is 'I $\omega\sigma\eta$ s, $-\hat{\eta}\tau$ os, sup. 2.

4. Roman proper names.—There need only be noticed Agrippa 'A $\gamma\rho i\pi\pi \alpha s$, $-\alpha$: Aquila 'A $\kappa i\lambda \alpha s$: Clemens, Crescens, Pudens, gen. -entis = (K $\lambda i \mu \eta s$)- $\epsilon \nu \tau \sigma s$ Ph. 4. 3, K $\rho i \sigma \kappa \eta s$ 2 Tim. 4. 10, H $\sigma i \delta \eta s$ (- $\epsilon \nu \tau \sigma s$) 21. The *n* of the nom., which was hardly pronounced, is often absent from Latin inscriptions.

5. Names of places, mountains, rivers.—In this category it is the usual practice in by far the majority of cases for non-Greek names to remain un-Hellenised and undeclined, with the exception, of course, of prominent place-names, which were already known to the Greeks at an earlier period, such as Τύρος; Σιδών, -ῶνος; Ἄζωτος Asdod (cp. § 6, 7) A. 8. 40; $\Delta a \mu a \sigma \kappa \delta s$ etc. and (river-name) 'Ιορδάνης, -ov. The Hellenisation is well marked, a new etymology (ἰερός, Σόλυμοι) being given, in the case of Ἱεροσόλυμα, - $\omega\nu$, a form which is employed in the N.T. alongside of $i \epsilon \rho o \nu \sigma a \lambda \eta \mu$ (in the latter there is no good reason for writing the rough breathing, § 4, 4; Mc. and John (Gosp.) always have Iepoo., and so Mt. exc. in 27. 37 : 'Ispour. is always the form in Ap., Hebr., and in Paul, except in the narrative of G. 1. 17 f., 2. 1: L. gives both forms, but $I\epsilon\rho\sigma\nu\sigma$. rarely in his Gospel.¹ Other exceptions are: Bylav(a, gen. -as, acc. -av Jo. 11. 1, Mc. 11. 12, Jo. 12. 1, Mc. 11. 11 etc. (but Mt. 21. 17, Mc. 11. 1 B* εἰς Βηθανία, L. 19. 29 ** BD* εἰς Βηθφαγή και Βηθανία): Γολγοθα, Mc. 15. 22 τον Γολγοθάν τόπον (Γολγοθα ACDE al.): Γόμορρα, -ων Mt. 10. 15 (-as CDLMP), -as 2 P. 2. 6, cp. inf. 6 (ή Γομόρρα): Λύδδα, gen. Λύδδης Α. 9, 38 B³EHLP, -as *B*C, -a indecl. *A (which is harsh in the con-

¹LXX. 'Iepovo., except in 2, 3, 4 Macc. and Job. See W.-Schm. § 10, 3.

nection $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\gamma\dot{\nu}s$ over δ . $\tau\hat{y}$ 'lo $\pi\pi y$); elsewhere the acc. is Aúdda, ibid. 32, 35 (-aν CEHLP), either as neut. plur. or as indecl. (?): ¹ Σάρεπτα acc. L. 4. 26 (-ων gen. LXX. Obad. 20): τον Σαρωνα ('Aσσαρ.) 'The plain' שרון; Decl. III. or (with Aramaic -a) indecl. (?): בערון; Decl. III. or (with Aramaic -a) קדום (therefore Hellenised), -ων Mt. 10. 15, 11. 24, 17. 29, 2 P. 2. 6; -ors Mt. 11. 23 (Mc. 6. 11 Text. Rec., an insertion from Mt.), L. 10. 12 (so earlier in LXX.). On the other hand the following e.g. are unaltered and indecl. : $B\eta\theta\lambda\epsilon\epsilon\mu$, $B\eta\theta\phia\gamma\eta$, Ka $\phia\rho\nu ao i\mu$, Αἰνών Jo. 3. 23, Σαλίμ ibid., Σιών; (mountain) Σινα, (brook) Κεδρών Jo. 18. I (τοῦ χειμάρρου τοῦ K. correctly AS; other MSS. are corrupt with των Κέδρων, του Κέδρου; Josephus declines του Κεδρωνος). 'Ελαιών, Mount of Olives, as a Greek rendering cannot be indecl.; therefore, as we elsewhere have $\tau \partial$ opos $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu \hat{\epsilon} \lambda \alpha \iota \hat{\omega} \nu$, we must also read ὄρος (acc.) τὸ καλούμενον ἐλαιῶν (not Ἐλαιών) L. 19. 29, 21. 37: all MSS. give a wrong inflection in A. 1. 12 του καλουμένου 'Ελαιώνος for έλαιῶν : cp. § 33, 1.

6. On the declension of place-names.—Double declension as in class. Greek is seen in Néav $\pi \delta \lambda i \nu$ A. 16. 11; therefore also read 'Iepậ $\pi \delta \lambda i$ Col. 4. 13. Instances of metaplasmus: Decl. I. fem. sing., Decl. II. neut. plur.—Aύστρὰ, acc. -ẵν A. 14. 6, 21, 16. 1, but dat. -ois 14. 8, 16. 2: Θυάτειρα acc. Ap. 1. 11 ×, -αν ABC, gen. -ων A. 16. 14, dat. -ois Ap. 2. 18 (B -ρŋ̂, § 7, 1), 24 (×° -ρŋ̂, B -ρais), cp. Aύδδα, supra 5. Decl. III. and Decl. I. confused.—Σαλαμίνη dat. -iν A. 13. 5, but -ίνη ×AEL, cp. (W.-Schm. § 10, 5) gen. Σαλαμίνηs in Suid. 'Eπιφάνιοs (cod. A), Salamina(m) Latt. ap. Acts ibid. like Justin ii. 7. 7, Salaminae insulae xliv. 3. 2, Salaminam (cp. the new formations in romance languages, Tarragona, Cartagena, Narbonne).

7. Gender.—In place-names the fem. is so much the rule that we have not only $\dot{\eta}$ Tepovoal $\eta'\mu$ (A. 5. 28 etc.), but even $\pi\hat{a}\sigma a$ Tepovolov μa Mt. 2. 3 (on A. 16. 12 $\Phi \iota \lambda i \pi \pi \sigma v s$, $\eta \tau v s$ $\dot{\epsilon} \sigma \tau \dot{\iota} \dots \tau \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \iota s$, see § 31, 2). The masc. $\dot{\delta} \Sigma \iota \lambda \omega \dot{a} \mu$ (the spring and the pool) in L. 13. 4, Jo. 9. 7, 11 is explained by the interpretation added in Jo. 9. 7 $\dot{a}\pi\epsilon\sigma\tau a\lambda\mu \dot{\epsilon} v s$.²

8. Of indeclinable appellatives there are only a few: $(\tau \partial \nu \kappa o \rho \beta a \nu Mt. 27. 6 B^*$, correctly $\tau \partial \nu \kappa o \rho \beta a \nu a \nu;$ indecl. in another sense Mc. 7. 11, where it is introduced as a Hebr. word): $\mu \dot{a}\nu\nu a$, $\tau \dot{o}$ (Ap. 2. 17 $\tau o \hat{\nu} \mu$.): $\pi \dot{a}\sigma \chi a$, $\tau \dot{o}$ (L. 2. 41 $\tau o \hat{\nu} \pi$.): $(\sigma a \tau a \nu \text{ gen. for } -\nu \hat{a} 2 \text{ C. } 12. 7 \approx^{\circ} \text{ al.; more a proper name than an appellative): } \sigma i \kappa \epsilon \rho a a c. L. 1. 15 (indecl. in LXX.): <math>\dot{\eta} o \dot{\nu} a i$ Ap. 9. 12, 11. 14 (like $\dot{\eta} \theta \lambda \hat{\iota} \psi \iota s$ ctc.: also used as a subst. elsewhere, LXX. and 1 C. 9. 16, see W.-Gr.).

§ 11. ADJECTIVES.

1. Adjectives in -os, - η (- α), -ov and -os, -ov.—(a) Compound adj. $\dot{\eta} \ d\rho\gamma\dot{\eta} \ (d\rho\gamma\dot{o}s = d-\epsilon\rho\gamma\dot{o}s)$ 1 Tim. 5. 13, Tit. 1. 12 (Epimenides), Ja.

¹ There is a similar fluctuation in Josephus, W.-Schm. ibid.

² Josephus has $\dot{\eta} \Sigma$, sc. $\pi\eta\gamma\dot{\eta}$, B. J. v. 12. 2, vi. 8. 5, but $\mu\dot{\epsilon}\chi\rho\iota \tau \sigma\hat{\upsilon} \Sigma$. ii. 16. 2, vi. 7. 2.

2. 20 BC* (v.l. $\nu\epsilon\kappa\rho\dot{\alpha}$); Att. $\dot{\alpha}\rho\gamma\deltas \gamma\nu\nu\dot{\gamma}$ Phryn. Lob. 104 f. 'H $a\dot{\nu}\tau_{0-\mu}\dot{\alpha}\tau\eta$ Mc. 4. 28 (not unclass.). 'H $\pi\alpha\rho\alpha\theta\alpha\lambda\alpha\sigma\sigma\dot{\alpha}$ Mt. 4. 13 ($\tau\dot{\eta}\nu$ $\pi\alpha\rho\alpha\theta\alpha\lambda\dot{\alpha}\sigma\sigma\iota\nu$ D, $\pi\alpha\rho\dot{\alpha}$ $\theta\dot{\alpha}\lambda\alpha\sigma\sigma\alpha\nu$ N*), but $\dot{\eta}$ $\pi\alpha\rho\dot{\alpha}\lambda\iota\sigmas$ L. 6. 17; these compounds in - $\iota\sigmas$ admit of both forms. (b) Uncompounded adj. 'H $\sharp\rho\eta\mu\sigmas$ always (Att. - $\mu\sigmas$ and - $\mu\eta$). 'H $\ddot{\epsilon}\sigma\mu\sigmas$ Mt. 25. 10 (A - $\mu\alpha\iota$), - $\mu\eta$ 2 C. 9. 5, 1 P. 1. 5 (Att. - $\mu\sigmas$ and - $\mu\eta$). 'H $\ddot{\epsilon}\sigma\mu\sigmas$ (Att. - $\iota\alpha$) 1 Tim. 2. 9 N*AD^{corr.} al.; v.l. - $\iota\omega s$. 'H $\mu\dot{\alpha}\tau\alpha\sigma\sigmas$ and - $\iota\alpha$ (as in Att.). 'H $\ddot{\rho}\rho\sigma\sigmas$ L. 2. 13 (v.l. $\sigma\dot{\rho}\alpha\nu\sigma\hat{\nu}$), A. 26. 19 (Att. - $\iota\alpha$). In other cases the N.T. is in agreement with the ordinary grammar.

2. To $\sigma v\gamma\gamma\epsilon\nu\dot{\gamma}s$ L. 1. 36 has the fem. $\dot{\eta}$ $\sigma v\gamma\gamma\epsilon\nu\dot{\gamma}s$ for Att. $-\dot{\eta}s$ (Clem. Hom. xii. 8: Phryn. Lob. 451; cp. $\epsilon\dot{v}\gamma\epsilon\nu\dot{\delta}\omega\nu\gamma\nu\nua\iota\kappa\hat{\omega}\nu$ Clem. Rom. Epit. ii. 144), whereas strictly this fem. only belonged to words in $-\tau\eta s$, $-\tau\sigma v$, and to those in $-\epsilon\dot{v}s$ ($\beta a\sigma\iota\lambda\dot{s}$).

3. Comparison.—The absorption of the category of duality into that of plurality (cp. §§ 2, 1, and 13, 5), occasioned also the dis-appearance from the vulgar language of one of the two degrees of comparison, which in the great majority of cases (cp. inf. 5) was the superlative, the functions of which were taken over by the comparative.¹ The single instance of a superl. in $-\tau \alpha \tau \sigma \sigma$ in the N.T. is $a\kappa\rho_i\beta$ éστατος A. 26. 5 (in literary language, the speech of Paul before Agrippa, § 2, 4). The remaining superlatives are in -ιστος, and are generally employed in intensive [elative] sense, and in some cases have quite lost their force : ελάχιστοs perexiguus passim² (as a true superl., either due to the literary language or corrupt reading in 1 C. 15. 9: for which έλαχιστότερος occurs in E. 3. 8, inf. 4): ήδιστα 2 C. 12. 9, 15, A. 18. 3 D ('gladly,' 'very gladly'): кратиоте in the dedication L. 1. 1: μέγιστος permagnus 2 P. 1. 4: πλείστος Mt. 11. 20, 21. 8, cp. § 44, 4: 1 C. 14. 27 (τὸ πλείστον 'at most'): 3 ώs тахиота A. 17. 15 (literary language, a true superl.): ищиотоя passim : $\xi_{\gamma\gamma\iota\sigma\tau\alpha}$ D Mc. 6. 36 (Joseph. passim : Clem. Cor. i. 5. 1). The most frequent superlative which still remains is $(\mu\hat{\alpha}\lambda\lambda\sigma\nu-)$ $\mu a \lambda \omega \tau a$ (Acts, Pauline epp., 2 Peter : still there are no more than twelve instances in all).⁴ Cp. Synt. § 44, 3.

¹ The usage of the Ep. of Barnabas agrees with that of the N.T. On the other hand in Hermas, although his Greek is the unadulterated language of ordinary speech, superlatives in $\tau a \tau a \sigma s$ and $\iota \sigma \tau \sigma s$ are quite common with *intensive* [*elative*] sense, while he also uses the comparative for the superlative proper. This (Roman) form of the $\kappa o u \eta$ thus held the same position in this respect as the Italian of to-day, which does not distinguish between comp. and superl., but has preserved the forms in *-issimo*, etc., in intensive sense.

² Hermas, Mand. v. 1. 5 $\tau \circ \hat{v} \in \lambda a \chi l \sigma \tau o v \dot{a} \psi \iota r \theta l o v$ 'the little bit of wormwood,' in a preceding passage (ihid.) $\dot{a} \psi \iota r \theta l o v \mu \kappa \rho \partial v \lambda l a v$. A similar use occurs as early as Aeschin. iii. 104.

³ Herm. Sim. viii. 5. 6, 10. 1, ix. 7. 4 τδ πλείστον μέρος, but viii. 1. 6 τδ πλείον μ.

⁴ A popular substitute for μâλλον, μάλιστα as also for πλείων and πλείστοs is supplied by the adjective περισσόs ('superabundant,' 'ample') together with its adverb and comparative. το περισσον τούτων Mt. 5. 7 = το πλέον τ. (cp.

4. Special forms of the comparative.—For comp. of dya66s we never have $d\mu\epsilon\ell\nu\omega\nu$, $\beta\epsilon\lambda\tau\iota\sigma\nu$ as an adv. only in 2 Tim. 1. 18 (- $\ell\omega\nu$ Herm. Vis. iii. 4. 3, 7. 1); $\kappa \rho \epsilon i \sigma \sigma \omega \nu$ (- $\tau \tau \omega \nu$, § 6, 7) only in Pauline epp., Hebrews, and Pet. ('more excellent' or 'mightier,' 'of higher standing,' opp. to ἐλάττων Η. 7. 7); the vulgar ἀγαθώτεροs (Herm. Mand. viii. 9. 1) is never found in the N.T.¹ For comp. of kakós, $\chi\epsilon i\rho\omega\nu$ 'worse' is frequent; $\tau \partial$ $\eta\sigma\sigma\sigma\nu$ is opp. to $\tau \partial$ $\kappa\rho\epsilon i\sigma\sigma\sigma\nu$ 1 C. 11. 17; $\eta\sigma\sigma\sigma\nu$ adv. 'less' (of degree) 2 C. 12. 15. 'Eλάσσων deterior is the opposite to $\kappa\rho\epsilon i\sigma\sigma\omega\nu$ Jo. 2. 10, H. 7. 7, vide supra: or, as in Attic, to $\mu\epsilon i \langle \omega \nu \rangle R$. 9. 12 O.T. quot.; adv. $\epsilon \lambda a \tau \tau o \nu$ 'less' (of number) 1 Tim. 5. 9 ($\mu \iota \kappa \rho \delta \tau \epsilon \rho o s$ is 'smaller' as in Attic). Táxiov (Hellenistic, B $\tau a \chi \epsilon_{i0} \nu$) is the constant form, not $\theta \hat{a} \tau \tau_{0} \nu$ (Att.) or -σσον, unless the latter is to be read for aσσον in A. 27. 13 (a literary word, cp. in Clem. Cor. i. 65. 1 the juxtaposition of the cultured phrase $\delta\pi\omega s \ \theta \hat{a}\tau\tau\sigma\nu$ with conj., and the vulgar est $\tau \delta \ \tau \dot{a}\chi\omega\nu$ with inf.). 'EXaxior to repose the lowest of all' (see 3) is correctly formed according to the rules of the common language; $\mu \epsilon i \langle \delta \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma s \rangle$ 3 Jo. 4 shows an obscured sense of the idea of the comp. in $\mu\epsilon i \langle \omega v, \text{ but is not without analogies in the older language (e.g. <math>d\mu\epsilon v \dot{\nu}$ Διπλότερον Mt. 23. 15=duplo magis (Appian also has τερος). διπλότερα τούτων = διπλάσια τ. Proem. 10), whereas \dot{a} πλούστερος shows the Attic formation of such comparatives.

5. Adjectival comparative (and superlative) of adverbs.—The superl. $\pi \rho \tilde{\omega} \tau \sigma s$ has been retained where the comp. $\pi \rho \tilde{\omega} \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma s$ in the sense of 'the first of two' has disappeared, so Jo. 1. 15, 30 $\pi \rho \tilde{\omega} \tau \sigma s$ $\mu \sigma v$, A. 1. 1 $\tau \delta v \pi \rho \tilde{\omega} \tau \sigma v \lambda \delta \gamma \sigma v$ (but $\pi \rho \delta \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma s =$ 'former,' 'hitherto' survives in E. 4. 22 $\tau \eta v \pi \rho \sigma \tau \epsilon \rho a v dv \omega \tau \rho \sigma \phi \eta v$, cp. Herm. Mand. iv. 3. 1, 3 etc.); the corresponding adv. $\pi \rho \delta \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma v =$ 'formerly' H. 10. 32, 1 P. 1. 14 $\tau \delta \pi \rho \delta \tau$. (§ 34, 7) in Jo. 6. 62, 9. 8 (ibid. 7. 50, 51 as a wrong reading), G. 4. 13, 1 Tim. 1. 13, whereas the first of two actions is here also denoted by $\pi \rho \tilde{\omega} \tau v$ (Mt. 7. 5, 8. 21, L. 14. 28, 31 etc.), except in H. 4. 6, 7. 27 (literary style; in 2 C. 1. 15 $\pi \rho \delta \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma v$ should apparently be erased with \aleph^*). The opposite word $\delta \sigma \chi \sigma \tau \sigma$ is likewise also used in comp. sense (Mt. 27. 64); while $\delta \sigma \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma v$ is 1 Tim. 4. 1 (a wrong reading in Mt. 21. 31); the adv. $\tilde{\upsilon} \sigma \tau \rho \sigma v$

§ 44, note 3), L. 12. 4 περισσότερόν (περισσόν AD al.) $\tau i = \pi \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \tau i$; 12. 48 περισσότερον, D πλέω; cp. Mt. 11. 9 = L. 7. 26, Mc. 12. 40 = L. 20. 47, Clem. Cor. i. 61. 3. The adv. περισσῶs = μâλλον Mt. 27. 23, Mc. 10. 26, 15. 14 (-σσστέρωs ENP al.). (In conjunction μâλλον περισσότερον [-έρως D] Mc. 7. 36, -έρως μ. 2 C. 7. 13, vide inf., cp. § 44, 5 and pleonasms like εὐθέως παραχρημα.) So also the Berlin papyri, 326, ii. 9 εἰ ở ἐτι περισσὰ γράμματα καταλίπω ('further'), and mod. Greek περισσότερος, adv. -ρον 'more.' In St. Paul, however, περισστέρως appears occasionally to have a still stronger force = ὑπερβαλλώντως 2 C. 7. 15, 12. 5, G. 1. 14, cp. A. 26. 11 (περ. μâλλων 2 C. 7. 13 (?) = 'still much more,' cp. sup.), while in other passages of his writings it may be replaced by μâλλον or μάλιστα, as περισσότεροs by πλείων: Ph. 1. 14, 2 C. 1. 12, 1 C. 12. 23 f., 2 C. 10. 8 etc. So also H. 7. 15 περισσότερον (=μâλλων) ἕτι κατάδηλον, 2. 1, 13. 19 -ρως, Herm. Mand. iv. 4. 2, Sim. v. 3. 3.

¹ Kühner, i. 3, l. 565. ἀγαθώτατοs is also found in Herm. Vis. i. 2. 3 ('excellent'; as a proper superl. in Diod. Sic. xvi. 85); Herm. Sim. viii. 9 has ήδύτεροs, Kühner, ibid. 555.

common (also in superl. sense, as in Mt. 22. 27, L. 20. 32). Further exx. of comp. of adverbs: if otherways Mt. 8. 12 etc. (Herm. Sim. ix. 7. 5), is in the sense of the sens

§ 12. NUMERALS.

1. $\Delta \dot{v}_0$ has gen. $\delta \dot{v}_0$, dat. $\delta v \sigma \dot{v} \dot{v}$ (plural inflection): similarly LXX.:² $\delta v \sigma \dot{v} \dot{v}$ for $\delta v \sigma \hat{v} \dot{v}$ is condemned by Phrynichus (Lob. 210).

2. In compounds of $\delta\epsilon\kappa a$ with units, at least from thirteen upwards, $\delta\epsilon\kappa a$ occupies the first place (this practice is more frequent in the later language than in the older: in mod. Gk., except in the case of eleven and twelve, it is universal): ($\delta\epsilon\kappa a\delta\iota o$ [Polyb.] A. 19. 7 HLP, 24. 11 same evidence; $\delta\epsilon\kappa ar\epsilon\sigma\sigma a\rho\epsilon s$ Mt. 1. 17, 2 C. 12. 2, G. 2. 1: $\delta\epsilon\kappa ar\epsilon \epsilon \tau e$ Jo. 11. 18, A. 27. 28, G. 1. 18 ($\delta\epsilon\kappa a$ $\kappa a \lambda \pi \epsilon \tau \epsilon$ Herm. Vis. ii. 2. 1 %): $\delta\epsilon\kappa a \sigma \kappa \tau \epsilon \Delta s a \lambda \delta \delta \kappa^c A$ al.), 11 (δ . κ . δ AL al.). The ordinals, however, take the reverse order: $\tau \epsilon \sigma \sigma a \rho \epsilon \sigma \kappa a \delta \epsilon \kappa a \Lambda S A$. 27. 27, $\pi \epsilon \tau \tau \epsilon \kappa a \delta \delta \epsilon \kappa s$.) With larger numbers there is a similar order of words, with or (usually) without $\kappa a \ell : \epsilon \ell \kappa \sigma \tau \tau \rho \epsilon s 1$ C. 10. 8, $\tau \epsilon \sigma \tau \epsilon \rho \epsilon \kappa \sigma \tau \epsilon \delta \epsilon \delta \epsilon J$. 2. 20.

§ 13. PRONOUNS.

1. **Personal.**—The 3rd pers. is represented by $a\dot{v}\tau\sigma\hat{v}$: the same form is used for the 3rd pers. possessive. Reflexives: 1st pers. sing. $\dot{\epsilon}\mu\bar{a}\nu\tau\sigma\hat{v}$, 2nd sing. $\sigma\epsilon\bar{a}\nu\tau\sigma\hat{v}$ (not $\sigma a\nu\tau\sigma\hat{v}$), 3rd sing. $\dot{\epsilon}\bar{a}\nu\tau\sigma\hat{v}$ (not $a\dot{\nu}\tau\sigma\hat{v}$):³ plural 1st, 2nd, and 3rd pers. $\dot{\epsilon}\bar{a}\nu\tau\hat{\omega}\nu$ (so in Hellenistic Gk., not $\dot{\eta}\mu\hat{\omega}\nu$ a., $\dot{\nu}\mu\hat{\omega}\nu$ a., $\sigma\phi\hat{\omega}\nu$ a.; on $\dot{\nu}\mu\hat{\omega}\nu$ $a\dot{\nu}\tau\hat{\omega}\nu$ in 1 C. 5. 13 from Deut. 17. 7, see § 48, 10).

2. **Demonstratives.**—O \hat{v} ros, $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{v} \circ \sigma$ as usually; the intensive i($o\dot{v} \tau \circ \sigma \cdot i$) is unknown, but is employed by Luke (in the Acts) and Paul (Hebrews) in the adv. $\nu v \nu i = \nu \hat{v} \nu$. "O $\delta \epsilon$ is rare and almost confined to the phrase $\tau a \delta \epsilon \ \lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \iota$: Acts 21. 11, Ap. 2. 1, 8, 12, 18,

¹ Quite plebeian are $\xi_{\tau \iota}$ ärw, $\xi_{\tau \iota}$ κάτω for άνώτερον, κατώτερον in the apocryphal addition to Mt. 20. 28 in D.

² W.-Schm. § 9, 11.

³ Even in the inscriptions of this period the trisyllabic forms, $\dot{\epsilon}\alpha\nu\tau\sigma\hat{\nu}$ etc. supplant the dissyllabic, which in classical times were used alongside of them. In the old edd. of the N.T. the latter still appear pretty frequently, but are now rightly replaced by $\dot{\epsilon}\alpha\nu\tau\sigma\hat{\nu}$ (see Synt. § 48, 6), so even in R. 14. 14 δi $\dot{\epsilon}\alpha\nu\tau\sigma\hat{\nu}$ NAB, A. 20. 30 $\dot{\sigma}\pi l\sigma\omega$ $\dot{\epsilon}\alpha\nu\tau\hat{\alpha}\nu$ NAB. The long α results from the contraction ($\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\alpha\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\hat{\nu}\hat{\nu}$); in the Hellenistic and Roman period it has occasioned the loss of the ν in pronunciation, whence the spelling $\dot{\epsilon}\alpha\tau\sigma\hat{\nu}$ (just as the ι in $\tilde{\alpha}$, α was unpronounced). See Wackernagel in Kuhn's Zeitschr. xxxiii. (N. F. xiii.), p. 2ff.

3. 1, 7, 14; elsewhere $\tau \acute{a} \acute{\delta} \epsilon$ A. 15. 23 D; $\tau \acute{y} \acute{\delta} \epsilon$ L. 10. 39; $\tau \acute{\eta} v \acute{\epsilon} \epsilon$ Ja. 4. 13 (Clem. Cor. ii. 12. 5 $\dddot{\eta} \acute{\delta} \epsilon$ is only a conjecture). Cp. Synt. § 49, 1, and inf. 4.

3. Relatives.—"Os, $\tilde{\eta}$, δ : $\delta\sigma\tau\iota$ s, $\tilde{\eta}\tau\iota$ s, $\delta,\tau\iota$; the latter, however, only in the nom. sing. and plur., except that $\delta,\tau\iota$ also appears as acc.: in meaning it becomes confused with δ s, see Synt. § 50, 1. We have the stereotyped phrase $\delta \sigma \sigma \upsilon$ in Luke and John ($\Delta \phi' \delta \sigma \sigma \upsilon$ in D L. 13. 25); otherwise there is no instance of these old forms (so we never find $\delta \sigma \sigma a$, $\delta \tau \tau a$ for $\delta \tau \iota v a$), in the same way that the forms $\tau o \hat{v}$, $\tau o \upsilon$ (= $\tau \iota v \sigma s$, $\tau \iota v \delta$ s), $\tau \hat{\psi}$, $\tau \psi$ (= $\tau \iota \iota \iota$, $\tau \iota v \ell$) etc. from $\tau \iota s$, $\tau \iota s$ have become obsolete. "O $\sigma \pi \epsilon \rho$ is only in Mc. 15. 6 $\aleph^{\circ} B^{\circ} C$ al. $\delta v \pi \epsilon \rho$ $\vartheta \tau \sigma \delta v \tau \sigma$ § 63, 7). On the use of δs for a demonstrative pron. see Synt. § 46, 2.

4. Correlative pronouns.—Ποίος – τοιούτος (τοιόσδε only 2 P. 1. 17 τοιάσδε, cp. 2) – οίος – όποίος. Πόσος – τοσούτος – όσος. Πηλίκος (G. 6. 11, H. 7. 4) – τηλικούτος (2 C. 1. 10, H. 2. 3, Ja. 3. 4, Ap. 16. 18) – ήλίκος (Col. 2. 1, Ja. 3. 5). To these must be added ποταπός (with similar meaning to ποίος), Synt. § 50, 6. On the correlative adverbs, see § 25. Τοιούτος and τοσούτος (τηλικούτος) have neut. in -ον and -ο (both forms are also found in Att., though the first is more frequent): with var. lect. Mt. 18. 5, A. 21. 25 β text, H. 7. 22: with -ον only H. 12. 1; on the other hand τηλικούτο Herm. Vis. iv. 1. 10 (2. 3 with v.l.).

5. With pronouns and pronominal forms it has also happened that words indicating duality as distinct from plurality have become obsolete ($\pi \acute{\sigma} \tau \epsilon \rho os - \tau \acute{s}$; $\acute{\epsilon} \kappa \acute{\sigma} \tau \epsilon \rho os - \acute{\epsilon} \kappa a \sigma \tau os$), with the exception of $\acute{a}\mu\phi\acute{\sigma} \tau \epsilon \rho os$ (the N.T. form, never $\ddot{a}\mu\phi\omega$) and $\check{\epsilon} \tau \epsilon \rho os$, which, however, already becomes confused with $\ddot{a}\lambda\lambda os$. Cp. Synt. § 51, 6.

§ 14. SYSTEM OF CONJUGATION.

1. The system of the conjugation of the verb is apparently not much altered from its earlier state, since nearly all the classical forms are found in the N.T., the dual, of course, excepted. The voices remain as before : and the tenses are the same, except that in all voices only one future exists : $\xi_{\chi \omega}$, $\xi_{\xi \omega}$ (the fut $\sigma_{\chi \eta \sigma \omega}$, which is derived from the aorist and related to it in meaning, never occurs); $\mu \iota \mu \nu \eta \sigma \delta \eta \sigma \sigma \mu \iota$ (not $\mu \epsilon \mu \nu \eta \sigma \sigma \mu \iota$ perf., of which the name 'Attic future' is sufficient indication that it was absent from the Hellenistic language); $\xi \sigma \tau \eta \nu$, $\sigma \tau \eta \sigma \sigma \mu \iota$, but not $\xi \sigma \tau \eta \xi \omega^{-1}$ fut. perf.; $\phi a i \nu \sigma \mu \iota$, $\phi a \nu \eta \sigma \sigma \mu \iota$, but the form $\phi a \nu \sigma \nu \mu \iota$, which in Attic was allied to the present as distinguished from $\phi a \nu \eta \sigma$. which belonged to $\xi \phi a \omega \eta \nu$, no longer appears (1 P. 4. 18 is a quotation from LXX. Prov. 11. 31). This certainly destroys the harmonious structure of the system of the tenses, viz. continuous

¹ For κεκράξονται L. 19. 40 the better attested reading is κράξουσιν NBL (κράξονται D: κεκράξομαι passim in LXX.). But cp. the aor. ἐκέκραξα A. 24. 21, inf. § 24.

action in present, past, and future time = pres. impf. and fut. of the present ($\xi \omega$, $\tau \iota \mu \eta \sigma \sigma \mu a \iota$ pass.): completed action in past and future time = a orist and fut. of the aorist $(\sigma \chi \eta \sigma \omega, \tau \iota \mu \eta \theta \eta \sigma \sigma \mu a \iota)$: continuity of completed action in present, past, and future time = perf., plupf., and fut. of the perfect ($\epsilon \sigma \tau \eta \xi \omega$, $\beta \epsilon \beta \lambda \eta \sigma \sigma \mu a \iota$ pass.). Of the moods, moreover, the optative is clearly on its way to becoming obsolete, being only found in Luke's writings with any frequency, where its presence is due to the influence of the literary language which retained it. Of the future opt. there is no trace, and this tense is, generally speaking, almost confined to the indic., since the use of the fut. infin. is, with few exceptions, limited to the Acts (11. 28, 23. 30, 24. 15, 27. 10: cp. Synt. § 61, 3), and the fut. part. outside the writings of the same author (Gosp. 22. 49, Acts 8. 27, 20. 22, 22. 5, 24. 17) is of quite rare occurrence (Mt. 27. 41 σώσων, but σώσαι **, καὶ σώσει D Jo. 6. 64 [?], 1 C. 15. 37, H. 3. 5, 13. 17, 1 P. 3. 13, 2 P. 2. 13 with v.l.), cp. Synt. § 61, 4. Finally, the verbal adjective has practically disappeared, with the exception of forms like δυνατόs which have become stereotyped as adjectives; the only exx. are παθητός 'liable to suffering' A. 26. 23, and βλητέον L. 5. 38 (N*D βάλλουσιν): cp. Herm. Vis. iv. 2. 6 αίρετώτερον.

2. Periphrastic forms.—The perf. and pluperf. indic. are not unfrequently represented by a periphrasis (as is also the case in Att.), while for the perf. conjunctive (passive) a periphrasis is a necessity (as in Att. for the most part); the perf. imperat. is expressed periphrastically in L. 12. 35 $\epsilon\sigma\tau\omega\sigma\alpha\nu\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\epsilon\zeta\omega\sigma\mu\epsilon\nu\alpha\iota$; on the other hand we have $\pi\epsilon\phi\iota\mu\omega\sigma\sigma$ Mc. 4. 39. By means of periphrasis the place of the fut. perf. may also be supplied (L. 12. 52, Mt. 16. 19, 18. 18, H. 2. 13); periphrasis has, on the whole, a very wide range in the N.T., see Synt § 62.

§ 15. AUGMENT AND REDUPLICATION.

1. The syllabic augment is wanting as a rule in the pluperf. (as also in other Hellenistic writings, but not in Att.); exceptions are chiefly in the passive (W. Schmidt de Josephi elocut. 438): $\dot{\epsilon}\beta\dot{\epsilon}\beta\lambda\eta\tau\sigma$ L. 16. 20, $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\epsilon\gamma\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\rho\alpha\pi\tau\sigma$ A. 17. 23 ($\hat{\eta}\nu$ $\gamma\epsilon\gamma\rho\alpha\mu\mu\dot{\epsilon}\nu\sigma\nu$ D), $\sigma\nu\nu\epsilon\tau\dot{\epsilon}\theta\epsilon\nu\tau\sigma$ J. 9. 22, $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\epsilon\delta\dot{\epsilon}\dot{\epsilon}\tau\sigma$ 11. 44 ($\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\delta\dot{\epsilon}$). D*), $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\epsilon\sigma\iota\dot{\theta}\epsilon\iota$ L. 11. 22 ($\pi\dot{\epsilon}\pi\sigma\iota\theta\epsilon\nu$ D), and many others.

2. The syllabic augment, in places where in Attic it holds an exceptional position instead of (or in addition to) the temporal, has been ill maintained : $\dot{\omega}vo\hat{\upsilon}\mu a\iota$, $\dot{\omega}vo\hat{\upsilon}\mu\eta\nu$ (Att. $\dot{\epsilon}\omega\nu$.), $\dot{\omega}\theta\hat{\omega}$, $\dot{\omega}\sigma a$ ($\dot{\epsilon}\xi\dot{\epsilon}\omega\sigma\epsilon\nu$ A. 7. 45 only in N*E; $\ddot{\omega}\theta\sigma\nu\nu$ Ev. Petr. 6): in $dvoi\gamma\omega$, $\kappa a\tau a\gamma\nu\upsilon\mu\iota$ it has indeed survived, but through being misunderstood has intruded into the other moods and the fut. (see irreg. verbs, § 24); $\pi\rhooo\rho\dot{\omega}\mu\eta\nu$ (- $\omega\rho$ - B³P) A. 2. 25 O.T. quot.: $\dot{\epsilon}\omega\rho\omega\nu$ Jo. 6. 2 NT Δ al. is no doubt a wrong reading for $\dot{\epsilon}\theta\epsilon\omega\rho\sigma\nu\nu$ (cp. ibid.). On the reduplication in $\dot{\epsilon}\phi\rho\alpha\kappaa$, vide inf. 6.

3. The augment η - instead of $\dot{\epsilon}$ - (less frequent in Att. than in later writers) is always used with $\theta \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \omega$ (Att. $\dot{\epsilon} \theta \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \omega$, $\ddot{\eta} \theta \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \sigma$), never with

βούλομαι (a word adopted from the literary language : but $\eta \beta$ ούλετο Herm. Sim. v. 6. 5); in δύναμαι and μέλλω there is much variation in the MSS. between $\eta \delta vv.$, $\eta \mu$, and $\epsilon \delta vv.$, $\epsilon \mu$ - (cp. W.-Schm. § 12, 3).

4. Loss of the temporal augment.-The addition of the temporal augment was not without exceptions even in Attic Gk. in the case of an initial diphthong of which the first letter was ϵ or o. The N.T. has είξα G. 2. 5 (as in Att.), οἰκοδομώ, οἰκοδομήθη NB* Jo. 2. 20, οἰκοδόμησεν B*D A. 7. 47, ἐποικοδόμησεν 1 C. 3. 14 (ἐπωκ. B³C): on the other hand ψκοδόμησεν Mt. 21. 33 all MSS., ψκοδόμητο L. 4. 29 (οἰκοδόμηται D), cp. ἐνώκησεν 2 Tim. 1. 5 (-οί- only D*), κατώκησεν (-ισεν) Ja. 4. 5 O.T., παρώκησεν Η. 11. 9 etc. W. H. App. 161. Since the original documents of the time show several instances of unaugmented or, and Phrynichus refers to it as a custom of his time (Phryn. Rutherford, 244), it may safely be attributed to the writers; besides o (for oi) no longer bore much resemblance to oi (which in ordinary pronunciation somewhat inclined to \bar{v}). Cp. W.-Schm. § 12, 5. Ev in older Attic when augmented always became ηv , in the later Attic (which also used ηi , ϵi interchangeably) not always; ¹ in the N.T. ϵv preponderates, but ηv - also occurs not unfrequently : ηύρίσκετο H. 11. 5 acc. to NADE, προσηύξαντο A. 8. 15 (-ev- only B), 20. 36 (-ev- B*D), $\eta \vartheta \chi \delta \mu \eta \nu$ R. 9. 3 (ev. DEKL).² For unaugmented at the only ex. is 2 Tim. 1. 16 emator $\chi \vartheta \nu \theta \eta$ (- η - \aleph *K; interchange of $\alpha i = \bar{e}$ and η ?).—The augment is wanting in the case of a single short vowel in $\epsilon \lambda \eta \lambda \upsilon \theta \epsilon \iota \nu$ (as in Att.: Attic reduplic.): in $d\nu\epsilon\theta\eta$ for $-\epsilon\ell\theta\eta$ A. 16. 26, $d\phi\epsilon\theta\eta\sigma a\nu$ R. 4. 7 O.T. (ϵ arose from the moods instead of $\epsilon_i = i$: similarly LXX.): in $\delta \phi \epsilon \lambda o \nu$ as a particle introducing a wish, cp. § 63, 5; other cases appear to be clerical errors : διερμήνευ(σ)εν L. 24. 27 (-η- EHKM al.), διεγείρετο Jo. 6. 18 B al., προορώμην A. 2. 25 O.T., vide supra 2, ανορθώθη L. 13. 13 (-ω-אE al.) etc.

5. Temporal augment η or ϵ_{0} .—In general the N.T. agrees with Attic; thus it has $\epsilon \rho \gamma a'_{0} \rho \gamma a'_{$

6. Reduplication.—Initial $\dot{\rho}$ loses its peculiarity in $\dot{\rho}\epsilon\rho a \nu \tau i \sigma - \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma$ $\mu \epsilon \nu \sigma s$ H. 10. 22 **ACD*P for $\dot{\epsilon}\rho\rho$.: $\pi \epsilon \rho i \rho \epsilon \rho a \mu \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma$ Ap. 19. 13 only ** ($\pi \epsilon \rho i \rho \epsilon \rho a \nu \tau i \sigma \mu$. ***), cp. $\dot{\rho}\epsilon \rho i \mu \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma i$ Mt. 9. 36 D*. (Similar forms in Ionian and late writers, W.-Schm. § 12, 8: Kühner, I.³ ii. 23). On ρ for $\rho\rho$, vide supra § 3, 10. $\mu \nu \eta \sigma \tau \epsilon \delta \omega$, $\mu \epsilon \mu \nu \eta \sigma \tau \epsilon \delta \mu \epsilon \nu \eta$ (on the model of $\mu \epsilon \mu \nu \eta \mu a \iota$) L. 1. 27, 2. 5 only as a v.l. (Clem. Hom. xiii. 16:

² W.-Schm. § 12, 5 b.

¹ In the later Atticism this is purely phonetic, as is shown by the fact that this ϵv was also introduced as the augment for $av : \epsilon \delta \xi \eta \sigma a$ from $a \delta \xi a \tau \omega$. The same ϵv appears in inscriptions of the Roman period; but in the N.T. the only example is D $\epsilon \delta \xi a \tau \epsilon$ A. 12. 24.

Kühner, ibid. 24). $\epsilon_{i}\rho\gamma\alpha\sigma\mu\alpha\iota$ (from $F\epsilon F\epsilon\rho\gamma$.) as in Att. (augm. η , see 5) Jo. 3. 21, 1 P. 4. 3. Similarly we have $\epsilon_{i}\rho\alpha\kappa\alpha$ beside $\epsilon_{i}\rho\omega\rho\omega\iota$: in this case, however, the spelling $\epsilon_{i}\rho\alpha\kappa\alpha$ is very widely spread both in Att. and in the N.T. (1 C. 9. 1 -0- $\aleph B^*D^\circ EFGP$, - ω - AB³ al.: Jo. 1. 18 -0- B*EFGHKX, - ω - $\aleph AB^\circ CLM$ al. etc.). $\epsilon_{i}\lambda\kappa\omega\mu\epsilon\nu\sigma\sigma$ is read by nearly all MSS. in L. 16. 20 (as if from $\epsilon_{i}\lambda\kappa\omega$).

7. Augment and reduplication in compound verbs and verbs derived from compounds.—Where the simple verb (with initial vowel) has been forgotten, the augment precedes the prepos. (so usu. in Att., but always in N.T.): $\kappa \alpha \theta \epsilon i \delta \omega$, $\epsilon \kappa a \theta \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon k a \theta \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon k a \theta \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon k a \theta \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon k a \theta \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \delta \omega \delta j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \delta \omega j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \delta \omega j \delta \delta \delta j \delta \omega \epsilon j \delta \delta \delta \omega j \delta \delta \delta j \delta \delta j \delta$

Verbs derived from compounds ($\pi a \rho a \sigma \upsilon \nu \theta \epsilon \tau a$) are in general treated like compound verbs in Attic Gk., if the first component part is a prepos. the same is always the rule in N.T., except in the case of προφητεύειν: έπροφητεύσαμεν Mt. 7. 22 ×B*CLZ, προεφ. B²EGM al., 11. 13 έπροφήτευσαν NB*CDG, προεφ. B**EFG al., (with similar division of MSS.) 15. 7, Mc. 7. 6, L. 1. 67, A. 19. 6 (N always έπρ. except in Jd. 14 προεπροφητευσεν: Β* έπροφ., Β³ έπροεφ., all others $\pi\rho_{0\epsilon}\phi_{.}$).² So also $\delta_{i\bar{\alpha}\kappa\sigma\nu\bar{\omega}}$ makes $\delta_{i\eta\kappa\bar{0}\nu\sigma\nu\nu}$ (from $\delta_{i\bar{\alpha}\kappa\sigma\nu\sigmas}$: does διά form part of the word?), but in Att. έδιακόνουν (we even have $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota \sigma \sigma \epsilon \nu \omega$, $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota \epsilon \sigma \sigma \epsilon \nu \sigma \nu$ in E Acts 16. 5, a form proscribed by Phrynichus). Verbs formed from compounds of $\epsilon \hat{v}$, when the adverb is followed by a short vowel, have a tendency in the late language to augment this vowel: $\epsilon \dot{v}a\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda i(\delta\mu a\iota, \epsilon \dot{v}\eta\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda i(\delta\mu\eta\nu)$ (so always): εὐαρεστῶ, εὖηρεστηκέναι Η. 11. 5 κĎΕΡ (εὐαρ. AKL).³ Verbs compounded of two prepositions tend to a double augmentation: απεκατέστη (αποκ. Β) Mc. 8. 25, απεκατεστάθη (αποκ. DK) Mt. 12. 13: similarly Mc. 3. 5 (άποκ. D), L. 6. 10 (parallel forms occur in inscriptions and the papyri); but in H. 12. 4 ἀντεκατέστητε is hardly attested.

¹ Exá $\mu\mu\nu\sigma$ av Mt. 13. 15 O.T., A. 28. 27 O.T., explains itself. Ka $\mu\mu\nu\omega$ from $\kappa\alpha\tau(\alpha)\mu\nu\omega$: the verb is proscribed by Phryn. Lob. 339.

² This verb is treated at length in Kórros κριτικαl καl γραμμ. παρατηρήσειs (1895), p. 70 ff. : see also W. Schmidt, Joseph. eloc. 442. Παρησιάζομαι έπαρρ. does not come under this head (π $a\nu$ not π $a\rho a$ is imbedded in it).

³ Hermas, Vis. iii. 1. 9 εὐαρεστηκότων 🗞, εὐηρ. as: εὐηρέστησαν Sim. viii. 3. 5.

§ 16. VERBS IN Ω . TENSE FORMATION.

2. Verbs with mute stem.—Of verbs in - $\zeta\omega$ the following have a guttural character : $\nu\nu\sigma\tau\dot{a}\zeta\omega$, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu\dot{\nu}\sigma\tau\dot{a}\zeta\omega$ Mt. 25. 8 (Hellen.: Att. - $a\sigma a$): $\pi a\dot{a}\zeta\omega$, fut. $\dot{\epsilon}\mu\pi a\dot{a}\xi\omega$, aor. pass. $\dot{\epsilon}\nu\epsilon\pi a\dot{\alpha}\chi\theta\eta\nu$ Mc. 10. 34, Mt. 2. 16 etc. (Doric and Hellen.: $\dot{\epsilon}\pi a \omega a$ etc. Att.); the following is dental: $\sigma a\lambda\pi\dot{a}\zeta\omega$, $\sigma a\lambda\pi\dot{a}\sigma\omega$, $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\dot{a}\lambda\pi\omega$ (1 C. 15. 52, Mt. 6. 2 al.), Hellenistic for $-\iota(\gamma)\xi a$; the following fluctuate: $\dot{a}\rho\pi\dot{a}\zeta\omega$, $-\dot{a}\sigma\omega$, $\ddot{\eta}\rho\pi a\sigma a$, $-\dot{a}\sigma\theta\eta\nu$ (=Att.), but $-\dot{\alpha}\gamma\eta\nu$ Hellenist. 2 C. 12. 2, 4, cp. $\ddot{a}\rho\pi a\xi$ (Att.), $\dot{a}\rho\pi a\gamma\dot{\eta}$ (old and Att.), $\dot{a}\rho\pi a\gamma\mu\dot{o}s$ ($\dot{a}\rho\pi\dot{a}\xi\omega$ Homeric fut.): $\sigma\tau\eta\rho\dot{i}\langle\omega$, $-i\sigma\omega$, $-i\sigma\omega$ L. 9. 51 BCL al. ($-i\xi a$ NAD al.), 22. 32 (- ξ - D al.), Ap. 3. 1 ACP (- ξ - NB), 2 Th. 3. 3 B, A. 15. 32 CE, elsewhere - ξ - (and $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\dot{\eta}\rho\dot{i}\gamma\muaa$, $\sigma\tau\eta\rho\dot{i}\gamma\mu\dot{o}s$), which was the old inflection: cp. $\sigma\tau\dot{\eta}\rho\dot{i}\gamma\xi$. 'Apµ $\delta\zeta\omega$ ($\dot{\eta}\rho\mu\sigma\sigma\dot{\mu}\eta\nu$), $\sigma\phi\dot{a}\zeta\omega$ ($\ddot{e}\sigma\phi a\xi a$) are unrepresented in present and imperfect.

3. Verbs with liquid stem.—Verbs in $-ai\nu\omega$, $-ai\rho\omega$ take only $-\bar{a}\nu a$, $-\bar{a}\rho a$ in the 1st aor. act., without regard to the preceding sound: thus $\hat{\epsilon}\xi'\eta\rho\bar{a}\nu a$ (ρ precedes) as in Att., but also $\hat{\epsilon}\lambda\epsilon'\kappa\bar{a}\nu a$ ($\hat{\epsilon}\kappa\epsilon'\rho\delta a\nu a$),² $\hat{\epsilon}\beta\dot{a}\sigma\kappa\bar{a}\nu a$, $\hat{\epsilon}\sigma'\eta\mu\bar{a}\nu a$ for Att. $-\eta\nu a$: $\hat{\epsilon}\pi\iota\phi\hat{a}\nu a\iota$ from $-\phi ai\nu\omega$ L. 1. 79, $ai\nu a\phi\dot{a}\nu a\nu\tau\epsilon s$ (male $-\phi a\nu\epsilon'\nu\tau\epsilon s$ AB*CE al.) A. 21. 3, $\phi\dot{a}\nu\eta$ Ap. 18. 23: $\hat{\epsilon}\xi\epsilon\kappa\dot{a}\theta\bar{a}\rho a$ 1 C. 5. 7, 2 Tim. 2. 21 ($\hat{\epsilon}\kappa\dot{a}\theta a\rho a$ is also sporadically found in 4th century Attic). ^{*}A\rho aι (contracted from $\hat{a}\epsilon\hat{\rho}\rho a\iota$) agrees with Att. Perf. pass. $\hat{\epsilon}\xi\eta\rho a\mu\mu\epsilon'\nu\sigma s$ Mc. 11. 20 (Att. $-\alpha\mu a\iota$, though $-\mu\mu a\iota$ is also attested), $\mu\epsilon\mu\iota a\mu\mu\epsilon'\nu\sigma s$ Tit. 1. 15 (Att. $-\sigma\mu$ -), cp. $\mu\epsilon\mu a\rho a\mu$ - $\mu\epsilon'\nu\sigma s$ Herm. Vis. iii. 11. 2 × ($-\alpha\sigma\mu$ - as), $\kappa\alpha\tau\eta\sigma\chi\nu\mu\mu\epsilon'\nu\sigma s$ Mand. xii. 5. 2.

§ 17. VERBS IN $\cdot \Omega$. NEW FORMATION OF A PRESENT TENSE.

A new present tense is formed out of the perf. (instances of which are forthcoming also at an earlier period : $\gamma \epsilon \gamma \omega \nu \epsilon \omega$ from $\gamma \epsilon \gamma \omega \nu a$) : $\gamma \rho \eta \gamma \rho \rho \epsilon \omega$ (Phryn. 118) from $\epsilon \gamma \rho \eta \gamma \rho \rho a$ (the latter never in N.T.:

¹ The ϵ in $\phi o \rho \epsilon \omega$ is never found elsewhere except in the aorist and future active. ² 1 C. 9. 21 NAB al., but N°DEKL $\kappa \epsilon \rho \delta \dot{\eta} \sigma \omega$ the regular form elsewhere, cp. Irreg. Verbs, § 24. γρηγ. LXX., never in good writers, N.T. with aor. έγρηγόρησα): στήκω 'stand' from έστηκα (used along with the latter word), Mc. 11. 25 στήκετε (-ητε; στητέ Ν), 3. 31 στήκοντες BC* (v.l. στάντες, έστηκότες, έστωτες), 1 C. 16. 13 (imperat. στήκετε), G. 5. 1 (id.), Ph. 4. 1 (id.), 1 Th. 3. 8 (id.), the only additional forms elsewhere are στήκει R. 14. 4, and στήκετε indic. Ph. 1. 27: thus it is almost confined to Pauline writings, and is mainly found in the imperat. (for which $\epsilon \sigma \tau a \tau \epsilon$ is the old form, $\epsilon \sigma \tau \eta \kappa \epsilon \tau \epsilon$ is unexampled). The word (mod. Gk. στέκω: στήκω, Epigr. Kaibel, 970) is thoroughly plebeian. Other exx. of new present forms are : $\dot{a}\mu\phi_{\mu}\dot{a}_{\lambda}\omega$ for $-\epsilon\nu\nu\nu\mu\iota$ (Hellenist., also LXX.) L. 12. 27, $\dot{a}\mu\phi_{\mu}\dot{a}_{\lambda}\epsilon\iota$ B, $-\epsilon\xi\iota$ DL (the latter form, elsewhere unattested, is cited by Cramer, An. Ox. 2. 338, as κοινόν, and -άζω as δωρικόν), -έννυσι NA etc. as all MSS. read in Mt. 6. 30:---ένδιδύσκω 'put on' Mc. 15. 17 NBC (D ένδυδισκ.) for ένδύω: ένδιδύσκομαι 'put on oneself' L. 8. 27 8°A (D -δυδί-) al. (v.l. aor.), 16. 19 (LXX., Herm. Sim. ix. 13. 5):-κρύβω (Hellenist., see Phryn. Lob. 317: formed from the Hellenist. aor. $\epsilon \kappa \rho i \beta \eta \nu$, like έγράφην from γράφω: see § 19, 2), L. 1. 24 περιέκρυβεν impf., not 2nd aor.: elsewhere no instances of pres. or impf. in N.T., Ev. Petr. 16 $\epsilon \kappa \rho \nu \beta \delta \mu \epsilon \theta a := (\dot{a} \pi \sigma) \kappa \tau \epsilon \nu (\nu) \omega$ for $-\kappa \tau \epsilon i \nu \omega$, with extremely uncertain spelling : Mt. 10. 28 -κτεννόντων (-ενόντων E al., -εινόντων B): Mc. 12. 5 -кте́ичонтеs, FG al. -е́нонтеs, В -енно́нтеs, № -ини́нтеs, MS -αίνοντες: L. 12. 4 -εννόντων, -ενόντων DG al., -αιν- M, -ειν- B: 2 C. 3. 6 - έννει, ACDE al. - ένει, Β - είνει : Ap. 6. 11 - έννεσθαι, BP -είνεσθαι: 13. 10 -ένει, -ενει BCP, -είνει ×; here Lachm. writes -αίνει (as he does in 2 C. 3. 6), Tischend. - $\epsilon v \epsilon i$.¹ The ordinary - $\epsilon i v \omega$ has most support in Mt. 23. 37 (- $\epsilon\nu\nu$ - CGK, - $\epsilon\nu$ - \aleph), L. 13. 34 (- $\epsilon\nu\nu$ - AK al.). For the spelling with - $\nu\nu$ - or - ν - see on $\chi \dot{\nu} \nu (\nu) \omega := \nu (\pi \tau \omega \text{ (appar-}))$ ently not earlier than Hellenistic Gk., from viyw, eviya) for vigu:χύν(ν)ω for χέω (Hellenist., mod. Gk.: cp. κέχυμαι, έχύθην with $\epsilon \pi \lambda \dot{\upsilon} \theta \eta \nu$ from $\pi \lambda \dot{\upsilon} \nu \omega$) everywhere except in Mt. 9. 17 $\epsilon \kappa \chi \epsilon i \tau a \iota$ (probably in an interpolation, cp. D); in Ap. 16. 1 we should write έκχέατε aor. with B instead of -έετε.2 The best MSS. write the word with vv: A. 9. 22 NB*C, 21. 31 N*AB*D, 22. 20 NAB*, Mt. 26. 28 *ABCD al., similarly 23. 35, Mc. 14. 24, L. 11. 50, 22. 20; in other writings, however (Lob. Phryn. 726), χύνω is the only recognised form, and this also has analogy in its favour. Cp. further in the table of verbs, § 24, $\beta\lambda a\sigma \tau \hat{a}\nu$, $\gamma a\mu i \langle \epsilon i\nu, \dot{\sigma} \tau \dot{a}\nu \epsilon \sigma \theta a i$ (under $\dot{\sigma} \rho \hat{a}\nu$).

§ 18. VERBS IN -Ω. ON THE FORMATION OF THE FUTURE.

1. The so-called **Attic future** of verbs in $-\epsilon\omega$, $-\delta\zeta\omega$ etc. disappears, as the name itself implies, from the Hellenistic language, and accordingly from the N.T.; therefore $-\epsilon\sigma\omega$, $-\delta\sigma\omega$, not $-\hat{\omega} -\epsilon\hat{\epsilon}s$, $-\hat{\omega} -\hat{\epsilon}s$ in N.T.

¹ In Acts 3. 1 for $d\nu\epsilon\beta a_{\ell\nu}\sigma\nu$ A has $d\nu a_{\ell}\beta\epsilon\nu\nu\sigma\nu$, C $d\nu\epsilon\beta\epsilon\nu\nu\sigma\nu$, in L. 10. 31 A karaí- $\beta\epsilon\nu\nu\epsilon\nu$. The spelling $-\kappa\tau a_{\ell\nu}\omega$ has, however, little probability in view of the consistent forms of the fut. $-\epsilon\nu\omega$ and aor. $-\epsilon\iota\nu a$; with $-\epsilon\nu\omega$ one might compare $\mu\epsilon\nu\omega$. $(d\pi\sigma\kappa\tau\epsilon\nu\nu\omega$ also occurs occasionally in LXX., W.-Schm. § 15 note.)

² Herm. Vis. v. 5 $\sigma v \gamma \chi \dot{\nu} v v o v \aleph$; in Sim. viii. 2. 7 $\pi a \rho a \chi \dot{\epsilon} \iota v$ of as should perhaps be emended $\pi a \rho a \chi \dot{\epsilon} \iota$.

Greek are correct (whilst the LXX. still has forms in $-\hat{\omega} - \hat{qs}$). So in particular καλῶ καλέσω, τελῶ τελέσω (ἀπόλλυμι, ἀπολέσω, ἀπολοῦμαι, § 24). On the other hand, verbs in -i $\zeta \omega$ to a great extent form their fut., as in Att., with -10, particularly (W. H. ii. App., p. 163) in the 3rd pers. plur. act., where the following syllable also begins with a σ: ἐλπιοῦσιν L. 1. 48, ἐδαφιοῦσιν 19. 44 etc. (only in Col. 4. 9 γνωρίσουσιν κ°BFGP, -ιούσιν κ*ACD° al., whereas ibid. 7 all MSS. have γνωρίσει, cp. E. 6. 21, Jo. 17. 26). In the LXX. the formation in -i prevails, and this is accordingly found in O.T. quotations, παροργιώ R. 10. 19, μετοικιώ A. 7. 43. Additional exx.: Mt. 25. 32 άφορίσει *LΔ, -ιεί *ABD al. (-ιοῦσιν 13. 49 all MSS.): βαπτίσει always: Ja. 4. 8 έγγιει (-ίσει A): εμφανίσω, θερίσω, καθίσω are constant: διακαθαριεί Mt. 3. 12, item (L. 3. 17) H. 9. 14 (καθ.): κομιείσθε 1 P. 5. 4, κομιείται Col. 3. 25 κ*ACD* (-ίσεται κ°BD° al.), Е. 6. 8 x°D° al. (-иостан ** ABD* al.), комнойменон 2 Р. 2. 13 (v.l. άδικούμενοι) : στηρίζω, -ίσω or -ίξω, § 16, 2 : φωτιεί Ap. 22. 5 κΒ, -ίσει AP : χαρίσεται R. 8. 32 : χρουιεί H. 10. 37 O.T. κ°AD° al., -ίσει κ*D* (ου μη χρονίση LXX.^{ed.}): χωρίσω. Since in O.T. quotations the -ιω of the LXX. has not been corrupted by scribes into -iow, it appears that in original passages of the N.T. the reading -iow should in general be preferred.

2. Future without the characteristic form of the future tense.— Π íoµaı agrees with the Att. form: for čδoµaı N.T. has φάγοµaı, L. 14. 15, 17. 8, Jo. 2. 17 O.T., Ja. 5. 2, Ap. 17. 16 (LXX. has čδoµaı passim: φάγοµaι, čφαγον correspond to πίοµaι, čπιον: Phryn. 327, φάγ. βάρβαρον). In place of the fut. χέω the LXX. and N.T. have χεώ, χεείς etc.; ἐκχεείτε Deut. 12. 16, 24 (Clem. Cor. ii. 7. 5 παθείται for πείσεται from πάσχω, cp. καθεδοῦµαι).

3. Whereas in Att. many active verbs form a future *middle*, in N.T. the active form is in most cases employed throughout. 'A κούσομαι occurs in the Acts (exc. in 28. 26 O.T. quot. - $\epsilon \tau \epsilon$) and R. 10. 14 a wrong reading of **DE al. for -owoiv *°B; but akovow, Jo. 5. 25 (-0νται AD al.), 28 (item), 10. 16 al. (where there is diversity of reading $-\sigma\omega$ is preferable, since $-\sigma\sigma\mu\mu$ has not been corrupted in the Acts). Apaprhow Mt. 18. 21 (Herm. Mand. iv. 1. 1, 2): ἀπαντήσω Mc. 14. 13: ἀρπάσω Jo. 10. 28 (»DLX οὐ μη άρπάση): βλέψω Acts 28. 26 O.T.: γελάσω L. 6. 21: (γνώσομαι as ordinarily): διάξω Mt. 23. 34 al.:¹ (έσθίω, φάγομαι, see 2): ζήσω Jo. 5. 25 BDL (-ovtai A al.), 6. 51 BL (-etai BC al.), 57 ABC² (- $\epsilon \tau \alpha \iota \Gamma \Delta$ al., $(\hat{\eta} C^*D)$, with diversity of reading ibid. 58 and so passim, through all MSS. in Jo. 11. 25, R. 8. 13, throw (1 Th. 5. 10, see § 65, 2) 2 Tim. 2. 11 (συνζήσομεν; -ωμεν CLP is only a corruption): both forms also occur in Att.: $(d\pi \sigma \theta a v \sigma \hat{v} \mu a \iota a s usual)$: θαυμάσονται Ap. 17. 8 sB, correctly for N.T. θαυμασθήσονται AP (from θαυμάζομαι = -ω, cp. 13. 3): κλαύσω L. 6. 25, Jo. 16. 20, Ap. 18. 9 (wrongly -ovrai NA, though so read in Herm. Vis. iii. 3. 2):

¹ Ἐπιορκήσω Mt. 5. 33 is also the Att. form : κατεπιορκησόμενοs Demosth. 54. 40 is passive.

§ 19. 1–3.] VERBS IN -Ω. FIRST AND SECOND AORIST. 43

κράξω L. 19. 40 κBL, κεκράξονται AR al. as in Att. and LXX., κράξονται D: $(\lambda \eta (\mu) \psi o \mu a \iota, ο \psi o \mu a \iota a s u sual): παίξω Mc. 10. 34:$ (πεσοῦμαι, πίομαι as usual): ρεόσω Jo. 7. 38: σπουδάσω 2 P. 1. 15(-άζω κ): συναντήσω (cp. ἀπαντ.: no Attic instance of fut. from συναντώ) L. 22. 10, A. 20. 22: (τέξομαι, φεύξομαι, χαρήσομαι as usual).¹

§ 19. VERBS IN $-\Omega$. FIRST AND SECOND AORIST.

1. 1st agrist act. in -og instead of 2nd agrist.---(° $H\xi\alpha$) beside $\eta\gamma\alpha\gamma\sigma\nu$ is seen in ἐπάξας 2 P. 2. 5, ἐπισυνάξαι L. 13. 34, συνάξαντες A. 14. 27 D (found at the least in dialects, LXX., and late writers): juápino side by side with ημαρτον R. 5. 14, 16, Mt. 18. 15, Herm. Mand. iv. 3. 6, vi. 2. 7 etc. (Empedocl., LXX., Lob. Phryn. 732): έβίωσα 1 P. 4. 2 (the better Att. form is $\epsilon\beta(\omega\nu)$, $\xi(\eta\sigma\alpha)$ often takes the place of the last word (Ionic and late, not Att.) A. 26. 5 etc.: έβλάστησα Mt. 13. 26, H. 9. 4, causative Ja. 5. 18 as in LXX. Gen. 1. 11 (Empedocl., late writers), never $\xi \beta \lambda a \sigma \tau o v$: $\xi \delta u \sigma a$ intrans. for $\xi \delta u v$ Mc. 1. 32 BD (έδυ κ A etc.), L. 4. 40 δύσαντος D, δύναντος a few MSS., δύνοντοs most MSS.: ἔκραξα, as in late writers, almost always (ἀνέκραγον L. 23. 18 NBL, Herm. Vis. iii. 8. 9) except A. 24. 21 ἐκέκραξα NABC as LXX.: $i\lambda \omega \psi \alpha$ (late) A. 6. 2 ($\kappa \alpha \tau \epsilon \lambda$.), L. 5. 11 D (id.), Mc. 12. 19 × $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \lambda \epsilon i \psi \eta$ for $\lambda(\epsilon) i \pi \eta$, elsewhere $\epsilon \lambda \iota \pi \sigma \nu^2$ The assimilation to the fut. is everywhere well marked.-A new 2nd aor. avédalov is formed from $d\nu a \theta d\lambda \lambda \omega$ Ph. 4. 10 (LXX.), apparently in causative sense (ανεθάλετε το ὑπερ έμοῦ φρονεῖν), unless τοῦ should be read with FG; cp. §§ 24 : 71, 2.

2. 2nd aorist passive for 2nd aorist active.—'E $\phi i \eta \nu$ for $\check{\epsilon} \phi \nu \nu$, $\phi \iota \check{\epsilon} \nu$ ($\sigma \nu \mu \phi \nu \epsilon i \sigma a \iota$) L. 8. 6 ff., $\check{\epsilon} \kappa \phi \nu \eta$ Mt. 24. 32 = Mc. 13. 20 (like $\check{\epsilon} \rho \rho i \eta \nu$; late). So also $\pi a \rho \epsilon \iota \sigma \epsilon \delta i \eta \sigma a \nu$ for $\iota \sigma a \nu$ is read by B in Jd. 4.

3. 1st and 2nd aorist (and future) passive.—In the passive voice the substitution of the 2nd aor. for the 1st is a very favourite idiom. $\eta\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda\eta\nu$ L. 8. 20 dπ. (LXX., and as early as Att.): $\eta\nu o(\gamma\eta\nu$ Mc. 7. 35 ($-o(\chi\theta, A al.)$, A. 12. 10 ($-\chi\theta\eta$ EHLP), Ap. 11. 19 ($-\chi\theta\eta$ B), 15. 5 side by side with $-\chi\theta\eta\nu$ (Att. has 1st aor.): fut. $-\gamma\eta\sigma\sigma\mu a\iota$ Mt. 7. 7, L. 11. 10 & AC al., $d\nu o(\gamma\epsilon\tau a\iota$ BD (as also B in Mt. loc. eit.), but $-\chi\theta\eta\sigma\sigma\mu a\iota$ L. 11. 9 (A)(D)EF al.: $\eta\rho\pi\alpha\eta\nu$ 2 C. 12. 2, 4 (late) for Att. $\eta\rho\pi\alpha\sigma\theta\eta\nu$ (so Ap. 12. 5 ACP, but $-d\gamma\eta\approx, -d\chi\theta\eta$ B), with fut. $-\gamma\eta\sigma\sigma\mu a\iota$ 1 Th. 4. 17: $\epsilon\kappa\alpha\eta\nu$ (Hom., Ionic, late writers) Ap. 8. 7, I C. 3. 15 (2 P. 3. 10), elsewhere, as in Att., we have the 1st aor. and the fut. formed from it: $\epsilon\kappa\rho\eta\eta$ Mt. 5. 14, etc. In these new 2nd aorist forms there was a preference for the medial letters as the final sound of the stem, even though as in the last instance ($\kappa\rho\nu\phi$ -) the stem strictly had another termination ($-\phi\theta\eta\nu$ Att., $-\phi\eta\nu$ poet.): cp. pres. $\kappa\rho\delta\beta\omega$ § 17: $\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon\nu\gamma\eta\nu$ Acts 2. 37: $\delta\iota\epsilon\tau\alpha\eta\nu$ G. 3. 19, $\nu\pi\epsilon\tau\alpha\gamma\eta\nu$ R. 8. 20, 10. 3 al., $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\epsilon\tau\alpha\gamma\eta$ Herm. Mand. iv. 1. 10 (this writer also

¹ $Xaphoo\mu all$ is also to be regarded as Att. fut. of the aorist, as compared with $\chi alphow$ fut. of the present.

² Herm. Sim. viii. 3. 5 has $\kappa \alpha \tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \iota \psi \epsilon \nu$ along with $-\iota \pi \epsilon \nu$. Clem. Cor. ii. 5 $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \lambda \epsilon \iota \psi \alpha \nu \tau \alpha s$, 10 $-\lambda \epsilon \iota \psi \omega \mu \epsilon \nu$.

has $\dot{\omega}\rho\dot{\nu}\gamma\eta$ for $-\chi\theta\eta$, from $\dot{\sigma}\rho\dot{\nu}\sigma\sigma\omega$ Sim. ix. 6. 7), $\dot{\upsilon}\sigma\sigma\sigma\alpha\gamma\dot{\eta}\sigma\rho\mu\alpha\iota$ 1 C. 15. 28, H. 12. 9 (Barn. 19. 7), but L. 17. 9 f. $\delta\iota\alpha\tau\alpha\chi\theta\dot{\epsilon}\nu\tau\alpha$ as in Attic. $\Psi\dot{\nu}\chi\omega$ makes $\psi\nu\gamma\dot{\eta}\sigma\epsilon\tau\alpha\iota$ Mt. 24. 12 ($-\chi\dot{\eta}\sigma\epsilon\tau\alpha\iota$ K; late writers even say $\psi\dot{\nu}\gamma\omega$, Lob. on Soph. Ajax, p. 373^2 : cp. $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa\rho\dot{\nu}\beta\eta\nu - \kappa\rho\dot{\nu}\beta\omega$). New 1st aorists (for what in Attic is expressed by a different verb) are $\dot{\epsilon}\tau\dot{\epsilon}\chi\theta\eta\nu$ L. 2. 11, Mt. 2. 2 (Att. $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\epsilon\nu\dot{\epsilon}\eta\eta\nu$): $\dot{a}\pi\epsilon\kappa\tau\dot{a}\nu\theta\eta\nu$ passim (Att. $\dot{a}\pi\dot{\epsilon}\theta\alpha\nu\sigma\nu$). A substitute for 2nd aor. is $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa\lambda\dot{\ell}\theta\eta\nu$ (poet.), the regular form (also $\kappa\lambda\iota\theta\dot{\eta}\sigma\rho\mu\alpha\iota$) for Att. $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa\lambda\dot{\ell}\nu\eta\nu$.

4. On the intermixture of terminations of the 1st and 2nd aor. act. and mid. see § 21, 1.

\S 20. VERBS IN -D. AORIST AND FUTURE OF DEPONENT VERBS.

1. Aorist passive for aorist middle.— Έγωνήθην (Hellenist., Phryn. 108, LXX.) in addition to eyevounv: Mt. 6. 10, 9. 29, 15. 28, 26. 42 imperat. $\gamma \epsilon \nu \eta \theta \eta \tau \omega$, in O.T. quot. $\epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \eta \theta \eta$ 21. 42; elsewhere only 11. 23 -νήθησαν BCD, 28. 4 BC*DL; Mc. and Jo. (including Epp. and Apoc.) never have this form except in O.T. quotations, so also L. Gosp., but 10. 13 (= Mt. 11. 23) - vήθησαν & BDLE, 18. 23 - vήθη *BL: in Acts the only instance is 4. 4 all MSS. $-\nu \eta \theta \eta$, but D also has it in 7. 13, 20. 3, 16; it is frequent, however, in the epistles of Paul and Peter, and in Hebrews. Cp. the perfect yeyévnµaı (found in Att.) in addition to γέγονα. 'Απεκρίθην (Hellenist., Phryn. 108) is universal, Luke alone uses the Attic form $d\pi\epsilon\kappa\rho\nu\lambda\mu\eta\nu$ as well, 3. 16 (23. 9, L correctly -vero), A. 3. 12 (D is different), and always in the indic.; otherwise the latter form is only found with var. lect.: Mt. 27. 12 (D correctly -ετο), Mc. 14. 61 (-ίθη D; -νετο ?), Jo. 5. 17, The corresponding fut. is ἀποκριθήσομαι. 19, 12. 23. So also ύποκρίνομαι 'dissemble,' ὑπεκρίθην, συνυπεκρίθησαν G. 2. 13 (Herm. Sim. ix. 19. 3, as Polyb.), $\delta \iota \alpha \kappa \rho \iota \nu \rho \mu a \iota$ (doubt, $\delta \iota \epsilon \kappa \rho (\theta \eta \nu)$. 'A $\pi \epsilon - \lambda \circ \gamma \eta \theta \eta \nu$ L. 21. 14, $-\eta \sigma \alpha \mu \eta \nu$ 12. 11, but Clem. Alex. ii. 35 f. Dd. (quotation) $-\eta\theta\eta\tau\epsilon$ (Att. $a\pi\epsilon\lambda o\gamma\eta\sigma a\mu\eta\nu$, but the other aor. too is Again, eyeipopar only makes hyiponv (found in Att.), very old). never ήγρόμην : αναπαύομαι, (επ)αναπαήσομαι L. 10. 6 *B* (-αύσεται rell.), Ap. 14. 13 *AC (ibid. 6. 11 - aύσονται or -ωνται all MSS., and so elsewhere; but Herm. Vis. i. 3. 3 *, iii. 9. 1 * $\epsilon \pi \alpha \eta \nu$, and καταπαήσεται Pap. Londin. p. 113, line 916; εκαυσα, εκάην corresponds to $\epsilon \pi a v \sigma a$, $\epsilon \pi a \eta v$). To verbs expressive of emotion, which also in Att. take a passive aorist, belong $d\gamma a\lambda \lambda \iota \hat{\omega} \mu a \iota$ (found along with -iŵ, § 24), ηγαλλιάθην (-σθην BL) Jo. 5. 35 (but 8. 56 -ασάμην, and so elsewhere): (θαυμάζομαι, late form) έθαυμάσθην Ap. 13. 3 A (-αύμασεν NBP, -αυμαστώθη C), -σθήσομαι 17. 8, cp. § 18, 3 (the act. - $\dot{\alpha}\zeta\omega$ occurs in Ap. 17. 7 and regularly elsewhere; $\epsilon\theta a \nu \mu \dot{\alpha} \sigma \theta \eta \nu$ in pass. sense 2 Th. 1. 10): $\theta a \mu \beta \epsilon \hat{\alpha} \sigma \theta a \iota$ Mc. 1. 27 έθαμβήθησαν (-βησαν D), θαμβηθέντες A. 3. 11 D, cp. impf. Mc. 10. 24, 32, but θαμβών A. 9. 6 D as in Hom. etc. - Διελέξατο A. 17. 2 ×ÅB (- $\epsilon\chi\theta\eta$ DE), 18. 19 ×AB (- $\epsilon\chi\theta\eta$ EHLP) is a wrong reading for διελέγετο; the Attic διελέχθην stands in Mc. 9. 34. 'Aprelo θαι and

44

 $d\pi$ - have only the aor. mid. (Att. more often aor. pass.; a corrupt active form $d\pi a\rho\nu\eta\sigma a\iota$ occurs in Herm. Sim. i. 5).

2. The future passive (i.e. strictly the aoristic fut., see § 14, 1) is found with other verbs similar to those mentioned : $(\epsilon \dot{v} \phi \rho a \nu \theta \dot{\eta} \sigma \rho a u$ only B for pres. Ap. 11. 16) κοιμηθήσομαι 1 C. 15. 51, μεταμεληθήσομαι H. 7. 21 O.T. quot., φανήσομαι (φανοῦμαι 1 P. 4. 18 O.T. quot.), φοβηθήσομαι H. 13. 6 O.T. On the other hand: γενήσομαι, δυνήσομαι, επιμελήσομαι 1 Tim. 3. 5: πορεύσομαι (L. 11. 5 etc.).

§ 21. VERBS IN $-\Omega$. TERMINATIONS.

1. As early as Attic Greek there is not wanting an intermediate form between the 1st and 2nd aor. act. mid., with the terminations of the 1st aor. but without its σ : $\epsilon i \pi a$ beside $\epsilon i \pi o \nu$, $\eta \nu \epsilon \gamma \kappa a$ beside ηνεγκον. The Hellenistic language had a tendency to extend this type to numerous aorists which in classical Greek had the terminations of the 2nd aor. throughout : $\epsilon i \lambda a$, $- \dot{a} \mu \eta \nu$, $\epsilon \delta \rho a$, $- \dot{a} \mu \eta \nu$ etc. (Kühner I.³ ii. 104). Still this process, by means of which the second aorist was eventually quite superseded, is in the N.T. far from complete. Eîna (W. H. App. 164) keeps a unchanged in the forms with τ (as also in Att.): $\epsilon i \pi a \tau \epsilon$, $- \dot{a} \tau \omega$, $- \dot{a} \tau \omega \sigma a \nu$; also fairly often before μ : $d\pi\epsilon_{i}\pi d\mu\epsilon\theta a$ 2 C. 4. 2, $\pi\rho_{0}\epsilon_{i}\pi a\mu\epsilon_{v}$ 1 Th. 4. 6 (-o- AKL al.); cîπas Mt. bis, L. semel, Mc. 12. 32 with v.l. -es *DEF al., Jo. 4. 17 - ϵB^* ; -av has preponderant evidence; rarely $\epsilon i \pi a$ as in A. 26. 15; imperat. $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon$ and $\epsilon i \pi o \nu$ (for accent, Lob. Phr. 348) interchangeably; the part είπαs is rare (A. 22. 29 -ών HLP), είπασα hardly occurs (in Jo. 11. 28 all MSS. have $\epsilon i \pi o \hat{v} \sigma a$ in the first place, BC* have -aσa in the second ; -aσa Herm. Vis. iii. 2. 3 N, iv. 3. 7 N*); on the other hand $\epsilon i \pi \delta \nu \tau \sigma \sigma$ etc., $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon i \nu$. "Hueyka has a except in the infin. (only 1 P. 2. 5 has a vever ykai, always $\epsilon i \nu$ in Joseph., W. Schm. de Joseph. elocut. 457); imp. Mt. 8. 4 $\pi \rho o \sigma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \gamma \kappa \epsilon$ (-ov BC), παρ- Mc. 14. 36, L. 22. 42 (male vv. Il. -aι L. al., -ειν AQ al.). Other verbs never have inf. in -at nor part. -as, nor yet imperat. 2 sing. in -ov; on the other hand these forms occur: έβαλαν A. 16. 37 BD, 21. 27 ** A (ἐπ-), Mc. 14. 46 * B (ἐπ-), (ἐξέβαλαν Mc. 12. 8 B, cp. Mt. 13. 48 D, 21. 39 D, Ap. 18. 19 C); είδαν Mt. 13. 17 NB, L. 10. 24 NBC al., Mc. 6. 33 D etc.: eidaµev Mt. 25. 37 B*I, Mc. 2. 12 CD, 9. 38 DN: eidate L. 7. 22 A, Jo. 6. 26 C: eida Ap. 17. 3 A, 6 NA; in these instances $-o\nu$ has far the most support from the MSS. It is otherwise with είλον, -λα: είλατο 2 Th. 3. 10 (-ετο K), Herm. Sim. v. 6. 6: dveilate A. 2. 23, -ato 7. 21 (-eto P), -av 10. 39 (-ov HLP): έξείλατο 7. 10 (-ετο Η), 12. 11 (-ετο P), -άμην 23. 27 (-όμην HLP), but -έσθαι 7. 34 O.T. quot. Εδρα has only slender attesta-tion: ευράμενος Η. 9. 12 (-6- D*), -av L. 8. 35 B*, Mt. 22. 10 D, A. 5. 10 AE, 13. 6 A: -aµev L. 23. 2 B*L al. Again there is preponderant evidence for έπεστα, -αν, -ατε (G. 5. 4): imp. -ατε L. 23. 30 (-ετε N*ABD al.), Ap. 6. 16 (-ετε NBC). [•]Ηλθα Ap. 10. 9 A (-ov NBČP), $-a\mu\epsilon\nu$ A. 27. 5 NÅ, 28. 16 A. 21. 8 B, Mt. 25. 39 D: -av is often interchanged with -ov: but the imp. $\epsilon\lambda\theta a\tau\epsilon$, $\epsilon\lambda\theta\dot{a}\tau\omega$ is

attested by the mass of the MSS. All other instances are quite isolated: $a \pi \epsilon \theta a \nu a \nu$ Mt. 8. 32 8^b, L. 20. 31 B^{*}, Jo. 8. 53 D^{*}: $\epsilon \lambda a \beta a \nu$, -a \mu \epsilon \nu, -a \tau \epsilon Jo. 1. 12 and 1 Jo. 2. 27 B^{*}, L. 5. 5 A: $\epsilon \pi \iota a \nu$ 1 C. 10. 4 D^{*} etc.

2. The (mod. Gk.) extension of the terminations -a, -as etc. to the imperfect is rare, and in no case unanimously attested. Elxav Mc. 8. 7 ×BDΔ, A. 28. 2 ×AB, 8. 10 ×, Ap. 9. 8 ×A (9 -ov omn.), L. 4. 40 D, Jo. 15. 22, 24 D* (rell. -ov or -orav): -aµεv 2 Jo. 5 ×A: \aleph Aeyav Jo. 11. 56 ×D, 9. 10, 11. 36 ×*, A. 28. 6 B. According to Buresch, Rh. Mus. 46, 224, these forms should not be recognised in the N.T., since the MSS. supporting them are quite thrown into the shade by the enormous mass of those which support -ov, -es etc.

3. The (aoristic) termination $-a\nu$ for $-a\sigma\iota$ in the 3rd pers. plur. perf. (Alexandrian according to Sext. Emp. adv. gramm. 213) is not frequent either in the LXX. or in the N.T., and in the latter is nowhere unanimously attested, so that its originality is subject to the same doubt with the last exx. (Buresch, p. 205 ff.). The instances are: $\dot{\epsilon}\omega\rho\alpha\kappa\alpha\nu$ L. 9. 36 BC²LX, Col. 2. 1 N*ABCD*P: $\tau\epsilon\tau\eta\rho\eta\kappa\alpha\nu$ BDL Jo. 17. 6: $\ddot{\epsilon}\gamma\nu\omega\kappa\alpha\nu$ ABCD al., ibid. 7 ($\dot{\epsilon}\tau\eta\rho\eta\sigma\alpha\nu \ddot{\epsilon}\gamma\nu\omega\nu N$): $d\pi\epsilon\sigma\tau\alpha\lambda\kappa\alpha\nu NAB$ A. 16. 36: $\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\epsilon\lambda\dot{\eta}\lambda\nu\theta\alpha\nu$ BP Ja. 5. 4: $\gamma\epsilon\gamma\rho\nu\alpha\nu$ R. 16. 7 NAB, Ap. 21. 6 N°A ($-\alpha N$ *BP, Buresch): $\pi\epsilon\pi(\tau)\omega\kappa\alpha\nu$ 18. 3 AC: $\epsilon\ddot{\epsilon}\rho\eta\kappa\alpha\nu$ 19. 3 NAP.

4. The termination $-\sigma a\nu$ for $-\nu$ in the 3rd pers. plur. in Hellenistic and N.T. Greek is constant in the imper. (also in the pass. and mid. as $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\epsilon\nu\xi\dot{a}\sigma\theta\omega\sigmaa\nu$ Ja. 5. 14); in the impf. (Hellenist., Kn. ii.³ 55) it is found in $\dot{\epsilon}\delta\alpha\lambda\iotao\vartheta\sigmaa\nu$ R. 3. 13 O.T. quot.: also $\epsilon\imath\chi\sigma\sigmaa\nu$ Jo. 15. 22, 24 ×B al. ($\epsilon\imath\chi a\nu$ D*, $\epsilon\imath\chi o\nu$ AD² which makes a very serious ambiguity), $\pi a\rho\epsilon\lambda\dot{a}\beta\sigma\sigmaa\nu$ 2 Th. 3. 6 ×* AD^{*} ($-\epsilon\tau\epsilon$ BFG, $-\sigma\nu \approx^{\circ}D^{\circ\circrr}E$ al., somewhat ambiguous). The forms are apparently authentic, since they were hardly current with the scribes, except in contract verbs, where these forms are also found in mod. Gk.; cp. $\dot{\epsilon}\theta\rho\sigma\nu\beta\sigma\vartheta\sigmaa\nu$ D A. 17. 5 ($\kappa a\tau\sigma\iota\kappa o\nu\sigma a\nu$? D 2. 46; D also has $\psi\eta\lambda a\phi\dot{\eta}\sigma a\iota\sigma a\nu$, $\epsilon\dddot\nu\rho\sigma a\nu$ in 17. 27, see 5; Herm. Sim. vi. 2. 7 $\epsilon\vartheta\sigma\tau a\theta\sigma\vartheta\sigma a\nu$, ix. 9. 5 $\dot{\epsilon}\delta\delta\kappa\kappa\vartheta\sigma a\nu$). Cp. Buresch, 195 ff.

5. The termination -es for -as (in perf. and 1st aor.)¹ is not only quite unclassical, but is also only slenderly attested in the N.T.: Ap. 2. 3 $\kappa \epsilon \kappa \sigma \pi i a \kappa \epsilon s$ AC, 4 $d\phi \eta \kappa \epsilon s \approx C$: $\epsilon \lambda \eta \lambda \upsilon \theta \epsilon s$ A. 21. 22 B, $\epsilon \omega \sigma \mu \kappa \epsilon s$ Jo. 8. 57 B*, $\epsilon \delta \omega \kappa \epsilon s$ 17. 7 AB, 8 B, $\epsilon \lambda \eta \phi \epsilon s$ Ap. 11. 17 C etc. (W.-Schm. § 13, 16; Buresch, 219 ff.; $\epsilon \iota \omega \theta \epsilon s$ Papyr. of Hyperides c. Philipp. col. 4. 20).

6. The rare optative has 3rd sing. of the 1st aor. in at (also Clem. Cor. i. 33. 1 éásat), not the better Att. - $\epsilon i\epsilon$; and a corresponding 3rd plur. in $ai\epsilon\nu$: $\pi oinjsaie\nu$ L. 6. 11 BL (- $\epsilon i\epsilon\nu \approx A$, - $\epsilon ia\nu$ Att. EKM al.: D has quite a different reading): A. 17. 27 $\psi\eta\lambda a\phi njsaie \sigma ia\nu$ B al., - $\epsilon i\epsilon\nu \approx E$, - $aisa\nu$ and ibid. $\epsilon isoorsa\nu$ D, which may be correct (cp.

¹ Apollonius, Synt. i. 10, p. 37: 37, p. 71, attests $\epsilon\ell\rho\eta\kappa\epsilon$ s, $\epsilon\gamma\rhoa\psi\epsilon$ s, $\gamma\rhoa\psi\epsilon\tau\omega$ for -as, $-\epsilon\tau\omega$ as forms about which grammarians were in conflict. 'Aphrete B* Mt. 23. 23.

I.XX. aivéraura Gen. 49. 8, $\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda\theta_{0i}\sigma_{av}$ Deut. 33. 16, W.-Schm. § 13, 14, note 14), since the scribes of D and of its ancestors certainly did not find the optative in the living language.

7. The plupf. of course keeps ϵi (not ϵ) in the plur.: $\pi \epsilon \pi o i \eta \kappa \epsilon i \sigma a \nu$ Mc. 15. 7 etc.

8. The 2nd pers. sing. of the pres. and fut. pass. and mid. regularly ends (as also in the older Attic) in -g; the later Attic ϵ_i (η_i and ϵ_i interchangeable, § 3, 5) is found only in the word $\beta_{0i}\lambda_{\epsilon_i}$, borrowed by Luke from the literary language (L. 22. $42 - \lambda \eta$ FGR al.; cp. Herm. Sim. ix. 11. 9 $\beta_{0i}\lambda_{\eta_i}$, v. 5. 5 apparently $\beta_{0i}\lambda_{\epsilon_i}$, $= \theta \epsilon \lambda \epsilon_{\epsilon_i}$ of the popular language. Along with -g, the termination $-\sigma a_i$, esp. frequent in contract verbs in $-\alpha\omega$, corresponding to the forms $-\mu a_i$, $-\tau a_i$ as in the perf., is a new formation of the popular language which coincides with the primitive ending, and in mod. Greek has affected verbs of all classes.¹ 'Odvråar L. 16. 25: $\kappa \alpha v \chi \hat{\alpha} \sigma a_i$ 1 C. 4. 7, R. 2. 17, 23, 11. 18: also $\phi_{di}\gamma \epsilon \sigma a_i$ [Vis. iii. 6. 7 the same form, but corrupt], ix. 2. 6 $\epsilon \pi i \sigma \pi \hat{\alpha} \sigma a_i$.) These should be regarded as the regular forms in the N.T., since $\delta \delta v v q$, $\phi_{di} \gamma_{ij} \pi \epsilon \eta$ are not represented.²

§ 22. CONTRACT VERBS.

1. Verbs in - ω .— $Z\hat{\eta}\nu$ takes η as in Att., but $\pi\epsilon\iota\nu\hat{a}\nu$, $\delta\iota\psi\hat{a}\nu$ take a for η as in other Hellenist. writings (cp. $\epsilon\pi\epsilon\iota\nu\alpha\sigma a$, § 16, 1). (From $\xi\hat{\eta}\nu$ 1 sing. impf. $\xi'(\eta\nu$ R. 7. 9 B for $\xi'(\omega\nu^3)$ From $\chi\rho\hat{\omega}\mu\alpha\iota$ we have $\chi\rho\hat{\eta}\tau\alpha\iota$ in 1 Tim. 1. 8 ND al., $\chi\rho\dot{\eta}\sigma\eta\tau\alpha\iota$ AP, otherwise there is no apposite example; $\chi\rho\hat{\alpha}\sigma\theta\alpha\iota$ is Hellenistic, cp. Clem. Cor. ii. 6. 5 A, § 21, 7, W.-Schm. § 13, 24.—Confusion of - $\dot{\alpha}\omega$ and - $\dot{\epsilon}\omega$: $\dot{\eta}\rho\dot{\omega}\tau\sigma\nu\nu$ Mt. 15. 23 NABCD, Mc. 4. 10 NC, Jo. 4. 31 C (no Ms. in 4. 40 [9. 15 X], 12. 21), A. 16. 39 A; no other form of this vb. with $o\upsilon:=\dot{\epsilon}\epsilon\epsilon\beta\rho\iota\mu\sigma\dot{\nu}\tau\sigma$ Mc. 14. 5 NC^{*}, - $\mu o\dot{\nu}\mu evos$ Jo. 11. 38 NAU:— $\kappa\sigma\pi\iota\sigma\dot{\nu}\sigma\iota\nu$ Mt. 6. 28 B :— $\nu\iota\kappa\sigma\dot{\nu}\tau\iota$ Ap. 2. 17 AC, 2. 7 A (- $\sigma\nu\tau\iota$ B), 15. 2 C :— $\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon\gamma\dot{\epsilon}\lambdao\nu\nu$ L. 8. 53 D*KX etc. Cp. mod. Gk.; W.-Schm. § 13, 26.—On - $\hat{a}\sigma\alpha\iota$, 2 pers. sing. pass., see § 21, 7.

2. Verbs in - $\epsilon\omega$.—Uncontracted contrary to the rule is $\epsilon\delta\epsilon\epsilon\tau\sigma$ L. 8. 38 (- $\epsilon\epsilon\tau\sigma$ N^aBC²LX, - $\epsilon\epsilon\epsilon\tau\sigma$ AP formed out of - $\epsilon\epsilon\tau\sigma$ with correction $\epsilon\iota$ written over it), cp. Clem. Hom. iii. 63, $\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon\rho\rho\epsilon\epsilon$ Apoc. Petr. 26, Phryn. 220.—Confusion of - $\epsilon\omega$ and - $\delta\omega$: $\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\omega\tau\sigma\sigma$ R. 9. 16 (- $\sigma\nu\tau\sigma\sigma$ B³K), $\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\delta\tau\epsilon$ Jd. 22 NBC², 23 NAB (there is much variety of reading in this verse); but R. 9. 18 $\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\epsilon\epsilon$ NA²BD^cL al., $\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\phi$ only in D*(E)FG (otherwise no exx. of such forms from $\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\omega$: both forms found in

¹ Cp. Lob. Phryn. 360.

² It is otherwise with verbs in $-\epsilon\omega$: L. 23. 40 $\phi o\beta \hat{y} \sigma v$, Herm. Vis. iii. 1. 9 $\lambda v \pi \hat{y}$, hut 10. 7 $\alpha i \tau i \sigma a i$, i.e. $a l \tau \epsilon \hat{i} \sigma a i$ for $a l \tau \epsilon \hat{i} \sigma a s$. From verbs in $-\delta \omega$, $a \pi \epsilon \xi \epsilon$ $v o \delta \sigma a$ (sic) LXX. 3 Kgs. 14. 6, $\delta i a \beta \epsilon \beta a a o \delta \sigma a$ Clem. Hom. xvi. 6. $\chi a \rho \iota \epsilon \hat{i} \sigma a i$, from $\chi a \rho \iota o \delta \mu a$, occurs as early as 3rd cent. B.C. on an Egyptian papyrus. Grenfell-Hunt, Greek Papyri, series ii. (1897), p. 29.

^{3*}E $\eta\nu$ also occurs in Demosth. 24. 7 nearly all MSS., Eur. Alc. 295 v.l., Phryn. Lob. 457. Cp. $\sigma i \eta \eta \iota$, Herm. Mand. iv. 1. 9; Kühner, Gr. I.³ ii. 436.

LXX.: ¹ the tenses have η , though $\dot{\epsilon} d\omega$ has $\dot{\epsilon} d\sigma \omega$):— $\dot{\epsilon} \lambda \lambda \delta \gamma a$ Philem. 18, - $\epsilon \iota \approx^{\circ} D^{\circ orr} EKL$, $-\hat{a} \tau a \iota R$. 5. 13 only \approx° (and $\dot{\epsilon} \lambda \lambda \delta \gamma a \tau a$); the Hellenistic vb. elsewhere employs - $\epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu$.²

3. Verbs in - ω .—Infin. - $oi\nu$ (= $\delta \omega \nu$) for - $oi\nu$: $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \sigma \kappa \eta \nu oi\nu$ Mt. 13. 32 B*D, Mc. 4. 32 B*: $d\pi \delta \delta \kappa \alpha \tau o i\nu$ H. 7. 5 BD*: $\phi \iota \mu o i\nu$ I P. 2. 15 8*: but $\pi \lambda \eta \rho o i\nu$ all uncials in L. 9. 31, and it is the constant form in LXX., so that the termination - $oi\nu$ is hardly established for the N.T. Cp. W.-Schm. § 13, 25: Hatzidakis Einl. in d. neugr. Gramm. 193.—The conjunctive is regular in $\epsilon v \delta \delta \omega \tau a \iota$ 1 C. 16. 2 ($-\delta \omega \theta \hat{\eta}$ $\aleph^{\circ} ACI$ al.): on the other hand it takes the indic. form in G. 4. 17 $\langle \eta \lambda o i \tau \epsilon$, 1 C. 4. 6 $\phi \upsilon \sigma \iota o i \sigma \theta \epsilon$ (just as the sing. of the conj. act. is identical with the indic., and in vbs. in - $\delta \omega$ the whole conjunctive).

§ 23. VERBS IN -MI.

1. The conjugation in $-\mu i$, which from the beginning of the Greek language gradually gives way to the other conjugation in $-\omega$, and which has eventually entirely disappeared in modern Greek, in spite of many signs of decay is not yet obsolete in the N.T. Invbs. in -vum (and in $\delta\lambda \nu\mu$), which in Attic and other early writers have already a very strong rival in the forms in $-(\nu)\omega$, the older method of formation has not yet disappeared in the N.T., and is especially the prevalent form (as in Att.) in the passive : Mt. 8. 25 άπολλύμεθα, 9. 17 άπόλλυται, etc. Active forms : δείκνυμι 1 C. 12. 31 (never -ύω in this form), δεικνύεις Jo. 2. 18 (never -υς), δείκνυσιν Mt. 4. 8 (* -νύει), Jo. 5. 20 (-νύει D, but ibid. D -νυσιν for δείξει), cp. $\dot{a}\mu\phi_i\epsilon_{\nu\nu\nu\sigma}$ § 24; but $\dot{a}\pi o\lambda\lambda$ ύει Jo. 12. 25 (v.l. -έσει), $\dot{o}\mu\nu$ ύει Mt. 23. 20 ff. (from this verb there is no certain form in $-\mu\iota$), όμνύουσιν H. 6. 16. Imperf. only in -ω form : έζώννυες Jo. 21. 8, (ὑπ)εστρώννυον Mt. 21. 8 (v.l. έστρωσαν), Mc. 11. 8 D, L. 19. 36. Împerat. ἀπόλλυε R. 14. 15, ἀμνύετε Ja. 5. 12, σβέννυτε 1 Th. 5. 19. Infin. ομνύειν Mt. 26. 74, Mc. 14. 71 (-ύναι BEHL al.), δεικνύειν 16. 21 (-ύναι B). Partic. απολλύων Ap. 9. 11, δεικνύοντος 22. 8 (-ύντος 8): but ὑποζωννύντες A. 27. 17, ἀποδεικνύντα 2 Th. 2. 4 (-ύοντα AFG).

2. In verbs in -ávai, -évai, -óvai there are similar transitions to the ω conjugation. $\Sigma \nu \iota \acute{o} \tau \eta \mu$ R. 16. I, $\sigma \nu \iota \acute{o} \tau \eta \sigma i$ 3. 5, 5. 8, 2 C. 10. 8 are a few certain relies of the active of these forms in -ávai (undoubtedly from the literary language); elsewhere this verb takes the form of $i\sigma \tau \acute{a} \nu \epsilon \nu$ (Hellenist.), for which $i\sigma \tau \acute{a} \nu$ (more often than -á $\nu \epsilon \iota \nu$ in LXX.) is a frequent v.l., occasionally also the plebeian $\sigma \tau \acute{a} \nu \epsilon \iota \nu$ ($\acute{a} \pi \sigma \kappa a \tau a \sigma \tau \acute{a} \nu \epsilon \iota \times 1.6$ D, 17. 15 $\kappa a \tau a \sigma \tau \acute{a} \nu \epsilon \nu 2$ C. 3. I, FG -á $\nu \epsilon \iota \times 8$ D, - $\tau \iota \sigma \tau \acute{a} \nu \epsilon \iota \times 8$ CD*FG, - $\acute{o} \nu \tau \epsilon \circ 5$ ABP, a similar division of the MSS. in 6. 4 (- $\acute{o} \nu \tau \epsilon \circ 5$ also read by \aleph°): 1 C. 13. 2 $\mu \epsilon \theta \iota \sigma \tau \acute{a} \nu \iota \nu ACKL$, -á $\nu \iota \iota \times 8$ BDEFG (this is the only instance where a $\mu \iota$ form is strongly supported as a v.l.): $\mu \epsilon \theta \iota \sigma \tau \acute{a} \nu \epsilon \iota$

¹ W.-Schm. § 13, 26, note 26.

² On this confusion of $-\omega$ and $-\omega$ see Hatzidakis, Einl. in d. neugr. Gr. 128.

•

Herm. Vis. i. 3. 4. $\Pi\iota\mu\pi\lambda\hat{a}\nu$ stands for $\pi\iota\mu\pi\lambda\hat{a}\nu a\iota$ in A. 14. 17 $\stackrel{e}{\epsilon}\mu\pi\iota(\mu)\pi\lambda\hat{a}\nu$ (LXX.). The passive remains unaffected by this change (cp. 1): $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\dot{a}\tau a\sigma o 2$ Tim. 2. 16, Tit. 3. 9, $\kappa a\theta\dot{a}\sigma\tau a\tau a\iota$ H. 5. 1 etc. ($[\stackrel{e}{\epsilon}\mu]\pi\dot{\mu}\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\theta a\iota$ A. 28. 6, Tisch. $-\hat{a}\sigma\theta a\iota$), $\kappa\rho\dot{\epsilon}\mu a\tau a\iota$ Mt. 22. 40, $\kappa\rho\dot{\epsilon}\mu\dot{a}$ - $\mu\epsilon\nuos$ A. 28. 4, G. 3. 13 O.T. quot.: so also $\delta\dot{\nu}\mu a\mu a\iota$, $\stackrel{e}{\epsilon}\pi\dot{\sigma}\tau a\mu a\iota$ as usual, except that $\delta\dot{\nu}\nu\rho\mu a\iota$, $-\dot{\rho}\mu\epsilon\theta a$, $-\dot{\rho}\mu\epsilon\nu os$ are read by B or B* in Mt. 19. 12, 26. 53, Mc. 10. 39, A. 4. 20, 27. 15 (also in the papyri), cp. $\hat{\epsilon}\xi\epsilon\kappa\rho\dot{\epsilon}\mu\epsilon\tau o$ L. 19. 48 ×B: and $\delta\dot{\nu}\nu\eta$ stands for $\delta\dot{\nu}\nu\sigma\sigma a\iota$ in Mc. 9. 22 f. * (or *) BD al., 1. 40 B, L. 16. 2 × BDP (v.l. $-\dot{\eta}\sigma\eta$), Ap. 2. 2, but -a\sigmaa\iota is read by all MSS. in Mt. 5. 36, L. 5. 12, 6. 42, Jo. 13. 36 (Phryn. 359: still $\delta\dot{\nu}\nu\eta$ or $-\alpha$ is already found in Attic poets). Cp. W.-Schm. § 14, 17; both forms are found in Hermas, e.g. $\delta\dot{\nu}\nu\eta$ Vis. ii. 1. 3, iii. 10. 8, $-a\sigma a\iota$ iii. 8. 5.—On $\stackrel{e}{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\eta\nu$ vide infra 4.

3. T($\theta\eta\mu$, $\delta(\delta\theta\mu\mu$. — The pres. indic. as in Att.; $\tau\iota\theta\iota$, i.e. $\tau\iota\theta\iota$, occurs in L. 8. 16 D; $\pi a \rho a \delta(\delta \omega s \text{ is also found L. 22. 4; } \delta\iota\delta\omega \text{ only occurs in}$ Ap. 3. 9 AC¹ (- $\omega\mu\iota$ BP, $\delta\epsilon\delta\omega\kappaa$ N). But in the impf. the forms $\epsilon\tau\ell\theta\epsilon\iota$, $\epsilon\delta(\delta o v \text{ are already found in Att. and so in N.T.; 3rd plur. <math>\epsilon\tau\ell\thetaov\mu$ A. 3. 2, 4. 35 (cp. for Attic, Bekk. Anecd. i. 90), also 8. 17 according to D*EHLP (- $\epsilon\sigma a v \text{ AD}^2$, $-\sigma\sigma a v B$, $-\epsilon\iota\sigma a v C$), Mc. 6. 56 ADN al. (- $\epsilon\sigma a v$ NBL Δ): $\epsilon\delta(\delta o v A A A 33, 27. 1, Mc. 15. 23, but A. 16. 4 -<math>\sigma\sigma a v$ (- $\sigma v v$ HLP), Jo. 19. 3 NB; the forms in $-\sigma v a$ are to be preferred. Imperat. $\tau\ell\theta\epsilon\iota$, $\delta(\delta o v a s in Att. But <math>\delta(\delta\omega\mu\iota)$ in the passive goes over to the ω conjugation, the analogy between the two forms being very close : $\delta\iota\epsilon\delta\delta\epsilon \tau o A. 4. 35$ (- $\sigma\tau o B^3P$), $\pi a\rho\epsilon\delta(\delta\epsilon \tau o 1 C. 11. 23$ (- $\sigma\tau o B^3LP$), and so 2nd aor. mid. $d\pi\epsilon\delta\epsilon \tau o H. 12. 16 AC$, cp. Mt. 21. 33 N*B*CL, Mc. 12. 1 NAB*CKL, L. 20. 9 N*AB*CL; but $d\pi\epsilon\delta\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon A. 5. 8$ all Mss.— For pres. conj. see 4.

4. 2nd aorist active and middle.— $E\sigma\tau\eta\nu$ is found as an alternative for $\epsilon\sigma\tau ad\eta\nu$, see 6; $\tau i\theta\eta\mu\iota$, $\delta i\delta\omega\mu\iota$ employ the 2nd aor. only in the mid., while $\ell\theta\eta\kappa a\mu\epsilon\nu$, $-a\tau\epsilon$, $-a\nu$, $\epsilon\delta\omega\kappa a\mu\epsilon\nu^2$ etc. are the aor. act. forms in use (only L. 1. 2 has a 2nd aor. act. $\pi a\rho\epsilon\delta\sigma\sigma a\nu$, literary language in the preface). From other verbs $\epsilon\beta\eta\nu$, $\epsilon\gamma\nu\omega\nu$ may be added. The indic. is regular (for the mid. cp. 3). The conj. to $\epsilon\delta\omega\kappa a$ (and $\delta i\delta\omega\mu\iota$) $\epsilon\gamma\nu\omega\nu$ shows great fluctuation (2 sing. $\delta\varphi$ s Mt. 5. 25): in the 3rd sing., which through the loss of the ι in pronunciation had become identical with the 1st sing., heside $\delta\varphi$ ($\delta i\delta\varphi$) and $\gamma\nu\varphi$ we also have the forms δoi ($\delta i\delta oi$), $\gamma\nuoi$ or $\delta\omega\eta$ (identical with the optat.). This last form, however, is almost confined to the Pauline Epistles, where the scribes often met with the optat., which was not current in their own day, and therefore introduced it occasionally for the conj. (vide infra): E. 1. 17 $\delta\omega\eta$ most MSS. ($\delta\varphi$ B), 3. 16 $\delta\omega\eta$ only DEK al., 2 Tim. 2. 25 $\delta\omega\eta \approx ACD*P$ (Jo. 15. 16 $\delta\omega\eta$

¹ $\Delta l\delta \omega$ Tisch., others $\delta \iota \delta \hat{\omega}$, cp. $d\pi \sigma \delta \iota \delta \sigma \hat{\nu}$ for $-\delta \nu$ A Ap. 22. 2 ($\pi a \rho a \delta l \delta \omega \nu \approx Mt$. 26. 46, D Mc. 14. 42, J. 18. 2, 21. 20). In Hermas $\tau \iota \theta \hat{\omega}$ occurs Vis. i. 1. 3, ii. 1. 2; Clem. Cor. i. 23 $d\pi \sigma \delta \iota \delta \sigma \hat{\iota}$. Examples from the papyri in W. Schmidt, Gtg. Gel. Anz. 1894, 45.

² No inference for an aor. $\ell\delta\omega\sigma a$ can be drawn from $\ell\nu a \dots \delta\omega\sigma\eta$ Jo. 17. 2 N°AC al. (v.1. $-\sigma\omega$, $-\sigma\epsilon\iota$, $\delta\omega$ etc.): nor yet from Mc. 6. 37 dyopá $\sigma\omega\mu\epsilon\nu$... $\delta\omega\sigma\omega\mu\epsilon\nu$ (NBD, v.1. $-\sigma\sigma\mu\epsilon\nu$ and $\delta\omega\mu\epsilon\nu$), see § 65, 2. EGH al.; $d\pi \circ \delta \circ i\eta$ D* 1 Th. 5. 15). It is more difficult to decide between $\delta \hat{\varphi}$, $\gamma v \hat{\varphi}$ and $\delta \circ i$, $\gamma v \circ i$ (the latter like $(\xi \eta \lambda \circ i)$: still $\gamma v \hat{\varphi}$ has the greater attestation (Jo. 7. 51, 11. 57 [$\gamma v \circ i$ D*], 14. 31, A. 22. 24: whereas $\gamma v \circ i$ has equal or greater authority in its favour in Mc. 5. 43, 9. 30, L. 19. 15); also $(d\pi \circ) \delta \hat{\varphi}$ all MSS. in Mt. 18. 30, the same form or $\delta \delta y$ all MSS. in E. 1. 17, 3. 16, 2 Tim. 2. 25, Jo. 15. 16 ($\aleph \delta \delta \delta \sigma \epsilon i$), cp. 13. 29 ($\delta \circ i$ D).—The optat. $\delta \delta \phi \eta$ is Hellenistic (Phryn. 345 f., Moeris)¹ and in Paul. Epp. R. 15. 5 etc.—Imperat. $dv \delta \sigma \tau \eta \delta t$ and $dv \delta \sigma \tau \bar{a}$ A. 12. 7, E. 5. 14 O.T. quot. ($-\eta \tau \omega$, $-\eta \tau \epsilon$ are constant), $dv \delta \beta \bar{a}$ Ap. 4. 1 ($-\eta \theta t$ A), $\mu e \tau \delta \beta a$ Mt. 17. 20 along with $\mu e \tau \delta \beta \eta \theta t$ Jo. 7. 3, $\kappa a \tau \delta \beta \eta \theta t$ Mt. 27. 40 etc., $\pi \rho \sigma a v \delta \eta \theta t$ L. 14. 10; this verb also has $-\beta \delta \pi \omega$, $-\beta \bar{a} \tau \epsilon$ Mt. 24. 17, 27. 42, Ap. 11. 12 ($-\eta \tau \epsilon$ B) like $\tau i \mu a$, $-\hat{a} \tau \epsilon$.²

5. Perfect active.—Of the perfects formed after a partial analogy to verbs in - $\mu\iota$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\eta\kappa a$ limits these shorter forms to the infin. 'E $\sigma\tau d\kappa a\iota$ L. 13. 25, A. 12. 14, 1 C. 10. 12 (no other form: also usu. in the LXX.), and partic. $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\omega$ s (in most cases: $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\eta\kappa\omega$ s is also found), fem. $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\omega\sigma a$ 1 C. 7. 26, 2 P. 3. 5, nent. $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\delta$ Mt. 24. 15 (v.l. - ω s), Ap. 14. 1 (B- ω s), but $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\eta\kappa\omega$ s (\aleph - ω s) 5. 6. But the indic. remains $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\eta\kappa\alpha\mu\epsilon\nu$ etc. (cp. $\tilde{\epsilon}\delta\omega\kappa\alpha\mu\epsilon\nu$). On $\sigma\tau\eta\kappa\omega$ see § 17. From $\tau\epsilon\theta\nu\eta\kappa\alpha$ we have inf $\tau\epsilon\theta\nu\alpha\nua$ A. 14. 19 DEHLP; $\tau\epsilon\theta\nu\eta\kappa\omega$ s always. Olda, -as, -e, -a\mu\epsilon\nu etc. (Ionic and Hellenist.); only in A. 26. 4 (speech of Paul before Agrippa) isoarv (literary language); $i\sigma\tau\epsilon$ H. 12. 17 (unless it be imperat.); plupf. $\eta\delta\epsilon\nu\eta$, - $\epsilon\iota$ s etc.; moods as in Att.: $\epsilon\delta\delta\omega$, $i\sigma\tau\epsilon$ Ja. 1. 19, E. 2. 5 (v.l. $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\epsilon$); infin. $\epsilon\delta\delta\omega\kappa\mu$, part. $\epsilon\delta\delta\omega$ s.

¹ This $-\psi\eta\nu$ is found in other Hellenistic writings in all optatives in $-\delta\eta\nu$: Philodem. Rhet. ed. Sudhaus, ii. 52, 144, 169, 285, $\epsilon \upsilon \pi o \rho \psi \eta$, $\pi o \iota \psi \eta$, $\delta \mu o \lambda o \gamma \psi \eta$, $\phi \rho o \nu \psi \eta$.

² Attic poets also have $d\nu d\sigma \tau a$, $\kappa \alpha \tau d\beta a$, but other forms with η ; LXX. only has $-\sigma \tau a$ side by side with $-\sigma \tau \eta \theta \iota$.

³ There is not sufficient ground for attributing a passive sense to the simple verb $\sigma \tau a \theta \hat{\eta} \nu a \iota$ in passages like L. 21. 36 (D ibid. $\sigma \tau \dot{\eta} \sigma \epsilon \tau a \iota$).

⁴ But also without passive sense $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\epsilon\sigma\tau\dot{\epsilon}\theta\eta\nu$ D L. 4. 39, 10. 40, Clem. Cor. i. 12. 4; $\dot{\epsilon}\nu\tau\epsilon\sigma\tau\dot{\epsilon}\theta\eta\nu$ Herm. Mand. xii. 2. 3, $\pi\epsilon\rho\epsilon\sigma\tau$. Sim. viii, 4. 1.

—**Τίθημι** has, as generally in the Hellenist. language, perf. act. τέθεικα (Jo. 11. 34: Att. -ηκα), perf. mid. τέθειμαι (συντ.) Jo. 9. 22 (pass. in ην τεθειμένος Jo. 19. 41 NB for ἐτέθη; ¹ in the parallel passage L. 23. 53 ην κείμενος according to the Att. usage, which is adhered to elsewhere in N.T. in the substitution of κεῖσθαι for τεθείσθαι).

7. "Input.—Only found in composition with $d\nu$ -, $d\phi$ -, $(\pi a\rho$ -), $\kappa a\theta$ -, σvv -, and in the case of $d\phi$ -, σvv -in μi (the only compounds in use in the popular language) with the alternative form in $-i\omega$: in $-i\epsilon\tau\epsilon$, $-i\epsilon\tau\alpha\iota$ the two conjugations coincide. 'Αφίημι (so Jo. 14. 27), -ίησι (Mt. 3. 15), -iévai (Mc. 2. 7 etc.); on the other hand -io $\mu\epsilon\nu$ (so «ABCDE) in L. 11. 4 (Mt. 6. 12 D al., but N*B aфńкаµеv); 2nd sing. pres. adeis (i.e. -ieis, -iis, cp. § 6, 5, note 2), though in this case there appears in Att. also -ieis (and $\tau i \theta \epsilon i s$); impf. $\eta \phi i \epsilon \nu$ Mc. 1. 34, 11. 16; in the passive there is fluctuation between $-i\epsilon\nu\tau\alpha_i$, $-i\nu\tau\alpha_i$, -έωνται (vide infra). Cp. in Hermas ἀφίησιν Mand. x. 3. 3, -ίενται Vis. ii. 2. 4, - lov $\sigma i \nu$ iii. 7. 1. In the case of $\sigma v \nu i \eta \mu i$ there is only one undisputed instance of the conjugation in μi : A. 7. 25 $\sigma v \nu i \epsilon \nu a i$: elsewhere Mt. 13. 19 συνιέντος, DF -ίοντος: L. 24. 45 συνιέναι, B* συνείναι ; also συνίω, except in quotations, is never without var. lect.: Mt. 13. 13 συνίουσι (language influenced by O.T.: -ιωσιν B** cp. D). 2 C. 10. 12 συνίουσιν (-ιασιν 8°B, -ίσασιν 8*), R. 3. 11 συνίων Ο.Τ. quot. (Barn. 12. 10 συνίων, but 4. 6, 10. 12 -ιέναι : Herm. Mand. iv. 2. 1, x. 1. 3 συνίω, iv. 2. 2 συνίει, x. 1. 6 συνίουσιν, Sim. ix. 12. 1 σύνιε; in the LXX. the forms from $d\phi i \omega$ and συνίω are more established and fairly frequent, W.-Schm. § 14, 16). 'Avinµu, aviévtes E. 6. 9; καθιέμενος A. 10. 11, 11. 5.—Tenses: N.T. has μφήκαν etc. like $\tilde{\epsilon}\theta\eta\kappa\alpha\nu$ (4 supra), the perf. - $\epsilon i\kappa\alpha$ never occurs, while $\sigma v\nu\eta\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon$ Mt. 13. 51, ἀφήκαμεν καὶ ἠκολουθήκαμεν (BCD, al. -ήσαμεν) Mc. 10. 28 may indeed give the impression of being perfects, but are still to be taken as aorists (cp. Mt. 19. 27, L. 18. 28, and with συνήκατε Aristoph. Ach. 101 ξυνήκαθ δ λέγει). The Doric (and Ionic) perf. was ξωκα, pass. čwµai, and the latter also appears in N.T.: the form aφέωνται is to be preferred in Jo. 20. 23 (wrong variants - $i\epsilon \nu \tau a_i$, - $(\epsilon)i o \nu \tau a_i$: 8* ἀφεθήσεται), 1 Jo. 2. 12, L. 7. 47 f., 5. 20, 23 (also in Mt. 9. 2, 5 against -iovrai D [5 D**], -ievrai 8 [5 8°]B, Mc. 2. 5 [-ievrai B], 9 [-i ϵ - \Re B]). On $dv \epsilon \theta \eta v$, $d\phi \epsilon \theta \eta v$ see § 15, 4.

8. Etµ*L*.—The transition to the inflection of a deponent vb. (seen in $\epsilon\sigma\sigma\mu\alpha\iota$: in mod. Gk. universally carried out) appears in $\eta\mu\eta\nu$ 1st pers. (differentiated from $\eta\nu$ 3rd pers. Lob. Phryn. 152), from which $\eta\mu\epsilon\theta\alpha$ is also formed Mt. 23. 30, A. 27. 37, E. 2. 3 ×B; in G. 4. 3 $\eta\mu\epsilon\nu$ in the first instance (all MSS.) with $\eta\mu\epsilon\theta\alpha$ (*D*FG) following; elsewhere $\eta\mu\epsilon\nu$.—The 2nd sing. impf. $\eta\sigma\theta\alpha$ only occurs in Mt. 26. 69, Mc. 14. 67 (Euseb. quotes the verse with η 's), elsewhere it is η 's (the termination $-\sigma\theta\alpha$ occurs nowhere else) as in Hellenistic Gk. (Phryn. 149). The imperat. has beside $\epsilon\sigma\tau\omega$, $\epsilon\sigma\tau\omega\sigma\alpha\nu$ the vulgar form $\eta\tau\omega$ Ja. 5. 12, 1 C. 16. 22 (Herm. Vis. iii. 3. 4, Clem. Cor. i. 48. 5), cp. W.-Schm. § 14, 1. "E $\nu\iota$ (i.e. strictly $\epsilon\nu\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota$, $\epsilon\nu\iota = \epsilon\nu$: cp. $\pi\alpha\rho\alpha = \pi\alpha\rho\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota$) occurs

¹Herm. Sim. ix. 15. 4 has $\tau\epsilon\theta\epsilon\iota\mu\epsilon\nu\iota$ in pass. sense, similarly $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\tau\epsilon\theta\epsilon\iota\mu\epsilon\nu$ a, Clem. Cor. i. 20. 4.

in 1 C. 6. 5, G. 3. 28, Col. 3. 11, Ja. 1. 17, already in the sense of $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\iota\nu$ 'there is,' which together with $\epsilon i\sigma \iota$ has been supplanted by this word, now written $\epsilon i\nu a\iota$, in modern Greek. W. Schmidt, Atticism. iii. 121.

9. Eim.—In the popular language the verb occurs neither in its simple form nor in composition, $\epsilon \rho \chi \rho \mu a \iota$ taking its place, § 24; the compounds only are employed by L. and Hebr. (from the literary language) and not always correctly. Eistia H. 9. 6 for Att. $\epsilon i \sigma \epsilon \rho \chi \rho \nu \tau a \iota$ ($\epsilon i \sigma \iota a \sigma \iota \nu$ is fut. in Att.): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota a \iota$ B Acts 9. 6 ($-\epsilon \lambda \partial \epsilon$): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota \epsilon a \sigma \iota \nu$ B Acts 9. 6 ($-\epsilon \lambda \partial \epsilon$): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota \epsilon a \sigma \iota \nu$ B Acts 9. 6 ($-\epsilon \lambda \partial \epsilon \iota$): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota \epsilon a \sigma \iota \nu$ B Acts 9. 6 ($-\epsilon \lambda \partial \epsilon \iota$): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota \epsilon a \sigma \iota \nu$ B Acts 9. 6 ($-\epsilon \lambda \partial \epsilon \iota$): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota \epsilon a \sigma \iota \nu$ B Acts 9. 6 ($-\epsilon \lambda \partial \epsilon \iota$): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota \epsilon a \sigma \iota \nu$ B Acts 9. 6 ($-\epsilon \lambda \partial \epsilon \iota$): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota \epsilon a \sigma \iota \nu$ B Acts 9. 6 ($-\epsilon \lambda \partial \epsilon \iota$): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota \epsilon a \sigma \iota \nu$ B Acts 9. 6 ($-\epsilon \lambda \partial \epsilon \iota$): $\epsilon i \sigma \iota \epsilon a \sigma \iota \nu$ B Acts 9. 7 ($-\epsilon \Delta \partial \epsilon \iota \sigma \iota \nu \nu$) Acts 13. 42, in a oristic sense 21. 17 in the β text, so a oristic $\epsilon i \sigma \prime \mu \iota$ 21. 18, 26, $-\epsilon \sigma a \nu$ 17. 10, 15. (Clem. Cor. i. 24. 3 $a \pi \epsilon \iota \sigma \iota \iota \cdot d \epsilon \iota \sigma \iota \mu \iota$ [Att. 'will depart'], cp. 54. 2: Clem. Hom. ii. 1, iii. 63, $(\epsilon \pi) \epsilon \iota \sigma \iota \iota \mu \iota$ $= -\epsilon \lambda \partial \iota \iota \iota$.)

10. [°]Ημαι, κείμαι.—Κάθημαι, κάθη Α. 23. 3 (cp. δύνη, supra 3; so already in Hyperides for -ησαι), imperat. κάθου (already in late Att.) Ja. 2. 3, Mt. 22. 44 etc., and O.T. for -ησο. Imperf. always ἐκαθήμην § 15, 7; fut. καθήσομαι Mt. 19. 28 (-ίσεσθε CD* al.), L. 22. 30 ×AB³ al. Cp. § 24.—Κείμαι is regular: also used as perf. pass. of τίθημι as in Att., supra 6.

§ 24. TABLE OF NOTEWORTHY VERBS.

(The prefixing of * indicates that the paradigm embraces several stems.)

'Αγαλλιάν active L. 1. 47 (Ap. 19. 7, prob. more correctly -ώμεθα B; 1 P. 1. 8 -άτε only BC*); elsewhere deponent with aor. mid. and pass., § 20. The verb is absent from profane Greek (which has ἀγἀλλομαι instead).

'Αγγέλλειν, ήγγέλην constant, § 19, 3.

"Ayew, aor. hyayov and rarely hea, § 19, 1; perf. act. unattested.

('Ayvíva.) only in composition $\kappa a \tau a \gamma \nu$. (as in Att.), pres. impf. unattested : aor. $\kappa a \tau \epsilon a \xi a \nu$ (Att.) Jo. 19. 32 f., but the use of the augm. is incorrectly extended (§ 15, 2) to the fut. $\kappa a \tau \epsilon a \xi \epsilon \iota$ Mt. 12. 20, O.T., and aor. conj. pass. $\kappa a \tau \epsilon a \gamma \hat{\omega} \sigma \iota \nu$ Jo. 19. 31.

* Aipεĩν, aor. είλον and -λα, § 21, 1: fut. έλῶ (late writers, LXX.) L. 12. 18, 2 Th. 2. 8 (v.l. ἀναλοῖ, vide inf.), Ap. 22. 19 (but αἰρήσομαι Ph. 1. 22).

'Ακούειν, fut. ἀκούσω and Attic -σομαι, § 18, 3.

'Αλήθειν for $d\lambda \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu$ (Phryn. p. 151): only pres. attested (aor. ήλεσα in LXX.: no other form of the aor. is likely to have existed). Cp. νήθειν.

"Αλλεσθαι, with compounds $\dot{a}\nu$, $\dot{\epsilon}\xi$, $\dot{\epsilon}\phi$, almost confined to Acts: (Jo. 4. 14, 21. 7 D), 1st aor. $\dot{\eta}\lambda\dot{a}\mu\eta\nu$ (LXX.) A. 14. 10 (Jo. 21. 7 D): 2nd aor. $\dot{\epsilon}\phi\alpha\lambda\delta\mu\epsilon\nu\sigma$ s 19. 16 (also 3. 8 $\dot{\epsilon}\xi\alpha\lambda\delta\mu$. is better than - $\lambda\lambda$ - of the MSS.): both forms occur in Att.

'Αμαρτάνειν, fut. άμαρτήσω, § 18, 3: 1st aor. ήμάρτησα along with 2nd aor. ήμαρτον, § 19, 1.

'Αμφιάζειν, -ιέζειν, -εννύναι: see § 17.

'Αναλοῦν = ἀναλίσκειν (both Att., -οῦν also in LXX., W.-Schm. § 15): ἀναλοῦ 2 Th. 2. 8 ×* Origen (v.l. ἀναλώσει, ἀνελεῖ). Tenses regular: L. 9. 54, G. 5. 15.

('Αντάν): fut. ἀπαντήσω, συν-, § 18, 3.

'Ameileiordai deponent A. 4. 17, 21 for Att. $d\pi eileir$ (1 P. 2. 23); $\delta la\pi eileirdei$ as depon. is also Att.

⁵Αρπάζειν: fut. -άσω, § 18, 3: 2nd aor. pass. -γην (and 1st aor. -σθην? as in Att.), § 19, 3.

Aifew, aifávew, both forms Att., but in transit. sense 'increase,' whereas 'grow' is -oµau. N.T. has -áνω trans. only in 1 C. 3. 6 f., 2 C. 9. 10 (Herm. Vis. iii. 4. 1 aiξω, i. 1. 6 aiξήσας). Elsewhere -áνω (and aiξω: only E. 2. 21, Col. 2. 19) is used = Att. -oµau A. 6. 7 al.: along with -áνοµau Mt. 13. 32 (8°D -ήση), Mc. 4. 8 v.l., Epp. Paul. passim, 1 P. 2. 2.

Βαίνειν: aor. έβην, ανάβα, -βατε, § 23, 4.

Bapeiv: $\beta \epsilon \beta a \rho \eta \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma$ of $(\beta \epsilon \beta, \eta \delta \epsilon \nu Plat. Sympos. 203 B) Mt. 26. 43,$ $L. 9. 32 (Mc. 14. 40 var. lect. <math>\beta \epsilon \beta$., $\kappa a \tau a \beta \epsilon \beta$., $\kappa a \tau a \beta a \rho \nu \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \iota$. Bapúνω is the ordinary Att. word, but in N.T. besides this passage it only occurs as a v.l. in L. 21. 34 DH, 2 C. 5. 4 D*FG). Elsewhere in the pass.: 2 C. 1. 8, 5. 4, 1 Tim. 5. 16, L. 21. 34. Also the compounds $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \beta a \rho \epsilon \nu$, $\kappa a \tau a \beta$. in St. Paul ($\kappa a \tau a \beta$. Herm. Sim. ix. 28. 6, $\beta a \rho o \hat{\nu} \tau a$ Clem. Hom. xi. 16). W. Schmidt, Atticism. iii, 187.

Βασκαίνειν : aor. -āνa, § 16, 3.

[**Bιοῦν**]: $\beta\iota \hat{\omega} \sigma a l$ **P.** 4. 2, for Att. -*ν*aι (the only form in which this verb occurs : elsewhere $\zeta \hat{\eta} \nu$, cp. inf.).

Βλαστάνειν: pres. conj. -νη Mc. 4. 27 AC^2 al., but BC*DLΔ βλαστά from βλαστάν, as Herm. Sim. iv. 1 βλαστώντα (W.-Schm. § 15): a new 1st aor. -ησα occurs, § 19, 1.

Βλέπειν, ' to look,' aor. *έβλεψα* (Acts 3. 4) as in Att.: περιεβλεψάμην Mc. 3. 5, etc. With the meaning 'to see' (for *δρα̃ν*, vide inf.) only in pres. and impf., except Acts 28. 26 βλέψετε O.T. quot., see § 18, 3. (Προβλέψασθαι = προϊδέσθαι H. 11. 40, see § 55, 1.)

Βούλεσθαι, § 15, 3: § 21, 7.

Γαμεῖν: also used of the wife (for Att. -εἶσθαι) Mc. 10. 12 (-ηθỹ v.l.), 1 Tim. 5. 11, 14 etc.; elsewhere for the wife N.T. uses -ἰξεσθαι (but aor. -ήθην 1 C. 7. 39 = ἐγημάμην Att.), for which γαμίσκονται is read Mc. 12. 25 E al., L. 20. 34 NBL (ἐκγαμίσκ. Ε al., ἐκγαμίζ. A al., γαμοῦνται D), 35 B (γαμίζ. ND al., ἐκγαμίζ. A al.). The act. γαμίζειν (ἐκγ.) 'to give to wife': Mt. 24. 38 (γαμ. ND, rell. ἐκγ.), 1 C. 7. 38.—Aor. act. ἐγάμησα Mt. 5. 32 al., Herm. Mand. iv. 4 (so -ήθην, vide supra), for which the Att. form occurs as a v.l., γήμας Mt. 22. 35 NBL, L. 14. 20 (ἐλαβον D), 1 C. 7. 28 γαμήστgs...γήμη (D*FG γαμξ).

Γελάν, fut. -άσω, § 18, 3.

Γίνεσθαι (never γίγν. as in Att.), aor. έγενόμην and -νήθην, § 20.

Γινώσκειν (never γίγν. as in Att.), 2nd aor. conj. γνοί and γν $\hat{\psi}$, § 23, 4.

Γρηγορείν, § 17; cp. έγείρειν.

Δείσθαι, έδέετο, § 22, 2.

Διακονείν, διηκόνουν, § 15, 6.

Διδόναι, see § 23, 3 and 4.

 $\Delta_{i}\psi\hat{a}\nu, -\hat{q}s, \S 22, 1; \delta_{i}\psi\eta\sigma\omega, \S 16, 1.$

Διώκειν, fut. -ξω, § 18, 3.

Δύνασθαι pres., § 23, 2; augm. ή- or έ-, § 15, 3; fut. δυνήσομαι, § 20, 2; aor. ήδυνήθην (and ήδυνάσθην Mt. 17. 16 B, Mc. 7. 24 NB, Epic and Ionic).

Δύειν intrans. 'to set' E. 4. 26 (Homeric: Att. δύομαι), for which δύνω (Xenoph. and others) occurs in L. 4. 40 (δύσαντος D): aor. $\xi \delta v v$, $\xi \delta v \sigma a$, § 19, 1 ($\xi \delta i \eta \sigma a v$, § 19, 2); $\xi v \delta \delta v \sigma v r s$ 'creeping in' 2 Tim. 3. 6 (cp. Barn. 4. 10). 'Eνδύειν trans. 'to put on' pres. only in Mc. 15. 17 AN, correct reading $-\delta \iota \delta v \kappa \epsilon u$, see § 17: so mid. $\xi v \delta \iota \delta v \sigma \kappa e \sigma \ell a$, see ibid: but tenses as in Att. $-\delta \delta v \sigma a$, $-\delta v \sigma$

'Εγείρειν 'raise up,' 'awake': intrans. ἕγειρε (not -aι aor. mid.), sc. σεαυτόν Mc. 5. 41 etc. (Eurip. Iph. Aul. 624); intrans. -ομαι 'rise' (διεγείρομαι 'awake' intrans.), aor. ἡγὲρθην, § 20; perf. ἐγήγερται 'has been raised' 1 C. 15. 4 (late writers; Att. ἐγρήγορα 'I am awake' has become γρηγορῶ, § 17).

EIA – oída, § 23, 5: fut. $\epsilon i \delta \eta \sigma \omega$ H. 8. II O.T. quot. (Ionic and late = Att. $\epsilon i \sigma \sigma \mu \alpha i$).

Είπειν, είρηκα etc. see λέγειν.

'Ελεάν - έλεειν, § 22, 2.

Έλκειν, aor. είλκύσα as in Att., fut. έλκύσω Jo. 12. 32 (Att. έλξω).

Έλκοῦν : είλκωμένος, § 15, 6.

'Εργάζεσθαι: ήργαζόμην, ήργασάμην, είργασμαι, § 15, 5 and 6.

** Epxerolar. In Att. for 'to come' $\epsilon p \chi o \mu a \iota$ is used only in the indic., conj. tw, inf. léval etc., impf. $\hat{\eta}a$, $\hat{\eta} \epsilon \iota \nu$: 'will come' = $\epsilon \tilde{\iota} \mu \iota$. When $\epsilon \tilde{\iota} \mu$ fell out of use (§ 23, 9), $\epsilon p \chi o \mu a \iota$ was employed throughout: $\epsilon p \chi \omega \mu a \iota$, $\hat{\eta} p \chi \delta \mu \eta \nu$ etc., fut. $\epsilon \lambda \epsilon \delta \sigma \sigma \mu a \iota$ (Epic and Ionic: Phryn. 37). Aor. $\hat{\eta} \lambda \theta \sigma \nu$ and perf. $\epsilon \lambda \eta \lambda \nu \theta a$ as in Att.

*'Eoftew and žeftew (θew as early as Hom., Doric and late writers). The former predominates (as also in LXX.), so without var. lect. Mt. 9. 11, 11. 18 f, 12. 1 etc., R. 14. 2 f, 6, 20 etc.; but $\hat{\epsilon}\sigma\theta\eta\tau\epsilon$ L. 22. 30 BD*T, $\hat{\epsilon}\sigma\theta\omegav$ Mc. 1. 6 NBL* Δ , 12. 40 B, L. 7. 33 BD, 34 D, 10. 7 BD (elsewhere even Mc. and L. have $\hat{\epsilon}\sigma\theta\hat{\epsilon}w$ in all the MSS.). Fut, $\phi\hat{\alpha}\gamma\phi\omegaa$ from aor. $\hat{\epsilon}\phi\alpha\gamma\sigma\nu$, § 18, 2: 2nd sing. $\epsilon\sigma\alpha\iota$, § 21, 7. Pf. $\beta\hat{\epsilon}\beta\rho\omega\kappa\alpha$ (from the obsolete $\beta\iota\beta\rho\omega\sigma\kappa\omega$) Jo. 6. 13, aor. pass. $\beta\rho\omega\theta\hat{\eta}$ L. 22. 10 D. (The pres. in the popular language was $\tau\rho\omega\gamma\omega$, so always in S. John, elsewhere only Mt. 24. 38; see also Herm. Sim. v. 3. 7, Barn. 7. 8, 10. 2, 3.)

"Έχειν, fut. only έξω, § 14, 1; similarly ἀνέχεσθαι has only ἀνέξομαι; impf. and aor. ἀνειχ., ἀνεσχ., § 15, 7.

 $Z\hat{\eta}\nu$, fut. $\zeta\eta\sigma\omega$ and $-o\mu\alpha\iota$, § 18, 3: aor. $\xi\zeta\eta\sigma\alpha$ A. 26. 5, Herm. Sim. viii. 9. 1, for which in Att. $\xi\beta\iota\omega\nu$ was introduced as a *supplementary* form (cp. sup. $\beta\iotao\hat{\nu}\nu$): perf. unattested. (Impf. 1st sing. $\xi\zeta\eta\nu$, $-\omega\nu$, § 22, 1.)

Ζωννύναι, perf. pass. and mid. περιεζωσμένοs (Att. without σ) L.12. 35 al.

Ηκειν: 3rd. plur. *ήκασιν* Mc. 8. 3 ***ADN** (al. *ήκουσιν*, B είσίν), cp. Clem. Cor. i. 12. 2. The transition of this verb of perfect meaning to the inflection of the perfect tense is found also in LXX. and other late writings, W.-Schm. § 13, 2: Kühner I. ii.³ 438 : W. Schmidt, Jos. elocut. 470.

'Ησσοῦσθαι, 2 C. 12. 13 N*BD* ἡσσώθητε (Ionic έσσοῦσθαι), with v.l. ἡττήθητε (the Attic form [literary lang.] as in 2 P. 2. 19 f. ἤττηται, ἡττῶνται, and even ἤττημα in S. Paul), FG ἠλαττώθητε, cp. Jo. 3. 30 (literary lang.).

(Θάλλειν), aor. ἀνέθαλον, § 19, 1 (no other form attested) ; ἀναθάλλω (intrans.) Clem. Cor. i. 36. 2.

Θαυμάζειν (-εσθαι depon.), aor. έθαύμασα and -άσθην, fut. (θαυμάσομαι), -ασθήσομαι, § 18, 3 : § 20, 1.

Θεάσθαι, see θεωρείν.

Θέλειν not (as in Att.) έθέλειν, the ordinary word of the popular language for 'will' (so mod. Gk.): beside it is found βούλεσθαι (literary lang.) without distinction of meaning, rare in the Gospels, and not often in the Epistles, frequent only in the Acts.—Augm. always η , § 15, 3 (perfect unattested).

* $\Theta\epsilon\omega\rho\epsilon\tilde{\nu}$, generally defective, only pres. and impf. being used, but fut. Jo. 7. 3, aor. Mt. 28. 1, L. 8. 35 D, 23. 48 *BCD al., Jo. 8. 51 (- $\sigma\epsilon\iota$ *), Ap. 11. 12; elsewhere the tenses of $\theta\epsilon\tilde{a}\sigma\thetaa\iota$ (pres. impf. wanting) are used: aor. - $a\sigma\delta\mu\eta\nu$, perf. $\tau\epsilon\theta\epsilon\tilde{a}\mu a\iota$, aor. pass. $\epsilon\theta\epsilon\tilde{a}\theta\eta\nu$.

'Ilá
orkeobaı, mid. (Att.) H. 2. 17; llá
o $\theta\eta\tau\iota$ 'be merciful' L. 18. 13, cp. έξιλασθέν 'explated' Plat. Legg. 862 C.

Ιστάνειν (ίστâν), ίστασθαι, § 23, 2, 4, 5, 6.

Καθαρίζειν 'to cleanse' not καθαίρειν (Jo. 15. 2 D correctly καθαριεΐ, cp. H. 10. 2; κεκαθαρμένων is found in Herm. Sim. ix. 18. 3). In compounds the simpler form is more attested: διακαθάραι L. 3. 17 \aleph^*B (al. διακαθαριεῖ), ἐκκαθάρατε 1 C. 5. 7, ἐκκαθάρη 2 Tim. 2. 21.

Kabéjésrba, **kabéjéu**, **kabéjrba**. In Attic ékabéjéµµµ aor. = 'I seated myself,' *kabéjésrba*, **kabéjé** i seat' trans. and also intrans. 'I seat myself,' which is elsewhere expressed by -*ljoµaı* : $\kappa d \theta \eta \mu a\iota$ 'I sit' (in perfect sense). In the N.T. 'I set' or 'seat' is $\kappa a \theta l \omega_a$ aor. -*ira* (as in Att.): 'I seated myself' = ékabua (not mid.), so that the sense of Jo. 19. 13 is extremely doubtful : there is also a perf. *kekábuæ* (intrans.) H. 12. 2 (the present only appears in trans. sense : for fut. vide inf.); aor. ékabés $\theta \eta \nu$ from *kabéjoµa* (Phryn. 269) only in L. 10. 39 MABC*

Kalew: aor. and fut. pass. § 19, 3.

Καλείν : fut. καλέσω, § 18, 1.

(Kεραννύναι), perf. pass. κεκέρασμαι (late; Att. κέκραμαι) Ap. 14. 10.

Kepôalvev (pres. and impf. unattested), aor. $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \rho \delta \eta \sigma a$ as if from $\kappa \epsilon \rho \delta \epsilon \omega$ (Ionic and late writers) Mt. 16. 26 and passim; but $\kappa \epsilon \rho \delta a \omega$ (§ 16, 3) 1 C. 9. 21 N*ABC al. (NDE al. $\kappa \epsilon \rho \delta \eta \sigma \omega$, as also four times in the same chap. ver. 19, 20, 22); a corresponding fut. pass. $\kappa \epsilon \rho \delta \eta \theta \eta \sigma \sigma \tau \sigma \omega$ occurs 1 P. 3. 1. There is fluctuation also in Josephus between the Attic and the vulgar forms, W. Schmidt, de Jos. elocut. 451, 459.

Κλαίειν, fut. κλαύσω, § 18, 3.

Κλείειν, perf. pass. κέκλεισμαι for -ειμαι, § 16, 1.

Κλίνειν, aor. and fut. pass. $\epsilon \kappa \lambda i \theta \eta \nu$, $\kappa \lambda \iota \theta \eta \sigma \rho \mu \alpha \iota$, § 19, 3.

Kpájew, the pres. rare in Attic (which uses $\kappa \epsilon \kappa \rho a \gamma a$ instead) is often in N.T., on the other hand $\kappa \epsilon \kappa \rho a \gamma a$ is only used in Jo. 1. 15 : fut. $\kappa \rho d \xi \omega$ ($\kappa \epsilon \kappa \rho a \xi a \omega a \omega$), § 18, 3 : aor. $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \kappa \rho a \xi a$ (LXX., from $\kappa \epsilon \kappa \rho a \gamma a$) only A. 24. 21 NABC.

Κρίνειν : άποκρίνομαι, ὑποκρίνομαι, aor. and fut. § 20, 1.

Κρύβειν, aor. pass. έκρύβην, § 19, 3.

(Kreivew): only in compound $d\pi o \kappa \tau \epsilon i \nu \omega$ and $-\epsilon \nu (\nu) \omega$, § 17; aor. pass. $d\pi \epsilon \cdot \kappa \tau d\nu \partial \eta \nu$ (late) Mc. 9. 31 al. = Att. $d\pi \epsilon \partial a \nu o \nu$.

(Kveiv) a mokuei Ja. 1. 15, -instev 1. 18 (from $\kappa i\omega$ we have $\epsilon \kappa i \omega \mu \epsilon \nu$ in LXX., W.-Schm. § 15).

Κυλίειν (already in Att.; older form $-lν\delta\omega$) Mc. 9. 20, fut. $-l\sigma\omega$ Mc. 16. 3, aor. act. $\epsilon\kappa\delta\lambda$ ισα, perf. pass. $\kappa\epsilon\kappa\delta\lambda$ ισμαι as in Att.

Λακεῖν 'to burst': ἐλάκησεν Α. 1. 18 (cp. Acts of Thomas, § 33) as in Aristoph. Nub. 410 διαλακήσασα : elsewhere unknown : to be distinguished from λάσκω 'sound' (aor. ἐλάκον).

Δαμβάνειν, fut. λήμψομαι, aor. pass. $i \lambda \eta \mu \phi \theta \eta \nu$ ($\lambda \eta \mu \psi$ is Ph. 4. 15, $d\nu d\lambda \eta \mu \psi$ is L. 9. 51: προσωπολήμπτηs) as in other Hellenistic writings, § 6, 8. (The later Mss. restore the Attic form by omitting the μ .)

(Aéyeuv 'to collect'): only in $\sigma \nu \lambda \lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega$, $-\xi \alpha$, $\epsilon \kappa \lambda \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \gamma \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma s$ (Att. usually $\epsilon \xi \epsilon \iota \lambda \epsilon \gamma \mu$.) L. 9. 35.

* $\Delta \epsilon_{\gamma e t \nu}$ 'to say': Att. $\lambda \epsilon_{\lambda} \omega_{\nu} \epsilon_{\lambda} \epsilon_{\lambda} \epsilon_{\alpha}$ etc.; but in N.T. defective (the beginning of this defective state reaches back into Attic times, Miller, Amer. Journ. of Philol. xvi. 162) with only pres. and impf.; the remaining tenses being aor. $\epsilon_{\pi \sigma \nu}$, -a (§ 21, 1), fut. $\epsilon_{\rho} \omega_{\nu}$, perf. $\epsilon_{\rho} \epsilon_{\eta} \kappa_{\alpha}$, aor. pass. $\epsilon_{\rho \rho} \epsilon_{\eta \nu}$, $\epsilon_{\eta} \theta_{\eta \nu a}$, § 16, 1, perf. $\epsilon_{\eta} \mu_{\alpha a}$. (Still $\lambda \epsilon_{\gamma e \iota \nu}$ and $\epsilon_{\ell \pi e \iota \nu}$ were felt to be separate verbs, otherwise we should not find these combinations: $\tau_{\sigma} \omega_{\tau} \sigma_{\ell} \epsilon_{\ell} \omega_{\nu} \lambda_{\epsilon} \epsilon_{\gamma e \iota}$ Jo. 21. 19, $\epsilon_{\ell \pi e \nu} \lambda_{\epsilon \gamma \omega \nu}$ L. 12. 25, 20. 2.) But $\delta_{\iota} \alpha_{\lambda} \epsilon_{\gamma \omega \mu \alpha}$, $\delta_{\iota} \alpha_{\lambda} \epsilon_{\lambda} q_{\eta \nu}$ as in Att. (Mc. 9. 34), see § 20, 1.

Λείπειν: (class.) with alternative form $\lambda i \mu \pi \dot{a} \nu \epsilon \nu$, διε $\lambda i \mu \pi a \nu \epsilon \nu$ Acts 8. 24 D, 17. 13 D, ὑπολιμπάνειν 1 P. 2. 21, ἐγκαταλιμπανόμενοι FG Euseb. Chrys. in 2 C. 4. 9 (also LXX.); 1st aor. ἐλειψα occurs occasionally instead of ἕλιπον, § 19, 1.

Λούειν, λέλουμαι, § 16, 1.

(**Μέλειν**) έπιμελοῦμαι (LXX.) or -ομαι (both Attic forms) not represented: fut. -ήσομαι, § 20, 2: μεταμέλομαι (the only Att. form) 2 C. 7. 8, aor. -ήθην (not attested in Att.) Mt. 21. 29 etc., fut. -ηθήσομαι H. 7. 21 O.T. quot.

Μέλλειν: έμελλον and ήμελλον, § 15, 3.

Μιαίνειν : μεμίαμμαι, § 16, 3.

Μνηστεύειν: perf. pass. μεμνήστευμαι v.l., § 15, 6.

Nήθειν 'to spin' for $\nu \hat{\eta} \nu$ (Ionic and late), the constant N.T. form, cp. $a\lambda \hat{\eta}\theta \epsilon \iota \nu$.

Νίπτειν for νίζειν, § 17.

(Ξυρεῖν), pres. unattested : aor. mid. ξύρασθαι as if from ξύρειν (not ξυρασθαι pres.) 1 C. 11. 6 and ξυρήσασθαι A. 21. 24 (both forms unattested in Att.), but in Acts D has ξύρωνται, $\aleph B^*D^2 EP$ ξυρήσονται : perf. ἐξύρημαι (Att.) 1 C. 11. 5.

(O'yew) avolytew (never -yrúpau): the angment is always in the a in the comp. $\delta_{iavolytew}$, $\delta_{involythytheta}$ L. 24. 31, $\delta_{infvolytev}$ 32 etc.; also in the simple vb. constantly in the 2nd aor. pass. $\frac{1}{2}volytytheta}$ A. 12. 10 (- $\chi \ell \eta$ E al.), which is a new formation; in the other forms (the impf. is only attested for $\delta_{iav.}$) the old syllabic augm. is still strongly represented: 1st aor. act. $\frac{1}{2}vel_{\xi}a$ Jo. 9. 14 ($\frac{1}{2}vel_{\xi}ev$ LX, $\frac{1}{2}vol_{\xi}ev$ D), 17 $\frac{1}{2}vol_{\xi}ev$ NAD al., BX $\frac{1}{2}vel_{\xi}ev$, KL $\frac{1}{2}vel_{\xi}ev$, similarly ver. 32: in verses 21, 26, 30 B also has $\frac{1}{2}vol_{\xi}ev$, and this form deserves preference (cp. A. 5. 10, 9. 40, 12. 14, 14. 27, Ap. 6. 1, 3 etc.); --perf. (intrans. as in late writers) $\frac{1}{2}vel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}a$ Jo. 1. 52 ($\frac{1}{2}vewy\delta ra$ N), 1 C. 16. 9, 2 C. 6. 11, elsewhere $\frac{1}{2}vel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel_{\chi}avel$

Οικτίρειν (so to be spelt for -είρειν), fut. οικτιρήσω R. 9. 15 O.T. quot. (late).

('Ollivai) $d\pi \circ \lambda$, § 23, 1: fut. $d\pi \circ \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \omega$ as also in Herm. Sim. viii. 7. 5 (=Att. $d\pi \circ \lambda \hat{\omega}$ l C. l. 19 O.T. quot., so nearly always in LXX.): but fut. pass. $d\pi \circ \lambda \hat{\omega} \hat{\mu} \omega$ L. 13. 3 etc.

*'Opâv is still more defective than in Attic, since even the pres. and impf. are rare (being confined to the literary language): the popular language replaced them by means of $\beta\lambda\epsilon\pi\epsilon\iota\nu$ and $\theta\epsilon\omega\rho\epsilon\iota\nu$. (Exceptions: $\delta\rhoa$, $\delta\rho\tilde{a}\pi\epsilon$, $ca\nu\epsilon$, ϵte Mt. 8. 4 etc. [but $\beta\lambda\epsilon\pi\epsilon\tau\epsilon$ is also used in this sense A. 13. 40 etc.]: also L. 16. 23, 23. 49, A. 8. 23?, H. 11. 27, 1 P. I. 8, Ja. 2. 24 [Ap. 18. 18, Jo. 6. 2, Mc. 8. 24]: in composition H. 12. 2, A. 2. 25 O.T., R. 1. 20; pres. and impf. are rare also in Hermas: Vis. iii. 2. 4, 8. 9, Mand. vi. 2. 4: Barn. $\delta\rho\tilde{a}\tau\epsilon$ 15. 8). The perf. is still always $\epsilon\delta\rhoa\kappaa$ ($\epsilon\omega\rho$.), § 15, 6: acr. $\epsilon\delta\delta\sigma\nu$ (a, § 21, 1): fut. $\delta\psi\rho\mu\omega\iota$: aor. pass. $\omega\phi\theta\eta\nu$ apparus, fut. $\delta\phi\theta\eta\sigma\rho\mu\iota$ (perf. $\omega\pi\tau\iota$ Herm. Vis. iii. 1. 2 %). In addition a new present form is created $\delta\pi\tau\dot{a}\nu\rho\mu\iota$ A. 1. 3 (LXX.; Papyr. Louvre notices et extr. de MSS. xviii. 2, no. 49 according to the facsimile).

Παίζειν, παίξω ctc., § 16, 2; § 18, 3.

Παύειν, άναπαήσομαι, § 20, 1.

Πείθειν, aor. pass. έπείσθην, fut. πεισθήσομαι L. 16. 31 (πιστεύσουσιν D).

Πεινάν, - $\hat{q}s$ etc., § 22, 1 : aor. $\hat{\epsilon}\pi\epsilon\hat{\iota}\nu\alpha\sigma\alpha$, § 16, 1.

Πεφάζειν 'to tempt' or 'try any one' (Hom., and late writers) always for Att. $\pi ειρ \hat{a}ν$; also for 'to attempt anything'=Att. $\pi ειρ \hat{a}σ θ aι$ A. 24. 6 al. ($\pi ειρ \hat{a}σ θ aι$ A. 26. 21 speech of Paul before Agrippa).

Πιάζειν, Πιέζειν. The latter = 'to press' as in Att. L. 6. 38; the former is confined to the common language = 'to lay hands on' (mod. Gk. πιάνω), aor. έπίασα, ἐπιάσθην (John, Acts, once even in St. Paul, Apoc.).

Πιμπλâν for -áναι, § 23, 2.

Πίνειν, fut. πίομαι, πίεσαι, § 21, 7; aor. ἔπιον, imper. πίε L. 12. 19 (Att. also π⁽²⁾θι), infin. contracted to πε⁽¹⁾ν, π⁽¹⁾ (§ 6, 5) Mt. 27. 34 8^{*}D, Mc. 10. 38 D, 15. 23 D, Jo. 4. 7 8^{*}B*C*DL, cp. ibid. 9, 10 etc. (Anthol. Pal. xi. 140 in verse: papyri in W. Schmidt, Gtg. Gel. Anz. 1895, 40.)</sup>

*Πιπράσκειν, in Hellenistic Gk. conjugated in full with the exception of fut. and aor. act. (so impf. act. $i\pi i\pi \rho a\sigma \kappa o\nu A. 2. 45$). In Attic it is only in the pass. that the conjugation is fairly complete: the act. has perf. $\pi i\pi \rho a\kappa a$ (Mt. 13. 46: D $i\pi \omega \lambda \eta \sigma \epsilon \nu$), but in the other tenses $\pi \omega \lambda \epsilon i\nu$ and $i\pi o \delta i \delta \sigma \sigma \theta a \iota$ are used. The N.T. employs the aorist of the latter of these two verbs (A. 5. 8, 7. 9, H. 12. 16), from the former we have $\pi\omega\lambda\hat{\omega}$, $\epsilon\pi\omega\lambda\sigma\nu\nu$, $\epsilon\pi\omega\lambda\eta\sigma\alpha$, $\pi\omega\lambda\sigma\hat{\nu}\mu\alpha$ pass. (all used in Att. as well): in addition to these $\pi\epsilon\pi\rho\mu\mu\alpha$ R. 7. 14, $\epsilon\pi\rho\delta\eta\nu$ Mt. 18. 25 etc.

Πίπτειν, έπεσον, and more frequently έπεσα, § 21, 1.

Ποθείν, aor. ἐπόθησα, § 16, 1.

Palver, partifer. For reduplication, § 15, 6.

'Ρεῖν, fut. ρεύσω, § 18, 3 (Attic has pres. fut. ρεύσομαι, aoristic fut. ρυήσομαι). 'Ρηγνύναι in the pass. Mt. 9. 17, L. 5. 6 A al.: for which ρήσσειν (-ττειν, late writers) appears in Mt. 9. 17 D, L. 5. 6 NBL, Mc. 2. 22 AΓ al., v.l. ρήξει; aor. έρρηξα; the old epic word ρήσσειν = τύπτειν, cp. the Attic (and LXX.) ράττειν ' to dash down' Demosth. 54. 8 is found with the latter meaning in Mc. 9. 18 (ράσσει D), L. 9. 42, LXX. Sap. 4. 19: Hermas, Mand. xi. 3 ράξαι αs). To this word also belongs προσέρηξεν = προσέβαλε L. 6. 48.

[•]Ρίπτειν and βίπτειν, Att., in the N.T. the present stem only occurs in A. 22. 23, -ούντων (-όντων DEHL) cp. $\epsilon\rho(\rho)$ ίπτουν Herm. Vis. iii. 5. 5: perf. ρέριμμαι, § 15, 6.

'Ρύεσθαι ' to save' (Epic, Ionic, and late writers) with aor. mid. $\epsilon \rho(\rho) \nu \sigma \delta \mu \eta \nu$ and aor. pass. $\epsilon \rho(\rho) \nu \sigma \theta \eta \nu$ (late) L. 1. 74 etc.

Σαλπίζειν, σαλπίσω etc., § 16, 2.

Σημαίνειν, έσήμανα, § 16, 3.

***E**κοπείν, σκά**μ**ασθαι in Attic form one verb, since only pres. and impf. of σκοπείν are found, and from σκάψ, the forms -πτομαι, έσκεπτόμην are absent. In N.T. σκοπείν is used as in Att., έπισκέπτεσθαι however is also found in the pres. = 'to visit' (H. 2. 6, Ja. 1. 27); ἐπισκοπείν = 'to take care' H. 12. 15 (ἐπισκέπτεσθαι 'to inspect' Clem. Cor. i. 25. 5; συνεσκέπτοντο Ev. Petr. 43).

Σπουδάζειν, fut. - $\sigma\omega$, § 18, 3.

Στηρίζειν, tenses, § 16, 2.

Στρωννύειν (not στορενν., which appears first in late scholiasts), § 23, 1.

Σώζειν (ι adscript, § 3, 3): like ἐσώθην (ἐσαώθην, σαόω) the perf. σέσωται is still found Acts 4. 9 NA (v.l. -σται), but σεσωσμένοι Ε. 2. 5 all MSS., and in v. 8 only P has the Att. form -ωμένοι.

Tάσσειν, $\dot{\epsilon}$ τάγην, together with $\dot{\epsilon}$ τάχθην, § 19, 3.

Teleiv, fut. $\tau \in \lambda \notin \sigma \omega$, § 18, 1.

Τίκτειν, έτέχθην, § 19, 3.

Tuyyáveuv: the Hellenistic perf. is $\tau \epsilon \tau \epsilon \nu \chi a$ for Att. $\tau \epsilon \tau \nu \chi \eta \kappa a$, Phryn. 395: so H. 8. 6 $\tau \epsilon \tau \epsilon \nu \chi \epsilon \nu \aleph^{\circ} BD^{\circ}E$ (v.l. $\tau \epsilon \tau \nu \chi \eta \kappa \epsilon \nu P$, $\tau \epsilon \tau \nu \chi \epsilon$ male $\aleph^{*}AD^{*}KL$, a form which is also occasionally found in the older editions of late writers: Lob. on Phryn. loc. cit.).

Túrreν* is defective and completed by means of other verbs as in Attic : $\tau \iota \pi r \epsilon \nu$, $\tilde{\epsilon} \tau \nu \pi \tau \sigma \nu$, $\pi \alpha \tau \delta \xi \omega$, $\tilde{\epsilon} \pi \dot{\alpha} \tau \alpha \xi a$ (pres. impf. etc. from this stem not found), $\tilde{\epsilon} \pi a \omega a$ (no pres. and impf. found), pass. $\tau \iota \pi \tau \sigma \mu a \iota$, aor. $\tilde{\epsilon} \pi \lambda \dot{\eta} \gamma \eta \nu$ (the only form of this verb represented) Ap. 8. 12.

*'**Y** $\pi \dot{\alpha}\gamma \epsilon \nu$ 'to go,' 'depart,' a word of the common language (never in Acts, Paul, or Hebrews; mod. Gk. $\pi \dot{\alpha}\gamma \omega$, $\pi \eta \gamma a l \nu \omega$), which makes only a present tense (most frequently the pres. imperat.); supplemented by $\pi o \rho \epsilon i o \mu a \iota$ (which, however, is not defective itself).

Φαίνειν, έφανα, § 16, 3 : φανήσομαι (φανοῦμαι), § 20, 2.

(Φαύσκειν LXX.), Φώσκειν (ἐπιφώσκουσα Mt. 28. Ι, ἐπέφωσκεν L. 23. 54), an Ionic and Hellenistic verb, only found in composition with δια-, ἐπι-, ὑπο-, and elsewhere only in pres. and impf. (cp. φάοs, φῶs): N.T. has fut. ἐπιφαύσει E. 5. 14 a quotation (διέφαυσε LXX. Gen. 44. 3; ὑπόφαυσε Herodot.).

* $\Phi \epsilon \rho \epsilon \iota \nu$, $\eta \nu \epsilon \gamma \kappa a$, $-\epsilon \iota \nu$ etc. § 21, 1.

Φθάνειν, aor. ξφθάσα (so and ξφθην Attic), perf. ξφθακα (unattested in Att.) 1 Th. 2. 16 BD*. Meaning 'to arrive at,' 'come upon' as in mod. Gk.; 'to anticipate' only in 1 Th. 4. 15 (for which προφθ. is used Mt. 17. 25). Φοβείσθαι, φοβηθήσομαι, § 20, 2.

Φορείν, φορέσω etc. § 16, 1.

Φύειν, in act. only H. 12. 15 (O.T. quot.) intransitive (frequently in late writers); elsewhere only aor. $\epsilon \phi \delta \eta \nu$, § 19, 2.

Χαίρειν, χαρήσομαι, § 18, 3.

Χύ(ν)νειν for χεῖν, § 17: fut. χεῶ, § 18, 2: aor. ἔχεα as in Att.: pass. κέχυμαι, ἐχύθην also Att.

Ψύχειν, pres. L. 21. 26 άπο-: fut. perf. ψυγήσομαι, § 18, 3.

' $\Omega\theta\epsilon v$, augment, § 15, 2.

'Ωνείσθαι, augment, § 15, 2: aor. ώνησάμην Α. 7. 16 (Att. $i π \rho i d μ η ν$, which is still used in the LXX.).

§ 25. ADVERBS.

1. Adverbs of manner formed from adjectives with termination -ws occasionally have a comparative with a corresponding ending in -τέρως: περισσοτέρως 2 C. 1. 12, and constantly in St. Paul, H. 2. 1, 13. 19 (6. 17 -ότερον, but B -οτέρως, 7. 15 -ότερον), Mc. 15. 14 ENP al. (περισσώs NAB al.), 7. 36 D (-ότερον NAB al.), cp. for their meaning and usage § 11, 4; σπουδαιοτέρως Ph. 2. 28 (D*FG -ότερον); cp. έσχάτως «χειν (Polyb.) Mc. 5. 23. Elsewhere such comparative adverbs take $-\tau\epsilon\rho\sigma\nu$, which is also the predominant termination in Attic, and from $-(i)\omega\nu$ the constant adverbial form is $-(i)\omega\nu$ ($\beta\epsilon\lambda\tau_{i}\omega\nu$ etc., Attic has also the adverbial ending -όνως). 'Well' is καλώς, no longer & (except in E. 6. 3 O.T. quot., A. 15. 29 literary language : & ποιείν 'to benefit 'anyone, only in Mc. 14. 7); 'better' is κρείσσον (1 C. 7. 38). Διπλότερον 'in double measure' Mt. 23. 15 (late).-On ανώτερον, κατωτέρω, πορρώτερον (-τέρω) see § 11, 5. We have an instance of a numeral adverb $\pi \rho \omega \tau \omega s$ in A. 11. 26 $\times BD^2$ ($\pi \rho \omega \tau \sigma v$ A al., D* reads differently), i.e. 'for the first time,' cp. Clem. Hom. ix, 4 τον πρώτως άναγκάσαντα, xvi. 20 πρώτος έφθέγξω, & πρώτως ήκού- $\sigma a \mu \epsilon v$, always used of the first appearance of something. Similarly in Polyb. vi. 5. 10, Diod. Sic. iv. 24 τότε πρώτωs etc., Phryn. Lob. 311 f.—An instance of an adverb formed from a participle (according to classical precedent) is $\phi\epsilon_i\delta_0\mu\dot{\epsilon}\nu\omega_s \ 2 \ C. \ 9. \ 6 \ (Plutarch).$

2. In adverbs of place the distinction between 'where?' and 'whither?' is not always preserved even in classical Gk. ($\check{\epsilon}\nu\theta a$, $\check{\epsilon}\nu\tau a\hat{\upsilon}\theta a$, $\check{\epsilon}\nu\theta a \delta \epsilon$, $\ddot{a}\nu\omega$, $\kappa\dot{a}\tau\omega$, $\check{\epsilon}\check{c}\sigma\omega$, $\check{\epsilon}\check{\xi}\omega$);¹ in the N.T. there is no longer any distinction whatever, in the same way that $\check{\epsilon}\nu$ and ϵ 's begin to be confused (§ 39, 3). Ho $\hat{\upsilon}$ is 'where?' and 'whither?' ($\tau o\hat{\iota}$ has disappeared); to it corresponds $o\delta$, $\check{\sigma}\tau\sigma\nu$ ($\tau\sigma\nu$ indef. is only in H. 2. 6, 4. 4, and in the sense 'about' in R. 4. 19; $\delta\dot{\eta}\tau\sigma\nu$ H. 2. 16). 'Here' ('hither') is expressed by $\check{\epsilon}\nu\theta a\delta\epsilon$ in L. (esp. in Acts) and Jo. 4. 15 f. (nowhere by $\check{\epsilon}\nu\tau a\hat{\upsilon}\theta a$), but usu. by $\delta\delta\epsilon$ (in Acts only 9. 14, 21), which no longer has its original meaning 'thus' (from $\tilde{\omega}s - \delta\epsilon$): Att. also occasionally

¹ But Attic writers still have beside $\epsilon i \sigma \omega$, $\epsilon \xi \omega$ the forms $\epsilon \nu \delta \sigma \nu$, $\epsilon \nu \tau \delta s$, $\epsilon \kappa \tau \delta s$ to express the answer to the question 'where?'; accordingly Phrynichus 127 condemns the use of $\epsilon i \sigma \omega$ in answer to this question, in spite of the instances that occur in poetry and prose. N.T. never has $\epsilon \nu \delta \sigma \nu$, and only rarely $\epsilon \nu \tau \delta s$, $\epsilon \kappa \tau \delta s$ (the latter most often in St. Paul), which are still correctly used to answer the question 'where?'.

uses $\delta \delta \epsilon =$ 'hither.'¹ 'There' ('thither') is $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{\iota}$, in scholarly language $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{\iota} \sigma \epsilon A$. 21. 3, 22. 5 = 'there' ($D \epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{\iota}$).² Cp. $\delta \mu \delta \sigma \epsilon$ for $\delta \mu o \hat{\upsilon} A$. 20. 18 D joined with $\delta \nu \tau \omega \nu$; $\pi a \nu \tau a \chi o \hat{\upsilon}$ 'to every quarter' Mc. 1. 28, $d \lambda \lambda a \chi o \hat{\upsilon}$ 'to another place' ibid. 38, Lob. Phryn. 43 f.—The local adverbs in -y are no longer represented except $\pi \delta \nu \tau a \pi \nu \tau a \chi \hat{\upsilon}$ (- $\hat{\upsilon} \oplus HLP$) 'everywhere' A. 21. 28; $\pi \delta \nu \tau \eta \tau \epsilon \kappa a \hat{\iota} \pi a \nu \tau a \chi o \hat{\upsilon}$ 24. 3 appears to mean 'in every way and everywhere.'

3. Adverbs answering the question 'whence?' with termination $-\theta\epsilon\nu$: $\pi\delta\theta\epsilon\nu$ ($\pi\delta\theta\epsilon\nu$ nowhere), $\delta\theta\epsilon\nu$ ($\delta\pi\delta\theta\epsilon\nu$ nowhere), $\epsilon\nu\theta\epsilon\nu$ (opposed to έκει, unclass.) Mt. 17. 20 (ἐντεῦθεν C), L. 16. 26 (= Attic ἐντεῦθεν, $\epsilon \nu \theta \epsilon \nu \delta \epsilon$), elsewhere $\epsilon \nu \tau \epsilon \hat{\nu} \theta \epsilon \nu$, which is also used for Attic $\epsilon \nu \theta \epsilon \nu$ in the phrase Jo. 19. 18 έντεῦθεν καὶ ἐντεῦθεν = Attic ἕνθεν καὶ ἕνθεν (Ap. 22. 2 έντ. καὶ ἐκεῦθεν AB, ἐντ. καὶ ἐντ. some minuscules, ἔνθεν καὶ κ*, χόθεν Mc. 1. 45 EGU al. as in Attic prose), ἀλλαχόθεν.—The termination $-\theta \epsilon \nu$ has become stereotyped and meaningless in most cases in the words $\ell\sigma\omega\theta\epsilon\nu$, $\ell\omega\theta\epsilon\nu$ 'within,' 'without,' as is often the case even in Attic Gk. (they have the meaning 'from within,' 'from without' in Mc. 7. 18, 21, 23, L. 11. 7; these forms are never used in answer to the question 'whither?'): also in κυκλόθεν Ap. 4. 8 (Att.): and the termination is entirely without force in $\xi \mu \pi \rho \sigma \sigma \theta \epsilon \nu$, $\delta \pi \iota \sigma \theta \epsilon \nu$, as it is from the earliest times. On the other hand $a\nu\omega\theta\epsilon\nu = from\ above'$ ($\kappa\dot{a}\tau\omega\theta\epsilon\nu$ does not appear); $a\pi'a\nu\omega\theta\epsilon\nu$ $\epsilon\omegas\ \kappa\dot{a}\tau\omega$ in Mt. 27. 51 ($a\pi'$ om. 8L), Mc. 15. 38 is like ἀπὸ μακρόθεν beside μακρόθεν Mt. 26. 58 (ἀπὸ om. «CF al.), Mc. 15. 40, 5. 6 ($a\pi \delta$ om. AKL al.) etc. (also used in conjunction with isras θa_i , so that $d\pi \partial$ and $-\theta \epsilon \nu$ both lose their force), $\epsilon \kappa \pi a_i \delta_i \delta \theta \epsilon \nu$ Mc. 9. 21 (without $\epsilon \kappa$ AX al., D $\epsilon \kappa \pi a \iota \delta \delta \delta$), cp. $(d\pi', \epsilon \xi)$ ou part $\delta \theta \epsilon r$ Homer, Acts 14. 17 (without prep.); later writers are fond of reviving this kind of expression Lob. Phryn. 46. Makpó $\theta \epsilon v$ first occurs in Hellenistic Gk. (= Attic $\pi \delta \rho \rho \omega \theta \epsilon \nu$ which occurs in L. 17. 12 with έστησαν, H. 11. 13), also παιδ(ι)όθεν is first found in late writers (Lob. Phryn. 93); on the other hand the classical $\epsilon \gamma \gamma \hat{\upsilon} \theta \epsilon \nu$ is absent from N.T.

4. Adverbs of time.— $\Pi \delta \tau \epsilon$, $\pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$, $\delta \tau \epsilon$ ($\delta \pi \delta \tau \epsilon$ only L. 6. 3 AEHK al., $\delta \tau \epsilon$ NBCD al.), $\tau \delta \tau \epsilon$; besides these ($\delta \lambda \lambda \delta \tau \epsilon$ is wanting) $\pi \delta \nu \tau \sigma \tau \epsilon$ frequently in St. Paul for $\delta \epsilon \iota^3$ (mod. Gk. and late writers, cp. Phryn. 103), and occasionally in Mt. Mc. L. (never in Acts), H. 7. 25 (never in Epp. Cath.); $\delta \epsilon \iota$ only occurs in [Mc. 15. 8 ACD al., om. NBA] A. 7. 51, 2 C. 4. 11, 6. 10 [Tit. 1. 12 quot., H. 3. 10 O.T.], 1 P. 3. 15 (om. A Syr. Euseb.), 2 P. 1. 12.— $\Pi \eta \nu \iota \kappa a$ etc. do not occur, only $\eta \nu \iota \kappa a$ in 2 C. 3. 15 f.

5. The waning of the system of the correlative adverbs is seen chiefly in the indefinite adverbs, of which $\pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$ alone is in ordinary

¹ Hermas frequently has abe kåkeîoe 'hither and thither,' Mand. v. 2. 7 etc.

² For $i\kappa\epsilon$ in A. 18. 19 BHLP have $a\delta\tau\sigma\vartheta$, which is only found elsewhere in Mt. 26. 36 (om. RC^*), A. 15. 34 β text (?), 21. 4 (not without var. lect.).

³ In Hermas the use of $d\epsilon t$ instead of $\pi d\nu \tau \sigma \tau \epsilon$ is one of the indications which mark the forged conclusion of Simonides (Sim. ix. 30-x.).

use $(\pi \omega s \text{ only in } \epsilon i \pi \omega s, \mu \eta \pi \omega s : \text{ on } \pi ov [\pi o \theta \epsilon v]$ see 2 and 3); also in the indefinite relatives, which become confused with the definite forms (§§ 13, 3; 50, 1), and then in some cases (for $\delta \pi \delta \theta \epsilon v$ sup. 3, $\delta \pi \delta \tau \epsilon$ 4) entirely or almost entirely disappear.

6. On compounded adverbs see § 28, 7.

§ 26. PARTICLES.

1. In the use of particles the New Testament language is poor in comparison with the classical, not only because a considerable number of old particles are completely absent, but more especially because many of the remainder are only employed in a limited way. The Syntax will treat of the manner of employment and the combinations of the individual particles; here we merely give a table of those which are represented and those which are absent, together with remarks on the form of some of them.

3. The following Attic particles are entirely wanting: $d\tau 4\rho$, $d\tau \epsilon$, av, $\gamma 0vv$, $\delta\eta\theta\epsilon v$, $\delta\eta\tau a$, $\epsilon i\theta\epsilon$, μa , $\nu \eta$, $\mu\eta\tau o$, μwv , νvv , $\delta\tau \delta\tau a v$, $(ov\kappa ovv)$, $ov\tau i$, $ov\tau o$, $\tau\epsilon ws$. But the limitation of the rich store of particles began at an early period, as may be shown e.g. by the fact that in the 'A $\theta\eta va(wv \Pi \delta)\iota\tau\epsilon(a)$ of Aristotle not only all the last-named particles with the exception of $d\tau\epsilon$ are absent, but also the following among those enumerated under 2: $d\rho a$, $d\rho a$, $d\chi\rho\iota$, $\gamma\epsilon$, $\delta\eta\pi ov$, $\delta\iota\delta\tau\epsilon\rho$, $\delta\iota\delta\tau\iota$, $\epsilon dv\pi\epsilon\rho$, $\epsilon i\pi\epsilon\rho$, $\epsilon i\tau\epsilon$, $\epsilon \pi\epsilon\iota\delta\eta\pi\epsilon\rho$, $(\epsilon \pi\epsilon\epsilon n\epsilon\rho)$, $(\eta\pi\epsilon\rho)$, $\eta\tau o\iota$, $\kappa a(\tau oi,$ $\mu\epsilon vovv\gamma\epsilon$, $(\mu\epsilon v\tau oi ?)$, $\mu\epsilon \chi\rho\iota$, $\mu\eta\tau\iota$, vai, $\delta\mu ws$, $\delta\pi\delta\tau\epsilon$, $ov\kappa ov$, $ov\chii$, $\tau oi\gamma a\rhoov$, $\tau o(vvv.$

4. 'Eáv is the Hellenistic form for 'if' (cp. $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu\tau\sigma\hat{v}$, $\sigma\epsilona\nu\tau\sigma\hat{v}$), not $\ddot{\eta}\nu$ or $\ddot{a}\nu$; $\ddot{a}\nu$ however is found in the MSS. of the N.T. in some few instances, so Jo. 12. 32 B, 13. 20 ($\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ DEFG al.), 16. 23 BC al., 20. 23 bis ($\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ AD, semel **), Acts 9. 2 *E. This may perhaps be connected with the disproportionately greater encroachment which $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ made into the province of $\ddot{a}\nu$, out of which a kind of interchange of meanings between the two words might easily grow (modern Gk. uses $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ and $\ddot{a}\nu$ for 'if'). 'Eáv is found very frequently after

¹ Hermas has further kal $\mu\eta\nu$ Mand. iv. 1. 8, V. 1. 7 (Barn. 9. 6) and $\gamma o \partial \nu$ (= $o \partial \nu$, as also in other late writers, see Steph.-Dind. $\gamma o \partial \nu$), Sim. viii. 8. 2; Barnabas has $\pi\epsilon\rho as \gamma\epsilon \tau o in 10. 2$ and elsewhere.

relatives in the N.T., as in the LXX. and the papyri: ¹ Mt. 5. 19 ös $\epsilon \dot{a}\nu$ (immediately followed by ös õ' $a\nu$), 8. 19 öπου $\epsilon \dot{a}\nu$, 10. 42 ös $\epsilon \dot{a}\nu$ (BD $a\nu$), 11. 27 ϕ $\epsilon \dot{a}\nu$ ($a\nu$ D) etc.; in St. John only in 15. 7 ($a\nu$ B), 1 Jo. 3. 22 (B $a\nu$), 3 Jo. 5.

§ 27. WORD-FORMATION BY MEANS OF TERMINATIONS AND SUFFIXES.

1. The formation of words is naturally carried further in the Hellenistic language than in the classical to meet new requirements, but in all essentials the old patterns are adhered to.

Verbs from noun forms in -os have termination -ów: avagratoûv, ἀποδεκατοῦν (in the older lang. δεκατεύειν), ἀνακαινοῦν (class. -ίζειν), $d\phi v\pi v o \hat{v} v$ 'to fall asleep' (- $i \xi \epsilon v v$ in class. Gk. = 'to awake,' - $o \hat{v} v$ in Hellenistic Gk. has the same meaning; 'to fall asleep' in the older lang. = καθυπνοῦν, cp. ἐπικαθυπνοῦν Barn. 4. 13), δολιοῦν 'to deceive' (δόλιος) R. 3. 13 O.T. quot., θεμελιουν, κεφαλαιούν (-λιούν NBL) Mc. 12. 4 appears to mean 'to beat on the head' = $\kappa o \lambda a \phi i \langle \epsilon_i \nu, \epsilon_j \rangle$ but is quite unparalleled in this sense (cp. Lob. Phryn. 95), κραταιοῦν, so also σθενοῦν from το σθένος, (ἐν)δυναμοῦν from δύναμις, νεκροῦν, δυνατείν from δυνατός (άδυνατείν is old). For έξουδενίζειν (Plut.) N.T. generally has $\dot{\epsilon}\xi ov\theta\epsilon\nu\epsilon\hat{\nu}$ (LXX.), with $\theta\epsilon\nuo\hat{\nu}\nu$ as a v.l. in Mc. 9. 12.—In -iζειν or (after an ι) -άζειν : άγιάζειν (άγιοs, old form άγίζειν), αίχμαλωτίζειν, αναθεματίζειν, ανεμίζειν (old form -μοῦν), δογματίζειν, δειγματίζειν, ένταφιάζειν, θεατρίζειν, θυσιάζειν for θύειν (θυσία), ιματίζειν (from $l\mu a = \epsilon l\mu a$, not from $l\mu a \tau \iota \sigma \nu$; $l\mu a \tau \iota \sigma \mu \delta s$ appears already in Polyb.), ιουδαίζειν, μυκτηρίζειν, νηπιάζειν (Hippocr.), ορθρίζειν, πελεκί-(eiv (Polyb.), σινιάζειν (σινίον 'sieve,' also a late word; old form σάω, then σήθω), (δια) σκορπίζειν (old-Ionic, Phryn. 218), σμυρνίζειν σπλαγχνίζεσθαι from σπλάγχνα רַוָּדַמָים, συμμορφίζειν, φυλακίζειν from φυλακή 'prison'; in Hermas συνετίζειν from συνετόs, Mand. iv. 2. 2, cp. σοφίζειν 'to make wise' (LXX.) 2 Tim. 3. 15.-Verbs in -εύω are likewise formed from the most various stems : (αἰχμαλωτεύω only in 2 Tim. 3. 6 as a v.l. for $-\tau i(\omega)$, vide supra ; $-\epsilon i \omega$ Diod. Sic.), παγιδεύειν (παγίς), (έξ)ολεθρεύειν (LXX. passim) : γυμνητεύειν (-ιτεύειν) from $\gamma \nu \mu \nu \eta \tau \eta s$ (§ 3, 6), $\mu \epsilon \sigma i \tau \epsilon \nu \epsilon i \nu$ from $\mu \epsilon \sigma i \tau \eta s$ (Polyb.) 'to be naked,' 'to be a mediator,' so too ispateves (like $\beta a \sigma i \lambda \epsilon v \epsilon i \nu$, $\dot{\eta} \gamma \epsilon \mu o \nu \epsilon v \epsilon i \nu$): on a similar pattern $\epsilon \gamma \kappa \rho \alpha \tau \epsilon \upsilon \epsilon \sigma \theta \alpha \iota$ 'to behave as an $\epsilon \gamma \kappa \rho \alpha \tau \eta s$ ' (Aristot.) like εἰρωνεύεσθαι: so περπερεύεσθαι 1 C. 13. 4, παραβολεύεσθαι Ph. 2. 30 (nowhere else) 'to show oneself $\pi a \rho \dot{\alpha} \beta o \lambda o s$ ' ('foolhardy'), άναιδεύεσθαι (άναιδής) Herm. Vis. iii. 7. 5, άκριβεύεσθαι Barn. 2. 10. -In -ύνω we have σκληρύνω (like βαθύνω, μηκύνω). Cp. W.-Schm. On new present formations like $\sigma \tau \eta \kappa \omega$, $\gamma \rho \eta \gamma \rho \rho \hat{\omega}$ see § 17. § 16, 1.

2. Verbal substantives in -μός, denoting an action : ἀγιασμός, βαπτισμός, ἐνταφιασμός (-άζω 1), ὀνειδισμός, παροργισμός, πειρασμός, ῥαντισμός, σαββατισμός (from σαββατίζω, not in N.T.), σωφρονισμός

¹ For exx. see Berl. Aeg. Urk. no. 12. 18, 13. 10, 33. 16, 46. 17 etc.

all from verbs in $-i(\omega)$, $-a(\omega)$, whereas with other verbs the tendency to form such derivatives (ὀδυρμός, ἀρδμός and others in the earlier language) appears to have almost died out; we only have $d\pi\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\gamma\mu\delta\varsigma$ from $d\pi\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\gamma\chi\omega$, $d\rho\pi a\gamma\mu\delta s$ from $d\rho\pi\delta\omega$: and in Hermas $\sigma\nu\mu\phi\nu\rho\mu\delta s$ Vis. ii. 2. 2 ×, πλατυσμόs Mand. v. 2. 3 (Clem. Cor. 3. 1). But substantives in -µa (generally denoting the result of the action) are formed from verbs of all kinds : a vónµa 'a sin,' aitíwµa A. 25. 7 (a strange form instead of the old airíaµa 'an accusation'),1 άνταπόδομα (old form -σις), άντλημα 'an instrument for drawing water,' a strange form (elsewhere $d\nu\tau\lambda\eta\tau\eta\rho$, $-\tau\eta\rho_{10}\nu$), $d\pi a \dot{\nu}\gamma a \sigma \mu a$, άποσκίασμα, βάπτισμα (cp. supra -σμόs, which is never used of John's baptism, and of Christian baptism only in Col. 2. 12 s°BD*FG, cp. H. 6. 2; the distinction of meaning is preserved : $\beta a \pi \tau \iota \sigma \mu \delta s$ is the act of immersion, in $\beta \dot{a} \pi \tau \iota \sigma \mu a$ the result is included),² $\dot{\epsilon} \xi \dot{\epsilon} \rho a \mu a$, ήττημα, θέλημα, ιεράτευμα (ιερατεύειν 1), κατάλυμα (Hellenistic for καταγωγείον; here also there is a peculiar use of -µa for the place of lodging), κατόρθωμα (Polyb.), πρόσκομμα; Hermas has ματαίωμα 'a vain thing' Mand. ix. 4, $\mu \epsilon \theta v \sigma \mu a$ 'an intoxicating drink' vi. 2. 5 etc. (also in Philo, like $\epsilon \delta \epsilon \sigma \mu a$). Abstract nouns, again, take termination -ous, and are mainly formed from stems that end with a vowel (not from verbs in $-\zeta \omega$, where $-\sigma \mu \delta s$ is used): $\beta \iota \omega \sigma \iota s$. έπιπόθησις, θέλησις Η. 2. 4 (elsewhere -ημα), κατάνυξις R. 11. 8 O.T. quot. (κατανύσσειν 'to stupefy' Dan. 10. 9),3 πεποίθησις (πέποιθα, Phryn. 294 Lob.), πρόσκλίσις (Polyb.), πρόσχυσις (άμάρτησις Herm. Vis. ii. 2. 5). Nouns in -είā are from verbs in -εύω: ἀρεσκεία (ἀρεσκος, -σκεύομαι, -εία; Polyb.), εριθεία (Aristot.), ίερατεία (-εύω sup. 1), μεθοδεία (-εύειν is Hellenistic from μέθοδος). The termination -μονή occurs in a few instances : $\pi\lambda\eta\sigma\mu\sigma\nu\eta$ (old), new forms $\pi\epsilon\iota\sigma\mu\sigma\nu\eta$ from πείθω and επιλησμονή Ja. 1. 25. LXX. Sir. 11. 29. related to επιλήσμων. Without suffix is oikodoun 'edification' or 'a building,' a new word. and strictly speaking incorrectly formed instead of -ia or -nois, Lob. Phryn. 490 (the formation $\delta o \mu \eta$ belongs to a primitive word δέμω, not to οἰκοδομέω); but cp. παρασκευή from -άξω and esp. the Attic µ10000pá.-New nouns to express the doer are formed in -της (no longer in -τωρ, -τήρ): βιαστής, βαπτιστής, γογγυστής, διώκτης, δότης (old form δοτήρ), έλληνιστής from -ίζειν 'to speak Greek,' so the Greek-speaking Jew A. 6. 1 etc., εὐαγγελιστής, λυτρωτής, μεριστής, προσκυνητής; such words, as is shown e.g. by Mt. 11. 12 βιάζεται - βιασταί, Jo. 4. 20 ff. προσκυνείν - προσκυνηταί, are coined with almost the same facility as verbal forms. With $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \nu \delta \dot{\nu} \tau \eta s$ 'an upper garment' Jo. 21. 7 (already in Sophocles) cp. the German 'Ueberzieher' [English 'overcoat'].—In $-\tau \eta \rho_{io\nu}$ (from $-\tau \eta \rho$) are ίλαστήριον (on σωτήριον inf. 6.), ἀκροατήριον.—It is noticeable that words in -µa in the Hellenistic language follow the analogy of those in - σ is and - $\tau\eta$ s (- τ os) in so far that they, like the latter, now prefer the verbal stem ending in a short vowel and avoid the stem with

¹ Alτίωσιs in Eustathius p. 1422. 21 is compared.

² Joseph. Ant. 18. 5. 2 uses βαπτισμόs of John's baptism.

³ Fritzsche, Paul. ad Rom. ii. 558 ff.

a long vowel: δόμα like δόσις δότης, θέμα (already in old Doric) like θέσις θετός, whence ἀνάθεμα = Att. -θημα,¹ so πόμα = Att. πῶμα, κλίμα, κρίμα, even ἀνάστεμα for -στημα² (true stem στǎ), διάστεμα A. 5. 7 D (but κατάστημα Tit. 2. 3).

3. Substantives from adjectives: with termination -6778: ayiotns. άγνότης (old form άγνεία from -εύω), άδηλότης, άφελότης Α. 2. 46 from $d\phi \epsilon \lambda \eta s$ 'simple,' 'plain,' Hellénistic (elsewhere the subst. is always ἀφέλεια), γυμνότης, ματαιότης, μεγαλειότης; corresponding forms from substantives are θ εότης (Lucian), ἀδελφότης (I and 4 Macc., Dio. Chrys.) in concrete sense 'the brotherhood' 1 P. 2. 17, 5. 9 (Clem. Cor. i. 2. 4; in abstract sense Herm. Mand. x. 1. 4), κυριότηs in concrete sense 'principality' (an angelic order) E. 1. 21 (abstract Herm. Sim. v. 6. 1) etc. - With σύνη : from adj. in -μων, with which this formation is specially frequent (σωφροσύνη, μνημοσύνη), έλεημοσύνη (already found in Callimachus : in N.T. usu. in concrete sense 'alms'): from adj. in -os (like δικαιοσύνη, άκεραιοσύνη Barn. 10. 4), but with lengthening of the antepenultimate, as in the comparative, when the syllable preceding it is short: άγαθωσύνη, άγιωσύνη, μεγαλωσύνη; ίερωσύνη (= ίερεωσ. from ίερεωwhich is from ispevs) occurs in the older language. With -(a: έλαφρία, παραφρονία 2 P. 2. 16 (from παράφρων -ονείν, cp. ευδαιμονία).

4. Substantives from substantives : The feminine in -1000 is the correct form corresponding to masculine in $-i\xi$, $\Phi o i \nu i \xi \Phi o i \nu i \sigma \sigma a$, but in the later language this becomes an independent suffix (βαλάνισσα from βαλανεύς, βασίλισσα, Γαλάτισσα), so in N.T. Συροφοινίκισσα from Συροφοίνιξ (Lucian) Mc. 7. 26 (v.l. Συραφ. i.e. Σύρα Φ .: D Φοίνισσα, Latt. Συροφοίνισσα).³—Of Latin origin are the designations ending in -lavos derived from proper names, in the N.T. 'Howbiavoi 'adherents of Herod' Mc. 3. 6 etc., and Xpnotiavoi from $X \rho \eta \sigma \tau \delta s = X \rho \iota \sigma \tau \delta s$, the heathen designation for Christians A. 11. 26, 26. 28, 1 P. 4. 16 (on η cp. § 3, 6), formed on the model of Pompeiani, Caesariani; in later times this form was frequently employed for the names of sects.⁴—Diminutives are, in keeping with the whole character of the N.T., not abundant; some, however, had become popular expressions, such as $\pi a_i \delta_i \delta_i v$, $\pi a_i \delta_i \delta_j \delta_i v$, $\pi a_i \delta_i \delta_j \delta_i v$ (old), $\psi_{\iota}\chi_{\iota}(\delta v)$ 'bread-crumb' (only in N.T. from $\psi(\xi)$, $\pi\tau\epsilon\rho\dot{\nu}\gamma\iota\sigma\nu$, ώτίον, ωτάριον 'ear' (the latter form in Mc. 14. 47 NBC, Jo. 18. 10 BC*LX) of the part of the body considered as such (Moeris says $\dot{\omega}\tau io\nu$ is Hellenistic for Attic ovs),⁵ whereas ovs (together with $\dot{\alpha}\kappa o\eta$) denotes the organ of hearing regarded as such; St. Luke, therefore, atticises when he uses ous for the part of the body (L. 22. 50: $\dot{\omega}\tau i\sigma v$

¹ Also in the sense of 'votive offering' L. 21. 5 according to $\mathbb{N}ADX$ (B al. $-\theta \eta \mu a \sigma \iota$).

² Buresch, N. Jahrb. f. kl. Philol. 1891, 539, cod. A LXX.

³ W.-Schm. § 16, 2 c, who explains it as due to a form $\Phi_{ouvikls}$ ($\beta_{a\sigmai\lambda ls}$), and cites for $\Phi_{ouviklo\sigma a}$ Herodian L. ii. 455. 19 (but see ibid. i. 268. 14, ii. 708. 10).

⁴R. A. Lipsius Ursprung des Christennamens (Jena 1873); Blass, Hermes xxx. 465 ff.

⁵ The popular language was fond of denoting the parts of the body by diminutives (Lob. Phryn. 211 f.), so modern Gk. $\mu d\pi i$ 'eye' from $\delta \mu \mu d\pi i \sigma v$, $\alpha \delta \tau i$ 'ear' (also $\sigma \omega \mu d\pi i \sigma v$ Clem. Hom. v. 1, and as early as Isocrat. Epist. 4, 11).

63

DK). Denoting smallness: $\kappa\lambda\iota\nu\iota\delta\iota\circ\nu$ L. 5. 19, 24, $\kappa\lambda\iota\nu\delta\rho\iota\circ\nu$ (Lob. Phryn. 180) A. 5. 15 NBCD (v.l. $\kappa\lambda\iota\nu\omega\nu)$, $\beta\iota\beta\lambdaa\rho\iota\delta\iota\circ\nu$ Ap. 10. 2, 8 ff. (Herm. Vis. ii. 1. 3 v.l. $\beta\iota\beta\lambda\iota\delta\rho\iota\circ\nu$, cp. $\lambda\iota\thetaa\rho\iota\delta\iota\circ\nu$ late writers), formed from $\beta\iota\beta\lambda\delta\rho\iota(\circ\nu) + \cdot\iota\delta\iota\circ\nu$ (only here). The following diminutives contain a subjective idea and belong to the special class of $\upsilon \pi \sigma \kappa \rho \rho \sigma$ $\tau\iota\kappa\dot{a}$ [endearing terms]: $\kappa\nu\nu\dot{a}\rho\iota\circ\nu$ Mt. 15. 26 f., Mc. 7. 27 f., $\iota\chi\theta\iota\delta\iota\circ\nu$ Barn. 10. 5, $\gamma\nu\nu\iota\alpha\iota\kappa\dot{a}\rho\iota\circ\nu$ (also contemptuous) 2 Tim. 3. 6, also probably $\dot{\sigma}\rho\iota\circ\nu$ Jo. 12. 14 (elsewhere $\ddot{\sigma}\nu\circ$): with the subjective sense of love $\dot{\rho}a\beta\delta\iota\sigma\nu$ Herm. Sim. viii. 2. 9.—Formed with $-\epsilon\iota\sigma\nu$ or $-\iota\sigma\nu$ is $\epsilon\iota\delta\omega\lambda\epsilon\iota\circ\nu$ or $-\iota\sigma\nu$ (§ 4, 2) from $\epsilon\iota\delta\omega\lambda\sigma\nu$ (also LXX.).¹—With $-\omega\nu$ we should not reckon $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\iota\omega\dot{\nu}$ fmount of olives, which should rather be written $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\iota\omega\omega\nu$ gen. plur. (with variant form in A. 1. 12), but no doubt $\dot{a}\phi\epsilon\delta\rho\omega'$ 'privy' Mt. 15. 17, Mc. 7. 19, cp. $\kappa\sigma\pi\rho\omega\nu$, $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\sigma\tau\epsilon\rho\epsilon\omega'$, and others.²

5. Adjectives from verbs.— $\Pi \epsilon \iota \theta \delta s$ would be formed directly from a verbal stem, did not this word in 1 C. 2. 4 owe its origin to a patent corruption ($\pi \epsilon \iota \theta \delta \delta s$ written for $-\delta \delta$). In $-\tau \sigma s$ (verbal adjectives) there are many instances of compound words (see § 28, 5); an uncompounded word is $\pi \alpha \theta \eta \tau \delta s$ 'capable of suffering' A. 26. 23 (Plutarch), in the narrower sense of words in $-\tau \delta s$; on the other hand in the more general sense, equivalent to a perf. part. pass., we have $\sigma \iota \tau \iota \sigma \tau \delta s$ Mt. 22. 4 'fattened' (besides compounded words). With the rare suffix $-\omega \lambda \delta s$ we have $\dot{\alpha} \mu \alpha \rho \tau \omega \lambda \delta s$ LXX. N.T. cp. $\phi \epsilon \iota \delta \omega \lambda \delta s$.

6. Adjectives from nouns (and participles).—In -105 $\sigma \omega \tau \eta \rho \omega s$ (old); from which the substantive $\tau \partial \sigma \omega \tau \eta \rho \omega \nu$ is formed, in LXX. 'a thankoffering,' also in the N.T. L. 3. 6, A. 28. 28 etc. = 'salvation': cp. $\dot{\eta}$ ζευκτηρία A. 27. 40 (only here, ζευκτήριοs is old). From the LXX., again, is λαός περιούσιος Tit. 2. 14= עַם סָגְלָה 'a people of possession,'= os $\pi\epsilon\rho\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota$, or o $\theta\epsilon$ os $\pi\epsilon\rho\epsilon\pi\sigma\iota\eta\sigma$ ato $\epsilon\alpha\nu\tau\psi$, cp. Jerome ap. Tisch. ad. loc., W.-Schm. § 16, 3 b. Quite unique in the Greek language is inioúrios Mt. 6. 11, L. 11. 3 which cannot well be derived from any other source but $\dot{\eta}$ έπιοῦσα sc. $\dot{\eta}$ μέρα (A. 16. 11 and elsewhere in Acts), so that its meaning is 'bread for the coming day': see the detailed exposition in W.-Schm. § 16, 3, n. 23.3 Origen (i. 245) was not acquainted with the word either in literature or in the colloquial language, and it must therefore be an artificial translation of an Aramaic expression. An obscure word in -1Kós is πιστικός Mc. 14. 3, Jo. 12. 3 (ναρδοῦ πιστικῆς), which should perhaps be rendered 'genuine' and be derived from πιστός or πίστις, but may on the other hand have an entirely different origin, W.-Schm. § 16, 3 b. Other forms in -ικός (or -ακός, after ι) are κυριακός (ήμέρα Ap. 1. 10, δείπνον 1 C. 11. 20), σκεύη κεραμικά Ap. 2. 27 with v.l.

¹ For $\cdot \epsilon i o \nu$ 'Amollow $\epsilon i o \nu$ and the like are quoted as parallels, but even there $\cdot \iota o \nu$ is at least in the majority of cases the correct form, 'Amollów $\iota o \nu$. But $\mu o \nu \sigma \epsilon i o \nu$, $\kappa a \pi \eta \lambda \epsilon i o \nu$ may be compared. In the LXX., e.g. in 1 Esd. 2. 9 AB have $\cdot \iota o \nu$.

² For details see Fischer, Vitia lexicorum N.T. 698 ff.

³[See also Lightfoot, On a Fresh Revision of the N.T., Appendix. Tr.]

-εικά i.e. 'the vessels of the potter' (κεραμεύς, but the more natural meaning is 'earthen,' so that the word is incorrectly used instead of κεραμεοῦς, Lob. Phryn. 146), σαρκικός = 'belonging to σάρξ,' 'of the nature of σάρξ '(opposed to πνευματικός), in the MSS. occasionally confounded with σάρκινος 'consisting of flesh' (like λίθινος and N.T. όστράκινος) 2 C. 3. 3 (-ικός R. 15. 27, 1 C. 9. 11, 2 C. 1. 12 [FG -ίνη], 2 C. 10. 4, 1 P. 2. 11, also 1 C. 3. 3 according to N al. [D*FG -ινοι]; in the similar passages R. 7. 14, 1 C. 3. 1, H. 7. 16, while the best tradition is in favour of -ινος, the sense demands -ικός, since there is an antithesis with πνευματικός). In -ινός we have adjectives of time (as in class. Gk. μεσημβρινός): όρθρινός¹ L. 24. 22 (ὄρθριαι K²P al., an atticising correction, Lob. Phryn. 51: -ινός also in Herm. Sim. v. 1. 1), πρωϊνός (older form πρώιος, πρῷος), καθημερινός A. 6. 1, Herm. Vis. i. 3. 2 (a similar form μεθημερινός in class. Gk.) 'daily' (from καθ' ήμέραν = class. καθημέριος), ταχινός 'speedy' (from τάχα, ταχέως) 2 P. 1. 14, 2. 1, Herm. Sim. viii. 9. 4.

§ 28. WORD-FORMATION BY COMPOSITION.

1. A distinction is drawn in Greek between true composition ($\sigma \acute{vv} \theta \epsilon \sigma v s$), in which the first of the component parts, if subject to inflection, is represented by the stem alone without inflection, and improper composition ($\pi a \rho \acute{a} \theta \epsilon \sigma v s$), *i.e.* the mere coalescing of words originally separate, without further adaptation than is required for euphony. To the class of parathetic compounds belong all compounds of verbs with prepositions, together with some substantival forms such as $\Delta \iota \acute{o} \sigma \kappa o \rho o \iota$ from $\Delta \iota \acute{o} s \kappa \acute{o} \rho \circ \iota$, and many adverbs, in the formation of which the later language showed itself as prolific as it did in the production of compound verbs. A third category is formed by the derivatives of (true or improper) compounds ($\pi a \rho a \sigma \acute{v} \nu \theta \epsilon \sigma \iota$), such as $i \pi \sigma \tau \rho o \phi \epsilon i \nu$, *i* a from $i \pi \sigma \tau \rho \acute{o} \phi o \iota$.

2. To enumerate the new (parathetic) compounds formed from verb and preposition, together with the verbal substantives and verbal adjectives belonging to them, does not come within the province of the study of grammar.² We may also have more than one preposition combined in a word, as in the classical language; special mention may be made of $\delta\iota a\pi a\rho a\tau \rho\iota\beta ai$ 1 Tim. 6. 5 'perpetual disputations' ($\pi a\rho a\tau \rho\iota\beta a' =$ 'dispute' Polyb.). Adverbs formed by composition or cohesion (incorrectly used as prepositions) are coined more freely by the later than by the classical language (Lob. Phryn. 45 ff.); as a rule they are composed of preposition and adverb, as $i\pi\epsilon\rho av\omega$ E. 1. 21 etc. ($i\pi av\omega$, $i\pi \sigma\kappa a\tau\omega$ belong to the earlier period),

¹ In the Hellenistic poets the quantity of the ι , which in other words of this class is short, is used indifferently as long or short; cod. B writes - ιvos , not - $\epsilon \iota vos$.

² Winer, five essays 'de verborum cum praep. compositorum in N.T. usu,' Leips. 1834-43; A. Rieder 'Verbs (and other words) compounded with more than one prep. in the New and Old Test.,' Progr. Gumbinnen, 1876.

čκπαλαι 2 P. 2. 3, 3. 5 (ἐκ παλαιοῦ in Attic according to Phrynichus); also from prepos. and adj. as ἐκπερισσοῦ (beside ἐκπερισσῶs ? as »BCD read in Mc. 14. 31: the word would naturally be forced into an adverbial form), by accumulation ὑπερεκπερισσοῦ (-ῶs), E. 3. 20, 1 Th. 3. 10, 5. 13, cp. (-ῶs) Clem. Cor. i. 20. 11 (§ 4, 1 note), also ὑπερπερισσῶs Mc. 7. 37 (v.l. ὑπερεκπ.), ὑπερλίαν 2 C. 11. 5, 12. 11, ὑπεράγαν Clem. Cor. i. 56. 2; ὑπερέκεινα 2 C. 10. 16 is another new form (prep. and pron.: ἐπέκεινα is old).

3. True compounds are in a few cases fundamentally substantives, formed in such a way that in front of a substantive, which keeps its ordinary form, there is placed another substantive (or adject.) more nearly defining or restricting its meaning (e.g. lion-head, Greek λεοντοκεφαλή an architectural term); so in N.T. Συροφοίνισσα or -ίκισσα § 27, 4 (Λιβυφοίνικεs Polyb.): εὐρακύλων a hybrid word from ευροs and aquilo (cp. εὐρόνοτοs 'north east'); ψευδοπροφήτης, -δάδελφος, -δαπόστολος, -δοδιδάσκαλος, (ψευδόμαρτυς appears in Attic); σαρδόνυξ (Α σαρδιόνυξ) Ap. 21. 20 from σάρδιος and ὄνυξ, ibid. χρυσόλιθος (but χρυσόπρασοs in the same verse is an adjective formed from πράσον 'leak,' sc. λ ίθος); χρεοφειλέτης from χρέος and ὀφειλέτης, but words of this kind (cp. $i\pi\pi\eta\lambda\dot{a}\tau\eta s$, $i\pi\pi\sigma\delta\iota\dot{\omega}\kappa\tau\eta s$) belong rather to compounds of subst. and verbal stem, vide infra 5; on the other hand οἰκοδεσπότης (cp. Phryn. 373 who condemns the word: derivative $oi\kappa o\delta\epsilon\sigma \pi o\tau\epsilon i\nu$) does really consist of $oi\kappa os$ and $\delta\epsilon\sigma\pi o\tau\eta s$.—The subst. is defined by a particle in συστρατιώτης (class.), συμπρεσβύτερος, συγκληρονόμοs: by a verbal stem in $d\rho\chi$ ιερεύs (but the older form is άρχιέρεωs, i.e. δ άρχων των ιερέων), άρχιτέκτων (which is likewise strictly to be explained as ό ἄρχων τῶν τεκτόνων), ἀρχιτελώνηs L. 19. 2, άρχιποίμην 1 P. 5. 4, άρχάγγελος (but in άρχισυνάγωγος, άρχιτρίκλινος it is clear that the first component still continues to govern the second).¹

4. There are a great number of adjectival forms composed of adjectives (adv., prep., numeral) and substantive (adj.), which express the combined notion of both ideas, such as the peculiar $\delta\epsilon v \tau \epsilon \rho \delta \pi \rho \omega \tau \sigma v$ $\sigma \alpha \beta \beta \alpha \tau \sigma \nu$ L. 6. 1 (from two numeral adjectives), variously explained, see Tisch. ad loc. and W.-Grimm; an example of the ordinary type (particle and subst.) is ἀνέλεος Ja. 2. 13 (class. ἀνηλεής: the N.T. form due to το έλεος § 9, 3), so σκληροτράχηλος (LXX.) A. 7. 51, δίψυχος Ja. 1. 8, 4. 8 (Hermas pass.), έτερόγλωσσος (Polyb.), δίστομος and μονόφθαλμος already found in classical Gk.; $i\sigma \dot{\alpha}\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda$ os = $i\sigma$ os τοίς $\dot{a}\gamma\gamma\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\omega$ s, like Homeric $\dot{\omega}\sigma\dot{\theta}\epsilon\omega$ s; especially with a preposition in the first place, in which case the formation of the adj. in -105 (akpoyuviaios is from -a-10s) is preferred : $\pi a \rho a \theta a \lambda \dot{a} \sigma \sigma \cos$ (old), $\epsilon \pi i \theta a \nu \dot{a} \tau i \sigma s 1$ C. 4. 9 = $\epsilon \pi i \theta a \nu a \tau \psi$ συνειλημμένος (also in Dionys. Halic.), $\epsilon \pi i \gamma \epsilon \iota o s$ and έπουράνιος (old), καταχθόνιος (also old); ένώπιον (neuter of ένώπιος) likewise takes this formation. From these words again neuter substantives are formed. A peculiar compound of elements which are coordinate and simply added together, is $\nu\nu\chi\theta\dot{\eta}\mu\epsilon\rho\rho\nu$ (late) 2 C. 11.

¹ There are also correspondingly formed adjectives, thus in Hermas περίπικροs • very bitter' Sim. vi. 2. 5, ἀπόκενοs 'somewhat empty' Mand. xii. 5. 2.

25, 'a period of a night and a day,' Kühner i.³ ii. 318; note moreover το δωδεκάφυλον Α. 26. 7 = ai δώδεκα φυλαί (§ 44, 1); υποπόδιον footstool, $\dot{\upsilon}\pi o\lambda \eta \nu i o \nu$ ($\lambda \eta \nu o s$) the receptacle or vat excavated beneath the winepress, ἀνάγαιον (§§ 3, 7; 6, 4); further ἀκροθίνιον Η. 7. 4 (old), μεσονύκτιον (Hellenistic, Lob. Phryn. 53; §6, 2), ήμιώριον 'half an hour' Ap. 8. 1 (ήμίωρον AP, cp. ήμίδραχμον, ήμιπόδιον etc.; Kühner i.³ ii. 323); προσάββατον, ήδύοσμον a plant (garden mint). In the femin. we have ή καλλιέλαιος and its opposite ἀγριέλαιος (for which, according to Moeris, Attic has κότινος) R. 11. 17, 24, not άγριελαία, although άγριοin the later language is also directly compounded with the substantive (supra 3), as in ἀγριοκολοκύνθη; also ἀκροβυστία, a distorted form of άκροποσθία or -ιον (the old word) from πόσθη. Then from adjectives of this kind there was a further creation of abstract substantives, such as σκληροκαρδία 'hardness of heart' (LXX.) related to σκληροκάρδιος (LXX.), and therefore for -kapôl-ía, cp. $\delta l \pi \lambda o k a p \delta l a$ Barn. 20. 1, and of verbs (cp. 5), amongst which may be specially noticed $\partial \rho \theta \sigma \sigma \delta \epsilon i \nu$ ($\delta\rho\theta\delta\pi$ ous is old) G. 2. 14 (nowhere else), and $\epsilon\gamma\kappa\alpha\kappa\epsilon\nu$ (the word έκκακείν is a wrong reading, occurring also in Herm. Mand. ix. 8) 'to be slack in anything' Polyb. 4, 19. 10, formed directly from $\epsilon \nu$ and κακός, although no word έγκακος ever existed; ένωτίζεσθαι Α. 2. 14 (LXX.) is also certainly formed directly from iv and wra, cp. ένστερνίζεσθαι Clem. Cor. ii. 1, ένστηθίζειν Athanasius.

5. The greater number of compounds, originally adjectival, are formed of substantive (adject., pronoun) or particle and verbal stem; from these adjectives there are then formed parasynthetic abstract substantives and verbs. The most ordinary form is : adj. -os, abstract subst. -ία, verb -έω, like iπποτρόφος, iπποτροφία, iπποτροφέω. So in the N.T. we have ayabomoiós 1 P. 2. 14, ayabomoiía 4. 19 (ayaθοποίησις Herm. Mand. viii. 10, Sim. v. 3. 4), ayaθοποιείν 2. 15 (beside άγαθοεργείν 1 Tim. 6. 18, άγαθουργείν with v.l. άγαθοποιείν A. 14. 17), καλοποιείν 2 Th. 3. 13, κακοποιός (and κακούργος, both old), κακοποιείν (old), εἰρηνοποιός -είν, μοσχοποιείν only in N.T. (Acts 7. 41) of the image of the golden calf, where the adjectival stem only exists, and only needed to exist, in idea, $i\sigma\chi\nu\rho\sigma\pi\sigma\iota\epsilon\iota\nu$ (and $-\pi\sigma\iota\eta\sigma\iotas$) Hermas, Vis. i. 3. 2 etc. With other verbal stems there are: κακουχείν an old form (from ἔχω: κακοῦχος nowhere), πληροφορείν -ία (first¹ in N.T.: - $\phi \dot{\phi} \rho \sigma \sigma$ nowhere), $\lambda \sigma \gamma \sigma \mu \alpha \chi \epsilon \hat{\nu} - i \alpha$ (late, other writers also have $-\mu \dot{a} \chi os$), $\lambda \iota \theta o \beta o \lambda \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu$ 'to stone' together with $\lambda \iota \theta \dot{a} \xi \epsilon \iota \nu$ (the old word was λεύειν), λατομείν, έτεροζυγείν 2 C. 6. 14 (έτερόζυγος LXX.), ανθρωποκτόνος, ανθρωπάρεσκος (αρέσκω), of uncertain meaning $\delta \epsilon \xi \omega \lambda \dot{\alpha} \beta os$ Acts 23. 23 (an infantry corps), according to a probably certain conjecture $\kappa\epsilon\nu\epsilon\mu\beta$ ar $\epsilon\dot{\nu}\epsilon\nu\nu$ = - $\epsilon\dot{\nu}\nu$ Col. 2. 18 ($\kappa\epsilon\nu\epsilon\mu\beta\dot{a}\tau\eta$ s has to be imagined: the word is formed like $\epsilon \mu \beta a \tau \epsilon v \epsilon i \nu$) etc. Where the verbal stem has an active sense the adjectives generally are paroxytone (in the case of a short paenultima) or oxytone (if the paen. is long), whereas in the case of a passive stem (and a short paenultima) the accent is thrown back on to the first part of the word (πρωτότοκος 'firstborn,' whence πρωτοτόκια, cp. εὐαγγέλιον,

¹ [πληροφορείσθαι occurs in LXX. Ecclesiastes 8. 11. Tr.]

H. 12. 16). But for words of passive meaning the form of the verbal adj. in -ros is preferred to that in -os; thus in N.T. πατροπαράδοτοs 1 P. 1. 18, σητόβρωτος Ja. 5. 2, λιθόστρωτος (Sophocles) Jo. 19. 3, ποταμοφόρητος (-φορείν) Ap. 12. 15,¹ είδωλόθυτον (like ιερόθυτον); just as in active words - Tys (the noun of the agent) may take the place of -os, χρεοφειλέτηs supra 3, καρδιογνώστηs Acts 1. 24, 15. 8 Herm. Mand. iv. 3. 4 (nowhere else), προσωπολήμπτης 10. 34 $(-\tau\epsilon i\nu, -\eta\mu\psi i\alpha)$. From διδάσκειν the compounds are formed with termination -διδάσκαλος: νομοδιδάσκαλος, καλοδιδάσκαλος Tit. 2. 3 (like χοροδιδάσκ. in older Greek), έτεροδιδασκαλείν? (= ἕτερα διδάσκειν? or = έτέροις διδασκάλοις χρήσθαι?) 1 Tim. 1. 3, 6. 3; from φυλάσσω with -φύλαξ (Hellenistic words): δεσμοφύλαξ Α. 16. 23 (γαζοφυλάκιον Mc. 12. 41 etc. LXX., a παρασύνθετον from γαζοφύλαξ); from verbs in - ω , - ω with termin. - η s (1st decl.): $\pi \alpha \tau \rho \circ \lambda \omega \alpha s$ (§ 6, 2) $d\lambda \circ \alpha \nu$, φρεναπάτης² ἀπατῶν (whence φρεναπατῶν), πορφυροπώλης πωλεῖν, with fem. -πωλις A. 16. 14; so also άρσενοκοίτης (κοιτάζεσθαι, κοίτη) 1 C. 6. 9, 1 Tim. 1. 10, είδωλολάτρης (λατρεύειν), whence είδωλολατρείν Hermas, είδωλολατρία N.T. (a more correct form than -εία like λατρεία; B however, except in 1 C. 10. 14, has $-\lambda \alpha \tau \rho \epsilon i \alpha = -i \alpha$), and from $a_{\rho\chi\epsilon\nu}$ we have words in $\cdot a_{\rho\chi\eta}$ s beside those in $\cdot a_{\rho\chi\sigma}$, see § 9, 2. In δφθαλμοδουλία E. 6. 6, Col. 3. 22 (B reads with ει, like δουλεία which is formed from $\delta o v \lambda \epsilon v \omega$) the underlying word is $\delta \phi \theta a \lambda \mu \delta \delta o v \lambda c s$ (which occurs in Const. Apost.), where the formation is dependent on $\delta o \hat{\nu} \lambda o s$. Occasionally ηs , ϵs also appears as a termination: είλικρινής (κρίνω), subst. -ίνεια (old), τηλαυγής Mc. 8. 25 (-ως; v.l. $\delta\eta\lambda\alpha\nu\gamma\omega$ s s^{*} al.), an old poetical word, but also in LXX.: the sense has become weakened to 'clear,' so also in Herm. Sim. vi. 5. I; γονυπετής (πίπτω, Eurip.), -τειν (Polyb.), νουνεχής (cp. inf. 7) from έχω (Polyb.), ίεροπρεπής (Att.). Άλεκτοροφωνία 'cock-crowing' (vulgar word, Lob. Phryn. $229 = \hbar$ $\delta \rho a \hbar \nu i \kappa a \delta d \lambda$. $\phi \omega \nu \epsilon i$) is peculiar, there being no conceivable adjective from which it can be derived. In γλωσσόκομον 'a case'' Jo. 12. 3, 13. 29 the verb κομείν, κομίζειν is concealed; the Atticists require in place of this vulgar form the longer γλωττοκομείον Phryn. Lob. 98 (cp. χερνιβείον 'a hand-basin').

6. In the older language it frequently happens that in compound words of this kind the verb is given the first place ($\phi\epsilon\rho\epsilon i \epsilon \kappa s, \delta\eta \xi i$. $\theta \nu \mu o s$), in the later language this does not often occur; on compounds in $d\rho \chi \iota$ -vide supra 3: $\epsilon \theta \epsilon \lambda o \theta \rho \eta \sigma \kappa i a$ (- $\epsilon \iota a$ B, cp. 5) Col. 2. 23 based on $\epsilon \theta \epsilon \lambda \delta \theta \rho \eta \sigma \kappa o s$ (from $\theta \rho \eta \sigma \kappa o s$) which is not found, cp. $\epsilon \theta \epsilon \lambda o \delta i \delta \delta \sigma \kappa a \lambda o s$ Hermas, $\epsilon \theta \epsilon \lambda o \delta o v \lambda(\epsilon) i a$ Plato, $\epsilon \theta \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \chi \theta \rho o s$ Demosth., $\epsilon \theta \epsilon \lambda o \kappa a \kappa \epsilon i v$ Hdt., ($\epsilon \theta \epsilon \lambda o$ - expressing spontaneity): $\phi \iota \lambda \delta \theta \epsilon o s$, $\phi \iota \lambda \delta \gamma a \theta o s$ and $\phi \iota \lambda a v \tau o s$ (Aristot.), ($\phi \iota \lambda \delta \sigma \rho \omega \tau o s$ late language, and) $\phi \iota \lambda \sigma \sigma \rho \omega \tau \epsilon v \omega v^4$ 3 Jo. 2 (no

¹ Hesychius also has the phrase ποταμοφόρητον ποιείν, s.v. ἀπόερσεν.

² *I.e.* one who deceives *his own* mind = 'conceited'; the word also occurs on a papyrus of the 2nd cent. B.C. (in rhetorical and artificial prose, Grenfell 'An Alexandrian erotic fragment,' Oxf. 1896, p. 3).

³ Strictly a case for the mouthpiece of a finte $(\gamma\lambda\hat{\omega}\tau\tau a)$.

⁴ Found already in an Attic inscription of the 1st cent. B.C., $E\phi$. dpxaiol. 1893, 49 ff., 1. 30.

forms with $\mu \sigma \sigma$ - appear in N.T.).—The words compounded with certain pronouns and particles deserve a special mention : autokatákoutos Tit. 3. 11 (αὐτόματος and αὐθαίρετος are old); words with a privative for the most part formed in -ros, e.g. in N.T. ayevealoyntos, adiakpiros, άδιάλειπτος,¹ (άδύνατος, -είν are old), άκατάγνωστος, άκατακάλυπτος, άκατάκριτος, ἀκατάλυτος, ἀκατάπαυστος, (ἀκατάστατος is old, -ασία Polyb.), ἀναπολόγητος, ἀμετανόητος, (ἀνόητος old), ἀνεξερεύνητος, ἀνεξ $i\chi \nu i a \sigma \tau o s$ etc., not however exclusively in a passive sense (e.g. those from anohoyeio tai, [meta]voeiv): so also antaiotos Jude 24 (old) is active.² The opposite to \vec{a} - is $\vec{\epsilon}\nu$ - (e.g. $\vec{\epsilon}\nu\tau\iota\mu\sigma s = \vec{\epsilon}\nu \tau\iota\mu\hat{\eta}$ opposed to ätimos): $\epsilon \mu \pi \epsilon \rho (\tau \sigma \mu \sigma s \text{ is opposed to a } \pi \epsilon \rho (\tau \mu \eta \tau \sigma s \text{ in Barn. 9. 6 C and }$ = έν περιτομή of NG: Paul has avonos - έννομος 1 C. 9. 21, § 36, 11.-With we have: eváperros (already in Xenoph.), evineraboros 'ready to impart' 1 Tim. 6. 18, $\epsilon \vartheta \pi \rho \delta \sigma \delta \epsilon \kappa \tau \sigma s$, $\epsilon \vartheta \pi \epsilon \rho \delta \sigma \tau \sigma \tau \sigma s$ H. 12. 1 (nowhere else) probably = $\dot{\eta}$ $\dot{\rho}a\dot{\delta}i\omega s$ $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\sigma\tau a\mu\dot{\epsilon}\nu\eta$ 'easily surrounding and thereby hindering' a person; with $\delta\upsilon\sigma$: $\delta\upsilon\sigma\beta\dot{a}\sigma\tau a\kappa\tau\sigma s$, $\delta\upsilon\sigma\epsilon\rho\mu\dot{\eta}$ - $\nu\epsilon\nu\tau\sigma s$, $\delta\upsilon\sigma\nu\dot{\sigma}\eta\tau\sigma s$. 'A(ν)- (and $\delta\upsilon\sigma$ -) can also be compounded with ordinary adjectives (in classical Gk. avayvos, δίσαγνος), but in the case of $\epsilon \vartheta \pi a \rho \epsilon \delta \rho \rho s = 1$ C. 7. 35 we should rather refer the word to παρεδρεύειν than to πάρεδρος; a compound of adverb and verb is quite inadmissible, therefore εύδοκείν (Hellenistic) must be derived from an imaginary εὔδοκος (δέχομαι), certainly not from δοκεῖν (aorist εὐδόκησα), similarly the old word καραδοκείν (N.T. ἀποκαραδοκία) is derived through an imaginary καραδόκος from κάρα and δέχομαι (cp. $\delta \circ \kappa \epsilon \dot{\upsilon} \omega$).³ Eủáy $\gamma \epsilon \lambda \circ s$ (class.) is from $\epsilon \dot{\upsilon}$ and $\dot{a} \gamma \gamma \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \lambda \epsilon \iota \nu$; whence εὐαγγέλιον (as early as Homer) = reward for good news, thanks for a good message, cp. πρωτοτόκια supra 5; it is only late writers who employ it for the good news itself; $i a \gamma \gamma \epsilon \lambda i \xi \sigma \theta a i$ to bring good news' is also found in Attic Greek.-Προσφάγιον Jo. 21. 5, which according to Moeris is Hellenistic for Attic $\partial \psi ov$ 'something eaten with bread,' comes from $\pi \rho \phi s$ and $\phi a \gamma \epsilon i \nu$; $\pi \rho \sigma \sigma \eta \lambda \upsilon \tau \sigma s$ however (LXX.) is connected with προσέρχεσ θαι (ἔπηλυς, ἐπηλύτης are old).—A special formation is that in $-\ddot{\alpha}\sigma ia$, $-\epsilon\sigma ia$, $-i\sigma ia$, $-\sigma ia$, $-i\sigma ia$, allied to $-\sigma is$, and not to be confused with abstract nouns from adjectives in -705 (akataotaoía), since the former has the active sense of the verbal substantive : δρκωμοσία 'an oath,' δροθεσία A. 17. 26 'a setting of bounds' (unless with Hesychius $\tau \dot{a}$ $\dot{a}\rho o \theta \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \iota a$ should be read, cp. $\tau \dot{a}$ δρια; γυμνάσιον, συμπόσιον), δικαιοκρίσία 'righteous judgment' R. 2. 5, αίματεκχύσία H. 9. 22, also παλιγγενεσία (γίνεσθαι) Tit. 3. 5; in composition with a preposition this formation appears in the older language, e.g. ἀποστάσία (προστάσία is as early as Attic; also from a simple verb ovoµăσía).

7. Of compound adverbs, which were not originally derived from adjectives, there are not many instances in the N.T. In $-\epsilon i$ there are $\pi a \mu \pi \lambda \eta \theta \epsilon i$ L. 23. 18, $\pi a \nu o \iota \kappa \epsilon i$ A. 16. 34, in the cultivated language of Luke, although these particular instances are not Attic;

¹See note 3, p. 68.
 ²But ἀπείραστος Ja. 1. 13 is passive, cf. § 36, 11.
 ³Cp. § 6, 7 πανδοκεύς.

cp. Kühner i.³ ii. 303 (i is probably an incorrect spelling, $\xi\lambda\lambda\eta\nu\iota\sigma\tau\iota$ and the like have i). Our $\partial\mu\sigma\partial\nu\mu\alpha\delta\sigma'$ is frequent in the Acts (also occurring in R. 15. 6), a classical word. (For adverbs in $\delta\sigma\nu$ see Kühner ibid. 307 f.)

8. As is already apparent from the preceding instances, the employment of compound words in the N.T. is fairly large, and is not absent even from the simplest style, although the more elevated style naturally has a larger number of them : for the $\delta \iota \pi \lambda \hat{a}$ (as Aristotle terms the compounds) serve from the earliest times as an embellishment to the speech. In the short letter to Titus the following striking instances occur (verbal compounds and others are neglected): άδόκιμος, ἄκαρπος, ἀκατάγνωστος, ἄμαχος, ἀνέγκλητος, ἀνόητος, ἀνομία, άνυπότακτος, άνωφελής, άπειθής, άσωτία, άφθορία, άψευδής; αὐθάδης, αύτοκατάκριτος; αίσχροκερδής; εὐάρεστος; γενεαλογία; ἱεροπρεπής; καλοδιδάσκαλος; ματαιολόγος; οίκουρ(γ)ός, οίκονόμος; παλιγγενεσία; πειθαρχείν; φιλάγαθος, φίλανδρος, φιλανθρωπία, φιλόξενος, φιλότεκνος; φρεναπάτης.—With regard to the manner of the composition, it is further to be noticed that, at least in the case of words compounded with numerals, the numeral undergoes no elision as it does in Attic, but remains intact, in accordance with the effort after a clearer isolation of the words-a tendency which has likewise diminished the number of cases of elision between separate words (§ 5, 1, cp. 3, 12). Thus τετραάρχης, -χείν Tisch. in Acts 13. 1 according to **, L. 3. 1 *C etc. (Tisch. on L. loc. cit.), τεσσερακονταετής A. 7. 23, 13. 18, έκατοντα- $\epsilon \tau \eta s$ R. 4. 19 (which is an old form in dialects, but this is due to Féros Kühner i.3 ii. 332; Att. - τούτηs from - τοέτηs); in addition to these, άγαθοεργείν 1 Tim. 6. 18, άλλοτριοεπίσκοπος 1 P. 4. 15 KLP, but NB -τριεπ-; cp. LXX. γραμματοεισαγωγεύς (Deut. 31. 28), μακροημερεύειν, $d \rho \chi_{10}$ ινοχόος, later δμο-ούσιος and the like.

§ 29. PROPER NAMES.

In the proper names of the N.T. the only grammatical point which calls for attention is the class of (hypocoristic) abbreviated These abbreviated names have always existed in Greek, names. and present a great diversity in their formation, see Bechtel-Fick, Griech. Personennamen 26 ff.: -is, -ias, $-\nu(\lambda)\lambda$ os, $-\omega\nu$, $-i\omega\nu$ etc.; the Hellenistic language, on the other hand, as it meets us in the N.T., has hardly any other form of the abbreviated name than that in -as, which is employed not only when the full name contains an a, as in 'A $\nu\tau$ i π as Ap. 2. 13 from 'A $\nu\tau$ i π a τ pos, but also when there is no such support for it, and the second half of a name containing two stems is completely set aside. These short names were in some cases given at birth, as when a Mantitheus called his son Mantias, a Niceratus Nicias, a Demoteles Demon, but in others the person originally had the full name, but was frequently called by the shorter name, as Menodorus the admiral of Sextus Pompeius is spoken of by the historians sometimes by his full name, sometimes

as Menas (W.-Schm. \S 16, 9).¹ An instance of this in the N.T. is Σιλουανόs, às he is always called in St. Paul (also 1 P. 5. 12), and Σιλâs A. 15. 22 etc.: also no doubt 'Aπoλλώνιos A. 18. 24 D and 'Aπoλλŵs in St. Paul ('A $\pi\epsilon\lambda\lambda\eta$'s s in Acts, see § 6, 2), 'A $\mu\pi\lambda\iota$ aros R. 16. 8 with v.l. 'Aμπλίas; but 'Eπaφpâs Col. 1. 7, 4. 12 (of Colossae) Philem. 23 and Emappóoiros Ph. 2. 25, 4. 18 (of Philippi) cannot be one and the same person, although undoubtedly the one name is an abbreviation of the other. The remaining abbreviations in -as, in many cases of which the original name is not distinctly recognisable, are: $A\rho\tau\epsilon\mu\hat{a}s$ ('A $\rho\tau\epsilon\mu\hat{a}\delta\omega\rho\sigmas$, Varro de lingua Lat. viii. 21), 'E $\rho\mu\hat{a}s$ ('E $\rho\mu\hat{a}\delta\omega\rho\sigmas$ and the like), Z $\eta\nu\hat{a}s$ (Z $\eta\nu\hat{a}\delta\omega\rho\sigmas$, see Bekk. Anecd. 857), N $\nu\mu\phi\hat{a}s$ (N $\nu\mu\phi\hat{a}\delta$.), 'Ολυμπά'ς ('Ολυμπιόδωρος), Δημῶς (Δημήτριος ?), Στεφανῶς (Στεφανη-φόρος ? or a development of Στέφανος, found in Attic Greek ?),² Παρμενας (Παρμένων),³ Πατρόβας (Πατρόβιος), Λουκας (Λουκανός? Λουκίλιος ?).⁴ In $-\hat{\eta}$ s there are 'Aπελλ $\hat{\eta}$ s R. 16. 10 (vide supra), and 'E $\rho\mu\eta$ s ibid. 14 (which can hardly be merely identical with the name of the god, although at a later period this kind of appellation is also found);⁵ in $-\omega_s$ there is only $A\pi o\lambda\lambda\omega_s$, vide supra. The name $A_{\nu\delta\rho\epsilon\alpha s}$, which has early attestation, is of a genuine old Greek form.

¹See also Crusius, N. Jabrb. für Philol. 1891, p. 385 ff.

² Bechtel-Fick, op. cit. 253 f., regard $\Sigma \tau \epsilon \phi a \nu os$ itself as an abbreviation of $\Phi \iota \lambda o \cdot \sigma \tau \epsilon \phi a \nu os$ or of $\Sigma \tau \epsilon \phi a \nu o \cdot \kappa \lambda \eta s$.

³ Ibid. 205 (cp. Παρμενίδης, -ίσκος, -ίων, -μενις etc.).

⁴Some ancient Latin MSS. translate the title $\kappa \alpha \tau \dot{\alpha}$ Aou $\kappa \hat{\alpha} \nu$ by secundum Lucanum. In 'Audophukov kai 'Iouvíav R. 16. 7 is commonly found a man's name 'Iouvías (= Junianus?); some of the ancient commentators (see Tisch.) took them to be a married couple like Aquila and Priscilla.

⁵ Ibid. 304 ff.

PART II.

SYNTAX.

§ 30. SUBJECT AND PREDICATE.

1. It has already been noticed (in $\S 2$, 1) that it is in the syntax, i.e. in the method of employing and combining the several word forms and 'form-words' current in the language, that the principal grammatical difference between the classical and the N.T. language undoubtedly lies, just as it is here too that there is the greatest difference between the individual writers of the N.T. It is also on the syntactical side that the language itself has shown the greatest development, and moreover it is here that the antithesis between the artificial writer and the plain narrator of facts or the letterwriter—as also that between the man who has received a pure Greek education and the man whose education has been wholly or preponderantly Hebrew—is most clearly marked. Hence the difference in culture between the individual N.T. writers must make itself felt in their syntax, from the author of the Apocalypse at one extreme to Paul, Luke, and the author of the Epistle to the Hebrews at the other.

2. The two principal kinds of words are the noun and the verb. The simplest sentence is formed by the combination of these two, where the noun ($\delta vo\mu a$) represents the subject, *i.e.* the fundamental idea, and the verb $(\dot{\rho}\hat{\eta}\mu a)$ represents the predicate, *i.e.* some further statement concerning the subject. If however the predicate is complex, the noun must very soon be called into requisition for this office as well, and will serve sometimes as the principal part of the predicate, sometimes as the complement of the verb. In the former case, where one noun serves the purpose of specifying and defining another noun, the verb is in many cases a mere 'formword' necessary for the statement of this relation, though like every verb it still presents the two inflections denoting tense and mood. It is therefore only natural that, at least in the case of the commonest tense, the present, and the commonest mood, the indicative, the language should omit the verbal 'form-word' 'to be' as readily intelligible. On the question of the omission or nonomission of the auxiliary verb different languages are divided. In

Hebrew the omission is the rule, in Greek it is allowable from the earliest times and occurs also in the N.T., whereas modern Greek has given up this liberty and always inserts the auxiliary verb.

3. Omission of the auxiliary verb. By far the most frequent instance of omission, as in the classical language, is that of the commonest form of the pres. indic. of the auxiliary verb, namely the 3rd pers. sing. $\epsilon \sigma \tau i v$. Still this omission never grew into a fixed usage of the language, except in the case of a few stereotyped phrases. Such are : δηλον ότι (class.) 1 C. 15. 27, (1 Tim. 6. 7 ??), also with reverse order of words $\delta \tau i \dots$, $\delta \eta \lambda o v G. 3. 11; \tau i \ell \mu o l$ (ήμιν) και σοί Mt. 8. 29, Mc. 1. 24, 5. 7, L. 4. 34, 8. 28, Jo. 2. 4¹ (=Hebr. מַהֹדְלָי וָלָה Judges 11. 12 etc.; there are, however, similar classical phrases);² $\tau i \pi \rho \delta s \sigma \epsilon (\eta \mu \hat{a} s)$ Mt. 27. 4, Jo. 21. 22 f., quid hoc ad te (similar classical phrases),3 cp. τί γάρ μοι 1 C. 5. 12, and many other instances, infra § 50, 7; τi (µ01) $\tau \delta$ $\ddot{o}\phi\epsilon\lambda$ os 1 C. 15. 32, Ja. 2. 14, 16 (αλλα τί τούτων ὄφελος αὐτοῖς Demosth. 9. 69); έτι μικρόν, καί ... Jo. 14. 19, 16. 16 f., 19 (έτι μ. ὅσον ὅσον Η. 10. 37 O.T., but in LXX. Is. 26. 20 without this ellipse); μακάριος ἀνηρ οs – Ja. 1. 12, R. 4. 8 O.T. (Hebr. אַשָּׁרִי דָאָישׁ), so also μακάριοι οί $\pi\tau\omega\chi oi$ etc. Mt. 5. 3 etc., in this exclamation where the 3rd pers. is used the auxiliary verb is never expressed (it is different with the 2nd pers., Mt. 5. 11, 16. 17, and in a statement of fact, 11. 6 [om. $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\iota\nu X ab] = L. 7. 23)$: cp. the classical μακάριός γ' ανηρ έχων κ.τ.λ. Aristoph. Ran. 1482. The classes of sentence where this omission is particularly frequent are exclamations (A. 19. 28, 34 $\mu\epsilon\gamma\dot{\alpha}\lambda\eta$ $\dot{\eta}$ "Αρτεμις Έφεσίων, R. 11. 33 ώς ανεξερεύνητα τα κρίματα αὐτοῦ) and questions (L. 4. 36 τίς ὁ λόγος οῦτος; Α. 10. 21 τίς ἡ αἰτία δι' ην - ;Ř. 3. Ι τί τὸ περισσὸν τοῦ Ἰουδαίου, η τίς η ἀφέλεια τῆς περιτομῆς;): but it is also found not infrequently in statements of fact, Mc. 14. 36 πάντα δυνατά σοι, Η. 9. 16 f. ὅπου διαθήκη, θάνατον ἀνάγκη φέρεσθαι τοῦ διαθεμένου διαθήκη γὰρ ἐπὶ νεκροῖς βεβαία, 1 C. 10. 13 and 2 C. 1. 18 πιστός δ θεός, 1 Th. 5. 24 πιστός δ καλών ύμας (with εστίν in 2 Th. 3. 3, but the verb is wanting in FG al.), $\pi \iota \sigma \tau \delta s$ do do so 1 Tim. 1. 15, 3. 1, 4. 9, 2 Tim. 2. 11, Tit. 3. 8. Another class of expression where (as in classical Greek) the omission is common consists of impersonal phrases; ἀνάγκη H. 9. 16 (vide supra), 9. 23, R. 13. 5? (with έστί Mt. 18. 7 but om. BL), ώρα R. 13. 11, έξόν A. 2. 29, 2 C. 12. 4, άδύνατον H. 6. 4, 18, 10. 4, 11. 6, εἰ δυνατόν (as we say 'if possible') Mt. 24. 24, Mc. 13. 22, R. 12. 18 (G. 4. 15 vide infra), but with ἐστίν Mt. 26. 39, Mc. 14. 35. Κεφάλαιον δὲ H. 8. 1 is classical. The verb may also be omitted even when it is not a

¹ Nonnus in his metrical paraphrase presents a very noteworthy various reading: $\tau i \ \epsilon \mu o i, \gamma \nu \sigma a, \ \eta \epsilon o o a \nu \tau \eta; = \tau i \ \epsilon \mu o i, \eta \sigma o i \gamma \nu \sigma a;$ ('What is this to me or to you?' ep. the following words $o \delta \pi \omega \ \eta \kappa \epsilon \iota \ \eta \ \omega \rho a \ \mu o v$). Cp. $\tau i \ \delta \epsilon \ \sigma o i \ \tau a \ v a$ Aristoph. Lysistr. 514.

² Kühner, Gr. ii. 364 (Herodot. 5. 33 σοί δὲ καὶ τούτοισι τοῦς πρήγμασι τί ἐστι; Demosth. 29. 36 τί τῷ νόμφ καὶ τῇ βασάνψ;).

³ Ούδέν πρός τόν Διόνυσον; Dem. 18. 21 ούδέν έστι δήπου πρός έμέ.

[§ 30. 3.

mere copula: 1 C. 15. 40 και σώματα ἐπουράνια (sc. ἐστίν 'there are') καὶ σ. ἐπίγεια. Other forms of εἰμί are omitted : εἰσίν with μακάριοι vide supra, R. 11. 16 εἰ δὲ ἡ ἀπαρχὴ ἁγία, καὶ τὸ φύραμα, καὶ εί ή βίζα άγία, και οι κλάδοι, cp. R. 4. 14, 1 C. 16. 9, H. 2. 11 etc. Eiuí, ¿σμέν, «l are not often omitted, and the omission is even more rare when $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\dot{\omega}$, $\dot{\eta}\mu\hat{\epsilon}\hat{\imath}s$, or $\sigma\dot{\nu}$ are not inserted; Mc. 12. 26 = A. 7. 32 O.T. $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\dot{\omega}$ $\dot{\delta}$ $\theta\hat{\epsilon}\delta\hat{s}$ 'A $\beta\rho a\dot{a}\mu \kappa.\tau.\lambda$. (but LXX. has $\hat{\epsilon}\dot{\iota}\mu\dot{\iota}$ here, though it is absent from the original Hebrew, and so Mt. 22. 32; also some MSS. in Mc. and Acts), Jo. 14. 11, 2 C. 10. 7; without a pronoun 2 C. 11. 6 el dè kai idiwtys $\tau \psi$ $\lambda \delta \gamma \psi$ (sc. el μ which D*E introduce, St. Paul has been speaking of himself just before in verse 5),¹ Ap. 15. 4 $\delta \tau \iota \mu \delta \nu \sigma \varsigma \delta \sigma \iota \sigma \varsigma (sc. \epsilon l)$, Ph. 3. 15. ²H ν 3rd sing. is *always* omitted in the phrase $\hat{\psi}(\hat{y})$ ovoµa L. 1. 26 f., 2. 25, 8. 41, 24. 13 (D $\hat{\partial} v \acute{\partial} \mu a \tau \iota)$. 18 (δνόματι B al.), A. 13. 6 (D is different), or oυ το σνομα Mc. 14. 32 (& C), or in the still more Hebraic (cp. 1 Kings 1. 1 etc.) καὶ τὸ ὄνομα αὐτῆς (αὐτοῦ) L. 1. 5, 27; parenthetically ὄνομα αὐτῷ (Demosth. 32. 11 'Apiστοφών ὄνομα αὐτῷ) Jo. 1. 6 (with 3γ inserted *D*), 3. I (** ἀνόματι, as Luke has elsewhere in his Gospel and almost always in the Acts [class.], cp. §§ 33, 2; 38, 2; Xenophon Mem. 3, 11. 1 writes \hat{y} ovoµa $\hat{\eta}v$; in these phrases it makes no difference whether $\eta \nu$ is to be supplied (with persons) or $\epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu$ (with place-names). "Eorai (or éorí) is omitted in 1 P. 4. 17, 1 C. 15. 21, cp. 22. 'Hi only occasionally in St. Paul (2 C. 8. 11, 13). Et is commonly omitted in formulas expressing a wish, such as $\iota \lambda \epsilon \omega_{\delta} \sigma \sigma \iota$ (sc. δ θεδs εἴη) Mt. 16. 22, εἰρήνη ὑμῖν etc., as in classical Greek (ίλαος Soph. O.C. 1477; cp. LXX. 2 Kings 20. 20) and in Hebrew (שָׁכָוֹם כָּהָ); in doxologies such as εὐλογητὸς ὁ θεός (2 C. 1. 3 etc.) = Hebr. ברוה אלהים (Ps. 66. 20 etc.) we may supply either 'is' (cp. R. 1. 25 δς έστιν εύλ. κ.τ.λ., 2 C. 11. 31 δ ών εύλογ., 1 P. 4. 11 $\hat{\phi}$ έστιν [έστιν om. A] ή δόξα, Buttmann p. 120) or 'be' (Winer, who compares 1 Kings 10. 9 γένοιτο εύλ., Job 1. 21 είη εύλ.); the former, however, appears to be the sense in which the N.T. writers understood the phrase. "Eorw is omitted in $\mu\eta\delta\epsilon\nu$ σοι και τ $\hat{\psi}$ δικαίψ έκείν ψ_{\pm} Mt. 27. 19 (cp. for the formula what is said above), in $\chi \dot{\alpha} \rho i s \tau \hat{\psi} \theta \epsilon \hat{\psi}$ (class.) 2 C. 8. 16, 9. 15, (R. 6. 17); see further H. 13. 4, 5 $\tau i \mu \cos \delta \gamma a \mu \cos \kappa \tau . \lambda$., R. 12. 19 ff., Col. 4. 6. On the omission of $\epsilon i \nu a \iota$ and uv cp. §§ 34, 5; 73, 4 and 5; 74, 2. The present or imperf. (aor. and fut.) of elvai (viveo bai, mapeivai, mapaviv.) may, after Hebrew precedent, be omitted after $i\delta ov = \overline{1} \overline{2} \overline{1}$, which can stand by itself for the verbal predicate, though it may also be introduced in addition to the predicate, Mt. 3. 17 (17. 5) καὶ ἰδοὺ φωνή (sc. ἐγένετο) έκ τῶν οὐρανῶν λέγουσα (but the same phrase occurs without ἰδού A. 10. 15), L. 5. 18 και ίδου ανδρες φέροντες κ.τ.λ. (sc. ήσαν, παρήσαν as in 13. 1), cp. 5. 12, A. 13. 11 και νύν ίδου χειρ κυρίου έπι σέ, 8. 36. On the more extended use of the ellipse of the verb vide infra § 81.

¹ On R. 1. 15 ourses rd kar' $i\mu \hat{\epsilon} \pi \rho \delta \theta \nu \mu os$ (so more correctly than -or) sc. $i\mu (\delta \phi \epsilon i\lambda \hat{\epsilon} \tau \eta s \epsilon i\mu \hat{\mu}$ precedes), see § 42, 2.

4. Absence of the subject. On the absence of the subject, where it is not contained in the verb or in the context, the following remarks may be made for the N.T. usage. The so-called impersonal verbs expressing meteorological phenomena are almost entirely want-ing. personal in Mt. 5. 45, sc. $\delta \theta \epsilon \delta s$ (LXX. Gen. 2. 5, but $\delta \theta \epsilon \delta s$ $\delta \epsilon \delta s$ is also a classical phrase), impersonal in Ja. 5. 17, L. 17. 29 (Ap. 11. 6 "va μη ὑετοs βρέχη, in the Vulgate simply pluat); βροντά, ¹ ἀστράπτει etc. are nowhere found ($\dot{\eta}$ above dot path) above Λ and Λ above L. 17. 24; the verb is used = 'to shine' as in class. Greek ibid. 24. 4, cp. $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota a \sigma \tau \rho a \pi \tau \epsilon \iota v A. 9$. 3, 22.6 'to shine round about'). Equally uncommon in the N.T. are the classical expressions in which the agent is readily supplied from the verb in the person to whom some particular task belongs (e.g. $\epsilon\kappa\eta\rho\nu\xi\epsilon$ sc. δ κηρυξ): σαλπίσει 1 C. 15. 52 'the trumpet shall sound' (Winer compares the German 'es läutet'; in any case $\delta \sigma \alpha \lambda \pi i \gamma \kappa \tau \eta s$ cannot be understood, the most that can be supplied is $\dot{\eta} \sigma \alpha \lambda \pi i \gamma \xi$). Peculiar phrases are τρίτην ταύτην ήμέραν άγει ('it is,' as άγω ήμέραν is used) L. 24. 21, and $d\pi \epsilon \chi \epsilon \iota$ 'it is enough' Mc. 14. 41 (Anacreontea 28. 31; but D has $d\pi$. $\tau \delta \tau \epsilon \lambda \sigma s$, the matter has received its completion). Somewhat more frequent is the impersonal passive, like Latin *itur* 'one goes,' but this usage was never developed to any great extent in Greek : Mt. 7. 2 έν ῷ μέτρφ μετρεῖτε μετρηθήσεται ὑμῖν (= Mc. 4. 24, L. 6. 38), L. 6. 38 δίδοτε και δοθήσεται υμίν (cp. Mt. 7. 7, Mc. 4. 25), where the writer passes at once to the 3rd pers. plur. act. with equivalent meaning μέτρον ... δάσοισιν : 1 P. 4. 6 νεκροΐε εὐηγγελίσθη, R. 10. 10, 1 C. 15. 42 f. σπείρεται εν φθορά, εγείρεται εν άφθαρσία κ.τ.λ., Herm. Mand. iii. 3 έπιστεύθη τῷ λόγψ μου. But έρρέθη ὅτι Mt. 5. 21 does not come under this head, since the question 'What was said ?' finds its answer in the $\delta \tau \iota$ clause; in the same way $\pi \rho \epsilon \pi \epsilon \iota$, πρέπον ἐστί, δει, έξεστι, έξόν (ἐστι), ἐγένετο, ἀνέβη ἐπὶ τὴν καρδίαν αὐτοῦ (A. 7. 23)² followed by an infinitive are not instances of the loss of the subject. The use of the 3rd pers. plur. act. without a subject is occasioned by the indefiniteness of the agent, but the subject may also, if one likes, be denoted by oi $a\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\sigma\sigma$, as in L. 6. 31 καθώς θέλετε ίνα ποιώσιν ὑμίν οἱ ἄνθρ. = 'that one should do unto you.' The instances of omission in this case are not very many: Mt. 7. 16 συλλέγουσιν, Mc. 10. 13 προσέφερον, L. 17. 23 έροῦσιν, 12. 20, Jo. 15. 6, 20. 2, A. 3. 2, Ap. 12. 6 (1 C. 10. 20). — In the formulas of citation such as λέγει 2 C. 6. 2, G. 3. 16 etc., φησίν 1 C. 6. 16, H. 8. 5, εἴρηκε Η. 4. 4, δ θεόs is to be understood ('*He* says'); in 2 C. 10. 10 φησίν (NDE etc., ? 'one says') appears to be a wrong reading for φασίν (B), unless perhaps a τις has dropped out (but cp. Clem. Hom. xi. 9 ad init.).

¹ Βροντή γέγονεν take its place in Jo. 12. 29.

² Used impersonally in Herm. Mand. iv. 1, μή ἀναβαινέτω σου έπὶ τὴν καρδίαν περί γυναικός ἀλλοτρίας (Hebr. بول-جاد).

§ 31. AGREEMENT.

1. The arrangement $(\sigma \dot{\nu} \tau a \xi \iota s)$ of the different parts of the sentence, primarily of subject and predicate, involves a mutual assimilation, inasmuch as the individual nouns and verbs are not represented by a single abstract radical form, but only appear in certain definite and distinctive forms, and these forms cannot differ from each other in different parts of the sentence, where they refer to the same thing or person. In addition to its application in the case of subject and predicate, this law of agreement holds good also for nouns which are bound up together into a smaller whole within the sentence, one noun more nearly defining the other (the attribute, apposition). The individual forms [or inflections] to which nouns and verbs are subject express the following ideas: (a) one of the three genders, since there are nouns which possess different forms for these genders (adjectives), or which at least draw a distinction between the masculine and feminine genders (designations of persons such as $\beta a \sigma i \lambda \epsilon v s - \beta a \sigma i \lambda i \sigma \sigma a$; (b) one of the two numbers (the dual no longer existing in the N.T.)—this applies equally to nouns and verbs; (c) one of the five cases (nouns); (d) one of the three persons in the case of the verb, while the noun is for the 1st and 2nd persons represented by a certain class of words-the pronouns. Any combination of words where the agreement in any of these respects is not adhered to is strictly proscribed as a solecism, except in some definite cases where the language admits of the violation of the law of agreement.

2. Want of agreement in gender.-Instances of an adjectival predicate in neuter sing agreeing with a feminine subject are: Mt. 6. 34 άρκετον τη ήμέρα ή κακία αὐτής, 2 C. 2. 6 ίκανον τῷ τοιούτω ή ἐπιτιμία αύτη, Α. 12. 3 D ίδων ὅτι ἀρεστόν ἐστιν τοῖς Ἰουδαίοις ή έπιχείρησις αὐτοῦ. The third instance is, however, uncertain, since the text in D may be due to corrupt conflation of different readings. In the other two instances it appears better to regard appeard and ikavóv as imitations of the Latin satis (cp. L. 22. 38 idoù µáxaıpaı ωδε δύο – $i \kappa a v \delta v$ έστιν, Herm. Vis. iii. 9. 3 τὸ ἀρκετὸν τῆς τροφῆς satis cibi; on the other hand the predicate is ἀρκετός in 1 P. 4. 3) than to compare the classical usage in general propositions such as ovk dyaθ dv πολυκοιρανίη; in instances like the last the word 'thing' must be supplied, and a comparison is drawn between the general idea contained in the subject and other things of a different charac-Kaλov το alas Mc. 9. 50, L. 14. 34 'salt is a good thing' ter. would also in classical Greek be expressed by something like χρήσιμον οἱ άλες; but there is an absence in the N.T. of analogous instances of this use with a masculine or feminine subject, just as the fuller classical forms of this neuter predicate—μάταιόν τι, χρήμα σοφόν—are also wanting. Still we find $\tau\iota$ 'something (special),' ovoév 'nothing' i.e. 'nothing worth' used as neuter predicates to a masc. or fem. subject: G. 6. 3 el dokeî τ is elval τ i $\mu\eta\delta\epsilon\nu$ $d\nu$ (as in

class. Greek; beside this we have $\epsilon i \nu a i$ ris A. 5. 36, cp. 8. 9 = agreat man'). Further instances are τi $\delta \Pi \epsilon \tau \rho os \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \tau o (\tau i \epsilon i \eta \tau a \hat{\nu} \tau a)$. see § 50, 7; 1 C. 11. 5 (the woman who is unveiled) έν έστι και τὸ αὐτὸ τŷ έξυρημένη, Mt. 6. 25=L. 12. 23 ή ψυχὴ πλειόν ἐστι τῆς τροφῆς: in general assertions of this kind μία καὶ ἡ αὐτή, πλείων would be impossible. But in particular statements the pronoun is brought into agreement with the noun: R. 11. 5 τ (s η $\pi\rho\delta\sigma\lambda\eta\psi$)s $\epsilon i \mu\eta$ — (German would use the neuter 'was'), E. 1. 18 τ (s $\epsilon\sigma\tau\nu\eta$ $\epsilon\lambda\pi$)s $\tau\eta$ s κλήσεως αὐτοῦ, 1 C. 3. 17 (ὁ ναὸς τοῦ θεοῦ) οἴτινές ἐστε ὑμεῖς (but in 1 C. 6. 11 ταθτά [sc. κλέπται κ.τ.λ.] τινες ήτε = τοιοθτοι, which would not have been sufficiently clear, while obroi would have been impossible; Herm. Sim. ix. 5. 3 τί ἀστιν [is the meaning of] $\dot{\eta}$ οἰκοδομή). If the pronoun is the subject, in this case also there is agreement, which is contrary to German usage: Mt. 22. 38 $a\ddot{v}\tau\eta$ έστιν ή μεγάλη έντολή, Ph. 1. 28 ήτις (i.e. resistance, το αντικείσθαι) έστιν αυτοίς ενδειξις απωλείας, cp. E. 3. 13, A. 16. 12 Φιλίππους ήτις $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\dot{\iota}~\pi\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\iotas$. But in assimilation of this sort Latin goes a step further than Greek: see 1 P. 2. 19 f. τοῦτο χάρις, $\epsilon i - i \pi o \phi \epsilon \rho \epsilon i \tau i s - a \lambda \lambda'$ $\epsilon i - i π \circ μ \epsilon ν \epsilon i \tau \epsilon$, τοῦτο χάρις παρὰ θεῷ, where the Greek regards the two ideas of 'grace' and 'endurance' as too distinct to admit of being merged into one, while the Latin translation has haec est gratia (Buttmann, p. 112). In interpretations by means of a relative sentence (as in 1 C. 3. 17 outves quoted above) the prevalent form elsewhere for the relative is the neut. sing. (which in that passage would be intolerable: $\delta \epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu \delta \mu \epsilon i s$), even though neither the explanatory word nor the word explained has this gender: Mt. 27. 33 τόπον λεγόμενον Γολγ., ο (os A al.) έστιν κρανίου τόπος (the repetition of $\lambda \epsilon_{\gamma \delta \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma s}$ either before or after $\tau \delta \pi \sigma s$ is rightly omitted by №°D), Mc. 15. 22 Γολγ. τόπον, ὄ ἐστιν μεθερμηνεύομενον κρ. τ., 3. 17 Βοανηργές, ὅ ἐστιν νἱοὶ βροντῆς, Jo. 1. 42¹ etc.; Mc. 12. 42 λεπτά δύο, ο έστιν κοδράντης; Col. 3. 14 την άγάπην, ο (v.l. ος, ητις) έστιν σύνδεσμος της τελειότητος² (Barn. 15. 8 άρχην ..., ο έστιν άλλου κόσμου άρχήν); cp. Mc. 15. 16 της αυλης, ο έστιν πραιτώριον; Ε. 6. 17 την μάχαιραν –, δ έστιν βήμα θεοῦ; in the Apocalypse alone is there assimilation of the relative to the subject or predic.: 4. 5 $\lambda a \mu \pi a \delta \epsilon s$, ä (v.l. aι) είσιν τὰ πνεύματα 5. 6, 8. This phrase ő έστι has become as much a stereotyped formula as the equivalent $\tau o \hat{v} \tau' \check{\epsilon} \sigma \tau i (\tau o v \tau \check{\epsilon} \sigma \tau i)$ in Mt. 27. 46 ήλι – τοῦτ' ἔστι Θεέ μου κ.τ.λ., Η. 2. 14 τον το κράτος ἔχοντα τοῦ θανάτου, τουτέστι τον διάβολον, 7. 5, 9. 11 etc. But all these instances represent not so much a classical as a Hellenistic usage. (Tí $i\sigma\tau\iota$ $\tau a v \tau a$ is common to N.T. and classical Greek § 50, 7). On πρώτη πάντων Mc. 12. 28 see § 36, 12; on want of agreement in the constructio ad sensum vide infra 4; on the construction

¹ Jo. 19. 17 τον λεγόμενον Κρανίου τόπον, δ (al. δs) λέγεται Ἐβραϊστὶ Γολγοθâ is badly corrupted; we should read with LX, vulg. al. Κρ. τ., Ἐβρ. δὲ Γ.

² Since this is a case not of interpretation but description, is would be more correct, cp. Col. 3. $5 \tau \eta \nu \pi \lambda \epsilon o \nu \epsilon \xi (a \nu, \eta \pi \iota s \epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu \epsilon \delta \delta \omega \lambda o \lambda a \tau \rho (a, where <math>\delta \epsilon \epsilon \sigma \tau$ ' that is to say' would be more in place than in verse 14, cp. the v.l. in E. 5. 5. The reading δ (BDEFG) for is in Col. 2. 10 is entirely wrong; in 2. 17 δ (BFG) for δs is harsh.

where the subject of the sentence is composed of several words, or in the case of an attribute to several nouns vide infra 5.

3. Want of agreement in number; neuter plurals with singular Probably there is no more striking peculiarity in the whole verb. of Greek syntax than the rule that where the subject is a neuter plural the verb still remains in the singular. This rule, which in Attie is never broken, is however not without exceptions in Homer and in the Hellenistic language, and modern Greek has gone back completely and exclusively to the use of the plural verb in this instance as in others. In the N.T. (as in the LXX.) there is great fluctuation, and very often this fluctuation extends to the readings of the MSS. in individual passages : while in the Shepherd of Hermas the plural is found in the majority of cases. Of neuter words which denote persons: $\tau \epsilon \kappa \nu \alpha$ is used with plural verb in Mt. 10. 21 (sing. $B\Delta$) = Mc. 13. 12 (sing. B), but with sing. verb in 1 Jo. 3. 10, R. 9. 8: έθνη with plur. verb Mt. 6. 32 (sing. EG al.). 12. 21 O.T., 25. 32 (sing. AE al.), L. 12. 30 (sing. AD al.), Acts 4. 25 O.T., 11. 1 (sing. D*), 13. 48, R. 2. 14 (sing. D°E), 15. 27, 1 C. 10. 20 ? (om. τα έθνη BDEF al., sing. KL), G. 3. 8 O.T., 2 Tim. 4. 17 (sing. KL), Ap. 11. 18 (sing. **), 15. 4, 18. 3, 23, 21. 24, Clem. Cor. i. 59. 4 (with sing. verb all MSS. in R. 9. 30, E. 4. 17); but with daimovia the sing. verb preponderates, L. 4. 41 (plur. &C), 8. 2, 30 (plur. CF, also D with another reading, cp. 31 f.), 35 (plur. x°), 38 (in verse 33 εἰσηλθον has overwhelming evidence, -εν SU), 10. 17: the plur. is found in Ja. 2. 19; πνεύματα uses both constructions, a plur. verb in Mc. 1. 27, 3. 11 (v.l. sing.), 5. 13 (sing. B), A. 8. 7? Ap. 4. 5 ? 16. 14 (v.l. with sing. partially introduced), a sing. verb in L. 8. 2 κατοικεί, 10. 20 (v.l. δαιμόνια), 1 C. 14. 32 (v.l. $\pi \nu \epsilon \tilde{\nu} \mu \alpha$). Other neuter words besides these appear with plural verb: Mt. 6. 28 $\tau \dot{a}$ κρίνα $\pi \hat{\omega}s$ αὐξάνουσιν (but with sing. verb in the corresponding words in L. 12. 37), Jo. 19. 31 has first iva $\mu\eta$ $\mu\epsilon\iota\eta$ τa $\sigma\omega\mu a\tau a$, followed by iva κατεαγώσιν αὐτῶν τὰ σκέλη, Jo. 10. 8 οὐκ ηκουσαν (σεν L) αὐτῶν τὰ πρόβατα. In the verses preceding the last passage quoted a sing. verb is used with πρόβατα, ibid. 3 άκούει, 4 ακολουθεί, with the additional words ότι οίδασιν την φωνην avtov (because offer would have been ambiguous) and further on another plural in verse 5; in the subsequent verses, 10 has exwore where $\pi \rho \delta \beta a \tau a$ must be regarded as the subject, in 12 $\delta \sigma \tau i \nu$ is read by *ABLX, eiouv by DF al., and so on with constant interchange up till 16 (in 27 and the following verse there are conflicting readings). On the whole, the singular verb certainly is more frequently used with words which have not a personal meaning (the singular is not excluded even by the insertion of a numeral, έαν γένηται – έκατον πρόβατα Mt. 18. 12), and is uniformly employed with abstract words (exceptions are τὰ ῥήματα ταῦτα with ἐφάνησαν L. 24. 11, and perhaps $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho\gamma a$ with $\delta\dot{\nu}a\nu\tau ai$ [v.l. $-a\tau ai$] 1 Tim. 5. 25) and with pronouns such as ravra and a (Ap. 1. 19 a ciou kai a μέλλει γενέσθαι; Clem. Cor. i. 42. 2 εγένουτο αμφότερα, cp. 27. 6 πάντα). In 1 C. 10. 11 there are two readings: ταῦτα δὲ τυπικῶs συνέβαινεν and - τύποι συνέβαινον, cp. verse 6 ταῦτα δὲ τύποι ήμῶν

 $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\epsilon\nu\dot{\eta}\theta\eta\sigma a\nu$, the verb taking its number from the noun which forms the predicate, as it does also in classical Greek as well as in Latin (Kühner, Gr. ii.² 67).¹

4. The so-called constructio ad sensum is very widespread in Greek from early times, though without being subject to any rules; the same construction appears in the N.T. It affects both number and gender. The instances mainly consist of the collective words which embrace in a singular noun the idea of a plurality of persons : masculine words like ὄχλος, λαός, feminines like στρατιά. οἰκία, neuters like πληθος, σπέρμα (with plur. verb in Herm. Vis. Instances of this construction, where a masculine plural ii. 2. 2). conforming to the sense only appears in a clause appended to the main clause, do not give serious offence even in English : e.g. 1 C. 16. 15 οίδατε την οικίαν Στεφανά, ότι – εταξαν εαυτούς (εταξεν έαυτήν is unnatural), Jo. 6. 2 ήκολούθει ὄχλος πολύς, ὅτι ἐθεώρουν. The following are rather harsher constructions: L. 2. 13 $\pi\lambda\hat{\eta}\theta_{0S}$ στρατιας οὐρανίου (= ἀγγέλων), αἰνούντων τον θεον και λεγόντων, Α. 21. 35 ήκολούθει τὸ πληθος τοῦ λαοῦ, κράζοντες Αἶρε αὐτόν (κράζον DHLP) cp. 3. 11. And this want of agreement in number is not excluded even where the singular and plural words are directly connected: A. 6. 11 πολύς τε όχλος των ξερέων υπήκουον (·εν AE) τ $\hat{\eta}$ πίστει, 25. 24 απαν το πληθος των Ιουδαίων ενέτυχόν (BH - έν) μοι -, βοώντες κ.τ.λ., Mt. 21. 8 ό πλειστος όχλος έστρωσαν, Jo. 7. 49 ό όχλος ούτος ὁ μὴ γινώσκων τὸν νόμον ἐπάρατοί είσιν. The following also are closely allied to $\delta_{\chi}\lambda$ os etc.: $\tau \dot{a} \ \ddot{\epsilon}\theta\nu\eta$ 'the heathen,' E. 4. 17 f. τὰ έθνη περιπατε $\hat{\iota}$ -, έσκοτωμένοι κ.τ.λ. (1 C. 12. 2 is not an instance of this), ai ἐκκλησίαι G. 1. 22 f. (which is followed by μόνον δὲ ἀκούοντες ήσαν), and names of places: L. 10. 13 Τύρψ και Σιδώνι - καθήμενοι, though here the other reading -vai (DEG al.), since the towns are regarded as wholes (as in Mt. 11. 21 ff.), appears preferable. Cp. § 48, 5 (use of the personal pron. $a\dot{v}\tau o\hat{v}$ and the relative).

5. If the subject consists of several coordinate words connected by kal, the common predicate must, according to German feeling, stand in the plural in conformity with the sense, and of course if one of the subject words is $\epsilon \gamma \omega$, this plural predicate must be the plural of the 1st person: L. 2. 48 ο πατήρ σου κάγω όδυνωμενοι έζητουμέν σε, Jo. 10. 30, 1 C. 9. 6. An additional modifying word, referring to the subject, as $\delta \delta v \nu \omega \mu \epsilon v \sigma i$ in the passage quoted, will, if declinable, likewise fall into the plural, and into the masculine plural in a case where the subject consists of a combination of masc. and fem. words (Joseph and Mary in that passage). This is always the case if the predicate follows the subject; on the other hand, if it precedes the subject, it is rather the custom for the verb to stand in the singular, and to correspond in form to the subject immediately following it: again, if the verb is interposed between the different subjects, it is made to correspond to the subject which has preceded it, and can only take the number of that subject. Instances of the singular

¹ On the stereotyped use of the sing. $i\delta oi$, $i\delta \epsilon$, $d\gamma \epsilon$ see § 33, 2 note.

verb occupying the first place : A. 11. 24 σωθήση σù καὶ ὁ οἶκός σου, where the first word is the main subject 'thou together with thy whole house,' similarly Jo. 2. 2 $\epsilon \kappa \lambda \eta \theta \eta$ de $\kappa a \lambda$ 'Inoove $\kappa a \lambda$ of $\mu a \theta \eta \tau a \lambda$ $a\dot{v}\tau c\hat{v}$, and, so far as the participle at the head of the sentence is concerned, A. 5. 29 αποκριθεις δέ Πέτρος και οι απόστολοι είπαν (cp. verse 21); but the singular verb is also used where the subjects are placed on an equality: Jo. 18. 25 ήκολούθει δε τ $\hat{\psi}$ Ί. Σίμων Πέτρος καὶ άλλος $\mu a \theta \eta \tau \eta s$ (cp. 20. 3, A. 26. 30; so without exception where the subject words are not persons, as in Mt. 5. 18 & oupards kal $\dot{\eta} \gamma \eta$; L. 2. 33 ήν δε ό πατήρ αὐτοῦ καὶ ἡ μήτηρ θαυμάζοντες, Mt. 17. 3 ὤφθη (NBD: al. -ησαν) - Μωϋσής και 'Ηλίας συλλαλούντες. From the last two instances it follows that where the predicate is divided, that part of it which precedes the subject is in the singular, the part which follows it is in the plural (so in the passage A. 5. 29 quoted above). In the following instances there is a special reason for the plural verb : Mc. 10. 35 προσπορεύονται αὐτῷ Ἰάκωβος καὶ Ἰωάνης οι viol $Z \in \beta \in \delta a lov$ (the pair of brothers who from the first were thought of together), Jo. 21. 2 ήσαν όμου Σίμων Πέτρος και κ.τ.λ., L. 23. 12 έγένοντο φίλοι ő τε Ηρώδης και ό Πιλάτος, Α. 5. 24 ώς δε ήκουσαν – ő $\tau\epsilon \ \sigma \tau \rho \alpha \tau \eta \gamma \delta s - \kappa \alpha i$ of $\dot{\alpha} \rho \chi \iota \epsilon \rho \epsilon i s$ (the plural has already been used before of the same persons in verse 21; cp. 1. 13, 4. 27). Accordingly in default of any reason of this kind, where the readings differ, the singular appears to deserve the preference, as in L. 8. 19, A. 17. 14; we even have akoúras δè Βαρνάβαs και Παύλοs the reading of D in Acts 14. 14, cp. 13. 46 D. Instances of interposition of the predicate are L. S. 22 autos $d\nu\epsilon\beta\eta$ eis $\pi\lambda$ oiov kai oi $\mu a\theta$. autoi, Jo. 4. 36 etc.—For adjectives and participles qualifying several words cp. L. 10. 1 εἰς πάσαν πόλιν καὶ τόπον, 1 Th. 5. 23, on the other hand δώρα καὶ θυσίαι μὴ δυνάμεναι H. 9.9 (ibid. 3.6 $\overline{\beta}$ εβαίαν is an interpolation from verse 14).-The singular verb is regularly used, if the two subjects instead of being connected by Kai are separated by η : Mt. 5. 18 iŵra $\epsilon v \eta$ µía κεραία où µη παρέλθη, 12. 25, 18. 8, E. 5. 5 (especially if the verb precedes as in 1 C. 14. 24); G. 1. 8 έαν ήμεις ή άγγελος έξ ουρανοῦ εὐαγγελίζηται (it would be impossible to include the two subjects in $-\zeta \omega \mu \epsilon \theta \alpha$). An exception is Ja. 2. 15 έαν άδελφος η άδελφη γυμνοι υπάρχωσιν (occasioned by the adjective, the singular of which, yuuvos or yuuvn, would have been harsh).

6. Solecisms (in the Apocalypse). In distinction from all other New Testament writings, and in particular from those of the Apostle St. John, the Apocalypse exhibits a multitude of the most remarkable solecisms, which depend in the main upon the neglect of the laws of agreement. Thus we have in 1. 5 and Inovî X_P, 6 μάρτυs 6 πιστός, 6 πρωτότοκος τών νεκρών και 6 άρχων τών βασιλέων της γής, τφ άγαπώντι ήμῶς κ.τ.λ. (the datives on account of αὐτῷ in verse 6 according to Winer), 11. 4 οὖτοί εἰσιν aἰ δύο ἐλαîαι καὶ aἰ δύο λυχνίαι aἰ ἐνώπιον τοῦ κυρίου τῆς γῆς ἑστώτας (*ABC; ἑστώσαι κ[∞]P), 12. 5 καὶ ἔτεκεν νίον ἄρσεν (AP; ἄρρενα & Β, ἄρσενα P), δς μέλλει κ.τ.λ. (the correction -ενα is no improvement; a better alteration would be to strike out νίόν), 14. 19 ἕβαλεν εἰς τὴν ληνὸν τοῦ θυμοῦ τοῦ θεοῦ τὸν μέγαν (τὴν $\mu\epsilon\gamma\dot{a}\lambda\eta\nu$ 8). Cp. 2. 20 (nom. in apposition with acc.), 3. 12 (nom. for gen.), 6. 1 (the same, as a v.l.), 7. 4 (nom. for acc.), 8. 9 (for gen.), 9. 14 (for dat.), 14. 12 (for gen., which is reads), 20. 2 (for acc.): 7. 9 (όχλος ... έστώτες ... περιβεβλημένους; the acc. is dependent on είδον which stands at the beginning of the verse, the nom. on Kal idov which follows eldor, Winer), 5. IIf. (Léyoutes following φωνην αγγέλων and $\eta \nu$ ó api $\theta \mu$ òs av $\pi \hat{\omega} \nu \mu \nu \rho i$ abes $\kappa. \tau. \lambda$; similar an acolutha with $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega \nu$ or -ovres in 4. 1, 11. 15, 14. 7: and with v.l. 11. 1, 19. 6), 21. 9 with It has even been fixed as a rule for this writer that an apposiv.l. tional phrase following a noun in any case stands in the nominative, although scribes have shown a strong inclination to correct these solecisms.¹ The isolated cases of anacoluthon of this kind which appear in other writings of the N.T. should be regarded either as excusable or as due to a corrupt text. Jo. 1. 14 ο λόγος σαρξ έγένετο – και έθεασάμεθα την δόξαν αὐτοῦ – πλήρης (-ρη D) χάριτος καὶ ἀληθείας. In this passage the word in question is one which to a remarkably great extent, both in the N.T. and also in papyrus documents, appears as indeclinable : thus A. 6. 5 ανδρα πλήρης (-ρη BC²) πίστεως, 3 πλήρεις (-ρης AEHP) πνεύματος, 19. 28 γενόμενοι πλήρεις (-ρης AEL) θυμού, Mc. 8. 19 κοφίνους πλήρεις (-ρης AFGM) κλασμάτων, 2 Jo. 8 μισθον πλήρη (-pys L); the only passages where it is declined in all MSS. (no genitive following it) are Mt. 14. 20, 15. 37 (615), Mc. 4. 28 a v.l. (-ρη), 6. 43 a v.l. (-ρείs); cp. Papyr. Berol. no. 13. 8 απερ απέσχαμεν πλήρης, 81. 27 as παραδώσω πλήρης, 270. 9, 373. 13, 21; Grenfell-Hunt, Pap. ii., p. 107 διὰ τὸ $\pi \lambda \eta \rho \eta [s a] ὐ τ ∂ν ἀπεσχηκέναι, 118 (perhaps$ also 117, where $\pi\lambda\eta\rho\eta$ is given at the end of a line).²—In Philipp. 2. I ει τις παράκλησις – , ει τι παραμύθιον – , ει τις κοινωνία – , ει τις σπλάγχνα και οἰκτιρμοί, εί τι ('if it avails ought,' cp. § 31, 2) ought to be, as it seems, written throughout.—Ja. 3. 8 την γλώσσαν οὐδεὶς δύναται δαμάσαι, άκατάσχετον κακόν, μεστή ἰοῦ (Tisch. puts a colon after δαμ., making the following clause independent, sc. coriv).-L. 24. 47 κηρυχθηναι μετάνοιαν – αρξάμενοι (-ένων D correctly, -ενον AC3FH al.) and A. 10. 37 οίδατε το γενόμενον βήμα καθ' όλης της 'Ιουδαίας, άρξάμενος από της Γαλιλ. (άρξ. γαρ AD, which is no improvement; -evov correctly LP; but the whole clause $d\rho\xi$. d. τ . Γ . is perhaps taken from L. 23. 5). For other instances cp. § 81.

¹ Nestle, Philol. Sacra 7, Einführung in das Griech. N.T. 90 f. Akin to this is what may be called the indeclinable use of $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega \nu$ or $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega \tau \epsilon s$ in the LXX. = $\gamma \lambda \epsilon \epsilon r$ Gen. 15. I, 22. 30, 38. 13, 45. 16 etc., Winer. On the practice of many translators of putting words in apposition with any of the oblique cases in the nominative, see Nestle, Philol. Sacra 7. (Nestle also conjectures in Ap. 1. 4 $\pi \nu \epsilon \nu \mu d \pi \omega \nu \tau$ $\epsilon \nu \omega \pi \omega \nu \tau o \hat{\upsilon} \theta \rho \delta \nu \omega$ in place of the readings $\tau \omega \nu$, δ , $\delta \epsilon \delta \sigma \tau \nu \sigma$ or $\epsilon \delta \sigma \tau \nu$. In 2. 13 N alone has preserved the true reading $\tau \delta \nu$, δs .)

² " $\Pi \lambda \eta \rho \eta s$ is also used indeclinably in the LXX., e.g. Num. 7. 13 F, 19 N, 20 BN*, Job 21. 24 all MSS., Sir. 19. 23 B*. Cp. the phrase 'eine Arbeit voller Fehler.'" (E. Nestle.)

SYNTAX OF THE NOUN.

§ 32. GENDER AND NUMBER.

1. The neuter of the adjective or participle is occasionally used with reference to persons, not only in phrases like $\tau \partial \gamma \epsilon \nu \nu \dot{\omega} \mu \epsilon \nu o \nu$ L. 1. 35 'that which is to be born,' cp. $\tau \partial \tau \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \nu o \nu$, but also as in Jo. 17. 2 – πάσης σαρκός, ίνα παν δ δέδωκας αὐτῷ, δώσει αὐτοῖς, where men are first comprised under the collective name $\sigma \alpha \rho \xi$, then under the neuter $\pi \hat{a} v$, and finally (in $a \dot{v} \tau o \hat{s}$) the usual mode of designation Cp. Jo. 6. 37 (a similar instance), 1 Jo. 5. 4 ($\pi \hat{a} \nu \tau \hat{o}$; $\pi \hat{a}$ s appears. δ has been previously used in verse 1); further H. 7. 7 τδ $\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda \alpha \tau \tau \sigma \nu$ ύπὸ τοῦ κρείττονος εὐλογεῖται, for ὁ ἐλάττων or οἱ ἐλάττονες, in order to represent the thought in a more abstract and so in a more general form. A similar collective use of the neut. sing. appears in classical Greek (Kühner ii.² 13). Elsewhere the neut. plur. is used: 1 C. 1. 27 f. tà µwpà toù kócµov – tà ả $\sigma\theta\epsilon\nu\eta$ t. k. – tà ỉ $\sigma\chi\nu\rho$ á, where the sing. would have been wrong because of the idea of unity which it would imply—since the $\mu\omega\rho oi$ etc. do not form a definite section and moreover with the masculine the emphasis would not have lain so strongly upon the abstract quality of foolishness etc. Cp. further G. 3. 22 tà πάντα, which is not so strong as toùs πάντας, which might also have stood, $\pi \dot{a} \nu \tau a$ Jo. 12. 32 N*D. (In classical Greek $\tau \dot{a}$ φεύγοντα Xenoph. Anab. 7, 3. 11 ap. Winer ; πάντα τὰ συμβεβιασμένα Dem. 8. 41.)

2. The feminine appears to stand in place of the neuter, in consequence of a literal rendering from the Hebrew, in the O.T. quotation Mt. 21. 42 = Mc. 12. 11 mapà $\kappa v \rho i ov e \gamma e v e \tau o a v m \kappa a i e \sigma \tau v \theta a v \mu a \sigma \tau \eta$, from Ps. 118. 23 = Hebr. it is.'

3. The so-called collective use of the masc. sing. (on the neuter sing. vide supra 1) is found in R. 3. I $\tau i \tau \delta \pi \epsilon \rho \iota \sigma \sigma \delta \nu \tau \sigma \hat{\nu}$ Ioudaíou; i.e. 'What advantage has the Jew as Jew?' (which every individual Jew has *ipso facto*); cp. 2. 17-29, where the individual has already been selected as the representative of the community. We have just the same use with names of nations and rank, 'the soldier,' 'the Jew'; Latin miles, Romanus etc.; in classical Greek it is less common (Thucyd. 6. 78 τον Συρακόσιον, τῷ 'Αθηναίω). Other instances are Mt. 12. 35 δ άγαθος ανθρωπος, R. 13. 8 το άγαθον έργον, 1 P. 4. 18 δ δίκαιος – δ ασεβής, R. 14. 1 τον ασθενούντα. But in Ja. 2. 6 τον $\pi \tau \omega \chi \delta \nu$ refers to the example of verse 2: also in 5. 6 a single instance is thought of in $\tau \delta v$ δίκαιον, while 1 C. 6. 5 διακρîναι άνα μέσον τοῦ ἀδελφοῦ αὐτοῦ is an incorrect expression, which is easily intelligible (since avà μέσον of course presupposes more persons than one), for του άδ. α. και του έτέρου άδελφου (on account of verse I $\tau \circ \lambda \mu \hat{a}$ $\tau i \dots \kappa \rho i \nu \epsilon \sigma \theta a i$, where the language refers primarily to the plaintiff). Cp. LXX. Gen. 23. 15, Winer § 27, 1.

4. Of another character is the use of the sing. of objects, which belong individually to several persons, where several persons are spoken of, as we also say 'they shook their heads' [die Köpfe] or 'they shook their head' [den Kopf], *i.e.* everyone his own head, where the insertion of 'everyone' would be quite superfluous. In Greek, including N.T. Greek, the plural is usual in such cases; but deviations from this are permitted in classical as in N.T. Greek: A. 25. 24 ίνα ξυρήσωνται την κεφαλήν (Vulg. capita), L. 1. 66 έθεντο πάντες έν τη καρδία (DL ταϊς καρδίαις) αὐτῶν, Mc. 8. 17 πεπωρωμένην ἔχετε τὴν καρδίαν ὑμῶν, Ε. 6. 14 περιζωσάμενοι τὴν ὀσφύν ὑμῶν, Ap. 6. 11 έδόθη αὐτοῖς στολη λευκή (but έσθής in L. 24. 4 is collective 'raiment,' as is usual with this word [$e\sigma\theta\eta\sigma\sigma\sigma\nu$ ACL al.]). The sing. is always used in the Hebraic periphrastic expressions $d\pi \partial$ προσώπου των πατέρων Α. 7. 45, κατά πρόσωπον πάντων L. 2. 31, δια στόματος πάντων A. 3. 18 (21); also δια χειρόs is used with a plural word as in A. 2. 23, but here we have also the conceivable use of διà τών χειρών with a singular; έκ τής χ. αὐτών Jo. 10. 39.

5. The plural is used with reference to a single person by a generalising mode of expression in Mt. 2. 20 $\tau \epsilon \theta v \eta \kappa a \sigma \iota v$ of $(\eta \tau o \hat{v} v \tau \epsilon s)$ την ψυχην του παιδίου, namely Herod (verse 19); the plural implies the thought, there is nothing more to fear, since with Herod's death all are dead who etc. More peculiar is the use of the plural in the case of a certain group of substantives. This is partly due to the influence of Hebrew; thus aiwves is used in H. 1. 2, 11. 3, 1 Tim. 1. 17 (?) for 'the world,' in L. 1. 33 and often for 'eternity' (esp. in the phrase ϵ is rows alwas rw alwww G. 1. 5 etc.) = עוֹבַלָאָיים: ovpavoi = שְׁמֵים, but in most writers this plural is only used of heaven in the figurative sense as the seat of God (beside the sing. which is used in the same sense), whereas in the literal sense of the word the sing. prevails, except where, in accordance with the Jewish conception, several heavens are distinguished (E. 4. 10 ύπεράνω πάντων των ούρ., cp. 1. 10, Col. 1. 16, 20, H. 1. 10 O.T., 4. 14, 7. 26, 2 P. 3. 5, 7, 10, 12, 13; also probably at duvápers $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu$ oupavár Mt. 24. 29 = Mc. 13. 25 = Lc. 21. 26). Thus we always have ή βασιλεία τῶν οὐρανῶν Μἶτ. 3. 2 etc., ὁ πατὴρ ὑμῶν ὁ ἐν (τοἶs) ούρ. 5. 16 etc.; similarly in Luke 10. 20 τὰ ὀνόματα ὑμῶν ἐγγέγραπται έν τοῖς οὐρ. (τῷ οὐρανῷ D), 12. 23 θησαυρὸν ἐν τοῖς οὐρ., A. 2. 34, 7. 56; in Paul 2 C. 5. 1, E. 3. 15, 6. 9 (Ν οὐρανῷ), Ph. 3. 20, Col. 1. 5, 4. 1 (οὐρανῷ Ν*ABC), 1 Th. 1. 10; 1 P. 1. 4 (οὐρανῷ Ν); (John never has the plural; also in the Apoc. it only occurs in 12. 12); in Mt. the passage 24. 31 άπ' ἄκρων οὐρανῶν ἔως ἄκρων αὐτῶν runs counter to the rule given above (Mc. 13. 27 has the sing. here), but not 3. 16 f., cp. Mc. 1. 10 f. είδεν σχιζομένους τους ουρανούς -, καί φωνη έκ τών οὐρανών (L. 3. 21 f. has the sing., but cp. A. 7. 56). Further oirtippoi = רְחַמִים in Paul, R. 12. 1 etc.; the sing. only occurs in Col. 3. 12 (plur. K); cp. infra 6. The following plurals agree with the classical use: avarolaí, δυσμαί east and west Mt. 2. 1, 8. 11 etc., but only in the formula $a\pi \delta$ ($\tilde{\epsilon}\omega s$) $a\nu a\tau o\lambda \hat{\omega}\nu$, $\delta\nu\sigma\mu\hat{\omega}\nu$, on the other

hand we have $i \nu \tau \hat{\eta} d\nu a \tau o \lambda \hat{\eta}$ Mt. 2. 2, 9; $d\pi \hat{o} d\nu a \tau o \lambda \hat{\eta} \hat{s} (B - \hat{\omega} \nu)$ is also found beside από δυσμών Ap. 21. 13, α. ανατολής (Α -ών) ήλίου 7. 2, 16. 12 (δυσμή never occurs, as in class. Greek δυσμαί is practically the only form). Always ἐκ δεξιών, ἐξ ἀριστερών or εὐωνύμων; ἐν τοἶς δεξιοîs Mc. 16. 5, είς τὰ δεξιὰ μέρη Jo. 21. 6; beside these we have έν δεξιά R. 8. 34, E. 1. 20 etc., sc. $\chi \epsilon_i \rho i$ (classical use is similar). Cp. τα μέρη 'the region' Mt. 2. 22 etc., επέκεινα beyond A. 7. 43 (a wrong reading from the LXX.; it should be $\epsilon \pi i \tau a \mu \epsilon \rho \eta$). Τà αγια, τὰ αγια τῶν ἀγίων parts of the temple (or tabernacle) H. 9. 2 f. are used as well as τὸ άγιον in verse 1 (τὰ ἅγια τ. ἀγίων in LXX. 1 Kings 8. 6). $\Pi \dot{\nu} \lambda a \iota$ (class.) is only so used in $\pi \dot{\nu} \lambda a \iota$ "Aldov Mt. 16. 18 (LXX. Sap. Sal. 16. 23; class.), elsewhere the sing. is used for one gate; similarly $\theta'_{\nu\rho\alpha}$ for one door (class. often $\theta'_{\nu\rho\alpha}$), cp. ai θύραι πασαι A. 16. 26, so that Jo. 20. 19 f. θυρών, and perhaps also A. 5. 19, 23, 21. 30 are to be understood of several doors; the plural is used in the expression $\epsilon \pi i \theta i \rho a s$ Mt. 24. 33, Mc. 13. 29, cp. Ja. 5. 9 $\pi\rho\delta$ $\tau\omega\nu$ $\theta\nu\rho\omega\nu$ figuratively, $\pi\rho\delta$ $\tau\eta$ s $\theta\nu\rho\alpha$ s A. 12. 6 literally (but ibid. 5. 23 προ τών θυρών in a similar connection). Κόλποι (class.) is used in L. 16. 23 έν τοῖς κόλποις (τῷ κόλπψ D) aὐτοῦ ('Àβρaάμ), the sing in verse 22. ('Iμάτια means 'clothes' including ἰμάτιον and χιτών; but is used inaccurately = ἰμάτιον in Jo. 13. 4, 19. 23, also probably in A. 18. 6). The use of $d\rho\gamma\nu\rho\mu a$ for 'pieces of money' Mt. 26. 15 is not usual in classical Greek; όψώνια 'wages' L. 3. 14 etc. is Hellenistic. Αίματα (in classical poets) Ap. 18. 24 B (but sACP read $al\mu a$) is blood shed by several martyrs; Jo. 1. 13 ούκ έξ αίμάτων is used of the substance from which a man is begotten (Eurip. Ion 693, Winer). The names of feasts are as in classical Greek ($\Delta iov \dot{v} \sigma i a$, $\Pi a \nu a \theta \dot{\eta} \nu a i a$) in the plural: έγκαίνια, γενέσια (τὰ ἄζυμα in Mc. 14. 1 τὸ πάσχα καὶ τὰ ἄζυμα, but D omits kai tà dζ.; strictly ή έορτη των άζύμων or al ήμέραι τ. dζ.); also γάμοι 'a marriage-feast' Mt. 22. 2, Lc. 12. 36 etc. (classical): but the sing. is used in Mt. 22. 8 etc. Διαθήκαι E. 2. 12, R. 9. 4 NCK ($\dot{\eta}$ $\delta\iota a\theta \eta \kappa \eta$ BDE al., as always elsewhere; cp. the classical συνθηκαι).

6. The plural of abstract expressions is found in Greek in a manner that appears strange to us, not only in poets, but also not infrequently in an elevated prose style, being used to indicate the individual concrete manifestations of the abstract quality. In the N.T. the epistolary style occasionally presents a similar usage: 2 C. 12. 10 $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{015}$ (v.l. $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{015}$, cp. § 8, 3), $\tilde{\xi}\eta\lambda_{05}$ (v.l. $\tilde{\xi}\eta\lambda_{01}$), $\theta\nu\mu_{01}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{116}\tilde{\epsilon}_{015}$, κ_{01} $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{015}$ (v.l. $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{015}$, cp. § 8, 3), $\tilde{\xi}\eta\lambda_{05}$ (v.l. $\tilde{\xi}\eta\lambda_{01}$), $\theta\nu\mu_{016}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{116}\tilde{\epsilon}_{015}$, $\kappa_{017}\lambda_{017}\lambda_{017}$, $\theta\nu\mu_{016}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{015}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{015}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon}_{017}\tilde{\epsilon$

§ 33. THE CASES-NOMINATIVE AND VOCATIVE.

1. The **nominative** as the case of the name $(\delta vo\mu a\sigma\tau \iota \kappa \eta = \text{nominativus})$ appears to stand occasionally, where a proper name is introduced, without regard to the construction, in place of the case

which is strictly required. Thus Jo. 13. 13 φωνείτε με δ διδάσκαλος καὶ κύριος, but here the nom. has mainly a vocative character, vide inf. 4: Ap. 9. 11 orona exel (or. exel is omitted by the Latin Vulgate and may be supplied from the preceding words) $A\pi \circ \lambda \lambda \dot{\omega} \omega v$. Cp. Xenoph. Oecon. 6. 14 rous $\ddot{\epsilon} \chi \circ \nu \tau as$ root $\sigma \epsilon \mu \nu \delta \nu$ over $\delta \nu \sigma \epsilon \mu \nu \delta \nu$ τοῦτο τὸ καλός τε κἀγαθός (other instances in Lobeck, Phryn. 517. 1). But elsewhere the name is regularly assimilated to the case : Mt. 21, 25 καλέσεις τὸ ὄνομα αὐτοῦ Ἰησοῦν, Mc. 3. 16 ἐπέθηκεν ὄνομα $\tau \hat{\psi} \Sigma i \mu \omega \nu i \Pi \epsilon \tau \rho o \nu$ (only Δ and the Latin versions have $\Pi \epsilon \tau \rho o s$): and without exception in the phrase ovoµari 'by name' e.g. A. 27. 1 έκατοντάρχη ονόματι 'louλίω: cp. infra 2. It is accordingly incredible that the Mount of Olives should be translated by o 'Eλαιών and that this word should be used as indeclinable in L. 19. 29, 21. 37 ὄρος (acc.) τὸ καλούμενον ἐλαιών, but we must write ἐλαιῶν (τὸ ὄρος $\tau \omega v \epsilon \lambda$. in L. 19, 37 etc.), and in the single passage where we distinctly have the other form, A. 1. 12 (doous tov kaloumévou) élaimvos we must correct the text to ¿λαιών (as also in Joseph. Ant. Jud. 7, 9. 2), see § 10, 5.

2. The nominative occasionally stands in a parenthesis interrupting the construction: thus Jo. 1. 6 $\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\nu\epsilon\tau\sigma$ $a\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\sigma\sigma$ -, 'Iwang ovoma $a\upsilon\tau\varphi$ ($\eta\nu$ is read before $\sigma\nu$ by N*D*), cp. 3. 1 (where N* has Nikoônmos ovomati; there is a more detailed expression introduced by $\eta\nu$ dè in 18. 10; cp. also Ap. 6. 8, 8. 11, 9. 11; a similar classical use, § 30, 2); for this elsewhere with a more normal adjustment to the construction φ $\sigma\nu\mu\alpha$ - (often in Lc., but in Acts only at 13. 6; où τ d' ν . with v.l. φ $\sigma\nu$. Mc. 14. 32) or $\sigma\nu\mu\alpha\tau\iota$ (Luke, Gospel and Acts) is used. The instances in statements of time are more striking: L. 9. 28 $\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\nu\epsilon\tau\sigma$ dè $\mu\epsilon\tau\lambda$ $\tau\sigma\delta\lambda$ hoves $\tau\sigma\sigma\tau\sigma\lambda$, $\delta\sigma\epsilon\lambda$ $\eta\mu\epsilon\rho\alpha\iota$ $\sigma\epsilon\tau\omega$, kal $\pi\alpha\rho\lambda\lambda\beta$ ker k.t., Mt. 15. 32 $\sigma\tau\iota$ $\eta\delta\eta$ $\eta\mu\epsilon\rho\alpha\iota$ ($\eta\mu\epsilon\rho\alphas$ N) $\tau\rho\epsilon\deltas$ $\pi\rho\sigma\mu\epsilon\nu\sigma\sigma\sigma\ell\nu$ $\muo\iota$. So also we may accordingly interpret A. 5. 7 $\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\nu\epsilon\tau\sigma$ dé, ws $\omega\rho\omega\nu$ $\tau\rho\iota\omega\nu$ diator $\eta\mu\alpha$, kal η $\gamma\nu\nu\eta$ k.t. λ , and perhaps too (as Bengel and Winer) L. 13. 16 $\eta\nu$ $\epsilon\delta\eta\sigma\epsilon\nu$ δ $Zatavas, i\deltaoù deka$ $kal <math>\delta\kappa\tau\omega$ $\epsilon\tau\eta$.

3. The double nominative (nom. of the subject and nom. of the predicate) is found in the N.T. as in Attic, except that occasionally in place of the second nominative ϵis with the accusative is used after a Hebrew model (as it is also used instead of the second accusative with corresponding active verbs, § 34, 5). This construction appears with $\epsilon i vai$ (more precisely with the fut. *ëσομai*, which has a certain relation to $\gamma i v \rho \mu ai$) and $\gamma i v \epsilon \sigma \theta ai$, but chiefly in quotations: *έσονται* είs σάρκα μίαν Mt. 19. 5 O.T. = Hebr. $2, \epsilon i \gamma \epsilon v \eta \theta \eta$ $\epsilon is \kappa \epsilon \phi a \lambda \eta v \gamma \omega v i as 21. 42 O.T., έσται τὰ σκολιὰ εis εὐθείas L. 3. 5 O.T., 2 C. 6. 18 O.T.; seldom except in quotations, as in L. 13. 19 <math>\epsilon i \gamma \epsilon v \epsilon i s$ (om. $\epsilon i s$ D) δένδρον, Jo. 16. 20 $\eta \lambda i \pi \eta i \mu \omega v$ εis χαρλν

¹ The use of the nom. with $l\delta o\ell$, $l\delta\epsilon$ ($l\delta\epsilon \delta d\mu\nu\deltas \tau o\vartheta \theta\epsilon o\vartheta$ Jo. 1. 29 etc.) can only appear irregular, if one recalls the original meaning of the words. Already in Attic writers $l\delta o\ell$ (with this accent) has become a particle = ecce, and $l\delta\epsilon$ at any rate has become stereotyped like $d\gamma\epsilon$ and $\phi\epsilon\rho\epsilon$, so that it is joined with a plural word (Mt. 26. 65 etc.; $d\gamma\epsilon$ ol $\lambda\epsilon\gamma o\nu\tau\epsilon s$ Ja. 4. 13, cp. 5. 1).

γενήσεται (=μεταστραφήσεται, with which the use of εἰs is not remarkable), Ap. 8. 11 (with 16. 19 ἐγένετο εἰs τρία μέρη cp. διαιρεῖν εἰs: with 1 Th. 3. 5 εἰs κενδν γένηται δ κόποs ἡμῶν cp. the Attic εἰs κέρδος τι δρῶν). The combination λογίζεσθαι (passive) εἰs is also not Attic, being taken from LXX. Gen. 15. 6 ἐλογίσθη αὐτῷ εἰs δικαιοσύνην; in addition to its use in that quotation we have εἰs οὐδὲν λογισθῆναι A. 19. 27 (the same combination in Is. 40. 17), τὰ τέκνα λογίζεται εἰs σπέρμα R. 9. 8, cp. 2. 26 (for nothing, for a seed; cp. class. οὐδὲν εἶναι, τὸ μηδὲν εἶναι); from this use comes the phrase ἐμοὶ εἰs ἐλάχιστόν ἐστι 1 C. 4. 3.

4. The language has created a special case for address, namely the vocative; this is limited, it is true, to the singular, and even there is not in all cases distinguished in form from the nominative. This case appears also in the N.T. ($d\delta\epsilon\lambda\phi\epsilon$ L. 6. 42, $\pi d\tau\epsilon\rho$ Mt. 6. 9), but generally without the accompaniment which it usually has in Attic, namely the interjection δ . In most cases where this δ is found in the N.T. it expresses emotion: Mt. 15. 28 δ (om. D) γύναι, μεγάλη σου ή πίστις (γύναι in L. 22. 57, Jo. 2. 4, 4. 21 etc.), 17. 17 (= Mc. 9. 19, L. 9. 41) ω γενεά απιστοs (on the nom. vide infra), L. 24. 25, A. 13. 10 & πλήρης (cp. inf.) κ.τ.λ. (R. 11. 33 & $\beta \dot{a} \theta o s \pi \lambda o \dot{v} \tau o v$ is not an address, but an exclamation, for which purpose & [in this case also written a] is likewise used in Attic), G. 3. 1, 1 Tim. 6. 20. With a less degree of emotion: $\delta \ \ddot{a}\nu \theta\rho\omega\pi\epsilon$ R. 2. 1, 3, 9. 20, Ja. 2. 20 ($\ddot{a}\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\epsilon$ without δ in L. 12. 14, 22. 58, 60); it is found without any sense of emotion in the Attic manner only in the Acts: & Θεόφιλε 1. I (in L. 1. 3 κράτιστε Θεόφιλε, as the author of the work $\pi\epsilon\rho$ i upous has the address $\Pi o\sigma \tau o i \mu i \epsilon$ $\phi i \lambda \tau a \tau \epsilon$; on the other hand Dionysius of Halicarnassus in the work περί των άρχ. δητόρων has ω κράτιστε 'Αμμαίε; in any case Θεόφιλε without either δ or $\kappa \rho \dot{\alpha} \tau \iota \sigma \tau \epsilon$ would be much too bald), 18. 14 δ (ανδρες) 'Ιουδαίοι (Gallio is speaking), 27. 21 & ανδρες (while ανδρες άδελφοί, ἄνδρες 'Aθηναίοι etc. are used even in this book without $\hat{\omega}$, and even the simple avores 7. 26, 14. 15 etc., 27. 10, 25), & Barile according to the witnesses supporting the β text in A. 26. 13 (7).— From the earliest times (the practice is as old as Homer) the nominative has a tendency to usurp the place of the vocative. In the N.T. this occurs in two instances: on the one hand, with adjectives standing without a substantive or with a substantive whose vocative is not distinguishable from the nomin.: Mt. 17. 17, Mc. 9. 19, L. 9. 41 & γενεα απιστος (but D in Mc. and Lc. has απιστε), A. 13. 10 & πλήρης (with which may be compared & δυστυχής in Menander); αφρων L. 12. 20 (a variant -ov has little support), 1 C. 15. 36 (ditto);¹-on the other hand, where the article is introduced, which must naturally be followed by the nominative. The latter use of the nom. for voc. is also found already in Attic, e.g. Aristoph. Acharn. 242 πρόϊθ' εἰς τὸ πρόσθεν ὀλίγον ἡ κανηφόρος, *i.e.* you (who are) the basket bearer, Ran. 521 $\delta \pi a \hat{i} s$ (you there,

¹ Even πατήρ is read by BD in Jo. 17. 21, and by AB in verses 24, 25, θυγάτηρ AB¹D etc. Jo. 12. 15 O.T., L. 8. 48 BKL, Mt. 9. 22 DGL, Mc. 5. 34 BD. the lad I mean) $d\kappa o \lambda o \dot{\theta} \epsilon i$; in prose $\sigma \dot{v} \delta \pi \rho \epsilon \sigma \beta \dot{v} \tau a \tau o s$. $\dot{\omega} \ddot{a} v \delta \rho \epsilon s$ of παρόντες, οι οικέται, Πρόξενε και οι αλλοι οι παρόντες (Xen. Anab. i. 5. 16), and esp. with participles, one half of which do not form a vocative at all.¹ And so in the N.T. we have L. 8. 54 $\eta \pi \alpha \hat{s}$ eyeipov, Mc. 5. 41, 9. 25, L. 12. 32 $\mu \eta \phi \rho \beta o \hat{v}$, $\tau \partial \mu i \kappa \rho \partial \nu \pi o i \mu v i o v$, 11. 39 υμείς οι Φαρισαίοι,² R. 14. 4 συ ... ό κρίνων, Col. 3. 8 ff. ai γυναΐκες – οἱ ἄνδρες – τὰ τέκνα etc. = ὑμεῖς μὲν μὶ γυν. — ὑμεῖς δὲ οἱ άνδρες, Ap. 18. 20 οὐρανε καὶ οἱ ἅγιοι κ.τ. λ .³ In all these instances we have not so much a simple address as a more definite indication of the person addressed. But the N.T. (and the LXX.) have extended this usage still further; in particular (δ) $\theta \epsilon \epsilon$ is not common (only in Mt. 27. 46 in a translation ; also rare in LXX.), the phrase 5 $heta\epsilon$ os being used instead, L. 18. 11, H. 1. 8 O.T., 10. 7 O.T. etc., κύριε δ θεός Ap. 15. 3, and so also δ πατήρ Mt. 11. 26, R. 8. 15, δ δεσπότης Ap. 6. 10, δ κύριός μου καὶ ὁ θεός μου Jo. 20. 28 (ὁ διδάσκαλος καὶ ό κύριος 13. 13, vide supra 1); further ό βασιλεύς Ap. 15. 3, Mt. 27. 29 (BD al. βασιλεύ), Mc. 15. 18 (here BD al. βασιλεύ), Jo. 19. 3 (βασιλέν *), since this βασ. των Ιουδαίων is not a correct title, but a special designation, whereas the mode of addressing king Agrippa in A. 26. 7 etc. is and must be $\beta \alpha \sigma \iota \lambda \epsilon \hat{v}$.

§ 34. THE ACCUSATIVE.

1. The use of the accusative as the complement of transitive verbs, which is the most ordinary function of this case, in the N.T. gives occasion only for a few special remarks, since in the first place transitives and intransitives are not so sharply distinguished in N.T. Greek as in older Greek, and again other cases besides the accusative offer rival claims to be used as the comple-The following verbs occasionally appear as ment of the verb. transitives. Μένειν 'to await,' A. 20. 5, 23 (ὑπομένειν 1 C. 13. 7 etc., also in the sense of 'to await the help of God,' Clem. Cor. i. 34. 8, a quotation, for which LXX. uses the dat.; $\pi \epsilon \rho_i \mu \epsilon \nu \epsilon_i \nu A$. 1. 4, $d \nu a \mu \epsilon \nu \epsilon_i \nu$ 1 Th. 1. 10). Φεύγειν 'to avoid' (opposed to διώκειν 'to strive after' anything), 1 C. 6. 18, 1 Tim. 6. 11, 2 Tim. 2. 22 (with Hebraic construction ϕ . $a\pi \delta$ in the same sense 1 C. 10. 14); 'to flee before,' 'to escape,' only in H. 11. 34, έφυγον στόματα μαχαίρης as in class. Greek, elsewhere ϕ . $d\pi \delta$ as in Mt. 3. 7 $\phi v\gamma \epsilon i \nu d\pi \delta \tau \eta s \mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \delta v \sigma \eta s$ όργης (which in class. Greek is only used of places, φεύγειν από της Σκύλλης Xen. Mem. ii. 6. 31, cp. Herm. Mand. xi. 14 φεύγει απ' αὐτοῦ 'from him'); ἐκφεύγειν trans. in L. 21. 36 etc.; ἀποφ. 2 P. 2. 20 (ibid 1. 4 with genit. ? see § 36, 9). Φυλάσσεσθαι 'to shun,' trans. as in classical Greek, A. 21. 25 etc., as well as with $d\pi d$ L. 12. 15

¹Krüger, Gramm. § 45, 2. Kühner, Gr. ii.² 41 ff.

² So also L. 6. 25 oval $i\mu\hat{\nu}$, of $i\mu\pi\epsilon\pi\lambda\eta\sigma\mu\epsilon\nu\sigma$, is regular, since of $i\mu\pi$. is equivalent to a vocative.

³ Without the article we have A. 7. 42 O.T. olkos $I\sigma\rho\alpha\eta\lambda = (\delta\mu\epsilon\hat{s})$ d olk. I. (see on the omission of the article § 46, 9).

(Xenoph. Cyr. ii. 3. 9), cp. φυλάττειν έαυτον άπο 1 Jo. 5. 21.1 Φοβείσθαι 'to fear,' usually transitive, takes $d\pi \phi$ after Hebrew usage in Mt. 10. Ouppeiv is only intrans. (in classical Greek also trans.). 28. Oauμάζειν, usually intrans., is trans. in L. 7. 9 έθαύμασεν αὐτόν (om. aύτ. D), A. 7. 31 το δραμα (om. το δρ. A). Jd. 16. Αἰσχύνεσθαι is intrans. (with aπό in 1 Jo. 2. 28), but eπαισχύν. is transitive, cp. έντρέπεσθαι infra 2. Ἐλεείν (οἰκτίρειν R. 9. 15 Ô.T.) trans. Κλαίειν mostly intrans., trans. in Mt. 2. 18 O.T. (LXX. is different), L. 23. 28 according to D (in the other MSS. it takes $\epsilon \pi i$ with accus.). Hevdeiv is trans. only in 2 C. 12. 21 (and in L. 23. 28 according to Kóπτεσθaι 'to bewail' is trans. in L. 8. 52 (class.), and takes D). έπί with acc. in Ap. 1. 7, 18. 9. Ειδοκείν 'to take pleasure in' is trans. only in Mt. 12. 18 O.T. in κ^*B (al. ϵis , $\epsilon \nu$), H. 10. 6, 8 O.T. (the LXX. here has $\eta\theta\epsilon\lambda\eta\sigma\sigma$ as, elsewhere however it uses $\epsilon v\delta$. transitively e.g. Ps. 51. 18). ('Aπορεῖσθαί τι occurs in A. 25. 20 ABHP, CEL insert eis: nowhere else in the N.T. is the accus. found after $d\pi$. or $\delta \iota a\pi$. [occasionally in classical Greek after $d\pi$.], which take $\epsilon \nu$ or $\pi \epsilon \rho i$, both of which constructions occur in Herm. Sim. viii. 3. 1). Kauxâota 'to boast,' mainly intrans., is trans. in 2 C. 9. 2, 11. 30 (with acc. of the thing). Bhardqueiv is often transitive (a late use, not Attic), eis riva the Attic construction is found in Mc. 3. 29 (om. eis D), L. 12. 10.² ('Y $\beta \rho i \xi \epsilon \nu$ is only used transitively.) 'Our is no longer used with accusative of that by which one swears, except in Ja. 5. 12; elsewhere it takes $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ($\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}s$) = Hebr. \exists Mt. 5. 34 etc., or (as is found as early as class. Greek) Kutá Tivos H. 6. 13, 16; but όρκίζειν τινά (ἐνορκ.) still keeps this accus. Mc. 5. 7, A. 19. 13, 1 Th. 5. 27 (ἐξορκίζω [D όρκ.] σε κατά with genit. Mt. 26. 63, Herm. Sim. ix. 10. 5). $\Theta_{\mu\alpha\mu\beta}\epsilon_{\nu}\epsilon_{\nu}$ 'to triumph' is used transitively = 'to lead in triumph' in Col. 2. 15, and somewhat differently in 2 C. 2. 14 ('to cause to go in triumph as a victor'; the use in the first passage may be paralleled by Plutarch Comp. Thes. et. Rom. 4). Magnrevew (a late word) is intrans., 'to be a disciple,' in Mt. 27. 57 v.l., but the passive $\epsilon \mu a \theta \eta \tau \epsilon v \theta \eta$ is read by sCD: trans., 'to make a disciple,' in A. 14. 21, Mt. 13. 52 (pass.), 28. 19. 'Europeverbau, a middle verb, is intrans. in Ja. 4. 13: trans. 'to deceive' in 2 P. 2. 3 (so $\epsilon\mu\pi\sigma\lambda\hat{a}\nu$ Soph. Ant. 1050). 'Ieroupyer' (a late word) $\tau\delta \epsilon da\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda\iota\sigma\nu$ (like $\theta\nu\sigma(a\nu)$ occurs in R. 15. 16.³ 'Yoreper' in the sense of 'to be wanting' (without a case in Jo. 2. 3, cp. Dioscor. 5. 86), is trans. in Mc. 10. 21 έν σε ύστερεί NBC al. (σοι AD al.), cp. LXX. Ps. 22. 1 (else-

¹ In L. 12. 15 ($\delta\rho\tilde{a}\tau\epsilon$ kal $\phi\nu\lambda\dot{a}\sigma\sigma\epsilon\sigma\theta\epsilon\,\dot{a}\pi\dot{a}$) the words kal $\phi\nu\lambda$ are wanting in the Syriac version, and this same sense of 'to beware of 'already belongs to $\delta\rho\tilde{a}\nu = \beta\lambda\epsilon\pi\epsilon\nu\,\dot{a}\pi\dot{a}$, Mc. 8. 15 $\delta\rho\tilde{a}\tau\epsilon$ (om. D, these two verbs cannot stand together) $\beta\lambda\epsilon\pi\epsilon\tau\epsilon\,\dot{a}\pi\dot{a}$, 12. 38 (on the other hand $\beta\lambda\epsilon\pi$. is also used transitively 'to look at' Mc. 13. 9, 1 C. 1. 26 etc., and perhaps Ph. 3. 2 unless here it = $\phi\nu\lambda\dot{a}\sigma\sigma\epsilon\sigma\theta\epsilon$). We also have $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\epsilon\chi\epsilon\nu$ $\dot{a}\pi\dot{a}$ Mt. 16. 6 ($\dot{c}\rho\tilde{a}\tau\epsilon$ kal $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\epsilon\chi\epsilon\tau\epsilon\,\dot{a}\pi\dot{a}$, where $\dot{c}\rho\tilde{a}\tau\epsilon$ kal is wanting in the Latin witnesses).

²2 P. 2. 12 $\ell \nu$ ofs $\delta \gamma \nu o 0 \delta \sigma \nu \beta \lambda a \sigma \phi \eta \mu o 0 \nu \tau es$ 'railing at those things in which they know nothing' (the idea is expressed more intelligibly in Jd. 10).

³'I $\lambda \dot{a}\sigma \kappa \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota \dot{a}\mu a \rho \tau i as$ H. 2. 17 is noticeable on account of the object, since the classical use is $(\xi\xi)\iota \lambda \dot{a}\sigma\kappa$. $\theta \epsilon \delta \nu$ ' to dispose Him to mercy towards one.' But a similar use (= explane) is also found in LXX. and Philo.

where the LXX. also has the dat. Buttm. 147; § 37, 3). The following are transitive in virtue of their composition with kará (as in class. Greek): karaβρaβεύειν Col. 2. 18, karaγωνίζεσθαι H. 11. 33, kara σοφίζεσθαι A. 7. 19 ('to get the better of 'etc.): with διά (class.) διαπορεύεσθαι, διέρχεσθαι, διαπλεΐν in Lc., Acts, and Hebr. (in one sentence we have beside this the construction with διά and the genit., H. 11. 29 διέβησαν τὴν θάλασσαν ὡς διὰ ξηρῶς γῆς): with παρά παρέρχεσθαι (including Mc. 6. 48): with περί περιέρχεσθαι τὰς οἰκίας 1 Tim. 5. 13 (class.), περιστῆναί τινα A. 25. 7 (class.), περιάγειν (also intrans. § 53, 1) Mt. 9. 35, 23. 15, Mc. 6. 6 (with v.l. ἐν in Mt. 4. 23): with πρό προέρχεσθαι Lc. 22. 47 (D προῆγεν), = class. προηγείσθαί τινι; cp. Lat. praeire aliquem;¹ with ὑπερ ὑπερέχειν Ph. 4. 7 (cp. § 36, 8).

2. Verbs with variable construction. Εδ (καλώs) ποιείν in Attic take the accus. in all cases, similarly $\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_{S}$ ($\pi o \lambda \lambda \hat{\alpha} \kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\alpha}$) $\pi o \iota \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu \tau \iota \nu \alpha$ and the like; but in L. 6. 27 we have $\kappa a \lambda \hat{\omega} s \pi o \iota \epsilon \hat{\iota} \tau \epsilon \tau o \hat{\iota} s - , Mc. 14. 7$ $\epsilon \hat{v} \pi o \iota \epsilon \hat{v}$ with dat. (this is wanting in \aleph^*): for the use of these verbs with the accus. cp. infra 4. But ωφελείν and βλάπτειν (a rare word) take τινα in the N.T. as in Attic (λυσιτελείν τινι as in Att., but only in L. 17. 2 where D has $\sigma v \mu \phi \epsilon \rho \epsilon i$; similarly kakus $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon v \tau_i \nu \alpha$, but only in A. 23. 5 O.T., for which elsewhere $\kappa \alpha \kappa \alpha \lambda \alpha \gamma \epsilon \nu \tau i \nu \alpha$ is used in A. 19. 9 etc., like $\epsilon i \lambda o \gamma \epsilon i \nu$, besides which we further have kalos $\epsilon i \pi \omega \sigma i \nu$ $i\mu \hat{a}s$, but only in L. 6. 26 (D $i\mu \hat{i}\nu$). (The simple $\lambda \hat{\epsilon}\gamma \epsilon \nu$ with accuse of the person = 'to allude to anyone in one's speech,' is found in Jo. 1. 15 [a v.l.], 8. 27 [a v.l.], Ph. 3. 18, as in classical Greek.) The following verbs of cognate meaning take the accusative : impeagenv (Att. with dat.) TIVA Mt. 5. 44, L. 6. 28, 1 P. 3. 16: Dupalveordal TIVA A. 8. 3 (Att. rivá and riví): Loidopeir riva Jo. 9. 28, A. 23. 4 (as in Att.): δνειδίζειν (Att. τινί) τινά Mt. 5. 11 etc. (in 27. 44 αὐτῷ is a wrong reading for αὐτόν): μέμφεσθαι αὐτούς H. 8. 8 * AD*al., αὐτοῖς N°BD°al. (the latter is the Attic use): Katapâobal (Att. with dat.) with accus. in (Mt. 5. 44 [D* vµîv]), Mc. 11. 21, L. 6. 28 (vµîv EHL al. Justin Ap. i. 15), Ja. 3. 9 (cp. supra 1 $\beta \lambda a \sigma \phi \eta \mu \epsilon i \nu$, $i\beta\rho i(\epsilon v)$, with which verbs this whole class, with the exception of ϵi ποιείν etc., appears to have been brought into uniformity). Έντρέπεσθαί $\tau \iota \nu \alpha$ is 'to be afraid of anyone' (Polyb. and Acts; the earlier use with $\tau i \nu os = 'to trouble oneself about')$, cp. $\epsilon \pi a \iota \sigma \chi \acute{v} \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota supra 1$; βασκαίνειν τινά 'to envy,' 'bewitch,' G. 3. I (in Attic it perhaps also takes τινί like $\phi \theta_0 v \epsilon i v$?); προσκυνείν τινα (Att.) occurs in Mt. 4. 10 O.T., L. 4. 8 O.T., 24. 52 (om. D), Jo. 4. 22 bis, 23 (αὐτῷ **; in the same verse all MSS. have $\tau \hat{\psi} \pi \alpha \tau \rho \hat{i}$, 9. 38 D: elsewhere with $\tau i \nu i$ (a late use, Lobeck Phryn. 463) or absolute ($\pi\rho$. $\epsilon\nu\omega\pi\iota\delta\nu$ $\tau\iota\nu$ os L. 4. 7); γονυπετείν (Polyb.) TWA Mt. 17. 14 (D omits avtóv), Mc. 10. 17 : without a case in Mc. 1. 40, with $\ell\mu\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon\nu$ Mt. 27. 29 (the dat. $a\dot{v}\tau\hat{\varphi}$ in the former passage has very slight support); evayyer (geoval in Attic has accus. of the thing, dat. of the person: so also in L. 1. 19, 2. 10,

¹ Προηγούμενοι άλλήλουs R. 12. 10 'to prefer' = Ph. 2. 3 άλλήλουs ήγούμενοι ὑπερέχονταs ἐαυτῶν (cp. also 1 Th. 5. 13); not elsewhere in this sense, but cp. προκρίνειν. The acc. of course depends on ήγ., not on πρό.

1 C. 15. 1 f. etc.: but it is also found with accus. of the person L. 3. 18 $\epsilon i\eta\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda i\xi\epsilon\tau\sigma \ \tau \delta\nu \ \lambda a\delta\nu$ and frequently in Luke and Acts, also G. 1. 9 (ibid. 8 with dat.), 1 P. 1. 12; ¹ mapairie (only in Luke, from the literary language) has accus. instead of the classical dat. A. 27. 22 (construction like that of $\pi a \rho a \kappa a \lambda \epsilon i \nu$ ²; $\chi \rho i \sigma \theta a$ takes acc. in 1 C. 7. 31 oi $\chi \rho \omega \mu \epsilon \nu oi \ \tau \delta \nu \ \kappa \delta \sigma \mu o \nu \ \aleph^* ABDFG$, dat. according to $\aleph^\circ D^{\circ ort} EK$ etc. as in 9. 12, 18 etc. (cp. Buttm. p. 157); $\pi \epsilon \nu a \nu a$ and $\delta \iota \psi a \nu$ take accus. $\tau i \nu \delta \iota \kappa a \iota o \sigma \upsilon \nu \eta \nu$ Mt. 5. 6 (class. gen.), elsewhere they are used without a case.

3. The so-called accusative of the inner object or of content, found with intransitive and passive verbs and generally with any verb, is used in the N.T. practically in the same way as in the classical language (there being a special reason for its being kept, as the Hebrew had a similar usage). This accusative, whether it be that of a substantive which is radically connected with the verb or of one connected only in sense, in most cases requires, in order to have any raison d'être at all, to be more nearly defined by means of an adjective or a genitive, whereas the dative of verbal substantives when similarly used does not need this nearer definition, see § 38, 3. This is also occasionally omitted with the accusative, if the substantive has a more concrete meaning, as in Mt. 13. 30 (according to the correct reading of D Origen etc.) $\delta i \sigma \sigma \tau \epsilon$ ($a v \tau a$) $\delta \epsilon \sigma \mu a s$ (NBC etc. read $\epsilon s \delta$.) 'into bundles,' which is a quite different use from Mt. 12. 29 $\delta \eta \sigma \eta$ $\tau \partial \nu$ is $\chi \nu \rho \delta \nu$ (acc. of the outer object), but at the same time is not entirely similar to the possible phrase $\delta \epsilon i \nu \delta \epsilon \sigma \iota \nu$, since the acc. $\delta \epsilon \sigma \mu \dot{\alpha} s$ denotes an external result or product of the action (cp. $oi\kappa o\delta o\mu\epsilon i\nu$ οἰκίαν L. 6. 48, ποιείν ποίημα, γράφειν γράμματα); an object of this kind may then become the subject to a passive verb (G. 1. 11). similar instance is L. 2. 8 φυλάσσοντες φυλακάς of 'watch duty,' 'sentry duty' (so in Xenoph. Anab. 2. 6. 10 etc.; also in LXX.), where φυλακή expresses a definite objective kind of φυλάσσων, and by no means expresses merely the abstract idea of the verb; so $i\delta\epsilon i\nu$ $\delta\rho a\mu a$ A. 11. 5, 16. 10 (passively $\delta \rho a \mu a \ \delta \phi \theta \eta$ 16. 9).³ But in other cases we have Mt. 2. 10 έχάρησαν χαράν μεγάλην σφόδρα, Mc. 4. 41 έφοβήθησαν φόβον μέγαν, Ap. 16. 9 έκαυματίσθησαν καθμα μέγα, 1 P. 3. 14 τον φόβον αὐτῶν ('fear of them') μη φοβηθητε, Col. 2. 19 αὐξει ('grows') την au $\xi\eta\sigma_{i\nu}\tau_{0}$ $\theta\epsilon_{0}$. This closer defining of the noun is also not absent where the verb stands in a relative sentence : Jo. 17. 26 $\dot{\eta}$ $d\gamma d\pi \eta \eta \nu$ ήγάπησάς με (ή according to D), Mc. 10. 38 το βάπτισμα δ έγω βαπτίζομαι βαπτισθήναι, Herm. Mand. vii. Ι ο φόβος ον δεί σε φοβηθήναι. To the same class of accusative belong the cases where, in place of the substantive with the word which more closely defines it, the latter word occurs alone, either in the gender of the substantive,

¹ But not with a double acc.; in A. 13. 32 $\tau \eta \nu \dots \epsilon \pi a \gamma \gamma \epsilon \lambda (a \nu \text{ should be taken})$ with the following clause.

 $^{^{2}\}Delta\iota\delta \acute{a}\sigma\kappa\epsilon\iota\nu$ with dat. instead of acc. in Ap. 2. 14 rests on a reading which is quite uncertain.

³ But àµaprávorta àµapríav 1 Jo. 5. 16 is more closely defined by $\mu \dot{\eta} \pi \rho \delta s$ $\theta \dot{a} \nu a \tau o \nu$: cp. the following words $\xi \sigma \tau i \nu$ ('there is') àµapría $\pi \rho \delta s \theta$.

which must then be supplied, as in L. 12. 47 f. $\delta \alpha \rho \eta \sigma \epsilon \tau \alpha \iota \pi \sigma \lambda \lambda \dot{\alpha} s$, όλίγας sc. $\pi\lambda\eta\gamma$ άς, or more commonly in the neuter: L. 5. 33 νηστεύουσιν πυκνά (=πυκνάς νηστείας), 2 C. 13. Ι τρίτον τοῦτο ἔρχομαι ('for the third time'), Ph. 1. 6 $\pi \epsilon \pi \sigma \iota \theta \dot{\omega} s a \dot{\upsilon} \tau \delta \tau \sigma \hat{\upsilon} \tau \sigma$ ('having this confidence'), 2. 18, 1 C. 9. 25 πάντα έγκρατεύεται (but in Herm. Mand. viii. 2 $\epsilon \gamma \kappa \rho$. $\tau \delta \pi \sigma \nu \eta \rho \delta \nu$ is an instance of a true objective acc., being opposed to $\pi o \iota \hat{\iota} \nu \tau \hat{\iota} \pi$.: ibid. 2-12 the verb is also used with $d\pi \delta$, genit., and inf.; cp. νηστεύειν τὸν κόσμον in the Λόγια Ἰησοῦ from Öxyrhynchus), 10. 33 πάντα πασιν αρέσκω, 11. 2 πάντα μου μέμνησθε which is still more adverbial 'in everything,' 'in every respect'; $\tau \delta$ δ' αὐτὸ Ph. 2. 18, Mt. 27. 44 'in like manner' (on which is modelled the concise phrase in 2 C. 6. 13 $\tau \eta \nu$ ad $\tau \eta \nu$ d $\nu \tau \iota \mu \iota \sigma \theta \iota a \nu$ 'in like manner in return,' Fritzsche); μηδέν διακρινόμενος A. 10. 20, cp. 11. 12; 2 C. 12. 11 οὐδεν ὑστέρησα,¹ cp. 11. 5, Mt. 19. 20 τί ὑστερω; ('wherein am I still backward ?' whereas $\tau i \nu \sigma s$ $\delta \sigma \tau =$ what do I lack ?'), 2 C. 12. 13 τί έστιν δ ήσσώθητε (similar sense); R. 6. 10 δ γαρ απέθανεν, $au_{\hat{\mu}}$ άμαρτία απέθανεν - δ δε ζη, ζη τῷ θεῷ, G. 2. 20 δ νῦν ζώ εν σαρκί, $\epsilon v \pi i \sigma \tau \epsilon i \zeta \hat{\omega}$ (the death that He died, the life that He liveth, or $else = in \ that$ He died and liveth). Still the use of these neuters in the N.T. is far less extensive than in the classical language.

4. A double accusative is found mainly with a number of verbs which can take both a personal object as well as (in another relation) an object of the thing. Thus $\delta_i \delta_{a\sigma\kappa\epsilon\nu}$ with $d\pi_{o\sigma\tau a\sigma} \delta_{a\nu} \pi_{a\nu\tau a\sigma}$ τούς – A. 21. 21, cp. Mc. 6. 34 αὐτοὺς πολλά (where however πολλά is rather to be regarded as acc. of the inner object), Jo. 14. 26 buas πάντα, also H. 5. 12 τοῦ διδάσκειν ὑμῶς τινὰ (not τίνα) τὰ στοιχεία $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. (thus the examples with this verb are not many): ἀναμιμνήσκειν 1 C. 4. 17, υπομιμν. Jo. 14. 26. But κρύπτειν τινά τι is not represented, the phrase used being τι ἀπό (Hebr. 12) τινος, Mt. 11. 25 $(a\pi)$ $\epsilon \kappa \rho v \psi as \tau a \hat{v} \tau a a \pi \partial \sigma o \phi \hat{\omega} v$ (Herm. Sim. ix. 11. 9) or the still more Hebraistic κρύψατε ήμας από προσώπου του - Ap. 6. 16 (passively κεκρυμμένον ἀπ' αὐτῶν L. 18. 34 [as incidentally also in Homer Odyss. 23. 110 κεκρυμμένα ἀπ' ἄλλων], ἐκρύβη ἀπὸ ὀφθαλμῶν σου 19. 42). Aireiv Tivá Ti Mt. 6. 8 (D is different), Mc. 6. 22 f. etc., besides which $\pi a \rho a$ may be used of the person (class.) Jo. 4. 9, A. 9. 2 (the middle verb: this never takes double acc.), or $d\pi \dot{o}$ Mt. 20. 20 BD (v.l. $\pi a\rho'$), 1 Jo. 5. 15 ×B (similar v.l.): $\dot{\epsilon}\rho\omega\tau\hat{a}\nu$ (ask a question) τινά τι Mt. 21. 24, Mc. 4. 10. (The following are not found with double acc.: ἀφαιρεῖν, εῦσθαι, the person being introduced by ἀπό L. 16. 3, or placed in the gen. [ibid. D; L. 10. 42 etc.], as also in classical Greek : and amorrepeiv the thing is placed in the gen. in 1 Tim. 6. 5, but there is a v.l.]. Ποιείν τινά τι 'to do something with 'occurs in Mt. 27. 22 τi (accus. of the predicate) $\pi o i \eta \sigma \omega$ Ίησοῦν, cp. Herm. Sim. i. 4 τί ποιήσεις τον ἀγρόν, Α. 12. 18 τί ὁ Πέτρος έγένετο what was become of P.: Mc. 15. 12 is similar to the passage of Matthew, but D reads $\tau \hat{\varphi} \beta \alpha \sigma i \lambda \epsilon \hat{i} = \text{what shall I do to }$? cp. supra 2; with the same meaning we have the construction $\tau_i \tau_i \nu_i$

¹ The reading οὐδέν (NBP οὐδενός) χρείαν ἔχω Ap. 3. 17 can hardly be right.

Mt. 21. 40, L. 20. 15, A. 9. 13, Herm. Sim. v. 2. 2, ix. 11. 8: also A. 16. 28 μηδέν πράξης [in place of ποιήσης] σεαυτώ κακόν. In Attic the acc. must be used in all cases in this sense, supra 2, whereas ποιείν τινί τι 'to do something for anyone,' as in Mc. 7. 12, 10. 36, is also correct Attic Greek. Instead of ποιείν τί τινι we also have π. τι έν τινι or eis τινα, Mt. 17. 12 [om. έν &D al.], L. 21. 31, Jo. 15. 21 [ύμιν AD² al.]; cp. καλόν έργον ήργάσατο έν έμοι Mc. 14. 6, είς έμέ Mt. 26. 10 [Attic has $\epsilon \rho \gamma$. with double acc.]; outous $\gamma \epsilon \nu \eta \tau \alpha i \epsilon \nu \epsilon \mu o i$ 1 C. 9. 15, cp. L. 21. 31 [Buttm. p. 130]). The double acc. is also found after verbs of putting on and putting off: ἐνδιδύσκειν, ἐκδιδ. τινά TI Mt. 27. 31, Mc. 15. 17, 20, L. 15. 22; hence we have also in the N.T. (not class.) περιβάλλειν τινά τι L. 23. 11 AD al. (om. αὐτὸν ×B al.), Jo. 19. 2 (but not with $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\tau\iota\theta\epsilon\nu\alpha\iota$ which takes $\tau\iota\nu\iota$ $\tau\iota$ Mt. 27. 28, nor with $\pi \epsilon \rho \beta \dot{\alpha} \lambda \lambda \epsilon \nu$ when used in other connections, see L. 19. 43). Also with χρίων : H. 1. 9 O.T. τινα έλαιον, a Hebraic use (but in Ap. 3. 18 the acc. κολλύριον must certainly be taken in connection with a yopá σa_i , not with $\epsilon_{\gamma \chi \rho} i \sigma a_i$). With causative verbs this use is more developed than in classical Greek: ποτίζειν τινά ποτήριον Mc. 9. 41, γάλα 1 C. 3. 2, 'to make to drink,' cp. Plat. Phaedr. 247 E (so also $\psi \omega \mu i \zeta \omega$ in the LXX., 'to make to eat': in 1 C. 13. 3 with the acc. of the thing only, cp. Winer, § 32, note 4), φορτίζειν 'to make to carry' L. 11. 46, δρκίζειν and ένορκ. (strictly 'to make to swear by,' Hdt. έξορκοῦν τινα τὸ Στυγὸς ὕδωρ 6. 74) 'to adjure by' Mc. 5. 7 etc., vide supra 1.-In addition there are the instances, few in number, where the acc. of the inner and of the outer object are found together: Jo. 17. 26 ή ἀγάπη ην (η according to D) ηγάπησάς $\mu\epsilon$, E. 2. 4 την ἀγ. ην ηγάπησεν ήμας, L. 4. 35 μηδέν βλάψας αὐτόν, G. 5. 2 ὑμῶς οὐδὲν ὡφελήσει, 4. 12, A. 25. 10, Mt. 27. 44, Mc. 6. 34 (supra).

5. A different class of double accusative is that where one acc. is the acc. of the predicate, the construction corresponding to that of intransitive and passive verbs with a double nominative. This class is used after verbs of making ($\pi \circ i \epsilon i \nu$ auto ν basilities Jo. 6. 15, cp. supra 4, δν έθηκεν κληρονόμον Η. 1. 2, τίς με κατέστησεν κριτήν L. 12. 14): having and taking (A. 13. 5 ϵ lyov 'Iwávyv ὑπηρέτην, Ja. 5. 10 ὑπόδειγμα λάβετε τοὺς προφήτας): designating, calling (Jo. 10. 35 ἐκείνους είπε θεούς, 15. 15, Mc. 10. 18 τί με λέγεις άγαθόν; L. 1. 59 ἐκάλουν αὐτὸ Ζαχαρίαν: in Hebraic style 1. 13, 31 καλέσεις το όνομα αύτοῦ Ἰωάνην, 'Ιησούν, cp. the passive $\epsilon \kappa \lambda \eta \theta \eta$ το όν. a. 'Ιησούς 2. 21, Buttm. p. 132):¹ confessing, δμολογείν αὐτὸν Χριστόν Jo. 9. 22 (with είναι D), 1 Jo. 4. 2 (acc. and inf. B), 2 Jo. 7: regarding, (Ph. 3. 7 ταῦτα ήγημαι ζημίαν, ibid. 8 with $\epsilon i \nu a \iota$ introduced, which is elsewhere always wanting with $\eta \gamma \epsilon i \sigma \theta a \iota$, whereas vice versâ $\nu o \mu i \langle \epsilon \iota \nu \rangle$ and $\dot{\nu} \pi o \lambda a \mu \beta a \dot{\nu} \epsilon \iota \nu \rangle$ do not appear with a double acc.; A. 20. 24 ποιούμαι την ψυχην τιμίαν, but there is a v.l. in which $\pi o \iota o \hat{v} \mu a \iota$ is replaced by $\xi \chi \omega$, for which in this sense [=Lat. habere] cp. L. 14. 18 $\xi \chi \epsilon \mu \epsilon \pi a \rho \eta \tau \eta \mu \epsilon \nu o \nu$, Ph. 2. 29: έχειν with ws Mt. 14. 5, 21. 26, like ήγεισθαι ws 2 Th. 3. 15, Clem.

¹ The dat. is used with $\epsilon \pi i \kappa a \lambda \epsilon i \nu$ or $\nu o \mu a$ in Mt. 10. 25 B*, cp. § 37, 7.

Cor. ii. 5. 6, Herm. Vis. i. 1. 7): ¹ proving (συνιστάναι G. 2. 18, but έαυτοὺς ὡς θεοῦ διάκονοι 2 C. 6. 4; on 2 C. 7. 11 see § 36, 2 note), (feigning, ὑποκρινομένους ἑαυτοὺς δικαίους L. 20. 20 D). Beside these double accusatives we occasionally find εἰς prefixed to the predicate, showing Hebrew influence (cp. § 33, 3), A. 13. 22 ἤγειρεν αὐτοῖς τὸν Δαυὶδ εἰς βασιλέα, 47 O.T., 7. 21; Mt. 21. 46 εἰς προφήτην (ὡς πρ. CD al.) αὐτὸν εἶχον (more frequent in LXX.; Clem. Cor. i. 42. 4 καθίστανον εἰς ἐπισκόπους); the inserted ὡς (other instances given above) may also be a Hebraism, cp. ἐλογίσθημεν ὡς R. 8. 36 O.T. (Hebr. Ξ).—One may refer to this class of double acc. L. 9. 14 κατακλίνατε αὐτοὺς κλισίας ἀνὰ πεντήκοντα, cp. Mc. 6. 39; again Mt. 13. 30 δεῖν αὐτὰ δεσμάς, supra 3; and the classical διαιρεῖν τι δύο μέρη, Kühner ii.² 278 f.

6. The passives of the verbs specified in 4 (with which verbs when used in the passive the person and not the thing usually becomes the subject) occasionally appear with the object of the thing: 2 Th. 2. 15 τὰς παραδόσεις ας έδιδάχθητε, 1 C. 12. 13 έν πνεῦμα έποτίσθημεν (of course ένδεδυμένος, περιβεβλημένος also take this object, but they are middle and not passive);² we further have (formed after the classical $\pi\epsilon i \theta \epsilon i \nu \tau i \nu a \tau i$) $\pi \epsilon \pi \epsilon i \sigma \mu \epsilon \theta a \tau a \kappa \rho \epsilon i \sigma \sigma \sigma \nu a$ H. 6. 9, and Ph. 3. 8 τὰ πάντα ἐζημιώθην, Mt. 16. 26 τὴν ψυχὴν αὐτοῦ (ημιωθη̂ (cp. Mc. 8. 36, L. 9. 25), opposed to κερδαίνειν, and formed on the model of $\langle \eta \mu \iota o \hat{\upsilon} \nu \tau \iota \nu a \langle \eta \mu \iota a \nu \rangle$, but with a further derivative sense of the verb=to lose.³ Since moreover the person who is expressed by the dative after the active verb may become the subject to the passive verb (cp. § 54, 3), such passives may also appear with the acc. of the thing : $\pi \epsilon \pi i \sigma \tau \epsilon \nu \mu a \iota \tau \delta \epsilon \nu a \gamma \epsilon \lambda \iota o \nu G. 2. 7,$ οικονομίαν πεπίστευμαι 1 C. 9. 17, R. 3. 2, την άλυσιν περίκειμαι A. 28. 20 (active περιτιθέναι τινί τι), H. 5. 2 (also L. 17. 2 according to d $\lambda i \theta_{00} \mu \nu \lambda_{ik} \delta_{V} \pi \epsilon \rho i \epsilon \kappa \epsilon i \tau_0$: Herm. Vis. v. 1, Sim. vi. 2. 5). Finally we have (formed after δείν αὐτοῦ πόδας Mt. 22. 13) δεδεμένος τοὺς πόδας Jo. 11. 44, διεφθαρμένοι τον νοῦν 1 Tim. 6. 5, ῥεραντισμένοι τὰς καρδίας, λελουμένοι το σώμα H. 10. 22 f., according to a general usage of the Greck language, which is employed with still greater freedom especially by St. Paul: κατηχούμενος τον λόγον G. 6. 6 'he who is instructed in the gospel,' cp. A. 18. 25, 21. 24, L. 1. 4?, while with the active verb the person is the object, never the thing; πεπληρωμένοι καρπόν δικαιοσύνης Ph. 1. 11, cp. Col. 1. 9, 'with the fruit' (a Hebraism, Exod. 31. 3 ἐνέπλησα αὐτον πνεῦμα σοφίας); τὴν αὐτὴν ἐἰκόνα μεταμορφούμεθα 2 C. 3. 18 'into the same image'; (on την αυτην αντιμισθίαν πλατύνθητε ibid. 6. 13 cp. supra 4, and for τον αὐτὸν τρόπον infra 7; ἀναφανέντες τὴν Κύπρον Α. 21. 3 is a wrong reading for $dva\phi dvav \tau \epsilon s$).

¹ Hermas also has (Sim. viii. 3, 4) $\gamma \nu \omega \sigma \eta$ autous $\pi \omega \tau \sigma v \sigma \kappa \cdot \tau \cdot \lambda$. 'recognise them to be those who' etc.

² Instead of the acc. with $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\beta d\lambda\lambda\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$ the Apocalypse has $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ with dat. in 3. 5, 4. 4 (here AP omit $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$); so too Mt. 11. 8, L. 7. 25 $\dot{\eta}\mu\phi\iota\epsilon\sigma\mu\dot{\epsilon}\nu\sigma\nu\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\mu\alpha\lambda\alpha\kappao\hat{\epsilon}s.$ ³ Hdt. 7. 37 is wrongly adduced as a parallel: $\tau\dot{\eta}\nu$ $\psi\nu\chi\dot{\eta}\nu$ tives (his son's)

ζημιοῦσθαι (to lose as a punishment): the MSS. have $\tau \hat{\eta} \psi v \chi \hat{\eta}$.

7. The accusative of reference with adjectives and the like has a very limited use in the N.T., since this function is mostly taken over by the dative, § 38, 2. Mt. 27. 57 τουνομα 'by name' (class.; elsewhere δνόματι): Jo. 6. 10 τον αριθμον ώς πεντακισχίλιοι: Η. 2. 17 πιστος αρχιερεύς τα προς τον θεόν. But this same phrase $\tau \dot{a} \pi \rho \dot{o} s \tau \partial \nu \theta \epsilon \dot{o} \nu \dot{R}$. 15. 17, together with the phrases R. 12. 18 $\tau \dot{o} \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\xi}$ ύμῶν – εἰρηνεύοντες, 9.5 τὸ κατὰ σάρκα and 16.19 τὸ ἐφ' ὑμῖν as a v.l., $\tau \delta \kappa a \theta' \epsilon i \le 12$. 5, has already become an adverbial accusative, similar to ένεκοπτόμην τὰ πολλά (v.l. πολλάκις) R. 15. 22, τὸ πλείστον (at most) τρείς 1 C. 14. 27, τὸ πρότερον, τὸ πρῶτον cp. § 11, 5; in το καθ' ήμέραν 'daily' L. 19. 47, 11. 3, A. 17. 11, 28 D, 19. 9 D the article is meaningless, cp. τὸ πρωί 5. 21 D, τὸ δειλινόν 'in the afternoon' 3. I D (infra 8); το λοιπόν and λοιπόν 'for the rest,' 'now,' 'already' Mt. 26. 45 = Mc. 14. 41 (in both passages a v.l. without τδ), A. 27. 20 (λ.), 2 C. 13. 11 (λ.), E. 6. 10 τδ λ. (*AB τοῦ λοιποῦ 'henceforth,' see § 36, 13), and frequently in the Pauline Epp., also H. 10. 13 (also Attic); τὸ νῦν ἔχον A. 24. 25 'for the present' (Lucian and others); τὸ τέλος 'finally' 1 P. 3. 8, τὴν ἀρχήν 'from the beginning, 'at all' Jo. 8. 25. Again, the phrases $\delta \nu \tau \rho \delta \pi \sigma \nu$ Mt. 23. 37 and passim, $\tau \delta \nu \delta \mu \rho \sigma \nu$ Jd. 7 come under the head of accusative of the inner object (besides which we have the dat. Ph. 1. 18 παντί τρόπω, § 38, 3, and καθ' δν τρ. Α. 15. 11, 27. 25, cp. R. 3. 2, 2 Th. 2. 3).

8. Accusative of extension in space and time: L. 22. 41 $d\pi\epsilon\sigma\pi d\sigma\theta\eta$ άπ' αὐτῶν ὡσεὶ λίθου βολήν, 2. 44, Jo. 6. 19, answering the question How far? where the acc. may be regarded as a kind of object of the thing; Jo. 2. 12 έμειναν οὐ πολλàs ἡμέραs, answering the question How long? (to be similarly explained, cp. the dat. § 38, 5); as to Mt. 20. 2 συμφωνείν έκ δηναρίου ('at a denarius') την ημέραν, 'a day,' 'per day,' vide § 36, 8. Further, νύκτα καὶ ἡμέραν 'day and night' Mc. 4. 27, L. 2. 37, A. 26. 7; tàs ήμέρας - τàs νύκτας L. 21. 37 'during the days, the nights'; ἡμέραν ἐξ ἡμέραs 2 P. 2. 8 is classical. This accusative appears to go beyond its own department in the phrases $\tau \delta$ $\delta \epsilon \iota \lambda \iota \nu \delta \nu$, $\tau \delta \pi \rho \omega i$ (see 7), where the question asked is When? (cp. μέσον ήμέρας LXX. Dan Sus. 7);² as it does moreover in its use with $\omega \rho \alpha$ (occurring in classical Greek): Jo. 4. 52 $\epsilon_{\chi} \theta \epsilon_{S}$ ώραν έβδόμην, Ap. 3. 3 ποίαν ώραν, A. 10. 30 (and verse 3 with v.l. περι ώραν ένάτην as in verse 9), cp. Aesch. Eum. 159 ώραν οὐδενὸς κοινήν, Eurip. Bacch. 722 την τεταγμένην ώραν, Aristot. 'Αθ. Πολιτ. cap. 30 ad fin. $\tau \eta \nu$ $\omega \rho a \nu \tau \eta \nu \pi \rho o \rho \eta \theta \epsilon \sigma a \nu$, Demosth. 54. 4 etc. (= $\epsilon i s$ ώραν, 'at the hour,' έπι τ. ώραν A. 3. 1), although the N.T. has also ποία ώρα and similar phrases, for which and for the encroachment of the dat. on the functions of the accus. see § 38, 4 and 5. A peculiar idiom is found in A. 27. 33 τεσσαρεσκαιδεκάτην σήμερον $\dot{\eta}$ μέραν, i.e. 'it is to day the 14th day since' etc., 'to-day is the

¹ Όδον θαλάσσηs Mt. 4. 15 O.T. is a literal rendering of the Hebr. דֶרֶד = versus, which appears elsewhere in the LXX., e.g. Deut. 11. 30.

 2 Cp. also LXX. $\tau h \nu$ $\mu \epsilon \sigma \eta \mu \beta \rho i a \nu$ Gen. 43. 16, $\tau \delta$ $\pi \rho \omega i$ Ex. 7. 15. See Sophocles Lexic. p. 44. 14th day in succession that,' cp. Demosth. $\tau\rho(\tau\sigma\nu)$ eros $\tau\sigma\sigma\tau$, 'it is now the third year that.'—In answer to the question How far distant? beside the accus. (L. 24. 13 dπéχουσαν σταδίους έξήκοντα άπο 'Ιερουσ., cp. A. 1. 12), we find also dπó with the genitive, probably a Latinism (a millibus passuum duobus, Caes. B. G. 2. 7): Jo. 11. 18 ην Βηθανία έγγδς των 'Ιερ., ώς ἀπό σταδίων δεκαπέντε, cp. 21. 8, Ap. 14. 20, Herm. Vis. iv. 1. 5 (Diod., Plut. etc.).

§ 35. THE GENITIVE.

1. By far the most extensive use of the genitive is that by which it defines a noun more closely after the manner of an adjective, and like an adjective either as attribute or predicate; in the latter case the genitive is said to be dependent on $\epsilon i vai$ ($\gamma i v \epsilon \sigma \theta ai$ etc.). The kind of relation which exists between the genitive and its noun can only be decided by the sense and context: in the N.T. this is often purely a matter of theological interpretation, which cannot form part of the teaching of a grammatical work. The place of the noun, which is defined by the genitive, may also be taken by a pronoun and more especially by the article. We select here only the points that are worthy of note.

2. Genitive of origin and membership.—As in the classical language, the genitive is used where a particular person is indicated by the mention of his father, Ἰάκωβον τον τοῦ Ζεβεδαίου Mt. 4. 21 etc., a use in which the introduction of vios is perfectly admissible, 'Ιωάνην τον Ζαχαρίου υίόν L. 3. 2; in the case of the sons of Zebedee, if named together, vioi (almost) always appears, Mt. 26. 37, 27. 56, Mc. 10. 35, L. 5. 10, only in Jo. 21. 2 ABL al. read of TOV Z., while oi vioi Z. is read by NDE; where vios is omitted the introduction of one article, contrary to the usual classical practice, causes the insertion of the article with the other noun as well, thus $\Delta \alpha \nu i \delta$ τον του Ίεσσαί A. 13. 22 O.T., cp. § 46, 10 (but without an article Ιούδαν Σίμωνος Ίσκαριώτου Jo. 6. 71 etc., similarly in Greek style $\Sigma \omega \pi a \tau \rho o s \Pi \psi \rho \rho o v B \epsilon \rho o a o s A. 20. 4).$ Indication of the mother by her son's name : Mc. 15. 40 (cp. Mt. 27. 56) Μαρία ή Ίακώβου τοῦ μικρού και Ίωσητος μήτηρ, whence in verse 47 M. ή Ίωσητος, 15. 1 M. ή Ἰακώβου as in L. 24. 10 (the article with the gen. is in this case neglected except in Mt. 27. 56 η roû 'Iak. - $\mu\eta\tau\eta\rho$). Of the wife by her husband's name (this is also classical): Mt. 1. 6 $\tau \eta s \tau o \hat{v}$ Οὐρίου, Jo. 19. 25 Μαριὰμ ή τοῦ Κλωπâ.¹ Whether in the case of the apostle called 'Ιούδας Ίακώβου L. l. 16, A. l. 13, viós or in accordance with Jd. 1 $d\delta\epsilon\lambda\phi\deltas$ is to be supplied (the latter is grammatically admissible : cp. Τιμοκράτης ό Μητροδώρου sc. άδ. Alciphron Ep. ii. 2) is a question which need not be discussed here. Membership in a family (including a family of slaves): $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu X \lambda \delta \eta s$ 1 C. 1. 11, τούς (sc. brethren, Christians) έκ τών (sc. slaves) 'Αριστοβούλου, Ναρκίσσου R. 16. 10 f. Yiós occurs in a metaphorical sense

¹ The v.l. in A. 7. 13 Έμμώρ τοῦ Συχέμ (DH; al. $\epsilon \nu \Sigma$. or $\tau o \hat{v} \epsilon \nu \Sigma$.) is explained in accordance with Gen. 33. 19 as Έ. πατρός Σ., which in any case is wrong.

(a common Hebraism): 1 Th. 5. 5 υίοι φωτός έστε και υίοι ήμέρας; hence with omission of vios, the genitive being also used predicatively, ούκ έσμèν νυκτὸς οὐδὲ σκότους 1 Th. 5. 6, ήμέρας ὄντες 8, cp. H. 10. 39 οὐκ ἐσμὲν ὑποστολῆς – ἀλλὰ πίστεως. Possession or discipleship: οί τοῦ Χριστοῦ 1 C. 15. 23; as predicate, A. 27. 36 τοῦ θεοῦ οῦ είμι, R. 8. 9 οῦτος οὐκ ἔστιν αὐτοῦ (Χρ.), 1 C. 1. 12, 3. 4 ἐγώ μέν εἰμι Παύλου etc., 6. 19 οὐκ ἐστὲ ἑαυτῶν ('do not belong to yourselves,' cp. 20), 3. 21 πάντα ὑμῶν ἐστι (= ὑμέτερα, cp. § 48, 7); L. 20. 14; A. 1. 7 ούχ ύμων έστι γνώναι 'does not belong to you,' 'is not your concern,' 2 P. 1. 20 προφητεία ίδίας επιλύσεως ου γίνεται; Η. 5. 14 τελείων εστίν ή στερεά τροφή; Herm. Sim. viii. 7. 6 ή ζωή πάντων έστι τών –, cp. A. 10. 36 after the removal of the interpolated kúpios, A. 20. 3 (Thuc. 1. 113).—The use of ϵv , ϵi s with the genitive of the house of anyone is not found in the New Testament, nor yet the phrases ev, eẻs Αἴδου (as in Clem. Cor. i. 4. 11), instead of which we have $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\phi}$ $\tilde{q}\delta \eta$ L. 16. 22, εẻs $\tilde{q}\delta \eta \nu$ A. 2. 27 O.T. ($\tilde{q}\delta \delta o$ EP and some MSS. of the LXX.), 31 (abou ACDEP).

3. Objective genitive. Noteworthy instances are Mt. 24. 6 akoai πολέμων 'rumours of wars': A. 4. 9 εὐεργεσία ἀνθρώπου 'to a man': R. 10. 2 ζηλος θεοῦ 'concerning God' (Jo. 2, 17 Ο.Τ. ὁ ζ. τοῦ οἴκου σου): Jo. 7. 13, 20. 19 δια τον φόβον των Ιουδαίων 'fear of the Jews.' Further instances : Mt. 13. 18 την παραβολην του σπείροντος (cp. 36) about, of: 1 C. 1. 6 το μαρτύριον του Χριστού, 1. 18 ο λόγος ο του σταυρού, Mt. 4 23 etc. το έναγγέλιον της βασιλείας, Mc. 1. 1 το εύαγγ. 'I $\eta \sigma o \hat{v} X \rho$; phrases similar to the last are frequent in St. Paul (besides this use we have $\epsilon v a \gamma \gamma$. $\theta \epsilon o \hat{v}$ in R. 1. 1 and elsewhere, denoting the author, the meaning being there explained by $\pi \epsilon \rho i \tau \sigma \hat{v}$ υίοῦ αὐτοῦ in verse 3; τὸ εὐαγγ. μου R. 2. 16, 16. 25, cp. 2 C. 4. 3, 2 Tim. 2. 8, denoting the preacher; and $\tau \delta \epsilon v a \gamma \gamma$. $\tau \eta s \dot{a} \kappa \rho \sigma \beta v \sigma \tau i a s$ G. 2. $7 = \text{`among,'`to,' similar to the use of } \epsilon va\gamma \gamma \epsilon \lambda i \xi \epsilon \sigma \theta a i \tau i \nu a; but$ $\epsilon va\gamma\gamma$. Mattaiov etc. would be presumptuous and false, as if the individual evangelist had a special gospel proceeding from himself, therefore Karà M. etc. is used, i.e. according to Matthew's presentation of it). Other objective genitives are πίστις Ίησοῦ Χρ. R. 3. 22 etc., for which we also have π. είς τον κύριον 'Ι. Χρ. A. 20. 21 etc. and έν Χρ. Ί. 1 Tim. 3. 13 etc.: ὑπακοή τοῦ Χρ., τῆς πίστεως, τ. ἀληθείας 2 C. 10. 5, R. 1. 5, 1 P. 1. 22 etc., whereas $d\gamma d\pi \eta \tau o \hat{v} \theta \epsilon o \hat{v}$ can be both subjective and objective, but in $\delta_{i\kappa \alpha \iota o\sigma \upsilon \nu \eta} \tau$. θ . and $\delta_{i\kappa}$. $\tau \eta s$ $\pi i \sigma \tau \epsilon \omega s$ the gen. indicates the author and the cause respectively, hence $\dot{\eta}$ èk θ . δ_{ik} . Ph. 3. 9, $\dot{\eta}$ èk místews δ_{ik} R. 9. 30, also δ_{ik} místews Ph. 3. 9. In R. 2. 7 ὑπομονὴ ἔργου ἀγαθοῦ 'endurance in' is also a kind of objective genitive; on the other hand 1 Th. 1. 3 $\tau \eta s \, i \pi o \mu o \nu \eta s$ της έλπίδος is parallel with the phrases τοῦ ἔργου της πίστως and τοῦ κόπου της άγάπης, and is rather to be regarded as subjective, expressing patient hope in conjunction with active faith (cp. G. 5. 6) and labouring love.

4. The genitive of **the whole** or **partitive** genitive has not altogether died out, although its place has been taken to a great extent by the periphrasis with $\dot{\xi}$ ($\dot{a}\pi\dot{\partial}$, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$). Mt. 5. 29 f. $\dot{\epsilon}\nu \tau\hat{\omega}\nu \mu\epsilon\lambda\hat{\omega}\nu$ oov, 6. 29 έν τούτων, 10. 42 ένα των μικρών τούτων etc.; but 10. 29, 18. 12 έν έξ aύτων, 26. 21 είς έξ ύμων etc.: in Mt. 6. 27, 7. 9, L. 11. 5, 12. 25 and elsewhere τ is ξ $\dot{\nu}\mu\omega\nu$; and, generally speaking, in the case of τ is the gen. appears more frequently with ξ than without it (Mt. 22. 28 has τίνος τῶν ἐπτά, but τῶν ἑπτά appears not to be genuine : Mc. 12. 23 τίνος αὐτῶν, here also the gen. is wanting in Δck : L. 7. 42 τίς αὐτῶν, but avr. is omitted by D etc.: 14. 5 rivos vµŵv, D ég vµŵv : 20. 33 τίνος αὐτῶν, but αὐτ. om. **e ff,² so that the only certain instances of the simple gen. remaining are A. 7. 52, H. 1. 5, 13). With τ_{15} , however, the reverse is the case, the simple gen. preponderating (except in John); with $\tilde{\epsilon}\kappa a\sigma \tau \sigma \sigma$ it is found exclusively; but $\pi \hat{\alpha} s \tilde{\epsilon} \tilde{\xi}$ $\partial \mu \hat{\omega} \nu^{\dagger} L$. 14. 33. This use of $\dot{\epsilon} \hat{\xi}$ can hardly be called classical (although $\mu \acute{o} vos \acute{e} \acute{f} \acute{a} \pi \acute{a} \nu \tau \omega \nu$ and similar phrases occur),¹ still it is more classical than that of $d\pi \phi$ in Mt. 27. 21 $\tau i \nu a \ d\pi \partial \ \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \ \delta \dot{\nu} \phi$; the use of èv also has classical precedent, Ja. 5. 13, 14, 19, 1 C. 15. 12 τις έν ύμίν, A. 5. 34 τις έν τῷ συνεδρίψ (D έκ τοῦ συνεδρίου); cp. on the periphrasis for the partitive gen. with verbs, § 36, 1. This gen. is used predicatively in $\delta \nu \epsilon \sigma \tau \nu \Upsilon \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \iota \sigma 1$ Tim. 1. 20, A. 23. 6 : with ек Jo. 18. 17, L. 22. 58, 1 С. 12. 15 f. (Clem. Cor. ii. 14. 1, 18. 1). The following is noticeable: $\tau \dot{a} a \dot{v} \tau \dot{a} \tau \omega v \pi a \theta \eta \mu \dot{a} \tau \omega v 1$ P. 5. 9 (strictly incorrect).-The employment of the partitive gen. or a periphrasis for it as subject or object of the sentence is peculiar: Jo. 16. 17 εἶπον ἐκ τῶν μαθητῶν αὐτοῦ (some of his disciples) πρòs άλλήλους, 7. 40 έκ τοῦ ὅχλου ἀκούσαντες – ἔλεγον,² παραγενομένων ἐκ της πόλεως L. 8. 35 D (some men of the town), A. 21. 16 συνηλθον δέ και (έκ add. Ε) τών μαθητών από Καισαρείας,³ 19. 33 έκ του όχλου (sc. τινέs), Ap. 11. 9, L. 21. 16 θανατώσουσιν έξ υμών (sc. τινάs), 11. 49, Mt. 23. 34, Ap. 2. 10, 2 Jo. 4; it even takes the place of a dative in Jo. 3. 25 έγένετο ζήτησις έκ τῶν μαθητῶν Ἰωάνου μετὰ 'Iovôaíov (- $\omega\nu$) 'on the part of some of the disciples,' cp. A. 15. 2. This form of expression is due to Hebrew influence (27), although in isolated cases the genitive is also so used in Attic (Xenoph. Anab. 3, 5. 16: Hellen. 4, 2. 20).-To the class of partitive genitives belongs also the gen. of the country, added to define the particular place intended, and always with the article (§ 46, 11): Na(apè $\theta \tau \eta s$ Γαλιλαίας Mt. 21. 11, Mc. 1. 9, Κανά της Γαλ. Jo. 2. 1, Ταρσός της Κιλικίας A. 22. 3, with πόλις 21. 39, 16. 12 ήτις (Φίλιπποι) έστιν πρώτης (as should be read) μερίδος της Μακεδονίας πόλις. As a definition of time: ἀψὲ σαββάτων Mt. 28. 1 'late on the Sabbath' (which in accordance with the next clause and Mc. 16. 1 must be equivalent to 'after the Sabbath'), $\delta is \tau o \hat{v} \sigma \alpha \beta \beta \dot{\alpha} \tau o v$ 'twice in the week' L. 18. 12. A further instance may be noticed : L. 19. 8 rà ήμίσεια (τὰ ήμισυ AR[D]) τῶν ὑπαρχόντων with classical assimilation to the gen. instead of $\tau \delta$ $\eta \mu \sigma v$ (Kühner ii.² 299, η $\eta \mu \sigma \omega \tau \eta s \gamma \eta s$);

 1 Moves in the N.T. is never more nearly defined by a reference to the whole of which it is a part.

² $\Pi o \lambda \lambda o l$ is an interpolation of $\Gamma \Delta \Lambda$ al.

³ Here however $\tau_{i\nu\epsilon_5} \tau_{\hat{\omega}\nu}$ may have dropped out after $\mu a \theta \eta \tau_{\hat{\omega}\nu}$, since a second article is required.

elsewhere we have ημισυ καιροῦ Ap. 12. 14 (cp. 11. 9, 11 without a genitive), ἕως ἡμίσους τῆς βασιλείας Mc. 6. 23, like τὸ δέκατον (sc. μέρος) τῆς πόλεως Ap. 11. 13.

5. A nearer definition of any kind by means of quality, direction, aim etc. is expressed by the genitive in a long series of phrases, some of which obviously take their origin from Hebrew (in which language the adjective is but slightly developed): $\mu \iota \sigma \theta \circ \hat{\nu} \tau \hat{\eta} s \, \hat{a} \delta \iota \kappa \hat{\iota} a s$ A. 1. 18, μ. άδ. 2 P. 2. 15, δ οἰκονόμος τῆς ἀδικίας L. 16. 8, τοῦ μαμωνâ της άδ. 9, ό κριτης τ. άδ. 18. 6 = ό άδικος (cp. 16. 11 έν τψ άδίκψ μαμωνα): καρδία πονηρά απιστίας Η. 3. 12, δήματα βλασφημίας Α. 6. 11 **D with v.l. βλάσφημα, cp. Ap. 13. 1, 17. 3, χολη πικρίας A. 8. 23, ρίζα πικρίας Η. 12. 15 cp. LXX. Deut. 29. $1\hat{S}_1$ A. 9. 15 σκεῦος ἐκλογῆς = ἐκλεκτόν (in R. 9. 22 f. σκεύη ὀργῆς, σκ. ἐλέους are different, being equivalent to persons who bear the wrath or the mercy), οἱ λόγοι της χάριτος L. 4. 22, πάθη ἀτιμίας R. 1. 26, ὁ οἶνος $\tau o \hat{\upsilon} \theta \upsilon \mu o \hat{\upsilon}$ Ap. 14. 10 etc. (where there is no equivalent adjective which could replace the gen.), $\tau \delta$ $\sigma \hat{\omega} \mu a \tau \hat{\eta} s \dot{a} \mu a \rho \tau i a s R. 6. 6, <math>\tau \delta \sigma$. τοῦ θανάτου 7. 24 (cp. θνητον σ. 6. 12, 8. 11), τ. σ. τῆς ταπεινώσεως ήμων and τ. σ. τής δόξης αυτού Ph. 3. 21, τ. σ. τής σαρκός Col. 1. 22, 2. 11 etc. The reverse order of words e.g. $\epsilon \pi \lambda \pi \lambda o \psi \tau o \upsilon d \delta \eta \lambda \delta \tau \eta \tau \iota =$ άδήλφ πλούτφ 1 Tim. 6. 17 (έν καινότητι ζωής R. 6. 4 = έν καινή ζωή, but cp. 7, 6) may be paralleled from the classical language (W. § 34, 3). Further noticeable instances are ημέρα ὀργης, σωτηρίας, έπισκοπήs etc. after Hebrew models R. 2. 5, 2 C. 6. 2 O.T., 1 P. 2. 12, also avadeí Ecus L. 1. 80, in which there is nothing remarkable but the Hebraic substitution of $\eta\mu\epsilon\rhoa$ for $\chi\rho\delta\nu\sigmas$ (of $\chi\rho\delta\nu\sigmat$ $\tau\eta s$ alpéoteus Aeschin. 2. 58): $d\nu\delta\sigma\tau a\sigma\tau s$ ($\omega\eta s$ and $\kappa\rho(\sigma\epsilon\omega s$ 'to life' etc. Jo. 5. 29 (ά. είς ζωήν LXX. 2 Macc. 7. 14): όδος έθνων Mt. 10. 5, όδον (a kind of preposition like זֶהֶרָהָ § 34, 8, note 1) θαλάσσης 4. 15 O.T.: instances with the meaning to, as $\dot{\eta} \theta \dot{\nu} \rho a \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \pi \rho \sigma \beta \dot{a} \tau \omega \nu$ Jo. 10. 7, πίστεωs A. 14. 27 (but θ . τοῦ λόγου Col. 4. 3=a door by which the word enters), μετοικεσία Βαβυλώνος Mt. 1. 11 f., ή διασπορά τών ^{*}Ελλήνων Jo. 7. 35: with the meaning among (from), κίνδυνοι ποταμών, ληστών 2 C. 11. 26, followed by έξ έθνών, έν θαλάσση, etc.—To the gen. of content belongs among other instances Jo. 21. 8 τδ δίκτυον τών $i\chi \theta \dot{\nu} \omega \nu$ (like class. πλοία σίτου); to the gen. of apposition (Kühner Gr. ii.² 226 d), i.e. where the genitive takes the place of a word in apposition with another, 2 C. 5. 5 $\tau \delta v$ appa $\beta \hat{\omega} v a \tau o \hat{v}$ πνεύματος ('which consists in' etc.), R. 4. 1 Ι σημείον περιτομής (περιτομήν AC*), Jo. 2. 2 τοῦ ναοῦ τοῦ σώματος αὐτοῦ, Ε. 4. 9 τὰ κατώτερα [μέρη] $au\hat{\eta}s$ $\hat{\gamma}\hat{\eta}s$ (not partitive, see Win. § 59, 8, but perhaps gen. of the thing compared) etc.; also 2 P. 2. 6 $\pi \delta \lambda \epsilon s \Sigma \delta \delta \mu \omega \nu \kappa a \Gamma \delta \mu \delta \rho \rho a s$ like Ιλίου πόλιν Hom. Il. 5, 642 etc. (this construction occurs here only in the N.T., since $\pi \delta \lambda \epsilon \omega s \Theta \upsilon \alpha \tau \epsilon i \rho \omega \nu$ A. 16. 14 is the gen. of πόλις θυάτειρα, like πόλει 'Ιόππη 11. 5; cp. also 2 C. 11. 32 την πόλιν Δαμασκηνών, Ap. 3. 12, 18. 10, 21, 21. 2, 10).---On the gen.

¹ Mή τίs έστιν έν ὑμῶν ῥίζα ἄνω φύουσα έν χολŷ καὶ πικρία; but ῥίζα πικρίαs is read by cod. AF, and ένοχλŷ for έν χ . by B*AF*, and this was the reading followed by the author of the Ep. to the Hebrews.

GENITIVE.

with adjectives and participles used substantivally see § 47, 1.— The gen. is used predicatively (supra 2 and 4), denoting quality, in Mc. 5. 42 $\eta \nu \epsilon \tau \omega \nu \delta \omega \delta \epsilon \kappa a$, L. 2. 42 $\delta \tau \epsilon \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \tau \delta \omega \delta \epsilon \kappa a$ (D is different),¹ H. 12. 11 $\pi \delta \sigma \sigma \pi a \iota \delta \epsilon \iota a \sigma \delta \delta \kappa \epsilon \iota \chi a \rho \delta s \epsilon \iota v a \iota, \delta \lambda \lambda \lambda \lambda \lambda \lambda \tau \eta s$.

6. As in classical Greek, there is nothing to prevent two genitives of different meaning from being connected with a single substantive: 2 C. 5. 1 ή ἐπίγειος ήμων οἰκία τοῦ σκήνους, possessive gen. and gen. of apposition, Ph. 2. 30 to $i\mu\hat{\omega}\nu$ (subjective) $i\sigma\tau\epsilon\rho\eta\mu a$ the $\pi\rho$ is $\pi\rho\delta$ if λειτουργίας (objective), Ap. 7. 17, 2 P. 3. 2 της των αποστόλων ύμων ('apostles sent to you') $\epsilon \nu \tau o \lambda \eta s \tau o \nu \kappa v \rho i o \nu \kappa a \sigma \omega \tau \eta \rho o s$ (closely with $a \pi \sigma \sigma \tau$. 'sent from etc. to').² In most cases, however, if several genitives stand together, one of them is dependent on the other, a practice through which writers, especially St. Paul, are occasionally brought to a really burdensome accumulation of words: 2 C. 4. 5 τον φωτισμον τοῦ εὖαγγελίου ('which proceeds from the gospel') της δόξης (content) του Χριστου, È. 1. 6 είς επαινον δόξης (a single idea, cp. Ph. 1. 17 είς δόξαν και έπαινον) της χάριτος αυτού,³ 4. 13 είς μέτρον ήλικίας τοῦ πληρώματος τοῦ Χριστοῦ, 1. 18, 19, Col. 2. 12, 1 Th. 1. 3 της υπομονής της έλπίδος (supra 3) του κυρίου ήμων; Ap. 14. 8 έκ τοῦ οίνου τοῦ θυμοῦ (supra 5) τῆς πορνείας αὐτῆς, unless τοῦ θυμοῦ should be removed from this passage and from 18. 3 (with Griesbach) as an interpolation from 14. 10, 16. 19 το ποτήριον του οίνου του θυμοῦ τῆς ὀργῆς αὐτοῦ (αὐτοῦ om. 🛪), 19. 15 τὴν ληνὸν τοῦ οἴνου τοῦ $\theta \upsilon \mu o \hat{\upsilon} \tau \eta s \, \delta \rho \gamma \eta s \, \tau o \hat{\upsilon} \, \theta \epsilon o \hat{\upsilon}$. The last genitive of the series is usually a possessive (Buttm. 136). In order that some clue may be left for the understanding of the construction, it is necessary (and also in conformity with Hebrew precedent) that the governing genitive should always stand before the dependent genitive, while in the case where two genitives are dependent on a single noun, one is placed before and the other after the noun, see the instances given above (Buttm. 135 f.). It has further been maintained (ibid. p. 294 f.), that in a case where a genitive without the article dependent on a preposition governs another genitive, the former must always occupy the first place: in the same way that a word in any case without an article usually, though not always (Mt. 13. 33 εἰς ἀλεύρου $\sigma \dot{a} \tau a \tau \rho \dot{a}$) precedes the genitive which it governs. Exceptions however must be admitted in the former case as well; Mt. 24. 31

¹ Here also belongs Ap. 21. 17 $\dot{\epsilon}\mu\dot{\epsilon}\tau\rho\eta\sigma\epsilon\nu$ $\tau\partial$ $\tau\dot{\epsilon}\dot{\chi}cos$ $a\dot{v}\tau\hat{\eta}s$ $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa a\tau\partial\nu - \pi\eta\chi\hat{\omega}\nu$, = 'amounting to 100 cubits,' cp. ibid. 16.

² However, there is so much obscurity and harshness in this passage that one is justified in supposing some corruption of the text ($\tau \eta s < \delta \iota \dot{a} > \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \dot{a} \pi o \sigma \tau$.? cp. the Syriac).

³ DE read $\tau \eta s$ $\delta \delta \xi \eta s$, which would necessitate the rendering 'the praise of the glory of His grace'; cp. l. 12 els $\xi \pi$. ($\tau \eta s$ add. A) $\delta \delta \xi \eta s$ ad $\tau o \hat{v}$, 14 els $\xi \pi$. $\tau \eta s$ ($\tau \eta s$ om. \aleph) $\delta \delta \xi \eta s$ ad $\tau o \hat{v}$.

⁴Here further, the possessive $\dot{\nu}\mu\hat{\omega}\nu$ is dependent on the first of the two genitives in each case $\dot{\epsilon}\rho\gamma\sigma\nu$, $\kappa\dot{\sigma}\sigma\nu\nu$, $\dot{\sigma}\sigma\sigma\mu\sigma\dot{\gamma}s$, according to the prescribed rule (see helow in the text); but the Western and Syriac MSS. put this $\dot{\nu}\mu\hat{\omega}\nu$ after $\pi t\sigma\tau\epsilon\omega s$, and some of these also make the sentence much smoother by reading the acc. $\tau\dot{\delta}$ $\dot{\epsilon}\rho\gamma\sigma\nu - \tau\dot{\partial}\nu$ $\kappa\dot{\sigma}\sigma\nu - \tau\dot{\eta}\nu$ $\dot{\delta}\tau\sigma\mu\sigma\nu$.

μετὰ σάλπιγγος φωνῆς μεγάλης, if the reading is correct,¹ means 'with a loud trumpet-sound' (cp. H. 12. 19, Ap. 1. 10, 4. 1, 8. 13), and 2 C. 3. 18 ἀπὸ κυρίου πνεύματος 'from the spirit of the Lord,' cp. verse 17.² Also βαπτισμῶν διδαχῆς H. 6. 2 (unless B is right in reading διδαχήν) can only mean 'teaching of baptisms.'

§ 36. CONTINUATION: GENITIVE WITH VERBS, ETC.

1. The genitive is used in Greek in connection with verbs in a series of instances where the partitive meaning is obvious. In the N.T. this partitive genitive with verbs is replaced, even more frequently than in the other cases mentioned (§ 35, 4), by a periphrasis with a preposition (or the use of another case). It is true that $\mu\epsilon\tau a\lambda a\mu\beta \dot{a}\nu\epsilon\nu$ 'to partake of' always has the gen. (A. 2. 46, 27. 33 f., 2 Tim. 2. 6, H. 6. 7, 12. 10; the verb has a different meaning in the combination καιρόν μεταλαβών A. 24. 25 = Polyb. 2, 16. 25 = `toget [an opportunity] later'); so also $\mu\epsilon\tau\epsilon\chi\epsilon\iota\nu$ in 1 C. 9. 12, 10. 21, H. 2. 14, 5. 13, 7. 13, though μετ. έκ is found as well in 1 C. 10. 17. and just as these constructions with the gen. are limited to Luke, Paul, and Hebrews, so KOLVWYEIV TIVOS only appears in H. 2. 14, while Paul, Peter, and John say κοινωνείν τινι (using the dat. not only of the person as in classical Greek, but also of the thing as in R. 15. 27 τοίς πνευματικοίς αὐτῶν ἐκοινώνησαν τὰ ἔθνη, cp. 1 Tim. 5. 22, 1 P. 4. 13, 2 Jo. 11; R. 12. 13 holds an intermediate position), or else κοινωνείν τινι (person) έν τινι G. 6. 6, or είς λόγον δόσεως καί λήμψεωs Ph. 4. 15. Μεταδίδόναι never has the genitive, but the accusative, if it is the whole which is imparted R. 1. 11, 1 Th. 2. 8 (the classical usage is analogous), elsewhere only the dat. of the person; μετείναι is unrepresented; δ έχων μέρος έν-(of the thing) occurs in Ap. 20. 6. But the greater number of the constructions which come under this head-to take of, to bring, eat, drink of etc.-have been lost to the genitive, and are expressed by έκ or ἀπό: L. 20. 10 ἀπὸ τοῦ καρποῦ δώσουσιν,⁸ Mc. 12. 2 ἴνα. λάβη ἀπὸ τῶν καρπῶν (only in A. 27. 36 do we have προσελάβοντο $\tau \rho o \phi \eta s$ [with many var. lect.], like $\gamma \epsilon \dot{\nu} \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$, vide infra; beside which ibid. 33 μηδèv προσλαβόμενοι is correctly used to indicate not the whole but the part), Jo. 21. 10 ένέγκατε άπὸ τῶν ὀψαρίων, 1 C. 11. 28 έκ τοῦ ἄρτου ἐσθίἐτω, Jo. 4. 14 δς ầν πίη ἐκ τοῦ ὕδατος (as well as $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\theta i\epsilon\nu \tau i$, where the object consists of the whole, Mc. 1. 6 $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\theta i\omega\nu$ άκρίδας καὶ μέλι ἄγριον, like Aristoph. Eq. 604 ήσθιον δὲ τοὺς παγούρους; 1 C. 8. 10 τὰ είδωλόθυτα έσθίειν, cp. 7, Ap. 2. 14, 20, i.e.

¹ $\Phi\omega\nu\hat{\eta}s$ is wanting in **x**L etc., D al. have σ . $\kappa\alpha i \phi\omega\nu$. $\mu\epsilon\gamma$.

² The Vulgate has a domino spiritu (Tertullian indeed reads ω domino spirituum). There might also appear to be an irregular order of words in the reading given by Origen (in Matt. tom. xiv. 14) in 1 C. 2. 4: oùr $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\pi\epsilon\iota\theta\hat{o}$ cookas $\delta \gamma \omega \nu$, $d\lambda \lambda'$ $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\dot{a}\pi o \delta \dot{\epsilon} \xi \epsilon \pi \nu \epsilon \dot{\nu} \mu a \tau os$ $\delta \nu \tau \dot{\mu} \omega \kappa c$. But cp. with the last words $\pi \nu \epsilon \dot{\nu} \mu a$ $\tau \gamma_5 \pi i \sigma \tau \epsilon \omega s 2$ C. 4. 13, $\pi \nu$. cooks at $\dot{a}\pi \sigma \kappa a \dot{\lambda} \dot{\nu} \epsilon \omega s$ E. 1. 17 etc.

³ The use with the simple gen. in Ap. 2. 17 $\tau\hat{\varphi}$ νικοῦντι δώσω αὐτ $\hat{\varphi}$ τοῦ (so AC; τδ B, ἐκ τοῦ Ν) μάννα τοῦ κεκρυμμένου is not authentic.

meat which comes from sacrifices; 1 C. 10. 18 of $\epsilon\sigma\theta i ov\tau\epsilon_{S} \tau ds$ $\theta v \sigma i a_{S}$, which they consume in common).¹ Of verbs of cognate meaning to these, **xopráfev** 'to satisfy' (vulgar word for $\kappa op \epsilon v v v v a_{i}$, see Athenaeus iii. 99 E) has the genitive Mc. 8. 4, the passive -áfeodal only has $d\pi o$, $\epsilon\kappa$ L. 15. 16,² 16. 21, Ap. 19. 21, $\kappa op \epsilon v v v \sigma a_{i}$ (literary language) has the gen. A. 27. 38; **yeverdal** has the gen. in yeverdal $\theta av a \tau ov$ Mt. 16. 28 etc., H. 2. 9, $\tau ov \delta \epsilon i \pi v ov$ L. 14. 24, $\mu \eta \delta \epsilon v \delta S$ A. 23. 14, $\tau \eta s \delta \omega p \epsilon \delta s$ H. 6. 4: on the other hand the acc. in Jo. 2. 9 $\tau \delta v \delta \omega \rho$, H. 6. 5 $\theta \epsilon cov \delta v \beta i \mu a_{i}$, not a classical but most probably a popular usage. The phrase $\epsilon \gamma \omega \sigma ov \delta v a (\mu \eta v Philem. 20$ (the word only occurs here)³ is derived from the literary language; $\delta \pi o \lambda a v \epsilon \omega s$ is unrepresented; $\phi \epsilon \delta \omega a u$ always has the gen., but is limited to Luke (A. 20. 29), Paul (R. 8. 32 and passim) and 2 Peter (2. 4 f).

2. Closely related to a partitive genitive is the gen. with verbs of touching and seizing. Of this we have the following N.T. instances : anreota Mt. 8. 4 and frequently in the Gospels (in John only in 20. 17 besides 1 Jo. 5. 18; in the Epistles besides the last passage quoted only in 1 C. 7. 4, 2 C. 6. 17 O.T.; never in Acts), καθάπτειν A. 28. 3, θιγγάνειν (literary language) H. 11. 28, 12. 20; έπιλαμβάνεσθαι Mt. 14. 31, Mc. 8. 23, Luke passim, 1 Tim. 6. 12, 19, H. 2. 16, 8. 9 O.T., 'to lay hold on any one (anything)': also with the part expressed in the gen., Mc. 8. 23 επιλαβόμενος της χειρός τοῦ $\tau v \phi \lambda o \hat{v}$,⁴ so that the correct construction is in all cases the gen.;⁵ on the other hand, $\kappa \rho a \tau \epsilon i \nu$ 'to seize,' 'to hold' (Hellenistic) has the whole in the accus. as in Mt. 14. 3 κρατήσας τον Ίωάνην, and the gen. is confined to the part which one seizes on, Mt. 9. 25 έκράτησε τής χειρός (την χειρά D) αὐτης, Mc. 1. 31 (not D), 5. 41 (την χειρα D), L. 8. 54 (κρατείν τινὰ τινός is not found except in Mc. 9. 27 according to A al., where NBD read as in the other passages): in metaphorical sense, 'to hold fast to,' 'lay hold on,' with gen. (probably due to the use of κρατείν 'to get the mastery of' with gen. in the literary language) H. 4. 14, 6. 18. Luke also says πιάσας (vulgar word = $\lambda a \beta \omega v$) αὐτόν τῆς χειρός A. 3. 7, like $\lambda a \beta \omega v$ Πολυξένην χερός Eurip. Hec. 523. In addition to these we have

¹ Still in many places a classical writer would have employed the gen. where the acc. occurs in the N.T., as in Jo. 6. 53 the μh phyper $\tau h \nu$ shoke $\tau o 0$ vio $\tau o 0$ $\mu \nu \partial$. Kal $\pi h \eta \tau e$ avro 0 τo alua, cp. the use of the acc. in 54, 56, 57 with $\tau \rho \omega \gamma \epsilon \nu$, a verh which in the N.T., as in classical Greek, never takes the gen., but which a classical writer would not have used in this connection.

² There is a v.l. in APQ al. $\gamma \epsilon \mu i \sigma a \iota \tau \eta \nu \kappa o \iota \lambda i a \nu a \upsilon \tau o \upsilon a \pi \delta$, cp. infra 4.

³ O^{$ilde{ au}$} other sour tensor that the gen. of the person, the use of $d\pi\delta$ with this verb is found as early as Plato, Charmid. 175 E $d\pi\delta$ rigs $\sigma\omega\phi\rho\sigma\sigma\nu\eta s$.

⁴ The reading of D λαβόμενοs την χείρα τοῦ τ. is neither in the style of classical (Plato Parmen. ad init. τη̂s χειρός) nor N.T. Greek (which never has the middle λαμβάνεσθαι).

⁵ It is only in appearance that $i\pi i \lambda \alpha \mu \beta$, seems to be used with accus, as well: in A. 9. 27 (cp. 16, 19, 18, 17) $i\pi i \lambda \alpha \beta \delta \mu e \nu os a v \tau \delta \nu \pi \eta \alpha \gamma \epsilon \nu$, the $a v \tau \delta \nu$ is dependent on $\eta \gamma \alpha \gamma \epsilon \nu$, and $a v \tau \sigma v$ must be supplied with $i\pi v \lambda \alpha \beta$. (L. 23. 26 $i\pi v \lambda \alpha \beta \delta \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \alpha$ $\Sigma i \mu \omega \nu \delta \tau \tau \nu \alpha \ \text{NBCDLX}$ must be a wrong reading instead of $\Sigma i \mu \omega \nu \delta s \tau \nu \sigma s \ \text{AP al.}$). with the gen.: $\xi_{\chi e \sigma \theta a}$ (met.) H. 6. 9 tà κρείσσονα καὶ ἐχόμενα σωτηρίας ('connected with,' 'leading to salvation') and ἀντέχεσθαι (met.) Mt. 6. 24, L. 16. 13 τοῦ ἐνδς ἀνθέξεται 'to attach oneself to,' 'hold to,' Tit. 1. 9 (similar meaning), 1 Th. 5. 14 ἀντέχεσθε τῶν ἀσθενῶν ('to assist'), like ἀντιλαμβάνεσθαι (met.) L. 1. 54, A. 20. 35 ('to assist,' as in LXX. and Hellenist. Greek ; but in οἱ τῆς εὐεργεσίας ἀντιλαμβανόμενοι 1 Tim. 6. 2 'to attain,' 'to partake of').

3. The gen. with verbs of attaining (cp. $d\nu\tau\iota\lambda a\mu\beta d\nu\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$ supra 2 ad fin.) only remains in some isolated instances in the more cultured writers. Tuyzávev $\tau \iota \nu \delta S$ L. 20. 35 ($\tau \upsilon \chi \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu$ is absent in Latin MSS.), A. 24. 3, 26. 22, 27. 3, 2 Tim. 2. 10, H. 8. 6, 11. 35, $\epsilon \pi \iota \tau \upsilon \chi \chi \Delta \nu \epsilon \nu$ $\tau \iota \nu \circ S$ H. 6. 15, 11. 33, but in R. 11. 7 $\tau \circ \tilde{\upsilon} \tau \circ \delta \kappa \epsilon \tilde{\tau} \epsilon \tau \upsilon \chi \epsilon \nu$ is read by all the standard MSS. (so oùlév Herm. Mand. ix. 5, but $\tau \eta s \pi \rho \alpha \xi \epsilon \omega s$ x. 2. 4, cp. on the classical use of the neut. pron. or adj. Kühner ii.² 301, note 9). $\Lambda_{\alpha\gamma\chi\dot{\alpha}\nu\alpha\nu}$ takes the gen. only in appearance in L. 1. 9 (700 θυμιασαι = θυμ., § 71, 3), the acc. in A. 1. 17, 2 P. 1. 1 (which is also more frequent in classical Greek than the gen.); κληρονομείν only the acc. Mt. 5. 5 etc. (Hellenistic, Phrynich. p. 129; Attic has the gen.); ¿φικνεῖσθαι is followed by a preposition 2 C. 10. 13 f.—Verbs of desiring and striving after : έπιθυμεῖν takes the gen. in A. 20. 33, 1 Tim. 3. 1, but the acc. in Mt. 5. 28 in BDE etc.¹ (a $\dot{\upsilon}\tau\eta$ s is hardly attested, the case is wanting in \aleph^* and some fathers), elsewhere it takes the inf. or is used absolutely ; operedan with gen. 1 Tim. 3. 1, 6. 10, H. 11. 16, as also όμείρεσθαι (= ίμείρ.) 1 Th. 2. 8; έπιποθείν is transitive as in classical Greek, so also contrary to classical usage are $\pi \epsilon i \nu \hat{a} \nu$, $\delta i \psi \hat{a} \nu$, § 34, 2.

4. The genitive after 'to be full,' 'to full' has been better preserved. Huµmλávaı, ἐµπιπλάνaι (the former only in Gospels and Acts, the latter also in R. 15. 24) always take the gen., Mt. 22. 10, L. 1. 53 etc.; πληροῦν takes a gen., L. 2. 40 πληρούμενον σοφίαs (-ία κ°BL, vide inf.), A. 2. 28 O.T. (with acc. for v.l. as also in the LXX.), 5. 28, 13. 52, R. 15. 13 (BFG πληροφορήσαι ἐν [ἐν om. FG] πάση χαρậ, vide inf.), 15. 14, 2 Tim. 1. 4: and also ἐκ (partitive, supra 1) Jo. 12. 3 (B ἐπλήσθη): the pass. takes the dat. R. I. 29, 2 C. 7. 4, cp. § 38, 1, or ἐν E. 5. 18, but Col. 2. 10 ἐν αὐτῷ (Χριστῷ) πεπληρωμένοι² is different: cp. also for the active R. 15. 13 supra: with the acc. (supra § 34, 6) Ph. I. 11, cp. Col. I. 9: γέμειν with gen. Mt. 23. 27 and passim, also Ap. 4. 6, 8 etc. (ibid. 17. 3 γέμοντα [γέμον] ὄνόματα βλασφημίαs is a solecism); so γεμίζειν Mc. 15. 36 (πλήσαs D), Jo. 2. 7, 6. 13 ?,³ Ap. 15. 8, with ἐκ L. 15. 16 v.l. (cp. supra 1), Ap. 8. 5, cp. πληροῦν supra. Under this head may also be brought βάπτειν τὸ

¹ So frequently in LXX.: Exod. 20. 17 obk $\epsilon \pi \iota \theta \nu \mu \eta \sigma \epsilon \iota s \tau h \nu \gamma \nu \nu a l k a \kappa. \tau. \lambda., Deut. 5. 21 etc. (Winer), Herm. Vis. i. 1. 4, Sim. ix. 9. 7 (with gen. Sim. ix. 13. 8).$

² Probably 'fulfilled ' = 'perfect,' cp. 4. 12 τέλειοι και πεπληροφορημένοι (D'E al. πεπληρωμένοι) έν παντί θελήματι τοῦ θεοῦ.

³ Έγέμισαν δώδεκα κοφίνους κλασμάτων έκ των πέντε άρτων κ.τ.λ.; we might correct κοφ. κλασμάτων as in L. 9. 17, cp. also κόφινον κοπρίων L. 13. 8 D.

ἄκρον τοῦ δακτύλου ὕδατος (ὕδατι 🛪) L. 16. 24,¹ and perhaps περισσεύειν ἄρτων L. 15. 17 (Lucian, not class.), cp. λείπεσθαί τινος infra 9.

5. Of verbs denoting perception, alodáveobal only appears once (L. 9. 45) and there with the acc. of the thing (avit, 'to understand' $=\sigma v \nu i \epsilon \nu a i$; on the classical use of $a i \sigma \theta$. τi see Kühner ii.² 309); with πυνθάνεσθαι Mt. 2. 4 [not D], Jo. 4. 52 [not B] the person is expressed by $\pi a \rho \dot{a}$, with $\sigma v \nu i \dot{\epsilon} v a i$ it is nowhere expressed. Thus the only remaining verb which takes the gen. is ἀκούων (ἐπακούων 2 C. 6. 2 O.T. takes the gen.: also έπακροασθαι A. 16. 25; ὑπακούειν takes the dative). With this verb the person, whose speech one hears, regularly stands in the gen. (as in classical Greek), while the thing, concerning which one hears tell, stands in the acc. (as does also the person in a similar case, as in E. 4. 21 $\eta_{\kappa o \nu \sigma a \tau \epsilon} a \nu \tau \delta \nu$). It is not an essential difference that the person may also be introduced by $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha}$ Jo. 1. 41 and passim (classical), and occasionally by ἀπό (unclassical, A. 9. 13, 1 Jo. 1. 5) or, with Hebrew phraseology, $d\pi d$ (διά, $\epsilon \kappa$) τοῦ στόματός τινός L. 22. 71, A. 1. 4 D, 22. 14. But there remains some common ground for the use of genitive and accusative. 'To hear a sound' in classical Greek is ἀκούειν φωνη̂s, βοη̂s etc.; but in the N.T. we have both $d\kappa$. $\phi\omega\nu\eta$ s and $\phi\omega\nu\eta\nu$, the former being used in St. John's Gospel in the sense of 'to obey' (5. 25, 28, 10. 3, 16 etc.), the latter in the sense of mere perception (3. 8, 5. 37), while in the Acts and the Apocalypse both constructions occur indiscriminately with the latter meaning: acc. A. 9. 4, 22. 9, 14, 26. 14 (gen. E), Ap. 1. 10, 4. 1 etc. (also 2 P. 1. 18); gen. A. 9. 7, 11. 7 (acc. D), 22. 7, Ap. 14. 13, 16. 1, 21. 3 (3. 20 'to obey'), as also H. 3. 7, 15 O.T., 12. 19. 'To hear words' admits of both constructions in classical Greek also; the N.T. generally uses the acc., but the gen. in Jo. 7. 40, 12. 47, 19. 13 (with v.l., cp. 8). The following are used correctly, $\sigma \tau \epsilon \nu a \gamma \mu o \hat{\nu}$ A. 7. 34, $\sigma \nu \mu \phi \omega \nu i as \kappa a \lambda \sigma \rho \hat{\omega} \nu$ L. 15. 25; the following are doubtful, $\tau \eta \nu \sigma \sigma \phi i a \nu \Sigma a \lambda \sigma \mu \hat{\omega} \nu o s$ Mt. 12. 42, L. 11. 31, την βλασφημίαν Mt. 26. 65, της βλασφημίας Mc. 14. 64 (acc. ADG), τον ασπασμόν L. 1. 41; λέγοντα(s) Ap. 5. 13 is wrong (λαλούνταs A. 2. 6 D).-It is probably only in appearance that the verb takes a double gen. in passages like A. 22. 1 ἀκούσατέ μου της προς ύμας απολογίας (Jo. 12. 47 al.; Herm. Mand. xii. 5, cp. μου τας έντολάς Sim. ix. 23. 2), since μου belongs to άπολογίας, the pronoun being similarly placed in Jo. 9. 6 ἐπέχρισεν αὐτοῦ τὸν πηλὸν ἐπὶ τοὺς όφθαλμούς.—'Όσφραίνεσθαι appears nowhere, and ὄξειν is not found with a case that more nearly defines it (the gen. with the latter verb is of course of a different character to the gen. with the former); but on the analogy of $\delta\xi\epsilon_{i\nu}$, $\pi\nu\epsilon\hat{i}\nu$, $\epsilon\mu\pi\nu\epsilon\hat{i}\nu$ $\tau_{i\nu\sigma}$ s 'to smell of something' we have in A. 9. 1 έμπνέων απείλης και φόνου (LXX. Jos. 10. 40 παν έμπνέον ζωής).

6. To remember, to forget. Μιμνήσκεσθαι H. 2. 6 O.T., 13. 3) together with its aorist and perfect always takes the gen. (on

¹ The LXX. uses $d\pi \delta$ Levit. 14. 16 (Buttm. 148); the classical instances of $\beta d\pi \tau \epsilon \sigma \theta a \ell \tau \nu \sigma \sigma$ (Arat. 650 etc., Buttm. ibid.) are formed on the analogy of $\lambda o \ell \epsilon \sigma \theta a \ell \tau \nu \sigma \sigma$ in Homer.

1 C. 11. 2 f. see § 34, 3); also $\mu\nu\eta\mu\nu\nu\nu\epsilon$ for the most part, but the acc. in Mt. 16. 9 (D is different), Jo. 15. 20 × ($\tau \partial \nu \lambda \delta \gamma \rho \nu$), D ($\tau o \dot{\nu} s \lambda \delta \gamma \rho \nu$) instead of $\tau o \hat{\nu} \lambda \delta \gamma \rho \nu$ (gen. in 16. 4 [om. N^{an}D], 21), 1 Th. 2. 9, 2 Tim. 2. 8, Ap. 18. 5 (Herm. Vis. i. 3. 3, ii. 1. 3): with $\pi \epsilon \rho \dot{\lambda}$ ('to make mention') H. 11. 22 (15 gen.): classical usage corresponds to this, both cases being used; $\dot{\epsilon} \nu \alpha \mu \mu \nu \eta \sigma \kappa \epsilon \nu$ and $-\epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ take acc., Mc. 14. 72, 1 C. 4. 17, 2 C. 7. 15, H. 10. 32 (class. acc. and more often gen.); $\dot{\tau} \sigma \rho \mu \nu \eta \sigma \kappa \epsilon \nu$ and $-\epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ take acc. in Jo. 14. 26, 3 Jo. 10 (2 Tim. 2. 14 $\tau a \hat{\nu} \tau a \dot{\nu} \tau a \dot{\nu} \sigma \mu \ell \mu \nu \eta \sigma \kappa \epsilon$ is different, the acc. being that of the inner object), gen. in L. 22. 61, and $\pi \epsilon \rho \dot{\lambda}$ 2 P. 1. 12. 'Emba v d $\dot{\epsilon} \kappa \lambda a \nu \theta$. ibid. 12. 5; $\dot{\epsilon} \pi \iota \lambda a \nu \theta$. takes acc. in Ph. 3. 14 (as occasionally in classical Greek).

7. There are but few remaining instances of the genitive with verbs expressing emotion. The cause of the emotion (after $\delta \rho \gamma i \xi \epsilon \sigma \theta a_i$, $\theta a \nu \mu a \zeta \epsilon_{\nu} \nu$, $\epsilon \lambda \epsilon_{\epsilon} \epsilon \hat{\nu}$ etc.) never stands in the gen.; the Hebraic verb σπλαγχνίζεσθαι=έλεε $i\nu$ (from σπλάγχνα =) probably only appears to be followed by the gen. of the person pitied in Mt. 18. 27 I (elsewhere it takes $e^{\pi i} \tau_i \nu_a$ or $e^{\pi i} \tau_i \nu_i$, $\pi \epsilon_{\rho i} \tau_i \nu_{\sigma s}$). 'Avéxertai 'to bear with,' however, takes the gen. throughout in the N.T. as elsewhere, ύμων Mt. 17. 17 etc. Μέλει takes the gen. in 1 C. 9. 9, but DEFG read $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \beta o \hat{\omega} \nu$, which is also the construction in Mt. 22. 16 = Mc. 12. 4, Jo. 10. 13, 12. 6, 1 P. 5. 7 (not unclassical); in A. 18. 17 oùôèv τούτων τῶ Γαλλίωνι ἔμελεν the construction is probably personal as often in classical Greek (o $\dot{v}\delta\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ being nominative and $\tau o\dot{v}\tau\omega\nu$ partitive). Still we have imperedent rives L. 10. 34 f., 1 Tim. 3. 5; aperent rives 1 Tim. 4. 14, H. 2. 3, 8. 9 O.T.; προνοείσθαι 1 Tim. 5. 8; μεριμνάν Mt. 6. 34 with έαυτης *B etc., τά έαυτης EK, perhaps έαυτη should be read from the Lat. sibi ($\tau a \pi \epsilon \rho i \dot{\nu} \mu \omega \nu$ Ph. 2. 20, $\dot{\nu} \pi \epsilon \rho \tau \iota \nu \sigma s$ 1 C. 12. 25).

8. The following verbs of ruling (excelling) take the genitive: äpxeiv Mc. 10. 42, R. 15. 12 O.T., Kupieveiv L. 22. 25, R. 6. 9 etc., κατακυριεύειν Mt. 20. 25, Mc. 10. 42 etc. (for κατεξουσιάζειν ibid. vide inf. 10), αύθεντείν 1 Tim. 2. 12, ήγεμονεύειν, τετραρχείν, άνθυπατεύειν L. 2. 2, 3. 1, A. 18. 12 (v.l.), катабичастейни Ja. 2. 6 NoBC al., but ύμαs is read by N*A like καταβραβεύειν τινά etc., § 34, 1; on κρατείν vide supra 2. But βασιλεύειν no longer governs the genitive, except in Mt. 2. 22 τη̂s 'Iovδaías 8B (the rest read έπι τη̂s 'I. as often in the LXX.), elsewhere ($\epsilon \pi i \tau \eta s \gamma \eta s$ Ap. 5. 10 = 'on earth') it takes $\epsilon \pi i \tau i \nu a$ L. 1. 33, 19. 14, 27, R. 5. 14, after Hebrew precedent (בָּלָה עַל). On $\eta \tau \tau \hat{a} \sigma \theta a \text{ see } \S 37, 4$. Verbs denoting excellence: $i \pi \epsilon \rho \beta \hat{a} \lambda \lambda \epsilon \nu$ rivós E. 3. 19 (so Plat. Gorg. 475 B, the usual classical construction is the acc. or absolute, as in N.T. 2 C. 3. 10, 9. 19), interexcut tivos Ph. 2. 3, but rivá (also classical) 4. 7. Here also, therefore, we only find remnants of the old usage; especially is this the case with the gen. of the thing after verbs of accusing etc., of which the only

¹ Σπλαγχνισθείς δε ὁ κύριος τοῦ δούλου ἐκείνου 'the lord of that slave.'

instance which can be adduced is $i\gamma\kappa a\lambda\epsilon i\sigma\theta a\iota \sigma\tau d\sigma\epsilon \omega s$ A. 19. 40, and this is contrary to Attic usage $(i\gamma\kappa a\lambda\epsilon i\nu \tau\iota\nu i\tau, \text{ but }\tau\iota\nu i\tau, \text{ twos in}$ Plutarch Aristid. 10), elsewhere $i\gamma\kappa$. and $\kappa\rho i\nu\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$ (pass.) take $\pi\epsilon\rho i$ $\tau\iota\nu os$ A. 23. 29, 6 etc. (Attic); for the dat. instead of gen. of the punishment see § 37, 2.—The gen. of price is still used with verbs of buying and selling, thus Mt. 10. 29 dos aplov $\pi\omega\lambda\epsilon i\tau a\iota$ 26. 9, A. 5. 8 etc.; also $\sigma \nu\mu\phi\omega\nu\epsilon i\nu$ (to agree) $\delta\eta\nu a\rho io\nu Mt.$ 20. 13, but $i\kappa \delta\eta\nu$. $\tau \eta\nu \eta\mu\epsilon\rho a\nu$ ibid. 2,^I cp. for the same periphrasis for this gen. $d\gamma o\rho d\epsilon i \epsilon \nu$ $\epsilon\kappa$ Mt. 27. 7, $\kappa\tau a\sigma\theta a\iota \epsilon\kappa$ A. 1. 18; see further L. 16. 9 (on the use of $\epsilon\nu$ see § 41, 1); a kindred use is $d\omega vi (\kappa a\tau a \xi \iota o i\nu) \tau \iota\nu os 2$ Th. 1. 5, 11, 1 Tim. 5. 17, H. 3. 3, 10. 29; but 'to exchange for' is expressed by $d\lambda\lambda a \xi a\iota \tau\iota \epsilon\nu R.$ 1. 23 (after the LXX. Ps. 105. 20), cp. 25 $\mu\epsilon \tau a\lambda\lambda a \delta\sigma$ $\sigma\epsilon \iota\nu \epsilon\iota$, 26 $\mu\epsilon \tau a\lambda\lambda$. $\epsilon\iota$ s (unclassical, although the gen. with $\mu\epsilon\tau$. is also absent from classical Greek; in Plat. Tim. 19 A $\mu\epsilon\tau$. $\epsilon\iota$ s means 'to bring over to another place').

9. Of verbs which contain the idea of separation, the following are found with the gen.: ἀπαλλοτριοῦν Ε. 2. 12, 4. 18, ἀποστερεῖσθαι 1 Tim. 6. 5, with v.l. ἀπεστραμμένων ἀπὸ (D*), cp. 2 Tim. 4. 4, ἀστοχεῖν 1 Tim. 1. 6 (with περί τι 6. 21, 2 Tim. 2. 18), διαφέρειν ' to differ' Mt. 6. 26 etc., κωλύειν τινά τινος 'to hinder from' (Xenoph. Polyb.) A. 27. 43 (elsewhere K. TIVA, K. TI, also after Hebrew example κωλύειν τι ἀπό τινος L. 6. 29, 'to refuse,' as in LXX. Gen. 23. 6), λείπεσθαι 'to lack' Ja. 1. 5, 2. 15 (ἐν μηδενί 1. 4 'in no respect'), cp. περισσεύειν τινός, supra 4, παύεσθαι 1 P. 4. Ι πέπαυται άμαρτίας (ibid. 3. 10 O.T. παύειν τινα από; αναπαύεσθαι έκ as in class. Greek Ap. 14. 13, κατέπαυσεν [intrans.] ἀπὸ Η. 4. 4 Ο.Τ., 10) ἄρχεσθαί τινος does not occur. ύστερείν 'to be inferior to' (cp. υστερος) 2 C. 11. 5, 12. 11: 'to lack' L. 22. 35: in the same sense $i\sigma \tau \epsilon \rho \epsilon i\sigma \sigma \sigma a$: R. 3. 23 (with $\epsilon \nu$ 1 C. 1. 7, cp. supra $\lambda \epsilon i \pi \epsilon \sigma \sigma a$: $i\sigma \tau \epsilon \rho \epsilon i \nu a \pi \delta$ 'to remain alienated from '= 'to lose' H. 12. 15 [LXX. Eccl. 6. 2], cp. ανυστέρητος απο Herm. Mand. ix. 4); ἀπέχεσθαι 'to abstain' A. 15. 29, 1 Tim. 4. 3, 1 P. 2. 11 (in A. 15. 20 the reading varies between the simple gen. and $d\pi \delta$; with $d\pi \delta$ 1 Th. 4. 3, 5. 22): $d\pi \epsilon \chi \epsilon \nu$ 'to be distant' L. 7. 6 **D (v.1. with $d\pi d$, as in 24. 13 etc.); **xphile** Mt. 6. 32, L. 11. 8 ($\delta\sigma\omega\nu$, $\delta\sigma\sigma\nu$ *DE al.), 12. 30, R. 16. 2, 2 C. 3. 1. To these may be added **detread** ($\tau\iota\nu\sigma$ s 'to ask' Mt. 9. 38, Luke passim (for which $\pi\rho\delta$ s τινα is used in A. 8. 24, cp. εύχομαι πρός 2 C. 13. 7, λέγω πρός), 2 C. 8. 4, G. 4. 12; προσδείσθαι 'to need' only in A. 17. 25. Quite peculiar is the use of the gen. in où $\beta \rho a \delta \dot{v} \epsilon \iota \kappa \dot{v} \rho \iota os \tau \eta s \dot{\epsilon} \pi a \gamma \gamma \epsilon \lambda \iota a s$ 2 P. 3. 9, 'hesitates and refrains from accomplishing it.' But in other cases separation is expressed by $d\pi \delta$ or ξ (classical Greek uses the simple gen. as well): with $\chi \omega \rho i \zeta \epsilon i \nu$, $\lambda \dot{\nu} \epsilon i \nu$, $\lambda \upsilon \tau \rho o \hat{\nu} \nu$, $\epsilon \lambda \epsilon \upsilon \theta \epsilon \rho o \hat{\nu} \nu$, δύεσθαι. σώζειν, καθαρίζειν, λούειν; with μεθιστάναι L. 16. 4 there are

¹ Unless this $i\kappa$ has a distributive meaning, as in Attic inscriptions (Meisterhans' Grammar of Attic Inscriptions, p. 173. 2); $\kappa \rho i \theta \hat{\omega} \dots \pi \rho a \theta \epsilon i \sigma \hat{\omega} r i \kappa \tau \rho i \hat{\omega} r$ $\delta \rho a \chi \mu \hat{\omega} r \tau \partial r \mu \ell \delta i \mu v or i \kappa a \sigma \tau or,$ where an apparently irregular acc. is added in the same way as in Mt. $\tau \eta r \eta \mu \ell \rho a r$. The same inscr. has elsewhere : $\pi \rho a \theta \ell v \tau \omega r \ell \xi$ $\delta \rho a \chi \mu \hat{\omega} r \tau o \hat{v} \mu \epsilon \delta \ell \mu v o r \epsilon \delta \sigma \sigma \sigma r o r o r o r c \tau \eta \rho a$, the acc. likewise has no governing verb ('eight oboli being reckoned for each stater').

[§ **36**. 9–11.

variant readings ($i\kappa \tau \eta s$ o $i\kappa o \nu o \mu i a s$ BD, LX with $d\pi d$, APR al. with the simple gen.).¹

10. The following compound verbs take the gen. on the strength of the preposition : $i\kappa\pi(i\pi\tau\epsilon\iota\nu)$ in metaphorical sense (not in the literal) G. 5. 4, 2 P. 3. 17; the remaining instances are all compounds of $\kappa\alpha\tau\dot{\alpha}$ (with the meaning 'against' or 'down over'; on the other hand, with the meaning 'down,' they take the acc., § 34, 1): $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha$. $\gamma\epsilon\lambda\alpha\nu$ Mt. 9. 24 (D* $\alpha\dot{\nu}\tau\dot{\alpha}\nu$), Mc. 5. 40, L. 8. 53; $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\gamma\iota\nu\dot{\omega}\sigma\kappa\epsilon\iota\nu$ 1 Jo. 3. 20 f. ($\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\delta\iota\kappa\dot{\alpha}\epsilon\iota\nu$ $\tau\iota\nu\dot{\alpha}s$ is classical, in the N.T. it only takes the acc., Mt. 12. 7, also Ja. 5. 6); $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\kappa\alpha\nu\dot{\alpha}\sigma\theta\alpha\iota$ 'to boast oneself against' R. 11. 18, Ja. 2. 13 ($\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\kappa\rho\dot{\iota}\nu\epsilon\iota\nu$ always takes the acc.; in Attic $\tau\iota\nu\dot{\alpha}s$; $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\alpha\tau\rho\dot{\alpha}\dot{\alpha}\nu$ Ja. 4. 11, 1 P. 2. 12 (Clem. Hom. xvi. 8, xix. 7 also has $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\lambda\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\epsilon\iota\nu$ $\tau\iota\nu\dot{\alpha}s$ 'to revile'); $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\mu\alpha\rho\tau\nu\rho\epsilon\dot{\nu}$ Mt. 26. 62 etc.; $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\alpha\rho\kappa\dot{\alpha}\nu$, a Pauline word, 'to be burdensome to' 2 C. 11. 8, 12. 13; $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\sigma\tau\rho\eta\nu\iota\dot{\alpha}\nu$ 'to wax wanton against' 1 Tim. 5. 11; $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha$ - $\phi\rho\rho\sigma\iota\dot{\nu}$ Mt. 6. 24 etc.; $\kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\chi\epsilon\dot{\nu}$ 'to pour over' takes the gen. in Mt. 14. 3 according to *BC al., other Mss. have $\kappa\alpha\tau\dot{\alpha}$ or $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota$ with gen.: in Mt. 20. 25 = Mc. 10. 42; $\kappa\alpha\tau\eta\gamma\rho\rho\epsilon\dot{\nu}$ passim.

11. The use of the gen. as the complement of adjectives and adverbs is also, as contrasted with classical usage, very limited. The following instances occur: κοινωνός, συγκοιν. τινος (gen. of the thing) 2 C. 1. 7, 1 P. 5. 1, R. 11. 17 (also with the gen. of the person, 'the companion of someone,' H. 10. 33, also 1 C. 10. 18, 20; beside which we have κοινωνοί τῷ Σίμωνι L. 5. 10 [gen. D], cp. § 37, 3 and κοινωνείν, supra 1); [not κοινός τίνος, nor ίδιος; Clem. Cor. i. 7. 7 has αλλότριοι του θεου]; μέτοχος H. 3. 1, 14, 6. 4, 12. 8 (= 'a companion of someone' 1. 9 O.T.; cp. E. 5. 7 ?); $\sigma i \mu \mu \rho \phi \rho \sigma \tau \eta s \epsilon i \kappa \delta \nu \rho s R. 8. 29, i.e. 'a bearer of the$ image,' cp. § 37, 6 for the dat. (in $\sigma \nu \nu \epsilon \rho \gamma \delta \sigma \tau \nu \sigma s$ and similar cases with a personal gen. the adjective has become a substantive, cp. ibid.); ξίνος τινός 'estranged from a thing,' E. 2. 12 (Plat. Apol. 17 D; with dat. Clem. Cor. i. l. 1); ἀπείραστος κακών 'untempted by,' Ja. 1. 13 (so in classical Greek aneipatós tivos, ayeutos kakŵv etc., Kühner ii.² p. 344 f.); in avous $\theta \epsilon o \hat{v} - \epsilon \nu \nu \rho \rho s X \rho (\sigma \tau o \hat{v} + C. 9. 21)$ the gen. is dependent on $\nu \phi \mu os$ (a peculiar and bold use, cp. § 28, 6); but aσπιλos is followed by $d\pi \phi$ (έκ CP) Ja. 1. 27, as also $d\theta \phi \phi$ Mt. 27. 24, καθαρός Α. 20. 26 (Demosth. 59. 78), cp. καθαρίζειν ἀπό supra 9; μεστός τινος Mt. 23. 28 etc., πλήρης L. 4. 1 etc. (κενός and ενδεής are never found with gen., ĸ. and Herm. Mand. v. 7, xi. 4), cp. 'to fill' supra 4; äzus, dvázus Mt. 3. 8, 1 C. 6. 2, etc., cp. gen. of price supra 8; ἕνοχος θανάτου Mt. 26. 66, Mc. 14. 64, αἰωνίου ἁμαρτήματος $(\dot{a}\mu a \rho \tau i \alpha s, \kappa \rho i \sigma \epsilon \omega s)$ Mc. 3. 29, etc. (as well as the use with the dat., modelled on $\epsilon \nu \epsilon \chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \epsilon \tau \iota \nu \epsilon$, Mt. 5. 21 f., which is the commoner classical construction; ibid. 22 we also have $\epsilon \nu o \chi o s \epsilon \epsilon s \tau \eta \nu \gamma \epsilon \epsilon \nu \nu a \nu$; δμοιοs with gen. only in Jo. 8. 55 NCLX ὑμῶν, but ὑμῖν is read by ABD etc., cp. 9. 9, 1 Jo. 3. 2 and elsewhere in N.T. (the gen. is also classical but rare); ἀκόλουθα τούτων Herm. Mand. viii. 4. 10

¹ The reading in A. 19. 27 καθαιρείσθαι της μεγαλειότητος ($\mathbb{R}ABE$), instead of $\dot{\eta}$ μεγαλειότης αύτης or αυτής $\dot{\eta}$ μεγ., seems to be impossible. (classical). Adverbs : eyyús with gen. Jo. 11. 18, R. 10. 8 O.T., H. 6. 8, 8. 13 etc., with dat. (rarely in classical, more often in late Greek) only A. 9. 38 évyus our $\tau \eta s \Lambda \dot{\upsilon} \delta \delta as \tau \eta$ 'ló $\pi \pi \eta$ (therefore with good reason), 27. 8 (the text of the passage is not quite certain); πλησίον Jo. 4. 5, cp. L. 10. 29, 36 and δ πλησίον σου Mt. 5. 43 etc.; έντός L. 17. 21,¹ έκτός 1 C. 6. 18 etc.; έξω Mt. 21. 39 etc. (not έσω, έσωθεν, since 2 C. 4. 16 ὁ ἔσω ἡμῶν sc. ἄνθρωποs should be taken like the preceding $\delta \,\epsilon \xi \omega \, \eta \mu \hat{\omega} \nu \, \ddot{a}$. in the sense of 'our' etc.); $\epsilon \pi \dot{a} \nu \omega$ Mt. 5. 14 etc., $i \pi \epsilon \rho \dot{a} \nu \omega \in A$. 10, $i \pi \sigma \kappa \dot{a} \tau \omega$ Mc. 6. 11 etc. (not $\ddot{a} \nu \omega$, $\kappa \dot{a} \tau \omega$); έμπροσθεν Mt. 5. 16 etc., όπισθεν Mt. 15. 23, L. 23. 26, όπίσω Mt. 3. 11 etc.; πέραν Mt. 4. 25 etc.; [ἐπέκεινα A. 7. 43 is a wrong reading]; in addition to these xwpis µέχρι έws etc., see § 40, 6 ff. Prepositions. -The class of adjectives in -ikós, formed from verbs and taking the gen., which is so large in Attic Greek ($\pi a \rho a \sigma \kappa \epsilon v a \sigma \tau i \kappa \delta s$ $\tau i v \sigma s$ and the like, Kühner ii.², p. 315) is entirely absent ($\delta i \delta a \kappa \tau i \kappa \delta s$ 1 Tim. 3. 2, 2 Tim. 2. 24, but without case). We occasionally find verbal adjectives in - tos (in the sense of a perf. part. pass.) taking the gen., as also indeed the perf. part. pass. in its ordinary form, still this is due to the participle becoming a sort of substantive. Like $d\pi \phi \sigma \tau \sigma \lambda \sigma$ s Ίησοῦ (= ὅν ἀπέσταλκεν Ἰησοῦς) one may also say ἐκλεκτοὶ θεοῦ R. 8. 33, Mt. 24. 31 etc.; αγαπητοί θεού R. 1. 7; cp. δ αγαπητός μου 16. 5 etc., οἱ ἀγαπητοὶ ἡμῶν Α. 15. 25 (cp. Attic ὁ ἐρώμενός τινος); διδακτοί θέοῦ Jo. 6. 45 O.T., cp. 1 C. 2. 13 οὐκ ἐν διδακτοΐς ἀνθρωπίνης σοφίας λόγοις, ἀλλ' ἐν διδακτοῖς πνεύματος (classical parallels in Kühner, p. 322, e.g. Soph. El. 343), where, if $\lambda \delta \gamma \sigma s$ be not spurious, διδακτόs has kept its adjectival character; εὐλογημένοι τοῦ πατρόs Mt. 25. 34; γεννητοί γυναικῶν Mt. 11. 11, L. 7. 28 (LXX. Job 14. 1); in $\kappa\lambda\eta\tau\sigma\hat{\imath}$ 'I $\eta\sigma\sigma\hat{\imath}$, however, in R. 1. 6 the gen. is rather a gen. of the possessor, since the Person who gives the call is God rather than Jesus (Winer, § 30, 4).² A peculiar use is $\tau \circ \epsilon i \theta \iota \sigma \mu \epsilon \nu \circ \nu$ (D $\ell \theta \circ \sigma$) $\tau \circ \hat{\nu}$ νόμου L. 2. 27.

12. The genitive of comparison with the comparative (and with what remains of the superlative, cp. § 11, 3 ff.) is found as in the classical language; and along with it (though this is much the rarer construction of the two, as it is in the carlier language)³ is used the analytical expression with η , particularly when the gen. could not well be employed or would not be sufficiently explicit (e.g. with an adj., $\phi i\lambda\eta\delta\sigma\nu\sigma \mu\hat{a}\lambda\delta\sigma\nu \eta$ $\phi i\lambda\delta\theta\epsilon\sigma i$ 2 Tim. 3. 4, with a statement of time R. 13. 11, with an infinitive Mt. 19. 24, A. 20. 35 etc., with a gen. $\hat{\nu}\mu\hat{\omega}\nu \mu\hat{a}\lambda\lambda\sigma\nu \eta$ $\tau\sigma\hat{v}$ $\theta\epsilon\sigma\hat{v}$ A. 4. 19, also with a dat. as in Mt. 10. 15,

¹ But in Mt. 23. 25 rd $\delta\sigma\omega\theta\epsilon\nu$ roû $\pi\sigma\tau\eta\rho\ell\sigma\nu$, 26 rd $\epsilon\nu\tau$ ds r. π . $-\tau$ d $\epsilon\kappa\tau$ ds auroû the genitive denotes the whole, as in L. 11. 39.

² The gen. in δέσμιος τοῦ Χριστοῦ Ε. 3. I (Paul has similar phrases elsewhere) is also equivalent to a gen. with a substantive, see on this phrase Winer § 30, 2, Buttm. p. 147 (E. 4. I has ὁ δέσμιος ἐν κυρίω).

³O. Schwab, Hist. Syntax d. Gr. Comparation (Würzburg, 1894), ii. 92, reckons that the use of the gen. or # after the comparative is in poetry in the proportion of 18:1, in Attic prose writers in the proportion of 5.5:1; in any later period the use of the former construction is more than three times greater than that of the latter.

[§ **36**.12–13.

A. 5. 29); it is seldom found without some such occasion for it (Jo. 3. 19 ήγάπησαν μαλλον τὸ σκότος ἢ τὸ φῶς, 4. 1 πλείονας μαθητὰς ποιεί η 'Ιωάνης 1 Jo. 4. 4, 1 C. 14. 5).¹ In addition to this periphrasis there is the periphrasis by means of a preposition : $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha} \tau \iota \nu \alpha$ (cp. classical passages like Thuc. i. 23. 3, which however are not entirely similar, so that the prep. could not be replaced by η ;² but in modern Greek $\pi a \rho \dot{a}$ or $\dot{a} \pi \dot{o}$ is the regular means of expressing comparison) L. 3. 13 πλέον παρά το διατεταγμένον (18. 14 μάλλον παρ' $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{\nu} v \sigma v$ D, without μ . \otimes BL, other MSS. have the corrupt reading $\eta \gamma \lambda \rho$ έκείνος), Hebr. passim, 1. 4 διαφορώτερον παρ' αύτούς, 3. 3, 9. 23, 11. 4, 12. 24, Herm. Vis. iii. 12. 1, Sim. ix. 18. 2 (= more than, without a comparative, § 43, 4); and $i\pi\epsilon\rho \tau i\nu\alpha$ (as in the case of $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha}$, classical Greek only shows the beginnings of this use), L. 16. 8 φρονιμώτεροι ύπερ, Jo. 12. 43 μαλλον υπερ (ηπερ ABD al. is corrupt) H. 4. 12, A. 20. 35 v.l. (Herm. Mand. v. 6 has $b\pi\epsilon\rho$ with the elative; with comparative in elative sense $i\pi \epsilon \rho$ $\pi a \sigma a \nu$ $a \mu a \rho \tau (a \nu a \nu o \mu \omega \tau \epsilon \rho o \nu s$ Barn. 5. 9; also LXX. e.g. Judges 11. 25, see Winer). The word 'than' is omitted after $\pi\lambda\epsilon\omega\nu$ and $\epsilon\lambda\omega\sigma\omega\nu$ before numerical statements (in Attic $\pi\lambda\epsilon i\nu$ έξακοσίους Aristoph. Av. 1251; Lobeck Phryn. 410 f.; ³ Lat. plus quingentos): A. 4. 22 έτων πλειόνων τεσσεράκοντα, 23. 13, 21, 24. 11, 25. 6, 1 Tim. 5. 9 χήρα μη κλαττον έτων έξήκοντα;4 also L. 9. 13 according to \aleph^* our eigiv $\eta \mu \hat{\nu} \pi \lambda \epsilon i o \nu \epsilon_s$ (other readings are $\pi\lambda\epsilon\hat{\iota}\circ\nu\eta$, $\pi\lambda\dot{\epsilon}\circ\nu\eta$, with stereotyped $\pi\lambda\dot{\epsilon}\circ\nu$, cp. Kühner ii.² 847 f.) άρτοι πέντε, Mt. 26. 53 πλείους (N°AC al.; πλείω N*BD) δώδεκα (NBDL; η δ. AC al.) λεγιώνας (N°BD al.; -νων N*AC al.) αγγέλων; instead of $\pi\lambda\epsilon i\omega\nu$ we also have $\epsilon\pi i\nu\omega$ (vulgar) Mc. 14. 5 $\pi\rho\alpha\theta\eta\nu\alpha\iota$ έπάνω δηναρίων τριακοσίων, 1 C. 15. 6 έπάνω πεντακοσίοις άδελφοις.— Instances of looser employment of the genitive: Mt. 5. 20 $\dot{\epsilon} a \nu \mu \dot{\eta}$ περισσεύση ή δικαιοσύνη ύμων πλείον τών ... Φαρισαίων (=than that of the Ph., yours is more in comparison with the Ph.); Jo. 5. 36 eyw έχω την μαρτυρίαν μείζω του Ίωάνου, where it is ambiguous whether the meaning is 'than John had,' or 'than that given by John': in the latter sense, however, $\mu\epsilon i \langle \omega \eta \rangle$ (B al. read $\mu\epsilon i \langle \omega \nu \rangle \tau o \hat{v}$ 'I. would be better. As $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota \sigma \sigma \sigma \delta$ and $-\delta \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma \delta$ have come to be used for $\pi \lambda \epsilon \iota \omega \nu$ (§ 11, 4), περισσός also takes the gen.: Mt. 5. 37 το περισσον τούτων, E. 3. 20 ὑπερεκπερισσοῦ ῶν κ.τ.λ.—A stereotyped use of the neut. πάντων to intensify the superlative appears in Mc. 12. 28 ποία ἐστὶν έντολη πρώτη πάντων (πασών is only read by M*al., but D it. omit πάντων), cp. Thuc. iv. 52. 3, Win. § 27, 6.

13. Local and temporal genitive. There are a few remains of a local gen.: L. 5. 19 $\pi o(as (sc. \delta \delta o\hat{v}, 'by which way') \epsilon d\sigma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \gamma \kappa \omega \sigma \iota \nu$,

¹ In 1 Tim. 1. 4 ἐκζητήσεις παρέχουσιν μαλλον ή οἰκοδομίαν θεοῦ the gen. would not have been in place, especially as μαλλον ή virtually has in this passage the force of a negative.

² For precise details on $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha}$ see Schwab ii. 108 f., 152 f., on $\dot{\nu} \pi \epsilon \rho$ 109 f., on prepositions generally 149 ff.

³ For details see Schwab 84 ff.

⁴ The next word is $\gamma \epsilon \gamma \sigma \nu \iota^2 a$, which some commentators attach to the following $\epsilon \nu \delta s \ \delta \nu \delta \rho \delta s \ \gamma \nu \nu \eta$; still even if it is connected with the preceding words, the usage remains the same, in spite of the Attic $\epsilon \kappa \kappa \sigma \iota \nu \epsilon \tau \eta \gamma \epsilon \gamma \sigma \nu \omega s$, cp. § 34, 8. 19. 4 έκείνης (D έκείνη) ήμελλεν διέρχεσθαι, which are incorrect, since the gen. in classical Greek denotes the whole area within which something goes on, just as the corresponding temporal gen. denotes the whole period of time within which something happens.¹ Of this temporal use the N.T. has the following examples: $\chi \epsilon \mu \hat{\omega} \nu \sigma s$ Mt. 24. 20 = Mc. 13. 18 'during the winter': $\eta \mu \epsilon \rho \alpha s$ Ap. 21. 25 'during the day,' 'in the day,' with v.l. $\eta\mu$. καὶ νυκτόs, cp. Mc. 5. 5, L. 18. 7, A. 9. 24 etc. 'in the day as well as by night,' beside which we have νύκτα καὶ ἡμέραν 'all day and night long,' § 34, 8 (but Jo. 11. 9 ἐάν τις περιπατŷ ἐν τŷ ἡμέρα 'by day,' cp. § 38. 4; διὰ τŷς ήμέρας 'in the course of this day,' L. 9. 37 D): νυκτός Mt. 2. 14 etc., $\tau \eta s v.$ L. 2. 8 ('in this night'), for which we have $\delta i d \nu \nu \kappa \tau \delta s A. 5. 10$ (v.l. διά τ. ν.), 16. 9, 17. 10, 23. 31, like per noctem; τεσσεράκοντα ήμερών D* A. 1. 3 for δι' ήμ. τεσσ. of B etc. and with equivalent sense ('during' *i.e.* 'at intervals in that time,' see § 42, 1); $\eta\mu\epsilon\rho\alpha$ s μέσης A. 26. 13, μέσης νυκτός Mt. 25. 6, μεσονυκτίου, αλεκτοροφωνίας Mc. 13. 35 (μεσονύκτιον BC al., cp. § 34, 8), ὄρθρου βαθέως L. 24. 1 (all these denoting a space of time, 'the middle part of the day' etc., not 'a moment of time'), τοῦ λοιποῦ (sc. χρόνου) G. 6. 17, E. 6. 10 *AB 'henceforth' (classical; a stereotyped phrase). With an adverb: Sis $\tau o \hat{v} \sigma a \beta \beta \dot{a} \tau o v$ L. 18. 12 ('twice in the week'), $\ddot{a} \pi a \xi \tau o \hat{v}$ ένιαυτοῦ H. 9. 7, as in classical Greek.

§ 37. DATIVE.

1. In the use of the Greek dative a distinction must be made between the pure dative, which expresses the person more remotely concerned, the instrumental dative (and dative of accompaniment), and, thirdly, the local dative. Still this triple division cannot be applied with absolute clearness and certainty to all the existing usages. The functions of this case were in large measure, more so than those of the accusative and genitive, usurped by different prepositions, particularly $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ and $\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}s$; connected with this and with the disappearance of the use of the dative after prepositions, is the subsequent loss of the dative in modern Greek and the substitution for it of $\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}s$ with the accusative. In the N.T., however, the case is still very largely employed.

On the use of the dative as the *necessary* complement of the verb the following points may be noted. To give, to promise etc.: there is hardly any tendency to supplant the dat. ($\delta\epsilon\delta\delta\mu\epsilon'\nu\sigma\nu\dot{\epsilon}\nu..., \S 41, 2$; Herm. Vis. i. 4. 8 $\epsilon is \tau \delta \ \theta\eta\rho\ell\sigma\nu\dot{\epsilon}\mu\mu\nu\tau\delta\nu\dot{\epsilon}\delta\omega\kappa a$; iii. 11. 3 $\pi\alpha\rho\epsilon\delta\omega\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon$ $\epsilon\alpha\nu\tau\sigma\nus\epsilon's\tau ds \ d\kappa\eta\delta\ell as$ is different, where ϵis expresses the result, as in the N.T., R. 1. 24 etc. [although the dat. is found beside ϵis in E. 4. 19]; $\pi\alpha\rho\alpha\delta$. $\epsilon is \sigma\nu\nu\epsilon\delta\rho\mu a$ Mt. 10. 17 etc. is also justifiable). To do good etc., to be profitable, to injure: dat. and acc. see § 34, 1 and 4;

¹ In classical Greek these must have been expressed by πola , $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon i \nu \eta$, cp. Xenoph. Anab. iii. 4. 37 $\chi \omega \rho lov \dot{\upsilon} \pi \epsilon \rho \delta \dot{\epsilon} \xi i ov$, $\dot{\eta} \dot{\epsilon} \mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda ov ol' E \lambda \lambda \eta v \epsilon s$ $\pi a \rho i \dot{\epsilon} v a i$ (therefore D is right in 19. 4, but in the other passage the whole of the evidence supports the gen.).

 ϵv is also used in place of the dat., ibid. 4 : $\sigma v \mu \phi \epsilon \rho \epsilon v$ always takes the dat., Mt. 5. 29 etc. To serve (δουλεύειν λατρεύειν διακονείν ύπηρετείν) always takes the dat.; also δουλοῦν 'to make a servant' 1 C. 9. 19; on δουλοῦσθαι pass. vide infra 4; προσκυνεῖν etc. take dat. and acc. § 34, 1; προσκ. ενώπιόν τινος L. 4. 7, Ap. 15. 4 is Hebraic, § 40, 7; so also $d\rho \epsilon \sigma \kappa \epsilon \nu$ (elsewhere with $\tau \nu \nu i$, like $d\rho \kappa \epsilon \hat{\nu}$ and the adjectives άρεστός, άρκετός, ίκανός etc.) ένώπιόν τινος A. 6. 5, άρεστος ένώπ. τινος 1 Jo. 3. 22. To show, to reveal take dat. always (φαίνειν 'to give light' Ap. 21. 23 [with έν Ν°], ἐπιφαίνειν L. 1. 79), as also 'to seem' (δοκείν, φαίνεσθαι); on φανερούν έν and the like see § 41, 2. To say to is expressed, as in classical Greek, by $\tau i \nu i$ or $\pi p \delta s$ $\tau i \nu a$; $\epsilon \delta \chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a t a k e s$ dat. A. 26. 29, and πρός τινα 2 C. 13. 7, προσεύχεσθαι dat. only, Mt. 6. 6, To write, to announce take dat.; more striking and 1 C. 11. 13. isolated cases of the dat. with verbs of speaking are : $d\pi o \lambda o \gamma \epsilon i \sigma \theta a \tau \tilde{\varphi}$ $\delta \eta \mu \psi$ A. 19. 33, so 2 C. 12. 19 (Lucian, Plut.) 'before or in the presence of anyone,' amoráororotai 'to say farewell' Mc. 6. 46 etc. (Hellenistic, Phryn. Lob. 23 f.); καυχασθαι 'to boast of before' 2 C. 7. 14, 9. 2; δμολογείν τινι Η. 13. 15, τῷ ἀνόματι αὐτοῦ 'to praise,' like έξομολογείσθαι, άνθομολ., R. 14. 11 O.T., Mt. 11. 25, L. 2. 38, 10. 21 (so also αίνειτε τῷ θεῷ Ap. 19. 5, like LXX. Jerem. 20. 13 etc., Buttm. 153 note); 'to confess before anyone,' 'to anyone 'A. 24. 14, Mt. 7. 23 (= 'to promise' A. 7. 17, with v.l. $\ddot{\omega}\mu\sigma\sigma\epsilon\nu$ and $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\eta\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda\alpha\tau\sigma$ D; Mt. 14. 7; on δμολ. έν see § 41, 2); ψεύδεσθαί τινι A. 5. 4 (LXX.; ibid. 3 τινα 'to dcceive,' as in classical Greek). To blame etc.: $\epsilon \pi i \tau i \mu \hat{a} \nu$, έγκαλεῖν take dat. (ἐγκ. κατά τινοs R. 8. 33), καταρασθαι and μέμφεσθαι take the dat. as a doubtful v.l., § 34, 2; ibid. on παραινεῖν εὐαγγελίζεσθαι; ἐπιτάσσειν προστάσσειν διαστέλλεσθαι etc. take dat.; also κελεύειν Ev. Petr. 47. 49, Herm. Sim. viii. 2. 8.-Πείθεσθαι, ύπακούειν, $d\pi$ ιστείν, $d\pi$ ειθείν take the usual dat.; but πεποιθέναι 'to trust in' besides the dat. (as in Ph. 1. 14) more often takes $\tilde{\epsilon} v \tau i \nu i$, $\epsilon \pi i \tau i \nu i$ or $\tau i \nu a$, $\epsilon l's \tau i \nu a$, and so $\pi i \sigma \tau \epsilon i \epsilon i \nu i$ with $\tau i \nu i$ passim, even in the sense 'to believe in,' as in A. 5. 14, 18. 8 $\tau \hat{\varphi} \kappa v \rho i \varphi$; with prep. 'to believe in': εν τινι only in Mc. 1. 15 πιστεύετε έν τῷ εὐαγγελίω,1 έπί τινι 1 Tim. 1. 16, L. 24: 25 (πιστ. om. D), Mt. 27. 42 EF al. (BL en' avrov, AD avro), R. 9. 33 al. O.T., en' riva A. 9. 42 etc., είs τινα, είs τὸ ὄνομά τινοs etc., which is the commonest construction. Cp. Buttmann, p. 150 f.²—To be angry (also $\epsilon \mu \beta \rho \mu \hat{a} \sigma \theta a \mu$ Mt. 9. 30 etc.; $\mu\epsilon\tau\rho\iota\sigma\pi\alpha\theta\epsilon\iota\nu\tau\iota\nu\iota$ H. 5. 2; on $\mu\epsilon\mu\phi\epsilon\sigma\theta\alpha\iota$, § 34. 2), to envy take the usual dat.; also to thank, to owe etc.-The adjectives belonging to these verbs are subjoined : $\dot{\omega}\phi\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\mu\sigma$ Tit. 3. 8 ($\sigma\dot{\nu}\mu\phi\sigma\rho\sigma\nu$ or συμφέρον is used substantivally with a gen., 1 C. 7. 35, 10. 33; σωτήριός τινι Tit. 2. 11), αρεστός αρκετός ίκανός vide supra; φανερός A. 7. 13, 1 Tim. 4. 15 (v.l. with \$v), \$\epsilon \u00e4 \u Ο.Τ., υπήκοος Α. 7. 39, πιστός τῷ κυρίω Α. 16. 15, cp. H. 3. 2

¹ Jo. 3. 15 is different, where if $\dot{\epsilon}\nu \alpha \dot{v}\tau \hat{\omega}$ (B) is correct it must be taken in connection with $\dot{\epsilon}\chi\gamma$ ($\omega \dot{\eta}\nu$.

² 'E $\lambda \pi i \zeta \epsilon \iota \nu \tau \iota \iota'$ 'to hope in anyone' (instead of $\epsilon \pi i \tau \iota \nu \alpha$ or $\tau \iota \nu \iota$ or $\epsilon i s \tau \iota \nu a$; $\tau \hat{y}$ $\tau i \chi y \epsilon \lambda \pi i \sigma a s$ Thuc. 3. 97) occurs only in Mt. 12. 21 in a quotation from Is. 42. 4, where LXX. has $\epsilon \pi i \tau \hat{\varphi}$; $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\varphi}$ is read by D al.; cp. § 5, 2, note 3. (1 P. 1. 21 ϵ is $\theta\epsilon$ or AB, but \aleph° al. read $\pi\iota\sigma\tau\epsilon$ vortas; generally absolute), $d\pi\epsilon\iota\theta\eta$'s A. 26. 19 etc. ($d\pi\iota\sigma\tau\sigma\sigma$ absolute), $\ell\nu\alpha\nu\tau$ or Mc. 6. 48 etc. (with $\pi\rho$ of $\tau\iota$ A. 26. 9); to these may be added the substantive $d\phi\epsilon\iota\lambda\epsilon\tau\eta$ s $\epsilon i\mu i \tau\iota\nu\iota$ R. 1. 14, 8. 12 (with gen. 15. 27 etc.).

2. The dative is used in a looser manner (as in classical Greek) with various verbs to denote the person whose interest is affected (dativus commodi et incommodi). Μαρτυρείν τινι 'for anyone' L. 4. 22 etc., also 'against anyone' Mt. 23. 31 μαρτυρείτε έαυτοίς. 'Αναπληροῦται αὐτοῖς (Ď al. ἐπ' αὐτοῖς) ή προφητεία L. 18. 31 (D has περί with gen.). "Εκρινα έμαυτῷ τοῦτο 2 C. 2. 1 'for myself,' cp. Herm. Mand. xii. 4. 6 σεαυτῷ κέκρικας τοῦ μη δύνασθαι τὰς ἐντολὰς ταύτας φυλαχθηναι. Also μη μεριμνατε τη ψυχη υμών – τώ σώματι υμών Mt. 6. 25 (L. 12. 22), 'for the life—for the body' (other constructions in § 36, 7); and most probably Ap. 8. 4 ταις προσευχαις, cp. 3 (Winer, § 31, 6). The peculiar Pauline employment of the dat. in the following passages is not quite the same as in the last instances : R. 6. 10 δ απέθανεν, τη άμαρτία απέθανεν, δ δέ $\langle \hat{y}, \langle \hat{y} \rangle \tau \hat{\psi} \theta \epsilon \hat{\psi}$, then in verse 11 νεκρούς μέν τ \hat{y} άμ., ζώντας δέ $au_{\hat{\psi}}$ $\theta \epsilon_{\hat{\psi}}$, 14. 7 f. ούδεις έαυτ $\hat{\psi}$ (\hat{y} , και ούδεις έαυτ $\hat{\psi}$ άποθνήσκει έάν τε γαρ ζώμεν, τῷ κυρίψ ζώμεν, ἐάν τε ἀποθνήσκωμεν, τῷ κ. ἀποθνήσκομεν, from which the conclusion is drawn that in every case τοῦ κυρίου ἐσμέν; cp. further 6. 2, 7. 4 ἐθανατώθητε τῷ νόμψ – eis τὸ γενέσθαι ὑμῶς ἑτέρψ κ.τ.λ., 2 C. 5. 15, G. 2. 19, 1 P. 2. 24; the dative therefore expresses the possessor, cp. the dat. with $\gamma i \nu \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ infra 3. Further instances: 2 C. 5. 13 είτε γαρ έξέστημεν, θεώ ('it concerns God alone'), είτε σωφρονούμεν, ύμιν (' in your interest '): R. 14. 4 τῷ ίδίω κυρίω στήκει η πίπτει, 6 δ φρονών την ημέραν κυρίω φρονεί και ό έσθίων κυρίω έσθίει εύχαριστεί yàp $\tau \hat{\omega} \ \theta \epsilon \hat{\omega} \ \kappa.\tau.\lambda$. *i.e.* eating etc. is a matter in which God is concerned, which takes place for Him (for His honour). Cp. also the O.T. quotation ibid. 11 $\epsilon \mu o i \kappa \alpha \mu \psi \epsilon \pi \alpha \nu \gamma \delta \nu v$, with which may be connected the use of προσκυνείν τινι (§ 34, 1). A peculiar use is that in Mc. 10. 33 κατακρινούσιν αύτον θανάτω (-ov D^*) = Mt. 20, 18 (here read by CD al., es θάνατον », B omits the noun), according to Winer, § 31, 1 = to sentence to death, cp. instances from late writers like Diod. Sic. in Lob. Phryn. 475, 2 P. 2. 6 (σταυρώ Clem. Hom. Epit. i. 145); it may be influenced by the analogy of $\theta a v \dot{a} \tau \omega$ (nucleow) and the Latin capite damnare.

3. The dat. with $\epsilon i \nu a\iota$, $\gamma i \nu \epsilon \sigma \theta a\iota$ $(i \pi a \rho \chi \epsilon \iota \nu \text{ in Acts and } 2 \text{ P. 1. 8})$ denotes the possessor, so that it corresponds to 'to have' or 'get' with an altered construction: $oi\kappa \eta \nu a v \tau ois \tau \sigma \sigma \sigma s$ 'they had no room' L. 2. 7, $\epsilon \gamma i \nu \epsilon \tau \sigma \sigma \sigma \eta \psi \nu \chi \eta \phi \sigma \beta \sigma s$ 'all experienced and continued to feel a fright' A. 2. 43, a common construction, as also in classical Greek, used where the possessor is previously known and the emphasis is laid not on him but on the thing which falls to his lot (on the other hand with a gen. $a \nu \tau \eta \eta oi \kappa i a \Sigma \omega \kappa \rho a \tau \sigma \nu s \epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu$ 'the house [which is previously known] belongs to Socrates,' cp. R. 14. 8 etc.); but we also have R. 7. 3 eav $\gamma \epsilon \nu \eta \tau \sigma i \kappa \sigma \lambda \rho \lambda \epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho \omega$, 4 eis $\tau \delta \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \sigma \theta \alpha \iota \psi \mu \delta s \epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho \omega$ (a Hebraism, modelled on LXX. Lev. 22. 12 etc.), A. 2. 39 ὑμῖν ἐστιν ἡ ἐπαγγελία, due no doubt to ἐπαγγέλλεσθαί τινί, L. 12. 10 ἅ ήτοίμασας, τίνι ἔσται (sc. ήτοιμασμένα ?, but D has τίνος). Correctly in A. 21. 23 εἰσὶν ἡμῶν δώδεκα äνδρes 'we have here'; Mt. 19. 27 τί έσται ημίν. On the model of έστιν συνήθεια ύμιν Jo. 18. 39 we have also κατά το είωθος αὐτῷ L. 4. 16 (αὐτῷ om. D), A. 17. 2 (δ Παῦλος D) ?1 Of time: A. 24. 11 ού πλείους εἰσί μοι ἡμέραι δώδεκα ἀφ' ῆς. Also with the meaning 'to happen' Mt. 16. 22 où $\mu\eta$ eoral ool touto, L. 1. 45, cp. the dat. with $\sigma \nu \mu \beta \alpha' \nu \epsilon i$ Mc. 10. 32 etc., and with ellipse of the verb L. 1. 43 $\pi \delta \theta \epsilon \nu$ The opposite meaning appears in $\epsilon v \sigma o \lambda \epsilon i \pi \epsilon i$ L. 18. 22, μοι τοῦτο. Tit. 3. 12 (Polyb. 10, 18, 8), cp. the use with νστερείν, a v.l. in Mc. 10. 21, § 34, 1.—The relation expressed is different, if $\epsilon \sigma \tau i$ with the dat. only forms a part of the predicate : the idea of possession is then at any rate not in all cases apparent. A. 9. 15 $\sigma \kappa \epsilon \hat{v} o s \epsilon \kappa \lambda o \gamma \hat{\eta} s$ έστί μοι οδτος means 'I have in him' etc.; but 1 C. I. 18 ὁ λόγος τοῦ σταυροῦ τοῖς μὲν ἀπολλυμένοις μωρία ἐστίν='is folly to them,' 'passes for folly with them, cp. 2. 14 f., Mt. 18. 17; also with the meaning 'it redounds to his' etc., 1 C. 11. 14 f. $d\tau \iota \mu \iota a a d\tau \hat{\varphi} \epsilon \sigma \tau \iota$ (= 'he gets dishonour therefrom '), whereas 14. 22 ets $\sigma\eta\mu\epsilon\delta'$ $\epsilon'\sigma\iota\nu$ $\tau\delta$ $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. means 'are there for,' 'serve for' (cp. Ja. 5. 3).-With adjectives: καλόν σοί έστιν 'is good for thee' Mt. 18. 8 etc. (= 'thou derivest profit therefrom '), A. 19. 31 ovres $a v \tau \hat{\omega} \phi i \lambda o i$ 'who had Paul for a friend' ($\phi(\lambda)$ in itself as a substantive regularly takes the gen.: $o\dot{v}\kappa$ εί φίλος του Καίσαρος Jo. 19. 12; similarly έχθρός), ήσαν κοινωνοι τώ Σίμωνι L. 5. 10, 'S. had them for partners' (D ησαν δè κ. αὐτοῦ, cp. H. 10. 33). With an adverb: $\delta\sigma l \omega s \dots \delta\mu l \nu \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \eta \theta \eta \mu \epsilon \nu 1$ Th. 2. 10 (§ 76, 1); ovaí μοί ἐστιν 1. C. 9. 16, elsewhere frequently ovaí τινι without a verb, Mt. 11. 21 etc.: in the Apocalypse it takes an acc. in 8. 13 B, 12. 12 ACP, cp. Latin vae me and mihi ; Buttm. p. 134. —The following are equivalent to datives with $\epsilon i \nu a \iota$: 1 C. 7. 28 $\theta \lambda \hat{i} \psi_{i\nu} \tau \hat{\eta} \sigma \alpha \rho \kappa \hat{i}$ ('for the flesh'; with $\hat{\epsilon} \nu D^*FG$) Equation ('for the flesh'; 2. C. 2. 13) ούκ ἔσχηκα ἄνεσιν τ $\hat{\omega}$ πνεύματί μου (with ellipse of the verb G. 5. 13); in conjunction with another dat. 2 C. 12. 7 $\delta\delta\delta\theta\eta$ μοι σκόλοψ τη σαρκί; further instances occur with ευρίσκειν, Mt. 11. 29 ευρήσετε ανάπαυσιν ταῖς ψυχαῖς υμῶν, R. 7. 10, 21, 2 C. 12. 20, Ap. 20. 11; with κινείν στάσεις A. 24. 5; with αγοράζειν αγρον είς ταφήν Mt. 27. 7 (as one might say ἔστιν ἐνταῦθα ταφη τοῖs ξένοις); with an adjective, μονογενής τη μητρί L. 7. 12 (cp. LXX. Win. § 31, 3).

4. Not far removed from the use of the dat. with $\epsilon i \nu a \iota$ is its use with the perfect passive = $i \pi \sigma$ with a gen.: $\pi \epsilon \pi \rho a \kappa \tau a \iota$ µou $\tau o i \tau \sigma$ (I have done this'; so in N.T. L. 23. 15.² The other N.T. instances, however, of the dat. with passive verbs are connected with the particular sense in which the verb is used. In classical Greek we have $\phi a \iota \nu \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ $\tau \iota \nu \iota$ (to appear' corresponding to $\phi a \iota \nu \epsilon \iota \nu \iota \iota \iota'$ (to shine,' (give light' (supra 1), and so in the N.T. in addition to

¹ Has this strange usage of Luke arisen from Plat. Rep. ii. 359 Ε συλλόγου γενομένου τοῖς ποιμέσιν (with γενομ.) εἰωθότος? Cp. § 2, 4.

² D has order détour hardrou $\pi \epsilon \pi \rho a \gamma \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \nu$ è atrê, c invenimus in illo. Perhaps the right reading is éorir ér atrê without $\pi \epsilon \pi \rho$., cp. A. 25. 5.

φαίνεσθαι, φανερούσθαι we have also οπτάνεσθαί τινι (aor. οφθήναι) 'to appear' with the same construction ($\delta \phi \theta \eta \tau i \mu o \iota$ is found already in Eurip. Bacch. 914; Hebr. רָרָאָה with ל, Syr. אתחוא with ל, syr. לל, אתחוא with ל), A. 1. 3 and passim, not to be explained as equivalent to $\partial \phi \theta \hat{n} v a i v \pi \delta$ τινος (in A. 7. 26 ώφθη αὐτοῖς is rather supervenit than apparuit). Cp. § 54, 4. So too θεαθήναι τοις ανθρώποις Mt. 6. 1, 23. 5, and more frequently γνωσθήναι 'to become known,' A. 9. 24 etc., § 54, 41 (but έγνωσται ὑπ' αὐτοῦ 1 C. 8. 3, 'has been recognised by God,' cp. G. 4. 9), εὑρεθηναι only in R. 10. 20 O.T. (there is a v.l with $\dot{\epsilon}v$, but the Hebrew in Isaiah 65. 1 has \gtrsim).² We have further $\gamma a \mu \epsilon \hat{i} \sigma \theta a \hat{i} \tau i \nu i$ of the woman (as in Att.) 1 C. 7. 39 (but cp. § 24 yaµeîv), µvηστεύεσθαί τινι Mt. 1. 18, and πείθεσθαι as in Attic; Ja. 3. 7 δαμάζεται και δεδάμασται τη φύσει τη άνθρωπίνη is ambiguous (δαμηναί τινι is Homeric, but here the dat. is rather instrumental), in 2 P. 2. 19 & τις ήττηται, τούτω και δεδούλωται (δουλοῦν τινι) the relative most probably means 'whereby,' since $\eta \tau \tau \hat{a} \nu$ in Hellenistic Greek is an active verb and may form an ordinary passive.³ On $\sigma v \epsilon \phi \omega v \eta \theta \eta$ A. 5. 9 vide infra 6, page 114, note 1.

5. To the dative expressing the weakest connection, the so-called ethic dative, may be referred Ap. 2. 5 (cp. 16) ἕρχομαί σοι, unless rather the dative, as in Mt. 21. 5 O.T. ἕρχεταί σοι, is an incorrect rendering of the Hebrew $\vec{\gamma}$. Cp. Buttm. 155 f. Another Hebraism is dστείοs τῷ θεῷ A. 7. 20, like LXX. Jonah 3. 3 πόλις μεγάλη τῷ θεῷ ($\vec{\Box}$, $\vec{\gamma}$, $\vec{\Box}$), *i.e.* 'very great,' whereas 2 P. 3. 14 ἄσπιλοι καὶ ἀμώμητοι αὐτῷ (God) εὑρεθῆναι probably rather contains the dat. denoting possession, cp. supra 3;⁴ Barn. 8. 4 μεγάλοι τῷ θεῷ 'for God,' in God's sight.' Another case of assimilation to Hebrew is seen in the fact that the classical use of dat. μοι in addresses ($\vec{\vartheta}$ τέκνον μου, $\vec{\vartheta}$ Πρώταρχέ μοι) has disappeared and its place been taken by the gen.: τέκνον μου 2 Tim. 2. 1, τέκνα μου G. 4. 19, τεκνία μου 1 Jo. 2. 1 (in 3. 18 as a v.l., NAB al. read without μου, which is the ordinary usage; with παιδία the pronoun never occurs), πάτερ ἡμῶν Mt. 6. 9 (elsewhere πάτερ without pron., as the LXX. also translates the Hebr. $\vec{\gamma}$, Gen. 22. 7 etc.).

6. Dative of community.—This dative, which is related to the instrumental dat. (= dat. of accompaniment or association), is

With A. 7. 13 ἀνεγνωρίσθη Ἰωσὴφ τοῖs ἀδελφοῖs αὐτοῦ, cp. γνωρίζειν τί τινι 2. 28.
 The dat. with εὐρίσκεσθαι in R. 7. 10 etc. is of another character, cp. supra 3 ad fin.; on 2 P. 3. 14 vide infra 5.

³ Ja. 3. 18 καρπός ... σπείρεται τοῦς ποιοῦσιν εἰρήνην is an instance of dat. commodi; cp. 1 P. 5. 9, L. 18. 31 (supra 2).—There are clear instances of the dat. governed by the passive as such in the Clementine Homilies, e.g. iii. 68 θεφ έστόγηται, ix. 21 δαίμοσιν ἀκούεται, xix. 23 ήτύχηται τοῦς ταπεινοῦς.

* A comparison, however, of E. 1. 4 είναι ήμâs... άμώμους κατενώπιον αύτοῦ, Col. 1. 22 παραστῆσαι ὑμâs... ἀμώμους καὶ ἀνεγκλήτους κατ. αὐτ., makes it possible to interpret the dat. as equivalent to this periphrasis, which frequently takes the place of the correct dative, 1 Jo. 3. 22 τὰ ἀρεστὰ ἐνώπιον αὐτοῦ. frequently found with anonover ($\sigma v \nu a \kappa$; with $\sigma v \nu \epsilon \pi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ only in A. 20. 4, with $\xi \pi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ nowhere), beside the Hebraic $d\kappa$. $d\pi \iota \sigma \omega \tau \iota \nu \delta s$ Mt. 10. 38, Mc. 8. 34 v.l. (µετά τινος, also classical, occurs in Ap. 6. 8, 14. 13; but in L. 9. 49 μεθ' ήμων is not 'us' but 'with us'); with dialéyertai (also mpós riva as in class. Greek); ouileir A. 24. 26 'to converse' ($\pi\rho \delta \tau i \nu a$ L. 24. 14); κρίνεσθαι 'to dispute' Mt. 5. 40 (μετά τινος 1 C. 6. 6, cp. 7, like πολεμείν, πόλεμον ποιείν μετά τινος Ap. 11. 7, 12. 7 al., Hebr. Σ, cp. § 42, 3; φίλοι μετ' αλλήλων L. 23. 12); διακρίνεσθαι (same meaning) Jd. 9 (προ's τινα A. 11. 2, classical; cp. μάχεσθαι πρός Jo. 6. 52); διακατελέγχεσθαι Α. 18. 28; διαλλάττεσθαι Mt. 5. 24, and more frequently καταλλάσσειν τινά τινι and καταλλάσσεσθαί τινι; διαβάλλεσθαί (pass.) τινι 'to be calumniated to someone' L. 16. 1, $\mu \epsilon_{i}\gamma\nu\dot{\nu}\nu a_{i}$ Ap. 15. 2 (with $\epsilon\nu$ 8. 7, with $\mu\epsilon\tau a$ Mt. 27. 34, L. 13. 1); kollarbai ($\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\kappaoll$.) $\tau_{i}\nu_{i}$ L. 15. 15 etc.; $\chi\rho\eta\sigma\sigma a_{i}$ A. 27. 3, 17, 1 C. (a v.l. in 7. 31, see § 34, 2), 9. 12, 15, 2 C. 1. 17, 3. 12, 1 Tim. 1. 8, 5. 23, καταχρήσθαι 1 C. 9. 18 (συγχρ. Jo. 4. 9 in an interpolated clause); KOLVWVEIV R. 12. 13 al.; etepoguyeiv άπίστοις (from έτερόζυγος Levit. 19. 19, used of beasts of different kinds in a team) 2 C. 6. 14 'to be in unequal fellowship' (like outvy. τινί, Win. § 31, 10 Rem. 4); όμοιοῦν δμοιοῦσθαι Mt. 6. 8 etc.; όμοιάζειν 23. 27 (intrans., v.l. $\pi \alpha \rho o \mu$.), like $\ddot{\sigma} \mu o \iota o s$ vide infra; eyy($\zeta \epsilon \nu L$. 7. 12 etc. (also with $\epsilon i s$ 18. 35 [τp 'I $\epsilon \rho$. some cursives and Epiphanius], on account of the indeclinable ¹Ιεριχώ? as in 19. 29, Mt. 21. 1, Mc. 11. 1, though we also have $\epsilon i s \tau \eta \nu \kappa \omega \mu \eta \nu L. 24, 28$; with $\epsilon \pi i$ 10. 9). The verbs compounded with $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$ which govern a dative are very numerous, such as $\sigma \nu \gamma \kappa a \theta \hat{\eta} \sigma \theta a A$. 26. 30 (with $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a}$ in Mc. 14. 54, but D has $\kappa a \theta \eta \mu \epsilon vos$), $\sigma v \gamma \kappa a \kappa o \pi a \theta \epsilon i v 2$ Tim. 1. 8, συγκακουχείσθαι Η. 11. 25, συγκατατίθεσθαι L. 23. 51, ο λόγος ούκ ώφέλησεν έκείνους μη συγκεκερασμένος (-ous is a wrong reading), $au \hat{\eta}$ πίστει (instrum.) τοις ακούσασιν Η. 4. 2, etc. (some few also take μετά as συλλαλείν in Mt. 17. 3, A. 25. 12, but dat. in Mc. 9. 4 etc., πρόs άλλήλους L. 4. 36; συμφωνείν μετά Mt. 20. 2, but dat. in 13 and elsewhere); ¹ a peculiar and unclassical instance is $\sigma \nu \epsilon \phi \chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a i \tau \nu \iota$ A. 1. 21 etc., 'to go with someone. -Of adjectives the following deserve special mention : $\delta\mu o \cos (\text{with gen. } \S 36, 11),^2 \circ a v \tau o s (v \kappa a) *$ το αὐτό) only in 1 C. 11. 5; toros Mt. 20. 12 etc. (for which we have a periphrasis with ws kai in A. 11. 17; o avtos with kabws kai 1 Th. 2. 14, or with olos Ph. 1. 30);³ of compounds with $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$ we have $\sigma \dot{\nu} \mu \rho \rho \phi \dot{\rho}$ τινι Ph. 3. 21 (gen. of the thing possessed in R. 8. 29 της εικόνος, see § 36, 11; for classical parallels Matthiae Gr. 864), $\sigma \dot{\nu} \mu \phi v \tau \sigma s \tau \hat{\omega}$ όμοιώματι τοῦ θανάτου αὐτοῦ R. 6. 5; but the remaining compounds of $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$ are made into substantives (like $\phi i \lambda os$ etc.) and take a gen.,

¹ There is a peculiar use in A. 5. 9 $\sigma \nu \epsilon \phi \omega \nu \eta \theta \eta$ $i \mu i \nu$ convenit inter vos; cp. a late author quoted by Stobaeus, Flor. 39, 32 $\sigma \nu \epsilon \phi \omega \nu \eta \sigma \epsilon \tau \sigma i s \delta \eta \mu \sigma s$, 'the communities agreed.'

² Besides expressing the similar person or thing, the dat. may also express the possessor of the similar thing (Homer $\kappa \delta \mu a \iota$ Xaρ(resour $\delta \mu o i a \iota$): Ap. 9. 10 $\xi \chi 0 \nu \sigma \iota \nu \sigma \delta \rho \lambda \delta$ $\delta \mu o \iota a \sigma \sigma \kappa o \rho \pi (o \iota s, 13, 11; similarly rois is of rup or <math>\eta \mu i \nu \pi \iota \sigma \tau \nu \lambda a \chi o \hat{\nu} \sigma \iota \nu$ 2 P. 1. 1, Buttm. p. 154.

³ In a quotation in R. 9. 29 we have $\dot{\omega}s \Gamma \delta \mu o \rho \rho a \, d\nu \, \dot{\omega} \mu o \omega \theta \eta \mu \epsilon \nu$.

συγγενής συγκληρονόμος σύμβουλος συμμέτοχος (Ε. 5. 7) συναιχμάλωτος συνεργός σύντροφος. Substantives take no share in these constructions with the dat. (as they occasionally do in classical Greek, Kühner Gr. II.² 372 f.), e.g. R. 15. 26 κοινωνίαν ποιήσασθαι εἰς τοὺς πτωχούς, 2 C. 9. 13, τίς κοινωνία φωτὶ (has the light; φωτὸς D*) πρὸς σκότος 2 C. 6. 14, κοινωνίαν ἔχητε μεθ' ἡμῶν 1 Jo. 1. 3, 6, 7. The adverb ἅμα takes the dat. only in Mt. 13. 29 ἅμα αὐτοῖς τὸν σῖτον (but D ἅμα καὶ τ. σ. σὺν αὐτοῖς, cp. ἅμα σύν 1 Th. 4. 17, 5. 10); on ἐγγύς see § 36, 11.

7. A great number of verbs (and adjectives) compounded with other prepositions besides $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$ govern the dative, while the sentence may also be completed by the use of a preposition; in general there is this distinction made (as occasionally in classical Greek and in Latin), that the preposition is used where the verb has its literal meaning, and the dative where it has a figurative sense. Thus the following compounds of iv regularly take a preposition : $i\mu\beta aiv\epsilon iv$, έμβιβάζειν, έμβάλλειν, έμβάπτειν, έμπίπτειν; the following regularly take the dative : $\epsilon \gamma \kappa \alpha \lambda \epsilon i \nu$ (supra 1), $\epsilon \mu \mu \alpha i \nu \epsilon \sigma \theta \alpha i$ (A. 26. 11), $\epsilon \mu \pi \alpha i (\epsilon i \nu)$, εντυγχάνειν ('to entreat'; with πρόs in Herm. Sim. ii. 8), but we also have $\epsilon \mu \beta \lambda \epsilon \pi \epsilon \iota \nu \tau \iota \nu \iota$ (person) = $\beta \lambda$. $\epsilon ls \tau \iota \nu a$; the following take sometimes the dat., sometimes a preposition : ἐγκεντρίζειν R. 11. 24 εἰς καλλιέλαιον, τ $\hat{\eta}$ ἰδία ἐλαία, ἐμμένειν with dat. in A. 14. 22, G. 3. 10 O.T. \aleph^*B (with $\epsilon \nu$ al. and LXX.), with $\epsilon \nu$ H. 8. 9 O.T., $\epsilon \mu \pi \tau \nu \epsilon \iota \nu$. Compounds of ϵ is take a preposition only ($\epsilon i \sigma \epsilon \rho \chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota \epsilon i s$ etc.); with έπι cp. the following exx. : επιβάλλειν επι ιματίω (-ιον) Mt. 9. 16. L. 5. 36; similarly ἐπιβάλλειν τὰς χείρας takes ἐπί, except in A. 4. 3 where it has the dat. (D is different); $\epsilon \pi i \pi i \theta \epsilon \nu \alpha i \tau \eta \nu \chi \epsilon i \rho \alpha \tau i \nu i and$ $\epsilon \pi i \tau \nu a$ occur: elsewhere the prep. preponderates where this verb is used in the literal sense, as in $\epsilon \pi i$ rows $\delta \mu ovs$ Mt. 23. 4 (Jo. 19 2 $\tau \eta$ κεφαλή, but A has $\epsilon \pi i \tau \eta \nu$ κεφαλήν; L. 23. 26 αὐτῷ τὸν σταυρόν), and the dat. with the figurative sense, oropa Mc. 3. 16 f., cp. enikaleiv τινι ὄνομα (the classical ἐπονομάζειν is similarly used) Mt. 10. 25 B* and Buttm. p. 132, Bápos A. 15. 28, πληγάς 16. 23; επιτίθεσθαι 'to lay hands on' 18. 10, with the idea of presenting 28. 10¹ (the prep. only occurs in Ap. 22. 18 έάν τις έπιθη έπ' αὐτά [' adds to '], έπιθήσει ό θ εός έπ' αὐτὸν τὰς πλήγας); ἐφίστασθαι takes dat. and έπί, etc. Compounds of $\pi ap \dot{a}$: $\pi a \rho a \tau i \theta \dot{\epsilon} v a i \tau i v \dot{i}$ is used (not so much 'beside anyone' as 'for anyone'), and $\pi a \rho a \tau i \theta \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ 'to commend' takes the same construction; $\pi a \rho \epsilon \delta \rho \epsilon \iota \epsilon \nu$ (v.l. $\pi \rho o \sigma$.) $\tau \hat{\psi} \theta \nu \sigma \iota a \sigma \tau \eta \rho \iota \psi$ (fig.) 1 C. 9. 13, and from this is derived the use with the adj. $\tau \partial \epsilon \vartheta \pi \dot{a} \rho \epsilon \delta \rho o \nu$ (v.l. $\epsilon \vartheta \pi \rho \delta \sigma$.) $\tau \hat{\varphi} \kappa \vartheta \rho \delta \psi$ 7. 35, which is more striking because this adj. takes the place of a substantive (Kühner II.² 372 f.); also with dat. παρέχειν, παριστάναι, παρίστασθαι (even in the literal sense e.g. A. 1. 10, 9. 39); $\pi a \rho \epsilon i \nu a \iota$ usually takes a prep. ($\pi \rho \partial s \delta \mu a \hat{s} 2 C. 11. 8$), but the dat. where the verb is used metaphorically 2 P. 1. 9 (and 8 according to A); παραμένειν τινι (Deal. συμπ.) Ph. 1. 25 (also the adj. $\pi a \rho \dot{a} \mu \rho \nu \dot{o} s \tau \iota \nu \iota$ [dat. of thing] Herm. Sim. ix. 23. 3). With $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota$ we have: $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\tau\iota\theta\epsilon\nu\alpha\iota$ with dat., $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\beta\dot{\alpha}\lambda\lambda\epsilon\iota\nu$ L. 19. 43 (on $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\beta$. $\tau\iota\nu\dot{\alpha}$ $\tau\iota$

¹ The Syriac inserts in navi (apparently an addition of the β text).

see § 34, 4), $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\kappa\epsilon\iota\mu\epsilon\nu\sigma\nu$ $\eta\mu\iota\nu$ $\nu\epsilon\phi\sigma$ $\mu\rho\tau\iota\rho\omega\nu$ H. 12. 1, but with the literal sense of the verb $\pi\epsilon\rho i \tau \partial \nu \tau \rho a \chi \eta \lambda o \nu$ Mc. 9. 42, L. 17. 2, $\pi\epsilon\rho i$ πίπτειν είς τόπον Α. 27. 41, but λησταΐς, πειρασμοΐς L. 10. 30, Ja. 1. 2, περιπείρειν έαυτον όδύναις 1 Tim. 6. 10. With πρός: προστιθέναι έπί τι is used where the verb has the literal sense Mt. 6. 27, L. 12. 25, $\epsilon \pi i$ $\tau_{i\nu_i}$ to add to something L. 3. 20,¹ but the person for whom the addition is made stands in the dat. Mt. 6. 33 etc., H. 12. 19; προσέρχεσθαι regularly takes the dat. of the person, also θρόνω, ὄρει H. 4. 16, 12. 18, 22; the following also take the dat. $\pi \rho o \sigma \epsilon \chi \epsilon i \nu$ (e.g. έαυτ $\hat{\psi}$), προσκαρτερείν, προσκλίνεσθαι (fig.); and with the literal sense προσπίπτειν (Mt. 7. 25 etc.; only in Mc. 7. 25 προς τους πόδας αὐτοῦ), προσφέρειν (πρὸς τὸν—Η. 5. 7, here plainly in figurative sense); προσκυλίειν λίθον τη θύρα Mt. 27. 60 (A has ἐπὶ, so ἐπὶ τὴν θ. Mc. 15. 46); προσφωνείν τινι Mt. 11. 16, A. 22. 2 (D omits aυτοίs) etc., or transitively with τινά 'to summon' L. 6. 13 (D ἐφώνησεν), A. 11. 2 D (L. 23. 20 D avroús, B avroîs, absolute verb A al.). -With compounds of avri the dat is the prevailing construction (άνθίστασθαι, άντιλέγειν, άντικείσθαι, άντιπίπτειν etc.; rarely πρός τινα, as avraywvi($\epsilon\sigma\theta\alpha\iota$ $\pi\rho\delta$ s H. 12. 4), and the same holds good of compounds of $i\pi 6$, with which prep. as with $d\nu \tau i$ the literal meaning becomes obliterated ($i\pi\sigma\tau$ $i\sigma\sigma\epsilon\nu$ $\tau\nu$, only in quotations do we have ύπο τούς πόδας οι ύποκάτω των ποδών 1 C. 15. 27, Η. 2. 8; ύποτίθεσθαι 1 Tim. 4. 6 'to advise'; ὑπάρχειν, ὑπακούειν); with ἀνά we have ἀνατίθεσθαι (προσανατ.) τινί 'to lay a case before someone' A. 25. 14 etc.-A substantive is also found with a dat. (cp. supra 6) in 2 C. 11. 28 ή ἐπίστασίς μοι ή καθ' ήμέραν **BFG, but the text can hardly be correct (scD al. µov, Latt. in me).

§ 38. CONTINUATION: INSTRUMENTAL AND TEMPORAL DATIVE.

1. The dative as the instrumental case is found in the N.T. as in classical Greek, but this use is considerably limited by the employment of the periphrasis with $\epsilon \nu$. The latter usage is by no means foreign to the Greek language (Kühner Gr. ii.², 403 f.); for the N.T. writers, however, it is the Hebrew \neg which has set the example of this construction,² and for this reason the frequency with which it occurs differs with the individual writers : in the second half of the Acts (13-28) the usage is rare and never a prominent feature,³ while

¹ To add to the community' is expressed in A. 2. 47 by $\tau \hat{y} \epsilon \kappa \kappa \lambda \eta \sigma i q EP$ (D $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{y} \epsilon$), the other MSS. make the verb absolute as it is in 41 and in 5. 14; with the same meaning in 11. 24 we have $\tau \hat{\varphi} \kappa \nu \rho i \varphi$, which however B^{*}, no doubt rightly, omits; 'to be gathered to his fathers' is expressed by $\pi \rho \delta s$ in 13. 36.

² In modern Greek, in which the dative is wanting, the instrumental case is expressed by $\mu\epsilon r \dot{\alpha}$ ($\mu \dot{\epsilon}$), this use of $\dot{\epsilon} \nu$ having disappeared.

³ A. 13. 29 $\delta i\kappa a \iota o \vartheta \sigma \theta a \iota \dot{\epsilon} \nu$, for which see below in the text; 26. 29 $\kappa a \iota \dot{\epsilon} \nu \delta \lambda' \gamma \varphi$ $\kappa a \iota \dot{\epsilon} \nu \mu \epsilon \gamma \delta \lambda \varphi$, which in the mouth of Paul (the $\dot{\epsilon} \nu \delta \lambda' \gamma \varphi$ of Agrippa in 28 is different) apparently should be taken to mean 'by little, by much,' *i.e.* 'easily, with difficulty.' Moreover the instances in the first half of the Acta are not numerous.

the reverse is the case in the Apocalypse.—Examples: with the sword, by the sword (to strike, to perish etc.) $\epsilon \nu \mu a \chi a i \rho \eta$ or $\delta \rho \mu \phi a i q$ Mt. 26. 52, L. 22. 49, Ap. 2. 16, 6. 8, 13. 10, 19. 21, ev por maxaions H. 11. 37, μαχαίρη without έν A. 12. 2, στόματι μαχαίρης L. 21. 24. To season with salt: $d\lambda a\tau i$ Col. 4. 6, $d\lambda i \xi e v \pi v \rho i$ ($d\lambda i$) Mc. 9. 50 modelled on O.T., but έν τίνι άλισθήσεται το άλας Mt. 5. 13, Mc. 9. 50, L. 14. 34. To consume with fire etc. is $\epsilon \nu \pi v \rho i^{-1}$ in Ap. 14. 10, 16. 8, 17. 16 (without iv NBP), 18. 8 (for merely 'to burn with fire' even the Apocalypse uses $\pi v \rho i$ kales θa_i , 8, 8, 21, 8), $\pi v \rho i$ in Mt. 3, 12, L. 3. 17. 'To baptize with' is usually expressed by έν ὕδατι or έν πνεύματι; Luke however has ύδατι in 3. 16 (with έν in D, in the same passage all MSS. have έν πνεύματι in the opposing clause), A. 1. 5 (but ev πνεύματι ibid.), 11. 16 (with ev πν.; but χρίειν πνεύματι 10. 38). With $\delta_{i\kappa a_{i}o\hat{v}\nu}$ $\delta_{i\kappa a_{i}o\hat{v}\sigma}\theta_{ai}$ the dat. is found as in R. 3. 28 πίστει, but also έν, έν νόμφ G. 5. 4, A. 13. 39, έν τῷ αίματι τοῦ χρ R. 5.9 ($\epsilon\kappa \pi i\sigma\tau\epsilon\omega s$ 5.1 etc.). On the use of $\epsilon\nu$ to denote the personal agent, which cannot be expressed by the dat., see § 41, 1; on the Hebraic periphrases for the person with $\chi \epsilon i \rho$ and $\sigma \tau \delta \mu a \S 40$, 9. Μετρείν έν τινι and τινι are used for 'to measure by' Mt. 7. 2, Mc. 4. 24, 2 C. 10. 12² (ev), L. 6. 38 (dat.); also 'to measure with,' Ap. 11. 1, 21. 16 ($\epsilon \nu$) καλάμω. The N.T. also has μεθύσκεσθαι οι νω (E. 5. 18, like LXX. Prov. 4. 17), not olvov the Attic construction ;³ similarly $\pi \lambda \eta \rho o \hat{\nu} \tau i \nu i$ or $\check{\epsilon} \nu \tau i \nu i$, with anything (the dat. is occasionally used in classical Greek, in Eurip. Bacch. 18 with $\pi\lambda\eta\rho\eta$ s, in Herc. Fur. 372 and Aesch. Sept. 464 with $\pi\lambda\eta\rho\sigma\hat{v}v$), besides the gen. for which see § 36, 4; cp. also $i\pi\epsilon\rho\pi\epsilon\rho$ ισσεύομαι τη χαρά (έν τ. χ. B) 2 C. 7. 4.

2. The instrumental dative is moreover used to denote the cause or occasion: R. 11. 20 $\tau \hat{\eta}$ datortía έξεκλάσθησαν, 'on account of their unbelief,' 30 ήλεήθητε τ $\hat{\eta}$ τούτων dateiθείa, 31 ήπείθησαν τ $\hat{\omega}$ ύμετέρω έλέει, 'because God wished to have mercy on you,'⁴ 4. 20 οὐ διεκρίθη $\tau \hat{\eta}$ datortía, dλλ' ἐνεδυναμώθη τ $\hat{\eta}$ πίστει, 1 C. 8. 7 etc.; see also A. 15. 1 περιτέμνεσθαι τ $\hat{\omega}$ έθει τ $\hat{\omega}$ Mωυσέως, 'after,' in accordance with' (the β text has a different and more ordinary expression); it also denotes the part, attribute etc., in respect of which anything takes place, 1 C. 14. 20 μη παιδία γίνεσθε ταῖς φρεσίν, dλλà τ $\hat{\eta}$ κακία νηπιάζετε, ταῖς δὲ φρεσιν τέλειοι γίνεσθε, Ph. 2. 7 σχήματι εὐρεθεὶs ὡ ἄνθρωπος, 3. 5 περιτομ $\hat{\eta}$ όκταήμερος, 'eight days old at circumcision,' circumcised on the eighth day'; so φύσει 'by nature,' G. 2. 15 etc., τ $\hat{\psi}$ γένει 'by extraction,' A. 4. 36 etc.; dπερίτμητοι τ $\hat{\eta}$ καρδία A. 7. 51, dδύνατος τοῖς ποσίν 14. 8, ἐστερεοῦντο τ $\hat{\eta}$ πίστει καὶ ἐπερίσσενον τ $\hat{\psi}$ ἀριθμ $\hat{\mu}$ 16. 5,

¹ An accidental coincidence with the Homeric $\ell \nu \pi \nu \rho \ell \kappa a \ell \epsilon \nu$ IL xxiv. 38.

² Here the phrase is $\epsilon'\nu$ $\epsilon'auroîs$ 'by themselves,' where it is true that in classical Greek the dative could not stand : still no more could $\epsilon'\nu$, the phrase would be $\pi\rho\delta s$ $\epsilon'aurois$.

³ Yet even classical Greek has $\mu\epsilon\theta \delta\epsilon\iota r \ \epsilon\rho\omega\tau\iota$; and Lucian de dea Syr. 22 $\mu\epsilon\theta \delta\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma \ \epsilon\sigma\nu\tau\eta r \ \delta\tau\omega$. The Apocalypse has $\epsilon\kappa$: 17. 2, 6.

⁴ [The words $\tau \hat{\varphi} \, i\mu$. $\delta \lambda$. may also be taken with the following clause; see Sanday-Headlam and Gifford ad loc. Tr.]

όνόματι 'by name' (§ 33, 2), τῷ μήκει ποδῶν ἐκατόν Herm. Vis. iv. 1. 6,¹ etc. etc. The usage of the N.T. language in this respect may be said to be constant, since the alternative use of the accusative which in the classical language is widely prevalent² is almost entirely unrepresented (cp. § 34, 7). The cause may, of course, be also expressed by means of a preposition (e.g. by ἐν in ἐν τούτψ A. 24. 16, Jo. 16. 30 'on this account,' § 41, 1); this is especially the case with verbs expressing emotion (classical Greek uses the simple dat. and acc. as well): χαίρειν ἐπί τινι Mt. 18. 3 etc., ἐν τούτῷ L. 10. 20 (R. 12. 12 $\tau \hat{y}$ $\epsilon \lambda \pi i \delta \iota$ is different, not 'rejoicing over the hope,' but 'in virtue of hope,' 'in hope,') and so αγαλλιασθαι, ευφραίνεσθαι are used with ev or eni; eudorkeiv ev (eis 2 P. 1. 17, Mt. 12. 18 O.T. [ev D; acc. **B], cp. H. 10. 6, 8 O.T., § 34, 1), which in cultured style is expressed by evaperteital tolaútais ouríais H. 13. 16 (Diodor. 3, 55. 9 etc.); θαυμάζειν έπί τινι L. 4. 22 etc., περί τινος 2. 183 (on θ. τινά, τι see § 34, 1), so έκπλήσσεσθαι έπί τινι, but 1 P. 4. 12 μή ξενίζεσθε τη κ.τ.λ. (ibid. 4 with έν), καυχασθαι έν or έπί (for the acc. § 34, 1), συλλυπεισθαι έπί Mc. 3. 5 (but after δργίζεσθαι Ap. 12. 17, μακροθυμείν Mt. 28. 26 etc., $\epsilon \pi i [\epsilon i s, \pi \rho \delta s]$ is used with the person with whom one is angry or long-suffering).

3. This dative further expresses the accompanying circumstances, the manner and style of an action : 1 C. 10. 30 $\chi \alpha \rho \iota \tau \iota \mu \epsilon \tau \epsilon \chi \omega$, 'with thanks,' 11. 5 προσευχομένη άκατακαλύπτω τη κεφαλή (Herm. Sim. ix. 20. 3 γυμνοις ποσίν, Vis. v. 1 είσηλθεν άνηρ ... σχήματι ποιμενικώ), H. 6. 17 έμεσίτευσεν ὄρκφ. An alternative for the dat. is μετά τινος: Mt. 26. 72 ήρνήσατο μεθ' δρκου (Xenoph. Cyr. ii. 3. 12 σύν θεών δρκω λέγω), cp. H. 7. 20 f. οὐ χωρὶς ὑρκωμοσίας – μεθ' ὑρκ.; μετὰ βίας A. 5. 26, 24. 7 (class. βία, προς βίαν), μετά φωνής μεγάλης L. 17. 15 (μετά σπουδής και κραυγής πολλής Aeschin. 2. 10), etc. In Mc. 14. 65 ραπίσμασιν αὐτὸν ἕλαβον is quite a vulgarism, which at present can only be paralleled from a papyrus of the first century A.D. (an argument to Demosth. Midias), where we find $(\alpha \dot{\upsilon} \tau \partial \nu)$ κονδύλοις έλαβεν.⁴ Accompanying (military) forces in classical Greek are expressed by the dat., in the N.T. by ϵv , ϵv $\delta \epsilon \kappa a \chi i \lambda i a \sigma i v a \pi a v \tau a v L. 14. 31, cp.$ Jd. 14, A. 7. 14 (also (eiσ) έρχεσθαι έν αίματι 'with ' H. 9. 25, 1 Jo. 5. 6; εν βάβδψ έλθω 1 C. 4. 21, 2 C. 10. 14 etc.); εν also denotes manner in iv $\tau \alpha \chi \epsilon \iota$, iv intervela etc., see § 41, 1. We have $\pi \alpha \nu \tau \iota$ τρόπω, είτε προφάσει είτε αληθεία Ph. 1. 18 (ποίοις τρόποις Herm. Mand. xii. 3. 1), but elsewhere δν τρόπον etc., § 34, 7 (ἐν παντί τρ.,

¹2 C. 7. 11 συνεστήσατε έαυτούς άγνούς εἶναι (έν add. D^bEKLP, cp. ἀγ. έν τ $\hat{\eta}$ σαρκὶ Clem. Cor. i. 38, 2) τ $\hat{\omega}$ πράγματι is very harsh; perhaps εἶναι is a corruption of έν, cp. § 34, 5.

² The dative is employed in classical Greek if a contrast is made or is present to the mind of the writer, $\phi \upsilon \sigma c - \nu \delta \mu \omega$, $\lambda \delta \gamma \omega - \delta \rho \gamma \omega$; Xen. Mem. ii. 1. 31 $\tau \sigma \delta s$ $\sigma \omega \mu \sigma \sigma \nu \ d \delta \upsilon \sigma \sigma a - \tau \alpha \delta s \ \psi \upsilon \chi \alpha \delta s \ d \nu \delta \eta \tau \sigma c$; on the other hand in Anab. i. 4. 11 for $\pi \delta \lambda s \ \theta \delta \psi \mu \alpha \sigma s \ \delta \nu \delta \mu \alpha \tau \iota$, $\delta \nu \sigma \mu \alpha$ is correctly restored from the MSS. (cp. §§ 33, 2; 34, 7).

³ Ap. 13. 3 έθαύμασεν δπίσω τοῦ θηρίου is very strange, a pregnant construction for έθ. ἐπὶ τῷ θ. καὶ ἐπορεύθη δπ. αὐτοῦ, see W.-Gr.

⁴ See Fleckeis. Jahrb. f. class. Philol. 1892, p. 29, 33.

with a v.l. [male] $\tau \circ \pi \psi$ 2 Th. 3. 16). A usage almost peculiar to the N.T. (and the LXX.) is the dat. 58 etc. with πορεύεσθαι, περιπατείν, στοιχείν, in the N.T. always in metaphorical sense (L. 10. 31 κατέβαινεν έν τη όδφ έκείνη, B without έν), in the LXX. also in the literal, cp. Ja. 2. 25 (class. абікот обдт іо́ттит Thuc. iii. 64. 4; but Hebr. הָלָהָ לְדַרָפֹי Gen. 19. 2, and so Thuc. ii. 96. ו פֿהספניביס דין לאַט קי לַבָרָפּי aυτός ἐποιήσατο 'by means of the way'; literal sense): A 14.16 πορεύεσθαι ταις όδοις αυτών, Jd. 11, R. 4. 12 στοιχείν τοις ιχνεσιν (Clem. Hom. x. 15 τῷ ὑμῶν στοιχείτε παραδείγματι); further developments are τοίs έθεσιν περιπατείν A. 21. 21, κώμοις και μέθαις R. 13, 13, πνεύματι G. 5. 16, πορεύεσθαι τῷ φόβψ τοῦ κυρίου A. 9. 31 (the acc. is found with the literal sense of the word in $\tau \eta \nu$ obliv autou A. 8. 39; with the metaphorical sense we have πορ. έν 1 P. 4. 3, περιπατείν έν 2 C. 4. 2 etc., ката барка R. 8. 4), Buttm. p. 160. Further (ibid 159 f.) verbal substantives used with their cognate verbs or with verbs of similar meaning stand in the dative-the usage is an imitation of the Hebrew infinitive absolute like מית נמרת and is consequently found already in the LXX.—whereas the analogous classical phrases such as $\gamma \dot{a} \mu \dot{\varphi} \gamma a \mu \epsilon i \nu$ ('in true wedlock'), $\phi \nu \gamma \eta$ $\phi \epsilon \dot{\varphi} \gamma \epsilon \iota \nu$ ('to flee with all speed') are only accidentally similar to these The N.T instances are: (άκοη ακούειν Mt. 13. 14 etc. O.T.), επιθυμία επεθύμησα L. 22. 15, χαρά χαίρει Jo. 3. 29,1 ένυπνίοις ένυπνιάζεσθαι Α. 2. 17 Ο.Τ., απειλή (om. NABD al.) απειλησώμεθα 4. 17, παραγγελια παρηγγειλαμεν 5. 28, άναθέματι άνεθεματίσαμεν 23. 12, προσευχη προσηυξατο Ja. 5. 17; with which belong ὅρκψ ὤμοσεν Α. 2. 30, θανάτψ τελευτάτω Mc. 7. 10 O.T., cp. Herm. Sim. viii. 7. 3 (ἀποκτείναι ἐν θανάτω Ap. 2. 23; 6. 8 is a different use). Cp. on the similar constructions with the acc. § 34, 3; this dative of manner intensifies the verb in so far as it indicates that the action is to be understood as taking place in the fullest sense.

4. While there is no trace of a local dative in the N.T.² (as is also the case on the whole in Attic prose), the analogous temporal dative, answering the question When ?, is still fairly frequent : it may of course be further elucidated by the insertion, common also in Attic, of the preposition ϵv . Since the dat. denotes the point of time, not the period of time, while ϵv can have both these meanings, it is quite possible to express 'in the day,' 'in the night' by $\epsilon v (\tau \hat{y}) \dot{\eta} \mu \epsilon \rho q$, $v \nu \kappa \tau i$, Jo. 11. 9, A. 18. 9, 1 Th. 5. 2, but the genitive must be used instead of the simple dat. § 36, 13 ($\tau \hat{\varphi} \ \theta \epsilon \rho \epsilon i$ in Herm. Sim. iv. 3 for 'in summer' is incorrect, ibid. 5 we have $\epsilon v \tau$. θ . $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \epsilon \nu \varphi$); on the other

¹ On the other hand we have Mt. 2. 10 $i\chi d\rho\eta\sigma a\nu \chi a\rho d\nu \mu e\gamma d\lambda\eta\nu \sigma\phi b\delta\rho a$, with a closer defining of the noun, which also may be said to be the raison d'être of the added verbal substantive; such closer definition is, speaking generally, never found with the dat. in the N.T., though Hermas has Sim. ix. 18. 3 morphevoμένους ποικίλαις πουηρίαις, 1. 2 ίσχυσας τη ίσχύι σου. With Jo. 18. 32 σημαίνων ποίψ θανάτψ ήμελλεν ἀποθνήσκειν should be compared 21. 19 σημαίνων ποίψ θανάτψ δοξάσει τον θεόν: it is evident that in the first passage the cognate verb is by no means obligatory, but might be replaced by another verb.

² But in Herm. Vis. iv. 3. 7 we have $\pi o l \phi \ \tau \delta \pi \psi \ d\pi \eta \lambda \theta \epsilon \nu$, probably through the dat. and ϵis having become interchangeable, § 37, 1 and 2.

hand in a statement about a definite day or a definite night, the simple dative is no less correct than the dat. with $\epsilon \nu$. In the N.T. we always have $\tau \hat{\eta} \tau \rho i \tau \eta \eta \mu \epsilon \rho \eta$ Mt. 16. 21 (D reads otherwise), 17. 23 (ditto), L. 9. 22 (ditto), 24. 7, 46; τη πρώτη ήμ. των αξύμων Mc. 14. 12, τη ήμ. τη σγδόη Α. 7. 8 (with ev L. 1. 59, but DL omit ev), τακτή ήμ. 12. 21, ποία ήμ. (v.l. ώρα) Mt. 24. 42, ή ήμ. L. 17. 29 f. (30 D is different), τŷ ήμ. τŵν σαββάτων L. 13. 14, 16, A. 13. 14, 16. 13, cp. inf. τοιs σάββασιν, but with ev L. 4. 13, the readings vary in 14. 5; Tŷ erxáTy ήμ. Jo. 12. 48, with ev 7. 37, 11. 24, with var. lect. 6. 39 f., 44, 54; so $\tau_{\hat{\eta}}$ $\mu_{\hat{\mu}\hat{a}} \sigma_{\alpha}\beta\beta\dot{a}\tau\omega\nu$ (cp. for this Mc. 16. 2¹, 9, Jo. 20. 1; with $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ A. 20. 7); with $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa\epsilon\dot{\nu}\eta$ and $\tau\alpha\dot{\nu}\eta$ $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ is usually inserted, but Jo. 20. 19 has $\tau \hat{y} \ \hat{\eta} \mu$. $\hat{\epsilon}\kappa$; and the pronouns are used with $\nu\nu\kappa\tau i$ without $\epsilon\nu$ in L. 12. 20, 17. 34, A. 12. 6, 27. 23; always $\tau \hat{y}$ $\epsilon\pi\iotaoi\sigma y$ or $\epsilon\chi o\mu\epsilon\nu y$ $\eta\mu$. ($\nu\nu\kappa\tau i$), but confined to Acts, e.g. 7. 26, 21. 26; also $\tau \hat{y}$ $\xi \hat{z} \hat{\eta} s$ 21. 1 ctc. (but with $\epsilon \nu$ L. 7. 11, where D omits $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ and there is a strongly supported reading $\dot{\epsilon}\nu \tau \hat{\psi} \dot{\epsilon} \hat{\xi} \hat{\eta}s$; the readings vary in 9. 37), τη επιφωσκούση κ.τ.λ. Mt. 28. 1 (ήμερα και ήμερα 'every day' 2 C. 4. 16 after the Hebrew רום (יום, = καθ' ἐκάστην ήμ. H. 3. 13). Further instances are: τετάρτη φυλακή τής νυκτός Mt. 14. 25, $\tau \tilde{\eta}$ έσπεριν $\hat{\eta}$ φ. τ. ν. D in L. 12. 38, elsewhere in the same verse this word takes έν even in D; ποία φ. Mt. 24. 43; ŷ οὐ δοκείτε ώρα 44, ποία ώρα L. 12. 39, τη ώρα τοῦ θυμιάματος 1. 10, τη ἐνάτη ὥ. Mc. 15. 34, αὐτη τη ὥ. L. 2. 38 etc. (αὐτη τη νυκτί Herm. Vis. iii. 1. 2, 10. 7), as well as ev avr. r. u. L. 12. 12 etc. (ev also occurs with ekeivy Mt. 26. 55 etc., and as a v.l. in Jo. 4. 53); $\mu \iota \hat{\mu} \tilde{\omega}$. Ap. 8. 10, 16, 19, cp. on the alternative use of the acc. § 34, 8. The simple dat. is not used in the case of eros, but ev (L. 3. 1); ereoriv $\tau \epsilon \sigma \sigma a \rho a \kappa o \nu \tau a - \psi \kappa o \delta o \mu \eta \theta \eta$ Jo. 2. 20 is a different use of the dative, for which we have also $\epsilon \nu$ (om. \aleph) $\tau \rho_{1\sigma} i \nu \dot{\eta} \mu \epsilon \rho_{\alpha}$ is in the same verse and in 19 ($\epsilon \nu$ om. B), answering the question In how long a time?, where in classical Greek ϵ_{ν} is the ordinary construction.² With names of feasts we have Mc. 6. 21 rois yeverious aurou, Mt. 14. 63; frequently rois σάββασιν, 'on the Sabbath,' Mt. 12. I etc., as well as ϵv τοΐς σ. L. 4. 31 al., also $\tau \hat{\psi}$ $\sigma a \beta \beta \dot{a} \tau \psi$ L. 6. 9, $\sigma a \beta \dot{\beta} \dot{a} \tau \psi$ Mt. 24. 20 ($\dot{\epsilon} \nu \sigma$. EF al., D $\sigma a \beta \beta \dot{a} \tau \sigma v$ § 36, 13), Jo. 5. 16 D, 7. 22 B (al. $\dot{\epsilon} \nu \sigma$., as all MSS. read in 23 bis), τῷ ἐχομένψ σ. Α. 13. 44 (ἐν σ. δευτεροπρώτψ L. 6. 1, έν έτέρψ σ. 6. 6); κατὰ πῶν σάββατον A. 13. 27 and elsewhere. Tŷ έορτŷ τοῦ πάσχα L. 2. 41 (with $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ D); elsewhere $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ τŷ $\dot{\epsilon}$. (κατὰ έορτήν 'every feast' Mt. 27. 15 etc.). Έτέραις γενεαῖς Ε. 3. 5, ἰδία yeven A. 13. 36; with ev 14. 16. Kaupons idious 1 Tim. 6. 15. $T\hat{\eta}$ $\theta \lambda i \psi \epsilon i$ $\delta \pi o \mu \epsilon \nu o \nu \tau \epsilon s R. 12. 12, 'in tribulation,' is probably only due$ to assimilation with the neighbouring datives in the same passage.

¹ Alar $\pi \rho \omega i \tau \hat{y} \mu \hat{a} \tau$..., but ACE al. read $\tau \hat{\eta} s \mu \hat{a} \hat{s}$ and D $\mu \hat{a} \hat{s}$, which could be explained as partitive.

² Έν τρισίν ήμ. occurs also in Mt. 27. 40, διά τριών ήμ. in 26. 61, Mc. 14. 58.

³ In Mt. the MSS. are divided between $\gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \sigma \delta i \gamma \epsilon \nu \sigma \rho \epsilon \delta m \delta i \gamma \epsilon \nu \sigma \rho \delta m \delta i \gamma \epsilon \nu \sigma \delta i \gamma \epsilon \nu \sigma \delta i \gamma \delta i \gamma \sigma \delta i \gamma \sigma \delta i \gamma \sigma \delta i \gamma \sigma \delta i \gamma \delta i$

5. An unclassical use is that of the dative to denote duration of time, instead of the accusative. But this use is only guaranteed for transitive verbs, and, in a few instances, for passives : whereas, in the case of intransitive verbs (also with a passive in Ap. 20. 3; and a transitive verb in Mc. 2. 19 όσον χρόνον, L. 13. 8 τοῦτο τὸ ἔτος, A. 13. 18 ús τεσσερακονταετ $\hat{\eta}$ χρόνον, ibid. 21), the accusative still remains: A. 8. 11 ίκανψ χρόνψ έξεστακέναι αυτούς 'a long time,' L. 8. 29 πολλοίς χρόνοις συνηρπάκει αυτόν, R. 16. 25 χρ. αἰωνίοις σεσιγημένου (but ἀπεδήμησεν χρόνους ἰκανούς L. 20. 9, and corresponding phrases occur elsewhere with intrans. verbs); in L. 8. 27 the readings are divided between $\chi \rho \delta \nu \psi$ is, and is $(\dot{a}\pi \delta) \chi \rho \delta \nu \psi$ is. $(\sigma \delta \kappa)$ ένεδύσατο ίμάτιον), in Jo. 14. 9 between τοσούτω χρόνω (μεθ' ύμων είμι) NDLQ and τοσούτον χρ. AB al., as in A. 28. 12 between ήμέραις τρισίν and ήμέραs τρεῖs (ἐπεμείναμεν). A further instance is ώs ἔτεσιν τετρακοσίοις και πεντήκοντα έδωκεν κριτάς A. 13. 20,1 'throughout 450 years' (ibid. 18, 21 the accusative, vide supra). The reason for the employment of the dative appears to be that the accusative was regarded as the direct object, and therefore the writer did not like to place another object beside it.²

§ 39. THE CASES WITH PREPOSITIONS. PREPOSITIONS WITH THE ACCUSATIVE.

1. The remaining ideas which complete the meaning of verbs and nouns are expressed not by a case alone, but with the help of a preposition: a practice which in the course of the history of the language became more and more adopted in opposition to the employment of the simple case. The N.T. still preserves the whole collection of the old prepositions proper of the Greek language, with the exception of $\dot{a}\mu\phi\dot{a}$, but along with these the employment of prepositions not strictly so called was further developed. **Prepositions proper** may be divided into: I. Those that take one case: 1. with acc. $d\nu d$, ϵi s: 2. with gen. $d\nu \tau i$, $d\pi o$, $\epsilon \xi \epsilon \kappa$, $\pi \rho o$: 3. with dat. $\epsilon \nu$, $\sigma \iota \nu$. II. With two cases, *i.e.* with acc. and gen.: $\delta \iota \dot{a}$, $\kappa \alpha \tau \dot{a}$, $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a}$, $\pi \epsilon \rho \dot{i}$, $\dot{\upsilon} \pi \dot{\epsilon} \rho$, $\dot{\upsilon} \pi \dot{\epsilon}$. III. With three cases : $\epsilon \pi \dot{\epsilon}$, $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{a}$, πρός. A simplification is seen in the fact that μετα, περί, ὑπό are relegated from Class III. to Class II., while avá (as already happens in classical prose) is relegated from II. (dat. and accus.) to I. (the loss being on the side of the dative); moreover $\pi \rho \delta s$ is now not far from being confined to the construction of I. 1. Quasi-Prepositions all take the genitive, and are strictly adverbs or cases of a noun which received the character of prepositions only at a later period, but in N.T. times resemble the regular prepositions in that they

 1 The passage is seriously corrupted in most of the MSS., as the statement of time has become attached to the preceding clause (19), where also there is a transitive verb.

² In Josephus, however, there is no perceptible difference between the dative and accusative denoting duration of time, W. Schmidt de Jos. elocut. 382 f. (except that $\delta_{i\alpha\tau\rhol\beta\epsilon\nu}$ and $\mu\epsilon_{\nu\epsilon\nu}$ always take the accusative). never or hardly ever stand without their case: $\tilde{\epsilon}\nu\epsilon\kappa\epsilon\nu$, $\chi\dot{\alpha}\rho\nu$ 'on account of,' $\chi\omega\rho$ is, $\check{\alpha}\nu\epsilon\nu$, $\check{\alpha}\tau\epsilon\rho$, $\pi\lambda\dot{\gamma}\nu$ 'except,' $\mu\dot{\epsilon}\chi\rho\iota$, $\check{\alpha}\chi\rho\iota$, $\check{\epsilon}\omega$ s 'unto' (these last are also conjunctions), $\check{\epsilon}\mu\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon\nu$, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu\dot{\omega}\pi\iota\nu\nu$, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu\alpha\nu\tau\iota\nu\nu$ etc. 'before,' $\dot{\sigma}\pi\dot{\sigma}\omega$ 'behind,' $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\dot{\alpha}\nu\omega$, 'upon,' $\dot{\upsilon}\pi\kappa\dot{\alpha}\tau\omega$ 'beneath,' $\mu\epsilon\tau\alpha\xi\dot{\upsilon}$ 'between.' Naturally no hard and fast line can be drawn between preposition and adverb in these cases.

2. Of prepositions with the accusative, $\dot{\alpha}\nu\dot{\alpha}$, which has already become rare in Attic prose, has well-nigh disappeared in the N.T. 'Avà $\mu\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\sigma\nu$ (with gen.) 'between' Mt. 13. 25 etc. (Polyb. etc., LXX.: modern Gr. $\dot{\alpha}\nu\dot{\alpha}\mu\epsilon\sigma\alpha$) = $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\mu\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\psi$ (L. 8. 7 al.), cp. § 40, 8; $\dot{\alpha}\nu\dot{\alpha}$ $\mu\dot{\epsilon}\rho\sigma\sigma$ 'in turn' 1 C. 14. 27 (Polyb.); elsewhere it is distributive 'apiece,' $\ddot{\epsilon}\lambda\alpha\beta\sigma\nu$ $\dot{\alpha}\nu\dot{\alpha}$ $\delta\eta\nu\dot{\alpha}\rho\iota\sigma\nu$ Mt. 20. 9 etc., $\dot{\alpha}\nu\dot{\alpha}$ $\pi\tau\dot{\epsilon}\rho\nu\gamma\alpha$ s $\ddot{\epsilon}\xi$ Ap. 4. 8, or 'at the rate of,' Mc. 6. 40 $\kappa\lambda\iota\sigma\dot{\alpha}\iota$ $\dot{\alpha}\nu\dot{\alpha}$ $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa\alpha\tau\sigma\nu$ A al. (as in L. 9. 14), but with $\kappa\alpha\tau\dot{\alpha}$ NBD ($\kappa\alpha\tau\dot{\alpha}$ being an equivalent for $\dot{\alpha}\nu\dot{\alpha}$ in all the above-mentioned uses); stereotyped as an adverb (like $\kappa\alpha\tau\dot{\alpha}$, § 51, 5) Ap. 21. 21 $\dot{\alpha}\nu\dot{\alpha}$ $\dot{\epsilon}\tilde{l}s$ $\ddot{\epsilon}\kappa\alpha\sigma\tau\sigmas$ $\tau\hat{\omega}\nu$ $\pi\nu\lambda\dot{\omega}\nu\omega\nu = \kappa\alpha\theta'$ $\dot{\epsilon}\tilde{l}s$ (Herm. Sim. ix. 2. 3, see § 45, 3).

3. Ets not only maintained its own place in the language, but also absorbed the kindred preposition ev; many instances of this absorption appear already in the N.T., although, if we take the practice of the N.T. as a whole, ϵv is considerably more than a match for ϵis . The classical position, namely that $\epsilon \nu$ with the dative answers the question 'where i,' ϵi s with accusative the question 'whither i,' had from early times been simplified in some dialects by $\dot{\epsilon}_{\nu}$ taking to itself (like the Latin in) both cases and both functions; but the popular Hellenistic language went in the other direction and reduced everything to ds with accusative, representing 'where?' and 'whither?' From this intermixture, which meets us also in the LXX. and in Egyptian private records,¹ no writer of narrative in the N.T. is free, with the exception of Matthew: not even Luke in the Acts, where on the contrary most of the examples are found; John has less of it than the others. Passages: Mc. 1. 9 $\epsilon\beta a\pi\tau i\sigma\theta\eta$ $\epsilon is \tau \partial \nu$ 'lopdávyv ($\epsilon \nu$ 1. 5, Mt. 3. 6), 1. 39 κηρύσσων $\epsilon is \tau \partial s \sigma \nu \nu \alpha \gamma \omega \gamma \Delta s$ (έν ταίς συναγωγαίς EF al.), 2. Ι είς οικόν έστιν AC al. (έν οικώ BDL), 10. 10 (έν AC al. είσελθόντος είς Syr. Sin.), 13. 3 καθημένου είς το όρος (καθίζειν είς 2 Th. 2. 4 is correct classical Greek), 13. 9, 16 ό εἰς τὸν ἀγρόν (ἐν Mt. 24. 18), L. 4. 23 γενόμενα ('done') εἰς την (NB, eis DL, $\epsilon v \tau \hat{\eta}$ al.) Ka ϕ apvao $\dot{v}\mu$ (1. 44 is also unclassical, $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\dot{\epsilon}v\epsilon\tau\sigma$ ή φωνή είς τα ωτά μου, cp. γενέσθαι είς Ίερ. Α. 20. 16, 21. 17, 25. 15; correctly έν 13. 5), 9. 61, 11. 7 είς την κοίτην είσίν (έν D), 21. 37 (?), A. 2. 5 είς Ίερ. κατοικοῦντες (ἐν Ν°BCDE; correctly H. 11. 9 παρώκησεν είς γην, Mt. 2. 23, 4. 13, cp. Thuc. ii. 102. 6 κατοικισθεις είς τόπους), 2. 17 O.T. cp. 31 έγκαταλείψεις την ψυχήν μου είς άδην, 39 τοις είς μακράν (class. τοις μακράν [sc. δδόν] αποικούσιν), 7. 4. 12, 8. 20, 23 (v.l.), 40 ευρέθη είς "Αζωτον, 9. 21 (έν all MSS. except NA), 11. 25 D, 14. 25 (év BCD), 17. 13 D, 18. 21 D, 19. 22 (év D), 21. 13,

¹ So in the Egyptian records of the Berlin Museum, vol. ii. 385 εls 'Αλεξάνδρειάν έστι, 423 κινδυνεύσαντος εls θάλασσαν; Kaibel Epigr. 134 (written at Athens in imperial times) εls τύνβον κεΐμαι.

23. 11 bis, 25. 4, 26. 20, Jo. 1. 18 ố ẩν εἰς τὸν κόλπον τοῦ πατρός, 17. 23 ἵνα ẳσιν τετελειωμένοι εἰς (τὸ) ἕν, cp. 1 Jo. 5. 8 οἱ τρεῖς εἰς τὸ ἔν εἰσιν. But ἔστη εἰς τὸ μέσον Jo. 20. 19, 26 is classical (Xenophon Cyr. iv. 1. 1), cp. 21. 4 (v.l. ἐπὶ).¹ On the other hand, the Epistles and—what is still more striking—the Apocalypse—show at least in the local signification a correct discrimination between εἰς and ἐν, except in (1 Jo. 5. 8, see above, and) 1 P. 5. 12 (a postscript to the letter written in the apostle's own hand) τὴν χάριν – εἰς ῆν στῆτε (ἐστήκατε KLP), which certainly cannot mean 'put yourself into it,' but 'stand fast therein.'² Eἰς for ἐν is frequent in Hermas, Vis. i. 2. 2 ἔχουσα βιβλίον εἰς τὰς χεῦρας, ii. 4. 3, Sim. i. 2 etc.; see also Clem. Cor. ii. 8. 2 (19. 4 ?), Clem. Hom. xii. 10. It thus appears that at that time this use of εἰς was still a provincialism, although even so the fact that several authors do not share in it is remarkable. On the reverse interchange, ἐν for εἰς, see § 41, 1.

4. Under the head of intermixture of dis and dy may be also reckoned L. 1. 20 $\pi\lambda\eta\rho\omega\theta\eta\sigma\sigma\nu\tau\alpha\iota$ eis $\tau\partial\nu$ kaupor autor (correctly with έν Mt. 21. 41, 2 Th. 2. 6), whereas L. 13. 9 κάν ποιήση καρπόν είς τό μέλλον has classical parallels (so ές ὕστερον Hdt. 5. 74); correct are also A. 13. 42 είς το μεταξύ σάββατον, 2 C. 13. 2 είς το πάλιν (cp. classical $\epsilon i\sigma a \hat{v} \theta_{is}$; the remaining temporal uses of ϵis are still more completely in agreement with classical Greek.—A. 7. 53 $\epsilon \lambda \dot{\alpha} \beta \epsilon \tau \epsilon \tau \partial \nu$ νόμον είς διαταγάς άγγέλων = έν διαταγαίς (cp. Mt. 9. 34 and other passages).—After the Hebrew لرج في أنط, Mc. 5. 34 and Lc. 7. 50, 8. 48 say ὕπαγε εἰς εἰρήνην (so also LXX. I Sam. 1. 17 etc.): but the sense seems to be better given by Ja. 2. 16 ὑπάγετε ἐν εἰρήνη (so D in both passages of Luke). In other instances the caprice of the writer in his choice of ϵ 's or ϵ' is not surprising, since Hebrew had only the one preposition 2, and classical Greek had in most of these Thus πιστεύειν eis alternates with πιστ. έν cases none at all. (Mc. 1. 15) and $\pi \iota \sigma \tau$. $\epsilon \pi i$, in addition to which the correct classical π . $\tau i \nu i$ appears, § 37, 1; there is a corresponding interchange of prepositions with the subst. $\pi i \sigma \tau i s$ ($\dot{\eta} \epsilon \nu X \rho$., $\dot{\eta} \epsilon i s X \rho$., beside the objective genitive), and with $\pi \epsilon \pi o \iota \theta \epsilon \nu \alpha \iota$,³ which also has the simple dative : see for this verb and for $\epsilon \lambda \pi i \xi \epsilon \nu$ § 37, 2; further, with όμνύναι (which in classical Greek takes accus., § 34, 1) in Mt. 5. 35 ϵv and ϵis are found side by side; with $\epsilon i \delta o \kappa \epsilon i v$ 'to have pleasure έν is frequent, είς occurs in Mt. 12. 18 O.T. (δν simply *B, έν φ D) and 2 P. 1. 17. The rendering of the Hebrew and is especially variable : $\tau \hat{\psi} \sigma \hat{\psi} \delta v \delta \mu a \tau i$ (instrumental dative)⁴ Mt. 7. 22, $\epsilon i s \delta v \delta \mu a$

¹ Υπαγε νίψαι είς την κολυμβήθραν 9. 7 is supported by parallels from profane writers; νίψαι however appears not to be genuine (Lachm.; on. A al., cp. 11).

⁴ The simple dative is further found in (Mt. 12. 21, see § 37, 1, note 2), Mc. 9. 38 AX al. (rell. $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$), Ja. 5. 10 AKL (rell. $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$).

² 1 P. 3. 20 εls $\frac{3}{4}$ (κιβωτόν) $\delta\lambda$ ίγοι διεσώθησαν is 'into which few escaped,' cp. 2 Tim. 4. 18 (LXX. Gen. 19. 19).

³ Similarly $\theta \alpha \rho \rho \hat{\omega} \epsilon \nu$ 'confide in '2 C. 7. 16 : but ϵls 10. $I = \theta \rho \alpha \sigma \upsilon s \epsilon l \mu \iota$ 'toward you.'

προφήτου 10. 41, εἰς τὸ ἐμὸν ὄνομα 18. 20 (28. 19), ἐπὶ τῷ ὀνόματί μου 18. 5, ἐν ὀνόματι κυρίου 21. 9. Again 'to do to anyone' is ποιεῖν (ἐργάζεσθαι) τι ἐν τινι, εἶς τινα, τινί (Att. τινά), see § 34, 4 (beside ποιεῖν ἐλεημοσύνας εἰς Α. 24. 17 there is an alternative ποιεῖν ἐλεος μετά [Hebr. Σ] τινος L. 10. 37). With the verb 'to announce,' if the communication is made to several persons, either εἰς or ἐν is admissible in Attic Greek (εἰπεῖν εἰς τὸν δῆμον, ἐν τῷ δήμω); so also in N.T. κηρύσσειν εἰς Mc. 13. 10 (ἐν D), 14. 9,¹ L. 24. 47, 1 Th. 2. 9 (ὑμῖν **), εν 2 C. 1. 19, G. 2. 2, εὐαγγελίζεσθαι εἰς 1 P. 1. 25, ἐν G. 1. 16.

§ 40. PREPOSITIONS WITH THE GENITIVE.

1. 'Avrí is one of the prepositions that are dying out, being represented by some twenty instances in the whole N.T. 'Av θ &v 'for the reason that'= 'because' L. 1. 20, 19. 44, A. 12. 23, 2 Th. 2. 10, classical, also in LXX. 2 Kings 22. 17 = 'for this' = 'therefore' L. 12. 3, dvri τούτου E. 5. 31 O.T. (čνεκεν τούτου LXX. and Mt. 19. 6, Mc. 10. 7, 'for the 'lequivalent to a genitive of price (similarly classical Greek) H. 12. 16 dvri βρώσεως μιῶς ἀπέδοτο τὰ πρωτοτόκια.—In a peculiar sense, Jo. 1. 16, χάριν ἀντ' χάριτος ἐλάβομεν, cp. class. yην προ yης ἐλαύνεσθαι 'from one land to another,' and frequently ἐλπίσιν ἐξ ἐλπίδων and the like.

2. 'And has still maintained its place in modern Greek, while it has taken over the uses of $\hat{\epsilon}_s$, which disappears; in the N.T. this mixture has already begun, although (with regard to the frequency with which either is employed) $\hat{\epsilon}_s$ still holds its own fairly easily

¹ This passage might indeed be a case of ϵis for ϵv : ὅπου ϵav κηρυχθ $\hat{\eta}$ το εύαγγέλιον εἰs ὅλον τον κόσμον, λαληθήσεται κ.τ.λ.

² Another incorrect use is $\delta\delta\tau\epsilon$ $\delta\kappa\tau\iota\lambda\iota ov$ ϵls $\tau \eta\nu$ $\chi\epsilon\iota\rhoa$ L. 15. 22, class. $\pi\epsilon\rho l$, see Plato Rep. ii. 359 E; also in the same passage $\iota\pi\delta\delta\eta\mu a\taua$ ϵls $\tau o \ell s$ $\pi\delta\delta as$ (class. dat., Odyss. 15. 368).

against $d\pi \delta$ (as $\epsilon \nu$ does against ϵds , § 39, 3). Instances of mixture : απελθείν (έξ- EHLP) από (om. HLP) της πόλεως A. 16. 39, which means not 'to depart from the neighbourhood of the city' (where $\dot{a}\pi \dot{o}$ is right), but 'to go out of the city,' 13. 50, 'Mc.' 16. 9 $\dot{a}\phi$ ' ($\pi a\rho$ ' C*DL) $\tilde{\eta}_{S}$ έξεβεβλήκει έπτὰ δαιμόνια, H. 11. 15 ἀφ' $\tilde{\eta}_{S}$ (πατρίδος) έξέβησαν. However in most cases in a connection of this kind έξ and $a\pi \phi$ are still correctly distinguished.—Also the partitive $\dot{\epsilon}\xi$, which itself is scarcely classical (§ 35, 4), is occasionally represented by the still more unclassical $d\pi \phi$, Mt. 27. 21 $\tau i \nu a d\pi \delta \tau \omega \nu \delta v \delta$ (= class. πότερον τούτοιν), and both are used promiscuously in place of the classical genitive in phrases like 'to eat of,' 'to take of,' etc., § 36, 1. Contrary to Attic usage is $\tau i \nu \dot{\alpha} s \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \dot{\alpha} \pi \dot{\sigma} \tau \eta s \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \kappa \lambda \eta$ - σ ías A. 12. 1 'those belonging to the community' (not those who came from the community), cp. 6. 9, 15. 5, whereas in A. 10. 45, 11. 2, Tit. 1. 10 we have of $i\kappa \pi\epsilon\rho$ to $\mu\eta$'s correctly (of $i\kappa \tau\eta$'s $\delta(a\tau\rho)\beta\eta$'s ταύτηs Aeschin. 1. 54); still Hellenistic writers like Plutarch have similar phrases.¹ Ågain, $\dot{\epsilon}\xi$ would be the correct preposition to express extraction from a place; but N.T. has $\hat{\eta}$ ν ό Φίλιππος ἀπό Βηθσαϊδά, ἐκ τῆς πόλεως Ανδρέου Jo. 1. 44, cp. 45,² Mt. 21. 11, A. 10. 38, and so always, unless as in L. 2. 4 ($\epsilon \kappa \pi \delta \lambda \epsilon \omega s N \alpha \zeta$.), $\pi \delta \lambda \iota s$ is added as well; $d\pi \delta$ is also regularly used of a person's country except in John, A. 6. 9, 21. 27, 23. 34, 24. 18 (but in classical Greek, Isocr. 4. 82 etc. τους έκ της 'Aσías).³ See also Acts 2. 5. Material : «νδυμα από τριχών Mt. 3. 4. 'After,' 'out of': έδυναμώθησαν από ασθενείας Η. 11. 34 (classical Greek has λευκόν ήμαρ είσιδειν έκ χείματος).

3. 'Aπό has supplanted ὑπό in the sense of 'on account of,' 'for' (of things which occasion or hinder some result by their magnitude): από της λύπης κοιμωμένους L. 22. 45, Mt. 13. 44, 14. 26, A. 20. 9, 12. 14 ἀπὸ τῆς χαρῶς οὐκ ἤνοιξεν, 22. 11, L. 19. 3, (24. 41), Jo. 21. 6, Herm. Vis. iii. 11. 2; cp. έξ infra 4. Also ὑπό with a passive verb or a verb of passive meaning is often replaced by $d\pi \phi$, although in this instance the MSS. commonly exhibit much diversity in their readings. A. 2. 22 αποδεδειγμένον από τοῦ θεοῦ, 4. 36 ἐπικληθεὶς Βαρναβαs από (D ύπό) των αποστόλων, Mt. 16. 21 πολλά παθειν από (D $\delta\pi\delta$) $\tau\omega\nu \kappa.\tau.\lambda$. (in the parallel passage Mc. 8. 31 $d\pi\delta$ is only read by AX al., the rest have $i\pi i$: in L 17. 25 $d\pi i$ is read by all).—'A πi further encroaches upon the province of $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha}$ with the genitive: άκούειν από A. 9. 13, 1 Jo. 1. 5; μανθάνειν από G. 3. 2, Col. 1. 7; παραλαμβάνειν ἀπό 1 C. 11. 23 (παρὰ DE, ἀπολαμβ. ἀπό followed by the same verb with $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha}$ Herm. Vis. v. 7) etc.; also in the phrase 'to come from a person': ἀπὸ Ἰακώβου G. 2. 12, ἀπὸ θωῦ Jo. 13. 3, 16. 30 (ἐκ 8. 42, παρά 16. 27, cp. § 43, 5).—The use of the old genitive of separation (§ 36, 9) is far more restricted in the N.T. than in

¹ So Plut. Caes. 35 of $d\pi \partial \beta ov \lambda \hat{\eta} s$, members of the senate.

 2 But in 1. 47 έκ Ναζ. δύνατα
ί τι άγαθδ
ν εἶναι; cp. 4. 22 ή σωτηρία έκ τῶν Ἰουδαίων ἐστίν.

³ 3 $^{A\pi\delta}$ is found already in Homer and poetry : $d\pi\delta \Sigma\pi d\rho\tau\eta$ s Hdt. 8. 114, Soph. El. 691.

the classical language through the employment of $d\pi \delta$ ($\dot{\epsilon} \xi$): so regularly with $\epsilon \lambda \epsilon \upsilon \theta \epsilon \rho o \hat{\upsilon} v$, $\lambda \dot{\upsilon} \epsilon \iota v$, $\chi \omega \rho i \langle \epsilon \iota v \rangle$ etc., also with $\dot{\upsilon} \sigma \tau \epsilon \rho \epsilon \hat{\iota} v$ (ibid.). Much more remarkable, however, is the $d\pi \delta$, which in imitation of the Hebrew רִקְכָּר , הִיקָּרָ = ' for,' is employed with verbs meaning 'to hide,' 'to be on one's guard,' 'to fear' (similarly in the LXX., Buttm. p. 278). See on κρύπτειν τι από τινος § 34, 4; φεύγειν, φυλάσσειν and -eobai, pobeîobai, aux úveobai anó rivos § 34, 1; to which must be added $\pi \rho \sigma \epsilon_{\chi \epsilon \iota \nu} \epsilon_{\alpha \nu \tau \hat{\omega}}$ or still more abbreviated $\pi \rho \sigma \sigma \epsilon_{\chi \epsilon \iota \nu}$ (sc. $\tau \delta \nu$ νοῦν 'to have a care for oneself' = 'to beware'), ἀπό τινος L. 12. I, Mt. 7. 15 etc.; in a similar sense δραν, βλέπειν από Mc. 8. 15, 12. 38. Tηρείν and διατηρείν, however, take $i\xi$ (equally unclassical): $\dot{\epsilon}\xi$ ($\dot{a}\phi$ 'D) ων διατηρούντες έαυτούς A. 15. 29, Jo. 17. 25, Ap. 3. 10. In these instances also the idea of separation or alienation is expressed by $d\pi \delta$, as it is in many expressions, especially in St. Paul, which cannot be directly paralleled from the classical language: R. 9. 3 $d\nu d\theta \epsilon \mu a$ είναι ἀπό τοῦ Χρ., 2 C. 11. 3 μὴ φθαρῆ τὰ νοήματα ὑμῶν ἀπὸ τῆς ἁπλότητος της έν Xp., 2 Th. 2. 2, Col. 2. 20 απεθάνετε από των στοιχείων του κόσμου, similarly with καταργείσθαι R. 7. 6, G. 5. 4; also μετανοείν ἀπό in A. 8. 22, cp. H. 6. 1, έκ Ap. 2. 21 etc.; δικαιοῦν, θεραπεύειν, λούειν and approach still more nearly to $\lambda \dot{\nu} \epsilon \nu$ etc.¹ Cp. in Hermas and other writings : διαφθαρήναι από Sim. iv. 7, αποτυφλοῦσθαι από Mand. v. 2. 7, κολοβός ἀπό Sim. ix. 26. 8, κενός ἀπό Sim. ix. 19. 2, ἔρημος άπό Clem. Cor. ii. 2. 3, λιποτακτείν άπό i. 21. 4, άργείν άπό 33. 1.-On the use of $d\pi \phi$ in reckoning distance ($d\pi \partial \sigma \tau a \delta (\omega \nu \ \delta \epsilon \kappa a \pi \epsilon \nu \tau \epsilon)$ see § 34, 8.—-On ἀπὸ προσώπου τινόs infra 9.

5. $\Pi \rho \delta$ is not represented by very many examples, most of which = 'before' of time; 'before' of place only in Acts (5. 23, v.l.) 12. 6 (v.l. $\pi \rho \delta \delta$ in D), 14, 14. 13, Ja. 5. 9 (elsewhere $\ell \mu \pi \rho \sigma \sigma \theta \epsilon \nu$, vide infra 7); of preference $\pi \rho \delta \pi \delta \nu \tau \omega \nu$ Ja. 5. 12, 1 P. 4. 8. On the Hebraistic $\pi \rho \delta \pi \rho \sigma \sigma \omega \pi \omega \nu \sigma \omega \tau \nu \delta \delta$ infra 9. In a peculiar usage: Jo. 12. 1 $\pi \rho \delta \delta \xi \dot{\eta} \mu \epsilon \rho \omega \nu \tau \omega \delta \pi \delta \sigma \chi a$ '6 days before the passover,' cp. Lat. ante diem tertium Calendas (so also other writers under the Empire,

¹ But H. 5. 7 είσακουσθεἰs ἀπὸ τῆs εὐλαβείas cannot be so taken 'heard (and freed) from his fear,' especially as εὐλαβ. 12. 28 rather denotes the fear of God (cp. εὐλαβείσθαι 11. 7, εὐλαβήs A. 2. 5 etc.); therefore render 'on account of his piety,' cp. p. 125.

see Kühner Gr. II.² 288, W. Schmidt de Josephi elocut. 513, and cp. $\mu\epsilon\tau\dot{a}$ § 42, 3, and $\dot{a}\pi\dot{o}$ in the reckoning of distance supra 3).

6. Quasi-prepositions with genitive. 'For the sake of' is EVEREY. also ε^lνεκεν § 6, 4, ενεκα A. 26. 21 (Attic, § 6, 1) in Paul's speech before Agrippa, also L. 6. 22 (-εν D al.), Mt. 19. 8 O.T. NBLZ (LXX. -εν), A. 19. 32 NAB, Mc. 13. 9 B. Not frequent (some 20 instances. including quotations); it denotes the cause or motive which is given for an action, so regularly ένεκεν έμοῦ in the Gospels, elsewhere it is hardly distinguishable from $\delta\iota \dot{\alpha}$ with accus., see § 42, 1; its position (which in Attic is quite unrestricted) is always before the genitive except in the case of an interrogative ($\tau i \nu os \, \tilde{\epsilon} \nu \epsilon \kappa \epsilon \nu \, A. 19. 32$) or a relative sentence (οῦ εἴνεκεν L. 4. 18 O.T.). Χάριν is still rarer (almost always placed after the word). - 'Except,' 'without,' is usually Xupis; aven (also Attic) only appears in Mt. 10. 29, 1 P. 3. 1, 4. 9; ätep (poetical: in prose not before imperial times) only in L. 22. 6, 35 (often in Hermas, e.g. Sim. v. 4. 5; Barn. 2. 6 C, but άνευ κ); πλήν (Attic) A. 8. 1, 15. 28, 27. 22, Mc. 12. 32, 'Jo.' 8. 10. The position of these words (as also of those that follow) is always before the case, except in one ex. of $\chi \omega \rho i_s$ H. 12. 4, § 80, 4; χ . as adverb (often in Attic) only appears in Jo. 20. 7 .- 'Unto' is axpu(s), $\mu \epsilon \chi \rho \iota(s)$ as in Attic (on the s see § 5, 4), the former in Lc., Acts, Paul, Hebrews, Ap., Mt. 24. 38 : the latter in Mt. 11. 23, 13. 30 (čws BD), 28. 15 (N*D Ews), Mc. 13. 30 (Ews D), and sporadically in Lc., Acts, Paul, Hebrews; both are also used as conjunctions (in an intermediate stage with the interposition of a relative, $d\chi\rho\iota$ ob, μ ob; Herm. Vis. iv. 1. 9 μ. ὅτε κ*, μ. ὅτου κ° as), see § 65, 10; 78, 3; Ews is also employed in this sense, originally a conjunction throughout (its use as a prep. appears in Hellenistic Gk. and the LXX.), Mt. 1. 17 απο 'Αβραάμ έως Δαυίδ, έως τοῦ Χριστοῦ etc. (often in Mt., also in Mc., Lc., Acts, rare in Paul and James; in Hebr. only in quotations; John uses none of the three words); here also we have έως οῦ, ἕως ὅτου. "Eωs is moreover readily joined with an adverb: έως πότε, ἀπὸ ἄνωθεν ἕως κάτω, ἕως ἄρτι, ἕως σήμερον, on the other hand ἄχρι (μέχρι) τοῦ νῦν, της σήμερον (although Thuc. 7. 83 has $\mu \epsilon \chi \rho \iota \ o \psi \epsilon$). It occasionally has the meaning 'within': A. 19. 26 D έως Ἐφέσου, 23. 23 (β text) έως ἑκατόν. Herm. Mand. iv. 1. 5 ἄχρι της άγνοίας οὐχ ἁμαρτάνει means 'as long as he does not know' $(a\chi\rho_{is} a\nu a\gamma_{vo\eta} = a av \gamma_{v\phi} 'until').$

7. 'Before' (in local sense, rarely $\pi\rho\delta$, supra 5) is expressed by $\xi\mu\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon\nu$, $\epsilon\nu\alpha\nu\tau\epsilon\nu$ ($\epsilon\nu\alpha\nu\tau\epsilon$, $\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon\nu\alpha\nu\tau\epsilon$), $\epsilon\nu\delta\pi\tau\epsilon\nu$ ($\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon\nu\omega\pi\epsilon\nu$). Of these expressions $\xi\mu\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon\nu$ and $\epsilon\nu\alpha\nu\tau\epsilon$ with the genitive are also classical, and in the case of $\epsilon\nu\alpha\nu\tau\epsilon$ with the construction with the genitive is also the predominant use of the word, whereas $\xi\mu\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon\nu$ is more frequently adverbial; $\epsilon\nu\epsilon$ is Hellenistic (Polyb.); $\epsilon\nu\omega\pi\epsilon\nu$ ($\epsilon\nu$ - $\omega\pi$. before the eyes: $\tau a \epsilon\nu\omega\pi\epsilon$ is as old as Homer), $\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon\nu\omega\pi\epsilon\nu$ ($\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon$ are are are $\epsilon\nu\epsilon$) all take their origin from the LXX.

¹"Erarri occurs in inscriptions in translations of Roman senatus consulta, Viereck Sermo graecus Senat. Rom. (Gtg. 1888) p. 16, 66.

and are foreign to profane authors even at a later date than the N.T.,¹ while the N.T. on the other hand has not got $d\nu\tau\iota\kappa\rho\dot{v}(s)$ (except in A. 20. 15 d. Xíov) катант. dmant. The expressions serve as a rendering for the Hebrew בְּעֵיכֵי, also for נֶגֶד, and גֹּשִהָם, and גֹּשִהָם, $\sigma\theta\epsilon\nu$ and $\epsilon\nu\alpha\nu\tau\iota'$ ov also frequently stand in the N.T. in places where classical Greek would express itself in a simpler manner. Thus Mt. 7. 6 μη βάλητε τους μαργαρίτας υμών εμπροσθεν τών χοίρων = class. μη προβάλητε τ. μ. τοις χοίροις. Εμπροσθεν is also apparently used of time = $\pi \rho \delta$ (so in class. Greek), in Jo. 1. 15, 30 (or of precedence = has obtained the precedence of me?); in adverbial sense only in L. 19. 4, 28, Ph. 3. 14, Ap. 4. 6; it is employed by wellnigh all writers (not Pet., James, Jude, Hebr.), most frequently by Mt. 'Evavτίον occurs in Mc. 2. 12 ACD (al. έμπρ.), L. 1. 8 AC al. (έναντι BDE al.), 20. 26, 24. 19 (ένώπιον D), A. 7. 10 (έναντι Ν), 8. 32 O.T.; έναντι is further used in 8. 21 (ἐνώπιον EHLP); κατέvavri anév. (where the readings often vary) Mt. 21. 2, 27. 24 etc., A. 3, 16, 17. 7, R. 3. 18 O.T., 4. 17 (adverb L. 19. 30); ένώπιον is frequent in Luke (in the first half of the Acts; in the second half it is only found in 19. 9, 19, 27. 35) and in the Apocalypse: in John only in 20. 30, 1 Jo. 3. 22, 3 Jo. 6: in Mt. and Mc. never (κατενώπ. in a few passages of Paul and in Jude).- 'Before' in the strictly local sense is generally expressed by $\xi \mu \pi \rho o\sigma \theta \epsilon \nu$ alone (the word has only this sense in the Apoc.): $\ell \mu \pi \rho$. $\tau \circ \hat{\nu} \beta \eta \mu \alpha \tau \circ s$ A. 18. 17, $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu$ ποδών Ap. 19. 10 (Β ἐνώπιον), 22. 8 (Α πρό), although the author of the Apoc. also says ἐνώπιον τοῦ θρόνου; similarly 'before anyone' is έμπροσθεν Jo. 3. 28, 10. 4 (ενώπιον L. 1. 76 NB); έμπρ. εναντίον ένώπιον express 'before anyone' = before the eyes of anyone, also pleasing in anyone's eyes = ' to anyone,' A. 6. 5 ήρεσεν ενώπιον του πλήθους = τῷ πλήθει, 1 Jo. 3. 22 τὰ ἀρεστὰ ἐνώπιον αὐτοῦ; ἀμαρτάνειν ένώπ. τινος = είς τινα L. 15. 18, 21 (1 Sam. 7. 6), or τινί, LXX. Judges 11. 27, Buttm. p. 150; so a genitive or dative is often replaced by this circumlocution, Mt. 18. 24 oùx $\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota\nu$ $\theta\epsilon\lambda\eta\mu\alpha$ $\epsilon\mu$ προσθεν τοῦ πατρός μου, where έμπρ. might be omitted, 11. 26, L. 15. 10 χαρά γίνεται ένώπιον των άγγελων = των άγγελων or τοις άγγέλοις, 24. 11 έφάνησαν ένώπιον αὐτῶν ὡσεὶ λῆρος=αὐτοῖς, etc. Similar is H. 4. 13 adarn's erwartor autou, 13. 21; but in the second half of the Acts it is only used = class. evavtion. Katevavti, anevavti mean 'over against' = class. καταντικρύ, Mt. 21. 2, Mc. 12. 41 etc.; but are also commonly used = 'before' like $\epsilon \nu a \nu \tau i \sigma \nu$, $\epsilon \nu \omega \pi \iota \sigma \nu$, e.g. with τοῦ ὄχλου Mt. 27. 24; a peculiar usage is ἀπέναντι τῶν δογμάτων 'contrary to' A. 17. 7 (εναντία τοις δόγμασιν or των δογμάτων in classical Greek).

8. The opposite of $\xi \mu \pi \rho \sigma \sigma \theta \epsilon \nu$ in the local sense is $\delta \pi \iota \sigma \theta \epsilon \nu$ 'behind,' occurring with genitive only in Mt. 15. 23, Lc. 23. 26, rarely also as an adverb; on the other hand $\delta \pi \epsilon \sigma \omega$ (in the older language the

¹Cp. Deissmann, Neue Bibelstudien (Marburg, 1897), p. 40 f., who gives instances from the papyri of an adverbial use of ένώπιον, in the sense of 'in person,' Latin coram; see also Grenfell-Hunt, Pap. ii. 112.

120

opposite of $\pi\rho\delta\sigma\omega$, for which Attic had $\pi\delta\rho\rho\omega$ 'far off.' the latter form occurring occasionally in N.T.) is found fairly often, usually as a preposition, more rarely as an adverb. The prepositional use of $\delta \pi i \sigma \omega$, which is foreign to profane writers, takes its origin from the LXX. (Hebr. אָחָרָי): έρχεσθαι ἀπίσω τινός 'to follow' (also άκολουθείν όπ. τιν., instead of the dative, see § 37, 6), άπέστησε λαόν όπίσω αὐτοῦ Α. 5. 37, cp. 20. 30; even θαυμάζειν ὅπίσω Αp. 13. 3 (§ 38, 2, note 2). Somewhat different is ἔρχεσθαι ὀπ. τ. Mt. 3. 11 etc., 'to come after (or behind) anyone,' in the Baptist's utterance about Christ.—The compounds, found already in Attic Greek, éπ-áνω 'above' and ύπο-κάτω 'underneath' (used also in Attic with the genitive), have a weakened force in the N.T. = 'upon,' 'under': Mt. 5. 14 πόλις ἐπάνω ὄρους κειμένη = Att. ἐπ' ὄρους, L. 8. 16 ὑποκάτω κλίνης τίθησιν = Att. ὑπὸ κλίνην ; ἐπάνω only is used adverbially, and this word is also joined with numerals = 'more than,' without affecting the case, § 36, 12 (before an adverb Mt. 2. 9 $\epsilon \pi \dot{a} \nu \omega$ of $\eta \nu \tau \dot{o}$ παιδίον, but D here has $\tau o \hat{v}$ παιδίου).— 'Between' is expressed by μεταξύ (Att.) Mt. 18. 15 etc. (rare); this word is also used adverbially in Jo. 4. 31 $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\omega} \mu =$ 'meanwhile,' but in the common language¹ = 'afterwards,' A. 13. 42 eis tò $\mu\epsilon\tau a\xi v$ oá $\beta\beta$ atov, cp. 23. 24 an addition of the β text, Barn. 13. 5, Clem. Cor. i. 44. 2. Beside μεταξύ we have drà μέσον, see § 39, 2: εν μέσφ (ἐμμέσφ) with genitive 'among,' 'between,' Mt. 10. 16 (Β είs μέσον), L. 10. 3 (μέσον D, vide infra), 8. 7 (μέσον D), 21. 22 etc. = Hebrew מחוד and classical ϵv or ϵis , since 'where ?' and 'whither ?' are not distinguished in this instance (éis $\mu \acute{e}\sigma o\nu$ never occurs except as a var. lect. in Mt. 10. 16 vide supra, 14. 24 D for $\mu \acute{e}\sigma o\nu$; but of course we have \acute{e} 's $\tau \acute{o}$ $\mu \acute{\epsilon} \sigma \sigma \nu$ without a subsequent case). Other equivalents are $\mu \acute{\epsilon} \sigma \sigma s$ adjective Jo. 1. 26, L. 22. 55 BL (v.l. έν μέσω, μετ') or μέσον adverb (cp. modern Greek μέσα), Ph. 2. 15 τέκνα θεοῦ μέσον γενεᾶς σκολιῶς, L. 10. 3 D, vide supra (adj. or adv. in Mt. 14. 24, L. 8. 7 D). To these must be added לא שלסיט with gen. = אמון Mt. 13. 49 etc. = class. έξ; διὰ μέσου with gen. (בְּחַרָה) L. 4. 30 διελθών διὰ μέσου $a\dot{v}\tau\hat{\omega}\nu = \delta\iota\dot{a}$, (see also § 42, 1).

9. To express a prepositional idea by a circumlocution, the substantives πρόσωπον, χείρ, στόμα are employed with the genitive, similarly to μέσον, in constructions modelled on the Hebrew. 'Απὸ προσώπου τινός = ἀπό or παρά with gen. after verbs signifying 'to come' or 'to go,' A. 3. 19, 5. 41 := the N.T. ἀπό (supra 3) after 'to drive out,' 'to hide,' 'to fly' A. 7. 45, Ap. 6. 16, 12. 14, 20. 11, = Σ , IIρὸ προσώπου Mt. 11. 10 O.T. ($\xi \in \Sigma$), so L. 1. 76 ($\aleph B \ell v \omega \pi \iota o v$), 'before (in advance of) him.' Κατὰ πρόσωπου τῆς εἰσόδου a'τοῦ 'before (in advance of) him.' Κατὰ πρόσωπου = coram is also a recognised usage in profane writers, and in this sense is correctly employed in A. 25. 16 (without a gen.); elsewhere as in 3. 13 κατὰ πρόσωπον Πιλάτου, L. 2. 31 κατὰ πρ. πάντων τῶν λαῶν it corresponds

¹ In this sense it is found in Plut. Moral. 240 B and Josephus.

to the Hebr. $\mp q \equiv i$; similarly $\epsilon is \pi \rho$. $\tau \iota vos 2$ C. 8. 24 ($\epsilon is \pi \rho$. without case, and with eis in place of ev, Herm. Vis. iii. 6. 3).-Xelp: eis χειράς (בָּר) τινος παραδιδόναι, 'into anyone's power,' 'to anyone' Mt. 26. 45 etc., L. 23. 46, Jo. 13. 8, H. 10. 31 (ἐμπεσείν εἰς χ. θεοῦ, cp. Polyb. 8, 20. 8 υπο τάς των έχθρων χ. πίπτειν; υποχείριος); for which is substituted $\epsilon \tau \hat{\eta} \chi$. $\delta \epsilon \delta \omega \kappa \epsilon \nu$ ($\epsilon \nu$ for ϵi s, § 41, 1) in Jo. 3. 35. 'Εν (σύν ABCDE) χειρί ἀγγέλου Α. 7. 35 (cp. G. 3, 19) 🖳 , 'through,' 'by means of.' 'Εκ χειρός τινος 'out of the power of anyone' (בניד) L. 1. 71, A. 12, 11 έξείλατό με έκ χ. Ηρώδου, cp. in classical Gk. Aesch. 3. 256 ἐκ τῶν χειρῶν ἐξελέσθαι τῶν Φιλίππου (here used as a stronger and more vivid expression), etc. $\Delta i \dot{a} \chi \epsilon_i \rho \dot{o}_s$, $\delta i \dot{a} \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \chi \epsilon_i \rho \hat{\omega} \nu$ $=\delta\iota \dot{a}$ 'through,' 'by means of' Mc. 6. 2 and frequently in Acts (2. 23, 5. 12 etc.), of actions; did ortóparos, on the other hand, is used of speeches which God puts into the mouth of anyone, L. 1. 70, A. 1. 16 etc. Further, for $\lambda \delta \gamma o_i \delta \pi \delta \tau i v o_s$ or $\tau i v o_s$ the fuller and more vivid οἱ ἐκπορευόμενοι ἐκ (διὰ) στόμ. τινοs is used in Mt. 4. 4 O.T. = LXX. Deut. 8. 3, L. 4. 22 etc.; for akover rivos we have ak. έκ (ủπὸ, διὰ) τοῦ στ. τινός L. 22. 71, A. 1. 4 D, E. 4. 29 etc.; cp. L. 11. 54 θηρεῦσαί τι ἐκ τ. στ. αὐτοῦ, a word from him ; ἐπὶ στόματος 'on the assertion of' Mt. 18. 16, and many similar exx.; $\sigma \tau \delta \mu a$ was moreover utilized in classical Greek to coin many expressions of this kind. 'Εκ στόματος can also mean 'out of the jaws,' 2 Tim. 4. 17. -On obov as preposition (versus) Mt. 4. 15 see § 34, 8, note 1.

§ 41. PREPOSITIONS WITH THE DATIVE.

1. 'Ev is the commonest of all prepositions in the N.T., notwithstanding the fact that some writers (§ 39, 3) occasionally employ ϵ 's (The reverse change, namely, the misuse of ϵv for ϵi_s , instead of it. can only be safely asserted to take place in a very few cases in the N.T. Thus $\epsilon \nu \mu \epsilon \sigma \psi$ is used in answer to the question 'whither ?', § 40, 8; compare also εἰσῆλθε διαλογισμός ἐν αὐτοῖς L. 9. 46 'came into them,' 'into their hearts' [see next verse]: $\kappa a \tau \epsilon \beta a \iota \nu \epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\eta}$ κολυμβήθρα in a spurious verse Jo. 5. 4 [Herm. Sim. i. 6 $a\pi\epsilon\lambda\theta\eta s \epsilon\bar{v}$ τη πόλει σου, Clem. Hom. i. 7, xiv. 6]. But έξηλθεν δ λόγος έν τη Ίουδαία L. 7. 17 [cp. 1 Th. 1. 8] means 'was spread abroad in J.'; in Ap. 11. 11 $\epsilon i \sigma \eta \overline{\lambda} \theta \epsilon \nu$ $\epsilon \nu$ auto is only read by A, auto is CP, $\epsilon i s$ aŭrovs B; classical authors can use $\dot{\epsilon}v$ with $\tau \iota \theta \dot{\epsilon} v a \iota$ and $\dot{\iota} \sigma \tau \dot{a} v a \iota$, and with this may be compared διδόναι ['to lay'] $\epsilon \tau \hat{\eta} \chi \epsilon \iota \rho i \tau \iota v os$ Jo. 3. 35 [§ 40, 9; Clem. Cor. i. 55. 5 παρέδωκεν 'Ολοφέρνην έν χειρί θηλείας], or έν τη καρδία 2 C. l. 22, 8. 16; no conclusive evidence can be drawn from the metaphorical usage in L. 1. 17 έν φρονήσει δικαίων, with the meaning 'so that they have the wisdom'; καλείν εν εἰρήνη and similar phrases).—The use of $\epsilon \nu$ receives its chief extension through the imitation of Hebrew constructions with P. Under this head comes its instrumental employment, § 38, 1; also its use to indicate the personal agent : $\epsilon v \tau \hat{\psi} \, \tilde{a} \rho \chi o \nu \tau i$ (through) $\tau \hat{\omega} v \, \delta a \iota \mu o \nu i \omega v$

έκβάλλει τα δαιμόνια Mt. 12. 24 (9. 24), κρίνειν την οικουμένην έν $aν \delta ρi$ A. 17. 31 (1 C. 6. 2).¹ In the same way no doubt is to be explained its use to express the motive : A. 7. 29 $\epsilon \phi v \gamma \epsilon v$ Mwür $\eta s \epsilon v$ τῷ λόγῳ τούτῳ 'on account of' (DE have another reading ἐφυγάδευσεν Μωϋσην έν 'with'): Mt. 6. 7 έν τη πολυλογία αὐτῶν εἰσακουσθήσονται: έν τούτω 'on this account' A. 24. 16, Jo. 16. 30: έν ψ 'since,' 'because' H. 2. 18, or 'on which account' 6. 17; to the same category belongs the use of ϵ_{ν} with verbs expressing emotion, e.g. $\chi \alpha i \rho \epsilon i \nu$, § 38, 2. Another instance of instrumental $\epsilon \nu$ is Ap. 5. 9 ήγόρασας έν τῷ αίματί σου, cp. A. 20. 28; this phrase έν τῷ αίματι $(\tau \circ \hat{v} \mathbf{X} \rho)$ is found in various connections in the Pauline Epistles and Acts (R. 3. 25, 5. 9 etc.), where the very indefinite and colourless meaning of ϵv does not help to determine the sense more accurately. On evdedupévos ev and similar phrases see § 34, 6, note 2; on ev of accompaniment (with 'army'etc.) § 38, 3. Of manner (vide ibid.): έν τάχει (class.) L. 18. 8 etc., κρίνειν έν δικαιοσύνη = δικαίως A. 17. 31, Ap. 19. 11, έν πάση ἀσφαλεία = ἀσφαλέστατα A. 5. 23, έν (πάση) παρρησία 'freely,' 'openly' etc. Again ανθρωπος έν πνεύματι άκαθάρτω Mc. 1. 23, 5. 2 must mean 'with an unclean spirit' = $\tilde{\epsilon}\chi\omega\nu$ πνεῦμα ἀκάθ. (3. 30 etc.), although a passage like R. 8. 9 ὑμεῖς δὲ οὐκ έστε έν σαρκί άλλ' έν πνεύματι, είπερ πνεύμα θεού οικεί έν ύμιν εί δέ τις πνεῦμα Χριστοῦ οἰκ ἔχει κ.τ.λ. is calculated to show the constant fluctuation of the meanings of $\epsilon \nu$ and of the conceptions of the relation between man and spirit. Another phrase with an extremely indefinite meaning is $\epsilon \nu \dot{X} \rho \iota \sigma \tau \hat{\psi}$ ($\kappa \nu \rho \iota \psi$), which is attached again and again in the Pauline Epistles to very different ideas.

2. Occasionally $\epsilon \nu$ appears to stand for the ordinary dative proper. 1 C, 14. 11 έσομαι τῷ λαλοῦντι ('for the speaker') βάρβαρος, καὶ ὁ λαλών έν έμοι βάρβαροs 'for me,' instead of έμοί, which Paul avoided because it might have been taken with $\lambda \alpha \lambda \hat{\omega} \nu$. Cp. G. 1. 16 άποκαλύψαι τον υίον αὐτοῦ ἐν ἐμοί 'to me' ('in me,' i.e. 'in my spirit' would be an unnatural phrase); in 2 C. 4. 3 iv $\tau \sigma s a \pi \sigma \lambda \lambda \nu \mu i \nu \sigma s$ κεκαλυμμένον 'for' is a better rendering than 'among'; 2 C. 8. 1 την χάριν την δεδομένην έν ταις έκκλησίαις της Μακ., cp. A. 4. 12 where D omits the ϵv ; but 1 Jo. 4. 9 $\epsilon v \tau o \dot{v} \tau \psi \epsilon \phi a v \epsilon \rho \dot{\omega} \theta \eta \dot{\eta} \dot{a} \gamma \dot{a} \pi \eta$ τοῦ θεοῦ ἐν ἡμῦν means ' towards us,' and is like ποιεῖν ἕν τινι, γίνεσθαι ἕν τινι, where moreover either the dative or εἰs can stand, § 34, 4.— 'Ev has the meaning of 'in' or 'by' with $\mu a \nu \theta \dot{a} \nu \epsilon i \nu$ 1 C. 4. 6, γινώσκειν L. 24. 35 etc. (likewise classical); but we also find γιν. έκ L. 6. 44 etc., κατὰ τί 1. 18. For 'to swear by' ἀμνύναι ἐν see § 34, 1 (instead of the accus.); for $\delta \mu o \lambda o \gamma \epsilon i \nu \tau i \nu i$ to profess allegiance to anyone' (a Syriac expression) Mt. 10. 32, L. 12. 8, for which an accus. or two accusatives may be used, see § 34, 5. $E_{\nu} \mu \nu \sigma \tau \eta \rho i \psi$ $\lambda a \lambda o \hat{v} \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma o \phi (a \nu \ 1 \ C. \ 2. \ 7 = 'as a mystery' (so in classical Greek).$ On ϵv in temporal sense see § 38, 4.

¹ In R. 11. 12 έν Ήλία λέγει ή γραφή might be interpreted in the same way, 'by Elias,' cp. έν τῷ ἀΩσηέ 9. 25, έν Δαυίδ Η. 4. 7, έν ἐτέρφ προφήτη λέγει Barn. 6. 14. But others class these with έν τῷ νόμψ and the like.

3. $\Sigma \delta \nu$ in classical Attic is limited to the sense of 'including,' whereas 'with' is expressed by $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{\alpha}$; but the Ionic dialect and afterwards the Helleuistic language kept the old word $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$ in addition to $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{\alpha}$, and it is consequently found in the N.T., although very unequally employed by the different authors, and only occurring with any frequency in Luke (Gospel and Acts) and Paul, while it is unrepresented in the Apocalypse and the Epistles of John, and almost unrepresented in his Gospel.¹ There is scarcely anything noteworthy in the way in which it is employed. $\Sigma \dot{\nu} \tau \alpha \sigma \iota \tau \sigma \dot{\nu} \tau \sigma \iota s$ 'beside all this' (LXX., Josephus, see W.-Gr.) L. 24. 21. On $\dot{\alpha} \mu \alpha$ and $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$ see § 37, 6.

§ 42. PREPOSITIONS WITH TWO CASES.

1. Aid with accusative, local 'through' (poetical) only in L.17. 11 διήρχετο διά μέσον (NBL, D omits διά, § 40, 8; A al. δια μέσου) Σαμαρείας καὶ Γαλιλαίας, an inadmissible reading; elsewhere 'on account of,' denoting not only motive and author, but also (what in classical Greek is expressed by $\xi_{\nu\epsilon\kappa\alpha}$) aim,² so that the modern Greek meaning 'for' is already almost in existence : Mc. 2. 27 $\tau \delta \sigma \alpha \beta \beta \alpha \tau \sigma \nu$ διὰ τὸν ἄνθρωπον ἐγένετο καὶ οὐχ ὁ ἄνθρ. διὰ τὸ σάββατον, Jo. II. 42, 12. 30, 1 C. 11. 9 etc. - With genitive 'through' of place, time, and agent as in classical Greek. The temporal διά also expresses an interval of time that has elapsed : $\delta i' \epsilon \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \pi \lambda \epsilon i \delta \nu \omega \nu$ 'after several years' A. 24. 17, G. 2. 1; and further (not classical) the period of time within which something takes place : A. I. 3 δι' ήμερῶν τεσσεράκοντα ἀπτανύμενος αὐτοῖς 'during forty days' (not continuously, but at intervals, as was already noticed by the Scholiast following Chrysostom), διà νυκτόs per noctem 'at night' (class. νυκτόs, νύκτωρ), 5. 19 etc.; L. 9. 37 D διà $\tau \eta s \eta \mu \epsilon \rho a s$ 'in the course of the day." Instead of the agent, the author may also be denoted by $\delta \iota \dot{a}$ (as in Aeschylus Agam. 1486 διαί Διός παναιτίου πανεργέτα): R. 11. 36 έξ αύτοῦ (source) καὶ δι' αὐτοῦ (the Creator) καὶ ϵἰς αὐτὸν τὰ πάντα, cp. H. 2. 10 δι' δν (God) τὰ πάντα καὶ δι' οῦ τὰ π., 1 C. 1. 9, G. 1. 1³ (but the use is different in I C. 8. 6 εἶς θεος ὁ πατήρ, ἐξ οῦ τὰ πάντα καὶ ἡμεῦς εἰς αὐτόν, καὶ εἶς κύριος Ἰ. Χ., δι' οῦ [ὃν Β] τὰ πάντα καὶ ἡμεῦς δι' αύτοῦ, cp. Jo. 1. 3; Mt. 1. 22 τὸ ῥηθὲν ὑπὸ κυρίου διὰ τοῦ προφήτου, etc.). ---Indicating mode and manner, δια λόγου 'by way of speech,' 'orally' A. 15. 27; also the circumstances in which a man is placed in doing anything: R. 2. 27 ό διὰ γράμματος καὶ περιτομής παραβάτης νόμου, 'who has the written statute withal,' 14, 20 Sià $\pi \rho o \sigma \kappa \delta \mu \mu a \tau o s \epsilon \sigma \theta \epsilon \mu v$

¹ See Tycho Mommsen's book, Beiträge zu d. Lehre v. d. gr. Präpositionen (Berlin, 1895), where on page 395 the statistics of $\sigma \ell \nu$ and $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{\alpha}$ in the N.T. are concisely given. In John $\sigma \ell \nu$ occurs in 12. 2, 18. 1, 21. 3 ($\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{\alpha}$ very frequently); in Paul it is absent from 2 Th., 1 and 2 Tim., Tit., Philem.; as it is also from Hebr. and 1 Pet. [For the distinction between $\sigma \ell \nu$ and $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{\alpha}$ see also West-cott's note on Jo. 1. 2. Tr.]

² Cp. Hatzidakis Einl. in d. ngr. Gramm. 212 f.

³ It stands for $i\pi \delta$ with a passive verb in Herm. Sim. ix. 14. 5, Vis. iii, 13. 3.

'with offence,' διὰ πολλῶν δακρύων 2 C. 2. 4: also undoubtedly δι' ἀσθενείας (not -ένειαν) εὐηγγελισάμην ὑμῦν G. 4. 13 'in sickness,' as the Vulgate per (not propter) infirmitatem.¹—In a peculiar use in an urgent petition = 'by' (Attic πρός τινος): R. 12. 1 παρακαλῶ ὑμᾶς διὰ τῶν οἰκτιρμῶν τοῦ θεοῦ 15. 30, 1 C. 1. 10 and elsewhere in the Pauline Epp. (cp. κατά τινος infra 2).

2. Kará with accusative occurs frequently and in various senses, but in general these agree with the classical uses. As the use of $\kappa a \tau a$ with accus. as a circumlocution for a genitive occurs frequently in the Hellenistic language ($\dot{\eta}$ κατά τον $\ddot{\eta}\lambda_{10}$ ν πορεία 'the course of the sun'), so in the N.T. one may adduce : A. 18. 15 νόμου τοῦ καθ' ^{ύμâs} 'the law in force with you, your law,' cp. 26. 3, 17. 28, E. l. 15 την καθ' ύμας πίστιν, Α. 16. 39 D τα καθ' ύμας = το ύμέτερον πραγμα, and R. 1. 15 $\tau \delta$ $\kappa \alpha \tau' \epsilon \mu \epsilon \pi \rho \delta \theta \nu \mu \delta \nu = \eta \epsilon \mu \eta \pi \rho \delta \theta \nu \mu \delta \epsilon$ (but it is better to take $\tau \partial \kappa \alpha \tau' \epsilon \mu \epsilon$ as quod in me est, and then read $\pi \rho \delta \theta \nu \mu \sigma s$ with the Latin authorities and supply $\epsilon i \mu i$, § 30, 3; cp. $\tau \delta$ κατ ασάρκα 9.5 and other phrases, § 34, 7).—The distributive κατά has become stereotyped as an adverb (cp. $dva, \S 39, 2$) in $\kappa \alpha \theta' \epsilon i_s$, see § 51, 5.—In the headings to the Gospels $\kappa a \tau a$ Mathaîov etc. the author of this particular form of the Gospel is denoted by Katá, cp. § 35, 3; with this is compared (W. Gr.) ή παλαιὰ διαθήκη κατὰ τοὺς έβδομήκοντα, and 2 Macc. 2. 13 τοις ύπομνηματισμοις τοις κατά Νεεμίαν, which perhaps means 'which bear the name of N.'

With the genitive the instances are far less numerous; $\kappa \alpha \tau \dot{\alpha} \tau \iota \nu \sigma s$ most often means 'against someone' in a hostile sense, and indeed in the Hellenistic language it also takes the place of Attic $\epsilon \pi i \tau i \nu a$ (έστιν and the like): Mt. 12. 30 ὁ μὴ ῶν μετ' ἐμοῦ κατ' ἐμοῦ ἐστιν (Demosth. 19. 339 έπι την πόλιν έστίν, but Polyb. 10, 8. 5 κατά της πόλεως ὑπελάμβανον είναι), whereas the Attic κατά 'against' is used after verbs of speaking, witnessing etc.—Rarely in local sense : κατὰ τοῦ κρημνοῦ Mt. 8. 32 etc. 'down from'; κατὰ κεφαλῆs ἔχων 1 C. 11. 4, opposed to akarakalú $\pi\tau\psi$ $\tau\hat{\eta}$ ke $\phi a\lambda\hat{\eta}$ ('hanging down over the head,' 'on the head'); 'throughout' A. 9. 31 καθ' ὅλης τῆς Ἰουδαίας, 10. 37, L. 4. 14, 23. 5 (Hellenistic, Polyb. 3, 19. 7 διεσπάρησαν κατὰ τῆς νήσου), in this sense always with όλος and confined to Luke's Gospel and Acts (with accus. of ovres karà rhv 'Ioudaíav A. 11. 1, it means simply 'in'). A peculiar use is ή κατα βάθους πτωχεία 2 C. 8. 2 'deep' or 'profound poverty' (Strabo 9, p. 419 αντρον κοίλον κατά βάθους, W.-Gr.).—For its use with ouvival, (¿٤)ορκίζειν Mt. 26. 63, H. 6. 13, 16, see § 34, 1 (κατὰ τοῦ κυρίου ἡρώτησα 'entreated by the Lord' Herm. Vis. iii. 2. 3).

3. Merá with accusative in local sense 'after,' 'behind' only occurs in H. 9. 3 μετὰ τὸ δεύτερον καταπέτασμα (answering to πρό, an unclassical use); elsewhere it always has temporal sense 'after.' Où μετὰ πολλὰs ταύταs ἡμέραs A. 1. 5 is 'not many days after to-day,' cp. πρό, § 40, 5.—Merá with genitive has to itself (and not in com-

 1 [Still no Greek MS. has the genitive in this passage. See Lightfoot ad loc. Tr.]

mon with $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$) the meaning of 'among,' 'amid,' $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a} \tau \hat{\nu} \nu \nu \epsilon \kappa \rho \hat{\omega} \nu$ L. 24. 5, $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a} \dot{\nu} \phi \mu \omega \nu \dot{\epsilon} \lambda o \gamma i \sigma \theta \eta$ (Mc. 15. 28) L. 22. 37, O.T. (Hebr. TN, LXX. $\dot{\epsilon} \nu$), as in classical poets; in the sense of 'with' it is interchanged with $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$, § 41, 3, but with this limitation that with expressions which imply mutual participation, such as $\pi o \lambda \epsilon \mu \epsilon \hat{\nu}$, $\epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \rho \eta \nu \epsilon \dot{\omega} \epsilon \nu$, $\sigma \nu \mu \phi \omega \epsilon \hat{\nu}$, $\phi \dot{\epsilon} \lambda o s$, $\lambda a \lambda \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu$ (Mc. 6. 50 etc.) and others (§ 37, 6), $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a}$ $\tau \nu o s$ and not $\sigma \dot{\nu} \tau \iota \nu \iota$ is used in place of or by the side of the simple dative (Hebr. $\Box \mathcal{Y}$, class. dative or $\pi \rho \delta s$); it is likewise the only preposition used to express accompanying circumstances, $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a} \phi \delta \beta o \nu$ etc., § 3, 3 (class.), and in the sense of 'to' (Hebraic) in $\pi o \iota \epsilon \hat{\nu} \epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \delta \epsilon o s$ $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a} \tau \iota \nu o s$ L. 10. 37, cp. 1. 58 (Herm. Sim. v. 1. 1 even has $\pi \epsilon \rho \dot{i}$ $\pi \dot{a} \tau \tau \omega \nu \dot{\omega} \epsilon \dot{\epsilon} n \delta \eta \sigma \epsilon \mu \epsilon \tau \dot{\epsilon} \mu o \hat{\nu}$ 'to me,' which differs from the use of the phrase in A. 14. 27 where $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a} = \dot{\omega} t \dot{n}$ '). On the whole the use of $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a}$ far outweighs that of $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$ (the number of instances of the former word is nearly three times that of the latter), though in individual books $\sigma \dot{\nu} \nu$ has equally strong or even stronger attestation (in Acts).

4. Π_{epi} with accusative (not very frequent) is used in local and temporal sense for 'about'; so oi $\pi\epsilon\rho$ i aυτόν Mc. 4. 10, L. 22. 49 = 'his disciples'; but of $\pi\epsilon\rho$ Παῦλον A. 13. 13, as is the case with similar phrases in the literary language, includes Paul; we even have προs τàs περί Μάρθαν και Μαρίαν Jo. 11. 19 A al. (as often in later writers) to denote Martha and Mary only, but the phrase can hardly be considered genuine;¹ it has a further use, which is also classical, to denote the object of the action or of the pains expended (not the subject of speech or thought, which is $\pi \epsilon \rho i \tau i \nu \sigma$), with έπιθυμίαι Mc. 4. 19 (om. D), with περισπασθαι, τυρβάζεσθαι L. 10. 40 f., with έργάται A. 19. 25. Paul, who only began to use περί τινα at the time of writing the Philippian epistle, uses it generally for 'concerning' (something like Plato's $\pi \sigma \nu \eta \rho \delta \nu \pi \epsilon \rho \delta \tau \delta \sigma \omega \mu a$, 'injurious with regard to'): Ph. 2. 23 τὰ περὶ ἐμέ, 1 Tim. 1. 19 περὶ τὴν πίστιν ένανάγησαν, 6. 4, 21, 2 Tim. 2. 18, 3. 8, Tit. 2. 7 (τα περί τον πύργον Herm. Vis. iii. 3. 1).

Περί with genitive (extremely common) most often in such phrases as 'to speak,' 'know,' 'have a care' etc., 'concerning' or 'about'; at the beginning of a sentence or paragraph 'as concerning' 1 C. 7. I etc. (class.); also 'on account of' (class.) with κρίνεσθαι, έγκαλεΐν, εὐχαριστεῖν, ἐρωτῶν (entreat), δείσθαι, προσεύχεσθαι, πρόφασιν (an excuse) ἔχειν, aἰνεῖν etc., in which cases it often passes over to the meaning of 'for' and becomes confused with ὑπέρ: Jo. 17. 9 οὐ περὶ τοῦ κόσμου ἐρωτῶ, ἀλλὰ περὶ ῶν δέδωκάς μοι. It is used as absolutely equivalent to ὑπέρ in Mt. 26. 28 τ∂ περὶ (D ὑπὲρ) πολλῶν ἐκχυνόμενον (in Mc. 14. 24 περί is only read by A al.), 1 C. 1. 13 ἐσταυρώθη περὶ ὑμῶν only BD* (al. ὑπὲρ), A. 26. 1 περὶ (&AC al.; ὑπὲρ BLP) σεαυτοῦ λέγειν, G. 1. 4 (ὑπὲρ № B), H. 5. 3 καθὼs περὶ ἑαυτοῦ, οὕτως καὶ περὶ τοῦ λαοῦ προσφέρειν περὶ (ὑπὲρ C°D° al. as in ver. 1) ἁμαρτιῶν, cp. 10. 6, 8 O.T., 18, 26, 13. 11, 1 P. 3. 18, Mc. 1. 44, L. 5. 14.

¹ Πρός τὴν Μ. καί Μ. «BC*L al., similarly without τὴν D; ἴνα παραμυθήσωνται τὴν Μ. καὶ τὴν Μ. Syr. Sin. With verbs expressing emotion: Mt. 9. 36 $\epsilon\sigma\pi\lambda\alpha\gamma\chi\nu\epsilon\sigma\theta\eta \pi\epsilon\rhoi$ $a\nu\tau\omega\nu$ (*i.e.* $\tau\omega\nu$ $\delta\chi\lambda\omega\nu$; elsewhere the verb has $\epsilon\pi\epsilon$ $\tau\nu\alpha$ or $\epsilon\pi\epsilon$ $\tau\nu\nu$, §§ 36, 7; 43, 1 and 3), Mt. 20. 24 and Mc. 10. 41 $\epsilon\sigma\lambda\alpha\kappa\tau\epsilon\epsilon\nu\pi\epsilon\rho\epsilon$ $\tau\nu\sigma\sigma$, 'concerning anyone' (classical Greek has $\pi\epsilon\rhoi$ $\tau\omega\nu\pi\rho\alpha\chi\theta\epsilon\nu\tau\omega\nu$ Plat. Ep. vii. 349 D), L. 2. 18 $\theta\alpha\nu\mu\alpha'\epsilon\nu\pi\epsilon\rho$ ('concerning a thing'), all these constructions hardly classical; $\pi\epsilon\rhoi$ $\pi\alpha'\nu\tau\omega\nu$ $\epsilon\nu\delta\delta\sigma\iota\sigma\theta\alpha\iota$ 'in every respect' 3 Jo. 2. Ποιήσαι $\pi\epsilon\rhoi$ $\alpha\iota'\tau\omega\nu$ ('to do with him') L. 2. 27 also appears to be an incorrect phrase ($\pi\epsilon\rhoi$ $\alpha\iota'\tau\omega'$ would be better, vide supra, N.T. says $\alpha\iota'\tau\phi$ or $\epsilon\nu\alpha\iota'\phi$); $\lambda\alpha\gamma\chi\alpha'\epsilon\iota\nu$ ('to draw lots') $\pi\epsilon\rhoi$ $\tau\nu\sigma\sigma$ s Jo. 19. 24 may be compared with the classical $\mu\alpha'\chi\epsilon\sigma\theta\alpha\iota\pi\epsilon\rhoi$ $\tau\nu\sigma\sigma$ s.

5. Ymép with accusative (not frequent) 'above,' denotes superiority (no longer found in local sense); hence it is used with the comparative, § 36, 12; it is used adverbially in the Pauline epistles $\delta \pi \dot{\epsilon} \rho$ λίαν (or ὑπερλίαν §§ 4, 1; 28, 2) 2 C. 11. 5, 12. 11 ὑπερ ἐκ περισσοῦ or ύπερεκπ. 1 Th. 3. 10, E. 3. 20, similarly or ύπερ έκπερισσωs (BD*FG) 1 Th. 5. 13; or it stands by itself 2 C. 11. 23 διάκονοι Χριστοῦ είσιν; iπέρ (to a higher degree) iγω (διάκ. Χρ. iμι), cp. the classical words υπέρλαμπρος, υπερεξακισχίλιοι ([Demosth.] 59. 89), whereas in the N.T. it is impossible in all cases to carry out the compounding of the two words into one.— $\Upsilon \pi \epsilon \rho$ with genitive 'for,' opposed to $\kappa a \tau a$ $\tau i \nu o s$ Mc. 9. 40 etc., is much limited in its use by the substitution of περί (supra 4), while the reverse change ($\lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \iota \nu$ ὑπέρ 'to speak about') which is common in Attic and Hellenistic Greek (as also in the LXX.), is found more rarely and is almost confined to Paul: Jo. 1. 30 ύπερ (περί 8°A al.) οδ είπον, 2 C. 8. 23 είτε ύπερ Τίτου ('as concerning,') 12. 8 ύπερ τούτου παρεκάλεσα ('on this account,' 'on behalf of this,' cp. supra 4 περί), 2 Th. 2. 1, καυχάσθαι ὑπέρ often in Paul, also φυσιοῦσθαι ὑπέρ, φρονεῖν ὑπέρ (in Ph. 1. 7 'to think upon,' in 4. 10 'to care for'). Also the object to be attained may be introduced by ὑπέρ, 2 C. 1. 6 ὑπέρ τῆς ὑμῶν παρακλήσεως ('to'); so also Ph. 2. 13 $\delta \pi \epsilon \rho$ (< $\delta \delta$ >?) $\tau \eta s \epsilon \delta \delta \kappa i as$ (God's; C adds $a \delta \tau \sigma \delta$) πάντα ποιείτε (the first words are not to be taken with the preceding clause).

6. 'Ynó with accusative (not very frequent; in John only in 1. 49 of his Gospel, never in the Apocalypse¹) 'under,' answering the questions 'where ?' and 'whither ?' (the old local use of $\dot{v}\pi \dot{\sigma}$ τ_{ivos} and $\dot{v}\pi \dot{\sigma} \tau_{ivi}$ has become merged in $\dot{v}\pi \dot{\sigma} \tau_i$), is used in literal and metaphorical sense; in temporal sense only in A. 5. 21 $\dot{v}\pi \dot{\sigma} \tau \partial \nu$ $\ddot{\sigma}\rho \theta_{\rho ov}$, sub, circa (class.).²—'Ynó with genitive 'by,' denoting the agent, is used with passive verbs and verbs of passive meaning like $\pi \lambda \eta \gamma \dot{\alpha} s$ $\lambda \alpha \mu \beta \dot{\alpha} \kappa_{iv}$ 2 C. 11. 24;³ in some instances its place is taken by $\dot{\alpha}\pi \dot{\sigma}$, § 40, 3; see also δid , supra 1.

¹The Apoc. has $\dot{\upsilon}\pi\sigma\kappa\dot{\sigma}\tau\omega$ (§ 40, 8) instead, which is also found in John's Gospel 1. 51.

² Herm. often uses $i\pi\delta$ $\chi\epsilon\hat{\rho}a$ in a peculiar way 'continually,' Vis. iii. 10. 7, v. 5. 5, Mand. iv. 3. 6.

³ Herm. has the peculiar phrases in Sim. ix. l. 2 ύπὸ παρθένου ἐώρακας and ὑπὸ ἀγγέλου βλέπεις 'under the guidance of '—' the angel makes you to see,' cp. Ap. 6. 8 ἀποκτεῖναι έν ... καὶ ὑπὸ τῶν θηρίων = ποιεῖν ἀποθανεῖν ὑπὸ κ.τ.λ.

§ 43. PREPOSITIONS WITH THREE CASES.

1. $E\pi t$ is the single preposition the use of which with all three cases is largely represented. The case, however, which it takes with far the most frequency is the accusative. This is used not only, as in classical Greek, in answer to the question Whither ? (including such constructions as that with $\sigma \tau \eta \nu a_i$, where ϵis may take the place of $\epsilon \pi i$, § 39, 3), but also not infrequently as a substitute for genitive or dative, in answer to the question Where ?: Mt. 9. 2 (Mc. 2. 14, L. 5. 27) καθήμενος ἐπὶ τὸ τελώνιον, Mc. 4. 38 ἐπὶ τὸ προσκεφάλαιον (D ἐπὶ προσκεφαλαίου) καθεύδων, L. 2. 25 πνεῦμα άγιον ην έπ' αὐτόν, cp. 40 (where D has έν αὐτῷ), Jo. 1. 32 ἔμεινεν ἐπ' aυτόν (33), A. 1. 15 έπι το αυτό 'together' (so fairly often in Acts, and occasionally in Paul and elsewhere, used with elvas etc.; LXX. Joseph.), 2 C. 3. 15 έπι την καρδίαν αὐτῶν κειται, Α. 21. 35 έγένετο ἐπι τούς άναβαθμούς, cp. γίνεσθαι εἰς § 39, 3 (but έπί τινος L. 22. 40), Mt. 14. 25 περιπατών έπι την θάλασσαν NB al., gen. CD al., 26 gen. BCD al., acc. EFG al.; 28 f. all MSS. ἐπὶ τὰ ὕδατα; in Mc. 6. 48 f., Jo. 6. 19 the gen. is used, which in the passage of John some would understand as in 21. I in the sense of 'by the sea,' although we should not use such an expression, but 'on the shore.' Moreover with the metaphorical senses of $\epsilon \pi i$ the accusative is more widely prevalent than it strictly should be : not only do we have $\kappa a \theta_{i\sigma} \tau \acute{a} \nu a \iota$ δικαστην έφ' ύμας (direction whither ?) L. 12. 14, but also βασιλεύσει έπι τον οίκον 'Ιακώβ 1. 33 (Hebraic, cp. inf. 2, § 36, 8), έπι όλίγα ής πιστός, έπι πολλών σε καταστήσω Mt. 25. 21, σπλαγχίζομαι έπι των όχλον 15. 32, Mc. 8. 2, cp. Herm. Mand. iv. 3. 5, Sim. ix. 24. 2 (which in Attic must at least have been $\epsilon \pi i \tau \hat{\varphi} \dots$), $\mu \eta \kappa \lambda a \epsilon \tau \epsilon \epsilon \pi' \epsilon \mu \epsilon$ L. 23. 28, έλπίζειν, πιστεύειν¹, πίστις, πεποιθέναι επί τινα or επί τινι, § 37, 1 alternating with είς τινα (έν τινι), Mc. 9. 12 f. γέγραπται έπι τον υίον τοῦ ἀνθρώπου 'concerning' (Att. prefers ἐπί τινι). The following further instances may be noticed : A. 4. 22 o $d\nu \theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma s \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\phi}'$ δν γεγόνει το σημείον 'upon' (class. είς δν, Hdt. i. 114, or περί δν; cp. also επί τινος infra 2): 10. 35 πεσών επί τους πόδας προσεκύνησεν, = Att. $\pi \rho o \sigma \pi \epsilon \sigma \dot{\omega} v \, a \dot{v} \tau \hat{\psi}$ (Jo. 11. 32 has $\pi \rho \dot{o} s$ with v.l. $\epsilon \dot{i} s$, Mc. 5. 22 πρός). In temporal senses: A. 3. $\tau \epsilon \pi i \tau \eta \nu$ ώραν της προσευχής, 4. 5 (L. 10. 35) $\epsilon \pi i \tau \eta \nu$ a $v \rho i \nu \nu$, more frequently expressed by $\tau \eta$ $\epsilon \pi$ -auplov, denoting the coincidence of an action with a particular time, for which classical Greek uses eis (ἐσαύριον); it further denotes duration of time as in classical Greek : $\epsilon \phi' \eta \mu \epsilon \rho as \pi \lambda \epsilon i ovs A. 13. 31$. etc.

2. 'End with genitive in the majority of cases means 'upon' (answering the question Where ?), as in $\epsilon \pi i \tau \eta s \gamma \eta s$, $\epsilon \pi i \kappa \lambda i \nu \eta s$, $\kappa a \theta \eta \mu \epsilon \nu os \epsilon \pi i \tau o 0$ " $\delta \mu \mu a \tau os$, $\epsilon \pi i \tau o 0$ " $\pi \pi o v$ etc., but also in answer to the question Whither ?, the reverse interchange of meanings taking place with $\epsilon \pi i$ with the accus. as was noticed above in 1: Mc. 4. 26

¹ Emisteriora end to kúpiov A. 9. 42, 11. 17 etc. might be compared with $\epsilon \pi \ell \sigma \tau \rho \epsilon \psi a \nu \epsilon \pi i \tau \delta \nu \kappa$. 9. 35, 11. 21 etc. (direction whither), but we also have too's misteriovtas $\epsilon \pi i$ of A. 22. 19 etc., where this explanation is unsuitable.

βάλη τον σπόρον έπι της γής, 9. 20 πεσών έπι της γής (accus. in Mt. 10. 29, 34), Mt. 26. 12 etc.; a further meaning is 'by,' $\epsilon \pi i \tau \eta s$ όδοῦ Mt. 21. 19, ἐπὶ τῆs θαλάσσηs Jo. 21. 1 ctc. (For the strengthened form $\epsilon \pi \dot{a} \nu \omega$ 'upon' see § 40, 8.) With persons it means 'before,' Μc. 13. 9 επί ήγεμόνων σταθήσεσθε, Α. 25. 9 κρίνεσθαι επ' εμού (ibid. 10 έπι του βήματος Καίσαρος έστως 'before,' but in 17 καθίσας $\epsilon \pi i \tau$. β . 'upon'), Mt. 28. 14 with $a \kappa o v \sigma \theta \hat{\eta}$ (BD $v \pi \delta$), 1 Tim. 5. 19 $\epsilon \pi i$ μαρτύρων (ἐπὶ στόματος μαρτ. 2 C. 13. 1, Hebr. עַל־פָּי עָד), cp. infra 3, 2 C. 7. 14 ἐπὶ Τίτου (v.l. πρὸς Τίτον). In metaphorical sense of 'over,' of authority and oversight (Attic), it is used not only with *elvai*, but also with Kabiotávai (supra 1), A. 8. 27, R. 9. 5, Mt. 24. 45 etc.; also with βασιλεύειν (cp. supra 1, § 36, 8) Mt. 2. 22 CD al. (B have the simple genitive). 'To do to anyone,' 'to say of anyone': Jo. 6. 2 α έποίει επί των ασθενούντων, G. 3. 16 ου λέγει ... ώς επί πολλών κ.τ.λ. (as in Plato Charm. 155 D, W.-Gr.); $\epsilon \pi' a \lambda \eta \theta \epsilon i as$ 'in accordance with the truth' Mc. 12. 14 etc. (Demosth. 18. 17 etc.); frequently of contemporaneousness (classical) επι 'Αβιάθαρ αρχιερέως Mc. 2. 26, Mt. 1. 11, H. 7. 11 and elsewhere; Paul uses επί τῶν προσευχῶν μου meaning 'in,' E. 1. 16 etc.; a Hebraistic use is $\epsilon \pi' \epsilon \sigma \chi \alpha \tau \delta v \eta \mu \epsilon \rho \hat{\omega} v$ H. 1. 1, cp. 1 P. 1. 20, 2 P. 3. 3, Jude 18, and cp. § 47, 2.

3. 'Ent with dative.—When the preposition has a local sense the genitive and accusative have the preponderance, and a sharp distinction between its use with those cases and with the dative cannot be drawn. Answering the question Where ? we have $\dot{\epsilon}\pi i \theta i\rho a_{is}$, $\dot{\epsilon}\pi i$ $\tau \eta \theta \eta \rho \phi$ (classical) 'before the door' Mt. 24. 33, A. 5. 9 etc. (but in Ap. 3. 20 the accus.): $\epsilon \pi i \pi i \nu \alpha \kappa i$ 'upon' ('upon' in classical Greek is generally επί τινος, Buttm. p. 289) Mt. 14. 8, 11, Mc. 6. 25, 28: έκαθέζετο έπι τη πηγή Jo. 4. 6, cp. 5. 2, 'at' or 'by': έπι ταύτη τή πέτρα (accus. in D) οἰκοδομήσω Mt. 16. 18 (but 7. 24 ff. accus.): with more frequent construction): $\dot{\epsilon}\phi'$ in $\pi \alpha \sigma$ Ap. 19. 14 (elsewhere always expressed by genit.). The dative also intervenes in the metaphorical sense 'to set over' (as in classical authors) Mt. 24. 47. Most frequently $\epsilon \pi i \tau_{i\nu i}$ denotes the ground or reason, especially with verbs expressing emotion, such as $\theta a \upsilon \mu a \zeta \epsilon \iota v$, $\chi a \iota \rho \epsilon \iota v$, $\lambda \upsilon \pi \epsilon i \sigma \theta a \iota$, $\mu \epsilon \tau a v \sigma \epsilon i v$, see § 38, 2 (for the accus supra 1); also with ευχαριστείν, δοξάζειν τον θεόν, κρίνεσθαι (A. 26. 6); καλείν επι 'to call after' L. 1. 59; (ην έπὶ Mt. 4. 4 O.T.; ἀρκεῖσθαι ἐπὶ 3 Jo. 10; ἐφ' ῷ 'for the reason that,' 'because' R. 5. 12, 2 C. 5. 4; under this head may be brought πεποιθέναι, πιστεύειν, έλπίζειν έπί τινι, § 37, 1 (beside έπί τινα, supra 1, and other constructions), παρρησιάζεσθαι έπι τῷ κυρίψ A. 14. 3, unless the last instance is to be connected with the common $\dot{\epsilon}\pi i$ (like $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$) $\tau\hat{\varphi}$ όνόματί τινος, § 39, 4.—Expressing addition to (classical): L. 3. 20, 16. 26 eni (ev NBL) πασι τούτοις, cp. E. 6. 16 (ev NBP), Col. 3. 14, H. 8. 1 (for which we have accus. in Ph. 2. 27 $\lambda \dot{\upsilon} \pi \eta \nu \dot{\epsilon} \pi i \lambda \dot{\upsilon} \pi \eta \nu$). Expressing a condition (classical): $\epsilon \pi' \epsilon \lambda \pi i \delta \iota$ R. 8. 20, 1 C. 9. 10, Tit. 1, 2 (a different use in A. 2, 26 O.T., 4. 8, 5. 2, where it rather indicates the reason); cp. H. 8. 6, 9. 10, 15, 17; also καλείν επ'

έλευθερία G. 5. 13, οὐκ ἐπ' ἀκαθαρσία ἀλλ' ἐν ἀγιασμῷ l Th. 4. 7: denoting rather aim, ἐπ' ἔργοις ἀγαθοῖς Ε. 2. 10, cp. ἐφ' ῷ καὶ κατελήμφθην Ph. 3. 12 (4. 10 is similar, but the expression is hardly formed correctly; cp. infra); of result 2 Tim. 2. 14 (beside an ἐπί with accus, where however there is a var. lect.). 'At' or 'to anything'; l C. 14. 16, E. 4. 26, Ph. 1. 3, 2. 17, l Th. 3. 7, H. 11. 4, Jo. 4. 27 ἐπὶ τούτῷ (better ἐν Ν*D); H. 9. 26 ἐπὶ συντελεία τοῦ aiῶνος; ἐφ' ῷ ἐφρονείτε 'whereon ye thought' Ph. 4. 10; with persons 'against' (cp. accus. supra 1) L. 12. 52 (beside an accusative), Ap. 10. 11, 'concerning' (cp. accus. supra 1) γεγραμμένα Jo. 12. 16 (D περὶ aὐτοῦ), 'in the case of' A. 5. 35; ἐπὶ δυσὶ μάρτυσιν ἀποθνήσκει H. 10. 28=Hebr. "Đ¯'𝔅, cp. supra 2 'if two witnesses are there,' denoting condition or reason.

4. Mapá with accusative, mostly in local sense 'by,' 'beside,' is used indiscriminately to answer the questions Where? (strictly $\pi a \rho \dot{a}$ $\tau i \nu i$) and Whither? (a distinction which is already becoming lost in the classical language, through the encroachment of $\pi a \rho a$ with the accus.; in the N.T. the local $\pi a \rho \dot{a} \tau i \nu i$ has almost disappeared, vide infra 6). It is not, as it frequently is in classical Greek, joined with personal names (though $\pi a \rho a$ $\tau o v s \pi \delta \delta a s \tau i v \delta s$ is common); $\pi \rho \delta s \tau i v a$ takes its place, infra 7.-In metaphorical sense (classical) 'contrary to,' as opposed to $\kappa a \tau a$ 'according to,' R. 1. 26, 11. 24 $\pi a \rho a \phi \dot{v} \sigma v$ opposed to katà ϕ .; katà δύναμιν ... παρà δύν. ('beyond') 2 C. 8. 3 $(v.l. v\pi \epsilon \rho)$; 'other than' G. l. 8 f., also with $a\lambda \lambda os l C. 3$. 11 (class.); often 'more than,' both with a comparative, § 36, 12, and also without one : ἐλάτρευσαν τη κτίσει παρά τὸν κτίσαντα R. 1. 25, 12. 3, 14. 5, L. 13. 2, 4, Herm. Mand. x. 1. 2 (in classical Greek only 'in comparison with,' but this easily leads to the other usage). It denotes also (as in class. Greek) that in consequence of which something is or is not : 2 C. 11. 24 τεσσαράκοντα παρά μίαν, i.e. minus one, παρά τι 'almost' L. 5. 7 D, Herm. Sim ix. 19. 3, ού παρά τοῦτο οὐκ ἔστιν ἐκ τοῦ σώματος 1 C. 12. 15 f. 'that is no reason for its not being' etc.-In Mt. and Mc. it is only found in local sense, in the Johannine writings (including the Apocalypse) and in the Catholic Epistles the use with accusative is entirely absent.

5. Hapá with genitive 'from the side of,' only with persons (so classical Greek), with verbs of coming, hearing, receiving etc. $(\dot{a}\pi\dot{a})$ sometimes incorrectly takes its place, § 40, 3); it is also rightly used in $\tau o\hat{s} \lambda\epsilon\lambda a\lambda\eta\mu\dot{\epsilon}vois\pi a\rho\dot{a}\kappa v\rho\dot{\epsilon}ov$ L. 1. 45 (since God did not speak Himself, but the angel who was commissioned by Him, W.-Gr.); but in A. 22. 30 $\pi a\rho\dot{a}$ is found with $\kappa a\tau\eta\gamma o\rho\epsilon\hat{c}\sigma\theta a\iota$, but only in HLP, the other MSS. reading $\dot{v}\pi\dot{o}$. It occurs without a verb in Mc. 3. 21 oi $\pi a\rho'$ $a\dot{v}\tau o\hat{v}$ 'His kinsfolk' (LXX. Dan. Sus. 33), but there are several variants (the phrase in classical Greek could only mean the persons sent out by someone): $\delta a\pi av \eta \sigma a\sigma a \tau \dot{a} \pi a\rho'$ ($\pi a\rho'$ om. D) $\dot{\epsilon} av \tau \eta s$ 5. 26 is good classical Greek; Lc. 10. 7, Ph. 4. 18 etc.

6. Hapá with dative is 'by,' 'beside,' answering the question Where ? and with the exception of Jo. 19. 25 $\pi a \rho \lambda \tau \phi \sigma \tau a v \rho \phi$ is only used of persons (so preponderantly in classical Greek), and moreover not of immediate neighbourhood ¹ (thus not $\kappa a \theta \eta \sigma \theta a_i \pi a \rho a'$, but $\mu \epsilon \tau a'$ Ap. 3. 21, $\sigma \epsilon \nu A$. 8. 31, or $\pi \rho \delta s$ Mt. 26. 55 CD), but 'in the house of anyone' as in Jo. 1. 40: or 'amongsta people' as in Ap. 2. 13. The word is further used in a figurative sense: L. 1. 30 $\epsilon \delta \rho \epsilon s \chi a' \rho \nu \nu$ $\pi a \rho a \tau \hat{\theta} \theta \epsilon \hat{\theta}$, Mt. 19. 26 $\delta \nu \nu a \tau \delta \nu$, $a \delta \nu \nu a \tau \sigma \mu a \rho a' \tau \nu \iota$, especially with the meaning 'in the opinion of anyone' (classical) R. 12. 16 (11. 25, where AB have $\epsilon \nu$) $\phi \rho \delta \nu \iota \mu o \iota \pi a \rho' \delta \mu \epsilon \nu$ (Mt. 21. 25 $\delta \iota \epsilon \lambda \sigma \gamma \ell \delta \epsilon \theta \epsilon \phi$ also A. 26. 8 $a \pi \iota \sigma \tau \sigma \nu \kappa \rho \ell \nu \epsilon a \iota \pi a \rho' \delta \mu \ell \nu$ (Mt. 21. 25 $\delta \iota \epsilon \lambda \sigma \gamma \ell \delta \sigma \tau \alpha \rho'$ $\epsilon \delta a \nu \tau \delta \delta$, but $\epsilon \nu$ BL al., as in 16. 8 etc.).—The dative is the rarest of the cases after $\pi a \rho d$ (on account of its clashing with $\pi \rho \delta s$, vide 7), still nearly all writers use it.²

7. Π_{pois} with accusative is abundantly used with verbs of coming, sending, bringing, saying etc. = 'to' (a person); often also with the verb 'to be' = 'with' or 'at,' taking the place of $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha} \tau i \nu i$, Mt. 13. 56 προς ήμας είσιν, 26. 18 προς σε ποιώ το πάσχα, 26. 55 as a v.l., Mc. 6. 3 etc. (Herm. Mand. xi. 9 etc.); also for $\pi a \rho \dot{a} \tau \iota \nu a$ (cp. supra 4), $\ddot{\epsilon} \theta a \psi a \nu$ πρός τον ανδρα αυτής A. 5. 10, είσηλθες προς ανδρας 11. 3, i.e. 'into their house,' and therefore expressed in Attic by $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha}^3$ Also of places and things: Mt. 21. 1 πρδs (v.l. είs) το όρος, Mc. 11. 1, L. 19. 29: πρὸς τὴν θύραν Mc. 1. 33, 2. 2, 11. 4 (L. 16. 20), answering the questions Whither? and Where? (in the latter case we have correctly πρός τŷ θύρα Jo. 18. 16, πρό των θυρών A. 5. 23, ἐπὶ θύραις Mt. 24. 33): Mc. 3. 7 πρώς την θάλασσαν (v.l. eis, cp. § 39, 5),4 L. 12. 3 $\pi\rho\delta_{S}$ $\tau\delta$ $\delta\tilde{v}_{S}$ $\lambda a\lambda \epsilon i v$. As in classical Greek we also have $\theta\epsilon\rho\mu a i v\epsilon\sigma\theta a i$ $\pi\rho\delta s \tau \delta \phi\omega s$ ('turning towards') Mc. 14. 54 (L. 22. 56).—In temporal sense it is used of approximation (class.) : προς εσπέραν εστίν L. 24. 29 (πρ. έ. κέκλικεν ή ήμέρα D); and with the meaning 'for a certain time' (and no longer) πρός καιρόν, ώραν, όλίγας ήμέρας, το παρόν,5 L. 8. 13, Jo. 5. 35, H. 12. 10 f. etc.—To express hostile and friendly relations, with μάχεσθαι, εἰρήνην ἔχειν, ἀσύμφωνος (A. 28. 25), ήπιος etc.; relevance to, $\tau i \pi \rho \partial s \eta \mu \partial s$; 'what is it to us?' (so classical Greek, § 30, 3) Mt. 27. 4, Jo. 21. 22; Mc. 12. 12 πρός αὐτοὺς τὴν $\pi a \rho a \beta o \lambda \eta \nu \epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu = \text{of them, cp. 10. 5, Mt. 19. 8, L. 12. 41, 18. 1,}$ 20. 19 etc.; with dyaθós, ώφέλιμος, δυνατός and other adjectives ('to,' 'for') E. 4. 29, 1 Tim. 4. 8, 2 C. 10. 4, in which cases it may also denote destination, aim, or result, as in L. 14. 32, 19. 42 τὰ πρòs εἰρήνην, Jo. 4. 35 λευκαὶ πρòs θερισμόν, 11. 4 πρòs θάνατον (1 Jo. 5. 16 f.), A. 3. 10 δ πρός την έλεημοσύνην καθήμενος, Jo. 13. 28 $\pi\rho\delta s \tau i \epsilon l \pi \epsilon v$ 'for what intent.' 'In accordance with' (class.) $\pi\rho\delta s \tau\delta$ συμφέρον 1 C. 12. 7, προς α έπραξεν 2 C. 5. 10, L. 12. 47, Herm. Mand. xi. 3. 'In comparison with' (class.) agia $\pi \rho \delta s R. 8. 18$.

¹ L. 9. 47 has $e\sigma \tau \eta \sigma \epsilon \nu$ and $\pi a \rho' \epsilon a \nu \tau \hat{\omega}$, but D $\epsilon a \nu \tau \delta \nu$.

² All except the author of the Ep. to the Hebrews.

³ Confusion with παρά τινι also takes place in Mc. 9. 31 έκράτησαν πρός έαυτούς, 11. 31 (L. 20. 5) διελογίζοντο πρός έαυτούς, cp. Mt. 21. 25 παρ' έαυτοζς, supra 6.

⁴ L. 24. 50 $\xi \xi \eta \gamma a \gamma e \nu a \delta roots \xi \omega s$ (om. D) $\pi \rho \delta s$ (ets AX al.) B $\eta \theta a \nu i a \nu$, 'as far as to B.,' within view of B.,' for that they entered into the place is not to be thought of ; ets is wrong.

⁵ Classical (Thuc. ii. 22. 1, iii. 40. 7; Plato, Leg. v. 736 A).

8. **Πρός with genitive** only occurs in A. 27. 34 (literary language) τοῦτο πρὸς τῆς ὑμετέρας σωτηρίας ὑπάρχει ('on the side of,' advantageous to,' 'for,' as in Thuc. iii. 59. 1 οὐ πρὸς τῆς ὑμετέρας δόξης τάδε). —**Πρός with dative**, in local sense 'by,' 'at' (classical) is very rare, since the accusative takes its place (cp. supra 7): Mc. 5. 11 πρὸς τῷ ὄρει, L. 19. 37 (D accusative), Jo. 18. 16, 20. 11 (with v.l. accus.), 12, Ap. 1. 13.

§ 44. SYNTAX OF THE ADJECTIVE.

1. The adjective may take over the functions of a substantive not only in the masculine and neuter, to denote persons and things (where these ordinary ideas readily suggest themselves), but also in the feminine : in this case there is a more or less obvious ellipse of some well-known substantive, which is sufficiently indicated by the feminine gender, the sense, and the context. The rule which applies to adjectives holds good also for pronouns and participles, as also for adverbial (or prepositional) expressions with the article. In the following phrases $\gamma \eta$ must be understood: $\dot{\eta} \xi \eta \rho \dot{\alpha}$ (Xenoph., LXX.) Mt. 23. 15 (την θάλασσαν και τ. ξ.), Η. 11. 29 (*AD*E with γηs), ή περίχωροs (Plut.) Mt. 3. 5 etc., ή ορεινή L. 1. 30 (or sc. χώρα), ή έρημος; in έκ της ύπο τον ούρανον είς την ύπ' ούρ. L. 17. 24 it is better to supply μερίδος; in έξ έναντίας αὐτοῦ Mc. 15. 39 (D ἐκεῖ), Tit. 2. 8 (class.) the ellipse is quite obscure.—Ellipse of ήμέρα: τη ἐπιούση A. 16. 11, 20. 15, 21. 18 (with ήμ. 7. 26), τη έχομένη, τη έτέρα 20. 16, L. 13. 33 $(\tau \hat{\eta} \,\epsilon \chi, \, \dot{\eta} \mu, \, A. \, 21. \, 26)$, elsewhere in Acts (and Luke's Gospel) $\tau \hat{\eta} \,\epsilon \xi \hat{\eta} s$; τη (επ)αύριον occurs also in Mt. 27. 62 (Mc., Jo., Ja.); σήμερον και αύριον καὶ τŷ τρίτῃ L. 13. 32 (elsewhere τŷ τρ. ἡμ.); εἰς τὴν αὐριον... πρὸ μιῶs Herm. Šim. vi. 5. 3 (Clem. Hom. ix. 1); ή ἑβδόμη 'the Sabbath' H. 4. 4, τη μιậ τῶν σαββάτων A. 20. 7 etc., μέχρι τῆς σήμερον Mt. 11. 23 etc. (elsewhere with ήμ.); also with $\dot{a}\phi$ ήs 2 P. 3. 4 ('since') $\eta \mu$. may be supplied, cp. A. 24. 11 (Col. 1. 6, 9), but in L. 7. 45 there can only be an ellipse of ὥρας,¹ as there is in έξαυτης 'immediately' (§ 4. Ι); there is the same ellipse in (ή) πρωία, όψία Mt., Mc., Jo., Herm. (not classical), (ή) τετράμηνος Jo. 4. 35, τρίμ. H. 11. 23, cp. ή τρίμηνοs Hdt. ii. 124. 'O86s is elided in L. 19. 4 έκείνης, 5. 19 ποίας (a stereotyped phrase; § 36, 13), είς εὐθείας L. 3. 5 O.T. (but boov's occurs soon after). Further instances are : $\epsilon v \tau \hat{\eta}$ έλληνική (έλληνίδι 🛪) sc. γλώσση Ap. 9. 11, τή πνεούση sc. αύρα A. 27. 40 (αργυρίου μυριάδας πέντε sc. δραχμών A. 19. 19), έπι τη προβατική sc. πόλη Jo. 5. 2, ή δεξιά, αριστερά sc. χείρ Mt. 6. 3 etc., έν δεξιά R. 8. 34 etc. 'on the right hand,' unless this should be read evoletia (classical; N.T. elsewhere has ek degiwv, els rà degià µépy Jo. 21. 6, Hermas has also δεξιά, εὐώνυμα for 'to right' or 'left' Sim. ix. 12. 8), δαρήσεται πολλάς ... όλίγας sc. πληγάς L. 12. 47 (§ 34, 3; class.), cp. 2 C. 11. 24. The following have become storeotyped : $d\pi \delta \mu \iota \hat{a}$ L. 14. 28 'with

¹ It was a stereotyped formula, cp. Herm. Sim. viii. 1. $4 d\phi' \tilde{\eta}s \pi d\nu \tau a \ logs'$ as soon as, ' after that'; 6. 6.

one mind or voice ' $(d\pi \partial \mu \iota \hat{a}_s \, \dot{v} \sigma \pi \lambda a \gamma i \delta os$ Aristoph. Lysistr. 1000);¹ κατα μόναs 'alone' (Thuc. i. 32. 5 etc.) Mc. 4. 10, L. 9. 18 (LXX.; Herm. Mand. xi. 8); frequently κατ' $i\delta (a\nu, i\delta (a, 1 C. 12. 11, \delta \eta \mu o \sigma (a, 1 c))$ 'openly' in publico (with a different meaning in Attic) A. 16. 37 etc. -Similar instances of ellipse are found also with the other genders: $\tau \psi \pi \nu \epsilon_0 \tau \tau$ sc. $\dot{a} \nu \epsilon_{\mu \psi} A. 27. 15 \beta$ text, $\pi \rho \delta \dot{i} \mu \rho \nu \kappa \alpha \delta$ $\dot{b} \psi \iota \mu \rho \nu \kappa c$. $\dot{b} \epsilon \tau \delta \nu$ Ja. 5. 7 with the reading of (N)B, $\tau \partial \tau \rho \dot{\tau} \sigma \nu$, $\tau \epsilon \tau a \rho \tau \sigma \nu$, $\delta \dot{\epsilon} \kappa a \tau \nu \kappa c$. $\mu \dot{\epsilon} \rho \circ \Lambda$ poc. (not classical), $\tau \partial \delta \iota \sigma \pi \epsilon \tau \dot{\epsilon} s c$. $\dot{a} \gamma a \mu a \Lambda$. 19. 35, $\pi \sigma \tau \dot{\eta} \mu \rho \nu$ $\psi \nu \chi \rho \sigma \dot{\nu} s c$. $\ddot{b} \delta \tau \sigma s$ Mt. 10. 42, cp. Ja. 3. 11 (Winer, § 64, 5), $\dot{\epsilon} \nu \lambda \epsilon \nu \kappa \sigma \dot{\epsilon} s$ sc. $\dot{\mu} \alpha \tau (os J O. 12 (Herm. Vis. iv. 2. 1), cp. Mt. 11. 8, Ap. 18. 12, 16.$ --The opposite procedure to an ellipse takes place when Luke $(according to classical precedent) inserts an <math>\dot{a} \nu \dot{\eta} \rho$ with a substantive denoting a person: $\dot{a} . \pi \rho \sigma \dot{\rho} \dot{\tau} \gamma s L. 24. 19, \phi \sigma \epsilon \dot{v} S A. 3. 14, \dot{d} \nu \delta \rho \dot{\rho}$ 'Iov $\delta \alpha \dot{\psi} 10. 28$, and in addresses $\ddot{a} \nu \delta \rho \epsilon s \Gamma a \lambda \iota \lambda a \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \iota, 'A \theta \eta \nu a \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \iota \dot{d} \epsilon \lambda \phi o \dot{\epsilon}$ etc., A. 1. 16 and elsewhere.

2. The use of an adjectival instead of an adverbial expression in the case of certain ideas that are annexed to the predicate is found in the N.T. as in the classical language, but rarely: the instances are mainly in Luke's writings. $\Delta \epsilon \upsilon \tau \epsilon \rho a i o \iota \eta \lambda \theta o \mu \epsilon \nu$ 'on the second day ' A. 28. 13, cp. πεμπταίοι 20. 6 D for αχρι ήμερων πέντε of the other MSS. Γενόμεναι ορθριναι επί το μνημείον L. 24. 22 (ορθρινός έλήλυθας Herm. Sim. v. l. 1). Αὐτομάτη ἦνοίγη Α. 12. 19, Mc. 4. 28. Έπιστη aiφνίδιος L. 21. 34; also έκών, ακων, πρώτος 'first of all' (R. 10. 19); ανάστηθι ορθός Α. 14. 10, τοῦτο αληθές εἴρηκας (ΝΕ άληθώs²) Jo. 4. 18 (like Demosth. 7. 43 τοῦτό γ' ἀληθή [other MS. $d\lambda\eta\theta\epsilon_s$] $\lambda\epsilon\gamma\sigma\nu\sigma\iota$). There is a certain amount of mixture of $\mu\delta\nu\sigma_s$ and the adverb µóvov, just as in the classical language the one use borders closely on the other : Mc. 6. 8 $\mu\eta\delta\epsilon\nu$ ϵ i $\mu\eta$ $\delta\beta\delta\sigma\nu$ $\mu\delta\nu\sigma\nu$ ($\mu\delta\nu\eta\nu$ D), A. 11. 19 μηδενί εί μή μόνον (μόνοις D) Ιουδαίοις, 1 Jo. 5. 6 ουκ έν τώ ύδατι μόνον (B μόνω). If the word 'alone' refers without any doubt to a verb (or else to a predicative idea like ἀκροαταί Ja. 1. 22, ἀργαί 1 Tim. 5. 13), then $\mu \dot{o} \nu o \nu$ is the only possible expression; but it is also not contrary to Greek idiom to say (H. 12. 26) σείσω οὐ μόνον την γην, αλλά και τον ουρανόν 'I am not contented with earthshaking only,' 2 Tim. 4. 8 où μόνον δὲ ἐμοί, ἀλλὰ καὶ πῶσιν (to limit the gift to one would be too little). For the reverse use of adverb for adj. see § 76, 1.

3. On the coincidence in meaning of the comparative and superlative and the reason for it, we have already spoken in § 11, 3; the two degrees are in no way differentiated, as they are in modern Greek or in French, by the addition of the article for the superlative, but are indistinguishable:³ see 1 C. 13. 13 πίστις ἐλπὶς ἀγάπη, τὰ τρία ταῦτα· μείζων δὲ τούτων ἡ ἀγάπη. The form which has remained in ordinary use is in nearly all cases that of the comparative; πρῶτος

¹ Strictly of runners in a race, who rush off together at the fall of the single rope ($\delta\sigma\pi\lambda\eta\gamma\xi$, $\delta\sigma\pi\lambda\alpha\gamma ls$).

² Less classical is $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega \delta \mu \partial \nu \delta \eta \partial \omega \sigma$ L. 9. 27, 12. 44, 21. $3 = d \mu \eta \nu$ (which D reads in 12. 44 and Cyprian in 21. 3.

³ Barnabas agrees with the N.T. use, e.g. 12. 2 $\dot{\upsilon}\psi\eta\lambda\delta\tau\epsilon\rho\sigma\sigma$ $\pi\dot{\alpha}\nu\tau\omega\nu$.

and $\epsilon \sigma_{X} \alpha \tau \sigma_{S}$ are the only exceptions to this (§ 11, 5). Now whereas the superlative in classical Greek is used not only where there is a definite comparison made of several things, but often in what may be called an absolute sense, equivalent to our 'very,' while the classical comparative occasionally corresponds to an English positive ($\theta \hat{a} \tau \tau \sigma \nu$ = 'quickly'), so the New Testament comparative may have an ambiguous meaning: Jo. 13. 27 δ ποιεῖς ποίησον τάχιον (Luther 'bald' [A.V. 'quickly']; but it may also mean 'as quickly as possible'; cp. 1 Tim. 3. 14, where there is a v.l. $\epsilon \nu \tau \alpha \chi \epsilon \iota$; in H. 13. 19 probably 'more quickly,' 23 $\dot{\epsilon}$ àv τάχιον $\ddot{\epsilon}$ ρχηται 'if he comes soon'; in A. 17. 15 we have ώς τάχιστα from the literary language, but D reads έν τάχει).1 Also ασσον, μαλλον, αμεινον etc., similarly νεώτερος or -ρον (καινότερον) can in the classical language be rendered in many cases by the positive (although we also use similar phrases such as 'come nearer,' 'it is better to ...'); in the N.T. cp. (besides $\pi \rho \epsilon \sigma \beta i \tau \epsilon \rho os$ used as the designation of a Jewish or Christian official) A. 17. 21 λέγειν τι η ακούειν καινότερον (Kühner ii.² 848),² whereas ασσον παρελέγοντο την Κρήτην 27. 13 (if θασσον be not the right reading) must mean 'as near as possible'; so in any case 24. 22 ακριβέστερον είδώς = ακριβέστατα, 25. 10 καλλιον επιγινώσκεις = apiora, and 2 Tim. 1. 18 should be similarly explained $\beta \epsilon \lambda \tau_{iov} \sigma \vartheta$ γινώσκεις (not 'thou knowest better than I,' which can certainly not be right).³ In A. 17. 22 ώς δεισιδαιμονεστέρους ύμας θεωρώ, it is doubtful whether the comp. has its classical sense of 'unusually (too) god-fearing' or means 'very god-fearing'; but σπουδαιότερος 2 C. 8. 17 can only mean 'very zealous'; and frequently there is a corresponding use of the English comparative, the standard of comparison being readily supplied, 2 C. 7. 7 ώστε με μαλλον χαρήναι 'still more.' In Hermas, on the other hand, the elative sense is regularly expressed by the superlative, $\dot{a}\gamma a\theta \dot{\omega} \tau a \tau o s$, $\sigma \epsilon \mu \nu \dot{o} \tau a \tau o s$ etc., while in other cases he also uses comparative and superlative interchangeably (Mand. viii. 4. πάντων ποιηρότατα needs correction); Sim. ix. 10. 7 is noticeable, ήσαν δὲ ίλαρώτεραι, which appears to be used in elative sense, and therefore to need correction, but the Latin has hilares satis.—Oi $\pi\lambda\epsilon$ ioves may mean 'the greater number,' as in-1 C. 15. 6 éf δv of $\pi \lambda \epsilon i$ ous $\mu \epsilon v \circ v \sigma v v$, 10. 5, but also 'others,' 'more,' 9. 19 ίνα τούς πλείονας κερδήσω? (τ. πλ. αὐτῶν Origen), 2 C. 2. 6, 4. 15, 9. 2, Ph. 1. 14 as opposed to the person or persons who have

¹ Cp. Clem. Hom. i. 14 τάχιών σε καταλήψομαι, 'as quickly as possible,' xi. 13 τάχιου ἐπιλανθάνεσθε ('forthwith'); in a quite different sense ix. 23 ώς τάχιου είπου = φθάσας, modo, 'just before.' For the superlative or elative sense cp. also Papyr. Berl. Aeg. Urk. 417, 451, 615. Cp. πυκνότερον A. 24. 26 where it is ambiguous ('very often' or 'so much the oftener'); Clem. Cor. ii. 17. 3 probably 'as often as possible,' Clem. Hom. Ep. ad Jac. 9 πυκκύτερον ... ώς δύπασθε (in the weaker sense ibid. iv. 2, viii. 7), similarly συνεχέστερον iii. 69.

² Hermas, Vis. iii. 10. 3 $\lambda lav \pi \rho \epsilon \sigma \beta \upsilon \tau \epsilon \rho a$, 5 $\delta \lambda \eta \nu \epsilon \omega \tau \epsilon \rho a$ 'very old,' 'quite youthful,' Sim. ix. 11. 5.

³ The passage adduced by Winer, Luscian Piscat. 20 $\check{a}\mu\epsilon\nu\nu\nu\sigma\sigma$ of of $\sigma\bar{a}$ $\tau a\hat{v}\tau a$, $\mathring{\omega}$ $\Phi\iota\lambda\sigma\sigma\sigma\phi la$, is different, so far as the meaning of the comp. is concerned: the goddess did actually know better than Lucian. hitherto been considered; cp. $\tau a \hat{v} \tau a \epsilon i \pi \dot{\omega} \nu \kappa a \hat{\tau} a \tau o \dot{v} \tau \omega \nu \pi \lambda \epsilon i \sigma a$ Clem. Hom. Ep. ad Jac. 17 (so A. 2. 40 $\dot{\epsilon} \tau \dot{\epsilon} \rho o i s \tau \epsilon \lambda \dot{\delta} \gamma o i s \pi \lambda \dot{\epsilon} i \delta \sigma i \nu ?).^1$ —On the remnants of the superlative see § 11, 3 (especially for $\mu \dot{a} \lambda i \sigma \tau a$ and $\mu \hat{a} \lambda \lambda o \nu$); on the forms of expression to introduce the object compared (gen., η , $\pi a \rho \dot{a}$ or $\dot{v} \pi \dot{\epsilon} \rho$) § 36, 12.

4. The positive may also be used with the meaning of a comparative (or superlative): this occasionally takes place in the classical language, but it is mainly due to the example of the Semitic language, which has no degrees of comparison at all. Oi $\pi o \lambda \lambda o l$ are the many as opposed to the few, *i.e.* the majority, in classical Greek and Mt. 24. 12, frequently in Mc. (Gregory-Tisch. 128) 6. 2 BL (v.l. without oi), 9. 26 ABLA (same v.l.), cp. 12. 37 infra; in St. Paul $\tau \hat{\omega} v \pi \sigma \lambda \lambda \hat{\omega} v$ 1 C. 10. 33 is opposed to $\epsilon \mu a v \tau \sigma \hat{v}$, and is therefore parallel to the same writer's use of oi $\pi \lambda \epsilon i o \nu \epsilon s$ elsewhere; $\pi\lambda\epsilon\hat{i}\sigma\tau$ os is also found in this sense : Mt. 21. 8 ó $\pi\lambda\epsilon\hat{i}\sigma\tau$ os $\ddot{o}\chi\lambda$ os ² = ó πολὺς ổ. of Mc. 12. 37 (aἱ πλείσται δυνάμεις αὐτοῦ Mt. 11. 20 'his numerous miracles,' cp. τὰ πολλὰ γράμματα A. 26. 24). A further example is (Buttm. p. 73) Mt. 22. 36 ποία ἐντολὴ μεγάλη ἐν τῷ νόμψ 'the greatest,' cp. 5. 19. With the idea of comparison more clearly marked (by the addition of a gen.), we have $\tau \dot{a} \ \ddot{a} \gamma \iota a \ \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \ \dot{a} \gamma \iota \omega \nu$ H. 9. 2 f. (LXX.), a use which is by no means unclassical (Kakà κακών, Kühner ii.² 20). In the case where the comparison is introduced by $\delta \pi \epsilon \rho$ or $\pi a \rho a$ (§ 36, 12), on the analogy of the Semitic construction, the adjective may be either positive or comparative : L. 13. 2 $\dot{\alpha}\mu a \rho \tau \omega \lambda o \dot{\lambda} \pi a \rho \dot{\alpha} \pi a \nu \tau a s$ (where a comparative was wanting, cp. δεδικαιωμένος παρά 18. 14 BL; frequent in LXX., e.g. μέγας παρά, πραύς παρά Ex. 18. 11, Num. 12. 3). The positive may however also be used with η : Mt. 18. 8 f, Mc. 9. 43, 45 καλόν έστιν ... η (LXX. Gen. 49. 12 $\lambda \epsilon \nu \kappa o i \eta$); similarly where there is no adjective (and $\mu \hat{a} \lambda \lambda o \nu$ is therefore to be supplied) L. 15. 7 xapà έσται ... η, 1 C. 14. 19 θέλω ... η, Lc. 17. 2 λυσιτελεί ... η, for which there are classical parallels.³

5. The comparative is heightened, as in classical Greek, by the addition of $\pi \circ \lambda \dot{\psi}$ or $\pi \circ \lambda \lambda \hat{\psi}$: 2 C. 8. 22, Jo. 4. 41; occasionally too by the accumulation of several comparatives: Ph. 1. 23 $\pi \circ \lambda \lambda \hat{\psi} \gamma \lambda \rho$ $\mu \hat{\alpha} \lambda \lambda \circ \nu \kappa \rho \epsilon \hat{\sigma} \sigma \sigma \circ \nu$ (Clem. Cor. i. 48. 6 $\delta \sigma \psi \delta \delta \kappa \epsilon \hat{\iota} \mu \hat{\alpha} \lambda \lambda \circ \nu \mu \epsilon \dot{\ell} \zeta \omega \nu \epsilon \dot{\ell} \nu \alpha \dot{\iota}$ is merely pleonastic, like Herm. Sim. ix. 28. 4 $\mu \hat{\alpha} \lambda \lambda \circ \nu \epsilon \nu \delta \delta \delta \delta \delta \epsilon \epsilon \rho \circ \rho \circ (-\sigma \epsilon \rho \omega s D) \epsilon \kappa \eta \rho \nu \sigma \sigma \circ \nu$, cp. §11, 3, note 4. The same accumulation appears in classical Greek, Schwab Syntax der Comparation iii. 59 ff. But in $\eta \delta \lambda \sigma \nu 2$ C. 12. 9 the words should not be taken together: the sense being 'Gladly (superl. with elative force, and a stereotyped phrase) will I rather glory in my weaknesses.'

¹ Classical Greek had the same use : $\tau \delta \nu \pi \lambda \epsilon l \sigma \alpha \chi \rho \delta \nu \sigma \nu$ 'a longer time' (than at present), $\pi \lambda \epsilon l \sigma \epsilon \kappa \lambda \delta \gamma \sigma \nu$ (Soph. Tr. 731) 'further speech.' Cp. Kühn. ii. 549; E. Tournier, Rev. de philol. 1877, 253; O. Schwah, Syntax der Comparation ii. 178.

² Plato, Leg. 700 C.

³ Kühner ii.² 841 (so Herodotus ix. 26 fin. δίκαιόν ἐστιν ... ή).

§ 45. NUMERALS.

1. The first day of the month or of the week is expressed in the LXX. and in the N.T. not by $\pi\rho\dot{\omega}\tau\eta$ but by $\mu\dot{a}$, whereas for the higher numbers the ordinal is used, $\delta\epsilon\nu\tau\dot{\epsilon}\rhoa$ and so on: of course the day being a single day (in the case of $\delta\epsilon\nu\tau\dot{\epsilon}\rhoa$ 'the second' etc.) does not admit of being expressed by a plural, while all other numbers but $\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}s$ must necessarily be plurals. Thus $\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}s\ \mu\dot{a}\nu\ \sigma a\beta\beta\dot{a}\tau\omega\nu$ 'on Sunday' Mt. 28. I, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu\ \mu\dot{a}\ \tau\sigma\dot{\nu}\ \mu\eta\nu\deltas\ \tau\sigma\dot{\nu}\ \delta\epsilon\nu\tau\dot{\epsilon}\rho\sigma\nu$ Num. 1. I. This is not a classical,¹ but undoubtedly a Hebrew idiom (Gesenius-Kautzsch, § 134, 4), with this difference that in Hebrew the later days of the month are also denoted by cardinal numbers. This N.T. usage (found also in A. 20. 7, 1 C. 16. 2, Mc. 16. 2) is violated in 'Mc.' 16. 9 $\pi\rho\dot{\omega}\tau\eta\ \sigma a\beta\beta\dot{a}\tau\sigma\nu$, for which Eusebius however quotes $\tau\dot{\eta}\ \mu\mu\dot{q}$.

2. Eîs already begins now and again to pass from the sense of a numeral (one as opposed to several) into that of the indefinite article; the latter development, which has analogies in the German and Romance languages, appears completely carried out in modern Greek. The Hebrew Mr, moreover, afforded a precedent to the N.T. writers. In Mt. 8. 19 προσελθών είς γραμματεύς, 26. 69 μία παιδίσκη, Ap. 8. 13 ήκουσα ένὸς ἀετοῦ etc., εἶς = the classical τις; and similarly we find ϵ is with the gen. (or $\epsilon \xi$): L. 15. 15 $\epsilon \nu i \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \pi o \lambda i \tau \hat{\omega} \nu$, Ap. 7. 13 ets ék (ék om. 8) $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu \pi \rho \epsilon \sigma \tilde{\beta} \nu \tau \epsilon \rho \omega \nu$;² it is used in conjunction with ris (classical) eis ris es avrŵr L. 22. 50, still in such a way that ϵ is forms a contrast to the remaining body (Jo. 11. 49, a v.l. in Mc. 14. 47, 51). Another unclassical use is that of $\delta \epsilon i s \dots \delta \epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho o s$ for $\delta \mu \epsilon \nu$ ($\epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho o s$) ... $\delta \delta \epsilon$ ($\epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho o s$), Mt. 6. 24, L. 7. 41 $\tau \delta \nu \epsilon \nu a$ - τον δέ ένα Barn. 7. 6, 17), είς ... και είς ..., Mt. 27. 38, L. 18. 10 D (Herm. Mand. vi. 2. 1; on the model of Heb. TEX. e.g. in Ex. 17. 12), Mc. 4. 8, 20, cp. Mt. 13. 8, 23 (§ 46, 2) etc., though even classical writers repeatedly employ ϵ s when dividing a multitude (or a duality) into its component parts, Hyperid. cont. Athenogenes § 14 f. ό είς νόμος ... έτερος ν. κ.τ.λ., Xenoph. Cyrop. i. 2. 4 τέτταρα ... εν μεν ... εν δε ... άλλο ... άλλο; Demosth. xviii. 215 τρία ... εν μεν ... ετερον δέ ... τρίτον δέ, Arist. Rhet. ii. 20 f., 1393 A, 27 εἴδη δύο, ἕν μέν – ἕν δέ, (where the full meaning of the numeral is preserved), cp. Ap. 17. 10 έπτά ... οἱ πέντε ... ὁ εἶς ... ὁ ἄλλος. See § 46, 2. Lastly, a quite unclassical but Semitic usage is that of είς τον ένα for αλλήλους 1 Th. 5. 11 (1 C. 4. 6 είς ὑπέρ τοῦ ἐνὸς κατὰ τοῦ ἐτέρου is different:

¹ Els kal elkootós, $\tau \rho_{\rm Lakootos}$ (the regular form even in Attic inscriptions) is essentially different, since this is only a case of the formation of the ordinal being imperfectly carried out, as in the Latin *unus et vicesimus*.

² This use of ϵis is found already in Attic writers, $\epsilon \nu l \tau \hat{\alpha} \nu \pi \sigma \lambda \iota \tau \hat{\alpha} \nu$ Hyperid. Lycophr. 13, $\tau \hat{\alpha} \nu \epsilon \tau a i \rho \omega \nu \epsilon is$ Aesch. c. Ctesiph. 89, although there is always the implied meaning 'belonging to this definite number (or class),' so that the ϵis has a force which is quite absent from it in Luke loc. cit. The instances adduced for the weakened sense of ϵis from Plato and Xenophon (e.g. Plat. Leg. ix. 855 D) are quite irrelevant, since the ϵis is there a true numeral. the sense being, every individual on behalf of the one against the other, fully expressed $\epsilon \tilde{i}_s \, \dot{\upsilon} \pi \epsilon \rho \, \tau o \tilde{\upsilon} \, \tilde{\epsilon} . \kappa . \tau . \, \dot{\epsilon} \tau . \kappa a \tilde{\epsilon} \, \tilde{\epsilon} \tau \epsilon \rho o s \, \dot{\upsilon} \pi . \tau . \, \dot{\epsilon} \nu \delta s$ [the opposite person to the previous $\dot{\epsilon} \nu \delta s$] $\kappa . \tau . \, \dot{\epsilon} \tau .$).

145

3. 'Avà and κατὰ with a numeral have a distributive sense as in classical Greek: Mc. 6. 40 κατὰ (v.l. ἀνὰ as in L. 9. 14) ἐκατὸν καὶ κατὰ πεντήκοντα (Herm. Sim. ix. 2. 3 ἀνὰ δύο παρθένοι, cp. § 39, 2); besides this we have after the Semitic manner¹ δύο δύο Mc. 6. 7 (ἀνὰ δύο D as in L. 10. 1), just as for κατὰ συμπόσια, κ. πρασιάς Mc. 6. 39 f. has συμπόσια συμπόσια, πρασιαὶ (Herm. Sim. viii. 2. 8 τάγματα τάγματα, 4. 2).² On ἀνὰ εἶς ἕκαστος, εἶς καθ εἶς and the like, see § 51, 4.

4. 2 P. 2. 5 **öyöov** Nŵe ἐφύλαξεν, 'Noah with seven others,' is correct classical Greek (though öγð. αὐτ∂ν would be more usual).— Mt. 18. 22 ἔως ἑβδομηκοντάκις ἑπτά is peculiar for 'seventy times seven times': D* alone reads ἑβδ. ἑπτάκις.—'Now for the third time' is τρίτον τοῦτο (§ 34, 3), like Herod. v. 76 τέταρτον τοῦτο (W.); 'for the third time' is (τδ) τρίτον Mc. 14. 41 etc., ἐκ τρίτου Mt. 26. 44, cp. A. 10. 15.

§ 46. THE ARTICLE. I. 'O, η , $\tau \delta$, as pronoun; the article with independent substantives.

1. The article δ , $\dot{\eta}$, $\tau \delta$, which had long since been developed out of the old demonstrative pronoun, retains on the whole in the N.T. all its former usages, and amongst them to a certain extent its use as a **pronoun** ('this one,' 'he'). There is here, however, a confusion (found also in other Hellenistic writings, and indeed in the classical period, Kühner ii.² 779 f.) between the forms of the $\ddot{a}\rho\theta\rho\rho\nu$ προτακτικόν $\dot{\delta}$, $\dot{\eta}$, $\tau \delta$ and those of the $\ddot{a}\rho\theta\rho\rho\nu$ ὑποτακτικόν ös, $\ddot{\eta}$, \ddot{o} , since the latter are employed as demonstratives instead of relatives.

2. 'O $\mu i \nu - \delta \delta i$, 'the one – the other.' This use is no longer very frequent in the N.T., and usually takes the form of $\delta s \mu i \nu - \delta s \delta i$ (neut. $\delta \mu i \nu ... \delta \delta i$, plur. $a \mu i \nu$, $o i s \mu i \nu$, $o v s \mu i \nu$ etc.); moreover the (Semitic) use of $\epsilon i s$ encroaches upon it, § 45, 2, though the latter is not everywhere synonymous with it, and can form no plural. Thus $\delta \mu i \nu - \delta$ $\delta i refers either to persons already familiar, the one – the other, this$ one—that one, or is quite indefinite, one – another; on the otherhand it does not serve as a means of differentiating a number ofpersons or things when they are introduced for the first time; hence, $whereas Luke can say (23. 33) rois <math>\kappa \alpha \kappa o i \rho \gamma o v, \delta \nu \mu i \nu - \delta \nu \delta i$, the phrase in Mt. 27. 38 is $\delta i o \lambda \rho \sigma \tau a i$, $\epsilon i s$ (class. $\epsilon i s \mu i \nu - \epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho o s$ δi , cp. § 45, 2. Other instances of $\delta s \mu i \nu - \delta s \delta i$: Mt. 13. 4 ($a \mu i \nu - a \lambda \lambda a \delta i$ [D $a \delta i$]; similar freedom as to the sequence in the clauses is frequent elsewhere, cp. Kühner ii.² 508 note), 13. 8, 16. 14, 21. 35, 22. 5 ($\delta s MBC*L$, o i D), 25. 15, 26. 67 ($o i \delta \delta a \log i$, 'but others'),

¹LXX. Gen. 7. 3, 9. From classical Greek Winer adduces Aesch. Pers. 981 μυρία μυρία πεμπαστάν, i.e. τόν κατά μυρίουν άριθμοῦντα.

² A mixed construction dvà δύο δύο occurs in the Gospel of Peter 35.

28. 17 (ditto),¹ Mc. 4. 4, 12. 5, L. 8. 5, Jo. 7. 12, A. 14. 4, 17. 18 ($\tau \iota \iota \iota \circ s$... oi $\delta \delta$), 32, 27. 44, 28. 24, R. 9. 21, 14. 2 ($\delta s \mu \epsilon \iota - \delta$ [$\delta s FG$] $\delta \epsilon d\sigma \theta \epsilon \upsilon \delta \nu$), 5, 1 C. 11. 21, 12. 8, 28, 2 C. 2. 16 ('the latter' - 'the former,') Ph. 1. 16 (ditto), 2 Tim. 2. 20, Jd. 22. On the other hand the only instances of $\delta \mu \epsilon \nu - \delta \delta \epsilon$ are: 1 C. 7. 7 $\delta \mu \epsilon \nu$ obtains $\delta \epsilon \delta$ out we ($\delta s \kappa^{e} KL$), E. 4. 11 to $\kappa \mu \epsilon \nu - \sigma \delta \delta$ are: 1 C. 7. 7 $\delta \mu \epsilon \nu$ out we have $\delta \epsilon \mu \epsilon \nu - \sigma \delta \delta \delta$ are: 1 d. 7. 20 f. 23 f. 12. 10 we have $\delta \epsilon \mu \epsilon \nu - \sigma \delta \delta$, referring to definite persons (in 7. 20 f. the priests under the old system – Jesus), who are indicated in this way instead of by a repetition of the names, a case in which δs is never used: Mt. 13. 23 also appears to be an instance, $\delta s \delta \eta$ (D has to the verse = verse 8, where δ is neuter, and it should therefore probably be so taken here as well, cp. Mc. 4. 20 $\epsilon \nu \tau \mu \iota \kappa \sigma \nu \pi \kappa \tau \lambda$. (where it is quite wrong to write $\epsilon \nu$).

3. 'O Sì 'but he,' i Sì, oi Sì (only in the nominative) used in continuing a narrative, are common in all historical writings (least often in St. John);² the use of 5 µèv our 'he then,' without a Sè strictly corresponding to the $\mu \hat{\epsilon} \nu$, is confined to the Acts. O $\delta \hat{\epsilon}$, $\delta \mu \hat{\epsilon} \nu \delta \hat{\nu}$ show a special tendency to take a participle after them, which gives rise occasionally to ambiguity. For instance, in A. 8. 4 of $\mu \dot{\epsilon} \nu$ of ν $\delta_{ia\sigma\pi a \rho \epsilon \nu \tau \epsilon s}$ means 'they therefore that were scattered,' since in order to separate of from $\delta i a \sigma \pi a \rho \epsilon v \tau \epsilon s$ it would be necessary for the subject referred to to have been mentioned just before, whereas here it is a long way off (verse 1); but in 1. 6 of $\mu \epsilon \nu$ our $\sigma \nu \nu \epsilon \lambda \theta \delta \nu \tau \epsilon s$ it is ambiguous whether the meaning is 'they therefore who were come together' or 'they therefore, when they were come together.' The demonstrative o (os) no longer appears in connection with other particles: there is no trace of kai os, kai tov in the continuation of a narrative, nor of $\tau \partial \nu$ kai $\tau \partial \nu$ 'such and such a one,' or $\pi \rho \partial \tau \partial \nu$ 'formerly' etc.

4. 'O, $\dot{\eta}$, $\tau \delta$ used as the article with appellatives has as in classical Greek a double import: it is either individual or generic, *i.e.* it either calls special attention to one definite individual out of a class, $\dot{\delta} \ \ddot{a}\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\sigma s = o\bar{v}\tau\sigma s \ \ddot{a}\ \ddot{a}\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\sigma s$, or it contrasts the whole class as such with other classes, oi $\ \ddot{a}\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\sigma \iota$ opposed to $\tau\dot{a}\ \ddot{a}\lambda\lambda a\ \dot{\xi}\omega a$ (or to $\dot{\delta}\ \theta\epsilon\delta s$). The latter use is also derived from the demonstrative sense: 'these persons,' to wit 'men.' This sense of the article was known by grammarians in early times (Apollonius Dyscolus) as the 'anaphoric' sense, because there is a reference back ($\ \dot{a}\nu a\phi\rho\delta a$) to something already familiar or supposed to be familiar: $\dot{\delta}\ \delta\delta\circ\lambda\delta s\ \sigma\sigma\nu$ is 'your slave' (the particular slave whom you know I mean, or the one whom you have), but $\ \delta\circ\hat{v}\lambda\delta s\ \sigma\sigma\nu$ is 'a slave of yours.' If therefore an individual who is not yet familiar is introduced for the first

¹ In these last two passages there is no partition indicated at the beginning of the sentence, but it is only through the $oi \delta \dot{c}$ that it becomes apparent that the preceding statement was not applicable to the whole body. Cp. Winer, § 17, 2, who compares passages from classical authors.

² Jo. 5. 11 ó dè d π ekpl $\theta\eta$ ×C^{*}GKL al., d π ekp. alone C³DEF al., a peculiar reading ds dè d π . AB, as in Mc. 15. 23 ds dè NB. Cp. § 79, 4.

time, or if the whole class (though familiar) is not embraced, but only an undefined part of it, then no article need be used, as *e.g.* in the case of a predicate: for in $i\mu\epsilon is \mu a\rho\tau\nu\rho\epsilon \tau oi\tau\omega\nu$ there is no $a\nu a\phi o\rho a$ to particular well-known witnesses, nor is the whole class embraced: this is the ordinary rule for expressing a predicate (exceptions are given in § 47, 3).

5. The use of the individual article, in cases where it is used at all, is generally speaking obligatory, at least according to classical usage it is so: the necessity for its use is not removed by the insertion of a demonstrative or a possessive : obtos o $d\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\sigma\sigma$, $\dot{\eta}$ $\dot{\epsilon}\mu\dot{\eta}$ οἰκία. The generic article may be far more readily dispensed with, especially in the case where the genus is represented by only a single specimen. With natural objects : we have $\delta \eta \lambda \log, \eta \sigma \epsilon \lambda \eta \nu \eta$, but also ήλίου δὲ (τοῦ δὲ ή. D) ἀνατείλαντος Mt. 13. 6, L. 21. 5 ἔσονται σημεία έν ήλίω και σελήνη και άστροις, followed by a contrasted statement και έπι της γης 'here on earth': A. 27. 20 μήτε δε ήλίου μήτε ἄστρων ἐπιφαινόντων, ' neither sun nor stars shining,' 1 C. 15. 41 ἄλλη δόξα ήλίου, και άλλη δόξα σελήνης, και άλλη δόξα αστέρων, Ap. 7. 2, 16. 12 από ανατολής ήλίου, 22. 5 ούκ έχουσιν χρείαν φωτός λύχνου καί $\phi\omega\tau$ do s $\eta\lambda$ iou (cp. 21. 23 with art.). In a certain number of these examples the omission or insertion of the article was obviously a matter of choice; but in A. 27. 20 the meaning appears to be intensified by the omission 'neither any sun,' and with 1 C. 15. 41 verse 39 must be compared, $\ddot{a}\lambda\lambda\eta \mu \dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ($\sigma \dot{a}\rho \dot{\xi}$) $\dot{a}\nu\theta\rho \omega \pi \omega\nu$, $\ddot{a}\lambda\lambda\eta \delta \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \tau \eta \nu \hat{\omega}\nu$ etc., and the reason for the absence of the article might be in both passages that the reference is not so much to the species taken as a whole, or to the uniquely existing sun, as to the distinctive characteristic of the species or of the individual object in the respective Cp. 2 C. 11. 26 κινδύνοις έκ γένους (my kindred, i.e. Jews), passages. καὶ ἐξ ἐθνῶν (elsewhere usually τὰ ἔθνη, vide infra), κ. ἐν θαλάσση; the article would here be wrong. Further instances of the absence of the art. with θάλασσα : Mt. 4. 15 O.T. δδον θαλάσσης, A. 10. 6, 12 $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha} \theta \dot{\alpha} \lambda \alpha \sigma \sigma \alpha \nu$ (after a preposition or a substantive equivalent to a prep., § 40, 9), L. 21. 25 ήχους θαλάσσης, Ja. 1. 6 κλύδωνι θαλάσσης, Jd. 13 ки́µата а́урга $\theta a \lambda$. (part of the predicate, and also due to the distinctive character of the sea being the point of the comparison). With $\gamma \hat{\eta}$ 'earth' the cases of omission of the art. are mainly after a preposition (though even here the cases of insertion far preponderate): $\epsilon \pi i \gamma \eta \hat{s}$ Mt. 28. 18 (with $\tau \eta \hat{s}$ BD), L. 2. 14, 1 C. 8. 5, E. 3. 15, H. 12. 25, 8. 4 (in all these instances except the last in conjunction with ϵv oupavois (- $\hat{\psi}$) or $a\pi'$ oupavoir or ϵv in the second έκ γης 1 C. 15. 47 (opposed to έξ σύρ.), cp. also $d\pi \partial d\kappa \rho \sigma v$ γης έως ἄκρου οὐρανοῦ Mc. 13. 27. Besides these we have A. 17. 24 οὐρανοῦ καὶ γη̂s κύριος, 2 P. (3. 5 οὐρανοὶ ... καὶ γη̂ 'a new heaven,' similarly 13), 3. 10 ουρανοί (with of ABC)... στοιχεία ... γη (with η CP), cp. 12. Among these instances, in 1 C. 15. 47 the omission was no doubt obligatory, since $\epsilon \kappa \gamma \eta s$ is 'earthy' (the essential property of earth is referred to). Our avos (-oi) with a preposition frequently stands without an article (often there is a diversity of reading in the MSS.); the omission is obligatory in Mt. 21. 25 f. ξ oupavou ... ξ av $\theta \rho \omega \pi \omega \nu$ = 'of heavenly' or 'human origin'; so in Mc. 11. 30 f., L. 20. 4 f. Omission of art. where there is no prep. occurs in A. 3. 21, 17. 24 (for 2 P. 3. 5, 12 vide supra). Kóσµos: $\epsilon v \kappa \delta \sigma \mu \varphi$ 1 C. 8. 4, 14. 10, Ph. 2. 15 etc. (v.l. in 2 P. 1. 4); of one world as opposed to another 2 P. 1. 5 (see above on $\gamma \hat{\eta}$); $\kappa \delta \sigma \mu ov$ forming part of the anarthrous predicate R. 4. 13, 11. 12, 20; the omission is regular in all writers in the formula $\delta \pi \delta \kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \beta \alpha \lambda \hat{\eta} s$ ($\delta \rho \chi \hat{\eta} s$, $\kappa \tau (\sigma \epsilon \omega s)$ $\kappa \delta \sigma \mu ov$ Mt. 25. 34 etc., cp. $\delta \pi' \delta \rho \chi \hat{\eta} s$ $\kappa \tau (\sigma \epsilon \omega s)$ Mc. 10. 6, 13. 19, 2 P. 3. 4; other instances 2 C. 5. 19, G. 6. 14.—The points of the compass, only found in connection with prepositions, never have the article: $\kappa \alpha \tau \lambda \mu \epsilon \sigma \eta \mu \beta \rho \ell \alpha \nu$ A. 8. 26, $\delta \pi \delta \delta \alpha \alpha \tau \alpha \delta \omega \nu$ Mt. 2. 1, 8. 11 etc., $\delta \pi \delta \delta \nu \sigma \mu \omega \nu L$. 12. 54, $\delta \pi \delta$ $\beta \rho \rho \rho \kappa \kappa \lambda' \epsilon \sigma v \delta \tau v \delta \tau v$ 13. 29 (so in other writers); also $\beta \alpha \sigma (\lambda \sigma \sigma \alpha \nu \delta \tau \sigma)$ Mt. 12. 42 of more definite regions in the south, but $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\eta} \delta \nu \alpha \tau \alpha \lambda \hat{\eta}$ is used in the same sense in Mt. 2. 2, 9.

6. Another class of Being, unique of Its kind, is expressed by θεός, κύριος (=,,,,, but also Christ), and these words come near being proper names; it is not surprising that the article is frequently dropped. This happens especially after a preposition $(d\pi \partial \theta \epsilon_0 \hat{v})$ Jo. 3. 2, ev rupiy passim), or when the word is in the genitive and dependent on an anarthrous noun (particularly a predicate), e.g. Mt. 27. 20 ότι θεού είμι υίός, L. 3. 2 εγένετο δήμα θεού (subject), although we also have ei vios ei τοῦ θεοῦ Mt. 4. 3, viè τοῦ θεοῦ 8. 29, and the usage depends more on a natural tendency to assimilation and abbreviation than on any hard and fast rule. So also viè διαβόλου A. 13. 10 (δια β . elsewhere takes an art., as does σατανάς except in [Mc. 3. 23 'one Satan'] L. 22. 3). On Xo1070's vide infra 10. -Under the head of the generic article must also be classed plurals like $a\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\sigma\sigma$, $\nu\epsilon\kappa\rho\sigma$, $\epsilon\theta\nu\eta$; here too it is especially after a preposition and in a few phrases besides that we occasionally have noticeable instances of the omission of the art.: in verpoir $i \gamma \epsilon \rho \theta \hat{\eta}$ Mt. 17. 9, and so regularly (except in E. 5. 14 O.T., Col. 2. 12 BDEFG, 1 Th. 1. 10 [om. $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu$ ACK]), whereas we have $\eta \gamma \epsilon \rho \theta \eta$ and $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu \nu$. Mt. 14. 2 etc.; άνάστασιν νεκρών A. 17. 32, 23. 6 etc.; in 1 C. 15. 15 f., 29, 32 the article could not stand, because it is the idea and not the complete number which is in question (verse 52 is different); 1 P. 4. 5 κρίναι ζώντας και νεκρούς = all, whether dead or living, cp. 6.-Not infrequently قارم, 'the heathen' is without an art.: after Hebr. المات in A. 4. 25 O.T., R. 15. 12 O.T.; έξ έθνων A. 15. 14, G. 2. 15, έν έθνεσιν 1 Tim. 3. 16, συν έθ. Α. 4. 27; in the gen. πλουτος έθνων, έθν. απόστολος R. 11. 12 f. (predic.); also R. 3. 29 f. η Ιουδαίων (as such) δ θεός μόνον; οὐχὶ καἶ ἐθνῶν; ναὶ καὶ ἐθνῶν, εἴπερ εἶς ὁ θεός, ὃς δικαιώσει $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\tau\rho\mu\eta\nu$ (as such, or in some individual instances not specified) $\epsilon\kappa$ πίστεως και άκροβυστίαν δια της (anaphoric) πίστεως.

7. The individual article could scarcely be expected in formulas like $d\pi'$ $d\gamma\rho\sigma\vartheta$, $\epsilon'\nu d\gamma\rho\vartheta$, $\epsilon ds d\gamma\rho\vartheta$, since there is no question of a definite field (Mt. 13. 24 $\epsilon'\nu \tau\vartheta d\gamma\rho\vartheta$ $ad\tau\sigma\vartheta$); if however we also find $\epsilon'\nu \tau\vartheta d$. etc. without reference to a definite field (Mt. 13. 44, like τd $\kappa\rho\ell\nu a \tau\sigma\vartheta d\gamma\rho\sigma\vartheta$ 6. 28), the art. must then be regarded as generic (as we say 'the country'). 'Ev dyopå L. 7. $32 = \epsilon'\nu \tau a\hat{s}s d\gamma\rho a\hat{s}s$ ($\tau a\hat{s}s$ om.

CEF al.) in Mt. 11. 16 etc.; $d\pi' d\gamma o \rho a$ s Mc. 7. 4 a formula; similarly έπι θύραις Mt. 24. 33; of time πρός έσπέραν L. 24. 29, έως έσπέρας A. 28. 23, $\mu \epsilon \chi \rho i$ $\mu \epsilon \sigma \sigma \nu \nu \kappa \tau i o \nu 20. 7$ ($\kappa a \tau a \tau b \mu \epsilon \sigma$. 16. 25), $\delta i a \nu \nu \kappa \tau \delta s$ with v.l. $\delta i a \tau \eta s \nu$. A. 5. 19, 16. 9 etc. (the art. denoting the particular night), πρό καιροῦ = πρὶν καιρὸν εἶναι Mt. 8. 29, ἐν καιρῷ = ὅταν καιρὸς η 24. 45, άχρι καιρού L. 4. 13, Α. 13. 11, πρός καιρόν L. 8. 13, κατά κ. R. 5. 6 ('at the right time'; 'in its due time'), $\pi a \rho \dot{a} \kappa a \rho \partial \nu \dot{\eta} \lambda \iota \kappa \iota a s$ H. 11. 11 (so also in classical Greek without art.); $d\pi'$ ($\dot{\epsilon}\xi$) $d\rho\chi\eta s$, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ άρχή (class.); but έν καιρῷ ἐσχάτω 1 P. 1. 5, έν ἐσχάταις ήμέραις 2. Tim. 3. 1, Ja. 5. 3 (used along with έπ' έσχάτου or -ων των ήμερων, § 47, 2) come under the same class as $d\pi\delta$ $\pi\rho\delta\pi\eta$ s $\eta\mu\epsilon\rho$ as A. 20. 18, Ph. 1. 5 (ABP insert τη̂s), ἀπὸ ἔκτης ὥρας Mt. 27. 45, ἕως ὥρας ἐνάτης Mc. 15. 33 (cp. Herm. Vis. iii. 1. 2, Sim. ix. 11. 7), έως τρίτου οὐρανοῦ 2 C. 12. 2, πρώτην φυλακήν και δευτέραν Α. 12. 10, πρώτης (the reading - $\tau\eta$ of the MSS. is corrupt) $\mu\epsilon\rho$ ίδοs $\tau\eta$ s Mak. π όλιs 16. 12, and are explained by a usage of the older language, according to which the art. may be omitted with ordinal numbers, Kühner ii.2 551, and not merely in phrases like ἐσχάτη ὥρα ἐστίν 1 Jo. 2. 18. The usage of the language is however regulated with still greater precision: in statements about the hour the art. is used only either anaphorically as in Mt. 27. 46, cp. 45, or where there is an ellipse of upa as in Mt. 20. 6 (in 9 it is anaphoric), or where a further definition is introduced as in A. 3. I την ωραν της προσευχής την ένάτην; with $\eta\mu\epsilon\rho\alpha$, on the other hand, it is only absent in the case of more indefinite expressions, but is used with more definite statements, thus $\tau \hat{\eta} \tau \rho (\tau \eta) \eta \mu \epsilon \rho \eta$ always, and in Jo. 6. 39 ff. $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\eta} \epsilon \sigma \chi \delta \tau \eta \eta \mu \epsilon \rho \eta$. -Oávaros very frequently appears without an art., where German inserts one : έως θανάτου Mt. 26. 38, ένοχος θανάτου, άξιον θανάτου, παραδιδόναι είς θάνατον, γεύεσθαι θανάτου; the art. is used either of the actual death of a definite person (1 C. 11. 26), or (but this is almost confined to John's Gospel, Paul, and Apoc.) of death in the abstract, cp. 8. inf., Jo. 5. 24 $\mu\epsilon\tau a\beta\epsilon\beta\eta\kappa\epsilon\nu$ $\epsilon\kappa$ $\tau o\hat{v}$ θ . $\epsilon is \tau \eta\nu$ ($\omega\eta\nu$,¹ or where death is half personified (Ap. 13. 3, 12), besides the case where assimilation to a noun in connection with it requires the article: τὸ ἀπόκριμα τοῦ θ. 2 C. l. 9 (ἡ πληγὴ τοῦ θ. αὐτοῦ Ap. 13. 3, 12 is anaphoric). — $\Pi v \in \mathfrak{d} \mu a$: $\tau \partial \mathfrak{d} \gamma \iota o \nu \pi \nu$. is used sometimes to a certain extent personally, and then with the article, sometimes for the godlike spirit moving in man, and then without an art., unless there is 'anaphora' as in A. 2. 4, 8. 18, cp. 17; in 10. 44 έπέπεσεν τὸ πν. τὸ α̈́y. ἐπὶ πάνταs there is a reference to the wellknown fact of the outpouring, but this instance also approximates to the first usage. Omission is also occasioned by the presence of a preposition or by assimilation : ἐν πν. ἁγίψ, ἐν δυνάμει πνεύματος άγίου.—3 Jo. 6 ένώπιον έκκλησίας, 1 C. 14. 4 έκκλησίαν οἰκοδομεί scarcely need explanation ('a congregation'); in H. 12. 7 τ is $\gamma \dot{a} \rho$ viós, δv où maidevei matúp, we might expect to have $\delta \pi$. 'his father,' as in 1 Tim. 2. 12 after γυναικί to have τοῦ ἀνδρός 'her husband' (so 1 C. 11. 3 $\kappa \epsilon \phi a \lambda \eta$ yuvaikos o av $\eta \rho$; in E. 5. 23 the art. goes with

¹ On incidental cases of omission of the art. cp. 8.

γυναικός), but the relation is neglected ('whom a father does not chastise'; see also § 82, 2 note), cp. Herm. Sim. ix. 28. 4 ἕνα δοῦλος κύριον ἔδιον ἀρνήσηται. Πατήρ is used of God in Jo. 1. 14 δόξαν ώς μονογενοῦς παρὰ πατρός (a kind of assimilation to μονογ.), also in the formula ἀπὸ θεοῦ πατρὸς ἡμῶν R. 1. 7 etc.; πιστῷ κτίστῃ 1 P. 4. 19, with v.l. ὡς π. κτ., is at any rate agreeable to the sense. Σὺν γυναιξὶν A. 1. 14 is a regular formula, cp. 21. 5 σὺν γ. καὶ τέκνοις (classical Greek has the same phrase; so we say 'with women and children'); further, ἐπὶ πρόσωπον πίπτειν L. 5. 12 etc., κατὰ πρ. 2 C. 10. 7¹; cp. 9.

8. With abstract words the article is very frequently absent in Greek, where it is used in German; the more abstract the sense in which such a word is used, the less liable is it to take any article other than the generic. Hence in some passages the question is rather to account for the presence of the art. than for its absence; e.g. Col. 3. 5 πορνείαν ακαθαρσίαν πάθος επιθυμίαν...και την πλεονεξίαν, ήτις έστιν είδωλολατρία 'and that principal vice, covetousness' etc.; the additional clause $\eta \tau_{is} \kappa \tau \lambda$. entails the use of the article. In 1 C. 14. 20 μη παιδία γίνεσθε ταῖς φρεσίν, ἀλλὰ τη κακία νηπιάζετε, τη κ. is due to rais φρεσίν. Cp. further H. 1. 14 είς διακονίαν ἀποστελλόμενα διά τους μέλλοντας κληρονομείν σωτηρίαν (2. 3, 5. 9, 6. 9, 9. 28, 11. 7; with art. only in 2. 10 τον αρχηγον της σωτηρίας αυτών). In 1 C. 13. 13 νυνί δε μένει πίστις έλπις άγάπη ... μείζων δε τούτων ή $d\gamma d\pi \eta$ the art. is anaphoric (so also in the German; cp. verses 4 and 3, R. 13. 10 and 9; R. 12. 7 είτε διακονίαν, έν τη διακονία είτε ό διδάσκων, έν τη διδασκαλία etc.; but ibid. 9 ff. ή αγάπη ανυπόκριτος, τη φιλαδελφία φιλόστοργοι, τη τιμη αλλήλους προηγούμενοι, τη σπουδή μή okvnpoi, because they arc virtues assumed to be well known etc.). St. Paul is fond of omitting the art. with amaptia, vomos, and occasionally with $\theta \dot{a} \nu a \tau o s$ (R. 6. 9, 8. 38, cp. supra 7), but the reason for his doing so is intelligible: R. 5. 13 axpi yàp vóµou aµaptía nº év κόσμω ('before there was a law, there was sin'), άμαρτία δε οὐκ έλλογείται μή ὄντος νόμου, 6. 14 ἁμαρτία ('no sin,' cp. 8 θάνατος) ὑμῶν οὐ κυριεύσει οὐ γάρ ἐστε ὑπὸ νόμον ('under any law') ἀλλὰ ὑπὸ χάριν, • 3. 20 διὰ γὰρ νόμου ἐπίγνωσις ἁμαρτίας (a general statement). Σάρξ also inclines to an abstract sense (the natural state of man); hence we frequently have $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\sigma\alpha\rho\kappa\dot{\iota}$ and nearly always $\kappa\alpha\tau\dot{\alpha}$ $\sigma\dot{\alpha}\rho\kappa\alpha$ ($\tau\dot{\eta}\nu$ is inserted as a v.l. in 2 C. 11. 18, and by nearly all MSS. in Jo. 8. 15).

9. Whereas hitherto no case has occurred where the classical usage of the article is opposed to the N.T. usage, such opposition appears in the case of a noun which governs a genitive, and which in Hebrew would therefore be in the construct state or would have a suffix attached to it, and in either case would be without an article; this Semitic usage has exercised a considerable influence on the Greek of the N.T. writers, especially where they make use of Semitic (*i.e.* Hebrew or Aramaic) originals. But as it was repugnant to the spirit of the Greek language, the article has in general only

¹ Also in profane writers like Polybius; there are similar classical phrases, $\kappa \alpha \tau'$ $\delta \phi \theta a \lambda \mu o \delta s$, $\epsilon \nu \delta \phi \theta a \lambda \mu o \delta s$ etc.

been omitted, where the whole clause was governed by a preposition (cp. supra 5-7), and the phrase has thus become a fixed formula: από (πρό) προσώπου τινός,¹ δια χειρός τινος, δια στόματός τινος, από όφθαλμών σου L. 19. 42, έν όφθαλμοις ήμων Mt. 21. 42 O.T. (πρό όφθ. iμών Clem. Cor. i. 2. 1),¹ formulas which are all thoroughly Hebraic, § 40, 9; further instances are ev ήμέραις Ηρώδου Mt. 2. 1, ev ήμέρα όργής Ř. 2. 5, Ph. 1. 6 ἄχρις ήμέρας Ίησοῦ Χριστοῦ, cp. 10, 2. 16 (ἐν τη ήμ. τοῦ κυρίου 1 C. 5. 6, 2 C. 5. 14, 2 Th. 2. 2; on the other hand the art. is omitted even with the nom., ημέρα κυρίου 1 Th. 5. 2 [ή add. AKL], 2 P. 3. 10 BC [with ή NAKLP]); eis οἶκον αὐτῶν Mc. 8. 3, cp. 26 (the use with the art. largely preponderates; L. 14. 1 είς οἶκόν [τον ο. Α] τινος τών Φαρισ. [cp. A. 18. 7, 10. 32] is excusable : την κατ' οικον αυτών έκκλησίαν R. 16. 5, Col. 4. 15, cp. Philem. 2, is a regular phrase and perhaps not a Hebraism); ἐκ κοιλίας μητρός (αὐτοῦ) Mt. 9. 12, L. 1. 15, A. 3. 2, 14. 8; ἐν βίβλψ ζωής Ph. 4. 3 (but in Ap. with two articles), έν βίβλω λόγων Ήσαΐου L. 3. 4, cp. 20. 42, A. 1. 20, 7. 42 (ἐν τῆ β. Μωϋσέως Mc. 12. 26), ἐν δακτύλψ θεοῦ L. 11. 20, έν τῷ Βεελζεβουλ ἄρχοντι τῶν δαιμονίων Mt. 12. 24 (and a v.l. in L. 11. 15), and many more. To these must be added phrases which contain a proper name in the genitive, where the omission of the art. is not dependent on the presence of a preposition: γη Ισραήλ, Σοδόμων, Αἰγύπτου, Χαλδαίων etc., βασιλέως Αἰγύπτου A. 7. 10, είς πόλιν Δαυίδ L. 2. 4, cp. 11 ('the city of D.'), οἶκος Ἰσραήλ Mt. 10. 6 (23 D) etc., έξ οίκου καὶ πατριᾶς Δαυίδ L. 2. 4 (but in L. 1. 33, H. 8. 8, 10 O.T., it takes the article as in the LXX.), $\xi \xi$ $\epsilon \phi \eta \mu \epsilon \rho i \alpha s$ 'A $\beta i \alpha$ L. 1. 5. It is not often that this omission of the art. goes beyond such instances as those mentioned, as it does in Mary's song of praise in L. 1. 46 ff.: ἐν βραχίονι αὐτοῦ, διανοία καρδίας αὐτῶν, 'Ισραήλ παιδός αυτού, and in that of Zacharias ibid. 68 ff.: έν οἴκψ Δαυίδ παιδός αύτου, έξ έχθρων ήμων, διαθήκης άγίας αύτου, όδους αύτου, διà σπλάγχνα έλέους θεού ήμων etc., by which means an unusually strong Hebrew colouring is here produced.² Cp. 2. 32 (Simeon's song of praise), Ja. 1. 26, 5. 20.

10. In the case of proper names the final development of the language has been that in modern Greek, when used as proper names, they take the article; in classical Greek, on the other hand, as also in the Greek of the N.T., proper names as such take no article, but may take one in virtue of a reference (anaphora) to something preceding. Thus if Luke in A. 9. I says $\delta \delta^2 \Sigma a \hat{\nu} \lambda os \, \tilde{\epsilon} \tau i \, \epsilon \mu \pi \nu \epsilon \omega \nu \kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, his object in using the article is to remind the reader of what he has previously narrated about the man (8. 3 $\Sigma a \hat{\nu} \lambda os \, \delta \hat{\epsilon}$); we are then informed that he requested $\hat{\epsilon} \pi \iota \sigma \tau o \lambda a \hat{\epsilon} \hat{\epsilon} s \, \Delta a \mu a \sigma \kappa \hat{\nu}$, and further on in verse 3, that he drew nigh to $\tau \hat{\eta} \Delta a \mu a \sigma \kappa \hat{\omega}$ (the place of his destina-

¹Cp. supra 7 ad fin. with note ¹; writers of pure Greek do not add a genitive to expressions of this kind.

²1 C. 2. 16 τ is yap eyre voir kuplor is a quotation, and so is 1 P. 3. 12 $\delta\phi\theta a\lambda$ - μol kuplor, $\delta \tau a$ advoir; the LXX. abounds with instances of this kind. But in 1 Tim. 5. 10 $\delta\gamma(\omega r \pi \delta \delta as, \pi \delta \delta as$ is due to assimilation to $\delta\gamma(\omega r; in 1 C. 10. 21$ $\tau\rho a\pi \epsilon_{1}^{2}\gamma_{5} \kappa u\rho(ov - \tau_{7}, \delta a \mu u or (\omega r) it is the character of the thing which is in ques$ tion, cp. supra 5 (the one is a table of the Lord, the other a table of devils). tion), the use of the article being much the same as in 20. 7 κλάσαι άρτον compared with 11 κλάσας τον άρτον. There is a subtle, and often untranslatable, nicety of language in this use of the article. But it is obvious that it depends in great measure on the caprice of the writer, whether in a case where frequent mention is made of the same person he chooses to express this reference to the preceding narrative or not: moreover the MSS. are frequently divided. If in Acts 1. 1 AE al. (as opposed to BD) are right in reading & Ingoous, then by this of the mind is carried back to the contents of the Gospel; but such a reminder was by no means necessary. Incrovs, moreover, in the Evangelists takes the article as a rule, except where an appositional phrase with the art. is introduced; since obviously in that case either the article with the name or the phrase in apposition is superfluous. Hence Mt. 26. 69, 71 μετά 'Ι. του Γαλιλαίου (Ναζωραίου), 27. 17, 22 'Ι. τον λεγόμενον Χριστόν, L. 2. 43 'Ι. ό παις (2. 27 τό παιδίον 'Ιησοῦν), cp. A. 1. 14 Μαρία τη μητρί τοῦ 'Ι., etc. (L. 3. 19 ό δε ⁺Ηρώδηs δ τετραάρχηs, with reference to v. 1; e omits δ τετρ.). Again,</sup>not only at the first mention of Jesus at all, but also in the first appearance of the risen Lord, the use of the art. is excluded, since here too there cannot well be anaphora: Mt. 28. 9 (5 'I. DL al.), L. 24. 15 (6 'I. DNPX al.); in John's Gospel, however, while on the one hand the anaphoric article is rendered possible at this point by the context and is actually found there (20. 14 $\theta \in \omega \rho \in \hat{i} \tau \partial v$ 'Ingrou' έστώτα, after 12 τὸ σώμα τοῦ Ἰησοῦ), on the other hand it is often omitted elsewhere (e.g. in 1. 50), as frequently happens in the other Evangelists in the case of other less distinguished names, such as 'Ιωάνηs and Πέτρος. In the Epistles, on the contrary, and in the Apocalypse (and to some extent in the Acts) the article is as a rule omitted as entirely superfluous (somewhat in the same way as is done by the Greek orators in the name of the adversary in a lawsuit); exceptions are 2 C. 4. 10 f. (but D*FG omit the art.), E. 4. 21 (anaphora to $a \vartheta \tau \hat{\psi}$), 1 Jo. 4. 3 (anaphora to 2; but x has no art.). Xpioro's is strictly an appellative, = the Messiah, and this is made apparent in the Gospels and Acts by the frequent insertion of the article; here again the Epistles for the most part (but not always) omit it.---A special case is that of indeclinable proper names, with which the article, without its proper force, has occasionally to serve to determine the case of the word : Mt. 1. 2 ff. 'A βρaàm έγέννησεν τον Ίσαάκ...τον Ίακώβ etc. (the same form is also used in the case of declinable names, such as $\tau \partial \nu$ 'Io $\nu \partial \alpha \nu$, and where there is a clause in apposition as in 6 τèν Δαυίδ τèν βασιλέα; ibid. έκ της τοῦ Οὐρίου) cp. A. 7. 8, 13. 21. On οί τοῦ Ζεβεδαίου see § 35, 2.

11. The preceding statements hold good equally for place-names as for personal names (the art. is anaphoric in A. 9. 3 vide supra, 9. 38 $\tau \hat{y}$ ໄόππη, 42 $\tau \hat{\eta}$ s ໄόππης, cp. 36); $\tau \hat{\eta}$ s Ῥώμης 18. 2 is due to $\tau \hat{\eta}$ s Ἰταλίας in the same verse; $\tau \hat{\eta} v$ Ῥώμην 28. 14 denotes Rome as the goal of the whole journey. Τρωάς also, although strictly subject to an article (᾿Αλεξάνδρεια ἡ Τρωάς), only takes one in a peculiar way in 2 C. 2. 12 (without an art. in A. 16. 8, 20. 5). There is a peculiar use of the art. in the Acts in the statement of

halting-places on a journey : 17. 1 $\tau \eta \nu$ 'Aµ ϕ ($\pi \circ \lambda \iota \nu$ καὶ $\tau \eta \nu$ 'A $\pi \circ \lambda \lambda \omega$ viav (the places lying on the well-known road between Philippi and Thessalonica), 20. 13, 21. 1, 3, 23. 31, but in 20. 14 ff. there is no article. If ϵ_{μ} is a strictly observed and the second and the sec § 18, 5 (ἐν τοῖς Ἱεροσολύμοις Jo. 10. 22 ABL, ἐν Ἱερ. the rest; the force of the article is, in the very same place which was the scene of the previous narrative.)-The case is different with names of countries, many of which being originally adjectives (sc. $\gamma \hat{\eta}$, $\chi \hat{\omega} \rho a$) are never found without an article: ή Ιουδαία¹, ή Γαλιλαία², ή Μεσοποταμία, ή Μυσία (Μύσιοs adj.), ή Έλλάs Α. 20. 2; for a different reason ή 'Aσía like ή Εὐρώπη (ή Λιβύη does not come under this head) takes the art. from early times, as one of the two divisions of the globe that are naturally opposed to each other, and keeps it even when it is used to denote the Roman province (in A. 2. 9 f. Μεσοποταμία, 'Aoía and $\eta \Lambda \iota \beta \acute{\nu} \eta \eta \kappa a \tau a$ Kup $\eta \nu \eta \nu$ are the only places with an article); only in A. 6. 9 do we find aπò Κιλικίας και 'Aσ., and in 1 P. 1. I the names of all the countries are without the art. (but there there is no art. at all in the whole address : $\epsilon \kappa \lambda \epsilon \kappa \tau o \hat{i} s \pi a \rho \epsilon \pi i$ δήμοις διασποράς Πόντου κ.τ.λ.).³ Also with other names of countries the article is found more frequently than it would be with names of towns: always with Ίταλία, generally with 'Aχaia (without art. R. 15. 26, 2 C. 9. 2); $\Sigma v \rho i a$, $K \iota \lambda \iota \kappa i a$, $\Phi \rho v \gamma i a$, 'A $\rho a \beta i a$ are strictly adjectives, and therefore generally take the art., but A. 21. 3 $\epsilon i s \Sigma$, Κιλ. 6. 9 (vide supra), 23. 34, Φρυγίαν και Παμφυλίαν 2. 10, είς 'Aρaβίav G. 1. 17. Παμφυλία, although strictly on a par with the others ($\tau \delta$ Παμφύλιον πέλαγος A. 27. 5 β text), yet in a majority of cases omits the art.; it has it in A. (27. 5 infra) 13. 13: $\epsilon \delta I = I = 0$ Παμφυλίαs is a chorographical gen. of the whole, § 35, 4, which absolutely requires the article (A. 13. 14, 22. 3, 27. 5, cp. 16. 12, 21. 39). Alγυπτοs never takes the art. (except in a wrong reading of NABCD in A. 7. 11, and of BC in 7. 36).—River-names : δ 'lopδάνης ποταμός Mc. 1. 5, elsewhere δ Ίορδάνης (τον ποταμον τον Τίβεριν Herm. Vis. i. 1. 2; classical usage is the same); names of seas: δ 'Αδρίαs A. 27. 27 as in classical Greek.⁴

12. The names of nations, where the nation as a whole is indicated, do not require the article any more than personal names require it, and it is therefore omitted in almost every instance where 'Iovdaiou are referred to in St. Paul's vindications of himself against the Jews, A. 26. 2, 3, 4, 7, 21, 25. 10 (as it is in the name of the opponent in speeches in an Athenian lawsuit, supra 10), the

¹ For which the Hehraic $\gamma \hat{\eta}$ louda is also used Mt. 2. 6. (Cp. $\dot{\eta}$ louda $\gamma \hat{\eta}$ in Jo. 3. 22, and also according to D in 4. 3.)

 2 Exception L. 17. 11 $\mu \acute{e}\sigma\sigma\nu$ Samapelas kal Palilaías, where the omission with S. has produced the omission with $\Gamma.$

³This is not so much an enumeration of the persons addressed as a characterization of them, and the omission of the art. hecomes intelligible by a comparison with 1 Tim. 1. 2 $T\iota\mu\sigma\theta\epsilon\varphi\gamma\nu\eta\sigma\iota\varphi\tau\epsilon\kappa\nu\varphi=\delta s\epsilon \tilde{s}\gamma\nu\eta\sigma\iota\sigma\tau$. Cp. also Winer, § 18, 6, note 4; infra § 47, 6, note 1 on p. 159; see also 47, 10.

⁴Cp. on the article with names of countries etc. Kallenberg Philol. 49, 515 ff.

exception being 25. 8 τον νόμον των Ίουδαίων, where τον ν. Ίουδαίων could not well be used, while tor v. tov 'I. (the Attic phrase, see § 47. 7) was contrary to the predominant practice of the N.T. Also in the Pauline Epistles Iovdaiou takes no article, except in 1 C. 9. 20 έγενόμην τοις 'Ioudaíous ώς 'Ioudaíos ('individual' article, those with whom I had to deal on each occasion; $\tau o \hat{s} dv \delta \mu o v \hat{s}$ etc. in the following clauses are similar); nor yet "E $\lambda \lambda \eta v \epsilon s$, although this comprehensive name, just because of its comprehensiveness (in opposition to $\beta \acute{a}\rho\beta a\rho o$, cp. 11 on 'A $\sigma \acute{a}$) in classical Greek regularly has the article¹; but the point with St. Paul is never the totality of the nation, but its distinctive peculiarity (cp. supra 5 on $\eta\lambda \iota \sigma$ s etc.), consequently R. 1. 14 Ελλησίν τε και βαρβάροιs is not less classical than Demosth. viii. 67 πασιν Έλλησι και βαρβάροις (all, whether Greeks or barbarians), or σοφοίς τε και ανοήτοις which follows it in St. Paul, see § 47, 2. On the other hand in the narrative of the Evangelists (and to some extent in the Acts²) the article is rarely omitted with 'Iovoaîos and other names of nations (Mt. 28. 15 παρά lovδaíois, D inserts τοις: 10. 5, L. 9. 52 είς πόλιν Σαμαριτών is easily explained: in Jo. 4. 9 the clause is spurious). An instance of a national name in the masc. sing. is $\delta' I_{\sigma \rho a \eta \lambda}$; the art. is wanting in Hebraic phrases like $\gamma \hat{\eta}$ '1, $\delta \lambda a \delta s$ 'I. (viol 'I.), but also not infrequently elsewhere.

§ 47. ARTICLE. II. The article with adjectives etc.; the article with connected parts of speech.

1. Every part of speech which is joined to a substantive as its attribute or in apposition to it—adjective, pronoun, participle, adverb, prepositional expression, the same case or the genitive of another substantive etc.—may in this connection, and without the substantive being actually expressed, be accompanied by the article, which in the case of the omission of the substantive often takes its place and indicates the substantive to be supplied : thus of $\tau \delta \tau \epsilon sc$. $d\nu \theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma \iota$, where the omission of σi is impossible. We deal with the latter case first, where the additional definition stands alone without the substantive.

The adjective, where it is not a predicate to a substantive, in most cases takes the article, which may be either individual or generic. Masc. sing.: $\delta \ d\lambda \eta \theta \iota \nu \delta s$ 1 Jo. 5. 20 (God), $\delta \ \mu \delta \nu \sigma s$ 'the only One' (God) Jo. 5. 44 B (the other MSS. insert $\theta \epsilon \delta s$, cp. 17. 3), $\delta \ \pi \sigma \nu \eta \rho \delta s$ 'the devil,' $\delta \ \delta \gamma \iota \sigma s \ \tau \sigma \vartheta \ \theta \epsilon \sigma \vartheta$ L. 4. 34 (Christ), $\delta \ \delta \ell \kappa \alpha \iota \sigma s$ (Christ) A. 22. 14, in all which cases the art. is individual and denotes him who possesses this quality $\kappa \alpha \tau' \ \epsilon_{\delta} \sigma \chi \eta \nu$. Quite different is 1 P. 4. 18 $\delta \ \delta \ell \kappa \alpha \iota \sigma s \ \delta \sigma \epsilon \beta \eta s$, as we say 'the righteous—the godless,' *i.e.* one (everyone) who is righteous or godless, regarded in this capacity,

² In this book we also find the correct classical phrases 'Appraion márres 17. 21, cp. § 47, 9; márres 'Iovdaia 26. 4 BC*E (ins. of NAC² al.).

¹See Rhein. Mus. xliv. 12.

where an individual is taken as a concrete instance of the genus: similarly with a substantive introduced δ $dya\theta \delta s$ $dv\theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma s$ Mt. 12. 35, L. 6. 45 (§ 32, 3): frequently with participles: the usage stands midway between the individual and the generic use. A third mode of using the art. may be illustrated by Ja. 2. 6 $\tau \delta v \pi \tau \omega \chi \delta v$ 'that beggar,' where it is individual and anaphoric, referring to the instance in verse 2 (§ 32, 3). The masc. plur. can also be used in this last sense, but it is more frequently generic : of $\pi\lambda$ oύσιοι 'the rich,' οἱ ἄγιοι a name for Christians. The fem. sing. is used elliptically, $\dot{\eta} \, \check{\epsilon} \rho \eta \mu os$ and the like, § 44, 1 (the art. is individual : $\dot{\eta} \, \check{\epsilon} \rho \eta \mu os$ $\chi \omega \rho a$ opposed to inhabited country). The neut. sing. is used with individual sense of a single definite thing or action, 2 C. 8. 14 O.T. το πολύ and το όλίγον, Philem. 14 το άγαθόν σου 'thy good deed,' but more frequently with generic sense as in L. 6. 45 δ $d\gamma a\theta \delta s$ άνθρωπος έκ τοῦ ἀγαθοῦ θησαυροῦ τῆς καρδίας προφέρει τὸ ἀγαθόν (corresponding to $\delta d\gamma$. $d\nu \theta \rho$, vide supra), G. 6. 10 $\epsilon \rho \gamma a \zeta \omega \mu \epsilon \theta a \tau \delta$ $d\gamma a \theta \delta \nu$, R. 13. 3 to $d\gamma a \theta \delta \nu$ to $\epsilon \iota$, cp. just before $\tau \hat{\psi} d\gamma a \theta \hat{\psi} \epsilon \rho \gamma \psi = \tau \sigma i s$ άγαθοῖς ἔργοις or ἀγαθοῖς ἔργ., as Mt. 12. 35 (the parallel passage to L. 6, 45) has $\tau \dot{a}$ (om. B al.) $\dot{a}\gamma a\theta \dot{a}$ and $\pi \sigma \nu \eta \rho \dot{a}$ (LUA ins. $\tau \dot{a}$) in the corresponding clause, cp. also R. 3. 8 τa κακ $a - \tau a$ $d \gamma a \theta a$. A peculiar usage of Paul (and Hebrews) is that of the neut. sing. adjective equivalent to an abstract noun, usually with a genitive : R. 2. 4 $\tau \delta$ χρηστών του θεου είς μετάνοιάν σε άγει, differing from χρηστότης (which precedes), since the adjective denotes this goodness in a concrete instance; 1. 19 τὸ γνωστὸν τοῦ θεοῦ 'the fact of God's being known,' or else that part of God which is (to be) known at all, in which case φανερόν έστιν έν αὐτοῖs must be 'is évident to them,' cp. § 41, 2. The genitive would then be partitive, and the adjective would not be used for an abstract noun. It is also perhaps so used in $\tau \delta \delta \delta \kappa (\mu \iota o \nu \delta \mu \omega \nu \tau \eta s \pi i \sigma \tau \epsilon \omega s Ja. 1. 3 = 1 P. 1. 7, for <math>\delta \delta \kappa (\mu \iota o s i s = \delta \delta \kappa \iota \mu o s, see G. A.$ Deissmann, Neue Bibelstudien, 86 ff.; see further 1 C. 1. 25 τδ μωρόν τοῦ θεοῦ σοφώτερον τῶν ἀνθρώπων ἐστίν (cp. μωρία 21, 23), this divine attribute which appears as foolishness ; $2 C. 4. 17 \tau \delta \pi a \rho a \upsilon \tau i \kappa a \epsilon \lambda a \phi \rho \delta v$ τῆς θλίψεως ἡμῶν (opposed to βάρος ibid.), 8. 9 το τῆς ὑμετέρας ἀγάπης γνήσιον, Ph. 3. 8 διὰ τὸ ὑπερέχον τῆς γνώσεως Χριστοῦ (more concrete and vivid than ὑπεροχή), 4. 5 τὸ ἐπιεικὲς ὑμῶν, R. (8. 3)¹, 9. 22, H. 6. 17, 7. 18, 1 C. 7. 35 τὸ εὐσχημον καὶ εὐπάρεδρον τῷ κυρίψ (§ 37, 7) $\dot{a}\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\sigma\pi\dot{a}\sigma\tau\omega s$. This is the most classical idiom in the language of the N.T., and may be paralleled from the old heathen literature, from Thucydides in particular.²—The neut. sing. is also occasionally

¹Here not in abstract sense, $\tau \delta \ \delta \delta \delta \nu a \tau o \nu \tau o \delta \ \nu \delta \mu o \nu$ means the one thing which the law could not do: still the genitive belongs to the same class of gen. in either case.

²Still it is not to be attributed to imitation; since the imitation must, according to the usual way with imitative writers of that period, have betrayed itself in details. Moreover, other contemporary writers avail themselves of this method of expression: Strabo 3, p. 168 $\tau \delta \epsilon \delta \mu \epsilon \tau \alpha \chi \epsilon l \rho \sigma \tau \sigma \tau \delta r \delta \delta \eta \rho \alpha s$ (Winer, § 34, 2); on Joseph and others, see W. Schmidt de Jos. elocut. 365 ff. See also Clem. Cor. i. 19. 1, 47. 5. "Quite a current usage in the higher $\kappa our \eta$," W. Schmid, Atticism. iv. 608.

used collectively to denote persons, $\tau \partial \tilde{\epsilon} \lambda a \tau \tau ov - \tau o \hat{v} \kappa \rho \epsilon i \tau \tau ov os = o i$ $<math>\hat{\epsilon} \lambda \dot{a} \tau \tau ov \epsilon s - \tau \hat{w} \kappa \rho \epsilon i \tau \tau \delta v w s$, § 32, 1; a peculiar instance is $\tau \partial \delta \omega \delta \epsilon \cdot \kappa \dot{a} \phi v \lambda ov \dot{\eta} \mu \hat{\omega} v$ 'our 12 tribes' A. 26. 7 (Paul before Agrippa), cp. Clem. Cor. i. 55. 6 $\tau \partial \delta$. $\tau o \hat{v}$ 'Is $\rho a \eta \dot{\lambda}$ (and with the same meaning 31. 4 $\tau \partial \delta \omega \delta \epsilon \kappa \dot{a} \sigma \kappa \eta \pi \tau \rho ov \tau$. 'I.). Elsewhere the neut. plur. is used of persons, 1 C. 1. 27 f. $\tau \dot{a} \mu \omega \rho \dot{a} \tau o \hat{v} \kappa \delta \sigma \mu ov$ etc., § 32, 1; also of things with the genitive, $\tau \dot{a} \kappa \rho v \pi \tau \dot{a} \tau \omega v dv \rho \omega \pi \omega v$, $\tau o \hat{v} \sigma \kappa \delta \sigma v o v$, $\tau \eta s \kappa \kappa \sigma v \delta \tau \sigma v$ $\tau \dot{\eta} s a \dot{a} \sigma \chi \dot{v} \eta s$ R. 2. 16, 1 C. 4. 5, 14. 25, 2 C. 4. 2, $\tau \dot{a} \dot{a} \dot{\rho} \sigma a \tau a \tau o \hat{v} \theta \epsilon \phi \sigma$ R. 1. 20, a use analogous to that of the singular (vide supra), but referring to a plurality of phenomena. Other instances like $\tau \dot{a} \dot{o} \rho a \tau a$ $\kappa a \dot{a} \dot{o} \rho a \tau a \sigma \sigma \pi \rho \dot{a}$ of fish caught in a net (what is good or bad) Mt. 13. 48. Neuters of this kind are not frequent in the Gospels.

2. With the different ways of employing the adjective that have been quoted, the article is sometimes essential, sometimes unnecessary. In R. 1. 14 as we have "Ελλησίν τε και βαρβάροις (§ 46, 12), so also σοφοίς τε και ανοήτοις: Mt. 23. 34 προφήτας και σοφούς, 11. 25 = L. 10. 21 $d\pi \delta$ σοφών καὶ συνετών ... νηπίοις, where the article would be as little in place as it would be if a substantive were employed (cp. § 46, 5 on 1 C. 15. 39), Mt. 5. 45 ἐπὶ πονηροὺς καὶ ἀγαθούς, 1 C. 1. 20 ποῦ σοφός ; ποῦ γραμματεύς ; occasionally too it is absent with neuter words, where its presence or omission appears to be more optional: Ja. 4. 17 καλον ποιείν ('some good'), Herm. x. 2. 3 πονηρών ήργάσατο, but followed in 4 by τὸ πονηρών anaphoric: 2 C. 8. 21 προνοούμενοι καλά ου μόνον ένώπιον κυρίου, αλλά και ένώπιον $dv\theta\rho\omega\pi\omega\nu$, in this passage the article would have broken the connection with what follows. It is not accidental that beside $i \tau \hat{\varphi}$ $\phi_{\alpha\nu\epsilon\rho\hat{\psi}}$ (Mt. 6. 4 etc.) there is regularly found is $\phi_{\alpha\nu\epsilon\rho\delta\nu}$ in the interval of the end of the equation of the equ (because the latter refers to something not yet in existence), Mc. 4. 22, L 8. 17; usually too we have έν τῷ κρυπτῷ as in Mt. 6. 4, R. 2. 29, but in Jo. 7. 4, 10, 18. 20 $\epsilon \nu$ κρυπτῷ (ϵis κρύπτην subst. L. 11. 33); the opposite to which in John is not $\epsilon \nu$ τῷ φανερῷ, but ($\epsilon \nu$) παρρησία or φανερώς. Είς το μέσον, έν τῷ μέσψ, έκ τοῦ μέσου are used if no genitive follows; otherwise the article is dropped, not so much on account of the Hebraic usage (§ 46, 9), as because $i v \tau \hat{\psi} \mu i \sigma \psi \hat{\nu} \mu \hat{\omega} v$ would be superfluously verbose in a common formula; classical Greek also leaves out the article. Instances of these phrases without a gen. and without an art. (frequent in class. Greek) are Mc. 14. 60 (ins. τò DM), L. 4. 35 only DΓΔ al., 'Jo.' 8. 3, 9, A. 4. 7 DEP, 2 Th. 2. 7. Cp. Mc. 13. 27 άπ' ἄκρου γῆς ἔως ἄκρου οὐρανοῦ, Mt. 24. 31, vide inf. 6, note 2; ἐπ' ἐσχάτου τῶν ἡμερῶν Η. 1. 1, 2 P. 3. 3 (ἐσχάτων from (τὰ) ἔσχατα, as in Barn. 16. 5, Herm. Sim. ix. 12. 3), επ' ἐσχάτου τῶν χρόνων 1 Ρ. 1. 20 (τοῦ χρόνου κ, cp. Jd. 18),= LXX.; έως ἐσχάτου τῆς γῆς Α. 13. 47 Ο.Τ., 1. 8; but τὰ έσχατα τοῦ ἀνθρώπου ἐκείνου Mt. 12. 45 = I. 11. 26, opposed to τὰ πρῶτα.

3. The participle, when it stands alone and does not refer to a noun or pronoun, takes the article in most cases. Thus it is often found even as predicate with the article, though this part of the sentence elsewhere generally omits the article. There are, however, frequent instances where even a subst. or adj. used predicatively takes the art.: Mc. 6. 3 οὐχ οὖτός ἐστιν ὁ τέκτων ; (he who is known by this designation), Mt. 5. 13 ὑμεῖς ἐστε τὸ ἅλας τῆς γῆς, cp. 14, 6. 22 6 λύχνος του σώματός έστιν δ όφθαλμός (σου), 16. 16 συ εί δ χριστός ό νίδς του θεου, Mc. 15. 2 συ εί ό βασιλεύς των 'Ιουδαίων; Jo. 1. 4. 8 etc.,¹ *i.e.* not *one* salt etc. as compared with another, but that which alone has or deserves this title; more striking are Jo. 3. 10 σừ εί ὁ διδάσκαλος τοῦ 'Ισραήλ 'the (great) teacher, 5. 35 έκεινος (John) ην δ λύχνος δ καιόμενος και φαίνων, the light of which one speaks in proverbs; Mt. 24. 45 τίς ἄρα ἐστὶν ὁ πιστὸς δοῦλος καὶ $\phi \rho \delta \nu \mu \rho \sigma$; in connection with an anarthrous noun Jo. 8. 44 $\delta \tau \iota$ ψεύστης έστιν και ό πατήρ αὐτοῦ (a passage which from early times was grossly misunderstood, as though o $\pi \alpha \tau \eta \rho$ were a further subject, see Tischend.). So with an adjective Mt. 19. 17 ets eoriv ό άγαθός, cp. supra 2 ad init. This use is very frequent with participles : Mt. 7. 15 έκεινά έστιν τα κοινούντα τον ανθρωπον, Jo. 5. 39 έκειναι είσιν αι μαρτυρούσαι περί έμου etc., in all which cases it is taken for granted that something which produces this or that result exists, and then this given category is applied to a definite subject. A periphrasis of the verbal idea by means of $\epsilon i v a \iota$ is the only case where an art. could not stand, § 14, 2.-On the other hand a participle which stands alone is occasionally found, as in classical Greek, without the art. even when it is the subject of the sentence as in Mt. 2. 6 O.T. ήγούμενος, but in this case it must be regarded as a substantive (cp. Wilke-Grimm $\dot{\eta}\gamma\epsilon\hat{i}\sigma\theta ai$; other exx. in § 73, 3).

4. Adverbs or prepositional expressions when used alone to denote persons or things require the article practically in all cases $(\pi\lambda\eta\sigma')$ 'neighbour' is used as predicate without o in L. 10. 29, 36); in the same way the article is found governing the genitive, although all these modes of expression are not very frequent in the N.T. Oi ἐκεῖθεν L. 16. 26, τὰ κάτω, τα ἄνω Jo. 8. 23, Col. 3. 1 f.; οἱ περὶ αὐτόν Mc. 4. 10, L. 22. 49; Πέτρος καὶ οἱ σừν αὐτῷ L. 9. 32; with the gen. oi $\tau \circ \hat{v}$ Zeßedalov Jo. 21. 2 (§ 35, 2), τa Kaloapos and τd $\tau \circ \hat{v}$ deoù L. 20. 35, oi $\tau \circ \hat{v}$ Xριστού 1 C. 15. 23; more peculiar is Ja. 4. 14 τὸ (A τà) της aυριον 'the things of the morrow,' 'what happens to-morrow'; 2 P. 2. 22 το της άληθους παροιμίας 'the import of the proverb,' $\tau \dot{a} \tau \eta s \epsilon i \rho \eta v \eta s R. 14. 19, 'that which makes for peace.'$ Especially noticeable are the adverbial accusatives (§ 34, 7) like τo κατ' ἐμέ 'so far as I am concerned,' R. 1. 15 (see § 42, 2; elsewhere τὰ κατ' ἐμέ appears as subject or object, Ph. 1. 12, Col. 4. 7), τὸ ἐξ ύμων R. 12. 18, το κατά σάρκα 9. 5, where the insertion of the article puts strong emphasis on the limitation, 'so far as the material side is considered,' $\tau \delta \kappa a \theta' \eta \mu \epsilon \rho a \nu$ § 34, 7, in which case the art. may be equally well used or omitted, $\tau \delta \pi \rho \omega i$ (ibid.) etc.— Quite peculiar is L. 17. 4 in D : ἐαν ἐπτάκις ἑμαρτήση καὶ τὸ ἐπτάκις $\epsilon \pi \omega \tau \rho \epsilon \psi \eta$ ('these 7 times,' cp. Syr. Sin., therefore anaphoric).

¹Cp. Winer, § 18, 7.

5. On the infinitive with the article see § 71. The neut. sing. of the article may be prefixed, in the same way as to the infin., to indirect interrogative sentences, but this usage is rarely represented except in the Lucan writings : R. 8. 26 $\tau \circ \gamma d\rho \tau i \pi \rho \circ \sigma \epsilon \upsilon \xi \omega \mu \epsilon \theta a \circ \upsilon \kappa$ $\circ \iota \delta a \mu \epsilon \upsilon$, 1 Th. 4. 1 $\kappa a \theta \omega s \pi a \rho \epsilon \lambda \dot{a} \beta \epsilon \tau \epsilon \pi a \rho' \dot{\eta} \mu \omega \upsilon \tau \delta \pi \omega s$ ($\delta \pi \omega s$ without $\tau \delta$ FG) $\delta \epsilon \iota \dot{\nu} \mu \dot{a} s \kappa. \tau. \lambda$. (Herm. Sim. viii. 1. 4, Clem. Hom. i. 6); for Lucan instances see 1. 62, 19. 48, 9. 46 ($\epsilon \iota \sigma \eta \lambda \theta \epsilon \upsilon \delta \iota a \lambda \circ \rho \iota \sigma \mu \phi s$, $\tau \circ \tau i s$ $a \upsilon \epsilon \iota \eta \kappa. \tau. \lambda$.), A. 4. 21, 22. 30. No apparent distinction in meaning is caused by using or omitting the article.—The art. $\tau \delta$ is prefixed to quotations of words and sentences as in classical Greek : $\tau \delta' A \gamma a \rho$ G. 4. 25 (v.l.), $\tau \delta \dot{a} \nu \epsilon \beta \eta E$. 4. 9, $\tau \delta O \upsilon \phi \phi \nu \epsilon \upsilon \sigma \epsilon \iota s \kappa. \tau. \lambda$., Mt. 19. 18 ($\tau \delta$ om. DM.), $\dot{\epsilon} \nu \tau \dot{\phi}' A \gamma a \pi \eta \sigma \epsilon \iota s \kappa. \tau. \lambda$. G. 5. 14; ep. R. 13. 9, H. 12. 27.

6. The adjective (or participle) which is not independent, but is used as an attribute to a substantive, must, as in classical Greek, if the substantive has the article, participate in this art. by being placed in a middle position— δ $d\gamma a\theta \delta s$ $d\nu \theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma s$: or, if placed after the substantive, it must take an article of its own— $\delta a \nu \theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma s \delta$ $d\gamma a\theta \delta s$; if it stands outside the article and the substantive without an article, then it is predicative. If it is placed between the art. and the subst. greater emphasis is laid on the adjective- δ $d\gamma a\theta \delta s$ av $\theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma \sigma$ Mt. 12. 35: if it is placed after the subst. the emphasis falls on the substantive— $\epsilon is \tau \eta \nu \gamma \eta \nu \tau \eta \nu d\gamma a \theta \eta \nu$ opposed to $\pi \epsilon \tau \rho a \nu$ etc. L. 8. 8. Examples of predicative use: Jo. 5. 35 $\xi \chi \omega \tau \eta \nu$ μαρτυρίαν μείζω=ή μ. ήν έχω μείζων έστίν, Mc. 8. 17, H. 7. 24, 1 C. 11. 5 ἀκατακαλύπτψ τ \hat{p} κεφαλ \hat{y} = ἀκατακάλυπτον ἔχουσα τ \hat{y} ν κεφ. (§ 38, 3), Å. 14. 10 $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu \mu \epsilon \gamma \dot{a} \lambda \eta \tau \hat{\eta} \phi \omega \nu \hat{\eta} (26, 24) = \dot{\eta} \delta \dot{\epsilon} \phi$. $\hat{\eta} \epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu \mu \epsilon \gamma \dot{a} \lambda \eta$ $\tilde{\eta}^{\nu}$ (also expressed without an art. by $\phi_{\omega\nu\gamma}$ $\mu_{e\gamma}\lambda\eta$, the adjective being placed after the noun, 8. 7 etc.). Under this head there comes also the **partitive use** of the adj., with $\mu\epsilon\sigma\sigma\sigma$ as in classical Greek, L. 23. 45, Mt. 25. 6, A. 26. 13 (§ 36, 13), while for akpos to akpov with the gen. and so elsewhere $\tau \hat{o} \mu \epsilon \sigma o \nu$ is used 1 (A. 27. 27 κατα μέσον της νυκτός, for which we have κατά τὸ μεσονύκτιον 16. 25, never as in classical Greek περὶ μέσας νύκτας: L. 16. 24 τὸ ἄκρον τοῦ δακτύλου αὐτοῦ = τὸν δ. ἄκρον, Η. 11. 21, Mc. 13. 27):² besides μ éoos, this use in the N.T. is only found with π âs and $\delta\lambda$ os (where they are contrasted with a part), vide infra 9.—In the case of an attributive adjective it may also happen that the subst. has no article, while the adjective (participle etc.) that follows it has one, since the definiteness is only introduced with the added clause by means of the article, and was not present before. See Kühner Gr. ii.² 530: L. 23. 49 γυναίκες αί συνακολουθοῦσαι women viz. those who etc., A. 7. 35 ἐν χειρὶ ἀγγέλου τοῦ ὀφθέντος αὐτῷ an angel viz. that one who etc.; this happens especially with a participle, which may be resolved into an equivalent relative sentence,

¹Also in older Greek (Xenophon etc.), Lobeck Phryn. 537.

² Mt. 24. 31 $d\pi'$ åκρων οὐρανῶν ἐως (τῶν add. B) åκρων αὐτῶν only resembles the classical usage in appearance: the plural åκρα is occasioned by the plural οὐρανοί. Cp. ἐσχατον (-a) sup. 2 ad fin.

cp. § 73, 2; Jo. 14. 27 εἰρήνην ἀφίημι ὑμῖν, εἰρήνην τὴν ἐμὴν δίδωμι ὑμῖν.¹

7. The rule which holds good for adjectives holds good in the classical language also for defining clauses with an adverb or preposition; to a certain degree also for attributive genitives: thus ό 'Αθηναίων δημος or ό δημος ό 'Αθηναίων, although ό πατήρ μου is obligatory and $\delta \[i \pi \pi \sigma s \[tau] \[tau] \sigma \tau \rho a \tau \eta \gamma \sigma v$ is possible. In the N.T. genitives in a middle position are frequent, and still more so are genitives placed after the noun which they qualify, but without a repetition of the article : genitives in the later position with the article are not frequent : A. 15. 1 τŵ έθει τŵ Μωυσέως (om. the 2nd τŵ DEHLP),2 1 C. 1. 18 ο λόγος ο του σταυρού,⁸ Tit. 2. 10 την διδασκαλίαν την τού σωτήρος ήμών θ εού.⁴ Cp. § 46, 12. The partitive gen. must, as in classical Greek, stand outside the principal clause and without a repetition of the article: of $\pi\rho\omega\tau\sigma\sigma$ $\tau\omega\nu$ 'lovdaíwv (A. 28. 17 is different, $\tau o \dot{v} s \delta v \tau a s \tau \hat{\omega} v$ lovo. $\pi \rho \dot{\omega} \tau o v s$). Where the defining clause is formed by a preposition, if the clause stands after the main clause, the article appears to be especially necessary for the sake of clearness (just as there are scarcely any instances of such a prepositional clause used as attribute to an anarthrous subst.: in 1 C. 12. 31 $\epsilon i \tau \iota$ for $\epsilon\tau\iota$ is read by D*F [Klostermann], whereby $\kappa a\theta' \delta \pi\epsilon \rho \beta o\lambda \eta \nu$ is separated from $\delta\delta\delta\nu$, sc. $\langle\eta\lambda o\hat{\nu}\tau\epsilon\rangle$, and the omission of the article in classical authors is by no means sufficiently attested; in the N.T., on the other hand, a considerable number of instances of omission are commonly supposed to exist, apart from those cases where the subst. has additional defining clauses (infra 8), 1 C. 10. 18 βλέπετε τον Ισραήλ ката оа́рка, 1 Th. 4. 16 oi verpoi (oi add FG, cp. it. Vulg. qui in Chr. sunt) έν Χριστώ, 2 C. 9. 13 (τη) ἁπλότητι της κοινωνίας είς αὐτούς (where, however, τη ὑποταγη της ὁμολογίας ὑμῶν [vide infra 8] είς τὸ κ.τ.λ. precedes, and υμών is also to be supplied with κοιν.), R. 6. 4 συνετάφημεν αὐτῷ διὸ τοῦ βαπτίσματος εἰς τὸν θάνατον (cp. 3 εἰς τὸν θ . aυτοῦ ἐβαπτίσθημεν). This last instance (if our text is correct) appears conclusive; but in $\tau \delta \nu$ 'Ispaù katà sápka the repetition of the art. was quite impossible, as the sense is δ κατά σ. ών Ίσρ. (Ίσρ. is predicate); so with oi κατά σ. κύριοι Ε. 6. 5 v.l. oi κ. κατά σ., Col. 3. 22 id., τὰ ἔθνη ἐν σαρκί Ε. 2. 115; ὁ δἔσμιος ἐν κυρίω 4. 1,

¹Buttmann is not to be followed in his assertion (p. 81) that the art. had sometimes to stand before the substantive as well; Winer, § 20, 4 is here correct. L. 5. $36 \frac{\partial \pi i}{\partial n \mu} \frac{\partial \pi \partial \tau o}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \pi \partial \tau o}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \pi \partial \sigma o}{\partial x}$ (this is the right reading, which is only by error found in Lachmann. A. 15. $23 \frac{\partial \partial e}{\partial \phi o}$ (this is the right reading, see the author's note on that passage), $\tau o is \kappa a \tau d \tau h \tau' \lambda \nu \tau i \delta \chi e u is an address, see$ § 46, 11, note 3.

² Μωΰσέωs is found without an art. after the noun qualified in A. (13. 39), 15. 5, Mc. 12. 26, L. 2. 22, 24. 44 (Jo. 7. 23 ο νόμος ο Μ. Ν, like 6. 33 ο άρτος ο τοῦ θεοῦ ΝD), A. 28. 23, 2 C. 3. 7.

³ In the preceding verse (17) we have δ σταυρ δ s τοῦ Χριστοῦ; so that δ τοῦ στ. appears to be a kind of anaphora.

⁴ Appositional clauses like Mapla $\dot{\eta}$ τοῦ Ἰακώβου sc. μήτηρ do not come under this head.

⁵ Hence the reading of DEFG in R. 9. 3 τῶν ἀδελφῶν μου τῶν συγγενῶν μου τῶν (om. cett.) κατὰ σἀρκα is wrong. τοῖς πλουσίοις ἐν τῷ νῦν αἰῶνι 1 Tim. 6. 17, ὁ πιστὸς ἐν ἐλαχίστῷ L. 16. 10, in all which instances the closely connected predicative clause could not be severed by the insertion of the article. With a participle (R. 15. 31 τῶν ἀπειθούντων ἐν τῆ Ἰουδαίą) it is quite obvious that the article is not repeated.

8. If a single substantive has several defining clauses it often becomes inconvenient and clumsy to insert all of these between the article and the substantive, and there is a tendency to divide them so that some stand before the substantive and some after it. But in this case the clauses placed after the substantive do not require the repetition of the article, which on the contrary is only repeated in a case where the particular defining clause is emphasized (or implies a contrast), or else if the meaning would be in any way ambiguous. Similarly the additional article can be dispensed with if the substantive is immediately followed by a genitive, which does not require the article (supra 7), and this again is followed by a further defining clause with a preposition : E. 3. 4 την σύνεσίν μου έν τώ μυστηρίω του Xp. (την έν would contrast this particular σύνεσις of Paul with another),¹ G. 1. 13 την έμην άναστροφήν ποτε έν τῷ Ἰουδαϊσμῷ. Exx. of repeated article: 1 Th. 1. 8 $\eta \pi i \sigma \tau i s \psi \mu \hat{\omega} v \eta \pi \rho \delta s \tau \delta v \theta \epsilon \delta v$ έξελήλυθεν (to prevent ambiguity), 2 C. 9. 3 (ditto), R. 7. 5 (ditto), 8. 39 (emphasis). An adjective (or participle) following a genitive must take the art.: δ υίός μου ό ἀγαπητός Mt. 3. 17; cp. 2 C. 6. 7, H. 13. 20, E. 6. 16 ($\tau \dot{a}$ om. BD*FG); if there is no art. it is a predicate: Tit. 2. 11 επεφάνη ή χάρις του θεου (ή add. C° al.) σωτήριος πασιν ανθρώποις. The presence of a numeral between the art. and the noun never renders a subsequent article dispensable : Ja. 1. 1 ταΐς δώδεκα φυλαΐς ταΐς έν –, Jo. 6. 13, Ap. 21. 9 (since the numeral is nothing more than a nearer definition of the plural): on the other hand an adjective (or participle) in this position can exempt a subsequent adj. from the article : 1 P. 1. 18 $\tau \eta s$ ματαίαs ύμων άναστροφήs πατροπαραδότου (but πατρ. άναστ. is read by C Clem. Orig.), 1 C. 10. 3 τὸ αὐτὸ βρώμα πνευματικόν? (\aleph° DEFG al., but πν. stands before βρ. in ** AB al.), G. 1. 4 τοῦ ἐνεστῶτος αἰῶνος πονηροῦ (* DEFG al.; του ai. τοῦ ἐν. π. N*AB a harsher reading; so Herm. Mand. x. 3. 2 τὸ πνεθμα τὸ δοθέν τῷ ἀνθρώπῷ ἱλαρόν), cp. Kühner ii.² 532; no offence is caused by δ πιστὸς δοῦλος καὶ φρόνιμος Mt. 24. 45, where καὶ carries over the article; on the other hand in Ap. 2. 12 $\tau \eta v \rho \phi a i a v \tau \eta v$ δίστομον την όξειαν the repetition is necessary, as in H. 11. 12 ή άμμος ή παρὰ τὸ χείλος τῆς θαλάσσης ή ἀναρίθμητος. The repetition of the art. before the subst. is rare (more frequent in class. Greek): L. 1. 70 των άγίων των απ' αίωνος ... προφητών only AC al. (cp. A. 3. 21), 1 P. 4. 14 το της δόξης και το του θεου πνευμα; but ό αλλος, of $\lambda oi \pi oi$, if not followed immediately by a noun but by a defining clause, require to be followed by an article, as in classical Greek: Jo. 19. 32 τοῦ ἄλλου τοῦ συσταυρωθέντος, Ap. 2. 24 τοῖς λοιποῖς τοῖς

¹1 C. 8. 7 τ $\hat{\tau}$ συνηθεία (al. συνειδήσει) έως άρτι τοῦ είδώλου, the ordinary position of the gen. being reversed (but τ. είδ. έ. ά. ALP).

 $\tilde{\epsilon}\nu$ $\Theta \upsilon a \tau \epsilon i \rho \omega s$ (since $\tilde{a} \lambda \lambda$. and λ . do not unite with other defining clauses to form a single phrase).

9. On ouros, exervos, auros 'self' with the article when used with a subst. see §§ 49, 4; 48, 10. Tolouros is occasionally preceded by the art. (when referring to individuals or embracing a class): Mt. 19. 14 τών τοιούτων (referring to the previous τà παιδία); but this rarely happens when a subst. follows, 2 C. 12. 3, Mc. 9. 37 ABDL (τοιούτους before τους in Jo. 4. 23 is predicative). Το τηλικούτο κήτος Herm. Vis. iv. 1. 9. "Ekagros is never followed by the art. (Attic usage is different); with $\delta \lambda os$ and $\pi \hat{a}s$ (cp. supra 6; $\# \pi as$ is only found in Luke with any frequency)¹ the relations are more Thus, with $\pi \dot{a} v \tau \epsilon \dot{a} l \dot{i}$ the subst., to which it complicated. belongs, as one which must be understood in its entirety, is naturally defined by the (generic) article, although $\pi \acute{a} \nu \tau \epsilon s$ in itself does not require the art. any more than obtos does; hence $\pi \acute{a} \nu \tau \epsilon s$ Abyvaloi as in Attic A. 17. 21, because names of peoples do not need the art., cp. 26. 4, § 46, 12, note 2; also in (Luke and) Paul πάντες ανθρωποι A. 22. 15, R. 5. 12, 18, 12. 17, 18 etc. (Herm. Mand. iii. 3), often in the weakened sense of 'all the world,' 'everybody'; cp. for Attic usage Kühner ii.² 545² (πάντες ἄγγελοι Η. 1. 6 O.T.). It is just this weakening of meaning which is the cause of the omission; the words do not denote any totality as such, but the meaning approximates to that of πâs 'every' (vide infra), as in πάσιν ἀγαθοῖs G. 6. 6, 1 P. 2. Ι πάσας καταλαλιάς (πάσαν καταλαλιάν **), πάσιν ύστερουμένοις Herm. Mand. ii. 4. But in 2 P. 3. 16 πάσαις ταῖς (τ. om. ABC) $\epsilon \pi i \sigma \tau o \lambda a \hat{i} s$, E. 3. 8 $\pi a \nu \tau \omega \nu \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \dot{a} \gamma i \omega \nu$ ($\tau \hat{\omega} \nu$ ins. P. only), the art. according to classical usage can by no means be omitted; a similar violation of classical usage is seen in L. 4. 20 $\pi \alpha \nu \tau \omega \nu \epsilon \nu \tau \eta$ συναγωγ $\hat{\eta}$ ('those who were in the syn.'), cp. 25.³ 'Αμφότεροι like $\pi \acute{a}\nu\tau\epsilon$ s also takes the art., but only in L. 5. 7 (elsewhere used without a subst.). Il as 'whole' in Attic is only used of definite individual ideas, öλos 'whole' also of indefinite ideas, and so in Jo. 7. 23 ὅλον äνθρωπον 'a whole man,' A. 11. 26 ένιαυτόν όλον, also perhaps L. 5. 5 δι' ὅλης νυκτὸς 'a whole night' (v.l. with τη̂s); the latter word is also used with anarthrous city-names, A. 21. 31 ὅλη Ἰερουσαλήμ like πάσα (om. D) Ἱεροσόλυμα Mt. 2. 3 (§ 46, 11); elsewhere it always takes the article. $\Pi \hat{a}_s$ before an anarthrous subst. means 'every' (not every individual like ἕκαστος, but any you please): Mt. 3. 10 πâν δένδρον, 19. 3 κατὰ πᾶσαν αἰτίαν, etc.; πᾶσα δικαιοσύνη = πâν ὅ ἄν jδίκαιον (W.-Gr.) Mt. 3. 15; it is also equivalent to summus (W.-Gr.): μετὰ πάσης παρρησίας Α. 4. 20; πάση συνειδήσει ἀγαθη Α. 23. 1 (in

¹ The instances besides those in Luke are Mt. 6. 32, 24. 39 ($\pi d\nu \tau as$ D), 28. 11 ($\ddot{a}\pi a\nu \tau a$ A), Mc. 8. 25 (D $\pi d\nu \tau a$), 11. 32 v.l., 'Mc.' 16. 15 (om. D), G. 3. 28 NAB³, E. 6. 13 (all MSS.), Ja. 3. 2. The Attic distinction, that πas stands after a vowel, $\ddot{a}\pi as$ after a consonant (Diels Gött. Gel. Anz. 1894, 298 ff.), cannot be made in all cases even in Luke, cp. 1. 3 $\ddot{a}\nu \omega \theta \epsilon \nu \pi a \sigma \iota \nu$, although $\ddot{a}\pi as$ is generally found after a consonant.

² So Dem. 8. 5, 42.

³ The words $i \tau \hat{\eta} \sigma \nu \pi \gamma$. are probably spurious, as they vary much in their position in different MSS.

4

every respect). The distinction between $\pi \hat{a}s$ with and without the art. appears in 2 C. 1. 4 (W.-Gr.): $\delta \pi a \rho a \kappa a \lambda \hat{\omega} v \dot{\eta} \mu \hat{a} \hat{s} \hat{\epsilon} \pi \hat{\iota} \pi \hat{a} \sigma \eta \tau \hat{\eta}$ $\theta \lambda i \psi \epsilon i \eta \mu \hat{\omega} \nu$ (that which actually exists in its totality), $\epsilon i s \tau \delta \delta i \nu a \sigma \theta a \iota$ ήμας παρακαλείν τους έν πάση $\theta \lambda$. (any which may arise); so also Α. 12. 11 πάσης της προσδοκίας του λαού των Ιουδαίων (the whole expectation actually entertained); 1 C. 13. 2 $\pi \hat{a} \sigma a \nu \tau \eta \nu \gamma \nu \hat{\omega} \sigma \iota \nu$ and π . τ . $\pi i \sigma \tau i \nu$ (all that there is in its entirety). But in imitation of Hebrew we have $\pi \hat{a}s$ 'Ispa $\eta \lambda$ R. 11. 26, the whole of I., $\pi \hat{a}s$ olkos 'Ισρ. Α. 2. 36 (ἐξ ὅλης καρδίας αὐτῶν Herm. Sim. vii. 4), cp. § 46, 9 ; similar but not incorrect is $\pi \hat{a} \sigma a \sigma \hat{a} \rho \xi$ 'all flesh,' 'everything fleshly '= ' all men ' (בָלֹבְנָשָׂר) Mt. 24, 22, L. 3. 6, R. 3. 20, 1 C. 1. 29 (never otherwise), cp. sup. $\pi \acute{a}\nu\tau\epsilon s \ \ddot{a}\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\sigma\sigma$; with a negative as in Mt. loc. cit. οὐκ ἀν ἐσώθη π. σ. like Hebr. $5 \dots \dot{s} =$ 'no flesh,' § 51, 2. In other cases $\pi \hat{a}_s \delta$ and $\pi \hat{a}_s$ must be carefully distinguished: Ph. 1. 3 έπι πάση τη μνεία 'the whole' (or omit τη with DE), R. 8. 22 πασα ή κτίσιs 'the whole creation,' πάσα κτ. 'every created thing '1 P. 2. 13, Col. 1. 23 (with $\tau \hat{\eta} \approx^{\circ} D^{\circ}$ al.), 15 $\pi \rho \omega \tau \delta \tau \delta \kappa \sigma \eta s \kappa \tau \delta \sigma \epsilon \omega s$. A very frequent use is that of $\pi \hat{a}_s \hat{b}$ with a participle (§ 73, 3) cp. the partic. with art. without $\pi \hat{a}s e.g. \delta \kappa \lambda \epsilon \pi \tau \omega \nu$ 'he who stole hitherto' E. 4. 28; without an art. Mt. 13. 19 παντός άκούοντος, L. 11. 4; so always if a subst. is interposed, Mt. 3. 10 παν δένδρον μή ποιούν κ.τ.λ..... Ό πας, oi mártes contrast the whole or the totality with the part, A. 19. 7 ήσαν οι πάντες άνδρες ('on the whole,' 'together') ώσει δώδεκα (cp. class. examples, e.g. Thuc. 1. 60), 27. 37, G. 5. 14 \circ mâs vóµos $\epsilon v \epsilon v$ λόγψ memλήρωται (opposed to the individual laws), A. 20. 18 τον πάντα χρόνον (ἀπὸ πρώτης ἡμέρας has preceded); frequently in Paul we have of $\pi \acute{a}\nu\tau\epsilon$ s without a subst., 1 C. 9. 22 (a comprehensive term for the individual persons named in verses 20 ff.; also in 19 $\pi \hat{a} \sigma i \nu$ has preceded), 10. 17, R. 11. 32, E. 4. 13, 2 C. 5. 10 τους πάντας ήμας (not only he, of whom he had previously spoken), somewhat differently in 15 of πάντες 'they all' (ὑπερ πάντων has preceded), cp. Ph. 2. 21; similarly τα πάντα in 1 C. 12. 6 (opposed to the individual thing), 19, R. 8. 32, 11. 36 (the universe), Ì C. 15 27 f. (similarly, and with reference to πάντα preceding), etc.; also A. 17. 25 (Mc. 4. 11 v.l.). A peculiar use is 1 Tim. 1. 16 την άπασαν (πάσαν) μακροθυμίαν 'the utmost (cp. supra) long-suffering which He has,' cp. Herm. Sim. ix. 24. 3 τήν απλότητα αυτών και πάσαν νηπιότητα. Like οι πάντες, τα πάντα we also have oi ἀμφότεροι, τὰ ἀμφότερα Ε. 2. 14, 16, 18 (A. 23. 8, but here there is no contrast to the individual things, so that $d\mu\phi\delta\tau\epsilon\rho a$ ταῦτα would be more correct); τοὺς δύο Ε. 2. 15 utrumque, because oi ἀμφότεροι 16, 18 had to be used to express utrique.

10. A phrase in apposition with a proper name takes the article, if a well-known person has to be distinguished from another person of the same name, as 'Iwárns ô $\beta a\pi \tau \iota \sigma \tau \eta s$, $\Phi \iota \lambda \iota \pi \pi \sigma s$ ô $\epsilon \vartheta a \gamma \epsilon \lambda \iota \sigma \tau \eta s$ A. 21. 8, ô $\beta a \sigma \iota \lambda \epsilon \vartheta s$ 'Hρ $\psi \delta \eta s$ (v.l. 'H. $\delta \beta$.) 12. 1, 'A $\gamma \rho \iota \pi \pi a s$ $\delta \beta$. 25. 13; in that case the proper name itself must generally stand without the art., § 46, 10 (hence the reading in A. 12. 12 $\tau \eta s$ [*ABD] Mapías $\tau \eta s \mu \eta \tau \rho \delta s$ is incorrect, cp. ibid. 25 D*); on the other hand we have $\Sigma \iota \mu \omega \iota \beta \upsilon \rho \sigma \epsilon \hat{\iota}$ 10. 6, Mvá σων ι τινι Κυπρίω 21. 16, Μαναήν Ήρώδου τοῦ τετραάρχου σύντροφος 13. Ι (ibid. the MSS. except D* wrongly read Aoúkios o Kupquaîos); the necessity for the person to be well known does not hold in the case of δ $(\epsilon \pi \iota) \kappa a \lambda o \dot{\nu}$. $\mu\epsilon\nu$ os with a surname following, or the equivalent δ $\kappa a \lambda$, or again where a man is denoted by the name of his father or other relation by an art. and gen. (with or without viós etc.), § 35, 2. On Φαραώ βασιλέως Αἰγύπτου A. 7. 10 see § 46, 9.—In the case of the anarthrous $\theta \epsilon \delta s$ (§ 46, 6) the article may be dispensed with in a clause in apposition with it, but only in more formal and ceremonious language, as in the opening of an epistle, R. 1. 7 $d\pi\delta$ $\theta\epsilon\delta\delta$ $\pi a\tau\rho\delta\delta$ $\eta\mu\omega\nu$ καὶ κυρίου 'Ι. Χρ., 1 Th. 1. Ι ἐν θεῷ πατρὶ καὶ κυρίω 'Ι. Χρ., 1 Tim. 1. Ι ἀπόστολος ... κατ' ἐπιταγὴν θεοῦ σωτῆρος ἡμῶν (cp. § 46, 11, note 3); similarly $\kappa \nu \rho \omega s$ (§ 46, 6) is used in apposition to 'Ino. X ρ , though not often except in an opening clause (Ph. 3, 20).-In δ ἀντίδικος ύμῶν διάβολος 1 P. 5. 8 ἀντίδ. is treated as an adjective; Jo. 8. 44 ύμεῖς ἐκ τοῦ πατρὸς τοῦ διαβόλου ἐστέ must mean 'you are descended from your father (cp. 38) the devil'; but the first article is apparently spurious (and $\pi a \tau \rho \delta s$ is predicative, supra 6). On Mt. 12. 24 see § 46, 9.

11. Where several substantives are connected by $\kappa \alpha \ell$ the article may be carried over from the first of them to the one or more substantives that follow, especially if they are of the same gender and number as the first, but occasionally too where the gender is different: Col. 2. 22 κατὰ τὰ ἐντάλματα καὶ διδασκαλίας τῶν ἀνθρώπων, L. 14. 23 είs τὰs ὅδοὺς καὶ φραγμούς, 1. 6, Mc. 12. 33 v.l. (Winer, Inversely there are a number of instances where with the § 19, 3). same gender and number the repetition of the article is necessary or more appropriate : A. 26. 30 δ βασιλεύς καὶ ὁ ήγεμών (different persons), 1 C. 3. 8 ὁ φυτεύων καὶ ὁ ποτίζων ἕν εἰσιν (ditto), Jo. 19. 6 οἱ αρχιέρεις και οι υπηρέται (whereas αρχ. with πρεσβύτεροι or γραμματείς may dispense with a repetition of the art., Mt. 16. 21 etc.), µera£v τοῦ θυσιαστηρίου καὶ τοῦ οἴκου L. 11. 51 (Mt. 23. 35). Also in the case of $\tau \epsilon$ kal repetition generally takes place, though in A. 14. 6 we have $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu \ \hat{\epsilon} \theta \nu \hat{\omega} \nu \ \tau \epsilon \ \kappa a \hat{\iota} \ (\tau \hat{\omega} \nu \ add. \ D)$ 'Ioudaíwu. There is frequently a variety of readings, but the alteration in the sense is for the most part unimportant. The article appears to be dropped, not unnaturally, between two clauses in apposition connected by kai, in Tit. 2. 13 (τήν) ἐπιφάνειαν τής δόξης του μεγάλου θεού και σωτήρος ήμων 'Ι. Χρ., cp. 2 P: 1. I (but \times here reads $\kappa v \rho i o v$ for $\theta \epsilon o \hat{v}$, probably rightly, cp. 11, 2. 20, 3. 2, 18); however in Titus loc. cit. σωτήρος ήμ. 'l. Χρ. may be taken by itself and separated from the preceding, in which case cp. for the loss of the art. supra 10; Winer, § 19, 5, note 1.

SYNTAX OF THE PRONOUNS.

§ 48. PERSONAL, REFLEXIVE, AND POSSESSIVE PRONOUNS.

 The nominatives of the personal pronouns—έγώ, σύ, ήμεῖς, ὑμεῖς -are, as in classical Greek, not employed except for emphasis or contrast. Jo. 4. 10 σừ ầν ἤτησας αὐτόν (not, vice versâ, I thee), A. 4. 7 έν ποία δυνάμει έποιήσατε τοῦτο ὑμεῖs; (people like you, this miracle), Jo. 5. 44 πῶς δύνασθε ὑμεῖς πιστεῦσαι (persons like you), 39 ύμεις δοκείτε έν αυταίς ζωήν αιώνιον έχειν (you yourselves), 38 ör απέστειλεν έκεινος, τούτω ύμεις ου πιστεύετε (έκεινος - ύμεις contrasted), 1. 30 υπέρ ου έγω είπον (I myself), 42 συ εί Σίμων..., συ κληθήση $K\eta\phi\hat{a}s$ (cp. 49, this particular person as opposed to others), E. 5. 32 τὸ μυστήριον τοῦτο μέγα ἐστίν ἐγὼ δὲ λέγῶ εἰς Χριστὸν καὶ εἰς τὴν έκκλησίαν (subject and speaker contrasted).—As an equivalent for the third person in the N.T., especially in Luke (Mt., Mc.; also LXX.), airos is used = 'he' with emphasis (besides δ in $\delta \delta \epsilon$, $\delta \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \delta \nu$, § 46, 3)¹, L. 2. 28 (the parents bring in the child Jesus) $\kappa \alpha i$ $a\dot{v}\tau \delta s$ (Simeon) ἐδέξατο αὐτὸ κ.τ.λ. (in Simeon's own narration of the event it would run και έγω έδεξάμην), 1. 22, 2. 50 (και αυτοί), 9. 36 (ditto), 11. 14 (καὶ αὐτὸ), L. 24. 21 ἠλπίζομεν ὅτι αὐτός ἐστιν ὁ μέλλων λυτρούσθαι τὸν Ἰσραήλ (here too ἐγώ would be used if the story were told in the first person), Mc. 14. 44 δν äν φιλήσω, αὐτός ἐστιν (he is the man), A. 3. 10 έπεγίνωσκον δε αυτόν, ότι αυτός (BDEP ούτος, cp. Jo. 9. 8 f.) ήν δ ... καθήμενος (1st pers. ὅτι ἐγὼ ήμην, cp. Jo. 9. 9), cp. Herm. Mand. vi. 2. 5 γίνωσκε ότι αὐτός ἐστιν ἐν σοί: Mt. 12. 50 (cp. with obros Mc. 3. 35), 5. 4 ff. Also avròs $\delta \hat{\epsilon}$, Mc. 5. 40 ($\delta \delta \hat{\epsilon}$ A), L. 4. 30, 8. 37 etc. (even where the name is added, Mt. 3. 4 avròs $\delta \hat{\epsilon} \delta [\delta \ \text{om} \ D]$ 'Iwávys, 'but he, John'; Mc. 6. 17 avròs yàp δ [δ om. D] 'Hρ.); the feminine of αὐτὸs is not so used : αὕτη should be written in L. 2. 37, 7. 12, 8. 42 καὶ αὕτη (καὶ αὐτὸs is also a wrong reading in 8. 41 BD, and in 19. 2 where D reads obros without $\kappa \alpha l$). Classical Greek employs sometimes obros, sometimes έκεινος (δ), § 49, 2 and 3; in modern Greek αυτός has become a demonstrative pronoun and dropped the meaning of 'self' (for which o loss is used). Of the oblique cases, the genitive alone is used with emphasis in this way (class. ἐκείνου etc.): L. 24. 31 αὐτῶν δε διηνοίχθησαν οι όφθαλμοί, Mt. 5. 3, 10, cp. infra 7 (Herm. Sim. v. 7. 3 αύτου γάρ έστιν πάσα έξουσία, viii. 7. 1 άκουε και περί αυτών).

2. A prominent feature in the Greek of the N.T. (and still more in that of the LXX.) is the extraordinary frequency of the oblique cases of the personal pronouns used without emphasis. The reason for this is the dependence of the language on Semitic speech, where

¹ Cp. Buttmann, p. 93 ff. (Winer, § 22, note 4). The use is an old one, though foreign to Attic writers: Hom. II. iii. 282 abros $\xi \pi \epsilon \iota \theta' E \lambda \ell \nu \eta \nu \ell \chi \ell \tau \omega \dots \eta \mu \epsilon \hat{s} \delta \ell$, 'he ... we.'

these pronouns are easily and conveniently attached as suffixes to substantival and verbal forms, and are therefore everywhere employed, where the full expression of the thought requires them. The case is different with classical Greek, which has separate words for them, of which some indeed are enclitic, but those for the 3rd person and for the plural are dissyllables, and therefore it expresses these words only so far as they are essential to the lucidity of the sense, while in other cases it leaves them to be The tendency of the N.T., then, is to express the understood. pronoun in each case with every verb which is joined with other verbs in a sentence, and not, according to the classical method, to write it once and leave it to be supplied in the other instances; again, the possessive genitives μov , σov , $a v \tau o v$ etc. are used with a quite peculiar and tiresome frequency, being employed, to take a special instance, with reference to the subject of the sentence, in which connection the simple pronoun cannot possibly stand in classical Greek, but the reflexive is used instead, vide infra 6. Still no rule can be laid down, the practice depends on the pleasure of the writer, and superfluous pronouns are often omitted by the better MSS. As in classical Greek 'my father' may be expressed at the option of the writer by $\delta \pi a \tau \eta \rho \mu o v$ ($\delta \epsilon \mu \delta s \pi$.) or $\delta \pi a \tau \eta \rho$, so also in John's Gospel Christ speaks of God as $\delta \pi \alpha \tau \eta \rho \mu ov$, and more often as ό πατήρ, 8. 38 έγῶ ἃ έόρακα παρὰ τῷ πατρὶ (μου add. ND al.) λαλώ, καὶ ὑμεῖς οὖν ι ἡκούσατε παρὰ τοῦ πατρὸς (so without ύμων BLT) ποιείτε: Mt. 27. 24 απενίψατο τας χείρας. The pronoun is omitted in other cases or connections: A. 16. 15 $\pi a \rho \epsilon \kappa a \lambda \epsilon \sigma \epsilon v$ (sc. ήμα̂s) λέγουσα (without ήμιν), 19 ἐπιλαβόμενοι τόν Παύλον και τον Σιλάν είλκυσαν κ.τ.λ. (instead of επιλαβ. τοῦ Π.... είλκ. αὐτούς). On the other hand we have 22. 17 εγένετό μοι ὑποστρέψαντι-προσευχομένου μου-γενέσθαι με (§ 74, 5), 7. 21 έκτεθέντος δε αὐτοῦ, ἀνείλατο αὐτὸν-καὶ ἐξεθρέψατο αὐτόν (vide ibid.; also for combinations such as Mt. 6. 3 σου ποιούντος ... μη γνώτω ή άριστερά σου, Mt. 8. 1, v.l. έξελθόντι αὐτῷ ... ήκολούθησαν αὐτῷ). On the acc. and inf. instead of the inf. see § 72, 2 and 3; on avrov etc. after the relative § 50, 4.

3. The longer and unenclitic forms of the pronoun of the lst pers. sing.— $\dot{\epsilon}\mu o \hat{v}$, $\dot{\epsilon}\mu o \hat{\epsilon}$, $\dot{\epsilon}\mu \dot{\epsilon}$ —are employed as in classical Greek to give emphasis or to mark a contrast; they are generally used after a preposition (even $\check{\epsilon}\nu\epsilon\kappa\epsilon\nu$), except after $\pi\rho\delta s$: Mt. 25. 36 (N $\dot{\epsilon}\mu\dot{\epsilon})$, Mc. 9. 19 (do.), A. 22. 10 (do.: in $8 \dot{\epsilon}\mu\dot{\epsilon} N^*AB$); with $\pi\rho\delta$ s the short forms are used even where there is a contrast, Mt. 3. 14 $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\dot{\omega}\chi\rho\epsilon a\nu$ $\check{\epsilon}\chi\omega \ i\pi\delta \ \sigma o\hat{v} \ \beta a\pi\tau \iota\sigma\theta\eta\nu a\iota$, $\kappa a\hat{\iota} \ \sigma \dot{v} \ \epsilon\rho\chi\eta \ \pi\rho\delta s \ \mu\epsilon$ (where Tisch. writes $\pi\rho\delta s \ \mu\dot{\epsilon}$; the classical language certainly knows nothing of an accented $\mu\dot{\epsilon}$; only in Jo. 6. 37 $\pi\rho\delta s \ \epsilon\mu\dot{\epsilon}$ is read by nearly all Mss., in the next clause $\pi\rho\delta s \ \epsilon\mu\dot{\epsilon}$ is read by NE al., $\pi\rho\delta s \ \mu\epsilon \ ABD$ al. (we also find $\dot{\epsilon}\nu\delta\pi\iota\delta\nu \ \mu\delta\upsilon$ in several Mss. in Lc. 4. 7). Cp. Kühner Gr. i.³, i. 347. It follows that in the case of the second person, the forms $\sigma\sigma\hat{\upsilon}$ etc. after prepositions other than $\pi\rho\delta s$ should be accented. Of the strengthened Attic forms $\check{\epsilon}\gamma\omega\gamma\epsilon$, $\check{\epsilon}\mu\iota\iota\gamma\epsilon$ there are no instances in the N.T.

4. There is a wide-spread tendency among Greek writers, when they speak of themselves, to say nucles instead of eyó. The same meaning is often attributed to many instances of the 1st pers. plur. in St. Paul; in his letters, however, there are usually several persons from whom, as is shown in the opening clause, the letter proceeds, and where this is not the case (Pastoral Epp.; Romans, Ephesians), no such plurals are found : cp. e.g. Col. 1. 3 εύχαριστοῦμεν with Ε΄ 1. 15 κάγῶ ... οὐ παύομαι εὐχαριστῶν. In R. 1. 5 δι' οῦ ἐλάβομεν χάριν καὶ ἀποστολὴν $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$, while the language clearly applies to Paul himself ($d\pi o \sigma \tau$.), yet the words are not limited to him $(\chi \dot{\alpha} \rho \iota \nu)$, but the persons addressed, and indeed all Christians (cp. just before, 4 του κυρίου ήμῶν), are fellow-partakers in the χάρις; so that $\tilde{\epsilon}$ λαβον χάριν would not have been suitable. The author of the Epistle to the Hebrews, however (an epistle, moreover, which has no introduction at all with the name of the writer), appears really to use the plur. and sing. without distinction, 5. 11, 6. 1, 3, 9, 11 etc., 13. 18 f. (plur. - sing.), 22 f. ($\epsilon \pi \epsilon \sigma \tau \epsilon \iota \lambda a$, $\eta \mu \hat{\omega} \nu$): and even in those Pauline Epistles, which are indited in the name of several persons, it is not always possible appropriately to refer the plural to these different persons, e.g. in 2 C. 10. 11 ff. Similarly in 1 John 1. 4 γράφομεν is apparently identical in meaning with $\gamma \rho \dot{\alpha} \phi \omega$ (2. 1 and elsewhere).—Quite different is such a plural as we meet with in Mc. 4. 30 $\pi \hat{\omega}_s \delta \mu_{0i}\hat{\omega}_{-i}$ σωμεν την βασιλείαν τοῦ θεοῦ, where in a way that is not unknown to us the audience are represented as taking part in the deliberation.

5. The pronoun of the 3rd person airov etc. is very frequently used with a disregard to formal agreement, where there is no noun of the same gender and number to which it may refer. The occurrence of the name of a place is sufficient ground for denoting the inhabitants of it by αὐτῶν: Α. 8. 5 Φίλιππος κατελθών εἰς τὴν πόλιν τῆς Σαμαρείας έκήρυσσεν αὐτοῖς τὸν χριστόν, 16. 10, 20. 2, 2 C. 2. 12 f. etc.; in the same way κόσμος ... αὐτοῖς ibid. 5. 19, πâν ... αὐτοῖς (**αὐτῷ) Jo. 17. 2, see § 32, 1 (classical usage is similar). Further we have L. 23. 50 f. βουλευτής ... αὐτῶν, *i.e.* the members of the high council (the reference being understood from the preceding narrative); R. 2. 26 $\dot{\epsilon}\dot{a}\nu$ $\dot{\eta}$ άκροβυστία τὰ δικαιώματα τοῦ νόμου φυλάσση, i.e. ὁ ἀκροβυστίαν ἔχων, and therefore followed by $a\dot{v}\tau o\hat{v}$; 1 P. 3. 14 $\tau \partial v \phi \delta \beta o v a\dot{v}\tau \hat{\omega}v$, the persecutors, who are understood from the sense and context, E. 5. 12 $\dot{v}\pi' a\dot{v}\tau\dot{\omega}\nu$, those who belong to the σκότοs of verse 11, etc. To these must be added instances of constructio ad sensum (§ 31, 4) such as Mc. 5. 41 κρατήσας της χειρός τοῦ παιδίου λέγει airų, and on the other hand cases where the subject referred to is obvious without further explanation, as in Jo. 20. 15 autóv, 1 Jo. 2. 12 autov.1 Cp. Buttmann, p. 92 f., Winer, § 22, 3. The relative pronoun is sometimes used in ā similar way : G. 4. 19 τεκνία μου, οΰς, Jo. 6. 9 παιδάριον, δς (v.l. δ), Ph. 2. 15 γενεάς σκολιάς, έν οις; also A. 15. 36 κατά πάσαν πόλιν, έν ais, 2 P. 3. Ι δευτέραν ήδη έπιστολήν, έν ais (i.e. ταις δυσιν έπιστ.) etc.

The reflexive pronouns—
 μαυτοῦ, σεαυτοῦ, ἐαυτοῦ, with plural

 δ

¹ In Jo. 8. 44 ($\delta \pi a \tau \eta \rho$) $a \dot{\sigma} \tau \sigma \tilde{\sigma}$ (§ 47, 3) may be referred without difficulty through $\psi \epsilon \dot{\sigma} \sigma \tau r$ $\lambda a \lambda \hat{\eta} \tau \dot{\sigma} \psi \epsilon \hat{\upsilon} \delta \sigma s$.

for 1st, 2nd, and 3rd persons έαυτῶν (§ 13, 1)¹—have in the N.T. been to some extent displaced by the simple personal pronoun; but a more noticeable fact is that they have had no share at all in the extended use which the personal pronouns acquired (supra 2). When the pronoun is employed as a direct complement to the verb, referring back to the subject, no other than the reflexive form is found in all (or nearly all) authors; but if the pronoun is governed by a preposition, there are at least in Matthew numerous instances of the simple pronoun being used; finally, if a substantive governing the pronoun is interposed, and the pronoun has no emphasis at all (so that classical writers would omit it altogether, supra 2), then the reflexive form is never employed. Thus, in proportion as the number and the independent character of the words interposed between the pronoun and the subject becomes greater, the rarer becomes the use of the reflexive. (For instances of this in classical writers, Kühner ii.² Direct complement: Mt. 6. 19 f. Onoavpilete iniv 489, 494.) $\theta\eta\sigma$ aupoùs (instead of éautoîs).² After a preposition : Mt. 5. 29 f., 18. 8 f. βάλε από σοῦ, 6. 2 μη σαλπίσης εμπροσθέν σου, 11. 29 άρατε τὸν ζυγόν μου ἐφ' ὑμῶς, 13. 13 παράλαβε μετὰ σοῦ BDI (σεαυτοῦ κκLM). The simple form is still more frequent where two pronouns are connected : 18. 15 ἕλεγξον ... μεταξύ σοῦ καὶ αὐτοῦ, 17. 27 δὸς ἀντὶ ἐμοῦ (In Semitic speech, where the reflexive is expressed by a καὶ σοῦ. periphrasis with cccc, there can be no question of this kind of expression in these cases.) Yet even Mt. has cinov ev cautois (9. 3, 21), μερισθείσα καθ έαυτης (12. 25), 15. 30 εχοντες μεθ έαυτών, etc.-In the case of a possessive genitive attached to a substantive, the MS. evidence is often conflicting, not however in the case of έμαυτοῦ or σεαυτοῦ, but only with ἑάυτοῦ. The only instance with έμαυτοῦ is 1 C. 10. 33 τὸ ἐμαυτοῦ συμφέρον (of σεαυτοῦ there is no example); then with $\delta a \nu \tau \hat{\omega} \nu = 2 n d$ pers. we have H. 10. 25 $\tau \dot{\eta} \nu$ $\epsilon \pi \omega \nu \alpha \gamma \omega \gamma \gamma \nu$ $\epsilon \alpha \nu \tau \hat{\omega} \nu$, with $\epsilon \alpha \nu \tau o \hat{\nu}$, $-\hat{\eta} s$, $-\hat{\omega} \nu$ between the art. and the noun (infra 7) we have Mc. 8. 35 v.l., L. 11. 21 την έαυτοῦ αὐλήν (D. τ. α. αὐτοῦ), 13. 34 τὴν ἑαυτῆς νοσσιὰν (τὰ νοσσία αὐτῆς D), 14. 26 (ἑαυτοῦ stands after the noun in \otimes B), 33 (a^vτo^v D al.), also 16. 8 εis την γενεαν την έαυτῶν; frequent in the Pauline Epp., e.g. R. 4. 19, 5. 8, 16. 4, 18. On the other hand, the simple pronoun is also used e.g. in A. 28. 19 του έθνους μου, ibid. β text την ψυχήν μου, G. 1. 14 μου

¹ The corresponding use of $\dot{\epsilon}av\tau o\hat{v}$ for ($\dot{\epsilon}\mu av\tau o\hat{v}$ or) $\sigma\epsilon av\tau o\hat{v}$, which is far from being established for classical prose, rests even in the N.T. on doubtful authority: Jo. 18. 34 $\dot{a}\phi^{\dagger}$ $\dot{\epsilon}av\tau o\hat{v}$ $\tau o\hat{v}\tau o$ $\lambda \dot{\epsilon}\gamma \epsilon s$, but $\dot{a}\pi \dot{\sigma}$ $\sigma\epsilon av\tau o\hat{v}$ NBC*L: R. 13. 9 = G. 5. 14 O.T. $\dot{\omega}s$ $\dot{\epsilon}av\tau o\hat{v}$ read by FGLP and FGLN*P in the respective passages; cp. Herm. Vis. iv. 1. 5 $\dot{\eta}p\dot{\epsilon}\dot{a}\mu\nu\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma \epsilon av\tau \hat{\omega}$ (N* as; $\dot{\epsilon}\mu av\tau$. N°), Sim. ii. 1 τi $\sigma \dot{v}$ $\dot{\epsilon}v$ $\dot{\epsilon}av\tau \hat{\omega}$ ($\dot{\gamma}\tau\epsilon\hat{s}$; (N is wanting), ix. 2. 5: Clem. Hom. xiv. 10, xvii. 18 for $\dot{\epsilon}\mu av\tau o\hat{v}$. Buttm. 99. On $\dot{\nu}\mu\hat{\omega}\nu$ $a\dot{v}\tau\hat{\omega}$ 1 C. 5. 13 vide infra 10.

² We also have $\ell\delta_0\xi_a \ \ell\mu a \nu \tau \hat{\omega}$ with inf. in A. 26. 9, whereas classical Greek in a case like this where no stress is laid on the reflexive, says $\delta o \kappa \hat{\omega} \mu o \omega$. On $\ell a \nu \tau \delta \nu$ as subj. of the accus. and inf. see § 72, 2; Buttm. 236 ($a \nu \tau \delta \nu$ for $\ell a \nu \tau \delta \nu$ A. 25. 21).

³ Hence in translating from Semitic the reflexive is interchangeable with $\tau h \nu \psi_0 \chi h \nu$ a droû: cp. L. 9. 25 éaurd dé a noléoas $h \zeta \eta \mu \omega \theta \epsilon ls$ with 24 anoléo $\eta \tau h \nu \psi$. adroû. Cp. Winer § 22, 7 note 3. bis, 16 τèν vièv aὐτοῦ, etc.; on ἐμός σός, vide infra 7.—Other instances of reflexives: Mt. 12. 45 πονηρότερα ἑαυτοῦ (DE* αυτου), Mc. 5. 26 τà παρ' ἑαυτῆς (αὐτῆς ABL), L. 24. 27 τà περὶ ἑαυτοῦ (αὐτοῦ DEL al.); on the other hand, Ph. 2. 23 ἀφίδω τὰ περὶ ἐμές, R. 1. 15 τὸ κατ' ἐμὲ πρόθυμος sc. εἰμί (§ 42, 2). A loose but intelligible use is 1 C. 10. 29 λέγω οὐχὶ τὴν ἑαυτοῦ.—The mode of strengthening the reflexive by means of αὐτός, frequent in Attic, appears in a few instances (from the literary language): 2 C. 10. 12 αὐτοὶ ἐν ἑαυτοῦς ἑαυτοῦς μετροῦντες, 1. 9, A. 5. 36 D κατελύθη αὐτὸς δἰ ἑαυτοῦ (αυτου D); but in Jo. 9. 21 the pronouns must not be connected : αὐτὸς (he himself) περὶ ἑαυτοῦ λαλήσει (cp. R. 8. 23).—On ἑαυτῶν for ἀλλήλων, vide infra 9.

7. The possessives έμός, σός, ήμέτερος, υμέτερος are employed in classical Greek to represent the emphasized genitives έμοῦ, σοῦ etc., whereas if there is no emphasis on the pronoun possession is denoted by the genitives μov , σov , $\eta \mu \hat{\omega} v$, $\upsilon \mu \hat{\omega} v$; the position of the latter, as of the corresponding autov, -ŷs, -ŵv of the 3rd pers., if the subst. takes the article, is after the substantive (and the article is not repeated), or even before the article, as in Mt. 8. 8 iva $\mu ov \ \dot{v} \pi \partial \tau \dot{\eta} v$ στέγην, 1 Th. 3. 10 ίδειν ύμων το πρόσωπον, 13 στηρίξαι ύμων τας καρδίας, or lastly, if the subst. has an attribute before it, the position of the pronoun is after the attribute : 2 C. 4. 16 5 $\xi \omega \eta \mu \hat{\omega} \nu a \nu \theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma s$, Mt. 27. 60 έν τῷ καινῷ αὐτοῦ μνημείω, 1 P. 1. 3, 2. 9, 5. 10 etc. (Buttmann, p. 101). On the other hand, the possessives take the position of the attributes, as in classical Greek is the case with emphasized genitives like $\dot{\epsilon}\mu a \upsilon \tau o \hat{\upsilon}$, $\sigma \epsilon a \upsilon \tau o \hat{\upsilon}$, $\dot{\epsilon} a \upsilon \tau o \hat{\upsilon}$, $\tau o \dot{\upsilon} \tau o \upsilon$, $\dot{\epsilon} \kappa \epsilon i \nu o \upsilon$ ($= h i \bar{s}$). The noticeable point in the N.T. is that while $\epsilon\mu\sigma\vartheta$ and $\sigma\sigma\vartheta$ are not used as possessives (except in connection with another gen., R. 16. 13 aυτοῦ καὶ ἐμοῦ, 1. 12), the emphatic ὑμῶν (in the Pauline Épp., Buttmanu 102) undoubtedly is so used (in the position of the attribute; cp. Soph. Oed. R. 1458 ή μέν ήμῶν μοῖρα), and hence it happens that the words $\eta\mu\epsilon$ the post and $\psi\mu\epsilon$ terms are by no means represented in all the N.T. writings (there are not ten instances of each, none at all e.g. in Mt., Mc.): 1 C. 16. 18 τὸ ἐμὸν πνεῦμα καὶ τὸ ὑμῶν, 2 C. 1. 6 ὑπὲρ τῆς ύμών παρακλήσεωs (object. gen., which however may equally well be expressed by the possessive : R. 11. 31 $\tau \hat{\psi} \, \hat{\upsilon} \mu \epsilon \tau \hat{\epsilon} \rho \psi \, \hat{\epsilon} \lambda \hat{\epsilon} \epsilon_{\ell}$, $\hat{1}$ C. 11. 24 $\tau \hat{\eta} \nu$ έμην ἀνάμνησιν, W. § 22, 7, cp. for class. exx. Kühner ii.² 486, note 11), 2 C. 9. 2 το υμών (v.l. έξ υμ.) ζηλος, 1 C. 16. 17 το υμών (υμέτερον BCD al.) υστέρημα, 1 Th. 3. 7, Clem. Hom. x. 15 τῷ υμών (reflex.) παραδείγματι. Still the possessive is also found in another position in ήμων γαρ το πολίτευμα Ph. 3. 20 (stronger emphasis, for which το yàp $\eta\mu$. $\pi o\lambda$. was not sufficient), and there are similar exceptions in the case of reflexive genitives : $\tau \eta \nu \epsilon \pi i \sigma \nu \nu a \gamma \omega \gamma \eta \nu \epsilon a \nu \tau \hat{\omega} \nu$ H. 10. 25 (i.e. ὑμῶν αὐτῶν), A. 2Ĭ. 11 δήσας ἑαυτοῦ τοὺς πόδας (there is a wrong reading αύτοῦ, which would refer to Paul), G. 6. 4 τὸ ἔργον ἑαυτοῦ, ibid. 8 είς την σάρκα έαυτοῦ (αὐτοῦ D*FG, cp. the v.l. in E. 4. 16, Mt. 21. 8, 23. 37 ; Herm. Vis. iii. 11. 3 ἑαυτῶν [2nd pers.] τας μερίμνας, Sim. iv. 5 τον κύριον έαυτών [3rd pers.], v. 4. 3; in general, according to what has been said above [see 6] autoû deserves the preference). Emphatic avrou = his is found in the position of the attribute : Tit. 3. 5 κατὰ τὸ αὐτοῦ ἔλεοs (opposed to preceding ἡμεῖs; τὸ ἔλ. αὐτοῦ D*EFG), H. 2. 4 κατά την αύτοῦ θέλησιν, R. 11. 11 τῷ αὐτῶν παραπτώματι ή σωτηρία τοις έθνεσιν 3. 24, 1 Th. 2. 19, Ja. 1. 18 (v.l. έαυτου); cp. supra 1 (in R. 3. 25 έν τῷ αὐτοῦ αἴματι the gen. is from αὐτός 'self').1 For this classical Greek uses ekeivov (which may even have reflexive force, Kühner ii.² 559, 12); the latter appears in the correct position (that of the attribute), in Jo. 5. 47, 2 C. 8. 9, 14, 2 Tim. 2. 26 etc. (exception R. 6. 21 to télos ekeívev); cp. with toutou etc., R. 11. 30, 2 P. 1. 15 (but contrary to rule are A. 13. 23 τούτου ό θεός άπο τοῦ σπέρματος, cp. on Ph. 3. 20 above; Ap. 18. 15 οἱ ἔμποροι τούτων; H. 13. 11).—'Euós is very frequent in John, not very frequent in the remaining writers (ous besides its use in Gospels and Acts occurs only three times in Paul); ἐμός (like σός) is also used reflexively for ἐμαυτοῦ (σεαυτοῦ), Philem. 19, Mt. 7. 3 (3 Jo. 4), Herm. Sim. i. 11 τὸ σὸν ἔργον ἐργάζου (also occasionally in class. Greek, Kühner ii.² 494a).—The possessives are also used predicatively (without an art.) : Mt. 20. 23 = Mc. 10. 40 our eoriv emor rouro bouvar (for which we have in the plur. ὑμῶν ἐστιν 1 C. 3. 21 f., cp. supra § 35, 2); with a subst. inserted $\epsilon \mu \partial \nu \beta \rho \hat{\omega} \mu \dot{\alpha} \epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu i \nu \alpha \kappa \tau \lambda$. Jo. 4. 34, 13. 35; under other circumstances also the art. may be dropped: Ph. 3.9 μη έχων έμην δικαιοσύνην ('a righteousness of my own') την έκ νόμου (cp. § 47, 6), as with ίδιος, infra 8, and with έαυτού L. 19. 13 δέκα δούλους έαυτου (' of his').

8. A common possessive pronoun is toios, which in classical Greek is opposed to κοινός or δημόσιος, while in modern Greek the new possessive δ έδικός μου, σου etc. has been fully developed (with the N.T. and LXX. use agree also Philo, Josephus, Plutarch etc., W. Schmidt Jos. elocut. 369). It is opposed to κοινόs A. 4. 32 (H. 7. 27); or means 'peculiar,' 'corresponding to the particular condition' of a person or thing, 1 C. 3. 8, 7. 7 etc. (class.); but generally means simply 'own,'= $\epsilon a v \tau o \hat{v}$ etc. (like class. $o i \kappa \epsilon i o s$): Jo. 1. 11 είς τὰ ίδια ηλθεν, και οι ίδιοι αυτόν ου παρέλαβον, 42 ευρίσκει τον άδελφον τον ίδιον Σίμωνα. Mt. 22. 5 είς τον ίδιον άγρόν (without emphasis = $\epsilon i_s \tau$. \dot{a} . $a \dot{v} \tau o \hat{v}$), 25. 14; with v.l. $\dot{\epsilon} a v \tau o \hat{v}$ L. 2. 3. It is joined with the gen. avrov etc. (a use which in itself is classical) in Mc. 15. 20 (v.l. without aὐτοῦ, D also omits ἰδια) A. 1. 19, 24. 23, Tit. 1. 12, 2 P. 3. 3, 16. Κατ' ἰδίαν is frequent = class. καθ ἑαυτόν 'by Himself,' Mt. 14. 13 etc.; ίδία ἐκάστω 1 C. 12. 11 is classical.-It is not surprising that the article is occasionally dropped, cp. supra 7 ad fin. (1 C. 15. 38, a v.l. inserts $\tau \dot{o}$; Tit. 1. 12); in Tit. 2. 9 δούλους δεσπόταις ίδίοις ὑποτάσσεσθαι there is a kind of assimilation to the anarthrous δούλους (somewhat as in H. 12. 7, § 46, 7); 2 P. 2. 16 έλεγξιν ίδίας παρανομίας is due to Hebrew usage like παρ. αὐτοῦ (§ 46, 9).—On the periphrasis for the possess. gen. with κατά see § 42, 2.

9. Eautûv is found (as previously in classical Greek) for the

¹ In H. 7. 18 δια τδ αὐτῆς ἀσθενἐς καὶ ἀνωφελές there is no emphasis on the pronoun, but here there is no substantive : τὴν αὐτῆς ἀσθένειαν would scarcely be written. (Still in Herm. Mand. vi. 2. 2 we have τὰς αὐτῶν ἐνεργείας without emphasis, cp. Clem. Hom. xiv. 7, 10.)

reciprocal $\lambda\lambda\lambda\eta\lambda\omega\nu$ in 1 C. 6. 7, Col. 3. 13, 16, etc., and often in conjunction with it for the sake of variety : L. 23. 12 $\lambda\lambda\eta\lambda\omega\nu$... $\pi\rho\deltas$ $\dot{\epsilon}av\tau\sigma\deltas$ with v.l. in *BLT $\pi\rho\deltas$ $a\dot{v}\tau\sigma\deltas$, a use of the simple pronoun which here appears to be inadmissible. The individual persons are kept separate in $\lambda\lambda\deltas$ $\pi\rho\deltas$ $\lambda\lambda\delta\nu$ A. 2. $12 = \pi\rho\deltas$ $\lambda\lambda\lambda\eta\lambda\delta\nus$; cp. $\epsilon\deltas$ $\tau\delta\nu$ $\epsilon\nua$ for $\lambda\lambda\eta\lambda\delta\nus$ (Semitic) § 45, 2.

10. Avrós 'self' has its classical usages (usually followed by an article, which however does not belong to avrós, and is therefore sometimes omitted, as in $avr\deltas$ 'Iyorov's Jo. 2. 24, according to § 46, 10); it is naturally found also in connection with the personal pronoun, where it is to be sharply distinguished from the reflexive : $\xi\xi \, \psi\mu\partial\nu \, avr\partial\nu \, A$. 20. 30, like $avr\deltas \, \epsilon'\gamma\phi$, $avrol \, \psi\mu\epsilon\rhos$ (in the 3rd pers. it is of course not repeated : $i\nu a \, avrovs \, (\gamma\lambda\sigma)v\tau\epsilon \, G$. 4. 17, 'the men themselves'); even in 1 C. 5. 13 $\epsilon\xi \, \delta\mu\rhoa\tau\epsilon \, \tau\delta\nu \, \pi\sigma\nu\eta\delta\nu \, \epsilon\xi \, \psi\mu\partial\nu \, avr\partial\nu$ the words $\dot{\upsilon}$. are not reflexive, although this quotation is taken from Deut. 17. 7 $\epsilon\xi \, a\rho\epsilon s \, \tau\delta\nu \, \pi \, \epsilon \, \xi \, \psi\mu\delta\nu \, avr\delta\nu$, where $\epsilon \, avr\delta\nu \, could not be used because of the singular <math>\epsilon\xi \, a\rho\epsilon s \, \cdots \, \delta\nu \, \sigma \, \delta\tau\sigma \, s$ ($\epsilon\kappa\epsilon\rho\nu\sigma$) Luke uses $avr\deltas \, in the phrases <math>\epsilon\nu \, avr\delta\gamma \, \tau\gamma \, \delta\rho \, \eta, \, \dot{\mu}\epsilon \, \rho \, L$. 12. 12, 13. 31, 20. 19, A. 22. 13 etc., $\epsilon\nu \, a. \tau\phi \, \kappa \, av\phi \, \Omega \, L$. 13. 1 (cp. $\epsilon\xi \, avr\eta \, s, \, \S \, 44, \, 1$); so also $\epsilon\nu \, avr\gamma \, \eta \, \sigma \, N$.

§ 49. DEMONSTRATIVE PRONOUNS.

1. The demonstrative pronouns of the N.T. are : \hat{ovros} , $\hat{\epsilon}\kappa\hat{\epsilon}vos$, and airós, which is beginning to be so used, see § 48, 1, remnants of δ , η , $\tau\delta$, § 46, 1-3, remnants also of $\delta\delta\epsilon$, § 12, 2, which is not even used correctly in all cases ($\tau\hat{a}\delta\epsilon \ \lambda\hat{\epsilon}\gamma\epsilon\iota$ to introduce some information is correct in A. 21. 11, Ap. 2. 1 etc.), just because it belonged to the language of literature and not to the living language: L. 10. 39 kai $\tau\hat{\eta}\delta\epsilon \ \eta\nu \ a\delta\epsilon\lambda\phi\eta \ \kappa.\tau.\lambda$. instead of $\tau a\dot{v}\tau\eta$ (Ja. 4. 13 $\pi o\rho\epsilon v\sigma \delta\mu\epsilon\theta a \epsilon is \tau \eta\nu - \delta\epsilon \ \tau \eta\nu \ \pi \delta\lambda\iota\nu$ appears to mean 'such and such a city,' Attic $\tau \eta\nu \ \kappa ai$ $\tau\eta\nu$, as in Plat. Leg. 4. 721 B $\tau\hat{\eta} \ \kappa ai \ \tau\hat{\eta} \ a\tau\mu i a^{-1}$; the passage in James is followed by 15 $\pi o\iota\eta\sigma \sigma\mu\epsilon\nu \ \tau o\tilde{v}\tau\sigma$ $\eta^{*} \ \epsilon\epsilon\epsilon\hat{\nu}\nu \ with the same$ meaning). Touão correct in 2 P. 1. 17.

2. The uses of obros and initial sectors are quite clearly distinguished. Obros refers to persons or things actually present: Mt. 3. 17 obros ioriv ó viós µov etc.; to persons or things mentioned, = one who continues to be the subject of conversation, as e.g. in Mt. 3. 3 obros (John, verse 1 f.) yáp ioriv ó þyθeis κ.τ.λ., especially used after a preliminary description of a person to introduce what has to be narrated of him, Mt. 27. 57 f. äνθρωπος πλούσιος aπd 'Aριµaθaías... obros προσελθών κ.τ.λ., L. 23. 50 fl., Ja. 3. 2, 4. 47, A. 1. 18 obros µèv obr κ.τ.λ., etc.; somewhat different is κai obros in Luke in the continuation of a description, L. 2. 25 f. καὶ ἰδοὺ ἄνθρωπος ην ... ψöνοµa Συµεών, καὶ ὁ ἅ. obros δίκαιος κ.τ.λ., cp. 17, 7. 12, 8. 41 (with a wrong reading aὐτòs, see § 48, 1), 19. 2 (the same v.l.; only D has

¹With this is rightly compared $\tau \eta \nu \delta \epsilon \tau \eta \nu \eta \mu \epsilon \rho a \nu$ in Plut. Qu. conviv. i. 6. 1.

obtos); cp. also kai $\tau \hat{\eta} \delta \epsilon$ (sup. 1), 10. 39. Slight ambiguities (where several substantives precede) must be cleared up by the sense: A. 8. 26 αὕτη ἐστὶν ἔρημος, referring to ἡ ὁδός, not to Γάζα; L. 16. 1 ανθρωπός τις ήν πλούσιος δς είχεν οἰκονόμον, καὶ οῦτος (referring to οἰκ.) διεβλήθη αὐτῷ (to ἄνθ. πλ.). It very commonly stands in the apodosis, referring back to the protasis : Mt. 10. 22 o $\delta \epsilon$ $\delta \pi o \mu \epsilon i v a s \epsilon i s$ τέλος, ούτος σωθήσεται, R. 7. 15 ου γαρ ο θέλω, τουτο πράσσω, αλλ' ο μισώ, τοῦτο ποιώ; but τοῦτο is also found in the preceding principal clause, as a preliminary to a subordinate clause with $\delta \tau \iota$, $\tilde{\iota} \nu \alpha$ etc.; 1 Tim. 1. 9 είδως τοῦτο, ὅτι κ.τ.λ., 1 Jo. 2. 3 ἐν τούτω γινώσκομεν..., $\epsilon d\nu \kappa.\tau.\lambda.$; also before an infinitive or substantive, 2 C. 2. I ἔκρινα ἐμαυτῷ τοῦτο, τὸ μὴ πάλιν ... ἐλθεῖν, 2 C. 13. 9 τοῦτο καὶ εὐχόμεθα, τὴν ὑμῶν κατάρτισιν. St. Paul frequently also has aυτό τοῦτο, just this (and nothing else), R. 9. 17 O.T., 13. 6, Ph. 1. 6 $\pi \epsilon \pi o \iota \theta \omega s$ and $\tau o v \tau o$ (with reference to their endurance already emphasized in verse 5), also 2 P. 1. 5; an adverbial use (like τί) is τοῦτο αὐτό just for this reason 2 C. 2. 3, § 34, 7.1 Another adverbial use is τοῦτο μέν ... τοῦτο δὲ on the one hand ... on the other hand, both ... and H. 10. 33 (Attic; literary language). We further have kal $\tau o \hat{v} \tau o i dque$ 'and indeed' 1 C. 6. 8 (k. $\tau a \hat{v} \tau a CD^b$), 8 (таџта L), R. 13. 11, E. 2. 8 (Att. кай таџта, Kühner ii.² 791); on καὶ ταῦτα with part. 'although' H. 11. 12 etc. see § 74, 2.-Ôῦτος appears to be often used in a contemptuous way (like Latin iste) of a person who is present: L. 15. 30 δ υίός σου οῦτος, 18. 11 οῦτος ό τελώνης, A. 17. 18.—On οὐ μετὰ πολλὰς ταύτας ἡμέρας A. 1. 5 see § 42, 3.

3. The much rarer word incivos (most frequent, comparatively speaking, in St. John) may be used to denote persons who are absent, and are regarded in that light : $\dot{\nu}\mu\epsilon\hat{\imath}s - \dot{\epsilon}\kappa\epsilon\hat{\imath}\nu\sigma\hat{\imath}$ are opposed in Mt. 13. 11, Jo. 5. 39, A. 3. 13, 2 Č. 8. 14, ήμεις (ἐγώ) – ἐκ. in Jo. 3. 28, 30, 1 C. 9. 25, 10. 11, 15. 11; of course the conversation must have turned on the persons indicated, to make the pronoun intelligible at all.² It is never used in the N.T. in connection with, or in opposition to, obros (Buttm. p. 91); but see Herm. Mand. iii. 5 $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{i} \nu a$ (the past) – $\tau a \hat{v} \tau a$ (the present). Frequently in the N.T. έκείνη ή ήμέρα is used of the last day, Mt. 7. 22, 2 Th. 1. 10. But it is especially used in narrative (even imaginary narrative) about something that has been previously mentioned, and that which is connected therewith. When thus used, it is distinguished from obros, which refers to something which is still under immediate consideration. Thus confusion between the two pronouns is not often possible. Mt. 3. 1 èv dè raîs ήμέραις ἐκείναις in the transition to a fresh narrative, cp. Mc. 1. 9, 8. 1, L. 2. 1; but Luke also uses ταύταις in this phrase, 1. 39, 6. 12 (D ἐκείναις), A. 1. 15, 6. 1 (v.l.

¹2 P. 1. 5 καλ αύτό δέ τοῦτο (v.l. κ. α. τοῦτο δέ) σπουδήν πάσαν παρεισενέγκαντες might be a corruption of κατ' αύτό δέ τοῦτο.

² It is used contemptuously or invidiously of an absent person in Jo. 9. 28, cp. obros, sup. 2; in A. 5. 28 D has rol $\delta \nu \theta \rho$. ekelvou for τ . a. robrou of the other Mss. (the latter is due to $\epsilon \pi i \tau \hat{\psi} \delta \nu \delta \mu a \pi i \tau \sigma b \tau \psi$ in the same verse).

έκείν.), 11. 27 (B aὐτaîs, cp. § 48, 1): Mt. 7. 25, 27 τ \hat{y} οἰκία ἐκείνη (referring to 24 and 26; other subjects, namely the rain etc., have intervened), 8. 28 $\delta_{i\dot{\alpha}} \tau \eta s \dot{\delta} \delta_{0\dot{\nu}} \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \dot{\epsilon} i \nu \eta s$ (where the possessed persons dwelt; the road itself has not previously been mentioned), 9. 22 $d\pi \delta$ της ώρας ἐκείνης (when these words were spoken), 26, 31, 13. 44 τον άγραν ἐκείνον (referring to τ $\hat{\psi}$ ἀγρ $\hat{\psi}$ ibid., but again there has been interruption caused by other subjects intervening).¹-In the apodosis (cp. οῦτος): Mc. 7. 20 τὸ ἐκ τοῦ ἀνθρώπου ἐκπορευόμενον, ἐκείνο (that other thing) KOLVOI TOV UVOPOWTOV, JO. 10. 1 (ik. opposed to the speaker), similarly R. 14. 14, 2 C. 10. 18; with weakened force and indefinite reference ('he') Jo. 14. 21 ò $\xi \chi \omega \nu$ tàs $\epsilon \nu \tau \sigma \lambda$ as $\mu \sigma \nu \dots$, $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{\nu} \nu \sigma$ s $\epsilon \sigma \tau \nu$ à $\gamma a \pi \hat{\omega} \nu \mu \epsilon$, cp. 6. 57, 2 C. 10. 18, Herm. Mand. vii. 5, etc.; even with reference to the speaker in Jo. 9. 37. It is not often followed by the word or clause referred to: Mt. 24. 23 $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon i \nu o$ (that other thing, see 42) δε γινώσκετε ότι (R. 14. 15 εκείνον ... υπερ ου opposed to σθ), Jo. 13. 26 'he,' cp. supra. Its meaning is also weakened to 'he' ('they') in Jo. 10. 6 ταύτην την παροιμίαν είπεν αὐτοῖς ὁ Ἰησ., έκεινοι δε (for which oi δέ, αυτοί δε are synonyms, §§ 46, 3; 48, 1), and so frequently in John in unbroken connection with the first mention, G. 9. 11, 25, 36; similarly 'Mc.' 16. 10 ff.²

§ 50. RELATIVE AND INTERROGATIVE PRONOUNS.

1. The relative of definite reference 35 (by the ancients called $d\rho\theta\rho\rho\nu$ $i\pi\sigma\tau\alpha\kappa\tau\iota\kappa\delta\nu$, § 46, 1) and that of indefinite reference $3\sigma\tau\iotas$ are no longer regularly distinguished in the N.T.; and with this is connected the fact that the latter is almost entirely limited to the nominative (§ 13, 3), although in this case it is used by nearly all

172

² The Johannine use of $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon i \nu \sigma s$ is exhaustively discussed by Steitz and A. Buttmann in Stud. u. Kr. 1859, 497: 1860, 505: 1861, 267; see also Zeitschrift f. w. Th. 1862, 204 for the passage 19. 35 kal $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon i \nu \sigma s$ of $\delta \epsilon \nu \kappa . \tau . \lambda$. (*i.e.* the narrator, whose personality, however, is not prominently put forward, unless with Zahn we refer $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon i \nu \sigma s$ to Christ). Nonnus (see his paraphrase) read $\kappa a \kappa \epsilon l \nu o \nu$ of $\delta a \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma t$ and $\mu \sigma \nu \nu \rho a$ $\epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu^* \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \sigma \delta \epsilon$ in v. 36.

writers (least of all by John). A similar case is that of őσos, which, except in Hebrews, is used only in the nominative and accusative. Mt. uses ooris correctly in general statements, 5. 39, 41, 10. 33 etc., but also ős 10. 14, 23. 16, 18; esp. πâs ὄστις 7. 24, 10. 32, 19. 29; but πas os occurs in L. 14. 33, A. 2. 21 O.T., G. 3. 10 O.T., παντί ψ L. 12. 48; Mt. also uses this phrase where a subst. is inserted, 12. 36 παν βήμα άργον δ, 15. 13 πασα φυτεία ήν (πασα ψυχή ήτις A. 3. 23 O.T.). "Octus is also correctly used in connection with a subst. of indefinite reference : Mt. 7. 15 $\tau \hat{\omega} v \psi \epsilon v \delta o \pi \rho o \phi \eta \tau \hat{\omega} v o' \tau i v \epsilon s$ (description follows), 24 ἀνδρὶ φρονίμω ὅστις etc. (but Lc. uses ös: 6. 48 $d\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\psi$ os, 49 oikiar $\hat{\eta}$): and to denote a definite person in a case where the relative sentence expresses the general quality, Jo. 8. 53 'A $\beta \rho a \dot{a} \mu$, o $\tau \iota_s \dot{a} \pi \dot{\epsilon} \theta a \nu \epsilon \nu$ (who was a man who died). A. 7. 53 out these inits are $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. (people who); but these limits are often exceeded esp. by Luke, and otrives, $\eta \tau is$ are used = ot, η : Πέτρον και Ίωάνην, οίτινες Α. 8. 15, την πύλην ήτις 12. 10, πόλιν $\Delta avi\delta$, $\eta \tau is$ L. 2. 4 (particularly where a participle follows, and the meaning of oi, η would not have been clear, A. 8. 15, 17. 10 outvies παραγενόμενοι); Ap. 12. 13 την γυναίκα ήτις έτεκεν τον αρσενα. This use of ootis for os is very old in Ionic Greek, Kühner Gr. ii.² 906 (Herod. ii. 99 πόλιν ήτις νῦν Μέμφις καλείται). In the Pauline Epistles this use cannot be established, since in R. 16. 3 ff. 5 and $\delta\sigma\tau$ is are alternately used, according as a mere statement of fact is made (ős), or a characteristic is given (7 οἴτινές εἰσιν ἐπίσημοι ἐν τοῖς άποστόλοις, οί και πρό έμου γέγοναν έν Χριστώ); also in G. 4. 24, 26 ήτις=ή τοιαύτη, cp. 1 C. 3. 17, Ph. 1. 28, 1 Tim. 3. 15.-As an instance of os for ooris one may further note ovdeis (ov) ... os (for őστις) où, § 75, 6.---δσπερ has been given up, § 13, 3.

2. The άρθρον ύποτακτικόν, ős, ή, ő justifies this appellation chiefly in the fact that, like the article (a. $\pi \rho o \tau a \kappa \tau \iota \kappa o \nu$) which follows a substantive and introduces a further definition, its case is assimilated to that of the substantive, even though in conformity with the relative sentence it should have had another case, which is generally the accusative (Attraction or Assimilation of the relative).¹ In this peculiarity of Greek the N.T. (like the LXX.) is entirely in agreement with the classical language. Exceptions occur (as in classical Greek, Thuc. ii. 70. 5) where the relative clause is more sharply divided from the rest of the sentence (through the insertion of other defining words with the noun and through the importance of the contents of the relative sentence): Η. 8. 2 της σκηνής της άληθινής, ήν έπηξεν ὁ κύριος, οὐκ ἄνθρωπος; but in other passages there is always a v.l., Mc. 13. 19 an apx $\hat{\eta}s$ ktioews, $\hat{\eta}v$ ($\hat{\eta}s$ AC² al., om. $\hat{\eta}v$ έκτ. ό θ. D) έκτισεν ό θεός, Jo. 2. 22 and 4. 50 τῷ λόγψ ον (ῷ ΑΔΧ al., D Δ al.), 4. 5 $\chi \omega \rho i o \upsilon \delta (o \delta C^*D al.)$, 7. 39 (o $\delta * DG$ al.), Ap. 1. 20 ($\delta \nu$ B); Tit. 3. 5 o $\nu \kappa \epsilon \xi \epsilon \rho \gamma \omega \nu \tau \delta \nu \kappa \epsilon \iota \sigma \sigma \nu \eta$, $\delta (\delta \nu C^*D^* al.)$ $\epsilon \tau o \iota \eta \sigma \sigma \mu \epsilon \nu \eta \mu \epsilon \iota s$ is an instance of the case above-mentioned of separation through the insertion of defining words. (On A. 8. 32 f. see the author's commentary on that passage.) On the other hand

¹ Octis, in N.T. as in classical Greek, is never assimilated.

it is not only the so-called accusative of the inner object (§ 34, 3) which is capable of assimilation (E. 4, I $\tau \eta s \kappa \lambda \eta \sigma \epsilon \omega s \eta s \epsilon \kappa \lambda \eta \theta \eta \tau \epsilon$, A. 24. 21, 26. 16, Jd. 15), but occasionally the dative is assimilated as well: A. 1. 22 αχρι τής ήμέρας ής ανελήμφθη (cp. L. 1. 20 D, LXX. Lev. 23. 15, Bar. 1. 15), R. 4. 17 κατέναντι οδ επίστευσεν θεού, i.e. κ. $\tau \circ \hat{v} \theta$. $\hat{\phi} \epsilon \pi$. (see below on the attraction of the substantive into the relative clause). In addition to this, the preposition which should be repeated before the relative may be omitted (class.): A. 1. 21 έν παντι χρόνω (sc. έν) ὦ, 13. 2 εἰς το ἔργον (sc. εἰς) ὃ, 39 ἀπο πάντων (sc. $\dot{a}\phi'$) $\delta\nu$, Herm. Sim. ix. 7. 3 $\mu\epsilon\tau\dot{a}$ $\pi\dot{a}\nu\tau\omega\nu$ (sc. $\mu\epsilon\theta'$) $\delta\nu$ (but in the case of a sharper division of the relative clause, the preposition is repeated : A. 7. 4 είς την γην ταύτην, είς ήν, 20. 18 από πρώτης ήμέρας, $d\phi'$ $\hat{\eta}_{s}$, Jo. 4. 53 ($\epsilon \nu$) $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon (\nu \eta \tau \hat{\eta} \ \omega \rho a, \ \epsilon \nu \ \hat{\eta})$. It is readily intelligible that the Greek relative includes our demonstrative 'he' or 'that'; it is therefore used by assimilation in the case which would belong to the demonstrative : L. 9. 36 οὐδèν $\hat{\omega}\nu = \tau ο \dot{\upsilon} \tau \omega \nu \ \ddot{a}$, Jo. 7. 31 πλείονα δv (do.), 17. 9 περί $\delta v = περί τούτων$ ούς; also $dv \theta'$ $\delta v = dv τ i τούτων$ ότι, $\epsilon \phi' \hat{\psi} = \epsilon \pi i$ τούτψ ότι, διότι = διà τοῦτο ότι; cp. adverbs of place § 76, 4. More noticeable is the occasional attraction of the noun into the relative clause, in which case the article belonging to the noun, being incompatible with the $d\rho\theta\rho$. $\delta\pi\sigma\tau$., must be left out, while the noun itself is now assimilated to the case of the relative; of course even where there is no assimilation of the relative, a similar attraction of the noun into the relative clause, with the case of the relative, may take place (so in classical Greek, Kühner ii.² 922: e.g. & ἀνδρὶ πάντες εὖνοι ἦσαν, ἀπέθανεν). But the noun is not placed immediately after the relative, except in the case of $\dot{\eta}\mu\epsilon\rho a$: L. 1. 20 ἄχρι ής ήμέρας γένηται ταῦτα, = ἄ. της ήμ. (ἐν) ή cp. supra, A. 1. 1, Mt. 24. 38 (same phrase).¹ On the other hand : L. 19. 37 $\pi a \sigma \hat{\omega} \nu \hat{\omega} \nu \hat{\epsilon} \hat{\delta} \delta \nu \hat{\delta} \nu \nu \hat{a} \mu \epsilon \omega \nu$, 3. 19 $\pi \epsilon \rho \hat{\iota} \pi a \nu \tau \omega \nu \hat{\omega} \nu \hat{\epsilon} \pi o \hat{\iota} \eta \sigma \epsilon \nu \pi o \nu \eta \rho \hat{\omega} \nu \hat{\delta}$ [•]Ηρώδης (τῶν πον. ῶν κ*), cp. A. 25. 18², and with no assimilation of the relative : L. 24. 1 φέρουσαι & ήτοίμασαν ἀρώματα, Jo. 6. 14 δ έποίησεν σημείον. The way in which the following exx. should be resolved is ambiguous: L. 1. 4 $\pi\epsilon\rho$ $\delta\nu$ $\kappa a \tau \eta \chi \eta \theta \eta s \lambda \delta \gamma \omega \nu$, = either περί τών λ. ούς or τών λόγων περί ών (in view of passages like A. 18. 25, 20. 24, 25. 26 the first is probably correct); R. 6. 17 ύπηκούσατε είς ον παρεδόθητε τύπον διδαχής, probably τῷ τύπψ είς ον; with omission of a preposition A. 21. 16 (but not D) αγοντες παρ' ψ ξενισθωμεν Μνάσωνι = πρός Μνάσωνα, ίνα ξεν. παρ' αυτώ (§ 65, 8).

3. If the noun is not attracted into the relative clause but stands in front of it, it is still occasionally assimilated to the case of the relative, a practice of which instances appear in classical authors (attractio inversa, Kühner ii.² 918, 4): 1 C. 10. 16 tor $d\rho tor \delta \nu$ $\kappa \lambda \delta \mu \epsilon \nu$, où $\chi \delta \kappa \delta \nu \omega \nu \omega \nu (a \dots \delta \sigma t \nu)$; A. 10. 36 tor $\lambda \delta \gamma \nu \omega \delta \nu \dots \delta \nu$ to $\delta \tau \delta \tau \nu$

¹The regular phrase is $iv \dot{\eta}\mu$, $\ddot{\eta}$ Mt. 24. 50, L. 1. 25 (plur.), 12. 46, without the art., which is occasionally omitted in Hebrew before 👯, infra 3; without iv L. 17. 29 f. \ddot{y} $\dot{\eta}\mu\epsilon\rho q$ (in 30 D reads $iv \tau \hat{y} \dot{\eta}\mu$. $-\ddot{y} \dot{a}\pi o\kappa a\lambda v\phi\theta \hat{y}$). 'H μ . is separated from the rel. in Herm. Mand. iv. 4. 3 $d\phi'$ $\ddot{\eta}s$ $\mu oc \pi a\rho \epsilon \delta \delta \theta \eta s \dot{\eta}\mu\epsilon\rho as$.

² 2 C. 10. 13 κατὰ τὸ μέτρον τοῦ κανόνος, οῦ ἐμέρισεν ἡμῶν ὁ θεὸς μέτρου = τοῦ μέτρου οῦ, although in this case the appositional clause has been very loosely annexed. πάντων (κύριοs should be removed)¹, Herm. Sim. ix. 13. 3, L. 12. 48 παντὶ ῷ ἐδόθη πολύ, πολὺ ζητήσουσιν παρ' αὐτοῦ (in sentences of this kind the nominative is elsewhere used with anacoluthon, see § 79), Mt. 21. 42 τὸν λίθον ὃν κ.τ.λ. O.T.; peculiar is L. 1. 73 ὅρκον ὃν ὤμοσεν instead of τοῦ ὅρκου οῦ (not a case of 'protasis,' but a supplementary amplification; the passage is strongly Hebraic, § 46, 9; Hebr. תִקְרָם אֵכָרָם אָכָרָם הָרָאָרָם Ges.-K. § 130, 3).—Attraction with a relative adverb: Mt. 25. 24 συνάγεις ὅθεν (= ἐκεῦθεν ὅπου) οὐ διεσκόρπισαs, cp. Kühner ii.² 915, note 6.

4. One piece of careless writing, which was specially suggested by Semitic usage (Hebr. אַשָּׁר כֹּל; Aramaic has similar expressions with , though it is not quite unknown to the classical language², is the pleonastic use of the personal pronoun after the relative. Mc. 7. 25 γυνή, ής είχεν το θυγάτριον αὐτής (a. om. ND) πνεῦμα ἀκάθαρτον, 1. 7 = L. 3. 16 ob ... aυτού, Ap. 7. 2 ols έδόθη αυτοίς, 9, 3. 8, 13. 8, 20. 8, Clem. Cor. i. 21. 9 of $\eta \pi v o \eta$ adrov (frequent in LXX., Winer, § 22, 4); with these exx. the following are quite in keeping: Ap. 12. 6, 14 οπου ... ἐκεί (Ξψ΄ Τψή), 17. 9 οπου ... ἐπ' αὐτῶν, Mc. 13. 19 οία οὐ γέγονεν τοιαύτη (9. 3 οία ... οὐ δύναται οὕτως λευκάναι): in G. 3. 1 έν ύμιν after ois is merely a v.l.; but in 2. 10 δ και έσπούδασα αὐτὸ τοῦτο ποιησαι there is a reason for the expression, since $a\dot{v}\tau \partial$ in this sense ('just') cannot be joined to the relative, and therefore required to be supplemented by *τούτο.*³—Another quite different negligent usage, which is also unobjectionable in the classical language, is the linking on of a further subordinate clause to a relative clause by means of kai ... avtou: 1 C. 8. 6 ξ où tà mávta kai hutis eis avtóv (a second ex. in the same verse), Ap. 17. 2, 2 P. 2. 3 (Kühner ii.² 936).

5. Relatives and interrogatives become confused in Greek as in other languages. The relatives in particular, and as is only natural the indefinite some especially (but also os, where it can conveniently be so used), are frequently employed in the classical language in indirect questions (beside the interrogatives), a usage which, however, is wanting in the N.T. (in A. 9. 6 the reading of $\approx ABC$ or for τi must be rejected in view of the general practice elsewhere); onois alone is employed as an indirect interrogative: 1 C. 3. 13, G. 2. 6 ($\delta \pi o \hat{c} \hat{i} \pi \sigma \tau \hat{c}$), 1 Th. 1. 9, Ja. 1. 24 (elsewhere expressed by $\pi o \hat{c} \hat{o}$), cp. $\delta \pi \omega s$ L. 24. 20. The reverse use of the interrogative τs instead of the relative sorus is Alexandrian (and dialectical), as e.g. in a saying of Ptolemy Euergetes ap. Athen. x. 438 fin. $\tau i \nu_i \dot{\eta} \tau \delta \chi \eta$ $\delta \hat{c} \omega \sigma_i, \lambda a \beta \hat{\epsilon} \tau \omega$.⁴ In the N.T. we have A. 13. 25 $\tau i \nu a \mu \epsilon \dot{\nu} \pi \sigma \nu \hat{c} (\dot{\sigma} \chi \dot{\delta} - \dot{a} \lambda \lambda^{2} \dot{\sigma} D)$, L. 17. 8 $\dot{\epsilon} \tau o i \mu a \sigma \nu \tau \dot{\delta} \dot{\epsilon} \pi \nu \dot{\eta} \sigma \dot{\omega}$, as a. 13 $\tau i s \sigma \sigma \phi \delta s$ kad

¹See the author's edition of the Acts, and above § 35, 2.
 ²Cp. Kühner ii.² 937 (Hypereides Euxen. § 3 ŵν... τούτων).
 ³So (Kühner loc. cit. note 2) δs... δεύτεροs ούτοs.
 ⁴Cp. O. Immisch Lpz. Stud. 1887, 309 ff.
 ⁵[W. H. txt. reads τί ἐμὲ ὑπονοεῦτε εἶναι; οὐκ εἰμὶ ἐγώ, Tr.]

έπιστήμων έν ὑμῖν, δειξάτω (or τίς ... ὑμῖν; an interrogative sentence).¹ The employment of 8071s or even of 8s in a direct question is quite incredible, except that $\delta, \tau \iota$ appears to be used as an abbreviation for τί ὅ,τι 'why': Mc. 9. 11 ἐπηρώτων αὐτὸν λέγοντες· ὅ,τι λέγουσιν οἱ γραμματείς κ.τ.λ., 28 επηρώτων αυτόν ό,τι ήμεις ούκ ήδυνήθημεν έκβαλείν αὐτό; (διατί ADKII), 2. 16 (τί ὅτι AC al., διατί ND): cp. But Jo. 8. 25 την αρχην ό,τι καί LXX. 1 Chron. 17. 6 ő, τι = デンス $\lambda \alpha \lambda \hat{\omega} \, \hat{\nu} \mu \hat{\nu}$; means according to classical usage (a meaning, it is true, which cannot be paralleled from the N.T.): you ask, why (so in classical Greek A says tis iotiv; to which B replies outis; sc. ioutas you ask who he is?) do I speak to you at all? $(\tau \eta \nu \, d\rho \chi \eta \nu = \delta \lambda \omega s)$: cp. for the direct question Clem. Hom. vi. 11 τί και την ἀρχην διαλέγομαι; xix. 6 ἐπεί τί και την ἀρχην ζητεί; while in Mt. 26. 50 ἑταιρε έφ' δ πάρει, έταιρε must be a corruption either of αίρε or έταιρε αίρε : ' take what thou art come to fetch' (D has $\epsilon \tau a \hat{i} \rho \epsilon$ after $\pi a \rho \epsilon i$).²

6. It has already been remarked in § 13, 5 that the interrogative τ (both in direct and indirect questions, supra 5) is also used for πότερος 'which of two?': Mt. 21. 31 τίς ἐκ τῶν δύο, 9. 5, L. 7. 42 etc. A stereotyped phrase is $\pi \delta \tau \epsilon \rho o v \dots \tilde{\eta}$ utrum ... an in indirect double questions, but found only in Jo. 7. 17 (Herm. Sim. ix. 28. 4). T's is for the most part used substantivally; beside the adjectival τ is (τίς βασιλεύς L. 14. 31, τί σημείον Jo. 2. 18, τίς μετοχή etc. 2 C. 6. 14 ff.) motos is also used with little distinction from it, as also in classical Greek-nowhere, however, in inquiries after persons, but in such phrases as έν ποία έξουσία, ποίψ ὀνόματι (Α. 4. 7), ποία ὥρα, ἐκ ποίας ἐπαρχίας (A. 23. 34), διὰ ποίου νόμου (R. 3. 27), ποίψ σώματι (the pron. having its strict sense, how constituted) 1 C. 15. 35, cp. Ja. 4. 14 πoia $\gamma \dot{a} \rho \dot{\eta} (\dot{\eta} \text{ om. B}) (\omega \dot{\eta} \dot{\nu} \mu \hat{\omega} \nu \text{ (how miserably constituted; on the other hand)}$ it is not elsewhere found with an article, τ is being used in that case : Mc. 6. 2 tís η optia, whence coming, A. 10. 21 tís η aitia, 17. 19 etc.); with an adj. τi is always used : τi dya $\theta \delta v$, $\kappa \alpha \kappa \delta v$, $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota \sigma \sigma \delta v$. The two words are united tautologically (for emphasis) in $\epsilon i s \tau i \nu a$ η ποίον καιρόν 1 P. 1. 11; there is a diversity of reading in Mc. 4. 30 $\epsilon v \tau i \nu i$ ($\pi o i q A C^2 D a l.$) $\pi a \rho a \beta o \lambda \hat{y}$; the two are used interchangeably in A. 7. 49 ποίον οίκον ... η τίς τόπος. In L. 24. 19 ποία stands by itself, referring to 18 tà yevóµeva. Beside noîos we have also the later ποταπός (old form ποδαπός, of what country by birth, like $a\lambda\lambda\delta\sigma$ απός, ήμεδαπός; for ποτ. = ποῦος Lob. Phryn. 56), the latter being used of persons as well as things: ποταπός έστιν οδτος, δς κ.τ.λ., Mt. 8. 27 (=τίς άρα Mc. 4. 41, L. 8. 25), τίς καὶ ποταπὴ ἡ γυνή L. 7. 39, 2 P. 3. 11; of things Mc. 13. 1, L. l. 29, 1 Jo. 3. 1 (how constituted, also how great or mighty; like $\pi o \hat{i} a i = \tau i v \epsilon_s$ in Herm. Mand. viii. 3 ποταπαί είσιν αι πονηρίαι).

¹ In Mt. 26. 62 = Mc. 14. 60 odder anorphy; to odrod sov karamaptupodsur; it is impossible to unite the words in a single sentence, because anorphesodau would require a $\pi \rho \delta s$, Mt. 27. 14. In the passage of James one may adduce 5. 13 in favour of separating the clauses : kakomadeî tis; $\pi \rho \sigma \sigma v \chi \epsilon \sigma d\omega$, cp. § 82.

²[Many commentators supply *ποίησον* 'do that for which thou art come.' Tr.]

7. The neuter τl is used as predicate to $\tau \alpha \hat{v} \tau \alpha$ (as in class. Greek, Krüger Gr. § 61, 8, 2) in τί (αν) είη ταῦτα L. 15. 26 (τί θέλει τοῦτο είναι D), A. 17. 20 DEHL (v.l. τίνα), Herm. Vis. iv. 3. 1; it is necessary in Jo. 6. 9 $d\lambda\lambda\dot{a}$ $\tau a\hat{v}\tau a \tau i \dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau v$ (of what use are they) είς τοσούτους; further we have ανδρες, τί ταῦτα ποιείτε A. 14. 15, as in Demosth. 55. 5 Terría, τί ταῦτα ποιεῖs (what are you doing there ?), cp. with a singular demonstr. pron. L. 16. 2 τί τοῦτο ἀκούω $\pi \epsilon \rho i \sigma \sigma \hat{v}$; $(\tau i \text{ predic.})^{I}$ In the passage of Acts τi might also be understood in its very common meaning of 'why ?' (class.), Mt. 6. 28, L. 2. 48 ctc.; to express this meaning besides $\delta_{i\dot{\alpha}} \tau_i$ we have also ίνα τί (sc. γένηται), A. 7. 25 O.T. ίνα τί (ίνατί) έφρύαξαν έθνη etc. (found in Attic), and $\tau i \delta, \tau i (\delta \tau i)$, written fully in $\tau i \gamma \epsilon \gamma \circ \nu \circ \tau i \eta \mu i \nu$ μέλλεις έμφανίζειν σεαυτόν Jo. 14. 22 (where $\delta \tau \iota = \delta \iota' \delta, \tau \iota$, just as $\tau i = \delta i a \tau i$), A. 5. 4, 9, L. 2. 49, v.l. in Mc. 2. 16, vide supra 5 (also LXX.). A. 12. 18 τί αρα ὁ Πέτρος ἐγένετο, ' what was become of him,' is like Attic τί γένωμαι²; so L. 1. 66 τί αρα το παιδίον έσται; Α. 5. 24 τί αν γένοιτο τοῦτο, ' what would be likely to happen in the matter,' 'how it would turn out' (τi predic.); in an abbreviated form obtos de τί Jo. 21. 21, 'what will become of him ?' Tí 'how' = Hebr. (Win. § 21, 3, note 3), Mt. 7. 14 τί στενή (v.l. ὅτι), L. 12. 49 τί θέλω (LXX.).—Τί προς ήμας (sc. έστι), 'what does it concern us?' Mt. 27. 4: τί προς σέ Jo. 21. 22 (cp. § 30, 3; Attic has also τί ταῦτ' έμοί; Kühner ii.² 365, and so I C. 5. 12 τί γάρ μοι τους έξω κρίνειν; where it takes the inf. as in Epict. Diss. ii. 17. 14, Win.); Ti έμοι καί σ où (sc. $\epsilon \sigma \tau i v$, Kühner 364 ; but also a Hebrew phrase as in 2 Kings 3. 13) Mt. 8. 29 etc., § 30, 3; St. Paul has τί γαρ R. 3. 3, Ph. 1. 18 (what matters it ? or what difference is it ?) and $\tau i o \partial \nu$ (sc. $\epsilon \rho o \partial \mu \epsilon \nu$) R. 6. 15. The masc. is used predicatively in $\epsilon \gamma \omega \tau i s \eta \mu \eta \nu$ A. 11. 17, cp. 2 Kings 8. 13.-Neut. and masc. pronouns are combined (as in class. Greek) in τ is τ i dpp Mc. 15. 24, τ is τ i diempayµa τ evorato (what each man had etc., but NBDL read τ i diempayµa τ evorato), L. 19. 15 (Herm. Vis. iii. 8. 6, Mand. vi. 1. 1).

§ 51. INDEFINITE PRONOUNS; PRONOMINAL WORDS.

1. Tis, τi, as in classical Greek, is both substantival and adjectival; when used in the latter way, its position is unrestricted, so that it may even stand before its substantive, so long as there is another word in front of it, καί τις ἀνήρ A. 3. 2, ἕνα τι μεταδῶ χάρισμα R. 1. 11; τινὲs stands at the beginning of the sentence in contrasts : τινὲs (μὲν) ... τ. δὲ 1 Tim. 5. 24, Ph. 1. 15 (Demosth. 9. 56), and even where there is no contrasted clause : τινὲs δὲ A. 17. 18, 19. 31, Jo. 7. 44 etc. (Demosth. 18. 44).—Special usages : Ja. 1. 18 ἀπαρχήν τινα τῶν αὐτοῦ κτισμάτων, softening the metaphorical expression ('so to

¹Also Mt. 26. 62 = Mc. 14. 60 (sup. 5, note 1) τί οὐτοί σου καταμαρτυροῦσιν resolves itself into τί ἐστιν δ οῦτοί σ. κ.

² Joseph. de vita sua, § 296, οἱ εἴκοσι χρυσοῖ τί γεγόνασιν ; Xenoph. Hell. ii. 3. 17 τί έσοιτο ή πολιτεία (W.-Gr.).

[§ 51. 1-4.

speak,' 'a kind of first fruits'); with numbers in classical Greek it has the effect of making them indefinite, 'about,' but in A. 23. 23 (cp. Herm. Vis. i. 4. 3) we have $\tau\iota \nu as \delta \dot{\nu} o$ 'a certain pair' (to which corresponds $\epsilon is \tau \iota s$ L. 22. 50, Jo. 11. 49; cp. § 45, 2); with an adjective (frequent in class. Greek) $\phi \partial \beta \epsilon \rho \dot{a} \tau \iota s \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \delta 0 \chi \dot{\eta}$ H. 10. 27, it has an intensifying force like quidam, Kühner ii.² 570 f. ($\dot{\nu} \pi \epsilon \rho \eta \phi a \nu i a$ $\pi \circ \lambda \lambda \dot{\eta} \tau \iota s$, Herm. Mand. vi. 2. 5); but in A. 8. 9 $\epsilon i \nu a \dot{\iota} \tau \iota a \dot{\epsilon} a \nu \tau \partial \nu \mu \dot{\epsilon} \gamma a \nu$ $\mu \dot{\epsilon} \gamma a \nu$ appears to be an interpolation, and $\tau \iota \nu a$ to be used emphatically, a person of importance, cp. 5. 35, Kühner 571 note 1; so $\epsilon i \nu a \dot{\iota} \tau \iota$ to be something important' G. 2. 6 ($\delta o \kappa \circ \dot{\nu} \tau \omega \nu \epsilon \dot{\ell} \nu a \dot{\iota} \tau \iota$, = Plat. Gorg. 472 A, Gercke), 6. 3.—T is is used for 'each' in Herm. Sim. viii. 2. 5 $\kappa a \theta \omega s \check{a} \check{\epsilon} \iota \dot{s} \dot{\epsilon} \tau \dot{\iota} \tau \iota s$ to be supplied with a partitive word see § 35, 4.

2. 'No one,' 'nobody' is ovde's or $\mu\eta d\epsilon$'s (on $-\theta\epsilon$'s, see § 6, 7 fin.; oudérepos Clem. Hom. xix. 12); in addition to these we have the Hebraic ov $(\mu \dot{\eta}) \dots \pi \hat{a}s$, where the verb becomes closely attached to the ov (or $\mu\dot{\eta}$): Mt. 24. 22 ov $\ddot{a}\nu$ έσώθη πάσα σάρξ, like Hebr. 3. ... κ, R. 3. 20 (cp. Ps. 142. 2), L. 1. 37 ούκ αδυνατήσει παρα τώ θεφ παν βήμα (=nothing), Ap. (7. 16, 9. 4) 21. 27, A. 10. 14 ούδέποτε έφαγον πῶν κοινόν (on the other hand où πῶs with no words intevening = 'not everyone,' as in class. Greek, Mt. 7. 21, 1 C. 15. 39); $\pi \hat{a}s$... ov (also Hebraic خط ... خاه has the same meaning, but is less harsh than the other, Ap. 18. 22, 22. 3, E. 4. 29, 5. 5, 2 P. 1. 20, 1 Jo. 2. 21, 3. 15; this use is excusable, where a positive clause with $d\lambda\lambda d$ follows, containing the principal point of the sentence, Jo. 3. 16 "va πας ὁ πιστεύων μὴ ἀπόληται, ἀλλὰ ἔχη κ.τ.λ., 6. 39, or where such a clause is clearly to be supplied as in 12. 46.¹ Es... où is stronger than οὐδείς, Mt. 10. 29 εν ... οὐ πεσείται, 5. 18, L. 11. 46 etc., as in Demosth. 30. 33 ή γυνή μίαν ήμέραν οὐκ ἐχήρευσεν (Krüger, § 24, 2, 2); the same is true of the divided ovoe eis A. 4. 32, Mt. 27. 14, Jo. 1. 3 (**D oùdév), R. 3. 10 O.T. (où ... oùdè eis, cp. § 75, 6; ibid. 12 O.T. ούκ έστιν έως ένος, Buttm. p. 106, 1).

3. The generalizing relatives $\delta\sigma\tau\iota\sigma\sigma\vartheta\nu$, $\delta\sigma\tau\iotas$ $\delta\eta\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ etc. do not appear either as relatives or (with a verb to be supplied) as indefinite pronouns ('someone or other'); $\delta\iota\omega$ $\delta\eta\pi\sigma\sigma\sigma\vartheta\nu$ with v.l. $\dot{\omega}$ $\delta\eta\pi\sigma\sigma\epsilon$ (relat.) is found in an interpolated passage 'Jo.' 5. 4. In A. 19. 26 after $\Pia\vartheta\lambda$ os D adds $\tau\iotas$ $\tau\sigma\tau\epsilon$, which should be corrected to $\tau\iotas$ $\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon = Lat.$ nescio quis; so Clem. Hom. v. 27 $\tau\iota's$ $\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ 'Ioudalos 'some Jew or other,' $\tau\iota$ $\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ 'something' (modern Greek uses $\tau\iota\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ for 'something' or 'nothing') xi. 28, xvii. 8 ($\tau\iota$ s for $\delta\sigma\tau\iotas$, § 50, 5²; cp. the adverb $\delta\pi\omega s \pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ 'somehow' Clem. Hom. ii. 22, where $\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota$ is to be supplied): Attic uses $\delta\sigma\tau\iotas$ $\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota\nu$ or $\delta\nu$ ϑ , Eurip. Bacch. 247, Demosth. iv. 27, the latter being used by St. Paul in G. 5. 10.

4. On the derived correlatives olos, ὄσος, τοιοῦτος, τοσοῦτος etc. (§ 12, 4) the following points may be noticed. In exclamations (direct or indirect; originally indirect, 'see how,' 'I marvel how')

¹ On 1 C. 15. 51 οὐ πάντες, as also on οὐ πάντως, πάντως οὐ, see § 75, 7.

² So also τινοσοῦν (according to the MS. p) for ἡστινοσοῦν Clem. Hom. x. 20.

the forms olos, boos, $\eta \lambda i \kappa \sigma$ should strictly be used, as in classical Greek, because some definite thing before one is indicated (so that oπoîos etc. are excluded); but here too we sometimes have the interrogative forms as in indirect questions: Mc. 15. 4 $\delta \epsilon \pi \delta \sigma a \kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, Mt. 27. 13 (B* όσα), A. 21. 20, 2 C. 7. 11 (direct), ίδετε πηλίκοις κ.τ.λ. G. 6. 11, H. 7. 14; but olos is correctly used in 1 Th. 1. 5, 2 Tim. 3. 11 (in L. 9. 55 D is right with ποίου),¹ cp. πω̂s, § 76, 3. In correlative clauses we have τοιούτους ... όποΐος A. 26. 29 (qualiscunque); τοσούτψ... ὄσψ Η. l. 4; but as ὄσοι = πάντες οι, it has frequently to be followed by outro, as in R. 8. 14; peculiar is tor aυτόν ... οίον Ph. 1. 30.—On δ τοιούτος see § 47, 9; it is weakened into a more indefinite term for ouros in 2 C. 12. 2, 3, 5, 1 C. 5. 5, 2 C. 2. 6 f.—R. 9. 6 où χ olov de oti eknéntukev is to be explained (according to Lob. Phryn. 372, Buttm. 319) as for οὐ δήπου ἐκπεπτ., cp. οὐχ ὅτι, § 81.—With H. 10. 37 O.T. ἔτι μικρόν ὅσον ὅσον (cp. LXX. Is. 26. 20) and L. 5. 3 D $\epsilon\pi a \nu a \gamma a \gamma \epsilon \hat{\nu} \nu$ of $\sigma \sigma \nu$ (for $\delta \lambda i \gamma \delta \nu$ of the other MSS.) i.e. a trifle, compare Aristoph. Vesp. 213.

6. "Erepos and $\ddot{a}\lambda\lambda$ os. "Erepos is beside $d\mu\phi\delta\tau\epsilon\rho\sigma\sigma$ the single surviving dual pronominal word, § 13, 5; in modern Greek it likewise has disappeared, and even in the N.T. instances of its use cannot be quoted from all writers (never in Mc. [16. 12 is spurious], the Åpocalypse, or Peter, never in John except in 19. 37, used principally by Lc. and to some extent by Mt. and Paul). Moreover, the way in which it is employed is no longer always correct : Mt. 16. 14 οί μέν... άλλοι δέ... έτεροι δέ (in the last two clauses Mc. 8. 28, L. 9. 19 have $d\lambda \lambda oi$ twice; $\epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho oi$ could have stood correctly in the second clause = a second section), L. 8. 6 ff. $\kappa a i \, \epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho o \nu$ three times (D äλλo, as in Mt. 13. 5 ff., Mc. 4. 5 ff.), 9. 59, 61, 1 C. 12. 9 f. (ψ μεν ... $a\lambda\lambda\psi$ $\delta\dot{\epsilon}$... $\dot{\epsilon}\tau\dot{\epsilon}\rho\psi$ —then four times $a\lambda\lambda\psi$ $\delta\dot{\epsilon}$... $\dot{\epsilon}\tau\dot{\epsilon}\rho\psi$... $a\lambda\lambda\psi$ $\delta\dot{\epsilon}$), H. 11. 36. The use at the close of enumerations of $\kappa \alpha i \epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho o \nu s \pi o \lambda$ λούs Mt. 15. 30 (cp. L. 3. 18, R. 8. 39, 13. 4, 1 Tim. 1. 10) may be paralleled from Attic writers (Dem. 18. 208, 219, 19. 297): others, different from those named (the latter being conceived of as a unit);

¹ Also passages like A. 9. 16 $i\pi\sigma\delta\epsilon l\xi\omega$ $ai\tau\hat{\omega}$, $\delta\sigma a \delta\epsilon\hat{\iota} \pi a\theta\epsilon\hat{\iota}\nu$ $ai\tau\delta\nu$ may be so taken, but the explanation of $\delta\sigma a = \pi a\nu\tau a a$ is more natural (so 14. 27 etc.).

but no Attic author ever said ταις έτέραις πόλεσιν, 'the remaining cities' L. 4. 3, for à erepos is restricted to a definite division into two parts; hence Mt. 10. 23 is also incorrect, $\epsilon v \tau \hat{y} \pi \delta \lambda \epsilon \tau \tau \delta \tau \eta \dots \epsilon \hat{s} \tau \eta v$ $\epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho a v$ (NB; $\delta \lambda \lambda \eta v$ CE rell., with which the article is still more unusual; no doubt 'the next city' is what is meant¹). Ph. 2. 4 $\tau \dot{a}$ τών (add. D*FG) έτέρων opposed to τὰ έαυτῶν is correct, cp. 1 C. 10. 24 al.—In the case of $a\lambda\lambda \bar{\lambda}$ the most striking encroachment on the province of $\epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho os$ is that $\delta a \lambda \lambda os$ is written where there is only a division into two parts : Mt. 5. 39 (L. 6. 29) $\sigma \tau \rho \epsilon \psi \sigma \nu$ aut $\tilde{\psi} \kappa a \lambda \tau \eta \nu$ $\tilde{a} \lambda \lambda \eta \nu$ ($\sigma \iota a \gamma \delta \nu a$), 12. 13, Jo. 18. 16, 19. 32, 20. 3 f. etc.; but also in the case of $\tilde{a} \lambda \lambda \sigma s \epsilon \sigma \tau \lambda \nu \delta$ $\mu a \rho \tau \nu \rho \tilde{\omega} \nu J o$. 5. 32 (opposed to $\epsilon \gamma \omega$) $\tilde{\epsilon} \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma s$ should have been used, whereas in Mt. 25. 16 etc. $a\lambda\lambda a \pi \epsilon \nu \tau \epsilon \tau a \lambda a \nu \tau a$ may be illustrated from classical authors (Plato Leg. v. 745 A $a\lambda\lambda o$ τοσοῦτον μέρος).— Έτεροι is used pleonastically (like ἄλλοι in class. Greek, Kühner ii.² 245, note 1) in L. 23. 32 και έτεροι δύο κακουργοι = two others besides Him, malefactors; on the other hand, $a\lambda \lambda os$ is absent in many places where we insert 'other': A. 5. 29 Πέτρος καί οί (sc. άλλοι) ἀπόστολοι; 2. 14 Π. σύν τοῖς (sc. λοιποῖς) ἕνδεκα; cp. in classical Greek "Εκτορι και Τρώεσσι Hom. Il. 17. 291.—"Αλλοι $a\lambda\lambda o$ ($\tau\iota$) are united with the meaning 'one one thing—one another' (classical) in A. 19. 32, 21. 34.²

SYNTAX OF THE VERB.

§ 52. THE VOICES OF THE VERB.

The system of three voices of the verb—active (transitive), passive (intransitive), and middle (*i.e.* transitive with reference to the subject)—remains on the whole the same in the N.T. as in the classical language. In the former, as in the latter, it frequently happens in the case of individual verbs that by a certain arbitrariness of the language this or that voice becomes the established and recognized form for a particular meaning, to the exclusion of another voice, which might perhaps appear more appropriate to this meaning. It is therefore a difficult matter to arrive at any general conception for each of the voices, which when applied to particular cases is not bound at once to become subject to limitation or even contradiction. The active does not in all cases denote an action, but may equally well denote a state, or even being affected in some way or other—ideas which would be more appropriately expressed by the passive. $Xai\rho\omega$

¹ The fuller (and certainly original) form of expression in D al. has an additional clause : $\kappa \delta \nu \ \epsilon \nu \ \tau \hat{\gamma} \ \epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho a$ ($\delta \lambda \lambda \gamma D$) $\delta \iota \omega \kappa \omega \sigma \iota \nu \ \nu \mu \hat{a}s$, $\phi \epsilon \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \epsilon \epsilon s \ \tau \eta \nu \ \delta \lambda \lambda \eta \nu$ (once more into the next).

² Hermas almost always uses $\xi\tau\epsilon\rho\sigmas$ for 'other,' even with the article as in Vis. iii. 7. 1, 3 $\tau\sigma\sigmas$ dè $\epsilon\tau\epsilon\rho\sigmas$ ($\lambda(\theta\sigma\sigmas)$), Sim. viii. 1. 7-18; but $\lambda\sigmas$ kal $\lambda\lambda\deltas$ for 'differing in each instance,' or 'in each individual,' Sim. ix. 1. 4, 10 (cp. Xenoph. Cyrop. iv. 1. 15 'always fresh').

means 'I rejoice,' but the opposite is $\lambda \upsilon \pi o \vartheta \mu a \iota$; accordingly in the aorist $\epsilon \chi \alpha \rho \eta \nu$ we actually have the passive form as in $\epsilon \lambda \nu \pi \eta \theta \eta \nu$. In $\theta a \nu \mu a \zeta \omega$, 'I am astonished' (wonder), the active voice is at most only correct with the meaning 'to see with astonishment'; it has a middle future bavpáoopar, cp. beôpar beáoopar; but the verb of similar meaning ayaµaı has $\eta \gamma a \sigma \theta \eta v$ and accordingly (as a verb expressing emotion) is passive, and the later language creates the corresponding forms θαυμάζομαι depon., and aor. έθαυμάσθην, § 20, 1. We may therefore assert that the active voice is quite unlimited in the meanings which may be attached to it, except where a passive (or middle) voice exists beside it, as in $\tau \upsilon \pi \tau \omega - \tau \upsilon \pi \tau \sigma \mu a \iota$. It must further be added that certain verbal forms unite an active formation with a passive (intransitive) meaning, particularly the 1st and 2nd aorists passive in $-\theta\eta\nu$, $-\eta\nu$, and frequently perfects in -a, $-\kappa a$ ($d\pi \delta \lambda \omega \lambda a$, $\delta\sigma \tau \eta \kappa a$). On the other hand, the middle can be only imperfectly differentiated from the passive, with which in the forms of the tenses, with the exception of aorist and future, it entirely coincides. We may adhere to the rule of giving the name of middle only to those forms which share the transitive meaning of the active, as iorapai cornoaunv beside ἴστημι ἔστησα; but if no active form exists, or if the meaning of the active form does not correspond to that of the passive or middle, then it is difficult to distinguish between the two lastmentioned voices. 'Αποκρίνομαι, 'answer,' is a deponent verb when it has this meaning; since it is transitive, in classical Greek it takes the forms ἀπεκρινάμην, ἀποκρινοῦμαι; the later language, however, regardless of the meaning which elsewhere attaches to aorists in -θην, regularly uses απεκρίθην, αποκριθήσομαι. Θαυμάσομαι from $\theta a \nu \mu \dot{a} \zeta \omega$ should be called middle, since it is transitive, and the classical language possesses the additional form $\theta a \nu \mu a \sigma \theta \eta \sigma \sigma \mu a \iota$ with a passive meaning; the same applies to $\tau \notin \delta \mu \alpha i$ from $\tau i \kappa \tau \omega$ and many other such futures; but $\dot{a}\pi \sigma \theta a v \sigma \hat{v} \mu a \iota$ from $\dot{a}\pi \sigma \theta v \eta \sigma \kappa \omega$, $\theta \rho \epsilon \xi \sigma \mu a \iota$ from τρέχω (δραμούμαι from έδραμον), being intransitive, and having no additional future forms, must certainly be classed as passives in the same category with the later $\theta a \nu \mu a \sigma \theta \eta \sigma \sigma \mu a \iota$,¹ if the conception of the passive is extended, as it must be, so that it becomes equivalent It is, in fact, quite a rare occurrence for the to intransitive. language to draw a distinction between intransitive and passive, such as in Attic is drawn between $\epsilon\sigma\tau\eta\nu$ 'placed myself' and $\epsilon\sigma\taulpha\theta\eta\nu$ 'was placed,' or between στήσομαι 'shall place myself' and σταθήσομαι 'shall be placed.' In the language of poetry and in the later language this distinction hardly exists at all: there $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\dot{a}\theta\eta\nu$ is equivalent to έστην and φαάνθην to έφάνην (while in Attic έφάνην means 'appeared,' $\dot{\epsilon}\phi \dot{a}\nu\theta\eta\nu$ 'was informed against' [juridical term]).

§ 53. ACTIVE VOICE.

1. Some active verbs, which were originally transitive, subsequently developed an additional intransitive (or reflexive) meaning.

¹'E $\theta a \nu \mu \dot{a} \sigma \theta \eta \nu$ Ap. 13. 3, $\theta a \nu \mu a \sigma \theta \dot{\eta} \sigma \sigma \nu \tau a \iota$ 17. 8 have ceased to be used transitively.

"Ay ω 'lead,' besides the stereotyped phrase $d_{\gamma\epsilon}$ (=class.), is also used intransitively in aywher 'let us go' Mt. 26. 46 etc.; and still more frequently in composition : thus we have $i\pi \dot{\alpha}\gamma\omega$, a vulgar word for 'to go,' esp. common in the forms $5\pi\alpha\gamma\epsilon$, $-\epsilon\tau\epsilon$, but also found in other forms of the present stem, e.g. $i\pi \dot{\alpha}\gamma\epsilon i$ Jo. 3. 8 (the word is most frequent in this writer), but never in other tenses, cp. § 24 (the word is previously used in classical Greek, $\delta \pi \dot{\alpha} \gamma \epsilon \theta' \delta \mu \epsilon \hat{\alpha} s \delta \delta \delta \hat{\nu}$ Aristoph. Ran. 174, $\dot{\upsilon}\pi\dot{a}\gamma \circ \iota\mu\iota \tau a\rho' a\nu$ Av. 1017, but with a more clearly defined meaning); $\pi a\rho\dot{a}\gamma\epsilon\iota\nu$ 'to pass by'¹, Mt. 20. 30, Mc. 15. 21 etc. (cp. Polyb. v. 18, 4): met. 'to disappear' 1 C. 7. 31, for which 1 Jo. 2. 8, 17 uses παράγεται; περιάγειν Mt. 4. 23, A. 13. 11 etc. 'to go about,' with accus of the district traversed, cp. § 34, 1 (not so in class. Greek ²). Also $\pi\rho o \dot{\alpha} \gamma \epsilon \iota \nu$ besides the meaning 'to bring before' acquires that of 'to go before anyone $(\tau \iota \nu \alpha)$ ' (in class. Greek we have Plat. Phaed. 90 A σοῦ προάγοντος ἐγῶ ἐφεσπόμην, but this is different to the N.T. use; the common phrase is $\pi \rho o \eta \gamma \epsilon i \sigma \theta a i \tau i \nu i$, which like $\eta_{\gamma\epsilon}$ of σ is never so used in the N.T.), Mt. 2. 9 and passim; but $d_{\nu} \alpha_{\gamma\epsilon} \sigma \sigma a_{\iota} d_{\nu} (\chi \theta \eta \nu)$.—Bállar 'to rush' A. 27. 14 (the use can hardly be paralleled, but cp. $\dot{\rho}(\pi\tau\epsilon\nu)$; $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota\beta$. 'to rush upon' (as already in class. Greek) Mc. 4. 37; ibid. 14. 72 the phrase έπιβαλών ἕκλαιεν is obscure (it is explained by $d\rho \xi \dot{a} \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma s$; D has ήρξατο κλαίειν; cp. A. 11. 4 αρξάμενος εξετίθετο). - Βρέχειν trans. means 'to water'; intrans. and impers. (§ 30, 4) it stands for class. čβρεξε πῦρ καὶ θεῖον L. 17. 29, after Gen. 19. 24, where κύριοs is inserted as the subject.-"Exev 'to be in such and such circumstances' as in class. Greek; similarly $\delta \pi \epsilon \rho \epsilon \chi \epsilon \iota \nu$ 'to excel' (also trans. 'to surpass' Ph. 4. 7); $d\pi \epsilon \chi \epsilon \iota \nu$ 'to be distant' (with accuse of the distance); $\epsilon \nu \epsilon \chi \epsilon \iota \nu$ (sc. $\chi \delta \lambda o \nu$) 'to be angry' Mc. 6. 19 (L. 11. 53); $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \chi \epsilon \iota \nu$ 'to observe anything' L. 14. 7 etc. (similarly in class. Greek), also 'to stay,' 'tarry' A. 19. 22 (ditto); $\pi \rho o \sigma \epsilon \chi \epsilon \iota \nu$ 'to take heed,'' to listen to anyone' (never with the original supplement $\tau \partial \nu$ $vo\hat{v}v$, which is often inserted in Attic): also with and without $\epsilon a v \tau \hat{\varphi}$ = cavere (Mt. 6. 1, L. 17. 2 etc.).³—'Ανακάμπτειν 'to turn round,' 'come back' as in Attic.-Khlverv' to decline' of the day L. 9. 12, 24. 29 (similarly in Polyb.); ἐκκλίνειν 'to turn aside' R. 16. 17 etc. (class.).— Platew : $d\pi \circ \rho i \psi a \nu \tau a s$ is intrans. in A. 27. 43 (so $\rho i \pi \tau$. in poetry and late writers).- Expédent : the simple verb is intrans, in A. 7. 42? as is often the case with its compounds with $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota$, $\dot{a}\pi o$. åva-, ὑπο-, A. 3. 19 etc., not without classical precedent; ὑποστρέ- $\phi\epsilon\sigma\theta\alpha\iota$ is never found (in class. Greek it is used as well as $-\epsilon\iota\nu$);

¹ The explanation that it means discedere arises from Mt. 9. 27 $\pi\alpha\rho\dot{\alpha}\gamma\sigma\nu\tau\iota$ $\epsilon\kappa\epsilon\hat{\iota}\theta\epsilon\nu$, where $i\pi\dot{\alpha}\gamma\sigma\nu\tau\iota$ would be the correct word; in 9. 9 $\epsilon\kappa\epsilon\hat{\iota}\theta\epsilon\nu$ should probably be omitted with \aleph^*L .

² Demosth. 42. 5 $\pi \epsilon \rho i a \gamma a \gamma \dot{\omega} \nu$ (to lead about) $\tau \dot{\eta} \nu \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \chi a \tau i \dot{a} \nu$; also in Cebes Tab. 6 $\pi \epsilon \rho i \dot{a} \gamma o \nu \tau a \iota$ is the reading now adopted.

³ Ilepléxeuv ' to contain' (of a written document) is in the first instance transitive : $\pi\epsilon\rho\mu\epsilon\chi$ ourar táde A. 15. 23 D : $\pi\epsilon\rho\mu\epsilon\chi$. ($\xi\chi$ ourar NB) từ tứngo toữror 23. 25; but we also have the phrases π . τừ τρόπον τοῦτον or οὕτωs, worded in this way (Joseph.), and in 1 P. 2. 6 $\pi\epsilon\rho\mu\epsilon\chi\epsilon\iota \epsilon\nu$ (τ_R^{γ}) γραφ \hat{q} ($\hat{\eta}$ γραφ $\hat{\eta}$ C), ' stands written.'

2. The intransitive employment of $\delta \delta \epsilon \omega$ and $\phi \delta \epsilon \omega$ is based upon an old variation in the usage of these words, see § 24; that of adjáveur upon the usage of the Hellenistic language, ibid. Beside the deponent $\epsilon \delta \alpha \gamma \gamma \delta \Lambda \xi \sigma \sigma \delta \alpha$. (Att.) there is also found the form $\xi \epsilon \omega$ in Ap. 10. 7, 14. 6 (elsewhere the Ap. also uses $-\xi \epsilon \sigma \sigma \alpha \omega$), as occasionally in the LXX., 1 Sam. 31. 9 (Dio Cass. 61. 13). The new words $\delta p \iota a \rho \beta \sigma \epsilon \omega \omega$ and $\mu \alpha \delta \eta \tau \epsilon \delta \omega \omega$ in other writers are intrans. (to celebrate a triumph, to be a disciple—corresponding to the ordinary meaning of the termination $-\epsilon \delta \epsilon \omega \omega$), in the N.T. they are in (nearly) all cases transitive, to lead in triumph, to make disciples, see § 34, 1.— 'Avadé avartes $\tau \gamma \nu K \delta \tau \sigma \rho \omega A$. 21. 3 (there is a wrong reading $-\epsilon \delta \tau \epsilon \sigma$) means 'made it visible to ourselves,' viz. by approaching it; it must have been a nautical expression, as $\delta \pi \sigma \kappa \rho \omega \tau \epsilon \omega \tau \omega$ (Lat. abscondere) is used to express the opposite meaning.

3. Active for middle.—If emphasis is laid on the reference to the subject, then the middle is never employed, but the active with a reflexive pronoun takes its place: $d\pi \epsilon \kappa \tau \epsilon \nu \epsilon \nu$ (on the other hand $d\pi \eta \gamma \xi a \tau o$ is used, because $d\pi d \gamma \chi \epsilon \iota v \tau \iota v d$, *i.e.* someone else, is unusual, the reflexive action being in this instance far the commoner of the two). So we say 'he killed himself' [tödtete sich selbst]. Elsewhere the reflexive reference which is suggested by the context remains unexpressed, as in the case of (κατα-)δουλοῦν (which Attic also uses beside -ovor θa_i): 2 C. 11. 20 e' τ_{15} vuas καταδουλοί, cp. G. 2. 4 (so too avapávavtes, supra 2). Inversely, the reflexive may be expressed twice over, by the middle and by a pronoun; διεμερίσαντο έαυτοîs Jo. 19. 24 O.T., cp. A. 7. 21 (as in Attic). With the following verbs the use of the active instead of the middle is contrary to Attic usage: $(\pi \epsilon_i \rho a \xi \epsilon_i \nu \text{ for } \pi \epsilon_i \rho a \sigma \theta a_i, \text{ see } \xi - 24)$; $\epsilon_i \rho l \sigma \kappa_i \nu$ 'to obtain' the usual form, except in H. 9. 12 (Attic uses the middle, poets have the act. as well); $\kappa a \theta \hat{\eta} \psi \epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\eta} s \chi \epsilon \iota \rho \delta s a \dot{\nu} \tau o \hat{\nu} A. 28. 3$ instead of $\kappa a \theta \eta \psi a \tau o$ which C reads (but $\tau \delta \xi o v \kappa a \theta \delta \psi a \iota$ is also cited by Pollux i. 164); λύσον το ύπόδημα των ποδών σου Α. 7. 33 Ο.Τ. (LXX. $\lambda \hat{v}\sigma a_i$). For mapéxeiv see § 55, 1. Hoieiv is used (with $\mu o v \hat{\gamma} v$ Jo. 14. 23 only in AEGH al.) (with obov Mc. 2. 23, BGH have όδοποιείν), with την εκδίκησιν L. 18. 7 f., το ελεος μετ αυτού a Hebraic phrase (Gen. 24. 12) L. 10. 37, 1. 72, with ἐνέδραν Α. 25. 3 [?] κοπετόν 8. 2 (-σαντο EHP), κρίσιν Jo. 5. 27, Jude 15, πόλεμον Ap. 11. 7 etc., συμβούλιον Mc. 3. 6 (BL έδίδουν), 15. 1 (v.l. έτοιμάσαντες), (with συνωμοσίαν A. 23. 13 only in HP), with συστροφήν ibid. 12; in all

which cases the active is incorrect because the $\pi \sigma \iota \sigma \iota \vartheta \nu \tau \epsilon s$ are at the same time the very persons who carry out the action which is expressed by the verbal substantive. We also have elsewhere in the N.T. $\pi \sigma \iota \epsilon \iota \sigma \theta a \iota \lambda \delta \gamma \sigma \nu$, $d\nu a \beta \delta \lambda \eta \nu$, $\pi \sigma \rho \epsilon \epsilon a \nu$, $\sigma \pi \sigma \sigma \vartheta \delta \eta \nu$ etc. $\Sigma \pi \delta \sigma \sigma \sigma \theta a \iota \tau \eta \nu \mu \delta \chi \alpha \iota \rho \sigma \nu$ is correctly written in Mc. 14. 47, A. 16. 27, but in Mt. 26. 51 we have $d\pi \epsilon \sigma \pi \sigma \sigma \epsilon \nu \tau$. μ . $a \vartheta \tau \sigma \vartheta$, in which case Attic Greek must certainly have omitted the $a \vartheta \tau \sigma \vartheta$ and expressed the reflexive force by means of the middle; similarly in 26. 65 $\delta \iota \epsilon \rho \rho \eta \xi \epsilon \nu \tau \delta \iota \mu \delta \tau \iota a a \vartheta \tau \sigma \vartheta$, but in this case the use of the active is also classical (Aesch. Pers. 199 $\pi \epsilon \pi \lambda \sigma \iota s \dot{\rho} \eta \nu \nu \sigma \iota \nu$, cp. 1030).

§ 54. PASSIVE VOICE.

1. Even deponent verbs with a transitive meaning can (as in Attic) have a passive, the forms of which are for the most part identical with those of the deponent. $\Lambda o\gamma i \langle \epsilon \tau a \iota$ 'is reckoned' R. 4. 4 f. (therefore even the present of this vb. occasionally has a passive meaning: the instances of this in classical writers are not numerous, but cp. Hdt. 3. 95 $\lambda o\gamma \iota \zeta o\mu \epsilon v v$). 'Iûvro A. 5. 16 D: $\iota a \tau a \iota$ perf. Mc. 5. 29; $\epsilon \rho \gamma a \langle o\mu \ell \epsilon \gamma n$ Herm. Sim. v. 3. 8. But the passive sense is frequent in the case of the aorist, where the passive and deponent forms are distinguishable : $\epsilon \lambda o\gamma i \sigma \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, $\epsilon \lambda a \mu \epsilon \gamma n \theta \eta v$, ϵ

2. While in Attic Greek the passives of some ordinary verbs are regularly represented by the actives of other verbs, -e.g. $d\pi \circ \kappa \tau \epsilon i \nu \epsilon i \nu$ takes for passive $d\pi \circ \partial \nu \eta \circ \kappa \epsilon i \nu$, ϵ^3 ($\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_s$) $\pi \circ \epsilon \epsilon \nu$ pass. ϵ^3 ($\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_s$) $\pi \circ \epsilon \epsilon \nu$ pass. ϵ^3 ($\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_s$) $\pi \circ \epsilon \epsilon \nu$ pass. ϵ^3 ($\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_s$) $\pi \circ \epsilon \epsilon \nu$ pass. ϵ^3 ($\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_s$) $\pi \circ \epsilon \epsilon \nu$ pass. ϵ^3 ($\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_s$) $\pi \circ \epsilon \epsilon \nu$ pass. ϵ^3 ($\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_s$) $\pi \circ \epsilon \epsilon \nu$ pass. ϵ^3 ($\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_s$) $\pi \circ \epsilon \nu$ pass. ϵ^3 ($\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega}_s$) $\pi \circ \epsilon \nu \epsilon \nu$ is used with these verbs as the connecting particle as it is elsewhere with true passives—there are but few traces of this usage in the N.T. ($\epsilon \pi \epsilon \pi \tau \epsilon \iota \nu$ A. 27. 17, 26, 29 = $\epsilon \kappa \beta \alpha \lambda \lambda \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$, but does not take $\delta \pi \delta$: on the other hand $\epsilon \kappa \beta \delta \lambda \lambda \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ is used in Mt. 8. 12 etc., though this form is also found in Attic; $\pi \delta \sigma \chi \epsilon \iota \nu \delta \pi \delta$ Mt. 17. 12, where $\epsilon \pi \circ \epsilon \eta \sigma a \nu$ has preceded, Mc. 5. 26, 1 Th. 2. 14); still the instances of the contrary usage are also not numerous: $\epsilon \delta \pi \sigma \kappa \tau \alpha \nu \theta \eta \nu a$ Mc. 9. 31 etc. The passive of $\pi \circ \iota \epsilon \iota \nu$, with the exception of H. 12. 27 is entirely unrepresented.

3. As in Attic, a passive verb may have a person for its subject even in a case where in the active this person is expressed by the genitive or dative; the accusative of the thing remains the same with the passive as with the active verb. The N.T. instances cannot indeed be directly illustrated from the classical language, but they are perfectly analogous to the classical instances. They are δ_{iakov_i} θ_{ivai} Mc. 10. 45 ($\delta_{iakov_i}v_{ivi}$); $\delta_{ivai}\delta_{ivai}$ to be accused ($\delta_{ivai}v_{ivi}$) A. 19. 40 etc.; $\epsilon_{iapertei}\theta_{ai}$ (act. with τ_{ivi}) H. 3. 16 (Diod. Sic.); $\kappa_{areywow} \phi_{ivos}$ G. 2. 11 (act. τ_{ivos}), so Diod. Sic.; $\kappa_{areywow} \delta_{ia}$ (act. τ_{ivos}) with acc. of the thing Mt. 27. 12, A. 22. 30, 25. 16; µapropeiofau (act. τ_{ivi}) to have a (good) testimonial (late writers) A. 6. 3 etc., 1 Tim. 5. 10, H. 7. 8 etc. (but in 3 Jo. 12 $\Delta \eta \mu \eta \tau \rho_{iw} \mu \epsilon \mu a \rho \tau i \rho \eta \tau a i$);

184

πιστεύεσθαί τι 'to have something entrusted to one' (πιστεύειν τινί τι) R. 3. 2 etc. (Polyb.): also (without an object) 'to find credit,' 1 Tim. 3. 16 ἐπιστεύθη (Χριστὸs) ἐν κόσμψ (act. τινί or εἶs τινα), cp. 2 Th. 1. 10 (so previously in Attic); χρηματίζεσθαι 'to receive instructions' (from God; act. τινί) Mt. 2. 12 etc.: only in L. 2. 26 do we have ην αὐτῷ κεχρηματισμένον (D κεχρηματισμένος ην).—Quite distinct from this is the use of the passive with a thing for its subject: 2 C. 1. 11 ἕνα τὸ χάρισμα εὐχαριστηθŷ (εὐχαριστεῖν τι Herm. Sim. vii. 5; in the N.T. the act. takes ἐπί, περί etc.), and its use where an infinitive or a ὅτι clause may be regarded as the subject, ἐπιτρέπεταί σοι...λέγειν A. 26. 1, 1 C. 14. 34, as also the impersonal passive, § 30, 4.

4. The passives of $\delta\rho\tilde{a}\nu$, $\gamma_i\gamma\nu\delta\sigma\kappa\epsilon\iota\nu$, $\epsilon\delta\rho\delta\kappa\epsilon\iota\nu$ have a certain independent position as compared with their actives, since they assume a purely intransitive meaning, and are followed by the dative of the person concerned, instead of making use of $\delta\pi\delta$, see § 37, 4. A frequent instance is $\delta\phi\delta\eta\nu a\ell$ $\tau\iota\nu\iota$ (an old use), apparere, supervenire, with the new present $\delta\pi\tau\dot{a}\nu\rho\mu a\iota$ A. 1. 3 (§ 24). **Truorb** $\eta\nu a\iota$ 'to become known' A. 9. 24 etc., cp. $\gamma\iota\gamma\nu\delta\sigma\kappa\epsilon\sigma\theta a\ell$ $\tau\iota\nu\iota$ 'to be known,' in Eur. Cycl. 567, Xenoph. Cyr. vii. 1. 44; but 'to be recognized' is expressed by the pass. with $\delta\pi\delta$ in 1 C. 8. 3. Espet $\eta\nu a\iota$ in R. 10. 20 O.T. (v.l. with $\epsilon\nu$) is used along with $\epsilon\mu\phi\alpha\nu\eta$ $\gamma\epsilon\nu\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$ (on 2 P. 3. 14, see § 37, 5). Θeather a is used like $\delta\phi\theta$. in Mt. 6. 1, 23. 5; $\phi\alpha\iota\nu\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$ $\tau\iota\nu\iota$ dates from the earliest stage of the language.

5. The passive must occasionally he rendered by 'to let oneself' be etc. ' $\hat{A}\delta\iota\kappa\epsilon\hat{\iota}\sigma\theta\epsilon$ 1 C. 6, 7 'let yourselves be wronged' (in the sense of allowing it to take place), so in the same verse $\dot{a}\pi\sigma\sigma\tau\epsilon\rho\epsilon\hat{\iota}\sigma\theta\epsilon$. Baπτίζεσθαι 'to let oneself be baptized' (aor. $\dot{\epsilon}\betaaπτi\sigma\theta\eta\nu$, but see § 55, 2). Cp. $\dot{a}\gamma\nu\dot{\iota}\xi\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$ A. 21. 24, 26, $\dot{a}\pi\sigma\gamma\rho\dot{a}\phi\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$ L. 2. 1, $\gamma a\mu\dot{\iota}$ ζεσθαι (§ 24), $\delta\sigma\gamma\mu a\tau\dot{\iota}\xi\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$ 'to let precepts be made for one' Col. 2. 20, $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\tau\dot{\epsilon}\mu\nu\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$ passim. On the other hand, 'to let' in the sense of occasioning some result is expressed by the middle voice, § 55, 2.

§ 55. MIDDLE VOICE.

1. As the active is used in place of the middle, so the middle often stands for the active which would naturally be expected. 'Aµúverðaı 'to assist' = the Attic ἀµúveιν in A. 7. 24 (the word occurs here only). For ἀπειλείσθαι see § 24. 'Aπεκδυσάµενος τὰς ἀρχάς is found in Col. 2. 15, whereas in Attic ἀποδύσασθαι is 'to undress oneself.' 'Hpµστάµην ὑµâς ἀνδρί 2 C. 11. 2 'betrothed' is for ἥρµσσα (the word here only). ('Eνεργείσθαι is wrongly quoted in this connection : in the following passages R. 7. 5, 2 C. 1. 6, 4. 12, G. 5. 6, E. 3. 20, Col. 1. 29, 1 Th. 2. 13, 2 Th. 2. 7, Ja. 5. 16 it is everywhere intransitive, and never applied to God, of whom the active is used; the fact that the active appears in Mt. 14. 2, Mc. 6. 14 with δυνάµεις as subject, causes ἐνεργείν to appear equivalent to ἐνεργείσθαι). (The middle ἐκλέγεσθαι is always found, meaning 'to choose out for oneself,' and it is only in A. 6. 5, 15. 22, 25 that it is not absolutely necessary to mentally supply 'for oneself'). ('Eπιδείκνυσθαι A. 9. 39 [elsewhere N.T. has the act.] may mean 'to display on their own persons.') Καταλαμβάνεσθαι 'to perceive' A. 4. 13 etc. (Att. -ειν, but Dionys. Hal. also has the middle). Παρατηρείσθαι L. 14. 1 al. (used as well as $-\tau\eta\rho\epsilon\hat{i}\nu$; the simple verb only takes the active form). IIAnpourdan E. 1. 23 'to fill' is equivalent to the act. in 4. 10. Προβλέπεσθαι Η. 11. 40 is modelled on προοράσθαι (βλέπειν for $\delta \rho \hat{a} \nu$ § 24); $\pi \epsilon \rho_1 \beta \lambda \epsilon \pi \epsilon \sigma \theta a_1$ is the invariable form of the verb (Polyb.; Attic uses the act.). Theorem is $\phi v \lambda a \kappa \hat{y}$ and similar phrases, 'to put in prison' A. 4. 3 etc. (always the middle verb) are in accordance with classical usage (καταθησόμενος είς το οικημα Demosth. 56, 4); but the middle is also used with the meaning 'to appoint as' or 'to,' $d\pi \circ \sigma \tau \circ \lambda \circ \upsilon s = 1$ C. 12. 28, eis $\partial \rho \gamma \eta \nu = 1$ Th. 5. 9 = Att. ποιήσαι, καταστήσαι, Ionic θείναι (Η. 1. 2 δν έθηκεν κληρονόμον).-Συγκαλείν and -σθαι ('to call to oneself') are correctly distinguished, if συγκαλείται is read instead of συγκαλεί with DF in L. 15. 6 and with ADEG al. in verse 9.—Between aireiv and $airei\sigma\theta ai$ old grammarians draw the distinction, that a man who asks for something to be given him, intending to give it back again, aireiras; but airticobai is applied generally to requests in business transactions, and this is its regular use in the N.T. Mt. 27. 20, 58, Mc. 15 (6), 8, 43,1 L. 23. 23, 25, 52, A. 3. 14, 9. 2, 12. 20, 13. 28, 25. 3, 15; the active is the usual form for requests from God, but the middle is used in A. 7. 46,² and there is an arbitrary interchange of mid. and act. in Ja. 4. 2 f., 1 Jo. 5. 14 f. etc.; the request of a beggar, a son etc. is naturally aireiv, A. 3. 2, Mt. 7. 9 f. (cp. A. 16. 29, I C. 1. 22). 'Απαιτείν, παραιτείσθαι are the Attic forms; έξητήσατο L. 22. 31 (Attic uses both - $\epsilon i \nu$ and - $\epsilon i \sigma \theta a i$).— $\Pi a \rho \epsilon \chi \delta \mu \epsilon \nu o s \sigma \epsilon a \nu \tau \delta \nu \tau \upsilon \pi o \nu$ Tit. 2. 7 is contrary to classical usage (παρέχων), but Col. 4. Ι την ισότητα τοις δούλοις παρέχεσθε is not (C reads -ετε), nor is παρέξη L. 7. 4, but the active is certainly unclassical in $\pi a \rho \epsilon i \chi o \nu \phi i \lambda a \nu \theta \rho \omega \pi i a \nu A. 28. 2,$ έργασίαν 16. 16 (-ετο C; in 19. 24 A*DE read -χε, -χετο is the usual reading : the passage appears to be corrupt), although Homer uses φιλότητα παρασχείν.—On the whole the conclusion arrived at must he that the New Testament writers were perfectly capable of preserving the distinction between the active and middle.

2. The middle must occasionally be rendered by 'to let oneself,' cp. § 54, 4 for the pass., in the sense of occasioning some result, not of allowing something to take place. Keipas θ_{ai} , Éúpas θ_{ai} 1 C. 11. 6; ö $\phi\epsilon\lambda\rho\nu$ kai àποκόψονται G. 5. 12 'have themselves castrated,' as in Deut. 23. 1, whereas $\pi\epsilon\rho_i\tau\epsilon\mu\nu\epsilon\sigma\theta_{ai}$ is treated as a passive (let in the sense of allow). 'Eβaπτισάμην in A. 22. 16 βάπτισαι καὶ ἀπόλουσαι (1 C. 6. 11 ἀπελούσασθε) may be explained in the sense of 'occa-

¹ In Mc. 6. 22 altroov (\aleph -sai), 23 altroops, 24 altrooupai, 25 dirfsors (D $\epsilon l\pi \epsilon \nu$), there is a nice distinction, since the daughter of Herodias, after the king's declaration, stands in a kind of business relation towards him. Cp. Mt. 20. 20, 22, Mc. 10. 35, 38.

² A. 13. 21 *iftharto* β asiléa, kal édoker airoîs ó θ eds $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. probably does not come under this head. Cp. 1 Sam. 8. 5.

sioning'; but in 1 C. 10. 2 -isavro of BKLP appears to be wrong and -isophysical to be the only right reading. In L. 11. 38 one minuscule codex (700 Greg., 604 Scriv.) exhibits the correct $\epsilon\beta\alpha\pi\tau$ isaro instead of $-\sigma\theta\eta$.

§ 56. THE TENSES. PRESENT TENSE.

1. It was shown in a previous discussion in § 14, 1 that every tense has generally speaking a double function to perform, at least in the indicative: it expresses at once an action (continuance, completion, continuance in completion), and a time-relation (present, past, future), and the latter absolutely, *i.e.* with reference to the stand-point of the speaker or narrator, not relatively, i.e. with reference to something else which occurs in the speech or narrative. In the case of the future, however, the function of defining action has disappeared from the Greek of the N.T., and the moods of this tense (including the infinitive and participle) were originally formed to denote a relative time-relation (with reference to the principal action of the sentence), and only in so far as they were necessary for this purpose : hence it happens that a future conjunctive 1 and imperative never existed. The moods, with the exception just mentioned, are not used to express the time-relation but only the character of the action.

2. The present denotes therefore an action (1) as viewed in its duration (its progress), (2) as taking place in present time. In the latter case the present may be regarded as a point of time, with the addition of the time immediately preceding and succeeding it, as in γράφω 'I am writing (now),' or again the time included on either side of the present moment may be extended more and more, until it finally embraces all time, as in $\delta \theta \epsilon \delta s \epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu$. Again, the idea of repetition may be added to, or substituted for, that of duration, so that what in itself is not continuous, is yet in virtue of its repetition viewed as in a certain measure continuous : this is more clearly seen in the case of past time : $\tilde{\epsilon}\beta a\lambda \epsilon v$ 'he struck,' $\tilde{\epsilon}\beta a\lambda\lambda \epsilon v$ 'he struck repeatedly or continuously.' A distinction between the present strictly so called, denoting something which really takes place at the present moment, and the wider use, can only be made by means of a periphrasis, τυγχάνω ών (this however is not found in the N.T., § 73, 4).

3. Since the opposite to duration is completion (expressed by the aorist), the present may be used with sufficient clearness to denote, as such, an action which has not yet reached completion, where we have recourse to the auxiliary verb 'will.' Jo. 10. 32 διà ποίον αὐτῶν ἔργον ἐμὲ λιθάζετε ('will ye stone me?'): G. 5. 4 οἴτινεs ἐν νόμω δικαιοῦσθε 'would be justified': Jo. 13. 6 νίπτειs. The imperfect more often has this (conative) meaning.

¹ It is true that instances of it are found in the MSS. of the N.T., e.g. 1 C. 13. $3 \kappa \alpha \nu \theta \eta \sigma \omega \mu \alpha \iota$ CK.

4. Since in the case of actions viewed as completed, there exists for obvious reasons no form to express present time (equivalent to a present of the aorist), the present tense must also in certain cases take over this function as well (aoristic present, Burton, N.T. Moods and Tenses p. 9). If Peter in A. 9. 34 says to Aeneas $i\hat{a}\tau ai$ or 'I $\eta\sigma o\hat{v}s X\rho \mu\sigma \tau \delta s$, the meaning is not, 'He is engaged in healing thee,' but 'He completes the cure at this moment, as I herewith announce to thee': under the same category comes $\pi a\rho a\gamma \gamma \epsilon \lambda \omega \sigma oi$ $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. in A. 16. 18 (the expulsion of a demon), where in a similar way an action is denoted from the stand-point of the actor and speaker as being completed in the present, which the narrator from his own point of view would have expressed by the aorist as completed in the past, $\pi a\rho \eta \gamma \gamma \epsilon i \lambda \epsilon v$.¹ With this belongs $d\sigma \pi d \delta \epsilon \tau ai$ 'sends greeting': to which the corresponding term is always $d\sigma \pi d \sigma \sigma \sigma \epsilon \epsilon$ 'greet.'

5. The present also habitually takes an aoristic meaning, where an interchange of times takes place, and it is used in lively, realistic narrative as the historic present. This usage is frequent, as it is in classical authors, in the New Testament writers of narrative, except in Luke's writings, where we seldom meet with it. Jo. 1. 29 $\tau \hat{y}$ έπαύριον βλέπει... καὶ λέγει...; 35 $\tau \hat{y}$ ἐπαύριον πάλιν εἰστήκει (pluperf. = impf. 'was standing')... 36 καὶ... λέγει...; 44 $\tau \hat{y}$ ἐπαύριον $i \partial \epsilon \lambda \eta \sigma \epsilon \nu$ έξελθεῖν ... καὶ εὐρίσκει; thus the tendency appears to be for the circumstances to be denoted by past tenses, and the principal actions (which take place under the circumstances described ²) by the present, while the final results are again expressed by the aorist, because there realistic narrative would be unnatural: 40 $\eta \lambda \theta a \nu$ oὖν καὶ εἶδαν ... καὶ ... ἔμειναν. Even apart from narrative the present is used in a similar way: ibid. 15 Ἰωάνης μαρτυρεῖ περὶ aὐτοῦ καὶ κέκραγεν (= κράζει).

6. "H $\kappa\omega$, as is well known, has a **perfect** meaning (L. 15. 27 etc.); ($\pi \acute{a}\rho \epsilon \iota \sigma \iota \nu$ 'are come hither' A. 17. 6 is a present used for the perfect of another verb [Burton, p. 10], as $\acute{a}\pi \acute{e}\chi\omega$ is used for $\acute{a}\pi \epsilon \acute{\iota}\lambda\eta\phi a$ in Mt. 6. 2). Further $\acute{a}\kappa \circ \iota \omega$ is 'I hear' in the sense of 'I have heard' (L. 9. 9, 1 C. 11. 18, 2 Th. 3. 11, as in classical Greek ; an equivalent for it would be $\lambda \acute{e}\gamma \epsilon \tau a \iota$, where the use of the present is no more remarkable than in $\acute{a}\kappa \circ \iota \epsilon \tau a \iota$ (and following $\circ \acute{d}\delta \acute{e} \iota \eta \acute{d}\iota \kappa \eta \kappa a$ in verse 10)³ means 'I am guilty,' 'am a criminal' as in Attic (this use occurs here only ; in Mt. 20. 13 the word has the ordinary meaning of the

¹ Burton quotes in this connection (besides A. 26. 1 $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota\tau\rho\dot{\epsilon}\pi\epsilon\tau a\iota$ etc.) $\dot{a}\phi\iota\epsilon\tau\tau a\iota$ σ ou al $\dot{a}\mu a\rho\tau ta\iota$ Mc. 2. 5, Mt. 9. 2 etc., and rightly, at least if this reading is to be trusted (cp. § 23, 7).

² Rodemeyer, Diss. inaug. Basel 1889 (Präs. histor. bei Herodot. u. Thukyd.) endeavours to show that the historic present expresses something which takes place at or directly after a point of time already indicated: this theory holds good up to a certain point. Mt. 2. 13 dxaxwpndxrww adrww idoù dryekos kuplow $\phialverat (Win.); Herm. Vis. i. 1. 3 <math>\partial ta\beta ds \tilde{\eta} \lambda dv \dots$... xal ribw rd y drara.

³ Thus it appears that the perfect remains where there is a reference to particular trespasses; the present is only used of the general result.

pres.); also $\delta \nu \iota \kappa \hat{\omega} \nu$ in Ap. 2. 7 etc. may remind one of the Attic use of $\nu \iota \kappa \hat{\omega}$ for 'I am a conqueror,' while $\pi \rho \acute{\alpha} \sigma \sigma \epsilon \iota$ in A. 26. 31 refers to Paul's whole manner of life and his Christianity in particular. Throughout these remarks we are concerned only with the special usage of individual verbs, and not with the general syntactical employment of the present.

7. Presents such as those in L. 15. 29 τοσαῦτα ἔτη δουλεύω σοι (cp. 13. 7 ἰδοὺ τρία ἔτη ἀφ' οῦ ἔρχομαι, Jo. 8. 58 εἰμί, 15. 27 ἐστέ, and many others) are by no means used for perfects: on the contrary, no other form was possible, because the continuance or the recurrence of the action in the present had to be included in the expression.

8. Present for future.—The classical language is also acquainted with a (lively and imaginative) present for future in the case of prophecies (e.g. in an oracle in Herodot. vii. 140 f.), and this present -a sort of counterpart to the historic present-is very frequent in the predictions of the N.T. It is not attached to any definite verbs, and it is purely by accident that $\epsilon_{\rho\chi o\mu\alpha\iota}$ appears with special frequency in this sense : Jo. 19. 3 έαν ετοιμάσω τόπον ύμιν, πάλιν έρχομαι καὶ παραλήμψομαι ὑμῶς; so esp. ὁ ἐρχόμενος 'He who is to come' (the Messiah) Mt. 11. 3, cp. 11. 14 'Ηλίας ὁ μέλλων ἔρχεσθαι, 17. 11 'Ηλ. έρχεται. But we find equally well: Mc. 9. 31 δ υίδς τοῦ ἀνθρώπου παραδίδοται (= μέλλει παραδίδοσθαι Mt. 17. 22)..., και αποκτενούσιν αὐτόν, Mt. 27. 63 μετὰ τρεῖς ἡμέρας ἐγείρομαι: Herm. Vis. ii. 2. 4 άφίενται. The present is also used without any idea of prophecy, if the matter is mentioned as something that is certain to take place, so that $\mu \in \lambda \lambda \in (\ell \circ \chi \in \sigma \theta a)$ could have been used: e.g. in Jo. 4. 35 έτι τετράμηνός έστι και ό θερισμός έρχεται, Mt. 24. 43 ποία φυλακή ό κλέπτης ἔρχεται, and repeatedly in έως ἔρχομαι (-εται), see § 65, 10; in other cases ελεύσομαι is necessary, Mt. 24. 5, Mc. 12. 9, 13. 6 etc. But verbs of going and coming when used in the present also have the meaning of being in course of going (or coming), in which case the arrival at the goal still lies in the future : Jo. 3. 8 $\pi \delta \theta \epsilon \nu$ $\epsilon \rho \chi \epsilon \tau a \iota$ καί που υπάγει, almost = is about to go, 8. 14 πόθεν ηλθον καί που ύπάγω ... πόθεν ἔρχομαι καὶ ποῦ ὑπ.; so ποῦ ὑπάγω -ειs in Jo. 14. 4 f., πορεύομαι ibid. 2, 12, A. 20. 22: ἀναβαίνομεν Mt. 20. 18, Jo. 20. 17 (but in Jo. 7. 8 où κ åva β a $i\nu\omega$ the present is used for future).

9. Present used to express relative time (cp. 1).—It is a wellknown fact that when the speech of another person is directly repeated the tenses refer to the points of time of the speech itself, and that in the classical language the form of oratio obliqua is frequently assimilated in this respect to that of direct speech. In the N.T. the use of oratio obliqua is certainly not favoured, and that of oratio recta predominates; but it is noteworthy that subordinate sentences after verbs of perception and belief are assimilated to oratio recta, and the tenses therefore have a relative meaning. Thus Mt. 2. 22 åκούσαs ὅτι ᾿Αρχέλαος βασιλεύει: Jo. 6. 24 είδεν ὁ ὅχλος ὅτι Ἱησοῦς οὐκ ἔστιν ἐκεῖ. This practice also appears in the classical language, but not as a general rule, whereas in the N.T. the rule is so far established that the imperfect in such sentences must in most cases be rendered by the pluperfect, since it refers to an earlier time than that spoken of, § 57, 6. Still we have Jo. 16. 19 $\epsilon\gamma\nu\omega$ $\delta\tau\iota$ $\eta\theta\epsilon\lambda\sigma\nu$ (v.l. $\eta\mu\epsilon\lambda\lambda\sigma\nu$) $a\dot{v}\tau\dot{\sigma}\nu$ $\epsilon\rho\omega\tau\hat{a}\nu$, with which cp. the instances of pluperf. for the usual perf. in § 59, 6; 18. 32 $\eta\mu\epsilon\lambda\lambda\epsilon\nu$ after $\sigma\eta\mu\alpha\dot{\iota}\nu\omega\nu$, cp. § 61, 2 (A. 22. 2 $\dot{a}\kappa\sigma\dot{\upsilon}\sigma\alpha\nu\tau\epsilon\varsigma$ $\ddot{\sigma}\tau\iota$ $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma-\epsilon\phi\omega\nu\epsilon\iota$, but the better reading is $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\phi\omega\nu\epsilon\hat{\iota}$ DEH). The aorist however may be used : Mc. 12. 12 $\epsilon\gamma\nu\omega\sigma\alpha\nu$ $\delta\tau\iota$ $\epsilon\iota\pi\epsilon\nu$ (Mt. 21. 45 has $\delta\tau\iota$ $\lambda\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\iota = \epsilon\lambda\epsilon\gamma\epsilon$).

§ 57. IMPERFECT AND AORIST INDICATIVE.

1. The distinction between continuous and completed action is most sharply marked in the case of the imperfect and aorist indicative, and moreover this distinction is observed with the same accuracy in the N.T. as in classical Greek.

2. Repetition, as such, is regarded as continuous action, and expressed by the imperfect (cp. § 56, 2), as also is action left uncompleted (Imperf. de conatu., cp. § 56, 3). Exx.: (a) A. 2. 45 $\tau \dot{\alpha}$ $\kappa \tau \dot{\eta} \mu a \tau \dot{\epsilon} \pi i \pi \rho a \sigma \kappa o \nu$ aù $\delta \iota \mu \dot{\epsilon} \rho \iota \dot{\rho} \nu \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \iota \dot{\sigma} \tau \dot{\sigma} \iota \tau$; this frequently happened, although it is not stated that it took place or was carried into effect in every case (aorist), cp. 4. 34, 18. 8, Mc. 12. 41; (b) A. 7. 26 $\sigma \nu \nu \eta \lambda \lambda a \sigma \sigma \epsilon \nu a \dot{\nu} \tau o \dot{\nu} \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\epsilon} \rho \dot{\eta} \nu \eta \nu$, 'sought to reconcile,' 26. 11 $\dot{\eta} \nu \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \kappa a \dot{\xi} \sigma \nu \beta \lambda a \sigma \phi \eta \mu \epsilon \hat{\nu} \nu$, where however the imperf. also expresses repetition (like $\dot{\epsilon} \delta \dot{\ell} \omega \kappa \sigma \nu$ ibid.), L. 1. 59 $\dot{\epsilon} \kappa \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \delta \sigma \nu \nu a \dot{\upsilon} \tau \dot{\sigma}$ $Za \chi a \rho \dot{\ell} a \nu$ 'wished to call him Z.,' Mt 3. 14 $\delta \iota \epsilon \kappa \dot{\omega} \lambda \nu \epsilon \nu$ 'wished or tried to prevent Him' (A. 27. 41 $\dot{\epsilon} \lambda \dot{\nu} \epsilon \tau \sigma$ 'began to be broken up').

3. The action is further regarded as continuous if the manner of it is vividly portrayed. Η. 11. 17 πίστει προσενήνοχεν 'Αβραάμ τον Ισαάκ ..., και τον μονογενή προσέφερεν κ.τ.λ., a supplementary characterization of the peculiar feature of this instance. A. 5. 26 $\eta\gamma\epsilon\nu$ aύτοὺς οὐ μετὰ βίας, cp. 27 ἀγαγόντες δὲ (conclusion of the act) αὐτοὺς έστησαν; 41 έπορεύοντο χαίροντες από προσώπου του συνεδρίου (it was here unnecessary to denote the conclusion of the act); 15. 3 διήρχοντο ... ἐκδιηγούμενοι τὴν ἐπιστροφὴν τῶν ἐθνῶν, καὶ ἐποίουν (everywhere) χαράν μεγάλην... (conclusion given in 4 παραγενόμενοι δέ); 15. 41 is similar; on the other hand, we have in 16. 6 $\delta_{i\eta}\lambda\theta_{0\nu}\delta_{i}\tau_{\eta\nu}\Phi_{\rho\nu\gamma_{i}\alpha\nu}$ See also 21. 3 $\epsilon \pi \lambda \epsilon o \mu \epsilon v \epsilon is \Sigma v \rho (av,$ (where there is no description). και κατήλθομεν είς Τύρον, where (as in 18. 22, 21. 15) the description consists in the statement of the direction ($\epsilon i_{\rm S}$...); cp. 21. 30 $\epsilon i \lambda \kappa o \nu$ έξω τοῦ ἱεροῦ, καὶ εὐθέως ἐκλείσθησαν aι θύραι (i.e. after the first action had been completed, so that there is an indirect indication of its completion), whereas in 14. 19 the reading coupar (instead of coupor) έξω της πόλεωs is preferable, as otherwise the completion of the act, which certainly was carried out, would be in no way indicated. Occasionally, however, we do find an imperfect contrasted with a subsequent verb denoting completion, where the descriptive clause has not previously been expressed: 21. 20 $\delta\delta\delta\xia(\sigma \tau d\nu \theta \epsilon \delta \nu, \epsilon i \pi \delta \nu \tau \epsilon$ ('they glorified God for a long time and in various ways, till finally they said '); 18. 19 διελέγετο τοῖs 'Ιουδαίοιs (D, the other MSS. wrongly read -λέξατο or -λέχθη), the conclusion is given in 20 f. (but in 17. 2 [διελέγετο HLP is the right reading, see § 20, 1] the descriptive clause is present, and repetition is also expressed by the imperf.). The most striking instance is 27. 1 f. παρεδίδουν ... ἐπιβάντες δὲ, where the aorist (Lat. tradidit) must be considered to be required by the sense.—In the Pauline Epistles cp. 1 C. 10. 4 ἔπιον (the fact), ἔπινον γὰρ ἐκ πνευματικῆς πέτρας (the manner), 10. 11 ταῦτα τυπικῶς συνέβαινεν (manner), cp. with 6 ταῦτα τύποι ἡμῶν ἐγενήθησαν (result).

4. There are certain \mathbf{v} erbs in Attic, which in virtue of their special meaning to some extent prefer the form of incompleted action: that is to say, the action in question finds its true end and aim in the act of another person, without which it remains incomplete and without result, and the imperfect is used according as this fact requires to be noticed. To this category belong $\kappa \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \dot{\nu} \epsilon i \nu$, $d \xi i o \dot{\nu} \nu$, παρακελεύεσθαι, έρωταν, πέμπειν, αποστέλλειν and many others. In the N.T. $\kappa \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \epsilon v$ like $\pi \rho o \sigma \tau \dot{a} \tau \tau \epsilon v$ and $\pi a \rho a \gamma \gamma \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \lambda \epsilon v$ always denotes an authoritative command, the accomplishment of which is understood as a matter of course : hence we have $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \nu \sigma \epsilon \nu$ (as in Attic in this instance) like $\pi \rho o \sigma \epsilon \tau a \xi \epsilon \nu$, $\pi a \rho \eta \gamma \gamma \epsilon \iota \lambda \epsilon \nu$;¹ likewise always $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \mu \psi \epsilon \nu$, $d\pi\epsilon\sigma\tau\epsilon\iota\lambda\epsilon\nu$; on the other hand, $\eta\rho\omega\tau\alpha$ ($\epsilon\pi\eta\rho$.), with the meanings 'questioned' and 'besought,' is found as well as $\eta \rho \omega \tau \eta \sigma \epsilon \nu$ ($\epsilon \pi \eta \rho$.), and παρεκάλει (for Att. παρεκελεύετο, which does not appear) as well as παρεκάλεσεν (παρήνει A. 27. 9, literary language, ήξίου 15. 38, ditto), but used in such a way that the choice of the one tense or the other on each occasion can generally be satisfactorily accounted for. Thus in A. 10. 48 $\eta\rho\omega\tau\eta\sigma\alpha\nu$ is necessary, because the fulfilment of the request which did take place is only indicated by means of this aorist, 23. 18 is similar, whereas ήρώτα 'besought' in 3. 3 is used quite in the manner above indicated; 'asking a question' is generally expressed by ήρώτησεν (as it is in Attic or by ήρετο), but in Mc. 8. 5 by ήρώτα, 23 ἐπηρώτα, 29 ditto (which might also be employed in other places where the aorist is found, e.g. 9. 16); $\pi a \rho \epsilon \kappa a \lambda \epsilon \sigma a \nu$ Mt. 8. 34 of the Gergesenes who besought Jesus to depart (L. 8. 37 has ηρώτησαν and Mc. 5. 17 ηρξαντο παρακαλείν, but D $\pi a \rho \epsilon \kappa a \lambda o v v$), where the fulfilment of the request necessarily followed; Mt. 18. 32 ἀφῆκά σοι, ἐπειδὴ παρεκάλεσάς με (the mere request was sufficient), 26. 53 παρακαλέσαι τον πατέρα (ditto), A. 8. 31 παρεκάλεσεν ἀναβάντα καθίσαι (the fulfilment is not mentioned as self-evident); on the other hand παρεκάλει appears in A. 27. 33, L. 8. 41 etc.² In Jo. 4. 52 $\epsilon \pi \upsilon \theta \epsilon \tau \sigma$ is incorrectly used, and the correct form $\epsilon \pi \nu \nu \theta \dot{a} \nu \epsilon \tau \sigma$ has weak attestation (in 13. 24 $\pi \nu \theta \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \theta a \iota$ [which should strictly be $\pi v \nu \theta \dot{a} v \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$] is only read by AD al., while

¹'Eĸέλευον ($\dot{\rho}\alpha\beta\delta(\zeta\epsilon\iota\nu)$ only occurs in A. 16. 22 (of magistrates), probably to express repetition and a longer continuance of the action, which also accounts for the present $\dot{\rho}\alpha\beta\delta(\zeta\epsilon\iota\nu$, cp. § 58, 3; the conclusion is given in 23 πολλάs δè $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota\theta\dot{\epsilon}\nu\tau\epsilon s \pi\lambda\eta\gamma\dot{\alpha}s$. For $\pi\alpha\rho\dot{\eta}\gamma\epsilon\lambda\lambda\epsilon\nu$ L. 8. 29, cp. infra 5.

² Also in A. 16. 5 $\pi a \rho \epsilon \kappa d \lambda \epsilon \iota$ might have been expected, since the issue is expressly mentioned in $\kappa a \iota \pi a \rho \epsilon \beta \iota d \sigma a \tau \sigma \dot{\eta} \mu \hat{a} s$. In verse 39 also the imperf. might have been used.

other MSS. have a quite different reading). On the other hand $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\nu\nu\theta\dot{a}\nu\epsilon\tau\sigma$ is found correctly in Mt. 2. 4, L. 15. 24, 18. 36, A. 4. 7, 10. 18 (BC $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\dot{\nu}\theta\sigma\tau\sigma$), 21. 33, 23. 19 f.—(Another instance of the aorist in John's Gospel, $d\pi\eta\lambda\theta\epsilon\nu$ $\epsilon is \tau\eta\nu\Gamma a\lambda\iota\lambda aia\nu$ 4. 3, is at least remarkable, since the aorist denotes the journey as completed, whereas in verses 4 ff. we have an account of what happened on the way, and the arrival in Galilee is not reached till verse 45. With this may be compared A. 28. 14 $\eta\lambda\thetaa\mu\epsilon\nu$, cp. 15, 16.)—With verbs of requesting is associated $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\kappa\nu\nu\epsilon\hat{\nu}\nu$, which when it has this meaning is used as regularly in the imperfect (Mt. 8. 2, 9. 18, 15. 25 \aleph^*BDM), as it is in the aorist with the meaning of 'to do homage' (Mt. 2. 11, 14. 33 etc.).

5. For the interchange of $\ell \lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu$ (-ov) and $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu$ (-a ν , -o ν) the following rules may be laid down. The individual utterance of an individual person is principally denoted by the aorist; on the other hand, the utterances of an indefinite number of persons are regularly expressed by the imperfect, which may also be thought to look forward to the conclusion given by the speech of the leading person, which is subsequently appended: A. 2. 13 with which cp. 14.¹ "E $\lambda\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\nu$ is sometimes used before speeches of greater length, as in L. 6. 20 before the Sermon on the Mount, after a series of descriptive clauses in the imperf. in verses 18 and 19 (Mt. 5. 2 introduces this Sermon with the words $\delta\delta\delta a\sigma \kappa \epsilon \nu \lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega \nu$; again there is a tendency to link on additional remarks to the preceding narrative by means of kai elever or el. de, Mc. 4. 21, 24, 26, 30, 7. 9, 20, L. 5. 36, 6. 5, 9. 23 and passim, while in other passages $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu$ is used, L. 6. 39, 15. 11 etc. The words introduced by this verb may always be looked at in two ways: they may be viewed as a sentence which has been delivered or a speech that is being delivered, and so Thucydides introduces his speeches sometimes with $\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\nu$, sometimes with $\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda\epsilon\tilde{\xi}\epsilon$. Cp. also the use of $\lambda\epsilon\gamma\omega\nu$ (not $\epsilon i\pi\omega\nu$), so frequently added to another verbum dicendi.

¹ Jo. 11. 37 twès dè ét autôn cînor (after theyor ol 'Ioudaîou 36; AKII also have theyor in 37).

7. The aorist, which denotes completion, may also express the entering upon a state or condition, when it is known as the 'ingressive aorist'; strictly speaking, verbs of this class contain in themselves an inchoative meaning besides that denoting the state: the former meaning becomes prominent in the aorist, and the latter mainly in the present (the former meaning also, though rarely, appears in the present, as in $\gamma\eta\rho\dot{\alpha}\kappa\omega$ 'become old' beside $\gamma\eta\rho\dot{\alpha}\omega$ 'be old': in Latin these inceptive presents are wide-spread). Thus $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\gamma\gamma\sigma\epsilon\nu$ A. 15. 12 'became silent,' $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\tau\dot{\omega}\chi\epsilon\nu\sigma\epsilon\nu$ 2 C. 8. 9 'became poor,' R. 14. 9 $\dot{\epsilon}\eta\sigma\epsilon\nu$ 'became alive.'

8. An action which the use of the aorist shows to have been completed (to have taken place), need not by any means have been a momentary action, but may have actually extended, and even be expressly stated to have extended, over any length of time, provided that it is only the completion and the conclusion of it which is emphasized, this being just the force of the aorist. $E\beta_{i\omega} \pi_0 \lambda \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \epsilon_{\tau\eta}$, but then he died. "Ern δύο $\hat{\eta}\rho\xi\epsilon$, but then he was deposed. It is different with $\kappa \alpha \kappa \hat{\omega} s \, \tilde{\epsilon} \, (\eta$ (where the manner of life is emphasized : the conclusion is left out of consideration); and $\delta i \kappa a i \omega s \eta \rho \chi \epsilon$ ($\delta i \kappa$. $\eta \rho \xi \epsilon$ would be in most cases ingressive, 'he came by his office honestly'). The same explanation applies to A. 28. 30 Exervice disting $\delta \lambda \eta \nu \, \epsilon \nu \, i \delta i \omega \, \mu \omega \theta \omega \mu \alpha \tau \iota$ (but then this condition of things came to an end), 14. 3 ikavov xpóvov διέτριψαν (until the end of their stay, narrated in verses 5 and 6, the length of which is summarily indicated in verse 3),1 18. 11 έκάθισεν (Paul 'sat' i.e. stayed in Corinth) ένιαυτὸν καὶ μῆνας ἕξ (until his departure). In all these cases the only reason for the agrist is to be found in the added note of the length of the stay, which necessarily suggests the end of the particular state of things; Luke even says (A. 11. 26) ἐγένετο αὐτοὺς ένιαυτόν όλον συναχθηναι έν τη έκκλησία, although συνάγεσθαι ('to assemble themselves') is certainly no continuous action, but only something repeated at regular intervals. But repeated actions, if summed up and limited to a certain number of times, may also be expressed by an aorist, as in $\tau \rho is \epsilon \rho a \beta \delta i \sigma \theta \eta \nu 2$ C. 11. 25, and this tense may likewise be used where the separate actions of different persons are comprehended in a single word, $\pi \acute{a}\nu\tau\epsilon$ s yàp $\acute{\epsilon}\kappa$ τοῦ $\pi\epsilon\rho\iota\sigma$ σεύοντος αὐτοῖς ἕβαλον Mc. 12. 44, since in a comprehensive statement of this kind the idea of the individual actions which succeed each other becomes lost (previously in 41 we have $\pi \circ \lambda \wedge i \pi \lambda \circ i \sigma \circ i \epsilon \beta \alpha \lambda \lambda \circ \nu$ $\pi o \lambda \lambda \dot{a}$).—If the agrist of a verb like $\mu \epsilon \nu \epsilon \nu \nu$ is used without any statement of the duration of time, then it denotes merely the fact that the stay took place, as opposed to departure : Jo. 7. 9 $\xi \mu \epsilon i \nu \epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\eta}$ Γαλιλαία = οὐκ ἀνέβη εἰς Ἱεροσόλυμα, 10. 40 ἔμεινεν ἐκεί 'He settled down there,' without (for the present) returning to Judaea (B $\xi \mu \epsilon \nu \epsilon \nu$).

9. The meaning of past time, which generally attaches itself to the aorist, is lost in the case of the so-called gnomic aorist, which

¹ On the other hand, we have in 14. 28 $\delta\iota\epsilon\tau\rho\iota\beta\rho\nu$ $\chi\rho\delta\nu\sigma\nu$ oùk $\delta\lambda\ell\gamma\rho\nu$, where there is no reference to a definite length of time; cp. 16. 12, 25. 14.

has greater emphasis in a general statement than the present which is equally possible. The latter, since it only calls attention to the repetition of an event on all occasions, neglects to express the fact of its completion: the aorist, referring to the individual case, neglects to express the general applicability of the statement to each occasion, which, however, is easily understood. This usage, however, is very rare in the N.T., and only found in comparisons or in connection with comparisons (Kühner, p. 138): Jo. 15. 6 ἐαν μή τις μένη έν έμοί, έβλήθη έξω ώς το κλήμα και έξηράνθη, και συνάγουσιν αύτα και είς το πύρ βάλλουσιν, και καίεται (all that precedes the collecting and the burning is expressed by the aorist; so Hermas in a simile has Vis. iii. 12. 2 κατελείφθη ... έξηγέρθη ... ένεδύσατο ... οὐκέτι άνάκειται άλλ' έστηκεν κ.τ.λ.: 13. 2 έπελάθετο ... προσδέχεται κ.τ.λ.). We have it also in similes in Mt. 13. 48, Ja. 1. 11, 24, 1 P. 1. 24 from LXX. Is. 40. 7. (The case is different with Herm. Mand. iii. 2, v. 1. 7, Sim. ix. 26. 2, where the aorist in the first place stands for a perfect [§ 59, 3], and the latter is a more vigorous mode of expressing something still future, but certain to happen, Kühner, p. 129, 142.)

10. The aorist in epistolary style, referring to something simultaneous with the writing and sending of the letter, does not cease to refer to a moment of past time, as the time in question actually is past to the mind of the recipient and reader of the letter. In the N.T. the only instance of this use is $\xi \pi \epsilon \mu \psi a$ in A. 23. 30, Ph. 2. 28, Col. 4. 8, Philem. 11 etc.; on the other hand we always have $a\sigma \pi a \xi \epsilon \pi a$ and $\gamma \rho a \phi \omega$ (in 1 C. 5. 11 $\xi \gamma \rho a \psi a$ refers to an earlier letter, and in R. 15. 15 and elsewhere to an earlier portion of the same letter).

§ 58. MOODS OF THE PRESENT AND THE AORIST.

1. Between the moods (including the infinitive and participle) of the present and the aorist there exists essentially the same relation as that which prevails in the indicative between the imperfect and aorist. They have a single function (§ 56, 1), since they express the kind of action only and not a time-relation. As the optative is rare in the N.T., and the conjunctive, except where it is related in meaning to the imperative, does not offer any special difficulties for discussion at this point, we treat the moods in this order: Imperative (Conjunct.), Infinitive, Participle.

2. Present and aorist imperative (pres. and aor. conj.).—The present imperative (with which must be taken the hortatory conjunctive, 1st pers. plur.), both positive and negatived by $\mu \eta$, is used in general precepts (even to individuals) on conduct and action; on the other hand the aorist imperative (or conjunctive) is used in (the much less common) injunctions about action in individual cases. (1) If the aorist is used in the first case, then it must either express the entering upon a state of conduct which is in contrast with the conduct hitherto shown, or it is used comprehensively (cp. § 57, 8) to denote conduct up to a final point, or again the general rule is specialized so as to refer to an individual case. Exx.: (a) Ja. 4. 9 ταλαιπωρήσατε καὶ πενθήσατε καὶ κλαύσατε ... μεταστραφήτω ..., 10 ταπεινώθητε, 'become sorrowful' etc.¹ (b) Ja. 5. 7 μακροθυμήσατε έως της παρουσίας τοῦ κυρίου, which however may also be referred to (a), cp. 8 μακροθυμήσατε και ύμεις, στηρίξατε τας καρδίας ύμων. 1 Tim. 6. 20 (2 Tim. 1. 14) την παραθήκην φύλαξον (cp. 1 Tim. 5. 21 ίνα ταῦτα φυλάξῃς, 2 Tim. 1. 12 φυλάξαι, 1 Jo. 5. 21 φυλάξατε έαυτὰ ἀπὸ τών εἰδώλων, 1 Tim. 6. 14 τηρησαι ... μέχρι κ.τ.λ., 1 Th. 5. 23), 'up till the end,' to a definite point, whereas we have 1 Tim. 5. 22 σεαυτόν άγνον τήρει (in all things, continuously), cp. Ja. 1. 27 ασπιλον έαυτὸν τηρεῖν the true mode of θρησκεία. Cp. also 2 Tim. 4. 2, 5 κήρυξον ἐπίστηθι ἔλεγξον κ.τ.λ.: κακοπάθησον ποίησον πληροφόρησον. *i.e.* 'up till the end,' with reference to the coming of Christ, cp. verses 5, 6.² (c) Mt. 7. 6 μη δώτε το άγιον τοις κυσίν, μηδε βάλητε κ.τ.λ.; 6. 34 $\mu \eta$ $\mu \epsilon \rho_{\mu} \mu \nu \eta \sigma \eta \tau \epsilon$ ets the approx (but without this additional phrase we have in 25 μη μεριμνάτε, cp. 31, 10. 19, L. 11. 22, 29); 5. 39 όστις σε βαπίζει εἰς την δεξιὰν σιαγόνα σου, στρέψον αὐτῷ καὶ την ἄλλην, similarly in 40 and again in 42 τῷ αἰτοῦντί σε δός, καὶ τὸν θέλοντα άπο σοῦ δανείσασθαι μὴ ἀποστραφŷs. That the present is also allowable in such cases is shown by L. 6. 29 f.: $\tau \hat{\psi} \tau i \pi \tau o \nu \tau i \sigma \epsilon \epsilon \pi i \tau \eta \nu$ σιαγόνα πάρεχε και την άλλην... παντι αίτουντί σε δίδου, και άπο του aίροντος τα σὰ μὴ ἀπαίτει.—(2) An injunction about an individual

² Clem. Cor. ii. 8. 4 τηρήσατε τὴν σάρκα ἀγνὴν ..., ἕνα τὴν ζωὴν ἀπολάβωμεν, cp. 4 τηρήσαντες ... ληψόμεθα ζωήν. Herm. Mand. viii. 2 has first τὸ πονηρὸν ἐγκρατεύου, then ἐγκράτευσαι ἀπὸ πονηρίας πάστις, comprehensively : the present again in 3 ff. up to 6 ἐγκράτευσαι ἀπὸ πώντων τούτων, cp. 12 ἐὰν τὸ πονηρὸν μὴ ποιῆς καὶ ἐγκρατεύση ἀπ' ἀντῶν. So also ix. 12 δούλευε τὴ πίστει, καὶ ἀπὸ τῆς δυψυχίας ἀπόσχου. We have the aorist of the hypothetical conjunctive in Vis. v. 7 ἐἀν αὐτῶς φυλάξητε καὶ ἐν αὐτῶς πορευθῆτε (cp. the last note on περιπατεῖν) καὶ ἐργάσησθε αὐτὰς..., ἀπολήμψεσθε ἀπὸ τοῦ κορίου κ.τ.λ. So too the striking uses of the aorist in 1 Peter must be explained by the instances in (a) or (b) given above : 1. 13 τελείως ἐλπίσατε 'lay hold on hope,' 22 ἀγαπήσατε 'lay hold on love'; 1. 17 ἀναστράφητε ' up to the end,' 5. Ι ποιμάνατε until Christ's appearing; 2. 17 πάντας τιμήσατε 'give everyone his due honour,' which is expanded in the presents following τὴν ἀδελφότητα ἀγαπῶτε etc.

case is expressed by the present, if no definite aim or end for the action is in prospect, or if the manner or character of the action is taken into account, or again, in the case of a prohibition, if the thing forbidden is already in existence. Exx.: (a) Mt. 26. $_{38} = Mc. 14. _{34}$ μείνατε ωδε ('go not away,' § 57, 8) και γρηγορείτε μετ' έμοῦ, L. 22. 40, 46 προσεύχεσθε μη είσελθειν εις πειρασμόν. Frequently we have $i\pi a\gamma \epsilon$, or $\pi o \rho \epsilon v o v$, which indeed are often found even where the aim or end is stated : A. 22. 10 αναστάς πορεύου ('go forth') εἰς Δαμασκόν ('as far as D.'), κάκει κ.τ.λ., cp. 8. 26, 10. 20; Mt. 25. 9 πορεύεσθε πρὸς τοὺς πωλοῦντας (in this and that direction, where you may find a seller) καὶ ἀγοράσατε (aim) ἑaυταîs, cp. 25. 41 (where one should place a comma after κατηραμένοι); L. 5. 24 πορεύου είς τον οικόν σου (expressing rather direction than aim; whether he reaches his house or not, is beside the question), Jo. 20. 17. On the other hand, we have $\pi \circ \rho \epsilon i \theta \eta \tau \iota$ in Mt. 8. 9=L. 7. 8 ($\pi \circ \rho \epsilon i 0 \sigma \iota$ in LDX; a general's command to his soldiers; the goal or end is omitted through abbreviation), A. 9. 11, 28. 26 O.T. (b) 1 P. 4. 15 $\mu\eta' \tau \iota s \, \upsilon \mu \omega \nu \, \pi a \sigma \chi \epsilon \tau \omega$ ώς φονεύς κ.τ.λ.; 1 C. 7. 36 εί δέ τις ασχημονείν ... νομίζει ..., δ θέλει ποιείτω· οὐχ ἁμαρτάνει· γαμείτωσαν, cp. in the contrasted case in 37 τηρείν, and 38 ο γαμίζων ... καλῶς ποιεί καὶ ὁ μὴ γαμίζων κρείσσον ποιήσει. In this passage the quality of the proceedings is in question: unsecmly or seemly—sinful or not sinful—good, better. (c) L. 8. 52 čκλαιον ... ό δè είπεν μη κλαίετε, Jo. 20. 17 μη μου άπτου (a thing which has therefore already taken place or been attempted). Frequently μη φοβού, φοβείσθε, L. 5. 10, 8. 50, Mc. 5. 36, 6. 50 etc. (Mt. 1. 20 $\mu\eta$ $\phi o\beta \eta \theta \eta s$ $\pi a \rho a \lambda a \beta \epsilon i \nu$ is different, 'do not abstain from fear'); Ja. 1. 7 μή οἰέσθω (cp. Jo. 5. 45 μή δοκείτε; but in 2 C. 11. 16 we have $\mu\eta \tau is \mu\epsilon \delta\delta\xi\eta$, where the opinion certainly cannot yet have been entertained; cp. Mt. 3. 9, 5. 17, 10. 34 'do not let the thought arise ').²—'A $\sigma\pi$ á σ a σ $\theta\epsilon$ is the form always used in greetings (even in 3 Jo. 15 according to x); the aorist is found in all the petitions of the Lord's Prayer, partly to express the desire for complete fulfilment, partly with reference to the particular occasion of the petition and the requirement for the time being: only in L. 11. 3 do we have $\tau \partial \nu \ a \rho \tau o \nu \dots \delta i \delta o v$ (*D wrongly read $\delta \delta s$ as in Mt.) $\eta \mu i \nu$ τό καθ' ήμέραν (D σήμερον as in Mt.).

3. Present and aorist infinitive.—In the infinitive the distinction between the two forms is on the whole easy to comprehend. $\Theta \ell \lambda \alpha \nu$ is generally followed by the aorist infinitive, as is the corresponding

¹ In the corresponding passage in Mt. and Lc. $\ell\rho\chi\sigma\sigma$ must mean 'go with me,' not 'come hither,' which is expressed by $\ell\lambda\theta\epsilon$ in Mt. 14. 29, Jo. 4. 16 (and in the use made of the passage Mt. 8. 9 in Clem. Hom. ix. 21): cp. Jo. 1. 47 $\ell\rho\chi\sigma\sigma$ kal to ϵ 'go with me,' 1. 40, 11. 34.

² A special instance is $\phi \epsilon \rho \epsilon \tau \epsilon$ 'bring' (the pres. imperat. is always found with the simple verb, except in Jo. 21. 10 $\epsilon \nu \epsilon \gamma \kappa \alpha \tau \epsilon$), which as in classical Greek is used for the aorist as well, there being no aorist derived from this stem. But in the compound verb a distinction was made: Mt. 8. 4 $\pi \rho o \sigma \epsilon' \nu \epsilon \gamma \kappa \epsilon \tau \delta \delta \omega \rho \rho \nu$ (injunction as to what ought to be done), 5. 24 $\delta \alpha \lambda \lambda \delta \gamma \eta \theta \dots \kappa al \tau \delta \tau \epsilon \pi \rho \delta \sigma \phi \epsilon \rho \epsilon$ $\delta \delta \omega \rho \omega \epsilon \sigma \omega$ (injunction as to the manner and circumstances in which it may be done).

Attic word $\beta_0 \delta_{\alpha} \theta_{\alpha}$, and naturally so, as the wish usually looks on to the fulfilment; exceptions such as $\theta \in \lambda \omega \in \partial \omega$, $\tau \in \theta \in \lambda \in \pi \in \pi \in \pi \in \pi$ ἀκούειν (D -οῦσαι) Jo. 9. 27 ('to hear the same thing perpetually'), are easily explained. In the same way the aorist inf. is the predominant form after δύνασθαι, δυνατός, κελεύειν etc. (ἐκελευον βαβδίζειν A. 16. 22 expresses duration, cp. § 57, 4, note 1). MENLEW, on the other hand, in the N.T. as in classical Greek only rarely takes the aorist inf.: (A. 12. 6 AB), R. 8. 16 and G. 3. 23 μέλλουσαν ἀποκαλυφθήναι (but ἀποκαλύπτεσθαι 1 P. 5. 1), Ap. 3. 2, 16, 12. 4, where the aorist is obviously correctly employed, while the present if used in this connection goes beyond the proper sphere of that tense. In classical Greek the most frequent construction of $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \nu$ is that with the future inf., which in the active and middle voices usually has a neutral meaning so far as the kind of action is concerned; but since the vulgar language abandoned this form of expression ($\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \iota \nu$ with a fut. inf. occurs only in the Acts, see § 61, 3), it allowed the present inf. to be used with the same range as the fut. inf. had previously possessed : $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon i \pi a \rho a \delta \delta o \sigma \theta a i$ Mt. 17. 22, for which we have also merely $\pi a \rho a \delta(\delta o \tau a)$, see § 56, 8.1—'EA π if $u \nu$ in the N.T. takes the aorist inf. (instead of the fut.), correctly so far as the action is concerned; cp. § 61, 3. Elsewhere too the infinitives keep their proper force: R. 14. 21 καλόν το μή φαγείν κρέα μηδε πιείν οίνον μηδε έν φ δ άδελφός σου προσκόπτει means, 'it is a good thing at times not to eat meat, if offence is given thereby,' and the passage is not to be understood of continual abstinence.

4. Present and aorist participle.—A participle used in connection with a finite verb generally at first sight appears to denote relative time, namely, the aorist participle to denote a past event, and the present participle a simultaneous event, especially as the future participle (like the fut. infin. and optat.) does really express something relatively future. Actually, however, the aorist participle contains no more than the idea of completion; if therefore the participle is followed by a finite verb, the sequence of events usually is, that the first-mentioned action was accomplished when the latter took place, just as the same sequence of events is expressed, if instead of a participle and a finite verb two finite verbs connected by $\kappa a i$ are employed. This temporal relation, however, is not necessarily implied in either case: the phrase $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\epsilon\nu\xi\dot{\alpha}\mu\epsilon\nu\sigma\iota\epsilon\dot{\imath}\pi\alpha\nu$ A. 1. $24 = \pi \rho o \sigma \epsilon v \xi a \nu \tau \sigma \kappa a i \epsilon i \pi a \nu = \pi \rho o \sigma \epsilon v \xi a \nu \tau \sigma \epsilon i \pi \delta \nu \tau \epsilon s (cp. Mc. 14. 39)$ denotes not merely simultaneous, but identical actions. If the participle stands in the second place, as in Mt. 27. 4 $\eta\mu a\rho\tau o\nu \pi a\rho a\delta o \dot{\nu}s$ αίμα άθώον, or Mc. 1. 31 ήγειρεν αὐτὴν κρατήσας τῆς χειρός, it may happen, as in the second of these instances, that the true sequence of time is not expressed, though in reality it is self-evident. Still in spite of this the reading of the majority of the MSS. in Acts 25. 13 is not Greek, 'Αγρίππας και Βερνίκη κατήλθον είς Καισάρειαν ασπασάμενοι $\tau \partial \nu \Phi \eta \sigma \tau o \nu$ (since the participle always, as such, expresses an accom-

¹ Also in Jo. 16. 19 $\#e\lambda\lambda\nu$ (as \aleph has for $\#e\lambda\nu$) $e\mu\nu\pi\mu$ (D $e\pie\mu\nu\pi\mu$) $\pie\mu$ $\tau o \nu \tau o \nu$) appears to be the better reading.

panying circumstance, which in this passage, where the arrival is being narrated, cannot yet be regarded as concluded): the other reading aomao our is the correct one.1 On the other hand, the present participle is occasionally used after the main verb, since the future participle is so rarely found (see § 61, 4), to denote an action which at least in its complete fulfilment is subsequent to the action of the main verb: A. 18. 23 $\xi \hat{\eta} \lambda \theta \epsilon v$ (from Antioch) $\delta \iota \epsilon \rho \chi \dot{o} \mu \epsilon v \sigma s \tau \dot{\eta} v$ Γαλατικήν χώραν (i.e. και διήρχετο), 14. 21 f. υπέστρεψαν εἰς τήν Λύστραν ... έπιστηρίζοντες τὰς ψυχὰς τῶν μαθητῶν: 21. 2 εὐρόντες πλοίον διαπερών είς Φοινίκην, 3 έκεισε το πλοίον ην αποφορτιζόμενον τον $\gamma \dot{\rho} \mu o \nu$. In these last two passages the pres. part. clearly takes the place of $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \omega \nu$ with the inf., e.g. $\epsilon \mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \nu d\pi o \phi o \rho \tau i (\epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$, so that they are to be compared with $\delta \epsilon \rho \chi \delta \mu \epsilon \nu os = \delta \mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \omega \nu \epsilon \rho \chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ and $\pi a \rho a$ δίδοται = $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon i \pi a \rho a \delta \delta \delta \sigma \theta a i \S 56, 8$; in the first two passages the participle is tacked on as it were to a finite verb instead of a second finite verb, to denote a subsequent action which in view of the actors' designs and preparations is regarded as already beginning to take place. In the following passages the fut. part. could have been used: A. 15. 27 ἀπεστάλκαμεν ἀπαγγέλλοντας (but cp. Thucyd. vii. 26. 9 ἔπεμψαν ἀγγέλλοντας Kühner ii.² 121 f.), 21. 16 συνηλθον... $a_{\gamma 0\nu\tau\epsilon s}$.—The present participle when it stands before the main verb may denote something that is already past: E. 4. 28 $\delta \kappa \lambda \epsilon \pi \tau \omega \nu$ (he who stole hitherto) $\mu\eta\kappa\epsilon\tau\iota\kappa\lambda\epsilon\pi\tau\epsilon\tau\omega$, Ap. 20. 10 o $\pi\lambda\alpha\nu\omega\nu = \delta s \epsilon\pi\lambda\alpha\nua$; also Mt. 27. 40 δ καταλύων ... και οἰκοδομῶν = δς κατέλνες κ.τ.λ. ('wouldest destroy'), since it is obvious that the pres. part. like the pres. indic. may have a conative force (Mt. 23. 13 τοὺς εἰσερχομένους).

§ 59. THE PERFECT.

1. The perfect (as also the pluperfect) unites in itself as it were present and aorist, since it expresses the continuance of completed action: before the form $\kappa \alpha \theta \acute{e} \sigma \tau \breve{a} \kappa a$ for 'I have placed' arose, this meaning was expressed by $\check{e} \chi \omega$ (pres.) $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \sigma \tau \eta \sigma \sigma a$ (aor.),² and a perfect like $\pi \epsilon \pi \lambda \eta \rho \omega \kappa \alpha \tau \epsilon$ in Acts 5. 28 may be resolved into $\dot{\epsilon} \pi \lambda \eta \rho \omega \sigma \alpha \tau \epsilon$ $\kappa \alpha \iota \nu \hat{\nu} \nu \pi \lambda \dot{\eta} \rho \eta s$ $\dot{\epsilon} \sigma \tau \iota$. In the N.T. this form of the verb is still constantly employed, and in a manner corresponding almost entirely to its classical uses: although at a subsequent period the popular language abandoned the old perfect, and let these forms, while they still continued in existence, do duty for the aorist.

2. The present meaning so entirely preponderates with certain verbs (as in classical Greek), that the aoristic meaning disappears altogether: e.g. in $\kappa \epsilon \rho a \gamma \epsilon \nu$ Jo. 1. 15 a word borrowed from the literary language in place of the Hellenistic $\kappa \rho a \zeta \epsilon \iota$, cp. § 56, 5;

¹ The use of the aor. in John 11. 2 is noteworthy, $\tilde{\eta}\nu$ dè Mapiൠ $\dot{\eta}$ dàtél ψ aσa τ $\dot{\nu}\nu$ κύριων μύρω, 'who as is well known (cp. Mt. 26. 13) did (or, has done) this,' although this story belongs to a later time and is told at a later point in the narrative, 12. 1 ff.; so too Mt. 10. 4 'louõas o καl παραδούs adróν,—ôs καl παρέδωκεν αὐτόν Mc. 3. 19.

² Demosth. xix. 288.

čστηκα (cp. 3), πέποιθα, μέμνημαι (μιμνήσκομαι is almost unrepresented, only in H. 2. 6, 13. 3)¹; also τέθνηκα 'I am dead,' ἤλπικα εἴς τινα Jo. 5. 45 etc. 'I have set my hope upon,'=I hope, but a stronger form than $\epsilon \lambda \pi i \zeta \omega$, because the continuance of the hope which has been formed is expressed by the perfect; similarly πέπεισμαι 'I am convinced' R. 8. 38 etc.; ἤγημαι 'I believe' or 'reckon' (class.) A. 26. 2 in Paul's speech before Agrippa (but in Ph. 3. 7 with its ordinary meaning 'I have reckoned').

3. Inversely, the aoristic meaning of the perfect may be brought into prominence and the other be made subordinate, without affecting the correctness of the employment of this tense. This happens in 2 Tim. 4. 7 τον καλον άγωνα ήγώνισμαι, τον δρόμον τετέλεκα, την πίστιν τετήρηκα, viz. up till now, and the existing result inferred from this is stated in verse 8: λοιπόν ἀπόκειταί μοι ὁ τῆς δικαιοσύνης $\sigma \tau \epsilon \phi a vos.$ In the well-known phrase a $\gamma \epsilon \gamma \rho a \phi a$ the first perfect has more of an aoristic, the second more of a present meaning. In the following passages the aorist and perfect are clearly distinguished: A. 21. 28 $^{\circ}$ E $\lambda\lambda\eta\nu$ as ϵ is $\eta\gamma$ ay $\epsilon\nu$ ϵ is τ displot kal kekolvwkev τον άγιον τόπον, the introduction of these persons that took place has produced a lasting effect of pollution; 1 C. 15. 3 f. ὅτι Χριστός απέθανεν ... καὶ ὅτι ἐτάφη καὶ ὅτι ἐγήγερται τŷ ἡμέρα τŷ τρίτῃ; A. 22. 15 con maprus ... w Eupakas Kai hkousas, the fact that Paul has seen the Lord is that which permanently gives him his consecration as an Apostle (hence Paul himself says in 1 C. 9. Ι ούκ είμι ἀπόστολος; οὐχὶ Ἰησοῦν ... ἑώρακα ;), whereas the hearing (verses 7 ff.) is far less essential.² Only it must be borne in mind that the perfect is not used in all cases where it might have been used, i.e. where there is an actually existing result at the present time: the agrist has extended its province at the expense of the perfect, and here there is certainly a distinction between the language of the New Testament and the classical language. Thus Mt. 23. 2 $\epsilon \pi i \tau \eta s$ Μωϋσέως καθέδρας ἐκάθισαν οἱ γραμματεῖς, though they still sit thereon: cp. H. 1. 3, 8. 1, 10. 12 for ἐκάθισεν: κεκάθικεν only appears in 12. 23; Mc. 3. 21 έλεγον ότι έξέστη (he is beside himself), where D* has εξέσταται; 2 C. 5. 13 εξέστημεν opposed to σωφρονού- $\mu\epsilon\nu$; $\epsilon\sigma\tau\eta\kappa\alpha$ had acquired too much of a present sense to be able to lend itself still to a true perfect meaning, and it is for this reason that 'He is risen' is never expressed by $d\nu\epsilon\sigma\tau\eta\kappa\epsilon\nu$ (but by $\eta\gamma\epsilon\rho\theta\eta$, which is another instance of a rist for perfect, and $\epsilon\gamma\dot{\eta}\gamma\epsilon\rho\tau a\iota$ Mc. 6. 14, Paul in 1 C. 15. passim, 2 Tim. 2. 8). Cp. § 57, 9 (even classical Greek has some similar instances of the aorist for perfect, as

¹ Κέκτημαι does not appear in the N.T., but only κτήσασθαι and κτασθαι.

² Also Jo. 3. 32 δ έώρακε και ήκουσε, where likewise the principal emphasis is laid on the seeing, but in 5. 37, 1 Jo. 1. 1, 3 we have έωράκαμεν and ἀκηκόαμεν in close connection, where the hearing is regarded as equally essential. Έώρακα also appears in L. 24. 23, Jo. 19. 35, 20. 18 and passim ; ἀκήκοα is rare and nowhere found in Mt., Mc., or Luke.

³ It is preceded by $\delta\pi\epsilon\mu\epsilon\nu\epsilon\sigma$ $\sigma\pi\alpha\nu\rho\delta\nu$ ('In $\sigma\sigma\delta\nu$ s), and followed in verse 3 by $d\nu\alpha\lambda\sigma\rho$ $d\sigma\alpha\sigma\theta\epsilon$ $\tau\delta\nu$ $\tau\sigma\alpha\delta\nu\gamma\nu$ $\delta\pi\sigma\mu\epsilon\mu\epsilon\nu\eta\kappa\delta\tau\alpha$... $d\nu\tau\lambda\sigma\rho\lambda\alpha\nu$, the perfect being due to the abiding example which He offers us.

in the saying of Euripides: τίς οίδεν εί το ζην μέν έστι κατθανείν [=τεθνάναι], το κατθανείν δε ζην κάτω νομίζεται ;).

4. The use of the perfect instead of the aorist, in consequence of the popular intermixture of the two tenses (vide supra 1), appears undoubtedly in the Apocalypse: 5. 7 $\eta\lambda\theta\epsilon$ και είληφε, cp. 8. 5, 7. 14 $\epsilon i\rho\eta\kappa a$ (B $\epsilon i\pi o\nu$), cp. 19. 3: in forms, therefore, in which the reduplication is not clearly marked. The following perfects have an equally certain aoristic sense : Herm. Vis. i. 1. $\pi \epsilon \pi \rho \alpha \kappa \epsilon v$, iii. 1. 2 $\delta\pi\tau\alpha\iota \approx (as \ \ \omega\phi\theta\eta)$, Clem. Hom. ii. 53 $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\dot{\eta}\gamma\epsilon\rho\tau\alpha\iota$, Gospel of Peter 23 δεδώκασιν, cp. 31. Instances in the Pauline Epistles: 2 C. 2. 13 έσχηκα in historical narrative, whereas 7. 5 έσχηκεν (B al. έσχεν) and 1. 9 έσχήκαμεν may be explained as true perfects; άπεσταλκα in 12. 17 does not seem right, coming as it does in the middle of nothing but a rists ($\epsilon \pi \epsilon \mu \psi a$ is read by DE, $a \pi \epsilon \sigma \tau \epsilon \iota \lambda a$ by some cursives): the same perfect appears in A. 7. 35 τοῦτον (Moses) 6 $\theta\epsilon\deltas$ aprover a deferring for deferring the set of the $\pi \epsilon \pi o i \eta \kappa a$ stands in connection with a orists only and without an adequate reason for the perfect. But H. 11. 28 $\pi i \sigma \tau \epsilon i \pi \epsilon \pi o i \eta \kappa \epsilon \nu \tau \delta$ $\pi \dot{\alpha} \sigma \chi a$ is explained by the abiding institution, cp. verse 3 ($\dot{\epsilon} \gamma \kappa \epsilon \kappa a \dot{\iota}$ νισται 9. 18), while 17 προσενήνοχεν 'Αβραάμ τον 'Ισαάκ can indeed only be understood as referring to the abiding example offered to us. Lastly, $\gamma \epsilon \gamma \circ \nu \epsilon \nu$ is used for $\epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \tau \circ$ in Mt. (and Apoc. Pet. 11; Burton, p. 43) in 25. 6 (B has $\epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \tau \circ$). (In 1. 22 = 21. 4 the perfect could be accounted for, although John uses eyévero in an analogous passage, 19. 36: there is still greater reason for yéyovev in Mt. 26. 56 of Christ's passion.)

5. In general statements or imaginary examples the perfect is only rarely used, as also in Attic it is rare in these cases. In Mt. 13. 46 $\pi\epsilon\pi\rho\alpha\kappa\epsilon\nu$ ($\epsilon\pi\omega\lambda\eta\sigma\epsilon\nu$ D) $\pi\alpha\nu\tau\alpha$ $\kappa\alpha\lambda$ $\eta\gamma\rho\rho\alpha\sigma\epsilon\nu$ $\alpha\nu\tau\rho\nu$ the suspicion of an incorrect confusion with the aorist is obvious (no aorist from $\pi\iota\pi\rho\alpha\sigma\kappa\omega$ existed), cp. Herm. Vis. i. 1. 1, supra 4; the same applies to Ja. 1. 24 $\kappa\alpha\tau\epsilon\nu\epsilon\eta\sigma\epsilon\nu$ $\kappa\alpha\lambda$ $a\pi\epsilon\lambda\eta\lambda\nu\theta\epsilon\nu$ $\kappa\alpha\lambda$ $\epsilon\lambda\theta\epsilon\omega\sigma$. But passages like 1 Jo. 2. 5 ôs $a\nu$ $\tau\eta\rho\hat{\eta}$... $\tau\epsilon\tau\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\epsilon\omega\tau\alpha\iota$, Ja. 2. 10 $\delta\sigma\tau\iotas$ $\tau\eta\rho\eta\sigma\eta$... $\gamma\epsilon\gamma\sigma\nu\epsilon\nu$ (cp. 11), R. 14. 23 etc. are perfectly correct and in accordance with classical usage (Aristoph. Lys. 545 ó $\mu\epsilon\nu$ $\eta\kappa\omega\nu$ $\gamma\alpha\rho$, $\kappa\dot{a}\nu$ η $\pio\lambda\iota\deltas$, $\tau\alpha\chi\dot{\nu}$... $\gamma\epsilon\gamma\alpha\mu\eta\kappa\epsilon\nu$).

6. The perfect is used relatively, instead of the pluperfect, in the same way as the present is used for the imperfect after verbs of perception (cp. § 56, 9): Mc. 5. 33 είδυία δ γέγονεν αὐτŷ, Lc. 20. 19 D έγνωσαν ὅτι εἶρηκεν (al. εἶπεν = Mc. 12. 12); similarly after a verb expressing emotion in A. 10. 45 έξέστησαν ὅτι ἐκκέχυται. So also in L. 9. 36 we have οὐδενὶ ἀπήγγειλαν οὐδὲν ῶν ἑωράκασιν (D ἐθεάσαντο), on the analogy of the equivalent phrase οὐδ. ἀπήγγ. ὅτι ταῦτα ἑωράκασιν. Still we have Mc. 15. 10 ἐγίνωσκεν ὅτι παραδεδώκεισαν (but DHS read παρέδωκαν as in Mt. 27. 18, AE al. παρεδώκεισαν), A. 19. 32 οὐκ ἢδεισαν τίνος ἕνεκεν συνεληλύθεισαν.

7. On the moods of the perfect it may be noticed that the imperative, apart from $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho\rho\omega\sigma\sigma\delta$ (formulas in A. 15. 29, 23. 30,

but not in all the MSS.) and the periphrasis with $\epsilon i \mu i$ (§ 62, 1), only appears in the vigorous prohibition $\pi \epsilon \phi i \mu \omega \sigma \sigma$ Mc. 4. 39 (cp. $\tau \epsilon \theta \nu a \theta \iota$ in Homer).

§ 60. PLUPERFECT.

1. The pluperfect, which naturally did not outlive the perfect in the Greek language, is still, like the perfect, a current, though not a largely employed, form with the New Testament writers; even in classical Greek, however, it is far rarer than the Latin or the German pluperfect, just because it is not used relatively as these latter are used. If an action has taken place, without leaving behind it an effect still permanent in subsequent past time, then the aorist must be employed, since the pluperfect = aorist + imperfect (cp. the perf. § 59, 1). L. 16. 20 Aá(apos ėβėβλητο πρds τdν πυλώνα aὐτοῦ, 'was thrown down and lay': Jo. 11. 44 ή ὄψιs aὐτοῦ συνδαρίψ περιεδέδετο, 9. 22 ήδη γàρ συνετέθειντο οἱ 'Iouðaioi, the stipulation even at that early date was made. Cp. also Acts 14. 23 πεπιστεύκεισαν (-aσιν D, § 59, 6), 26 ήσαν παραδεδομένοι: but ibid. ἐπλήρωσαν, 27 ἐποίησαν = 'had fulfilled,' 'had done.'

2. The usages of the pluperfect, which vary with the particular verb and the context, correspond to those of the perfect; the aoristic meaning preponderates, e.g. in A. 4. 22 $\delta \ a \nu \theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma s \dot{\epsilon} \phi' \ \delta \nu \gamma \epsilon \gamma \delta \nu \epsilon i \sigma \eta \mu \epsilon \hat{c} \sigma \eta$, although the other meaning is present as well, and generally speaking an encroachment of the pluperfect into the province of the aorist can by no means take place.—A. 9. 21 $\delta \delta \epsilon \epsilon \hat{\epsilon} s \tau \sigma \hat{\nu} \tau \delta \epsilon \hat{\lambda} \eta \lambda \hat{\nu} \theta \epsilon \epsilon \hat{\epsilon} s \tau \sigma \hat{\nu} \tau \sigma \delta \eta \lambda \hat{\nu} \theta \epsilon \hat{\epsilon} s$ plained by the fact that this intention of the Apostle had now come to an end, and therefore the perfect was no longer admissible.

§ 61. FUTURE.

1. The future, as was remarked above (§ 56, 1), is the one tense which does not express action but simply a time-relation, so that completed and continuous action are not differentiated. The synthetic future has become extinct in modern Greek; in the N.T. it is still largely used in the indicative, and is not limited to any considerable extent either by periphrasis (§ 62, 1, 2, 4) or by the use of the present (§ 56, 8). On the modal functions of the future indicative see §§ 64, 65; it is occasionally used in a gnomic sense (as in classical Greek), to express what may be expected to take place under certain circumstances, as in R. 5. 7 $\mu \delta \lambda \iota s$ $\delta \pi \delta \rho \delta \iota \kappa a \iota o \sigma$ $\delta \pi \sigma \theta a \nu \epsilon i \tau a$, cp. 7. 3 $\chi \rho \eta \mu a \tau i \sigma \epsilon i \lambda \nu \gamma \epsilon \nu \eta \tau a \iota$: so the first of these passages is an abbreviated form of $\epsilon \delta \nu \delta i \kappa a \iota o \beta i \kappa \tau . \lambda$.

2. The future is used relatively in statements after verbs of believing, to denote a time subsequent to the time when the belief was entertained: Mt. 20. 10 $\epsilon v \delta \mu \sigma a v \delta \tau i \lambda \eta \psi o v \tau a i (= \mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda o v \sigma i \lambda a \mu \beta a v \epsilon i v)$; cp. the present § 56, 9: imperf. § 57, 6: perf. § 59, 6. In this case, however, another mode of expression was scarcely

possible, and the only difference in the classical language is that classical Greek uses the future infinitive, which regularly has a relative meaning, after $\nu o\mu i \langle \epsilon \iota \nu \rangle$, instead of $\delta \tau \iota$ with the indicative. (After $\sigma \eta \mu a i \nu \omega \nu$ in Jo. 18. 32 we have $\eta \mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \nu \dot{a} \pi o \theta \nu \eta \sigma \kappa \epsilon \iota \nu$, instead of which $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \iota$ might here be expected, § 56, 9, or the fut. as in 21. 19 δοξάσει.)

3. The future **infinitive**, which like the participle and the optative of the future, expresses the time-notion relatively with reference to the principal action, has disappeared from the popular language, and is found only in the Acts and the Epistle to the Hebrews: after $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \nu$ in A. 11. 28, 23. 30, 24. 15, 27. 10, after $\epsilon \lambda \pi i \langle \epsilon \iota \nu 26. 7 B$ (the other MSS. have the aorist), after $\delta \mu \nu \nu \nu \mu a$ H. 3. 18. After $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \iota \nu$ the place of the fut. inf. is taken by the pres. inf., cp. § 58, 3, rarely by the aor. inf.; after $\epsilon \lambda \pi i \langle \epsilon \iota \nu^1, \pi \rho \kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \gamma \gamma \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \iota \nu$ (A. 3. 18), $\delta \mu \nu \nu \nu \alpha \iota$ (2. 30), $\pi \rho \sigma \delta \alpha \kappa \mu v$ (3. 3), $\delta \mu \sigma \lambda \gamma \epsilon \nu v$ to promise' (Mt. 14. 7), the aorist infinitive is used, which preserves the nature of the action correctly, but surrenders the expression of the time-relation.

4. The future participle, used as the complement of the principal verb (to express the aim or object) is likewise rare and almost limited to the Acts: 8. 27 $\partial_{\lambda}\eta\lambda\delta\theta\epsilon\iota$ προσκυνήσων, 22. 5, 24. 17, H. 13. 17 $\partial_{\gamma}\rho\nu\pi\nuo\vartheta\sigma\iota\nu$ with $\lambda\delta\gamma\sigma\nu$ and $\partial_{\sigma}\sigma\sigma\nu\tau\epsilons$; Mt. 27. 49 έρχεται σώσων, but λ^* has σώσαι, D και σώσει. Its place is frequently taken by the pres. part., cp. § 58, 4; elsewhere by the infinitive (1 C. 16. 3), a relative sentence (ibid. 4. 17) or some other phrase (Viteau § 288). Scarcely more widely extended is the use of the fut. part. in a more independent position (cp. § 62, 4): 1 C. 15. 37 τδ σώμα τδ γενησόμενον (also probably R. 8. 34 δ κατακρινών), A. 20. 22 τὰ συναντήσοντα, 2 P. 2. 13 κομιούμενοι μισθδν άδικίαs (almost certainly corrupt; λ^*BP read άδικούμενοι), τίs δ κακώσων $\delta\mu\alpha$ (= δ s κακώσει) 1 P. 3. 13, τδ έσόμενον L. 22. 49, δ παραδιδούs (μέλλων παραδιδόναι N, as in Jo. 12. 4), H. 3. 5 τῶν λαληθησομένων (a unique instance of the fut. part. pass.).

§ 62. PERIPHRASTIC CONJUGATION.

1. The classical language had already made use of $\epsilon\mu\iota$ with the perfect participle as a periphrasis for the perfect, pluperfect, and future perfect, active and passive, which under certain circumstances was necessary, but the usage was extended far beyond the cases where that necessity existed. In the N.T. the cases where periphrasis is necessary include the future perfect and the perfect conjunctive (or optative), excluding of course olda $\epsilon i d \omega$; in other cases it is practically indifferent, whether one writes $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \gamma \rho a \pi \tau \alpha$ (A. 17. 23) or $\eta\nu\gamma\epsilon\gamma\rho a \mu\mu\epsilon\nu v \sigma (Jo. 19. 19. 1)$, $\gamma\epsilon\gamma\rho a \pi \tau \alpha$ (very frequent) or $\gamma\epsilon\gamma\rho a \mu\mu\epsilon\nu v \sigma \epsilon \sigma \tau i$ (Jo. 6. 31, 20. 30; in the next verse 31 we have

¹'E $\lambda \pi i \zeta \omega \pi \epsilon \phi a \nu \epsilon \rho \hat{\omega} \sigma \theta a \iota 2$ C. 5. 11 shows the deflection of the idea of 'hope' into that of 'think,' which is also in vogue in German (as in classical Greek).

ταῦτα δὲ γέγραπται); cp. Horm. Sim. ix. 4. 1 ὑποδεδύκεισαν – ὑποδεδυκυίαι ήσαν. (Periphrasis in the active is less common, as in A. 21. 29 $\eta \sigma a \nu \pi \rho o \epsilon \omega \rho a \kappa \delta \tau \epsilon s.$) Even where the aoristic meaning of the perfect (§ 59, 3) predominates, periphrasis may be introduced : ov γάρ έστιν έν γωνία πεπραγμένον τοῦτο (A. 26. 26). It occasionally serves to produce a more forcible and rhetorical expression : A. 25. 10 (\aleph^*B) έστως έπι τοῦ βήματος Καίσαρός είμι, which is better than έστηκα $\epsilon \pi i \dots$ or $\epsilon \pi i \tau_0 v \dots \epsilon_{\sigma \tau \eta \kappa a}$. An example of the pluperfect is L. 2. 26 ήν αὐτῷ κεχρηματισμένον; fut. perf. L. 12. 52 ἔσονται διαμεμερισμένοι, Η. 2. 12 έσομαι πεποιθώς Ο.Τ.; conjunct. Jo. 16. 24 ή πεπληρωμένη; imperat. L. 12. 35 έστωσαν περιεζωσμέναι; even the participle itself is written periphrastically in E. 4. 18, Col. 1. 21 $\ddot{o}\nu\tau\epsilon s$ (-as) $\dot{a}\pi\eta\lambda\lambda\delta$ - $\tau \rho_i \omega \mu \dot{\epsilon} v o i$ (-ovs), here clearly to express still more forcibly the idea of persistence in the new condition of things (in the passage of Colossians και έχθρούs is appended; cp. Aristoph. Ran. 721 οῦσιν οὐ κεκιβδηλευμένοις, αλλά καλλίστοις κ.τ.λ.). A cognate instance is ην κείμενος L. 23. 53, = τεθειμένος (§ 23, 6).

2. $E^{i}\mu i^{1}$ is further used to a large extent in the N.T. in connection with the present participle to form a periphrasis for the imperfect $(\hat{\eta}\nu)$, the future ($\check{\epsilon}\sigma\sigma\mu\alpha\iota$), rarely the present indic. ($\epsilon\dot{\iota}\mu\dot{\iota}$), and occasionally the present infinitive and imperative ($\epsilon i \nu \alpha \iota$, $i \sigma \theta \iota$); this use is indeed especially frequent in the narrative style of Mark and Luke, in whose writings the periphrasis mentioned in the previous paragraph (1) also finds the greatest number of instances (Buttmann p. 268). Many examples of this periphrasis may be quoted as parallels from the classical language (Kühner ii. 35, note 3), and it may be argued that this method of expression is analogous to that mentioned in 1, and that at least in the case of the future it offered the advantage of distinguishing continuous from momentary action; still, in view of the absence of an analogous development in the Hellenistic language, one cannot fail to recognize, especially in the case of the imperfect, the influence of Aramaic (W. Schmid Atticismus iii. 113 f.), since that language made an extensive use of periphrases of this kind.² One cannot adduce in this connection instances such as R. 3. 12 O.T. οὐκ ἔστιν ('there is no-one') ποιῶν χρηστότητα, A. 21. 23 εἰσὶν ἄνδρες ('there are persons here') εὐχὴν ἔχοντες ('who have a vow'); L. 2. 8 is also different, καὶ ποιμένες ἦσαν... ἀγραυλοῦντες καὶ ψυλάσσοντες, since the existence of these shepherds had first to be noticed, and then their occupation (cp. A. 19. 14, 24). But even after deducting all the examples, where the imperfect of the principal verb could not have been used or would not have had the

¹ Not $i\pi d\rho\chi\omega$, which only occurs in A. 8. 16, 19. 36 in connection with a perfect participle.

² In the case of the following writings—(Mt.), Mc., Luke's Gospel, and the first half of the Acts—this is no doubt due to their being direct translations from Aramaic originals. In John's Gospel in most passages (1. 9, 28, 2. 6, 3. 23) $\tilde{\eta}\nu$ has a certain independence of its own ($\delta\pi\sigma v \ \tilde{\eta}\nu - \beta a\pi \tau l \zeta \omega \nu$, 'where he stayed and baptized'); $\tilde{\eta}\nu \kappa a\kappa \delta \nu \pi \sigma u \tilde{\omega}\nu$ in 18. 30 seems to be a wrong reading for $\tilde{\eta}\nu$ $\kappa a\kappa \sigma \pi \sigma ds$. In Mt. cp. 7. 29, 19. 22 etc.—In St. Paul, G. 1. 22 f. $\tilde{\eta}\mu\eta\nu$ $\dot{\alpha}\gamma\nu ooi \mu \epsilon \nu s \tilde{\eta}\sigma a\nu$.

[§ 62. 2-4.

same meaning, the number of instances even in the Acts is considerably large : e.g. 1. 10 άτενίζοντες ήσαν, 13 ήσαν καταμένοντες, 14 ήσαν προσκαρτεροῦντες, 2. 2 ήσαν καθήμενοι etc. A periphrastic future appears in 6. 4 D ἐσόμεθα προσκαρτεροῦντες. (But from chapter 13 of the Acts onwards the only further instances are: 16. 12 ήμεν ἐν τŷ πόλει διατρίβοντες, cp. 14. 7, note 2 on p. 203: 18. 7 ἡ οἰκία ἡν συνομοροῦσα [an easily intelligible use]: 21. 3 ἡν ἀποφορτιζόμενον, see § 58, 4, ἀπεφορτίζετο could not have been used : 22. 19 ἤμην φυλακίζων ¹).

Instances of the pres. indic. being written periphrastically : 2 C. 9. 12 ή διακονία οὐ μόνον ἐστὶν προσαναπληροῦσα ..., ἀλλὰ καὶ περισσεύουσα; G. 4. 24, Col. 2. 23², Ja. 1. 17, 3. 15, Herm. Vis. i. 2. 4 έστιν μέν ούν ... ή τοιαύτη βουλή ... έπιφέρουσα a periphrasis for the sake of emphasis, somewhat like Demosth. 20. 18 $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\iota$ $\delta\dot{\epsilon}\ldots\dot{\epsilon}\chi\circ\nu$; Mt. 27. 33 is most probably corrupt ($\lambda \epsilon \gamma \delta \mu \epsilon \nu os$ om. κ^{ca} D); the phrase ő ἐστιν ('means') μεθερμηνευόμενον does not come under this head. The periphrases of the impersonal verbs must be given a place to themselves, since they are not only common in Hellenistic Greek (Schmid Atticism. iii. 114), but are also found previously in Attic (ἐστὶ προσήκον Dem. 3. 24): A. 19. 36 δέον ἐστίν (cp. 1 P. 1. 6 δέον [έστί]; Clem. Cor. i. 34. 2): έξύν (sc. έστί) A. 2. 29, 2 C. 12. 4.-Înfinitive : L. 9. 18=11. 1 έν τῷ είναι αὐτὸν προσευχόμενον. Imperative: Mt. 5. 25 ⁱσθι εὐνοῶν (the verb is not elsewhere used in the N.T.), L. 19. 17 ισθι έξουσίαν έχων: Clem. Hom. Ep. ad Jac. 3 εΰ ίσθι είδώς. Of the periphrastic conjunctive there is no instance.-Future expressing continuance: Mt. 10. 22 έσεσθε μισούμενοι, Mc. 13. 25 οἱ ἀστέρες ἔσονται πίπτοντες, L. 5. 10 ἀνθρώπους ἔση ζωγρῶν, 1 C. 14. 11 έσεσθε είς άέρα λαλουντες, Herm. Mand. v. 2. 8 έση εύρισκόμενος, Sim. ix. 13. 2 έση φορών; in these instances the reason for using the periphrasis can be recognized (cp. the periphrastic fut. perf.), see Buttmann p. 266 f.

3. **Г**(*νομαι* is also occasionally employed in an analogous way to denote the beginning of a state. 2 C. 6. 14 $\mu\dot{\eta}$ γίνεσθε έτεροζυγοῦντες άπίστοις ('do not give yourselves up to it'), Col. 1. 18, H. 5. 12, Ap. 3. 2, 16. 10, Mc. 9. 3 (7): the different tenses of γίνομαι are joined with the pres. or perf. participle.—The combination of είναι with the aorist participle, which is not unknown to the language of classical poetry, is only found in L. 23. 19 BLT ὅστις ῆν...βληθεis (om. **, the other MSS. have $\beta \epsilon \beta \lambda \eta \mu \epsilon \nu s \hat{\tau} \hat{\eta} \psi \nu \lambda \alpha \kappa \hat{\eta}$, where the reading is therefore quite untrustworthy.³

4. Another way of expressing imminence, besides the future, is by $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \omega$ with the infinitive, a periphrasis with which the classical

¹ This speech of Paul was delivered $\tau \hat{y} \,\epsilon \beta \rho a t \delta \iota \,\phi \omega r \hat{y}$. Cp. the author's edition of Luke's Gospel, p. xxi.

² ^Δ*τινά ἐστιν* λόγον μ*ὲν ἕχοντα σοφία*s, cp. Demosth. 31. 11 οὐδὲ λόγον το πρâγμ' *ἔχον ἐστί* and other similar passages with *ἔχων* (Rehdantz Ind. Demosth. ii. l'artic.).

³ In the Gospel of Peter 23 $\theta \epsilon a \sigma \delta \mu \epsilon \nu o s \eta \nu$, 51 $\eta \nu \tau \epsilon \theta \epsilon ls$, this combination is due to a confusion between perfect and aorist; cp. 23 $\delta \epsilon \delta \delta \omega \kappa a \sigma \iota$ for $\epsilon \delta \omega \kappa a \nu$. Clem. Cor. ii. 17. 7 must be emended to $\epsilon \sigma o \nu \tau a \iota \delta \delta \xi a \nu < \delta \iota > \delta \delta \nu \tau \epsilon s$.

language is acquainted and which offers this advantage, that it presents a mode of indicating imminence in past time, e.g. L. 7. 2 $\eta_{\mu\epsilon\lambda\lambda\epsilon}$ $\tau\epsilon\lambda\epsilon \upsilon \tau a\nu$ and passim; also a conjunctive can be formed in this way, Mc. 13. 4 $\sigma \tau a\nu \ \mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \eta \ \sigma \upsilon \nu \tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \tilde{\sigma} \sigma a\iota$; and it serves to replace the fut. inf. and the fut. part. which are going out of use, and periphrasis is therefore generally employed in these cases, e.g. $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \upsilon \ \pi (\mu \pi \rho a \sigma \sigma a\iota)$ A. 28. 6, $\delta \ \tau \sigma \tilde{\upsilon} \sigma \ \mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \omega \ \pi \rho \dot{a} \sigma \sigma \epsilon \upsilon \ L$. 22. 36. In the case of a participle, however, the periphrastic form is of wider application than the simple form, since the latter (as a relative indication of time) can never be employed in the genitive absolute, and nowhere at all except where it is definitely connected with a finite verb : periphrasis is therefore necessary in A. 18. 14 $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \sigma \nu \sigma s \ \sigma \sigma (\gamma \epsilon \iota \nu \ gen. abs., 20. 3 \gamma \epsilon \iota \sigma (\beta \sigma \iota \lambda \sigma \kappa \ \mu \epsilon \lambda \delta \sigma \nu \kappa \ \mu \epsilon \lambda \delta \sigma \nu \kappa \ \lambda \sigma \nu \ \pi \alpha \rho a \delta \iota \delta \sigma \kappa \iota \ (but in 6. 64 \ \tau (s \ \sigma \pi a \rho a \delta \omega \sigma \omega \ ABC al.,$ cp. § 61, 4).

§ 63. THE MOODS. INDICATIVE OF UNREALITY (AND REPETITION).

1. With regard to the use of the moods the distinction between the language of the New Testament and the classical language is considerably greater than it is with regard to the tenses, if only for the reason that the optative which was disappearing (§ 14, 1) had to be replaced.

2. The indicative in Greek, besides its primary function of making assertions about real or actual events (to which in all languages is attached its use in negative or interrogative sentences), has the further function of denoting unreality as such, by means of the tenses expressive of past time (since the form of the verb which is used to express that which no longer exists acquires the general notion of non-existence). The indicative, however, is not used in this way in the principal clause without the addition of the particle $a\nu$, which differentiates such sentences from unqualified assertions about past time, whereas in the accompanying conditional and subordinate clauses, and in the kindred clauses expressing a wish, the indicative is used alone.

3. In the N.T. the indicative has not only kept the whole of this sphere of its use, but has also enlarged it at the expense of the optative. In the first place in hypothetical sentences, where unreality is expressed, the indicative is used both in the protasis and the apodosis; in the latter the insertion of $a\nu$ is not obligatory. Jo. 15. 24 $\epsilon i \tau a \epsilon \rho\gamma a \mu \eta \epsilon \pi o i \eta \sigma a \epsilon \nu a v \tau o i \kappa i not obligatory.$ $Jo. 15. 24 <math>\epsilon i \tau a \epsilon \rho\gamma a \mu \eta \epsilon \pi o i \eta \sigma a \epsilon \nu a v \tau o i \kappa \epsilon i \chi o \sigma a \nu,$ $cp. 19. 11 (where A etc. have the wrong reading <math>\epsilon \chi \epsilon i s$ for $\epsilon i \chi \epsilon s$ of B etc.), 8. 39, G. 4. 15 ($a\nu$ is added by $\aleph^{\circ} D^{\circ} EKLP$); on the other hand $a\nu$ is inserted in Jo. 18. 30 $\epsilon i \mu \eta \eta \nu \dots$, ov $\kappa a \nu \sigma o i \pi a \rho \epsilon \delta \omega \kappa a \mu \epsilon \nu$, and this is the case in the majority of instances. The position of $a\nu$ is as near the beginning of the sentence as possible: ov $\kappa a \nu$ passim, oi $i\pi\eta\rho\epsilon\tau\alpha\iota a\nu$ oi $\epsilon\muoi$ $i\gamma\omega\nu\iota(j_{0}\nu\tau\sigma)$ (Jo. 18. 36).^I The tense (imperf. or aor.; pluperf. in 1 Jo. 2. 19) keeps the ordinary meaning of its action; the imperfect in other connections is ambiguous (in the passage above quoted $i\gamma\omega\nu\iota(j, a\nu)$ is 'would have fought,' which was meant to be regarded as a continuous or incomplete action, since accomplishment and result were uncertain).

4. The imperfect indicative without av is used in classical Greek for expressions of necessity, obligation, duty, possibility etc., when one requires to indicate the fact that in reality the opposite is taking place or has taken place : while the present indicative asserts something about present time, as it always does, and accordingly an appeal is contained in such presents as $\chi \rho \eta$, $\pi \rho o \sigma \eta \kappa \epsilon \iota$ etc. In the former case we employ the conjunctive, it should or could be so, or where the possibility of anything happening is past, it should or could have been-a distinction which cannot be made in Greek; the indicative is logically correct, since even in the case of the verb 'should' the obligation was already an actual one in past time (cp. The N.T. keeps this usage of the imperfect, but uses it Latin). further to denote what in classical Greek is expressed by the present indicative: A. 22. 22 οὐ γàρ καθῆκεν αὐτὸν ζῆν (καθῆκον D², cp. § 62, 2), they are asking for him to be put to death : Col. 3. 18 ώs άνῆκεν 'as is seemly': E. 5. 4 \ddot{a} οὐκ ἀνῆκεν (v.l. τὰ οὖκ ἀνήκοντα).² Elsewhere the imperfect is used correctly : «δει in Mt. 23. 23 ταῦτα έδει ποιήσαι, κάκείνα μη άφείναι, a frequent form of this verb (also used of course where it is merely the past necessity which is stated, ούχι ταῦτα ἔδει [' was bound '] παθείν τον Χριστόν L. 24. 26): ὤφειλον in 2 C. 12. 11 έγω γαρ ωφειλον ύφ' ύμων συνίστασθαι, but differently used in 1 C. 5. 10 έπει ωφείλετε έκ του κόσμου έξελθειν 'must have otherwise,' where in classical Greek the insertion of $a\nu$ is at least admissible, as it is in H. 9. 26 $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i$ $\epsilon \delta \epsilon i$ and $\pi \circ \lambda \lambda \delta \kappa \circ \pi \circ \theta \epsilon i \nu$: with δύνασθαι in Mt. 26. 9 έδύνατο τοῦτο πραθηναι πολλοῦ: with an impersonal expression with είναι, καλον ήν εί ούκ εγεννήθη Mt. 26. 24 (καλόν έστι 18. 8 is different; cp. 2 P. 2. 213).

5. The indicative when used to denote an impracticable wish in Attic is introduced by $\epsilon i \theta \epsilon$ or $\epsilon i \gamma \alpha \rho$, but it is more inclined to use the analytical expression $\epsilon i \theta \epsilon$ ($\epsilon i \gamma \alpha \rho$) $\omega \phi \epsilon \lambda o \nu$ (with infinitive). From the latter phrase, through the omission of the introductory particle

² The Attic $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\eta\kappa\epsilon\iota$ does not appear in the N.T.; nor $\chi\rho\eta$ except in Ja. 3. 10, nor $\xi\xi\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota$ (for which $\xi\xi\delta\nu$ is used, sc. $\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota$, § 62, 2), nor the verbal adj. in $-\tau\epsilon\sigma$ with $\eta\nu$ etc.

³ The Attic use of the (aorist) indicative to denote what nearly happened $(\delta\lambda i\gamma ou \ \epsilon \delta\epsilon \eta \sigma a$ with infin., $\delta\lambda i\gamma ou \ \epsilon \pi \epsilon \lambda a \theta \delta \mu \eta \nu$) is unattested in the N.T.

¹ In this passage $\check{\alpha}\nu$ is wanting in B^{*}, and stands after $\dot{\eta}\gamma\omega\nu$. In $\mathbb{K}B^{me}LX$; similar fluctuation in its position is seen in 8. 19 kai $\imath\partial\nu$ marépa µou $\check{\alpha}\nu$ $\ddot{\eta}\delta\epsilon$ BL, $\dot{\eta}\delta$. $\check{\alpha}\nu \otimes \Gamma\Delta$ al., where perhaps $\check{\alpha}\nu$ should be struck out with D, as it is in verse 39 on preponderant authority. L. 19. 23 kdy ω $\check{\epsilon}\hbar\partial\dot{\omega}\nu$ $\sigma\dot{\nu}\tau\dot{\kappa}\omega$ $\check{\alpha}\nu$ a $\check{\alpha}\dot{\tau}\dot{\sigma}$ $\check{\epsilon}\pi\rho\alpha\xi\alpha$ contains in $\check{\epsilon}\lambda\theta\dot{\omega}\nu$ an equivalent for a (temporal) protasis. "A ν cannot go further back in a sentence than $\sigma\dot{\nu}$: G. 1. 10 Xptoro $\hat{\sigma}$ $\delta\sigma\partial\lambda\sigma$ s $\sigma\dot{\kappa}$ $\mathring{\alpha}\nu$ $\check{\eta}\mu\eta\nu$. —Hypothetical sentences of this kind are remarkably scarce in the Pauline Epistles; in the Acts they are wanting entirely.

and through the auxiliary verb becoming stereotyped, there has been formed in the Helleuistic language the word $\omega \phi \epsilon \lambda \epsilon$ (Callimachus) or ὄφελον is the form which it takes in the N.T., where the particle is even used (§ 66, 1) with the future to introduce a practicable wish. 1 C. 4. 8 όφελον (DeEL ώφ.) έβασιλεύσατε, 2 C. 11. 1 όφελον (ώφ. DEFGKL) aveixeobé mov, Ap. 3. 15 (up. BP).—But if the idea of wishing is expressed by a particular verb, then a distinction is drawn in Attic between βουλοίμην av (a practicable wish, modestly expressed) and $\epsilon \beta ov \lambda \delta \mu \eta \nu \, a \nu$ (impracticable), whereas in the N.T. both these meanings are combined in ¿βουλόμην or the more popular word $\eta \theta \epsilon \lambda o \nu$ (without $a \nu$). Thus A. 25. 22 $\epsilon \beta$. $a \kappa o \partial \sigma a \iota$ (perfectly practicable), R. 9. 3 $\eta \partial \chi \delta \mu \eta \nu a \nu a \delta \theta \epsilon \mu a \epsilon \delta \nu a \iota$ (hardly conceived of as practicable), G. 4. 20 ήθελον (modus irrealis, or imperfect of unreality), Philem. 13 έβουλόμην ('would have liked,' cp. 14). So also Herm. Vis. iii. 8. 6, 11. 4, Clem. Hom. i. 9 $\eta \theta \epsilon \lambda o \nu = \beta o \nu \lambda o (\mu \eta \nu \, a \nu.$ The classical optative is only found in A. 26. 29 (N°AB) ev faiµην äv, see § 66, 2.

6. The indicative of unreality in final clauses, which are dependent on another indicative of this class, is not found in the N.T.; on the contrary such clauses take the conjunctive, Jo. 18. 36 of $\delta\pi\eta\rho\epsilon\tau\alpha a\nu$ of $\epsilon\mu of \dot{\eta}\gamma\omega\nu(\xi\sigma\nu\tau\sigma)$, $\delta\nu\alpha\mu\eta\pi\rho\epsilon\sigma\sigma\delta\sigma\theta\omega$ rofs 'lovbalors.

7. While the classical language expresses indefinite repetition in past time in principal clauses by av with the imperfect or aorist indicative, and in subordinate clauses by the optative, in the N.T. the former method of expression has been transferred to subordinate clauses in place of the optative², while there is no instance of its use in principal clauses. The $d\nu$, which in this case is never dropped $(\epsilon \dot{a} \nu \text{ may be used, see § 26, 4})$, is placed as in other subordinate clauses as close as possible to the particle or the relative. Mc. 6. 56 ύπου έὰν (ἂν) εἰσεπορεύετο ..., ἐν ταῖς ἀγοραῖς ἐτίθεσαν τοὺς ἀσθενοῦντας: 15. 6 D δν αν ητούντο, the correct reading, cp. § 13, 3: A. 2. 45, 4. 35 ($\kappa \alpha \theta \delta \tau \iota$), 1 C. 12. 2 (ωs). The abrist is by no means excluded (cp. for a classical instance in a principal clause Dem. 18, 219 $\delta \mu \epsilon \nu$ γράφων οὐκ ἂν ἐπρέσβευσεν), and so we have in Mc. 6. 56^{b} καὶ ὅσοι αν ήψαντο (BD; ήπτοντο AN al.) αύτοῦ ἐσώζοντο, LXX. Is. 55. 11 όσα αν ήθέλησα, Herm. Sim. ix. 4. 5 όταν ετέθησαν, 17. 33, Barn. 12. 2 όπόταν καθείλεν. Even particles compounded with $a\nu$, such as $\delta\tau a\nu$, take part in this construction with the indicative : Mc. 3. 11 $\tau \dot{a}$ πνεύματα, ὅταν αὐτὸν ἐθεώρουν, προσέπιπτον, Μc. 11. 19 ὅταν (ὅτε ΑD al.) $\delta \psi \hat{\epsilon} \, \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \dot{\epsilon} \nu \epsilon \tau o, \, \dot{\epsilon} \xi \epsilon \pi o \rho \epsilon \dot{\nu} \epsilon \tau o \quad \dot{\epsilon} \xi \omega \tau \eta s \pi \delta \lambda \epsilon \omega s, where this particle also$ denotes custom, cp. L. 21. 37.

¹ So LXX., Arrian. Diss. Epict., etc., Sophocles Lexicon $\delta\phi\epsilon i\lambda\omega$.

² So also Lucian D. Mort. 9. 2 δντινα αν προσέβλεψα.

³ With pluperfect Sim. ix. 1. 6 öταν ἐπικεκαύκει.

§ 64. CONJUNCTIVE AND FUTURE (OR PRESENT) INDICA-TIVE IN PRINCIPAL CLAUSES.

1. The conjunctive has apparently the primary meaning of something which should (or ought to) take place, and consequently its proper use is to express the will of the speaker, though in a less definite manner than the imperative, with which mood the conjunctive has close affinities. But the conjunctive, and especially the aorist conjunctive, also has close affinities with the future indicative. Not only has it to a large extent the greatest similarity of form ($\lambda \dot{\upsilon} \sigma \omega$ is the form of the 1st sing, both of the aor. conj. and the fut. ind., $\lambda \dot{v} \sigma \eta$ is the form of the 2nd sing. of the same tenses in the middle), but in its manner of employment it comes into the closest contact with that tense from the earliest times (Homer). The future does not assert what is about to happen merely in point of time, but frequently also what is about to happen in the intention of the speaker : $\beta_{0}\delta_{\lambda}$ $\lambda \epsilon_{\gamma \epsilon \iota \nu}$ gives the same meaning analytically, which $\lambda \epsilon \epsilon_{\omega}$ gives syn-The conjunctive, on the other hand, actually has a much thetically. wider range of employment than is contained in the primary meaning above-mentioned, and expresses that which under certain circumstances may be the outcome of the present position of affairs : from this it is at once apparent that it refers in great measure to the future, while past time lies outside its compass. In the final development of the language the future has been supplanted by $\theta \epsilon \lambda \omega$ *ïva* (for which modern Greek uses $\theta \dot{\alpha}$) with the present or a orist conjunctive (so that action is differentiated in future time as well as in past time); the N.T., however, is still a long way removed from this state of things, whereas the mixture of the fut. ind. and aor. conj.¹ has, in comparison with the classical language, made considerable progress.

2. The conjunctive supplements the imperative (as in Latin and other languages) in the 1st. pers. plur., where there is no distinction from the classical language; this also happens, but in a somewhat different way, in the 1st pers. sing., since an invitation is there made to the other person to *let* the speaker do something; in classical Greek this conjunctive is introduced by $\"{a}\gamma\epsilon$ and $\phi\epsilon\rho\epsilon$, also by $\delta\epsilon\rho\rho$, in the N.T. by $\"{a}\phi\epsilon s$ (whence $\vcenter{a}s$ in modern Greek) and $\delta\epsilon\hat{v}\rho\rho$ (plural $\delta\epsilon\hat{v}r\epsilon)$: Mt. 7. 4 $\vcenter{a}\phi\epsilon s \epsilon\kappa\beta a\lambda\omega \tau \delta \kappa \epsilon\rho\phi\rhos$, A. 7. 34 O.T. $\delta\epsilon\hat{v}\rho\sigma \mathinner{a}\pi\sigma\sigma\tau\epsilon\lambda\omega \sigma\epsilon$ (Eurip. Bacch. 341 $\delta\epsilon\hat{v}\rho\delta \sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\tau\epsilon\ell\omega \kappa \epsilon a\phi\sigma\alpha$), cp. Ap. 17. 1, 21. 9. The same words may also precede the 1st pers. plur. conj. and $(\delta\epsilon\hat{v}r\epsilon at any rate)$ the 2nd pers. imp.: $\delta\epsilon\hat{v}r\epsilon at\sigma\kappa\tau\epsilon\ell\nu\omega\mu\epsilon\nu$ Mc. 12. 7, $\delta\epsilon\hat{v}r\epsilon$ $i\delta\epsilon\tau\epsilon$ Mt. 28. 6; $\ddddot{a}\phi\epsilon s i\delta\omega\mu\epsilon\nu$ Mt. 27. 49 (where the singular form has become stereotyped, as happens with $\ddddot{a}\gamma\epsilon$, $\phi\epsilon\rho\epsilon$ etc.), Mc. 15. 36 NDV ($\ddddot{a}\phi\epsilon\tau\epsilon$ ABC etc.) = our 'let us see.' Again the conj. necessarily

¹ On this mixture in late Greek, which for instance introduces $\epsilon i\pi \omega \sigma \sigma \iota = \epsilon \rho \tilde{\omega}$ $\sigma \sigma \iota$, see Sophocles Lexic. p. 45, Hatzidakis Einl. in d. neugriech. Gramm. p. 218. So in Clem. Hom. xi. 3 kal $\delta v \sigma \omega \ldots \delta v v \eta \theta \hat{\eta}$ (main clause) = $\delta v v \dot{\eta} \sigma \epsilon \tau a \iota$. But it occurs already in the LXX., e.g. Is. 33. 24 $d\phi \epsilon \theta \hat{\eta} \gamma d\rho a \dot{v} \tau \sigma \hat{s} \dot{\eta} \dot{a} \mu a \rho \tau la$, 10. 16.

takes the place of the imperative in the 2nd person of the aorist after $\mu\dot{\eta}$, as in classical Greek, and may do so also in the 3rd person (not frequently; classical Greek also uses conj. or imp.): $\mu\dot{\eta}$ $\tau \iota s \ a\dot{v}\tau\dot{v}\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\dot{\xi}ov\theta\epsilon\nu\dot{\eta}\sigma\eta$ 1 C. 16. 11, cp. 2 C. 11. 16, 2 Th. 2. 3. In the N.T. such clauses are often preceded (Mt. 8. 4 al., Mc. 1. 44, 1 Th. 5. 15) by $\ddot{o}\rho a$, $\dot{o}\rho a\tau\epsilon$, $\beta\lambda \dot{\epsilon}\pi\epsilon\tau\epsilon$, as well as $\ddot{a}\phi\epsilon$ s etc., which do not affect the construction, see § 79, 4.—On $\mu\dot{\eta}$ expressing apprehension in independent clauses see § 65, 3 ad fin.

3. The future indicative takes the place of the imperative in the legal language of the O.T. (not a classical use) both in positive and negative commands (the negative being ov), but the N.T. language apart from O.T. quotations does not appear to have been materially affected by this use. Mt. 5. 43 O.T. ayannifores rdv nangelov oov, but in the law of Christ in 44 άγαπατε; ibid. 21 O.T. ου φονεύσεις etc., but the future is nowhere used in this chapter in independent precepts of Christ, since even 48 $\epsilon \sigma \epsilon \sigma \theta \epsilon \tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \iota o \iota$ is modelled on Deut. 18. 13. Elsewhere however there are some isolated instances of the future (2nd and 3rd persons): 6. 5 oùk $\epsilon \sigma \epsilon \sigma \theta \epsilon$ (the imperative $\epsilon \sigma \tau \epsilon$ occurs nowhere in the N.T.), 21. 3 έάν τις ὑμῦν εἴπη τι, ἐρεῦτε, = εἴπατε in Mc. 11. 3, Mt. 20. 26 où ov ov $\delta \sigma \tau ai \delta v \delta \mu i v$, and then $\delta \sigma \tau ai$ occurs twice again in 26 f. with v.l. $\epsilon\sigma\tau\omega$ (Clem. Cor. i. 60. 2 $\kappa\alpha\theta\alpha\rho\epsilon\hat{s}$). With this is connected the reverse use of the imperative for future in Mt. 10. 13 (ἐλθάτω ή εἰρήνη ὑμῶν ἐπ' αὐτήν [but ἔσται D]... ἐπιστρα- $\phi \eta \tau \omega$), where the future is more natural and is actually found in L. 10. 6. On $\delta \phi \epsilon \lambda o \nu$ with the fut. ind. (in a clause expressing a wish) see § 66, 1.

4. A further substitute for the imperative is afforded by $i\nu a$ with the conjunctive (used independently; cp. French que, class. $5\pi\omega s$ with fut.), E. 5. 33 (after $d\gamma a\pi a \tau a \psi$) $\dot{\eta}$ $\delta \delta \gamma \nu \nu \eta$ $i\nu a \phi o\beta \hat{\eta} \tau a \iota \tau \partial \nu \ d\nu \partial \rho a$, cp. 2 C. 8. 7, Mc. 5. 23 (see on $i\nu a \S 69$, 1). This may be extended by $\theta \delta \lambda \omega$: Mc. 6. 25 $\theta \delta \lambda \omega$ $i\nu a \delta \phi s$ ($\delta \delta s$ Mt. 14. 8). Another substitute is a question in the fut. with $o\dot{v}$ (as frequently in classical Greek); A. 13. 10 où $\pi a \delta \sigma \eta$ $\delta \iota a \sigma \tau \rho \delta \phi \omega \nu$, though in this passage the imperative meaning is not quite clear, and perhaps a reproach is rather intended.

5. The most definite form of a negative assertion about the future is that with οὐμή, which also appears in classical Greek and is there also connected, as in the N.T., with both the fut. ind. and the con-But though the N.T. has this double construction of ov junctive. $\mu\eta$, still the only certain instance of its taking the fut. is Mt. 16. 22 ού μή έσται σοι τούτο, whereas in the other cases not only is there a strong similarity between the form of aor. and fut., but there is also a variety of readings, while in numerous passages the conjunctive is by its peculiar form established beyond a doubt as the correct reading. Mt. 15. 5 ού μη τιμήσει τον πατέρα, but τιμήση is read by E*FGK al. (a quotation of a saying of the Rabbis, 'need not honour'; in the LXX. où $\mu\eta$ is also prohibitive as in Gen. 3. 1), 26. 35 où $\mu\eta$ $\sigma\epsilon$ άπαρνήσομαι (-σωμαι AEGK al.), Mc. 14. 31 ditto (-σωμαι NEFGK al.), Ap. 9. 6 ου μη ευρήσουσιν (εύρωσιν ΑΡ). (But Hermas has in Mand. ix. 5 ovo $\dot{\nu}$ ov $\mu\dot{\eta}$ $\dot{\lambda}\dot{\eta}\psi\eta$, Sim. i. 5 ov $\mu\dot{\eta}$ παραδεχθήση.) On the

other hand the conj. is used e.g. in Ap. 2. 11 où $\mu\eta$ doing $\eta\eta$, L. 12. 59 où $\mu\eta$ é $\xi\epsilon\lambda\theta\eta$ s, 13. 35 où $\mu\eta$ ion ϵ $\mu\epsilon$. The conj. is always that of the aorist, whereas classical Greek also uses the pres. conj. The same form is occasionally used **interrogatively** to denote an affirmation (the relation between the two uses being therefore the same as between "où $\pi\rho\delta\xi\omega$." and "où $\pi\rho\delta\xi\omega$;"): Jo. 18. 11 où $\mu\eta$ $\pi\omega$ aùto; L. 18. 7, Ap. 15. 4 τ is où $\mu\eta$ $\phio\beta\eta\eta\eta$; (the classical où $\mu\eta$ $\lambda a\lambda\eta\sigma\epsilon s;=$ 'you will certainly not' = 'do not venture to' etc.).

6. In questions of doubt and deliberation, as to what ought to take place, classical Greek uses the conjunctive or (more rarely) the fut. ind., as in Eurip. Ion 758 $\epsilon i\pi\omega\mu\epsilon\nu$; η $\sigma_i\gamma\omega\mu\epsilon\nu$; η τi $\delta
hoacoomer$; generally in the 1st person, rarely in the 3rd. The question is equivalent to $\chi \rho \eta$: it may be introduced by $\beta o \upsilon \lambda \epsilon \iota - \epsilon \sigma \theta \epsilon$ (without a conjunction): it is negatived by $\mu \eta$. The N.T. in this case practically uses only the conjunctive (the fut. is a v.l. in e.g. A. 2. 37, 4. 16; on Ph. 1. 22 see § 65, 1), which is frequently introduced by $\theta \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \iota \varsigma - \epsilon \tau \epsilon$ ($\beta o \upsilon \lambda \epsilon \sigma \theta \epsilon$), and in addition to the 1st person the 2nd and 1st persons are occasionally used, where there is more of a future meaning: L. 23. 31 év $\tau \hat{\psi} \xi \eta \rho \hat{\psi} \tau i' \gamma \epsilon v \eta \tau a i (\gamma \epsilon v \eta \sigma \epsilon \tau a i D); ('what will happen then ?'), Mt. 23. 33 <math>\pi \hat{\omega} s \phi \dot{v} \gamma \eta \tau \epsilon$, 'how will (or can) you escape?', 26. 54, R. 10. 14 f. $\pi \hat{\omega} s \circ \delta v \epsilon \pi i \kappa a \lambda \epsilon \sigma \omega \tau a i (\sigma o v \tau a i KLP)...$ πῶς δὲ πιστεύσωσιν (v.l. -σουσιν) ... πῶς δὲ ἀκούσωσιν (📽 A2B; -σουσιν L, - $\sigma o \nu \tau a i \approx D a l.$) ... $\pi \hat{\omega}_s$ $\delta \hat{\epsilon} \kappa \eta \rho \hat{\nu} \xi \omega \sigma i \nu$ (the v.l. - $\hat{o} \nu \sigma i \nu$ is hardly attested), 'how will they' or 'can they': Hermas, Sim. v. 7. $3 \pi \hat{\omega}_s$ $\sigma \omega \theta \hat{\eta}$ ό ανθρωπος. In these instances classical Greek must have used the future, which we have in L. 16. 11 f. τ is $\pi \iota \sigma \tau \epsilon \upsilon \sigma \epsilon \iota$; ... τ is $\delta \omega \sigma \epsilon \iota$; cp. 11. 11, Mt. 16. 26 τί δώσει = Mc. 8. 37 τί δοί (δώσει ACD al.). peculiar instance is L. 11. 5 τίς έξ ὑμῶν ἕξει φίλον, καὶ πορεύσεται ... καὶ $\epsilon i \pi \eta$ (ἐρεί AD al.) ... 7 κἀκείνος $\epsilon i \pi \eta$ (ἐρεί D), where the thought is awkwardly expressed (§ 77, 6; Viteau p. 10), and would have been more appropriately rendered by the conditional form of sentence ($\dot{\epsilon}\dot{a}\nu \phi i\lambda$ os $\pi o\rho\epsilon v\theta \hat{\eta}$ etc.), and then the future would be in its right place in the apodosis. Cp. ibid. 11 f. The fut. is used in the 1st pers. in R. 3. 5, 6. 1 ti époviev; (cp. Plato, Crito 50 B), which at least approximates to a deliberative sense; and this is decidedly the sense of L. 22. 49 εἰ (direct question, § 77, 2) πατάξομεν ἐν μαχαίρη; (-ωμεν GH al.).—Question introduced by θέλεις etc.: Mt. 13. 28 θέλεις συλλέξωμεν; Jo. 18. 39 βούλεσθε ἀπολύσω;—The question may be put analytically by the insertion of $\delta \epsilon \hat{i}$ ($\chi \rho \eta$ being unusual in the N.T.), $\tau i \mu \epsilon \delta \epsilon i \pi \sigma \iota \epsilon i \nu A. 16. 30$, or of $\delta i \nu a \sigma \theta a \iota$ for the other sense of the future or conjunctive, Mt. 12. 34 $\pi \hat{\omega}s \delta \hat{\nu} v a \sigma \theta \epsilon \lambda a \lambda \epsilon \hat{i} \nu$ (Viteau p. 32).-The pres. indic. is used very rarely in a deliberative sense in place of the fut. ind. (§ 56, 8): Jo. 11. 47 (Herm. Sim. ix. 9. 1) τi $\pi o \iota o \tilde{\upsilon} \mu \epsilon v$; for which there are parallels in colloquial Latin.¹

¹ In 1 Jo. 3. 17 $\mu\epsilon\nu\epsilon\hat{i}$ should be written for $\mu\epsilon\nu\epsilon\iota$.—Plato, Symp. 214 a $\pi\hat{\omega}s$ $\pi \sigma i \sigma\hat{i}\hat{\mu}\epsilon\nu$ is not quite a similar case; it is not deliberative like $\tau i \pi \sigma i \hat{\omega}\mu\epsilon\nu$ ibid. B, but the present contains a gentle rebuke.

§ 65. CONJUNCTIVE AND FUTURE (OR PRESENT) INDICATIVE IN SUBORDINATE CLAUSES.

1. Indirect interrogative sentences, like direct, take the deliberative conjunctive, Mt. 6. 25 $\mu\eta$ $\mu\epsilon\rho\mu\nu\alpha\tau$ $\tau i \phi d\gamma\eta\tau\epsilon$: and here again the sphere of the conjunctive is extended somewhat beyond its classical limits, as in L. 12. 36 $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\delta\epsilon\chi o\mu\epsilon \nu\sigma\sigma \tau$ $\dot{\kappa}\nu\rho\mu\nu\sigma$, $\pi\dot{\sigma}\tau\epsilon \dot{d}\nu\alpha\lambda\dot{\sigma}\eta$ ($\sigma\epsilon\iota$ GKX al.), cp. Ph. 3. 12 with ϵi 'whether' $\delta\iota\dot{\sigma}\kappa\omega$ $\epsilon i \kappa\alpha\tau\alpha\lambda\dot{d}\beta\omega$ (cp. inf. 6): elsewhere this ϵi is followed by the fut. ind. (In Mc. 11. 13 D gives the reading $i\delta\epsilon\iota\nu \dot{\epsilon}d\nu$ [cp. inf. 4] $\tau i \dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\iota\nu \dot{\epsilon}\nu a\dot{\sigma}\tau\dot{\eta}$.) In the region of past time, where the classical language according to rule employs the optative, the N.T. in this as in other cases retains the conjunctive (though not always in St. Luke, see § 66, 3): A. 4. 21 $\mu\eta\delta\dot{\epsilon}\nu \dot{\epsilon}\dot{\rho}f\sigma\kappa\kappa\nu\tau\epsilon$ s $\tau\dot{\sigma}\mu\dot{\sigma}\kappa\lambda\dot{\sigma}\omega\nu\tau\alpha\iota a\dot{\sigma}\tau\sigma\dot{\nu}s$. The use of the fut. ind. (also possible in classical Greek) in such sentences is hardly attested by Ph. 1. 22 $\tau i ai\rho\eta\sigma\rho\mu\alpha\iota \dot{\epsilon}'\gamma$ $\epsilon_j\gamma\sigma_{\mu}\alpha\iota$).

2. Final clauses introduced by ^{ενα}, ^{δπωs}, μή have very largely extended the range of their use in the N.T. in consequence of the infinitive being expressed by a periphrasis with *lva*; we are here only concerned with the mood, which is in no way influenced by the character of iva, whether it be a true final particle or not. This mood in the N.T. is generally the conjunctive, without regard to the right which the optative formerly possessed of expressing purpose from a past point of view, or from that of some person introduced by the narrator¹; to a rather less extent the future indicative is also introduced, and just where in classical Greek it is not found, namely after $i\nu a$ and final $\mu \eta$, whereas the Attic use of $\delta \pi \omega s$ and $\delta \pi \omega s \mu \eta$ in connection with the fut. ind. (after verbs of deliberating, striving, taking care) is not found in the N.T. With verbs of this class the particles used throughout the N.T. are iva and for negative iva $\mu\eta$ or $\mu \eta$: $\delta \pi \omega s$, in so far as it appears at all (never in the Apoc., only once in St. John's Gospel,² and not often in St. Paul), is limited to a purely final meaning and to its use in connection with verbs of asking ($\pi a \rho a \kappa a \lambda \epsilon i \nu$ etc.). "Onws has further lost, with the exception of some few passages in Luke and a quotation from the LXX., the $a\nu$ which is often appended to it in Attic Greek; this particle was never even in Attic annexed to $i\nu a$ and $\mu \eta$. On $\mu \eta$ ($\mu \eta \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$) expressing apprehension, vide inf. 3.—The fut. ind. after iva occurs most frequently in the Apocalypse: 22. 14 iva ϵ $\sigma \tau a i \dots \kappa a i \epsilon i \sigma \epsilon \lambda \theta \omega \sigma i v$ (thus the two forms are regarded as equivalent), 3. 9 iva n Eovoiv (-ωσι B) καί προσκυνήσουσιν (-σωσιν B) ... καί γνώσιν (* reads γνώση

¹ The supposed optat. $\delta \omega_{\eta}$ in E. 1. 17 is really conjunctive (§ 23, 4; B gives correctly $\delta \hat{\omega}$).

² The passage is 11. 57, where $\delta\pi\omega s$ is evidently used for the sake of variety, since a $i\nu a$ has occurred immediately before; the same reason applies to its use in St. Paul in 1 C. 1. 29, 2 C. 8. 14, 2 Th. 1. 12 (but not in 2 C. 8. 11, G. 1. 4, Philem. 6: $i\nu a$... $i\nu a$ occurs in G. 4. 5, 1 C. 4. 6).

not well), 8. 3 δώσει (-η BP), similarly in 13. 16 (written Δωci, from which the wrong reading $\delta \hat{\omega} \sigma_i(\nu)$ arose). See also 6. 4, 11, 9. 4, 5, 20, 13. 12, 14. 13. In St. Paul we have: 1 C. 9. 15 "iva Tis (ουδείς is wrong) κενώσει, 18 ίνα θήσω, 13. 3 παραδώ ίνα καυθήσομαι (the readings -σωμαι CK, καυχήσωμαι NAB are wrong), G. 2. 4 καταδουλώσουσιν (AB*CDE), Phil. 2. 11. Also probably 1 Th. 5. 10 ίνα ζήσομεν (Å; D*E have ζώμεν; the aorist ζήσωμεν of \aleph etc. would mean 'come to life again' as in R. 14. 9): in this passage $a\nu$ is also omitted from an intervening clause, ίνα είτε γρηγορώμεν είτε καθεύδωμεν κ.τ.λ., cp. Ph. 1. 27 ίνα εἴτε ἀκούω (conj.). Other passages are: 1 P. 3. 1 κερδηθήσονται, Jo. 17. 2 δώσει (-η κ ACG al., δώσω κ*, έχη D), L. 14. 10 έρει with v.l. in AD al. είπη, 20. 10 δώσουσιν with v.l. in CD al. δώσιν. With μή: Col. 2. 8 βλέπετε μή ... έσται, H. 3. 12 $\beta\lambda\epsilon\pi\epsilon\tau\epsilon$ $\mu\eta\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon\dots\epsilon\sigma\tau a$. A special instance is that where a conj. after $i\nu \alpha$ (or $\mu \eta$) is succeeded by a fut. linked on to the conj. by a και to denote a further result: A. 21. 24 ίνα ξυρήσωνται (-ονται *B*D²E al.)..., καὶ γνώσονται, for which καὶ γνῶσιν was at any rate possible, the same arrangement is used elsewhere in the N.T., and moreover in cases where the second verb should, strictly speaking, have been subordinated to the final particle; there appears therefore to be a kind of Hebraism underlying this construction, as in the LXX. this habit of writing the second verb in the future is very widely extended (Viteau, p. 81 f.). Eph. 6. 3 O.T. ίνα ... γένηται καί ἔση, Jo. 15. 8 ἵνα καρπὸν...φέρητε καὶ γενήσεσθε (γένησθε BDL al.) ἐμοὶ μαθηταί, L. 22. 30 (with many vv.ll.), 12. 58 (μήποτε), Mt. 5. 25 (ditto), Mc. 5. 23 (according to A), Mt. 13. 15 = Jo. 12. 40 = A. 28. 27 O.T. (Îs. 6. 10 μήποτε or ίνα μή), Barn. 4. 3 ίνα ταχύνη και ήξει (* for - *ξŋ*), Herm. Mand. vi. 2. 10, Sim. ix. 7. 6, 28. 5. There is the same construction after an independent conj., ἀγοράσωμεν καὶ δώσομεν Mc. 6. 37 AL Δ (- $\omega\mu\epsilon\nu \approx$ BD, al. $\delta\hat{\omega}\mu\epsilon\nu$); and in Hermas after an imperat., Vis. i. 1. 3 λάβε και αποδώσεις μοι, Mand. ii. 1 ακακος γίνου καί έση ώς (esto Lat.). - Όπως αν occurs in L. 2. 35, A. 3. 19, 15. 17 O.T. (Amos 9. 12, our text has no $a\nu$); also in a quotation in R. 3.4 = Ps. 51. 6.—The present indic. after $i\nu\alpha$ is of course simply due to corruption of the text.¹

3. Mή after words expressing apprehension $(\phi o \beta o \hat{v} \mu a \, \text{etc.})$ is not final, but is akin to the $\mu \dot{\eta}$ which expresses apprehension in independent sentences such as $\mu \dot{\eta} \dot{a} \gamma \rho o \iota \kappa \dot{\sigma} \epsilon \rho o \nu \ddot{\eta}$ 'it is perhaps too rude' (Plato). Still from one point of view this $\mu \dot{\eta}$ does border on the meaning of final $\mu \dot{\eta}$, since an apprehension of something eventually happening has for its immediate result the purpose of avoiding this thing. In the N.T. this $\mu \dot{\eta}$ of apprehension is usually strengthened by $\pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$ or $\pi \omega s: \mu \dot{\eta} \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon, \mu \dot{\eta} \pi \omega s$. On the other hand the idea of negation in the $\mu \dot{\eta}$ is so far weakened, that it is used to introduce something which is surmised, where there is no idea of warding it off : accordingly in Hellenistic Greek $\mu \dot{\eta} \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$ in a principal clause means 'perhaps,' in a dependent clause 'if perchance,' 'if possibly':

¹ Jo. 5. 20 %L, G. 6. 12 ACF al., Tit. 2. 4 %*AF al. etc. But $\phi \nu \sigma \iota o \vartheta \sigma \theta \epsilon$ 1 C. 4. 6 and $\xi \eta \lambda o \vartheta \tau \epsilon$ G. 4. 17 are conjunctives, see § 22, 3.

(L. 3. 15 an indirect question), 2 Tim. 2. 25 $\mu\eta\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ $\delta\hat{\omega}^1$ autois δ $\theta \epsilon \delta s \kappa. \tau. \lambda$. If the thing (surmised or) feared is something negative, then the formation (as in classical Greek) is $\mu \eta$ ov : Mt. 25. 9 $\mu \eta \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$ ούκ ἀρκέση «ALΣ, for which BCD al. have the not impossible reading μ. οὐ μὴ ἀρκ. (ἀρκέσει D). The classical construction, if the apprehension has reference to something which is still dependent on the will, is always the conjunctive : if it refers to something which has already taken place or generally to something independent of the will, any tense of the indicative may also be used (the indicative is always used in reference to a past event). In the N.T. the phrase φοβοῦμαι μή is found only in Luke and Paul (Hebrews): A. 23. 10 ϕ οβηθείς (HLP εὐλαβηθείς) μη διασπασθη, cp. 27. 17, 29, 2 C. 11. 3 (μήπωs), 12. 20 (ditto), G. 4. 11 (ditto), H. 4. 1 here μήποτε δοκη, in G. 4. 11, with reference to something which has taken place, it takes the perf. indic. (κεκοπίακα), elsewhere the aor. conj.; clearly this construction $\phi \circ \beta \circ \hat{\nu} \mu a \iota \mu \eta$ was a literary and not a popular one (Viteau, p. 83). There is a greater frequency of dependent clauses with $\mu\eta\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ ($\mu\eta\pi\omega$ s), which are attached to any verb, to express the accompanying feeling of apprehension by which the action related is influenced, the construction varying as before : G. 2. 2 $dv \epsilon \theta \epsilon \mu \eta \nu$ $a v \tau \sigma \hat{c} s$ τὸ εὐαγγέλιον ..., μήπως εἰς κενὸν τρέχω (conj.) ή έδραμον, 1 Th. 3. 5 έπεμψα είς το γνώναι την πίστιν ύμών, μήπως επείρασεν ύμας ό σατανας καὶ εἰς κενὸν γένηται (the issue feared) ὁ κόπος ἡμῶν (L. 3. 15 with optat., see § 66, 3). There is a transition to final μή in L. 14. 8 f. μη κατακλιθής ..., μήποτε ... ή κεκλημένος² (ήξει D) ..., και έρει (cp. supra 2). As in the last passage D has the fut. = conj., so we find this tense occasionally elsewhere : Mc. 14. 2 $\mu \eta \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$ é $\sigma \tau \alpha i$ (Mt. 7. 6 v.l.), Herm. Sim. ix. 28. 7, Mand. x. 2. 5 (ἐντεύξεται should be read for -ηται); cp. βλέπετε μη (μήποτε) έσται Col. 2. 8, H. 3. 12, final (supra 2).-Independent clauses with µn and the conj. usually have an imperative meaning, § 64, 2; under this head comes 1 Th. 5. 15 όρατε μήτις ἀποδοί, ἀλλὰ ... διώκετε (on ὑρατε before the imperat. and conj. see §§ 64, 2; 79, 4). An exception to this is Mt. 25. 9 $\mu \eta \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$ οὐκ ἀρκέση, vide supra.

4. Of conditional sentences the four following forms exist in classical Greek: (1) ϵi with indicative, denoting something which is simply regarded as actual; (2) $\epsilon d v$ with conjunctive, to express that which from the given stand-point of present time, the time in question being either general or a special occasion, I wish to denote as under certain circumstances actual or liable to happen; (3) ϵi with optative, if I wish to represent anything as generally possible, without regard to the general or actual situation at the moment (hence also used with reference to a position of affairs in past time); (4) ϵi with imperfect, aorist, or pluperfect indicative, to denote that the actual state of things is the opposite to the case supposed, vide supra § 63, 2 and 3. The distinction between (1) and (2) is very slight in

¹ Not $\delta \psi \eta$ optat.; cp. § 23, 4 and supra 2, note 1.

² This perf. conj. also occurs in Jo. 17. 19, 23, 1 C. 1. 10, 2 C. 1. 9, and is in all cases easily intelligible.

the case of ϵi with the fut indic., since $\epsilon a \nu$ with the aor. conj. also generally refers to the future $-\epsilon \dot{a}\nu \pi \epsilon \sigma \eta = si \ ceciderit$; the indicative, however, expresses a more definite expectation.—In the N.T. (3) is hardly represented (see § 66, 4); (1) and (2) have come into still closer contact, as is seen especially in the fact that $\dot{\epsilon}\dot{a}\nu$ may also be joined with the indicative. We note at the outset that the dissyllabic form of this particle is the regular one (cp. $\delta a v \tau o \hat{v}$, where Attic has both έαυτοῦ and αὐτοῦ), whereas inversely the form ἐάν for ἄν is frequently employed in relative sentences (inf. 7), § 26, 4. Still 'and if,' even if, may be $\kappa \tilde{a}\nu$: Mt. 21. 21 (D $\kappa a \tilde{a} \dots \tilde{c} a \tilde{\nu}$), L. 13. 9 ($\kappa a \tilde{i} \tilde{c} a \nu$ D) etc. (see § 5, 2). Externally then the prominent distinction between (1) and (2) is that the negative used with ϵi is ov, while with $\dot{\epsilon}\dot{a}\nu$ it is (as in all Attic conditional sentences) $\mu\dot{\eta}$, see § 75, 3. But the internal distinction between the two forms has not been quite lost. It is only modern Greek which denotes every 'if' by $d\nu$; in the N.T. ϵi with the indicative is obligatory for all suppositions referring to what has already taken place : Mc. 3. 26 $\epsilon i \delta$ σατανας ἀνέστη ἐφ' ἑαυτόν (which according to the speech of Christ's opponent must already have taken place), contrast ibid. 24 in an imaginary instance, $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ $\beta a\sigma\iota\lambda\epsilon ia\dot{\epsilon}\phi'\dot{\epsilon}a\upsilon\tau \eta\nu$ $\mu\epsilon\rho\iota\sigma\theta\eta$. The same distinction holds good where the two forms occur in even closer connection, as in Jo. 13. 17 εἰ ταῦτα οἴδατε (present reality), μακάριοί έστε έλν ποιητε αυτά (future), or 1 C. 7. 36 εί δε τις ασχημονείν έπι την παρθένον αυτοῦ νομίζει (reality), έλν ή ὑπερακμος (future), i.e. the indicative is used where a supposition is made with regard to something now actually existing, and the only irregularity is that this present indicative is occasionally preceded by $\dot{\epsilon}\dot{a}\nu$ instead of $\epsilon\dot{i}$: 1 Jo. 5. 15 $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ oldamer (the reading of \aleph^{ϵ} idemer is not good), 1 Th. 3. 7 $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ due is $\sigma\tau\eta'\kappa\epsilon\tau\epsilon$ (- $\eta\tau\epsilon$ \aleph^*DE), whereas before the imperf. and aor. indic. the N.T. like classical Greek always uses $\epsilon i.^2$ (Inversely in 1 Th. 5. 10 $\epsilon i \tau \epsilon \dots \epsilon i \tau \epsilon$ takes the conjunctive, in a clause inserted in the middle of a final sentence, vide supra 2.) Ei with the pres. indic. is used with reference to present reality also in G. 1. 9 (8 is different); on the other hand $\epsilon d\nu$ with pres. conj. is very. rarely so used, A. 5. 38 éàv j é ξ åv θ ρώπων ή βουλή αυτη κ.τ.λ. followed in 39 by εί δε έκ θεοῦ έστιν, where we should no doubt understand the meaning to be: 'If perchance it should be-but if, as these persons maintain, it really is' etc. That in fact is very often the meaning of this ϵi : 'if really' (as is maintained), or even 'if accordingly' (as follows from what has been said): in the latter case it approximates to the meaning of $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i$. Ei $\tau a \hat{v} \tau a$ $\pi o \iota \epsilon \hat{\iota} s$ ('really'), φανέρωσον σεαυτόν τῷ κόσμω Jo. 7. 4. Εί τον χόρτον ... δ θεός ουτώς ἀμφιέννυσιν ('accordingly,' see verses 28 f.), πόσω μαλλον ὑμας Mt. 6. 30. 'Eáv, on the other hand, when referring to an actually

¹ Not very different in meaning is 1 Jo. 2. 29 $\epsilon d\nu \epsilon l \delta \eta \tau \epsilon$, where the transition from ϵl with indic. to the other, apparently less suitable, mode of expression ($\epsilon d\nu c.$ con \mathfrak{I} .) is quite carried out ('as' or 'as soon as you know ..., so you also know').

² LXX. also has έἀν σὐ ἦσθα Job 22. 3.

existing state of things, makes the supposition indefinite : 1 C. 4. 15 έὰν γὰρ μυρίους παιδαγωγοὺς ἔχητε ('even if you should have'), Jo. 5. 31 car cyù µaprupû ('if perchance'; one might also treat μαρτυρώ as an indic., vide supra) περί έμαυτοῦ, ή μαρτυρία μου οὐκ έστιν ἀληθήs.¹ On the other hand, with reference to things which may or may not happen at any time, $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ with the pres. conj. is the regular construction, though indeed in the N.T. a with the indic. is also found used in this way : Mt. 5. 29 εἰ ὁ ὀφθαλμός σου σκανδαλίζει σε, cp. 30, 18. 8 f. (but έαν σκανδαλίζη Mc. 9. 43, 45, 47), L. 6. 32 εί άγαπατε, but in 33 έαν άγαθοποιητε (Mt. 5. 46 έαν άγαπήσητε). Quite incorrect is Mc. 9. 42 καλόν έστιν αὐτῷ μαλλον εἰ περίκειται ... καὶ βέβληται (D is correct with περιέκειτο ... ἐβλήθη), = L. 17. 2 $(\pi\epsilon\rho)i\epsilon\kappa\epsilon\iota\tau o - \epsilon\rho(\rho)\iota\pi\tau o$ D). Eáv with the pres. conj. in other cases refers to the future : $\dot{\epsilon}\dot{a}\nu$ $\theta\epsilon\lambda\eta$ s, $\delta\dot{\nu}a\sigma a\iota^2$ Mt. 8. 2 etc., $\dot{\epsilon}\dot{a}\nu$ $\mu\epsilon$ $\delta\epsilon\eta$ Mc. 14. 31, 1 Jo. 2. 3 έαν τηρωμεν (φυλάξωμεν **), cp. 1 ίνα μη ἁμάρτητε and εάν τις ἁμάρτη.

5. (Continuation: el with future, éáv with aor. conj. and fut.) The connection of ϵi with the fut. indic. is quite rare in the N.T., but keeps fairly well its meaning of a definite supposition: Mt. 26. 33 = Mc. 14. 29 εἰ (καἰ) πάντες σκανδαλισθήσονται (i.e. as you have just now said; cp. supra 4); 2 Tim. 2. 12 εἰ ἀρνησόμεθα parallel with εἰ συναπεθάνομεν ... εί ύπομένομεν κ.τ.λ.; 1 P. 2. 20 twice εί ύπομενείτε, preceded by $\epsilon i \ \hat{v} \pi \circ \phi \epsilon \circ \epsilon i \tau is 19$: in this case $\epsilon a v \ \hat{v} \pi \circ \phi \epsilon \circ \eta$ and $\epsilon a v$ $\dot{\nu}\pi o\mu\epsilon i\nu\eta\tau\epsilon$ might at least be thought to be equally possible. In L. 11.8 εί καὶ οὐ δώσει is incorrect for ἐἀν καὶ μὴ δῷ ; cp. the intermixture of fut. and aor. conj. ibid. 5 ff. The fut. is correct in 1 C. 9. 11 $\theta\epsilon\rho$ ίσομεν (-σωμεν CDE al.) and 3. 14 f. εί μενεί ... εί κατακαήσεται, of a definite point of future time, the day of judgment (Ap. 13. 10 v.l.). -For $\epsilon \dot{a} \nu$ with fut. indic. there is no quite certain instance : see Mt. 18. 19 έαν συμφωνήσουσιν (-ωσιν FGKM al.), a general statement ; L. 19. 40 έαν σιωπήσουσιν NAB al., σιγήσουσιν D, σιωπήσωσιν ΓΛ al., of something impending at the present moment; A. 8. 31 $i a \nu \mu \eta \tau i s$ όδηγήσει με ¤B*CE (ditto); Ap. 2. 22 ¤A (ditto, but in 5 έàν μὴ μετανοήσης). Cp. Herm. Mand. v. 1. 2 έαν έση (as pr. man. ής), iv. 3. 7 έαν μηκέτι προσθήσω, Vis. i. 3. 2 v.l. The bulk of the instances exhibit the aor. conj. both in general statements and in those referring to what is now impending: cp. for the latter case Mt. 21. 25 έὰν εἴπωμεν, Jo. 16. 7 έὰν μὴ ἀπέλθω ... ἐὰν δὲ πορευθῶ. It is further used (in the province of the optative, see § 66, 4) with reference to what was impending in a past state of things : eav even A. 9. 2. Α peculiar use is that in Mc. 10. 30 oùdeis eoriv ... eav (D os av, cp. L. 18. 30) $\mu \eta \lambda \dot{\alpha} \beta \eta$ 'without his receiving.'

6. Concessive sentences introduced by $\epsilon i \kappa \alpha i$ or $\epsilon a \nu \kappa \alpha i$ 'even if' call for no special remarks, especially as there is no real distinction between them and conditional sentences. Käv which unites in itself

¹ Ibid. 8. 14 καν έγώ μαρτυρώ περ
λ έμαυτοῦ, ἀληθής ἐστιν ἡ μαρτυρία μου ' even if ever.'

² The Hellenistic $\epsilon l \ \theta \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \iota s$ corresponds to the French s'il vous platt, Herodas 7. 70, 8. 6 etc.; so in the N.T. Mt. 17. 4 $\epsilon l \ \theta \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \iota s \ \pi o \iota \eta \sigma \omega (\mu \epsilon \nu)$.

the meanings of 'and if,' 'if only,' 'if even' (etsi) does not come under this category; cp. § 78, $7.^1$ But d is used in a special sense to express the expectation attending an action, Lat. si (forte) (classical Greek uses ϵi and $\epsilon a \nu$ thus): it is strengthened by $a \rho a$ or $a_{\rho\alpha\gamma\epsilon}$ and becomes equivalent to the ϵi in an indirect question, with which this *i* was regarded as identical, and is also extended by the addition of $\pi \omega s$ (only found after ϵi and $\mu \eta$ in the N.T.): A. 27. 12, R. 1. 10, 11. 14, Ph. 3. 11. This & may therefore govern the conjunctive, Ph. 3. 12 $\delta\iota\omega\kappa\omega \epsilon i \kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \lambda \dot{\alpha}\beta\omega$, cp. supra 1 and (for the kindred $\mu\eta$, $\mu\eta\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ 'whether perchance') 3, or the fut. indic. A. 8. 22 $\epsilon i \ddot{\alpha}\rho \alpha \dot{\alpha}\phi\epsilon\theta\eta\sigma\epsilon\tau\alpha$. We may further note $\epsilon i \mu\eta$ (class.), $\epsilon i \mu\eta \tau$, $\epsilon\kappa\tau\deltas$ εί μή 'except if,' 'except,' 'except that.' Of these εί μή is generally not followed by a verb, though we also have G. 1. 7 et µή τινες είσιν =πλην ὅτι (A. 20. 23) τ. ε. 'except that'; 1 C. 7. 17 εἰ μη (=πλην, § 77, 13) ... $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota \pi a \tau \epsilon \iota \tau \omega$ 'howbeit'; for this we have $\epsilon a \nu \mu \eta$ (without a verb) in Mc. 4. 22 ×B, cp. § 77, 13, G. 2. 16 (also in Attic, but not frequently); $\epsilon i \mu \eta \tau i a \nu$ ($a \nu$ om. B) $\epsilon \kappa \sigma \nu \mu \phi \omega \nu \sigma \nu$ except perhaps by agreement 1 C. 7. 5, but with a verb in 2 C. 13. 5 $\epsilon i \mu \eta \tau \iota$ άδόκιμοι έστε 'it must then be the case that,' and with a conj. in L. 9. 13 εἰ μή τι πορευθέντες ήμεῖς ἀγοράσωμεν (all uncials), 'unless perhaps we buy'²; $\epsilon \kappa \tau \delta s \epsilon i \mu \eta$ takes the aor. indic. in 1 C. 15. 2, the conj. in 14. 5 έκτοs εί μή διερμηνεύη (v.l. -ων D*), and stands without a verb in 1 Tim. 5. 19. In these connections therefore ϵi and $\epsilon a \nu$ are interchanged, and the latter is generally replaced by the former; similarly in the elliptical phrase $\epsilon i \delta \epsilon \mu \eta (\gamma \epsilon)$ 'otherwise' ϵi often stands where $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ would be used if the sentence were written in full, while $\dot{\epsilon} a \nu \delta \dot{\epsilon} \mu \eta$ does not appear at all (so Attic).³ Apart from these special combinations (and apart from $\epsilon i \tau \epsilon \dots \epsilon i \tau \epsilon$ after $i \nu \alpha$, supra 2) ϵi with the conj. is not found (the reading in Ap. 11. 5 kai $\epsilon i \dots \theta \epsilon \lambda \eta \sigma \eta$ is quite uncertain; perhaps we should write $\kappa a\nu$ from the KAIH of אֿ*).

7. Belative sentences take the conjunctive in two ways: (1) with $d\nu$ in the kind of hypothetical sentence such as $\delta\sigma\tau\iota s \,d\nu \,\theta\epsilon\lambda\eta = \dot{\epsilon}d\nu$ $\tau\iota s \,\theta\epsilon\lambda\eta$, (2) without $d\nu$, the relative having a final sense, where this construction supplants, though not entirely, the Attic future indicative. The place of $d\nu$ is according to the popular manner of the time taken by $\dot{\epsilon}d\nu$, the MSS. of course showing very great uncertainty about the reading 4; the position of the particle is as in Attic immediately after the relative, unless perhaps $\delta\epsilon$ or $\gamma\delta\rho$ is interposed. The negative with the conjunctive is always $\mu\eta$, with the indicative it is usually où, even in cases where $\mu\eta$ is used in Attic, cp. § 75, 3

 1 Kåv has also become a particle meaning 'even only,' A. 5. 15, 2 C. 11. 16, Clem. Cor. ii. 7. z, 18. 2 (Attic).

 2 Viteau, p. 114 explains the conj. as deliberative, sc. $\beta otheta$ ('unless we should buy').

³ Krüger, § 65, 5, 12.

^{4*}Os čàv Mt. 5. 19 (čàv om. D*, åv D°): 10. 14 ôs čàv CEF al. (åv NBDKL): A. 7. 7 ϕ čàv (åv BD) O.T. Also in the London papyrus of Aristotle (oč čàv col. 12, 31, chap. 30. 2). Cp. § 26, 4.

(similarly $\epsilon i o v$, supra 4). Now in constructions with a relative sentence, which might be replaced by hypothetical clauses, no statement is made about anything concrete and actual, but only a general statement or supposition; consequently δs (or $\delta \sigma \tau \iota s$, § 50, 1) $d\nu$, corresponding to éáv, appears to be the regular phrase. So L. 8. 18 ös γàρ ầν (ầν γàρ \approx BLX) έχη, δοθήσεται αὐτῷ, καὶ ös ầν μὴ ἔχη, καὶ ö ἔχει (no longer hypothetical, the supposition having already been made in $\delta s \, d\nu \, \mu \eta \, \epsilon \chi \eta$) $d\rho \theta \eta \sigma \epsilon \tau a \iota \, d\pi' \, a \upsilon \tau o \upsilon$. But the same saying takes the form in Mt. (13. 12) and Mc. (4. 25) of ôs (ootis) yap exe (aν έχη in Mc. AE2G al., aν έχει DE*F al.) ... ôs ovκ έχει (E*G al. ouk $\xi_{\chi \eta}$). The indicative, which also appears in classical Greek, in such sentences expresses the definite assumption that such persons This assumption occasionally arises directly from the circumexist. stances : L. 9. 50 (= Mc. 9. 40) os yàp oùk ἔστι καθ' ὑμών, ὑπèp ὑμών $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\iota\nu$, cp. 49.—The same relation exists between the aor. conj. and the fut. ind. as between the pres. conj. and pres. ind., and the distinction here also frequently appears to be obliterated: Mt. 18. 4 (όστις ταπεινώσει εαυτόν, whereas in 23. 12 with the same sense the future tense may be purposely used with reference to the future of the disciples), 5. 39 (the reading of $\otimes B \dot{\rho} \alpha \pi i \zeta \epsilon_i$ is not good), 41, 10. 32 όστις δμολογήσει answering to 33 όστις δ' αν αρνήσηται (and cp. L. 12. 8). Of course the fut may also be equivalent to the pres. with a_{ν} , and the latter be equivalent to the fut. (continuous action): L. 17. 31 ôs $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau a\iota \dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota \tau o\hat{\upsilon} \delta\omega\mu a \tau os$. The fut. ind. is equally admissible after δs ἄν as it is after ἐάν, but there is a lack of certain instances of this construction : Mc. 8. 35 ἀπολέσει NBCD² al. (-ση AL al.), L. 17. 33 do. NAL al. (-ση BDE al.), 12. 8 ὅμολογήσει AB*DR al., A. 7. 7 O.T. ACD, Barn. 11. 8 δ έαν έξελεύσεται $\aleph C^1$: while the present indic. $\delta \pi \circ v \ \delta \nu \ \delta \pi \delta \gamma \epsilon i$ Ap. 14. 4 only rests on the authority of AC and must certainly be rejected. The possibility of av being omitted with $\delta\sigma\tau\iotas$ is maintained, but in no case are all the MSS in agreement: Mt. 10. 33 (om. av BL), Ja. 2 10 δστις ... τηρήση (NBC, σει AKLP), πταίση δε εν ενί (*ABC, σει KLP); όσοι without av is found twice in Herm. Sim. viii. 11. 3.

8. (Continuation).—Relative sentences with a final meaning occasionally show instances of the fut. in the N.T. as in Attic: Mc. 1. 2 = Mt. 11. 10, L. 7. 27 ἀποστέλλω τὸν ἀγγελόν μου ..., ὅς κατασκευάσει (O.T. Malachi 3. 1, but our LXX. has a different text), 1 C. 4. 17 (but we also say 'who shall'), but elsewhere the conj. is used, which must be explained by assimilation to sentences with iva, which are elsewhere found with the same meaning. Mc. 14. 14 = L. 22. 11 ποῦ ἐστὶν τὸ κατάλυμα ὅπου φάγω (D in Mc. has φάγομαι), = iva φάγω: A. 21. 16 ἄγοντες παρ' ῷ ξενισθῶμεν Μνάσωνι, = πρὸς Μνάσωνα iva ξεν. παρ' αὐτῷ. On the other hand we have iva in 2 C. 12. 7 ἐδόθη μοι σκόλοψ... ἄγγελος σατανῶ, iva με κολαφίξη (Viteau p. 134 f.).—Akin to these are the relative sentences which denote a kind of consequence resulting from some particular quality or state, and which in Latin

¹"As du ouvreléouvou occurs in an inscription in a translation from the Latin, Viereck Sermo Graecus senatus Rom. (Gtg. 1888), p. 38. 67, 8. take the conjunctive like final relative sentences. In this case we have the fut. in L. 7. 4 äfiós é $\sigma\tau\iota\nu$ $\tilde{\psi}$ $\pi a\rho \epsilon f g$ (mid.) $\tau o \tilde{v} \tau o$, cp. Lat. dignus qui with conj.; on the other hand $\tilde{\iota} \iota a$ is used in Jo. 1. 27 äfios $\tilde{\iota} \iota a \lambda \tilde{\iota} \sigma \omega$ (equivalent to $\tilde{\iota} \kappa a \nu \delta \lambda \tilde{\upsilon} \sigma a$ Mc. 1. 7 etc.: classical Greek takes the inf. after äfios as well).—In $o \tilde{\iota} \kappa \ \epsilon \chi \omega$ $\delta \ \pi a \rho a \theta \eta \sigma \omega$ L. 11. 6 the delib. conj. in indirect questions vide supra 1); in $\tilde{\epsilon} \chi \epsilon \iota \nu \ \tau \iota \ \delta \ \pi \rho \sigma \sigma \epsilon \iota \epsilon \gamma \kappa \eta$ H. 8. 3 (cp. Clem. Cor. i. 38. 2 $\tilde{\epsilon} \delta \omega \kappa \epsilon \nu \ \delta \iota' \ o \delta \ \pi \rho \sigma \sigma a \nu a \pi \lambda \eta \rho \omega \theta \hat{\eta}$) the fut. would be used in classical Greek, cp. Phil. 2. 20 $o \tilde{\upsilon} \delta \epsilon \iota \chi \omega \dots$ $\delta \sigma \tau \epsilon \nu \epsilon \mu \epsilon \mu \nu \mu \nu \eta \sigma \epsilon$. Here again the infinitive would be possible, $\tilde{\epsilon} \chi \epsilon \iota \ \tau \iota \ \pi \rho \sigma \sigma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \gamma \kappa a \iota$, and that in the N.T. might be replaced by $\tilde{\iota} \nu a$, Jo. 5. 7, see § 69, 4.

9. Temporal sentences introduced by $\delta \tau \epsilon$, $\delta \tau a \nu$ ($\delta \pi \delta \tau \epsilon$ only in L. 6. 3 AEH al., ὅτε NBCD al.), (ἐπεί only in L. 7. 1 with v.l. ἐπειδή; elsewhere $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i$ is causal in the N.T.), ω s etc. (see § 78, 3), are generally only a special class of relative sentences, and exhibit the same con-"Ore is found very frequently with the aorist indicative. structions. but according to circumstances also takes the imperfect, perfect (1 C. 13. 11 ὅτε γέγονα, but B has ἐγενόμην), present (H. 9. 17), and future. The last tense usually occurs in phrases like $\epsilon p \chi \epsilon \tau a i \delta p a \delta \tau \epsilon \pi \rho \sigma \kappa v \nu \eta \sigma \epsilon \tau \epsilon Jo. 4. 21, cp. 23, 5. 25, 28, 16. 25, L. 17. 22 (<math>\delta \tau \epsilon \epsilon \pi \iota \theta v \mu \eta \sigma \epsilon \tau \epsilon$, D τοῦ ἐπιθυμῆσαι ὑμῶs), 2 Tim. 4. 3, which are closely related to $\sigma \epsilon \tau \alpha i$ (Mt. 10. 26),¹ (and therefore in the former as in the latter instances the place of the fut. may be taken by the infin., and that again may be replaced by iva with conj., Jo. 16. 2 epxerai wpa iva $\delta\delta\xi\eta$). Hence in accordance with what was said in 8 the conj. (without $d\nu$) may also take the place of this fut.: L. 13. 35 $\xi \omega s \eta \xi \epsilon v \delta \tau \epsilon$ (the time when) $\epsilon i \pi \eta \tau \epsilon$ (so AD etc.; there is a v.l. $\epsilon \omega s a \nu \epsilon i \pi \eta \tau \epsilon$, agreeing with Mt. 23. 39). Elsewhere $\delta \tau \epsilon$ does not appear with the conj.; a further instance of its use with the fut. is R. 2. 16 iv $\eta\mu$ iera or $\kappa\rho$ ivei (v.l. έν ŷ ήμ. κρινεί, or according to Marcion's N.T., simply κρινεί, cp. § 79, 7), whereas in other places $\delta \tau a \nu$ with the conj. is used in this way: Mt. 9. 15 $\epsilon \lambda \epsilon \delta \sigma \nu \tau a \iota \eta \mu \epsilon \rho a \iota \delta \tau a \nu a \pi a \rho \theta \eta$, cp. Mc. 2. 20, for which Luke uses the more awkward, but more correct construction (5. 35) ἐλεύσονται ἡμέραι, καὶ (§ 77, 6) ὅταν ἀπαρθŷ..., τότε νηστεύσουσιν (καὶ om. NC. al.). The use of ὅταν is more justifiable in Mt. 26. 29 (Mc. 14. 25) čws $\tau \eta s \eta \mu \epsilon \rho as \epsilon \kappa \epsilon i \nu \eta s \delta \tau a \nu \pi i \nu \omega$, since the phrase is a periphrasis for Attic $\pi \rho i \nu \, d\nu = 0 \tau a \nu$ with the indicative denotes in the first place indefinite frequency in past time, see § 63, 7; secondly it is used quite incorrectly in Ap. 8. 1 ὅταν ηνοιξε AC ($\ddot{\sigma}\tau\epsilon$ NP, and so this author writes elsewhere, 6. 1, 3 etc.; in modern Greek $\ddot{\sigma}\tau a\nu$ is 'when' as $\ddot{a}\nu$ is 'if'); besides this it corresponds to έάν with the indic. (supra 4) in L. 13. 28 ὅταν ὄψεσθε Β*DX (-ησθε ABcorr. al., ίδητε N), Mc. 11. 25 όταν στήκετε (cp. έαν στήκετε 1 Th. 3. 7, but there there is a reason for it [see above 4], which in the passage from St. Mark is not the case) ACD al. ($-\eta \tau \epsilon$ BG al., $\sigma \tau \hat{\eta} \tau \epsilon \aleph$);

¹ For this Mc. 4. 22 has $\dot{\epsilon}\dot{a}\nu \ \mu\dot{\eta}$ in a $\phi a\nu\epsilon\rho\omega\theta\hat{\eta}$, = perhaps $\ddot{\omega}\sigma\tau\epsilon \ \phi a\nu\epsilon\rho\omega\theta\hat{\eta}\nu a\iota$ or in better Attic olov $\phi a\nu\epsilon\rho\omega\theta\hat{\eta}\nu a\iota$.

elsewhere its use is insufficiently attested (L. 11. 2 προσεύχεσθε ACH al.; Jo. 7. 27 $\check{\epsilon}\rho\chi\epsilon\tau a\iota \rtimes X$ etc.; the evidence for $\check{a}\kappa o \check{\epsilon} \epsilon \tau \kappa C$. 13. 7 is quite insufficient). Cp. Clem. Cor. ii. 12. 1 $\check{\sigma}\tau a\iota \check{\epsilon} \sigma \tau a\iota$ (quotation), 17. 6, Barn. 15. 5 %.

10. (Continuation).—Temporal particles and compound expressions with the meaning ' until' (' while'), $\epsilon \omega s$, $\delta \omega s$ of $(\delta \tau \sigma v)$, $\delta v \psi$, $\delta \chi \rho \iota(s)$, a $\chi \rho s$ où, $\mu \epsilon \chi \rho s$), $\mu \epsilon \chi \rho s$ où (§ 78, 3) take the indicative in the regular way (the fut. ind. is rare, it is a v.l. in L. 13. 35 [see 9]; the present is used instead in ἕως ἔρχομαι Jo. 21. 22, l Tim. 4. 13 'until I come' [§ 56, 8] = ἐν ῷ ἔρχομαι L. 19. 13,¹ cp. Mc. 6. 45 NBL ἕως αὐτὺς ἀπολύει, v.l. $d\pi \circ \lambda \upsilon \sigma \eta$ - $\sigma \epsilon \iota$, D a $\vartheta \tau \circ \delta \delta \epsilon$ $d\pi \circ \lambda \upsilon \epsilon \iota$; but here it may also mean 'while'). But where they take the conjunctive, $\xi_{\omega s}$ frequently, and έως οδ (ότου), άχρις (οδ), μέχρις οδ probably always omit the άν: Mc. 30 μέχρις οδ (μ. ότου Β, μέχρι Ν, έως οδ D) ταῦτα πάντα γένηται,
 1 C. 11. 26 ἄχρι οδ (αν add. Ν°D° al.) έλθη, Ε. 4. 13 μέχρι καταντήσωμεν, L. 21. 24 αχρι οδ (οδ om. A al.) πληρωθώσιν, L. 17. 8 έως (αν add. AK al.) φάγω, Mc. 14. 32 έως προσεύξωμαι (D al. -ομαι), 2 Th. 2. 7 (tws av FG); av is used in Mt. 5. 26 tws av amodus and in all other passages (Áp. 2. 25 $a_{\chi\rho\iota}$ ob a_{ν} $\eta_{\xi\omega}$; the fut. occurs without a_{ν} in 17. 17, but B reads $\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \sigma \tilde{\theta} \hat{\omega} \sigma \iota \nu$ as in 15. 8, 20. 3, 5). We even have $a \chi \rho \iota$ ής ήμέρας γένηται L. 1. 20. The reason for this usage of the language, which may be traced back a long way (Herodotus, Thucydides and others 2), is probably to be found in the fact that these sentences have a certain affinity with final sentences; sentences with $\pi \rho i \nu$ have this same affinity, in which the omission of dv is specially frequent in classical authors, but in the N.T. these have been considerably supplanted by clauses formed with $\tilde{\epsilon}\omega_s$ etc. $(\pi\rho\ell\nu$ with the conj. appears in L. 2. 26 $\pi\rho\ell\nu$ η [η om. B] $d\nu$ [$d\nu$ om. AD al.] $i\delta\eta$, but \aleph^* here also has $\epsilon \omega s a v i \partial y : 22. 34 \pi \rho v \eta a \pi a \rho v \eta \sigma y A \Gamma a I., but <math>\epsilon \omega s$ is read by NBL, Ews of K al., Ews orou D; with the optative A. 25. 16, see § 66, 5).

§ 66. REMAINS OF THE OPTATIVE.

1. The optative in principal sentences to denote a practicable (see § 63, 5) wish has not yet gone out of use in the N.T.³ (the negative is $\mu \eta$). Mη γένοιτο occurs in L. 20. 16 and frequently in Paul (to express strong aversion, LXX. has the same phrase, Hebr. Tζζζζ. 1 Th. 5. 23 ἁγιάσαι : Philem. 20 ἐγώ σου ὀναίμην : Mc. 11. 14 μηκέτι

² Krüger, § 54, 17, 3 (dialekt. Synt. 54, 17, 5 and 9).

³There are 35 examples in all (Burton, p. 79), all with the exception of Philem. 20 in the 3rd person.

¹ Viteau, p. 129 f. explains the passages in Lc. and Jo. as meaning 'while I go ' or 'withdraw myself,' though this explanation cannot be applied to the passage in 1 Tim. All other explanations than that given above are completely discredited by its use in Hermas Sim. v. 2. 2, ix. 10. 5, 6, 11. I $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu \ \delta\dot{\epsilon} \ \mu\dot{\eta} \ \delta\lambda\theta\eta$, $\mu ev \hat{\epsilon}is \ \mu \epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \ \dot{\eta} \ \dot{\omega}\nu \ \dot{\omega}\delta\dot{\epsilon} \ \dot{\epsilon}\omega s \ \dot{\epsilon}\rho\chi era until he comes (which is a certainty, § 56, 8). One must therefore also attribute to <math>\dot{\epsilon}\nu \ \phi$ L. 19. 13 with the same present the meaning of 'until,' = $\dot{\epsilon}s \ \delta$.

μηδεὶς φάγοι. But there is a strong inclination to use the imperative instead of the optative, not only in requests, where the imperative has a legitimate place in classical Greek as well, but also in imprecations, where it takes the place of the classical optative: ἀνάθεμα ἔστω G. 1. 6 f., cp. 1 C. 16. 22.¹ The single instance of the pres. opt. is A. 8. 20 τδ ἀργύριόν σου εἴη εἰς ἀπωλείαν. The Attic phrases εἰ γάρ, εἴθε to introduce a wish (§ 63, 5) are not found; ὄφελον (vide ibid.) is used with a fut. ind. to express a practicable wish in G. 5. 12 ὄφελον καὶ ἀποκόψονται οἱ ἀναστατοῦντες ὑμᾶς, 'would that they would at once castrate themselves.'

2. The optative with $d\nu$ in principal sentences to denote possibility (modus potentialis) has quite disappeared from the popular language; the unique instance of it (besides its use in questions) is A. 26. 29 (Paul before Agrippa, literary language) $e\dot{v}\xi a(\mu\eta\nu \, d\nu$ (cp. in class. Greek Aeschines 1. 159), whereas elsewhere $\dot{\epsilon}\beta \sigma\nu\lambda\delta(\mu\eta\nu \, d\nu$ (cp. in class. Greek Aeschines 1. 159), whereas elsewhere $\dot{\epsilon}\beta\sigma\nu\lambda\delta(\mu\eta\nu \, d\nu)$ is used rather than $\beta\sigma\nu\lambda\sigma(\mu\eta\nu \, d\nu)$ § 63, 5, and in hypothetical sentences (infra 4) the optative (with $d\nu$) is at any rate never found in the principal clause. In many places where Attic could have used the potential mood, the N.T. uses the future indicative: R. 3. 6 $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\epsilon\dot{\nu}$ $\pi\omegas$ $\kappa\rho\nu\epsilon\epsilon\dot{\iota}$ δ $d\epsilon\deltas$ $\tau\delta\nu$ $\kappa\delta\sigma\mu\sigma\nu$; 1 C. 15. 35 $\dot{\epsilon}\rho\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}$ τ_{is} (although this future is also not unclassical, § 61, 1; Buttm. p. 188). Instances of the optative also occur in Luke in direct questions: $\pi\omega s \gamma \dot{a}\rho \, d\nu \, \delta\nu\sigma(\mu\eta\nu \, A. 8. 31$ and $\tau i \, d\nu \, \theta \dot{\epsilon}\lambda \sigma_i \sigma s \lambda \dot{\epsilon}\gamma \epsilon \iota\nu \, 17. 18$, cp. infra 3 (also taken from the literary language).

3. The optative of indirect speech (in subordinate clauses), answering to the indicative or conjunctive of direct speech, cannot be expected to occur with any frequency in the N.T., on account of the decided preference which the language in general shows for direct expression. Luke alone uses the optative occasionally, and even he never has it after $\delta \tau_i$ and δs , and not often even in indirect questions proper (L. 22. 23 τ is apa ϵ in η , 8. 9 τ is ϵ in (ϵ in η cm. LE Γ); the following instances should probably all contain $d\nu$ and the optative therefore answers to the potential mood of the direct question (supra 2)²: L. 1. 29 $\pi o \tau a \pi \delta s$ åν (add. D) είη, 62 τί άν θέλοι καλεισθαι, 6. 11, 9, 46, 15. 26 (άν om. ×AΓ al.; D τί θέλει τοῦτο εἶναι), 18. 32 (αν om ×ABP al.), Acts (2. 12 τί θέλει τοῦτο εἶναι a direct question, E äν θέλοι, × θέλοι, readings which in an indirect question are inadmissible after $\lambda \epsilon \gamma o \nu \tau \epsilon_s$), 5. 24 τi αν γένοιτο τοῦτο, 10. 17. Besides this the optative of indirect speech is found after ϵi 'whether' (§ 65, 1 and 6) in A. 17. 27 $(\eta \tau \epsilon i \nu \tau \delta \nu$ θεόν, εί ἄραγε ψηλαφήσειαν αὐτὸν καὶ εὕροιεν, cp. 27 12, 39, and after μήποτε 'whether perhaps' in L. 3. 15 μήποτε είη infra 4, and lastly in a dependent statement of time in indirect speech, A. 25. 16 vide infra 5.

4. While no example of the optative is found in final sentences (on E. 1. 17 see § 65, 2, note 1: 3, note 1), there are some few

¹ The optative in an imprecation of ill only occurs in Mc. 11. 14, A. 8. 20. In a quotation from Ps. 109. 8, A. 1. 8 uses $\lambda\alpha\beta\epsilon\tau\omega$ where the LXX. has $\lambda\alpha\betao\iota$.

 $^{^2\,{\}rm An}$ indirect question may also in classical Greek take every mood of the direct question, Krüger, § 54, 6, 6.

instances of it in hypothetical sentences. A. 24. 19 oùs édet ... $\kappa \alpha \tau \eta$ yopeîv, ei $\tau \iota$ ëxoiev πp ois è $\mu \epsilon$, which would certainly be more correctly expressed by $\epsilon i \tau \iota$ ëxour or è $\alpha \tau \tau \iota$ exwor: 20. 16 ë $\sigma \pi \epsilon \upsilon \delta \epsilon \nu \gamma \alpha \rho$, $\epsilon \iota$ duvard $\nu \epsilon i \eta$ au $\tau \hat{\varphi}$, ... $\gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \sigma \sigma \theta a \iota$ eis 'I $\epsilon \rho \upsilon \sigma a \lambda \eta \mu$ (indirect; besides ϵi may very naturally be understood as meaning 'whether,' cp. 27. 12, 39, supra 3): 1 P. 3. 14 ϵi $\kappa a \iota \pi \alpha \sigma \chi o \iota \tau \epsilon$ dià diraio $\sigma \upsilon \eta \nu$, $\mu a \kappa \alpha \rho \iota \sigma \iota \eta$ $\kappa \rho \epsilon \iota \tau \sigma \iota \eta$ adomoio $\vartheta \nu \tau a s$, $\epsilon i \theta \epsilon \lambda \rho \iota \tau \sigma \iota \theta \epsilon \delta \eta \mu a \tau \sigma \upsilon \theta \epsilon \delta \upsilon, \pi \delta \sigma \chi \epsilon \iota \nu \eta$ $\kappa \alpha \kappa \sigma \tau \sigma \iota \sigma \upsilon \nu \tau \sigma s$, 'if perchance' as in Attic (literary language). Besides these we have the formula $\epsilon \iota \tau \upsilon \chi o \iota$ in St. Paul, 1 C. 14. 10, 15. 37.

5. In (relative and) temporal sentences there is no further instance besides A. 25. 16 (Festus's words): $d\pi\epsilon\kappa\rho(\theta\eta\nu\ \delta\tau\iota\ o\vartheta\kappa\ \epsilon\sigma\tau\iota\nu\ \epsilon\theta\sigmas$ $\chi a\rho(\xi\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota\ ...,\ \pi\rho i\nu\ \eta\ \delta\ \kappa a\tau\eta\gamma\rho\rho o\dot{u}\epsilon\nu\sigmas\ \epsilon\chi o\iota\ ...\ \lambda d\beta o\iota\ \tau\epsilon$, where the opt. is rightly used in indirect speech for the conj. of direct speech.

§ 67. IMPERATIVE.

1. The imperative in the N.T. keeps for the most part within the same limits as in the classical language; as in that language it by no means expresses simply a command, but also a request or a concession (Mc. 8. 32 $\delta\pi\alpha\gamma\epsilon\tau\epsilon$, 2 C. 12. 6 $\epsilon\sigma\tau\omega\delta\epsilon$). In the last case the imperative sentence may be equivalent to a concessive sentence: Jo. 2. 19 $\lambda\delta\sigma\alpha\tau\epsilon$ $\tau\delta\nu$ va $\delta\nu$ $\tau\sigma\delta\tau\sigma\nu$, kal $\epsilon\nu$ $\tau\rho\sigma\delta\nu$ $\eta\mu\epsilon\rho\alpha\sigmas$ $\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\rho\omega$ $a\delta\tau\sigma\nu$, $=\epsilon\lambda\nu$ kal $\lambda\delta\sigma\eta\tau\epsilon$; cp. in classical Greek Soph. Ant. 1168 ff. $\pi\lambda\sigma\delta\tau\epsilon\iota$ $\tau\epsilon$ $\gamma\lambda\rho$ kat $\sigma\delta\sigma\lambda\sigma$ $\pi\rho\iota\alpha\delta\mu\eta\nu$ (Kühner ii. 201). On the encroachment of the imperative into the province of the optative see § 66, 1.

2. The imperative is frequently replaced by the conjunctive, see § 64, 2, by *iva* or $\theta \epsilon \lambda \omega$ *iva* with conj., ibid. 4, or by the fut. indic., ibid. 3; cp. Viteau p. 37. On the substitution of the infinitive for it see § 69, 1.

§ 68. INFINITIVE.

1. The infinitive is another of those forms which the language at a later period gave up, in favour of a periphrasis with lva (mod. Greek vá) and the conjunctive, a construction which has already been largely developed in the N.T. But the infinitive is still abundantly used beside it by all writers, so that it depends on the discretion of the writer on each separate occasion whether he employs the synthetic or the analytical expression, though the latter is not in all The beginnings of this development may be cases open to use. traced not only in the earlier Hellenistic Greek, but also previously to that in classical Greek, the only difference being that in the classical language the particle used in the periphrasis is not iva but όπως, e.g. πειράσθαι όπως σωζώμεθα (Xenoph.) = πειράσθαι σώζεσθαι, whereas later $\delta\pi\omega s$ retired more into the background (§ 65, 2) and finally disappeared. Cp. also the use of ut in Latin which is so frequently interchangeable with the infinitive.

2. From early times there existed in Greek a second analytical expression for the infinitive, namely $\delta \tau_{\iota}$ (ω_{s}) with the indicative, with which cp. the Latin use of quod or quia (late Latin says dico vobis quia unus vestrum me traditurus est). The line of demarcation between the old $\delta\tau\iota$, which of course reappears in the N.T., and the new $l\nu a$ is that the former has an indicative sense, the latter a conjunctive (or imperative) sense, while the infinitive is the ovour $\dot{\rho}\eta\mu\alpha\tau$ os (as Apollonius calls it) with a neutral meaning between the two others. To express actual facts, therefore, particularly those which belong to past time, $i\nu a$ can never be used in the periphrasis, but only $\delta \tau i$; on the other hand things which may be regarded as a contemplated result or one likely to occur, are expressed to a wide extent by "va. The intervening province, viz. that which still belongs exclusively to the infinitive, is not a large one in the N.T.: under this head, for instance, comes the rule that $\delta i \nu a \sigma \theta a \iota$ and $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \iota \nu$ are joined exclusively with the infinitive.

3. As the $\delta \nu \rho \mu a \delta \eta' \mu a \tau os$ the infinitive is capable of taking the neuter of the article, and this may be declined, and the cases of the infinitive so formed may be dependent on different prepositions. In this way the sphere of the infinitive has been very largely extended, so that it can also represent temporal and causal sentences. The N.T. retains this usage, and in particular employs the genitive with $\tau o\hat{v}$ in the most lavish way.

§ 69. INFINITIVE AND PERIPHRASIS WITH "va.

1. The use of the infinitive in a principal sentence in place of a finite verb, with imperative sense and with the subject in the nominative¹, is extremely old and found with special frequency in Homer, while in Attic it becomes less prominent. On the other hand the later classical language (especially in legal phraseology) uses the accusative and infinitive in this sense, or the simple infinitive with no subject expressed ($\lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \iota \nu$ 'one must say ' = $\lambda \epsilon \kappa \tau \epsilon \sigma \nu$), in which case the ideas accessory to the subject appear in the accusative.² At the same time Attic uses $\ddot{o}\pi\omega s$ with the fut. indic. with imperative In the N.T. we find in a few passages *iva* with the conj. sense. used in a similar way, see § 64, 4 : and the infinitive which is equivalent to it twice in St. Paul, R. 12. 15 χαίρειν μετα χαιρόντων, κλαίειν μετά κλαιόντων, Ph. 3. 16 πλην είς δ έφθάσαμεν, τῷ αὐτῷ στοιχείν. Where the subject has to be expressed Paul uses $i\nu a$; $\dot{\eta}$ δ $\dot{\epsilon}$ γυνή ίνα φοβήται τον άνδρα Ε. 5. 33. It is very easy here to supply a governing verb (a verbum dicendi or $\chi \rho \eta$, $\delta \epsilon i$), as it is with the (accusative and) infinitive; the infinitive $\chi \alpha l \rho \epsilon \nu$ to express a wish in epistolary style is clearly elliptical, A. 15. 23, 23. 26.

¹ Homer, II. B. 75 ύμεῖς δ' άλλοθεν άλλος έρητύειν ἐπέεσσιν. Aristoph. Ran. 133 τόθ' είναι και σύ σαυτόν.

² So in Aristotle, Bonitz Index Aristot. s. v. Infinitivus.

2. Of equal antiquity with the last usage is the use of the infinitive to express aim or object, which in Homer has a much wider range than in Attic writers, who for the most part only employ it after verbs containing the idea of to give, appoint, present, send etc. This infinitive, which is equivalent to a final sentence, has again become widely prevalent in the N.T.: Mt. 5. 17 οὐκ ἦλθον καταλῦσαι, άλλα πληρωσαι; 4. 1 δ Ίησους ανήχθη είς την ἕρημον ύπο του πνεύματος, πειρασθήναι ύπο του διαβόλου; L. 18. 10 ανέβησαν προσεύξασθαι; A. 10. 33 πάρεσμεν ακούσαι. (Attic would here use the future participle which in the N.T. is almost unused, § 61, 4.) Of course this infinitive is also found with $\delta\iota\delta\delta\sigma\iota$, $d\pi\sigma\sigma\tau\epsilon\lambda\lambda\epsilon\iota\nu$ etc. as in Attic : Mc. 3. 14 ἀποστέλλη κηρύσσειν (Α. 5. 21 ἀπέστειλαν $d\chi\theta\eta\nu\mu\mu$ autous is different, the construction being passive, and the acc. and inf. being therefore used; cp. inf. 8), Mt. 25. 35 έδώκατέ μοι φαγείν. Beside the inf. "να also appears again : Mt. 27. 26 παρέδωκεν $i\nu a$ σταυρωθ $\hat{\eta}$ (= Mc. 15. 15, Jo. 19. 16), though in the case of a specially close connection of the two verbs in certain definite phrases the infinitive does not admit of being replaced by $i\nu a$: thus $\pi a \rho a$ διδόναι φυλάσσειν Α. 12. 4, 16. 4, διδόναι (αίτεῖν) φαγεῖν, πιεῖν passim, while on the other hand where the connection is not so close and the subordinate clause is of greater length, iva is the natural construction : though here the infin. may also be used, as in A. 20. 28 ύμας το πνεύμα το άγιον έθετο έπισκόπους, ποιμαίνειν την έκκλησίαν κ.τ.λ., 1. 24 f. έξελέξω... $\lambda \alpha \beta \epsilon i \nu \kappa. \tau. \lambda$. Moreover with regard to the use of *lva* there is here and in all cases where the infinitive is in question a distinction between the different writers: John, Matthew, and Mark employ it very freely, Luke much more rarely, especially in the Acts, a work which has very few instances of the employment of this particle in an unclassical way; also in James, Peter, and the Epistle to the Hebrews it only appears as a strictly final particle.-A third construction with $\pi a \rho a \delta i \overline{\delta \delta \nu a} i$ etc. is $\epsilon i s \tau \delta$ with the infinitive, see § 71, 5; the participle, which is also so used in the N.T., offers another alternative construction, § 74, 2, and aim or object of any kind is very frequently denoted by means of $\tau o \hat{v}$ with the infinitive, § 71, 3.

3. Akin to the infinitive of aim is the infinitive of result, yet so far distinguished from it, that if the result is declared to be actual, "va according to what has been said has, or at least should have, no place (vide infra). The particle used to introduce this infinitive is "orte as in classical Greek; the alternative use of the simple &s is no more certainly established for the N.T. than it is for ordinary Attic.¹ $\Omega\sigma\tau\epsilon$ is also used in the N.T. (as in classical Greek) to introduce independent sentences, when it takes the indicative, imperative, or hortatory conjunctive (meaning 'therefore'). It also occasionally takes the indicative where the sentence is really dependent (class.),

¹ In L. 9. 52 is is only read by $\aleph B$; A. 20. 24 is $\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \omega \delta \omega$ $\aleph^*(\epsilon \omega s \tau. \aleph^{\circ})B$, is $\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \omega \delta \omega \omega$ AHLP: $\tau \epsilon$ has apparently fallen out before $\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \omega \delta \omega a$, and so E has $\omega \sigma \tau \epsilon$ ($\omega s \tau \delta$ C). In Josephus, however, the traditional text often has a consecutive is (with infin.), Raab de Jos. elocut. (Erlangen, 1890), p. 37.

Jo. 3. 16 ούτως γάρ ήγάπησεν δ θεός τον κόσμον, ωστε τον υίον τον μονογενή έδωκεν (cp. further G. 2. 13); but in most cases of this kind it takes the infinitive (class.), the subject being usually added in the accusative, unless it can be obviously supplied from what has preceded (cp. § 72). The construction with the infinitive has a somewhat wider range than in Attic; in a sentence like A. 15. 39 eyévere παροξυσμός, ωστε ἀποχωρισθηναι αὐτοὺς ἀπ' ἀλλήλων, an Attic writer would rather have used the indicative, both because there was no close connection between the clauses and also on account of the importance attaching to the result. But $\delta\sigma\tau\epsilon$ is by no means used (either in the N.T. or in Attic) to introduce merely the actual or the possible result, but may also introduce the contemplated result, and so the boundary-line which separates these sentences from sentences of design almost disappears.¹ In έδωκεν αύτοις έξουσίαν πνευμάτων άκαθάρτων, ώστε έκβάλλειν αὐτά (Mt. 10. 1) we still have a sentence denoting pure result, 'so that they could drive out' (there is an affinity between this construction and the simple inf. after $\xi_{ov\sigma(av)}$ έχειν, infra 5); but L. 20. 20 ίνα επιλάβωνται αιτοῦ λόγου, ώστε παραδούναι αὐτὸν τῆ ἀρχῆ τοῦ ἡγεμόνος means 'so that they might be able '= 'in order that they might be able,' and the v.l. $\epsilon is \tau \delta$ for $\omega \sigma \tau \epsilon$ $(A\Gamma al., cp. supra 2)$ is quite in accordance with the sense. further L. 4. 29 ωστε ('in order to,' v.l. είς τὸ AC al.) κατακρημνίσαι aυτόν, 9. 52 ωστε ('in order to'; *B ώs, see note 1 on p. 223) έτοιμάσαι αὐτῷ, Mt. 27. Ι συμβούλιον ἔλαβον ὥστε θανατῶσαι αὖτόν (D correctly explaining the meaning gives iva bavarώσουσιν avr.).2-The inf. without $\omega \sigma \tau \epsilon$ (also with its subject in the accusative) is used in a similar way to express result : A. 5. 3 διὰ τί ἐπλήρωσεν ὁ σατανῶς τὴν καρδίαν σου, ψεώσασθαί σε κ.τ.λ., Αρ. 5. 5 ενίκησεν ό λέων ... άνοίξαι (Β ό ἀνοίγων) κ.τ.λ., 16. 9 οὐ μετενόησαν δοῦναι αὐτῷ δόξαν, Η. 6. 10 ου γαρ άδικος ό θεός, (sc. ώστε) επιλαθέσθαι. The inf. is still more freely used in L. 1. 54 (the Magnificat) ἀντελάβετο Ἰσραήλ παιδòs αὐτοῦ, μνησθηναι ἐλέους κ.τ.λ., and in 72 (the Benedictus) ποιησαι $\xi\lambda \cos \kappa \tau \cdot \dot{\lambda}$. (the clauses are joined together quite incoherently: this clause is parallel with the accusative of a noun in the preceding verse 71 σωτηρίαν έξ έχθρων κ.τ.λ.); cp. 78 f. (inf. after ἐπεσκέψατο). Then again this infinitive of result may be replaced (as elsewhere in late writers 3) by iva instead of the classical $\tilde{\omega}\sigma\tau\epsilon$: 1 Jo. 1. 9 $\pi\omega\tau\delta$ s έστιν καὶ δίκαιος, ἕνα ἀφŷ τὰς ἑμαρτίας (cp. supra H. 6. 10), Ap. 9. 20 (cp. supra 16. 9) ούδε μετενόησαν, ίνα μη προσκυνήσουσιν, 13. 13 ποιεί σημεία μεγάλα, ίνα και πῦρ ποιη καταβαίνειν (cp. a similar phrase with ώστε in Mt. 24. 24), Jo. 9. 2 τίς ημαρτεν ..., ΐνα τυφλος γεννηθη ('so

^{1°} $\Omega \sigma \tau \epsilon$ ($\epsilon \phi', \tilde{\phi} \tau \epsilon$) 'on condition that 'does not appear in the N.T. (for which "va is used in G. 2. 9): nor yet $\omega \sigma \tau \epsilon$ after a comparative with ϑ (ve $\omega \tau \epsilon \rho os \vartheta$ $\omega \sigma \tau \epsilon \epsilon \ell \delta \epsilon \nu \alpha \lambda$), Burton p. 150. On "va in Mc. 4. 22 see § 65, 9 note.

² Here belongs also A. 20. 24, see note 1 on last page, 'in order to fulfil,' if $\omega\sigma\tau\epsilon \tau\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\iota\omega\sigma a\iota$ is the correct reading. Cp. for $\omega\sigma\tau\epsilon$ in Josephus W. Schm d de Fl. Jos. elocut. (1893) p. 418 ff.

³ Cp. op. cit. 420 f., where instances from Josephus are given (in all of which, however, the result is merely conceived and not actual).

that'), L. 9. 45 $\tilde{\eta}\nu$ παρακεκαλυμμένον ἀπ' αὐτῶν, ἕνα μὴ αἴσθωνται αὐτό, 2 C. 1. 17, 1 Th. 5. 4: Herm. Sim. vii. 2, ix. 1. 10. In these instances the correct limits for the use of ἕνα are already exceeded. (In other passages one can quite well regard ἕνα as final, e.g. in the phrase ἕνα πληρωθŷ 'in order to carry out God's determinate counsel.')—The so-called infinitive absolute after ὡs, which is fairly frequent in Attic, only appears in ὡs ἔποs εἰπεῖν 'so to say' H. 7. 9 (literary language).

4. With the infinitive of design or result are included the wellknown constructions of the infinitive with verbs meaning to wish, strive, avoid, ask, summon, make, leave, allow, hinder, be able, have power etc., with which in classical Greek $\omega\sigma\tau\epsilon$ is often prefixed to An alternative Attic construction with a certain the infinitive. number of these verbs is that with $\delta\pi\omega$ s, though it is by no means used to the same extent in which Latin ut is used after verbs of this kind; at a later time $i\nu \alpha$ stepped into the place of $\delta \pi \omega s$ and obtained a more and more extended use, so that in the N.T. with a great number of these verbs iva begins to be interchangeable with the inf. and even (especially in writers other than Luke, Paul, and the author of Hebrews) to supplant it. The subject of the inf. is often either necessarily (as with $\delta \dot{\nu} \alpha \mu \alpha i$) or in most cases (as with $\theta \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \omega$) identical with that of the principal verb, elsewhere it coincides with the object of the principal verb ($\hat{\epsilon}\hat{\omega}$) or with the dative which follows it $(\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\tau\dot{\alpha}\sigma\sigma\omega)$; if it requires to be expressly stated, it stands in the accusative. $\Theta \epsilon \lambda \omega$ usually takes the (acc. and) inf.: $i \nu \alpha$ in Mt. 7. 12, 1 C. 14. 5 (θέλω ὑμῶς λαλεῖν ..., μῶλλον δὲ ἵνα προφητεύητε) and elsewhere. -Boilouan (as a word helonging to cultured speech) only takes the (acc. and) inf., so τολμώ takes inf. (ἀρνοῦμαι H. 11. 24; also δοκώ in $\mu \dot{\eta} \delta \delta \xi \eta \tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu Mt. 3. 9 'do not let it occur to you to say': see$ also 1 C. 11. 16 : 28052 µor in Luke e.g. L. 1. 3).-Boulevoyar inf. and *ïva*, Jo. 11. 53 (v.l. συνεβουλ.), 12. 10 (in class. Greek inf. and $\delta \pi \omega s$); similarly συμβουλεύομαι ίνα Mt. 26. 4: συμβουλεύειν τινί 'to advise, with inf. Ap. 3. 18. - Oply inf. A. 11. 29. - Durileua inf. and iva, Jo. 9. 22; $\pi \rho \sigma \tau i \theta \epsilon \mu \alpha i$ inf. R. 1. 13.—'Enioupu, $\epsilon \pi i \pi \sigma \theta \hat{\omega}$ only take the inf. (or acc. and inf. H. 6. 11); but we have ήγαλλιάσατο ίνα ίδη Jo. 8. 56, where the meaning can only be 'to long with ecstasy,' 'to rejoice that he should see,' cp. the use of $\tau o \hat{v}$ and the inf. (§ 71, 3) in Herm. Vis. iii. 8. 7 περιχαρής έγενόμην του ίδειν, 10. 6.-Ζητω (έπιζητ.) takes inf.: ίνα in 1 C. 4. 2, 14. 12.—Ζηλώ ('to strive zealously') takes ίνα in 1 C. 14. 1.— Σπουδάζω only the (acc. and) inf. (σπεύδω acc. and inf. in Herm. Sim. ix. 3. 2; ήγωνίζοντο ίνα Jo. 18. 36, φιλοτιμείσθαι takes inf. in Paul).— Π ειράζω 'to try' takes inf. (the Attic π ειρώμαι also takes $\delta \pi \omega s^1$).—'Emix sip ω (only in Lc.) also takes inf.: and so ἀσκῶ, only in A. 24. 16.— Βλέπετε ἕνα ('see to it that': Att. ὁρᾶτε όπως) occurs in 1 C. 16. 10.—Αισχύνομαι (ἐπαισχ.), φοβούμαι 'to be ashamed' or 'afraid to do something,' only the inf. (L. 16. 3 etc.); so οκνώ A. 9. 38. — Φυλάσσομαι ίνα μη 2. P. 3. 17 (Attic has μη and όπως

¹ A. 15. 10 $\tau \ell \pi \epsilon \rho \delta \xi \epsilon \tau \epsilon \tau \delta \nu \theta \epsilon \delta \nu$, $\epsilon \pi \iota \theta \epsilon \delta \nu \epsilon \delta \nu \delta \nu \delta \nu \delta \nu \delta \nu \delta \nu \delta \nu$, which is omitted in some Latin MSS., is an interpolation.

μή).-Δίομαι 'to request' takes ίνα in L. 9. 40, 21. 36, 22. 32, ὄπως in Mt. 9. 38, L. 10. 2, A. 8. 24, elsewhere the inf. (Attic uses inf. and $\delta' \pi \omega s$). — 'Eputû $\ell' \nu a$ ('request') occurs in Mc. 7. 26 etc., $\delta \pi \omega s$ in L. 7. 3, 11. 37, A. 23. 20, elsewhere it takes inf. (and acc. of the object of έρ.); so ἐπερωτώ Mt. 16. 1.-Παρακαλώ 'to beseech,' 'exhort' similarly takes ἕνα in Mt. 14. 36 etc., ὅπωs in Mt. 8. 34 (Β ίνα), A. 25. 2 (cp. Att. παρακελεύομαι with inf. and ὅπως).-Àἰτοῦμαι takes (acc. and) inf. L. 23. 23, A. 3. 14, 7. 46, 13. 28, Jo. 4. 9, E. 3. 13: ίνα Col. 1. 9 (καὶ αἰτούμενοι om. B); in classical Greek it also takes ὅπως.-Προσεύχομαι ἕνα Mc. 14. 35 etc. (ὅπως A. 8. 15, inf. L. 22. 40; cp. τοῦ with inf. Ja. 5. 17); εὐχομαι (a more literary word) takes (acc. and) inf. A. 26. 29 etc.-'Aşıŵ 'to ask' (Luke, literary language) only takes (acc. and) inf. A. 15. 38, 28. 22 (in class. Greek also $\delta \pi \omega s$; $\delta \nu a$ in a forged document in Demosth. 18. 155); in the sense of 'to count worthy' it also takes the inf. (cp. agios, infra 5) L. 7. 7; καταξιώ A. 5. 41.-Παραινώ acc. of the object and inf. (only in A. 27. 22, a literary word).-Keleiw only takes the (acc. and) inf. (being used only by Mt. and Lc.); similarly τάσσω A. 15. 2, διατάσσω (-σομαι mid.), προστάσσω (rare), ἐπιτάσσω (rare); ἀναμι-μνήσκω 2 Tim. 1. 6, ἀπειλοῦμαι mid. Α. 4. 17, νεύω Α. 24. 10; παραγγέλλω also takes ίνα Mc. 6. 8 (άπαγγέλλω ίνα Mt. 28. 10); so διαμαρτύρομαι ίνα 1 Tim. 5. 21; εντέλλομαι ίνα Mc. 13. 34; κηρύσσω ίνα Mc. 6. 12; διαστέλλομαι ίνα Mt. 16. 20 (v.l. ἐπετίμησεν), Mc. 7. 36 etc.; enitipo lva Mt. 20. 31 (with the two last verbs there is no instance of the inf.; in class. Greek verbs of this class except κελεύω show a decided tendency to take $\delta\pi\omega s$).—Xpyµarígoµaı pass. 'receive a divine command' takes the inf. Mt. 2. 12, A. 10. 22 (in L. 2. 26 the inf. expresses an assertion).—'Εξορκίζω ίνα occurs in Mt. 26. 63 (δρκίζω or ένορκ. with acc. and inf. in 1 Th. 5. 27).—Λέγω frequently takes iva, as well as the (acc. and) inf. when it expresses a command (*ïva* is used in this way in Ap. 14. 13); similarly γράφω, e.g. γέγραπται ίνα Mc. 9. 12 (12. 19), and αποστέλλω ίνα Å. 16. 36, cp. supra 2.— $\Pi_{\epsilon}(\theta_{\omega} \ \ \ell \nu \alpha \ Mt. 27. 20)$, elsewhere it takes acc. of the object and inf.—Ποιῶ ίνα is used in Jo. 11. 37, Col. 4. 16, Ap. 3. 9 ποιήσω aύτοὺς ἕνα ήξουσιν, cp. 13. 12, 15 f. (in 15 ἕνα is wanting in &B); ἕνα has more of a final sense in Mc. 3. 14, cp. $\ell \theta \eta \kappa a$ lva Jo. 15. 16 ($\pi o \iota \hat{\omega}$ riva with inf. occurs in L. 5. 34 etc.; classical Greek has also occasionally $\pi o\iota \epsilon i \nu \ \delta \pi \omega s$ 'to cause that'); $\pi o\iota \epsilon i \nu$ with acc. and inf. occurs in Mc. 1. 17 (Mt. 4. 19 double acc.), L. 5. 34 etc.; διδόναι (a Hebrew usage) is similarly used in A. 10. 40, 14. 3, 2. 27 O.T. - 'Ayyapeiw iva Mt. 27. 32 (no instance of the inf.; $\delta\sigma\tau\iota s \sigma\epsilon d\gamma\gamma a\rho\epsilon v\sigma\epsilon\iota [D - \rho\epsilon v\epsilon\iota]$ μίλιον ἕν Mt. 5. 41).—'Eû τινα only takes inf.; the commoner ἀφίημι 'let' also takes iva, Mc. 11. 16; καταλείπω τινά takes the inf. L. 10. 40 (not so much an inf. of aim as of result, cp. Hom. Il. P. 151.-'Επιτρέπω τινί only takes the inf.; similarly κωλύω τινά (with this the verb Attic $\mu \dot{\eta}$ is not annexed to the simple inf., §§ 71, 3; 75, 4).—'To be able,' 'to understand' etc. only take the inf.: δύναμαι (δυνατώ Paul), ίσχύω (κατισχύω L. 21. 36 NB al., v.l. καταξιωθητε; έξισχ. Ε. 3. 18), «xω Mt. 18. 25 (in the N.T. it also has the meaning 'to have to,' be obliged to,' L. 12. 50 $\beta \dot{a} \pi \tau i \sigma \mu a$ $\ddot{\epsilon} \chi \omega \beta a \pi \tau i \sigma \theta \hat{\eta} \nu a i$, cp. Clem. Hom.

i. 17, xii. 8), οίδα Mt. 7. 11 etc., γινώσκω Mt. 16. 3; further μανθάνω 1 Tim. 5. 4 etc., παιδεύομαι pass. 1. 20; προμελετώ L. 21. 14, διδάσκω 11. 1 (παραλαμβάνω Mc. 7. 4), δεικνύω A. 10. 28, ύποδεικ. Mt. 3. 7. -The inf. is likewise used with όφειλω, μελλω, είωθα, φιλώ Mt. 6. 5 (23. 6 f.), άρχομαι (never with the participle in N.T., cp. § 73, 4)¹, προστίθεμαι (a Hebraism, יוֹסָיך with > and inf.) 'continue to do,' 'repeat' L. 20. 11, A. 12. 3 (LXX. also uses the active), κινδυνεύω A. 19. 27, 40, προσποιούμαι L. 24. 28, ἐπιλανθάνομαι 'forget to do' Mt. 16. 5 = Mc. 8. 14 (also in Attic), and its opposite mpoor éxew (not so used in Att.) Mt. 6. 1 (with iva Barn. 16. 8). The construction with the inf. is very widely extended in individual instances, and used with far greater freedom than in Attic. Thus we have $\delta\iota a\beta \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \psi \epsilon\iota s \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \beta a \lambda \epsilon \hat{\iota} v$ Mt. 7. 5, L. 6. 42; $\delta o \kappa\iota \mu \dot{a} \dot{\zeta} \omega$ 'approve,' où $\delta o \kappa$. 'disdain' 1 Th. 2. 4, R. 1. 28 (in Att. with inf. of opinion), εύδοκώ Col. 1. 19 with (acc. and) inf. (Polyb. i. 8. 4), ouverod. with inf. 1 C. 7. 12 (acc. and inf. in Herm. Sim. v. 2. 11, "va ibid. 8). H. 11. 5 ούχ έαυτον έδόξασεν γενηθήναι άρχιερέα, like άξιοῦν. Α. 25. 21 τοῦ Παύλου έπικαλεσαμένου τηρηθηναι αὐτόν, like verbs of asking (the βtext reads differently). A. 15. 14 ἐπεσκέψατο λαβείν, cp. L. 1. 25 ἐπείδεν ἀφελείν. Α. 14. 15 εὐαγγελιζόμενοι ὑμα̂s ἐπιστρέφειν (D is different, using ὅπως), 17. 21 εἰς οὐδὲν ἔτερον ηὐκαίρουν ή λέγειν τι... καινότερον (there is no need to supply eis τd before the inf., since εύκαιρεῖν takes the inf. in Lucian Amor. 33). R. 1. 10 εὐοδωθήσομαι 1 Th. 2. 2 (Ε. 6. 20) παρρησιάζομαι (like έλθεῖν, like δύναμαι. τολμώ). Mc. 5. 32 περιεβλέπετο ἰδεῖν, 14. 8 προέλαβεν μυρίσαι (cp. the Attic use of $\phi \theta \dot{a} v \omega$ with partic. or inf., προφθάση βαλεῖν Clem. Cor. ii. 8. 2). Α. 16. 10 προσκέκληται ήμας εὐαγγελίσασθαι αὐτούς. Η. 11. 8 ὑπήκουσεν ἐξελθείν. Τἰτ. 3. 8 φροντίζωσιν προΐστασθαι. L. 12. 45 χρονίζει ἕρχεσθαι. We have the same construction with longer phrases : $\tau i \theta \epsilon \nu a i (\tau i \theta \epsilon \sigma \theta a i) \epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\eta} \kappa a \rho \delta i \hat{q} (\tau \hat{\psi} \pi \nu \epsilon \dot{\nu} \mu a \tau i)$ 'to resolve,' 'to think of' (a Hebraism) L. 21. 14, A. 19. 21, ηs διήνοιξεν την καρδίαν (a Hebraism) προσέχειν Α. 16. 14 (cp. the same phrase with του and inf. in L. 24. 45); the following take ἴνα, βουλή ἐγένετο A. 27. 42, θέλημά έστιν Mt. 15. 14 etc.: εγένετο δρμή A. 14. 5 takes the inf.; cp. L. 2. 1, Jo. 13. 2, 34, A. 17. 15, E. 3. 8 etc.

¹ Very common in Mt., Mc., Lc., often used almost superfluously, as in Mc. 1. 45 *hpkaro κηρύσσειν* which is hardly distinguishable from $\epsilon \kappa \eta \rho \nu \sigma \sigma \epsilon \nu$.

used in all cases, except where a fact is stated to have taken place, as in the common phrase eyévero (cp. § 72, 5) and its classical equivalent $\sigma v \nu \epsilon \beta \eta$ (only in A. 21. 35), or where the close connection of the word with the inf. has become quite established, as with $\delta \epsilon i^1$ and έξεστι (with the latter cp. ἐλευθέρα έστιν γαμηθήναι 1 C. 7. 39). Συμφέρει ίνα occurs in Mt. 5. 29 f., 18. 6 etc., besides (acc. and) inf. 'Αρκετόν (sc. έστιν) ίνα γένηται Mt. 10. 25 (differing from αρκούσιν ίνα Jo. 6. 7, where the result is stated, $= \omega \sigma \tau \epsilon$; on the other hand the inf. is used in 1 P. 4. 3 άρκετός έστιν ό παρεληλυθώς χρόνος ... κατειργάσθαι. Δυνατόν έστι (A. 2. 24 with acc. and inf.) and δυνατός έστι (somewhat more frequent) only take the inf. like δύναμαι. Οὐκ ϵἰμὶ irards iva is used in Mt. 8. 8, elsewhere the inf.2; our similations iva Jo. 1. 27 (often with inf.; with $\tau \circ \hat{v}$ and inf. 1 C. 16. 4, see § 71, 3; with a relative sentence L. 7. 4, § 65, 8). $\Sigma urf \theta \epsilon i a \epsilon \sigma \tau \iota v \ell v a Jo. 18. 39;$ κιτα α τοιαντο σοποίο 2.2. 23, 13. 1, 16. 2, 32 (acc. and inf. as in Attic in R. 13. 11; (δ) καιρδς [sc. έστι] τοῦ ἄρξασθαι τὸ κρίμα 1 P. 4. 17; cp. § 71, 3³; elsewhere these words take ὅτε or ἐν ỹ, ἐσται κ. ὅτε ... ἀνέξονται 2 Tim. 4. 3, ἔρχεται ὥρα ἐν ỹ ... ἀκούσουσιν Jo. 5. 25, where the prediction is more definite, whereas iva or the inf. states the tendency or drift of the impending event). Xpelav $\xi\chi\omega$ iva Jo. 2. 25, 16. 30, 1 Jo. 2. 27; elsewhere it takes inf., Mt. 3. 14 etc., Jo. 13. 10 (with $\nu i \psi a \sigma \theta a \iota$, the two verbs having the same subject, while in the $i\nu a$ passages a new subject is introduced ⁴). Έξουσίαν έχω takes inf. H. 13. 10, Ap. 11. 6; έδό $\theta\eta$ έξουσία inf. ibid. 13. 5 (with ωστε Mt. 10. 1, vide sup. 3); δότε την έξουσίαν ταύτην ίνα Α. 8. With *iva* must also be quoted 1 C. 4. 3 *έμοι* είς ελάχιστόν έστιν 19. Tò ἐμὸν βρῶμά ἐστιν ἕνα Jo. 4. 34, cp. the passages quoted below ïva. in 6. "Av $\theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma v \sigma v \kappa$ exw iva $\beta a \lambda \eta \mu \epsilon$ Jo. 5. 7, instead of $\delta s \beta a \lambda \epsilon i$ or the Attic τdν βαλοῦντα, cp. § 65, 8.--Again ĩνα is used after a comparative with η : L. 17. 2 λυσιτελεί αι τώ εί περίκειται ... η ίνα σκανδαλίση, 1 C. 9. 15 καλόν μοι μαλλον αποθανείν, ή τὸ καύχημά μου ίνα τις κενώσει (\aleph^*BD^* have the bad reading οὐδείs for $i \nu a \tau i s$).—The infinitive is freely used in some special phrases such as in G. 5. 3 $\delta\phi\epsilon\iota\lambda\epsilon\tau\eta s \epsilon\sigma\tau i\nu$ (= $\delta\phi\epsilon(\lambda\epsilon\iota)$ ποιήσαι, H. 4. 1 καταλειπομένης επαγγελίας είσελθειν (cp. ἀπολείπεται, ἀπόκειται with inf. in 4. 6, 9. 27): a classical use is 5. 11 λόγος δυσερμήνευτος λέγειν (like λευκός ίδειν etc.; elsewhere not used in N.T.); another very classical use occurs in H. 9. 5 ovk έστιν νῦν λέγειν (Viteau p. 251). A peculiar use of the inf. is δ έχων ῶτα ἀκούειν ἀκουέτω Mc. 4. 9, L. 14. 35 and elsewhere (to hear, δυνάμενα ἀκούειν), cp. ѽτα τοῦ μὴ ἀκούειν R. 11. 8 such ears that they cannot hear, § 71, 3.

¹ Still Barn. 5. 13 has έδει ίνα πάθη.

² Cp. πολλά, μικρόν λείπει (is wanting) with $l\nu a$ and with inf. in Herm. Vis. iii. 1. 9, Sim. ix. 9. 4.

³ A peculiar instance is Ap. 11. 18 ήλθεν ό καιρός των νεκρών κριθήναι καί δούναι κ.τ.λ., = ίνα κριθώσιν οί νεκροί και δώς κ.τ.λ.; cp. R. 9. 21 έχει έξουσίαν τοῦ πηλοῦ, ποιήσαι κ.τ.λ.

⁴1 Th. 4. 9 οὐ χρείαν ἔχομεν γράφειν ὑμῶν $\aleph^{\circ}D^{*}$ al., ἔχετε ... γράφειν $\aleph^{*}AD^{\circ}$ al. incorrectly: a third reading which is also grammatically correct is ἕχετε ... γράφεσθαι (= 5. 1) H al.

6. Closely related to some of the expressions quoted under 4 and 5 is the explanatory (accusative and) infinitive, preceded by a demonstrative; the demonstrative may also be omitted without rendering the construction with the infinitive thereby impossible. "Iva may here also take the place of the infinitive. Ja. 1. 27 $\theta \rho \eta \sigma \kappa \epsilon i a$ καθαρά ... αύτη έστίν, έπισκέπτεσθαι όρφανούς, Α. 15. 28 μηδέν πλέον ύμιν επιτίθεσθαι βάρος πλην τούτων των επάναγκες, απέχεσθαι κ.τ.λ., 1 Th. 4. 3 τουτο γάρ έστιν το θέλημα του θέου, ό άγιασμος ύμων, άπέχεσθαι ὑμῶς κ.τ.λ., Ε. 3. 8 (cp. without a demonstr. and with iνa1 C. 16. 12). With "va: L. 1. 43 και πόθεν μοι τοῦτο, "va ἔλθη ή μήτηρ τοῦ κυρίου μου προς ἐμέ (here somewhat irregular, as the clause introduced by $i\nu a$ is already a fact), Jo. 15. 8 $\epsilon \nu \tau o \dot{\nu} \tau \psi \epsilon \delta o \xi \dot{a} \sigma \theta \eta \delta$ πατήρ μου, ίνα καρπὸν πολὺν φέρητε, = έν τῷ φέρειν ὑμῶς (conception and wish, not actual fact), 1 Jo. 5. 3 αύτη γάρ έστιν ή άγάπη τοῦ θεοῦ, ^{iνa} τàs εντολàs aὐτοῦ τηρῶμεν. It is specially frequent in John, see further 6. 39, 17. 3, 1 Jo. 3. 11, 23, 4. 21, 2 Jo. 6 (without a demonstr. Jo. 4. 34, supra 5); akin to this use are 1 Jo. 3. 1 (ποταπήν ἀγάπην ... ἕνα), 1 C. 9. 18 (τίς μου ἐστιν ὁ μισθός; ἕνα). A further noteworthy instance is Jo. 15. 13 $\mu\epsilon$ i(ova rairys ayá $\pi\eta\nu$ oudeis exer, epexegetical phrase consists of facts, John uses not iva but ori (§ 70, 3): 1 Jo. 3. 16 έν τούτω έγνώκαμεν την άγάπην, ότι έκεινος ... την $\psi_{\nu\chi\dot{\eta}\nu}$ avrov ∂^{μ} place, έάν or όταν is used: 1 Jo. 2. 3 έν τούτω γινώσκομεν ότι ..., έαν τηρώμεν, 5. 2 έν τ. γ. ὅτι ..., ὅταν ἀγαπωμεν.

7. The infinitive with $\pi \rho (\nu \ (or \ \pi \rho) \nu \ \eta)$ which is not such good Attic) belongs, generally speaking, to this series of infinitives, which correspond to a conjunctive and not to an indicative : although iva cannot be introduced in this case, and the conjunctive, where it is used, is sharply distinguished from the infinitive, viz. the conjunctive stands after a negative principal sentence, the infinitive after a positive sentence (as in Attic).¹ Mt. 1. 18 $\pi\rho i\nu \eta \sigma \nu\nu\epsilon\lambda\theta\epsilon i\nu$ autovis, ευρέθη κ.τ.λ., 26. 34, 75 πριν ($\mathring{\eta}$ is added by A in verse 75; L. 22. 61 ή add. B; Mc. 14. 30 ή om. ND, 72 no MSS. have η) αλέκτορα φωνήσαι τρίς ἀπαρνήση με, Jo. 4. 49, 8. 58,2 14. 29, Α. 2. 20 Ο.Τ., 7. 2 (never in the Epistles). In a similar way to this $\pi \rho i \nu$, $\pi \rho \partial \tau \sigma \hat{\nu}$ with the inf. may also be used, e.g. in Mt. 6. 8, L. 2. 21, G. 2. 12, 3. 23, especially in the case of a fact which is regarded as really taking place at a subsequent time, though $\pi \rho i \nu$ is not excluded in this case, A. 7. 2, Jo. 8. 58 (so in Attic). $\Pi \rho i \nu$ with the conj. or optat. in the respective cases (for the opt. of indirect speech see § 66, 5) after a negative principal sentence is found only in Luke, see § 65, 10.

8. With regard to the voice of the verb, it is noticeable that after

¹ The conj. (without $d\nu$) is used after a *positive* principal sentence, and therefore incorrectly, in Herm. Sim. v. 7. 3.

² D has $\pi\rho l\nu$ 'A $\beta\rho a\dot{\alpha}\mu$ without the inf. $\gamma\epsilon\nu\epsilon\sigma\theta a\iota$, so that $\pi\rho l\nu$ is used as a preposition (with the gen.), like $\epsilon\omega$ s with the gen., § 40, 6. Cp. Stephanus $\pi\rho l\nu$ ($\pi\rho l\nu$ $\omega\rho as$ Pindar Pyth. 4, 43; often in Josephus; Arrian al.), W. Schmid de Joseph. eloc. 395.

§ 70. INFINITIVE AND PERIPHRASIS WITH 871.

1. The complement of verbs of (perceiving), believing, (showing), saying, in respect of the purport of the idea or communication in question, is in classical Greek rendered to a great extent by the infinitive, the subject of which, if identical with that of the governing verb, is not expressed, while in other cases it is placed in the accusative. The participle is an alternative construction for the infinitive, see § 73, 5; in addition to these constructions, the complement of verbs of perceiving, showing, saying (not of verbs of believing) is often formed by means of an indirect question, and a development of this use is the construction with $\delta \tau \iota$ (strictly $\delta, \tau \iota$ an indirect interrogative particle), which is allowable with these same verbs (and therefore not with verbs of believing). Lastly, as a less definitely ³ analytical expression, δs with a finite verb is also in use with verbs of saying, hearing etc.

2. In the N.T. the infinitive has not indeed gone out of use in connection with these verbs, but it has taken quite a subordinate place, while the prevailing construction is that with $\delta \tau \iota$. The indirect question is kept within its proper limits, δs is found almost exclusively in Luke and Paul and preserves more or less clearly its proper meaning of 'how,' though it is already becoming interchangeable with $\pi \delta s$, which in late Greek assumes more and more the meaning of $\delta \tau \iota^4$; lastly, the unclassical combination $\delta s \, \delta \tau \iota$ occurs three

¹ And even where the agent is mentioned in Herm. Sim. ix. 8. 3 $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \nu \sigma \epsilon \delta \omega$ $\tau \omega \nu \pi \alpha \rho \theta \epsilon \nu \omega \nu \delta \pi \epsilon \nu \epsilon \chi \theta \eta \nu \alpha \iota$.

² Buttm. 236 f., who rightly rejects the following readings, Mc. 5. 43 δοῦναι (D) instead of δοθῆναι, 6. 27 ἐνέγκαι (NBCΔ) instead of ἐνεχθῆναι, Α. 22. 24 ἀνετάζειν (D*) instead of $\epsilon \sigma \theta a$, and also in Mc. 10. 49 prefers είπεν αὐτὸν φωνηθῆναι (ADX al.) to είπεν φωνήσατε αὐτὸν (NBCLΔ). In Mc. 8. 7 the Mss. are divided between είπεν (ἐκδλευσεν of D is wrong) παραθεῦναι – παρατιθέναι – παρατεθῆναι (A, cp. apponi vulg. it.) – παρέθηκεν (N*, without είπεν); παρατεθῆναι is the reading commended by the usage of the language (Buttm.).

³ Riemann Revue de philol. N.S. vi. 73.

⁴ Ωs is used in Mc. 12. 26 after ἀναγινώσκειν (v.l. πῶs), L. 6. 4 (ἀναγ.; v.l. πῶs, om. BD), L. 8. 47 (ἀπαγγέλλειν; D ὅτι), 23. 55 (θεᾶσθαι), 24. 6 (μνησθῆναι; D ὅσα),

times in Paul.¹ The point above all to be noticed is that the use, which is so largely developed in classical Greek, of the indirect form of speech with the (acc. and) infinitive, is almost entirely wanting; it may be said that Luke is the only writer who uses it at any length, and even he very quickly passes over into the direct form, see A. 25. 4 f., 1. 4.-Details: verbs of perceiving (recognizing and knowing) with the acc. and inf. 'Akovew Jo. 12. 18, 1 C. 11. 18 (i.e. to receive a communication [so in classical Greek]; elsewhere it takes the participle and more commonly $\delta\tau\iota$). (Θεωρείν and βλέπειν take $\delta\tau\iota$ Mc. 16. 4 etc.; not the inf., but part., § 73, 5.) Γινώσκειν takes acc. and inf. in H. 10. 34 (in classical Greek only with the meaning 'to pass judgment,' which may also be adopted in this passage); the prevailing construction is ori, cp. Participles § 73, 5. ElSévai in L. 4. 41, 1 P. 5. 9 (Clem. Cor. i. 43. 6, 62. 3) takes acc. and inf. (as occasionally in class. Greek), elsewhere the partic. and usually $\delta \tau \iota$ (ω s), which is also the usual construction with $\epsilon \pi i \sigma \tau a \sigma \theta a \iota$. Karaλαμβάνεσθαι 'to recognize,' 'find' (post-classical; cp. Att. -νειν) takes acc. and inf. in A. 25. 25; elsewhere őri (4. 13, 10. 34).-To believe etc. contrary to Attic usage very largely take on : Some 'to think' takes (acc. and) inf. in L. 8. 18, 24. 37, A. 12. 9, Jo. 5. 39, 16. 2, 2 C. 11. 16 etc., ὄτι in Mt. 6. 7 etc. (so almost always except in Lc. and Paul; there is a second reading in Mc. 6. 49); but δοκείν 'to seem' only takes inf. (Lc., Paul, Hebrews; Herm. Sim. ix. 5. 1 ¿δόκει μοι impers. with acc. and inf.), similarly ἔδοξέ μοι 'it seemed good to me' (only in Lc., literary language, § 69, 4). 'E $\lambda \pi i (av takes)$ inf. in L. 6. 34, R. 15. 24 and elsewhere in Lc. and Paul (the fut. inf. in A. 26. 7 B, elsewhere the aorist, § 61, 3), and in 2 Jo. 12, 3 Jo. 14; 571 in A. 24. 26, 2 C. 1. 13 and elsewhere in Lc. and Paul. Exειν τινά ότι 'to reckon' (Lat. habere, a Latinism, cp. § 34, 5) Mc. 11. 32 (D ήδεισαν). Hyeir takes acc. and inf. in Ph. 3. 8 (for the double acc. § 34, 5). Kplvew, 'to decide that something is,' takes acc. and inf. in A. 16. 15, τοῦτο ὅτι in 2 C. 5. 15; 'to decide that something should be' ('to choose,' 'conclude') takes inf. in A. 15. 19, 1 C. 2. 2, acc. and inf. in A. 25. 25 (700 with inf. in 27. 1; this construction like ἔδοξέ μοι belongs to the same category as βούλεσθαι, κελεύειν etc., § 69, 4). Aoyizerdan, 'to decide,' takes (acc. and) inf. in R. 3. 28, 14. 14, 2 C. 11. 5, Ph. 3. 13; ότι in R. 8. 18, Jo. 11. 50, H. 11. 19 (in John and Hebr. 'to reflect,' 'say to oneself,' as in 2 C. 10. 11; with this meaning $\delta \tau_i$ is not unclassical). Now acc. and inf. H. 11. 3; őτι Mt. 15. 17 etc. (both unclassical). Noμíjew takes (acc. and) inf. in L. 2. 44 and elsewhere in Lc. and Paul (evóµiçov solebant with inf. A. 16. 13?); or in Mt. 5. 17 etc., A. 21. 29 (the acc. and inf.

24. 35 ($\dot{\epsilon}\xi\eta\gamma\epsilon\hat{\iota}\sigma\theta a\iota$; D $\delta\tau\iota$), A. 10. 28 ($\dot{\epsilon}\delta a\tau\epsilon$, $\dot{\omega}s$ $\dot{a}\theta\dot{e}\mu\tau\sigma\nu$), 38 ($\dot{\epsilon}\pi\dot{\iota}\sigma\tau a\sigma\theta a\iota$; D reads differently), 20. 20 ($\dot{\epsilon}\pi\prime\sigma\tau$.; $\pi\hat{\omega}s$ is used previously in verse 18), R. 1. 9 and Ph. 1. 8 and 1 Th. 2. 10 ($\mu d\rho\tau\nu s$) and in a few passages elsewhere. If $\dot{\omega}s$ (Hatzidakis Einl. in d. ngr. Gramm. 19) occurs in Mt. 12. 4 after $\dot{a}ra\gamma \mu\nu\dot{\omega}\kappa\epsilon\nu$, Mc. 12. 41 with $\dot{\epsilon}\theta\epsilon\dot{\omega}\rho\epsilon\iota$, L. 14. 7 with $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\dot{\epsilon}\chi\omega\gamma$, A. 11. 13 $\dot{a}\pi\dot{\eta}\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda\lambda\epsilon\nu$, 1 Th. 1. 9. Barn. 14. 6, Clem. Cor. i. 19. 3, 21. 3, 34. 5, 37. 2, 56. 16.

¹2 C. 5. 19, 11. 21, 2 Th. 2. 2. See on this late usage of the language Sophocles Lex. s.v. ω s (Clem. Hom. i. 7). would have been ambiguous).¹ Oterbai (acc. and) inf. Jo. 21. 25 (last verse of the Gospel), Ph. 1. 17; $\sigma\tau\iota$ Ja. 1. 7. If $\epsilon t \theta \epsilon \sigma \theta ai$ (acc. and) inf. L. 20. 6, A. 26. 26 (apparently with $\sigma\tau\iota$ in H. 13. 8, but the passage is probably corrupt; v.l. $\pi\epsilon \pi o(\theta a\mu\epsilon \nu)$; similarly the (acc. and) inf. is used with $\pi\epsilon \pi o\iota \theta \epsilon \nu ai$ R. 2. 19, 2 C. 10. 7; $\sigma\tau\iota$ in R. 8. 38 etc.; Ph. 2. 24 etc. If $\sigma\tau\epsilon \epsilon \iota ai$ and inf. A. 15. 11, R. 14. 2; $\sigma\tau\iota$ passim. If portson takes (acc. and) inf. A. 3. 5 (aor. inf.), 28. 6 (with $\mu\epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \iota \nu \pi \ell \mu \pi \rho a \sigma \theta a \iota$). Ymorplverbai acc. and inf. L. 20. 20. Ymorauβάνειν takes $\sigma\tau\iota$ in L. 7. 43 (this is also classical, Plato Apol. 35 A). 'Ymore acc. and inf. A. 13. 25, 27. 27. On the whole, therefore, the use of the infinitive with verbs of believing is, with some very rare exceptions, limited to Lc. and Paul (Hebrews), being 'a remnant of the literary language' (Viteau, p. 52).

3. Verbs of saying, showing etc. take $\delta \tau \iota$ with a finite verb to a very large extent, as do also the equivalent expressions such as μάρτυρα έπικαλούμαι τον θεόν 2 C. 1. 23, αύτη έστιν ή μαρτυρία 1 Jo. 5. 11, έστιν αύτη ή άγγελία 1 Jo. 1. 5, ίνα πληρωθή ό λόγος Jo. 15. 25, άνέβη φάσιs A. 21. 31, έν ἀνόματι Mc. 9. 41 ('for the reason that, 'on the ground that'); further, adjectives like $\delta \hat{\eta} \lambda ov$ (sc. $\epsilon \sigma r i$) take this construction. Special mention may be made of $\phi \dot{\alpha} \nu \alpha a$ $\ddot{\sigma} \tau i$ 1 C. 10. 19, 15. 50 (with acc. and inf. in R. 3. 8), whereas in classical Greek this verb hardly ever takes $5\tau\iota$ (any more than it takes an indirect question). Λαλών ὅτι is rare, H. 11. 18, this verb never takes acc. and inf.; the commoner construction is $\epsilon \lambda \dot{a} \lambda \eta \sigma \epsilon \nu \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega \nu$ like $\check{\epsilon}\kappa
hoa\xi\epsilon\nu$ $\lambda\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\omega\nu$, $\dot{a}\pi\epsilon\kappa
hoitheta\eta$ $\lambda\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\omega\nu$ etc., the usual phrase formed on . the model of the Hebrew (יְדַבֶּר לאביר), cp. § 74, 3. Кράζειν, $(a\pi \sigma)\phi \theta \epsilon \gamma$ γεσθαι, φωνείν never take $\delta \tau i$ or acc. and inf., αποκρίνεσθαι only in Lc. (20. 7 with inf., A. 25. 4 acc. and inf., 25. 16 στι), βοâν only in A. 25. 24 takes the inf. 'Oμνύειν őτι occurs in Mt. 26. 74, Ap. 10. 6 (unclassical; it takes the aor. inf. in A. 2. 30, the fut. inf. as in class. Greek in H. 3. 18); $5\tau\iota$ is also used with other expressions of asseveration such as έστιν αλήθεια τοῦ Χριστοῦ ἐν ἐμοί, ὅτι 2 C. 11. 10, cp. (Clem. Cor. i. 58. 2), G. 1. 20, R. 14. 11, 2 C. 1. 23 (vide supra). The use of the (acc. and) inf., as compared with that of $\delta \tau \iota$, is seldom found in writers other than Lc. and Paul: Neyew takes acc. and inf. in Mt. 16. 13, 15, 22. 23 = Mc. 8. 27, 29, 12. 18, Jo. 12. 29 etc., Katakplvein in Mc. 14. 64, impapropeir in 1 P. 5. 12, imagyi Aleovai takes the inf. in Mc. 14. 11, A. 7. 5; in Lc. and Paul the following verbs also take this construction, απαγγέλλειν Α. 12. 14, προκαταγγέλλειν 3. 18, απαρνείσθαι L. 22. 34, διισχυρίζεσθαι Α. 12. 15, μαρτυρείν 10. 43, προαιτιάσθαι R. 3. 9, onpualver A. 11. 28, xonpuartier to predict L. 2. 26; while the őτι used with παραγγέλλειν to command in 2 Th. 3. 10 is a $\delta \tau \iota$ recitativum (infra 4).-Verbs of showing (which may be regarded as the causatives of verbs of perceiving) in Attic Greek, in cases where $\delta \tau i$ is not used, generally express the complement by means of the

¹ Thuc. iii. 88 is quite wrongly adduced as an instance of νομίζειν ὅτι.

² R. 14. 2 $\pi i \sigma \tau e^{i \omega} e^{i \rho} \pi a^{i \sigma \tau a}$. $\Pi i \sigma \tau e^{i \omega \omega}$ here therefore means not 'believe,' but to have confidence and dare.

participle ($\delta\epsilon\iota\kappa \nu \dot{\nu}\nu a\iota$, $\delta\eta\lambda o\hat{\nu}\nu$, also $\phi a\nu\epsilon\rho \deltas \epsilon \dot{\iota}\mu\iota$ etc.; occasionally also $\dot{a}\pi a\gamma\gamma \epsilon \lambda\lambda \epsilon\iota\nu$ and the like). In the N.T. we find $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota \delta\epsilon\iota\kappa\nu \dot{\nu}\nu a\iota$ A. 18. 28 and $\delta\eta\lambda o\hat{\nu}\nu$ H. 9. 8 with acc. and inf. (which is not contrary to Attic usage),¹ $\dot{\upsilon}\pi\sigma\delta\epsilon\iota\kappa\nu \dot{\nu}\nu a\iota$ A. 20. 35 and $\phi a\nu\epsilon\rho o\hat{\upsilon}\sigma\theta a\iota$ pass. 2 C. 3. 3, 1 Jo. 2. 19 with $\delta\tau\iota$ ($\phi a\nu\epsilon\rho o\hat{\upsilon}\nu$ takes acc. and inf. in Barn. 5. 9); so $\delta\eta\lambda o\nu$ ($\pi\rho\delta\delta\eta\lambda o\nu$) $\delta\tau\iota$ 1 C. 15. 27, G. 3. 11, H. 7. 14; instances of the use of the participle are entirely wanting.

4. By far the most ordinary form of the complement of verbs of saying is that of direct speech, which may be introduced by $\"{\sigma}\tau\iota$ (the so-called $\image{\sigma}\tau\iota$ recitativum), for which see § 79, 12. An indirect statement after verbs of perceiving and believing is also assimilated to the direct statement so far as the tense is concerned, see §§ 56, 9; 57, 6; 59, 6; 60, 2. $\image{\sigma}\tau\iota$ is used quite irregularly with the acc. and inf. after $\theta\epsilon\omega\rho\omega$ in A. 27. 10; in A. 14. 22 we can more readily tolerate $\kappa a\iota \, \mathring{\sigma}\tau\iota$ (equivalent to $\lambda \acute{\epsilon}\gamma o \tau \tau \epsilon s \, \mathring{\sigma}\tau\iota$) with a finite verb following $\pi a \rho a \kappa a \lambda \acute{\epsilon}\iota v$ with an infinitive.

5. The very common use in the classical language of $a\nu$ with the infinitive $(=a\nu$ with indic. or optat. of direct speech) is entirely absent from the N.T. ($\delta\sigma a\nu$ with the inf. is not connected with this use, § 78, 1).

§ 71. INFINITIVE WITH THE ARTICLE.

1. The article with an infinitive strictly has the same (anaphoric) meaning which it has with a noun; but there is this difference between the two, that the infinitive takes no declension forms, and consequently the article has to be used, especially in all instances where the case of the infinitive requires expression, without regard to its proper meaning and merely to make the sense intelligible. The use of the infinitive accompanied by the article in all four cases, and also in dependence on the different prepositions, became more and more extended in Greek; consequently the N.T. shows a great abundance of usages of this kind, although most of them are not widely attested, and can be but very slightly illustrated outside the writings which were influenced by the literary language, namely those of Luke and Paul (James). See Viteau, p. 173. The rarest of these usages is the addition to the infinitive of an attribute in the same case (which even in classical Greek is only possible with a pronoun): the only N.T. instance is H. 2. 15 dia $\pi a\nu \tau \partial s \tau o \hat{v} \langle \hat{\eta} \nu$.

2. The nominative of the infinitive with the article, as also the accusative used independently of a preposition, are found sporadically in Mt. and Mc., somewhat more frequently in Paul, and practically nowhere in the remaining writers; they are generally used in such a way that the anaphoric meaning of the article, with reference to something previously mentioned or otherwise well known, is more or less clearly marked. Mt. 15. 20 $\tau d \, a \nu (\pi \tau \sigma is \chi \epsilon \rho \sigma i \nu \phi a \gamma \epsilon i \nu subj.$

¹ On ouviorávai with acc. and inf. in 2 C. 7. 11 (?) see § 38, 2 note.

(see verse 2): 20. 23 τὸ καθίσαι obj. (καθίσωσιν verse 21): Mc. 9. 10 το άναστήναι (9 άναστή; D has όταν έκ νεκρών άναστη): 12. 33 το άγαπâν (see 30): Α. 25. 11 θανάτου ... το ἀποθανείν: R. 4. 13 ή έπαγγελία ... το κληρονόμον αύτον είναι (epexegetical to έπαγγ.: the art. in both cases denoting something well known): 7. 18 $\tau \delta \theta \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \epsilon \iota \nu \dots$ το κατεργάζεσθαι, ideas which have already been the subjects of discussion; cp. 2 C. 8. 10 f. ($\tau \delta \ \theta \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \iota \nu$ is added as the opposite of $\tau \delta$ ποιήσαι), Ph. 2. 13 (do.), 1. 29 (do.), 1. 21 f., 24: R. 13. 8 το άλλήλους αγαπαν (the well-known precept): 1 C. 11. 6 κειράσθω ή ξυράσθω ... τό κείρασθαι ή ξύρασθαι: 7. 26,1 14. 39, 2 C. 7. 11, Ph. 2. 6, 4. 10 το $\dot{v}π\dot{\epsilon}\rho$ $\dot{\epsilon}\mu o\hat{v}$ φρονε $\hat{\iota}\nu$ (which you have previously done; but FG read τοῦ, cp. § 19, 1), H. 10. 31 (in G. 4. 18 ABC omit τδ). The force of the article is not so clear in 2 C. 9. 1 περισσόν έστι το γράφειν, cp. Demosth. 2. 3 τὸ διεξιέναι ... οὐχὶ καλῶς ἔχειν ἡγοῦμαι (the article denotes something obvious, which might take place), Herm. Vis. iv. 2. 6 αίρετώτερον ήν αὐτοῖς τὸ μὴ γεννηθηναι. But its use is still more lax with μή in 2 C. 10. 2 δέομαι το μη παρών θαρρήσαι², R. 14. 13, 21, 2 C. 2. 1, and quite superfluous in 1 Th. 3. 3 τδ (om. ABD al.) μηδένα σαίνεσθαι, 4. 6 τὸ μὴ ὑπερβαίνειν (whereas there is no art. in verses 3 f. with $d\pi \epsilon \chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ and $\epsilon i \delta \epsilon \nu a \iota$); this $\tau \delta \mu \eta$ (like $\tau o \hat{\nu} \mu \eta$, infra 3) is equivalent to a *iva* clause, and is found to a certain extent similarly used in classical writers after a verb of hindering ($\kappa a \tau \epsilon \chi \epsilon \nu$ τό μη δακρύειν Plato, Phaedo 117 c), while δέομαι το θαρρήσαι without a $\mu \eta$ would clearly be impossible even in Paul.³

3. The genitive of the infinitive, not dependent on a preposition, has an extensive range in Paul and still more in Luke; it is found to a limited degree in Matthew and Mark, but is wholly, or almost wholly, absent from the other writers. According to classical usage it may either be dependent on a noun or verb which governs a genitive, or it is employed (from Thucydides onwards, but not very frequently) to denote aim or object (being equivalent to a final sentence or an inf. with $\tilde{\epsilon}\nu\epsilon\kappa a$). Both uses occur in the N.T., but the manner of employing this inf. has been extended beyond these limits, very much in the same way that the use of *lva* has been extended. It is found after nouns such as xpóvos, καιρόs, έξουσία, έλπίς, χρεία: L. 1. 57, 2. 6, 1 P. 4. 17, L. 10. 19, 22. 6, A. 27. 20, 1 C. 9. 10, R. 15. 23, H. 5. 12; in these cases the inf. without the art. and the periphrasis with $i\nu a$ may also be used, § 69, 5, without altering the meaning (whereas in Attic a $\tau o \hat{v}$ of this kind ordinarily keeps its proper force), and passages like L. 2. 21 $i\pi\lambda\eta\sigma\theta\eta\sigma\alpha\nu$ ήμέραι όκτὼ τοῦ περιτεμεῖν αὐτόν show a very loose connection between the inf. and the substantive (almost = $\omega \sigma \tau \epsilon \pi \epsilon \rho \iota \tau \epsilon \mu \epsilon i \nu$, iva

¹ In this passage and in 2 C. 7. 11 (R. 14. 13, 2 C. 2. 1) $\tau o \hat{\nu} \tau o$ precedes, but the pronoun in no way occasions the use of the art., cp. (without an art.) 1 C. 7. 37 etc., § 69, 6 (Buttm. p. 225).

² In A. 4. 18 $\pi a \rho \eta \gamma \gamma \epsilon i \lambda a \nu \tau \delta$ (cm. \aleph^*B) $\kappa a \theta \delta \lambda o \nu \mu \eta \phi \theta \epsilon \gamma \gamma \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ the article, if correctly read, should be joined with $\kappa a \theta \delta \lambda o \nu$, cp. § 34, 7, Diod. Sic. 1. 77.

³ A parallel from the LXX. is quoted (Viteau, p. 164), viz. 2 Esdr. 6. 8 $\tau \partial \mu \dot{\eta} \kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \rho \gamma \eta \theta \hat{\eta} \nu \alpha_i$, 'that it may not be hindered.'

περιτέμωσιν). Cp. further R. 8. 12 οφειλέται ... τοῦ κατὰ σάρκα ζην, R. 1. 24 aka $\theta a \rho \sigma i a \nu$, $\tau o \hat{\nu} a \tau \iota \mu a \xi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$, = $\omega \sigma \tau \epsilon a \tau$; the connection with the subst. is quite lost in 1 C. 10. 13 την έκβασιν, τοῦ δύνασθαι ύπενεγκείν, R. 11. 8 Ο.Τ. ὀφθαλμούς τοῦ μὴ βλέπειν καὶ ѽτα τοῦ μὴ ἀκούειν, 'such eyes that they 'etc. (ibid. 10 O.T. σκοτισθήτωσαν οί ύφθ. τοῦ μὴ $\beta\lambda$.). Also A. 14. 9 ὅτι ἐχει πίστιν τοῦ σωθηναι, the faith necessary to salvation, = π. ώστε σωθήναι; Ph. 3. 21 την ενέργειαν του δύνασθαι (the force whereby He is able), $\dot{\eta}$ προθυμία του θέλειν 2 C. 8. 11 the zeal to will, which makes one willing. With adjectives we have a fior $\tau o \hat{v} \pi o \rho \epsilon \hat{v} \epsilon \sigma \theta a l C. 16.4$ as in classical Greek; the instances with verbs, which in classical Greek govern the genitive, are equally few, έξαπορηθήναι τοῦ ζήν 2 C. 1. 8 (ἀπορεῖν τινος; also ἐξαπορεῖσθαί τινος Dionys. Hal.), ἔλαχεν τοῦ θυμιῶσαι L. 1. 9 (LXX. has the same use in 1 Sam. 14. 47; but in classical Greek in spite of $\lambda \alpha \gamma \chi \dot{\alpha} \nu \epsilon \iota \nu \dot{\tau} \iota \nu \dot{\sigma} s$ this verb only takes the simple inf., and the $\tau \sigma \hat{v}$ with the inf. corresponds rather to its free use in the examples given The construction of $\tau o \hat{v} \mu \eta$ and the inf. with verbs of below). hindering, ceasing etc. (Lc., but also in the LXX.) has classical precedent, e.g. Xen. Anab. iii. 5. 11 πα̂ς ἀσκὸς δύο ἄνδρας ἕξει τοῦ μὴ καταδῦναι; but the usage is carried further, and τοῦ μή clearly has the meaning 'so that not': L. 4. 42 ($\kappa \alpha \tau \epsilon \chi \epsilon \iota \nu$), 24. 16 ($\kappa \rho \alpha \tau \epsilon \iota \sigma \theta \alpha \iota$), A. 10. 47 (κωλύειν), 14. 18 (καταπαύειν), 20. 20, 27 (ὑποστέλλεσθαι; D incorrectly omits the $\mu\dot{\eta}$), also L. 17. 1 are vorther to $\hat{\ell}$ orther to $\hat{\mu}\dot{\eta}$... (cp. from the O.T. 1 P. 3. 10 matter, R. 11. 10 σκοτισθήναι, vide supra¹). Paul however has this inf. without $\mu \eta$, so that its dependence on the principal verb is clear, R. 15. 22 $\epsilon v \epsilon \kappa \sigma \pi \tau \delta \mu \eta \nu \tau \sigma \vartheta \epsilon \lambda \theta \epsilon \vartheta \nu$. Cp. τό $\mu\eta$, supra 2.—A final (or consecutive) sense is the commonest sense in which $\tau o \hat{v}$ and $\tau o \hat{v} \mu \eta$ are used in the N.T.: Mt. 13. 3 έξηλθεν δ σπείρων τοῦ σπείρειν, 2. 13 (ητεῖν τοῦ ἀπολέσαι, 21. 32 μετε-μελήθητε τοῦ πιστεῦσαι (so as to), 3. 13, 11. 1, 24. 45 (om. τοῦ D), H. 10. 7 (O.T.), 11. 5. The simple inf. has already acquired this final sense; there is a tendency to add the row to the second of two infinitives of this kind for the sake of clearness : L. 1. 76 f., 78 f., 2. 22, 24, A. 26. 18. The $\tau o \hat{v}$ is then used in other cases as well, being attached in numerous instances at any rate in Luke (especially in the Acts; occasionally in James) to infinitives of any kind whatever after the example of the LXX.²: it is found after $\epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \tau \sigma$ A. 10. 25 (not in D, but this MS. has it in 2. 1), ἐκρίθη 27. 1, cp. έγένετο γνώμης του 20. 3 (ανέβη ἐπὶ τὴν καρδίαν Herm. Vis. iii. 7. 2), έπιστείλαι 15. 20, παρακαλείν 21. 12, έντέλλεσθαι L. 4. 10 Ο.Τ. (Ps. 90. 11), προσεύχεσθαι Ja. 5. 17, κατανεύειν L. 5. 7, στηρίζειν τὸ πρόσωπον 9. 51, συντίθεσθαι A. 23. 20, ποιείν 3. 12, έτοιμος 23. 15 (Herm. Sim. viii. 4. 2). The only infinitive which cannot take the τοῦ is one which may be resolved into a ὅτι clause : it is the possibility of substituting the or $\delta\sigma\tau\epsilon$ for it which forms the limitation to

1

¹ The LXX. has Gen. 16. 2 συνέκλεισεν τοῦ μη ..., 20. 6 ἐφεισάμην σου τοῦ μη ... Ps. 38. 2 φυλάξω τὰς όδούς μου τοῦ μη ..., 68. 24 (= R. 11. 10). Viteau, p. 172.

² E.g. in 1 Kings 1. 35 after ένετειλάμην, Ezek. 21. 11 and 1 Macc. 5. 39 after έτοιμος. Viteau, p. 170.

its use.¹ It is especially frequent in an explanatory clause loosely appended to the main sentence: L. 24. 25 $\beta \rho a \delta \epsilon i s \tau \eta$ $\kappa a \rho \delta i q, \tau o \vartheta$ $\pi \iota \sigma \tau \epsilon \vartheta \sigma a \iota$ (in believing; $\tau o \vartheta$ π . om. D), cp. $\beta \rho a \delta$. $\epsilon i s \tau \delta$ infra 4, A. 7. 19 $\epsilon \kappa a \kappa \omega \sigma \epsilon \nu$ $\tau o \vartheta s \pi a \tau \epsilon \rho a s$, $\tau o \vartheta$ $\pi o \iota \epsilon \epsilon \nu^2$ (so as to make, in that he made, $= \pi o \iota \omega \nu$ or $\kappa a \iota \epsilon \pi o \iota \epsilon \iota$), L. 1. 73, R. 6. 6, 7. 3, Ph. 3. 10 (R. 1. 24, 1 C. 10. 13, vide supra). A quite peculiar instance is Ap. 12. 7 $\epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \tau o \tau \delta \delta \epsilon \mu \eta \sigma a \iota \mu \epsilon \tau a \tau o \vartheta \delta \rho a \kappa o \nu \tau os$ ('it happened ... that there fought ...').³

4. The dative of the inf. without a preposition is found only once in Paul to denote reason: 2 C. 2. 13 oùk $\epsilon \sigma \chi \eta \kappa a \quad \delta \nu \epsilon \sigma \nu \tau \hat{\varphi} \quad \pi \nu \epsilon \hat{\psi} \mu \eta \epsilon \hat{\psi} \rho \epsilon \hat{\psi} \mu \epsilon T (\tau \circ \nu (LP \tau \partial \mu \eta), \aleph^* C^2 \tau \circ \hat{\psi} \mu \eta)$, both readings impossible; but DE perhaps correctly have $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\varphi} \mu \eta$, cp. inf. 6).

5. Prepositions with the accusative of the infinitive. Eis $\tau \partial$ denotes aim or result (= íva or $\omega\sigma\tau\epsilon$): Mt. 20. 19 π apadosovorv ϵ is τὸ ἐμπαίξαι, cp. 26. 2, 27. 31, Mc. 14. 55 (ἴνα θανατώσουσιν D), L. 5. 17 (D reads differently), A. 7. 19, Ja. 1. 18, 3. 3 (v.l. πρός), 1 P. 3. 7, 4. 2; very frequent in Paul (and Hebrews), R. 1. 11, 20, 3. 26, 4. 11 bis, 16, 18 etc., also used very loosely as in 2 C. 8. 6 eis τὸ παρακαλέσαι 'to such an extent that we exhorted'; further notable instances are 1 Th. 3. 10 δεόμενοι είς τδ ίδειν, = ίνα ίδωμεν, § 69, 4: την έπιθυμίαν έχων είς το άναλύσαι Ph. 1. 23 (DEFG omit ϵ is, which gives an impossible construction). (This use of ϵ is is nowhere found in the Johannine writings; on the other hand it is found in the First Epistle of Clement, e.g. in 65. I where it is parallel with ὅπως.) It is used in another way in Ja. 1. 19 ταχὺς εἰς τὸ ἀκοῦσαι, βραδύς είς το λαλήσαι, βραδύς είς όργήν, the inf. being treated as equivalent to a substantive (Herm. Mand. i. 1 o ποιήσας έκ του μή οντος είς τὸ είναι τὰ πάντα, like ποιείν εἰς ὕψος Clem. Cor. i. 59. 3).—Aim (or result) is likewise denoted by $\pi \rho \delta s \tau \delta$, which however is nowhere very frequent : Mt. 5. 28 δ βλέπων γυναίκα πρός το έπιθυμήσαι αὐτής, 6. Ι πρώς τὸ θεαθήναι αὐτοῖς, 13. 30, 23. 5, 26. 12, Mc. 13. 22, L. 18. I ($\pi \rho \delta s \tau \delta \delta \epsilon i \nu \pi \rho \sigma \sigma \epsilon \upsilon \chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$, with reference to), A. 3. 19 ×B (rell. eis), 2 C. 3. 13, Eph. 6. 11 (DEFG eis), 1 Th. 2. 9, 2 Th. 3. 8.-And τ to denote the reason is frequent in Luke: 2. 4, 8, 6 etc., A. 4. 2, 8. 11 etc.; also in Mt. 13. 5, 6, 24. 12, Mc. 4. 5, 6, 5. 4 (D is different), Jo. 2. 24 (Syr. Sin. omits the whole clause), Ja. 4. 2, Ph. 1. 7 (the solitary instance in Paul), H. 7. 23 f., 10. 2.—Merà τ ò is used in statements of time : Mt. 26. 32, Mc. 1. 14, 14. 28 [16. 19], L. 12. 5, 22. 20, A. 1. 3, 7. 4, 10. 41, 15. 13, 19. 21, 20. 1, 1 C. 11. 25, H. 10. 15, 26.—The accus. of the inf. is nowhere found with $\epsilon \pi i$, κατά, παρά.

¹ In Hermas, however, even this limit is transgressed, Mand. xii. 4. 6 σεαυτφ κέκρικας τοῦ μὴ δύνασθαι, = ὅτι οὐ δύνασαι.

² There is an exact parallel in the LXX., l Kings 17. 20 συ κεκάκωκας τοῦ θανατώσαι τὸν υἰὸν αὐτῆς.

³ Buttmann, p. 231; the nom. with the inf. is certainly quite a barbarism. A forced explanation, by supplying $\tilde{\eta}\sigma a\nu$ with $\pi o \lambda \epsilon \mu \tilde{\eta} \sigma a\iota$, is given by Viteau, 168.

6. Prepositions with the genitive of the infinitive. 'Avrl $\tau o\hat{v}$ 'instead of' Ja. 4. 15. Aid $\pi a \nu \tau \delta s \tau o\hat{v} \langle \hat{\eta} \nu H. 2. 15$ 'all through life,' cp. supra 1 ad fin. 'Ek $\tau o\hat{v} \ \ddot{\epsilon} \chi \epsilon \nu 2 C. 8. 11$, probably = $\kappa a \partial \delta \ \ddot{a} \nu \ \ddot{\epsilon} \chi \eta$ of verse 12 (pro facultatibus, Grimm). "Evekev $\tau o\hat{v} \ \phi a \nu \epsilon \rho \omega \partial \hat{\eta} \nu a \iota$ 2 C. 7. 12 (formed on the model of the preceding $\ \ddot{\epsilon} \nu \epsilon \kappa \epsilon \nu \ \tau o\hat{v} \ \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \partial \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu A. 8. 40$ (post-classical, in the LXX. Gen. 24. 33, Viteau); the Attic use of $\mu \dot{\epsilon} \chi \rho \iota \ (\ddot{a} \chi \rho \iota) \ \tau o\hat{v}$ with the inf. does not occur. If $\rho \delta \tau o\hat{v}$ Mt. 6. 8, L. 2. 21, 22. 15, A. 23. 15, Jo. 1. 49, 13. 19, 17. 5, G. 2. 12, 3. 23. The gen. of the inf. is nowhere found with $\dot{a} \pi \delta$, $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a}$, $\pi \epsilon \rho \dot{\iota}$, $\dot{v} \pi \dot{\epsilon} \rho$, nor yet with $\ddot{a} \nu \epsilon \nu$, $\chi \omega \rho \dot{\epsilon} s$, $\chi \dot{\epsilon} \rho \iota \nu$ etc.

7. The preposition ϵv is used with the dative of the infinitive, generally in a temporal sense = 'while': Mt. 13. 4 $\epsilon v \tau \hat{\varphi} \sigma \pi \epsilon i \rho \epsilon i \nu$ αὐτόν, = the classical $\sigma \pi \epsilon i \rho o \nu \tau o s$ αὐτοῦ (since Attic writers do not use $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\varphi}$ in this way, as Hebrew writers certainly use \mathbb{P} , Gesen.-Kautzsch § 114, 2), 13. 25, 27. 12, Mc. 4. 4, L. 1. 8, 2. 6, 43, 5. 1 etc. ($\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\dot{\epsilon}\nu\epsilon\tau\sigma\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\tau\hat{\psi}$ is specially frequent, e.g. 1. 8, 2. 6), A. 2. 1, 9. 3, 19. 1 ($\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\dot{\epsilon}\nu$. $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\tau \hat{\psi}$), R. 3. 4 O.T., 15. 13 (om. DEFG, the clause is probably due to dittography of eis to περισσεύειν), G. 4. 18. This phrase generally takes the present infinitive, in Luke however it also takes the aorist inf., in which case the rendering of it is usually altered from 'while' to 'after that' (so that it stands for the aorist participle or $\delta \tau \epsilon$ with the aorist) : L. 2. 27 $\epsilon v \tau \hat{\psi} \epsilon i \sigma a \gamma a \gamma \epsilon \hat{v} = \epsilon i \sigma a \gamma a \gamma \delta v \tau \omega v$ or $\delta \tau \epsilon \epsilon i \sigma \eta \gamma a \gamma o v$, (3. 21 έν τῷ βαπτισθηναι [= ὅτε ἐβαπτίσθη] άπαντα τὸν λαὸν καὶ Ἰησοῦ $\beta_{a\pi\tau\iota\sigma}\theta_{\ell\nu\tau\sigma}$, the two things are represented as simultaneous events), 8. 40 (ὑποστρέφειν ×B), 9. 34 (simultaneous events), 36, 11. 37, 14. 1, 19. 15, 24. 30, A. 11. 15.1 Also H. 2. 8 έν τῷ ὑποτάξαι, where again simultaneousness is expressed, 'in that' or 'by the fact that,' = ὑποτάξας; a similar meaning is expressed in 8. 13 by έν τ $\hat{\psi}$ λέγειν 'in that he says,' 'by saying'; further instances of a meaning that is not purely temporal are Mc. 6. 48 β agavi(oµévous év $\tau \hat{\psi}$ édaúveiv, in rowing: L. 1. 21 $\partial a \dot{\mu} a \dot{\rho} v \dot{\epsilon} v \tau \hat{\varphi}$, when and that he tarried: A. 3. 26 $\epsilon v \tau \hat{\psi} \, a \pi o \sigma \tau \rho \epsilon \phi \epsilon v$, in that he turned = by turning; so 4. 30 (Herm. Vis. i. 1. 8).—The articular infinitive is never found with $\epsilon \pi i$ or $\pi \rho \delta s$.

§ 72. CASES WITH THE INFINITIVE. NOMINATIVE AND ACCUSATIVE WITH THE INFINITIVE.

1. The classical language has but few exceptions to the rule that the subject of the infinitive, if identical with the subject of the main verb, is not expressed, but is supplied from the main verb in the nominative (§ 70, 1); the exceptions are occasioned by the necessity for laying greater emphasis on the subject, or by assimilation to an additional contrasted subject, which must necessarily be expressed

¹ Accordingly one might expect in L. 10. 35 $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\omega} \epsilon \pi a \nu \epsilon \rho \chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \ell \mu \epsilon a \pi o \delta \omega \sigma \omega$ rather to have $\epsilon \pi a \nu \epsilon \lambda \theta \epsilon \hat{\nu} r$, cp. 19. 15; but the meaning is not 'after my return' but 'on my way back.'

by the accusative. On the other hand, the interposition of a preposition governing the infinitive produces no alteration of the rule, nor again the insertion of $\delta \epsilon i \nu$, $\chi \rho \eta \nu \alpha i$ (of which insertion there are no instances in the N.T. if we except A. 26. 9 in Paul's speech before Agrippa). The same rule applies to the N.T.; the subject of the infinitive which has already been given in or together with the main verb, in the majority of cases is not repeated with the infinitive : and if the infinitive is accompanied by a nominal predicate or an appositional phrase agreeing with its subject, the latter is nowhere and the former is not always a reason for altering the construction, in other words the appositional phrase must and the predicate may, as in classical Greek, be expressed in the nominative. 2 C. 10. 2 Seopar 7d μή παρών (apposition) θαρρήσαι, R. 9. 3 ηύχόμην ανάθεμα (predic.) είναι aυτόs έγώ, (Jo. 7. 4 where according to BD the acc. aυτό should be read for aυτός), R. 1. 22 φάσκοντες είναι σοφοί, H. 11. 4 εμαρτυρήθη είναι δίκαιοs (in Ph. 4. 11 έμαθον αὐτάρκηs εἶναι the nom. is necessary, since the acc. and inf. is out of place with $\mu a \nu \theta \dot{a} \nu \epsilon \iota \nu$ which in meaning is related to the verb 'to be able'). Instances of omission of subject, where there is no apposition or predicate: L. 24. 23 $\lambda \epsilon \gamma_0 \nu \sigma a \iota \epsilon \omega \rho a \kappa \epsilon \nu a \iota$, Ja. 2. 14, I Jo. 2. 6, 9, Tit. 1. 16 (with $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \iota \nu$ and όμολογείν; it is superfluous to quote instances with θ έλειν, (ητείν etc.).

2. There are however not a few instances where, particularly if a nominal predicate is introduced, the infinitive (in a way that is familiar in Latin writers)1 keeps the reflexive pronoun in the accusative as its subject, and then the predicate is made to agree with this. A. 5. 36 Oevdas Léywe elvaí riva éautóv, 8. 9, L. 23. 3, Ap. 2. 9 and 3. 9 των λεγόντων Ίουδαίους είναι έαυτούς (in 2. 2 most MSS. omit είναι), L. 20. 20 ύποκρινομένους έαυτούς δικαίους είναι (είναι om. D), R. 2. 19 πέποιθας σεαυτόν όδηγον είναι, 6. 11 λογίζεσθε έαυτούς είναι νεκρούς. According to the usage of the classical language there would in all these cases be no sufficient reason for the insertion of the reflexive; after λεγόντων in Ap. 2. 9 Ίουδαίων would have had to be used, but this assimilation is certainly not in the manner of the N.T., vide infra 6; in 1 C. 7. 11 συνέστήσατε ('you have proved') έαυτοὺς ἀγνοὺς εἶναι, classical Greek would have said ὑμῶς αὐτοὺς ὄντας, see § 70, 3. The only instances of the reflexive being used where there is no nominal predicate are: Ph. 3. 13 έγω έμαυτον ουπω λογίζομαι κατειληφέναι, Η. 10. 34 γινώσκοντες έχειν έαυτους κρείσσονα υπαρξιν (cp. § 70, 2), Clem. Cor. i. 39. 1 έαυτους βουλόμενοι έπαίρεσθαι, = class. αὐτοί, Herm. Sim. vi. 3. 5, A. 25. 21 τοῦ Παύλου ἐπικαλεσαμένου τηρείσθαι αὐτόν (cp. § 69, 4): this last is the only instance (besides the reading of \overline{CD} in L. 20. 7 $\mu\dot{\eta}$ eldeval autovs) where the pronoun is not reflexive (cp. E. 4. 22 vµas, but the whole construction of that sentence is far from clear). In A. 25. 4 the reflexive is kept where there is a contrasted clause as often in classical Greek : $\tau\eta$ -

¹ Also found in inscriptional translations from Latin, Viereck Sermo Graecus senatus Rom. p. 68, 12.

ρείσθαι τὸν Π., ἑαυτὸν δὲ μέλλειν κ.τ.λ. (in classical Greek αὐτὸς might also be used).

3. More remarkable are the instances where an infinitive dependent on a preposition, though its subject is identical with that of the main verb, nevertheless has an accusative, and moreover an accusative of the simple personal pronoun (not reflexive), attached to it as its subject. This insertion of the pronoun is a very favourite construction, if the clause with the inf. and prep. holds an independent position within the sentence. Thus it is found after $\mu\epsilon\tau\dot{a}\tau\dot{\sigma}$ in Mt. 26. 32 = Mc. 14. 28 μετά τὸ ἐγερθηναί με προάξω, Α. 1. 3 παρέστησεν έαυτον ζῶντα μετὰ το παθεῖν αὐτόν (19. 21 μετὰ το γενέσθαι, but D adds με, Herm. Vis. ii. 1. 3, Mand. iv. 1. 7, Sim. viii. 2. 5, 6. 1). After διά τδ : L. 2. 4 ἀνέβη...διὰ τὸ εἶναι αὐτὸν, 19. 11, Jo. 2. 24 διὰ τὸ αὐτὸν γινώσκειν, Ja. 4. 2 οὐκ ἔχετε διὰ τὸ μὴ αἰτείσθαι ὑμῶς, Η. 7. 24. "Εως τοῦ ἐλθεῖν αὐτὸν Α. 8. 40. Πρὸ τοῦ L. 22. 15. Ἐν τῷ κατηγορείσθαι αὐτὸν οὐδὲν ἀπεκρίνατο Mt. 27. 12, cp. L. 9. 34, 10. 35, A. 4. 30, R. 3. 4 O.T., Clem. Cor. i. 10. 1. With the simple dative of the inf. 2 C. 2. 13. This accus. is not found in the N.T. in expressions denoting aim by means of $\epsilon is \tau \delta$ and $\pi \rho \delta s \tau \delta$ (though it occurs with είs in Clem. Cor. i. 34. 7); nor is it found in all cases with μετά etc. That the reflexive pronoun is not used is natural in view of the independent character of the clause with the infinitive and preposition. (The acc. is found after ωστε in Clem. Cor. i. 11. 2, 46. 7, Herm. Sim. ix. 6. 3, 12. 2; after $\tau o \hat{v}$ in Clem. Cor. i. 25. 2; after $\pi \rho i v$ in Herm. Sim. ix. 16. 3.)

4. A certain scarcity of the use of the nominative with the infinitive is seen in the fact that the personal construction with the passive voice such as $\lambda \dot{\epsilon}\gamma o\mu a\iota \epsilon \dot{\iota} v a\iota$ is by no means common in the N.T. writers (for H. 11. 4 $\dot{\epsilon}\mu a\rho \tau v \rho \dot{\eta} \theta \eta$ $\dot{\epsilon} \dot{\iota} v a\iota$ vide sup. 1; cp. $X\rho \iota \sigma \tau \delta s$ $\kappa \eta \rho \dot{\iota} \sigma \sigma \tau a\iota$ $\delta \tau \iota$ 1 C. 15. 12, $\dot{\delta} \rho \eta \theta \epsilon \delta s$ Mt. 3. 3, $\dot{\eta} \kappa o \upsilon \sigma \eta \delta \tau \iota$ used personally Mc. 2. 1?, $\phi a \nu \epsilon \rho \delta \sigma \theta a\iota$ $\delta \tau \iota$ 2 C. 3. 3, 1 Jo. 2. 19, $\phi a \nu \epsilon \rho \delta \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \sigma \tau \tau a\iota$ $\delta \tau \iota$ Herm. Sim. iv. 4). The personal construction is used more frequently with the inf. denoting something which ought to take place ($\delta \epsilon \delta \delta \kappa \iota \mu \delta \sigma \mu \epsilon \sigma \epsilon \sigma \theta \eta \delta \tau \iota$ 1 Th. 2. 4; $\chi \rho \eta \mu a \tau (\xi \sigma \theta a\iota \S 69, 4;$ the latter verb is also found with the nom. and inf. of assertion in L. 2. 26 according to the reading of D), and with adjectives (§ 69, 5) such as $\delta \nu \nu \sigma \tau \delta s$, $i\kappa a\nu \delta s$ (but $d\rho \kappa \epsilon \tau \delta s$ in 1 P. 4. 3 does not affect the inf. which has a subject of its own); so too we have $\epsilon \delta \delta \rho a \epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \mu a \nu \tau \hat{\phi} \delta \epsilon \dot{\iota} \nu \pi \rho \tilde{a} \xi a\iota$ A. 26. 9, as well as $\epsilon \delta \delta \delta \xi \epsilon \mu o \iota L$. 1. 3 etc.

5. The accusative and infinitive is also in comparison with its use in the classical language greatly restricted, by direct speech or by $i\nu a$ and $i\sigma \iota$; similarly instances of $\tau \partial$ (nom. or acc.) with the acc. and inf. (as in R. 4. 13) are almost entirely wanting. On the other hand this construction has made some acquisitions, cp. supra 2 and 3, § 70, 2 etc.; and a certain tendency to use the fuller construction (acc. and infin.) is unmistakable. However, even in cases where the accusative may be inserted, it need not always be used : thus we have $o \tilde{v} \tau \omega s \tilde{\epsilon} \chi \epsilon \iota \nu$ in A. 12. 15, but in 24. 9 $\tau a \tilde{v} \tau a o \tilde{v} \tau \omega s \tilde{\epsilon} \chi \epsilon \iota \nu$; it may further be omitted with $d\nu a \gamma \kappa \eta$ and $\delta \epsilon \tilde{\iota}$ as in Mt. 23. 23 $\tilde{\epsilon} \delta \epsilon \iota \pi \sigma \iota \eta \sigma a \iota$

[§ 72. 5.

(i.e. ὑμα̂s), R. 13. 5 ἀνάγκη ὑποτάσσεσθαι (see § 30, 3; DE etc. read διδ $\dot{v}\pi\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon$; or again if the subject of the inf. has already been mentioned in another case with the main verb, as in L. 2. 26 η_{ν} αὐτῷ κεχρηματισμένον μη ίδειν (i.e. αὐτον) θάνατον, or if it may readily be supplied from a phrase in apposition with the subject, as in 1 P. 2. 11 άγαπητοί, παρακαλώ (i.e. ύμας) ώς παροίκους ... ἀπέχεσθαι, cp. ibid. 15, Vitcau, p. 149 f. The following, therefore, are the cases where the acc. and inf. is allowable :- with verbs of perceiving, recognizing, believing, asserting, showing, § 70, 1-3, where the object of this verb and the subject of the inf. is generally not identical with the subject of the principal verb: with verbs of making and allowing, also with some verbs of commanding and bidding such as $\kappa \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \dot{\nu} \epsilon \nu$. where the two things are never identical: with verbs of willing, where they usually are identical (and the simple inf. is therefore the usual construction), of desiring etc.: again with impersonal expressions like δεί, ένδέχεται, ανάγκη, δυνατόν, αρεστόν (έστι), ώρα (έστίν) etc., also $\epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \tau \sigma$, $\sigma \nu \nu \epsilon \beta \eta$; with a certain number of these last expressions the subject of the infinitive is already expressed in the dative outside the range of the infinitive clause, while in the case of others there is a tendency to leave it unexpressed, either because it may readily be supplied as has been stated above, or in general statements because of its indefiniteness. To these instances must be added the inf. with a preposition and the article, and the inf. with $\pi \rho i \nu$, $\tau \delta$, $\tau o \hat{\nu}$, $\omega \sigma \tau \epsilon$, if the subject is here expressed and not left to be supplied. Some details may be noticed. With verbs of perceiving, knowing etc. (also making) frequently, as in classical Greek, the accusative is present, while the infinitive is replaced by on (or iva respectively) with a finite verb: A. 16. 3 ἤδεισαν τον πατέρα αὐτοῦ ὅτι Ἔλλην ὑπῆρχεν, 3. 10, 4. 13, Mc. 11. 32, G. 5. 21, Ap. 3. 9 ποιήσω αὐτοὺς iva n'Éovoiv; cp. supra 4 for the nom. with a personal construction with ori, and 1 C. 9. 15, § 69, 5; the accus. may also be followed by an indirect question, as in Jo. 7. 27 etc.^1 We may further note the ordinary passive construction with verbs of commanding, see § 69, 8; the verb $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \epsilon \nu$ belongs to this category, which when used to express a command, though it may take the dative of the person addressed with a simple infinitive (corresponding to an imperative of direct speech) as in Mt. 5. 34, 39, L. 12. 13, yet is also found with the acc. and inf: A. 21. 21 $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega \nu$ (om. D) $\mu \dot{\eta} \pi \epsilon \rho \iota \tau \epsilon \mu \nu \epsilon \iota \nu$ autoùs tà $\tau \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \nu a$, 22. 24 (pass.), L. 19. 15 (do.), where the ambiguity as to whether command or assertion is intended must be cleared up by the context. The dative with the inf. is also found after $\delta_{i\alpha\tau\dot{\alpha}\sigma\epsilon_{i}\nu}$ (- $\epsilon\sigma\theta_{\alpha i}$) A. 24. 23, επιτάσσειν (Mc. 6. 39 etc.; also τάσσειν Α. 22. 10), παραγγέλλειν, έντέλλεσ θαι, also έπιτρέπειν, after impersonal and adjectival or substantival expressions like συμφέρει, έθος έστι, άθέμιτον, αίσχρόν, καλών έστι etc. (cp. Dative § 37, 3); to which may be added συνεφωνήθη υμιν πειράσαι A. 5. 9, § 37, 6, p. 114 note 1. But the acc. and inf. is

¹ Even by $\mu \eta \pi \omega s$ after $\phi o\beta \epsilon \tilde{i} \sigma \theta a \iota$, a verb which can certainly not take acc. and inf.: G. 4. 11 $\phi o\beta o \tilde{i} \mu a \iota \dot{\mu} a \tilde{s}$ (for you), $\mu \eta \pi \omega s \epsilon i \kappa \tilde{\eta} \kappa \epsilon \kappa o \pi \iota a \kappa a \epsilon i s \dot{\iota} \mu a \tilde{s}$, with which Soph. O.T. 760 is compared (Win. § 66, 5).

not excluded from being used with these words, being found not only with a passive construction as in A. 10. 48 $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\epsilon\tau\alpha\xi\epsilon\nu$ autous βαπτισθήναι, Mc. 6. 27 ἐπέταξεν ἐνεχθήναι (NBC have ἐνέγκαι which is less in accordance with N.T. idiom) $\tau \eta \nu \kappa \epsilon \phi \alpha \lambda \eta \nu$, but also with an active (eragar arabaíreir Παύλοr A. 15. 2), and even where the person addressed is identical with the subject of the inf., 1 Tim. 6. 13 f. παραγγέλλω ... τηρήσαί σε. Also with συμφέρει and πρέπει there is nothing to prevent the inf. from having a subject of its own, as distinct from the person interested: Jo. 18. 14 $\sigma \nu \mu \phi \epsilon \rho \epsilon i \epsilon \nu a a \nu \theta \rho \omega \pi o \nu$ άποθανείν, 1 C. 11. 13; it is more remarkable that with καλόν έστι 'it is good' the interested person may be expressed by the accusative with an inf. : Mt. 17. 4 = Mc. 9. 5, L. 9. 33 καλόν έστιν ήμας ωδε είναι, where however the accusative may be justified, the phrase being equivalent to 'I am pleased that we are here': Mc. 9. 45 καλόν ἐστίν σε είσελθείν είς την ζωήν χωλόν (cp. 43, 47, where the MSS. are more divided between σ_{0i} and σ_{ϵ} ; σ_{0i} is used in Mt. 18. 8 f.). So too we have R. 13. 11 where $\dot{\eta}\mu\hat{a}s \dot{\epsilon}\gamma\epsilon\rho\theta\hat{\eta}\nu a\iota$, where $\dot{\eta}\mu\hat{\iota}\nu$ would be equally good : L. 6. 4 ούς ούκ έξεστιν φαγείν εί μή μόνους τούς ίερεις (D has the dat. as in Mt. 12. 4; in Mc. 2. 26 BL have the acc., ACD etc. the dat.): L. 20. 22 έξεστιν ήμας ... δούναι BL (ήμιν ACD al.). Έγένετο frequently takes acc. and inf.; with the dat. it means 'it befell him that he'etc. A. 20. 16, G. 6. 14; but the acc. and inf. may also be used after a dative, A. 22. 6 έγένετό μοι ... περιαστράψαι φώς, even where the accusative refers to the same person as the dative, 22. 17 έγένετό μοι ... γενέσθαι με (a very clumsy sentence). On the indicative after eyévero see § 79, 4. The person addressed is expressed by the genitive after δέομαι 'request'; if the subject of the inf. is the petitioner,¹ then we have the nom. and inf., L. 8. 38, 2 C. 10. 2: if the person petitioned, the simple inf. is likewise used, L. 9. 38, The verbs of cognate meaning with the last take the A. 26. 3. accus. of the person addressed, namely ἐρωτῶ, παρακαλῶ, aἰτοῦμαι, also $d\xi_{i\hat{\omega}}, \pi \alpha \rho \alpha_{i} \nu \hat{\omega}$; here therefore we have a case of acc. and inf., but the infinitive has a greater independence than it has in the strict cases of acc. and inf., and may accordingly in spite of the accusative which has preceded take a further accusative as its subject (especially where a passive construction is used): A. 13. 28 ήτήσαντο Πιλάτον άναιρεθήναι αὐτόν, 1 Th. 5. 27 δρκίζω ὑμῶς ἀναγνωσθηναι την ἐπιστολήν (here the choice of the passive is not without a reason, whereas in Acts loc. cit. D has τοῦτον μὲν σταυρῶσαι). (Α. 21. 12 παρεκαλοῦμεν... τοῦ μη ἀναβαίνειν αὐτόν.)

6. Since the subject of the inf. generally stands or is thought of as standing in the accusative, it is natural that appositional clauses and predicates of this subject also take the accusative case, not only where the subject itself has or would have this case if it were expressed, but also where it has already been used with the principal verb in the genitive or dative. The classical language has the

Q

¹ This strikes one as an unusual construction, but it is found elsewhere, $\dot{\eta}\rho\dot{\omega}\tau \lambda a\beta\epsilon\dot{\nu} A. 3. 3. \dot{\eta}\tau\dot{\eta}\sigma\sigma\tau \epsilon\dot{\nu}\rho\epsilon\dot{\nu} 7. 46$ (28. 20?); a classical instance is $al\tau\hat{\omega}\nu$ $\lambda a\beta\epsilon\dot{\nu}$ Aristoph. Plut. 240.

choice of saying συμβουλεύω σοι προθύμω είναι or πρόθυμον είναι; in the case of a genitive $\delta \epsilon \phi \mu a i \sigma \sigma v \pi \rho \sigma \theta \psi \mu \sigma v \epsilon i v a i s given the preference$ (an adj.), but προστάτην γενέσθαι (a subst.; Kühner, Gr. ii.² 510 f.); appositional clauses formed by means of a participle are freely expressed by the dat. (or acc.), but not by the gen., the accusative being used instead. In the N.T. there is no instance of a predicate being expressed by gen. or dat.; appositional clauses are also for the most part placed in the accusative, as in L. 1. 73 f. τοῦ δοῦναι ἡμῖν ... ρυσθέντας λατρεύειν, Η. 2. 10, A. 15. 22, 25 (in 25 ABL have έκλεξαμένοις) etc.; the dat. is only found in the following passages, 2 P. 2. 21 κρείσσον ήν αὐτοῖς μὴ ἐπεγνωκέναι...ή ἐπιγνοῦσιν ἐπιστρέψαι (where however the participle belongs rather to $\kappa \rho \epsilon \hat{i} \sigma \sigma \sigma \nu \eta \nu \alpha \dot{\nu} \tau \sigma \hat{i} s$ than to the inf., as it decidedly does in A. 16. 21, where Pupaious οῦσιν goes with «ξεστιν ήμιν; so in L. 1. 3), L. 9. 59 ἐπίτρεψόν μοι πρώτον ἀπελθόντι (but D has -τα, ΑΚΠ ἀπελθεῖν καὶ) θάψαι τὸν πατέρα μου, A. 27. 3 επέτρεψεν (sc. τῷ Παύλφ) προς τους φίλους πορευθέντι (NAB; -τα HLP) επιμελείας τυχείν.

§ 73. PARTICIPLE. (I.) PARTICIPLE AS ATTRIBUTE— REPRESENTING A SUBSTANTIVE—AS PREDICATE.

1. The participles—which are declinable nouns belonging to the verb, used to express not action or being acted upon, like the infinitive, but the actor or the person acted on—have not as yet in the N.T. forfeited much of that profusion with which they appear in the classical language, since their only loss is that the future participles are less widely used (§ 61, 4); the further development of the language into modern popular Greek certainly very largely reduced the number of these verbal forms, and left none of them remaining except the (pres. and perf.) participles passive and an indeclinable gerund in place of the pres. part. act. The usages of the participle in the N.T. are also on the whole the same as in the classical language, though with certain limitations, especially with regard to the frequency with which some of them are employed.

2. Participle as attribute (or in apposition) with or without an article, equivalent to a relative sentence. Mt. 25. $34 \tau \eta \nu \eta \tau \sigma \iota \mu a \sigma \mu \epsilon \tau \eta \nu \psi \eta \nu \beta a \sigma \iota \lambda \epsilon (a\nu, = \tau. \beta. \eta \psi \eta \nu \eta \eta \sigma \iota \mu a \sigma \tau a : Mc. 3. 22 oi \gamma \rho a \mu \mu a \tau \epsilon is oi a d `leposolum w kata β a v test: Mc. 6. 48 δ μοιόs έστιν ανθρώπψ οἰκόδο-μοῦντι οἰκίαν, cp. Mt. 7. 24 ανδρι ὄστις φκοδόμησεν αὐτοῦ την οἰκίαν : Mc. 5. 25 γυνη οὖσα ἐν ῥύσει αίματος κ.τ.λ. (the participles continue for a long way; cp. L. 8. 43, where the first part. is succeeded by a relative sentence. Frequently we have δ λεγόμενος, καλούμενος (in Lc. also ἐπικαλ., of surnames, A. 10. 18, cp. δς ἐπικαλείται 5. 32) followed by a proper name, the art. with the participle being placed after the generic word or the original name : ὄρους τοῦ καλουμένου ἐλαιῶν Α. 1. 12, `lησοῦς δ λεγόμενος Χριστός Mt. 1. 16' (we never find such expressions$

¹ Jo. 5. 2 έστιν ... έπὶ τŷ προβατικŷ κολυμβήθρα ἡ ἐπιλεγομένη ... Βηθζαθά (D reads λεγ. without ἡ, \aleph^* τὸ λεγόμενον); in this passage the article must have been

as in Thuc. ii. 29. 3 ths $\Phi\omega\kappa$ ídos vův καλουμένης γής, or in iv. 8. 6 ή νήσος ή Σφακτηρία καλουμένη). A point to be noticed is the separation of the participle from the word or words which further define its meaning: R. 8. 18 την μέλλουσαν δόξαν άποκαλυφθήναι, G. 3. 23, 1 C. 12. 22 τὰ δοκοῦντα μέλη ... ὑπάρχειν, 2 P. 3. 2, A. 13. 1 έν 'Αντιοχεία κατά την ούσαν έκκλησίαν, 14. 13 του όντος Διός πρό πόλεως according to the reading of D (see Ramsay, Church in Roman Empire, p. 51 f.), 28 17. Participles as a rule do not show a tendency to dispense with the article, even where the preceding substantive has none; in that case (cp. § 47, 6) the added clause containing the article often gives a supplementary definition or a reference to some well-known fact : 1 P. 1. 7 χρυσίου τοῦ ἀπολλυμένου, L. 7. 32 παιδίοις τοῖς ἐν ἀγορῷ καθημένοις, Jo. 12. 12 ὄχλος πολὺς ὁ έλθων είς την έορτήν, Α. 4. 12 ούδε γαρ δνομά έστιν έτερον το δεδομένον. In these last two and in similar passages (Mc. 14. 41, A. 11. 21, where DE al. omit the art., Jd. 4, 2 Jo. 7) the presence of the article is remarkable, not because it would be better omitted-for that must have obscured the attributive character of the clause-but because according to Attic custom this attributive character should rather have been expressed by a relative sentence. The same use of the art. is found with $\tau i \nu \epsilon s$ without a substantive : L. 18. 9 $\tau i \nu \epsilon s$ $\tau o \delta s$ πεποιθότας έφ' έαυτοις, G. 1. 7 εί μή τινές είσιν οι ταράσσοντες ύμας, Col. 2. 8; the definite article here has no force, and we may compare in Isocrates εἰσί τινες οι μέγα φρονούσιν (10. 1), ε. τ. οι ... ἔχουσι (15. 46).¹ These constructions have therefore been caused by the fact that a relative sentence and a participle with the article have become synonymous.²-The participle with article is found, as in classical Greek, with a personal pronoun, Ja. 4. 12 συ τίς εί ὁ κρίνων (ôs κρίνεις KL), 1 C. 8. 10 σε (om. B al.) τον εχοντα, R. 9. 20, Jo. 1. 12 etc.; also where the pronoun must be supplied from the verb, H. 4. 3 είσερχόμεθα ... οἱ πιστεύσαντες, 6. 18; it is especially frequent with an imperative, Mt. 7. 23, 27. 40 (also οὐαὶ ὑμῦν, οἱ ἐμπεπλησμένοι [= oi εμπέπλησθε] L. 6. 25, though in 24 we have oùal ὑμίν τοis πλουσίοιs; A. 13. 16 ἄνδρες Ἱσραηλίται καὶ [sc. ὑμεῖς] οἱ φοβούμενοι τον θεόν, 2. 14; § 33, 4).

3. The participle when used without a substantive (or pronoun) and in place of one, as a rule takes the article as it does in classical Greek: $\delta \pi a \rho a \delta i \delta o \circ s \mu \epsilon$ Mt. 26. 46 (cp. 48; 'Iov $\delta a \sigma a \rho$. $a v \tau o \nu 25$), $\delta \kappa \lambda \epsilon \pi \tau \omega \nu$ 'he who has stolen hitherto' E. 4. 28 etc. so also when used as a predicate (cp. § 47, 3), Jo. 8. 28 $\epsilon \gamma \omega \epsilon i \mu \iota \delta \mu a \rho \tau \nu \rho \omega \nu$, 6. 63 etc. Where it is used with a general application as in E. 4. 28 loc. cit. $\pi \delta s$ may be inserted: $\pi \delta \sigma \iota \tau \sigma \delta s$ $\kappa \alpha \tau \sigma \iota \kappa \sigma v \sigma \nu \sigma \lambda r \sigma \delta s$

omitted according to Attic usage, but may stand according to the usage of the N.T.: cp. the further instances given of this in the text. The reading $\tau \delta \lambda \epsilon \gamma \delta \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \nu$ (and the insertion of η) may be due to $\kappa \delta \lambda \nu \mu \beta \eta \theta \rho a$ being taken as a dative.

¹ In Lys. 19. 57 eloi tives of π poaraliskovtes it has not unreasonably been proposed to read of π poaraliskovs.

² For an instance where of is omitted cp. Mc. 14. 4 $\eta\sigma d\nu \tau \iota\nu\epsilon s d\gamma a\nu a\kappa \tau o \hat{\nu} \tau \epsilon s$, a periphrasis for the imperfect.

όργιζόμενος Mt. 5. 25, cp. 28, 7. 8 etc., L. 6. 30, 47 etc., A. 10. 43, 13. 39 ($\pi \hat{a}$ s δ not elsewhere in Acts), R. 1. 16, 2. 1 etc., though in other cases the article cannot be used with $\pi \hat{a}s$ 'everyone,' § 47, 9. Cp. Soph. Aj. 152 πâs ὁ κλύων, Demosth. 23. 97 πâs ἱ θέμενοs (Krüger, Gr. 50, 4, 1: 11, 11). The article is omitted in Mt. 13. 19 παντός ακούοντος, L. 11. 4 παντί όφείλοντι (LX insert art.; D reads quite differently), 2 Th. 2. 4, Ap. 22. 15; and in all cases where a substantive is introduced as in Mt. 12. 25 (here again participle with art. is equivalent to a relative sentence, cp. $\pi \hat{a}s$ ő $\sigma \tau \iota s$ Mt. 7. 24 with the part. in 26). Instances without $\pi \hat{as}$ where the art is omitted (occasionally found in class. Greek, Kühner ii. 525 f.): ἡγούμενος Mt. 2. 6 O.T. (see § 47, 3), φωνη βοώντος Mc. 1. 3 O.T., έχεις έκει κρατούντας Ap. 2. 14, οὐκ ἔστιν συνίων κ.τ.λ. R. 3. 11 f. O.T. (according to (A)BG, other MSS. insert art., in LXX. Ps. 13. I f. most MSS. omit it), 'one who' or 'persons who,' though with oik $\epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu$, $\epsilon \chi \omega$ and similar words the article is not ordinarily omitted in Attic.---Neuter participle, sing. and plur.: Mt. 1. 20 $\tau \delta$ $\epsilon \nu$ $\alpha \dot{\nu} \tau \hat{\eta}$ $\gamma \epsilon \nu \nu \eta \theta \epsilon \nu$, 2. 15 and passim το βηθέν, L. 2. 27 το είθισμένον (έθος D) του νόμου (cp. § 47, 1), 3. 13 το διατεταγμένον υμιν, 4. 16 κατα το είωθος αυτώ, 8. 56 το γεγονός, 9. 7 τὰ γενόμενα, Jo. 16. 13 τὰ ἐρχόμενα, 1 C. 1. 28 τὰ έξουθενημένα, τὰ μὴ ὄντα, τὰ ὄντα, 10. 27 πῶν τὸ παρατιθέμενον, 14. 7, 9 το αύλούμενον etc., 2 C. 3. 10 f. το δεδοξασμένον, το καταργούμενον etc., H. 12. 10 κατά το δοκούν αὐτοῖς, ἐπὶ το συμφέρον, 12. 11 $\pi\rho \partial s \tau \partial \pi \alpha \rho \partial \nu$ etc. On the whole, as compared with the classical language, the use of the neuter is not a very frequent one : like the masculine participle it sometimes has reference to some individual thing, sometimes it generalizes; τὸ συμφέρον has also (as in Attic) become a regular substantive, if it is the correct reading, and not σύμφορον, in 1 C. 7. 35, 10. 33 το υμών αυτών (έμαυτου) συμφέρον (s° al.).-In one or two passages we also find the rare future participle used with the article without a substantive: L. 22. 49 $\tau\delta$ έσόμενον (το γενόμ. D; other MSS. omit these words altogether from the text), etc., see \S 61, 1.

4. The participle stands as part of the predicate in the first place in the periphrastic forms of the verb, § 62: viz. in the perfect (and fut. perf.) as in classical Greek, also according to Aramaic manner in the imperfect and future, the boundary-line between this use of the participle and its use as a clause in apposition being not very clearly drawn, ibid. 2. The finite verb used with it is *ival* or $\gamma i \nu \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ (ibid. 3). This predicative participle is further used as the complement of a series of verbs which express a qualified form of the verb 'to be' (to be continually, to be secretly etc.), and which by themselves give a quite incomplete sense; still this use of the part. as the complement of another verb has very much gone out in the N.T. and is mainly found only in Luke and Paul (Hebrews). Υπάρχειν (strictly 'to be beforehand,' 'to be already' so and so, though in the N.T. and elsewhere in the later language its meaning is weakened to that of $\epsilon l \nu \alpha i$; nowhere in the N.T. has it the sense of 'to take the lead in an action') takes a participle in A. 8. 16, 19. 36, Ja. 2. 15 γυμνοί ύπάρχωσιν και λειπόμενοι (ώσιν add. ALP) της ... τροφής; προϋπάρχειν (which obviously contains the meaning of 'before'; a classical word) takes a part. in L. 23. 12 (D is different): but the part. is independent in A. 8. 9 προϋπήρχεν έν τη πόλει, μαγεύων κ.τ.λ. (cp. the text of D). If the complement of this and of similar verbs is formed by an adjective or a preposition with a noun, then $d\nu$ should be inserted; but this participle is usually omitted with this verb and the other verbs belonging to this class, cp. infra; Phrynichus 277 notes $\phi(\lambda_{0S})$ σοι τυγχάνω without ών as a Hellenistic construction (though instances of it are not wanting in Attic).-This verb τυγχάνω 'to be by accident' never takes a part. in N.T.; Startheir 'to continue' takes an adj. without wv in A. 27. 33, for which we have impered (cp. διαμένω λέγων Demosth. 8. 71 ¹) in 'Jo.' 8. 7 ἐπέμενον ἐρωτώντες, A. 12. 16, Clem. Cor. ii. 10. 5, and as in Attic où διέλιπεν καταφιλοῦσα L. 7. 45, cp. A. 20. 27 D, Herm. Vis. i. 3. 2, iv. 3. 6, Mand. ix. 8. Apxerta in Attic takes a participle, if the initial state of anything is contrasted with its continuation or end, elsewhere the inf., which is used in all cases in the N.T.; however there is no passage where the part. would have had to be used according to the Attic rule. Ilaveofau takes a part. in L. 5. 4, A. 5. 42, 6. 13 etc., E. 1. 16, Col. 1. 9, H. 10. 2 (where it has a part. pass. où $\ddot{a}\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\pi a\dot{\nu}\sigma a\nu\tau\sigma$ $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\phi\epsilon\rho\delta\mu\epsilon\nu a\iota$); for which we have the unclassical $\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \hat{\iota} v$ in Mt. 11. 1 $\epsilon \tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \sigma \epsilon v \delta \iota a \tau d \sigma$ σων (cp. D in Luke 7. 1).- Λανθάνειν only takes a part. in H. 13. 2 έλαθον (sc. έαυτούς) ξενίσαντες (literary language); φαίνεσθαι in Mt. 6. 18 όπως μή φανής τοις ανθρώποις νηστεύων, where however νηστεύων is an addition to the subject as in verse 17 σv $\delta \epsilon$ vy $\sigma \tau$. $a\lambda \epsilon u \psi a u$, and $\phi a \nu \hat{\eta} s \tau$. $a \nu \theta \rho$. is an independent clause as in verse 5 (we nowhere have $\phi a' \nu o \mu a \nu \epsilon \rho \delta s \epsilon' \mu \iota$, $\delta \eta \lambda \delta s \epsilon' \mu \iota$ with a part. in the Attic manner = 'it is evident that'; on $\phi a \nu \epsilon \rho o \hat{\nu} \sigma \theta a \iota \delta \tau \iota$ see § 70, 3).—With verbs meaning 'to cease' or 'not to desist' may be reckoned eykakeiv which takes a part. in G. 6. 9, 2 Th. 3. 13; the Attic words κάμνειν, άπαγορεύειν 'to fail,' ἀνέχεσθαι, καρτερείν, ὑπομένειν do not appear with a participle.—Προέφθασεν αὐτὸν λέγων Mt. 17. 25 agrees with classical usage (the simple verb has almost lost the meaning of 'before'); it takes the inf. in Clem. Cor. ii. 8. 2, see § 69, 4.-Other expressions denoting action qualified in some way or other take a part. : καλώς ποιείν as in Attic, καλώς έποίησας παραγενόμενος Α. 10. 33, cp. Ph. 4. 14, 2 P. 1. 19, 3 Jo. 6; for which we find incorrectly εῦ πράσσειν in A. 15. 29 ? To this category belongs also τι ποιείτε λύοντες Mc. 11. 5, cp. A. 21. 13; and again ημαρτον παραδούς Mt. 27. 4.—O" $\chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ and the like are never found with a participle.

5. A further category of verbs which take a participle as their complement consists of those which denote emotion, such as $\chi \alpha i \rho \epsilon i \nu$, $\delta \rho \gamma i \langle \epsilon \sigma \theta a , a i \sigma \chi i \nu \epsilon \sigma \theta a , a a d the like; this usage, however, has almost disappeared in the N.T. A. 16. 34 <math>\eta \gamma a \lambda \lambda i a \tau \sigma \pi \epsilon \pi \epsilon \sigma \tau \epsilon \nu \kappa \omega s$ is an undoubted instance of it; but Jo. 20. 20 $\epsilon \chi \alpha \rho \eta \sigma a \nu i \delta \delta \nu \tau \epsilon s$ undoubtedly means 'when they saw Him' (the participle being an additional independent statement), as in Ph. 2. 28 $i \nu a i \delta \delta \nu \tau \epsilon s$ a $\nu \tau a \rho \eta \tau \epsilon$, Mt.

¹' $E\mu\mu\ell\nu\epsilon\nu\nu$ with a part. occurs in an inscriptional letter of Augustus, Viereck Sermo Graecus senatus Rom. p. 76.

2. 10. Another instance is 2 P. 2. 20 δόξας οὐ τρέμουσιν βλασφημοῦντεs 'do not shudder at reviling'; but in 1 C. 14. 18 εὐχαριστώ... $\lambda \alpha \lambda \hat{\omega} \nu$ is a wrong reading (of KL; correctly $\lambda \alpha \lambda \hat{\omega}$).—The use of the participle as a complement has been better preserved in the case of verbs of perceiving and apprehending; in classical Greek the part. stands in the nominative, if the perception refers to the subject, e.g. όρω ήμαρτηκώs, in the accusative (or genitive) if it refers to the object, whereas in the N.T. except with passive verbs the nominative is no longer found referring to the subject ($\delta \tau \iota$ is used instead in Mc. 5. 29, 1 Jo. 3. 14). With verbs meaning to see ($\beta\lambda\epsilon\pi\omega$, $\theta\epsilon\omega\rho\omega$, [δρω], είδον, $\epsilon\delta\epsilon$ ασάμην, εόρακα, τεθέαμαι, δψομαι) we have Mt. 24. 30 όψονται τον υίον τοῦ ἀνθρ. ἐρχόμενον, cp. 15. 31, Mc. 5. 31, Jo. 1. 32, 38 etc.; with ὄντα A. 8. 23, 17. 16; with an ellipse of this participle (cp. supra 4; also found in classical Greek, Krüger, Gr. § 56, 7, 4) Jo. 1. 51 είδόν σε ὑποκάτω τῆς συκῆς, Mt. 25. 38 f. εἴδομέν σε ξένον, άσθενή (άσθενοῦντα BD), cp. 45, A. 17. 22 ώς δεισιδαιμονεστέρους ὑμάς $\theta \epsilon \omega \rho \hat{\omega}^{1}$ (These verbs also take $\delta \tau \iota$, § 70, 2.) Occasionally with the verb 'to see' as with other verbs of this kind the participle is rather more distinct from the object and presents an additional clause, while object and verb together give a fairly complete idea : Mt. 22. ΙΙ είδεν έκει ανθρωπον οικ ένδεδυμένον κ.τ.λ., = δς ούκ ένεδέδυτο, Mc. 11. 13 ίδων συκην από μακρόθεν έχουσαν φύλλα, 'which had leaves.'-'Ακούων with a part. is no longer frequent ; alternative constructions, if the substance of the thing heard is stated, are the acc. and inf. and especially ὄτι, § 70, 2; it takes the acc. and part. in L. 4. 23 ὄσα ήκούσαμεν γενόμενα, A. 7. 12, 3 Jo. 4, 2 Th. 3. 11,² and incorrectly instead of the gen. in A. 9. 4, 26. 14, vide infra. The construction with a gen. and part. is also not frequent apart from the Acts : Mc. 12. 28 ἀκούσας αὐτῶν συζητούντων, 14. 58, L. 18. 36 ὅχλου διαπορευομένου, Jo. 1. 37, A. 2. 6, 6. 11 etc.; in 22. 7 and 11. 7 ήκουσα φωνής λεγούσης μοι, for which in 9. 4, 26. 14 we have φωνήν λ έγουσαν (in 26. 14 E has the gen.), although φωνή refers to the speaker and not to the thing spoken. Cp. § 36, 5.—Γινώσκειν has this construction in L. 8. 46 έγνων δύναμιν έξεληλυθυΐαν ἀπ' ἐμοῦ, A. 19. 35, H. 13. 23; but enique. Mc. 5. 30 (cp. L. loc. cit.) takes an object with an attributive participle, $\epsilon \pi i \gamma v \partial s \tau \partial v \ell \xi$ advou dúv. έξελθούσαν.—Είδέναι is so used only in 2 C. 12. 2 οίδα ... άρπαγέντα τὸν τοιοῦτον (it takes an adj. without ὄντα in Mc. 6. 20 εἰδώς αὐτὸν ἄνδρα δίκαιον, where D inserts ϵ ίναι); elsewhere it has the inf. and most frequently ὅτι, § 70, 2.— Έπίστασθαι in A. 24. 10 ὄντα σε κριτήν έπιστάμενος, cp. 26. 3 where *BEH omit έπιστ. - Εύρίσκειν commonly takes this construction (also classical, Thuc. ii. 6. 3), Mt. 12. 44 εύρίσκει (sc. τὸν οἶκον, which D inserts) σχολάζοντα, 24. 46 ὃν...εὑρήσει

¹ No further instances occur of this use of ωs with verbs of seeing: but cp. infra $\omega s \ \epsilon \chi \theta \rho \delta \nu \ \eta \gamma \epsilon \delta \sigma \theta \epsilon 2$ Th. 3. 15 'as if he were an enemy' (see also § 34, 5); the meaning therefore must be, 'so far as I see it appears as if you were' etc. (ωs softens the reproof).

² The classical distinction between the inf. and the part. with this verb (the part. denoting rather the actual fact, and the inf. the hearsay report, Kühner ii.² 629) seems not to exist in the N.T.

ποιούντα ούτως, etc. (occasionally as with the verb 'to see,' the part. is more distinct from the object, A. 9. 2 $\tau i \nu \lambda s \epsilon v \rho \eta \tau \eta s \delta \delta \delta v \delta \nu \tau \alpha s$ 'who were'); the pass. $\epsilon i \rho i \sigma \kappa \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ is used with the nom. of the part. (=Attic φαίνεσθαι, Viteau), ευρέθη ἐν γαστρι ἔχουσα Mt. 1. 18.— Δοκιμάζειν in 2 C. 8. 22 δν έδοκιμάσαμεν ('have proved') σπουδαίον ὄντα (used in another way it takes the inf., § 69, 4).-Instances of this construction are wanting with συνιέναι, aloθάνεσθαι, μεμνήσθαι and others; $\mu a \nu \theta \dot{a} \nu \epsilon \iota \nu$ (class. $\mu a \nu \theta \dot{a} \nu \omega$ $\delta \iota a \beta \epsilon \beta \lambda \eta \mu \dot{\epsilon} \nu \sigma s$ that I am slandered ') only appears to take it in 1 Tim. 5. 13 aµa δè καὶ ἀργαὶ μανθάνουσιν περιερχόμεναι, where περιερχ. is in any case an additional statement, while apyai is the predicate, with the omission (through corruption of the text) of $\epsilon i var$ ($\mu a \nu \theta$. takes the inf. ibid. 4, Ph. 4. 11, Tit. 3. 14).—Verbs of opining strictly take an inf. or a double accusative (§ 34, 5); but in the latter case the acc. of the predicate may be a participle, έχε με παρητημένον L. 14. 18, άλλήλους ήγούμενοι $i \pi \epsilon \rho \epsilon \chi_0 \nu \tau as$ Ph. 2. 3. The participle with i s may also in classical Greek be used with verbs of this class (Hdt. ii. 1 i s δούλους πατρωΐους ἐόντας ἐνόμιζε), as it is in 2 C. 10. 2 τοὺς λογιζομένους ἡμῶς ώς κατὰ σάρκα περιπατοῦντας, but we may equally well have εὑρεθεὶς ώς ανθρωπος Ph. 2. 8, ώς εχθρον ήγεισθε 2 Th. 3. 15, so that one sees that in the first passage the participle possesses no peculiar function of its own. Cp. § 74, 6.— Ομολογών takes a double accusative in Jo. 9. 22 (D inserts cival) and R. 10. 9 car Smolognorys Kuplor 'Insour 'confessest J. as Lord'; accordingly we have also in 1 Jo. 4. 2 'I $\eta\sigma$. Χρ. ἐν σαρκὶ ἐληλυθότα, unless B is more correct in reading ἐληλυθέναι; cp. 3 with the reading of N 'I. κύριον έν σ. έλ., and 2 Jo. 7.-Verbs of showing are never found with a participle, § 70, 3.

§ 74. PARTICIPLE. (II.) AS AN ADDITIONAL CLAUSE IN THE SENTENCE.

1. The participle is found still more abundantly used as an additional clause in the sentence, either referring to a noun (or pronoun) employed in the same sentence and in agreement with it (the conjunctive participle), or used independently and then usually placed together with the noun, which is its subject, in the genitive (the participle absolute). In both cases there is no nearer definition inherent in the participle as such, of the relation in which it stands to the remaining assertions of the sentence; but such a definition may be given by prefixing a particle and in a definite way by the tense of the participle (the future). The same purpose may be fulfilled by the writer, if he pleases, in other ways, with greater definiteness though at the same time with greater prolixity: namely, by a prepositional expression, by a conditional, causal, or temporal sentence etc., and lastly by the use of several co-ordinated principal verbs.

2. The conjunctive participle.—1 Tim. 1. 13 $\dot{a}\gamma\nu\omega\omega\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\omega\eta\sigma a$, cp. A. 3. 17 κατὰ $\ddot{a}\gamma\nu\omega\alpha\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\rho\dot{a}\xi$ ατε, per inscitiam : Mt. 6. 27 (L. 12. 25) τίς μεριμνών δύναται προσθείναι κ.τ.λ., 'by taking thought,' or = $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ καὶ

 $\mu\epsilon_{\rho\iota\mu\nu\hat{q}}$. We may note the occasional omission of the part. $\delta\nu$: L. 4. Ι Ίησους δε πλήρης πνεύματος άγίου υπέστρεψεν, cp. A. 6. 8 a quite similar phrase : H. 7. 2, A. 19. 37 οὔτε ἰεροσύλους οὕτε βλασ- $\phi \eta \mu o \hat{v} \tau as$ (cp. Kühner ii. 659), where the part. is concessive or adversative: as in Mt. 7. 11 ét $\delta \mu \epsilon \hat{\epsilon} s \pi \sigma \nu \eta \rho \sigma \delta$ $\delta \nu \tau \epsilon s$ otdate $\kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, 'although you are evil' (cp. L. 11. 13). To denote this sense more clearly classical Greek avails itself of the particle Kalmep, which is rare in the N.T.: Ph. 3. 4 καίπερ έγω έχων πεποίθησιν κ.τ.λ., H. 5. 8, 7. 5, 12. 17: 2 P. 1. 12 (Herm. Sim. viii 6. 4, 11. 1); it also uses кай ταῦτα, which in the N.T. appears in H. 11. 12; a less classical use is Kalton with a part., likewise only found in H. 4. 3 (before a participle absolute), and a still less classical word is καίτοιγε (in classical Greek the $\gamma\epsilon$ is detached and affixed to the word emphasized), which however is only found with a finite verb, and therefore with a sort of paratactical construction: Jo. 4. 2 (καίτοι C), A. 14. 17 (καίτοι «ABC*); in A. 17. 27 καίγε 'indeed' appears to be the better reading (καίτοιγε Ν, καίτοι AE), here a participle follows. Cp. § 77, 4 and 14. -Conditional participle: L. 9. 25 τί ώφελείται ανθρωπος κερδήσας τον κόσμον όλον, = Mt. 16. 26 έαν κερδήση. Causal: Mt. 1. 19 Ίωσηφ..., δίκαιος ῶν καὶ μὴ θέλων αὐτὴν δειγματίσαι, ἐβουλήθη κ.τ.λ., = ὅτι δίκαιος ήν, or διὰ τὸ δίκαιος είναι, or (in class. Greek) ẳτε (οίον, οἶα) δ. ῶν, particles which are no longer found in the N.T. Final participle: the classical use of the fut. part. in this sense in the N.T. apart from Lc. (A. 8. 27 έληλύθει προσκυνήσων, 22. 5, 24. 17, also 25. 13 according to the correct reading as massiveroi, § 58, 4) occurs only in Mt. 27. 49 (ἔρχεται σώσων : but ** has σώσαι, Ď κάλ σώσει). More commonly this function is performed by the pres. part., § 58, 4, as in L. 7. 6 έπεμψεν φίλους ο έκαντοντάρχης λέγων αυτώ, unless (Viteau, p. 186) another construction with kindred meaning is introduced, such as in Mt. 11. 2 $\pi \epsilon \mu \psi$ as $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu$, 1 C. 4. 17 $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \mu \psi$ a Ti $\mu \delta \theta \epsilon 0 \nu$, os $dva\mu v\eta\sigma \epsilon i$, or the infinitive, which is the commonest construction of all, § 69, 2.—Then the most frequent use of this participle is to state the manner in which an action takes place, its antecedents and its accompaniments, in which case it would sometimes be possible to use a temporal sentence in its place, and sometimes not, viz. if the statement is of too little importance to warrant the latter construction. For instance, in Mc. 1. 7 οῦ οὐκ εἰμὶ ἱκανὸς κύψας λῦσαι τὸν ἱμάντα, no one would have said ἐπειδὰν κύψω; nor again in A. 21. 32 δς παραλαβών στρατιώτας κατέδραμεν έπ' αὐτόν would anyone have used such a phrase as $e\pi \epsilon_i \delta \eta$ $\pi a \rho \epsilon \lambda a \beta \epsilon_v$, since the part. in this passage (as $\lambda a \beta \delta v$ often does in class. Greek) corresponds to our 'with' and admits of no analysis (see also Jo. 18. 3, which Viteau compares with Mt. 26. 47, where we have $\mu \epsilon \tau' a \dot{v} \tau o \hat{v}$; Mt. 25. 1). Similarly $\phi \epsilon \rho \omega v = '$ with ' in Jo. 19. 39; Exwv, which is also very common in class. Greek, occurs in L. 2. 42 in D, besides in Mt. 15. 30 with the addition of $\mu\epsilon\theta'$ έαυτῶν (ἄγων occurs nowhere). While therefore these classical phrases with the exception of $\lambda \alpha \beta \omega \nu$ are disappearing, $\lambda \alpha \beta \omega \nu$ is also used in another way together with other descriptive participles, which according to Hebrew precedent become purely pleonastic (Viteau, p. 191): Mt. 13. 31 κόκκω σινάπεως, δν λαβών ανθρωπος

^{έσπειρεν}, and again in 33 ζύμη ην λαβουσα γυνη ένέκρυψεν, 14. 19 λαβών τους άρτους ευλόγησεν, 21. 35, 39 etc.; so also ἀναστάς (after the Hebr. J. L. 15. 18 ἀναστὰς πορεύσομαι, ibid. 20, A. 5. 17, 8. 27 etc.; Mt. 13. 46 ἀπελθών πέπρακεν (cp. 25. 18, 25), πορευθείς 25. 16 (both verbs representing the Hebr. J., cp. infra 3.— The classical use of ἀρχόμενος 'at the beginning,' τελευτῶν 'in conclusion,' is not found; but we find as in class. Greek ἀρξάμενοι ἀπὸ Ἱερουσαλήμ L. 24. 47, ἀ. ἀπὸ τῶν πρεσβυτέρων 'Jo.' 8. 9 'beginning with,' with which in the passage of 'Jo.' we have in the ordinary text (D is different) the unclassical addition of ἕως τῶν ἐσχάτων, as also in A. 1. 22 ἀρξάμενος ἀπὸ τοῦ βαπτίσματος Ἰωάνου ἄχρι (ἕως BD) κ.τ.λ. (L. 23. 5, Mt. 20. 8). 'Αρξάμενος is used pleonastically in A. 11. 4 ἀρξάμενος Πέτρος ἐξετίθετο αὐτοῦς καθεξῆς, with a certain reference to καθεξῆς and occasioned by that word; cp. on ηρξατο with inf. § 69, 4 note 1, on p. 227.—With προσθεις εἶπεν 'said further L. 19. 11, cp. προστίθεσθαι with the inf. (a Hebraism) § 69, 4.

3. Conjunctive participle and co-ordination.—The pleonastic use of $\lambda \alpha \beta \epsilon \hat{\imath} v$ etc. (supra 2) does not necessarily require the participle, and the finite verb (with $\kappa \alpha i$) may also be employed in this way—a construction which exactly corresponds to the Hebrew exemplar, and which in Greek would only be regarded as intolerable when continued at some length. In the LXX. we have Gen. 32. 22 $dva\sigma\tau ds$ $\delta \epsilon$ την νύκτα ἐκείνην, ἕλαβε τὰς δύο γυναϊκας...καὶ διέβη ..., (23) καὶ ἔλαβεν autoùs kai $\delta_{i\epsilon}\beta_{\eta}$ k.t. λ , which for the most part agrees word for word with the Hebrew, except that a perfect agreement would have also required $\kappa a \, i \, d\nu \, \epsilon \sigma \tau \eta \dots \kappa a \, i \, \epsilon \lambda a \beta \, \epsilon \nu$ at the beginning, which was felt to be intolerable even by this translator. The N.T. writers have also in the case of this particular verb usually preferred the participle; co-ordination is only rarely found as in A. 8. 26 ava $\sigma \tau \eta \theta \iota$ και πορεύου (here also D has avactas $\pi o \rho \epsilon i \theta \eta \tau i$; the MSS. often give avacta without kai with asyndeton, A. 9. 11 B, 10. 13 Vulgate, 20 D* Vulg., so in 11. 7; cp. § 79, 4); L. 22. 17 λάβετε τοῦτο καὶ διαμερίσατε. In the introduction to a speech we find already in Hebrew לאביר used with a finite verb such as 'asked' or 'answered': the Greek equivalent for this is $\lambda \epsilon_{\gamma \omega \nu}$, numerous instances of which appear in the N.T. after αποκρίνεσθαι, λαλείν, κράζειν, παρακαλείν etc. But in Hebrew the word 'answered' is also succeeded by אמל (LXX. кай $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu$), and the same construction occurs in the N.T. e.g. Jo. 20. 28 άπεκρίθη Θωμάς και είπεν, 14. 23, 18. 30 (so almost always in John's Gospel, unless $d\pi\epsilon\kappa\rho$, is used without an additional word), L. 17. 20; beside which we have $a_{\pi\epsilon\kappa\rho}(\theta\eta \lambda\epsilon\gamma\omega\nu \text{ Mc. 15. 9 (D }a_{\pi\kappa\rho}\theta\epsilon)s \lambda\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\iota)$, A. 15. 13 (not in D), απεκρίθησαν λέγουσαι Mt. 25. 9, cp. 37, 44 f. (Jo. 12. 23), and by far the most predominant formula except in John $d\pi \circ \kappa \rho i \theta \epsilon is \epsilon i \pi \epsilon v$ (twice in the second half of the Acts 19. 15 [not in D], 25. 9). We never find ἀποκρινόμενος εἶπεν, any more than we find $d\pi \epsilon \kappa \rho (\theta \eta \epsilon i \pi \omega \nu)$, since the answer is reported as a fact, and therefore in the aorist, while the verb of saying which is joined with it in the participle gives the manner of the answer, and must therefore be

a present participle. John (and Paul) have also the following combinations: Jo. 1. 25 καὶ ἠρώτησαν αὐτὸν καὶ εἶπον αὐτῷ (but Mt. 15. 23 ήρώτων λέγοντες, and so John himself has ήρώτησαν λέγ. 4. 31, 9. 2 etc.), 9. 28 έλοιδόρησαν αὐτόν καὶ εἶπαν, 12. 44 ἔκραξεν καὶ εἶπεν (D έκράζε και έλεγεν), cp. D in L. 8. 28 (but Mt. 8. 29 has εκραξαν λέγοντες, so 14. 30 etc.; κράξας λέγει Mc. 5. 7 [είπε D], κράξας έλεγε 9. 24 [$\lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \iota$ a better reading in D]; $\epsilon \kappa \rho a \delta \rho v [v.l. \epsilon \kappa \rho a \delta v]$ Jo. 19. 12, $\epsilon \kappa \rho a \delta \gamma a \sigma a v \lambda \epsilon \gamma$. 18. 40); 13. 21 $\epsilon \mu a \rho \tau \delta \rho \eta \sigma \epsilon \kappa a \iota \epsilon \ell \pi \epsilon$ (A. 13. 22 $\epsilon \ell \pi \epsilon v \mu a \rho \tau v \rho \eta \sigma \sigma s$; Jo. 1. 32 $\epsilon \mu a \rho \tau \delta \rho \eta \sigma \epsilon v \lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega v$); R. 10. 20 $\epsilon \ell \pi \sigma \tau \sigma \lambda \mu \mu$ κa $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \iota$; Jo. 18. 25 $\eta \rho v \eta \sigma \sigma \tau \sigma \kappa a \iota \epsilon \ell \pi \epsilon$, Mt. 26. 70 etc. $\eta \rho v$. λέγων, but A. 7. 35 δν ήρνήσαντο ειπόντες.¹ The tense in the last instance $\epsilon i \pi \delta \nu \tau \epsilon s$ is occasioned by the fact that $\eta \rho \nu$. is not here a verbum dicendi; accordingly we find the same tense elsewhere. Jo. 11. 28 έφώνησεν την άδελφην (called) είπουσα (with the words), = καὶ εἶπεν 18. 33; A. 22. 24 ἐκέλευσεν εἰσάγεσθαι ... εἴπας, 21. 14 ήσυχάσαμεν εἰπόντες, L. 5. 13 ήψατο εἰπών, 22. 8 ἀπέστειλεν εἰπών (Mt. inversely has $\pi \epsilon \mu \psi$ as $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu$ 'sent with the words'; 11. 3 $\pi \epsilon \mu \psi$ as $\delta i a$ $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu \mu a \theta \eta \tau \hat{\omega} \nu \epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu$ is rather different 'he bade them say'). By the use of the aorist participle nothing is stated with regard to the sequence of time (cp. \S 58, 4), any more than it is by the use of the equivalent co-ordination with $\kappa a i$: L. 15.23 $\phi a \gamma \delta v \tau \epsilon s \epsilon v \phi \rho a v \theta \hat{\omega} \mu \epsilon v$, = D $\phi \dot{a} \gamma \omega \mu \epsilon \nu$ kai $\epsilon \dot{v} \phi \rho$. With the finite verb $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu$ we do indeed occasionally find λέγων (L. 12. 16, 20. 2; see § 24 s v. λέγειν), but other participles, which express something more than merely saying, are always agrist participles as in the instances quoted hitherto: παρρησιασάμενοι ε. Α. 13. 46, προσευξάμενοι ε. 1. 24, since the two verbs, which denote one and the same action, are assimilated to each other. Between two participles of this kind a connecting copula is inserted : κράζοντες και λέγοντες Mt. 9. 27, αποταξάμενος και είπών A. 18. 21 (the β text is different), Paul rather harshly has $\chi \alpha i \rho \omega \nu$ καὶ $\beta\lambda \hat{\epsilon}\pi\omega\nu$ Col. 2. 5 meaning 'since I see'; where no such close homogeneity exists between them, the participles may follow each other with asyndeton, and often are bound to do so: A. 18. 23 έξηλθεν, διερχόμενος την Γαλατικήν χώραν, στηρίζων τους μαθητάς, = έξηλθεν και διήρχετο (§ 58, 4) στηρίζων (the latter part. being subordinated as the sense requires): 19. 16 $\epsilon \phi \alpha \lambda \delta \mu \epsilon v os \delta a v \theta \rho \omega \pi os \epsilon \pi^2$ αὐτοὺς ..., κατακυριεύσας ἀμφοτέρων ἴσχυσεν κατ' αὐτῶν, = ἐφήλετο καὶ κ.τ.λ., whereas the reading καὶ κατακ. (**HLP) connects κατακυριεύειν with $\epsilon \phi a \lambda \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ in a way that is not so good; in 18 22 $\kappa a \tau \epsilon \lambda \theta \dot{\omega} \nu \epsilon \dot{\iota} s$ Καισάρειαν, άναβὰς καὶ ἀσπασάμενος τοῦς μαθητάς, κατέβη εἰς ἀντιόχειαν a second καὶ before ἀναβὰs would be possible but ugly: the sentence may be resolved into κατ $\eta\lambda\theta\epsilon\nu$ εἰς Κ., ἀναβὰς δὲ καὶ κ.τ.λ. These instances of accumulation of participles, which are not uncommon in the Acts (as distinguished from the simpler manner of

¹ Among remarkable instances of co-ordination belongs <code>έσκαψεν</code> κal ἐβάθυνεν L. 6. 48, as the meaning is 'dug deep'; βαθύνas would therefore be more appropriate. But the LXX., following the Hebrew, has the same construction, <code>έσχυνε</code> κal ἐδραμεν Judges 13. 10 (Winer).—Also Jo. 8. 59 ἐκρύβη κal ἐξῆλθεν ἐκ τοῦ ἰεροῦ, = ἐκρύβη ἐξελθών 'withdrew from their sight.'

the Gospels¹), are never devoid of a certain amount of stylistic refinement, which is absent from the instances of accumulation in the epistolary style of St. Paul, which consist rather of a mere stringing together of words.

4. A thoroughly un-Greek usage, though common in the LXX., is the addition to a finite verb of the participle belonging to that verb, in imitation of the infinitive which is so constantly introduced in Hebrew, and which in other cases is rendered in more correct Greek by the dative of the verbal substantive, § 38, 3. The N.T. only has this part. in O.T. quotations : Mt. 13. 14 $\beta\lambda\epsilon$ ovtes $\beta\lambda\epsilon\psi\epsilon$, A. 7. 34 $\delta\delta\omega\nu$ $\epsilon\delta\sigma\nu$, H. 6. 14.

5. Participle absolute.—Of the absolute participial constructions the classical language makes the most abundant use of the genitive absolute: the use of the accusative absolute is in its way as regular, but is not found very frequently : the nominative absolute (as in Hdt. vii. 157 άλης γινομένη ή Έλλάς, χείρ μεγάλη συνάγεται) is antiquated and was never a common construction. The N.T. has only preserved the use of the genitive in this way; since the so-called instances of the nom. absolute to be found there are really no construction at all, but its opposite, *i.e.* anacoluthon (see § 79, 7). Now the use of the gen. abs. in the regular classical language is limited to the case where the noun or pronoun to which the participle refers does not appear as the subject or have any other function in the sentence; in all other cases the conjunctive participle must be used. The New Testament writers on the other hand—in the same way in which they are inclined to detach the infinitive from the structure of the sentence, and to give it a subject of its own in the accusative, even where this is already the main subject of the sentence (§ 72, 2 and 3)-show a similar tendency to give a greater independence to participial additional clauses, and adopt the absolute construction in numerous instances, even where classical writers would never have admitted it as a special license.² Mt. 9. 18 $\tau a \vartheta \tau a \vartheta \tau a \vartheta \tau a \lambda a \lambda o \vartheta \tau a special license.$ αὐτοῖς, ἰδοὺ ἄρχων ... προσεκύνει αὐτῷ; cp. 10 (where it is more excusable), 18. 24, 24. 3, 26. 6, 27. 17, in all which cases the noun which is the subject of the participle appears in the dative in the main sentence (in 5. I aυτώ is omitted in B; in 8. I according to N*KL al. we should read καταβάντι αὐτῷ... ήκολούθησαν αὐτῷ, likewise grossly incorrect, cp. inf.; a similar v.l. appears ibid. 5, 28, 21. 23, but in 8. 28 ** gives a correct construction reading ελθόντων αυτῶν); so also Mc. 13. I, L. 12. 36, 14. 29 (D gives a different and correct constr.), 17. 12 (BL om. αὐτῷ; D is quite different), 22. 10, Jo. 4. 51 (αὐτῷ om. d), A. 4. 1 (D om. αὐτοῖς). Again we have in Mt. 18. 25 μη έχοντός αύτου αποδούναι, εκέλευσεν αύτον ό κύριος πραθήναι (the accusative following); so Mc. 5. 18, 9. 28 (v.l. εἰσελθόντα αὐτὸν... ἐπηρώτων

¹ Occasionally, however, it is found there as well: Mt. 14. 19 κελεύσαs ($\aleph Z$ έκελευσεν)... λαβών... άναβλέψας, 27. 48 δραμών... καὶ λαβών... πλήσας τε (τε om. D)... καὶ περιθείς.

²On the same usage in the LXX. see Viteau, p. 199 f. (e.g. Gen. 18. I, Ex. 5. 20).

αὐτόν), 10. 17, 11. 27 (πρὼs αὐτὸν), 13. 3, L. 9. 42, 15. 20, 18. 40, 22. 53 (ἐπ' ἐμέ), Jo. 8. 30 (εἰs αὐτόν), Α. 19. 30 (αὐτὸν om. D), 21. 17 (the β text is different), 25. 7, 28. 17 (πρòs aὐτοὺs), 2 C. 12. 21 (v.l. $\epsilon \lambda \theta \dot{\delta} \nu \tau a \mu \epsilon$, and without the second $\mu \epsilon$). If the accusative is dependent on a preposition, and the participle precedes the accusative, it is of course impossible to make it into a conjunctive participle.-If the word in question follows in the genitive, the result is the same incorrect pleonasm of the pronoun as is seen in the case of the dative in the example quoted above from Mt. 8. 1 with the reading of \aleph^* : Mt. 6. 3 σοῦ ποιοῦντος ἐλεημοσύνην μὴ γνώτω ἡ ἀριστερά σου (Herm. Sim. ix. 14. 3 κατεφθαρμένων ἡμῶν ... τὴν ζωὴν ἡμῶν), cp. 5. 1 if αὐτῷ is omitted (with B, vide supra). The instance which intrinsically is the harshest, and at the same time the least common, is that where the word in question is afterwards used as the subject, as in Mt. 1. 18 μνηστευθείσης της μητρός αὐτοῦ Μαρίας τῷ Ἰωσήφ, πριν ή συνελθείν autous $\epsilon v \rho \epsilon \theta \eta$, an anacoluthon which after all is tolerable, and for which classical parallels may be found (Kühner ii. 666); but A. 22. 17 is an extremely clumsy sentence, $\epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \tau \sigma \delta \epsilon$ μοι υποστρέψαντι είς Ίερουσ., [καλ] προσευχομένου μου έν τῷ ἱερῷ, γενέσθαι με ἐν ἐκστάσει (kai should apparently be removed, because if it is kept the connection of the dat. and gen. remains inexplicable). Cp. also L. 8. 35 D; Herm. Vis. i. 1. 3 πορευομένου μου εἰς Κούμας καὶ δοξάζοντος (ἐδόξαζον as)..., περιπατῶν ἀφύπνωσα. The gen. abs. stands after the subject in H. 8. 9 O.T., cp. Viteau, p. 210 (the meaning is 'in the day when I took'); it has the same position after the dative in 2 C. 4. 18 $\eta \mu i \nu$, μη σκοπούντων ήμων (but D*FG read with an anacoluthon μησκοποῦντες, perhaps rightly), Herm. Vis. iii. 1. 5 φρίκη μοι προσηλθεν, μόνου μου ὄντος.—The omission of the noun or pronoun which agrees with the part., if it can be readily supplied, is allowable in the N.T. as in the classical language : Mt. 17. 14 BZ (C etc. insert αὐτῶν), 26 (with many variants), L. 12. 36 ἐλθόντος καὶ κρούσαντος, A. 21. 31 ζητούντων (ibid. 10 with ήμων inserted as a v.l.), etc. Another instance of the omission of a noun with the participle occurs in Attic where the participle is impersonal; this is a case for the employment of the accusative absolute, $\epsilon\xi\delta\nu$, $\delta\pi\delta\rho\chi\sigma\nu$, $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\tau\epsilon\tau\alpha\gamma\mu\epsilon\nu\sigma\nu$ etc., followed by an infinitive. But in the N.T. $\epsilon\xi\delta\nu$ is only used as a predicate with an ellipse of eori, A. 2. 29, 2 C. 12. 4, and even Luke is so far from employing a passive part. in this way that he says very awkwardly in A. 23. 30 μηνυθείσης δέ μοι επιβουλής είς τον ανδρα εσεσθαι, instead of $\mu\eta\nu\upsilon\theta\epsilon\nu$ $\epsilon\pi\iota\beta\upsilon\lambda\eta\nu$ $\epsilon\sigma$. (Buttm. 273). The solitary remaining instance, rather obscured, of the acc. abs. is $\tau v \chi \acute{o} v$ 'perhaps' in 1 C. 16. 6, L. 20. 13 D, A. 12. 15 D.

6. Particles used with a participle.—It has already been noticed above in 2 that the particular relation in which the additional participial clause (whether absolute or conjunctive) stands to the principal sentence may be rendered perceptible by the insertion of a particle ($\kappa a(\pi \epsilon \rho, \kappa a) \tau a \vartheta \tau a \vartheta \tau a)$. This usage is but slightly represented in the N.T.; since even of the temporal use of $\mathring{a}\mu a$ to denote simultaneousness or immediate sequence ($\tau \rho (\beta \omega \nu \ \mathring{a}\mu a \ \mathring{e} \phi \eta$ 'while rubbing') it contains no real instance (A. 24. 26 $\mathring{a}\mu a \kappa a \wr \mathring{e} \lambda \pi i(\omega \nu)$ is 'withal in the

expectation,' 27. 40 aµa $dv \epsilon v \tau \epsilon s$ 'while they at the same time also,' Col. 4. 3 προσευχόμενοι άμα καὶ περὶ ἡμῶν, 'at the same time for us also'; cp. ἄμα δὲ καὶ with imperat. in Philem. 22). A more frequent particle with a participle is the simple ω_s ($\omega\sigma\pi\epsilon\rho$ in A. 2. 2, denoting comparison; $\omega\sigma\epsiloni$ 'as though' R. 6. 13); however the participle is for the most part used with us (as with work in the passage of Romans) in just the same way as a noun of any kind may be used with these particles, cp. §§ 34, 5 and 78, 1, and of constructions which may really be reckoned as special participial constructions with us, many are entirely or almost entirely wanting in the N.T. Thus we never find us with the acc. abs. (us rows $\theta \in \delta$ kalliora ϵ ίδότας 'in the belief that'); and again δ s with a future participle occurs only in H. 13. 17 άγρυπνοῦσιν ὡς λόγον ἀποδώσοντες 'as persons who' (cp. L. 9. 52 bql quasi paraturi=ώs έτοιμάσοντες; Mc. 11. 13 ώs ευρήσων Origen, minusc. 100, afq). In all these instances ώs with a participle gives a reason on the part of the actor or speaker. The use of this construction without an acc. abs. and with a participle other than the future is more common : L. 16. 1 and 23. 14 'on the assertion that,' 'on the plea of,' so also in A. 23. 15, 20, 27. 30 (here with προφάσει prefixed); see also A. 3. 12 ήμιν τι ατενίζετε, ώς πεποιηκόσιν 'as though we had,' 1 C. 7. 25 γνώμην δίδωμι ώς ήλεημένος, 'as one who,' in the conviction that I am one'; 2 C. 5. 20 (gen. abs.), H. 12. 27; A. 20. 13 (β text) is $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \omega \nu \dots$ since he said that'; in the negative we have oux $\dot{\omega}s$ 'not as if' A. 28. 19, 2 Jo. 5. We also find abbreviated expressions where the participle is dropped: Col. 3. 23 δ έαν ποιητε, έκ ψυχης έργαζεσθε, ώς τω κυρίω (sc. έργαζόμενοι αὐτό) καὶ οὐκ ἀνθρώποις, 1 C. 9. 26, 2 C. 2. 17, E. 6. 7, 1 P. 4. 11, R. 13. 13 ώς έν ήμέρα = ώς ήμέρας ούσης, 2 Th. 2. 2 δι' έπιστολής, ώς δι' ήμῶν, sc. γεγραμμένηs, or rather = ὡς ἡμῶν γεγραφότων αὐτήν, G. 3. 16 Classical Greek has similar phrases.-"Av with the participle etc. has quite gone out of use,¹ as it has with the infinitive.—Where a participial clause is placed first, the principal clause which follows may be introduced by a ov $\tau \omega s$ referring back to the previous clause; but this classical usage is found only in the Acts : 20. 11 δμιλήσας ούτως έξηλθεν, 27. 10.

§ 75. THE NEGATIVES.

1. The distinction between the two negatives, the objective of and the subjective $\mu\eta$, in classical Greek is to some extent rather complicated; on the other hand in the $\kappa o \iota n \eta$ of the N.T. all instances may practically be brought under the single rule, that of negatives the indicative, $\mu\eta$ the other moods, including the infinitive and participle.

2. Principal clauses with the indicative.—The prohibitive future makes no exception to the rule just given: οὐ φονεύσεις Mt. 5. 21

¹' Ω s äv with a gen. abs. in Barn. 6. 11 is different; cp. the modern Greek. (ω) σdv 'as,' Hatzidakis Einl. in d. ngr. Gr. 217; infra § 78, 1. O.T. (§ 64, 3).¹ But in an interrogative sentence both ov and $\mu \eta$ are employed (as in classical Greek): où (or où $\mu\eta$, § 64, 5) if an affirmative answer is expected, $\mu \eta$ if a negative ; so in L. 6. 39 $\mu \eta \tau \iota$ δύναται τυφλός τυφλόν όδηγειν ('is it possible that ... ?' Ans. Certainly not), ούχι ἀμφότεροι είς βόθυνον ἐμπεσοῦνται (Ans. Yes, certainly). Of course the negative used depends on the answer expected and not on the actual answer given: thus in Mt. 26. 25 Judas asks like the other Apostles (22) $\mu\eta\tau\iota\epsilon\gamma\omega\epsilon\iota\mu\iota$, $\beta\alpha\beta\beta\iota$ ('it surely is not I?'), and receives the answer $\sigma \dot{v} \epsilon i \pi \alpha s^2$ (In L. 17. 9, according to AD al., the answer of the first speaker is appended with the words ou δοκω.) Μήτι instead of $\mu \eta$ is a very favourite form in questions of this kind, just as $o\dot{v}\chi\dot{i}$ takes the place of $o\dot{v}$ in those which expect a positive answer; but the simple forms are also used. In questions introduced by $\mu \dot{\eta}$ the verb itself may also be negatived, as in classical Greek, of course with ov: this produces $\mu \dot{\eta} \dots ov$ (and an affirmative answer is naturally now expected): R. 10. 17 μή οὐκ ἤκουσαν 'can it be that they have not heard it ?' (Ans. Certainly they have), 1 C. 11. 22 al. (only in the Pauline Epp.).— $M\eta \tau \iota$ is further found in the elliptical μήτιγε 1 C. 6. $3 = \pi \delta \sigma \omega$ γε μαλλον 'much more' (μή τί γε δη τοις θεοις Demosth. 2. 23).

3. Subordinate clauses with the indicative.-The chief point to notice here is that & with the indicative (supposed reality) takes the negative $o\dot{v}$ in direct contradistinction to the classical language, as it even does in one instance where the indicative denotes something contrary to fact : Mt. 26. 24 = Mc. 14. 21 καλδν ην αὐτῷ, εἰ οὐκ ἐγεν $v\eta\theta\eta$ o $dv\theta\rho\omega\pi$ os $\epsilon\kappa\epsilon\hat{i}\nu$ os. Elsewhere however these suppositions contrary to fact take $\mu \eta$: Jo. 15. 22 el $\mu \eta$ $\eta \lambda \theta ov ..., \dot{a} \mu a \rho \tau la v o v \kappa$ είχοσαν, 24, 9. 33, 18. 30, 19. 11, Mt. 24. 22 = Mc. 13. 20, A. 26. 32, R. 7. 7, no distinction being made as to whether $\epsilon i \mu \eta$ means 'apart from the case where ' (nisi) or 'supposing the case that not' (si non, as in Jo. 15. 22, 24). Moreover in other cases where the meaning is nisi $\epsilon i \mu \eta$ is used (cp. Kühner ii.² 744), viz. either where, as generally happens, no verb follows the particle, as in Mt. 5. 13 είς οὐδὲν εἰ μὴ $\beta \lambda \eta \theta \eta \nu \alpha i$ (and in $\epsilon i \delta \epsilon \mu \eta \gamma \epsilon, \S 77, 4$), or where a verb is used, which is generally in the pres. indic., as in $\epsilon i \mu \eta \tau i \nu \epsilon s \epsilon i \sigma i \nu G. 1. 7, cp.$ § 65, 6. But in all other cases we find εἰ οὐ (even in L. 11. 8 εἰ καὶ ού δώσει for έαν και μή δώ, § 65, 5); an abnormal instance is 1 Tim. 6. 3 εί τις έτεροδιδασκαλεί και μή προσέχεται κ.τ.λ. (literary language; \vec{a} ... où appears in 3. 5, 5. 8), and another is the additional clause in D in L. 6. 4 $\epsilon i \delta \epsilon \mu \eta$ of δas .—Similar to this is the use of ou in relative sentences with the indicative; exceptions are (1 Jo. 4. 3 $\delta \mu \dot{\eta}$ όμολογεί a wrong reading for δ λύει), Ťit. 1. 11 διδάσκοντες α μη δεί, 2 P. 1. 9 $\delta \mu \eta$ $\pi \alpha \rho \omega \tau \nu \tau \alpha \nu \tau \alpha$, $\tau \nu \phi \lambda \delta s \delta \sigma \tau \nu \nu$ (literary language; there is no question here of definite persons or things, Kühner ii.² 745). In affirmations introduced by $\delta \tau \iota$ (or ωs), also in temporal and causal

¹ Still Clem. Hom. iii. 69 has $\mu\eta\delta\epsilon\nu a \ \mu\sigma\eta\sigma\epsilon\tau\epsilon$ (in the middle of positive futures expressing command).

² Still Jo. 21. 5 $\mu\eta$ $\tau\iota$ προσφάγιον έχετε; hardly lends itself to the meaning 'certainly not I suppose' (cp. also the use of this negative in 4. 33, 7. 26).

sentences with the indicative, the general use of où is a matter of course; H. 9. 17 $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i \ \mu \eta \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$ (or $\mu \eta \ \tau \sigma \tau \epsilon$) $\epsilon \pi \chi \nu \epsilon i \ \delta \tau \epsilon$ diabeter $\delta \tau \epsilon$ is an interrogative sentence (Theophylact),¹ and the only exception to this rule which can be established is Jo. 3. 18 $\delta \ \mu \eta \ \pi \iota \sigma \tau \epsilon \iota \omega \nu \eta \delta \eta \ \kappa \epsilon \kappa \rho \iota \tau a$, $\delta \tau \iota \ \mu \eta \ \pi \epsilon \pi \iota \sigma \tau \epsilon \iota \kappa \epsilon \iota \epsilon$ is $\tau \delta \ \delta \nu \sigma \mu a \ \kappa \tau \cdot \lambda$.²—After $\mu \eta \pi \omega s \ \sigma \ \mu \eta$ expressing apprehension, if the verb itself is negatived, an où must be inserted before the conjunctive : Mt. 25. 9 $\mu \eta \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon \sigma \iota \kappa \epsilon \sigma \eta$ (cp. the v.l. in the same passage, infra 6); $\phi o \beta o \tilde{\nu} \mu a \ \mu \eta \dots o \vartheta 2 \ C. 12. 20$.

4. The infinitive.—M η is used throughout, since in H. 7. 11 it is not the inf. but only the idea $\kappa a \tau a \tau \eta \nu \tau a \xi \iota \nu A a \rho \omega \nu$ which is negatived (cp. in class. Greek Lys. 13. 62 $\epsilon i \mu \epsilon \nu$ où $\pi \circ \lambda \lambda \circ i = \delta \lambda i \gamma \circ i \tilde{\eta} \sigma \alpha \nu$, Kühner ii.² 747 f.). We may particularly note the use of $\mu \dot{\eta}$ according to classical precedent (Kühner 761 f.) in certain instances after verbs containing a negative idea (a pleonastic use according to our way of thinking): L. 20. 27 οι αντιλέγοντες (AP al.; BCDL read λέγοντες as in Mt. and Mc.) avaoraouv mi elvai (avriléyeiv here only takes an inf.), 22. 34 έως τρίς απαρνήση μη είδεναι με (με απ. είδ. «BLT; απαρν. not elsewhere with an inf.), cp. 1 Jo. 2. 22 δ ἀρνούμενος ὅτι Ίησ. οὐκ έστιν ό Χριστός (as in Demosth. 9. 54 άρν. ώς οὐκ εἰσὶ τοιοῦτοι), Η. 12. 19 παρητήσαντο μὴ (om. **P) προστεθήναι, G. 5. 7 τίς ὑμῶς ένέκοψεν αλήθεία μη πείθεσθαι; (ἐγκόπτεσθαι takes τοῦ ἐλθεῖν in R. 15. 22, cp. Kühner 768 c.). But in H. 11. 24 we have ήρνήσατο ('scorned') λέγεσθαι; and κωλύειν is regularly used without a subsequent $\mu \eta$, a construction which is also admissible in classical Greek, Kühner 767 f.; see however § 71, 2 and 3.

5. The participle.—Here the tendency of the later language to use $\mu \eta$ is noticeable even in writers like Plutarch; the Attic language on the other hand lays down rules as to the particular negative required according to the meaning of the participle in individual cases. Hardly any exceptions to the N.T. usage occur in Mt and John: Mt. 22. II $\epsilon l \delta \epsilon \mu \delta \theta \mu \sigma \sigma \sigma \delta \kappa \dot{\epsilon} \nu \delta \dot{\epsilon} \delta \nu \mu \sigma \rho \mu \eta \phi \gamma \eta \rho \sigma \sigma \delta \kappa \dot{\epsilon} \nu \delta \dot{\epsilon} \delta \delta \sigma \sigma (Attic Greek would therefore have od; but C³D have$ $<math>\mu \eta$ perhaps correctly, cp. 12), Jo. 10. 12 $\dot{\delta} \mu \omega \sigma \theta \omega \tau \delta \kappa a \dot{\delta} \kappa \dot{\omega} \nu \pi \sigma \mu \eta \dot{\nu} \gamma$ (no definite person is referred to, therefore Attic would use $\mu \eta$): in this passage od is no doubt a Hebraism, since in the case of a participle with the article the LXX. render κ by od, as in G. 4. 27 O.T. $\dot{\eta}$ od $\tau \ell \kappa \tau \sigma \upsilon \sigma \kappa. \tau. \lambda., R. 9. 25$ (Viteau, p. 217 f.). There are more exceptions in Luke: 6. 42 ad $\tau \delta s \ldots \sigma \delta \ell \eta \omega \nu$, 28. 17 od $\delta \dot{\epsilon} \ldots \pi \sigma \omega \eta \sigma as$ (all correct Attic Greek). Od $\dot{\delta} \tau \upsilon \chi \omega \nu$ which is negatived, supra 4)

¹'E $\pi\epsilon i$ $\mu\dot{\eta}$ instead of $\epsilon\pi\epsilon i$ où is an established usage in Clem. Hom. (ix. 14, xviii. 6), and for many instances of $\epsilon\pi\epsilon i$ $\mu\dot{\eta}$ in Philostratus see W. Schmid Atticism. iv. 93; but at any rate in the passage of Hebrews $\mu\dot{\eta}\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ ($\mu\dot{\eta}$ $\tau\dot{\sigma}\tau\epsilon$ $\aleph^{*}D^{*}$) is clearly interrogative ('never' would be $\mu\eta\delta\epsilon\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$ or $o\dot{v}\delta\epsilon\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon$). Cp. further § 82, 2.

² It is said (Viteau, p. 213 f.) that the second $\mu\eta$ is here occasioned by assimilation to the first, *i.e.* the use of $\mu\eta$ is explained as a piece of carelessness, which I should rather attribute to the copyist than to the author.

A. 19. 11, 28. 2; there is a different reason for où in 28. 19 (1 Th. 2. 4) où χ is $\xi\chi\omega\nu$ $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. ('I have not done this as one who' etc.). Instances of où in Paul (Hebrows and Peter): (R. 9. 25 O.T. [vide supra] $\tau \partial \nu$ où $\lambda a \partial \nu \kappa.\tau.\lambda$. after the Hebrew, $= \tau \partial \nu$ où $\kappa' \delta \nu \tau a \lambda$. in class. Greek; cp. 1 P. 2. 10), 2 C. 4. 8 f. $\theta \lambda \iota \beta \delta \mu \epsilon \nu o a \lambda \lambda'$ où $\sigma \tau \epsilon \nu o \chi \omega \rho o \dot{\nu}$ $\mu \epsilon \nu o \iota \kappa.\tau.\lambda$. (here again it is the single idea in $\sigma \tau \epsilon \nu o \chi$. which is negatived), Ph. 3. 3 kai où $\kappa \epsilon \dot{\nu} \sigma a \rho \kappa i \pi \epsilon \pi o \iota \theta \delta \tau \epsilon s$, Col. 2. 19 kai où $\kappa \rho a \tau \delta \mu \dot{\rho}$ $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. (elsewhere kai $\mu \dot{\eta}$ is used, as in L. 1. 20 eor $\sigma \iota u \pi \hat{\omega} \nu$ kai $\mu \dot{\eta}$ $\delta \nu \nu \delta \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \lambda a \lambda \eta \sigma a \iota)^{1}$: H. 11. 1 $\pi \rho a \gamma \mu \dot{a} \tau \omega \nu$ où $\beta \lambda \epsilon \pi o \mu \dot{\epsilon} \nu \omega \iota$ (= Att. $\delta \nu$ $\delta \nu \tau \iota s \mu \eta \delta \rho \hat{\rho}$), 35 où $\pi \rho o \sigma \delta \epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\mu} \epsilon \nu \sigma \iota$ (correctly): 1 P. 1. 8 $\delta \nu$ où $\kappa i \delta \delta \nu \tau \epsilon s$ $\delta \gamma a \pi \delta \tau \epsilon$ correctly, but the writer continues with $\epsilon \dot{\epsilon} s \delta \nu \delta \sigma \tau \iota \mu \dot{\eta} \delta \rho \delta \nu \tau \epsilon s$ $\kappa \tau \sigma \epsilon \delta \dot{\epsilon}$, where it is artificial to wish to draw a distinction between the two negatives. With $\dot{\omega}$ (with which Attic prefers to use où, Kühner 755) we have 1 C. 9. 26 $\dot{\omega} s$ où $\kappa \dot{a} \delta \eta \lambda \omega s \dots \dot{\omega} s$ où $\kappa \dot{a} \epsilon \rho a \delta \epsilon \rho \omega \nu$.

6. Combined negatives.—For $\mu \dot{\eta}$ où vide supra 2 and 3; for où $\mu \dot{\eta}$ (frequently used) see § 64, 5, with the conj. or fut. indic.; once we find as a v.l. μήποτε οὖ μη Mt. 25. 9 BCD al., vide supra 3 ad fin.— The only examples of $o\dot{v} \dots o\dot{v}$, $o\dot{v} \dots \mu\dot{\eta}$ neutralizing each other are 1 C. 12. 15 ού παρά τοῦτο οὐκ ἔστιν ἐκ τοῦ σώματος (cp. μή ... μή in L. 14. 29 D, ίνα μήποτε... μη ἰσχύση), Α. 4. 20 οὐ δυνάμεθα... μη $\lambda \alpha \lambda \epsilon i \nu$ (classical usage corresponds), apart from the instances where the second negative stands in a subordinate clause, viz. $o\dot{v}\delta\epsilon\dot{s} - \delta s$ (class. ooris) ov (but here we do not find the classical practice of directly connecting ovder's with, and assimilating it to, the relative, Kühner 919, 5) Mt. 10. 26, L. 12. 2, ov ... os ov Mt. 24. 2 al.; the same meaning is expressed by giving an interrogative form to the principal clause and omitting the first negative (Buttmann 305), τ is έστιν... ös ov A. 19. 35.—The classical combination of negatives ov $(\mu\dot{\eta})\dots$ ov $\delta\epsilon$'s $(\mu\eta\delta\epsilon)$ and the like, to intensify the negation, is not excessively frequent: the instances are Mc. 15. 4 oik $d\pi o \kappa \rho i \nu \eta$ oidév; 5 οὐκέτι οὐδèν ἀπεκρίθη, L. 10. 19 οὐδèν ... οὐ μὴ (not in D), 23. 53 οὐκ ήν οὐδέπω οὐδεὶs, Α. 8. 39 οὐκ ... οὐκέτι, Mc. 11. 14 μηκέτι ... μηδεἶs, etc. (οὐδέποτέ μοι οὐδεὶs Herm. Mand. iii. 3); on the other hand we find (contrary to the classical rule, Kühner 758, but cp. 760, 4) of χ άρπάσει τις Jo. 10. 28, ού ... ύπό τινος 1 C. 6. 12, ούδε τον πατέρα τις έπιγινώσκει Mt. 11. 27, 12. 19, ούτε ... τις Α. 28. 21, ού δυνήση έτι οίκονομείν L. 16. 2, ου ... ποτέ 2 P. 1. 21.

7. Form and position of the negative.—The strengthened form oùxí, besides being used in questions (supra 2), is also specially frequent where the negative is independent = 'no,' L. 1. 60, oùxí, $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega \dot{\nu} \mu \hat{\iota} \nu$ 12. 51, 13. 3, 5 (the opposite to which is vaí [Attic never has $vai\chi i$], $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega \dot{\nu} \mu \hat{\iota} \nu$ 7. 26; où $\lambda \dot{\nu} \mu \hat{\iota} \nu$ would not have been quite clear, though où also appears elsewhere for 'no,' Mt. 13. 29 etc., and in a strengthened form où où like vaí vaí Mt. 5. 37²); the longer

¹ In E. 5. 4 $\tau \dot{a}$ oùk $\dot{a}\nu\dot{\eta}\kappa\sigma\nu\tau a$ is only a v.l. for \dot{a} oùk $\dot{a}\nu\dot{\eta}\kappa\epsilon\nu$, see § 63, 4. In 1 C. 11. 17 read oùk $\dot{\epsilon}\pi a\iota\nu\hat{\omega}$ (with a stop before it, and $\pi a\rho a\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda\omega$).

² So too in 2 C. 1. 17 ^{lva} $\tilde{\eta}$ map' éµol to val val kal to ov ov; but in Ja. 5. 12 the words should apparently be divided, $\tilde{\eta}\tau\omega$ dè $\tilde{\nu}\mu\omega\nu$ to val val ('let your yea be a yea, and nothing more') kal to ov ov.

form of the negative is also occasionally used elsewhere, Jo. 13. 10 f. ούχι πάντες, 14. 22, 1 C. 10. 29, πως ούχι R. 8. 32, ούχι μαλλον 1 C. 5. 2, 6. 7, 2 C. 3. 8.—The position of the negative is as a matter of course before the thing to be negatived, especially therefore does it stand before the verb; frequently negative and verb coalesce into a single idea, as in οὐκ ἐῶ (or the more colloquial οὐκ ἀφίω) 'prevent,' A. 19. 30 etc. A separation of the negative from the verb may cause ambiguity, as in A. 7. 48 άλλ' ούχ ό ὕψιστος ἐν χειροποιήτοις κατοικεί (as if the writer's intention was to state that someone else dwelt therein); Ja. 3. 1 $\mu \eta$ πολλοί διδάσκαλοι γίνεσθε; hence the tendency is to place it immediately before the verb, $\tilde{\epsilon}\nu$ or $\tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\iota\nu$ G. 3. 20. A difficulty is caused by ou $\pi \alpha \nu \tau \omega s$ R. 3. 9, 1 C. 5. 10, which looks like a partial negation (a general negation being expressed by $\pi \alpha \nu \tau \omega s$ our $\eta \nu \theta \epsilon \lambda \eta \mu \alpha \mid C. 16. 12$), but at any rate in R. 3. 9 the meaning must be 'by no means.' But in this passage of π . stands by itself, and one can understand that $\pi \acute{a}\nu \tau \omega_s o \ddot{v}$ would not be written (a final position for the negative is quite unusual, and cp. ού παντελώς Herm. Sim. vii. 4); Herodotus also has οὐδέν (οὐδέν τι) $\pi \acute{a}\nu \tau \omega s$ in this sense, v. 34, 65, vi. 3. In the other passage the meaning appears to be rather 'not altogether' (Winer, § 61, 5, cp. Clem. Hom. iv. 8, xix. 9, xx. 5). The meaning of the passage I C. 15. 51 is uncertain on critical grounds : $\pi \dot{a} \nu \tau \epsilon s$ ($\mu \epsilon \nu$) où κοιμηθησόμεθα, $\pi \dot{a} \nu \tau \epsilon s$ δè ἀλλαγησόμεθα the reading of B al. gives a quite unsatisfactory sense (unless $\pi \alpha \nu \tau \epsilon s$ ov is taken as = or $\pi \alpha \nu \tau \epsilon s$, as it is at any rate used in Herm. Sim. viii. 6. 2 πάντες ου μετενόησαν 'not all'), but there are several other readings supported by the authority of MSS. and Fathers, see Tischendorf.-The order of words in H. 11. 3 is correct in classical Greek, $\epsilon i s \tau \delta \mu \eta \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \phi \alpha i \nu \delta \mu \omega (= \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \mu \eta \phi) \tau \delta \beta \lambda \epsilon \pi \delta \mu \epsilon \nu \delta \nu$ γεγονέναι (2 Macc. 7. 28 ότι ούκ έξ όντων εποίησεν αὐτὰ ὁ θεός), since participles and adjectives used in connection with a preposition have a tendency to take any adverbial words which are in apposition with them before the preposition, as in ov $\mu\epsilon\tau\dot{a}$ $\pi o\lambda\lambda\dot{a}s$ A. 1. 5, L. 15. 13 D (al. μετ' ου πολλάς, as in A. 27. 14 μετ' ου πολύ), Demosth. 18. 133 ουκ έν δέοντι 'unseasonably' (like ώς είς ελάχιστα, ούτω μέχρι πόρρω and many others).

§ 76. OTHER ADVERBS.

1. Adverb as predicate.—Adverbs like $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\gamma\dot{\nu}s$ and $\pi\delta\rho\rho\omega$ may, as in the classical language, be joined with $\dot{\epsilon}i\nu\alpha a$ as predicates, or be used as predicates with an ellipse of $\dot{\epsilon}i\nu\alpha a$, e.g. $\dot{\delta}\kappa\dot{\nu}\rho\alpha s$ $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\gamma\dot{\nu}s$ Ph. 4. 5, no less than prepositions with their cases which are so abundantly used in this way, e.g. $\dot{\eta}\nu\dot{\epsilon}\nu\tau\eta$ $\pi\delta\lambda\epsilon a$. The use of $\delta\nu\sigma\omega s$ as a predicate is less classical: Mt. 1. 18 $\dot{\eta}$ $\gamma\dot{\epsilon}\nu\epsilon\sigma\sigma s$ $\delta\nu\sigma\psi\sigma\sigma s$ $\dot{\eta}\nu$ (for $\tau\sigma\alpha\dot{\nu}\tau\eta$ $\dot{\eta}\nu$ or $\sigma\nu\sigma\omegas$ $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\chi\epsilon\nu$), 19. 10 $\epsilon\dot{\epsilon}$ $\delta\nu\tau\omega s$ $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\dot{\iota}\nu$ $\dot{\eta}$ $\dot{a}\dot{\iota}\iota$ $\tau\sigma\dot{\nu}$ $\dot{a}\nu\theta\rho\dot{\omega}\sigma\sigma\nu\kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, R. 4. 18 O.T., 1 P. 2. 15 (although $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\sigma\epsilon\tau a i \sigma\dot{\nu}\tau\omega s$, *i.e.* $\dot{\omega}s$ $\lambda\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\epsilon s$, and $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\iota\nu$ $\sigma\dot{\nu}\tau\omega s$ in an answer are also classical constructions); besides this use we have $\sigma\dot{\nu}\tau\omega s$ $\dot{\kappa}\epsilon$ in A. 7. 1 etc. Another predicative use of $\sigma\dot{\nu}\tau\omega s$ occurs in R. 9. 20 $\tau \ell$ $\mu\epsilon$ $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\sigma\dot{\eta}\sigma\sigma s$ $\sigma\dot{\nu}\tau\omega s$, $=\tau\sigma\iota\dot{\nu}\tau\nu$. The phrase $\tau\delta$ $\epsilon\dot{\ell}\nu\alpha i$ (an adverbial neut. plur.) $\theta\epsilon\dot{\varphi}$ Ph. 2. 6 is in agreement with an old usage

257

of the language, cp. Thuc. iii. 14 tora kai ikérai érytév, Winer, § 27, 3. With γ iverbai (with which verb the use of an adverb is in itself quite unobjectionable) we have 1 Th. 2. 10 ús óríus kai δικαίωs kai ἀμέμπτωs ὑμῖν τοῖs πιστεύουσιν ἐγενήθημεν (beside 2. 7 ἐγενήθημεν ἤπιοι) 'we have behaved'; cp. A. 20. 18 πῶs ... ἐγενόμην (D ποταπῶs ἦν).

2. There is a tendency in Greek to express certain adverbial ideas by particular verbs: thus 'secretly' or 'unconsciously' is expressed by $\lambda a \nu \theta \dot{a} \nu \epsilon \mu s$: thus 'secretly' or 'unconsciously' is expressed by $\lambda a \nu \theta \dot{a} \nu \epsilon \mu s$: thus 'secretly' or 'unconsciously' is expressed by $\lambda a \nu \theta \dot{a} \nu \epsilon \mu s$: used as also in class. Greek, Mt. 1. 19 etc.), 'continuously,' further,' 'incessantly' by $\delta \iota a \tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon i \nu$, $\dot{\epsilon} \pi \iota \mu \dot{\epsilon} \nu \epsilon \nu$, où $\delta \iota a \lambda \epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu$, vide ibid.; cp. with an infinitive $\phi \iota \lambda o \vartheta \sigma \iota \pi \rho \sigma \epsilon \delta \chi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \cdot 'gladly' (Mt.$ $6. 5, Winer, § 54, 4), and (with an imitation of Hebrew) <math>\pi \rho \sigma \epsilon \dot{\theta} \epsilon \tau \sigma$ $\pi \epsilon \mu \psi a \iota$ L. 20. 11 f. (not in D) = $\pi \dot{a} \lambda \iota \nu \dot{\epsilon} \pi \epsilon \mu \psi \epsilon \nu$ in Mc. 12. 4, although (according to A. 12. 3 $\pi \rho \sigma \sigma \dot{\theta} \epsilon \tau \sigma \sigma \sigma \lambda \lambda a \beta \epsilon \dot{\iota} \nu \kappa a \lambda \Pi \dot{\epsilon} \tau \rho \sigma \nu$) it must rather be rendered 'he proceeded to' (Hebr. ') with an inf.); the same meaning is elsewhere given by the participle of $\pi \rho \sigma \sigma \tau \iota \theta \dot{\epsilon} \nu a$, $\pi \rho \sigma \sigma \theta \dot{\epsilon} s \epsilon \dot{\iota} \pi \epsilon \nu$ L. 19. 11, like $\pi \rho \sigma \sigma \theta \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \sigma \epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \tau \epsilon \kappa \epsilon \nu$ LXX. Gen. 38. 5 'further.'

3. Of the correlative adverbs (§ 25, 5) the interrogative form is used instead of the relative in exclamations: $\pi \hat{\omega}_{S} \delta \delta \sigma \kappa \alpha \delta \delta \nu \epsilon \sigma \tau \iota$ Mc. 10. 23, cp. 24, L. 18. 24, $\pi \hat{\omega}_{S} \sigma \upsilon \nu \epsilon \chi \rho \mu \alpha \iota$ L. 12. 50, $\pi \hat{\omega}_{S} \epsilon \delta \delta \ell \lambda \epsilon \iota a v \tau \delta \nu$ (Attic $\delta \sigma \sigma \nu$) Jo. 11. 36 (Herm. Mand. xi. 20, xii. 4. 2). Cp. the Pronouns, § 51, 4. Still in R. 10. 15 O.T. we have $\hat{\omega}_{S} \delta \rho a \hat{\partial} \alpha \kappa, \tau, \lambda$, 11. 33 $\hat{\omega}_{S} \delta \nu \epsilon \xi \epsilon \rho \epsilon \hat{\nu} \eta \tau \alpha \kappa, \tau, \lambda, \dots^{-\sigma} O \pi \omega_{S}$ (D $\hat{\omega}_{S}$) in an indirect question representing $\pi \hat{\omega}_{S}$ is only found in L. 24. 20 (cp. § 50, 5). On $\pi \hat{\omega}_{S} = \hat{\omega}_{S}$ $= \delta \tau \iota$ see § 70, 2.—($O \tau \epsilon \mu \epsilon \nu \dots \delta \tau \epsilon \delta \epsilon$ for 'now... now,' instead of $\tau \delta \tau \epsilon \mu \epsilon \nu \dots \tau \delta \tau \epsilon \delta \epsilon$, occurs in Barn. 2. 4, 5 [a Hellenistic use; cp. δs $\mu \epsilon \nu \dots \delta s \delta \epsilon$, § 46, 2]; but we also find $\pi \sigma \tau \epsilon \mu \epsilon \nu \dots \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon \delta \epsilon$ in Barn. 10. 7, which is classical; in the N.T. no instances of these phrases are attested).

4. Instances of attraction with adverbs of place, as for instance in class. Greek we have $\delta \,\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \, \hat{\vartheta} \epsilon \nu \, \pi \, \delta \lambda \epsilon \, \mu$ os (for $\delta \, \epsilon \kappa \epsilon \, \hat{\iota} \, \hat{\upsilon} \nu$) $\delta \epsilon \, \hat{\upsilon} \rho \sigma \, \tilde{\eta} \xi \epsilon \iota \, (Demosth.)$ 1. 15; Buttm. p. 323), cannot be quoted from the N.T., except the passage L. 16. 26 $\mu\eta\delta'$ of $\epsilon\kappa\epsilon i\theta\epsilon\nu$ (of before $\epsilon\kappa$ is omitted by κ^*BD) πρὸς ὑμῶς διαπερῶσιν, where however we might supply θέλοντες $\delta_{ia}\beta_{\eta}\nu_{ai}$ from the preceding clause. Still we find a corresponding use of έξ instead of έν : L. 11. 13 ό πατήρ ό έξ ούρανου δώσει πνευμα άγιον (δ before έξ om. NLX), Mt. 24. 17 μη καταβάτω άρα τα (D άραί τι = Mc. 13. 15) έκ της οίκίας αὐτοῦ, Col. 4. 16 την ἐκ Λαοδικείας (ἐπιστολήν) ἕνα καὶ ὑμεῖς ἀναγνῶτε, the letter which you will find there. (But in Ph. 4. 22 oi $i\kappa \tau \eta s$ Kaísapos oirías membership is denoted by $\dot{\epsilon}\xi$, as also in oi $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa \pi\epsilon\rho\iota\tau o\mu\eta$'s R. 4. 12, cp. § 40, 2; άσπάζοναι ύμας οι άπο της Ίταλίας H. 13. 24 is ambiguous and obscure, as the place where the letter was written is unknown.)-An attraction, corresponding to that of the relative (§ 50, 2), is found in the case of an adverb in Mt. 25. 24, 26 συνάγων όθεν (= $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{\epsilon} \theta \epsilon \nu$ o[§]) ού διεσκόρπισας.

§ 77. PARTICLES (CONJUNCTIONS).

1. One part of the functions of the particles (including the conjunctions) is that they serve to give greater prominence to the modal character of the sentence, as is the case with the particle $d\nu$ and the interrogative particles, but their more usual function is to express the mutual relations existing between the sentences and the clauses which compose them : membership of a single series, antithesis, relation between cause and effect, or between condition and result etc. The number of particles employed in the N.T. is considerably less than the number employed in the classical language, see § 26, 2; still in spite of this it appears excessively large in comparison with the poverty displayed by the Semitic languages in this department.

2. On the particle av, cp. §§ 63; 65, 4-10; 66, 2 (70, 5; 74, 6). Direct interrogative sentences, which are not introduced by an interrogative pronoun or adverb, but expect the answer 'yes' or 'no,' do not require a distinguishing particle any more than in classical Greek, since the tone in which they are uttered is a sufficient indication of their character, though it is true that when they are transmitted to writing the general sense of their context is the only thing which distinguishes them, and this in certain circumstances may be ambiguous (§ 4, 6; instances of this are Jo. 16. 31, 1 C. 1. 13, Viteau p. 23, 50). If an affirmative answer is to be intimated, this character of the sentence is marked by the insertion of ov, if a negative answer, by the insertion of $\mu\eta$ ($\mu\eta\tau\iota$); and this is a case where a question is distinguished as such by an external symbol, since the use of $\mu \eta$ with an indicative where the particle is in no way dependent can certainly not be found except in an interrogative sentence, cp. § 75, 2. Double questions with the distinguishing particles $\pi \delta \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma \nu \dots \eta$ occur nowhere in the N.T. in direct speech (in indirect speech only in John 7. 17; also Barn. 19. 5); more often the first member of the sentence is left without a distinguishing particle, as in G. 1. 10 άρτι γàρ ἀνθρώπους $\pi\epsilon i\theta\omega \ \eta \ \tau \delta\nu \ \theta\epsilon \delta\nu$; (the simple interrogative $\eta = an$ 'or' occurs in Mt. 20. 15, 26. 53, 2 C. 11. 7, where FG have η μή 'or perhaps,' a combination of particles not elsewhere attested). Still there arc certain interrogative particles, of which may be mentioned in the first place apa or apá ye; this, it is true, can only be distinguished from the inferential $d\rho \alpha$ ($\gamma \epsilon$) by the prosody, and it is moreover quite rare and only represented in Luke and Paul (therefore a literary word): L. 18. 8 αρα ευρήσει την πίστιν έπι της γης; A. 8. 30 αρά γε γινώσκεις & αναγινώσκεις; G. 2. 17 άρα Χριστός άμαρτίας διάκονος; $\mu\dot{\eta}$ $\gamma\dot{\epsilon}\nu o\iota\tau o$ (this phrase $\mu\dot{\eta}$ γ . in the Pauline Epp. is always an answer to a question, 66, 1: therefore $\ddot{a}\rho a$ cannot be read here; still άρα in this passage has the meaning of 'therefore' which ἄρα elsewhere has, § 78, 5). We have a kindred use of apa (as in classical Greek) after τίs in Mt. 18. Ι τίς ἄρα μείζων έστιν κ.τ.λ., L. 1. 66 etc. (in indirect speech in 22. 23): after ϵi (indirect and direct) in Mc. 11. 13, A. 7. 1, 8. 22 (εἰ ἄραγε 17. 27); after μήτι in 2 C. 1. 17; it

denotes astonishment in A. 21. 38 oùk ắpa rờ tỉ ố Aiγύπτιος; ('not then'), while in other cases it corresponds to our 'well' or 'then'; τίς ắpa in Mt. 19. 25, 27 is inferential, 'now,' 'then,' cp. supra on G. 2. 17. Again the tof indirect questions (§ 65, 1, cp. 6) may also be attached to a direct question: Mt. 12. 10 ἐπηρώτησαν αὐτὸν λέγοντες· Ei ἔξεστιν τοῖς σάββασιν θεραπεῦσαι; 19. 3 λέγοντες Ei... (it introduces similar words in indirect speech in Mc. 10. 2, Viteau p. 22, 1), A. 1. 6, 7. 1 etc. (most frequently in Luke, Win. § 57, 2); the usage is unclassical, but is also found in the LXX. (Gen. 17. 17 etc., Winer loc. cit.).¹ The alternative use of the interrogative η , like the use of the same word affirmatively, is entirely wanting.

3. Sentences which denote assurance, both direct and indirect (in the latter case the infinitive is used), are in classical Greek introduced by $\hat{\eta} \mu \eta \nu$, which in the Hellenistic and Roman period is sometimes written in the form of ϵi (accent ?) $\mu \eta \nu^2$; so in the LXX. and in a quotation from it in H. 6. 14 εἶ μὴν εύλογῶν εὐλογήσω σε (ή KL*). Another corroborative word is the particle $v\alpha l = 'yea$,' to which the opposite is ov ov χi 'nay,' § 75, 7. Naí is also used in the emphatic repetition of something already stated, 'yes indeed,' L. 12. 5 val, $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega \dot{\nu} \mu \hat{\nu} \nu$, $\tau o \hat{\nu} \tau o \nu \phi o \beta \eta \theta \eta \tau \epsilon$, 11. 51, Ap. 1. 7, 14. 13, 16. 7; also in a repeated request Ph. 4. 3, Philem. 20 (it is a favourite word in classical Greek in formulas of asseveration and adjuration, e.g. vai πρός τών γονάτων Aristoph. Pax 1113). Naí is not the only form for expressing an affirmative answer, the statement made may also be repeated and endorsed (as in class. Greek): Mc. 14. 61 f. $\sigma \vartheta \epsilon \tilde{i} \dots$; ... $\epsilon \gamma \omega \epsilon i \mu \iota$, cp. A. 22. 27 where the β text has $\epsilon i \mu \iota$ for val of the a text; another formula is συ λέγεις Mt. 27. 11, Mc. 15. 2, L. 23. 3, i.e. 'you say so yourself, not I' (§ 48, 1), which always to some extent implies that one would not have made this particular statement spontaneously if the question had not been asked; in Jo. 18. 37 we have $\sigma \vartheta \lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \iota s$, $\delta \tau \iota$ (not 'that,' but 'since,' 'for,' § 78, 6) $\beta a \sigma \iota \lambda \epsilon \vartheta s$ είμι, which is similar to L. 22. 70 ύμεις λέγετε, ὅτι ἐγώ είμι.—A certain extenuation, and at the same time a corroboration, of a proposition made is contained in the word $\delta\eta_{mov}$ 'surely,' 'certainly' (an appeal to the knowledge possessed by the readers as well): it is only found in H. 2. 16 (a classical and literary word).

4. The particle $\gamma \epsilon$ which serves to emphasize a word (known by the old grammarians as the $\sigma i \nu \delta \epsilon \sigma \mu o \pi \lambda \eta \rho \omega \mu a \tau \iota \kappa \delta s$) in the N.T. is almost confined to its use in connection with other conjunctions, in which case it often really sinks into being a mere unmeaning appendage. Thus we have $\delta \rho \delta \gamma \epsilon$, $\delta \rho a \gamma \epsilon$ (supra 2; § 78, 5), $\kappa a i \tau \sigma \iota \gamma \epsilon$, $\mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \tilde{\nu} \nu \gamma \epsilon$ § 77, 14; frequently $\epsilon i \delta \epsilon \mu \eta \gamma \epsilon$ with an ellipse of the verb, 'otherwise' (classical), Mt. 6. 1, 9. 17 (B omits $\gamma \epsilon$), L. 5. 36 etc., 2 C. 11. 16 (on the other hand Mc., Jo., and Ap. have this phrase without $\gamma \epsilon$), $\mu \eta \tau \iota \gamma \epsilon$ § 75, 2. Still $\gamma \epsilon$ keeps its proper meaning in

¹It is probably a Hebraism (Viteau), being another rendering (besides $\mu \dot{\eta}$) of the Hebrew η .

²Blass Ausspr. 33³ n. 77; so also Berl. Aegypt. Urk. 543.

άλλά γε ὑμῖν εἰμι 1 C. 9. 2 'yet at least I am so to you,' which class. Greek would express by separating the particles $\dot{\alpha}\lambda\lambda'$ ὑμῖν γε (and the particles are somewhat differently used in L. 24. 21 ἀλλά γε καὶ σὺν πῶσιν τούτοις 'but indeed'); also in καί γε ἐπὶ τοὺς δούλους A. 2. 18 O.T. (Herm. Mand. viii. 5 καί γε πολλά) 'and also' (or 'and indeed'), where again class. Greek would separate the particles καὶ ἐπί γε, as St. Paul does in 1 C. 4. 8 καὶ ὅφελόν γε ἐβασιλεύσατε 'and I would also that ye did ...' (D*FG omit γε)¹; and in εἶ γε si quidem (R. 5. 6 v.l.) 2 C. 5. 3, E. 3. 2, 4. 21, Col. 1. 23 (classical). It appears without another conjunction in L. 11. 8 διά γε τὴν ἀναίδειαν αὐτοῦ, cp. 18. 5, R. 8. 32 ὅς γε qui quidem 'One who,' Hcrm. Vis. i. 1. 8 ἁμαρτία γέ ἐστι ('indeed it is'), καὶ μεγάλη.

5. Particles which connect sentences or clauses with one another or place them in a certain relation to each other, fall into two classes, namely those which indicate that the clauses possess an equal position in the structure of the sentence (co-ordinating particles), and those which subordinate and give a dependent character to the clauses introduced by them (subordinating particles). The former are of the most diverse origin, the latter are for the most part derived from a relative stem. They may be divided according to their meaning as follows: (only co-ordinating)—(1) copulative, (2) disjunctive, (3) adversative; (only subordinating)— (4) comparative, (5) hypothetical, (6) temporal, (7) final, (8) conjunctions used in assertions and in indirect questions; (partly coordinating, partly subordinating)—(9) consecutive, (10) causal, (11) concessive conjunctions.

6. The copulative conjunctions in use in the N.T. are κa_i , $\tau \epsilon$, $o^{\nu} \tau \epsilon$ $\mu\eta\tau\epsilon$, oùôé $\mu\eta\delta\epsilon$. In the case of kal a distinction is made between its strictly copulative meaning ('and') and its adjunctive meaning ('also'). The excessive and uniform use of $\kappa \alpha i$ to string sentences together and combine them makes the narrative style, especially in Mark, but also in Luke as e.g. in A. 13. 17 ff., in many ways unpleasant and of too commonplace a character, cp. § 79, 1: whereas elsewhere in Luke as well as in John the alternative use of the particles $\tau \epsilon$, $\delta \epsilon$, $o \delta \nu$, and of asyndeton gives a greater variety to the style, apart from the fact that these writers also employ a subordinating or participial construction. Kai may be used even where a contrast actually exists : Mc. 12. 12 και έξήτουν αὐτὸν κρατήσαι, καὶ ἐφοβήθησαν τὸν ὅχλον, cp. L. 20. 19 (but Ď in Luke reads ἐφοβ. δὲ), Jo. 1. 5. It frequently = 'and yet' (καὶ ὅμως, ὅμως δὲ are not in use): Mt. 6. 26 ού σπείρουσιν ..., και ό πατηρ υμών ό ουράνιος τρέφει aυτά, 10. 29, Jo. 1. 10, 3. 11, 32 etc. (with a negative in Mt. 11. 17, A. 12. 19 etc., where this meaning is less striking), and hence the mutual relation of the several clauses is often very vaguely stated, and must be helped out with some difficulty by the interpretation

¹L. 19. 42 is a difficult passage, $\epsilon l \, \epsilon \gamma \nu \omega s \, \kappa a l \, \sigma v \, \kappa a l \, \sigma v \, \epsilon \ell \nu \, \tau \eta \, \eta \mu \epsilon \rho a \, \sigma o v \, \tau a \tau \tau \eta \tau \eta \tau \sigma v$, where Eusebius has $\kappa a l \, \gamma \epsilon \, \sigma v \, \epsilon \nu \, \eta \, \epsilon \, \eta \, \sigma v \, \epsilon \, \epsilon \, \sigma v \, \epsilon \nu \, \eta \, \epsilon \, \eta \, \epsilon \, \eta \, \epsilon \, \sigma \, v \, \epsilon \, \tau \eta \, \epsilon \, \tau \, \eta \, \tau \, \lambda$.); also A. 17. 27, for which cp. § 74, 2.

which is put upon the passage, e.g. in Jo. 7. 28 $\kappa d\mu \epsilon$ o $\delta a \tau \epsilon$ $\kappa a i$ o $\delta a \tau \epsilon$ πόθεν εἰμί (as you say), και ἀπ' έμαυτοῦ οὐκ ἐλήλυθα, ἀλλ' κ.τ.λ., i.e. 'and yet in reality I did not' etc., = classical $\kappa a i \mu \eta \nu$, $\kappa a i \tau o i$, or with a participle και ταῦτα ἀπ' ἐμ. οὐκ ἐληλυθότα. A different use is that of the so-called consecutive kai, in English 'and so' or 'so': Mt. 5. 15 άλλ' έπὶ τὴν λυχνίαν (τιθέασιν), καὶ λάμπει κ.τ.λ. (=ὥστε λάμπειν; in L. 8. 16 = 11. 33 expressed by iva), H. 3. 19 kai $\beta \lambda \epsilon \pi o \mu \epsilon v$ and so we see, $\delta\rho\hat{\omega}\mu\epsilon\nu$ $o\hat{\nu}\nu$; this use is specially found after imperatives, Mt. 8. 8 $\epsilon i\pi\epsilon$ $\lambda\delta\gamma\psi$, $\kappa a\hat{\iota}$ (so) $ia\theta\eta\sigma\epsilon\tau a\iota$, cp. L. 7. 7 where BL give a closer connection to the clauses by reading Kai $ia\theta \eta \tau \omega$: Ja. 4. 7 dvτίστητε τῷ διaβόλψ, καὶ φεύξεται <math>dφ' ὑμῶν (=φεύξεται γαρ, εὐθὺς yàp ϕ .); still we have a similar classical use, $\theta \in \sigma \theta \in \dots \kappa a i \dots o i \sigma \epsilon i$ Soph. O.C. 1410 ff., πείθου λέγοντι, κούχ άμαρτήση ποτέ El. 1207, Kühner ii.² 792, 5. On *kai* with a future following sentences of design with a conjunctive, to denote an ulterior result, see § 65, 2; cp. also Mt. 26. 53, H. 12. 9; further L. 11. 5 τίς έξ ὑμῶν ἕξει φίλον, και πορεύσεται πρός αὐτὸν ... και εἴπη αὐτῷ-κἀκεῖνος ... εἴπη (§ 64, 6), instead of subordinating the clauses by means of $\epsilon \dot{a} \nu$ or a gen. abs., just as the first kai might also have been avoided by writing $\xi_{\chi \omega \nu}$ $\phi i \lambda o \nu$. Co-ordination in place of subordination occurs in statements of time: Mc. 15. 25 καὶ ην ῶρα τρίτη καὶ ('when' or 'that') ἐσταύρωσαν (but D έφύλασσον which gives a better sense) αὐτόν (the crucifixion has already been narrated in 24), which differs from L. 23. 44 καί ήν ήδη ώρα έκτη, και σκότος έγένετο, which may be paralleled from classical Greek (Plat. Sympos. 220 c, Win. § 53, 3); still even Luke has the unclassical use ήξουσιν ήμέραι ... και ('when') L. 19. 43: Mt. 26. 45, H. 8. 8 O.T. The use of Kal with a finite verb after καὶ ἐγένετο, ἐγένετο δέ, instead of the acc. and inf. which is likewise found (§ 65, 5), is an imitation of Hebrew : L. 19. 15 Kai έγένετο έν τῷ ἐπανελθεῖν αὐτὸν ... και (om. syr. latt.) εἶπεν, 9. 28 έγ. δὲ μετά τούς λόγους τούτους, ώσει ήμέραι όκτώ (§ 33, 2) και (om. **BH latt. syr.)... $d\nu \epsilon \beta \eta$, cp. A. 5. 7 (here all MSS. read $\kappa a \lambda$), although in constructions of this kind the kai is more often omitted : Mc. 4. 4 καὶ ἐγένετο ἐν τῷ σπείρειν, ὃ μὲν ἔπεσεν κ.τ.λ., Mt. 7. 28 etc.; the ϵ γένετο which is purely pleonastic owes its origin solely to a disinclination to begin a sentence with a statement of time (§ 80, 1). Another Hebraistic use of $\kappa a i$ is to begin an apodosis¹: L. 2. 21 $\kappa a i$ ὅτε ἐπλήσθησαν ..., καὶ (om. D) ἐκλήθη̈́ κ.τ.λ., 7. 12 ὡς δὲ ἤγγισεν ... καὶ ἰδοὺ ἐξεκομίζετο κ.τ.λ., where the reading of D shows that this use is scarcely different from the use with eyevero, viz. eyevero de us ήγγιζεν ..., έξεκομίζετο, cp. also A. l. 10 (καὶ ἰδοὐ), 10. 17 (καὶ ἰδ. CD al., «AB omit kai), Ap. 3. 20 after a sentence beginning with cav (AP omit kai). But the case is different with 2 C. 2. 2 él yap éyè λυπῶ ὑμῶς, και τίς ὁ εὐφραίνων με, i.e. 'who then,' as Winer correctly explains it, comparing Mc. 10. 26 και τίς δύναται σωθήναι (cp. also Mc. 9. 12 D: εί Ηλίας έλθων αποκαθιστάνει πάντα, και πως γέγραπται ... iva ... i ξ_{0} ov $\theta_{\epsilon}v\eta\theta_{\hat{\eta}}$;), Jo. 9. 36, 14. 22 × al. (a classical use, Xenoph. Cyr. v. 4. 13 etc., Kühner ii.² 791 f.); Ph. 1. 22 should accordingly

¹Found also in Homer, e.g. Il. A. 478.

be interpreted in the same way, εἰ δὲ τὸ ζῆν ἐν σαρκί, τοῦτό μοι καρπὸς ἔργου, καὶ τί αἰρήσομαι; οὐ γνωρίζω, συν έχομαι δὲ κ.τ.λ.¹

7. Kal meaning 'and indeed' (epexegetic kal as Winer calls it, cp. Kühner 791) appears in Jo. 1. 16 кай ха́рич ачті ха́ритоs, 1 С. 3. 5, 15. 38 και έκάστω; with a demonstrative it gives emphasis, και τοῦτον ἐσταυρωμένον 1 C. 2. 2, καὶ τοῦτο idque R. 13. 11, 1 C. 6. 6, 8 (in 8 there is a v.l. καὶ ταῦτα, as in H. 11. 12 and in class. Greek. Kühner ibid.). With A. 16. 15 ώς δὲ ἐβαπτίσθη, καὶ ὁ οἶκος αὐτῆς ('and likewise,' 'together with'; so 18. 2) cp. Aristoph. Ran. 697 f. οι μεθ' ὑμῶν πολλὰ δὴ χοἱ πατέρες ἐναυμάχησαν. It is used after $\pi o \lambda \dot{o} s$ before a second adjective, pleonastically according to our usage (a classical and literary use), in A. 25. 7 πολλά και βαρέα αιτιώματα (Tit. 1. 10?). It is not used as in class. Greek after & avtós, buoíws and the like (Kühner 361 note 18).—For Kal 'also' in and after sentences of comparison vide infra § 78, 1; it = 'even' in Mt. 5. 46 etc., and before a comparative in 11. 9, but in H. 8. 6 ὄσφ καὶ $\kappa \rho \omega \tau \tau \sigma \nu \sigma s \kappa \tau \lambda$. the $\kappa \omega \omega$ is the same as that in comparative sentences; there is a tendency to use it after διό, διà τοῦτο to introduce the result, L. 1. 35, 11. 49. On Kai yap see § 78, 6; a kindred use to this (καί occupying another position) is seen in H. 7. 26 τοιοῦτος γὰρ ήμιν και έπρεπεν αρχιερεύς. In μετά και Κλήμεντος Ph. 4. 3 it is pleonastic, cp. Clem. Cor. i. 65. Ι σύν και Φουρτυνάτω. Οη και ... δέ vide infra 12. A peculiar (but classical) use of it is after an interrogative, as in τi και βαπτίζονται 1 C. 15. 29, 'why at all?' (or 'even as much as'), cp. R. 8. 24, L. 13. 7, Kühner 798.

8. Te by no means appears in all writings of the N.T., and would not be represented to any very great extent at all but for the Acts, in which book alone there are more than twice as many instances of it as occur in the rest of the N.T. together (the instances are equally distributed over all parts of the Acts; next to the Acts the greatest number of instances occur in Hebrews and Romans; there are only eight instances in Luke's Gospel²). The use of the simple $\tau\epsilon$ (for $\tau\epsilon$... $\kappa a'_{\ell}$, $\tau\epsilon$ $\kappa a'_{\ell}$, $\tau\epsilon$... $\tau\epsilon$ vide infra 9) is also foreign for the most part to cultured Atticists, while the higher style of poetry uses it abundantly. In the N.T. $\tau\epsilon$ is not often used to connect single ideas (this use in classical Greek is almost confined to poetry, Kühner ii.² 786), as in H. 6. 5 $\theta\epsilon o\tilde{\nu} \dot{\rho} \eta \mu a \delta \nu a \mu \epsilon i \tau \epsilon \mu \epsilon \lambda o \nu \tau connects it denotes a closer$ $connection and affinity between them : A. 2. 40 <math>\dot{\epsilon} \tau \epsilon \rho o i \tau \epsilon$ ($\dot{\delta} \epsilon m a le D$) $\lambda \dot{\delta} \gamma o is \pi \lambda \epsilon i \delta \sigma i \nu \delta i \epsilon \mu a \rho \tau \dot{\rho} \rho a \tau \dot{\rho}$

¹In Ja. 4. 15 it is perfectly admissible to let the apodosis begin with *kal* (both) fromer instead of beginning it at *kal* monfromer, Buttm. 311 note.—Coordination with *kal* instead of a subordinate clause : L. 1. 49 à duratos, *kal ärior* to oroma adtoû (= od to or. *är.*), L. 8. 12 ol *ákoúrartes*, elta *épxetau*, Mt. 13. 22.

² The simple $\tau \epsilon$ only occurs in L. 21. 11 bis, although here too it is followed by a kal, $\sigma \epsilon \iota \sigma \mu o t \tau \epsilon$ ('and,' $\tau \epsilon$ om. AL) $\mu \epsilon \gamma a \lambda \iota \iota \ldots \lambda \iota \mu o \iota \ldots \epsilon \sigma \sigma \sigma \tau a \iota$, $\phi \delta \beta \eta \tau \rho a \tau \epsilon$ ('and') kal $\sigma \eta \mu \epsilon i a \ldots \epsilon \sigma \tau a \iota$: unless this is rather a case of asyndeton, vide 9 (since $\tau \epsilon$ is not a suitable word for a connecting particle). In 24. 20 for $\delta \pi \omega s$ (ωs D) $\tau \epsilon a \partial \tau \partial \nu$ the correct reading may be that of D $\delta \pi \omega s$ (ωs) $\tau o \partial \tau \sigma \nu$. (Still in 23. 36 D has $\delta \xi os \tau \epsilon \pi \rho o \sigma \epsilon \phi \epsilon \rho ov a d \tau \omega \lambda \epsilon \gamma o \nu \tau \epsilon s.)$

καρδίαν, εἶπόν τε ('and so they said'), 27. 4 f. ὑπεπλεύσαμεν τὴν Κύπρον... τό τε πέλαγος τὸ κατὰ τὴν Κιλικίαν... διαπλεύσαντες κ.τ.λ. (in pursuance of the course adopted).¹

9. We find the following correlative combinations (meaning 'as well ... as also') και ... και ..., τε ... και (τε και), τε ... τε. The last (which in classical Greek is more frequent in poetry than in prose, though in prose it is commoner than a simple $\tau \epsilon$, Kühner ii.²788), besides its use in oure ... oure etc. (inf. 10) occurs in eire ... eire, see § 78, 2; also in έάν τε ... έάν τε R. 14. 8 bis; but otherwise only in A. 26. 16 $\delta v \tau \epsilon \epsilon \delta \epsilon s \delta v \tau \epsilon \delta \phi \theta \eta \sigma o \mu a i \sigma o i$; the combined phrases are in this way placed side by side (often = even as \dots so \dots). Τε ... καί affords a closer connection than the simple $\kappa a i$: in Attic Greek it is generally avoided if κai would immediately follow $\tau \epsilon$, since in this case $\tau \epsilon$ might appear to have no point; in the N.T. however it is found in this case as well, Mt. 22. 10 πονηρούς τε και άγαθούς, A. 1. 1 ποιείν τε και διδάσκειν, 2. 9 f., 4. 27, R. 1. 12 ύμων τε και έμου, 3. 9 'Ιουδαίους τε καλ Έλληνας, etc. The connection of 'Ιουδαίοι and "Ελληνες is almost always made by means of $\tau \epsilon$ καλ or $\tau \epsilon \ldots$ καί: A. 14. I (18. 4 $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \iota \theta \epsilon \nu \tau \epsilon$ 'I. Kal "Ellyvas, for an obvious reason), 19. 10 (without τε D), 17 (om. τε DE), 20. 21, R. 1. 16 (τε om. 8*), 2. 9, 10. 12 (without 76 DE), 1 C. 1. 24 (76 om. FG); but in 10. 32 we have απρόσκοποι καὶ Ίουδαίοις γίνεσθε καὶ "Ελλησιν καὶ τŷ ϵ κκλησία τοῦ θ εοῦ, where the distinction of the different nationalities is kept, whereas in the other passages with $\tau \epsilon \kappa a i$ the difference is rather removed. For Kal... Kal cp. Mt. 10. 28 Kal (not in all MSS.) ψυχην καὶ σώμα, which however may mean 'even soul and body' (as is still more clearly the meaning in 8. 27 = Mc. 4. 41 = L. 8. $25 \text{ kal } \delta$ ἄνεμος καὶ ἡ θάλασσα ὑπακούουσιν αὐτῷ), L. 5. 36 καὶ τὸ καινὸν σχίσει, καὶ τῷ παλαιῷ οὐ συμφωνήσει κ.τ.λ. ('on the one hand ... on the other,' so that there is a double injury); the use is somewhat more frequent in John, "va kai o $\sigma\pi\epsilon$ iρων όμου χαίρη και ο $\theta\epsilon$ ρίζων 4. 36, where the two clauses are sharply distinguished: 7. 28 (supra 6), 11. 48 (in these two passages the particles have a less definite meaning), 12. 28, 15. 24 νῦν δὲ καὶ ἑωράκασιν καὶ ('and yet') μεμισήκασιν καὶ ἐμὲ καὶ τὸν $\pi \alpha \tau \epsilon \rho \alpha \mu o v$ (Who appear to them to be different Persons). Paul uses a double kai in R. 14. 9 bis, 1 C. 1. 22 etc.; a peculiar instance is Ph. 4. 12 olda kai $\tau a \pi \epsilon i v o \hat{v} \sigma \theta a i$, olda kai $\pi \epsilon \rho i \sigma \sigma \epsilon \hat{v} \epsilon i v$, where kai even in the first clause has rather the meaning of 'also.'-In longer enumerations $\tau \in (...)$ kai may be followed by a further $\tau \in$, as in A. 9. 15 έθνών τε (τε om. HLP) και βασιλέων υίων τε Ισραήλ, 26. 10, Clem. Cor. i. 20. 3 (on the other hand in L. 22. 66 $\tau \delta \pi \rho \epsilon \sigma \beta v \tau \epsilon \rho \iota \sigma \nu$ τοῦ λαοῦ, ἀρχιερεῖς τε καὶ γραμματεῖs the last words are an explanatory apposition, since otherwise the article must have been used [D kai άρχ. καὶ γρ.]); we have $\tau \epsilon \dots \tau \epsilon \dots \kappa a i$ in H. 6. 2 (ἀναστάσεως and κρίματοs being closely connected by $\tau \epsilon \dots \kappa a i$), ... $\tau \epsilon \kappa a i \dots \kappa a i \dots \tau \epsilon$ kai ... kai in 11. 32, an enumeration of names, where however the

¹ So in Clem. Cor. i. 20. 10 twice, i. 3 - ii. I four times. It cannot be wondered at that $\tau\epsilon$ was often confused in course of transmission with $\delta\epsilon$; thus $\tau\epsilon$ is in-admissible in a parenthesis, as in A. 1. 15 NAB have $\eta\nu$ $\tau\epsilon$ for $\eta\nu$ $\delta\epsilon$ (infra 12).

first three conjunctions are wanting in NA: in this passage the $\tau\epsilon$ must be taken as a connective particle and not as correlative to $\kappa a i$ (similarly in A. 13. 1, 1 C. 1. 30), whereas in the long enumerations in A. 1. 13 and 2. 9 ff. couples are formed by means of $\tau\epsilon$ $\kappa a i$ or a simple $\kappa a i$, and the relation between the several couples is one of asyndeton (cp. Mt. 10. 3 f., 24. 38, R. 1. 14, 1 Tim. 1. 9, Clem. Cor. i. 3. 2, 35. 5, Herm. Mand. xii. 3. 1; in L. 6. 14 ff. there is a v.l. in NBD al. [opposed to A [al.] with a continuous use of $\kappa a i$, as in the reading of all the MSS. in Mc. 3. 16 ff.).—Position of the correlative $\tau\epsilon$: where a preposition precedes which is common to the connected ideas, the $\tau\epsilon$ is notwithstanding placed immediately after this preposition, A. 25. 23 $\sigma v \tau \epsilon \chi \partial \lambda a \partial \omega \delta \sigma v A$. 28. 23, 10. 39 (a v.l. repeats the ϵv), as also in classical Greek (Win. § 61, 6); on the other hand we have $\tau \hat{\omega} v \tilde{\epsilon} \partial v \hat{\omega} \tau \epsilon \kappa a i$ 'Ioudalw A. 14. 5 ($\tau \hat{\omega} v \tilde{\epsilon}$. $\kappa a i$ $\tau \hat{\omega} v$ D).

10. The use of correlative negative clauses with οὕτε...οὕτε or μήτε ... μήτε respectively, and of ouse or μηδε respectively as a connecting particle after negative sentences (and of Kal ou, Kal un after positive sentences) remains the same as in classical Greek. Therefore od ..., ουτε ... ουτε is 'not ... neither ... nor,' Mt. 12. 32 etc.; cp. L. 9. 3 μηδέν ..., $\mu\eta\tau\epsilon$... $\mu\eta\tau\epsilon$ $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. with Mt. 10. 9 f. (Winer). In 1 C. 6. 9 f. a very long enumeration which begins with $o^{\dagger} \tau \epsilon \dots o^{\dagger} \tau \epsilon$ etc. finally veers round to asyndeton with ou ... ou (once also in Mt. 10. 10 µm) is interposed between several cases of $\mu\eta\delta\dot{\epsilon}$). Of course it often happens, as in profane writers, that $o v \tau \epsilon - o v \delta \epsilon$, $\mu \eta \tau \epsilon - \mu \eta \delta \epsilon$ are confused in the MSS., as is also the case with $\delta \epsilon$ and $\tau \epsilon$ (supra 8)¹. If ovô ϵ or $\mu\eta\delta\epsilon$ stands at the beginning of the whole sentence, or after an ov or $\mu \eta$ within the same clause of the sentence, it then means 'not even,' 'not so much as': Mc. 8. 26 μηδε (μη **) είς την κώμην εἰσέλθης (with many vv.ll.; the sense requires εἴπης in place of εἰσέλθης), Mt. 6. 15 etc., Mc. 3. 20 ὥστε μὴ δύνασθαι αὐτοὺς μηδὲ (male μήτε NCDE al.) ἄρτον φαγείν.² The positive term corresponding to this ovôè is kai 'even,' as the positive equivalent for ov ..., ovôè etc. is a series of words string together by $\kappa a i$, but the equivalent for $o v \tau \epsilon$ ουτε οίδα ουτε επίσταμαι of BDL appears to be inadmissible, since the two perfectly synonymous words could not be connected by kai ... καὶ, τϵ καὶ, and therefore the right reading is that of AKM oùk ... oύδε (CE al. read our ... our, which seems to be the origin of the

¹ In L. 20. 36 obre $\gamma d\rho$ is wrongly read by NQ al. for odde $\gamma d\rho$ (§ 78, 6). In Ap. 9. 21 all MSS. read obre several times after od, as in 21. 4; in 5. 4 nearly all have oddels ...obre, but in 5. 3 they are divided : in 12. 8, 20. 4 odde preponderates (as also in Jo. 1. 25): in 7. 16, 9. 4, 21. 23 all have odde. Ja. 3. 12 is quite corrupt.

² The sequence $o\delta\tau\epsilon \dots o\delta\tau\epsilon \dots o\delta\tau\epsilon \dots o\delta\delta\epsilon$ ('nor at all,' as though a single où or $o\delta\delta\mu\omega$) had preceded) is perfectly admissible, A. 24. 12 f., Buttm. 315 note. But we also find $\mu\dot{\eta} \dots \mu\eta\delta\epsilon$ (NABCE $\mu\dot{\eta}\tau\epsilon$) $\dots \mu\dot{\eta}\tau\epsilon$ A. 23. 8, where two ideas are connected and the second is subdivided, cp. for class. exx. Kühner ii.² 829 c; accordingly in G. 1. 12 odde $\gamma\dot{\alpha}\rho$ ('since not even') $\dots \pi\alpha\rho\epsilon\lambda\alpha\beta\omega\nu$ odte $\epsilon\delta\delta\dot{\alpha}\chi\partial\eta\nu$ (B al.) would be possible, though $o\dot{\delta}\delta\epsilon$ $\epsilon\delta$. is better attested and is more regular.

confusion). A disjunctive expression with a negative preceding may also be equivalent to $o\dot{v}$..., $o\dot{v}\delta\dot{\epsilon}$, or $o\dot{v}$... $o\ddot{v}\tau\epsilon$... $o\ddot{v}\tau\epsilon$. Mt. 5. 17 $\mu\dot{\eta}$ νομίσητε ότι ήλθον καταλύσαι τον νόμον ή τους προφήτας=ούκ ή. κατ. ούτε τ.ν. ούτε τ. πρ.; A. 17. 29 etc.; cp. inf. 11.—Of course a correlation of negative and positive members is allowable, though this is not a frequent construction in the N.T.: Jo. 4. 11 o $\ddot{v}\tau\epsilon \,\ddot{a}\nu\tau\lambda\eta\mu a\,\ddot{\epsilon}\chi\epsilon\iota_s$, και το φρέαρ έστιν βαθύ (D has οὐδέ, which seems preferable), 3 Jo. 10 ούτε αύτος επιδεχεται ... και τους βουλομένους κωλύει (in class. Greek ούτε... και is very rare, Kühner ii.² 831 a). Α 27. 20 μήτε... μήτε... $\tau\epsilon$ (however this $\tau\epsilon$ is hardly a correlative, but rather a connecting particle). Kai ov after negative sentences, as in Mt. 15. 32 (Jo. 5. 37 f. o $\ddot{v}\tau\epsilon \dots o\ddot{v}\tau\epsilon \dots \kappa a\dot{v} \dots o\dot{v}$) does not imply a correlation, but an independent continuation, Buttm. p. 316. (In L. 18.2 we have $\tau \partial v \theta \epsilon \partial v$ ού φοβούμενος και ανθρωπον ουκ έντρεπόμενος, somewhat incorrectly, but in v. 4 NB etc. read ουδε ανθρ. έντρέπομαι while AD etc. again read каі...ойк.)

11. The disjunctive particle is η , also η kal 'or even' (L. 18. 11 al.); correlatively $\eta \dots \eta$ 'either ... or' (for which we have the classical $\eta \tau \circ \iota \dots \eta$ in R. 6. 16, Kühner ii.² 837); in addition to this we have ϵ " $\tau \epsilon \dots \epsilon$ " $\tau \epsilon$ sive ... sive, which strictly introduces subordinate clauses, but in virtue of an ellipse may also (as in class. Greek) be used without a finite verb, as in 2 C. 5. 10 íva κομίσηται έκαστος ... είτε άγαθον είτε κακόν, E. 6. 8, Ph. 1. 18 etc., and not solely in a disjunctive sense, but equally well (as $\tau \epsilon$ is included in it) as a copula; cp. §78, 2. H also approximates, especially in negative sentences, to the meaning of a copula: A. 1. 7 ου ... χρόνους ή καιρούς (synonymes), 11. 8 κοινόν η ακάθαρτον ούδέποτε κ.τ.λ., cp. 10. 18 ουδέποτε έφαγον παν κοινόν καὶ (η CD al.) ἀκάθαρτον : Jo. 8. 14 οἶδα πόθεν ηλθον καὶ ποῦ ύπάγω· ὑμεῖς δὲ οὐκ οἴδατε πόθεν ἔρχομαι ἢ ποῦ ὑπάγω, 1 C. 11. 27 ὃς ἂν $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\theta i\eta \dots \dot{\eta} \pi i\nu\eta \dots \dot{\epsilon}\nu a\xi i\omega s;$ similarly in interrogative sentences, which in meaning are equivalent to a negative sentence, 1 Th. 2. 10 τ is yap ήμων έλπις ή χαρά ή στέφανος (in 20 the positive statement runs ή δόξα και ή χαρά). "H an in interrogative sentences, vide supra 2, is sharply disjunctive ('otherwise this must be the case'). A singular instance of its use is in 1 Th. 2. 19 (vide supra) τ is $\gamma \dot{a} \rho \dots \sigma \tau \dot{\epsilon} \phi a \nu \sigma$; $\eta (\eta)$ is wanting in \aleph^*) ov χi kai $i\mu\epsilon i \ldots$; where η has probably been foisted into the text for the sake of the τ is ('who else but'); cp. Jo. 13. 10 v.l. (and $a\lambda\lambda' \eta$ inf. 13).

12. The adversative particles most in use are $\delta \epsilon$ and $\delta \lambda \lambda \delta$, the former of which has its correlative in $\mu \epsilon \nu$, while the latter usually refers to a preceding negative ('but on the contrary'). This reference, however, may also be expressed, though not so strongly, by $\delta \epsilon$: A. 12. 9 $\sigma \nu \kappa \ \beta \delta \epsilon \iota$. $\epsilon \delta \delta \kappa \epsilon \iota \ \delta \epsilon$ ('but rather'), 14, H. 4. 13, 6. 12 etc. A distinction must also be made between contradiction ($d \lambda \lambda \delta$) and antithesis ($\delta \epsilon$): H. 2. 8 $\sigma \delta \epsilon \iota \ \delta \pi \delta \tau \sigma \sigma \tau \sigma \tau \sigma \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma$ ('but,' on the other hand'). The correlation of $\mu \epsilon \nu$ and $\delta \epsilon$, which is so essentially characteristic of the classical Greek style, is very largely reduced in the N.T., so that $\mu \epsilon \nu$ is wholly absent from Ap. 2 P., 1, 2 and 3 Jo.

2 Th., 1 Tim., Tit. ($\mu \epsilon \nu$ in 1. 15 is spurious) and Philemon, and is practically unrepresented in Ja. (3. 17 $\pi\rho\omega\tau\sigma\nu$ $\mu\epsilon\nu\ldots$ $\epsilon\pi\epsilon\iota\tau\alpha$, an antithesis also found in classical Greek without $\delta \hat{\epsilon}$; cp. Jo. 11. 6, 1 C. 12. 28), Eph. (4. 11 τούς μέν ... τούς δέ), Col. (2. 23, an anacoluthon without an answering clause), and 1 Th. (2. 18 $\epsilon\gamma\omega$ $\mu\epsilon\nu$ $\Pi \alpha \hat{\nu} \lambda os$, the antithetical clause being omitted but sufficiently intimated by $\mu \epsilon \nu$; classical Greek has a similar use, Hdt. iii. 3 $\epsilon \mu o \ell \mu \epsilon \nu$ où $\pi\iota\theta\alpha\nu$ ós ['to me at least'], Kühner 813 f.); it is also comparatively rare in the Gospels as a whole, and only occurs with any frequency in Acts, Hebrews (1 Peter) and some of the Pauline epistles.¹ Moreover a large number of these instances, especially those in Luke, are instances of the resumptive $\mu \epsilon \nu$ ov, § 78, 5, where the $\mu \epsilon \nu$ in very few cases indicates a real antithesis: other examples of anacoluthic $\mu \notin \nu$ are also fairly common in Luke, where the style and structure of the sentence are more or less harshly violated, as in L. 8. 5 f. $\delta \mu \epsilon \nu \dots \kappa \alpha i \epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho o \nu$ (occasioned by a development of the idea being interposed: so in Mc. 4. 4 f.), A. I. 1, 3. 13, 21, 17. 30, 27. 21 (cp. also 2 C. 11. 4, H. 7. 11): not to mention the instances, where the omission of $\delta \hat{\epsilon}$ is excusable or even classically correct, viz. $\pi \rho \hat{\omega} \tau o \nu$ $\mu \epsilon \nu$ R. 1. 8, 3. 2, 1 C. 11. 18 (perhaps 'from the very outset'), Α. 28. 22 περί μέν γαρ της αίρέσεως ταύτης γνωστον ήμιν έστιν κ.τ.λ. ('so much we do indeed know'), R. 10. 1 $\dot{\eta}$ μèν εὐδοκία κ.τ.λ. ('so far as my wishes are concerned '), 11. 13 έφ' ὅσον μέν οῦν εἰμι ἐγὼ ἐθνῶν άπόστολος κ.τ.λ., cp. Kühner 814.—In Jo. 7. 12 of μèv is followed by $a\lambda\lambda \omega$ (a. $\delta \epsilon$ BTX) with the asyndeton of which this gospel is so fond (§ 79, 4); in H. 12. 9 ov πολλφ δε (N°D*, the other MSS. omit $\delta \hat{\epsilon}$) is probably the correct reading; we have instances of $\mu \hat{\epsilon} \nu \dots \hat{a} \lambda \lambda \hat{a}$, μέν...πλήν (Kühn. 812 f.) in A. 4. 16, R. 14. 20, 1 C. 14. 17: L. 22. 22; and a kindred use to this occurs in Mt. 17. 11 f. 'HAias μέν ἔρχεται ..., λέγω δὲ ὑμῖν, with which cp. Mc. 9. 12 μέν...(om. DL), 13 $d\lambda\lambda\dot{a}$..., where $\mu\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ means 'indeed,' 'certainly,' and $\delta\dot{\epsilon}$ (or $d\lambda\lambda\dot{a}$) is an emphatic 'but.'— $\Delta\epsilon$ introduces a parenthesis in A. 12. 3 It introduces an explantion or a climax ('but,' 'and indeed') in R. 3. 22 δικαιοσύνη δè $\theta \epsilon o \hat{v}$, 9. 30, 1. C. 2. 6, Ph. 2. 8.—We find καὶ ... δè in connection with each other in A. 2. 44, 3. 24 καὶ πάντες δè κ.τ.λ., 'and also all,' 22. 29 και ό χιλίαρχος δέ, Mt. 16. 18 κάγω δέ σοι λέγω, Jo. 8. 16 etc. (Tisch. on 6. 51), etc.: whereas de kai means 'but also,' A. 22. 28 etc.

13. 'AAA, besides its use in opposition to a preceding $o\dot{v}^2$ (with which must be classed $o\dot{v} \ \mu \phi \nu \rho \nu \dots \ a \lambda \lambda a \ \kappa a \lambda^3$), is also found with $o\dot{v}$,

 1 Mè ν is not unfrequently interpolated in the inferior MSS., Buttm. p. 313. Also in Clem. Cor. i. (62, 1 anacol.), Cor. ii., Barnabas (i. 2 anacol.) and Hermas it is only rarely represented.

² Oⁱ</sup>... $d\lambda\lambda d$ may also mean 'not so much ... as,' Mc. 9. 37 oⁱ κ $\ell\mu\epsilon$ $\delta\epsilon\chi\epsilon\tau a$, $d\lambda\lambda d$ $\tau\delta\nu$ $d\pi\sigma\sigma\tau\epsilon l\lambda a \tau t$ $\mu\epsilon$, Mt. 10. 20, Jo. 12. 44, A. 5. 4 etc., the first member of the sentence being not entirely negatived, hut only made subordinate.

³ Oử μόνον ... ἀλλά is used without a καl if the second member includes the first, A. 19. 26, I Jo. 5. 6, or as in Ph. 1. 12 ἀλλὰ πολλῷ μᾶλλον κ.τ.λ.

[§ 77. 13.

in opposition to a foregoing positive sentence ('but not'): 1 C. 10. 23 πάντα έξεστιν, άλλ' ού πάντα συμφέρει, ibid. 5, Mt. 24. 6; it is further used where no negative precedes or follows it, as in 1 C. 6. 11 καὶ ταῦτά τινες ἦτε, ἀλλὰ ἀπελούσασθε, ἀλλὰ ἡγιάσθητε, where one can easily supply 'but you are so no longer' and render $d\lambda\lambda a$ by 'on the contrary': 1 C. 3. 6 $\epsilon\gamma\omega$ $\epsilon\phi\tau\epsilon\sigma\sigma\alpha$, 'A $\pi\circ\lambda\lambda\omega$ s έπότισεν, ἀλλὰ ὁ θεὸς ηυξανεν (but He Who gave the increase was not I nor he, but God), 7. 7, Jo. 16. 2. It stands at the beginning of the sentence with or without a negative : R. 10. 16 $d\lambda\lambda'$ or πάντες ὑπήκουσαν, where the difference is more strongly marked is expressed in Mt. and Lc. (not in Acts) by πλήν, 'yet,' 'howbeit' (in Acts and Mc. it is a preposition meaning 'except' as in class. Greek, § 40, 6; we also have $\pi\lambda\dot{\eta}\nu$ $\delta\tau\iota$ [class.] 'except that' in A. 20. 23): Mt. 26. 39 (L. 22. 43) $\pi\lambda\dot{\eta}\nu$ où χ is in $\ell\lambda\omega$ $d\lambda\lambda'$ is σύ, = Mc. 14. 36 άλλ' οὐχ κ.τ.λ.; Mt. 11. 22, 24, 26. 64 πλην λέγω ύμιν, but in Mc. 9. 13 άλλα λέγω ὑμιν (cp. Mt. 17. 12 λέγω δὲ ὑμιν); Mt. 18. 7 $\pi\lambda\eta\nu$ oval $\kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, = L. 17. 1 oval $\delta\epsilon$ ($\pi\lambda\eta\nu$ oval $\delta\epsilon$ \pm BDL); it even takes the place of an $d\lambda\lambda d$ corresponding to a negative in L. 23. 28 μή κλαίετε έπ' έμέ, πλην έφ' έαυτας κλαίετε (άλλ' D); 12. 29, 31 (D $(\eta \tau \epsilon i \tau \epsilon \delta \epsilon)$; it is obvious that $\pi \lambda \eta \nu$ was the regular word in the vulgar language. (In Paul it has rather the meaning of 'only,'1 'in any case,' being used at the end of a discussion to emphasize the essential point, 1 C. 11. 11, E. 5. 33, Ph. 3. 16, 4. 14; so also in Ap. 2. 25, and there is a parallel use (?) in Ph. 1. 18 $\tau i \gamma d\rho$; $\pi \lambda \eta \nu$ (om. B) ότι (om. DEKL) παντί τρόπω... Χριστός καταγγέλλεται, καί έν τούτω χαίρω, where τί γάρ appears to mean as in R. 3. 3 'what matters it?', and $\pi \lambda \dot{\eta} \nu$, with or without $\delta \tau \iota$, seems to denote 'at all events,' and is moreover superfluous.)-'ANLA is used after an oratorical question as in class. Greek, in Jo. 12. 27 τί εἴπω; πάτερ, σῶσόν με...; $\dot{a}\lambda\lambda\dot{a}$ δι \dot{a} τοῦτο $\dot{\eta}\lambda\theta$ ον κ.τ.λ. (there are simpler sentences in 7. 49, 1 C. 10. 20); or in a succession of questions (the answer being either given in each case or suppressed), Mt. 11. 8 f. = L. 7. 24 ff. τί ἐξήλθατε...; ... ἀλλὰ τί ἐξήλθατε; κ.τ.λ. (class.). A peculiar instance is H. 3. 16 τίνες γαρ ακούσαντες παρεπίκραναν; αλλ' ου πάντες οἱ ἐξελθόντες ἐξ Αἰγύπτου...; where however the $a\lambda\lambda'$ (cp. the Syriac VS.) may have only originated from a misunderstanding of the preceding $\tau i \nu \epsilon_s$ as if it were $\tau \iota \nu \epsilon_s$.²—'ANNà is used in the apodosis after εί, έάν, είπερ, meaning 'still,' 'at least' (class.): 1 C. 4. 15 έλν μυρίους παιδαγωγούς έχητε έν Χριστῷ, ἀλλ' οὐ πολλοὺς πατέρας, 2 C. 4. 16, 11. 6, (13. 4 v.l.), Col. 2. 5 etc.; cp. αλλά γε υμίν είμι 1 C. 9. 2 (supra 4).—Besides its use in this passage $\lambda\lambda\lambda \dot{\alpha} \gamma \epsilon \kappa a \dot{\alpha} \dots$ is found in L. 24. 21 (vide ibid.), introducing an accessory idea in an emphatic way,

¹Cp. Aristotle's use, Bonitz Index Arist. s.v. $\pi \lambda \eta \nu$.

² The use is different in L. 17. 7 f. $\tau is \dots \epsilon \rho \epsilon \hat{\iota} a \vartheta \tau \hat{\varphi} \dots d\lambda \lambda' o \vartheta \chi \hat{\iota} \epsilon \rho \epsilon \hat{\iota} a \vartheta \tau \hat{\varphi} \dots;$ 'and not rather.' D here omits $o \vartheta \chi \hat{\iota}$, according to which the second half of the sentence is not interrogative. cp. alla kal ibid. 22, 12. 7, 16. 21, 'not only this, but also,' as in Ph. 1. 18 χαίρω, άλλὰ καὶ χαρήσομαι, 2 C. 11. 1 ὄφελον ἀνείχεσθε..., άλλὰ καὶ ἀνέχεσθε (not only will I utter the wish, but I entreat you directly); to this corresponds $d\lambda\lambda'$ ouse in 1 C. 3. 2 out $\pi\omega$ yap édurate. άλλ' οὐδὲ ἔτι νῦν δύνασθε, A. 19. 2, L. 23. 15. The simple ἀλλά also has this force of introducing an accessory idea, in 2 C. 7. 11 $\pi \delta\sigma\eta v$ ύμιν κατηργάσατο σπουδήν, αλλά ('and not only that, but also') ἀπολογίαν, ἀλλὰ ἀγανάκτησιν, ἀλλὰ φόβον κ.τ.λ. (ἀλλά 6 times repeated). We further have $d\lambda\lambda \dot{a} \mu\epsilon\nu o\hat{v}\nu \gamma\epsilon$ (without $\gamma\epsilon$ in BDF al.) $\kappa a\hat{i}$ (om. **) ήγοῦμαι Ph. 3. 8, cp. inf. 14.—Notice must be taken of the elliptical all' iva 'on the contrary (but) this has happened (or a similar phrase) in order that,' Mc. 14. 49, Jo. 1. 8, 9. 3, 13. 18, 15. 25; but this must be distinguished from Mc. 4. 22 ou γàρ ἔστιν τι κρυπτόν, έαν μή ίνα φανερωθη οὐδε έγενετο ἀπόκρυφον, ἀλλ' ίνα ἔλθη ϵ is φανερον, where $d\lambda\lambda' = \epsilon i \mu \eta$ 'save that,' and from the use of $d\lambda\lambda'$ (*i.e.* $d\lambda\lambda$ o) η in L. 12. 51 οὐχί, λέγω ὑμῖν, $d\lambda\lambda' \eta$ (D $d\lambda\lambda$ à) διαμερισμόν, 'nothing else but' (classical, Kühner ii.² 824, 5 and 6, 825 note 4), cp. 2 C. 1. 13 où γàρ ἄλλα ... ἄλλ' (ἄλλ' om. BFG) ή (om. A) å (om. AD*) ἀναγινώσκετε¹ (ἄλλ' η is an interpolation in 1 C. 3. 5), Clem. Cor. i. 41. 2.

14. Other adversative particles are μέντοι 'however,' οὐ(δείs) μέντοι Jo. 4. 27, 7. 13, 20. 5, 21. 4 (Herm. Sim. vi. 1. 6), Shus herror 12. 42; this particle occurs very rarely except in John, viz. δ μέντοι θεμέλιος 2 Tim. 2. 19, Ja. 2. 8, Jd. 8 (in the two last passages with a weaker meaning = 'but.'). "Opus apart from the instance quoted occurs only again in 1 C. 14. 7, G. 3. 15, where it is used in a peculiar way: όμως τὰ ἄψυχα φωνήν διδόντα ..., ἐάν διαστολήν φθόγγου μή δῷ, πῶς γνωσθήσεται κ.τ.λ., and όμως ανθρώπου κεκυρωμένην διαθήκην ουδείς $d heta\epsilon \hat{\iota}$; the latter passage is explained (Fritzsche) as a substitution for $\kappa a \ell \pi \epsilon \rho \, d \nu \theta \rho$., $\delta \mu \omega s$ oblices $d \theta$. 'if it be only a man's will, yet,' somewhat like Xenoph. Cyrop. v. 1. 26 σùν σοὶ ὅμως καὶ ἐν τŷ πολεμία οντες θαρρούμεν, Kühner p. 645; but as in both passages a comparison is introduced by it, and as ούτωs also follows in the passage of 1 Cor., it appears to be rather an instance of the old word builts 'in like manner' being brought into play, which should accordingly be rendered simply by 'also' or 'likewise.'2-Katron in classical Greek means 'and yet,' and rarely takes a participle with the meaning 'although,' cp. § 74, 2; in the N.T. it introduces a parenthesis in Jo. 4. 2 καίτοιγε (§ 77, 4) Ίησοῦς αὐτὸς οὐκ ἐβάπτιζεν κ.τ.λ. (= 'although He did not baptize'), and has a more independent character in A. 14. 17, though here also it may be rendered 'although' (on A. 17. 27 see § 74, 2; for καίτοι with a participle H. 4. 3).-Kal μήν 'and yet' (class.) does not occur in the N.T.; but Hermas uses it in Mand. iv. 1.

¹"All' is rendered pleonastic by a preceding $\ell\lambda$ os, but the use is nevertheless not unclassical, Kühner 824, 6.

² Clem. Hom. i. 15 (= Epitom. 14) has και όμως ἕμαθον και τῷ πυλῶνι ἐπέστην, = άμα 'at the same time'; xix. 23 και όμως τοιαῦτά τινα μυρία κ.τ.λ., = και όμοίως. (In 1 C. l.c. the accentuation όμως is supported by Wilke Neut. Rhetorik p. 225.) 8, v. 1. 7, with an intensifying force in an answer, somewhat like immo (class., Kühner ii.² 690.—Mèv oôv in classical Greek is specially used in answers with heightening or corrective force, and is always so placed that the μev here as in other cases has another word before it; hut in the N.T. $\mu evoôv \circ r \mu evoôv\gamma \epsilon$ with the same meaning stands at the beginning of a sentence: L. 11. 28 $\mu evoôv$ (ins. $\gamma \in B^{3}CD$ al.) $\mu a \kappa \delta \rho \iota o i \kappa.\tau.\lambda$. ('rather'), R. 9. 20 ($\gamma \epsilon$ is omitted by B only), 10. 18 $\mu evoôv\gamma \epsilon$ ($\mu evoôv\gamma \epsilon$ om. FG); we also find $d\lambda\lambda \lambda \mu evoôv(\gamma \epsilon)$ in Ph. 3. 8, vide supra 13. Cp. Phryn. Lob. 342. But the classical position of the word is seen in 1 C. 6. 4 $\beta \iota \omega \tau \iota \kappa \lambda \mu evoôv \kappa \rho \iota \tau \eta \rho \iota a \kappa.\tau.\lambda$., cp. 7 (oôv om. \aleph^*D^*).

§ 78. PARTICLES (continued).

1. The comparative particles which are followed by a subordinate clause are ω_s and $\omega_{\sigma\pi\epsilon\rho}$, also frequently in nearly all writers $\kappa a\theta\omega_s$, a Hellenistic word, see Phrynicus p. 425 Lob., who strongly disapproves of it and requires instead Ka84 (only in Mt. 27. 10 O.T. and L. 1. 2 according to D and Euseb., certainly the right reading, see p. 49 on $\pi a \rho \epsilon \delta 0 \sigma a \nu$) or **ka96** (which is found in R. 8. 26, 2 C. 8. 12, 1 P. 4. 13); the equally Attic form Kalámep occurs only in Paul and Hebrews. The uses of us are manifold, and some of them, as being too well known and commonplace, need not be discussed at all in this The correlative terms are ωs ($\omega \sigma \pi \epsilon \rho$, $\kappa a \theta \omega s$, $\kappa a \theta a \pi \epsilon \rho$) grammar. - ούτωs or ούτωs καl; or the term corresponding to ws may be simply καί, as in Mt. 6. 10, or again και may be attached to us and may even stand in both portions of the comparison, as in R. 1. 13 lva rivà καρπόν σχώ και έν ύμιν, καθώς και έν τοις λοιποις έθνεσιν, Mt. 18. 33 etc. (as in class. Greek, Kühner p. 799, 2).--When used to introduce a sentence $\dot{\omega}s$ and more particularly $\kappa \alpha \theta \dot{\omega}s$ may also to some extent denote a reason: R. 1. 28 καθώς ούκ έδοκίμασαν τον θεον έχειν έν έπιγνώσει, παρέδωκεν αὐτοὺς ὁ θεὸς κ.τ.λ. ('even as'='since,' quandoquidem), 1 C. 1. 6, 5. 7, E. 1. 4, Ph. 1. 7 (Mt. 6. 12 ús και ήμειs αφήκαμεν, = L. 11. 4 και γαρ αυτοι αφίομεν), cp. ώs with a partic. § 74, 6.—A parable is introduced by ω_s in Mc. 13. 34, by $\omega_{\sigma\pi\epsilon\rho} \gamma_{\alpha\rho}$ (yàp om. D) in 25. 14, though no corresponding term follows, and there is also no close connection with the preceding words, cp. 81, 2. -Before ideas the place of us is taken by work (especially in the Gospels and Acts, also in Herm. Sim. vi. 2. 5, ix. 11. 5), with much variety of reading in the MSS.; this particle is also used before numerical ideas = 'about,' Mt. 14. 21 (D ws), Jo. 4. 6 (ws has preponderant evidence) etc. (classical); ώσπερεί (in comparisons) only occurs 2 C. 10. 9 ώσαν ('as it were') ἐκφοβείν, cp. § 70, 5. A very wide use is made of ώs in connection with a predicate, whether in the nominative, Mt. 22. 30 ώς άγγελοι θεοῦ εἰσιν, 18. 3 ἐὰν μη γένησθε ώς τὰ παιδία, 1 C. 7. 7 έαν μείνωσιν ώς κάγώ, or in the accusative, L. 15. 19 ποίησόν με ώς ένα τών μισθίων σου, especially with the verbs $\lambda_{0\gamma}$ (fer tai, $\dot{\eta}\gamma\epsilon$ io tai etc., § 34, 5 (all unclassical uses; but in the LXX. we have in Gen. 3. 5 $e\sigma e\sigma \theta \epsilon$ is $\theta \epsilon o i$, = class. is $\delta \theta \epsilon o i$, or is a rai θ εοὶ according to Thuc. iii. 14, cp. [§ 76, 1] εἶναι ὅσα θεῷ Ph. 2. 6). With τὴν ἴσην ὡς καὶ ἡμῶν A. 11. 17 cp. classical exx. in Kühner 361, note 18. Πορεύεσθαι ὡς (ἔως NABE) ἐπὶ τὴν θάλασσαν A. 17. 14 is a Hellenistic usage, ὡς ἐπὶ = versus in Polyb. i. 29. 1 etc., see Wetstein ad loc.; ὡς τάχιστα ibid. 15 is classical (literary language; § 44, 3). On ὡς with a partic. and in abbreviated sentences see § 74, 6. On exclamatory ὡς § 76, 3; ὡς (ὡς ὅτι) in assertions § 70, 2; on temporal ὡς infra 3; with an infinitive § 69, 3.

2. The hypothetical particles are & and & x, see § 65, 4 and 5; Paul (and 1 Pet. 2. 3, but N*AB read ei) also uses einep 'if on the other hand,' R. 3. 30 (v.l. $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i \pi \epsilon \rho$), 8. 9, 17, 2 Th. 1. 6, referring to an alternative condition (or fact) ; $\epsilon a v \pi \epsilon \rho$ is similarly used in H. 3 (6 v.l.) 14, 6.3; but the particle is differently used in 1 C. 8. 5 και γαρ $\epsilon i\pi\epsilon \rho \epsilon i\sigma i\nu \lambda\epsilon \gamma \delta \mu \epsilon \nu o i \dots, d\lambda \lambda' \eta \mu i \nu \epsilon is \delta \theta \epsilon \delta s, where it has a con$ cessive sense, 'however true it may be that,' as in Homer (Kühner 991, note $2)^1$. Even is similarly used, but makes a more definite assumption (G. Hermann), § 77, 4. The correlative terms in use are eïre ... erre (eav re ... eav re R. 14. 8 twice), only found in Paul and 1 Peter, either with a finite verb, as in 1 C. 10. 31 ϵ $l\tau\epsilon$ our $\epsilon\sigma\theta$ let ϵ είτε πίνετε είτε τι ποιείτε, πάντα είς δόξαν θεού ποιείτε, 'whether it be that ... or that,' or still more frequently without a verb by abbreviation (classical, Kühner 839), ibid. 3. 21 f. πάντα γαρ υμών έστιν, είτε $\Pi a \hat{v} \lambda \hat{o}_{S} \epsilon \tilde{\iota} \tau \epsilon A \pi o \lambda \lambda \hat{\omega}_{S} \epsilon \tilde{\iota} \tau \epsilon K \eta \phi \hat{a}_{S}$, where perhaps no definite verb can be supplied, but the meaning is 'whether one mentions,' 'whether it be,' 'whether one is concerned with''; similarly 13. 8 $\epsilon i \tau \epsilon \delta \epsilon \pi \rho o$ φήτείαι, καταργηθήσονται, είτε γλώσσαι, παύσονται, είτε κ.τ.λ., and R. 12. 6 ff. έχοντες δε χαρίσματα ... είτε προφητείαν (sc. έχοντες), κατά την ..., είτε διακονίαν, έν ..., είτε ο διδάσκων, έν τη διδασκαλία είτε ό παρακαλών, ϵv κ.τ.λ. The meaning of $\epsilon i \tau \epsilon \dots \epsilon i \tau \epsilon$ in such passages approximates very closely to that of kai... kai, and the construction is also of the same character as that with $\kappa \alpha i'$; the passage R. 12. 7 like other cases of enumeration (R. 2. 17-20; § 79, 3) concludes with an asyndeton, ό μεταδιδούς έν άπλότητι κ.τ.λ.—Further correlative terms are et uev ... et de, as in A. 18. 14 f.; here we may note the thoroughly classical suppression of the first apodosis in L. 13. 9 käv μεν ποιήση καρπόν (sc. it is well)· εί δε μήγε, εκκόψεις αὐτήν (cp. Kühner 986). On $\dot{\epsilon}_i$ $\delta \dot{\epsilon}$ $\mu \dot{\eta}$, ϵ_i $\delta \dot{\epsilon}$ $\mu \dot{\eta} \tau \epsilon$ (the second protasis being abbreviated) see § 77, 4; on $\epsilon i (\epsilon a \nu) \mu \eta (\tau i)$ 'except,' except that' see §§ 65, 6: 75, 3. In imitation of Hebrew & is used after formulas of swearing (=Hebr. Δ): Mc. 8. 12 ἀμὴν λέγω ὑμῖν, εἰ ('there shall not ') δοθήσεται τη γενεά ταῦτη σημείον (cp. Mt. 16. 4 a principal sen-

¹ We also have 1 C. 15. 15 &r ($\tau \delta r X \rho$.) oùr $\check{\eta}\gamma \epsilon \iota \rho e \tau$, $\epsilon \check{\ell} \pi \epsilon \rho \ \check{d} \rho a \ \nu \epsilon \kappa \rho ol \ oùr \ \check{e} \gamma \epsilon \iota \rho o \nu \tau a \iota$, hut the clause $\epsilon \check{\ell} \pi \epsilon \rho \ldots \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \epsilon \iota \rho$. is absent (through homoeoteleuton? cp. 16) in DE and other witnesses; the sense can perfectly well dispense with it, and is hetter without it; moreover the classical use of $\check{d} \rho a$ ('as they say ') is remarkable. Here also $\epsilon \check{\ell} \pi \epsilon \rho$ means 'if on the other hand ' (as they say).

² For this in 2 C. 8. 23 we have $\epsilon \ell \tau \epsilon$ **inter** $T \ell \tau o v$, $\kappa o \iota \nu \omega \nu d \delta \epsilon \star \tau \lambda$, but here again the sentence continues in the nominative, $\epsilon \ell \tau \epsilon \ d \delta \epsilon \lambda \phi o \ell \ \eta \mu \omega \nu$, $d \pi \delta \sigma \tau \sigma \lambda \sigma \iota \epsilon \epsilon \kappa \lambda \eta \sigma \iota \omega \nu$.

tence with oi), H. 3. 11 = 4. 3 O.T.—On concessive $\epsilon i \ \kappa a i$, $\epsilon a \nu \kappa a i$ etc. see § 65, 6; on ϵi in indirect and direct questions, and its use to express expectation (also expressed by $\epsilon i \ \pi \omega s$, si forte) see §§ 65, 1 and 6; 77, 2.

3. The temporal particles, used to denote time when, are $\delta \tau \epsilon$, $\delta \tau a \nu$, όπότε (ἐπειδή is generally causal, as is ἐπειδήπερ; ἐπειδή in temporal sense only occurs in L. 7. 1 with vv.ll. $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i$, $\delta \tau \epsilon$), and exceptionally in Paul ήνίκα (a literary word, but also found in LXX. e.g. Exod. 1. 10, Deut. 7. 12) 2 C. 3. 15 f. from LXX. Exod. 34. 34 (a particle which strictly refers to a period of an hour or a year, but is already in Attic used interchangeably with $\delta \tau \epsilon$). Another equally rare word is όπότε, if it is correctly read in L. 6. 3 όπότε (ὅτε »BCDL al., as in Mt., Mc.) $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i \nu a \sigma \epsilon \nu$. In addition to these we find us not unfrequently used in the narrative of Luke (Gospel and Acts) and John: L. 1. 23 ώς ἐπλήσθησαν αί ἡμέραι, Jo. 2. 9 ώς δὲ ἐγεύσατο ὁ ἀρχιτρίκλινος κ.τ.λ. (classical; LXX. especially 1 Macc., Win.-Grimm); in Paul we have R. 15. 24 ώs åν πορεύωμαι εἰς τὴν Σπανίαν 'in my approaching journey to Spain,' 1 C. 11. 34 ώs åν ἔλθω 'when I come (shall come),' Ph. 2. 23 ώς αν ἀφίδω—a use of ώς αν which finds only distant parallels in classical Greek¹; it takes the pres. indic. in G. 6. 10 ús $\kappa \alpha_{\mu}\rho \partial \nu \epsilon \chi_{\rho}$ (male $-\omega\mu\epsilon\nu \otimes B^*$) cum, 'now while' (Clem. Cor. ii. 8. 1, 9. 7), and in L. 12. 58 ώς γαρ υπάγεις ... έπ' ἄρχοντα, έν τη ύδῷ (Mt. 5. 25 is differently expressed, using twos orov; in Lc. twos undiverse would be tautological beside $\epsilon v \tau \hat{\eta} \delta \hat{\psi}$.—Time during which is expressed, as in classical Greek, by $\tilde{\epsilon}\omega s$ (with a present), Jo. 9. 4 $\tilde{\epsilon}\omega s$ $\eta\mu\dot{\epsilon}\rho a$ $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\dot{\iota}\nu$, cp. 12. 35 f., where in 35 ABD al., and in 36 the same MSS. with N, read ws, which after the instances of ws that have been quoted is not impossible, though the meaning 'as long as 'appears more correct at least in verse 35^2 ; see also Mc. 6. 45, Jo. 21. 22, 1 Tim. 4. 13, § 65, Elsewhere for 'as long as' we have two orou Mt. 5. 25 (as two 10. has become a preposition, § 40, 6), or ἄχρις of H. 3. 13, A. 27. 33, or έν φ Mc. 2. 19, L. 5. 34, Jo. 5. 7. The same expressions together with $\tilde{\epsilon}\omega_{\rm S}$ où, $\tilde{a}\chi\rho_{\ell}$, $\mu\epsilon\chi\rho_{\ell}$, $\mu\epsilon\chi\rho_{\ell}$ où when used with the aor. conj. (or fut. indic.) mean 'until,' § 65, 9 and 10.—'Before' is $\pi\rho\ell\nu$, $\pi\rho\ell\nu$, η , usually with an infinitive; also $\pi \rho \delta \tau \sigma \hat{v}$ with an infin., ibid.

4. For the final particles $\forall va, \delta \pi \omega s$, $\mu \eta$ see § 65, 2; on the extended use of $\forall va, \S 69$; on $\mu \eta$, $\mu \eta \pi \omega s$, $\mu \eta \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon$ after $\phi o \beta \epsilon \delta \sigma \theta a \epsilon$ etc. § 65, 3.— For assertions with $\delta \tau \iota$ (ωs , $\omega s \sigma \tau \iota$, $\pi \omega s$), § 70; for indirect questions with $\epsilon \iota$ ($\pi \delta \tau \epsilon \rho o \tau \ldots \eta$ Jo. 7. 17), § 77, 2.

5. The consecutive subordinating particles are $\omega\sigma\tau\epsilon$, see § 69, 3, and νa , ibid.—With a co-ordinate construction $\sigma \nu$ is particularly frequent, being one of the commonest of the particles in the N.T., and fairly represented in all writings, though a far larger use is made of

¹Hdt. iv. 172 $\tau \hat{\omega} \nu$ dè is ëkas τ ds oi $\mu \chi \theta \hat{g}$, didoî dûpor. But the LXX. has the same use, e.g. in Jos. 2. 14; also Herm. Vis. iii. 8. 9.

² In modern Greek &s (from & ω s) also means 'until'; but in the N.T. the two words are not elsewhere confused (& σ re with an inf. = 'until' in 'Jo.' 8. 9 D?), and we should therefore perhaps write with \aleph in verse 35 & ω s 'as long as,' and in verse 36 &s quando 'now when.' it in narrative than in epistolary style, and the greatest of all in John's Gospel (whereas in the Johannine Epistles it only occurs in 3 Jo. 8 [being interpolated in 1 Jo. 2. 24, 4. 19]). Of course it does not always imply a strictly causal connection, but may be used in a looser way of a temporal connection, and therefore to resume or continue the narrative. Luke is accustomed in the Acts, if the narrative sentence begins with a noun or pronoun (or a participle with the article), to emphasize the ov by the addition of $\mu \dot{\epsilon} v$, which need not be succeeded by a contrasted clause with $\delta \dot{\epsilon}$: 1. 6 of $\mu \dot{\epsilon} \nu$ ov ν συνελθόντες κ.τ.λ., 18 ούτος μέν ούν κ.τ.λ., 2. 41 οί μέν ούν αποδέξάμενοι, 9. 31 ai µèv our ekkangiai etc.; this combination of particles is used sometimes to state what further took place, sometimes to summarize the events which have been previously narrated, before passing on to something new (cp. for the class. use Kühner 711); the same use occurs in Luke's Gospel 3. 18 πολλά μέν ούν και έτερα παρακαλών εὐηγγελίζετο τον λαόν (the only instance of μέν οὖν in that Gospel). The simple ov_{ν} is used after a participle in A. 10. 23 (15. 2 v.l.), 16. 11, 25. 17 (cp. 26. 22 etc.); in Luke's Gospel only in 23. 16 = 22; D has it also in 5. 7. O $\vartheta \nu$ is used after parenthetical remarks to indicate a recurrence to the original subject in Jo. 4. 45, 6. 24, 1 C. 8. 4, 11. 20 (also classical; but the classical de our to indicate this recurrence is unrepresented). The interrogative oukouv 'therefore,' 'then' (Kühner 715 f.) occurs only in Jo. 18. 37 οὐκοῦν βασιλεὺς εί σύ; On μέν οὖν, μενοῦν see § 77. 14.—Another consecutive particle is äpa 'therefore,' 'consequently,' especially frequent in Paul, who sometimes makes it, as in classical Greek, the second word in the sentence, R. 7. 21 ευρίσκω άρα, sometimes contrary to classical usage the first, as in R. 10. 17 dpa (FG d. o ϑv) $\dot{\eta} \pi i \sigma \tau is \dot{\xi} d\kappa o \eta s$, 1 C. 15. 18, 2 C. 7. 12 etc. (H. 4. 9); we also find the strengthened form apa our R. 5. 18, 7. 3, 25, 8. 12, 9. 16, 18 etc., G. 6. 10, E. 2. 19 (om. vv FG), 1 Th. 5. 6, 2 Th. 2. 15. It is strengthened by $\gamma \epsilon$ and given the first position in the sentence in Mt. 7. 20, 17. 26, A. 11. 18 EHLP, where other Mss. have apa as in L. 11. 48 (for which Mt. 23. 31 uses $\omega\sigma\tau\epsilon$ with indic.). Also in an apodosis after a protasis with ϵi , the simple $a_{\rho \alpha}$ is always used and is always the first word : Mt. 12. 28 = L. 11. 20, 2 C. 5. 14 according to N°C* al. (most MSS. omit ϵi , but it would easily be dropped before ϵi s), G. 2. 21 (ibid. 18 interrogatively, therefore aρa § 77, 2), 3. 25, H. 12. 8. On έπεὶ ἄρα in Paul cp. inf. 6; on åpa, åpa in interrogative sentences § 77, 2.--Another quite rare particle is roiyapour (classical), 1 Th. 4. 8, H. 12. 1, placed at the beginning of a sentence; and rolvov is not much commoner, standing as the second word (as in class. Greek) in L. 20. 25 ACP al., as the first word (unclassical¹) in ×BL, and omitted in D (as it is in Mc. 12. 17; Mt. 22. 21 has ovv); as second word also in 1 C. 9. 26 (in Ja. 2. 24 it is spurious), as first word in H. 13. 13 (Clem. Cor. i. 15. 1).—Another particle of kindred meaning is 84, which is found (though rarely) according to classical usage in sentences containing a request, I C. 6. 20 δοξάσατε δη ('therefore') τον

¹ But found in other late writers, see Lob. Phryn. 342.

 $\theta\epsilon\partial\nu \kappa.\tau.\lambda$. (but ** and some Latin witnesses omit $\delta\eta$ and present an asyndeton); in L. 2. 15, A. 13. 2, 15. 36 at the beginning of a speech ('come now'); a quite different and thoroughly classical use of it occurs in Mt. 13. 23 $\delta_S \delta\eta \kappa \alpha\rho\pi\sigma\phi\rho\rho\epsilon\hat{i}$ 'who is just the man who' (for $\delta_S \delta\eta$ D has $\tau\delta\tau\epsilon$, the Vulgate and others et).—Lastly we have the consecutive particle $\delta\epsilon\delta$, *i.e.* $\delta\iota'$ δ_i , and therefore strictly used to introduce a subordinate relative sentence, but its subordinating character is forgotten, Mt. 27. 8, L. 1. 35 (A* wrongly has $\delta\iota\delta\tau\iota$, which is often confused with $\delta\iota\delta$): in the latter passage we have the combination, also a favourite one in classical Greek, $^{T}\delta\iota\delta\kappa\alpha\lambda$, and the corresponding $\delta\iota\delta\sigma\iota\delta\epsilon$ in 7.7; it is frequent in the Acts and Epistles; we also have $\delta\iota\delta\tau_F$ 1 C. 8. 13, 10. 14 (in 14. 13 most MSS. read $\delta\iota\delta$). "Ofer is similarly used in Mt. 14. 7, A. 26. 19, and often in Hebrews, e.g. 2. 17, 3. 1, denoting a reason like our 'hence.'2

6. The principal causal subordinating particle is 871 'because,' for which Luke and Paul (H., Ja., 1 P.) also use Sióri (classical). But the subordination both with $\delta \tau i$ and $\delta i \delta \tau i$ is often a very loose one (cp. διό, $\delta\theta\epsilon\nu$, supra 5), so that it must be translated 'for': 1 C. 1. 25 $\delta\tau\iota$ το μωρον του θεού σοφώτερον των ανθρώπων εστίν κ.τ.λ., 4. 9, 10. 17 2 C. 4. 6, 7. 8, 14, with διότι R. 1. 19, 21, 3. 20, 8. 7 (ὅτι FG) etc. A similar use is made of $i\pi\epsilon$, which in the N.T. is regulary a causal particle : R. 3. 6 $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i$ ('for') $\pi \hat{\omega}_s$ κρινεί δ θεός τον κόσμον, where as in other passages it has the additional meaning of 'if otherwise' (classical, Xenoph. Cyr. ii. 2. 31 etc.), which it has in assertions in R. 11. 6 ἐπεὶ ἡ χάρις οὐκέτι γίνεται χάρις, 22 ἐπεὶ καὶ σὺ ἐκκοπήσῃ. Έπαδή, which is likewise a causal particle (supra 3), has not this additional meaning, though like $\delta \tau \iota$ it implies a loose subordination : 1 C. 14. 16 (B έπεί), 1. 22 (FG έπεί). Επειδήπερ occurs only in L. l. 1 'inasmuch as already,' referring to a fact already well known. cp. $\epsilon i\pi\epsilon \rho$ supra 2.—On $\epsilon \phi' \tilde{\psi}$ cp. supra § 43, 3; on $\kappa \alpha \theta \omega s$ supra 1. Katóri (only in Luke) strictly means 'according as,' 'just as,' and is so used in A. 2. 45, 4. 35; but in Hellenistic Greek it passes over to the meaning of διότι: L. 1. 7 καθότι ήν ή Ἐλισαβὲτ στεῖρα, 19. 9, A. 17. 31 (διότι HLP).—The co-ordinating particle is γάρ, one of the commonest of the particles (least often, in comparison with the rest of the N.T., in John, especially in his Epistles; there are also not many instances of it in the Apocalypse). Its usages agree with the classical usages; it is also frequently found in questions, where we use 'then,' Mt. 27. 23 τί γὰρ κακὸν ἐποίησεν ; 'what evil then has he done ?', A. 8. 31 $\pi \hat{\omega} s \gamma \hat{a} \rho \hat{a} \nu \delta \nu \nu a \hat{\mu} \eta \nu$; giving the reason for a denial or refusal which is left unexpressed, or for a reproach (whether expressed or not) as in Mt. 9. 5 τί γάρ ἐστιν εὐκοπώτερον κ.τ.λ., 23. 17 μωροι και τυφλοί, τίς γὰρ κ.τ.λ., Α. 19. 35 etc., unless it should be rendered literally by 'for who,' as in L. 22. 27. In answers it corroborates a statement about which a question has been raised (Kühner ii. 724), 'yes in truth,' 'indeed,' as in 1 C. 9. 10 η di' $\eta\mu as \pi a \nu \tau \omega s$

¹ E.g. in Aristotle's 'Αθηναίων πολιτεία.
 ² Aristot. 'Αθ. πολ. 3. 2 etc.

λέγει; (an oratorical question) δι' ήμῶς γὰρ ἐγράφη, 1 Th. 2. 20 (and it is similarly used where a statement is repeated, R. 15. 26 f. ηὐδόκησαν γὰρ ηὐδόκησαν γάρ, καὶ κ.τ.λ.); there is a somewhat different use after an indignant question in A. 16. 37 of ou yap, non profecto (classical; see the author's note on the passage), and a different use again in Jo. 9. 30 in the retort of the man born blind, έν τούτω γαρ (οὖν Ď) τὸ θαυμαστόν ἐστιν, ὅτι κ.τ.λ., which is equivalent to an interrogative (vide supra) οὐ γὰρ ἐν τούτψ κ.τ.λ.—Kal γὰρ is 'for also,' so that there is no closer connection between the two particles (= $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \iota \delta \eta$ καί); the well-known use of καί γὰρ for etenim (Kühner 855), where καί quite loses its force, is sometimes traced in passages like 1 C. 5. 7, 11. 9, 12. 13 (where ούτως και ό Χρ. precedes); but in reality καί keeps its meaning of 'also' in these places, though it refers not to a single idea, but to the whole sentence. 1 (There is however an instance of the classical και γαρ in L. 22. 37 [D omits γάρ], cp. Jo. 12. 39 D καὶ γὰρ instead of ὅτι.) Oửδὲ γὰρ is similarly used in R. 8. 7 (but in Jo. 8. 42, where D reads ov $\gamma \partial \rho$, it rather = neque enim, corresponding to a positive etenim). In $\tau \epsilon \gamma \dot{a} \rho$ R. 7. 7 $\tau \epsilon$ has nothing whatever to do with $\gamma \alpha \rho$: if $\tau \epsilon$ and $\gamma \alpha \rho$ are genuine ($\tau \epsilon$ is omitted by FG and the Latin MSS.), one must suppose it to be an instance of anacoluthon.

7. The concessive subordinating particles are $\epsilon t \kappa \alpha t$, $\epsilon \delta \nu \kappa \kappa \alpha t$, § 65, 6; also $\kappa \delta \nu$ meaning 'even if,' Mt. 21. 21, 26. 35, Jo. 8. 14, 10. 38; on the other hand $\kappa \alpha t$ is only found, where the reading is certain, in the sense of 'and if' (Mc. 14. 27 $\epsilon i \kappa \alpha t$ BBC al., $\kappa \alpha t \epsilon \delta \nu \sigma r \kappa \delta \nu D$, $\kappa \alpha t$ $\epsilon i A$ al.; 2 C. 13. 4 $\kappa \alpha t$ yàp $\epsilon t N^{\alpha} A$ al., which is more correct than $\kappa \alpha t$ yàp without ϵt as read by N*BD*F al.; Origen reads ϵt yàp $\kappa \alpha t$, see Tisch.). On $\kappa \alpha t \pi \epsilon \rho$, $\kappa \alpha t \tau \alpha t$ with a participle, and $\kappa \alpha t \tau \alpha t (\gamma \epsilon)$ with a finite verb see § 74, 2. $K \alpha t \tau \alpha t$ takes alternately a hypotactical or a paratactical construction, vide ibid., as it alternately has an adversative or a concessive meaning, § 77, 14.—On the use of $\delta \mu \omega s$ corresponding to classical $\kappa \alpha t \pi \epsilon \rho$ vide ibid.

§ 79. CONNECTION OF SENTENCES.

1. We find the methods of connecting sentences in Greek already divided in Aristotle's terminology² into two opposite classes, namely the continuous or running style ($\epsilon i \rho o \mu \epsilon \nu \eta$) and the compact ($\kappa a \tau \epsilon \sigma \tau \rho a \mu \mu \epsilon \nu \eta$) or periodic style ($\epsilon \nu \pi \epsilon \rho \iota \delta \delta \iota s$). In the latter the whole discourse is subdivided into units consisting of coherent and wellbalanced members; in the former the subsequent section is always loosely appended to the section preceding it, and there is never a definite conclusion within view of the reader. The periodic style is characteristic of artistically developed prose, the continuous style is that which we find in the oldest, and still quite unsophisticated, prose, and on the whole is that which characterizes the N.T. narrative,

¹ On 2 C. 13. 4 vide inf. 7. The classical use also appears in Herm. Sim. ix. 8. 2 κal γàρ (etenim) κal ('also') οδτοι κ.τ.λ.

² Arist. Rhet. iii. 9.

agreeing as it does with the manner of the Semitic models on which that narrative is based. To the idea which is given the first place and which is complete in itself there is appended a second and similar idea, the connecting link being in most cases $\kappa ai =$ Hebrew ?, then follows a third, and so on in an unending series: this tedious character of uniformity is an especially noticeable feature of the narrative of Mark, but is also not wanting in the Gospels of Matthew, Luke and Another class of continuous style is that where the opening John. sentence is developed by appending to it a participle, or a clause introduced by or, or a relative sentence, or in some similar way, since in this case also there is no end or termination in view; this manner of writing, which is freely employed by Paul in large portions of the Epistles to the Ephesians and Colossians, is indeed still more tedious and presents still greater obscurity than the simple linking together of sentences by means of *kai*.

2. Besides the connection of clauses by means of a conjunction, a relative, a subordinate participle etc., there is further the unconnected or paratactical construction (known as asyndeton); this is on the whole repugnant to the spirit of the Greek language, both with regard to sentences and the members which compose them, as also with regard to parallel portions of a single clause, and accordingly in the N.T. also is only used to a limited extent. Those sentences are not to be regarded as strict cases of asyndeton, where the new sentence begins with a demonstrative pronoun or a demonstrative adverb, referring back to something which has preceded: A. 16. 3 τοῦτον (Timothy) ήθέλησεν ὁ Παῦλος σὺν αὐτῷ ἐξελθεῖν, Jo. 5. ὅ τοῦτον ἰδὼν κ.τ.λ. (ibid. 21. 21 AX al., but BCD have τοῦτον οῦν), the person having been previously introduced and described; a quite parallel instance may be quoted e.g. from Demosth. 21. 58 Σαννίων έστιν δήπου τις ... · ούτος άστρατείας ήλω ... · τούτον μετά κ.τ.λ. An unclassical use, on the other hand, is that of $\tau \acute{o} \tau \epsilon$ as a connecting particle, which is particularly characteristic of Matthew, though also occurring in Luke (esp. in the Acts), to introduce something which was subsequent in point of time, not something which happened at a definite point of time: Mt. 2. 7 τότε Ηρώδης κ.τ.λ., 16, 17, 3. 5, 13, 15, 4. 1, 5, 10, 11 etc., L. 14. 21 (D καί), 21. 10 τότε έλεγεν αύτοιs (om. D), 24. 45, A. 1. 12, 4. 8 etc. (esp. frequent in D, e.g. 2. 14, 37); John uses the combination τότε οὖν, 11. 14 (οὖν om. A), 19. 1, 16, 20. 8, τότε in that case having a fuller meaning 'at this time' (as opposed to pre-Other circumstantial formulas with similar meaning, vious time). which can hardly be interpreted in their literal sense, are : Mt. 11. 25, 12. I èv ekeive tê kaipê (14. I, where D has èv ek. de), ev ekeivy tỹ sop Mt. 18. 7 (ev ek. de BM), ev ekeivais (de add. D) taîs huépais Mc. 8. I (ἐν δὲ ταῖς ἡμ. ἐκ. Mt. 3. I, but DE al. om. δὲ); ἐν αὐτŷ (δὲ add. D) τη ωρα L. 10. 21 (7. 21 v.l. έν εκείνη τ. ω.; with δε AD al.). 'Απο τότε may also be noticed in Mt. 4. 17 (with γàρ in D), 16. 21, L. 16. 16 (και ά. τ. Mt. 26. 16). Μετά τοῦτο (ταῦτα) without a conjunction occurs in John's Gospel, 2. 12, 3. 22, 5. 1, 14, 6. 1 etc. (in 19. 38 µετà $\delta \epsilon \tau$, but $\delta \epsilon$ is omitted by EGK al.), and the Apocalypse (4. 1, 7. 9,

18. I, 19. I, 20. 3, with kai 7. I [kai om. AC], 15. 5); see also A. 18. I according to $\aleph AB$ (v.l. $\mu\epsilon\tau a$ $\delta\epsilon \tau a \hat{v} \tau a$), and the reading of nearly all Greek MSS. in L. 10. I, 18. 4.—In the case of $\epsilon\pi\epsilon\tau a$ and $\epsilon\epsilon\tau a$ Attic Greek is not fond of inserting a $\delta\epsilon$ (Krüger Gr. § 69, 24), and the N.T. usage is the same, L. 16. 7, Jo. 11. 7, Mc. 4. 17 etc. (Ja. 4. 14 $\epsilon\pi$. kai $\aleph ABK$, $\epsilon\pi$. $\delta\epsilon$ kai only LP). The N.T. also uses $\epsilon\tau$ without a conjunction: L. 8. 49 $\epsilon\tau\iota$ a $v\tau o \hat{v} \lambda a \lambda o \hat{v} \tau o s$, A. 10. 44, Mt. 12. 46 (with $\delta\epsilon$ CE al.), cp. 26. 47 (where Latin MSS. omit the conj., and there are var. lect. kai $\epsilon\tau\iota$ and $\epsilon\tau\iota$ $\delta\epsilon$).

3. Asyndeton between individual words or ideas is quite a natural occurrence for the sake of convenience in lengthy enumerations, but here there is a tendency at any rate to connect the words in pairs to avoid ambiguity, see § 77, 9, until at last even this becomes tedious to the writer, 1 Tim. 1. 9, 10; still, if the ideas are not strictly summed up, but merely enumerated, the use of asyndeton may be an actual Thus we have in 1 P. 4. 3 πεπορευμένους έν άσελγείαις, necessity. έπιθυμίαις, οίνοφλυγίαις, κώμοις, πότοις καὶ ἀθεμίτοις εἰδωλολατρίαις (with the last word the adjective necessitates the insertion of $\kappa \alpha i$); the use of $\kappa \alpha i$ in this passage would lay too great a charge against individual persons. 2 Tim. 3. 2 ἔσονται οἱ ἄνθρωποι φίλαυτοι, φιλάργυροι, άλαξόνες, ὑπερήφανοι, βλάσφημοι κ.τ.λ. (but the same men do not possess all these faults). If the particle is used in enumerations of this kind, the construction is known as polysyndeton, a figure of speech which may be used just as well as asyndeton for a rhetorical purpose, only in a different way : polysyndeton by evidently summing up the different ideas produces an impression of greatness and fulness, asyndeton, by breaking up the separate ideas and introducing them one after the other in a jerky manner, gives an impression of vivacity and Still neither asyndeton nor polysyndeton is used with excitement. a rhetorical effect in every case where they occur: L. 18. 29 (= Mt. 19. 29, Mc. 10. 29) ούδείς έστιν δς αφήκεν οικίαν ή γυναικα ή άδελφούς κ.τ.λ. cannot well be otherwise expressed; also L. 14. 21 τούς π τωχούς και άναπείρους και τυφλούς και χωλούς είσάγαγε ώδε is a simple and straightforward expression, no less than Jo. 5. 3 $\pi\lambda\eta\theta\sigma\sigma$ $\tau\omega\nu$ as νούντων, τυφλών χωλών ξηρών (in the latter passage καί would be superfluous, in Lc it is not so because the different persons are Where there are only two ideas N.T. (like classical) summed up). Greek is not fond of asyndeton, except where opposites are connected, as in 2 Tim. 4. 2 ἐπίστηθι εὐκαίρως ἀκαίρως, cp. ἀνω κάτω, nolens volens, Kühner 865 d, Win. § 58, 71. But polysyndeton is used with a really rhetorical effect in R. 9. 4 δv ή υίοθεσία καὶ ή δόξα καὶ ai διαθήκαι καὶ ἡ νομοθεσία καὶ ἡ λατρεία καὶ ἀ ἐπαγγελίαι (cp. 2. 17 ff.), or in Ap. 5. 12 λαβείν την δύναμιν και πλουτον και σοφίαν και ισχύν καὶ τιμὴν καὶ δόξαν καὶ εὐλογίαν; just as asyndeton is used in 1 C. 3. 12 εί τις εποικοδομεί επί τον θεμέλιον χρυσίον, αργυρον, λίθους τιμίους,

¹ If the negative idea (with oi) is attached to the positive, κa may be inserted or omitted: 1 C. 10. 20 dauporloss κa oi $\theta \epsilon \hat{\varphi}$, 3. 2 $\gamma \dot{a} \lambda a \dots$, oi $\beta \rho \hat{\omega} \mu a$ (DEFG ins. κa), 7. 12 etc.

ξύλα, χόρτον, καλάμην, which should be recited in a vivid way, giving emphasis to the studied anti-climax.

4. If the connected ideas are finite verbs, this leads us at once to asyndeton between sentences; but there are certain imperatives which deserve a separate mention. Mt. 5. 24 $\forall \pi a \gamma \epsilon \pi \rho \hat{\omega} \tau o \nu \delta \iota a \lambda \lambda \dot{a} \gamma \eta \theta \iota$, 8. 4 etc. (18. 15 ὕπαγε ἔλεγξον ×BD, a v.l. inserts καὶ; similarly Mc. 6. 38; but in Ap. 16. 1 all uncials have kai), cp. the classical use of äγε and iθι (N.T. does not use έρχου thus, but has ε. και ίδε Jo. 1. 47, 11. 34, Ap. 6. 1, 3, 5, 7 [in Ap. there is a correct v.l., omitting kai $(\delta \epsilon_1)$; Eyespe apov Mc. 2. 11 (in 9 most MSS. insert kai), but in L. 6. 8 only A has ξ_{γ} . $\sigma \tau \hat{\eta} \theta_{i}$, and there is preponderant evidence for $\kappa a \hat{\iota}$, in Mt. 9. 6 NC al. read έγερθείς άρον, B reads as in Mc., D έγειρε καί άρον: we further have έγείρεσθε άγωμεν in Mt. 26. 46 = Mc. 14. 42; also ἀνάστα is so used at least as a v.l. of D* in A. 11. 7 ἀνάστα Πέτρε θύσον, § 74, 3. Further we have ὅρα ὅρατε, βλέπετε = cave(te) (cp. § 64, 2), Mt. 9. 30 δρατε μηδεις γινωσκέτω, 24. 6 δρατε μη θροεισθε (Buttm. p. 209), and accordingly $\delta\rho\hat{a}\tau\epsilon$ ($\beta\lambda$.) $\mu\eta$ with conjunctive in Mt, Mc., Lc. is also apparently to be regarded as an instance of asyndeton, Mt. 24. 4 βλέπετε μή τις ύμῶς πλανήση, although in passages like Col. 2. 8 βλ. μή τις ἔσται, A. 13. 40, H. 12. 25 the μή subordinates the following clause no less than it does in $\beta\lambda\epsilon\pi\epsilon\omega\mu\eta$ $\pi \epsilon \sigma \eta = 1 \text{ C}$. 10. 12. On $\sharp \phi \epsilon s$ with conj. see § 64, 2. Not far removed from these instances is σιώπα πεφίμωσο Mc. 4. 39 (σ. καὶ φιμώθητι D). The corresponding use of asyndeton with indicatives is limited to έγένετο with a finite verb, § 77, 6, and to the asyndeton after τοῦτο in an explanation of the preceding clause (classical, Kühner ii.² 864) L. 3. 20 προσέθηκε και τούτο έπι πασιν, κατέκλεισε κ.τ.λ. (**BD al.); a peculiar instance is 1 C. 4. 9 δοκῶ γὰρ (ὅτι add. ×^cD^c al.) ὁ $\theta\epsilon$ ὸς $d\pi\epsilon\delta\epsilon\iota\xi\epsilon\nu$, which should be compared with the insertion of $\delta\sigma\kappa\epsilon\iota\tau\epsilon$ and $\mu a \rho \tau v \rho \hat{\omega}$ inf. 7.—Again, where we have to do with really distinct clauses and sentences, a distinction must be drawn between narrative style on the one hand, and didactic and homiletic (or conversational) style on the other. In narrative the connecting link is generally retained, at least by Mt., Mc. and Lc., for John certainly shows a remarkable difference from them in this respect : thus in 1. 23 $\epsilon \phi \eta$, 26 απεκρίθη, 29 τη επαύριον βλέπει, similarly in 35, 37 ήκουσαν (καί ηκ. $\kappa^{c}ABC$ al.), 38 στραφείς (with δè $\kappa^{a}ABC$ al.), 40 λέγει, 41 ην (A al. $\eta \nu$ $\delta \epsilon$), 42 $\epsilon \nu \rho i \sigma \kappa \epsilon i$, 43 $\eta \gamma a \gamma \epsilon \nu$ (kai $\eta \gamma$. AX al.) and $\epsilon \mu \beta \lambda \epsilon \psi a s$ $a v \tau \hat{\psi}$ etc., beside which he uses the connecting particles o v, $\delta \epsilon$, $\kappa a i$. These instances of asyndeton give the impression of ease, not so much of vividness or hurry on the part of the narrator. (Hermas has similar instances, e.g. Vis. iii. 10. 2 αποκριθείσα μοι λέγει, 9 άποκριθείς αὐτη λέγω – άπ. μοι λέγει, and again in 10, so that he uses asyndeton just in these formulas of narrated dialogue, where most of John's instances occur, and like John he is fond of using it with the historic present, Winer § 60, 1; he also uses it with $\mu\epsilon\tau\dot{a} \pi o\lambda\lambda\dot{a}$ έτη, μ. χρόνον τινά etc., Vis. i. 1. 1 ff., cp. supra 2 ad fin.)—In the didactic style of the Gospels asyndeton is very commonly found between the individual precepts and utterances, e.g. almost throughout the whole passage Mt. 5. 3-17, and not only where there is no

connection of thought,¹ but also in spite of such connection : ibid. 17 $\mu\eta$ νομίσητε ὅτι ήλθον καταλῦσαι ... οἰκ ήλθον καταλῦσαι κ.τ.λ. (instead of οἰ γὰρ), L. 6. 27 ἀγαπᾶτε τοὺς ..., καλῶς ποιεῖτε τοῖς ..., προσεὐχεσθε περὶ (29) τῷ τύπτοντι ..., καὶ ἀπὸ κ.τ.λ. (from this point onwards there is more connection). John also frequently employs it: 3. 6 τὸ γεγεννημένον ..., 7 μὴ θαυμάσῃς ..., 8 τὸ πνεῦμα κ.τ.λ. Here too the asyndeton is used with no rhetorical purpose, although it perhaps gives greater solemnity and weight to the discourse. The style of the exhortations and precepts in the Epistles is similar. But in the Epistles, especially the Pauline Epistles, we also find many instances, some of them brilliant instances, of rhetorical asyndeton, see § 82.

5. New sections in doctrinal writings of some length usually have, as in classical works, some link to connect them with the preceding section, and this is at any rate essentially requisite in a work that lays claim to careful execution. On the other hand, the epistolary style is apt to make use of asyndeton, when a further subject is started, and there are moreover numerous instances in Paul and other writers where such a fresh start is made ($\dot{\epsilon}\xi \, \dot{a}\pi o\sigma\tau \dot{a}\sigma\epsilon\omega_s$, *i.e.* 'with a break'), quite apart from the Epistle of James, which has the appearance of being a collection of aphorisms, and the first Epistle of John which is hardly less loosely put together. In the Epistle to the Romans there are connecting links till we reach 8. 16 auto to $\pi v \epsilon \hat{v} \mu a$ $\sigma v \mu \mu a \rho \tau v \rho \epsilon \hat{i} \kappa \tau \lambda$, where one may very well speak of a figure of ξ an orthogonas; the thought is so directly the outcome of the feeling (as also in 10. 1). The absence of a connecting link at the beginning of the second main section of the letter (9. 1), which is so distinct from the preceding section, may be surprising, but a mere conjunction would here be quite inadequate to produce a connection. In 1 Corinthians the έξ αποστάσεωs construction is profusely and effectively employed; but new subjects are also sometimes introduced without a conjunction, as in 5. 9, 6. 1, 12, but in 7. 1, 25, 8. 1, 12. 1, 16. 1 we have $\pi \epsilon \rho i$ Si, in 15. 1 sections is regularly preserved, except in the hortatory sections which are not connected with one another.

6. The other class of construction, the **compact** or **periodic**, has never been entirely wanting in any form of Greek literature; it is found for instance where the first-mentioned part of the thought defines the time of what follows, and this statement of time is not given in a few words (such as $\epsilon v \epsilon \kappa \epsilon i v a i s \eta \mu \epsilon \rho a s$), but at such length that a pause is required after it; thus we have a clause standing first which though it stands by itself gives a broken and incomplete meaning, and must therefore be succeeded by a second clause to complete the sense. This style is also found where the first part of the sentence is a condition etc., or where the subject of

¹ In this case Attic writers also employ asyndeton in admonitions, Isocrates R. i. ii. iii.: cp. his statement on this subject in xv. 67 f.

the sentence which is placed at the beginning is expanded by means of attributive words into a separate clause; there is a weaker, but still a true, connection of clauses, where two members of an antithesis, or a disjunction, or a parallelism, are set side by side, and the link between the first member and the second is expressed by a particle such as $\mu \epsilon \nu$, η , $\tau \epsilon$ or $\kappa a \ell$. Even a particle is not absolutely necessary to produce connection, so that we may even speak of periods where asyndeton is used, as in 1 C. 7. 27 δέδεσαι γυναικί· μή ζήτει λύσιν· λέλυσαι ἀπὸ γυναικός· μὴ ζήτει γυναίκα, = εἰ μὲν δέδεσαι... ei δè λέλυσαι, cp. § 82, 8. We, it is true, are accustomed only to speak of a periodic style, where the number of clauses which combine to form a single unit and which only receive their full meaning from the last of them is far in excess of two, and we consequently fail to discover a periodic style in the N.T., since as a matter of fact there are not many sentences of this kind to be found in it. We have indeed the preface to Luke's Gospel, L. 1. 1-4 ἐπειδήπερ πολλοὶ ἐπεχείρησαν | ἀνατάξασθαι διήγησιν περὶ τῶν πεπληροφορημένων ἐν ἡμῖν πραγμάτων | καθà (sic D) παρέδοσαν ήμιν οἱ ἀπ' ἀρχής αὐτόπται καὶ ὑπηρέται γενόμενοι τοῦ λόγου έδοξε κἀμοὶ παρηκολουθηκότι ἄνωθεν πασιν ἀκριβῶς καθεξής σοι γράψαι κράτιστε Θεόφιλε | ίνα επιγνώς περί ων κατηγήθης λόγων την ἀσφάλειαν, where, if the sentence is divided as above, and regard is had to the appropriate length of the clauses, erring neither on the side of excessive length or brevity, a beautiful relation is seen to exist between the protasis with its three clauses and the apodosis with its corresponding structure. Since $\pi \circ \lambda \lambda \circ i$ is answered by κάμοὶ, and ἀνατ. διήγησιν by γράψαι, and the καθὰ clause by ίνα $\epsilon \pi i \gamma \nu \hat{\psi} s \kappa \tau \lambda$, we see that the last clause, which is appended to a sentence already complete, is at least demanded by the correspondence which prevails throughout the whole passage. The same writer, however, in the rest of his Gospel has by no means taken the trouble to construct artistic periods, and his second work, the Acts, does not even open with a tolerably well-constructed sentence; the only similar period to be found besides in that author occurs at the beginning of the Apostolic letter, A. 15. 24 ff. The artificially-constructed sentence at the beginning of the Epistle to the Hebrews is of a different character. $\Pi o \lambda \upsilon \mu \epsilon \rho \hat{\omega} s \kappa a \lambda \pi o \lambda \upsilon \tau \rho \delta \pi \omega s$ πάλαι ὁ θεὸς λαλήσας τοῖς πατράσιν ἐν τοῖς προφήταις | ἐπ' ἐσχάτου τών ήμερών τούτων έλάλησεν ήμιν έν υίφ (this according to ancient ideas is a complete period with two clauses or members, to which some looser clauses are then directly appended): δν ἔθηκεν κληρονόμον πάντων | δι' οδ και έποίησεν τους αίωνας (with a rhetorical anaphoric use of the relative with asyndeton, § 82, 5; as in the subsequent passage) | δε ών απαύγασμα της δόξης και χαρακτήρ της ύποστάσεως αὐτοῦ | φέρων τε τὰ πάντα τῷ ῥήματι τῆς δυνάμεως αὐτοῦ | καθαρισμὸν τῶν ἑμαρτιῶν ποιησάμενος | ἐκάθισεν ἐν δεξιậ τῆς μεγαλωσύνης ἐν ύψηλοιs (a period with four clauses) | τοσούτω κρείττων γενόμενος των άγγέλων | ὄσφ διαφορώτερον παρ' αὐτοὺς κεκληρονόμηκεν ὄνομα (an appended period consisting of two clauses connected by τοσούτω ... The rest of the Epistle is composed in a similarly fluent őσω). and beautiful rhetorical style, and the whole work must, especially

with regard to the composition of words and sentences, be reckoned as a piece of artistic prose, cp. § 82, 2. Paul, on the other hand, generally does not take the trouble which is required for so careful a style, and hence it happens that in spite of all his eloquence artistic periods are not to be looked for in his writings, while harsh parentheses and anacolutha abound.

7. In the case of a parenthesis the direct course of a sentence is interrupted by a subordinate idea being inserted into the middle of it. We also freely make use of parentheses in writing, but prevent the irregularity of the construction from interfering with the intelligibility of the passage by enclosing the interruption within brackets or dashes, unless indeed we throw the clause, which might be a parenthesis, into a foot-note. The need of a parenthesis usually arises from the fact that some idea or thought which occurs in the sentence necessitates a pause, such for instance as the introduction of a foreign word which requires explanation. In that case a sentence, which should strictly be closely joined together, is divided in two; this is done either in such a way that the whole construction still preserves its unity, as in Mt. 27. 33 είς ... Γολγοθά, ő ἐστιν Κρανίου $\tau \acute{o}\pi os^1$, or else the insertion entirely destroys the structure of the sentence (anacoluthon), or again after the insertion, which is expressed as an independent clause, the writer returns to the original construction. In this last case we have a parenthesis. An instance of it is Mt. 24. 15 f. όταν ίδητε το βδέλυγμα ... (ό αναγινώσκων νοείτω), Or again an accessory but indispensable thought τότε οἱ κ.τ.λ. cannot be brought into line with the construction which has already been begun, and is thrown into the sentence just as it arises, e.g. in A. 12. 3 προσέθετο συλλαβεῖν καὶ Πέτρον—ήσαν δὲ αί ήμέραι τῶν ἀζύμων—δν καὶ πιάσας ἔθετο εἰς φυλακήν, where it would have been possible to bind the sentence more closely together by saying περί αὐτὰς τὰς ἡμέρας τὰς τῶν ἀζύμων καὶ Πέτρον συλλαβὼν εἰς $\phi v \lambda a \kappa \eta v \ \epsilon \theta \epsilon \tau o$; but that would be the artistic style, not the style of the New Testament. Cp. 1. 15, 4. 13, (§ 77, 12). The parenthesis in A. 5. 14 $\mu \hat{\alpha} \lambda \lambda \delta \nu$ de $\pi \rho \delta \sigma \epsilon \tau i \theta \epsilon \nu \tau \delta \kappa \tau \lambda$. is harsh; it is true that the sentence runs smoothly on from 13, but the return to the main sentence after the parenthesis is awkwardly executed; the clause $\omega \sigma \tau \epsilon$ καὶ εἰς τὰς πλατείας κ.τ.λ. in reality expresses a result not of verse 14 but of 13, though it looks as if the former were the case. But many of the worst instances of this sort occur in the Pauline Epistles. lf the thread of St. Paul's thought, when considered as a whole and in larger sections, includes many lengthy digressions (Win. § 62, 4), it is not to be wondered at that in smaller matters also the connection of clauses suffers in the same way. A parallel passage to A. 5. 14 is

¹ If an explanatory clause of this kind is inserted into the report of a direct speech, of which it can form no part, it must certainly he enclosed in brackets, in spite of the fact that the construction is not broken by it. Thus Mc. 7. 11 therefore $(\delta \ e \sigma \tau \nu \ \delta \ensuremath{\omega} \rho \sigma \nu)$, Jo. 1. 39. (It is different if a scholium of this kind is appended to a direct speech, as in Jo. 9. 7, 1. 42 etc., Winer § 62, 2 note.)

[§ 79. 7-8.

R. 1. 13 ότι πολλάκις προεθέμην έλθειν πρός ύμας, και έκωλύθην άχρι τοῦ δεῦρο, ἴνα τινὰ καρπὸν σχῶ καὶ ἐν ὑμῖν, where the ἴνα clause is to be joined with $\pi \rho \circ \epsilon \theta \epsilon \mu \eta \nu$. As here there is a lacuna in the thought between the words $\delta\epsilon\hat{v}\rho o$ and $i\nu a$, so is there in 2. 15 f. between $d\pi o$ λογουμένων and $\epsilon v \hat{j} \hat{\eta}$ μέρα, so that it might appear best to suppose that in the latter passage there is a parenthesis; but it is not till a long way back in the sentence that one reaches a definite point, to which ϵv $\hat{y} \kappa.\tau.\lambda$ may be smoothly and logically joined according to the original conception of the thought.¹ But to all appearance it is Marcion's text (which is known from some quotations) which alone affords us real help here, by omitting the $\epsilon v \hat{j} \hat{j} \eta \mu \epsilon \rho \mu$ (or $\epsilon v \eta \mu$. \hat{j} , or $\epsilon v \eta \mu$. $\delta \tau \epsilon$), and introducing a very expressive asyndeton, cp. 1. 22, 7. 24, 8. 16 etc. But these details are matters for the commentator to discuss as they severally arise. Another grammatical point to note is that, as in classical Greek, a finite verb is occasionally inserted in the middle of the construction (which there would be no point in isolating from the rest of the sentence by marks of parenthesis, and to do so might even give a wrong meaning): L. 13. 24 πολλοί, λέγω ὑμίν, ζητήσουσιν κ.τ.λ. ('I tell you'), 2 C. 8. 3 ότι κατά δύναμιν, μαρτυρώ, και παρά δύναμιν κ.τ.λ., Η. 10. 29 πόσω δοκειτε χείρονος άξιωθήσεται τιμωρίας (Herm. Sim. ix. 28. 8 τί δοκείτε ποιήσει), in all which passages it would be very easy to work the word into the construction; classical writers however have the same construction in numerous passages with olda, $\delta \rho \hat{q} \hat{s}$, $\delta \hat{\mu} a \iota$ etc., Kühner ii.² 873 f. (Aristoph. Ach. 12 $\pi \hat{\omega} \hat{s}$ τοῦτ' ἔσεισέ μου δοκεῖς τὴν καρδίαν;). To this category belong the Pauline phrases κατὰ ἄνθρωπον λέγω R. 3. 5, ἐν ἀφροσύνη λέγω 2 C. 11. 21, ωs τέκνοις λέγω 6. 13, which are epidiorthoses and prodiorthoses expressed in the concisest way. But the insertion of $\phi_{a\sigma}i\nu$, $\xi \phi \eta$ etc. does not come under this head, as this is only a case of displacement in the position of the word in the sentence : 2 C. 10. 10 $\delta \tau \iota$ at έπιστολαί μέν φασιν βαρείαι (= ὅτι φασίν· "Αί μέν" κ.τ.λ.), Mt. 14. 8, A. 23. 35 etc. Also proper names and temporal statements placed in the nominative in defiance of the construction (§ 33, 2) are not parenthetical, because they form an essential part of the main thought, and occur in their right place in the sentence.

8. Anacoluthon is due to a failure in carrying out the originally intended structure of the sentence; since the continuation and sequence do not correspond with what has gone before. In artistic prose instances of anacoluthon must generally be reckoned as blemishes, although they are not entirely wanting even in the prose of Isocrates; on the other hand its occurrence in writings where there is an imitation of a natural conversational tone, as in the cases where Plato has it, is quite justified, and it may therefore be considered justifiable in epistolary style as well, so long as it does not interfere with the understanding of the passage, though this limitation certainly seems not unfrequently to be transgressed by St. Paul.

¹Wilke d. neutest. Rhetorik (Dresden 1843) p. 216, 228 f. makes the suggestion that verses 14 and 15 were added as a marginal note.

Of the very various forms of anacoluthon I give the first place to a peculiar instance, which appears in the simplest periods, consisting of two members or clauses (supra 6). Mt. 12. 36 παν βήμα άργον δ λαλήσουσιν οἱ ἄνθρωποι | ἀποδώσουσιν περί αὐτοῦ λόγον, 10. 32, Jo. 6. 39,¹ 17. 2, L. 12. 48, 2 C. 12. 17 μή τινα ῶν ἀπέσταλκα προς ὑμῶς | δι' αὐτοῦ ἐπλεονέκτησα ὑμῶς; In these instances the two halves of the sentence required to be placed in opposition to each other, with a pause between them and a reference in the second half back to the first, and a certain weightiness is given to the style by treating each part of the sentence independently, instead of writing for instance όσα αν ρήματα άργα λαλήσωσιν, περί πάντων (τούτων) άποδώσουσιν λόγον. In the passage from St. Paul τινα is obviously occasioned by ἀπέσταλκα; with this is compared 1 Jo. 2. 27 και ύμεις το χρίσμα δ έλάβετε $d\pi'$ αὐτοῦ | μένει ἐν ὑμῖν, where the pronoun occurs in both members, and in the first is to be taken with $\epsilon \lambda \alpha \beta \epsilon \tau \epsilon$, whereas the passage might have run without anacoluthon $\kappa \alpha i \epsilon' v \delta \mu i v \tau \delta \chi \rho$. $\delta \epsilon \lambda$. ά. u. μένει. A similar case occurs ibid. 24 ὑμεῖς ὅ ήκούσατε ἀπ' ἀρχῆς έν ὑμῖν μενέτω² (μένει or μενέτω by itself was not sufficient to make a clause, and the contrast between beginning and continuance required to be sharply expressed). Other instances of anacoluthon of this or a kindred sort are: A. 7. 40 δ Μωϋσης οῦτος, ὅς ..., οὐκ οίδαμεν τί έγένετο αὐτῷ (O.T. Ex. 32. 1),³ Jo. 7. 38 δ πιστεύων εἰς ἐμέ ... ποταμοί ἐκ τῆς κοιλίας αὐτοῦ ῥεύσουσιν κ.τ.λ.⁴, Mc. 9. 20 καὶ ἰδὼν αὐτόν, τὸ πνεῦμα συνεσπάραξεν αὐτόν (instead of συνεσπαράχθη ὑπὸ τοῦ πν.), Α. 19. 34 έπιγνόντες δε ότι 'Ιουδαιός έστιν, φωνή έγένετο μία έκ πάντων (instead of έβόησαν δμοῦ πάντες, which would not conveniently suit the following words). A very awkward instance occurs in Ap. 2. 26 and 3. 12, 21 δ νικών, δώσω αὐτῷ; on the other hand in 2. 7, 17 we have τῷ νικῶντι, δώσω αὐτῷ, cp. 6. 4, Mt. 4. 16 O.T., 5. 40 (the pronoun referring back to the preceding clause, § 48, 2). Herm. Mand. iv. 5 is like an instance of nominative absolute of the old sort (§ 74, 5), αμφότερα τὰ πνεύματα ἐπὶ τὸ αὐτὸ κατοικοῦντα, ἀσύμφορόν έστιν ... έκείνω έν ῷ κατοικοῦσιν.

9. Another kind of anacoluthon is found in sentences of greater length, where the interruption of the original construction by intervening sentences causes that construction to be forgetten, so that in the mind of the writer another is substituted for it. Thus A. 24. 6

¹ Here we find $l\nu a \pi a\nu \delta \delta \delta \delta \omega \kappa \delta s \mu o_l, \mu \eta \delta \pi o \lambda \delta \sigma \omega \delta \xi a \delta \tau a \delta \tau \eta \sigma \omega \delta \sigma \tau \eta \sigma \omega \delta \sigma \delta \kappa \tau \tau \lambda$, with $\pi a s \dots \mu \eta$ for ov $\delta \epsilon i s, \S 47, 9$, though here no doubt the negative looks on to the second positive half of the sentence, Buttmann p. 106, as in Jo. 3. 16. According to Buttm. 325 the $\pi a \nu$ in all these instances is nominative ('nominative absolute,' cp. § 74, 4); as it also is according to him in Jo. 15. 2 $\pi a \nu \kappa \eta \mu d \nu \delta \mu \eta d \mu \delta \rho \nu \kappa \alpha \rho \pi \delta \nu$, $a \ell \rho \epsilon \mu \sigma \delta$.

²Therefore this is not a case of the subject being thrown forward before the relative (§ 80, 4), whereas 1 C. 11. 14 $d\nu\eta\rho$ $\mu\epsilon\nu$ $\epsilon\lambda\nu$ $\kappa\rho\mu\hat{q}$, $d\tau\iota\mu\iota$ $ad\tau\hat{\psi}$ $\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota\nu$ $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. may be so explained, as = $\epsilon\lambda\nu$ $\mu\epsilon\nu$ $d\nu\eta\rho$.

³ In L. 21. 6 there is no reference in the second clause to the $\tau \alpha \hat{\nu} \pi a$ and we should prohably follow D in omitting a.

⁴ Herm. Mand. vii. 5 τῶν δὲ μὴ φυλασσόντων ... (the genitive is due to assimilation with the preceding antithetical clause), οὐδὲ ζωή ἐστιν ἐν αὐτοῖs. (in the speech of Tertullus, which is transmitted by Luke with greater negligence than any other), ευρόντες γαρ τον ανδρα τοῦτον λοιμόν..., δς καί..., δν και έκρατήσαμεν κ.τ.λ.; this δν και, which is occasioned by ôs kai preceding, should have been dropped, in order to make the period run correctly, whereas the writer here continues as though he had begun with $\epsilon \tilde{\nu} \rho \rho \mu \epsilon v$. The narrative portions of the N.T. do not contain many anacolutha of this kind : the passage Jo. 6. 22-24 has been transmitted with too much variation in the MSS. for us to be able to clearly recognize the hand of the author; according to the usual reading the $\tau \hat{\eta} \, \epsilon \pi a \dot{\nu} \rho \iota \sigma \nu \, \delta \, \ddot{\sigma} \chi \lambda \sigma s$ at the beginning is taken up again in 24 with ore our elder & oxlos, in a manner that is not unknown in classical writers, where there is no question of forgetfulness at all; cp. 1 Jo. 1. 1-3. But the Pauline Epistles (though not all to the same extent, as the care with which they were written varied considerably) contain numerous and more flagrant instances. In G. 2. 6 από δε τών δοκούντων είναι τι ... δποιοί ποτε ήσαν, οὐδέν μοι διαφέρει πρόσωπον θεὸς ἀνθρώπου οὐ λαμβάνει ... ἐμοὶ γὰρ οἱ δοκοῦντες ούδὲν προσανέθεντο, instead of ἐμοὶ οὐδὲν προσανετέθη, the author may either have forgotten his opening clause or else considered it convenient to repeat it in a new form. At all events the passage is easily understood¹; but just before in 4 dia de τ oùs $\pi a \rho \epsilon i \sigma a \kappa \tau o v s$ ψευδάδέλφους ... ois (οὐδε) προς ώραν είζαμεν κ.τ.λ., it is by no means easy to say what was the drift of St. Paul's thought in the opening clause, unless the ofs (which is omitted by Latin MSS.) is spurious.² In many cases defective transmission or criticism of the text is ccrtainly to blame: in R. 2. 17 ff. an obvious remedy is by adopting the reading ide for ei de (which can hardly be called a variant: $(\Delta E - I \Delta E, i de - i de)$ to change what appears to be a protasis without a correct apodosis into a principal clause.³ But in 1 Tim. 1. 3 ff. the construction which began with $\kappa a \theta \omega_s \pi a \rho \epsilon \kappa a \lambda \epsilon \sigma a \sigma \epsilon \kappa \tau \lambda$. through innumerable insertions and appended clauses is unmistakably reduced to utter confusion.

10. Frequent instances of anacoluthon are occasioned in St. Paul by the free use of the participle, which he is fond of using, and sometimes in a long series of clauses, instead of a finite verb. Thus 2 C. 7. 5 οὐδεμίαν ἔσχηκεν ἄνεσιν ἡ σὰρξ ἡμῶν, ἀλλ' ἐν παντὶ θλιβόμενοι ἔξωθεν μάχαι, ἔσωθεν φόβοι, where one may no doubt supply ἐσμέν in the first clause as εἰσίν in the second, though this does not do away with the harshness and the want of accurate sequence in the passage. Similarly in 5. 12 οὐ ... συνιστάνομεν ..., ἀλλ' ἀφορμὴν διδόντες (sc. γράφομεν ταῦτα). So ibid. 8. 18 ff. συνεπέμψαμεν δὲ τὸν ἀδελφὸν ..., οδ

¹Belser (die Selhstvertheidigung des. P. im Gal. br., Freiburg im Br. 1896, p. 69) says with regard to the attempt (of Spitta and others) to give a uniform construction to this sentence: 'A philologist, who with a sane mind proceeds to expound the verse, cannot odde $\pi\rho$ is $\omega\rho a\nu$ be in doubt as to the perverseness of the undertaking.'

² In any case in R. 16. 27 $\ddot{\varphi}$ should be removed (with B), not only because of the anacoluthon, but especially in order to give $\delta\iota\dot{\alpha}$ 'I. X ρ . its proper connection.

 3 Cp. Wilke (op. cit. p. 282, note 1) p. 215 f., who, it is true, decides conclusively in favour of ϵl $\delta \epsilon.$

ό ἔπαινος...διὰ πασῶν τῶν ἐκκλησιῶν, οὐ μόνον δέ, ἀλλὰ καὶ χειροτονηθεὶς. (instead of έχειροτονήθη) ύπο των έκκλησιων συνέκδημος ήμων συν τŷ χάριτι τη διακονουμένη ύφ ήμων, στελλόμενοι τουτο, μή τις ήμας $\mu\omega\mu\eta\sigma\eta\tau\alpha\iota$ $\kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, where $\sigma\tau\epsilon\lambda\lambda$. is closely connected not so much with συνεπέμψαμεν (i.e. sent with Timothy), as with συνέκδημος ήμων etc., so that it is an undoubted case of anacoluthon, the participle standing for στελλόμεθα γάρ. In E. 5. 21 there is no direct anacoluthon, but $i\pi \sigma \tau \sigma \sigma \sigma \sigma \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \iota$ has not the same closer connection with the last finite verb $\pi \lambda \eta \rho o \hat{v} \sigma \theta \epsilon$ 18, which $\lambda a \lambda o \hat{v} \tau \epsilon s$ etc. 19, and $\epsilon \hat{v} \chi a \rho \omega \sigma \tau o \hat{v} \tau \epsilon s$ 20 have; the style is the same as in R. 12. 9 ff, where in the exhortations (after the style has already been entirely broken up in 6 ff., cp. § 78, 2) participles (or adjectives) are appended to each other in an unending series, with no possibility of bringing them into any Thus in the opening verse 9 η $d\gamma d\pi \eta$ $d\nu v\pi \delta \kappa \rho i \tau \sigma s$ construction. interrupts the remarks about what the Romans should be, individually (8) or collectively; after the interruption, however, he continues with αποστυγοῦντες ... φιλόστοργοι etc. up to διώκοντες 13; then in 14 f. there is a fresh interruption of clauses in the imperative or infinitive; in 16 we again have participles $\phi_{\rho\rho\nu}$ an imperative $\gamma i \nu \epsilon \sigma \theta \epsilon$, in 17 ff. there is a continuation of the series of participles; it looks as though St. Paul regarded the descriptive participle (whether $\epsilon \sigma \tau \epsilon$ is mentally supplied or not) as completely equivalent to the imperative. Cp. further E. 4. 20 $\pi \alpha \rho \alpha \kappa \alpha \lambda \hat{\omega} \hat{\upsilon} \mu \hat{\alpha} \hat{s}$ περιπατήσαι ... ανεχόμενοι αλλήλων... σπουδάζοντες (cp. 2 P. 3. 3), 3. 18, Col. 3. 16 f. b $\lambda \delta \gamma \sigma s \delta \sigma \kappa \delta \tau \delta \sigma \kappa \sigma \tau \delta s \kappa \sigma \lambda$, where the participle follows upon imperatives and is equivalent to them as in Rom. loc. cit.; but there is a similar anacoluthon in 2 C. 9. 11 $\pi \lambda o \nu \tau \iota \xi \delta \mu \epsilon \nu o \iota$ after an assertion in the future tense, in 1 3 δοξάζοντες $\kappa \tau$. λ . there is an extension of the preceding $\delta_{i\dot{a}} \pi_0 \lambda \lambda \hat{\omega} \nu \epsilon \dot{\nu} \chi \alpha \rho_i \sigma \tau_i \hat{\omega} \nu \tau \hat{\omega} \theta \epsilon \hat{\omega}$ (the subject of the part. being the recipients of the benefit), cp. 1. 7; participles are used without anacoluthon, but in a very long series in 2 C. 6. 3-10. The constant element in all these instances is the nominative of the participle, which is therefore essentially connected with this free use Cp. $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega \nu$, $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma o \nu \tau \epsilon s \leq 30, 6$. The reverse use is occasionally found, namely the use of a finite verb in place of a participle. Col. 1. 26 το μυστήριον το αποκεκρυμμένον ..., νυνί δε έφανερώθη (D φανερωθέν); 2 Jo. 2 την μένουσαν έν ήμιν, και μεθ' ήμων έσται, Jo. 15. 5 ο μένων έν έμοι, κάγω (sc. μένω) ἐν αὐτῷ, οῦτος φέρει καρπόν, 5.44 (but **e etc. regularly ζητοῦντες), 2 C. 6. 9; Ap. 3. 7; it is less harsh in 1 C. 7. 37 δs έστηκεν ... μή Parallels may έχων ... έξουσίαν δε έχει, cp. Jo. 5. 44, 1. 32. undoubtedly be quoted from classical writers for this use, as also for the free use of appended participles in the nominative, Kühner ii.² 661 ff.; it is the frequency, harshness, and awkwardness of its use in the N.T. which makes the difference; since anacolutha such as A. 15. 22 f. čložev tois anostious (= the Apostles determined)... $\pi \dot{\epsilon} \mu \psi a \iota ...,$ $\gamma \rho \dot{a} \psi a v \tau \epsilon s$ might be equally well written by a classical author, as Thuc. iii. 36. 2 writes έδοξεν αὐτοῖς ... ἀποκτεῖναι, ἐπικαλοῦντες.¹

¹Clem. Cor. i. 11. 1 may be noticed, Λωτ ἐσώθη ἐκ Σοδόμων, τῆς περιχώρου κριθείσης ..., πρόδηλον ποιήσας ὁ δεσπότης κ.τ.λ., as though ἔσωσεν had preceded.

11. On the absence of a particle corresponding to the particle $\mu \epsilon \nu$, which strictly requires a & corresponding to it, see § 77, 12. A unique case of anacoluthon occurs in A. 27. 10 $\theta \epsilon \omega \rho \hat{\omega} \, \delta \tau \iota \dots \mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \epsilon \iota \nu$ (§ 70, 4), where the $\delta \tau \iota$ was required to prevent ambiguity, and the infinitive is due to forgetfulness (supra 8), cp. Xenoph. Hell. ii. 2. 2 etc., Winer § 44, 8, note 2. To a relative clause there is sometimes appended a further clause with a co-ordinating particle (such as $\kappa \alpha i$), in which the relative cannot be supplied in the same form as in the first clause (classical, Kühner 936 f.): Tit. 1. 2 f. $\zeta \omega \eta s$, $\eta \nu \epsilon \pi \eta \gamma \gamma \epsilon \lambda a \tau o \dots$, $\epsilon \phi a \nu$ έρωσεν δέ νῦν τὸν λόγον αὐτοῦ, Ap. 17. 2 (also 1 C. 7. 13 with the reading ητις, but a better reading is ei τις in ND* al.), L. 17. 31. The construction is rather one of oratio variata than of anacoluthon in R. 2, 6 ff. δς αποδώσει ... τοῖς μὲν ... ζωήν τοῖς δὲ ... ὀργὴ καὶ θυμός (sc. έσται; the idea conveyed by δώσει would not admit of being supplied with these nouns), the passage continues with the same construction, but a fresh contrast is formed, $\theta \lambda i \psi_{is}$ kal $\sigma \tau \epsilon \nu o \chi \omega \rho i a \epsilon \pi i$ πασαν ψυχήν ..., δόξα δὲ κ.τ.λ. Cp. 11. 22; G. 4. 6 f. ὅτι δέ ἐστε νίοί, έξαπέστειλεν ... είς τας καρδίας ήμων "Ωστε οὐκέτι εί κ.τ.λ. (but ibid. 6. Ι σκοπών σεαυτόν κ.τ.λ. is a real case of anacoluthon).

12. Mixture of direct and indirect speech.—It has already been remarked that the employment of the indirect form of speech, whether with $\delta \tau \iota$ and the optative, or with the accusative (nomin.) and infinitive, is not in the manner of the N.T. writers of narrative. as it is foreign to the style of popular narrators in general (§§ 66, 3; 70, 4); from this it follows that not only does $5\tau\iota$ ordinarily take the indicative instead of the optative (a tendency which it also has in classical Greek), but it may also be followed by an accurate reproduction of the direct form of the speech, so that 5π thus performs the function of our inverted commas (Kühner p. 885). An example which shows this is Jo. 10. 36 (Buttm. p. 234)... $i\mu\epsilon$ is $\lambda\epsilon\gamma\epsilon\tau\epsilon$ $\delta\tau\iota$ " $\beta\lambda a\sigma\phi\eta\mu\epsilon$ is," ότι είπον κ.τ.λ., instead of β λασφημείν, which would have linked on much better to the protasis $\delta \nu \kappa. \tau. \lambda.^1$ But it is quite impossible for a N.T. writer to do what is so common in classical Greek (and Latin) writers, namely to continue the indirect form of speech for any length of time; on the contrary they never fail to revert very soon to direct speech, a habit which is also not unusual in classical authors, Kühner p. 1062 f. Thus A. 1. 4 παρήγγειλεν...μη χωρίζεσθαι, άλλα περιμένειν ... ην ηκούσατε, 23. 22, Mc. 6. 8 f. παρήγγειλεν ίνα..., άλλ' υποδεδεμένους ... (as though an inf. had preceded), και μη ένδύσησθε κ.τ.λ., L. 5. 14. Inversely, the direct form of speech is occasionally abandoned in favour of the indirect or a narrative form : A. 23. 23 $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon v \cdot \epsilon \tau \circ \iota \mu a \sigma a \tau \epsilon$..., (24) $\kappa \tau \eta \nu \eta \tau \epsilon \pi a \rho a \sigma \tau \eta \sigma a \kappa. \tau. \lambda$. (the β text is different and runs as D² al. read here from the passage of Matthew). A different use from this is that in Mc. 2. 10 iva $\delta \epsilon \epsilon i \delta \eta \tau \epsilon \dots$ (addressed to the Pharisees like the preceding words), $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \epsilon i \tau \hat{\omega} \pi a \rho a \lambda v \tau i \kappa \hat{\omega} \cdot \cdot \cdot \Sigma \delta \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega$

¹Herm. Mand. ix. I even uses $\delta \tau i$ before a question : $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega r \delta \tau i \pi \omega s \delta \delta r \mu a \mu a \kappa . \tau . \lambda$.

 $\kappa.\tau.\lambda.$ " (as in L. 5. 24, while Mt. 9. 6 has $\tau \delta \tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \iota$); the speech is related just as it was made, and the apostrophe to the sick man is indicated by the parenthetical words (the use of $i\nu a$ etc. in this way, with an ellipse of $\cdot I$ will say this,' is also classical, Krüger Gr. § 54, 8, note 14; and see § 81, 3).

§ 80. POSITION OF WORDS (POSITION OF CLAUSES).

1. The Greek language is not one of those which are fettered with regard to the position of the different parts of the sentence, and it does not act contrary to its nature in this respect in the N.T. and the tendency for it to do so was reduced by the fact that the Semitic languages also have no strict rules about the order of words. In spite of this, both in the Semitic languages, and in the Greek of the New Testament, particularly that of writers of narrative, certain tendencies and habits are apparent. In general the verb, or the substantival predicate with its copula, is placed immediately after the conjunction; then follows the subject, then the object, the complementary participle etc.; unemphatic pronouns, however, have a tendency to be placed in immediate connection with the verb, also anything else that is dependent on the verb, especially if the subject is extended.¹ The same rules hold good for infinitival and participial clauses (and for a participle placed at the head of a sentence²) as for clauses with a finite verb. Thus we have (Luke 1. 11) $\ddot{\omega}\phi\theta\eta$ δε αὐτῷ ἄγγελος κυρίου έστως ἐκ δεξιών. (12) καὶ ἐταράχθη Ζαχαρίας ίδών. (13) είπεν δε πρός αὐτὸν ὁ ἄγγελος. (18) καὶ είπεν Ζ. πρός τὸν άγγελον. (19) και αποκριθεις ό άγγ. είπεν αὐτῷ. With a nominal predicate : Mc. 2. 28 ώστε κύριός έστιν ο υίδς του ανθρώπου και του σαββάτου (cp. L. 6. 5), for which Mt. 12. 8 has κύριος γάρ έστιν τοῦ $\sigma a\beta\beta$. δ vids τοῦ $a\nu \theta \rho \omega \pi o v$, since here the extended subject possessed more weight than the genitive, unemphasized by kai. Mt. 13. 31, 33 όμοία ἐστίν ή βασιλεία τ. οὐρ. κόκκψ ..., = 24 ὑμοιώθη κ.τ.λ. But the participle stands after the subject: L. 2. 33 $\eta \nu$ δ $\pi \alpha \tau \eta \rho$ $\alpha \dot{\nu} \tau o \hat{\nu}$ και $\dot{\eta}$ μήτηρ θαυμάζοντες, Α. 12. 6 ήν ο Πέτρος κοιμώμενος, Mc. 1. 6, 14. 4, Still in all these cases there is by no means any binding rule 40. about the order, so that in L. 1. in the middle of the clauses quoted above we find in verse 12^{b} καὶ φόβος ἐπέπεσεν ἐπ' αὐτόν, clearly because $\phi \delta \beta \sigma$ offers more of a parallel to $\epsilon \tau a \rho \delta \chi \theta \eta$ in 12^a than έπέπεσεν does: whereas in A. 19. 17 we have και έπέπεσεν φόβος έπι πάντας αὐτούς, L. 1. 65 καὶ ἐγένετο ἐπὶ πάντας φόβος (D φόβος μέγας $\epsilon \pi i \pi$.) τούς περιοικούντας αύτούς, where the reason for placing πάντας early in the sentence in the ordinary reading is to give it stress and preserve the parallelism, as the passage continues $\kappa a i \, \epsilon v \, \delta \lambda \eta \, \tau \hat{\eta} \, \delta \rho \epsilon v \hat{\eta}$... διελαλείτο πάντα τα ρήματα ταῦτα, και ἔθεντο πάντες οι ἀκούσαντες έν ταῖς καρδίαις αὐτῶν. Any emphasis whatever on any part of a sen-

¹ E.g. L. 2. 13 και έξαιφνης έγένετο σύν τῷ ἀγγέλῷ πληθος στρατιῶς οὐρανίου αἰνούντων κ.τ.λ., Α. 27. 2 ὄντος σύν ήμιν ᾿Αριστάρχου Μακεδόνος Θεσσαλονικέως.

² For details see Gersdorf, Beiträge zur Sprachcharakteristik d. Schriftst. d. N.T., Leipzig 1816, p. 90 f., 502 ff.

tence generally tends at once to throw that part into the forefront of the sentence: ibid. 67 Kal Zaxapías $\delta \pi a \tau \eta \rho \ a \dot{\upsilon} \tau \sigma \hat{\upsilon}$... (as opposed to the neighbours etc., who were the last subjects of discourse), 57 $\tau \hat{\eta}$ $\delta \dot{\epsilon}$ 'E $\lambda \omega \sigma a \beta \dot{\epsilon} \tau \ \dot{\epsilon} \pi \lambda \dot{\eta} \sigma \theta \eta \ \delta$ xpóvos $\tau \sigma \hat{\upsilon} \tau \epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu \ a \dot{\upsilon} \tau \dot{\eta} \nu$. Statements of time, which mark a transition, also have a tendency to stand at the beginning; but there too the inclination to begin a sentence with a verb occasions the introduction of a meaningless $\dot{\epsilon} \gamma \dot{\epsilon} \nu \epsilon \tau \sigma$, which does not in all cases affect the construction, before the temporal statement: L. 2. I $\dot{\epsilon} \gamma \dot{\epsilon} \nu \tau \sigma \delta \dot{\epsilon} \ \dot{\epsilon} \nu \tau \sigma \dot{\delta} \ \dot{\epsilon} \rho a \tau \epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \epsilon \nu a \upsilon \tau \dot{\delta} \gamma \mu a \kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, cp. § 77, 6; so 1. 8 $\dot{\epsilon} \gamma \dot{\epsilon} \nu \tau \sigma \delta \dot{\epsilon} \ \dot{\epsilon} \nu \tau \phi \ \dot{\epsilon} \rho a \tau \epsilon \dot{\nu} \epsilon \nu a \upsilon \tau \dot{\nu} \dots \ \ddot{\epsilon} \lambda a \chi \epsilon \kappa.\tau.\lambda., 23 \kappa a \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \dot{\epsilon} \nu \epsilon \sigma \delta \dot{\epsilon} \ \dot{\epsilon} \pi \eta \lambda \partial \epsilon \nu \kappa.\tau.\lambda.$

2. Closely related parts of the sentence, e.g. noun and attribute, noun and dependent genitive, several subjects or objects connected by $\kappa \alpha i$ etc., are usually in simple and plain discourse placed together, whereas not only in poetry, but also in discourse which has any claims to a rhetorical style, they are frequently severed from each other, in order to give greater effect to the separated words by their isolation. Thus the epistolary formula runs $\chi \alpha \rho \mu s \psi \mu \nu \kappa \alpha i \epsilon i \rho \eta \nu \eta$, not χάρις καὶ ϵ ίρ. ὑμίν, an order of words which is partly occasioned by the tendency which from early times exists in Greek as in cognate languages, to bring unemphasized (enclitic) pronouns and the like as near as possible to the beginning of the sentence (though not to put them actually at the beginning¹); hence we find also R. 1. 11 $lva \tau l$ μεταδώ χάρισμα ύμιν πνευματικόν, Α. 26. 24 τα πολλά σε γράμματα είς μανίαν περιτρέπει, Jo. 13. 6 σύ μου νίπτεις τους πόδας, 9. 6 (*BL) έπεχρισεν αύτου τον πηλον έπι τους οφθαλμούς, Η. 4. ΙΙ ίνα μή έν τώ αὐτῷ τις ὑποδείγματι πέση κ.τ.λ., 1 C. 5. Ι ώστε γυναῖκά τινα τοῦ πατρὸς έχειν (also to emphasize both γυν. and πατρός), L. 18. 18 καὶ ἐπηρώτησέν τις αὐτὸν ἄρχων λέγων. But here again there is no obligation to use this order of words : thus we have 2 C. 11. 16 καν ώς αφρονα $\delta\epsilon$ a $\sigma\theta\epsilon$ $\mu\epsilon$, where no doubt the object was to give $\delta\epsilon$ a $\sigma\theta\epsilon$ the prior A prior position gives emphasis, a position at the end of position. the sentence does so only indirectly, where the word is torn from its natural context and made independent; the later position may also be influenced by the connection with the following clause, as in 1 P. 2. 7 ύμιν οῦν ἡ τιμὴ τοῖς πιστεύουσιν ἀπειθοῦσιν δε κ.τ λ. Sometimes the regular order of words would be too cumbrous and unpleasant: Α. 4. 33 ΑΕ μεγάλη δυναμει απεδίδουν οι απόστολοι το μαρτύριον της άναστάσεως Ίησοῦ χρ. τοῦ κυρίου, but NB etc. have a better reading τό μαρτ. οἱ ἀπόστολοι, and B also has τοῦ κ. Ἰησ. τῆς ἀναστ. We even have in Ap. 3. 8 μικράν «χεις δύναμιν (cp. 4 with v.l.).-The Epistle to the Hebrews not unfrequently has a really oratorical and choice order of words: 1. 4 τοσούτω κρείττων γενόμενος των άγγέλων, όσω διαφορώτερον παρ' αυτούς κεκληρονόμηκεν όνομα (it was necessary to make dyy. and dvoua stand out; the latter word also forms a link with the following clause), 5 tive yap $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon \nu \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon \tau \hat{\omega} \nu dy \epsilon \lambda \omega \nu$ (for the

¹See J. Wackernagel, Ueber ein Gesetz der indogerm. Wortstellung, Indogerm. Forschungen i. 333 ff.

same reason), 11. 32 ἐπιλείψει με γὰρ (v.l. γάρ με, infra 4) διηγούμενον ό χρόνος περί Γεδεών κ.τ.λ., which offers a close parallel to Demosth. 18. 29 f. ἐπιλείψει με λέγονθ' ἡ ἡμέρα τὰ τῶν προδοτῶν ὀνόματα, 12. 1 τοσοῦτον ἔχοντες (τοσ. emphatic) περικείμενον ἡμιν νέφος μαρτύρων, όγκον ἀποθέμενοι (ὄ. emphatic) πάντα και την εύπερίστατον ἁμαρτίαν. But many similar instances may also be cited from Paul and 1 Peter; such is the versatility of the Greek language that lively and animated discourse everywhere gives rise to these dislocations of words.

3. With regard to the position of the adjectival attribute, the rule holds good that it generally stands after its substantive1; i.e. the principal word comes first, and then the word which defines it more closely, just in the same way that the adverb which gives a nearer definition of an adjective (or a verb) is given the second place: ύψηλον λίαν Mt. 4. 8, έθυμώθη λίαν 2. 16. But we also find λίαν (om. D) $\pi \rho \omega i$ Mc. 16. 2, $\lambda i a \nu$ yàp $d \nu \tau \epsilon \sigma \tau \eta$ 2 Tim. 4. 10, and in the case of an attribute δι' ἀνύδρων τόπων Mt. 12. 43 (ἀν. is the principal idea), καλον σπέρμα 13. 27 (κ. ditto), έχθρος άνθρωπος 28, καλούς μαργαρίτας 45 The rule cannot be laid down for a substantive which is proetc. vided with an article: $\pi \nu \epsilon \hat{\nu} \mu a$ a just is the correct phrase without an article, but with it we have both $\tau \partial \pi v$. $\tau \partial a \gamma$. and $\tau \partial a \gamma_{i0} v \pi v \epsilon \hat{v} \mu a$ as in Mt. 28. 19, A. 1. 8, which then becomes a single idea. Cp. § 47, 6; τὴν ἀγίαν πόλιν (Jerusalem) Mt. 4. 5, 27. 53 (but ἡ π. ἡ άγ. in Ap. 11. 2, 21. 2, 22. 19).—On the attributive genitive see § 35, 62; on obros and exervos § 49, 4.—Matthew has a habit of putting adverbs after imperatives, while he makes them precede indicatives: thus 42 καταβάτω νῦν, 43 ρυσάσθω νῦν, 3. 15 ἄφες ἄρτι, 18. 16 (ἔτι), and on the other hand 19. 20 eri vorepo, 26. 65 (5. 13 ioxve eri, but D omits $\epsilon \tau \iota$), 9. 18 ($a \rho \tau \iota$; in 26. 53 before $\pi a \rho a \kappa a \lambda \epsilon \sigma a \iota$ according to AD al.), 26. 65 $(v\hat{v}v)$.³—The order of words has become established by custom in certain frequently occurring combinations with $\kappa \alpha i$, Winer § 61, 4, such as άνδρες και γυναίκες, γυν. και παιδία (τέκνα), but cod. D in Mt. 14. 21 puts παιδ. first, as ND do in 15. 38; also έσθίειν καὶ πίνειν, οἱ πόδες καἶ aἱ χείρες (the reverse order in L. 24. 39, but not in \aleph), etc.; but all these are peculiarities of a lexical rather than a grammatical nature.—The vocative stands either at the beginning, as in Mt. 8. 2 and often, or near the beginning of the sentence, as in όθεν, ἀδελφοὶ ἄγιοι Η. 3. 1 etc., or in proximity to the pronoun of the second person, 1 C. 1. 10 $\pi a \rho a \kappa a \lambda \hat{\omega}$ de $\hat{\nu} \mu \hat{a} s$, $\hat{a} \delta \epsilon \lambda \phi o \hat{i}$, or to a verbal form in the second person, Ja. 1. 2 $\pi \hat{a} \sigma a \nu \chi a \rho \hat{a} \nu \dot{\eta} \gamma \dot{\eta} \sigma a \sigma \theta \epsilon$, $\hat{a} \delta \epsilon \lambda \phi o i$ μov (this may be compared with the ordinary sequence of verbsubject; there is the same position of the voc. in Jo. 14. 9 τοσούτον ... καὶ οὐκ ἔγνωκάς με Φίλιππε, where Φ. could not well have stood earlier); it also stands after a 1st pers. plur. in which the persons addressed are included, H. 10. 19 $\epsilon \chi_{0\nu\tau\epsilon\varsigma}$ oùv, ad $\epsilon\lambda\phi_{0i}$, $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. It

²See also op. cit. 295 ff.

⁸Op. cit. 106.

289

¹Gersdorf (op. cit. supra 1) p. 334 ff. (the rule applies to adjectives of quality, since those of quantity may stand first in all cases, as may also μικρόs).

rarely stands at the end of the sentence: L. 5. 8, A. (2. 37), 26. 7, the last passage occurring in Paul's speech before Agrippa, in which there are other instances of the vocative being purposely given a peculiar position (verses 2 and 13).

4. To the obvious rule, that a subordinating conjunction stands at the beginning of the subordinate clause dependent upon it, there are some exceptions, as in classical Greek, especially in St. Paul, since emphasized portions of the subordinate sentence are placed before the conjunction : την αγάπην ινα γνωτε 2 C. 2. 4, 12. 7, 1 C. 9. 15, G. 2. 10, Col. 4. 16, A. 19. 4; βιωτικά μέν ούν κοιτήρια έαν έχητε 1 Č. 6. 4, 11. 14 (§ 79, 7 note), 14. 9, Mt. 15. 14, Jo. 10. 9; R. 12. 3 έκάστψ ώς έμέρισεν κ.τ.λ., 1 C. 3. 5, 7. 17 (bis); 2 Th. 2. 7 έως; Jo. 7. 27 όταν. We have further A. 13. 32 και ήμεις ύμας εὐαγγελιζόμεθα, την πρός τούς πατέρας έπαγγελίαν γενομένην, ότι ταύτην ό θεός έκπεπλήρωκεν κ.τ.λ., instead of ὅτι τὴν—without ταύτην (p. 90, note 1). The same thing happens sometimes with the relative, Jo. 4. 18 vûv ov $\xi\chi\epsilon_{is}$, 1 C. 15. 36 où $\delta \sigma \pi \epsilon i \rho \epsilon i s$, and akin to this is the habit in interrogative sentences of putting the emphasized idea before the interrogative : Jo. 1. 19 (= 8. 25, 21. 11, R. 9. 20, 14. 4, Ja. 4. 12) συ τίς εί; cp. Jo. 9. 17, 8. 25 (ő, τι, § 50, 5), L. 9. 20, 16. 11 f., Jo. 21. 21 οῦτος δὲ τί¹ etc., Buttmann 333 c.-Of the co-ordinating conjunctions some stand in the first place, such as $\kappa a i$, $\ddot{\eta}$, $d\lambda\lambda \dot{a}$, others in the second (on deviations from classical usage in this respect see §§ 77, 13; 78, 5); the latter class, however, are occasionally found also in the third, fourth, or fifth place, partly from necessity, as in 1 Jo. 2. 2 où $\pi\epsilon\rho$ $\tau\omega\nu$ ήμετέρων δε μόνον, Jo. 8. 16 και έαν κρίνω δε έγω ('even if I however'), partly at the option of the writer, for instance where there is a preposition governing a case, or a noun with an attributive genitive: 2 C. 1. 19 δ τοῦ θεοῦ γὰρ υίδς *AB al., which gives greater prominence to $\theta \epsilon o \hat{v}$ than the reading of DF al. $\delta \gamma \dot{a} \rho \tau$. θ . $v \dot{i} \delta s$, 1 C. 8. 4 $\pi \epsilon \rho \dot{i}$ της βρώσεως οὖν τῶν εἰδωλοθύτων (instead of οὖν DE insert δὲ after $\pi \epsilon \rho i$): Herm. Sim. viii. 7. 6 έν ταις έντολαις δέ, ix. 21. Ι έπι την καρδίαν δέ, Mand. ix. 3 oùr čort yàp, Vis. iii. 13. 2 ús čàv yàp.-On the position of $\tau \epsilon$ see § 77, 9; on the position of the negative § 75, 7; on that of the secondary class of prepositions § 40, 6 (with our χωρis H. 12. 4 cp. ων ανευ Xenoph. Hell. vii. 1. 3; χάριν is placed after its case except in 1 Jo. 3. 12 χάριν τίνος).

5. The adoption of a hyperbaton, *i.e.* a departure from the natural arrangement of words, is a very old expedient for the purpose of exegesis: it is at any rate found as early as Plato, who makes Socrates use it (Protagoras 343 E), in order to compel Simonides the poet to use the expression which Socrates regards as correct. It is employed in a similar way, and with scarcely more justification, by the exegetes of the N.T., see Win. § 61, 5.

6. The question of the arrangement within the whole sentence of the principal and subordinate clauses which compose it, is a matter

¹ This final position of τi is also found in Demosthenes: $\tau a \hat{v} \tau a \hat{v} \tau i$; 9. 39 etc. — Cp. also $\tau \delta \sigma \kappa \delta \tau \sigma s$ Mt. 6. 23, oi $\delta \hat{\epsilon} \epsilon \nu \nu \epsilon a \pi \sigma \hat{v}$; L. 17. 17. Wilke (op. cit. § 79, 7) p. 375.

rather of style than of grammar. Grammar should perhaps take note of licenses that are permitted, such as the insertion of a final sentence before its due place: Jo. 19. 28 µerd $\tau a \hat{v} \tau a \, l. \epsilon i \delta \hat{\omega} s ... i va$ $\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \iota \omega \theta \hat{\eta} \, \dot{\eta} \, \gamma \rho a \phi \dot{\eta}, \, \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \epsilon \iota \, \Delta \iota \, \psi \hat{\omega}, \, 19. \, 31, \, R. \, 9. \, 11.$ On the other hand it is a very forced explanation which makes in 1 C. 15. 2 $\tau i \nu \iota \, \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \psi$ $\epsilon \dot{v} \eta \gamma \gamma \epsilon \lambda \iota \sigma \dot{\mu} \eta \nu \, \dot{\nu} \mu \hat{\nu} \nu$ dependent on the following $\epsilon i \kappa a \tau \dot{\epsilon} \chi \epsilon \tau \epsilon;$ it appears rather that $\epsilon \dot{\epsilon}$, like the reading in D* $\dot{\epsilon} \phi \epsilon i \lambda \epsilon \tau \epsilon \kappa a \tau \dot{\epsilon} \chi \epsilon \tau \epsilon;$ is an explanatory gloss, so that we only have a protasis standing before a principal clause ($\kappa a \tau \dot{\epsilon} \chi \epsilon \tau \epsilon$)¹. Jo. 10. 36 has the appearance of being an oratorical sentence, since the subordinate clause $\delta \nu \, \delta \pi a \tau \eta \rho \, \dot{\eta} \gamma \dot{a} \sigma \epsilon \nu \kappa. \tau. \lambda$. is placed before the principal clause $\dot{\nu} \mu \epsilon i s \, \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \epsilon \tau \epsilon \, \delta \tau i \, \beta \lambda a \sigma \phi \eta \mu \epsilon i s$ (see § 79, 12, $= \beta \lambda a \sigma \phi \eta \mu \epsilon i \nu$); in reality however the sentence with its defective structure ($\delta \nu$ referring to $\beta \lambda a \sigma \phi \eta \mu \epsilon i s$) is one of the instances of the loose formation of sentences with two members, found elsewhere in John's Gospel, § 79, 8.

§ 81. ELLIPSE (BRACHYLOGY), PLEONASM.

1. An ellipse is where it is left to the reader or hearer to complete for himself the thought which is incompletely expressed: not because the writer is afraid of saying something-that is the figure of aposiopesis-but because he finds any further addition superfluous. Still every omission of this sort is not therefore to be regarded as an ellipse. It is equally superfluous to insert what would be a mere repetition of something already stated, as for instance in the case of a preposition repeated before a second noun which is connected by kai with a previous noun, the omission or insertion of which preposition is an optional matter (see Winer § 50, 7); again the verb in the protasis sufficiently indicates the verb which should stand in the apodosis, in 2 C. 5. 13 είτε γαρ εξέστημεν, θεώ (sc. εξέστ.) είτε σωφρονουμεν, υμίν (sc. $\sigma\omega\phi\rho$.); this is the figure known as $d\pi\delta$ κοινοῦ (Kühner ii.² 1066).² Moreover some slight alterations or changes in the form of the word may require to be supplied : Mc. 14. 29 εἶ πάντες σκανδαλισθήσονται, άλλ' οὐκ ἐγώ, sc. σκανδαλισθήσομαι, which is actually inserted in Dand in Mt. 26. 33 (a harsher instance is G. 3. 5 éf $\xi prime vous,$ where emixopy set $\tau o \pi v \epsilon \hat{v} \mu \alpha$ kal every set $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. must be supplied from the participles). The omission becomes of a somewhat different character where positives and negatives are combined, as in 1 C. 10. 24 $\mu\eta\delta\epsilon$ τὸ ἑαυτοῦ ζητείτω, ἀλλὰ τὸ τοῦ ἑτέρου, sc. ἕκαστος (to be understood from μηδείς); and entirely different in 1 Tim. 4. 3 κωλυόντων γαμείν, ἀπέχεσθαι βρωμάτων sc. κελευόντων (a similar instance is found in Lucian Charon § 2 κωλύσει ένεργειν και [sc. ποιήσει] (ημιούν, as Dr.

¹Therefore a full stop should be placed after $\sigma\phi\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon$, where a fresh sentence begins which is unconnected with the last, § 79, 5.

² Wilke (op. cit. in § 79, 7 note) p. 121 ff.—The formula $\delta v \ \mu \delta v \sigma v \ \delta \epsilon, \ d\lambda \lambda \dot{\alpha} \ \kappa a \dot{a} =$ 'moreover too' comes under this category, R. 5. 3, 11, 8. 23, 9. 10, 2 C. 8. 19, where an immediately preceding word or thought has to be supplied, which in 2 C. 7. 7 is actually repeated; it is only in R. 9. 10 that the definite words to be supplied are not given in the preceding clause, cp. Win. § 64, 1 c, who compares Diogenes L. 9. 39 (Antisthenes) and où $\mu \delta v \sigma \gamma \epsilon \ d\lambda \lambda \dot{a}$ in Plato.

Moulton points out), with which cp. 1 C. 3. 2 γάλα ὑμῶs ἐπότισα, οὐ βρώμα (sc. something like $i \psi ωμι \sigma a$, § 34, 4): here one verb refers to two objects (or subjects), to only one of which it is applicable in its literal acceptation (the figure of zeugma, Kühner Gr. ii.² 1075 f.).¹ On the other hand, an ellipse proper may only then be supposed to exist, when the idea itself is not expressed in any shape whatever, and there is also no cognate idea which takes its place in the form required. Under these circumstances the following words may be omitted : anything which may obviously be supplied from the nature of the structure of the sentence, such as the copula, § 30, 3; the subject if it is an ordinary word (such as the thing, or men), or if it is absolutely required by the statement, § 30, 4; the principal word, if it is sufficiently indicated by the attribute, therefore especially feminines like $\eta\mu\epsilon\rho a$, $\omega\rho a$ etc., § 44, 1 (also in the case of an article with an attributive genitive, § 35, 2). Omissions of this sort are conventional, and parallels may in some instances be found in other languages as well; a specially Greek idiom is the omission of the idea of 'other' or 'at all,' in $\Pi \dot{\epsilon} \tau \rho os \sigma \dot{\nu} \nu \tau o \hat{i} s \, \check{\epsilon} \nu \delta \epsilon \kappa a \, A. 2. 14 = \sigma \dot{\nu} \nu \tau o \hat{i} s$ λοιποιs των ένδ. (ἀποστόλων), cp. 37, where * etc. read τὸν Πέτρον καὶ τούς λοιπούς αποστόλους, while D omits λοιπούς; 5. 29 Π. και οι απόστολοι (D is different); 1 C. 10. 31 εἴτε ἐσθίετε εἴτε πίνετε εἴτε τι (sc. άλλο 'besides' or 'at all') ποιείτε, R. 14. 21 μηδε sc. to do anything else, Mt. 16. 14. Objects are omitted with verbs like $\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \upsilon \tau \hat{a} \nu$, viz. $\tau \delta \nu$ β íov, 'to die,' or δ_{i} áy $\epsilon_{i\nu}$ (ditto) 'to live,' Tit. 3. 3 (β íov is inserted in 1 Tim. 2. 2), also $\delta_{ia\tau\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\hat{i}\nu}$, $\delta_{ia\tau\rho\hat{i}\beta\epsiloni\nu}$ used intransitively show a similar ellipse; we also have $\pi \rho o \sigma \epsilon \chi \epsilon \iota \nu s c. \tau \delta \nu \nu o \hat{\nu} \nu$, cp. § 53, 1, etc. Γλώσσαις λαλείν should strictly be έτεραις γλ. λαλείν, a form which it takes in the narrative of the first appearance of the phenomenon in A. 2. 4 ('Mc.'16. 17 γλ. καιναῖς); but in similar narratives further on in the Acts (10. 46, 19. 6) the additional word is at best only found in the β text, and in Paul it occurs nowhere (but see 1 C. 14. 21). As an instance of conventional omission of a verb may be reckoned the omission of 'he said' in the report of a conversation, where the recurrence of the word would be superfluous and wearisome: A. 25. 22 'Αγρίππας δὲ πρὸς τὸν Φηστον (with ἔφη CEHLP); ibid. 9. 5, 11 the verb might be supplied from the previous clause $(a\pi \dot{o})$ κοινοῦ). Somewhat different is καὶ (ἰδοὺ) φωνὴ, sc. ἐγένετο Mt. 3. 17 etc., § 30, 3. In letters we always find χαίρειν without λέγει, § 69, 1, unless indeed even $\chi \alpha i \rho \epsilon \nu$ is omitted, as in Ap. 1. 4 and in Paul, though in his Epistles (and in the Apocalypse) its place is always taken by the Christian greeting $\chi \dot{a} \rho is \dot{\nu} \mu \hat{i} \nu \kappa.\tau. \lambda.^2$ Verbs of any kind

¹ Wilke p. 130 (1 C. 14. 34 $\epsilon \pi i \tau \rho \epsilon \pi e \tau a \iota$: A. 14. 22 $\pi a \rho a \kappa a \lambda o \hat{v} \nu \tau e s$). A kindred use is that in A. 1. 21 $\epsilon l \sigma \hat{\eta} \lambda \theta \epsilon \nu$ kal $\epsilon \xi \hat{\eta} \lambda \theta \epsilon \nu$ $\epsilon d \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\eta} \mu \hat{\alpha} s$, $= \epsilon l \sigma$. $\epsilon d \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\eta} \dot{\eta} \mu \hat{\omega} \nu$ (cp. 9. 28), where the clause which more nearly defines the verb ought to be expressed twice in different forms.

² The formula oùx $\delta \tau \iota = oi \lambda \epsilon \gamma \omega \delta \tau \iota$, as we say 'not that,' occurs in Jo. 6. 46 oùx $\delta \tau \iota \tau \delta \nu \pi a \tau \epsilon \rho a \epsilon \epsilon \delta \rho a \kappa \epsilon \nu \tau s$, 7. 22, 2 C. 1. 24, 3. 5, Ph. 4. 17, 2 Th. 3. 9; its origin has become so obscured that Paul can even say in Ph. 4. 11 oùx $\delta \tau \iota \kappa a \theta'$ $\delta \tau \epsilon \epsilon \rho a \kappa \delta \iota \kappa a \theta'$, but in \$64, 6. Cp. for classical instances of it Kühner ii. 800, but in classical Greek it involves the idea of a climax (heing followed by $\delta \lambda \lambda d$),

292

are omitted in formulas and proverbs, which are apt to be expressed in an abbreviated form: Mt. 5. 38 $\delta\phi\theta a\lambda\mu\delta\nu d\nu\tau\lambda \delta\phi\theta a\lambda\mu\delta\nu$ $\kappa.\tau.\lambda$. (δώσει according to Ex. 21. 24), Ap. 6. 6 χοΐνιξ σίτου δηναρίου (πωλεί-ται 'costs'), A. 18. 6 το αίμα ύμων έπι την κεφαλην ύμων, cp. Mt. 27. 25 (sc. $\epsilon \lambda \theta \epsilon \tau \omega$ according to Mt. 23. 35; a Hebrew phrase, see LXX. 2 Sam. 1. 16), 2 P. 2. 22 δς λουσαμένη εἰς κύλισμα βορβόρου (classical γλαῦκ' 'Aθήναζε etc.; but in the passage from 2 Pet. ἐπιστρέψασα may be supplied from the preceding proverb, Win. § 64, 2). Opa $\mu \eta$ (sc. $\pi oin \sigma \eta s$) must also have been a common phrase, Ap. 19. 10, 22. 9. On *iva* τi , $\tau i \pi \rho \delta s$ $\sigma \epsilon$ etc. see § 50, 7. Yueis $\delta \epsilon$ ov χ ov $\tau \omega s$ (should act) occurs in L. 22. 26. 'Aλλ' ίνα, but it was, it came to pass etc. for this reason that = the Divine will was, occurs in Jo. 1. 8, 9, 3, 13, 18, 15, 25, Mc. 14. 49.—Et $\delta \epsilon \mu \eta$ ($\gamma \epsilon$) (§ 77, 4) 'otherwise' has become a stereotyped phrase, so that it may even stand (instead of $\epsilon i \delta \epsilon$) after a negative sentence, as in L. 5. 36 (a classical use, Kühner 987); also instead of eav Se µn after eav µev ..., L. 10. 6, 13. 9 (in Ap. 2. 5 an explanatory clause with $i a \nu \mu \eta$ is tacked on at the end), see for classical instances Krüger § 65, 5. 12. Also εἰ μή, ἐἀν μή (Mc. 4. 22, G. 2. 16) 'except' were originally elliptical phrases.-In 2 Th. 1. 5 «νδειγμα της δικαίας κρίσεως κ.τ.λ. (after ταῖς θλίψεσιν αἶς ἐνέχεσθε) stands for ő ἐστιν ἔνδ. κ.τ.λ. (cp. E. 3. 13, Ph. 1. 28), but may be classed with the accusative used in apposition of sentences, Kühner 243 (Buttm. p. 134), as in R. 12. 1 παρακαλώ ύμας παραστήσαι τὰ σώματα ύμων θυσίαν ..., την λογικην λατρείαν ύμων (so that this is etc.). -Jo. 7. 35 που ούτος μέλλει πορεύεσθαι, ότι ήμεις ούχ ευρήσομεν αὐτόν; is not elliptical, since $\delta \tau i = \delta i' \delta_i \tau i$ as in 14. 22 (§ 50, 7), 9. 17, Mt. 8. 27, Mc. 4. 41¹; but Mt. 16. 7 ori aprovs our erabout $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\dot{\alpha}\beta o\mu\epsilon\nu = \tau o\hat{\nu}\tau'\dot{\epsilon}\kappa\epsilon\hat{\iota}\nu o$, őτι κ.τ.λ.; cp. the classical ellipses with őτι given in Kühner p. 889, note 4.

2. Omissions which are due to individual style and taste go much further, especially in letters, where the writer reckons on the knowledge which the recipient shares with himself, and also imitates ordinary speech, which is likewise full of ellipses, both conventional and such as depend more on individual caprice. Examples: 1 C. 1. 31 *iva καθώs γέγραπται* 'Ο καυχώμενος κ.τ.λ. 'in order that it may come to pass,' or 'proceed as' etc.²: 4. 6 *iva έν ἡμîν μάθητε τὸ μὴ ὑπὲρ ἀ γέγραπται* (φρονείν is added by N°D° al.): 2 C. 8. 15 O.T. ὁ τὸ πολὺ οὐκ ἐπλεόνασεν, καὶ ὁ τὸ ὀλίγον οὐκ ἠλαττόνησεν, = Ex. 16. 18 which is based on 17 καὶ συνέλεξαν ὁ τὸ πολὺ καὶ ὁ τὸ ἐλαττον, sc.

which is not inherent in it in the N.T. Once Paul uses oùy olov öri with a similar meaning (= 'it is not as if'), R. 9. 6 oùy olov dè öri èknémroukev ò lóyos roû deoû (as Polyb. iii. 88. 5 uses oùy olov ... dala with the idea of a climax = class. oùy öri). Cp. the elliptical $\mu \eta r i \gamma \epsilon$, § 75, 2.

¹ These combinations of particles are ultimately derived from Hebrew, cp. H. 2. 6 = Ps. 8. 5 $\tau \ell$ $\ell \sigma \tau \iota \nu$ $\delta \nu \theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma s$, $\delta \tau \iota \mu \iota \mu \nu \eta \sigma \kappa \eta$ $a \dot{\nu} \tau \sigma \dot{\nu}$; $\kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, where $\delta \tau \iota = :\mathfrak{T}$. So in Exod. 3. 11, 16. 7, Judges 19. 18 etc. (Gesenius-Kautzsch § 107, 4. h 3); in 1 Sam. 11. 5 the equivalent in the Greek for \mathfrak{T} is $\tau \ell$ $\delta \tau \iota$ (p. 177) $\kappa \lambda a \ell \epsilon \iota$ $\delta \lambda a \delta s$.

²Or else (Win. § 64, 7) the literal quotation takes the place of a paraphrase, which would have required the conjunctive.

therefore some word like συλλέξας (cp. Num. 11. 32)¹: R. 13. 7 απόδοτε πασιν τας οφειλάς, τῷ τον φόρον (sc. perhaps οφειλόμενον έχοντι) τον φόρον, τῷ το τέλος το τέλος κ.τ.λ.: G. 5. 13 μόνον μή την έλευθερίαν εἰς ἀφορμὴν τη σαρκί, sc. something like ἔχετε: in the case of this warning '(only) not' we also are inclined to use ellipse (Mt. 26. 5, Mc. 14. 2 $\mu\eta$ $\epsilon\nu$ $\tau\eta$ $\epsilon\rho\tau\eta$, where however the ellipse can and must be supplied from the preceding words): Ph. 3. 14 to de (I do): 2 C. 9. 6 τουτο δέ (sc. φημι, according to 1 C. 7. 29, 15. 50), δ σπείρων φειδομένως φειδομένως και θερίσει: 9. 7 έκαστος καθώς προήρηται, may give : G. 2. 9 δεξιάς έδωκαν κοινωνίας, ίνα ήμεις μέν είς τα έθνη (εύαγγελιζώμεθα [Win.] according to 2 C. 10. 16), αὐτοὶ δὲ εἰς τὴν περιτομήν: R. 4. 9 δ μακαρισμός έπι την περιτομήν ή ...; (sc. λέγεται): 5. 18 ώς δι' ένδς παραπτώματος είς πάντας άνθρώπους είς κατάκριμα, ούτως κ.τ.λ., which would be unintelligible without the long exposition preceding, and even so hardly admits of being supplemented by a definite word such as $d\pi\epsilon\beta\eta$, $d\pi\sigma\beta\eta\sigma\epsilon\tau\alpha\iota$; Paul once more emphasizes the correspondence between the two actions (of Adam and Christ)-their opposite cause ($\delta \iota \dot{a}$), their equal range or extent ($\epsilon \dot{\iota} s$), the opposite nature of their ultimate end (ϵi_s). —Aposiopesis (supra 1) is sometimes assumed in L. 19. 42 εἰ ἔγνως καὶ σừ τὰ πρὸς εἰρήνην, νῦν δὲ ἐκρύβη, because the apodosis is suppressed (cp. 22. 42 where the reading is doubtful, εἰ βούλει παρενέγκαι τοῦτο τὸ ποτήριον ἀπ' ἐμοῦ, πλην κ.τ.λ., with v.l. $\pi a \rho \epsilon \nu \epsilon \gamma \kappa \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu$ and $\pi a \rho \epsilon \nu \epsilon \gamma \kappa \epsilon$; but since in the former passage nothing else can be supplied but 'it would be (or is) pleasing to me,' the passage should rather be compared with the classical omission of the first apodosis with $\epsilon i \ \mu \epsilon \nu \dots \epsilon i \ \delta \epsilon$, § 78, 2. There is likewise no aposiopesis in Jo. 6. 62 $\dot{\epsilon}a\nu$ or $\theta\epsilon\omega\rho\eta\tau\epsilon$..., sc. what could you say then ?, or in A. 23. 9 ϵi $\delta \epsilon \pi v \epsilon \hat{v} \mu a a \dot{v} \tau \hat{\psi} \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \dot{a} \lambda \eta \sigma \epsilon v$, sc. what opposition can we make? (HLP interpolate $\mu \dot{\eta} \theta \epsilon_0 \mu a \chi \hat{\omega} \mu \epsilon v$), R. 9 22. Abbreviation in the principal clause is also found in sentences of comparison : καὶ οὐ ('and it is not so') καθάπερ Μωῦσῆς κ.τ.λ., 2 C. 3. 13, Mt. 25. 14, Mc. 13. 34, cp. § 78, 1.

3. Distinct from ellipse is what is known as brachylogy, where something is passed over for the sake of brevity, not so much affecting the grammatical structure as the thought: the omission may either be conventional or due to individual style. An instance of the former is to be found in *iva* clauses which are thrown forward in a sentence, and which give the aim or object of the subsequent statement, Mt. 9.6 *iva* $\delta \epsilon i \delta \hat{\eta} \tau \epsilon \kappa. \tau. \lambda.$ (§ 79, 12)²; an instance of the latter is R. 11. 18 $\epsilon i \delta \delta \kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \kappa \alpha \nu \chi \hat{\alpha} \sigma \alpha i$ (you must know then that) où $\sigma \nu \tau \eta \nu$ $\hat{\rho} i \zeta a \nu \beta a \sigma \tau a \zeta \epsilon_i s, \dot{\alpha} \lambda \lambda' \dot{\eta} \hat{\rho} i \zeta a \sigma \epsilon_i, 1 C. 11. 16, Win. § 66, 1.$

4. The opposite to ellipse is pleonasm, which consists especially in expression being given a second time to an idea which has already been expressed in the sentence, not with any rhetorical object (such

¹ Winer § 64, 4 supplies $\xi \chi \omega \nu$, comparing expressions in Lucian such as $\delta \tau \delta \xi \delta \lambda \sigma \nu sc. \xi \chi \omega \nu$ 'the man with the stick.'

² Under this head should probaby be classed 2 C. 10. 9 (va $\delta \dot{\epsilon} (\delta \dot{\epsilon} \text{ add. H vulg.} al.) \mu \partial \delta \delta \zeta \omega \kappa.\tau.\lambda.$ (verse 10 is a parenthesis). We have a final sentence after a question (sc. 'answer') in Jo. 1. 22, 9. 36.

as accounts for the emphatic reduplication of a word or sentence, § 82, 7), nor again from mere thoughtlessness, but simply in conformity to certain habits of the language. Cp. on $\mu \hat{\alpha} \lambda \lambda o \nu$ with a comparative § 44, 5, on $\alpha \dot{\nu} \tau \hat{o} \hat{i}$ after ős (Hebraic) § 50, 4; on pleonastic negatives § 75, 4 and 6, $\dot{\epsilon} \kappa \tau \hat{o} \hat{s} \dot{\epsilon} i \mu \eta = \hat{\epsilon} i \mu \eta \hat{S} \hat{65}, 6$; we may also reckon as pleonasms $\hat{\epsilon} n \epsilon \nu \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega \nu$ (§ 74, 3), $i \partial \hat{\omega} \nu \hat{\epsilon} i \partial o \nu$ (ibid. 4), $\theta a \nu \dot{a} \tau \rho \tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \nu \tau \dot{a} \tau \omega$ (§ 38, 3) and other cases of Hebraistic prolixity of expression.¹ On $\dot{a} \pi \partial \mu \alpha \kappa \rho \delta \theta \epsilon \nu$ and the like see § 25, 3; with which must be compared προδραμ $\dot{\omega} \nu$ ($\hat{\epsilon} i \hat{s} \tau \partial) \tilde{\epsilon} \mu \pi \rho \sigma \sigma \theta \epsilon \nu L$. 19. 4,² $\pi \dot{\omega} \nu \dot{\omega} a \kappa \dot{\alpha} \mu \pi \tau \epsilon \iota \nu A$. 18. 21, π . $\dot{\upsilon} \pi \sigma \sigma \tau \rho \dot{\epsilon} \phi \epsilon \iota \nu G$. 1. 17 (π . $\dot{\epsilon} \pi \omega \tau \tau \rho$. 4. 9), π . $\dot{\epsilon} \kappa \delta \epsilon \upsilon \tau \dot{\epsilon} \rho \upsilon$, $\dot{\delta} \epsilon \upsilon \sigma \theta \epsilon \nu$ Mt. 26. 42, 44, A. 10. 15, Jo. 4. 54, G. 4. 9³; $\check{\epsilon} \pi \epsilon \iota \pi \mu \epsilon \dot{\alpha} \tau \sigma \upsilon \tau \sigma$ Jo. 11. 7 (there are similar phrases in classical Greek, Kühner ii.² 1087 f.), L. 22. 11 $\tau \psi \sigma \dot{\epsilon} \kappa \delta \delta \epsilon \sigma \tau \dot{\epsilon} \tau \eta \tau \eta \tilde{\epsilon} \rho \delta \epsilon \kappa \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \delta \iota \pi \delta \iota \sigma \delta \epsilon \sigma \pi \delta \tau \eta \tau \eta$ with which one may class the classical $a \dot{\iota} \sigma \delta \iota a a \dot{\ell} \gamma \tilde{\omega} \nu$ and the like, Kühner ibid. 1086.

§ 82. ARRANGEMENT OF WORDS; FIGURES OF SPEECH.

1. The sophists and rhetoricians who about the end of the fifth and the beginning of the fourth centuries B.C. created the Attic artistic prose style, did so with a certain amount of emulation with the only artistic form of speech previously in existence, namely poetry, and accordingly they endeavoured sometimes to borrow its external charms, sometimes to replace them by others equivalent to We are here speaking not so much of expression, as of the them. combination (arrangement, $\sigma \dot{\nu} \eta \epsilon \sigma \iota s$) of words, and anything else that may be regarded as connected with their arrangement. Since verse was excluded, Gorgias of Sicily, the first master of artistic prose, introduced into use as in some way equivalent to it certain figures of speech, which in the language of rhetoric took their name from him (Γοργίεια σχήματα). These figures consist in the artificial and formal combination of opposites (antithesis) or parallels (parison, isocolon), the charm of which was enhanced by various assonances at the end of the clauses (i.e. rhyme) as also at the beginning and in the middle of them ($\pi a \rho o \mu o \iota a$, parechesis etc.). There is here an obvious point of contact with that which poetry elsewhere usually regarded as its distinctive feature, and also a particularly close contact with the old Hebrew parallelism of clauses. These mannerisms of Gorgias were not free from a certain degree of pedantry and indeed of obvious affectation, and for this reason they were subsequently exploded and

² Also in Jo. 20. 4 $\pi\rho o \epsilon \delta \rho a \mu \epsilon \nu \tau a \chi (c \nu \tau o \hat{v})$ Il $\epsilon \tau \rho o v$ there is a superfluity of words: $\epsilon \delta \rho a \mu \epsilon \nu$ was sufficient (or $\pi \rho o \epsilon \delta \rho$. $\tau o \hat{v}$ Il $\epsilon \tau \rho o v$), especially as kal $\tilde{\eta} \lambda \theta \epsilon \nu \pi \rho \tilde{\omega} \tau o s$ $\epsilon i s \tau \delta \mu \nu \eta \mu \epsilon \delta \nu$ follows. It is somewhat different in L. 1. 76 $\pi \rho \sigma m \rho \rho \epsilon \omega \sigma \eta \sigma \rho \sigma \sigma \omega \sigma \omega$ ($= \pi \rho \delta$) $\tau o \hat{v} \kappa \nu \rho \ell o \nu$; since it is a common phenomenon of the language, that if a verb compounded with a preposition has its literal meaning, the preposition is again repeated in the complement ($\epsilon l \sigma \beta d \lambda \lambda \epsilon \nu \epsilon l s$), § 37, 7.

³ But Winer § 65, 2 notes with reason that $\epsilon \kappa \delta \epsilon \upsilon \tau \epsilon \rho \upsilon$ etc. if it follows $\pi \delta \lambda \upsilon$ is not superfluous, but a nearer definition.—D has $\epsilon \upsilon \delta \epsilon \omega \pi a \rho a \chi \rho \eta \mu a$ (classical) in A. 14. 10.

¹ On άρξασθαι, άρξάμενος see §§ 69, 4 note; 74, 2; on έγένετο § 77, 6.

went out of fashion; they were most unsuitable for *practical* speech, and for this purpose the Attic orators of the fourth century created a very different and flexible artistic style, which is based upon an imitation of lively speech, springing directly from the feelings, with its forms and figures ($\sigma\chi\eta\mu\alpha\tau\alpha$). But in place of rhyme which had been carried to excess and of assonance in general, the artistic prose of the fourth century, showing herein a certain direct approximation to the style of lyric poetry, had recourse to manifold rhythms, which by their mutual accordance imparted to the language a beautifully harmonious character; it further borrowed from the poets (a practice of which the beginnings are found in Gorgias himself) a smoothness and absence of friction in the juncture of words, doing away with the harsh collision between vowels at the end and beginning of This avoiding of hiatus contiguous words,—the so-called hiatus. continued to be practised by Hellenistic and Atticistic writers of the following centuries with a greater or less degree of strictness.

2. The Epistle to the Hebrews is the only piece of writing in the N.T., which in structure of sentences and style shows the care and dexterity of an artistic writer, and so it cannot be wondered at, if it is in this work alone that the principle of avoiding hiatus is taken into account. But it is by no means the case that all collisions of vowels are of the same kind: those which are faulty in the strictest sense are only such as are not rendered inaudible by a pause in the thought (end of a sentence or clause), or such as cannot be effaced by elision of the first vowel $(a\lambda\lambda', \delta')$ or crasis $(\kappa a\nu)$, or lastly are not formed by small 'form-words' such as $\kappa \alpha i$, ϵi , $\mu \eta$, $\tau o \hat{v}$, δ , $\tau \delta$ (the various forms of the article; also ô, oô etc.) in the case of which a prosewriter excuses a license which can hardly be helped. The use of hiatus with τi , τi , $\delta \tau i$, $\pi \epsilon \rho i$, $\pi \rho \delta$ is also allowable, as it is previously in Elisions of $\check{\alpha}$, ϵ , o, however, are not readily adopted, if the poetry. words combined in this way are other than 'form-words' (cp. § 5, 1); on the other hand, the at of verbal terminations is subject to elision (and is written with elision 1) being also reckoned for the purpose of the accent as short or almost short. If then in the Epistle to the Hebrews one leaves out of sight in the first place all the O.T. quotations, next chapter xiii. (concluding warnings etc.), and lastly chap. 9. 2-7 (description of the tabernacle), the test of hiatus gives the following results. Hiatus is a matter of indifference where there is a pause (this includes such passages as 2. 11 | $\xi \xi$ $\delta \nu \delta s$, 3. 3 $\delta \kappa \sigma v$ | δ , 6. 17 avrov |, 7. 24 alŵra |, Îl. 18 | őri, 25 | η); hiatus with kal is also a comparatively indifferent matter. With $\mu \eta$ there are 7 instances, with 5 only 4 (6. 16,2 9. 25, 10. 23, 11. 28), with 76 14, 7á 4, où 5, $\dot{\eta}$ 1, $\tau \circ \hat{v}$ 7, $\dot{\tau} \hat{\psi}$ 5, $\tau \hat{\eta}$ 1, \ddot{o} 1, $\breve{\delta} i \acute{o}$ 2 (10. 5, 11. 16; it is avoided by using di hv aitiav in 2. 11), of 2, & 1 (instances with art. and rel. amount to 47 in all³). With a and ϵ (not reckoning $d\lambda\lambda d$, $\delta \epsilon$, $\tau \epsilon$, iva

¹E.g. in the Herculanean rolls of Philodemus, Kühner I.³ i. 238.

² O before öpkos may be quite well dispensed with.

³ In the Epistle to the Romans this number (not reckoning quotations) is already surpassed at 4. 14, in 1 Corinthians at 6. 19.

and prepositions) there are 17^1 and 7 respectively; with a_i of verbal terminations 17.² Apart from these, the harsher cases of hiatus are as follows: 1. I $\pi \acute{a\lambda a\iota}$ \acute{b} $\theta \acute{cos}$ (the article can be dispensed with, § 46, 6), 2. 8 αὐτῷ ἀνυπότακτον (αὐτῷ is superfluous, as just before in the same verse it is removed by Lachm. on the authority of B etc.), ουπω δρώμεν (βλέπομεν as in 9?), (9 O.T. quot.), 9 θεου υπέρ (περί? cp. 5. 3, 10. 18, 26, 13. 11. 18, § 42, 4), (14 enei ouv as in 4. 6, enei as a 'form-word' may be used with hiatus also in Demosthenes), 15, 16, 3. 1, 2 (αὐτόν is superfluous; ibid. a quotation as in 5), 12 is full of instances of hiatus, two of which are harsh; (4. 7 according to ** όρίζει τινὰ ημέραν; ibid. 11 hiatus is avoided by the insertion of τ is), (5. 9 read aυτώ πασιν with KL al.), 10 θεοῦ ἀρχιερεὺς (to be reckoned as a quotation?), 6. 3 ἐπιτρέπη ὁ θεόs (see on 1. 1), 6. 7, 10 (7. 1 Ο.Τ. quot.), 3, 14, 8. 7 $\pi\rho\omega\tau\eta$ ἐκείνη ην, 9. 9, 12, 14, 15, 17,⁸ 21, 23, 24, 25 bis, 26 (ἐπεὶ ἐδει), 10 (2 the text is uncertain ⁴), 10 three instances of hiatus,⁵ (13 quotation), 19, 11. 4, 5 πίστει Ένὼχ, similarly 21, 22, 11. 7, 8 ($\pi \circ \hat{v}$, excusable), 19 (not without v.l.), (21 quot.), 22, 28. 30 two cases of hiatus with $I_{\epsilon\rho_1\chi\omega}$, 31, 34, 12. 8 (the position of έστέ varies and the word can be dispensed with), 24 ('Ιησοῦ superfluous), 25. The attention that has been been bestowed on the avoiding of hiatus is accordingly put beyond a doubt,6 though the different portions of the work seem not to have been executed with quite a uniform amount of care.

3. To look for verses and fragments of verse (apart from the three quotations, A. 17. 28, 1 C. 15. 33, Tit. 1. 12), *i.e.* to look for rhythm in the N.T., is on the whole a useless waste of time, and the specimens of verse which have been found are for the most part of such a quality that they are better left unmentioned (Ja. 1. 17 is a hexameter $\pi \hat{\alpha} \sigma a \ \delta \hat{\sigma} \sigma s \ \kappa.\tau.\lambda$, but contains a tribrach in the second foot). It is somewhat different, however, with the Epistle to the Hebrews, where in 12. 13 there occurs a faultless hexameter, $\kappa a \ \tau \rho o \chi i a \ \delta \rho \partial \dot{\alpha} \ \pi \sigma \sigma \dot{\gamma}^{-1} \sigma \sigma \dot{\sigma} \ \kappa \sigma \sigma \dot{\gamma}^{-1} \sigma \dot{\alpha} \ \kappa \sigma \sigma \dot{\gamma}$

¹3. 17 κώλα ἕπεσεν is a quotation. This calculation includes 4. I άρα, also 11. 14 πατρίδα ἐπιζητοῦσι, where D* al. read ζητοῦσι; an additional instance is 4. 7 τινὰ ἡμ., on which see below in the text.

²In 12. 7 προσφέρεται ο θεόs, δ can be dispensed with as in 1. τ (see lower down in the text); 3. 18 is a quotation.

³ The clause $\epsilon \pi \epsilon i \mu \eta \pi \sigma \tau \epsilon i \sigma \chi \iota \epsilon i \delta \tau \epsilon j \delta \delta i \alpha \theta \epsilon \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma s may be perfectly well dispensed with, and cp. § 75, 3.$

4' Ξπεί σύκ $å\nu$ ἐπαύσαντο (which must be taken as a question) with v.l. omitting ούκ; an obvious suggestion is to read κ $a\nu$.

⁶See also 12. 7 παιδεύει πατήρ without the article (§ 46, 7), which would have caused a hiatus; ihid. 14 où χωρls stands for χωρls où (where oùδels follows). Also in 1. 1 $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\varphi} v l \hat{\varphi}$ might have been expected.

⁷ \aleph *P have a v.l. $\pi oue \hat{i} \tau e$, as $\pi ole \iota$ is read in Prov. 4. 26 on which the passage is based, but here at any rate the present is not in keeping with the sense, as the aorist is needed to express the contrast with the state of things hitherto existing, § 58, 2. The question of rhythm in Hebrews has been specially con-

4. The studied employment of the so-called Gorgian assonances is necessarily foreign to the style of the N.T., all the more because they were comparatively foreign to the whole period; accident however of course produces occasional instances of them, and the writer often did not decline to make use of any that suggested themselves. Paronomasia is the name given to the recurrence of the same word or word-stem in close proximity, parechesis to the resemblance in sound between different contiguous words. Instances of paronomasia are: Mt. 21. 41 κακούς κακώς απολέσει αύτούς (a good classical and popular combination of words²), 2 C. 9. 8 ev παντί πάντοτε πάσαν αὐτάρκειαν,³ 8. 22, A. 21. 28, 24. 3 (Herm. Mand. xi. 3 αὐτὸς γὰρ κενός ών κενώς [MSS. κενός] και άποκρίνεται κενοίς); then there may be a contrast in the sentence, so that there is a certain subtlety and sometimes a suggestion of wit in the paronomasia : 2 C. 4. 8 ἀπορούμενοι, αλλ' ούκ έξαπορούμενοι, 2 Th. 3. 11 μηδεν εργαζομένους, αλλα περιεργαζομένους, A. 8. 30 άρά γε γινώσκεις & άναγινώσκεις; (cp. 2 C. 3. 2), R. 12. 3 μη ύπερφρονείν παρ' δ δεί φρονείν, αλλα φρονείν είς το σωφρονείν (which might almost be called finical), 1 C. 11. 29 ff. κρίμαδιακρίνων—διεκρίνομεν—ἐκρινόμεθα—κρινόμενοι—κατακριθῶμεν (ditto), 2 C. 10. 2 f. κατὰ σάρκα—έν σαρκì—κατὰ σ.; the paronomasia is most sharply marked in Ph. 3. 2 f. $\beta\lambda\epsilon\pi\epsilon\tau\epsilon \tau\eta\nu$ κατατομήν (the Jewish circumcision), ήμεῖς γάρ ἐσμεν ή περιτομή,⁴ where Paul in an

sidered by Delitzsch in his commentary, see the review by J. Köstlin in Gtg. gel. Anz. 1858, art. 84, p. 827 ff., who however is inclined to disbelieve in it.

¹This verse is noticed by Delitzsch, the following verse is added by his reviewer. $X \omega \rho ls$ in this passage only stands after its case, § 80, 4; but hiatus is also avoided by this expedient, supra note 6 on p. 297.

² Demosth. 21. 204 εί κακός κακώς άπολεί, Winer § 67, 1.

³ Plato Menex. 247 A (a Gorgian assonance): $\delta\iota\dot{a} \pi a\nu\tau ds \pi a\sigma a\nu \tau ds \tau as \pi \rho \sigma \theta \nu \mu (a\nu \pi \epsilon \iota \rho a\sigma \theta \epsilon \epsilon \chi \epsilon \iota \nu)$. For the N.T. see numerous instances of the figures here discussed in Wilke p. 342 ff., 402-415.

⁴ Winer § 68, 2 compares Diog. Laert. 6. 24, who says of Diogenes the Cynic $\tau^{\dagger}\mu \ \mu^{\dagger}\nu \ E^{\dagger}\kappa \lambda\epsilon(\delta ou \ \sigma\chi o\lambda^{\dagger})\nu \ \epsilon^{\dagger}\lambda\epsilon\gamma\epsilon \chi o\lambda^{\dagger}\mu, \ \tau^{\dagger}\mu \ \delta^{\dagger} \ \Pi\lambda \delta\tau \omega ros \ \delta\iota \sigma\tau \rho\iota \beta^{\dagger}\mu \ \kappa \alpha\tau \alpha\tau \rho\iota \beta^{\dagger}\mu.$ — Paul does not make any word-play on the name of the slave Onesimus, although he uses (in this passage only) the word $\delta ra(\mu\eta\nu,$ Philem. 20; the most that can be said is that the recipient of the letter might make for himself the obvious play of words from 'Orfguuov - $\delta\chi\rho\eta\sigma\tau\sigma\nu$ 10 f.

oratorical manner robs his opponents of the word in which they pride themselves and turns it into a disgrace. The paronomasia in A. 23. 3 also appears to be oratorical, where Paul in answer to Ananias, who had commanded τύπτων αὐτοῦ τὸ στόμα, replies τύπτων σε μέλλει ό θεός, using the same word in another and metaphorical sense; cp. Ap. 22. 28 f., and with parechesis $\sigma \chi_{i\nu\sigma\sigma} - \sigma \chi_{i\sigma\epsilon}$, $\pi \rho_{i\nu\sigma\sigma}$ $-\pi\rho i\sigma \epsilon i Lxx$. Dan. Sus. 54 f., Winer § 68, 2; so that this appears to have been a common method of retort among the Jews. The practice of twisting a word that occurs in the sentence into a metaphorical sense is illustrated also by 2 C. 3. 1 ff. ($\epsilon \pi \iota \sigma \tau o \lambda \eta$): similarly L. 9. 60 (Mt. 8. 22) αφες τούς νεκρούς θάψαι τους εαυτών νεκρούς: Mt. 5. 19 (ἐλάχιστος); but Paul is particularly fond of dwelling on an idea and a word, although it does not assume different meanings and is not repeated absolutely immediately, while there is still a certain artificial and reflective manner in the repetition (known as traductio in Latin rhetoricians). Thus in 2 C. 3. 5 ff. we first have ίκανοί—ίκανότης—ίκάνωσεν, then γράμμα (following έγγεγραμμένη 2 f.) three times, also $\pi v \epsilon \hat{v} \mu a$ (which has likewise been used already in 3); διάκονος 6, διακονία 7 ff. four times; δόξα 7-11 eight times besides δεδοξάσθαι twice in 10 (οὐ δεδόξασται τὸ δεδοξασμένον, a kind of oxymoron with an apparent contradiction).-Parechesis is seen in the old combination of words, which became popular, L. 21. 11 λιμοί καὶ λοιμοὶ ἔσονται (Hesiod, W. and D. 241 λιμόν δμοῦ καὶ λοιμόν); H. 5. 8 $\epsilon\mu a\theta\epsilon\nu \dot{a}\phi' \dot{\omega}\nu \dot{\epsilon}\pi a\theta\epsilon\nu$ (the proverb $\pi\dot{a}\theta\epsilon\iota \mu\dot{a}\theta$ os occurs in Aesch. Agam. 170); Paul in enumerations combines the following words, R. 1. 29 (G. 5. 21?) фθόνου φόνου, 31 ασυνέτους ασυνθέτους; but κλάδων έξεκλάσθησαν 11. 17, 19 may be accidental or a kind of etymological figure (like φόβον φοβείσθαι).--The δμοιοτέλευτον in R. 12. 15 χαίρειν μετά χαιρόντων, κλαίειν μετά κλαιόντων (where there is assonance also in the first words of the two clauses, so that this is a case of δμοιοκάταρκτον as well) arose naturally and unsought; but in 5. 16 it may be considered as studied and deliberate, oux ws ou evos άμαρτήσαντος το δώρημα· το μεν γαρ κρίμα έξ ένος είς κατάκριμα, το δέ χάρισμα έκ πολλών παραπτωμάτων είς δικαίωμα. Paul has certainly not sought after rhyme in this passage, but has no doubt (as already in 14 f.) played with the formations in $-\mu a$, which were among the *deliciae* of the Hellenistic stylist.¹

5. Antitheses and parallelisms of all kinds are very largely developed in the N.T., not only in the Pauline Epistles, but also in the Gospels, especially those of Matthew and Luke; in the latter their occurrence is due to the gnomic character of ancient Hebrew literature (supra 1), in the former it is the outcome of the Apostle's dialectic and eloquence. With these should be reckoned a further series of figures ($\sigma_{\chi'\eta\mu\alpha\tau\alpha}$), of which we learn in Greek and Latin rhetoricians, and for which instances are quoted from Demosthenes, Cicero etc. Antithesis and parison (supra 1), considered on their own merits, form part of these figures; but it may easily happen in

¹ E.g. of Epicurus, from whom Cleomedes $\pi\epsilon\rho l$ $\mu\epsilon\tau\epsilon\omega\rho\omega\nu$ B cap. 1 gives excerpts containing the words $\kappa\alpha\tau\dot{\alpha}\sigma\tau\eta\mu\alpha$ $\epsilon\lambda\pi\iota\sigma\mu\alpha$ $\lambda(\pi\alpha\sigma\mu\alpha$ $\dot{\alpha}\nu\alpha\kappa\rho\alpha\dot{\nu}\gamma\alpha\sigma\mu\alpha$.

cases of parallelism of this kind, that the first words are alike (anaphora), or the last words are alike (antistrophe), or the first and the last words are alike (symploce), and by this means the parallelism is rendered still more striking to the ear. Moreover words in the middle of the sentence may be alike or have a similar termination. Again cases frequently occur where there is a double anaphora etc., if each section of the parallelism is again subdivided, and the repetition of the word may take place not only twice, but even thrice and still more often. Thus we have in 1 C 1. 25 ff. ότι το μωρον του θεου | σοφώτερόν έστιν των άνθρώπων || καί το άσθενες τοῦ θεοῦ | ἰσχυρότερόν ἐστι τῶν ἀνθρώπων¹. βλέπετε γὰρ τὴν κλησιν ύμων ἀδέλφοί ότι ου πολλοι σοφοί κατὰ σάρκα ου πολλοι δυνατοί ου πολλοι εύγενείς || άλλα τα μωρά του κόσμου έξελέξατο ό θεός | ίνα καταισχύνη τούς σοφούς (τὰ σοφά according to the text of Marcion, a better reading) || καί τα ασθενή του κόσμου έξελέξατο ο θεός | ίνα καταισχύνη τα ίσχυρά || καί τὰ ἀγενῆ τοῦ κόσμου καὶ τὰ ἐξουθενημένα ἐξελέξατο ὁ θεός | τὰ μὴ ὄντα² | ^γνα τὰ ὄντα καταργήση | ὅπως μὴ καυχήσηται πασα σὰρξ ἐνώπιον τοῦ θεοῦ. In this passage the parallelism is developed, though not quite from the beginning, into rounded periods of three sections, and the third section in the last parallelism, which gives the finish to the whole sentence, exceeds the others in the number and length of its clauses, which is just what rhetoricians require in final sections of this kind³; the parallelism is thus sustained throughout the whole passage with a precision as accurate as the thought admitted of, while the sharpness of the thought is not sacrificed to form. This is a point which the rhetoricians praise as a merit in Demosthenes also, that his antitheses are not worked out with minute accuracy. And so too St. Paul does not say $i\nu a \tau a \epsilon v \gamma \epsilon v \eta$ καταργήση because τα ανενή has preceded, but the expansion of the concluding clause enables him to introduce $\tau \dot{a}$ $\mu\eta$ ovra, which together with its opposite τa ovra, which is annexed, gives a better and much more powerful expression to the thought. No Greek orator—for one must naturally compare the passage with practical speech, and not with the quiet flow of artistic speech, in

¹'E $\sigma\tau\iota$ is read in both places before $d\nu\theta\rho$. in DEFG ; NABC al. have $\sigma\circ\phi\omega\tau$. τ . $d. \epsilon\sigma\tau\iota\nu$, and then N^eAC al. have in the corresponding clause $l\sigma\chi$. τ . $d. \epsilon\sigma\tau\iota\nu$, but here N^{*}B omit $\epsilon\sigma\tau\iota\nu$. A similar termination must in any case be retained. Cp. 10. 16 (where B is wrong).

² The kal before $\tau \dot{a} \mu \dot{\eta} \delta \nu \tau a$ in BN° al. is certainly an interpolation. Marcion had in his text (instead of the third $\tau o \hat{v} \kappa \delta \sigma \mu o v$) kal $\tau \dot{a} \epsilon \lambda \dot{a} \chi \iota \sigma \tau a$, then he omits the third $\epsilon \xi \epsilon \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \xi a \tau o \dot{\sigma} \theta \epsilon \dot{o} s$, and gives in the following clause $\iota \nu a$ karaus $\chi \nu \nu \eta \tau \dot{a}$ $\delta \nu \tau a$, reading the whole of which seems to give additional force and beauty to the sentence.

³Cic. de Orat. iii. 186 (apparently following Theophrastus): membra si in extremo breviora sunt, infringitur ille quasi verborum ambitus (period); quare aut paria esse debent posteriora superioribus et extrema primis, aut, quod etiam est melius et iucundius, longiora. Demetrius $\pi \epsilon pi \dot{\epsilon} papielas$ 18: $\dot{\epsilon} v \tau a \tilde{c} s ouv \theta \dot{\epsilon} ross$ $\pi \epsilon pi bõos rð <math>\tau \epsilon \lambda \epsilon ura \tilde{o} v \kappa a \lambda cov \mu a \kappa p \delta \tau e pre e \lambda cov kal <math>\pi \epsilon p r \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov kal <math>\pi \epsilon p r \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a r e p e e \lambda cov \kappa a t me p e e k cov kal <math>\pi e \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a \tau e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a r e p \epsilon e \lambda cov \kappa a r e p e e \lambda cov kal me e k cov kal e k cov k cov kal e k cov k cov$ which everything which may be termed $\delta is \tau a \dot{v} \tau \delta \nu \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \epsilon \iota \nu$ is proscribed —would have regarded the eloquence of this passage with other feelings than those of the highest admiration.

6. The practice of giving a similar termination to clauses (antistrophe) may occasionally take a simpler form as in H. 2. 16 où yào δήπου ἀγγέλων ἐπιλαμβάνεται, ἀλλὰ σπέρματος Ἀβραὰμ ἐπιλαμβάνεται (more emphatic than if the verb were left to be supplied in the second clause). The same Epistle has an excessively long instance of anaphora in 11. 3-31 π iortei (repeated 18 times), a passage which taken together with the forcible and comprehensive conclusion (32-40) corresponds in some measure to the peroration of a speech following upon the demonstration; before (and after) this point this letter is by no means so rich in figures as some of the Pauline Epistles, but exhibits in this respect a certain classically temperate attitude. St. Paul, on the other hand, has e.g. in 2 C. 6. 4 ff. ev 19 times, followed immediately by dià 3 times, and ús 7.1 (Clem. Cor. i. 36. 2 has anaphora with δ_{ia} τούτου 5 times repeated; with $d\gamma d\pi \eta$ [after 1 C. 13] in The speeches in the Acts, which are certainly nothing more 49. 4.) than excerpts from speeches, for this reason alone cannot have much embellishment: anaphora occurs with $i\mu\epsilon is \dots i\mu i\nu$ in 3. 26 f., $\tau o i \tau \psi$... οδτος 4. 10 f., τούτον ... οδτος 3 times in 7. 35 ff., see further 10. 42 ff., 13. 39.

7. The emphatic duplication of an impressive word (epanadiplosis of the rhetoricians) is not unknown in the N.T., but is nowhere to be reckoned as a rhetorical device: thus Ap. 14. 8 = 18.2 enter $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \sigma \epsilon \nu$ Βαβυλών ή μεγάλη, Mt. 25. 11 κύριε κύριε, 23. 7, Mc. 14. 45 βαββί ραββί (some MSS.), L. 8. 24 ἐπιστάτα ἐπιστάτα, Jo. 19. 6 σταύρωσον σταύρωσον, L. 10. 41 Μάρθα Μάρθα, in all which passages we have a direct report of the actual words spoken, as is most clearly shown by A. 19. 34 μεγάλη ή "Αρτεμις 'Εφεσίων, μεγάλη ή "Α. Έ. (so B reads), words which were in fact shouted for two hours. (On the other hand the repetition is rhetorical in Clem. Cor. i. 47. 6 aioxpà, άγαπητοὶ, καὶ λίαν αἰσχρὰ καὶ ἀνάξια κ.τ.λ.). Another figure in which repetition plays a part is the kind of climax, which consists in each clause taking up and repeating the principal word of the preceding clause; the rhetoricians found this figure already existing in Homer Il. ii. 102, where the following words occur on the subject of Agamemnon's sceptre, "Ηφαιστος μέν δώκε Διί ..., αὐτὰρ ἄρα Ζεὺς δῶκε διακτόρω 'Αργειφόντη, Έρμείας δε κ.τ.λ. So Paul has in R. 5. 3 ff. $\dot{\eta}$ θλίψις υπομονήν κατεργάζεται, ή δε υπομονή δοκιμήν, ή δε δοκιμή ελπίδα, ή δε ελπis ou καταισχύνει, cp. 8. 29 f., and a decidedly artificial passage 10. 14 πως οθν επικαλέσωνται είς δν ούκ επίστευσαν; πως δε πιστεύσωσιν ου ούκ ήκουσαν; πως δε άκονσωσιν χωρίς κηρύσσοντος; πως δε κηρύξωσιν έαν μη άποσταλωσιν; Cp. also 2 P. 1. 5 ff. επιχορηγήσατε εν τη πίστει ύμων την άρετην, έν δε τη άρετη την γνώσιν, έν δε κ.τ.λ. (7 clauses in all; but the object of using the figure in this passage is by no means intelligible). A further instance is Herm. Mand. v. 2. 4 έκ της άφρο-

¹See for further details-Wilke 396 f.

σύνης γίνεται πικρία, ἐκ δὲ τῆς πικρίας θυμός, ἐκ δὲ τοῦ θυμοῦ ὀργή, ἐκ δὲ τῆς ὀργῆς μῆνις· εἶτα ἡ μῆνις κ.τ.λ.¹

8. Asyndeton and polysyndeton have already been discussed in § 79, 3 ff.; here we may lay greater stress on one form of asyndeton, which is based upon the resolution of a periodic sentence, but which gives a more lively and effective expression to the thought than the periodic form of sentence would do, 1 C. 7. 27 δέδεσαι γυναικί μή ζήτει λύσιν || λέλυσαι ἀπὸ γυναικός | μὴ ζήτει γυναίκα, = εἰ μὲν δέδεσαι γυν., $\mu\dot{\eta}$ ζ. λ., ϵi δ ϵ κ.τ.λ. (where there is likewise a strong instance of antistrophe, supra 5, and in $\lambda \dot{\upsilon} \sigma \iota \nu \mid \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \upsilon \sigma \iota \iota$ the figure called by the rhetoricians anastrophe, that is the end of one clause is equivalent to the beginning of the next; moreover the point of the sentence is further heightened by the brevity of the clauses). Cp. ibid. 18, 21, Ja. 5. 13 ff.; many sentences of the same kind occur in the practical writings of Greek orators. In the passages in the orators and in the N.T. the first portion of resolved sentences of this kind is ordinarily written as a question; but certainly German has analogous phrases which are not interrogative, 'bist du los, so suche'etc. The more ordinary forms of asyndeton are occasionally employed by Paul with almost too great a profusion, so that the figure loses its force as an artistic expedient, and the whole discourse appears broken up into small fragments. The Epistle to the Hebrews shows more moderation in this respect, even in the brilliant passage where $\pi i \sigma \tau \epsilon \iota$ is repeated 18 times with asyndeton (supra 6); since the separate paragraphs in that passage, which are in many cases of a considerable length, are not without their own connecting links, and in the concluding summary 11. 31 ff., though twice over we have 10 or almost 10short clauses standing without connecting links, yet a piece of connected speech is interposed between them (35 f.), and the whole chapter is rounded off by a periodic sentence in verses 39, 40.

9. Besides figures of expression $(\sigma_{\chi \eta \mu \alpha \tau \alpha} \lambda \epsilon_{\xi \epsilon \omega s})$, to which those hitherto considered belong, the rhetoricians discriminate and give a separate name to an equally large number of figures of thought $(\sigma_{\chi}.$ $\delta_{\iota \alpha \nu o (\alpha s)})$, with which it is not the case, as it is with the former class, that the substitution of one synonym for another, or the deletion of a word, or an alteration in the order of words causes the figure to disappear. As a general rule these figures of thought belong not so much to the earlier as to the later period of Attic oratory, since their development presupposes a certain amount of advance in the acuteness and subtlety of the language. The orator pretends to pass over something which in reality he mentions : thus $\delta_{\tau \iota} \mu \epsilon_{\nu} \dots, \pi a \rho a$. $\lambda \epsilon_{\ell \pi \omega}$ (a figure known as **paraleips** or *grateritio*); and under this figure one may of course, if one pleases, bring Paul's language in Philem. 19 $\delta_{\tau \alpha} \mu^{-1} \lambda_{\epsilon \gamma \omega} \delta_{\tau \iota} \kappa a \sigma \epsilon a v \sigma o \phi \epsilon (\lambda \epsilon \iota s.^2 Again, 2 C.$

¹ There is a similar instance in a fragment of the comedian Epicharmus, $\epsilon \kappa \mu \epsilon \nu \theta \nu \sigma las \theta o l \nu a$, $\epsilon \kappa \delta \delta \theta o l \nu a s \pi \delta \sigma s \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu e \tau o - \epsilon \kappa \delta \epsilon \pi \delta \sigma \sigma s \kappa \omega \mu o \sigma \delta \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \nu \epsilon \theta \nu e \theta \nu e \sigma \delta \epsilon \kappa \delta \nu a \nu l a s \delta \kappa a \kappa \tau \cdot \lambda$. —Cp. Wilke 398, who further adduces Ja. 1. 14 f. and 1 C. 11. 3 (in the latter passage there is no climax).

²Wilke p. 365 cites also passages like 1 Th. 4. 9, where however no figure

9. 4 $\mu\dot{\eta}\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon...\kappa a\tau a i\sigma\chi v v \theta \hat{\omega}\mu\epsilon v \dot{\eta}\mu\epsilon \hat{i}s, i'va \mu\dot{\eta} \lambda \dot{\epsilon}\gamma \omega\mu\epsilon v \dot{v}\mu\epsilon \hat{i}s$ is not a simple and straight-forward statement: the simple expression of the Apostle's thought would be $\kappa a\tau a i\sigma\chi v v \theta \hat{\eta}\tau\epsilon$, but as that would pain his hearers, he appears to turn the reproach against himself, while he makes it clear that he does so by what the rhetoricians call a $\sigma\chi\hat{\eta}\mu\alpha$ $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota\epsilon\kappa\epsilon$ s. Paul also occasionally employs irony ($\dot{\epsilon}\rho\omega\nu\epsilon(a)$ of the sharpest kind: 1 C. 4. 8 $\ddot{\eta}\delta\eta$ $\kappa\epsilon\kappa\rho\rho\epsilon\sigma\mu\epsilon v i \dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\epsilon$; $\ddot{\eta}\delta\eta$ $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\lambda ov\tau\dot{\eta}\sigma a\tau\epsilon$; $\chi\omega\rho\dot{s} \dot{\eta}\mu\hat{\omega}v \dot{\epsilon}\betaa\sigma\iota\lambda\epsilon\dot{v}\sigma a\tau\epsilon$; 2 C. 11. 19 f. $\dot{\eta}\delta\dot{\epsilon}\omega s \dot{a}\nu\dot{\epsilon}\epsilon\sigma\theta\epsilon$ $\tau\hat{\omega}v \dot{a}\phi\rho\dot{\sigma}\nu\omega$, $\phi\rho\dot{\nu}\nu\mu oi \ddot{\sigma}\nu\tau\epsilon$; $\dot{a}\dot{\epsilon}\chi\epsilon\sigma\theta\epsilon$ $\gamma\dot{a}\rho$ $\kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, 12. 13¹; he knows how to change his tone in an astonishing way, and if conscious of the offence which he is about to give or has given, he employs prodiorthoses as in 2 C. 11. 1 ff., 16 ff., 21 $\dot{\epsilon}v \dot{a}\phi\rho\sigma\sigma\nu\gamma\eta \lambda\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\omega$, 23, or epidiorthoses as in 12. 11 $\gamma\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\sigma\sigma a \ddot{a}\phi\rho\omega\nu \kappa.\tau.\lambda.$, 7. 3, R. 3. 5 $\kappa a\tau\dot{a} \ddot{a}\nu\theta\rho\omega\pi\sigma\nu \lambda\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\omega^2$ since he everywhere puts himself in a position of the closest intercourse and liveliest sympathy with his readers.

10. Other figures of thought have more of an obviously rhetorical character, so especially the (so-called rhetorical) question with its various methods of employment, sometimes serving the purpose of dialectical liveliness and perspicuity, as in R. 3. 1 Ti our to περισσον τοῦ Ἰουδαίου; with the answer πολύ κατὰ πάντα τρόπον, 4. 10 πῶς οὖν έλογίσθη; έν περιτομή όντι ή έν άκροβυστία; ούκ έν περιτομή κ.τ.λ. (this use is especially frequent in the Epistle to the Romans: but cp. also Jo. 12. 27), sometimes used as an expression of keen sensibility, astonishment, or unwillingness, but also of a joyful elation of spirit, as in R. 8. 31 τί ουν έρουμεν πρός ταυτα; εί ό θεός ύπερ ήμων, τίς καθ $\eta\mu\omega\nu$; to which there is subsequently attached a pair of questions, with their subordinate answers, which are also expressed in an interrogative form (ὑποφορά, subjectio): τίς ἐγκαλέσει κατὰ ἐκλεκτῶν θεοῦ; θέδς ὁ δικαιῶν; τίς ὁ κατακρινῶν; Χριστὸς Ἰησοῦς ὁ κ.τ.λ.³ This is one of the brilliant oratorical passages, which are a distinguishing feature of this Epistle and the Corinthian Epistles (see further e.g. 2 C. 11. 22 Ἐβραῖοί εἰσιν; κἀγώ. Ἰσραηλῖταί εἰσιν; κἀγώ. σπέρμα 'Aβραάμ $\epsilon i \sigma i v$; κάγώ, κ.τ.λ.), but the discussion of such passages is out of place in a grammar and can only be tolerated if briefly dwelt on and treated by way of appendix.

can be recognized (où $\chi \rho \epsilon la\nu \epsilon \chi \epsilon \tau \epsilon$), any more than in H. 11. 32, where the expression used corresponds accurately to the fact.

¹ Ibid. 356. From the Gospels, L. 13. 33 comes under this head.

² Ibid. 292 ff. Epidiorthosis is used in another sense in the case of a correction which enhances a previous statement: B. 8. 34 $\delta \ d\pi 0 \theta a \nu \delta \nu$, $\mu \tilde{a} \lambda \lambda \rho \nu \delta \tilde{e} \gamma \epsilon \rho \theta \epsilon ls$, G. 4. 9.

³So Augustine and most modern authorities take $\theta\epsilon\delta \delta \delta\iota\kappa$. and $X\rho\iota\sigma\tau\delta \kappa.\tau.\lambda$. as questions. It is true that Tischendorf and Wilke (p. 396) are opposed to this view; but as there is undoubtedly a question in the third place, and as $\theta\epsilon\delta s \delta$ $\delta\iota\kappa$. does not mean 'God is here, who' etc. (as Luther renders it), it appears better to keep the other (interrogative) interpretation throughout. The passage is oratorical rather than strictly logical.

INDEX.

I. INDEX OF SUBJECTS.

Accents 14 f.

- Accusative-With transitive verbs 87 ff. With verbs compounded with ката́ etc. 89. Acc. of the inner object (content) 90 f., 174. With passive verbs 93. Double 91 ff. Acc. of reference 94. Double acc. In apposition with the sentence 293. Adverbial acc. 94, 157. Acc. of extension etc. in space and time After prepositions 122 94f., 121. ff., 132 ff. Acc. of the infinitive with article 233 f. Acc. of inf. dependent on prepositions 236. Acc. with the inf. in clauses in apposition with subject 241 f.
- Accusative and infinitive 239 ff. Cp. 238 f., 225 ff., 230 ff., 237 ff. (Acc. with $\delta \tau \iota$ or $l \nu a$ used instead of acc. and inf. 240.)
- Accusative absolute 251 f.
- Active 180 ff. With intransitive meaning 182 f. For middle 183 f. For passive 184.
- Adjective-Inflection and degrees of comparison 32 ff. Syntax 140 ff. Feminine (masc., neut.) of adj. with ellipse of a subst. 140 f. Neuter adj. (sing. and plur.) used substantivally of persons 82, 156. Other instances of independent use of adj. without subst. (with and without article) 154 ff. Neuter adj. with genitive 155. Adj. instead of ad-Adj. as attribute with verb 141. article, predicative (and partitive) adj. without art. 158. Position 289.
- Adjective, verbal: has (almost) disappeared 37, 64, 206 note 2.
- Adverbs of manner 58. Derived from participles 58. Adverbs of place 58 f. Adv. of time 59. Correlative adverbs 59 f. Interrogative adv.

258. Adjectival and adverbial comparative of adverbs 34 f. Compounded adverbs 65 f., 69 f. Adv. with the article 157, 159. Adv. as predicate 257 f. Position of adv. 289.

Adversative particles 261, 266 ff. Agreement 76 ff.

Anacoluthon 251, 267, 282 ff.

Anaphora 300 f.

Anastrophe (figure of speech) 302.

Antistrophe (figure of speech) 300 f.

Antithesis 295, 299 f.

- Aorist, 1st and 2nd 43 f. Middle and passive aorist 44 f. Terminations 45 f. Aorist of deponent verbs 44 f. Uses of the aorist 190 ff., 205, 207 ff., 218. Gnomic aorist 193 f. Epistolary aorist 194. Moods of the aorist: imperative 194 ff.—infinitive 196 f., 202, 231, 237—participle 197 f., 204.—conjunctive 208 ff., 211 ff. Aorist indic. with $d\nu$ 207, cp. Indicative.
- Apocalypse, solecisms in, 80 f. Other details in Ap.: 117 (instrumental $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ frequent), 123 (ϵis not used for $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$), 126 ($\dot{\epsilon}\xi$ frequent), 128 ($\dot{\epsilon}\nu \delta m \epsilon v$, 132 ($\sigma \dot{\nu} n$ never used), 135 ($\dot{\nu} \pi \delta$ with acc. never), 138 ($\pi a \rho \dot{\delta}$ with acc. never), 152 ('Iq $\pi o \sigma \hat{v}$ without art.), 179 ($\ddot{\epsilon} \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma$ never), 200 (perfect for aorist), 211 ($\delta \pi \omega s$ never), 211 f. ($\dot{\nu} a$ with fut.), 266 ($\mu \dot{\epsilon} \nu$ never), 274 ($\gamma \dot{\alpha} \rho$).

Aposiopesis 291, 294.

Apposition with and without the article 152, 162 f. (159 note 4), 242 f. (participles). Apposition of sentences 293.

Aramaic 4f.

- Article—ό ή τό. With crasis 18 f. Uses 145 ff. As pronoun 145 f. Individual or generic 146 ff., 155. Anaphoric sense of art. 146, 148-152, 233 (infin.), etc. Omission of art. 147 ff.: usually omitted with predicate 147, 157 f., 169: omitted with ordinal numbers 149: after the relative 174: with abstract nouns 150: with nouns governing a genitive 150 f.: before the relative 174 note 1. Art. with proper names 151 f., 95: with place-names 152 f.: names of countries 153: names of rivers and seas 153: names of nations 153 f. Art. with adjectives 154 ff., 158. With participles 156 f., 158, 242 ff. With perceiples 157, 159. With preposi-tional expressions 94, 157, 159 f. At the beginning of a defining clause 159. Art. governing the genitive 157, 159. Art. with several defining clauses 160. Repeated after δ $\check{a}\lambda\lambda os$, of $\lambda os\pi of$ 160 f. Art. with $o\delta\tau os$, $\epsilon\kappa\epsilon\tilde{\nu}os$ 161, 172. With $a\dot{\nu}\tau os$ 161, 170. With possessives ($\ell\delta os$) 169. Not with With öλos, πâs (äπas) ἕκαστος 161. With appositional phrases 161 f. 162 f. Repetition of art. in the case of several connected substantives 163. Art. with infinitive 233 ff. $\tau \delta$ prefixed to indirect questions 158: prefixed to quotations of words and sentences 158.
- Article, indefinite : beginnings of (ets) 144.
- Aspirate, doubling of the, 11.
- Assertion, sentences of : with öτι etc. 222, 230 ff., 272. Negative où 254 f.
- Assertion, particles of 261, 272.
- Assimilation of consonants 11 f.: in independent words 11 f. Ass. in gender of the subject (pronoun) to the predicate 77. Of $\eta\mu\sigma\sigma s$ to the genitive which it governs 97. Of the relative: see Attraction.
- Assurance, sentences denoting, 260.
- Asyndeton 276 ff. (299). Between ideas 265, 277. In the case of certain imperatives 278. Between clauses and sentences (thoughts, paragraphs) 278 ff., 267, 271. Cp. 250 (participles). New subject introduced with a fresh start ($\xi\xi$ $\dot{a}\pi o\sigma\tau d\sigma \epsilon \omega s)$ 279, cp. Figures of speech.

- Attic declension 25. Attic future 41 f.
- Attraction of the relative 173 f. Attractio inversa 174 f. Attraction in the case of a relative adverb 258.
- Augment (syllabic and temporal) 37 ff. In compound verbs 39. Double augment in verbs compounded of two prepositions 39.

Brachylogy 294.

- Breathing, rough and smooth, 15 f. In Semitic words 16.
- Cardinal numbers 35. Used instead of ordinals 144.
- Causal particles 261, 274 f.
- Causal sentences 274, 254 f. (negative où).
- Causative verbs with a double accusative 92.

Clement of Rome, Epistle to the Corinthians 1.

- Climax 301 f.
- Common speech of the Hellenistic period 2 ff. Differences which may be traced in it 3 note 1, 33 note 1.
- Compact (or periodic) form of speech 275, 279 f.
- Comparative 33 ff. Adjectival comp. of adverbs 34 f., 58. Used instead of superlative 33, 141 f. Corresponding to English positive 142. Heightening of comp. 143. *ν*α after a comp. with # 228.
- Comparative particles 261, 270 f.
- Comparison of adjective (and adverb) 33 ff.
- Composition, proper and improper 65, cp. Word-formation.
- Composition (arrangement) of words 295 ff.

Concessive particles 261, 275.

Concessive sentences 215, 248 (participial), 275.

Conditional particles 213 f., 261, 271.

Conditional sentences 205, 213 ff., 221, 271, 254 (negative où and μή).

Conjugation, system of 36 f.

Conjunctions, see Particles.

Conjunctive of verbs in $-\delta\omega$ 48. Its use in principal sentences 208 ff. Its use to supplement and take the place of the imperative 208 f. With où $\mu\eta$ 209 f. In questions 210. Its use in subordinate sentences 211 ff. In indirect questions 211. In final sentences 211 f. After $\mu \eta$ 212 f. In conditional sentences 213 ff. In concessive sentences 215 f. ln relative sentences 216 ff. In temporal sentences 218 f. After lva 221 ff. After $\pi\rho\ell\nu$ 229. Conj. of the present, aorist, perfect, see Present, Aorist, Perfect.-The conj. negatived by $\mu \eta 253$.

Consecutive particles 261, 272 ff.

- Consecutive sentences with ώστε (ώs) 223 f., 272. With ίνα 224 f.
- Consonants—Variable final consonants 19f. Interchange of consonants 23f. Orthography 10ff. Single and double cons. 10f. Assimilation 11f. Rendering of Semitic cons. 12f.: of Latin cons. 13.
- Constructio ad sensum 79, 166.
- Continuous style 275 f.
- Contraction 22 f. In the 1st and 2nd declensions 25. In the 3rd declension 27. In verbs 47 f.
- Co-ordination of finite verbs and participial expressions 249 ff.

Copulative particles 261 ff.

Correlative pronouns 36, 178 f. Correlative adverbs 59 f.

Crasis 18 f.

- Dative—As the necessary complement of the verb 109 ff.; Dat. commodi et incommodi 111. Dat. with $\epsilon l\mu l$ etc. 111 f. With the (perfect) pas-sive 112 f. Ethic dative 113. Dat. of community 113 ff. With words compounded with prepositions 114 (σύν), 115 f. Instrumental dat. 116 f. Dat. of cause or occasion 117. Dat. of respect 117. Dat. of manner 118 f. Dat. of verbal subst. used with its cognate verb 119. Temporal dat. 119f. Also used for Periphrasis duration of time 121. for dat. with els or ev 109 f. 124, 131; with έμπροσθεν or ενώπιον 128. Dat. of the infinitive 236; after év 237.
- Demonstrative pronouns 35 f. Uses of, 170 ff. Preceding an infinitive 229. Used to connect sentences 276. Demonstrative adverbs 58 f.
- Derivatives of compounds ($\pi a \rho a \sigma \delta \nu \theta \epsilon \tau a$) 65.
- Design, sentences of. See Final Sentences.

- Diaeresis, marks of 16f.
- Diminutives 63 f.
- Disjunctive particles 261, 266.
- Division of words. See Words.
- Doubling of consonants 10 f. Of aspirates, 11.
- Dual, disappearance of the, 3, 36, 76.
- Duality no longer distinguished (or scarcely so) from plurality 3, 34, 36.
- Elative 33, 143. Distinguished from superlative 33 note 1.
- Elision 18. Neglected in some compound words 70. Avoids histus 296 f.
- Ellipse § 81, 291 ff. Of the verb 'to be' 72 ff. Of other verbs 292 ff. Of the subject 75. Of a substantive (usually feminine) with an adjective etc. 140 f. Of the object 292. Op. 180 and 292 ($d\lambda \lambda o_{5}$). 269 ($d\lambda \lambda' i \mu a$). Absence of the apodosis 271, 294.
- Epanadiplosis 301.
- Epidiorthosis 282, 303.
- Feminine (of the pronoun) instead of neuter 82.
- Figures of speech 295 ff. Gorgian figures 295 f., 298 f. Oratorical 299 ff. Figures of thought 302 f. The figure $\xi\xi$ $d\pi o \sigma \tau d\sigma \epsilon \omega s$ 279 : $d\pi \delta$ $\kappa o trob 291$.
- Final particles 211, 261, 272.
- Final sentences 211 f., 207, 220 (223, 225 ff., 272), 291 (position).
- Formation of words. See Wordformation.
- Future—Only one form of the fut. in . each voice 36. But by means of periphrasis a fut. perf. is formed 37, 202: and a fut. expressing con-tinuance 204. The moods denote relative time 187; they are becoming obsolete 37 (cp. 211). Formation of the fut. 41 ff. Fut. of deponent verbs 44f. Use of the fut. 201 f., 208 ff. Interchangeable with the present 189. Fut. for optative 220. For imperative 209, 253. Interchangeable with the conjunctive in principal clauses 208 ff.: with où $\mu \bar{\eta}$ 209 f.: in questions 210: in subordinate clauses 211 ff. Fut. after öre 218. With $\delta\phi\epsilon\lambda\sigma$ 220. Fut. infinitive (rare) 37, 202, 231. Fut. participle (rare) 37, 202.

- Genitive with nouns 95 ff., 159 f. (article). Gen. of origin and membership 95 f. With elvas and γίνεσθαι 95 f., 99. Objective gen. 96 (168). Gen. of the whole (partitive) 96 ff., 144, 159 (position): with verbs 100 ff.: as subject or object 97. Gen. of the country to define particular places 97: with the art. 153f. Gen. of quality etc. (gen. for adj.) 98f. Of content 98. Of apposition 98. Several genitives connected with a single noun 99 f. Gen. with verbs 100 ff .: verbs of touching and seizing 101 f.: of attaining, desiring 102: verbs de-noting to be full, to fill 102f.: of perception 103: of remembering, forgetting 103f.: of emotion 104: of ruling, excelling 104: of accusing etc. 104f. Gen. of price 105. With verbs denoting separation 105 f. With compounds of rata (ég) 106. With adjectives and adverbs 106 f. With the comparative (114 f.). (and superlative) 107 f. Local and temporal gen. 108 f. With prepositions 124 ff., 132 ff., 136 ff. Periphrases for gen. with $\xi \mu \pi \rho o \sigma \theta \epsilon \nu$, $\epsilon \nu \omega \pi \iota o \nu$ 128 : with $\epsilon \xi$, $a \pi \delta$ 96 f., 100 f., 144, 125 f.: with katá 133. Article with the gen. 156 f. Gen. of the infinitive 234 ff.: dependent on a preposition 237.
- Genitive absolute 251 f. Without noun or pronoun 252.
- Gorgian figures 295 f., 298 f.
- Hebrew, its influence on the Greek of the N.T., 4 f. and passim.
- Hebrews, Epistle to the. Its artistic style 1, 5, 280 f. (construction of sentences),288 f. (position of words), 296 f. (avoidance of hiatus), 297 f. (verse), 301 (figures of speech), 279 and 302 (asyndeton). Details:--24 $(\pi \delta \rho \rho \omega [\theta \epsilon \nu])$: 52 ($\epsilon l \mu u$): 100: 127 ($\ell \omega s$ not used as a preposition): 139 note 2 (does not use $\pi a \rho d$ with dat.): 155 (neut. adj. with genitive): 166 ($\eta \mu \epsilon \hat{s}$ for $\dot{\epsilon} \gamma \dot{\omega}$): 202 (fut. inf.): 213 ($\phi o \beta o \hat{\upsilon} \mu a \mu \eta$): 223 ($\ell \mu a$ only used as a final particle): 231 f. (inf. with verbs of believing): 260 ($\delta \eta \pi o \nu$): 263 ($\tau \epsilon$ fairly frequent): 267 (also $\mu \epsilon \nu$): 274 ($\delta \theta \epsilon \nu$, $\delta \iota \delta \tau \iota$).
- Hellenistic language, see Common speech, Popular language.
- Hexameter in the N.T. 297.

Hiatus avoided in artistic prose 296. In the Epistle to the Hebrews 296 f. Hyperbaton 290.

- Imperative—Termination $-\sigma_{a\nu}$ 46. Uses of the imperat. 220. Present and aorist imp. 194 ff. Perf. imp. 200 f.: periphrasis for perf. imp. 201. Periphrasis for pres. imp. 203 f. Imp. supplemented or replaced by the conj. 208 f., 213: by the fut. 209: by $l\nu a$ with conj. 209, 222: by the infin. 222. Imp. for optative 220. Imp. used with asyndeton, 278.
- Imperfect—Terminations 46. Uses of the impf. 190 ff. With relative meaning, 192. Denoting unreality 205 f. Impf. of verbs denoting necessity etc. 206. Impf. (with $d\nu$) denoting indefinite repetition 207. Impf. with $\delta \tau \epsilon$ 218. Periphrasis for the impf. 203 f.
- Impersonal verbs 75. Periphrastically expressed 204. Construction 227 f., 252 (participle).
- Indefinite pronouns 177 f.
- Indicative 205 ff. Ind. of unreality (with and without $a\nu$) 205 ff. Used for expressions of necessity etc. 206. Denoting an impracticable wish 206 A practicable wish (fut. ind.) f. Úsed instead of the optative 220.and av 207. Used with av in subordinate clauses to denote indefinite repetition 207. In hypothetical sentences (ind. of reality and unreality) 205 f., 213 ff. Fut. ind. interchangeable with conjunct. in principal clauses 208 ff.: for imperative 209: with oⁱ μή 209 f.: in questions 210 (pres. ind. ibid.): in (Pres. subordinate clauses 211 ff. ind, not used in final sentences 212. Aorist and perfect ind. after $\mu\eta$ 213. Fut. ind. after éáv 215: after ôs áv 217. Ind. after őrav 218 f.). Negatived by ov (μή) 253 ff.
- Indirect speech 220, 231. Mixture of direct and indirect speech 286.
- Infinitive 221 ff. Periphrasis with $\epsilon t \mu a \epsilon$ for pres. inf. 203 f. Inf. with $\mu \epsilon \lambda \lambda \omega$ a periphrasis for fut. 204 f. Periphrasis for inf. with $t \mu a$ 221-230: with $\delta \tau \epsilon$ 222, 230 ff. Inf. for imperat. 222. Expressing a wish in epistolary style 222. Inf. absolute 225. Inf. of aim or object 223. Of result 223 ff. After verbs of

wishing, striving etc. 225 ff. (after $\delta\rho\chi o\mu a 227, 245$). After impersonal expressions, adjectives etc. 227 f. Explanatory inf. 229. After $\pi\rho i\nu$ 229 ($\pi\rho\delta$ $\tau\sigma\hat{v}$ ibid.). After verbs of (perceiving), believing, (showing), saying 230 ff. Never used with $\delta\nu$ 233. Inf. pass. for inf. act. 230, 240 f. Present and aorist inf. 196 f., 202, 231, 237. Future inf. (rare) 37, 197, 202, 205, 231. Inf. with the article 233 ff.: after prepositions 236 f. Cases with the inf. (nom. and acc. with inf.) 237 ff. Inf. negatived by $\mu\eta$ 253, 255.

Interrogative particles 259 f.

- Interrogative pronouns 176 f. Confused with relatives 175 f. Used in exclamations 178 f., cp. 258 (adverbs).
- Interrogative sentences, direct 259 f., 220. With $o\delta$ and a fut. = imperative 209. With $o\delta \mu \eta$ 210. Questions of doubt and deliberation 210. Questions with $\gamma \delta \rho$ 274 f. Indirect interrog. sentences 211, 220, 230, 240. With the article $\tau \delta$ prefixed 158.—Oratorical questions etc. 268, 274, 303.

Irony 303.

Isocolon 295.

- James, Epistle of. Character of its style 279. Details: 127 (ἕωs), 223 (ἕνα only used as a final particle), 233 (inf. with art.), 235 (τοῦ with inf.), 267 (μέν almost unrepresented), 274 (διότι).
- John (Gospel and Epistles). Style 261, 276, 278, 279 (Epp.), 291. Details: 97, 100 (κοινωνείν τινι), 122 f. (els for év), 126 (ét frequent), 127 (έως, μέχρι, άχρι absent), 128, 132 (σύν almost unrepresented), 135 ($\delta\pi\delta$ with acc. almost unrepresented), 138 ($\pi a \rho a$ with acc. absent), 146 (δ δè not frequent), 152 ('Iησοῦs often used without the art.), 169 (éµós frequent), 171 (éκεîvos largely used), 173 (ootis rare), 179 (Etepos hardly ever used), 203 note 2, 211 ($\delta\pi\omega$ s hardly ever), 223 ($i\nu a$ freely used), 236 (*is* $\tau \delta$ with inf. unused), 249 f., 266 ($\mu \epsilon \nu$ absent from the Epistles), 272 (temporal ús), 272 f. (ov), 274 (γάρ not common), 276 (τότε ούν, μετά τοῦτο or ταῦτα).

- Latin, its influence on the Greek of the N.T. 4, 63 (terminations in $-\iota a \nu \delta s$), 76 ($l \kappa a \nu \delta \nu$ etc.), 95 ($d \pi \delta \delta$ $\sigma \tau a \delta l \omega \nu$ $\delta \epsilon \kappa a \pi \epsilon \nu \tau \epsilon$), 126 f. ($\pi \rho \delta \delta \epsilon \xi$ $\eta \mu e \rho \omega \nu \tau o 0$ $\pi \delta \sigma \chi a$), 230? (inf. pass. for act.), 238? (acc. of the reflexive in the acc. and inf.).
- Literary language 1 f., 5, and passim.
- Luke (Gospel and Acts). Style 1, 5, 203 note 2, 250 f. (Acts), 261, 276, 278, 280, 299, 301 (speeches in the Details : 5 (apizis), 24 Acts). $(\pi \delta \rho \rho \omega [\theta \epsilon \nu])$, 37 and 211 and 220 f. (optat.), 52 ($\epsilon l \mu \iota$), 74 ($\delta \nu \delta \mu a \tau \iota$ in Acts), 100, 101 (φείδομαι), 112 note 1, 122 f. (els for $\epsilon \nu$, esp. in Acts), 128 (ενώπιον), 132 (σύν), 133 (κατά with gen.), 134 ($\sigma i \nu$ and $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{a}$, Acts), 141 (ἀνηρ 'Ιουδαΐος), 146 (ὁ μέν οῦν, Acts), 152 f. (Acts), 158 (7) prefixed to indirect questions), 161, 164 (αὐτός), 170 (και οῦτος), 173 (ὄστις), 179 (Erepos), 188 (historic present rare), 197 (Acts, fut. inf.), 202 (fut. inf. and part.), 203 (periphrasis for imperf. etc.), 206 note 1 (Acts), 211 (όπως άν), 213 (φοβούμαι μή), 223 (Acts, Iva generally has its correct classical sense), 226 and 230 (κελεύω, άξιῶ), 227 note 1 (ἄρχομαι), 230 (ώς for $\delta \tau \iota$), 231 (indirect speech), 231 f. (inf. with verbs of believing and saying), 233 (inf. with art.), 234 f. (gen. of the inf., Acts), 236 (διά τδ (get) of the first, four, 200, 200 (da /b with inf.), 237 ($\epsilon r \phi$ with aor. inf.), 246 (Acts), 253 (Acts), 255 f. (ω with part.), 259 ($\delta \rho \phi[\gamma e]$), 260 (ϵt with direct questions), 260 f. (γe), 263 f. (7e, Acts), 267 and 273 (Acts, 203 1. (re, Acts), 207 and 210 (heres, $\mu \epsilon v$, $\mu \epsilon v$ obv), 268 (Gosp., $\pi \lambda i \mu$), 270 ($\omega \sigma \epsilon l$), 272 (temporal ωs), 274 ($\lambda c t s$, $\delta \iota \delta$), 274 ($\delta \iota \delta \tau \iota$, $\kappa a \delta \delta \tau \iota$), 276 ($\tau \delta \tau \epsilon$, Acts).—Preface to the Gospel 49, Distinctions between 1st and 280. 2nd parts of the Acts 203 note 2, 116 (έν), 128 (ένώπιον), 204 (periphrasis for impf.), 249.-Speech of Paul before Agrippa (Acts xxvi.) 5, 20, and 127 (ένεκα), 33 (άκριβέστατος), 50 (Ισασιν), 156 (το δωδεκάφυλον), 199 (ήγημαι for ήγοῦμαι), 220 (εὐξαίμην άν), 238.
- Mark—Style 203 note 2, 261, 276, 278. Details: $127 (\xi \omega_s), 128 (\epsilon \nu \omega \pi \iota \omega \nu$ not used), 138 ($\pi a \rho a$ with acc. only in local sense), 164 ($a \dot{\nu} \tau \delta s$), 179 (never $\xi \tau \epsilon \rho o s$), 203 (periphrasis for impf. etc.), 223 (free use of $\ell \nu a$), 227 note 1 ($\delta \rho \chi o \mu a$), 233 f. (nom.

acc. and gen. of the inf. with art.), $268 (\pi \lambda \eta \nu)$.

- Matthew—Style 276, 278, 299. Details: 122 (ϵis and $\epsilon \nu$ distinguished), 127 ($\epsilon \omega s$), 128 ($\epsilon \nu \omega \pi \iota v$ not used), 138 ($\pi a \rho \Delta \omega$ with acc. only in local sense), 164 ($a \dot{\nu} \tau \delta s$), 173 ($\delta \sigma \tau \iota s$), 179 ($\epsilon \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma s$), 200 ($\gamma \epsilon \gamma \sigma \nu \epsilon \nu \sigma$ a orist), 223 (free use of $\ell \nu a$), 226 and 230 ($\kappa \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \omega \omega$), 227 note 1 ($\delta \rho \chi \sigma \mu a \sigma$), 233 f. (nom. acc. and gen. of the inf. with art.), 268 ($\pi \lambda \dot{\eta} \nu$), 276 ($\tau \delta \tau \epsilon$).
- Metaplasmus in the declensions 28 f., 32.
- Middle voice 180 f. Future mid. for active verbs 42 f. Aorist (and fut.) pass. or mid. 44 f. Uses of the middle 185 ff. Active for mid. 183 f.
- Mixed declension 31.
- Modern Greek 2, and passim.
- Mountains, names of, 31 f.

Negatives 253 ff., 214, 216.

- Neuter plural with sing. or plur. verb 78 f. Adjectival predicate in the neuter 76 f.: use of τ_1 and $o\dot{v}\delta e'$ as predic. 76 f.: of $\tau o\hat{v}\tau o$ 77: of τi 177. δ $\dot{e} \sigma \tau v$ 77. Neuter of pronouns etc. used as acc. of the inner object 91. Neut. of the adj. (or part.) used in sing. or plur. of persons 82, 156, 244. Other uses of independent neut. adj. (or part.) 155 ff., 244.
- Nominative 84 ff. Used where a proper name is introduced 84 f. Used in a parenthesis interrupting the construction (also in statements of time) 85, 282. Double nom. 85 f. Nom. for vocative 86 f. Nom. of the infinitive 233 f. Nom. absolute 251, 283 with note 1. Nom. of the participle (solecism) 81 note 1, 285.
- Nominative with the infinitive 237 ff.
- Numerals 35. Syntax 144 f., 160 and 162 (the article).
- Optative becoming obsolete 37. Fut. opt. no longer found 37. Terminations 46 f. Remaining uses of the opt. 219 ff. Replaced by the indicative 207.
- Ordinal numbers, cardinals used instead of, 144. Omission of the article with them 149.
- Orthography (§ 3) 6 ff.

Paraleipsis 302 f.

- Parechesis 295, 298 f.
- Parenthesis 281 f. Indicated by $\delta \epsilon$ 267, 269.
- Parison 295, 299.
- Paromoion 295.
- Paronomasia 298 f.
- Participle, present and aorist 197 f., 250, 204 (aor. part. with $\epsilon l \nu \alpha_1$). Fut. part. rare 37, 202, 205, 244, 248, 253. Fut. part. pass. 202. Uses of the part. 242 ff. Part. as attribute (or in apposition) 156 f. (article), 242 f. Part. representing a substantive 157 (article), 243 f. Participle as part of the predicate 37 and 202 ff. (periphrases), 244 ff. Conjunctive part. and part. absolute 247 ff. Pleonastic use with finite vb. of part. belonging to the vb. 251. Part. negatived by $\mu \dot{\eta}$ 253, 255 f. (part. with article takes o' by a Hebraism 255).—Perf. part. pass. with the genitive 107.—Free use of the part. 284 f. Finite verb in place of part. 285.
- Particles 60 f. Uses 259 ff. Coordinating and subordinating particles 261. Particles used with a participle 247 f., 252 f. Position of the particle 290.
- Passive 180 f., 184 f. Pass. of deponent verbs 184. Of intransitive verbs 184 f. Impersonal pass. 75 (185). Construction of the pass. with the accusative 93. With the dative 112 f., 185. Infin. pass. for act. 230, 240 f.
- Paul-Style 1, 5, 251, 276 (Ephesians and Colossians), 281 (bis), 284f., 290, 300 (1 Cor.), 301 ff. (figures), 302, 303, 303 (Rom. and Cor.). Details : 100, 101 (φείδομαι), 111 (dative), 127 $(\xi \omega s)$, 131 f., 134 (Philippians and Pastoral Epp.), 135 $(\sqrt[1]{\pi\epsilon\rho})$, ibid. $(\sqrt[1]{\pi\epsilon\rho}$ with gen.), 155 (neut. adj. with gen.), 166 ($\dot{\eta}\mu\epsilon\hat{\imath}s$ and $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\dot{\omega}$), 171 (αὐτὸ τοῦτο), 173 (ös and öστιs), 179 (ἕτεροs), 200 (perf. for aor.), 206 note 1, 211 ($\delta\pi\omega$ s not frequent), 213 (φοβοῦμαι μή), 230 f. ($\dot{\omega}$ s for $\ddot{\sigma}\tau\iota$, $\dot{\omega}$ s $\ddot{\sigma}\tau\iota$), 231 f. (verbs of believing and saying), 233 (inf. with article), 233 f. (acc. of inf., gen. of inf.), 236 (εls το with inf.), 259 (ἀρα, ἀρά γε), 267 (μέν), 268 (πλήν), 271 (είπερ; είτε ... είτε), 272 (ήνίκα; temporal ώs), 273 (άρα), 274 (διότι), 279 (the figure έξ άποστάσεως), 280 f., 282 ff. (anacolu-

thon), 298 f. (paronomasia), 299 (dwelling on a word; paromoion, antithesis).—Speech before Agrippa (Acts xxvi.), see Luke.

- Perfect, periphrasis for, 37, 202 f. Terminations of the perf. 46. Uses of the perf. 198 ff. Perf. for a orist 200. In relative sense for pluperf. 200. After $\delta \tau \epsilon$ 218. Moods 200 f. Perf. conjunctive 213 note 2.
- Periodic (or compact) form of speech 275, 279 ff.
- Periods 279 ff., 283, 300, 280 and 302 (periods where asyndeton is used).
- Periphrasis of verbal forms 37, 201 (bis), 202 ff.
- Personal pronouns 35. Uses 164 ff. Nom. used for emphasis 164. Frequent use of the personal pronouns 164 f. Used instead of reflexives 165, 167 f. Unenclitic forms of the pron. of the 1st pers. 165. Interchange of personal and possessive pronouns 168 f. Pleonastic pron. after the relative 175, 283.
- Persons—3rd pers. plur. = 'one' (Germ. man) 75. 1st pers. plur. for 1st pers. sing. 166.
- Peter (esp. the 1st Epistle). Details: 100 ($\kappa o \iota \nu \omega \nu \epsilon \hat{\omega} \nu$), 101 ($\phi \epsilon i \delta o \mu a a$ 2 Pet.), 179 ($\check{e} \tau \epsilon \rho o s$ never used), 223 ($\check{\nu} a$ only used in final sense). 266 f. ($\mu \check{e} \nu$ fairly often in 1 Pet., never in 2 Pet.), 271 ($\check{e} \pi \epsilon \rho$; $\check{e} \imath \tau \epsilon \dots \epsilon \check{e} \tau \epsilon$), 274 ($\delta \iota \delta \tau \iota$), 288 (position of words).
- Place-names 31 f. With and without the article 152 f.
- Play on words. See Words.
- Pleonasm 294 f., 59 and 295 ($d\pi'$ $d\nu\omega\theta\epsilon\nu$ and similar phrases), 143 and 295 ($\mu\hat{a}\lambda\lambda\sigma\nu$ with a comparative), 175 and 251 f. (pers. pronoun), 180 ($\ell\tau\epsilon\rho\sigma\iota$), 227 note 1 and 249 ($d\rho\chi\sigma-\mu\alpha\iota$), 255 ($\mu\eta$), 263 ($\pi\sigma\lambda\lambda\lambda a$ kal), 269 note 1 ($d\lambda\lambda'$).
- Pluperfect, periphrasis for, 37, 202 f. Augment generally wanting 37. Terminations 47. Uses of plupf. 201, 206 (unreality).
- Plural used of a single person 83, 166 (*ipueis*). The plurals alwes, obpavol etc. 83 f. Names of feasts 84. Plur. of abstract words 84. Plur. (and sing.) of verb with neut. plur. subject 78 f. Collective words 79. Plur. in the case of a complex subject 79 f.

Polysyndeton 277.

Popular language, the Hellenistic, 1 f.

Position of words. See Words.

- Positive for comparative 143.
- Possessive pronouns 35. Their uses 168 f. With and without the article 169.
- Predicate (nominal). Agreement with the subject 76 f. Without the article 147. With the article 156 f., 243. Predicative adjective without the art. 158, 169 (possessives). Predicate with an infinitive, its case 241 f. Participle as part. of the predicate 244 ff. (202 ff.). $\dot{\omega}_s$ with a predicate 270 f.
- Predicate (verbal) takes its number from the nominal predicate 78 f.
- Prepositions 121 ff. Prepositions proper and improper (quasi-preposi-tions) 121 f. With the accusative With the genitive 124-121-124. With the dative 130-132. 130. With two cases 132-135. With Prep. with 239. Prep. three cases 136-140. the infinitive 236 f., 239. omitted in the case of assimilation of the relative 174. Prep. repeated or not repeated with several connected nouns 291.
- Present-New formation of pres. tense from the perf. 40 f. Other new forms of pres. 41. Periphrasis for pres. 203 f. Uses of the pres. 187 Conative pres. 187. Aoristic s. 188. Historic pres. 188. Îf. pres. 188. Historic pres. 188. Pres. with perfect sense 188 f. Pres. for future 189, 219. Pres. denoting relative time 189 f. Moods 194 ff. Imperative 194 ff. Infinitive 196 f. Participle 197 f. Conjunctive 208 ff., 211 ff. Pres. indic. with ὄτε 218.

Prodiorthosis 282, 303.

- Pronouns 35f. Syntax 164 ff. Pron. as predicate brought into agreement with the noun 77. Pron. as subject agreeing with the predicate 77.
- Proper names, Semitic, declinable and indeclinable 29 f. Hypocoristic (abbreviated) proper names 70 f. Proper names with and without the article 151 f., 162 f. Omission of article with substantive which has a proper name dependent on it 151.

Prothetic vowel 23.

Punctuation 17.

- Reduplication 38 f. In compound verbs 39. Cf. Doubling.
- Reflexive pronouns 35. Their uses 166 ff. In the acc. and inf. construction 238 f.
- Relative pronouns 36. Uses 172 ff. Confusion of relatives and interrogatives 175 f.
- Relative sentences equivalent to participles 242f. Moods in relative sentences 216 ff. Negative où and $\mu\eta'$ 254. Noun attracted into the relative clause 174. Clause with *ral*...(a\u00f3ro\u00f3) linked on to a relative clause 175, 286.
- Rhythm 296, 297 f.
- River-names 31 f., with the article 153.
- Semitic words, transcription of 12 f., 16 f.
- Senarii in the N.T. 298.
- Sense-lines, writing in, 17.
- Sentences, connexion of, 275 ff.
- Singular—Collective use of the masc. sing. (of substantives and adjectives)
 82. Of the neut. sing. 82, 155 f.
 Sing. (or plur.) used of objects which belong to several persons 83.
 Sing. verb with neut. plur. subject 78. Number of the verh in the case of collective words 79: in the case of a complex subject 79 f.

Solecisms 76, 80 f.

- Sound-changes, general (in the case of $\epsilon\iota$ and ι adscript) 6. Sporadic (§ 6) 20 ff.
- Superlative has (almost) disappeared 33 f. (58), 141 ff.

Symploce (figure of speech) 300.

- Temporal particles 261, 272.
- Temporal sentences 272. Moods used in them 221. Negative où 254 f.
- Verse in the N.T., specimens of, 297 f. Vocative—Use 86 f. Position 289 f.
- Wish, sentences expressing a, 206 f., 219 f., 222 (infin.).

Words, division of, 13f.

- Word-formation 61 ff. By composition 65 ff.
- Words, play on, 298f.
- Words, position of, § 80, 287 ff. Ordinary rules 287 f. Position of enclitic words 288. Position of the governing gen. before the dependent gen. 99 f. Of the attribute (adj., gen. etc.) 158 ff., 288 f. Of the adverb 289. Of the partitive genitive 159. Of the possessives and the possessive gen. of the personal pron. 168 f., 288. Of έκείνου and τούτου 169. Of several defining clauses 160. Of obros and $\epsilon \kappa \epsilon \hat{\iota} \nu \sigma s$ 172. Of the voca-tive 289 f. Of $\epsilon \nu \epsilon \kappa \epsilon \nu$ and other quasi-prepositions 127, 290. Of dv 205 f., 216. Of the negative 257. Of $\tau \epsilon$ 265. Of $\delta \rho a$ and $\tau o l \nu v 273$. Of the subordinating conjunction (and the relative) 283 note 2, 290. Separation of the participle from the inf. dependent on it 243.

Zeugma 292.

II. INDEX OF GREEK WORDS.

A interchanged with ϵ 20 f. With \circ 21. With ω 22. -a, -as etc. for $-o\nu$, - ϵ s etc. in the 2nd aor. 45 f. In the impf. 46. άγαθοεργέω, -ουργέω 22, 67, 70. άγαθός, degrees of comparison 34. άγαλλιάω, -άομαι 52. Aor. 44. Construction 118, 225, 245. άγανακτέω περί τινος 135. άγγαρεύω and $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma\gamma$. 20 f. Constr. 226. άγγελλω, aor. pass. 43, 52. άγε with plur. 85 note 1. άγια, τὰ 84. τὰ άγ. τῶν ἁγίων 84, 143. άγορά without article, 148 f. åγριέλαιος, ή 67. άγρόs without art. 148. άγω, aor. 43, 52. Intrans. 182. άγει τρίτην ταύτην ήμέραν 75. άγωνίζομαι ίνα 225. $\delta \delta \epsilon \lambda \phi \delta s$ to be supplied with a genitive 95. άδελφότηs 63. **ἄδης :** έν τῷ ἄδη, εἰς ἄδην (not Ăιδου) 96. άδικέομαι 'let myself be wronged' 185. ἀδικῶ with perfect sense 188. 'Aδρίας, δ 153. del not often used, $\pi d\nu \tau \sigma \tau \epsilon$ used instead 59. άζυμα, τὰ 84. "Αζωτος 24. at interchanged with ϵ 9. -at of verbal terminations subject to elision 296 f. -ai optat. 46 f. Alyuπτos without art. 153. -alev optat. 46. Αίλαμîται 9. аїµата 84. -alve aor. -ava 40.

aipiw aor. 45, 52 : fut. 52. -alpo aor. -apa 40. αἴρω intransit. 183. αίσθάνομαί τι 103. aiox ivopat with $d\pi \partial$ 88. With inf. 225. airéw and altéouar distinguished 186. Constr. 91, 226, 230, 241. alŵves 83. alávios, 2 and 3 terminations 33. Ακελδεμάχ 12. ακολουθέω constr. 113 f. άκούω fut. 42, 52. Constr. 103, 231, 239, 246. With perfect sense 188. άκροβυστία 67. άκρος, τὸ άκρον with gen. 158. **ἀκύλων** aquilo 13. άλάβαστρος, \dot{o} and $\dot{\eta}$ 26. $\delta \lambda a(s)$, $\tau \delta$, for of $\delta \lambda \epsilon s$ 27. άλεκτοροφωνία 68. -as answering the question When? 109. άλήθεια, έπ' άληθείας 137. **άλήθω** for άλέω 52. άληθώς λέγω ύμιν 141 note 2. άλιεύs plur. -εεîs 22. άλλά 60, 267 ff. ού μόνον ... άλλὰ (καί) άλλ' οὐ 267 f. άλλά γε 261, άλλὰ καὶ, ἀλλ' οὐδὲ 269. ἀλλ' 267. 268.lva 269, 293. άλλομαι 52. άλλos and έτερos 179 f. With article repeated 160 f. άλλος πρòς άλλον 170. Ellipse of a. 180, 292. aλλ' ή 269 with note 1. **ἄλων**, ή, for άλωs 29. άμα 60. With dat. 115. With participle 252 f. άμαρτάνω 52. Fut. and aor. 42 f. Constr. 128, 245. άμαρτία without art. 150.

ἁμαρτωλόs 64.
άμελέω with gen. 104.
άμύνεσθαι for -ειν 185.
άμφιάζω, -έζω 52, 20, 41.
άμφότεροι 36. With art. 161, 162.
av for -a in acc. of 3rd decl. 26.
$-av$ for $-a\sigma\iota$ in perf. 46.
άν 60, 259. With indic. 205 ff. With conjunct. 211 f., 216 f., 219. With fut. (and pres.) indic. 217. With optat. 220. Not with infin. 233. Not with part. 253. σπωs dν 211 f. $ωs dν$ 272. Omission of $dν$ with $σστs$? 217. With $ξωs$, άχρι, $μέχρι$ 219.
äv for έάν 'if'60.
ἀνά with acc. 122. Stereotyped as an adverb 122, 145, 179. ἀνὰ μέσον 122, 129.
άνάγαιον (ἀνώγ.) 9, 22, 67. ἀνώγεων incorrect form 25.
ἀναγινώσκω constr. 230 note 4.
ἀνάγκη without ἐστίν 73. Constr. 239 f.
άναθάλλω aorέθαλον 43, 54.
ἀνάθεμα for -ημα 62 f.
ἀνακάμπτ ω intrans. 182.
άναλόω 52.
άναμιμνήσκω, -ομαι constr. 104, 226.
ἀναπαύομαι fut. and aor. 44, 56.
άνάπειροs for -ηρος 9.
άναστρέφ $ω$ intrans. 182.
άνατίθεμαί τινι 116.
άνατολαί plur. 83 f. Without art. 148. $\dot{\eta}$ άνατολ $\dot{\eta}$ 'the East' 148.
άναφαίνω γην 183.
ἀνέθ η. See ἀνίημι.
άνελεος 66.
äveµos omitted 141.
aven with gen. 127.
dvέχομαι augment 39, 54. Constr. 104.
άνῆκεν 206.
άνηρ Ίουδαίος etc. 141. άνδρες καλ γυναίκες 289.
άνθρωπος : πάντες άνθρωποι 161.
ἀνίημι 51. ἀνέθη 38.
ανόμωπος ανέθη 38. ανίημι 51. ανέθη 38. ανίστημι: pleonastic use of <i>αναστάs</i> 249: of <i>ανάστηθι</i> (καl) 249, 278. <i>ανέστηκε</i> not used for 'is risen '199.
"Avva 11, 30.
"Avvas 11, 30.

άνοίγω 56. Augment etc. 39, 56. Aor. and fut. pass. 43. άντέχομαι with gen. 102. άντί with gen. 124. $dν\theta'$ ών 124. dντl $\tau \circ \hat{v}$ with inf. 237. Construction with compounds of avti 116. άντικρύs 20. With gen. 128. άντιλαμβάνομαι with gen. 102. αντιλέγω with μή and inf. 255. άντιπέρα 7. άνωθεν and $d\pi$ ' άν. 59. άνώτερον 35. äğıos constr. 106 (gen.), 218, 228, 235. άξιῶ constr. 105 (gen.), 226, 241. άπαγγέλλω constr. 226, 230 note 4, 232άπαιτέω 186. απαντάω 52, fut. 42. άπαρνέσμαι aor. 44 f. Pass. 184. Constr. 232, 255 (µή and inf.). άπάρτι 14. ämas beside $\pi \hat{a}s$ 161 with note 1. With art. 161 f. άπειλέσμαι 52. Constr. 226. άπείραστος κακών 106. **απεκδύομαι** 185. 'Απελλής beside 'Απολλώς - ώνιος 21, Declension 31. àπέναντι 14. With gen. 127 f. άπέρχομαι: pleonastic use of $\dot{a} \pi \epsilon \lambda \theta \dot{\omega} \nu$ 249. άπέχω, -oμαι constr. 105, 182. άπέχει 75. $d\pi\epsilon\chi\omega = d\pi\epsilon\lambda\eta\phi a$ 188. $\dot{a}\pi \dot{a}$ with gen., 124 ff. For *\epsilon* 124 f. Denoting extraction (place of birth) 125. For partitive gen. 96, 125: do. with verbs 100 f. For $\delta \pi \delta$ 125 (also with passive verbs). For $\pi a \rho a$ 125, 103 (άκούω). For gen. of separation 105 f., 125 f. With κρύπτω 91. With ϕ εύγω, ϕ υλάσσομαι etc. 87 f., 126. With adjectives etc. 87 f., 126. 106. Answering the question How far distant? 95. άπὸ προσώπου τινός 83, 129. άπο τ. στόματός τινός 130. άφ' ήs 140. άπὸ μιᾶs 140 f. åπò τότε 276. άπόκειται with inf. 228. άποκόπτομαι 186. άποκρίνομαι 55. Fut. and aor. 44, 181. Constr. 232, 249 (with λέγων; $d\pi o \kappa \rho \iota \theta \epsilon is \epsilon l \pi \epsilon \nu$ etc.), cp. 278.

άποκτείνω, -έννω 41, 55. Aor. pass. 44, 55. Use of the verb 184. $\dot{a}\pi o\lambda\epsilon(\pi e \tau a \iota with inf. 228.$ άπόλλυμι 56. 'Απολλώς, -ώνιος, 'Απελλής 21, 71. Declension 31. άπολογέομαί τινι 110. άπορέσμαι constr. 88. άπορίπτω intrans. 182. άποστέλλω constr. 223, 226, 230. άποστρέφω intrans. 182. άποτάσσομαί τινι 110. αποφθέγγομαι constr. 232. $a\pi$ тоµаι with gen. 101. 'Απφία 24. άρα, άραγε 60, 216, 259 f., 273. ăρa otv 273. άρα, άρά γε 60, 259. 'Aρaβía with and without article 153. άργός, -ή 32 f. άργύρια 84. άρέσκω constr. 110, 128. άρεστόν έστι constr. 227, 240. άρθρον προτακτικόν (δ $\dot{\eta}$ τό) and ύποτακτικόν (οs ή δ) 145, 172 f. άριστερά sc. χείρ 140. έξ άριστερών 84. άρκετόν (satis) 76. Constr. 228. άρκετός 228 and 239. άρκέω constr. 228. άρκοs for άρκτοs 24. άρμόζομαι for -ω 185. άρνέομαι aor. 44 f. Constr. 225, 255. άρπάζω 40, 52. Aor. and fut. pass. 43. άρραβών 10. άρρην, άρσην 23. άρτι, position of, 289. åπ' åρχη̂s άρχή: την άρχήν 94, 176. etc. without art. 149. -άρχηs and -αρχοs 28, 68. άρχι in composition 66. άρχιερεύς 66. άρχω with gen. 104. -oµaı constr. 27, 245. Often almost superfluous 227 note 1. άρξάμενος 'beginning with' 249. -as gen. -a (and -ov) 25, 29, 31. Abbreviated names in -as 70 f. - $\hat{a}\sigma a$ 2nd sing. pres. ind. pass. of verbs in $-\dot{a}\omega$ 47. -ăola, substantives in, 69. 'Ao(a with art. 153. åσκέω with inf. 225.

άσπάζομαι 194. άσπάσασθε aor. 196. άστήρ, -έρεs without art. 147. άστοχέω constr. 105. а́стра without art. 147. άτερ with gen. 127. αύθεντέω τινός 104. αύξω, -άνω 53, 183 (intrans.). ačpa omitted 140. avro- in composition 69, 70. **αύτόματος** 69. -μάτη 33. Adj. for adv. 141. **αὐτό**s 'self' 170, 168 (α. δι' ἐαυτοῦ etc.), 171 (αὐτὸ τοῦτο). 'He' (emphatic) 164, 168 f. (atroi 'his'). ίδιος αύτοῦ 169. αύτοῦ etc. used with disregard to formal agreement 166. Frequent use of autou etc. 164f., 251 f., and 283. Do. (after a relative) 175. καl ... αύτοῦ after a relative clause 175. ò aùtós constr. 114, 179, 263. έπι τὸ αὐτό 136. airoî adv. 59 note 2. άφαιρέω constr. 91. άφεs with conjunctive 208. άφίημι άφίω 51. *ἤφιεν* 39. ἀφέθην Constr. 226. άφιξις 'departure' 5. 'Axata with and without art. 153. άχρειος accent 14. άχρείος εοῦν 22. äχρι(s) 20, 60. With gen. 127. a. où 127, 219, 272. As conjunction 219, 272. άψινθος, 6 ? 26. -á ω , verbs in -á ω and -é ω confused 47 f. Balvo 2nd aor. imperat. 50, 53. βαλλάντιον 10 f. βάλλω aor. 45. Intrans. 182. βαπτίζομαι aor. 185 ff. βάπτισμα and $-\sigma\mu bs$ 61 f. βαρέω (-ύνω) 53. βασιλεύω constr. 104, 136 f. βασκαίνω 53. Aor. 40. Constr. 89 βάτος, ¿ and ή 26. βατταλογείν for -ολογείν 21. βέβαιος, -αία 33. **Βηθανία** 31. βιβλαρίδιον 64. β(βλos without art. 151. βιόω 53 f. Aor. 43. βλαστάνω and -άω 53. Aor. 43.

βλασφημέω constr. 88. **Γόμορρα,** -ων 12, 31. βλέπω for όρω 3, 56. Aor. and fut. γονυπετέω constr. 89. 42, 53. Constr. 88 note 1, 126, 225, youv wanting 60. Cp. note 1. 231, 246. βλέπε(τε) 209, 278. γράφω constr. 226. γρ. and έγραψα in βοάω constr. 232. Boes Boos Boog 13. βορρâs 25. Without art. 148. βουλεύομαι constr. 225. βούλομαι = θέλω 47. Augment 37 f. βούλει 47. Constr. 225. έβουλόμην 207. $\beta o \eta \lambda \epsilon \sigma \theta \epsilon$ with conjunct. 210. Boûs acc. pl. Boas 26. βρέχει for vει, personal and impers. 75. Trans. and intraus. 182. Γαζοφυλάκιον 15. **Γάιο**ς 16 f. **Γαλιλαία** 8. With art. 153. - alos 8. γαμέω -ίζω -ίσκω 53. γαμέομαι constr. 113. γάμοι 84. γάρ 60, 274 f. γε 60, 260 f. Cp. άρα γε, αρά γε, καίγε, καίτοιγε, μενοῦνγε. Γεθσημανί (-σαμανί) 7. γελάω 53. Fut. 42. Yeuigo constr. 102. γέμω constr. 102. γένημα and γέννημα distinguished 11. *Tevvnoap*, not -ape θ -ape τ 13. νένος : τώ γένει 117. yeúoµaı with acc. and gen. 101. yî omitted 140. Without art. 147. γήρας -ους -ει 26. γίνομαι, not γίγν. 24. Aor. 44, 53. γέγονεν for έγένετο 200. With gen.96, 99. With dat. 111 f. With ϵis and ϵv 85 f., 122, 124. With $\epsilon \pi i$ 136. With adv. 258. In periphrases with participle 204, 244. cytero with inf. 75, 227 f., 235 (roû with inf.), 241. With a finite verb (with and without Kal) 262, 288. ereto έν τῷ with inf. 237. μη γένοιτο 219, 259. eyévero omitted 74, 292. γινώσκω, not γιγν. 24, 53. Conj. γνώ, γνοί 49. Constr. 227, 231 (note 4), 238, 240, 246. Pass. with dat. 113, 185. γλώσσα omitted 140. γλώσσαις λαλείν 292. γλωσσόκομον 68. **Γολγοθά** 31.

letters 194. γρηγορώ 40 f., 53. γυμνητεύω -ιτεύω 9. γυνή with gen., ellipse of, 95. With-out art. 150. ανδρες και γυναϊκες, γ. καί παιδία 289. Δάκρυον dat. -υσιν 29. δαμάζομαι pass. constr. 113. Δαυίδ (-είδ) 7. δέ 60, 266 f. μέν ... δὲ see μέν. καὶ... δè, δè ... και 267. Position 290. δεῖ constr. 227 f., 239. For deliberative conj. 210. έδει 206. δέον (έστίν) 204. δείκνυμι 48. Constr. 227. τὸ δειλινόν answering the question When ? 94. Seinvos for -ov 28. δεκαδύο, δεκατέσσαρες etc. 35. Δελματία for Δαλμ. 21. δεξιά, ή 140. έν δεξιά (ένδέξια), έκ δεξιών etc. 84, 140. δέομαι 53. έδέετο 47. Constr. 105, 226, 234, 238, 241 f. δέσμιος τοῦ Χριστοῦ 107 note 2. δεσμοί and -á 28. δεῦρο, δεῦτε with conjunctive 208. δευτεραίος 141. δευτερόπρωτον σάββατον 66. $\delta i \omega$ 'bind,' pass. with acc. 93. δή 60, 273 f. δηλός είμι with δήλον ότι 73, 233. partic. not used 245. δηλόω constr. 232 f. Δημᾶς 71. δημοσία 141. δήπου 58, 60, 260. διά with acc. 132. δια το with inf. 236, 239. With gen. 132 f. δια τοῦ with inf. 237 (233). διὰ μέσου = διά 129. διά χειρός (-ων) τινος 83, διὰ στόματός τινος 83, 130, 151. Verbs compounded with 130, 151. διά which take the acc. 89: do. which take the dat. 114. διαβάλλομαι with dat. 114. διαβλέπω constr. 227.

διάβολος without art. 148. διάγω intrans. 292. διαθήκαι 84. διακονώ 53. Augm. 39. Pass. 184. διακρίνομαι aor. 44. Constr. 114. διαλέγομαι 55. Aor. 44. Constr. 114. διαλείπω with participle 245, 258. διαμαρτύρομαι constr. 226. διαμερίζομαι mid. 183. διαπαρατριβή 65. διαρρήγνυμι for mid. 184. διαστέλλομαι constr. 226. διάστεμα for -ημα 63. διατάσσω, -oμaι constr. 226, 230, 240. διατελέω with partic. 245, 258. Intrans. 292. διατηρέω with $\dot{\epsilon}\xi$ and $\dot{a}\pi \dot{o}$ 126. διατρίβω intrans. 292. -διδάσκαλos in composition 68. διδάσκω with double acc. 91. Pass. with acc. 93. With inf. 227. δίδωμι 49 f. Conj. δφ δοί (δώη) 49 f. Opt. δψη 50. With inf. 223. With With acc. and inf. 226. $\delta_{ietn's}$ accent 14. διισχυρίζομαι constr. 232. δικαιόω constr. 117. διό 60, 274. δ. και 263, 274. διόπερ 60, 274. διοπετές, τ δ 141. διότι 60, 274. διπλότερον 34, 58. $\delta \psi \dot{a} \omega$ contract verb in a 47, 53. Constr. 90, 102. δίψος, το 28. διώκω, fut. -ξω 42, 53. δοκέω constr. 225, 231. έδοξέ μοι ibid.. 239. ἔδοξα ἐμαυτῷ 167 note 2, 239. δοκώ with finite verb 278. δοκείτε inserted in middle of sentence 282. δοκιμάζω constr. 227, 239. δοξάζω constr. 227. δραχμή omitted 140. Augm. 38. δύνομαι etc. δύναμαι 53. 49. δύνασαι and δύνη 49. Fut. 45. Constr. 197, 210, 222, 225, 226. έδύνατο ' could have been ' 206. δυνατέω constr. 226. δυνατόν έστι, δυνατός constr. 197, 227 f., 239 f. δύο decleusion 35. δύο δύο 145. oi δύο 162.

δυσεντέριον 28. δυσμαί 83 f. Without art. 148. δύω 53. Intrans. 183. δύω. δύνω. ένδιδύσκω 53 (41). Aor. 43 (bis). το δωδεκάφυλον ήμων 67, 156. ϵ interchanged with α 20 f. With o With 1 21 f. 21. čáv not ἄν or ήν 60, 214, 271. Constr. 213 ff. (with pres. ind. 214. With fut. 215). čāv kal 215. έάν τε ... έάν τε 271. έαν μή 'except' 216, 293. $\dot{\epsilon}\dot{\alpha}v$ for $\ddot{\alpha}v$ 60 f., 216. έάνπερ 60, 271. έαυτου not αύτου 35. For eµavrov, $\sigma \epsilon a v \tau o \hat{v}$ 167 note 1. $\dot{\epsilon}av\tau\hat{\omega}v$ for For έαυτοῦ and αὐτοῦ 167 f. Position of *\epsilon*. 168. Strengthened by addition of avtos 168. čάω constr. 226. ούκ έῶ 257. έγγαρεύω for άγγαρ. 20 f. έγγίζω constr. 114. έγγιστα 33. έγγονα, έκγ. 12. έγγύs with gen. (or dat.) 107. As predicate 257. έγγύτερον 35. έγείρω, -oμaι, forms in use 53. Aor. ήγέρθη, έγήγερται 'is risen' 44. 199. έγειρε άρον, εγείρεσθε άγωμεν 278. έγκαίνια 84, έγκακείν (έκκ.) 67. Constr. 245. έγκαλέω constr. 105, 110, 184. έγκόπτω constr. 235, 255. έγκρατεύομαι constr. 91. 'Είεκίαs 8 note 1. έθελο-, compounds with, 68. ëovn with predicate in sing. and plur. 78. Without art. 147, 148. $\epsilon t = \overline{t} 6 f., 7 f.$ ϵ interchanged with ϵ 22. -el, adverbs in, 69. el 60, 205, 213 ff., 271 f., 254 (ov and 'Whether' 211, 216, 220 f. μή). Before direct questions 260. εί καί 215. εl μή (τι) 216, 254, 293. el dè $\mu\eta$ ($\gamma\epsilon$) 216, 260, 271, 293. el ana $(\gamma \epsilon)$ 259. $\epsilon i \gamma \epsilon$ 261, 271. $\epsilon i \pi \omega s$ 60, 216.

ει μήν for η μήν 9, 60, 260.

-ua interchanged with -la 8. -ela, substantives in, 62. είδον and -a 45, 56. Cp. δράω. είδώλιον -είον 15, 64. είδωλολατρία (-εία) 68. είκ<u>η</u> 7. είκοσι not -ιν 19 with note 7. **είκω είξα** 38. elul, forms of, 51 f. Omission of, 72 ff., 92 (elval), 245 and 246 f. (av). In periphrases 37, 201, 202 ff. ϵ . with gen. 95 f., 99. With dat. 111 f. είμι, remnants of, 52. - eLOV, -LOV, substantives in, 15, 64. είπερ 60, 271. είπον, -a 45, 55. είπεν and έλεγεν 192. ώς έπος είπειν 225. ειπών, και είπεν *εîπεν* λ*έγων* 55, 250. 249 f. Cp. λέγω. είπως 60, 216. «ἴρηκεν with subject unexpressed 75. For aorist 200. εἰρήνη ύμιν 74. ύπαγε είς εἰρήνην, έν εἰρήνη 123. - $\epsilon \hat{i} \hat{s}$ for - $\epsilon \alpha \hat{s}$ (substantives in - $\epsilon \hat{v} \hat{s}$) 26. els with acc. 122 ff. Confused with ϵv 122 ff., 130. For $\epsilon \pi l$ and $\pi \rho \delta s$ 124. els rd with inf. 224, 236, 239. els with έσομαι, γίνομαι (είμί) 85 f. With $\lambda o \gamma l \xi \epsilon \sigma \theta a \iota$ (pass.) 86. With $\epsilon \gamma \epsilon l \rho \omega$, $\epsilon \chi \omega$ etc. 93. Interchangeable with dat. 109 f. Compounds of els, constr. 115. els πρόσωπον 130. els χείρας 130. els ελάχιστόν έστι 86, 228. ϵ is as indefinite article 144. μ ia for $\pi\rho\omega\tau\eta$ 144. ϵ is τ is 144, 178. ϵ is où ό εîs ... ό 178. είς ἕκαστος etc. 179. ἕτερος 144. εἶς ... και εῖς 144, 145. εΐς τον ένα 144 f. άπο μιας 140 f. - ciorai 2nd sing. pass. termination of verbs in - $\epsilon \omega$ 47 note 2. -elorav in plupf. 47. είτα, είτεν 20, 60, 277. είτε 60. είτε ... είτε 212, 214, 271. είωθα constr. 227. έκ see έξ. Exactos 179. Does not take art. 161. Distinguished from $\pi \hat{a}s$ 161. With partitive gen. 97. έκδιδύσκω constr. 92. Pleonastic use after $\delta \pi ov$ **ἐκε**ῦ 59. 175.

έκειθεν 59. For έκει? 258.

έκεινοs 171 f. With (or without) art. 172. ἐκείνης sc. όδοῦ 109, 140. έκεισε = έκει 59. έκκλίνω intrans. 182. έκλανθάνομαι constr. 104. έκλέγω perf. pass. 55. έκλέγομαι mid. 185 f. ἕκπαλαι 14, 66. έκπερισσοῦ 66. έκπερισσῶς 66. $\epsilon\kappa\pi(\pi\tau\omega)$ constr. 106. Equivalent to έκβάλλομαι 184. έκτός 58 note 1. With gen. 107. έκτὸς εί μη 216. **ёктоте 14.** 'Ελαιών (not -ών) δρος 32, 64, 85. έλάσσων - ττων 23. Meaning 34. Without # 108. έλάχιστοs perexiguus 33. -ιστότερος 33, 34. έλείω for -έω 47 f., 54. Transit. 88. έλ(ε)εινός 23. έλεος, (6 and) το 28. Έλισταβέτ, -βέθ 7, 13, 30. Έλισαΐος 8. έλκόω angm. 39, 54. žλκω aor. and fut. 54. Έλλάs with art. 153. "Ελληνες, art. with, 154. 'Ioυδα^îoi ($\tau \epsilon$) και "Ελληνες 264. έλλογάω - έω 48. έλπίζω, έλπίς 15 f. ήλπικα 199. $i \lambda \pi i \zeta \omega$ constr. 110 note 2, 136, 137, 197, 202, 231, 234 ($\epsilon\lambda\pi is$). έμαυτού 35, 166 f. έμβλέπω constr. 115. έμμένω constr. 115. **ἐμός** 168 f. -πλάω 49. Constr. **ἐμπ**((μ)πλημι 24. 102. έμπί(μ)πρημι 24. έμπνέω with gen. 103. έμπορεύομαι intrans. and trans. 88. **ἕμπροσθεν** 59, 107, 127 f. προδραμών ἕμπροσθεν 295. $\epsilon \nu$ with dat. 130 f. $\epsilon \nu \tau \hat{\varphi}$ with inf. 237, 239. Confused with els 122 ff., 130. Its use in periphrases for partitive gen. 96 f. Interchangeable with simple dat. 109 f., 131. For instrumental dat. 116 f., 130 f. Denoting the personal agent 130 f. With $\lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \epsilon$ 131 note 1. Denoting

the cause or motive 118, 131.

τούτω, έν ῷ 131, 219, 272. With verbs expressing emotion 118. Denoting accompanying forces etc. Of manner 118, 131. With 118. μανθάνω, γινώσκω ('with' or 'by') Of time 119 f. εν δεξιά 140. 131. έν (έμ) μέσω 12, 129. έν χειρί 130. έν Χριστῷ (κυρίψ) 131.-Not assimilated in composition 12. Opposed 129. to a - 69. Compounds of ev, constr. 115. έναντι with gen. 127 f. έναντίος constr. 111. ivartion with gen. 127 f. éž évavtías 140. ένδιδύσκω 41, 53. Constr. 92. ένδον 58 note 1. ένεκεν είνεκεν (ένεκα) 20, 22. Uses of, 127. Ev. Tov with inf. 237. έπείπερ 60. ένεργέω and -έομαι 185. evéxeuv intrans. 182. ένθάδε 58. ένθεν 59. $\tilde{\epsilon}v\iota = \tilde{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\ell 51 f.$ ένορκίζω constr. 88, 92, 226. ένοχος constr. 106. έντέλλομαι constr. 226, 235, 240. έντεῦθεν 59. έντόs rare 58 note 1. With gen. 107. έντρέπομαί τινα 89. έντυγχάνω constr. 115. 233.ένώπιον with gen. 127 f. For dat. 113 note 4, 128. , $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa$, $\dot{\epsilon}\gamma$ 12. Uses 124 ff. $\dot{\epsilon}\kappa$ $\tau\sigma\hat{\nu}$ with inf. 237. In periphrases for έξ, έκ, έγ 12. partitive gen. 96 f. (144). Do. with With 'to fill' etc. verbs 100 f. 102, 117 note 3. With 'to sell' etc. 105, 126. With verbs denoting separation 105 f. For υπό 126. For $\epsilon \nu$ (attraction) 258. έκ μέσου 104. $= \epsilon \xi 129.$ έκ χειρός, έκ στόματος 83. 130. Compounds of $\epsilon \kappa$ with gen. 106. έξαυτής 14, 140. έξεστιν constr. 227 f., 241. έξων sc. έστι 73, 75, 204, 252. έξολοθρεύω 21. 246. έξουσίαν έχω etc. constr. 227 f., 234. έξορκίζω constr. 88, 133, 226. έξουθενέω (-όω) 24, 61. έξω 58 note 1, With gen. 107. **έξωθεν** 59. έξώτερος 35. έόρακα and έώρακα 39, 56. Use 199 f. έπιχειρέω constr. 225.

-cos in 2nd declension contracted and uncontracted 25. έπαγγέλλομαι constr. 232. έπαισχύνομαι augm. 38. έπακούω τινός 103. έπακροώμαι τινος 103. έπάνω 14, 65. With gen. 107, 108, έπαρχία - ειος 8. έπαύριον 14, 136. 'Επαφρόδιτος 'Επαφρâs 71. έπεί 60, 218, 274. έπειδή 60, 218, 272, 274. έπειδήπερ 60, 272, 274. $\epsilon \pi \epsilon l \kappa \epsilon \iota \alpha$ for $\epsilon \pi \iota \epsilon l \kappa$. 23. έπειτα 60, 277. έπ. μετά τοῦτο 295. έπέκεινα 14, 66, 84. With gen. 107. έπερωτάω constr. 226. έπέχω intrans. 182. έπηρεάζω τινά 89. $\epsilon \pi i$ with acc. 136. έπι τὸ αὐτό 136. With gen. 136 f. With dat. 137 f. έφ' ψ[°] 137. Compounds of $\epsilon \pi i$, constr. 115. $\epsilon \pi$ ιβάλλω intrans. 182. Constr. 115. έπιγινώσκω constr. 246. έπιδείκνυμαι mid. 186. -νυμι constr. έπιθυμέω constr. 102, 225. έπικαλέω, -oµaι constr. 92 note 1, 227, 230, 238. δ έπικαλούμενος 163. έπιλαμβάνομαί τινος 101. έπιλανθάνομαι constr. 104, 227. έπιλησμονή 62. έπιμαρτυρέω constr. 232. έπιμέλομαι - έομαι 55 : fut. 45 : constr. έπιμένω with partic. 245, 258. έπιούσιος 64. επιποθέω constr. 102, 225. έπισκέπτομαι constr. 227. έπίσταμαι constr. 231 with note 4, έπιστρέφω intrans. 182 f. έπιτάσσω constr. 226, 230, 240 f. έπιτίθημι, -εμαι constr. 115. έπιτιμάω constr. 226. έπιτρέπω constr. 226, 240. έπιτυγχάνω constr. 102.

έραυνάω for έρευν. 21.

- έργάζομαι, ήργαζόμην -σάμην, but είργασμαι 38 f., 54. Constr. 92, 124.
- **ξρημος,** accentuation of, 14. $\dot{\vartheta}$ and $\dot{\eta}$ 33. $\dot{\eta}$ $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho$. as subst. 140, 155.
- έρις, plur. -ιδες and -εις 27, 84.
- Έρμης 71.

i,

- έρρέθην for -ήθην 10, 40, 55.
- έρρωσο, -σθε 200.
- ξρχομαι: forms in use 54. Aor. 45. ξρχομαι, δ έρχόμενοs in future sense 189, 219. ξρχου 'come with' 196 note 1. ξρχου και ίδε 278.
- έρωτάω with double accus. 91. With inf. etc. 226, 241. *η* $_{ρώτων}$ λέγοντες etc. 250. *η*_{ρώτα} and -τησεν 191.
- -es term. of 2nd pers. in perf. and 1st aor. for -as 46.
- **έσθήs** in collective sense 83.
- **ἐσθίω, ἔσθω 54.** φάγομαι 42 (-εσαι 47). Constr. 100 f. *ἐσθίειν* καὶ πίνειν 289.
- -cola, substantives in, 69.
- **ёотака, ика (ёотика** ?) 50 (15, 199).
- $\xi \sigma \tau \epsilon$ imperat. nowhere used 209.
- ξσχατος also comparative 34. ἐπ' ἐσχάτου (-των) τῶν ἡμερῶν etc. (137, 149), 156. τὰ ἔσχατα 156.
- έσω, not είσω 22. Cp. 58 note 1. Not with gen. 107.
- έσωθεν 59. Not with gen. 107.
- έσώτερος 35.
- έτεροδιδασκαλέω 68.
- έτεροs and άλλοs 179 f.
- έτι 277. Position 289. έτι άνω, κάτω for άνώτερον, κατώτερον 35 note 1. έτι μικρόν και 73.
- ξτοιμος 2 and 3 terminations 33. Accentuation 14. With τοῦ and inf. 235.
- εΰ, καλώs used instead of, 58. Compounds with εῦ 69, 39 (augment of verbs compounded with εῦ). εῦ ποιέω (πράσσω) constr. 89, 245.
- εναγγελίζομαι and -ζω 39, 69, 183. Constr. 89 f., 124, 227.
- **εύαγγέλιον 69.** With gen. and with κατά and acc. 96, 133.
- εὐαρεστέομαι with dat. 118, 184.
- εύδοκέω 69. Constr. 88, 118, 123, 227.
- εύκαιρέω constr. 227.
- εύλογητός ό θεός 74.
- εὐοδοῦμαι constr. 227.
- εύπάρεδρος 69. Constr. 115.

εύρακύλων 66.

- εύρίσκω aor. 45. Active for mid. 183. Constr. 246 f. -ομαι pass. with dat. 113 (note 2), 185.
- -εύs, acc. plur. -εîs 26.
- eùppaívoµai constr. 118.
- εύχαριστέω constr. 137, 185 (246).
- εύχομαι augm. 38. Constr. 110, 226.
- -εύω, -εύομαι, verbs in, 61.
- έφάπαξ 14.
- έφικνέσμαί τινος 102.
- έφιορκέω 16.
- έφοράω constr. 227.
- '**Εφ**ραίμ 17.
- έχθέs 23.
- ^kχω 'regard as' 92, 231, 247: 'be obliged to' 226. Fut. only έξω 36, 54. έσχηκα for aor. 200. Intrans. 182. With double acc. (ώς, είς) 92, 247. With relative clause 218. With inf. 226. With öτι 231. έχων 'with' 248. έχομαί τινος 102.
- -έω, verbs in, 61. Formed from compound adjectives in -os 67.
- *ϵω*s gen. termination of adjectives in *ν*s 27.
- ἕωs, $\dot{\eta}$, not in use 25.
- έως conj. 60, 219, 272. With gen. 127. With gen. of the inf. 237, 239. έως οῦ, ὅτου 127, 219, 272. ἐως with adverb 127.
- ζ = σδ 24.
- ζάω 54. Fut. 42. Imperf. 47.
- **ζβ** for $\sigma\beta$ 10.
- ζήλοs, δ and τό 28.
- ζηλόω constr. 225.
- ζημιόω pass. with acc. 93.
- ζητέω constr. 225.
- **ζμ** for σμ 10.
- ζυγόs, not -6ν 28.
- ζώννυμι, perf. pass. 54.
- ζώον 7.
- η interchanged with $\iota 8$ f. η interchanged with $\epsilon \iota 8$ f.
- ή, ή... ή 266. In questions (also ή μή) 259, 266. With comparatives 107 f. With positives 143.
- η changed to $\epsilon \iota$ in later Attic 8.
- -ŋ in 2nd pers. pass. 47.
- -n, adverbs in, 59.

ήγέομαι with double acc. 92, 247. With acc. and inf. 92, 231. With ώs and acc. 92 f., 270, 246 note 1, 247. ἡγούμενοs subst. 157, 244. ἡγημαι with present sense 199.

ήδιστα 'very gladly' 33.

- ήδύτερος 34 note 1.
- fjκω, inflection 54. Has perfect sense 188.
- 'Ηλίαs 8. Declension 25.
- ήλιos without art. 147.
- ήμεις for έγώ 166.
- **ἡμέρα** omitted 140. Without art. 149, 151. νύκτα καὶ ἡμέραν 94, 109. ἡμέραν ἐξ ἡμέρας 94. ἡμέρας (μέσης) 109. Dat. with and without ἐν 109, 119 f., 174 note 1. ἡμέρα καὶ ἡμέρα 120. διὰ τῆς ἡμ. 109, 132. δι' ἡμερῶν τεσσεράκοντα (τεσσ. ἡμ.) 109, 132. πρὸ ἐξ ἡμ. τοῦ πάσχα 126 f. οὐ μετὰ πολλὰς ταύτας ἡμέρας 133. (τὸ) καθ' ἡμέραν 94, 157. ἐκείνη ἡ ἡμ. the last day 171. ἐν αὐτῇ τῇ ἡμ. 170. ἐν ταῖς ἡμ. ἐκείναις (ταύταις) 171 f., cp. 276. ἐπ^² ἐσχάτου (-ων) τῶν ἡμ. 137, 149, 156.
- fμισυs declined 27. ήμισυ, τὰ ημίσεια with gen. 97 f.
- - $\eta \nu$ for - η in acc. of 3rd decl. 26.
- ήνεγκα, ένεγκειν etc. 45, 57.
- ήνίκα 59, 272.
- ήπερ 60.
- ^{*}Ηρώδηs 7.
- - η s in compounds from verbs in - ω , - ω 68.
- -ηs, -εντοs (in proper names) = Lat. -ēns, -entis 31.
- 'Hσatas 'Hσ. 16.
- ήσσων ήττων, ήσσοῦμαι ήττῶμαι etc. 23, 54. ήσσων, ήσσον meaning 34.
- ήχos, ό 28 : gen. -ous ibid.
- θ , reduplication of, 11.
- θάλασσα without art. 147.
- bávatos without art. 149, 150.
- θαμβίω and deponent -ίομαι 44. Aor. ibid.
- θαρρέω and θάρσει 23. Intrans. 88. Constr. 123 note 3.
- θαυμάζω and dep. -ομαι 44, 54, 181. Aor. *ibid.* Fut. 42. Constr. 88, 118, 135, 137.
- $\theta \epsilon \dot{\alpha}$ beside $\dot{\eta} \theta \epsilon \delta s$ 25.

- **6**th openal defective 54 (supplemented by $\theta \epsilon \omega \rho \epsilon \omega$). $\epsilon \theta \epsilon d \theta \eta \nu$ with dat. 113, 185. θ . with part. 246. With ωs 230 note 4.
- θίλω, not έθ. 23, 54. Augm. ή-37, 54.
 = βούλομαι 47. Constr. 196 f., 209, 210 (θέλετε with conj.), 225. ήθελον
 ' I could wish' 207.
- beneficiand -os 28.
- -lev, adverbs in, 59.
- θεός voc. θεός (θεέ) 25, 87. Without art. 148, 163, 297.
- θεωρέω supplemented by θεάομαι 54. Takes place of pres. δράω 56. Constr. 231 with note 4, 233, 246.
- $\theta_{i\gamma\gamma}\dot{\alpha}\nu\omega$ with gen. 101.

θλîψις 15.

- θνήσκω 7. Perf. 50, 199.
- θριαμβεύω trans. 88, 183.
- Ovárespa declined 32.
- θύρα and -αι 84, 137, 149.
- interchangeable with ϵ 21 f. With v 22 (with o 22). Shortened before ξ 15.
- Ladscript (1 mute) 6 f.
- -l in demonstratives (vvvl) 35.
- -(α , substantives in, 63. Do. related to compound adjectives in -os and verbs in - $\epsilon \omega$ 67.
- -ιάζω, verbs in, 61.
- -tavós, designations ending in, of Latin origin 63.
- iáoµaı pass. 184.
- -las, gen. -lov (proper names), 25, 29.
- ίδειν for ίδειν 16.
- **(διοs** for $t\delta$. 16. Generally possessive = 'own' 169. Omission of art. with it 169. κατ' $l\delta(a\nu, l\delta(a 141, 169.$
- **ίδού** for *ίδού* 16. Without a finite verb 74, 292. και *ίδού* 262. *ίδού*, *ίδε* with nom. 85 note 1. *ίδε* with plural word 85 note 1.
- un contracted into e 23, 51.
- 'Ιεράπολις dat. 'Ιερά πόλει 32.
- Ίεριχώ 7, 16.
- 'Ιεροσόλυμα Ίερουσαλήμ 16, 31. Fem. 32. Hardly ever takes art. 153, cp. 161.
- iepoυργέω trans. 88.
- Ίεσσαί 17.
- -ίζω, verbs in, 61.
- ίημι with compounds 51.

х

'Iησούs 29. Declined 31. With and without art. 152, 170. ikavós constr. 227 f. Ikavóv satis 76. Ίκόνιον 8. -ikós (-iakós), adjectives in, 64 f. Verbal adj. in -1Kos with gen. wanting 107. ίλάσκομαι 54. Constr. 88 note 3. ίλεώς σοι 25, 74. ίμάτιον omitted 141. Ιμάτια 84. -lv, -ivos for -ls, -ivos 27. ⁱνa 60, 211 f., 221, 222 ff., 209 (for imperat.), 217 f., 240. άλλ' ίνα 269, 293. "va de 286 f. ίνατί 14. -wós, adjectives in, 65. 'Ιόππη 'Ιόπη 11. 'Ιορδάνης, ό 153. **Ιουδαία** with art. 153. 'Iovôaîou with and without art. 153 f. 'I. (τε) και "Ελληνεs 264. 'Iouvías or -via 71 note 4. ioa as adverb with $\epsilon l \nu \alpha \iota$ 257 f. (271). ίσασι for οίδασι 5, 50. -ĭola, substantives in, 69. ζσos constr. 114, 270 f. 'Ισραήλ, ο 154. πας 'Ι., πας σίκος 'Ι. 162. -100a, substantives in, 63. ίστάνω, -άω for ίστημι 48. έστην and έστάθην 50, 181. 2nd aor. imperat. 50. Other tenses 50. ίσχύω constr. 226. **Ίταλία** with art. 153. ix fûs accent 14. Acc. plur. - vas 26. 'Ιωάννα 11, 30. 'Ιωάνης 'Ιωνα(s) etc. 11, 30. 'Ιωνάθας (-ης) 30. 'Ιωσήφ 'Ιωσής 30. Gen. - ητος 31. Ίωσίας 8. καθά 270. καθάπερ 270. καθάπτω for -oµaι 183. With gen. 101. καθαρίζω (-ερ-) 20. For καθαίρω 54. καθέζομαι 54 f. καθ' είς 179. το καθ' είς 94. καθήκεν, καθήκον 206. κάθημαι 52, 54 f. καθίζω 54 f. каво 270.

καθόλου, τὸ 234 note 2. καθότι 274. καθώς 270. каl 60, 261 ff. (249 f., 275 note 1). In crasis 19. At the beginning of the apodosis 262 f. In sentences of comparison 263, 270. καί ... καί, τε (...) καl etc. 264 f. άλλὰ και 269. καί γάρ 275. καί...δέ, δέ και 267. διδ καl etc. 263. el καl see el. καl el 275. A Kal 266. καί ού, καί μή 265 f. kal raîra with particip. 248, 263. καί τοῦτο 171, 263. και τίς 'who then?' 262 f. Cp. Kalye, Kalπερ, καίτοι(γε), κάν. Kau(a) das 17 note 4. **καίγε** 248, 261. Kaiváv 17. καινότεροs for positive 142. ка(тер 60. With part. 248. καιρός without art. 149. κ. (έστιν) constr. 223 f., 234. кайты (ус) 60, 248, 260, 269 (275). $\kappa \alpha (\omega \text{ aor. and fut. pass. 43, 55.})$ κακολογέω τινά 89. κακοπαθία 8. κακόs, comparison of, 34. κακούς κακώς 298. καλέω fut. καλέσω 42, 55. With double acc. 92. δ καλσύμενος 163. καλλιέλαιος, ή 67. καλόν έστιν constr. 112, 240 f. $\kappa\alpha\lambda\hat{\omega}s$ for $\epsilon\bar{v}$ 58. καλώς (εΰ) ποιέω καλώς λέγω 89. constr. 89, 245. κάμηλος (-ιλος) 9. ка́v 19 note 2, 214, 275. κατά with acc. 133. In periphrases for possessive gen. 133, 169. Distributive κατά, stereotyped as an adv. 133, 145, 179. With gen. 133. κατά μόνας 141. κατ' ίδίαν 141, 169. κατά πρόσωπον 83, 129 f. Compounds of katá, constr. 89 (acc.), 104, 106 (gen.). καταγινώσκομαι pass. 184. κατάγνυμι 52. καταδουλόω active 183. καταδυναστεύω constr. 104. κατακρίνω constr. 232. θανάτω 111. κατακυριεύω τινός 104. καταλαμβάνομαι mid. 186. Constr. 231.καταλείπω constr. 226. καταλλάσσω, -ομαι with dat. 114.

καταναρκάω τινός 106. κατανύσσω, aor. pass. 43. καταξιώ constr. 226. καταράομαί τινα 89. καταχράομαι with dat. 114, катévavti with gen. 127 f. κατενώπιον with gen. 127 f. Interchangeable with dat. 113 note 4. κατηγορέομαι pass. 184. κατήγωρ for -opos 29. κατηχ έσμαι pass. with acc. 93. κατώτερος, -έρω 35. καυχάομαι intrans. and trans. 88. Constr. 110, 118. Καφαρναούμ 12 f., 32. Κεδρών 32. κείμαι 52. = τέθειμαι 51. κείμενος ήν 203. κείρομαι ' have one's hair cut' 186. κέκτημαι not used 199 note 1. κέκραγα for κράζω 198. κελεύω constr. 110, 191, 197, 226, 230, 240 (acc. and inf. pass.). κενεμβατεύω 67. (κεράννυμι) perf. pass. 55. κέρας κέρατα 26. κερδαίνω, aor. -ανα, -ησα 40, 55. Fut. pass. 55. κήρυξ accent 15. κηρύσσω constr. 124, 226, 239. Κιλικία with and without art. 153. κινδυνεύω constr. 227. κλαίω 55. Fut. 42. Constr. 88, 136. κλείς acc. κλείδα κλείν 26. Plur. κλείδας κλεîs 26. κλείω κέκλεισμαι 40, 55. κληρονομέω constr. 102. κλίμα accent and quantity 14 f., 63. κλίνω aor. pass. 44, 55. Intrans. 182. κοιλία without art. 151. κοιμάομαι fut. 45. κοινωνέω constr. 100, 114. κοινωνόs with gen. (or dat.) 106. κολλάομαι with dat. 114. κολλύριον (-ούριον) 22. Κολοσσαί Κολασσαείς 21. κόλποι 84. κόπτομαι constr. 88. κορβανάς (-βαν) 32. κορέννυμι with gen. 101. κόσμιος, δ ή 33.

κόσμοs without art. 148. Κουάρτος 15. κράβ[β]ατος (-αττος, -ακτος) 11. κραζω, κρâζον 15. Inflection 55. Fut. 36 note 1, 43. Aor. 43. κέκραγα = κράζω 198. Constr. 232, 250. **κρατέω** constr. 101. - έσμαι τοῦ μὴ with inf. 235. κράτιστε in address 33, 86. κρέας, κρέα 26. κρείσσων, ττων 23. Meaning 34. κρίμα accent and quantity 14 f., 63. κρίνω constr. 231. - oμαι constr. 114. Κρίσπος 15. κρύβω for κρύπτω 41, 55. Aor. pass. 43, 55. Constr. 91. κρυπτός : έν (τῷ) κρυπτῷ 156. κτέννω (-αίνω) for -είνω 41, 55. Cp. άποκτ. κτίσις without art. 148. π ασα (ή) κτ. 162. κυέω (κύω) 55. κυκλόθεν 59. κυλίω 55. Kuphvios, -ivos, more correctly -ivios 9, 13. κυριεύω τινός 104. κύριοs without art. 148. κωλύω constr. 105, 226, 255. Kŵs, acc. Kŵ 25 λαγχάνω constr. 102, 135, 235. λάθρα 7, 258. λακέω 55. $\lambda \alpha \lambda \epsilon \omega$ constr. 232. λαμβάνω, λήμψομαι etc. 24, 55. ϵ ίληφα with a oristic sense 200. λ . $\delta a \pi l$. σμασιν 118. λαβών (έλαβεν καί) pleonastic 248 f. λανθάνω constr. 245, 258. λεγεών, -ιών 21. λέγω defective, supplemented by $\epsilon i \pi o \nu$ etc. 55. λέγει without subj. 75.

λέγω defective, supplemented by είπου etc. 55. λέγει without subj. 75. λέγει ἐν ᾿Ηλία and similar phrases 131 note 1. With acc. (τινά) 89. καλῶς, κακῶς λέγω 89. With double acc. 92. With öτι or acc. and inf. 232, 240. With öτα 226. έλεγεν and είπεν 192. λέγων, ουτες 81 note 1, 232, 249 f., 285. σὺ λέγεις 260. δ λεγόμενος 242. λέγω ὑμῶν inserted 282. κατὰ ἄνθρωπον λέγω and similar phrases inserted 282.

λείπω aor. 43, 55. Alternative pres. $\lambda_{i,\mu,\pi \acute{\mu}\nu\omega}$ 55. $\lambda \epsilon l\pi \epsilon_i \tau_{i\nu}l$ 112. $\lambda \epsilon l\pi \sigma_{-\mu}al \tau_{i\nu}os$ 105. $\lambda \epsilon_{i\tau}\sigma_{i\tau}os$ 105. $\lambda \epsilon_{i\tau}\sigma_{i\tau}os$ 105. $\lambda \epsilon_{i\tau}\sigma_{i\tau}s$ 46. $\lambda \epsilon_{i\tau}s$ (-ειs) declined 29. $\lambda \eta v \delta_{s}$, $\dot{\eta}$ ($\dot{\theta}$) 26. $\lambda (av usually placed after word quali- fied 289. \lambda (\theta o_{s}, \dot{\sigma} (not \dot{\eta}) 26.\lambda_{i\mu}\delta_{s}, \dot{\sigma} and \dot{\eta} 26. \lambda_{i\mu}\delta_{s} and \lambda_{oi,\mu}\delta_{s}combined 299.\lambda oy(foma pass. 184. Constr. with els 86. With \dot{\omega}s and nom. 93, 270.With (nos arch) if (100.)$	 μέλει constr. 104. μέλλω augm. 38, 55. Constr. 197, 202, 222, 227. With inf. as periphrasis for fut. 204 f. μέμνημαι, see μιμηήσκομαι. μέμφομαι constr. 89. μέν 60, 266 f. μέν δè 266 f. μέν άλλά (πλην) 267. μέν σδν 267, 270, 273. μενσῶν γε 60, 260, 269, 270. μέντοι 60, 269. μένω trans. 87. μεριμνάω constr. 104, 111. μερίs omitted 140.
With (acc. and) inf. or öτι 231. λοιδορέω τινά 89.	μέροs omitted 141. μέρη 'region' 84.
λοιπός: (τδ) λοιπόν 94. τοῦ λοιποῦ 94,	μεσανύκτιον for μεσον. 21.
109. Art. repeated after λ. 160 f.	μεσημβρία without art. 148.
λ. omitted 180, 292. Λουκάς 71.	μεσονύκτιον (μεσαν.) 67. Without art. 149 Ιου 109.
λούω, λέλου(σ)μαι 40, 55.	Μεσοποταμία with art. 153.
Λύδδα, -ηs (-as) 25, 31 f. $\dot{\eta}$ and $\tau \dot{\alpha} \Lambda$. 31 f.	μέσος partitive 109, 158. τδ μέσον 158. ανα μέσον 122, 129. $\epsilon \mu (\epsilon \nu) \mu \epsilon \sigma (\nu)$ 12.
λυμαίνομαί τινα 89.	With gen, 129, uégos, uégoy adv
λυπέομαι constr. 137.	έκ μέσου, διὰ μέσου (-ον) with gen. 129, 132. Article 156.
λυσιτελέω constr. 89.	μεστόs with gen. 106.
Δύστρα, -αν, -οις 32.	μετά with acc. 133. μετά τὸ with inf. 236, 239. With gen. 133 f. Denot- ing manner 118. Alternating with
-μα, substantives in, 62. With short stem-vowel 14 f., 62 f. Studied accumulation of, 299.	dat. afterverbs denoting community 114. μετά and σύν 132, 133 f. μετά και 263.
μαθητεύω intrans. and trans. 88, 183.	μεταδίδωμι constr. 100.
μακάριοs withont auxiliary verb 73 f.	μεταλαμβάνω with gen. 100. μεταλα- βών καιρόν 100.
μακρόθεν (από μ.) 59.	μεταλλάσσω constr. 105.
μακροθυμέω constr. 118.	μεταμέλομαι 55. Fut. 45. Constr. 235.
μάλλον, μάλιστα 33. μάλλον omitted 143. Pleonastic μάλλον 143.	μεταξύ 'between' (with gen.), 'after- wards' 129.
μαμωνάς 11.	μετέχω constr. 100.
μανθάνω constr. 247, 227, 238.	μέτοχοs with gen. 106.
μάννα 32.	μετρέω έν τινι 117.
Μάρθα, -as 25, 30.	μετριοπαθέω τινί 110.
Μαριάμ, -ία 30. Μθανικα 15	$\mu \epsilon \chi \rho_1(s) 20, 60.$ With gen. 127. $\mu \cdot o^3$
Μάρκος 15. μ αρτυρέω constr. 111. With λέγων etc.	127, 219, 272. Conjunction 219, 272.
250 έσμαι pass. 184. μαρτυρώ in- serted 282.	μή negative 214, 216, 253 ff. Inter- rogative 254, 259. Before an inf. after verbs containing a negative
μαστός, -σθός, -ζός 24.	idea 255. $\tau \delta \mu \eta$ with inf. 234. $\tau \circ \hat{v}$
μάταιοs 2 and 3 terminations 33.	μη with inf. 235. As conjunction 211 ff.—μη où 213, 254. où μη see
μεθύσκομαι οἴνφ 117.	211 ff.—μη ού 213, 254. ου μη see ού. μη with ellipse 293 f.—μη
μείγνυμι (not μίγν.) 8.	γένοιτο 219, 259.
μειζότερος 34.	μηδέ 60, 261, 265.

μηδείs 14, 178. μηθείs an alternative form 24.	voûs, vaós 29.
μηθαμώς 24.	$v\hat{v}v$, position of, 289.
μηθείς 24.	νύξ: νύκτα καὶ ἡμέραν 94, 109. (τῆς) νυκτός 109. διὰ (τῆς) ν. 109, 132,
μήνεις 24. μήν see εἶ μήν.	149. $\mu \epsilon \sigma \eta s \nu$. 109. $\epsilon \nu \nu \nu \kappa \tau \ell$ 119.
μήποτε 212 f., 220, 255 note 1. μήποτε οὐ μή 256.	κατὰ μέσον τῆς ν. 158. νυχθήμερον 66 f.
μήπωs 60, 212 f., 240 note 1, 255.	νυστάζω ἐνύσταξα 40.
μήτε 60, 261. μήτε μήτε 265 f.	•
$\mu\eta\tau\eta\rho$ to be supplied 95.	
μήτι 254, 259. μήτιγε 254.	$\xi \epsilon vos$ with gen. 106.
μητρολφαs 7, 21.	ξηρά, ή 140.
-µ, verbs in, 48 ff.	ξηραίνω έξηραμμένος 40.
μιαίνω μεμιαμμένος 40, 55.	ξυρέω forms 56. $έξυρdμην$ 186.
μιμνήσκω -όμαι 7. Constr. 103 f. μέμνημαι with present sense 199.	• interchangeable with u and ϵ 21. With $\overline{\iota}$ 22.
Miruλήνη for Muriλ. 22.	ό, ή, τό 145 ft. τὸ, τοῦ, τω with inf.
μνημονεύω constr. 104.	233 ff. ò µèv ò δè 145 f. ò δè, ἡ δè,
μνηστεύω μεμνήστευμαι? 38, 56.	ol δè 146. ὁ μèν oῦν 146. As article
μογιλάλος 24.	146 ff. δ καλ 163.
μόνος never more nearly defined by reference to the whole 97 note 1. μόνος and adv. μόνον 141. κατὰ μόνας 141. οῦ μόνον ἀλλὰ (καl) 267. οῦ μ. δὲ ἀ. καl 291 note 2.	 δδε 35 f., 170. δδός, ellipse of, 108 f., 140. όδόν with gen. versus 94 note 1, 98, 130. όδφ with πορεύομαι etc. 119.
-µós, substantives in, 61 f.	'Ogias 8.
Muoia with art. 153.	8θεν 59, 258 (attraction). Conjunction 274.
Μωϋσήs 10. Declined 29.	
	 oi- often unaugmented 38. oiδα forms 50, 53 (cp. Ισασιν). Constr. 227, 231, 240, 246.
ν , variable, 19.	οίκοδεσπότης 66. οίκ. της οίκίας 295.
Ναζαρετ, -εθ, -αθ 13.	οίκοδομή 62.
ναί 256, 260. <i>ν</i> αί, λέγω ὑμîν 256, 260.	οίκοs without art. 151, 162.
val val 256.	οίκτιρμός 8, 15οί 83.
Ναιμάν Νεεμάν etc. 17 note 2.	οικτίρω (-ίρμων) 8, 15, 56. Trans. 88.
vais in literary lang. for $\pi\lambda a \hat{a} v$ 27.	-oiv for $-ov$ in inf. 48.
Νεάπολις Νέαν πόλιν 32.	
νεκροί without art. 148.	olos 36, 178 f. ούχ ολον ότι 179, 292 note 2. ολος δήποτ' ουν 178.
νεομηνία νουμ. 22.	όλοθρεύω, -ευτής, έξολ. for -ε- 21.
$v(\epsilon)$ orrós $v(\epsilon)$ orrid etc. 23.	δλos with art, 161.
vevu with inf. 226.	όμείρομαι for iμ. 22. With gen. 102.
νήθω 56.	δμιλέω constr. 114.
νήστις, plur. νήστεις 27.	(όμνυμι), όμνύω 48. Constr. 88, 123,
νικάω, ό νικών with perfect sense 189.	131, 133, 232.
vîkos, $\tau \delta$ for $\dot{\eta} \nu l \kappa \eta 28$ f.	όμοθυμαδόν 70.
νίπτω for νίζω 41, 56.	δμοιάζω constr. 114.
νοέω constr. 231.	δμοιοs accent 14. 2 terminations? 33.
νομίζω not with double acc. 92. With inf., with $\delta \tau \iota$ 201 f., 231 f.	With dat. (or gen.) 106, 114. δμοιόω constr. 114.
vóµos without art. 150.	όμολογέω constr. 92, 110, 131, 202, 247.
νότοs without art. 148.	όμόσε = όμοῦ 59.

δμως 60, 269.

όνειδίζω τινά 89.

όνίναμαι with gen. 101.

- **όνομα**: ῷ ὅν., οῦ τὸ ὄν., (καὶ τὸ) ὅν. αὐτοῦ, ὀνόματι 74, 85, 118. τοῦνομα 94. ἐπιτίθημι, ἐπικαλέω τινὶ ὄν. 115. καλέω τὸ ὅν. τινος ... (acc.) 92. πιστεύω εἰς τὸ ὅν. τινος 110. ἐπὶ (ἐν) τῷ ὀν. τινος etc. 123 f.
- -oos, contraction of, in 2nd decl. 25.

öπισθεν with gen. 107, 128.

- όπίσω with gen. 107, 128 f.
- όποῖος 36, 175, 179.
- όπότε 59 f., 218, 272.
- öπov 'where ' and 'whither ' 58.
- όπτάνομαι 56. With dat. 113, 185. Cp. δράω.
- δπως 60, 175, 211 f., 221, 258.
- **όράω** defective, supplemented by βλέπω, θεωρῶ, εἶδον etc. 56. Perf. εἰόρακα and ἐώρ. 39. Pass. δητάνομαι, ὥφθην 56, 185. Constr. 88 note 1, 126, 246. ὅρα, ὁρᾶτε μή 209, 213, 278. ορα μή elliptical 293.
- όργίζομαι constr. 118.
- όρέγομαι with gen. 102.
- όρεινή, ή 140.
- δρθοποδέω 67.
- όρίζω constr. 225.
- όρκίζω constr. 88, 92, 133, 241.
- όρνιξ, όρνεον 27.
- όροθεσία, $\dot{\eta}$, or -έσια, τà 69.
- όρύσσω aor. pass. 44.
- 55, 4, 8 36. Uses 173 ff., 216 ff. Confused with $o\sigma\tau s$ 172 f. Not used for τs 176 (hnt see also 218). Used with disregard to formal agreement 166. Attraction 173 ff. $\delta s \ \mu \ell r$... $\delta s \ \delta \ell \ 145$ f. $\delta \phi' \ \eta s \ 140$. $\delta' \ \delta \tau r$ 77, 204. $\epsilon r \ \phi' \ see \ \epsilon r$. $\epsilon \phi' \ \phi' \ see \ \epsilon \pi t$.
- -oola, substantives in, 69.
- δσιος, δ, ή 33.
- δσος 36, 178 f. σσον σσον 179.
- δσπερ not in use 36, 173.
- οστέον -ούν 25.
- **Sorris** (almost) confined to the nom. 36. Uses 172 f., 216 ff. With conj. without ε_{ν} ? 217. Not used in indirect questions 175, but cp. 176. δ, τ_{ℓ} in direct questions 176: $= \delta \iota^{2} \delta, \tau_{\ell}$ 177. Sorris $\varepsilon_{\nu} \tilde{\eta}$ 178.
- δταν 60, 218 f., 272.
- δτε 60, 218, 228, 272. ότὲ μὲν ... ότὲ δὲ 258.

- δτι 60, 222, 229, 230 ff., 240 (272) 286. Before direct speech 233, 286. 'Because' 274. ούχ (σίον) ότι 179, 292 note 2.
- δτου in έως ότου, μέχρι ότ. 36, 127, 219.
- -oû, adverhs in, 58f.
- ού, 253 ff., 214, 216 f. ού ... $d\lambda\lambda\dot{a}$ (δέ) 266, 267. οὐ μόνον ... $d\lambda\lambda\dot{a}$ (και) 267. οὐ μ. δὲ ἀ. και 291 note 2. οὐ in questions 254, 259, 209 f. οὐ ... οὐ (μὴ) neutralizing each other 256. οὐ ... οὐδείς etc. intensifying the negation 256. οὐ οῦ (ditto) 256. οὐ μή with conj. (or fut.) 209 f. οὐ πάντως and similar phrases 257. οὐχ δr. 292 note 2. οὐ χ dlaν ὅr. 179, 292 note 2. οὐ γάρ 275.
- ού 'where' and 'whither' 58.
- oủaí, ή 32. With dat. 112.
- ούδέ 60, 261, 265 f. άλλ' οὐδὲ 269. οὐδὲ γὰρ 275.
- ούδείς 14. Also οὐθείς 24. σὐδείς, οὐδὲ εῖς 178. σὐδ. δς σὐ 173, 256. σὐδέν 'nothing worth' 76. σὐχ ολίγσς 16.
- ούθέτερος 178.
- ούκοῦν 60, 273.
- ούν 60, 272 f. άρα ούν 273. μέν ούν see μέν.
- ούράνιος, δ, ή 33.
- oipavós and -oi 83. Without art. 147f.
- Οὐρΐας 8.
- -οῦσαι 2nd pers. pass. in verbs in -όω
 47 note 2.
- ούτε 60, 261. ούτε ... ούτε (καί) 265 f.
- obros 35. Uses 170 ff. With and without art. 172. Referring to a subsequent clause with öτι, ipa, or inf. 171, 229. τοῦτο μέν... τοῦτο δὲ 171. καὶ τοῦτο idque 171, 263. καὶ ταῦτα with part. 171, 248, 263. οὖτοs with anaphora 301.
- ούτω(s) 19 f. After a participle 253. As predicate 257. ώs... ούτωs (καλ) 270.
- οιχί 254, 256 f. ουχί, λέγω υμίν 256.
- όφειλέτης είμί constr. 111.
- όφείλω : ώφειλον 206. Constr. 227.
- öφελον particle to introduce a wish 206 f., 220.
- όφθαλμοδουλία (-εία) 68.

a

- όφθαλμόs without art. 151 with note 2. όψία, ή 140.
- -óω, verbs in, new forms of, 61.

παιδεύομαι constr. 227. (ἐκ) παιδιόθεν 59.	πεινάω contract verb in \bar{a} instead of η 47, 56. Tenses 40, 56. Constr.
(ek) παιδιούεν 35. παίζω 56, 40. Fut. 43.	90, 102.
πάζω 50, 40. Filt. 45. πάλιν άνακάμπτειν and similar phrases	πειράζω, meanings of, 56. Constr. 225.
295.	πεισμονή 62.
παμπληθεί 8, 69.	πενθέω intrans. and trans. 88.
Παμφυλία with and without art. 153.	πέποιθα with present sense 199. Constr. 110, 123, 136, 137, 232.
πανδοκεΐον, -χεΐον 24.	περ in combinations like καίπερ 60.
πανοικεί 8, 69.	πέρα 7.
πανταχη, πάντη 7.	πέραν with gen. 107.
$\pi \dot{a} \gamma \tau \sigma \tau \epsilon$ for $d \epsilon i$ 59.	περί with acc. 134. of $περi$ αὐτόν,
πάντως ου and ου πάντως 257.	Παῦλον 134, 157. With gen. 134 f.: confused with ὑπέρ 134 f. Com-
παρά with acc. 138. With compara- tive 108 : cp. 138 (with positive 143).	pounds of $\pi\epsilon\rho l$ transitive 89; with dat. etc. 115 f.
With gen. 138. With dat. 138 f.	περιάγω intrans. 182.
Compounds of $\pi \alpha \rho \dot{\alpha}$ transitive 89: with dat. etc. 115.	περιβάλλω constr. 92, 115 f ομαι mid.
παραγγέλλω constr. 226, 232, 240 f.	constr. 93 with note 2.
παράγω intrans. 182.	περιβλέπομαι mid. 186. Constr. 227.
παραδίδωμι constr. 223, 236.	περιέχω 182 note 3.
παραθαλάσσιος, -ία 33.	περίκειμαι with acc. 93. With dat. etc.
παραινέω constr. 90, 226, 241.	116.
παραιτέσμαι with $\mu \eta$ and inf. 255.	περιούσιος 64.
παρακαλέω constr. 226, 233, 235, 241, 249. παρεκάλει, -εσεν 191.	περιπατέω with dat. 119. περιπίπτω constr. 116.
248. παρεκαλάς, -ευτο 101. παραλαμβάνω constr. 227. παραλαβών 248.	περισσός, -ότερος, -ŵς, -οτέρως for πλείων, μαλλον etc. 33 note 4, 58,
παράλιος, ό, ή 33.	143. $\pi \epsilon \rho \iota \sigma \sigma \delta s$ with gen. 108.
παρατηρέω, -έομαι 186.	περιτέμνομαι pass. 185.
πάρειμι, -είναι constr. 115.	περ(χωρος, ή 140.
παρέχω, -ομαι 186. Constr. 115.	πέρυσι (πέρσυ, πέρισυ), not - 19.
παρρησία 10.	$\pi\eta\lambda$ (κos 36. For $\dot{\eta}\lambda$ (κos 179.
παρρησιάζομαι constr. 227.	πηχυς, -ων 27.
$\pi \hat{a}s$ with art. 161 f. $\pi \hat{a}s \ \epsilon \xi 97$. $\dot{o} \ \pi \hat{a}s$,	πιάζω, -έζω 20, 56. πιάζω constr. 101.
οί πάντες, τὰ πάντα 162. πᾶς ὅστις,	π (εσαι. See $π$ lyω.
δs 173 (244). πâs ὁ with part. 243 f. πâν τὸ with part. 244. πâsού, ού	πιμπλάω for $-\eta\mu$ 49. Constr. 102.
$\pi as - row with part. 244. \pi as \dots bb, bb\dots \pi \hat{a}s = ov\delta \epsilon is 162, 178, 283 \text{ note } 1.$	πίνω 56. πείν or πίν for πιείν 23. πίεσαι 47. πίνω constr. 100.
$\pi \dot{\alpha} \nu \tau \epsilon s$ où 257. $\pi \dot{\alpha} \nu \tau \omega \nu$ a stereotyped	πιπράσκω 56 f. Perf. 200.
form with $\pi \rho \omega \tau \eta$ 108.	-
πάσχα (φάσκα) 12, 32.	πιστεύω constr. 110, 123, 136, 137, 232ομαι pass. 93, 185.
πάσχω ὑπό 184.	πιστικός 64.
Πάταρα (-ερα) 20.	πίστις constr. 123, 136.
πατρολώαs 7, 21, 68.	πιστός constr. 110 f., 143. τδ πλείστον
παύω ἐπάην 44, 56ομαι constr. 105, 245.	'at most' 94.
πεζη 7.	$\pi\lambda\epsilon i\sigma \tau \sigma s 33.$
πειθόs non-existent 64.	πλείων, neut. πλείον πλέον 22. ol πλείονες, meanings of, 142 f. πλείων
πείθω 56. πείθω and -ομαι constr. 226, 232. Cp. πέποιθα.	before numerical statements with- out # 108.
πείν for πιείν 23, 56.	πληγή omitted 140.

πλήν 127. 'Yet' (= $a\lambda\lambda a$) 268. 'Only' 268.	πρόϊμος—πρώϊμος 22.
πλήρηs used indeclinably 81. Constr.	προκαταγγέλλω constr. 202, 232. προλαμβάνω with inf. 227.
106.	προμελετάω with inf. 227.
πληρόω and -δομαι mid. 186. Constr.	προνοέομαί τινος 104.
102, 117. Pass. with acc. 93.	προοράω : προορώμην ? 37.
$\pi\lambda\eta\sigma(\omega v)$ with gen. 107. (δ) $\pi\lambda$. 157.	
π λοῦς, π λοός 25, 29.	πρόs with acc. 139: for παρό τινι (τινα) 139: interchangeable with dat.
πλοῦτος, ở and $τ$ 28.	110f, 114f 116 - f mode muse 120
πνεῦμα without art. 149. ποθέω 40, 57.	$\pi \rho \delta s \tau i$ 139. $\pi \rho \delta s \mu \epsilon$ 165. $\pi \rho \delta s \tau \delta$ with inf. 236
ποιέω, -έομαι constr. 91 f., 124, 134,	140.—Compounds of $\pi\rho\delta s$, constr.
135. $\kappa \alpha \lambda \hat{\omega}_{s}$ ($\epsilon \vartheta$) π . 89: (with part.)	116.
245). With "va or inf. 226, 235,	προσανατίθεμαί τινι 116.
240. $\pi oi \epsilon \omega$ for $-\epsilon o \mu a i$ mid. 183 f.	προσέρχομαι constr. 116.
Pass. almost unrepresented 184.	προσεύχομαί τινι 110. With iva etc.
ποίος 36, 176, 179. <i>ποίας</i> sc. όδοῦ 108, 140.	226, 235.
	προσέχω intrans. 182, 292. Constr. 88
πόλιs with gen. of the name 98.	note 1, 116, 126. With inf. (or <i>iva</i>) 227.
$\pi \circ \lambda \circ s$ followed by kal 263. of $\pi \circ \lambda \circ i$	προσδέομαι with gen. 105.
143. πολλάς δέρεσθαι 91, 140. πολύ, πολλ $\hat{\varphi}$ with comparative 143.	προσδοκώ constr. 202, 232.
πορεύομαι όδ $\hat{\varphi}$ etc. 119. πορεύου and	προσήκει wanting in N.T. 206 note 2.
-θητι 196, 249. πορευθείς 249.	προσήλυτος 69.
πόρρω (in literary language) = μ ακράν	προσκαλέσμαι constr. 227.
24. As predicate 257.	προσκυνέω constr. 89, 110. Imperf.
πόρρωθεν 59. = μακρόθεν 24.	and aor. distinguished 192.
πορρωτέρω (-ον) 35.	προσλαμβάνομαι constr. 100.
πόσος 36, 179.	προσπίπτω constr. 116.
ποταμοφόρητος 68.	προσποιέομαι with inf. 227 .
ποταπός 36, 176, 229.	προστάσσω constr. 226.
ποτέ 59 f., 212 f. (μήποτε).	προστίθημι constr. 116 ϵ μαι 'con-
πότερον, ή 176, 259.	tinue to' etc. with inf. 227, 258. $\pi\rho\sigma\sigma\theta\epsilon$'s $\epsilon l\pi\epsilon\nu$ and similar phrases
$\pi \sigma \tau (\zeta \omega $ with double acc. 92. Pass. with acc. 93.	249, 258.
Ποτίολοι 22.	προσφάγιον 69.
$\pi o \hat{v}$ 'where' and 'whither' 58.	προσφωνέω constr. 116.
πov (rare) 58.	πρόσωπον without art. 150 f. In peri-
πραος, πρφος 7.	phrases 83, 129 f., 151. πρόσωπου λαμβάνω 4 (προσωπολήμπτηs etc. 68).
πράσσω: εῦ πράσσω for καλῶς ποιῶ?	
245.	πρότερος -ον 34. προτίθεμαι constr. 225.
πρέπει constr. 241.	προϋπάρχω with part. 244 f.
πρίν 60. Constr. 219, 229, 240, 272.	προφητεύω augm. 39.
πρίν ή 218 f., 229, 272. Prepos. with	προφθάνω constr. 245.
gen. 229 note 2.	$\pi\rho\omega\ell_{\mu}$, $\tau\delta$ answering the question
Πρίσκα, Πρίσκιλλα 15 note 1. πρό with gen. 126f. προ προσώπου	When? 94, 157.
προ with gen. 1201. <i>μρο μρο</i> π <i>μ</i>	πρωία, ή 140.
προάγω intrans. 182.	πρώιμος. See πρόϊμος.
προαιτιάομαι constr. 232.	πρώρα 7.
προβλέπομαι mid. 186.	ποώτοs for πρότερος 34. 'First of all'
πρόδηλον ότι 233.	141. πρώτον μεν 267.
appointer ere zoor	

πυκνότερον 142 note 1. πύλη and -αι 84. πύλη omitted 140. πυνθάνομαι constr. 103. πῶς 258. For ws or 871 230. πως 60, 212 f. (είπως, μήπως). ρ , - $\rho\rho$ 10. Reduplication with $\dot{\rho}$ - 38. -ρά 1st declens. gen. -ρηs 25. όαίδη 9. 'Paχáβ, 'Paáβ 12. ρεραντισμένος 38, 57. δεριμμένος 38, 57. ρέω fut. 43, 57. ρήγνυμι ρήσσω (ράσσω) 57. **δίπτω** - έω 57. **δ**ίψαν 15. Perf. pass. 38. -ρσ-, -ρρ- 2, 23. δύομαι 57. σ , variable, 19 f. σάββατον 13. Dat. plur. -aouv 29. έν) τοῖς σ., τῷ σ. etc. 120. δἰς τοῦ σ. 97, 109. δψε σαββάτων 97. Σαλαμίν, -ίνη 32. σαλπίζω, ἐσάλπισα etc. 40, 57. σαλπίσει 75. Σαλώμη 30. Σαμάρεια, -ίτης 8. $\cdot \sigma \alpha \nu$ for $\cdot \nu$ in the imperat. 46. In the impf. 46. In the optat. 46 f. Σάπφιρα 7. 11. -ns 25. σαρδ(ι)όνυξ 66. Σάρεπτα, -φθα 13, 32. σαρκικός, -ινος 65. σάρξ without art. 150. πάσα σ. 162. τό κατὰ σάκρα 94, 157. κατὰ σ. with 'Ισραήλ, κύριος etc. 159. Σαρωνα 32. σατανάς, σατάν 32. Without art. 148. σεαυτού not σαυτού 35. Σεκούνδος, Σέκ. 15. σελήνη without art. 147. σημαίνω, έσήμανα, 40, 57. Constr. 232.σήμερον (not τήμ.) 23. σίκερα 32. Σιλουανός, Σιλâs 71. Σιλωάμ, δ 32. σιμικίνθιον 9.

Σίμων for Συμεών 30. **Sivâ** 8, 32. σιρικόν 9. -σιs, substantives in, 62. σîτος plur. -α 28. Σιών 8. σιώπα πεφίμωσο 278. σκάνδαλον 4. σκέπτομαι, σκοπέω 57. Σκευάς 12. σκληροκαρδία, -κάρδιος 67. σκότος, τὸ (not ὁ) 28. Σόδομα, .ων 32. Σολομών, -ώνοs and -μών, -μώντοs 29. σπάω and -ομαι mid. 184. σπίλος not σπίλος 15. σπλαγχνίζομαι 61. Constr. 104, 135, 136. σπόγγος, σφόγγος 24. σπουδάζω 57. Fut. 43. Constr. 225.σπυρίς, σφυρίς 24. -σσ-, -ττ- 2, 23. στάδιον plur. -oi and -a 28. στάμνος, ή 26. στάνω for ίστημι 48. Στεφανάς 71. στήκω for ξστηκα 41. στηρίζω, formation of tenses of, 40, 42, 57. inf. 235. στ. τὸ πρόσωπον τοῦ with στοιχίω with dat. 119. στόμα without art. 151. In periphrases 83, 103, 129 f., 137, 151. στρατεία, στρατιά 8. στρέφω intrans.? 182. στρωννύω 48. 57. συγγενήs dat. plur. -εῦσι 27. Fem. -ίs 33 συγκαλέω and -έομαι mid. 186. συκομορέα 9. συλλέγω 55. συμβαίνω: συνέβη 228, 240. συμβουλεύω, -ομαι constr. 225. σύμμορφοs with gen. 106. With dat. 114. συμφέρει constr. 110, 227 f., 240 f. $\sigma \nu \mu \phi \epsilon \rho o \nu$ as subst. 244. σύμφορον (-έρον) with gen. 110. συμφωνέω pass. constr. 114 note 1, 240.

σύν in composition not assimilated 12. Its uses in comparison with those of μετὰ with gen. 132, 133 f. Verbs (and adjectives) compounded with σύν, constr. with dat. 114 f.	τίς 36. Uses of, 175 f. Position 290. For πότερος 36, 176. For δστις 175 f. With partitive gen. and $\epsilon \xi$ ($\epsilon \nu$) 97. τ (s ήμην κ.τ.λ. 177. τ (as predicate to ταῦτα 77, 177. τ ((predic.) $\epsilon \gamma \epsilon$ -
συναντάω fut. 43, 52.	νετο 77, 177. τί 'why?' 177. τί
συνέρχομαί τινι 'go with anyone' 114.	ότι (τί γέγονεν ότι), ίνα τί 177. τί
συνευδοκώ constr. 227.	'how' 177. τίπρος ήμας, σέ 73, 139, 177. τί έμοι (ήμιν) και σοι 73 (cp.
-σύνη, substantives in, 63.	74), 177. τι γάρ μοι-73. τι γάρ;
συνήθειά έστιν constr. 228.	74), 177. τίγαρ μοι-73. τίγαρ; 177, 274. τίοδν; 177.
συνίημι, συνίω 51.	τιs indefinite pron. 36, 177 f. With
συνίστημι constr. 118 note 1 (233 note 1, 238).	partitive gen. and $\xi (\epsilon \nu) 97$. $\epsilon ls \tau \iota s$ 144, 178. $\tau \iota$ 'something special'
συντίθεμαι constr. 225, 235.	(predic.) 76 f.: similar use of τ is 77. où τ is 256. τ is of with part. 243.
Συρία with and without art. 153.	Position of τ is 288, 297.
Συροφοινίκισσα, φοίνισσα 63, 66.	τίς ποτε 'someone or other' 178.
σφυδρόν for σφυρόν 24.	TOL only found in combinations 60.
ώζω, σώσω etc., έσώθην σέσωται 7, 57.	τοιγαρούν 273.
	τοίνυν 273.
	τοιόσδε 36, 170.
ταμείον 23.	τοιοῦτος, neuto and -ov 36. ότ. 161,
τάσσω aor. and fut. pass. $43f.$, 57. Constr. 240 f.	179. τοιαύτη pleonastically used after ola 175.
τάχιον for θασσον 34. Meaning 142.	τολμάω constr. 225.
τε 261, 263 f. τε () καλ, τε τε etc. 264 f.	-τος (verbal adj.) 37, 64. In com- pound words 68. Constr. with gen. 107.
τέκνον, τεκνίον with μου 113.	τοσοῦτος, neuto and -ov 36.
τελευτάω intrans. 292.	τότε 276.
τελέω, τελέσω 42, 57. With part.	τουτέστι, τοῦτ' ἔστι 14, 18, 77.
245. - $\tau \acute{e} \sigma v$, verbal adjectives in, 37 (206	τρέμω with part. 246.
note 2).	τρίβω, συντετρίφθαι 15.
τέρας, plur. τέρατα 26.	τρίμηνος, ή 140.
τέσσαρες, -αρα (-ερα?) 20. Accαρες? 20, 26.	τρίτου τοῦτο 'now for the third time' 91, 145. (τδ) τρ. 'for the third time' 145. $\epsilon\kappa$ τρίτου 145.
τεσσαρεσκαιδέκατος 35.	τρόπος: δν τρόπον etc., καθ' δν τρ.,
τεσσεράκοντα 20. τεσσερακονταέτης 70.	παντί τρόπω 94, 118.
	Τρφάs, article 152.
τετραάρχης 70.	Τρωγίλιον, -υλία etc. 22.
τετράμηνος, ή 140.	τρώγω for έσθίω 54.
τηλαυγήs 68. τηλικούτος, neutον and -ο 36. ότηλ. 161.	τυγχάνω forms 57. Constr. 102. εἰ τύχοι 221. τυχόν 252. οἰχ ὁ τυχών 255 f.
τηρέω constr. 126.	τύπτω defective 57.
Thorov, substantives in, 62, 64.	
-της, nouns denoting the agent in, 62. In compound words 68.	v shortened before ξ 15. Interchange-
τi . See τis .	able with $\iota 22$. = Lat. $\breve{u} 13$. $\kappa \breve{v} =$ Lat. -qui-13.
τ(θημι forms 49, 51. Act. and mid. 186. Constr. 226 f.	iaλos, ό for ή 26.
τίκτω aor. pass. 44, 57.	ύγιήs accιη 27.
$\tau(y\omega \tau \epsilon l \sigma \omega \text{ etc. } 8.$	^δ δωρ omitted 141.
TIM TEN W OUT OF	

- ύετόs omitted 141. vi changed into v 9 f. -vîa 1st decl. gen. -víŋs 25. viós to he supplied with a gen. 95. In metaphorical sense 95 f. ύ. αὐτῶν ' your ύμῶν for *ύμέτερο*ς 168. selves' (not reflexive) 170. -ύνω, new verb formed in, 61. ύπάγω 'go' 57, 182. Pres. not used in future sense 189. υπαγε 196, 278. υπακούω with dat. 103. With inf. 227. iπάρχω not employed for periphrases 203 note 1. With part. ibid. and 244. ύπέρ with acc. 135. With comparative 108. With gen. 135. Confused with $\pi \epsilon \rho i$ with gen. 134, 135. Used adverbially (in conjunction with adv. etc.) 14, 65 f., 135.-Verb compounded with $\delta \pi \epsilon \rho$ transitive 89. ύπεράνω 65. ύπερβάλλω constr. 104. ύπερέκεινα 14, 66. ύπερεκπερισσοῦ, -ῶς 14 with note 1, 66, 135. With gen. 108. ύπερέχω constr. 89, 104. ύπερλίαν, ύπερ λίαν 14, 66, 135. $\upsilon \pi \delta$ with acc. and gen. 135. ύπὸ χεῖρα 135 note 2. Compounds with $i\pi \delta$, constr. 116. ύποδείκνυμι constr. 233. ύποκάτω 14, 65. With gen. 107, 129, 135 note 1. ύποκρίνομαι aor. 44. Constr. 232. *i*πολαμβάνω not used with double acc. 92. With 571 232. ύπομένω transit. 87. ύπομιμνήσκω, -ομαι constr. 104. ύπονοέω constr. 232. ύποστέλλομαι constr. 235. -ŭoía, substantives in, 69. ύστερέω constr. 88 f., 91, 105, 112. ύστεροs -ov also used in superlative sense 34 f. φ, reduplication of, 11. φάγομαι 42, 54. φάγεσαι 47, 54. **φαιλόνηs** 9. φαίνω έφανα 40, 57. φαίνομαί τινι 185. With part.? 245.
- φανερόομαι constr. 233, 239.

- φανερός : εν τφ φ., είς φ. 156. Φαρίσαίοι 8.
- φαύσκω, φώσκω 57.
- φείδομαι with gen. 101. φειδομένως 58.
- φέρω 57. φέρε, φέρετε 196 note 2. φέρων 248.
- φεύγω trans. and with $\dot{a}\pi \delta$ 87.

Φήλιξ 15.

- φημί 50. φησίν without subj. 75. φημί öτι 232. έφη omitted 292. φημί omitted 294.
- φθάνω 57, 245.
- φιλέω constr. 227. Used to express 'gladly' 258.
- φιλόνικοs not -εικοs 8.
- $\phi(\lambda_{os} \text{ with gen.} (\epsilon l \mu l \phi. \text{ with dat.}) 112.$
- φοβέομαι fut. 45, 58. Trans. and with άπ∂ 88. With $μ \dot{\eta}$ 212 f., 240 note 1. With inf. 225.
- φόβηθρον for -τρον 24.
- $φ_{op}$ formation of tenses of, 40, 58.
- φορτίζω with double acc. 92.
- φρεναπάτης, -άω 68, 70.
- φροντίζω constr. 227.
- $\Phi \rho \nu \gamma la$ with and without art. 153.
- Φύγελ(λ)os 11.
- φυλακή : τετάρτη φ. etc. 120.
- -φύλαξ in composition 68.
- φυλάσσω άπο 88. -ομαι trans. and with άπο 87 f. φυλάσσω φυλακάς 90. φυλύσσομαι ϊνα μή 225.
- φύω έφύην 43, 58.
- χαίρω, fut. 43, 58. Constr. 118, 137 (245). χαρậ χ. 119. χαίρειν sc. λέγει 222, 292.
- χάριν and χάριτα 26. χάριν with gen. 127. Position 290. χάρις ύμῶν καὶ είρήνη 288.
- χειμάρρου from -ρρος (-άρρους) 25.
- χείρ omitted 140. χ. in periphrases 83, 130, 151. ύπο χείρα 135 note 2. χείρες και πόδες 289.
- χέω. See $\chi \dot{\nu} \nu (\nu) \omega$. $\chi \epsilon \hat{\omega}$ ibid.
- χλιαρός, -ερός 20.
- χορτάζω, -ομαι constr. 101.
- χράομαι, contract forms of, 47. Constr. 90, 114.
- **χρείαν ἔχω** constr. 227 f. χρεία τοῦ with inf. 234.
- χρεοφειλέτης (χρεωφ.) 22, 68.
- χρή almost entirely absent 206 note 2.

χρήζω constr. 105. χρηματίζω, -oμaι (pass.) constr. 226, ώρα omitted 140, 149. Without art. 232, 239 f. 149. ώρα sc. έστίν 227 f., 240 f. ώραν 73: constr. Χρηστιανός not Χριστ. 63. ώραν έβδόμην etc. (question When?) 94. Simple dat. **χρίσμα** 15. Χριστόs without art. 152. 170, 276. χρίω constr. 92. -ws, adverbs in, 58. χρονίζω constr. 227. ώs 60, 270 f. χύ(ν)νω for χέω 41, 58. Fut. xeû 42, 270 f. With predicate 92f., 270. 58. ώς έπί versus 271. ώς τάχιστα 142, χωρίs with gen. 107, 127, 290 and 297 f. 271. notes 6 and 1 (position). 253. exclamations 258. ψεύδομαι constr. 110. ώστε? 223. ψύχω fut. pass. 44, 58. ώσάν (ώs άν) 233, 253 note 1, 270. ψωμίζω constr. 92. ώσεί 253, 270. ώσπερ 60, 253, 270. ω interchanged with α 22. ώσπερεί 270. ώστε 60, 223 f., 240 (272 with note 2). δ before the vocative 86. **δδε** 'here' ('hither') 58 f. ώτίον (ώτάριον) beside ofs 63. ώφέλεια -ελία 8. ώθέω ώσα 37, 58. ώφελέω constr. 89, 90. -ών, substantives in, 64.

-ων (comparat.) -ονες (-ous) etc. 27.

ώνέομαι ώνούμην 37. 58.

and dat. with ev 120. ev avry ry wpg.

Comparative particle With participle etc. 246 f., ovx ws 253. ws ov 256. In ώς, ώς ὄτι in assertions 230 f. Temporal ús 218, 272. With inf. 225. With inf. for

ώφθην apparui 56, 185 ; cp. δράω.

III. INDEX OF NEW TESTAMENT PASSAGES.

					1 (0		_	1.40
		ATTHEW.	11.		143.	24.		143.
1. 2		152.		22, 24		24.	15 f.	281.
1. 18	8	252, 257.	12.		287.	24.	17	258.
1. 19	9	248.	12.	21	19 n. 3, 110 n. 2.	24.	22	178.
1. 2	2	200.	12,		273.	24.		99f., 158 note 2.
2.6		157, 244.	12.	22	265.	24.	12	172, 189.
3.4		164.	12.	26	283.	24.	45	157, 160.
3. 1/		165, 190.	10	30	124.	25.	45	200.
			12.	41		20.	0	
3. 10		83.	13.	12	217.	25.	9	196, 213, 255.
3. I		292.	13.	23	146, 274.	25.	11	301.
4. I	5	94 note 1, 98,	13.	30	90.	25.		270.
		130, 147.	13.		172.	25.	24, 26	175, 258.
5. I		251.	13.	46	200.	25.	41	196.
5. I	7	266.	14.	6	120 note 3.	26.	ŝ	294.
5. 1		299.	14.		251 note 1.	26.	21	254.
5. 20		108.	15.	2	209.	26.	25	254.
5. 2		102.	15.	3	233.	26.	28	134.
		293.				26.	20	218.
5.3			15.	52	85, 266.	20. 0e	29	
5.3	<u>9п</u> .	195, 217.	16.		88 note 1.	26.	33	215.
5.4	31.	209.	16.		293.	26.		196.
6.3		252.	16.		125.	26.	39	268.
6. 1		245.	16.		209.	26.	50	176.
6.3	0	214.	17.	4	215 note 2.	26.	53	191.
6. 3		104, 195.	17.	iif.	267.	26.	62	106, 176 n. l.
7.1		173.	18.	4	217.	26.		268.
7.2		173.	18.		215.	27.		224.
	5, 27		18.		145.	27.		260.
8. 1	5, 27	251 f.	18.		251.	27.		293.
								400. 77 001
8.2		215.	18.		104.	27.	33	77, 281.
8.9		196.	18.	32	191.	27.	38	145.
8. 2		293.	19.		257.	27.	4 <u>0</u>	198.
8. 2		172, 251.	19.	25, 27		27.	48	251 note 1.
8. 3	4	191.	19.	29	277.	27.	49	202, 208, 248.
9. 2		51, 188 note 1.	20.	2	94, 105.	28.	I	97.
9.6		294.	20.	18	111.	28.	9	152.
9.9	,	182 note 1.	20.		234.		-	
9. i		218.	21.	4	200.			Mark.
9. 1		251.	9 1		113.	1	23	131.
9. 2		172.	21. 21.	Ş	143.		31	197.
9. 2		182 note 1.	δ1. 01	orf	147.			
			21.	25 f.		1.	45	227 note 1.
9. 30		278.	21.		298.	Z.	I	239.
10. I		224.	22.		255.	Z.	5	51.
10.4		198 note 1.	22.		143.	2.	10	286.
10. 1		209.	23.		217.	2.	13	124.
10. 2	3	180.	23.	25 f.	107 note 1.	2.	28	284.
10. 28	8	264.	23.	33	210.	3.	7	124.
10. 3:	2, 33	217. l	24.	4	278.		11	207.
11. 8		268.	24.	6	278.		14	226.
					322		-	

9	007				
3. 20	265.	14. 21	254.	5.36	159 note 1, 264,
3. 21	138.	14. 24	134.	0	293.
3. 26	214.	14. 27	275.	6.3	272.
4.9	228.	14. 29	215, 251, 291.	6 4	241, 254.
4. 20	146.		196.	6. 4 6. 8	070
4. 22		14. 34	190.		279.
T. 22	216, 218 note 1,	14. 36	175, 268.	6. 14 ff.	263.
	269.	14. 44	164.	6. 25	87 note 2.
4. 25	217.	14. 6o	176 note 1, 177	6.29f.	105, 195.
4.30	166.		note 1.	6.48	250 note 1.
4. 41	293.	14.65	118.	7. 4	218.
5.2	131.	14. 68	265.	7. 4 7. 6	248.
5. 41	166.	14. 72	182.	7.8	196.
5. 43	230 note 2.	15. 2	260.		
6. 2			200.	7. 12	164, 262.
	143, 176.	15.6	36, 207.	7. 17	130.
6. 7	145.	15. IO	200.	7. 24 fl.	
6. 8 f.	286.	15. 25	262.	8.5f.	267.
6.22ff.	186 note 1.	16. 2	120.	8. 18	217.
6. 27	230.	[Mc.] 16.	9 144.	8. 24	301.
6.37	212.	[Mc.] 16.	ioff. 172.	8. 27, 2	
6. 39 f.	145, 230.			8.40	237.
			T		164.
6. ₋₄₅	219.		LUKE.	8. 41 f.	
6.48	237.	1. I	274.	8. 52	196.
6.56	207.	1. 1-4	280.	9.3	265.
7.11	281 note 1.	1.4	174.	9.3 9.7	108.
7. 20	172.		274.	9.13	216.
7. 25	175.	1.7	288.	9. 24 f.	167 note 3.
	124.		102, 235.	9. 25	248.
7. 31		1.9		9. 28	85, 262.
8. 7	230 note 2.	1. 12	287.		
8.15	88 note 1.	1. 17	130.	9. 33	241.
8. 23	101.	1. 20	174, 219.	9. 34	237.
8. 26	265.	1. 21	237.	9. 36	200.
8. 32	133.	1. 23	288.	9.45	225.
8 25	217.	1. 37	178.	9.46	130.
8.35			229.	9. 49 f.	217.
9. 10	234.	1.43		0 50	224.
9.13	267 f.	1.45	138.	9. 52	242.
9. 20	283.	1. 46 ff.	151.	9. 59	
9.26	143.	1.54	224.	9.60	299.
9. 28	176, 251.	1. 59	190.	10. 6	293.
9. 37	267 note 2.	1. 65 ff.	287.	10. 35	237 note 1.
9.40	217.	1. 68 ff.	151.	10. 37	134.
		1. 70	160.	10. 39	170.
9.43	215.	1.70		10. 41	301.
9.45	241.	1. 71, 7	2 22 3 . 165	11. 2	219.
10. 29	277.	1. 73	175.	11. 2	196.
10. 30	215.	1. 76	295 note 2.	11. 3	
10. 33	111.	2. I	171, 288.	11. 5 11. 6	210, 262.
10. 49	230 note 2.	2.8	203.	11.6	218.
11. 19	207.	2. 21	234, 262.	11.8	215, 254.
	218.	2. 26	185, 219.	11. 13	258.
11. 25		2. 27	107, 135, 237.	11. 28	270.
11. 30 f.	148.			12.8	217.
11. 31 f.	286.	2. 28	164.		88 note 1.
11. 32	192.	2. 37	164.	12. 15	
12. 4	61.	3. 18	273.	12. 36	211.
12. 28	108.	3, 21	237.	12.48	175.
12. 20	234.	4. I	248.	12. 51	269.
12. 33		4. 16	112.	12. 58	272.
12. 41, 44	4 199	4. 20, 2		13.9	271, 293.
13. 7	219.			13. 13	38.
13. 19	173, 175.	4. 29	224.	13. 16	85.
13. 34	270.	5.3	179.		
14. 2	294.	5.7	138.	13. 24	282.
	106.	5. 19	108, 140.	13. 28	218.
14. 3	124.	5. 24	196, 286.	13. 33	303 note 1.
14.9		5. 35	218.	13. 35	218.
14. 14	217.	. 0. 33			

					000
14. 8 f.	213.	23. 31	210.	6.39	283 with note 1.
14. 21	277.	23. 33	145.	6.46	292 note 2.
14. 35	228.	23. 36	263 note 2.	6. 62	294.
15. 6	186.	23. 44	262.	6.64	37, 202, 205. 214, 238,
15. 16	19 note 3, 101.	23. 50 f.	166.	7.4	214, 238.
15. 22	124 note 2.	23. 53	203.	7.8	189.
15. 26	177, 220.	24. 20	258, 263 note 2.	7.9	193.
15. 30	171.	24. 13	95.	7. 12	267.
16. J	171, 253.	24. 15	152.	7. 28	262, 264.
16. 2		24. 21	164.	7. 35	293.
	177.		236.	1. 35	283.
16. 4	105 f.	24. 25		7. 38	
16. 20	39.	24. 27	38.	7. 40	97.
16. 24	103.	24. 47	81, 249.	7.45	172 note 1.
16. 26	258.	24.50	139 note 4.		249, 272 note 2.
17. 2	182, 215, 228.		-		9,215 note 1,266.
17.4	157.		John.	8.16	290.
17. 7 f.	268 note 2.	1.6ff.	172 note 1.	8. 19	206 note 1.
17. 8	175.	1. 13	84.	8. 25	176.
17. 11	132, 153 note 2.		81.	8. 38	165.
17. 22	218.	1. 15	128, 198.	8. 42	275.
17. 31	217.	1. 16	124.	8.44 1	57, 163, 166 n. 1.
17 22	217.	1. 22	294 note 2.		173.
17. 33 18. 1	236.	1. 24	19 note 3.	8. 53 8. 58	229.
10. 1			218.	0. 50	250 note 1.
18. 7	19 note 3.	1. 27		8.59 9.2	224.
18. 11	171.	1. 30	128, 164.		
18. 14	108, 143.	1. 39	281 note 1.	9.6	103, 288.
18. 18	288.	1. 42	164.	9.71 9.8	23 n. 1, 281 n. 1.
18. 29	277.	2. 19	221.		192.
19. 2	164.	3.8	189.	9.17	293.
19.4	109, 140, 295.	3. 10	157.	9. 21	168.
19.8	97.	3. 15	110 note 1.	9. 28	171 note 2.
19. 11	249, 258.	3. 18	255.	9. 30	275.
19. 13	169, 219.	3. 25	97.	9.36	294.
19. 15	262.	3. 32	199 note 2.	10. 6	172.
19. 40	215.	3. 35	130.	10. 12	255.
19. 42	261 note 1, 294.	4.2	269.	10. 32	187.
19. 43	262.	4.9	114.	10. 36	286, 291.
20. 4 f.	148.	4. 10	164.	10. 40	193.
20. 41. 20. 11 f.	258.	4. 11	266.	11. 2	
	200.	4. 18	141.		198 note 1.
20. 19			138.	11. 19	134.
20. 20	224, 238.	4. 27		11. 47	210.
20. 22	241.	4. 34	228.	11. 48	264.
20. 27	255.	4. 36	264.	11. 57	211 note 2.
20. 36	265 note 1.	5. 2	242 note 1.	12. т	126.
21.6	283 note 3.	5.3	277. 130, 178.	12. 4	205.
21. 11	263 note 2, 299.	[[Jo.] 5. 4	130, 178.	12. 12	243.
21.16	97.	5.7	228.	12. 27	268, 303.
22. 11	217, 295.	5. 11	146 note 2.	12. 28	264.
22. 26	293.	5. 31	215.	12. 35 f.	272.
22. 34	219, 255.	5. 35	157.	12. 43	60, 108.
22. 40, 4		5. 36	108.	13. 6	187, 288.
22. 42	294.	5. 37 f.	266.	13. 13	85.
22. 43	268.	5. 38	164.	13. 17	214.
22.43		5.30			
22. 49	210, 244.	5. 39	164.	13. 27	142.
22.66	264.	5.44	154, 164.	14. 9	121, 289.
22. 70	260.	6.2	37.	14. 21	172.
23. 3	260.	6.9	166, 177.	14. 22	177, 293.
23. 12	170.	6. 13	102 with note 3.	15. 2	283 note 1.
23. 14	253.	6. 18	38.	15.5	285.
23. 15	112.	6. 19	136.	15.5 15.6	194.
23. 19	204.	6. 22	192.	15.8	212, 229.
23. 28	264.	6. 22 ff.		15. 13	229.
					,

15	054	_		
15. 22	254.	5.7	85, 267. 114 note 1, 240.	11. 26 193.
15. 24	205, 264.	5.9	114 note 1, 240.	12. I 125.
16. 17	97.	5. 14 f.	w01.	
16. 19	197 note 1.	5. 21	135, 230.	12. 12 162.
17. 2	82, 166.	5.24	177, 220.	13. I 163.
18. 34	167 note 1.	5. 26 f.	190.	13. 13 134.
18. 36	206, 207.	5. 28	119, 171 note 2.	13. 20 121.
	260, 273.	5. 29	292.	13. 21 186 note 2.
18. 37 19. 6	301.	5 26	168.	13. 24 129.
19. 11	205.	5.36		10. 24 149.
19. 13	54.	5. 38 f.	214.	13. 25 175.
10.13		5. 41	190.	13. 32 90 note 1, 290.
19. 17	77 note 1.	6.3 6.5 6.8	81.	13. 42 129.
19. 24	131.	6.5	81.	14. 3 137, 193.
19. 28	291.	6.8	248.	14. 9 235.
19. 35	172 note 2.	6.9	153.	14. 10 158, 295 note 3.
20. 4	295 note 2.	7. 7	217.	14. 13 243.
20. 14	152.	7.13	113 note 1.	14. 15 177.
20. 17	196.	7. 19	236.	14. 17 269.
20. 20	245.	7. 20	113.	14. 19 190.
21. 5	254 note 2.	7.21	165.	14. 21 f. 198.
21. 21	177, 290.	7. 24	185.	14. 22 233, 292 note 1.
21. 22	177, 214.	7. 26	190.	14. 28 193 note 1.
	232.	7. 20	130.	15. I 117.
21. 25	404.	7. 29		
	A	7. 33 7. 34	183.	
•	Acts.	1. 34	208.	15. 3 192.
1. I	152.	<u>7</u> .35	158, 200.	15. 10 225 note 1.
1.3	109, 185.	7.35 ff.	301.	15. 22 f. 285.
1.4	286.	7. 35 7. 35 ff. 7. 40	283.	15. 23 159 n. 1, 182 n. 3.
1.5 1.6	133.	7.43	84, 107.	15. 27 198.
1. 6	146.	7.46	186, 241 note 1.	15. 36 166.
l. 12	32, 85, 95.	7. 53	123.	15. 39 224.
1. 13	265.	8.4	146.	16. 12 97, 193n. 1, 204.
1. 15	264 note 1, 267.	8.5	166.	16. 14 98.
1. 20	220 note 1.	8.9	178.	16. 15 165, 191 n. 2, 263.
l. 21	174, 292 note 1.		171, 249.	16. 18 188.
l. 21	174, 249.	8. 30	259, 298.	16. 21 242.
		8. 31	215, 191.	16. 22 f. 191 n. 1, 197, 230.
1. 24 f.	197, 223. 292.	8. 32	173.	16. 34 245.
2.4		8.40	237.	16. 37 275.
2.9f.	153.	9. I	103, 151.	16. 37 275. 16. 39 125, 133, 191 n. 2.
2. 9 ff.	265.		151 (152).	17. 1 153.
2. 12	220.	9.3	246.	17. 2 112, 191.
2. 14	292.	9.4		17. 7 128.
2. 25	38.	9.5 9.6	292.	17. 18 171.
2. 37	263, 292.		175.	17. 21 142, 154n. 2, 161.
2.39	112.	9. 11	292.	
2.40	143, 263.	9.15	264.	
2.45	190.	9. 16	179 note 1.	17. 26 69.
2. 47	116 note 1.	9. 21	201.	17. 31 274. 18. 2 152.
3. 3	191, 241 note 1.	9. 27	101 note 5.	
3. 10	164, 192.	9. 28	292 note 1.	18. 6 293.
3. 12	253.	9.34	188.	18. 11 193.
3. 26	237.	9. 38, 42	2 152.	18. 15 133.
3. 26 f.	301.	10. 14	178.	18. 17 104.
	164.	10. 33	223.	18. 19 ff. 191.
4.7			96, 174.	18. 21 295.
4. 10 f.	301.	10. 36	81.	18. 22 250.
4. 12	243.	10. 37		18. 23 198, 250.
4. 13	267.	10.46	292.	18. 24 21.
4. 20	256.	10. 48	191.	19, 1 21.
4. 17	119.	11. 4	249.	19. 6 292.
4. 18	234 note 2.	11. 7	246.	100
4. 33	288.	11. 17	177.	
5.3	224.	11. 24	116 note 1.	19. 16 250.

19. 24	186.	26.5	33.	2. 7	288.
19. 26		26. 7	290.	2. 13	162.
	127, 178.	20. 7		2.13	
19. 27	106 note 1.	26. 9	167 note 2, 238.	2. 17	195 note 2.
19. 32	200.	26. 11	190.	2. 19 f.	215.
19. 34	283, 301.	26. 13	290.	3. 12	151 note 2.
19.37	248.	26. 16	264.	3. 14	166, 221.
20. 7	152.	26. 21	20, 127.	3. 20	123 note 2.
20. 11	152.	26. 24	143, 158, 288.	4.3	277.
				4 5	148.
20. 13	153, 253.	26. 29	116 note 3, 207.	4.5	
20. 16	221.	27. 1 f.	191.	4.15	196.
20. 24	92, 223 note 1.	27. 3	242.	4.18	154.
20. 28	223.	27. 4 f.	264.	5. I	195 note 2.
			000 000	5.8	163.
20. 30	170.	27. 10	233, 286.		
21. ī	153.	27. 13	34, 142.	5. 12	123.
21. 2 f.	198.	27. 15	141.		
		97 00			
21. 3	40, 93, 153, 183,	27. 20	147, 266.	2	PETER.
	190, 204.	27. 30	253.		
21. 11	168.	27. 33	94.	l. 1	163.
21. 16	97, 174, 217.	27 24	140.	1.5	171.
		27. 34 27. 40		1. 5 ff.	301.
21. 20	190.	27.40	140, 253.	1. 5	
2I. 21	240.	27.41	190.	1.9	254.
21, 23	203.	28. 3	183.	2.5 2.6	145.
	212.	28. 14	152.	2.6	111.
21. 24				2. 10	246.
21. 28	199, 298.	28. 17	159.		
21. 30	190.	28. 19	256.	2. 12	88 note 2.
21. 38	260.	28. 22	267.	2. 13	202.
				2.16	169.
22. I	103.	28. 30	193.		
22. 2	190.			2. 19	113.
22. 5	19 note 3.		JAMES.	2. 21	242.
22.6	241.		JAMES.	2. 22	157, 293.
22.0		1. 14 f.	302 note 1.	3. I	
22. 7	246.	1. 17	297.		166.
22. IO	196.			3. 2	99.
22. 15	199.	1. 18	177.	3. 3	137, 15 6.
22. 16	186.	1. 19	236.	3. 5	147.
		1. 24	200.	0, 5	
22. 17	165, 252.	1. 27	195.	3. ğ	105.
22. 22	206.			3. 14	113.
22. 24	230 note 2.	2.6	104, 155.	3. 16	161.
00 0		2. 10	200, 217.	0	
23. 3 23. 8	299.	37	113.		
23. 8	162, 265 note 2.	3.7 3.8	81.		l John.
23. 9	294.				
23. 23	178, 286.	3. 12	265 note 1.	1.4	166.
		3. 13	175.	1.9	224.
23. 25	182 note 3.	3. 18	113 note 3.	2. 2	290.
23. 30	252.			0.0	
23. 31	153.	4.9f.	195.	2. 3	215, 229.
24. 3	298.	4. 13	170.	2.5	200.
24. 5		4. 14	157, 176.	2. 22	255.
24. 6	283 f.		263 note 1.	2. 24	273, 283.
24. 12	265 note 2.	4. 15			
24. 19	221.	5.7	141.	2. 27	283.
		5.7f.	195.	2. 29	214 note 1.
24. 21	172.	5. 12	256 note 2.	3. I	229.
24. 22	142.			3. 16	229.
24. 26	252.	5. 13 ff.			
25. 4	238.	5. 16	185.	3. 17	210 note 1.
				4.2	247.
25.8	154.		Deserve	4.3	152, 254.
25. IO	142, 203.	1	Peter.	4 0	
25. 10 f.	188.	1. 1	153.	4.9	131.
25. 11	234, 292.	1.8	256.	4. 19	273.
				5. 2	229.
25. 13	197.	1. 13	195 note 2.		229.
25. 16	220.	1. 17	195 note 2.	5.3	
25. 21	238.	1. 18	160.	5. 15	214.
25. 22	207, 292.	1. 20	156.		2 John.
26.2	199, 290.	1. 22	195 note 2.		
26.4	50.	2.6	182 note 3.	2	285.

.

3	John.	8 ao f	301.	9 - 4	015
2 1	35.	8. 29 f. 8. 31 ff.	303.	3. 14 f.	215.
	66.	8. 33 ff.	303 note 3.	3. 21	271.
10 2			303 note 2.	4.3 4.6	228.
Ro	MANS.	8.34	160.	4.0	48,144,211 note
1 ~ 1		8.39		10	1, 293.
	66. 07	9.1	279.	4.8	207, 302.
1.0 1	07.	9.3	207, 159 note 5.	4.9	278.
1.7 1 1.8 2	63.	9. 4 9. 6	277.	4. 15	215, 268.
1.0 2	67.		179, 292 note 2.	5. I	288.
	270, 282.	9. 21	228 note 3.	5.7	275.
1. 14 1	.54.	10. I	267, 279.	5. 10	206, 257.
1. 15 74	note1,133,157.	10. 9	247.	5.13	170.
	.55.	10. 14 f.	210, 301.	6.4	270, 290.
	35.	10. 16	268.	6.5	82.
	270.	11. 6	274.	6.91 .	265.
	299.	11. 8	235.	6. 11	268.
	299.	11. 13	267.	6.20	273.
	55.	11. 17, 19	299.	7.5	216.
2.6ff. 2	286.	11. 18	294.	7. 11	238.
	282.	11. 22	274.	7.13	286.
2.16 1	56, 218.	11. 36	132.	7. 17	216.
2. 17 ff. 2	284.	12. I	293.	7. 25	253.
	238.	12. 3	298.	7. 26	234.
	300 note 3.	12. 3 12. 6 ff.	271.	7. 27	280, 302.
	166.	12. 7 ff.	150.	7. 35	115, 155, 244.
	32.	12. 9 ff.	285.	7. 35 7. 36	214.
	303.	12. 12	120.	7. 36 ff.	
3. 2 2	267.	12. 15	222, 299.	7. 37	285.
	210, 282, 303.	13. 3	23 note 1.	8.4	290.
3.5 2	220, 274.	13. 5	73, 240.	8	271.
		10.5	294.	8.5 8.6	132, 175.
	257.	13. 7		8.7	160 note 1.
	203.	13. 9	167 note l. 241.	9. I	199.
	150.	13. 11		9. IO	274 f.
	l 69.	13. 13	195 note 1, 253.	9.10	215.
	48.	14. 2	232 note 2.		112, 228.
-	294.	14. 4	111.	9. 15	229.
	303.	14. 7 f.	111.	9. 18	
	234.	14. 11	111.	9. 19	142.
4.17	174.	14. 19	157.	9. 20	154.
	301.	14. 21	197, 292.	9. 21	106.
5. 7 2	201.	15. 24	272.	9. 22	162.
5.13	150.	15. 26 f.		10. 2	187.
	299.	16. 3 ff.	173.	10. 3	160.
	294.	16. 7	71 note 4.	10. 4 10. 6	191.
	210.	16. 27	284 note 2.		191.
	95 note 1, 159.			10. 11	78.
	14.	1 Co	RINTHIANS.	10. 13	235.
6. 10 f. 9)1, 111.	1. 13	134.	10. 16	174.
	50.	1. 18	159.	10. 18	159.
	74.	1. 25 ff.	155, 274, 300. 82, 156.	10. 21	151 note 2.
	201.	1. 27 f.	82, 156.	10. 24	291.
	11.	1. 21	293.	10. 31	271, 292.
	60, 185.	1. 31 2. 4	100 note 2.	10. 32 10. 33	264.
	275.	2. 7	131.	10. 33	244.
		2. 13	107.	11. 3	302 note 1.
	5.	2. 13	151 note 2.	11. 4	133.
	234.	2. 10 3. 1	65.	11. 4	77, 158.
·	55.	3. 1 3. 2	269, 292.	11. 5 11. 6	186, 234.
	275.	0.2 9	209, 292. 65.	11. 9	275.
	31.	3.3		11. 14	283 note 2.
	35.	3. 5 3. 6	269.	11. 17	256 note 1.
	79.	J. D	268.	11. 18	267.
8.22 1	.62.	3. 12	2111	11. 10	
			Y		

INDEX OF N.T. PASSAGES.

	140		000 004		007
11. 24	168.	7.5	200, 284.	1. 17	295.
11. 27	266.	7.7	142.	2. 2	213.
11. 29 ff.	298.	7. 11	118n.1,233n.1,	2.4	212, 284.
11. 34 12. 13	272.		234, 269.	2.6	284.
19 12	275.	7.12	237.	2.9	294.
10				2.9	
12. 15 f.	138, 256.	8.1	131.	2. 10	175.
12. 31	159.	8.2	133.	2. 18	273.
13. 2	162.	8. 3	282.	3. 1	175.
13. 3	187 note 1, 212.	8.6	236.	3. 5	291.
13. Š	271.	8.9	155.	3. 14	124.
13. 13	150.	8. 10 f.		3. 15	269.
14 7					
14. 5	216.	8. 11	235, 237.	4.6f.	286.
14. 7	269.	8. 15	293.	4.9	295, 303 note 2.
14. 11	131.	8.17	142.	4. 11	213, 240 note 1.
14. 18	246.	8. 18 ff.	284.	4.13	133.
14. 20	150.	8. 21	156.	4. 15	205.
15. 2	216, 291.	8. 23	271 note 2.	4. 17	48, 212 note 1.
	199.	9. 1	234.	4. 18	234.
15. 3 f. 15. 6	142.	9. 2	142, 168.	4. 19	166.
		9.2			
15. 15	271 note 1.	9.3	160.	4. 20	207.
15. 35	176, 220.	9. 4	303.	4. 24	173.
15. 41	147.	9.6	294.	4.26	173.
15. 42 ff.	300 note 3.	9.7 9.8	294.	5.4	187.
15. 47	147.	9.8	298.	5. Ġ	185.
15. 48 f.	300 note 3.	9. 11 ff.		5.12	186.
15. 51	257.	9. 13	159.	5. 13	294.
10. 51	201.		234.		
a.a.		10. 2		5. 14	167 note 1, 162.
	BINTHIANS.	10. 2 f.	298.	5. 21	299.
1. 4	162.	10.9	270, 294 note 2.	6. I	286.
1.6	185.	10. IO	75, 282.	6. IO	272.
1.9	200.	10. 11 ff.	166.		
1. 13	269.	10. 12	168.	E	PHESIANS.
1. 17	256 note 2.	10. 13	174 note 2.	1. 15	133.
1. 19	290.	11. 1	207, 269.	1. 17	49, 211 note 1.
2. 2	262.	11. 1 ff.	303.		100
2.2				1. 23	186.
$\frac{2}{2}$	171.	11. 10	232.	2. 11	16 0.
2.6	76, 142.	11. 16	196.	2.15	162.
2. 13	200, 236.	11. 16 ff.	288, 303.	3. I	107 note 2.
3. 1 ff.	299.	11. 19f.	303.	3.4	160.
3. 3	65.				
		11. 21	282, 303.	3.8	
3. 5-11	299.	11. 21 11. 22	282, 303. 303.	3.4 3.8 3.20	161.
3. 5-11 3. 13	299.	11. 22	303.	3. 20	161. 185.
3.13	299. 294.	11. 22 11. 23	303. 135, 303.	3. 20 4. 9	161. 185. 98.
3.13 3.18	299. 294. 93, 100.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24	303. 135, 303. 138.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18	161. 185. 98. 203.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3	299. 294. 93, 100. 131.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20	161. 185. 98. 203. 285.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 8	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f.	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f. 4. 12	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f. 4. 12	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 15	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 12	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 15 4. 16	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 11	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 12 5. 21	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 12 4. 15 4. 16 4. 17	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 11 12. 13	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303.	 3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 12 5. 21 5. 32 	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 15 4. 15 4. 16 4. 17 4. 18	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 13	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 12 5. 33	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 292.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 15 4. 15 4. 17 4. 18 5. 10	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 162, 266.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 11 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283. 255.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 12 5. 32 5. 33 6. 3	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162. 198. 243. 206. 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 15 4. 15 4. 16 4. 17 4. 18 5. 10 5. 11	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 162, 266. 202 note 1.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283. 255. 252.	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{3. 20} \\ \textbf{4. 9} \\ \textbf{4. 18} \\ \textbf{4. 222} \\ \textbf{4. 228} \\ \textbf{5. 4 22} \\ \textbf{5. 4 12} \\ \textbf{5. 31} \\ \textbf{5. 33} \\ \textbf{5. 5 33} \\ \textbf{6. 5} \end{array}$	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212. 159.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 15 4. 16 4. 17 4. 17 4. 18 5. 10 5. 11 5. 12	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 252. 266. 202 note 1. 284.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21 13. 4	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 205, 283. 252. 275.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 12 5. 32 5. 33 6. 3	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162. 198. 243. 206. 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 10 4. 12 4. 12 4. 12 4. 15 4. 17 4. 18 5. 10 5. 11 5. 13	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 252. 266. 202 note 1. 284. 111, 199, 291.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283. 255. 252.	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{3. 20} \\ \textbf{4. 9} \\ \textbf{4. 18} \\ \textbf{4. 222} \\ \textbf{4. 228} \\ \textbf{5. 4 22} \\ \textbf{5. 4 12} \\ \textbf{5. 31} \\ \textbf{5. 33} \\ \textbf{5. 5 33} \\ \textbf{6. 5} \end{array}$	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212. 159.
3. 13 3. 13 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 12 4. 17 4. 17 4. 17 5. 11 5. 11 5. 13 5. 13	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 252. 266. 202 note 1. 284.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21 13. 4	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 205, 283. 252. 275.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 22 5. 4 5. 12 5. 32 5. 33 6. 3 6. 5 6. 16 PH	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212. 159.
3. 13 3. 13 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 12 4. 17 4. 17 4. 17 5. 11 5. 11 5. 13 5. 13	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 252. 266. 202 note 1. 284. 111, 199, 291.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 26 12. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21 13. 4 13. 5	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 205, 283. 252. 275.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 22 5. 4 5. 12 5. 32 5. 33 6. 3 6. 5 6. 16 PH	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212. 159. 160. HLIPPIANS.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 4. 10 4. 12 4. 12 4. 16 4. 17 4. 17 5. 11 5. 11 5. 13 5. 19 5. 19	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 162, 266. 202 note 1. 284. 111, 199, 291. 162, 273. 166.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21 13. 4 13. 5 G4	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283. 255. 252. 275. 216. LATIANS.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 4 5. 21 5. 32 5. 33 6. 3 6. 5 6. 16 PH 1. 3	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 288. 162. 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212. 159. 160. ILIPPIANS. 162.
3. 13 3. 18 4. 3 4. 10 f. 4. 12 4. 15 4. 16 4. 17 4. 18 5. 11 5. 12 5. 13 5. 14 5. 14 5. 3-10	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 162, 266. 202 note 1. 284. 111, 199, 291. 162, 273. 166. 285.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21 13. 4 13. 5 GA	303. 135, 303. 138, 303. 138, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283. 255. 255. 252. 275. 216. LATIANS. 160.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 21 5. 32 5. 33 6. 3 6. 3 6. 16 PH 1. 3 1. 6	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 292. 212. 159. 160. ILIPPIANS. 162. 91. 171.
3. 13 3. 13 4. 3 4. 8 4. 10 4. 15 4. 16 4. 17 4. 16 4. 17 4. 10 5. 11 5. 11 5. 13 5. 14 5. 3 6. 3 4. ff.	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 162, 266. 202 note 1. 284. 111, 199, 291. 162, 273. 166. 285. 295.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21 13. 4 13. 5 GA 1. 4 1. 7	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283. 255. 252. 275. 216. ILATIANS. 160. 216, 254.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 12 5. 32 5. 33 6. 5 6. 16 1. 3 1. 11	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212. 159. 160. HIPPIANS. 162. 91, 171. 93, 102.
$\begin{array}{c} 3. 13 \\ 3. 13 \\ 4. 3 \\ 4. 8 \\ 4. 10 \\ f. \\ 4. 12 \\ 4. 15 \\ 4. 16 \\ 4. 17 \\ 4. 16 \\ 5. 11 \\ 5. 11 \\ 5. 13 \\ 5. 14 \\ 5. 19 \\ 6. 3-10 \\ 6. 4 \\ f. \\ 6. 13 \end{array}$	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 162, 266. 202 note 1. 284. 111, 199, 291. 162, 273. 166. 285. 295. 91, 93, 282.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21 13. 4 13. 5 G4 1. 7 1. 12	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283. 255. 252. 275. 216. LATIANS. 160. 216, 254. 265 note 2.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 12 5. 32 5. 33 6. 3 6. 5 6. 16 1. 3 1. 6 1. 11 1. 14	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212. 159. 160. HLIPPIANS. 162. 91, 171. 93, 102. 142.
3. 13 3. 13 4. 3 4. 4. 10 4. 12 4. 16 4. 17 5. 11 5. 13 5. 14 5. 19 6. 34 ff. 6. 14	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 162, 266. 202 note 1. 284. 111, 199, 291. 162, 273. 166. 285. 295. 295. 91, 93, 282. 114, 204.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21 13. 4 13. 5 GA 1. 4 1. 7 1. 12 1. 13	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283. 255. 252. 275. 216. LATIANS. 160. 216, 254. 265 note 2. 160.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 21 5. 32 5. 33 6. 5 6. 16 PH 1. 3 1. 6 1. 11 1. 14 1. 18	161. 185. 98. 203. 255. 238. 162. 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212. 159. 160. ILIPPIANS. 162. 91, 171. 93, 102. 142. 268.
$\begin{array}{c} 3. 13 \\ 3. 13 \\ 4. 3 \\ 4. 8 \\ 4. 10 \\ f. \\ 4. 12 \\ 4. 15 \\ 4. 16 \\ 4. 17 \\ 4. 16 \\ 5. 11 \\ 5. 11 \\ 5. 13 \\ 5. 14 \\ 5. 19 \\ 6. 3-10 \\ 6. 4 \\ f. \\ 6. 13 \end{array}$	299. 294. 93, 100. 131. 298. 152. 185. 142. 107. 155. 252. 162, 266. 202 note 1. 284. 111, 199, 291. 162, 273. 166. 285. 295. 91, 93, 282.	11. 22 11. 23 11. 24 11. 25 11. 26 11. 28 12. 7 12. 9 12. 13 12. 17 12. 20 12. 21 13. 4 13. 5 G4 1. 7 1. 12	303. 135, 303. 138. 193, 200. 147. 116. 217. 143. 206, 303. 303. 200, 283. 255. 252. 275. 216. LATIANS. 160. 216, 254. 265 note 2.	3. 20 4. 9 4. 18 4. 20 4. 22 4. 28 5. 4 5. 12 5. 32 5. 33 6. 3 6. 5 6. 16 1. 3 1. 6 1. 11 1. 14	161. 185. 98. 203. 285. 238. 162, 198, 243. 206, 256 note 1. 166. 285. 164. 222. 212. 159. 160. HLIPPIANS. 162. 91, 171. 93, 102. 142.

338

INDEX OF N.T. PASSAGES.

-					
1. 23	236.	5. 11	144. j	2. 16	301.
1. 27	212.	5. 27	241.	3.6	80,
2. 1	81.			3. 12	98.
2. 4	180.	9 Tr	ESSALONIANS,		
2.6				3. 16	268.
	257, 271.	1.5	293.	4. I	195 note 1.
2.8	247.	2.2	253.	4.2	114.
2.13	135, 234.	2.7	185.	4. 7	297.
2. 15	166.	2. 12	215.	4. 11	288, 297.
2. 20	218.	3. 10	232.	5.3	134.
2. 23	168, 272.	3. 11	298.	5.5	
3. 2 f.		0. 11	200.	5.7 5.8	126 note 1.
0.21. 9 L	88, note 1, 298.		-		299.
3. 7 3. 8	199.		TIMOTHY.	5.9	297.
3.8	155, 269, 270.	l. 1	163.	5. 11	228.
3.9	169.	1.3ff.	284.	6. 2	100, 264.
3. 12	138, 216,	1. 4	108 note 1.	6.3	297.
3. 14	294.	1. io	277.	6. 10	224.
3. 16	222, 268,	1. 16	162.		
3. 20				6. 14	260.
	163, 168.	4.3	291.	6. 16	296.
3. 21	235.	4. 13	219.	7.9	225.
4.5	155.	5.9	108 with note 4.	7.11	255.
4. io	43, 138, 234.	5.10	151 note 2.	7.15	33 f. note 4.
4. 11	292 note 2.	5. 13	247.	7. 15 7. 16	65.
4. 12	264.	5. 19	216.	7. 20 f.	146.
4. 22	258.	5. 22	195.	7. 23 f.	146.
_		6.3	254.	7. 26	263.
Co	LOSSIANS.	6.5	105.	8.2	173.
1. 15	162.	6. 13 f.	241.	8.3 8.6	218.
1, 21	203.	6. 20	195.	8.6	263,
1. 23	162.			8.9	252.
	285.	0	TIMOTHY.	0.9	237.
1. 26				8. 13	
1. 29	185.	1. 16	38.	9.9	80.
2.5	250.	1. 18	142.		218, 255, 297 n. 3.
2.8	213.	2. 25	213.	10. 2	297.
2. IO	77 note 2, 102.	3. 2	277.	10. 10	297 note 5.
2. 15	185.	4. 2	277.	10. 25	168.
2.15		4.2f.	195.	10. 27	178.
2. 17	77 note 2.				
2. 23	204, 267.	4.3	118.	10. 28	138.
3. 5 [°]	77 note 2, 150.	4. 7f.	199.	10. 29	282.
3. 14	77 note 2.			10. 33	171.
3. 16 f.	285.		TITUS.	10. 37	73, 179. 257.
	253.	1. 2 f.	286.	11. 3	257.
4.3		1. 11	254.	11. 3-31	301.
4. 16	258.		169.	11. 12	160.
_		2.9			190, 200.
1 Тн	ESSALONIANS.	2. 11	160.	11. 17	190, 200.
1. т	163.	2.13	163.	11. 27	298.
1.3	96, 99.	3.5	168, 173.	11. 28	200.
1.3 1.8	160.	2	-	11. 32	264, 289, 302 f.
	258.	P	HILEMON.		note 2.
2. 10			207.	11. 32-40	
2. 12	195 note 1.	13		12. 1	289.
2.13	185.	19	302.		
2. 18	267.	20	298 note 4.	12. 2 f.	199 note 3, 298.
2. 19	266.			12. 7 12. 8	149, 297 note 6.
3. 3	234.	E	IEBREWS.	12.8	297.
0.3	213.	1. г	137,156,297,297	12.9	267.
3. 5			note 6, 298.	12. 10	146.
3. 7	214.	1 • f	280.	12. 13 ff.	297 f.
3. 10	236.	1. 1 ff.		12. 13	297 note 6.
4. I	158.	1.4	288, 298.		
4.6	234.	1.5 2.8	288.	12. 15	98.
4.9	228 note 4, 302	2.8	237, 266, 297.	12. 24	297.
7	note 2.	2.9	297.	12. 28	298.
4 -6	159.	2. 10	132.	13. 17	253.
4. 16		2. 15		13. 18	232.
5. IO	212, 214.	2.13			

INDEX OF N.T. PASSAGES.

340

13. 19	142.	5. 13	103.	12. 14	175.
	142.	6. I	81, 278.	13. 3	44, 118 note 3.
13. 23		6.3	278.	13. 13	224.
13. 24	258.	0.3	283.	13. 15	226.
		6.4		13. 16	212.
APOCALYPSE.		6.5	278.		217.
1.5	80.	6. 6	293.	14. 4	
2.5	113, 293.	6.7	278.	14. 8	99, 301.
2. 7	283.	7.2	175.	14. 12	81.
2.9	238.	7.4	81.	14. 19	80.
2, 12	160.	7.9	81.	15. 2	126.
2. 14	90 note 2.	7. 14	200.	16. I	41.
2. 17	100 note 3, 283.	8. 1	218.	16.9	224.
2. 17	81.	8.3	212.	16. 19	99.
2. 20	215.	8.5	200.	17.8	44.
	283.	9.10	114 note 2.	18. 2	301.
2. 26		9.10	85.	18. 3	99.
3.9	211, 226, 240.		224.	19. 3	200.
3. 12	81, 283.	9. 20		19. 10	293.
3. 17	91 note 1.	9. 21	265 note 1.	20. 4	265 note 1.
3. 18	92.	11. 4	80.		
3. 21	283.	11. 5	216.	20. 10	198.
5.3	265 note 1.	11. 11	130.	21. 4	265 note 1.
5.4	265 note 1.	11. 18	228 note 3.	21. 17	99 note 1.
5.5	224.	12.5	80.	21. 21	122.
5.7	200.	12. ď	175.	22.9	293.
5. 11 f.		12. 7	236.	22. 14	211.
5. 12	277.	12. 8	265 note 1.	22. 28 f.	299.
0.12	~		F		
		•		•	

n

OLASOOW : PRINTED AT THE UNIVERSITY PRESS BY ROBERT MACLEHOSE AND CO.

